



2022

Proceedings of ATEE Annual Conference

TO BE OR NOT TO BE A GREAT EDUCATOR

TO BE OR NOT TO BE A GREAT EDUCATOR, 2022. Proceedings of ATEE Annual Conference. Riga: University of Latvia Press, 2023. 985 p.



Editor Linda Daniela – University of Latvia, Latvia

Publisher: University of Latvia Press Layout: Ieva Zarāne

© University of Latvia, 2023

ISBN 978-9934-36-019-0 (Online) https://doi.org/10.22364/atee.2022

Contents

To be or not to be a great educator	8
Teachers' Learning Experiences: Transforming Their Professional ActivityDuring COVID-19 PandemicLīva Goba-Medne, Zanda Rubene	11
Reflective Writing as a Means Towards Teacher Professional Development Evangelia Kosmidou & Maria Sfyroera	27
Knowledge Building: A Good Way to Teach Educational Research Methodology Calixto Gutiérrez-Braojos & PaulaRodríguez-Chirino	44
Reflection and Feedback as Predictors of Directed Development of Assessment Competence	54
Pedagogical Entrepreneurship in Teacher Education Curricula. Comparison of Latvian and Finnish Teacher Education Programs Agnese Slišāne, Heidi Hyytenen	72
Teacher Creator: Practices of Creating Educational Contexts	92
Measuring Student Teachers Level of Situation-Specific Skills for Need-Supportive Teaching	111
Psychological Characteristics of Transprofessional Competences of a Vocational Education Teacher	124
Teachers with Different Educational Background and Their Self-Efficacy <i>Martin Fico</i>	140
Teachers' Professional Self-Efficacy for Collaboration: A ComparisonBetween European CountriesKristine Kampmane, Andrejs Geske, Antra Ozola	160
Student-Teachers' Pedagogical Reasoning in TEYL Lesson Plans and Microteaching Presentations Mustafa Akın Güngör & Müzeyyen Nazlı Güngör	176
Exploratory Study on Latvian Secondary School Teachers' Understanding of the Concept of Scientific Literacy	189

Stress Resilience and Coping Mechanisms of the Regional University Students in the 2 nd Wave of COVID-19 Pandemic Dzintra Iliško, Jeļena Badjanova, & Vitālijs Raščevskis	209
Teachers' Reflection on Personalized Learning	225
School as a Learning Organisation: Impediments to Its Implementation in Latvia and Abroad Beata Lavrinoviča, Inga Linde, Gunta Siliņa-Jasjukeviča, Inese Lūsēna-Ezera	238
Implementation of the School as a Learning Organisation: LatvianEducators' ExperienceOskars Kaulēns, Inese Lūsēna-Ezera, Gunta Siliņa-Jasjukeviča, Ilze Briška	252
Teachers' Beliefs about Teaching and Learning: Why is It Still a Challenge?	272
Global and Citizenship Competence Conceptualization Through Sustainability Paradigm Dace Medne, Alise Oļesika, Sanita Baranova	292
Informal Learning for Creating Professional Support Groups for Teachers and School Leadership Teams: A Case Study	306
Professional Autonomy as a Cornerstone for Effective Professional and Social Activity	319
Teachers' Emotional Burnout, Psychological Detachment from Work and Self-Reported Health During the COVID-19 Pandemic	330
The Notion of Sustainable Team Management in Educational Institution Anna Kvelde, Indra Odina	347
Digital Competence of Medical College Teachers According to Digcompedu Framework	365
Ted Talks as a Digital Material in Foreign Language Teaching	381
Theoretical Aspects of Teaching English Grammar through Bilingual Comparativistics at the University Level Larisa Izotova, Olena Saprunova	390

Student Teachers of English on the Lookout for Good Teaching	405
The English Language as a Factor Influencing Foreign Students' Learning Outcomes in Higher Education	413
Ideo Workbook in English Lessons: A Fit Analysis to Skola2030 Transversal Skills Ieva Margeviča-Grinberga, Anna Sidorova	427
Why Do Students of English Cheat Online and How Do They Do It? Aurelija Daukšaitė-Kolpakovienė	438
Professional Development Used to Enhance K-5 Teachers' Competencies Working with English Language Learners <i>Tiffany Nichole Gardner Bennett</i>	451
English Language Curicculum for Student Teachers Training to Perform in Cultirally Diversified Settings Nataliia Avsheniuk, Nataliya Seminikhyna, Olena Lutsenko	468
The Use of Online Dictionaries During Web-Based Collaborative WritingAmong EFL LearnersHasan Selcuk, Linda Daniela	483
Mentors' Perceptions of Supervising Student English Language Teachers During One-Year Clinical Practice Monika Černá, Irena Reimannová	494
Focusing on Arts Education from the Perspectives of Well-Being Edgars Vitols, Anda Zisberga	513
Rubrics as a Tool for Objective Assessment in Art Education	525
Music Teachers' Job Satisfaction During the COVID-19 Pandemic	539
Use of Music and Openness in a Group of Teachers-in-Training Receiving a Musical Intervention <i>Giusi Antonia Toto, Benedetta Ragni*, Pierpaolo Limone</i>	551
Spatial Reasoning Skills as a Universal Learning Outcome	572
Sketching – an Undervalued Tool in General Education Māra Urdziņa-Deruma, Austra Celmiņa-Ķeirāne, Austra Avotiņa, Inguna Karlsone	584

Integrating Computational Thinking into Classroom Practice: A Case Study Diane Vassallo, Leonard Busuttil	600
Primary School Mathematics Education Curricula in the United States and Latvia	618
The Development of Numeracy Test Using Three-Dimensional Framework to Assess Numeracy Skills in Grade 7 Ilze France, Marta Mikite, Girts Burgmanis, Dace Namsone	629
Maths Games without Frontiers Maria Giulia Ballatore, Luca Damonte, Anita Tabacco	642
Fostering Teachers' Mathematical Competence in Problem Solving Elīna Buliņa, Andrejs Cibulis	652
Changes in the Mathematics Curriculum for Grades 10–12 in Latvia Maruta Avotiņa, Agnese Zīlīte	666
Secondary-School Student Transversal Skills in Mathematics. Comparison Between Teacher Assessment and Student Self-Assessment <i>Gatis Lāma</i>	684
Reasons for Rapid Growth in Addition Strategy Use in 1 st Grade Students	696
Synchronous Online Learning for Solving Physical Problems in a Team: Challenges and Opportunities	708
Introduction of Educational Robotics at Secondary School Level in the Latvian Education Curriculum	723
Promoting Ocean Literacy and Combating Chemical Pollution via Marine Education in Taiwan	734
The Impact of Additional Sports Activities on the Development of Students in General Education Schools <i>Rihards Parandjuks</i>	753
Support to Children at Risk of Social Exclusion as a Component of Inclusive Education in Croatian Early Childhood Education and Care Institutions Dejana Bouillet and Marina Panić	764

Implementation of Equal Opportunities for Children with Autism SpectrumDisorder in Pre-School Education InstitutionRasa Braslauskienė, Reda Jacynė	783
Inclusive Pre-School Education in Latvia: Problems and Solutions Agrita Tauriņa and Tija Zīriņa	802
Multisensory Approach in Speech Therapy for Preschool Children	815
Changes in Social-Emotional Skills and Behaviour in Preschool Children after Participation in the Promoting Mental Health at Schools Program: The Social-Emotional Skills of Parents as a Mediator Inga Supe, Baiba Martinsone, Carmel Cefai, Elisabetta Conte	824
The Dimensions of Social Inclusion in the Right to Education	837
Support for Children of Returning Migrant Families in Latvian Schools Una Auziņa	856
Social-Emotional Skills, Behavioural Problems and Learning Outcomes of Elementary School Children <i>Evita Ozerova, Baiba Martinsone, Carmel Cefai & Elisabetta Conte</i>	871
Intervention in Speech Therapy in Reducing Phonological Insufficiency in Preschool Children	886
The Power Of Storytelling in Improving Students' Emotional Well-Being Dace Medne	909
Future Preschool Teachers' Experiences of Mutual Learning in the WorkEnvironmentIlze Šūmane, Līga Āboltiņa	921
Indicators of Social Emotional Health (Sehs-T) and Resiliencein the Latvian Teachers' SampleGuna Svence, Ilze Briška, Vineta Apse	935
Barriers to Employment for Young Adults with High-Functioning Autism (HFA) Dita Nimante, Egija Laganovska	953
Parents' Expectations about Children's Education Targets in the Future Perspective in Latvia	970

To be or not to be a great educator

I am pleased to introduce the proceedings of the ATEE 2022 Annual Conference. The world is changing rapidly, and we must rethink what it means to be a great educator. With the pace of change, it is important to know which knowledge is outdated and how to update it. The COVID-19 pandemic and other diseases have closed institutions, and we must find ways to ensure that learning can continue. This includes teaching students who are not visible behind the screens, those who lack screens, those who cannot read, and those with special needs.

War and other conflicts also pose challenges to education. While we may be shocked by the barbarism of conflicts such as the war in Ukraine, we must also consider how to teach the values of culture, dignity, peace, and human life in such situations. It is important to find ways to to teach how to ensure peace even in the face of family loss, invasion, and destruction of our countries.

The issue of walls and borders is often viewed as a solution to problems, but sometimes ignoring problems can have consequences. The war in Ukraine caused the democratic world to be shaken, and some people believed it was only an Eastern European problem, leading to organizations and countries being unsure of how to react. Is it true that it's just an Eastern European problem? This raises the question of how to teach courage, faith, and bravery, like that shown by Ukrainians.

The issue of propaganda and fake news is well-known, but the focus here is on educational propaganda. You may have heard statements like "Finland has no homework but great results" and tried to eliminate homework for students, or that "students will learn better if the learning process is interesting." However, as educators, we know that such simplistic approaches can lead to fragmented knowledge and avoidance motivation. Similarly, while educational technologies can be effective, they come at a cost and require appropriate materials and pedagogies to avoid fragmentism. There are many other such statements, such as the belief that STEM knowledge can solve all problems or that the lecturer is becoming obsolete in the digital age. In light of all this propaganda, how can we encourage scientific thinking and maintain a realistic perspective?

There are many challenges in education, but the solution to these challenges is clear – we need great educators to lead the way. The question is, will you choose to become a great educator or not?

Out of the 128 research presentations made during the conference, this book consists of the 65 best papers. These papers cover a wide range of topics related to education such as teacher education, student learning outcomes, and the use of technology in classrooms. Our intention is that this compilation of papers will provide important insights into the diverse aspects of education and will help in the ongoing discussion about how to reshape education to tackle the demands of the 21st century.

We extend our sincere gratitude to all the authors who have contributed their work to this book, as well as the reviewers who have provided valuable feedback. We hope that this book will be a valuable resource for educators, researchers, and policymakers who are committed to improving education for all.

Prof. Linda Daniela

Scientiffic committee of the conference

Linda Daniela - University of Latvia, Latvia Dirk Ifenthaler - Manheim University, Germany Zanda Rubene - University of Latvia, Latvia Gunta Silina-Jasjukeviča – University of Latvia, Latvia Austra Avotina – University of Latvia, Latvia Marta Kowalczuk-Waledziak - University of Białystok, Poland Agnieszka Szplit - The Jan Kochanowski University of Kielce, Poland Tadhg Joseph Ó Ceallaigh – University of Limerick, Ireland Lorraine Harbison - Dublin City University, Ireland Marija Sablić - J. J. Strossmayer University of Osijek, Croatia Angela Maria Sugliano – University of Genoa, Italy Maria Assunção Flores - Universidade do Minho, Portugal Ieva Stokenberga – University of Latvia, Latvia Ilvis Ābeļkalns - University of Latvia, Latvia Dita Nīmante - University of Latvia, Latvia Antra Ozola – University of Latvia, Latvia Anika Miltuze - University of Latvia, Latvia Steinar Karstensen – Oslo Metropolitan University, Norway Nina Aakernes – Oslo Metropolitan University, Norway Tatjana Bru Blixen – Oslo Metropolitan University, Norway Ellen Beate Hellne-Halvorsen – Oslo Metropolitan University, Norway David Brown – Nottingham Trent University, UK José Gijón Puerta - University of Granada, Spain Carmen Galván Malagón – University of Extremadura, Spain Calixto Gutiérrez-Braojos – Associate Professor at University of Granada, Spain Blerim Sagipi – University of Prishtina, Kosovo

Organizational committee

Linda Daniela – University of Latvia, Latvia Zanda Rubene - University of Latvia, Latvia Mariagrazia Tagliabue – The Association for Teacher Education in Europe Santa Dreimane - University of Latvia, Latvia. Tatjana Bicjutko - University of Latvia, Latvia Arta Rūdolfa – University of Latvia, Latvia Reinis Upenieks - University of Latvia, Latvia Lana Frančeska Dreimane – University of Latvia, Latvia Edīte Sarva - University of Latvia, Latvia Inga Linde – University of Latvia, Latvia Zinta Zālīte-Supe – University of Latvia, Latvia Elīna Vītola - University of Latvia, Latvia Alise Olesika - University of Latvia, Latvia Anna Sidorova - University of Latvia, Latvia Līva Goba-Medne - University of Latvia, Latvia Anna Kvelde – University of Latvia, Latvia Igors Ardaševs - University of Latvia, Latvia Laura Fomina - University of Latvia, Latvia

https://doi.org/10.22364/atee.2022.01

Teachers' Learning Experiences: Transforming Their Professional Activity During COVID-19 Pandemic

Līva Goba-Medne, Zanda Rubene

University of Latvia, Latvia liva.goba@gmail.com; zanda.rubene@lu.lv

ABSTRACT

The COVID-19 pandemic has brought teachers professional and personal challenges, creating particularly stressful crisis-like conditions for their learning and development. The aim of this qualitative study is to conceptualise teachers' learning experiences that have accompanied the transformations of their professional activity during the COVID-19 pandemic. Narrative interviews of teachers were conducted in Latvia in the spring/summer of 2022. They were coded and analysed according to thematic analysis method. This article entails the results of the first stage of the study.

The study found that teachers' learning experiences during the COVID-19 pandemic are characterised by the paradigm of transformative learning as overcoming. Thematic structure of the learning experiences was developed and comprises 4 themes (dealing with limitations, seeking support from community, learning on the go, drawing conclusions) as well as 13 subthemes, which describe teachers' experiences in rich detail, revealing their complexity and variability.

The article offers conclusions on the conceptualisations of teachers' experiences, discusses support and conditions needed to benefit from the experience and points to the significant role of context, relationships, and dedication for teachers to have beneficial learning experiences accompanying the transformations of their professional activity during the COVID-19 pandemic.

Keywords: COVID-19 pandemic, learning experiences, teachers' professional activity, thematic analysis, transformative learning

Introduction

Teacher professionalism has been positioned as one of the key factors for quality education (International Commission on the Futures of Education, 2021), recognising the need for collaborative and systematic opportunities for long-term professional learning and development (Darling-Hammond et al., 2017; Hargreaves & O'Connor, 2018). The COVID-19 pandemic has brought an unprecedented disruption to education worldwide affecting more than 1.6 billion learners and their teachers. Teachers needed to adapt their work to new realities of remote learning, dealing with large and unequitable learning losses of their students and changing realities of the epidemic situation (The World Bank, UNESCO and UNICEF, 2021). Teachers' learning and professional development was affected as well.

In Latvia COVID-19 started to affect schools after the World Health Organisation declared global pandemic in March 2020, as due to the declaration of an emergency situation schools moved to working entirely remotely until the end of the school year in June (Cabinet Order No. 103, 2020; Cabinet Order No. 655, 2020). One week of school holidays was the time allocated for preparation. The next school year was shaped by various infection control measures, such as student flow control, the longest period of remote learning lasting roughly half a year - depending on student age group and municipality (Cabinet Order No. 662, 2021). The third school year affected by the pandemic involved prioritizing face-to-face learning while striving for epidemiologically safe environment via routine COVID-19 testing at school, isolating, masking, vaccinated personnel, and hybrid models of learning face-to-face and remotely (Cabinet Order No. 720, 2021; Law on the Management of the Spread of COVID-19 Infection, 2020). The unpredictability of the modality of learning due to quarantine was accompanied by resistance to compulsory vaccination by some teachers and further complicated by the full swing of curriculum reform "Skola2030" (Skola2030, 2019), reportedly lagging behind with the provision of textbooks and learning materials. As 2022 draws to a close, although COVID-19 realities influence us less, the pandemic in not yet over.

The COVID-19 pandemic has brought teachers professional and personal challenges, creating particularly stressful crisis-like conditions for their learning and professional development. This crisis is characterised by a rupture in the existing working practices, laying the groundwork for restructuring of the teachers' work. This study aims at conceptualising teachers' learning experiences that have accompanied the transformations of their professional activity during the COVID-19 pandemic.

The theoretical basis of the study has been elaborated in detail in previous publications (Goba-Medne, 2019; Goba, 2019), viewing learning experience from a phenomenological and subject-centred perspective and exploring it as

a conceptualization of past occurrences that form an individual's subjective perspective in the context of one's lifeworld and guides their future actions. Transformations of teachers' professional activity were examined applying the activity system's model developed by Yrjö Engeström (Engeström & Sannino, 2010), viewing teachers' professional activity as a dynamic cultural system occurring in its particular context (primarily practice based) rather than focusing on competence models as idealised sets of required competencies. Learning experiences were studied through the theoretical lens of transformative learning theory (Mezirow, 2009), which investigates impactful learning that has the capacity of altering a person's frame of reference or "(...) processes that result in significant and irreversible changes in the way a person experiences, conceptualises and interacts with the world" (Hoggan, 2016, p. 71). Four paradigms or ways of understanding transformative learning experiences have been defined in a philosophic investigation by Douglas W. Yacek - initiation, overcoming, discovery and conversion (Yacek, 2017), providing insights into their educational meaning and fostering conditions as well as problematic facets. For the sake of this study, these paradigms or archetypes serve as a lens to apprehend the nature of the learning experiences teachers have gone through due to crisis evoked by a global pandemic.

Methodology

This qualitative study attempts to answer the research questions: How can teachers' learning experiences of transforming their professional activity during COVID-19 pandemic be described? What experiences do teachers describe as conductive (or detrimental) to their learning during COVID-19 pandemic? Narrative interviews (Nohl, 2010) were conducted with schoolteachers in Latvia utilizing maximal variety sampling along with theoretical saturation principle (Strauss & Corbin, 2015). A flexible interview guide included open ended questions that generate rich narratives on teachers' experiences during COVID-19 pandemic (from when they felt COVID-19 started to influence their work up until the time interviews took place). Interview participants include schoolteachers of general education schools of different size, ownership (state, municipality, private), type (elementary school, secondary school, gymnasium) in various locations across the country (urban, rural), comprising teachers of different age groups (30 to 70 years), gender, respective teaching experience (3 to 29 years), teaching in various subject areas (STEM, arts, languages, sports, social sciences, technologies) in various levels of education (elementary, primary, secondary). Participants were recruited via purposeful invitations, referral sampling (or the snowball method) as well as voluntary application and they provided an informed consent approved by the respective Ethical board of University of Latvia.

As a result, 9 interviews (lasting 26min to 1h 6min) were collected in person and via ZOOM video conferencing platform (May to June 2022) and verbatim interview transcription was performed. To grant anonymity participant names were substituted with a pseudonym (such as Sk1) and other private details were removed. The transcripts were analysed using thematic analysis (Braun & Clarke, 2006) in a reflexive and recursive process (Braun et al., 2019) starting with familiarisation with the data, moving towards generating codes to text segments of shared meaning for the entire data array, grouping codes in candidate themes, revising and mapping themes, defining themes and finally producing the report. Themes and subthemes were developed inductively, searching for patterns through the codes and across the dataset, attempting to incorporate both the complexity and richness of the experiential space it covers.

Results

Analysis provided thematic structure of teachers' narratives on their learning experiences of transforming their professional activity during COVID-19 pandemic. Consequently, the thematic structure comprises 4 themes and 13 subthemes, depicting the complexity and variability of the teachers' experiences of transforming their professional activity in Latvia during COVID-19 pandemic (see Figure 1).



Figure 1. Thematic structure of teachers' learning experiences of transforming their professional activity in Latvia during COVID-19 pandemic

TO BE OR NOT TO BE A GREAT EDUCATOR, 2022

L. GOBA-MEDNE, Z. RUBENE. Teachers' Learning Experiences: Transforming Their Professional ..

As a whole, teachers' experiences tell the story of overcoming various challenges in order to perform their professional activity in an uncertain and unstable situation.

Therefore, learning associated with this experience rather takes the shape of work-based problem solving and reflection than exploring new opportunities within formal or non-formal education (such as teacher professional development courses). Participant's Sk3 words illustrate this:

And then something doesn't work there, one has no sound, other has no camera, then the teacher has some other problems. So constantly, absolutely every day, you are going through constant changes all the time and you are in constant communication. All the time.1

Here Yacek's four transformative learning paradigms (Yacek, 2017) come in handy, as it becomes apparent that the overcoming paradigm is dominating and thus becomes the overarching theme of the thematic structure of this study. Transformative learning as overcoming is revealed in 4 main themes: dealing with limitations, seeking support from community, learning on the go, and making sense of the experience.

Dealing with limitations

The notion of limitations was apparent in all interviews, as teachers were adapting to the new realities of crisis-induced remote and hybrid learning. Two subthemes were distinguished.

Unequal provision for both students and teachers affected the initial transitioning to remote and online teaching and learning – it limited the opportunities for teachers to provide interactive online lessons as well as students possibilities to participate in such lessons. Unequal provision was associated with limited capabilities of the available devices, insufficient availability and quality of an internet connection as well as limited access to certain software and website subscription services that not all schools or municipalities had purchased. Teacher Sk11 illustrated it:

Well, very, very many socially sensitive issues appeared there, reality – we say, "children have phones". And?! It's possible that one can't do anything with that phone! (...) But the platform he must work on requires a higher quality device for him to be able to engage."

¹ This excerpt of an interview as well as all the following excerpts are translations from Latvian.

Sk2 told about the circumstances in a rural area: "There was no way, the primary school didn't have such a view at all that there should be online lessons – absolutely and definitely not because of resources, moreover because we have those who live in such a dense forest, there is nothing (no internet) there at all!

Teachers organised their work with the limited resources at their (and school's) disposal, furthermore, they ascertained the provision of their students and sought to improve it. Technical support was often sought from family members that were more technically savvy. Teachers also discussed issues connected to their working premises and conditions while working from home, such as the need to share space and devices among family members, taking care of their own kids studying from home. Teachers were distressed by the limited availability of teaching/learning aids and resources – not only ones suitable for online teaching, but learning materials were lagging for the implementation of the afore mentioned curriculum reform Skola2030. In addition, teachers encountered the lack of other study resources, such as supply for arts or STEM experiments for students learning from home.

New rules and guidelines were established frequently during the period studied and therefore discussed in several respects. Along with the need to comply to the general schooling principles, the rules and guidelines for remote and online teaching were discussed, criticised as well as anticipated. COVID-19 inflicted safety measures and the associated unpredictability was discussed, especially the unpredictability associated with quarantining and the abrupt transition from face-to-face to remote learning as COVID-19 cases were detected. Teachers also expressed their views on the new rules and guidelines of Skola2030 curriculum reform, recurrently criticising the decision of the authorities to continue implementing the reform in a crisis, Sk5 described her perceptions:

The feeling is that you are not just thrown into the water, but just as you reach the edge of the pool, you get pushed back into it! (...) So, you had a stomach operation? – not a big deal, we are supposed to eat porridge today! You're just getting it.

Some benefits of Skola2030 were highlighted as well, for instance Sk4 said:

I have to say that Skola2030 with its curriculum pretty much forces me to wade into fields that I have not wandered into before, really. (...) Well, since I like (doing) it, I don't mind, I also read, search, analyse, collect (information), and so on.

Several participants admitted they had been bending the rules to achieve what they felt was for the benefit of students, considering that the state of emergency initially allowed for relaxing the learning outcome requirements, Sk4 elaborated:

(...) I was definitely looking for what works for me and what doesn't work for me! And what suits a particular class, what works for a particular child and what doesn't, and then I think about how to bypass the system! But to be honest, I said that for myself, but to be frank, I also have colleagues who did similarly. They were looking for ways to bypass the system as well! This consumes a huge amount of energy! Because of the awareness of the mission to educate the child.

Local and school-level rules and demands were depicted in opposing views, demonstrating how differently schools tackled the crisis.

Seeking support from community

The role of community was initially not apparent as a central theme in teachers' narratives, however, as participants depicted the availability of support and the perceived appreciation of their work, it became evident that there were distinct characteristics of a cohesive school community as opposed to a fragmented school community and that it influenced their job satisfaction. It is important to mention that the aspects of school culture are aggregated here for the purpose of typification and were not necessarily simultaneously present in all cases. The third subtopic comprises context specific challenges.

Cohesive school community was manifested through a perception of the school leadership as supportive and dedicated, colleagues as an encouraging and supportive team that engage in mutual learning, exchanging ideas and conveying emotional support. Sense of appreciation and job satisfaction was more probable to be expressed in such a community as well as the sense of long-term planning and preparedness to the remote teaching challenges ahead. Representatives of such communities frequently viewed their colleagues as reliable and doing their best in regard to professionalism and concern for students. Utterances of Sk13 depicted such a community:

But the rest of us sat here at school, rehearsed, connected, simulated that lesson – as if I was a student and he was a teacher and vice versa, whether he heard me, or saw what I wanted to show, and so on. We supported each other. Well, yes, it is like that, quite a large part of the collective felt safer at school than at home. Because there were people ready to help at any moment.

Fragmented school community was apparent through a perception of the school leadership as controlling or uncaring to teachers, teachers' perceived isolation and solitude, short-term orientation and survival with respect to the remote teaching challenges ahead, along with negativity among teachers mainly in the shape of venting negative emotions and shared pessimism. Sk6 depicted such a situation:

You stay alone, and you get along somehow, you talk to your colleagues, everything is negative and depressing for them too. There was no support to turn to, to talk to.

Perceived futility or fruitlessness of cooperation at their respective school was a characteristic as well, Sk11 accounted:

It was not important for me to collaborate with someone, because it was rather a waste of time. Because when, for example, there is a meeting about problems and how to solve them, then after 10 minutes all the meetings go "how bad everything is, and we don't have computers, and they don't learn at all, and they don't connect, and they turn off the cameras, and the parents are irresponsible and the parents don't care and it's the parents' responsibility, it's the social service's responsibility" and so on. Everyone is tossing around responsibilities. But there is no constructiveness.

Sense of underratedness and being neglected was often paired with doubts about other teachers' performance and devotion that were based on personal observations.

Context-specific challenges include shortages of teachers and support staff along with the socioeconomic situation of the local community, schools and classes in threat of closure in contrast to challenges of large class and school sizes and limitations of devoting time to all learners, a statement from Sk4 illustrates this:

It was completely clear to me that in [city] I cannot give such assignments, as I said, the children in large classes are not, they are not ready. They haven't managed to learn a lot of things, well at least practically, I think that there are no problems with mathematics, no problems with languages, but design, technologies – where you need to work practically, which, by the way, is the focus now (Skola2030), it is not possible with 30 children in class. Well, a teacher can't provide guidance for 30 children (at once) to learn to crochet properly!

School type, size, and location (urban, rural) affected the availability of resources and possible solutions. Sk1 depicted a small urban school:

Then overall, I'd say we survived that digital experience relatively well as a school, because, what worked well was the fact that we are small and flexible.

Compulsory vaccination of teachers had a negative impact on some school communities, given that colleagues resigning felt deserted, and if they returned relationships were not what they used to be. Substitution of colleagues was problematic for various reasons. While working from home, one's own family situation affected teachers' work. Teachers recounted how global events, such as the war in Ukraine, affected them as well.

Learning on the go

Most of the teachers' accounts of learning experiences were about their development through adjusting to the dynamic changes in their work and learning to provide online learning experiences. Five subthemes were generated through analysis: taking learning opportunities; preparing lessons and organizing work; conducting lessons and caring for students' academic results; maintaining a good rapport with students and caring for their socioemotional wellbeing; coping and self-care.

Teachers were *taking learning opportunities* in various ways, predominantly relying on self-directed learning and self-study resources that allowed to direct their professional development according to their needs, capacities, and pace, according to Sk4:

There have been courses and, of course, there was mutual exchange of thoughts and ideas among colleagues, but above all I investigate by myself. I search, I read, as I said, the same Skola2030 with the new topics that need to be learned, what courses should I expect there? When I need something, I read, I search, I find and I put it together.

Several teachers were particularly appreciative of experience sharing workshops and supervision sessions. Participating in professional development courses was generally perceived as having some or limited added value, though teachers were appreciative of the broadened choice of courses due to being conducted online and thus their increased accessibility. Participants reported collecting ideas and materials from social media and their social circle as well as learning from their students and encouraging them to take initiative in lessons. University studies and other studies were mentioned as well.

Preparing lessons and organizing work was taking up much more time than before and involved considerable amount of learning by doing and relentless problem-solving, Sk12 depicted it:

Well, the preparation of it too, a lot more searching for material that can be used like digitally. Making all kinds of Kahoot! quizzes about sports and adding something like that, because with that number of hours honestly – you have to be very athletic to physically, let's say, exercise all that. At first, I also tried to exercise along myself, then I realized that I can't do it. Then I just demonstrated, which is also more correct from a pedagogical point of view, that I watch them make mistakes, instead of me exercising a lot and no one else actually doing it.

Online lesson preparation and planning was described as time consuming and complex, it involved preparing learning materials from scratch fitting to the new teaching modality as well as according to the curriculum reform Skola2030,

preparing engaging, tailored and personalized online lessons and self-study tasks. Various methodological solutions and timetable variants were developed and tested, including outdoor learning. Teachers reported increased class-teacher duties and extra-curricular work connected both to student attendance and learning results tracking, collaboration with parents, socioemotional problem solving, work connected to COVID-19 testing and tracking as well as keeping track of students learning face-to-face versus remotely during hybrid learning periods.

Conducting lessons and caring for students' academic results involved the challenge of maintaining students' learning discipline remotely, evaluating results, dealing with student cheating and sometimes frivolous attitude towards remote learning, excessive or insufficient parental involvement sometimes resulting as a disservice of doing homework instead of students. There was an apparent consensus on the crucial issue of giving and receiving feedback from students online and remotely. Sk13 depicted the challenge:

Well, how to conduct this lesson effectively, so that the students actually work, instead of sitting with their screens off, without a camera.

Teachers typically maintained multiple communication channels and closely communicated with other teachers as well.

Maintaining a good rapport with students and caring for their socioemotional wellbeing appeared to be important for academic performance. Teachers generally kept close track of student attendance and lesson engagement, strived to maintain a good rapport with students remotely, attended to students' socioemotional wellbeing both individually and on a school level. Sk5 depicted students' challenges:

Well, then you understand that some of those children really had extreme conditions for learning. And then the child is saddened that the result is not so good, and then I must reassure them that the circumstances are completely different, they're no longer at school.

Participants devoted time to students individually and collaborated with parents to help struggling students. Teachers' efforts were sometimes met with incomprehension, negativity, and criticism. They observed deteriorated student social skills after the prolonged remote learning period.

Coping and self-care was crucial for maintaining teachers' working capacity. Teachers reported various effects of remote teaching and the overall tension on their health and emotional wellbeing. They were struggling with time management and with retaining of work-life balance. Several teachers recollected becoming aware of their limits, overcoming perfectionism, and learning self-preservation, for instance Sk5:

Well, I've always tried to be a very, very nice person, and this remote work showed me, in general, this whole emergency situation, working, let's say it, under triple workload conditions – you have to do it face-to-face, bearing in mind (you may have to switch to) remote learning and then also Skola2030 – I must note, that I'd said this so many, so many times: you know, I feel sorry for myself too! When I had never said that in my life before.

Others were appreciative of their previous experiences and personality traits that helped cope. Respondents reported regenerating through family time, recreation in nature and enjoyable activities. Sense of responsibility towards students, steady pay and acceptance of the situation were aspects sustaining teachers' in their efforts.

Making sense of the experience

Learning and sense-making is what brings an experience its educative meaning. Three subthemes were determined for making sense of the experience: comparing and contrasting; recognition and appraisal of work; evaluating gains and consequences.

Teachers were commonly *comparing and contrasting* as a means to comprehend and navigate the changes. They observed the working conditions of teachers in other schools and countries as well as the dedication and working methods of colleagues and were critical of the quality of some. Sk5 shared her observations:

And then it turns out that you - a couple of teachers – are the kind of bogeys who force the poor child to do something (to study hard remotely) and then there are other teachers who are easy going about it.

There were statements of state officials not matching local realities that were perceived as infuriating and troublesome, Sk11 portrayed it:

Parents were troubled too because they were living in the pandemic as well, not just the education sphere, but they may have lost their jobs and so on. And they say: "But on the TV, it was told you have everything!" And then they (on the TV) say: "The school should give you a computer!" And then those kids go to school and the school responds: "We don't have that computer! There just is none." But the TV told there is! Well, that's it."

Teachers shared their observations about the mental state of their colleagues, Sk12 described:

So many of those colleagues also, I think, became very stressed during Covid (...) I think that many were on the edge, not that they were, they remain there.

They are on the edge of it now. In my opinion. And is it just Covid, well, now the war comes as a bonus.

Another aspect of this subtopic was validating one's experience through recognizing the similarities in other teachers' experiences.

Recognition and appraisal of work appears to be closely tied to teachers' job satisfaction and overall wellbeing throughout the interviews. Student success and learning motivation was mentioned as one of the key aspects that brought sense of meaningfulness to work along with appreciation and positive emotions from parents and students. It was common to experience negativity from both parents and students as having the opposite effect, Sk6 characterised it:

Everyone is stressed and they just don't see you, they don't notice you.

Another crucial aspect was recognition of work by school leadership and other parties ranging from encouraging words to financial bonuses for achievements at school. Lack of performance-based pay on the school-level along with the perceived overall distrust of teachers' professionalism from authorities and policy makers was perceived as disheartening, Sk4 stated:

But I can't work, I don't trust myself, after all these reforms, I can't trust myself anymore, maybe I really don't know how to work?! (...) And a teacher, a subject teacher, a specialist in his field, he can't choose. For him, as I have already said, we do not trust ourselves anymore, we clearly see that these children need something different, but we cannot do it, because we are put in this sort of track, in a frame.

Evaluating gains and consequences serves as a final step towards making the meaning of the experience. It was commonly agreed that developed digital literacy and learning materials were a great asset along with increased methodological flexibility and adaptability. Some of the teachers discussed what appeared a sense of empowerment and agency, for instance Sk5 told:

In a way, those remote studies provided more freedom, because if you feel, if I feel, that more ZOOMs are needed, then I schedule another ZOOM (...). I loved the freedom of being my own boss, now I'm actually still trying to maintain it.

A common thread was the perception of a stabilised system during remote teaching that immensely eased the job and provided a sense of "the new normal". Some participants acknowledged that they had restructured their professional activity beyond adjustment to remote teaching mode, for instance an experienced teacher Sk4 explained:

It was this huge benefit that art could be taught in a completely, completely, completely, different way. I had not had such an experience for years, and then I was tormented by the question that I still sometimes ask myself: Which art classes are better?

Teachers admitted the experience had led them to a more student-centred process and taught them to make clearer task descriptions. Overall participants portrayed increased self-awareness along with learning to spare oneself and set boundaries. Increased compassion and tolerance towards students and other teachers was depicted in some cases in contrast to attained irritability and disappointment in others. Sk11 portrayed how he has changed through the years of teaching:

If initially I could be a very drastic teacher and say that if it is not handed in 8:00, then 'cmon, the train has left (...). But now at this moment I say it is possible for all of us to learn – sooner or later – that it is possible for all of us to learn and get something done. It is a calmer perception of it all.

Negative consequences entailed burnout, retreating to self-preservation, considered or performed resigning along with decreased requirements from students.

Discussion and conclusions

This study aimed at conceptualising teachers' learning experiences that have accompanied the transformations of their professional activity during the COVID-19 pandemic. The time frame covered was March 2020 to June 2022 and included periods of remote and online learning, face-to-face and hybrid learning modalities. The 4 themes and 13 subthemes laid out in results section describe teachers' experiences in rich detail, revealing their complexity and variability.

Theme *dealing with limitations* revealed how teachers situate their professional activity and learning in regard to provision and rules, the former challenged by inequality among schools and families, the scale of which was not necessarily discerned by the interviewees themselves. Likewise, the rules applied in particular schools appeared to be moulded by the interpretation of school leadership and of local communities, which not necessarily was reflected in the judgements of interviewees. *Seeking support from community* was a theme that was revealed in the background of the depicted ongoings of teachers, however, it revealed the salient role of context as well. Namely, despite the unpredictability and pressures of pandemic realities, what can be called a cohesive school community could offer considerable strengthening and supportive features. Through the destabilisation and crisis community support can help reorientating

and finding one's footing. *Learning on the go* is a theme that depicts how teachers' learning resembled constant adaptation and work-based problem-solving, prioritising learning opportunities that offered skills and solutions directly applicable to their professional activity in the school. That shows that in a pandemic crisis and alike problem-oriented work-based professional development that provides an opportunity to practice and analyse working practices along with adaptable, targeted support should be delivered. It was also apparent how maintaining a good mutual rapport, bonding, and maintaining warm relationships online was crucial to students' success as well as teachers' wellbeing and job satisfaction.

Finally, the theme *making sense of the experience* outlined the sense-making journey of interviewees, which involved analysing their observations, receiving feedback and appraisal of their actions as well as drawing conclusions. Most teachers recognised they had not only learned new skills, but they had changed their professional activity and changed themselves in various ways during the timeframe studied. Clearly it takes time to reflect and make meaning of such a complex and lengthy experience, however this process needs dedication and space as well.

The discussed four themes unified by the overarching theme of learning through overcoming challenges depict the journey of getting through an uncertain situation to which the previous experience doesn't offer an immediate solution nor explanation. However, to move figuratively from enduring and overcoming through to growth and empowerment, an intermediate stage is required. Teachers need not only reflect on their experiences, but to recover and regain their integrity, to make closer scrutiny of experience possible. What makes some teachers go through this crisis and experience growth, while others remain in bewilderment and state of survival? What role does the school culture play? Are there personality traits that bolster teacher resilience? How to maintain the quality of life while going through hardships, recover when the hardships are over and experience growth? What support is effective? On the one hand, evidently targeted support is needed to give space for a deep, improvement-oriented reflection with a clear target in order to benefit from the experience, on the other hand, the notion of teacher professional competence embodies the obligation to become aware of the need oneself.

This study doesn't allow for generalisations due to the limited sample, though it points to the significant role of context, relationships, and dedication for teachers to have beneficial learning experiences accompanying the transformations of their professional activity during the COVID-19 pandemic. The data collected in this study may be used to develop a typology of teacher learning experiences to further this line of research. It is suggested to collect a larger sample in future lines of investigation and to analyse the factors that have influenced teachers' professional learning and opportunities for reflection. Themes

that were developed in this study may help to build context-specific and situational learning and support systems for teachers and guide future research.

Acknowledgements

We would like to express our deepest appreciation to the participants of the study for their valuable time and candour.

REFERENCES

Braun, V. & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 3(2), 77–101. https://doi.org/10.1191/1478088706qp063oa

Braun, V., Clarke, V., Hayfield, N. & Terry, G. (2019). Thematic analysis. In P. Liamputtong (Ed.), Handbook of research methods in health and social sciences (pp. 843–860). Springer.

Cabinet Order No. 103. *Regarding Declaration of the Emergency Situation*. Adopted on 12th March, 2020. https://likumi.lv/ta/en/en/id/313191-regarding-declaration-of-the-emergency-situation

Cabinet Order No. 655. *Regarding Declaration of the Emergency Situation*. Adopted on 6th November, 2020. https://likumi.lv/ta/en/en/id/318517-regarding-declaration-of-the-emergency-situation

Cabinet Order No. 662. Epidemiological Safety Measures for the Containment of the Spread of COVID-19 Infection. Adopted on 28 September, 2021. https://likumi.lv/ta/en/en/id/326513-epidemiological-safety-measures-for-the-containment-of-the-spread-of-covid-19-infection

Cabinet Order No. 720. *Regarding Declaration of the Emergency Situation*. Adopted on 9 October, 2021. https://likumi.lv/ta/en/en/id/326729-regarding-declaration-of-the-emergency-situation

Darling-Hammond, L., Hyler, M. E. & Gardner, M. (2017). Effective teacher professional development. https://doi.org/10.54300/122.311

Engeström, Y., & Sannino, A. (2010). Studies of expansive learning: Foundations, findings and future challenges. *Educational Research Review*, 5(1), 1–24. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. edurev.2009.12.002

Goba, L. (2019). Theorizing the concept of transformative learning experience in the context of teacher professional development. *Society. Integration. Education. Proceedings of the International Scientific Conference*, 5, 119–130. https://doi.org/10.17770/sie2019vol5.3754

Goba-Medne, L. (2019). Shifting the focus of professional development: From individual teachers' competences to a system of contextual professional activity. In L. Daniela (Ed.), *Innovations, Technologies and Research in Education. Proceedings of ATEE Spring Conference* (pp. 527–535). University of Latvia Press. https://doi.org/10.22364/atee.2019.itre.38

Hargreaves, A. & O'Connor, M. T. (2018). Collaborative professionalism: When teaching together means learning for all. Corwin.

Hoggan, C. (2016). Transformative learning as a metatheory: Definition, criteria, and typology. *Adult Education Quarterly*, 66(1), 57–75. https://doi.org/10.1177/0741713615611216

International Commission on the Futures of Education. (2021). *Reimagining our futures together: A new social contract for education*. UNESCO. https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000379707

Law on the Management of the Spread of COVID-19 Infection. Adopted by Saeima on 5 June, 2020. https://likumi.lv/ta/en/en/id/315278-law-on-the-management-of-the-spread-of-covid-19-infection

Mezirow, J. (2009). An overview on transformative learning. In K. Illeris (Ed.), *Contemporary theories of learning: Learning theorists in their own words* (pp. 90–105). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0039426

Nohl, A.-M. (2010). Narrative interview and documentary interpretation. In R. Bohnsack, N. Pfaff & W. Weller (Eds.), *Qualitative analysis and documentary method in international educational research* (pp. 195–217). Barbara Budrich Publishers.

Skola2030. (2019). Ieviešanas grafiks [Implementation Schedule]. https://www.skola2030. lv/lv/istenosana/izglitibas-pakapes/ieviesanas-grafiks

Strauss, A. C. & Corbin, J. (2015). Basics of Qualitative Research: Techniques and Procedures for Developing Grounded Theory (4th ed.). SAGE Publications.

The World Bank, UNESCO and UNICEF. (2021). *The state of the global education crisis : A path to recovery (English)*. The World Bank, UNESCO and UNICEF. http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/416991638768297704/The-State-of-the-Global-Education-Crisis-A-Path-to-Recovery

Yacek, D. W. (2017). Transformative Education: A Philosophical Inquiry [Ohio State University]. https://etd.ohiolink.edu/

About the authors

Līva Goba-Medne, Mg. Paed., doctoral candidate, graduate of the doctoral study programme Pedagogy at the University of Latvia. Research interests: teacher professional development from the perspective of transformative learning and activity theory, learning theories, philosophy of education.

Orcid ID: https://orcid.org/0000-0003-0036-2717

Zanda Rubene, Dr. Paed., professor in the philosophy of education at the University of Latvia, vice dean of the Faculty of Pedagogy, Psychology and Art, and head of the Education Sciences doctoral study program. She is the expert in Education Sciences at the Council of Sciences of the Republic of Latvia. Research interests: philosophy of education, digital childhood, transversal competences, and critical thinking.

Orcid ID: https://orcid.org/0000-0001-8515-8357

https://doi.org/10.22364/atee.2022.02

Reflective Writing as a Means Towards Teacher Professional Development

Evangelia Kosmidou & Maria Sfyroera

Faculty of Early Childhood Education, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens, Greece

ABSTRACT

The aim of this study is to present how reflective writing contributed as a means for teachers' professional development in the context of an action research project where a group of teachers engaged themselves on approaching diversity issues in their settings. During the preparation phase, participants were systematically involved in a variety of educational activities and workshops in order to approach reflective writing. At the next phase of the research, they were, thus, asked to carefully observe their contexts and their own practice and keep written records both from important "flash-points" they identified in their classroom and from the anti-bias sessions they conducted. As part of the process, they were invited to reflect on and submit copies of their records. Their writings were then discussed and commented on during feedback group meetings, where all participants shared their views and experiences in order to enrich their understandings. The different research data collected were analysed using qualitative and quantitative content analysis. According to the results, reflective writing proved an effective and powerful means for teacher professional evolution, although a number of significant challenges teachers were faced with were recognised. In order to overcome difficulties, individual and team support proved valuable allies. The small community of learning and practice that was gradually created seemed to have led to participants reconsidering their pedagogical perceptions, in the light of their critical interaction. The results of the study could contribute to the discussion about the significance of using reflective writing for teachers' professional evolution.

Keywords: Action research, Critical feedback, Critical incidents, Critical thinking, Reflective writing, Teachers professional development

Introduction

In this article we will try to highlight the most important findings of a study concerning the significance of using written records as a means for teachers' professional development in the context of reflective models for education. The study was embedded in a doctoral research conducted from October 2018 to June 2019. Within that context, twelve educators from various backgrounds and educational settings were involved in a collaborative action research project, adopting different roles (action researchers, critical friends, researcher-facilitator)¹. More specifically, nine preschool teachers were engaged in a project where they attempted to adopt the Persona Dolls (P.D.) approach² as a method to manage diversity issues and prevent exclusion in their classrooms. Participants were invited to approach the method as action researchers and try to explore the possibilities and challenges they came across during their involvement in the programme that were relevant to the research hypothesis. They were expected to carefully observe their class and systematically keep written records of both critical events they identified and of the P.D. sessions they organized, all related to the research axes. They were then encouraged to critically reflect on them, also in writing.

Within the framework of the research, they were involved in feedback meetings with the whole group, designed to provide them with theoretical and methodological support. Towards this effort, three other preschool teachers – the researcher as the facilitator and her two critical friends – also took part as members of the research team.

As the project evolved, teachers' writings started becoming more reflective, thus, revealing changes in their educational perceptions and influencing the way they approached their role as professionals. It, therefore, gradually became evident that other issues, equally significant, related to teachers' professional development issues arose and made their exploration important. Among the most prominent ones was the impact of using written records as a means for teachers to reflect on their beliefs, their attitudes and, consequently, on their practice.

This paper is organised in five parts. The present introduction is the first one. In the second part there is a brief review of the relevant literature that outlines

¹ The first author contributed to the research project as researcher and facilitator of the action research project.

The Persona Dolls approach was developed by preschool teachers in Britain and South Africa as a method to counter prejudice and discrimination in school in an effort to implement inclusion and social justice. Using life stories teachers attempt to familiarise children with different aspects of human diversity and though them help them develop empathy, unlearn prejudice and act against discrimination (Brown, 2001; Whitney, 1999). Persona Dolls (P.D.) are special, life-like dolls, with their own personalities used as educational tools by teachers.

the theoretical context of the study. The third part summarises the methodology we followed, i.e. the purpose and the aims, the research framework and the method. The most important findings are discussed in the fourth part. Finally, in the fifth part, we try to present our main conclusions about how reflective writing, as encouraged in the process of our research project, affected teachers' professional development.

(Re)considering teacher professional development: Teachers as reflective professionals

Research literature emphasises the need for continuous professional development for teachers. Yet, much of the relevant research concludes that the simple presentation of new theories and techniques does not automatically imply their acceptance and implementation by teachers in their classroom (Avgitidou, 2014; Elliot, 1989; Fullan, 2007; Speck & Knipe, 2005; Zeichner & Liston, 2014). Much of the criticism on traditional teacher training is based on the concept that they follow a top-to-bottom model of professional learning, the content of which is pre-planned, predetermined and linearly given by theorists or academicians to all participant teachers (Elliot, 1989). Most frequently, training focuses either on obtaining/improving instructional skills or on familiarising participants with new programmes as forms of adapting existing curricula (Fullan, 2007; Zeichner and Liston, 2014). However, such approaches seem to reveal a prevailing underestimation of teachers' contribution to the enrichment of our knowledge about the educational process (Day & Gu, 2010; Zeichner and Liston, (2014). In fact, it appears that relevant training models, although popular, have rather failed to sustain teachers' professional development and provide appropriate respond to important challenges and dilemmas they meet, at least in the long term (Speck & Knipe, 2005).

On the other hand, reflective approaches acknowledge the value of using professional knowledge to adapt educational practices according to the needs, the special characteristics and culture of each educational context (Altrichter, 2005; Avgitidou, 2014; Fullan, 2007). Zeichner and Liston (2014) argue that if we aim at having teachers prepared to face the various challenges they meet in their everyday practice, we should be ready to address them as active professionals. Schön (1983) supports that professional learning equals reflective practice. More explicitly, we should encourage teachers to reflect on their previous representations and experiences and consider them capable to take decisions about their educational action. According to Elliot (1989)

(...) the teacher educator must always transmit his or her specialised knowledge as intrinsically problematic (...) In the final analysis the ultimate validation of specialised knowledge about education is that it enables educational

practitioners to discover better solutions to the complex practical problems they confront in realising educational values in action. (p. 86)

These approaches on teacher professional learning incorporate the notion of redefining the relation between theory and practice. Challenging the belief that theory produced outside school can lead teaching act in a linear and undisputable manner, they focus on establishing a bidirectional link, as they acknowledge the contribution of teachers in critically approaching, exploring and adapting theory through everyday school practice (Day & Gu, 2010; Elliot, 1989; Zeichner & Liston, 2014). Fullan (2007) claims that unless "a culture of learning in context" is established in schools, "no incentive or qualification scheme by itself can possibly carry the day" (p. 292). Similarly, many researchers report that teachers' reflecting on their own practice as well as their students' action seem to have a positive impact on broaden the formers' understanding both on their context and on their own work, arguing that this considerably contributes to their professional progress (Altrichter, 2005; Day & Gu, 2010; Fullan, 2007).

In accordance with the above, relevant research findings show that teachers' involvement in participatory experiential sessions and reflective approaches encourages them to rethink their pre-existing perceptions and even to consider adapting their educational practices (Avgitidou, 2014; Day & Gu, 2010; Elliot, 1989). Zeichner and Liston (2014) claim that "viewing teachers as reflective practitioners assumes that teachers can both pose and solve problems related to their educational practice" (p. 5). This perspective is in line to Elliot's (1991) belief that only through fully and explicitly understanding an educational situation as it evolves can we decide on the appropriate educational (re)action. Therefore teachers themselves can contribute in the introduction of innovative proposals and changes by reflecting on their practice. In this context, teachers take the role of active professionals who use action research rather than cookbook paradigms.

Reflective writing for professional evolution

Many researchers parallel the writing process with the evolution of thinking: Purposeful, systematic writing entails qualities applied in learning strategies, such as recollection, organising, revision, connectedness and selection. As reflective writing is considered a useful strategy to focus on self-practice, it is widely exploited in pre-service teachers training during their academic studies (Avgitidou, 2014; Hoover, 1994). Writing journals, critical events, lesson plans and reflective evaluations are some common forms of relevant training exercises included in contemporary academic curricula. Nevertheless, although, not equally popular, reflective writing can be also seen as a means towards professional

development for in-service teachers, helping them to focus on and reconsider important aspects of their educational action (Hoover, 1994).

Methodology

The purpose and the aims of the study

The main purpose of our study was to identify the role of reflective writing for teachers' professional development in the context of our research project. More explicitly we tried to find out:

- What does the analysis of the reflective written records teachers submitted reveals in relation to the evolution of their thinking and their ability to reflect on their contexts and their educational act?
- How is the record writing process evaluated by teachers themselves in relation to their professional development?

The research context

The study is part of a wider research that was carried out from October 2018 to June 2019. In the context of an anti-bias action research project, twelve educators from various backgrounds were theoretically and methodologically supported to use the Persona Dolls method as a research hypothesis for approaching matters of diversity and challenging prejudice and discrimination in their classrooms. More specifically, in the research participated nine preschool teachers from different public settings as action researchers, the researcher as a facilitator as well as two critical friends of the latter. The participant teachers were selected through snowball sampling (Mason, 2002). Among the most important requirements were their lack of previous systematic training on either action research or anti-bias education as well as their interest and willingness to commit themselves in the research purpose and process. Both the researcher and her two critical friends were preschool teachers having significant teaching and academic experience on the theoretical and methodological fields involved.

Participation in the research was voluntary. All participants were informed about the purpose, the methods and the procedure of the research and consented to promote its aims by honestly reporting data, following the process and collaborating with the research team. Finally, we were all committed in writing that the anonymity of the participating teachers would be fully respected, only the researcher would have full access to all data and all information shared or published would be used by solely for research purposes.

The research process lasted for almost a whole school year and was divided into four main phases (see Table 1) which included:

- training sessions
- collaborative activities and workshops

- educational interventions in teachers' settings
- systematic reflective writing
- · regular reflection and feedback team meetings
- · optional one-on-one support and feedback via phone or email

October –	November 2018 –	January –	June 2019		
November 2018	January 2019	June 2019			
 Selecting participants Initial communications Starting questionnaires Starting focus group 	 Training sessions: group activities and workshops related to the theoretical and methodological framework of the research 	 Educational interventions using the P.D. approach Observation and reflective writing Reflection and feedback group meetings Phone/email support On the spot visits 	 Final interviews Final focus group & evaluation meeting 		

Table 1. The timetable

Introducing and supporting reflective writing...

Among all the activities they participated, teachers were initially involved in a variety of training sessions including experiential workshops and activities. Some of the main objectives of the process were to theoretically and methodologically familiarise them with reflective writing as a means to enhance their understandings. More specifically, they were introduced a) to the logic of critical incidents as tools to gain deeper insight into invisible aspects of their educational context (Woods, 1993; Tripp, 1993) and b) to the importance of recording their reflection on the educational interventions they would implemented as action researchers in their classrooms. As part of the following research phase, teachers were asked to systematically write down forms of:

- lesson plans and evaluation forms for every educational intervention they conducted using the Persona Dolls method as an anti-bias approach
- critical events (Woods, 1993; Tripp, 1993) they identified during their everyday programme, relevant to the research axes (i.e. diversity issues in their setting and anti-bias exploitation of the Persona Dolls method)

Copies of their written records were submitted to the researcher for analysis, while part of the material was discussed during the scheduled reflective/ feedback group meetings, where all teachers, the researcher facilitator and the two critical friends involved, shared their opinions in an attempt to broaden their theoretical and methodological perspectives. To further support teachers' effort to approach reflective writing, they were encouraged to ask for extra bibliography or feedback communication via phone or email.

The research material

The material was collected throuhout the research and more specifically from November 2018 to June 2019. It was drawn from various sources, both oral and written, to provide us with the most comprehensive overview and documentation of the issue under study. The data analysed were, therefore, the following:

- The questionnaires submitted by the teachers at the beginning of the research
- The written records they submitted (forms of critical events and educational interventions)
- · Teachers' individual interviews at the end of the research project
- The focus group interview at the end of the research
- The researcher's journal

The research method

Action research was adopted as a basic methodological strategy, focusing on the reflective-critical analysis of data emerged through individual and collective reflective processes (Katsarou, 2016; Stenhouse, 1975). We used content analysis as our data was drawn from different sources. Thematic content analysis was used to come up with meaningful, evident-based answers to our research questions (Mason, 2002) as well as to understand the meaning participants attributed to the whole process (Patton, 1990). Quantitative content analysis was used to enrich our understandings by producing necessary measurable results about the frequency and intensity of the concepts that emerged from the thematic analysis (Wilson, 2016).

During the process, audio material was fully transcribed in order to have all our data in the form of a written text. Then, after multiple, systematic reading, the data were grouped into categories that met the principles of internal homogeneity and external heterogeneity (Patton, 1990). Elements of grounded theory were used to reframe our thinking and lead us to new theoretical explanations based on our developing experience (Strauss & Corbin, 1998).

Findings

The participant teachers

The nine participants in the research project were all quite experienced teachers, working in early childhood education from eleven to almost thirty years. At that time they were all teaching in Greek public kindergartens all over Attica. They were all university graduates, five of them holding a master's degree. They

had never been involved in a similar project before and they had no systematic training in issues related to the research axes. The analysis showed that all of them were interested and willing to participate in the action research process, mainly to enrich their knowledge and skills about the research topic.

Approaching the process...

As mentioned above, during the third phase of the research, teachers were invited to keep written records of critical events and of their educational interventions. More specifically, they were asked – through observing their students in their everyday school life and during P.D. sessions – to spot and write down interesting flashpoints related to the research axes (i.e. diversity issues arising and/ or researching the value of the Persona Dolls method as an anti-bias approach). As far as the interventions were concerned, teachers had to write down the antibias lesson plans they designed following the P.D. session approach. To promote reflection on their writings, they were also asked to comment on critical events they identified as well as critically evaluate their interventions after each session they had conducted in their classroom. To facilitate and organise their writing they were given sample forms for both types of writing.

Data analysis shows that most teachers kept systematic records of the forms requested (see Table 2). Seven out of nine submitted at least fifteen forms for each type of record, which was the required for the number of interventions they were invited to carry out. Four teachers submitted more forms while two of them less – mainly due to absence from class or methodological difficulties.

Teachers submitted copies of their papers on a regular basis, although they followed their own schedule, as they could submit them either every week or within a month, so long as they were handed in before our upcoming group meeting. However, as the research progressed, most participants began to send their forms more frequently, often on a weekly basis, requesting, if possible, to receive a more immediate first feedback from the facilitator.

Teachers	T1	T2	T3	T4	T5	T6	T7	T8	T9	Totals
Critical events	3	17	15	16	16	15	15	19	11	127
Intervention forms (Lesson plans and evaluations)	8	16	16	16	15	16	15	15	13	130
Educational interventions	12	16	16	16	15	16	15	15	13	134

Table 2. Written records submitted and educational interventions made

Challenges and dilemmas

Despite the initial training, writing proved to be a rather demanding process for the teachers. Studying the material revealed that a number of significant issues arose, unsettling participants' work routines while challenging their theoretical and methodological certainties. The most important difficulties they encountered are presented below.

As the project progressed, teachers seem to have realised that they had underestimated the time they needed for writing – both for describing the process/ facts and adding reflective comments. In fact, they claim that they often had to try hard to "fit" the process into the already heavy schedule they had every day at school.

After a while I understood that it takes more (time) than I first thought. Not only in quantity (...) I mean you have to be concentrated there (...) (T5, interview)

They also acknowledge consistency and commitment as essential to avoid losing focus.

(...) when you are not consistent (with your writings), then it is very easy to lose it (...) (T1, interview)

Selecting noteworthy elements to write about and comment on often troubled the participants. Dilemmas arose, such as whether the incidents they identified could be characterised as critical, or whether the points they focused on during their educational interventions assessment were well selected.

(...) is what I am going to write, say, naïve, after all? And do I have to write something else that I did not see or did not understand or did not identify? (...) There I had the dilemma and the hesitation (...) (T7, interview)

At the same time, methodological issues emerged. Participants had to familiarize themselves with the use of necessary tools – digital recorders, sample forms etc – to facilitate and increase the validity of the writing process.

I found it difficult to record the session in written. I cannot handle the doll, talk to the children, watch everyone's reactions (especially non-verbal ones) and at the same time control everything that happens. I think I will lose important pieces (...) Maybe I need a recording tool (camera, voice recorder, mobile?). (T8, intervention form)

On the other hand, even when adapting such tools, they sometimes found it difficult to transfer their experience into writing.

When writing the forms, it was difficult for me that, as I had it as an image in my mind, (...) However, in order to bring it all to paper, I filtered it so much that I did not know what to write. (T9, interview)

Participants partially attributed their difficulty in adapting reflective writing to lack of sufficient or any previous experience in observing and reflecting on both their class and their own practice. Their remarks seem to be confirmed by the analysis and the association of the relevant data (e.g. a positive correlation is revealed between elements of their professional profile at the begging of the research and the quality of the written texts they submitted). T7 characteristically mentions relevant difficulties in reflecting on the critical events she identified as well as on the educational interventions she carried out:

I could not evaluate what went well, what did not go well. These questions were very difficult for me. Or my thoughts. I could not, because I did not have them in order. That was where I was blocked (...) self-assessment (...) is a thing that we have not learnt, I have not learnt to do it, to record it. I know in myself if I did something well or I did not, I just always pass it (...)

Several more teachers shared similar comments either during our group meetings or in our one-on-one communications we had in the meantime. Interestingly, however, they also emphasise that they had not initially realised how challenging it would be for them to respond to the process.

Facing difficulties

Despite difficulties, all teachers were involved in the process of reflective writing. Most of them submitted the required number of forms – some of them even more – trying to be as consistent as possible in the research axes. Although, at the beginning, the quality of both the descriptions and the comments submitted were, in some cases, rather poor, the data analysis shows that, the participants gradually improved their ability to focus and reflectively comment on their writings. They all agree that this was neither a linear nor an effortless achievement. However, they acknowledge – not only during the research but also in retrospect – that their way towards reflection was supported through the action research procedures followed.

In fact, adopting a research approach either by using appropriate tools or by following a consistent and organized, yet flexible, course of action was recognized as significantly helpful, e.g.:

I found the audio recorder very useful. Because, during some sessions, *I* got lost with writing. (T4, interview)

The given form was necessary. (T2, interview)
E. KOSMIDOU & M. SFYROERA. Reflective Writing as a Means Towards Teacher Professional ...

(...) the fact that there was a repetition every week put me in the process of thinking about what I have written and needing to take an extra step which under other circumstances may exist as a thought, yet, would remain a thought. (T8, final focus group)

The fact that there was a commitment was very important. This led to a change of mentality, to a process that (...) I now cannot imagine I won't keep written records. (T3, final focus group)

Along with all of the above, feedback and collaboration were considered the cornerstones in their attempt to first comprehend the significance of reflecting on the educational process observed and then realising the need to adopt it themselves. Data analysis, clearly shows that teamwork meetings, in particular, played a key role in supporting teachers' attempt to interpret their writings by enriching their viewpoint. The researcher's journal is full of examples where the sharing of views turned out to offer the group members a lot of new perspectives and ideas, until then unrevealed to the writers themselves.

(...) comments from critical friends that were made during the meetings, these reflections (...) I think helped me a lot. I mean, maybe it's very important (...) the concerns that arose from our meetings in unblocking some things in order to evaluate them more objectively. (T3, focus group)

Nevertheless, more than feedback, teachers argue that open and collaborative interaction within the group offered them encouragement and empowerment, acting as an antidote to isolation and unilateral thinking.

(...) as soon as feedback meetings took place (...) would go ahead again with confidence (...) if there was no team feedback I might, say, really get stuck and not be able to move on. (T5, focus group)

(...) the fact that we were there and I listened to the difficulties and the conveniences and the way they were handled by (...) the rest of the team was definitely very helpful. Because when you see that ah, I was not the only one who made this mistake or I was not the only one doing it this way etc is inspiring (...)

Between group meetings, the option for feedback on an individual level via phone or email communication also proved to be particularly helpful in facilitating participants to enhance their effort to develop their ability to reflect on their writing.

(...) the fact that I sent you something and I had a feedback within a few hours. (...) written word very much as a means, it stays with me more maybe than oral. (...) it worked very well for me. (T2, interview)

E. KOSMIDOU & M. SFYROERA. Reflective Writing as a Means Towards Teacher Professional ..

(...) our discussions made me understand exactly and to the point (...) where my mistakes were, think towards the right direction and then made me feel that I can and act alone and make mistakes (...) (T8, interview)

There also appears to be a relationship between this feeling of support and encouragement that teachers reported receiving in the time leading up to our next group meeting with the finding that there was an increase in the frequency of handouts from mid-survey onwards, which emerged from the analysis.

Developing new skills and understandings

The analysis of the submitted forms (critical events and educational intervention forms) showed that as the research project progressed, teachers gradually exercised their writing skills, evolving the quality of their descriptive texts and their reflective comments. Along with them, they developed further professional skills, such as carefully observing their students and the educational process and focusing on important incidents relevant to specific axes – in this case the research axes.

I chose this as a critical event because I think there was a rift in the team. Although all year long we talk and "work" respect for diversity, it seems that was not enough. Stereotypical perceptions remain and are manifested in various ways. (...) I think the team needs to manage what we have discussed once again. I would also like to focus on how the whole team will respond to the issue (...) (T3, Critical event form, 15/4/2019)

Encouraging them to keep journal notes and exploit them to help themselves think critically about the context they teach seems to have opened up new perspectives on how they perceive their own action.

During writing, things came to me that at that time I might have forgotten and not given a basis for. So when I started writing I realised even more things, something that I've never done before (...) I have rarely dealt with observing and writing about my children's attitudes and behaviours (...) Now it's a little more (...) spontaneous. Something I didn't do before in the classroom and it definitely helps me in all my educational part in the classroom (...) (T5, interview)

Shifting their attention from technical and methodological issues to the use of writing as a means of deepening their understandings on the educational process helped them gain a clearer insight on their own representations and practice. As they argue, they were, thus, led to re-examine and re-evaluate the practices they adopt. T8 comments:

E. KOSMIDOU & M. SFYROERA. Reflective Writing as a Means Towards Teacher Professional ..

(...) I managed to reflect on myself and the way I position myself in the classroom, towards the children, on the issues we manage together, on how we manage them. I have a more objective picture of who I am now, right now in the classroom. I became an observer of myself.

Through reflecting on their written records, alternative interpretations arose, while preconceived notions were often revised in the light of new realisations.

The fact that you involve yourself into the process of reflection. That's where writing helps. There you are forced to see what is happening because at the end of the day you may say "I shouldn't have done that. I would do this differently. But it stops there. It stops there, you don't change it after all. (...) You won't change it. Whereas if you have it written, you don't miss anything, you are exposed (...) it is what ultimately makes you see yourself. Against everything (...) And how you are as an educator towards diversity and a programme that is related to prejudices. And how you manage them. (T8, interview)

Changes in their mindset inevitably affected their practice. Exploiting their emerging understandings of their context, role and practice, the participating teachers claim to have reviewed and, consequently, sought to reform their previous pedagogic action by making from minor adjustments to even significant adaptations.

(...) little by little I started to build, to build, to build, to see the mistakes I had made, I do not know how much I succeeded, how much I did not succeed. In this whole process I saw a lot of things. I probably saw things in my class (...) that came out and I would not see them any other way (...) (T3, interview)

While in their submissions clearly focus on issues of handling diversity as well evaluating the use of the research hypothesis to address bias, reflecting in writing seem to have contributed to the development of their ability to assess teaching tools, methods and ideas in a more critical way. Through adopting an action research approach they were involved in the process of reviewing theory in such a way that they started discovering new connections with the reality they experience every day at school and building practice-based correlations.

This was again a new dimension for me, even though I have been involved in action research in the past, during my training. But getting out of it all, you leave it behind. Everyday life is far from the theory and I think this all put me back in this process. The fact that theory is related to practice. And it is up to us not to let it go. (N6, Interview) TO BE OR NOT TO BE A GREAT EDUCATOR, 2022

E. KOSMIDOU & M. SFYROERA. Reflective Writing as a Means Towards Teacher Professional ..

It is also considered important that the participants themselves were aware of the process of their self-development and they could even recognise its step-bystep course throughout the action research process. In fact, they argue that it was mainly through reflective writing that they managed to better understand and be able to address their context needs.

The course was evolutionary. I realised that (...) it is a thing that is being built day by day. It is built session after session but it is also built with what you do next. I realised that what I was writing during the lesson was not just a recording of what the children were saying but it was something you had to read two or three times, record, delete, rewrite to find out what it was that finally appeared during the session. (N3 interview)

By the end of the research N3 verbalises a thought about reflective writing that seems to be accepted by almost all participating teachers:

My misconception was that writing was just one thing. It was not just a notekeeping, in my opinion. It was a lot of things, a lot, a lot of reflection needed to write. (...) In the process, I realised that this was not just about the programme (...) but it has to do with what I understood from my interventions. (N3, interview)

According to such an approach, reflection on writing moves away from its use as a tool for the purpose of a topic-centred assessment, highlighting its value as a transformative experience in participants' professional identities.

Discussion

In the context of an anti-bias action research project the use of reflective writing proved to have significantly contributed to teachers professional development by opening up new perspectives for them. The analysis showed that teachers often perceived the writing process as a multi-level challenge. Although at the beginning of the research they were all aware that reflective writing would be an integral part of the research and they were eager to be involved in it, it emerged that implementing it was neither a simple nor a familiar process for them. During their participation in the research project, a number of practical, methodological and theoretical issues arose. Some teachers reported that the whole process was rather demanding and time-consuming, while others identified their difficulty in meeting methodological requirements, such as how to focus on research axes, how to decide on what is important to write about, how to describe experience in writing and how to reflectively comment on their writing. E. KOSMIDOU & M. SFYROERA. Reflective Writing as a Means Towards Teacher Professional ..

To respond to arising challenges and dilemmas various options were exploited. Adherence to an organised and consistent, yet, open and flexible research planning was recognised as helpful for systematizing the work of all participants. Teamwork in the group meetings supported teachers' effort to overcome problems and dilemmas and offered feedback and encouragement. Similarly, individual communication with the researcher who adopted the role of facilitator-critical friend was acknowledged as a valuable choice.

Session after session, teachers devoted more time and effort to adopting reflective writing. Their commitment was fostered by their growing belief that this particular practice offered them prospects and opportunities they did not expect to have when entering the research project. As most of them mention, their initial expectations were mainly limited to exploring the research hypothesis and familiarising themselves with the anti-bias approach. However, they began to realise that their involvement in such a process promoted their professional evolution in a more comprehensive way. More specifically, it was evident that writing, as introduced in the context of this research, promoted opportunities for teachers to:

- challenge and enrich their knowledge and understanding of their students
- observe and reflect on the way they act as professionals
- (re)discover connections between theory and practice
- understand the contribution of reflective writing to supporting and improving the educational process.

It emerges that, even if not intended upon designing the process, the research hypothesis has eventually functioned more as a motive and a vehicle for teachers' professional development, supported by encouraging critical thinking and reflective writing than as an ultimate goal. We recognise that the findings of the study is rather context-limited. However we strongly believe that a larger qualitative action research focused on reflective writing as a means of teachers' professional development would be of great interest.

Conclusions

This study tried to highlight how reflective writing contributed to teachers' professional development within a larger action research project, which focused on evaluating the use of the Persona Dolls method in addressing anti-bias issues. Following the research planning, participants were invited to theoretically and methodologically approach and adopt reflective writing in order critically focus on the research hypothesis. As part of the process they were requested to observe their context and their pedagogical action – both during the educational interventions they carried out using the Persona Dolls method and during everyday life in the classroom, identify critical events or other noteworthy issues, somehow relevant to the research axe, to take written notes and to try to critically reflect on

E. KOSMIDOU & M. SFYROERA. Reflective Writing as a Means Towards Teacher Professional ..

them in writing. Although participating teachers faced challenges and dilemmas they claim that the support provided has considerably helped them to overcome them. Among the most important supportive elements they acknowledge were teamwork during the regular group feedback meetings as well as individual feedback given as an option by the facilitator via phone or email. Through observation, reflecting on their writings and exchanging views and opinions with the rest of the research team, teachers were led to critically think about their pedagogical perceptions and reconsider their practice. We believe that the above findings could enrich the dialogue on the contribution of reflective writing to teachers' professional development, especially in collaborative action research contexts.

REFERENCES

Altrichter, H. (2005). The role of the 'professional community' in action research. *Educational Action Research*, *13*(1), 11–26.

Avgitidou, S. (2014). Teachers as Researchers and Reflective Practitioners. Supporting Professional Learning for a Co-operative and Participatory Education. Athens: Gutenberg (in Greek).

Brown, B. (2001). *Combating discrimination. Persona dolls in action.* Stoke on Trent: Trentham Books.

Day, Ch., & Gu, Q. (2010). The New Lives of Teachers. London: Routledge.

Elliott, J. (1989). Educational Theory and the Professional Learning of Teachers: an overview. *Cambridge Journal of Education*, *19*(1), 81–101.

Elliot, J. (1991). Action Research for Educational Change. Buckingham: Open University Press.

Fullan, M. (2007). *The New Meaning of Educational Change*. 4th Edition. New York: Teachers College Press.

Hoover, L. (1994). Reflective writing as a window on preservice teachers' thought process. *Teaching & Teacher Education*, *10*(*1*), 83–93.

Katsarou, E. (2016). Educational Action Research. Multi-paradigmatic research tor the reformation of educational practice. Athens: Kritiki.

Mason, J. (2002). Qualitative Researching. 2nd Edition, London: Sage Publications.

Patton, M. (1990). Qualitative evaluation and research methods. Beverly Hills, CA: Sage.

Schön, D. A. (1983). The Reflective Practitioner: How Professional Thinking in Action. New York: Basic Books.

Speck, M., & Knipe, C. (2005). Why can't we get it right? Designing high-quality professional development for standard-based schools. Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin Press.

Stenhouse, L. (1975). Authority, Education and Emancipation. London: Heinnemann.

Strauss, A., & Corbin, J. (1998). Basics of qualitative research: Techniques and procedures for developing grounded theory (2nd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.

Tripp, D. (1993). Critical incidents in teaching. Developing professional judgment. London: Routledge.

E. KOSMIDOU & M. SFYROERA. Reflective Writing as a Means Towards Teacher Professional ...

Whitney, T. (1999). *Kids Like Us: Using Persona Dolls in the classroom*. St. Paul: Redleaf Press. Wilson, V. (2016). Research Methods: Content Analysis. *Evidence Based Library and Information Practice*, *11*(1), 41–43.

Woods, P. (1993). Critical Events in Education, British Journal of Sociology of Education, 14(4), 355–371.

Zeichner, K. M., & Liston, D. P. (2014). Reflective teaching: An introduction. New York: Routledge.

About the authors

Evangelia Kosmidou is a PhD candidate at the National and Kapodistrian University of Athens. She is an early education teacher and she has also worked for many years as a pre-service teachers' supervisor and a discussion leader at the Department of Early Childhood Education of the University of Athens. Her research interests focus on teacher education and training, differentiated pedagogy, inclusive education and anti-bias education.

Maria Sfyroera is an Associate Professor at the National and Kapodistrian University of Athens. Her specialization area is Teaching Approaches in Early Childhood Education and her research interests are educational practices, literacy, differentiated learning, learning and teaching practices, teacher education and minority education. https://doi.org/10.22364/atee.2022.03

Knowledge Building: A Good Way to Teach Educational Research Methodology

Calixto Gutiérrez-Braojos¹ & PaulaRodríguez-Chirino²

¹ University of Granada, Spain

² University La Laguna, Spain

ABSTRACT

Educational research skills are a relevant issue to education professionals. Knowing how to investigate makes it possible to generate knowledge to guide educational interventions and evaluations/assessments. An important aspect is to decide on the focus of training to develop research skills, both specific (e.g. formulating a research problem, collecting data, analysing data), and cross-cutting (working collaboratively). Knowledge Building (KB) pedagogy is a coherent approach to teach resarch skill. KB encourages sutdent asume the responsability to carry out collaborative process to build conceptual artefacts. The purpose of this communication is to train students in educational research skills applying the Knowledge Building pedagogy supporting by Knowledge Forum (KF). This platform offers students and teachers a collaborative workspace where ideas supported by evidence can be shared, discussed, negotiated and improved. A comapartive pretest-posttest design was applied to analyse whether students perceived improvements in their educational research skills. Likert scale questionnaires were applied to collect the data. The participants were 51 students enrolled in a course about educational research in Higher Education. The results show positive changes in the student's perception between the beginning and the end of the course. Improvements in the teaching of educational research based on Knowledge Building Pedagogy are discussed.

Keywords: Collaboration, Educational Technology, Educational Research, Knowledge Building, Research Skills

Introduction

Knowing how to research in the classroom is important for teachers (Valter & Akerlind, 2010). Research is understood as a systematic, methodologically controlled and transparent process with the aim of generating and using new

knowledge (Colás & Buendía, 1998; Creswell & Gutterman, 2021). Knowing how to research means knowing how to articulate a series of skills to answer research questions (Colás & Hernández, 2021): knowing how to recognize areas in need of research, reviewing the state of the matter, applying and combining procedures and techniques for data collection and analysis, reflective and communication skills. A professional who masters these skills can know and generate scientific knowledge that guides educational practices. Teachers can conduct research on their practices to improve their students' learning circumstances (Engelmann et al., 2016), and may also use methods to assess educational outcomes (Holden et al., 1999). However, unlike PhD studies, in undergraduate degrees few credits are allocated for training in research competences (Lambie et al., 2014; Jorgensen & Duncan, 2015, Petko, 2020). This means that students have few learning experiences that allow them to have quality training in educational research. This explains studies on the perception of students regarding the value of the subject in educational research. These studies indicate that students from Educational Sciences in Higher Education often consider research skills to be worthless for their professional future, and therefore they turn out to be ineffective in conducting research (e.g. Rodríguez-Chirino & Gutiérrez-Braojos, 2021; Akerlind, 2008, Ponterotto & Grieger, 1999).

Another important aspect is the relevance of the training approach. Under the umbrella of European credit, teaching methodologies place at the center the idea of learning by doing with others, coherently integrating moments for reflection and improvement of the actions and ideas developed in a topic (Gutiérrez-Braojos et al., 2020). According to this, educational research interventions have been directed to (Gutiérrez-Braojos et al., 2021):

- Attendance at specific research conference to learn what and how experts in the educational field investigate;
- Courses aimed at training in specific educational research skills (e.g. searching for information, writing and discussing research papers);
- Student participation in the activity of research groups carried out by expert research groups.
- Empower students to make groups with their peers and carry out their own research projects while receiving support and guidance from the teacher.

These educational proposals are based on socioconstructivist approaches versus traditional reproductive content teaching. The Knowledge Building pedagogy is consistent with the ideas proposed in the previous section. This socioconstructivist pedagogy aims at empowering students in the construction of their ideas on a topic or knowledge theme (Scardamalia & Bereiter, 1994; Zhang et al., 2009; Van Aalst & Chan 2012. The KB is based on the idea that students who exhibit high levels of epistemic collective agency achieve higher levels of collaborative achievement (e.g. Gutiérrez-Braojos et al., 2019; Strauß & Rummel, 2021;

Scardamalia & Bereiter, 2021). This involves engaging students in collaborative activities such as establishing common learning objectives in educational research, identifying research needs, negotiating which research problems are most relevant, inquiring, discussing and developing ideas on how to conduct educational research, making decisions about possible designs, procedures and techniques to carry out their research, as well as finding the best way to share the findings. In summary, students trained according to the KB pedagogy collaborate to improve ideas on how to face and carry out educational research. Knowledge Building pedagogy is often implemented through blended modalities, i.e. by combining online and offline teaching activities (Arce, 2022). For this purpose, the Knowledge Forum platform is often used. A technological artefact for collaborative and creative work with ideas (Scardamalia, 2004). The software offers a virtual space in which students can share, discuss and organise data, ideas.... in notes that are linked together. The KF allows any type of file to be attached.

Overall, training in educational research is key for education professionals. The Knowledge Building pedagogy empowers students to assume collective epistemic agency (Yang et al., 2020). This communication aims to carry out an intervention from the KB pedagogy to promote the collective epistemic agency and assess the self-efficacy perception of students to carry out an educational research. In this sense, high levels of collective agency are expected to be related to high levels of achievement in learning research competencies.

Methodology

In this study, a comapartive pretest-posttest design was applied to analyse whether students perceived improvements in their educational research skills. In particular, various questionnaires are applied to participants at two points. The first in the first two weeks at the beginning of the course, and the second during the last two weeks of the course (see Table 1).

	Moment 1	Moment 2
Instruments	Questionnaires-Likert	Questionnaires-Likert
Variables	Research Competence Collective Agency Starting point	Research Competence Collective Agency

Table 1. Variables, Data collection instruments, and application moments

Participants

The participants are 51 students enrolled in the 2nd year of the education degree program at the University of Granada who participated voluntarily in this research. They participated in an educational research subject for 16 weeks

according to the KB pedagogical principles to advance in the collective understanding on educational research topics and carry out a research on an educational problem of their interest. The students worked in a hybrid scenario supported by the Knowledge Forum platform (Scardamalia, 2004). This required training sessions during the first two weeks with the aim of training students in the KB principles and the use of the KF platform. This study is part of research project (see section: Aknowledgments). This research project involving human participants was reviewed and approved by Research Ethics Committe from the University of Granada.

Instruments

Students voluntarily responded to a battery of questionnaires in two different moments. In this communication we collect the results of 2 of the questionnaires applied at the beginning of the course, and at the end of it:

- Questionnaire of self-efficacy in educational research (Holden et al., 1999). This one-dimensional questionnaire is widely used ($\alpha = .99$). This questionnaire is made up of 9 items based on a 5-point Likert scale with values ranging from "1" to "5", "1" means "I can't do anything" and "5" means "I can do it completely". This questionnaire measures the extent to which students feel confident to carry out skills relevant to the educational research competence, for example, "Design and implement the best possible data analysis strategy for the study of a specific aspect of the educational practice".
- Questionnaire on collective agency (Zhang et al., 2019; Zhang et al., 2021). This recent questionnaire consists of three dimensions. The first dimension "collaboration and sharing ideas, CS" consists of 10 items ($\alpha = .97$), the second dimension "Team Consciousness, TA" of 6 items ($\alpha = .98$), and the third dimension "collective efficacy CE" consists of 3 items ($\alpha = .95$). These items are based on a 5-point Likert scale with values ranging from "1" to "5", "1" means "my opinion does not represent anything to me" and "5" means "totally represents my opinion". Some items in the questionnaire are: "When working in group, I think it is important to share ideas and learning resources (CC)"; "When I have not understood the point of view of my group members, I have actively asked (CG)"; "Even if we encounter difficulties, we can complete the learning tasks of this course well (EG)."
- Questionnaire of questions on omen variables: basic knowledge to carry out an educational research, value of the subject for the professional future, difficulty of the content, interest or motivation for the subject content, achievement expectations in learning, achievement expectations of high grades, emotions transmitted by the subject, expected learning attitude. These questions were answered with a 3-point scale whose labels depend

on the items. For example, for the item "value of the subject for the professional future", 1"" means null value, "2" moderate value, "3" high value.

Data analysis

Various analyses have been carried out in this study. For the analysis of the questionnaires of collective agency and research competencies, comparative analyses have been carried out between moments "1" and "2" using the non-parametric test of W, adding the size of the effect. Subsequently, a Cluster (Kmedias) analysis has been carried out. For the analysis of the questionnaire of omen variables (starting point) a percentage analysis was applied. For the analysis, several Rstudio packages have been used to analyze the data and elaborate the graphs.

Results

Analysis of the intervention benefits through questionnaires: collective agency and educational research competence

Descriptive statistics have been used to analyze the data obtained with the records of continuous activity on the platform, questionnaires on collective agency, and self-efficacy in educational research.

The statistical values have increased at the end of the course compared to the beginning. The non-parametric test W has been applied. The differences between the two moments are significant (p < .000) showing a large effect size in both variables.



Epistemic Collective Agency

Self-Efficacy in Educational Research

TO BE OR NOT TO BE A GREAT EDUCATOR, 2022

C. GUTIÉRREZ-BRAOJOS & P. RODRÍGUEZ-CHIRINO. Knowledge Building: A Good Way to Teach ..

The figures show that students improve their perception for the dimensions of collective agency and skills to carry out educational research. From the graphs, a positive and significant relationship between the collective agency and the research competences is also interpreted. That is, improvements in collective agency could be related to improvements in educational research competence.

The graphs also indicate the transitions of the students between the beginning and end of the course. Student scores do not vary in the same way for all participants. Especially at moment 2 it is observed that the participants are divided into two groups. A group (with a small number of cases) shows scores somewhat lower than their peers. The most obvious case is scientific competence.

Cluster Analysis

The results of a cluster analysis show two groups of students (Figure 2). On the one hand, a cluster of 12 students presents low scores in collective agency and educational research competence. This cluster has been called "students with high resistance to learning". On the other hand, a second cluster made up of 39 students presents high scores in the variables that comprise the collective agency and in the educational research competence.



Figure 2. Number and representation of Clusters

Analysis of the omen variables: perceptions at the beginning of the course

In order to understand the reasons that justify both Clusters, pre-intervention omen variables have been analyzed: previous knowledge about educational research, interest in the content, perceived difficulty... (See Figure 3).



Figure 3. Students perceptions at the beginning of the course according to clusters

The results show that both clusters are similar when it comes to recognizing not having previous knowledge, the high difficulty of the subject, and experiencing a lack of positive emotions towards the subject. Cluster 2 presents a higher percentage of students who score moderately on motivational and emotional variables, showing expectations of achievement in both performance and learning despite the perceived difficulty. In addition, cluster 2 stands out for having a high percentage of students who state that they would have an active attitude to learn the subject.

Discussion and Conclusion

In this communication we present the partial results of a broader work (R + D + i project). The results show that the KB has generated an improvement in collective agency and skills in educational research.

In addition, two clusters of students have been found in this study. They differ from each other according to the level of collective agency and self-efficacy to conduct educational research. The first cluster consists of a small number of students. This cluster is characterized as having achieved a moderate development of skills in educational research at the end of the course and presenting low scores in collective agency. The second of these clusters is composed of the majority of students. This cluster is characterized by high scores in collective agency and skills for educational research. These results coincide with previous studies concluding that levels of collective agency can explain levels of educational attainment (Zhang et al. 2021; Gutiérrez-Braojos et al., 2019), especially when the work methodology requires collaboration with others to improve ideas, and carry out research, as is the case with this study.

In order to understand the reasons that justify both Clusters, pre-omen variables prior to the intervention have been analyzed. The results show that, regardless of the cluster of belonging, the students do not have any knowledge prior to the subject to carry out an educational research. Likewise, another considerable number of students consider this training in educational research to be alien or not very relevant to their profession. However, in cluster 2 made up of students who manifest a greater collective agency and competencies in educational research, a larger group of students who manifested an active attitude in the subject is observed.

In conclusion, recognizing the limitations, the results of our study lead us to affirm that:

- Students are able to progressively take collective responsibility for their learning when given the opportunity.
- Empowering students to assume this responsibility generates improvements in transversal and specific competences in the majority of students.
- Future studies should test the implementation of KB in longer periods to train future teachers' capability of reflecting on the action in their classrooms (experience of 3 months, there are few credits in educational research).

This study has had a relatively short duration for the time a student needs to adequately develop educational research competences. This duration is a mandatory condition of our higher education context. Therefore, we believe that other studies of longer duration that do not have these limitations could obtain even better results.

Aknowledgments

Project (PID 2020-116872-RA-100), financed/supported by: Ministry of Science and Innovation – State Research Agency

REFERENCES

Akerlind, G. S. (2008). Growing and developing as a university researcher. *Higher Education*, 55, 241–254. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10734-007-9052-x

Arce, E., Zayas-Gato, F., Suárez-García, A., Michelena, Álvaro, Jove, E., Casteleiro-Roca, J.-L., Quintián, H., & Calvo-Rolle, J. L. (2022). Experiencia blended learning apoyada en un laboratorio virtual para educación de materias STEM. Bordón. *Revista De Pedagogía*, 74(4), 125–143. https://doi.org/10.13042/Bordon.2022.95592

Colás, M. P. & Buendía, L. (1998). Investigación Educativa [Educational Research]. Alfar.

Colás, M. P., & Hernández, M. Á. (2021). Las competencias investigadoras en la formación universitaria. *Revista Universidad y Sociedad, 13*(1), 17–25.

Creswell, J. W. & Gutterman T. C. (2021). Educational Research: planning, conducting, and evaluating quantitative and qualitative research. Global Edition.

Engelmann, K., Neuhaus, B. J., & Fischer, F. (2016). Fostering scientific reasoning in education–meta-analytic evidence from intervention studies. *Educational research and evaluation*, *22*(5–6), 333–349.

Gutiérrez-Braojos, C., Montejo-Gámez, J., Ma, L., Chen, B., Muñoz de Escalona-Fernández, M., Scardamalia, M., & Bereiter, C. (2019). Exploring collective cognitive responsibility through the emergence and flow of forms of engagement in a knowledge building community. In *Didactics of smart pedagogy* (pp. 213–232). Springer, Cham.

Gutiérrez-Braojos, C., Rodríguez-Chirino, P., & Fernández-Cano, A. (2020). A proposal for a blended learning didactic sequence in collaborative environments to improve shared regulation during knowledge building. In *Pedagogies of Digital Learning in Higher Education* (pp. 1–17). Routledge.

Gutiérrez-Braojos, C., Rodríguez-Domínguez, C., Carranza-García, F., & Navarro-Garulo, G. (2021). Computer-supported knowledge building community: A new learning analytics tool. In *Remote Learning in Times of Pandemic* (pp. 35–50). Routledge.

Holden, G., Barker, K., Meenaghan, T., & Rosenberg, G. (1999). Research Self-efficacy: a new possibility for educational outcomes assessment. *Journal of Social Work Education*, 35(3), 463–476.

Jorgensen, M. F., & Duncan, K. (2015). A grounded theory of master's level counselor research identity. *Counselor Education and Supervision*, 54(1),17–31.

Lambie, G. W., Hayes, B. G., Griffith, C., Limberg, D., & Mullen, P. R. (2014). An exploratory investigation of the research self-efficacy, interest in research, and research knowledge of Ph.D. in education students. *Innovative Higher Education*, *39*, 139–153. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10755-013-9264-1

Petko, J. T., Sivo, S. A., & Lambie, G. W. (2020). The Research Self-Efficacy, Interest in Research, and Research Mentoring Experiences of Doctoral Students in Counselor Education. *The Journal of Counselor Preparation and Supervision*, *13*(1). http://dx.doi.org/10.7729/131.1310

Ponterotto, J. G., & Grieger, I. (1999). Merging qualitative and quantitative perspectives in a research identity. In M. Kopala & L. A. Suzuki (Eds.), *Using qualitative methods in psychology* (pp. 49–62). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

Rodríguez-Chirino, P., & Gutiérrez-Braojos, C. (2021). Percepción de los estudiantes de Educación Superior sobre las resistencias a los principios del Knowledge Building. In J. A. Marín, J.C. de la Cruz. S. Pozo & G. Gómez (Eds.), *Investigación e innovación educativa frente a los retos para el desarrollo sostenible* (pp. 1399–1407). Dykinson.

Scardamalia, M. (2004). Instruction, learning, and knowledge building: Harnessing theory, design, and innovation dynamics. *Educational Technology*, *44*(3), 30–33.

Scardamalia, M. & Bereiter, C. (1994). Computer support for knowledge-building communities. *The journal of the learning sciences, 3*(3), 265–283.

Scardamalia, M. (2004). CSILE/ Knowledge Forum[®]. In Education and technology: An encyclopedia. Santa Barbara: ABC-CLIO.

Scardamalia, M., & Bereiter, C. (2021). Knowledge building: Advancing the state of community knowledge. In *International handbook of computer-supported collaborative learning* (pp. 261–279). Springer, Cham.

Strauß, S., & Rummel, N. (2021). Prompting regulation of equal participation in online collaboration by combining a group awareness tool and adaptive prompts. But does it even matter? *International Journal of Computer-Supported Collaborative Learning*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11412-021-09340-y

Valter, K., & Akerlind, G. (2010). Introducing students to ways of thinking and acting like a researcher: a case study of research-led education in the sciences. *International Journal of Teaching and Learning in Higher Education*, 22(1), 89–97.

Van Aalst, J. V., & Chan, C. K. (2012). Empowering students as knowledge builders. In *Transformative approaches to new technologies and student diversity in futures oriented classrooms* (pp. 85–103). Springer, Dordrecht.

Yang, Y., Chen, Q., Yu, Y., Feng, X., & van Aalst, J. (2020). Collective reflective assessment for shared epistemic agency by undergraduates in knowledge building. *British journal of educational technology*, *51*(4), 1136–1154.

Zhang, S., Wen, Y., & Liu, Q. (2019). Exploring student teachers' social knowledge construction behaviors and collective agency in an online collaborative learning environment, *Interactive Learning Environments*, *51*(1), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1080/104 94820.2019.1674880

Zhang, S., Chen, H., Wen, Y., Deng, L., Cai, Z., & Sun, M. (2021). Exploring the influence of interactive network and collective knowledge construction mode on students' perceived collective agency. *Computers & Education*, *171*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2021.104240

https://doi.org/10.22364/atee.2022.04

Reflection and Feedback as Predictors of Directed Development of Assessment Competence

Irena Labak¹, Marija Sablić², Branko Bognar²

¹ Department of Biology, Josip Juraj Strossmayer University of Osijek, Croatia

² Faculty of Humanities and Social Sciences, Josip Juraj Strossmayer University of Osijek, Croatia

ABSTRACT

The assessment is part of the complex profile of teacher competencies that supports the development of teachers' and students' generic and professional competencies. The paper focuses on formative assessment, i.e., the approach to assessment as learning and assessment for learning that takes place during the learning process, which ultimately contributes to self-regulated learning. This paper aims to determine if there are changes in the use of formative assessment in the classroom. For this purpose, Biology teachers participated in reflective learning-based professional development.

In this action research, reflective learning was applied in learning communities. The learning process consisted of acquiring theoretical knowledge about formative assessment, applying what has been learned in the classroom, and (self)analyzing video recordings of the lessons according to the formative assessment representation form. The analysis provided (internal) feedback on progress and aspects for improvement as a starting point for a new cycle of reflective learning.

The initial recordings of the lessons showed that formative assessment needs improvement. The results indicate that professional development in formative assessment varied among teachers. One teacher was found to make steady progress during professional development, while other teachers were found to have sporadic and incoherent changes. We believe that the improvement of the professional development model should include explicit incentives for teachers to implement phases of self-regulated learning during professional development.

Keywords: assessment as learning, assessment for learning, formative assessment, online learning community, professional development

Introduction

Assessment is an important aspect of the teaching process. This complex process includes monitoring, assessment, and evaluation. Monitoring to assess the success of the learning and teaching processes allows for formative assessment. An assessment approach to learning is used when student learning is monitored and assessed throughout its duration and when teaching is targeted and improved based on these results. On the other hand, when students approach self-assessment, i.e., when they monitor and modify their learning to achieve the learning goal, it is referred to as assessment as learning (MZO, 2017). Both approaches result in feedback (Yan et al., 2021) that has a positive effect on student achievement (Yin et al., 2008) because it shows them how to improve their learning (Bennett, 2011). At the same time, teachers also learn how to improve their teaching. Both approaches require the use of the metacognitive dimension of knowledge to achieve self-regulated learning (Vizek Vidović & Marušić, 2019).

Although the formative assessment and summative evaluation have been present in Croatian education for a long time, approaches to assessment for learning and assessment as learning (including assessment of learning, which has a summative character) have emerged only in recent years. With the introduction of new subject-specific and cross-subject curricula and guidelines for the assessment of the learning process and reaching the education outcomes, professional training as well as the overall professional development of Croatian teachers requires significant changes. Unlike instructional programs that prescribe the topics to be taught in a particular subject to a particular class, the curriculum approach enables teachers' autonomy in choosing and modifying how they will achieve and assess the predetermined outcomes.

Although teachers are required to use both assessment approaches, they should implement them because of the many benefits they have in reaching the mandated outcomes of the subject curricula and the curriculum expectations for cross-curricular topics. Formative assessment promotes conceptual understanding and acquisition of knowledge at higher cognitive levels because it uses openended questions, interactive, and collaborative activities (Yin & Buck, 2019). It facilitates students' cognitive engagement and contributes to their understanding of the content being learned (Gikandi et al., 2011). It also increases motivation, improves student learning, and contributes to the objectivity of summative evaluation (Harlen & Deakin Crick, 2003). The effectiveness of formative assessment depends on how teachers implement it in the classroom (Yan et al., 2021). Vingsle (2014) describes formative assessment as a complex process that is difficult to incorporate into classroom practice, and its successful incorporation depends on personal, i.e., teachers' beliefs and attitudes, and formative assessment knowledge and skills (Heitink et al., 2016). It is continuously improved through professional development (DeLuca et al., 2019), and psychological and

practical support is essential for teachers to effectively play their role in implementing formative assessment (Yan et al., 2021).

Formative assessment may include posing questions and discussion, observation of various activities, note taking, use of various formative assessment techniques, and peer assessment (Yin & Buck, 2019). The aim of the professional development in this action research was to systematically help teachers improve their knowledge and skills in using formative assessment. In addition, we wanted to make teachers aware that formative assessment is an important component of constructive alignment.

Biggs and Tang (2014) emphasize that constructive alignment implies the alignment of goals, activities, and assessments. This requires the teacher to "create a learning environment that encourages students to engage in these learning activities and assesses student performance against the intended learning outcomes" (p. 97). The setting of the objective at the beginning of the lesson as the standard by which the success of learning and teaching is judged, the practice of giving students specific feedback on their activity, instruction that guides and prompts students to self-assess, and the use of assessment questions at the end of the lesson were examined for the achievement of the objective in analyzing the lessons. The extent to which teachers ask questions that encourage students to think and show them what they are still missing to reach a certain level of understanding was examined. In addition, the extent to which teachers encourage students to express their understanding of the content in their words and record it independently and concisely was observed. These activities help to achieve the objective of the lesson while also serving to assess learning. The extent to which teachers teach students how to approach learning and how to solve problems, and the extent to which they encourage students to verbalize their learning (metacognitive teaching and use of metacognitive knowledge and skills in the learning process) were also observed. Finally, the extent to which students were encouraged to monitor their progress and assess their learning was observed. Reflective learning about formative assessment in the context of learning communities, implementation of learning in classroom practice, and analysis of video recordings of the lesson for (self-)reflection to guide further professional development should have enabled the acquisition of the teacher's content pedagogical knowledge (Shulman, 1986) which includes knowledge of learners, teaching, and curriculum in addition to knowledge of content (Ball et al., 2008). Formative assessment is part of numerous educational reforms around the world (Birenbaum et al., 2015) and it is essential for effective professional development (Bennett & Gitomer, 2009), highlighting the need for its improvement. Therefore, the aim of this paper is to determine if there are changes in the elementary school Biology classroom related to the use of formative assessment in a six-month video-based online professional development course based on reflective learning.

Methodology

The study was conducted during the 2020/2021 school year as part of the "Professional development of teachers for improving elementary students' learning outcomes in science and mathematics" project. Four teachers teaching elementary school Biology were observed for the study. In this study, the names of the teachers are presented with initials.

Changes in formative assessment practice were caused by reflective learning (RL), which is shown in Figure 1.



Figure 1. Cycles of reflective learning during professional development

Video recordings of lessons were analyzed using the OZON form (cro. Obrazac za opažanje nastave, Teaching Observation Form, Bezinović et al., 2012). This form describes and evaluates classroom activities divided into six categories: classroom atmosphere, lesson structure, student involvement and motivation, individualization and differentiation of teaching, teaching metacognitive skills and learning strategies, feedback, and formative assessment. From the entire form, features related to assessment for learning and assessment as learning were extracted for this study (the features can be seen in the results section in Table 2).

Based on the analysis of the video recordings, both the researchers of the project and the teachers themselves conducted the reflection on the lesson. After the analysis of the initial lesson using the OZON form identified the starting points for improvement for each teacher, the first lesson followed. Then, the teachers implemented what they had learned in the classroom practice. The lesson was re-recorded, and the analysis of the video recordings was done again using the OZON form to identify the changes compared to the previous lesson and to define the starting points for a new cycle of reflective learning. The same system was applied until the last, fifth lesson. A total of five lessons from each teacher were recorded and analyzed, and four learning communities were held with the topics and outcomes listed in Table 1.

Learning community	Торіс	Outcomes
1 st	Assessment regarding the objective	 Predict the importance of defining the objective in the assessment process. Plan the assessment regarding the objective.
2 nd	Feedback	 Analyze the conditions for constructing specific feedback. Plan teaching to enable students' independence in creating internal feedback.
3 rd	Concept map – teaching and assessment technique	 Use the concept map as a technique in the teaching and assessment process.
4 th	Learning by solving problems	 Plan the teaching of Biology while simultaneously achieving metacognitive teaching using problem- solving tasks.

Table 1. Topics and outcomes of learning communities

In the research, the ethical aspect of the research was fully respected. Considering that the method of observing classes the researcher will requested the written consent of the parents of the students and the principal of the school, in addition to the written consent of the teacher. Teachers were provided with protection of privacy and confidentiality of data. In the analysis and interpretation of the research results, instead of their names, labels were used to distinguish the research participants. At the same time, specifying the exact data of the institutions where the research was conducted was avoided. Upon completion of the research, the participants were informed about the results of the research.

Results

Features of teaching in the formative assessment that need to be improved

The analysis of the initial lesson revealed that not a single teacher states the objectives, i.e., the outcomes, at the beginning of the lesson as a measure for assessing her teaching and the students' learning (Table 2). It is also evident that not a single teacher explains the criteria by which students can assess their own activity and progress concerning the set objective, nor do they use these criteria to highlight progress and learning. Only one teacher did not prepare questions or assignments to check students' understanding and performance in class, while the others used them to a lesser extent to give students specific feedback on their work (Table 2). Another common feature that needs improvement based on the analysis of the initial lessons is the lack of use of metacognitive knowledge and skills that form the basis of the assessment-as-learning approach. None of the

teachers taught students how to approach learning or encouraged students to verbalize the steps they used in their work (Table 2). Only one teacher encouraged her students to monitor and review their work and evaluate their activities and progress. Since the same teacher did not set an objective for students to evaluate against, this feature was also rated as needing improvement. The other features listed in Table 2 were not observed in all teachers, so they are also rated as needing improvement.

Changes in the features of formative assessment through professional development

The analysis of the initial lesson was followed by a learning community and the topic was Assessment regarding the objective. The analysis of the video recording of the second lesson, in which the teachers had to implement what they had learned, showed progress compared to the initial lesson (see Table 2). In terms of learning community outcomes, most changes were expected in the shaded and italicized features in Table 2. Since no significant changes were found compared to the initial lesson, the next learning community was organized with the topic of Feedback, which followed up on the first lesson. After that, the third lesson was recorded, which we also analyzed. Table 2 shows progress in the objective setting in the second lesson (only one teacher states the objective, but to an insufficient extent in the sense that she states it at the beginning of the lesson but does not relate it to self-assessment). The same teacher (VŠ) improved her assessment for learning practice in the third lesson because she stated the objective of the lesson, provided specific feedback regarding the objective and prepared questions to check students' understanding and performance. Teacher OZ only explained her assessment criteria in the third lesson, emphasized students' progress and learning, and used questions to check students' understanding and performance. Thus, in the third lesson, progress in instructional features related to assessment for learning was noted compared to the previous two lessons for teacher OZ. She asked students to assess their activity and progress, but this was rated as an inadequately observed feature due to the lack of presentation of the objective. Features that did not improve even in the third lesson were those related to metacognitive teaching (teaching students how to approach learning and/or solve specific tasks) and the application of metacognitive knowledge and skills (students describing and explaining the steps they use in their work). For students to use or practice applying metacognitive knowledge and skills, teachers must organize lessons that set the stage for this to happen. All teachers use questions that promote higher-order cognitive processes to a greater or lesser extent in all three lessons, but all challenge only the cognitive level of understanding and application without problem-solving. Teaching students to learn the content of Biology through problem-solving, in addition to achieving the objective defined

by the Biology curriculum in terms of developing metacognitive knowledge and skills, is an aspect that the subsequent learning communities have sought to improve.

Table 2. Teaching features in the analysis of the initial recording that need to be improved, the analysis of the second and third recorded lesson after the implementation of what has been learned during professional development, and the progress made regarding a particular feature

Features of a par-	Tead	her			Tead	her			*_ Teacher					_	
ticular assessment approach	1 st (initial) lesson			2 nd l	esso	n		ss IRT esson	3 rd lesson				is IRT lessor		
Assessment for learning	JM	OZ	VŠ	IK	JM	OZ	VŠ	IK	Progres the 1 st	JM	OZ	VŠ	IK	Progres the 2 nd	
The teacher clearly states the objectives of the lesson (learning outcomes).	-	-	_	-	_	-	+/-	-	7	_	_	+	_	7	
The teacher provides specific feedback to students.	+/-	+/-	-	+	+/-	+/-	-	+	\leftrightarrow	+/-	+/-	+	+	7	
The teacher explains his criteria for assessing students' work and achievements using specific examples.	-	_	_	_	_	_	_	-	\leftrightarrow	_	+	-	-	7	
The teacher emphasizes the progress of the students and their success in learning (and not their shortcomings).	-	_	_	_	_	_	_	+	7	_	+	_	-	\leftrightarrow	
The teacher has prepared questions or tasks to check the students' understanding and achievements in class	+	+	-	+	+	+	-	+	\leftrightarrow	+	+	+	+	7	
Assessment as learnin	g														
The teacher asks thought-provoking questions (which stimulate higher-level cognitive processes).	_	+/-	+/-	+	+	+/-	+/-	+	7	+/-	-	+/-	+	Ľ	

Table 2. Continued

Features of a par- ticular assessment	Teac 1 st (i	her :hitia	l) les	son	Teac 2 nd l	her esso	n		RT son*	Teac 3 rd le		RT son		
approach	114 07 VX V						~		ss lF less		ss lF les			
Assessment for learning	JM	OZ	VS	IK	JM	OZ	VS	IK	Progre the 1 st	JM	ΟZ	VS	IK	Progre the 2 ^{nc}
The teacher directly teaches the students how to approach learning, solving certain tasks, or practicing.	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	_	\leftrightarrow	_	_	_	_	\leftrightarrow
The teacher encourages the students to express in their words how they understood the content being taught.	+	+	+/-	+	+	+	+	+	7	+	+	_	+	2
The teacher asks the students to describe and explain the steps they use while solving a task.	_	_	_	-	_	-	_	-	\leftrightarrow	_	_	-	-	\leftrightarrow
The teacher encourages students to monitor and check their work (e.g., to spot and correct mistakes, and check the solution they have reached).	_	_	_	+	_	-	_	+	\leftrightarrow	-	+	-	+	7
The teacher asks the students to evaluate their work and progress.	-	-	-	+	+	-	-	+	7	-	+	-	+	\leftrightarrow
The teacher encourages the students to independently take notes and organize the content being learned (e.g., by highlighting the main concepts or creating presentations).	+/-	+	+/-	+/-	+	+	+/-	+/-	7	+	+	+/-	+	7

* Symbols and abbreviations: no progress (↔), progress (↗), regression (∠), IRT – in relation to; JM; OZ; VŠ; IK-teacher's initials

The third learning community focused on concept maps as a teaching and assessment technique. In choosing this topic, we were also motivated by a conversation with teachers about formative assessment during the second learning community. It was determined that the main causes of difficulty in implementing formative assessment were lack of knowledge, over-involvement of the teacher in lesson preparation, lack of time during the lesson to use the method, and students' perception that they value assessment more than feedback. The third learning community served to increase knowledge about formative assessment. It explained how concept maps can be used for both assessment and instruction. The analysis of the representation of the features and the possible progress after the implementation of what was learned in the third learning community are presented in Table 3. In the features related to the assessment of learning, if we consider all teachers together, progress consists only in the emphasis on progress and success in the work. This feature was improved in teacher VS compared to the previous lesson, while teacher OZ had already adopted this feature in the previous lesson.

In the features related to the approach of assessment as learning, the most significant change was observed in the direct instruction by the teacher on how to approach the solution of certain tasks. This feature was only partially represented by three teachers, as it only referred to the explanation of how to complete the concept map without relating it to the objective, in the sense that they used the map as a technique that leads to the adoption of a defined objective and the verification of the adoption of the same objective. Although the concept map allowed teachers to monitor and review students' work and to independently capture and organize learning content, it did not fully contribute to assessment because there was no verbalization of learning progress as a conscious activity that trains the use of metacognitive knowledge and skills in the learning process. This feature was only partially present in one teacher because the objective was not defined as a standard against which students could more easily identify and define their progress (Table 3).

Table 3. Teaching features in the analysis of the fourth and fifth recordings after the implementation of what had been learned during the professional development and the progress made regarding a particular feature

Features of a	Teacher Teacher Teacher													
particular assessment approach	3 rd le	esson			4 th le	sson			T the	5 th lesson				T the
Assessment for learning	JM	OZ	VŠ	IK	JM	ΟZ	VŠ	IK	Progress IR 3 rd lesson*	JM	ΟZ	VŠ	IK	Progress IR 4 th lesson*
The teacher clearly states the objectives of the lesson (learning outcomes).	-	-	+	-	-	-	+	-	\leftrightarrow	-	-	+	-	\leftrightarrow
The teacher provides specific feedback to students.	+/-	+/-	+	+	-	+	+	+/-	Z	+	-	+	+/-	\leftrightarrow
The teacher explains his criteria for assessing students' work and achievements using specific examples.	_	+	-	-	_	+	-	-	\leftrightarrow	_	_	-	-	2
The teacher emphasizes the progress of the students and their success in learning (and not their shortcomings).	_	+	-	-	-	+	+	-	7	+/-	-	+	-	2
The teacher has prepared questions or tasks to check the students' understanding and achievements in class.	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	↔	+	+	+	+	↔
Assessment as learning	3													
The teacher asks thought–provoking questions (which stimulate higher–level cognitive processes).	+/-	_	+/-	+	+/-	_	+	+	7	+	+	+	+	7
The teacher directly teaches the students how to approach learning, solving certain tasks, or practicing.	_	_	-	_	+/-	+/-	+	+/-	7	+/-	+/-	+/-	+/-	2

Table 3. Continued

Features of a	Teac	her			Teac	her				Teacher				
particular assessment approach	3 rd le	esson			4 th le	esson			RT the	5 th lesson				RT the
Assessment for learning	JM	OZ	VŠ	IK	JM	OZ	VŠ	IK	Progress IR 3 rd lesson*	JM	OZ	VŠ	IK	Progress IR 4 th lesson*
The teacher encourages the students to express in their words how they understood the content being taught.	+	+	_	+	+	+	-	+	\leftrightarrow	+	_	_	+	2
The teacher asks the students to describe and explain the steps they use while solving a task.	_	_	-	-	_	+	-	-	7	_	_	_	_	2
The teacher encourages students to monitor and check their work (e.g., to spot and correct mistakes, and check the solution they have reached).	-	+	-	+	+	+	+	+	7	+	+	+	+	\leftrightarrow
The teacher asks the students to evaluate their work and progress.	_	+	_	+	_	+	_	_	L	_	_	_	_	L
The teacher encourages the students to independently take notes and organize the content being learned (e.g., by highlighting the main concepts or creating presentations).	+	+	+/-	+	+	+	+	+	7	+	+/-	+	_	2

In the last learning community, we emphasized *learning through problem-solving*. Also, during the learning community, we explained the use of the *flipped classroom* in teaching Biology. The flipped classroom concept assumes that learning at lower cognitive levels occurs through independent work at home and learning through problem-solving at school (Bergmann & Sams, 2015). The material that enables students to remember the relevant information they need to solve the task is selected by the teacher, who designs assessment methods for learning and assessment methods as learning that occur both in independent learning at home and in the classroom at school. The flipped classroom was offered to allow teachers more time to organize learning through problem-solving in the classroom and to allow students to practice using metacognitive knowledge and skills, thereby strengthening their ability to use assessment as learning.

The changes in the features caused by the last learning community can be seen in Table 3. In the characteristics related to assessment for learning, there was some progress only in teacher JM. She provided feedback to the students on their work and highlighted their progress. Teacher OZ regressed in her teaching compared to the previous lesson, while the other two teachers showed neither progress nor regress. In the features of assessment as learning, it was observed that all teachers asked questions at a higher cognitive level due to the use of problem-solving learning. Neither teacher showed progress in teaching students how to approach problem-solving. The teachers told students how to learn in class but did not instruct them on how to approach problem-solving or how to apply what they learned to a new problem. They also did not ask students to explain the steps they used to solve the given problem and did not encourage students to monitor their progress.

Discussion

The research conducted shows that implementing formative assessment in the classroom is not an easy task, as Yan et al. (2021) state. Yan and Brown (2021) stated that the practice of implementing formative assessment is far from satisfactory. The analysis of initial recordings related to the use of formative assessment in learning and teaching also indicated a need for improvement. The reason why teachers did not use formative assessment is due to its complexity and the fact that assessments for learning and assessment as learning were introduced only recently in the Croatian educational system. However, this intention was not accompanied by changes in teachers' professional development, which was still traditional. The usual practice of professional development in Croatia amounts to teachers attending professional meetings, organized for a large number of teachers, where they receive only theoretical knowledge with some examples of good practice. Implementation of what is learned in the classroom and subsequent reflection,

according to the teachers involved in our research, is generally completely absent. In contrast to common practice, the professional development we organized was characterized by continuous support in introducing the expected changes in the classroom. According to Leahy and Wiliam (2012), support included providing knowledge about formative assessment, providing examples of teaching with formative assessment, and providing constructive feedback. In addition, our professional development included collaborating to provide teachers with opportunities to discuss, reflect, and receive feedback from their colleagues about their teaching methods (Heitink et al., 2016). Professional development in formative assessment should allow teachers to try out what they have learned, reflect together, and revise their practice concerning what they have learned (Borko, 2004). Although all of this was included in our professional development, the results showed that implementing formative assessment is a challenging process and that the teachers who participated in the study only partially accomplished this.

The key elements of formative assessment are defining explicit learning goals and success criteria, providing feedback to students on their performance, self-assessment, peer-assessment, teacher-student collaboration, interpreting evidence of expected progress, and using the information provided by formative evaluation to improve teaching and learning (Trumbull & Gerzon, 2013). In our research, we observed assessment for learning and assessment as learning listed in the OZON form (Bezinović et al., 2012). According to the changes in the features listed in Table 2 and Table 3, no changes were observed during the period of development in terms of continuous development. Features that improved in one lesson (recorded as the presence of the feature in at least one teacher or the presence of the feature in a larger number of teachers) remained the same in the next lesson or showed a decrease in the sense that fewer teachers used it in class. For example, the explanation of the criteria for assessing one's work and the students' performance based on concrete examples occurs only in teacher OZ in the third lesson (Table 2) and again in the fourth lesson (Table 3), while in the last lesson, it does not occur for her or the other teachers. A clear statement about the objectives of the lesson was recorded only by teacher VŠ. In her case, it was partially recorded already in the second lesson and fully from the third lesson onward. This teacher showed a clear improvement in the assessment for learning in the fourth lesson, which was maintained in the last lesson as well. Improvements in assessment as learning in the third lesson were not recorded. Towards the end of the training (4th lesson), progress is also evident in this assessment approach. VŠ is also the only teacher for whom we observed continuous progress in both assessment approaches during the professional development training. For other teachers, we have sporadic and incoherent changes with no observed continuous progress in improving some features in the last lesson (JM), with no changes (IK, where many features were present in both assessment approaches in the first

lesson), or a situation where there is progress in the third and fourth lessons and then a regress in the last lesson (OZ).

Vermunt and Endedijk (2011) point out that teachers respond to innovation in different ways. Some focus on improving their teaching performance in the sense that they immediately apply what they have learned, while others want to understand how what they have learned changes their basic teaching principles and understand why and under what conditions what they have learned works in their practice. Teachers need time to reflect on their teaching practice and revise and adapt their instructional routines to what they have learned (Ruiz-Primo & Furtak, 2007). In addition to teachers' positive attitudes toward formative assessment and their willingness to implement it in their teaching, a stimulating school environment and school policies that provide ongoing support for teachers to implement this important aspect of teaching are needed (Yan et al., 2021; Yan & Brown, 2021).

Vermunt and Endedijk (2011) emphasize that there are teachers who do not focus enough on their learning when it comes to professional development. They have difficulty setting goals and are cautious and hesitant to introduce innovations into practice. This may also explain the results of our study.

What we noted earlier in the analysis of the initial lesson, and further noted in the analysis of subsequent lesson recordings was the teachers' lack of knowledge about how to teach students to use metacognitive knowledge and skills. Although assessment as learning is fundamentally metacognitive, a different approach to assessment also requires using the metacognitive dimension of competence to learn how to learn. Apart from encouraging their students to acquire metacognitive knowledge and apply metacognitive skills, teachers must simultaneously develop metacognitive competencies themselves in the process of professional development. This means that teachers should use the results of their efforts to improve their teaching (Hattie, 2015), which implies assessment for learning. At the same time, they should develop a habit of assessment as learning. This means that they should set a specific goal for their professional development and monitor changes and, if necessary, change the path leading to the achievement of the defined goal (Labak, 2022). Our professional development intended to break down the complex process of formative evaluation into smaller parts and implement them in smaller steps in the Biology classroom. According to Leahy and Wiliam (2012), this prevents teachers from reverting to their previous practices after introducing new ideas. We received additional support towards the end of the professional development when we suggested the use of the flipped classroom to teachers. With its settings, the flipped classroom allows for both the application of assessment approaches and the change in overall teaching practice needed to effect change in formative assessment (Trumbull & Gerzon, 2013). For two teachers (VŠ and IK), the use of the flipped classroom led to no changes, for

one teacher it led to some changes in approach to assessment as learning (JM), and for one (OZ) it led to a regression in teaching performance (Table 3, 5th lesson). This result shows that it is difficult for inexperienced teachers to plan and implement flipped classrooms. Complex changes such as formative assessment are difficult for teachers to design and implement in the classroom. We believe that it would be easier for teachers if they were given detailed examples of how to design a lesson in which the principles of formative evaluation are followed. The possibility of bringing about change by using such ready-made materials while teachers are in the stage of becoming independent and learning formative assessment represents the direction in which this research will continue.

Conclusions

The professional development described in our research resulted in changes not only in formative assessment but in overall instructional practice. In this study, we focused only on observing changes in instructional features related to assessment for learning and assessment as learning. Since no single teacher fully achieved the changes we observed, but only on some features, we can conclude that they were in the process of change. However, for more comprehensive changes, it is necessary to invest more time and effort for them to be noticed in the classroom.

Although the analysis of lessons was conducted for reflection and self-reflection to identify new starting points for improvement, it was the researchers who determined the aspects that needed improvement based on the analysis of all teachers' lessons. It is possible that some teachers themselves did not recognize this need, but saw it as something they already use, already know, or can easily incorporate into their teaching practice. In addition, no explicit planning of self-regulated learning via formative assessment was required during the professional development. In the professional development preparation phase, there was no incentive to set learning goals and strategically plan the path to achieve the goal. In the performance phase of professional development, there was no incentive for self-reflection, and in the reflection phase, there was no incentive for self-assessment and self-regulation of one's practice. Therefore, in addition to learning theory, implementation, analysis, and (self-)reflection of teaching, the professional development of formative evaluation should include an incentive for teachers' active participation in professional development in the sense that development is approached as self-regulated learning.

Some of the teachers pointed out the need to be suggested how to achieve the expected changes because they were often not able to find appropriate solutions on their own. For this reason, we think that it would be good to give concrete suggestions on how to conduct classes following the goals set. Once teachers

master these approaches, they can be encouraged to find their solutions. In our case, we did not provide teachers with ready-made solutions, which resulted in the expected changes being only partially realized. Of course, we do not believe that ready-made solutions should become common practice, but only a transitional phase in the introduction of new, complex teaching approaches for which more time needs to be allocated.

The research was largely conducted at the time of the coronavirus epidemic (COVID-19), due to which female teachers had to adhere to strict epidemiological measures (e.g., maintaining social distance) in the classroom. Thus, in addition to the usual problems related to teaching and its changes, they had to face constraints that did not support the achievement of the established criteria. All of this may have contributed to the limited introduction of the planned changes.

Aknowledgment

This paper has been fully supported by the Croatian Science Foundation under the project IP-2018-01-8363.

REFERENCES

Ball, D. L., Thames, M. H., & Phelps, G. (2008). Content knowledge for teaching: What makes it special? *Journal of Teacher Education*, 59(5), 389–407. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022487108324554

Bennett, R. E. (2011). Formative assessment: A critical review. Assessment in Education: Principles, Policy & Practice, 18(1), 5–25. https://doi.org/10.1080/0969594X.2010.513678

Bennett, R. E., & Gitomer, D. H. (2009). Transforming K–12 Assessment: Integrating Accountability Testing, Formative Assessment and Professional Support. In C. Wyatt-Smith & J. J. Cumming (Eds.), *Educational Assessment in the 21st Century: Connecting Theory and Practice* (pp. 43–61). Springer Netherlands. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4020-9964-9_3

Bergmann, J., & Sams, A. (2015). Flipped learning for elementary instruction. International Society for Technology in Education

Bezinović, P., Marušić, I., & Ristić Dedić, Z. (2012). *Opažanje i unapređivanje školske nastave*. [Observing and improving school teaching] Agencija za odgoj i obrazovanje.

Biggs, J., & Tang, C. (2014). *Teaching for quality learning at university* (4th ed.). Open University Press.

Birenbaum, M., DeLuca, C., Earl, L., Heritage, M., Klenowski, V., Looney, A., Smith, K., Timperley, H., Volante, L., & Wyatt-Smith, C. (2015). International trends in the implementation of assessment for learning: Implications for policy and practice. *Policy Futures in Education*, *13*(1), 117–140. https://doi.org/10.1177/1478210314566733

Borko, H. (2004). Professional Development and Teacher Learning: Mapping the Terrain. *Educational Researcher*, *33*(8), 3–15. https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189X033008003

DeLuca, C., Chapman-Chin, A., & Klinger, D. A. (2019). Toward a Teacher Professional Learning Continuum in Assessment for Learning. *Educational Assessment*, 24(4), 267–285. https://doi.org/10.1080/10627197.2019.1670056

Gikandi, J. W., Morrow, D., & Davis, N. E. (2011). Online formative assessment in higher education: A review of the literature. *Computers & Education*, *57*(4), 2333–2351. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2011.06.004

Harlen, W., & Deakin Crick, R. (2003). Testing and Motivation for Learning. *Assessment in Education: Principles, Policy & Practice, 10*(2), 169–207. https://doi.org/10.1080/0969594032000121270

Hattie, J. A. (2015). *Know thy impact: Visible learning in theory and practice.* Routledge. https://s3-us-west-2.amazonaws.com/tandfbis/rt-files/docs/FreeBooks+Opened+Up/Know_Thy_Impact_Visible_Learning_in_Theory_and_Practice.pdf

Heitink, M. C., Van der Kleij, F. M., Veldkamp, B. P., Schildkamp, K., & Kippers, W. B. (2016). A systematic review of prerequisites for implementing assessment for learning in classroom practice. *Educational Research Review*, *17*, 50–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.edurev.2015.12.002

Labak, I. (2022). Unaprjeđivanje metakognitivne dimenzije kompetencije učiti kako učiti kod učitelja. [Improving the metacognitive dimension of the learning how to learn competence in teachers]*Napredak*: *Časopis za interdisciplinarna istraživanja u odgoju i obrazovanju*, *163*(1–2), 181–199.

Leahy, S., & Wiliam, D. (2012). From Teachers to Schools: Scaling up Professional Development for Formative Assessment1. In *Assessment and Learning* (2nd ed., pp. 49–71). SAGE Publications Ltd. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781446250808

MZO. (2017). Nacionalni dokument okvira za vrednovanje procesa i ishoda učenja u osnovnoškolskome i srednjoškolskome odgoju i obrazovanju. Ministarstvo znanosti, obrazovanja i sporta RH[National framework document for the evaluation of learning processes and outcomes in primary and secondary education. Ministry of Science, Education and Sports of the Republic of Croatia]. Ministarstvo znanosti, obrazovanja i sporta RH

Ruiz-Primo, M. A., & Furtak, E. M. (2007). Exploring teachers' informal formative assessment practices and students' understanding in the context of scientific inquiry. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 44(1), 57–84. https://doi.org/10.1002/tea.20163

Shulman, L. S. (1986). Those who understand: Knowledge growth in teaching. *Educational Researcher*, 15(2), 4–14. https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189X015002004

Trumbull, E., & Gerzon, N. (2013). Professional Development on Formative Assessment. San Francisco, CA: WestEd.

Vermunt, J. D., & Endedijk, M. D. (2011). Patterns in teacher learning in different phases of the professional career. *Learning and Individual Differences*, *21*(3), 294–302. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lindif.2010.11.019

Vingsle, C. (2014). Formative assessment: Teacher knowledge and skills to make it happen. http://urn.kb.se/resolve?urn = urn:nbn:se:umu:diva-91247

Vizek Vidović, V., & Marušić, I. (2019). Kompetencija učiti kako učiti: Teorijske osnove i istraživanja u hrvatskom kontekstu. Institut za društvena istraživanja u Zagrebu.[Competence to learn how to learn: Theoretical foundations and research in the Croatian context. Institute for Social Research in Zagreb] http://www.idi.hr/izdavastvo/knjige-i-studije/znanost-i-drustvo/

Yan, Z., & Brown, G. T. L. (2021). Assessment for learning in the Hong Kong assessment reform: A case of policy borrowing. *Studies in Educational Evaluation*, 68, 100985. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stueduc.2021.100985

Yan, Z., Li, Z., Panadero, E., Yang, M., Yang, L., & Lao, H. (2021). A systematic review on factors influencing teachers' intentions and implementations regarding formative

assessment. Assessment in Education: Principles, Policy & Practice, 28(3), 228-260. https://doi.org/10.1080/0969594X.2021.1884042

Yin, X., & Buck, G. A. (2019). Using a collaborative action research approach to negotiate an understanding of formative assessment in an era of accountability testing. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, *80*, 27–38. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2018.12.018

Yin, Y., Shavelson, R. J., Ayala, C. C., Ruiz-Primo, M. A., Brandon, P. R., Furtak, E. M., Tomita, M. K., & Young, D. B. (2008). On the Impact of Formative Assessment on Student Motivation, Achievement, and Conceptual Change. *Applied Measurement in Education*, *21*(4), 335–359. https://doi.org/10.1080/08957340802347845

https://doi.org/10.22364/atee.2022.05

Pedagogical Entrepreneurship in Teacher Education Curricula. Comparison of Latvian and Finnish Teacher Education Programs

Agnese Slišāne¹, Heidi Hyytenen²

¹ University of Latvia, Latvia

² University of Helsinki, Finland

ABSTRACT

Earlier research has shown that teachers do not feel sufficiently prepared to develop entrepreneurial competences in the classroom, both theoretically and practically, and that the lack of pedagogical entrepreneurship competences hinders the development of entrepreneurial skills in the learning processes. The aim of this study is to analyse the extent to which entrepreneurial skills are emphasised in current teacher preparation programs and to identify differences between Latvian and Finnish educational programs. Curricula and course outlines from five teacher education programs in two different contexts were analysed. Deductive qualitative content analysis was based on 14 pedagogical entrepreneurship components identified in the previous studies. The results indicate that there are major differences between the programs how entrepreneurial skills were emphasised in the curricula and course outlines. In the data from Latvia, 10 from 14 components of pedagogical entrepreneur were acknowledged fully or partly at least in one of the four programs' curricula and course outlines. In addition, four components were not identified in any of the programs' curricula. In contrast, in the Finnish teacher education program, all 14 components of pedagogical entrepreneurship were acknowledged fully or partly in the analysed curriculum and course outlines. This bears consequences for what kind of opportunities to learn pedagogical entrepreneurship students have during their teacher education studies. Based on the research findings, more attention should be paid to entrepreneurship competences in teacher education curricula.

Keywords: entrepreneurship competences, entrepreneurial skills, pedagogical entrepreneurship, teacher curricula, teacher education pedagogy
Introduction

During the last few years, there have been changes in the use of the latest technologies, digitalization, socio-economic equality, understanding of the importance of ecology, and labour market processes (Gouvernement du Québec, 2021), which led to shift in demand of education and the competencies required in the teaching profession have also changed (Fullan, 2020). The changing socio-economic situation affects all areas of life, and today entrepreneurial strategies in the context of education are a global phenomenon that emerges from politics and are an important starting point for the study of entrepreneurial skills in the context of pedagogy (Dal et al., 2016). Although the development of entrepreneurship competences has been relevant for many years, there is still no consensus on what the elements of entrepreneurship competences are (Slišāne & Rubene, 2021) and how they fit into the educational context. One of the priorities of the European Union (EU) is to develop entrepreneurship education in teacher education (GHK, 2011), because teacher education is not fully integrated into all national strategies and does not promote continuous professional development of teachers (European Training Foundation, 2010).

It is recommended that the development of competencies should primarily start from teacher education programs (Correia et al. 2010), because teachers are a vitally important factor in the progress of students' entrepreneurial skills (Akyürek & Şahin, 2013; Gardner, 2013; Hannula, 2011). However, previous research has shown that teachers do not feel sufficiently prepared to develop entrepreneurship competences in the classroom – both theoretically and practically (Slišāne et al., 2021; Gustafsson-Pesonen & Remes, 2012), and the lack of pedagogical entrepreneurship competences hinders the development of entrepreneurial knowledge, skills, and attitudes in the learning process (Gustafsson-Pesonen & Remes, 2012). To prevent this, it is essential to promote teacher education students' understanding of entrepreneurship competences (Silva, 2013) by improving pedagogical entrepreneurship during their studies.

Pedagogical entrepreneurship consists of knowledge, skills and attitudes to make the teacher more capable of successfully adapting to changing events, to be more autonomous, to form cooperation outside the classroom, school, local society, to show initiative, to be persistent, to notice opportunities and use them, to pool and combine resources to solve problems, to create strategic visions, to take responsibility, as well as to work in a team to achieve common organizational goals (Slišāne et al., 2022).

Theoretical framework of pedagogical entrepreneurship

Although the importance of generic skills, such as entrepreneurship competences, has been emphasized both in educational policy discourses and in practice of higher education (cf. Tuononen et al., 2022), there are still uncertainties about pedagogical entrepreneurship (Slišāne & Rubene, 2021; Haara et al., 2016). Pedagogical entrepreneurship is a relatively new concept in teacher education in most countries, including Latvia. Term pedagogical entrepreneurship has been used and researched among Finnish scientists, mostly in the context of students' entrepreneurship competences in order to brainstorm business ideas and teacher role as facilitator (Deveci & Seikkula-Leino, 2016).

Even though the term pedagogical entrepreneurship is not a widely used concept, it is a compilation of three long-known and studied concepts – competences, pedagogy, and entrepreneurship. Thus, this term emphasises that teachers need to have both entrepreneurial and pedagogical competencies (Slišāne, 2021). A systematic review of the entrepreneurship competences in higher education shows that development of it brings several benefits to students (Bacigalupo et al., 2016). For example, entrepreneurship competences help an individual to develop various aspects of personality (attitude, knowledge, skills). It promotes the implementation of business initiatives (Ismail et al., 2018) and promotes a creative atmosphere, cooperation, differentiation of the learning environment (Dal at al., 2016).

Pedagogical entrepreneurship demonstrates how teachers can use their entrepreneurial competencies to manage their professional lives in and out of the classroom. The pedagogical practices that teachers use play a key role in developing entrepreneurial skills among their pupils. To achieve the goal of entrepreneurship education, i.e., an ability to develop the learner's entrepreneurial skills, teachers themselves must actively possess entrepreneurial skills and apply it in their teaching and learning activities (Toutain & Fayolle, 2017; Slišāne & Rubene, 2021, Slišāne et al., 2021, Joensuu-Salo et al. al., 2020).

The results of the recent literature review (see Appendix 2; Slišāne et al., 2022) indicate that pedagogical entrepreneurship consists of 14 components. These components portray an ideal teacher who has entrepreneurial competencies (see Appendix 1; Slišāne, 2021; Slišāne & Rubene, 2021; Slišāne et al., 2022). The competencies are proactivity, strategic vision, flexibility, knowledge for effective pedagogical activity, attracting and using resources, professional reflection, professional determination, creating added value, effective communication, social innovations, risk-taking, problem-solving skills, leadership, and professional autonomy. It follows that entrepreneurial teachers are socially motivated individuals who are innovative, cooperative, proactive, thoughtful, present in their work, knowledgeable, goal-oriented, resourceful, tolerant of risk, focused on self-improvement, open to various opportunities and professionally manages the teaching content, methodical work.

Pedagogical entrepreneurship reflects the ability to recognize opportunities and resources to use opportunities and act. It also includes the ability to effectively implement innovative ideas, motivate students to think critically

and creatively, constantly seek new innovations, and development opportunities in the field of education, create compelling technology-based projects in and out of the classroom, and attract the necessary resources and assistance to adapt curricula, learning materials and learning tools for changes in a rapidly changing environment (Neto et al., 2017; Khorrami et al., 2018). Teachers who possess pedagogical entrepreneurship are socially motivated, innovative, collaborative, proactive, think about possibilities, are present, knowledgeable, fully committed, resourceful, risk-taking, visionary and pursue professional development (Keyhani & Kim, 2020). These features help them create an environment that fosters learner initiative, ideas, encourages experimentation, individual and social responsibility, and makes connections between life outside school and the content to be learned at school (Hietanen, 2015). As a result of pedagogical entrepreneurship, students' academic success is promoted (Turulja et al., 2020) and teacher professional development, individual achievements, confidence, and job satisfaction (Ho et al., 2020; Chawla & Lenka, 2015; Hietanen, 2015; Alipour et al., 2011; Engelen et al., 2015; Kuratko et al., 2005).

The results from earlier studies indicate that teacher education students think that they are sufficiently prepared to be able to further develop their entrepreneurial competences. However, their readiness to teach entrepreneurial competences to others is significantly lower (Slišāne et al., 2021). It should also be noted that there is a strong correlation between students' entrepreneurial competences and their readiness to teach entrepreneurial competences to others (Slišāne et al., 2021). These results are in a line with the idea that there are still some ambiguities concerning learning pedagogical entrepreneurship (Haara et al., 2016). Thus, more research is needed in clarifying the pedagogical entrepreneurship in teacher education, especially, what kind of learning opportunities for pedagogical entrepreneurship students have during their studies.

Research questions

In this study, the aim is to explore how the components of pedagogical entrepreneurship (Slišāne, 2021; Slišāne & Rubene, 2021; Slišāne et al., 2022) are represented in teacher education programs (specifically in the intended outcomes) in the Latvian and Finnish teacher education systems. Our specific research questions are:

- 1. To what extent are entrepreneurial skills emphasized in curricula and course outlines of the current teacher preparation programs?
- 2. What kind of differences can be detected between Latvian and Finnish teacher education programs?

Context

In this study, curricula, and course outlines of five teacher education programs from two different contexts are analysed. Four of the analysed teacher programs are from the Latvia and one program is from Finland.

In Latvia, teacher education is provided at four universities and three academies including programs of pedagogy, diversity in pedagogical solutions, educational sciences, preschool education teacher, social pedagogue, teacher, career counsellor, youth specialist, education, sport specialist, sport sciences, special education, religious pedagogy (Užule, 2020). As a general education pedagogue, with the exception of a preschool education pedagogue, can work 1) individuals who have higher pedagogic education and relevant subject teacher qualification, 2) individuals with higher education in the field of science corresponding to the subject and teacher's qualification, 3) individuals who have acquired study program related to pedagogy within the higher education study program in the amount of at least two credit points or at least 72 hours, 4) individuals with a master's or doctoral degree in education or pedagogy and the scientific work developed to obtain it is related to the content and didactics of the subject (Rules on education and professional qualifications necessary for pedagogues and procedures for improving the professional competence of pedagogues, 2018). In this study, the following programs were selected second-level professional higher education program "Teacher", professional bachelor study program "Teacher", professional bachelor's study program "Elementary education teacher", first-level professional higher education study program "Preschool Teacher".

In Finland, teacher education is provided at eight universities including programs of class teacher education, subject teacher education, home economics teacher education, craft teacher education, special education, and kindergarten teacher education. Finland does not have a detailed national curriculum for teacher education (Cao, 2021; Tirri, 2014). Hence, the eight universities have autonomy in organising their own teaching and research activities. In this study, we focus on one of the Finnish class teacher education programs. Class teacher education consists of two degrees; students complete a first-cycle higher education degree (Bachelor's; 180 credits) before completing a second-cycle higher education degree (Master's; ETCS 120 credits). It follows that all class teachers have a Master's degree in educational science (ETCS 300 credits). This degree qualifies to serve as a classroom teacher and as a pre-school teacher. Class teacher education curriculum includes studies in educational sciences and multidisciplinary studies in subjects and cross-curricular issues taught in basic education (ETCS 140 credits, including teaching practice, thesis, research methods), compulsory minor subject (ETCS 60 credits), optional studies (ETCS 75 credits) and orientation studies (ETCS 25 credits, including language and communication studies, digital skills and data management studies, and career orientation; see Cao, 2021).

Materials and data analysis

The data consist of curricula and course outlines from above mentioned five study programs. The data were analysed using qualitative content analysis with deductive approach (Elo et al., 2014). The deductive content analysis was based on the 14 pedagogical entrepreneurship components identified on our previous study, namely proactivity, strategic vision, flexibility, knowledge for effective pedagogical activity, attracting and using resources, professional reflection, professional determination, creating added value, effective communication, social innovations, risk taking, problem-solving skills, leadership, professional autonomy (Slišāne, 2021; Slišāne & Rubene, 2021; Slišāne et al., 2022). The definitions and criteria of entrepreneurship components are presented in more detailed in the Appendix 2. Data from each study program was first analysed separately and then the findings from each dataset were compared and combined. During the analysis, written description for each pedagogical entrepreneurship how it manifested itself in curriculum and course outlines was made. The first author was responsible for the analysis of Latvian data, while the second author analysed Finnish dataset. The results and interpretations of analysis were jointly discussed and negotiated by the authors until consensus was reached to ensure the reliability of the findings. It should be noted that general learning outcomes were analysed rather than specific courses, so it is possible that a criterion could not be directly identified in the specific course presented in the course outlines.

Results

Overall, the findings reveal substantial differences between the teacher education programs analysed. The main findings of five study programs are visualised in the Table 1 where columns Latvia 1–4 represent results of Latvian teacher training programs and column Finland represents results of Finnish teacher program. For the readability of the results, the green colour of the Table 1 highlights the entrepreneurship components that take place in the specific study programme's curriculum and course outlines, with a yellow that the components occur partially, and with red, if no evidence was found that the component was being implemented.

Analysis revealed that common to all Latvian teacher program curricula was that they emphasized flexibility, knowledge for effective pedagogical activity, professional reflection, and professional autonomy within all the four study programs. In contrast, we found that the Finnish teacher program curriculum and course outlines included all fourteen components of pedagogical entrepreneurship. The four components that were identified in all five study programs are: *flexibility, knowledge for effective pedagogical activity, professional reflection,* and *professional autonomy*.

Table 1. The occurrence of pedagogical entrepreneurship components in the five study	
programs curricula	

No.	Criteria	Latvia1	Latvia2	Latvia3	Latvia4	Finland
1.	Proactivity					
2.	Strategic vision					
3.	Flexibility					
4.	Knowledge for effective pedagogical activity					
5.	Attracting and using resources					
6.	Professional reflection					
7.	Professional determination					
8.	Adding value					
9.	Effective communication					
10.	Social innovations					
11.	Risk-taking					
12.	Problem solving skills					
13.	Leadership					
14.	Professional autonomy					

Flexibility referred to an ability to plan, implement, evaluate, and develop professional activities independently. It was connected to teacher education students' and pupils' personal growth by taking into account the social importance and function of education as a contributor to lifelong learning. Knowledge for effective pedagogical activity referred to comprehension of the most essential concepts, key theories, research methods, regularities of the field of educational sciences in the contexts of the teacher's professional activity in different levels and types of education. Besides knowledge, also skills to apply that knowledge (based on research) into practice, awareness to promote ongoing issues, for example equality, were also emphasized. Professional reflection was represented as knowledge and skills of the techniques of self-analysis, self-evaluation and self-reflection

of the pedagogical activity. This component included skills to plan, implement and evaluate student-centred teaching and to identify the factors that promote and impede learning. Professional autonomy was comprehended through ability to be professionally independent, i.e. to plan and carry out educational research, to plan, implement, evaluate, and develop professional activities, and to evaluate student-centred teaching independently, and to identify the factors that promote and impede learning and to be able to take them into account in teaching activities. Although these four components were represented all five study programs' curricula, there was one crucial difference between the Latvian and Finnish programs. The Finnish curricula and course outlines emphasized research as a basis for knowledge and performance. This expanded the mind-set of the components. It was more than the implementation of the curricula and flexibility within the changes but it also included an ability to be proactive and look two steps ahead.

The following components were identified in the Finnish program and some of the Latvian teacher education programs: *Strategic vision, Professional determination, Effective communication, Social innovations, Problem solving skills,* and *Leadership.* There were differences whether these components were fully or partly represented in the Latvian programs. Strategic vision was fully presented in the Finnish curricula and in three out of four Latvian programs. Strategic vision indicated long-term vision. It included an ability to strategically choose the most effective and appropriate pedagogical approach in order to achieve intended learning objectives. In terms of strategic vision, one of the Latvian programs emphasized teachers' roles in development of the educational institution that aims to think outside the classroom.

Professional determination was fully represented in the curricula of two of Latvian and the Finnish teacher education programs, and partly in one of the Latvian programs. Professional determination was about targeted self-directed improvement in the educational field that involved an ability to set appropriate goals and see how to fulfil them.

Social innovation was fully embodied in the Finnish and two Latvian programs' curricula and in one of the Latvian programs is partly. This component referred to an ability to conduct, implement scientific research to make a socially significant impact, and comprehended teacher's role in a wider social context. In of the Latvian programs, it was identified partly due to the fact that description doesn't include the implementation of the scientific research.

Problem-solving skills were fully represented in the Finnish and two Latvian programs. Additionally, in one of the Latvian programs, it was emphasized partly. Problem-solving skills were connected to the teacher's everyday work. The problem-solving was related to challenges of individual pupils, classes, and within the organization and educational system as a whole where problems can be solved either individually or incorporated.

Leadership was not identified in two of the Latvian programs at all and partly in other two of the programs. These two Latvian programs highlighted leadership as individual self-management. However, in the curriculum and course outlines of the Finnish program, leadership referred not only to individual self-management but also to action of leading a group of people and management of resources.

Effective communication was fully covered in four out of five programs. One Latvian program covered it partly, because their curriculum emphasised cooperation with colleagues. However, they did not signify the importance of cooperation with parents, student, members of scientific community, administration other stakeholders inside and outside the school like the other four programs.

In any of the four Latvian programs, we did not identify following components: *proactivity, adding value, risk taking, attracting* and *using resources*. Although these criteria were acknowledged in Finnish curricula, risk taking was partly recognised due to the fact that an ability to cope with uncertainty was acknowledged. However, an ability to evaluate the consequences were not emphasized. Additionally, to have knowledge of how to assess the probability of risk occurrence and to reduce risk occurrence or related losses were absent.

Proactivity was characterised as the ability to proactively search, notice, explore opportunities related to professional activity and to take advantage of opportunities and challenges in the classroom or educational system, in society as a whole and to understand the meaning of scientific and (teacher) professional activities as part of society and to be able to participate in public debate. Attracting and using resources highlighted an ability to attract and manage the necessary resources (human resources, finances, material resources), to understand the importance of education and curriculum, to be able to examine educational policy from the historical, social, cultural and individual starting points, to be familiar with and able to apply methodological approaches in a wide range, and to be able to collaboration with different stakeholders. Creation of added value was associated with an ability to create added value at the level of the student, class, organization, to understand issues of equality and to promote equality among pupils as well as at the class and organization level, and to have comprehension how to take into account sustainability in teacher profession.

Conclusions

By exploring current curricula and course outlines from five teacher education programs in two different contexts, this study offered insights into pedagogical entrepreneurship. This study has educational significance in identifying differences between the programs how entrepreneurial competencies are emphasised in the curricula and course outlines. The results acknowledge what kind of learning opportunities teacher education students have during their studies. The

situation differs between and within Finnish and Latvian programs. Differences within Latvian programs can be explained with diversity of the target audience and emphasis of teaching, for example, pre-school teacher education has different task than elementary teacher education. However, on the other hand, pedagogical entrepreneurship as a generic competence is found to be beneficial in all spheres of life (Tuononen et al., 2022), and the components of pedagogical entrepreneurship as proactivity supports teacher professional development within all levels of education (Slišāne, 2021). The differences in pedagogical entrepreneurship between Finnish and Latvian programs were obvious: where the curriculum of Finnish teacher education program intends to develop all components of pedagogical entrepreneurship (cf. Slišāne, 2021; Slišāne & Rubene, 2021; Slišāne et al., 2022), Latvian programs have only four fully covered components. If the components of pedagogical entrepreneurship are not emphasised in the curriculum, there is a risk that these topics become incidental in a random selection of courses. Thus, to ensure the learning of entrepreneurship competencies, it is important that curriculum is carefully and systematically designed to teach these skills (see Tuononen et al. 2022). However, the first step is to raise awareness of what is meant by the concepts of entrepreneurship competencies and pedagogical entrepreneurship among teacher educators and those who are responsible for the developing curricula (cf. Haara et al., 2016).

The major limitation of this study was the small number of the teacher education programs whose curricula and course outlines were analysed. Moreover, the results were based on an analysis of the curricula and course outline documents, and thus we do not know how the teacher educators in these programs are using these documents when they are planning and implementing their teaching activities.

Teacher education has been identified as an important context in which to facilitate the entrepreneurship competencies (Fullan, 2020). However, we know from our prior research that students' readiness to teach entrepreneurial competences to others is limited (Slišāne et al., 2021). Thus, knowledge and comprehension about the components of pedagogical entrepreneurship need be a steppingstone for the improvement of the future teacher training programs in order to support future teachers in their life long professional activity.

Aknowledgment

This research was supported by the projects "Strengthening the capacity of doctoral studies at the University of Latvia within the framework of the new doctoral model" (Identification no. 8.2.2.0/20/I/006) and "Assessment of Competences of Higher Education Students Dynamics of Their Development in the Study Process" (ESF project 8.3.6.2: "Development and Implementation of the Education Quality Monitoring System") (Project agreement no. ESS2022/422).

REFERENCES

Akyürek, Ç., & Şahin, Ç. (2013). Evaluation of elementary teachers' entrepreneurship skills. *Ekev Akademi Dergisi*, *17*(57), 51–68.

Alipour, F., Idris, K., Ismail, I. A., Uli, J. A. and Karimi, R. (2011). Learning organization and organizational performance: mediation role of intrapreneurship. *European Journal of Social Sciences*, *21*(4), 547–555.

Bacigalupo, M., Kampylis, P., Punie, Y., & Van den Brande, G. (2016). *EntreComp: The entrepreneurship competence framework*. Luxembourg: Publication Office of the European Union, 10, 593884.

Berry, B. (2013). Teacherpreneurs: A bold brand of teacher leadership for 21st-century teaching and learning. *Science*, *340*(6130), 309–310. https://doi.org/10.1126/science. 1230580

Borasi, R., & Finnigan, K. (2010). Entrepreneurial attitudes and behaviors that can help prepare successful change-agents in education. *The New Educator*, 6(1), 1–29. https://doi.org/10.1080/1547688X.2010.10399586

Bulger, S. M., Jones, E. M., Katz, N., Shrewsbury, G., & Wood, J. (2016). Swimming with sharks: A physical educator's guide to effective crowdsourcing. *Journal of Physical. Education, Recreation and Dance, 87*(8), 21–26. https://doi.org/10.1080/07303084.2016.1216487

Cao, Y. (2021). Teacher educators in the academic university context: the relationship between research-teaching integration, approaches to teaching, self-efficacy beliefs in teaching and burnout. Helsingin yliopisto. http://hdl.handle.net/10138/333451

Chawla, S. & Lenka, U. (2015). A study on learning organizations in Indian higher educational institutes. *Journal of Workplace Learning*, 27(2), 142–161.

Correia, A. P., Wang, W., & Baran, E. (2010, March). *Bringing entrepreneurship into graduate teacher education*. Society for Information Technology & Teacher Education International Conference. San Diego, CA.

Dal, M., Elo, J., Leffler, E., Svedberg, G., & Westerberg, M. (2016). Research on pedagogical entrepreneurship – a literature review based on studies from Finland, Iceland and Sweden. *Education Inquiry*, 7(2), 159–182. https://doi.org/10.3402/edui.v7.30036

Dennis, D. V., & Parker, A. (2010). Treating instructional malpractice: Reflexive protocols for entrepreneurial teachers. *Childhood Education*, 86(4), 249–254. https://doi.org/ 10.1080/00094056.2010.10523158

Deveci, İ., & Seikkula-Leino, J. (2016). Finnish science teacher educators' opinions about the implementation process related to entrepreneurship education. *Electronic Journal of Science Education*, 20(4), 1–20.

Elo, S., Kääriäinen, M., Kanste, O., Pölkki, T., Utriainen, K., & Kyngäs, H. (2014). Qualitative content analysis: A focus on trustworthiness. *SAGE Open*. https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244014522633

Engelen, A., Gupta, V., Strenger, L. and Brttel, M. (2015). Entrepreneurial orientation, firm performance, and the moderating role of transformational leadership behavior. *Journal of Management*, *41*(4), 1069–1097.

European Training Foundation, (2010). A pilot action on entrepreneurship education: High level reflection panel. Working Paper presented at the Fifth Cluster Meeting. Zagreb, Croatia. http://www.etf.europa.eu/pubmgmt.nsf/(getAttachment)/ F14FA189FEB04301C12577520031F749/\$File/NOTE 86WCP3.pdf (Retrieved 12.12.2011)

Fullan, M. (2020). The nature of leadership is changing. European Journal of Education, 55(2), 139–142. Portico. https://doi.org/10.1111/ejed.12388

Gardner, L. L. (2013). Teaching teachers about supply chain management to influence students' career and education choices. *Decision Sciences Journal of Innovative Education*, *11*(2), 185–192. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-4609.2013.00372.x

GHK (2011). Order 129: Mapping of teachers' preparation for entrepreneurship education. Framework Contract NoEAC19/06, DG Education and Culture, Final Report. http://www.ab.gov.tr/files/ardb/evt/1_avrupa_birligi/1_9_politikalar/1_9_4_egitim_politikasi/mapping_en.pdf

Gouvernement du Québec Ministère de l'Éducation (2021). REFERENCE FRAMEWORK FOR PROFESSIONAL COMPETENCIES. Gouvernement du Québec Ministère de l'Éducation. ISBN 978-2-550-88382-1 (PDF). An electronic version of this document is available on the Ministère's Web site at: education.gouv.qc.ca. https://cdn-contenu.quebec.ca/cdncontenu/adm/min/education/publications-adm/devenir-enseignant/reference_framework_ professional_competencies_teacher.pdf?1611584651

Gustafsson-Pesonen, A., & Remes, L. (2012). Evaluation of entrepreneurial development coaching: Changing the Teachers' thinking and action on entrepreneurship. *Annals of Innovation & Entrepreneurship*, 3. https://doi.org/10.3402/aie.v3i0.17211

Haara, F. O., Jenssen, E. S., Fossøy, I., & Røe Ødegård, I. K. (2016). The ambiguity of pedagogical entrepreneurship – the state of the art and its challenges. *Education Inquiry*, 7(2), 29912. https://doi.org/10.3402/edui.v7.29912

Hannula, H. (2011). Entrepreneurship education in the strategies and curricula of finnish vocational teacher education. Contemporary Views on Business Developing Business Excellence. Hämeenlinna, Finland.

Hanson, J. (2017). Exploring relationships between K–12 music educators' demographics, perceptions of intrapreneuring, and motivation at work. *Journal of Research in Music Education*, 65(3), 309–327. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022429417722985

Hietanen, L. (2015), "Entrepreneurial learning environments: supporting or hindering diverse learners?", *Education J. Training*, 57(5), 512–531.

Ho, C. S. M., Lu, J. and Bryant, D. A. (2020). The impact of teacher entrepreneurial behaviour: a timely investigation of an emerging phenomenon. *Journal of Educational Administration*, 58(6), 697–712. https://doi.org/10.1108/JEA-08-2019-0140

Hunzicker, J. (2017). Using Danielson's framework to develop teacher leaders. *Kappa Delta Pi Record*, 53(1), 12–17.

Ismail, A. B. T., Sawang, S., & Zolin, R. (2018). Entrepreneurship education pedagogy: teacher-student-centred paradox. *Education and Training*, 60(2), 168–184. https://doi.org/10.1108/ET-07-2017-0106

Joensuu-Salo, S., Peltonen, K., Hämäläinen, M., Oikkonen, E., & Raappana, A. (2020). Entrepreneurial teachers do make a difference – Or do they? *Industry and Higher Education*, 35, 536-546.

Keddie, A. (2017). Primary school leadership in England: Performativity and matters of professionalism. *British Journal of Sociology of Education*, *38*(8), 1245–1257. https://doi.org/10.1080/01425692.2016.1273758

Keyhani, N. & Kim, M. S. (2020). A systematic literature review of teacher entrepreneurship. *Entrepreneurship Education and Pedagogy*. https://doi.org/10.1177%2F2515127420917355

Khorrami, M., Farhadian, H., Abbasi, E. (2018), Determinant competencies for emerging educators' entrepreneurial behavior in the Institute of Agricultural Applied-Scientific Education, Iran. Springer, Heidelberg. *Journal of Global Entrepreneurship Research*, 8(8), 1–11. http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/s40497-018-0096-4

Kuratko, D. F., Ireland, R. D., Covin, J. G. and Hornsby, J. S. (2005). A model of middle– level managers' entrepreneurial behavior. *Entrepreneurship: Theory and Practice*, 29(6), 699– 716.

Martin, A., Abd-El-Khalick, F., Mustari, E., & Price, R. (2018). Effectual reasoning and innovation among entrepreneurial science teacher leaders: A correlational study. *Research in Science Education*, 48(6), 1297–1319. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11165-016-9603-1

Nash, S. (2014). Heather Gell and music education in the community. *Australian Journal of Music Education*, *2*, 129–147.

Neto, R. do C. A., Picanço Rodrigues, V. & Panzer, S. (2017). Exploring the relationship between entrepreneurial behavior and teachers' job satisfaction. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 63, 254–262. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2017.01.001

Neto, R., Rodrigues, V. P., Polega, M., & Persons, M. (2019). Career adapt-ability and entrepreneurial behaviour in the K-12 classroom. *Teachers and Teaching*, 25(1), 90–109. https://doi.org/10.1080/13540602.2018.1526783

Omer Attali, M., & Yemini, M. (2017). Initiating consensus: Stakeholders define entrepreneurship in education. *Educational Review*, 69(2), 140–157. https://doi.org/10.10 80/00131911.2016.1153457

Oplatka, I. (2014). Understanding teacher entrepreneurship in the globalized society. *Journal of Enter-prising Communities: People and Places in the Global Economy, 8*(1), 20–33. https://doi.org/10.1108/JEC-06-2013-0016

Regulations on pedagogues and the procedure for improving the competence of pedagogues in education and professional qualifications. Regulations of the Cabinet of Ministers of September, No. 569. *Latvijas Vēstnesis, 182,* 13.09.2018. https://likumi.lv/ta/id/301572

Schimmel, I. (2016). Entrepreneurial educators: A narrative study examining entrepreneurial educators in launching innovative practices for K-12 schools. *Contemporary Issues in Education Research (CIER)*, 9(2), 53. https://doi.org/10.19030/cier.v9i2.9615

Shelton, C., & Archambault, L. (2018). Discovering how teachers build virtual relationships and develop as professionals through online teacherpreneurship. *Journal of Interactive Learning Research*, 29(4), 579–602.

Silva, M. C. V. (2013, June). Teachers training and entrepreneurship: Challenges in supervisors work. Proceedings Book for the Conference on Enabling Teachers for Entrepreneurship Education (ENTENP2013), Potugal.

Slišāne, A. (2021) Conceptualization of pedagogical entrepreneurship. *Human, Technologies, and Quality of Education, University of Latvia.* https://www.apgads.lu.lv/izdevumi/ brivpieejas-izdevumi/rakstu-krajumi/human-technologies-and-quality-of-education/

Slišāne, A., & Rubene, Z. (2021). Entrepreneurship Pedagogy: Entrepreneurial Skills and Mindset. *International Journal of Smart Education and Urban Society (IJSEUS), 12*(2), 60–71. http://doi.org/10.4018/IJSEUS.2021040106

Slišāne, A., Lāma, G. and Rubene, Z. (2022) How is entrepreneurship as generic and professional competences diverse? Some reflections on the evaluations of university students' generic competences (students of education and bioeconomics). *Front. Educ.*, *7*, 909968. https://doi.org/10.3389/feduc.2022.909968

Slišāne, A., Lāma, G., Rubene, Z. (2021). Self-Assessment of the Entrepreneurial Competence of Teacher Education Students in the Remote Study Process. *Sustainability*, *13*(11), 6424. https://doi.org/10.3390/su13116424

Tirri, K. (2014). The last 40 years in Finnish teacher education. *Journal of Education for Teaching*, 40(5), 600–609.

Toutain, O., & Fayolle, A. (2017). Labour market uncertainty and career perspectives: Competence in entrepreneurship courses. In M. Mulder (Ed.), *Competence-based Vocational and Professional Education Bridging the Worlds of Work and Education (Technical and Vocational Education and Training: Issues, Concerns and Prospects 23)* (pp. 985–1006). Springer.

Tuononen, T., Hyytinen, H., Kleemola, K., Hailikari, T., Männikkö, I., & Toom, A. (2022). Systematic review of learning generic skills in higher education: enhancing and impeding factors. *Frontiers in education*, *7*, [885917]. https://doi.org/10.3389/feduc.2022.885917

Turulja, L., Kapo, A., Kačapor, K., & Bajgorić, N. (2020). Teachers' digital competence enhancing high school students' success: the mediating role of pedagogical innovation and entrepreneurship in teaching. 14th International Technology, Education and Development Conference, Valencia, Spain. https://doi.org/10.21125/inted.2020.1549

Užule, K. (2020). Teacher training and education programs in Latvia: are e-competences included? *Business, Management and Education, 18*, 294–306. https://doi.org/10.3846/bme.2020.12631

Van Dam, K., Schipper, M., & Runhaar, P. (2010). Developing a competency-based framework for teachers' entrepreneurial behaviour. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, *26*(4), 965–971. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2009.10.038

Van der Heijden, H. R. M. A., Geldens, J. J. M., Beijaard, D., & Popeijus, H. L. (2015). Characteristics of teachers as change agents. *Teachers and Teaching*, *21*(6), 681–699. https://doi.org/10.1080/13540 602.2015.1044328

Yemini, M., & Bronshtein, Y. (2016). The global-local negotiation: Between the official and the implemented history curriculum in Israeli classrooms. *Globalisation, Societies and Education, 14*(3), 345–357.

About the authors

Heidi Hyytinen, PhD, is Senior Lecturer in Higher Education at the Centre for University Teaching and Learning in University of Helsinki. Her research focuses on generic skills, performance-based assessment, self-regulation, and pedagogy in higher education. Hyytinen has authored over 40 publications and her research work has been funded, for instance, by Ministry of Education and Culture, and the European Union. Hyytinen has led and co-led several national and international research projects on higher education.

Agnese Slišāne, Bachelor in engineering economics and entrepreneurship, Riga Technical University. Mg.Ed., research assistant and Ph.D. candidate of the Faculty of Pedagogy, Psychology, and Art, at the University of Latvia. Her research interests are pedagogical entrepreneurship, intrapreneurship, entrepreneurial behaviour in the context of education, and entrepreneurial teachers or teacherpreneurs. 10 years of experience working in a school as a teacher of entrepreneurship and economics, author of methodological materials and teacher trainer. Scientific cooperation in developing the dissertation research part with the University of Helsinki.

Appendix 1

Characteristics of entrepreneurial teacher

No	Category	Characteristics
1	Proactivity	Proactively seeks (Borasi & Finnigan, 2010, Omer Attali&Yemini, 2017), notices, and explores opportunities related to professional activity. Proactivity is demonstrated by seeking and using opportunities, creating innovations, attracting and managing resources, making contacts (Keyhani& Kim, 2020). Take advantage of opportunities (Borasi & Finnigan, 2010, Omer Attali&Yemini, 2017) and challenges in the classroom, educational institution or system (van der Heijden et al., 2015).
2	Strategic vision	Decisions are made strategically, based on how they want to see the future. When making decisions, available data is used to optimize and streamline those decisions (Dennis & Parker, 2010). For example, they get involved in foreign intermediate projects in order not only to provide students with knowledge of the content, but also to develop competencies in the learning process.
3	Flexibility	Able to adapt to changes (Neto et al., 2019; van Dam et al., 2010), but critically evaluates and analyzes reforms, others' opinions and own actions (Keddie, 2017; van der Heijden et al., 2015).
4	Knowledge for effective pedagogical activity	Creates a learning environment that promotes student growth and collects, evaluates, uses various data sources and processing approaches to confirm or deny assumptions and knowledge about students (Dennis & Parker, 2010). Modifies curricula to ensure that they meet the needs of students (Oplatka, 2014). Familiar with classroom management, content and methodology (Dennis & Parker, 2010; Hunzicker, 2017; Martin et al., 2018; Nash, 2014). Have a good knowledge of the content being taught as well as knowledge of the education system, school, students, families and society (Berry, 2013). The acquired teaching experience is used to ensure more effective transfer of learning content and use appropriate teaching methods (Amorim Neto et al., 2017), while existing and current information is used to create unique value (Hunzicker, 2017).
5	Attracting and using resources	Knows how and knows how to attract the necessary resources (human resources, finances, material resources), to do this, uses various methods, for example crowdfunding (Bulger et al., 2016), using his contacts, political and public support (Bills et al., 2015), forming strategic partnerships (Martin et al., 2018). Competently manages various resources – technological (Borasi & Finnigan, 2010), human capital (Nash, 2014), time (Hanson, 2017) and informational data (Amorim Neto et al., 2019).
6	Professional reflection	Relying on their own intuition, derived from experience and knowledge of the educational organization in which they work (Borasi & Finnigan, 2010). On the way to success, one learns and builds on the acquired professional experience (Bulger et al., 2016; Schimmel, 2016), for example, reflects on the mistakes made and optimizes one's activity.

No	Category	Characteristics
7	Professional determination	Demonstrates determination and perseverance (Borasi & Finnigan, 2010; Hanson, 2017) to achieve set goals and realize a vision, for example, seeing opportunities for social innovation, creating added value inside or outside the classroom, gradually and consistently implements goals despite obstacles and limitations (Martin et al., 2018).
8	Creating added value	Creates added value – at the level of the student, class, organization or extra-organization. Creating added value mobilizes and optimizes resources, is based on a specific need and creates a solution whose contribution is greater than the necessary development/production costs. It creates different value at the student and classroom level, taking into account the different needs of students.
9	Effective communication	Collaborates with colleagues, educators, field professionals to share and gain new knowledge (van Dam et al. 2010), jointly evaluate and implement innovations, and create exclusive educational experiences (Oplatka, 2014; Schimmel, 2016). Creating cooperation outside the classroom provides opportunities for students to gain interdisciplinary experience, which promotes the teacher's pedagogical entrepreneurship and students develop entrepreneurship by training communication, cooperation, etc. skills.
10	Social innovations	Introduces innovations. Innovation is the main driver of the entrepreneurial process and it can manifest itself in different aspects (Keyhani& Kim, 2020), for example, in the context of a teacher's work, it can be innovations in the topics taught or new functions that a teacher can take on (mentor, consultant, etc.), new ways of teaching (e.g. practice-based learning), new students to teach (e.g. students with special needs, students from socially disadvantaged backgrounds), new resources to use (e.g. new technology), and new ways of organizing learning, process or any of its elements (for example, new forms of cooperation with other teachers or external institutions). Teachers' social innovations are mainly focused on unique situations they face in their daily and professional activities and new ways of using pedagogical entrepreneurship to create added value for a student, class, organization, society or educational system (Keyhani& Kim, 2020).
11	Risk taking	Takes risks, for example in the classroom, school or education system, implementing innovative ideas and/or experimenting with technologies (Amorim Neto et al., 2019; Berry, 2013), yet carefully evaluates the consequences (van Dam et al., 2010) and makes calculations (Martin et al., 2018; van der Heijden et al., 2015), which involves choosing a strategy using one's knowledge and experience to minimize risk- related losses (Borasi & Finnigan, 2010), such as money, reputation and time (Schimmel, 2016). Developed research supports that teachers take risks when they feel confident enough to handle uncertainty, embarrassment, and emotional stress.

Appendix 1. Continued

No	Category	Characteristics
12	Problem solving skills	Socially motivated problem solving at the student and classroom level (Dennis & Parker, 2010). At the community level, they try to create social change (Berry, 2013). Challenges and problems are seen as an opportunity to create social change (van der Heijden et al., 2015) and through change, innovation is introduced (Keyhani& Kim, 2020) – new teaching methods, such as practice-based learning (Dennis & Parker, 2010).
13	Leadership	Leadership skills and financial literacy strengthened by education and/or work experience in business. Van Dam et al. (2010) believe that knowledge of marketing, understanding of product demand and supply, ability to manage risks are the most essential knowledge required. Research shows that when teachers know what entrepreneurship is and what it consists of, they are more likely to be entrepreneurial (van Dam et al., 2010).
14	Professional autonomy	Possess professional autonomy (Yemini & Bronshtein, 2016) and adaptability skills (Hanson, 2017; Nash, 2014), thus independently make decisions in their activities, evaluating the changing environment and context. Feels responsible for students' needs and wants to provide high-quality educational opportunities both at the classroom and school level (van der Heijden et al., 2015) and uses extracurricular opportunities. Values one's growth (Keyhani & Kim, 2020) and feels the need to strengthen one's inner self.Trying to improve their knowledge and working conditions, looking for opportunities for professional development (Amorim Neto et al., 2019; Bulger et al., 2016; van der Heijden et al., 2015). Striving for personal achievement is the desire for interesting and challenging work (van der Heijden et al., 2015), as well as the satisfaction of adding value as a result of one's work (Martin et al., 2018). Enthusiastically seeks opportunities for professional development (Amorim Neto et al. 2019) and personal achievement by taking on work that is both interesting and challenging (van der Heijden et al., 2015). Motivated by personal benefits such as competitiveness, networking/ collaboration, financial rewards, recognition, and peer feedback (Shelton & Archambault, 2018).

Appendix 1. Continued

Appendix 2

Criteria for evaluating pedagogical entrepreneurship

No.	Component	Expression of criterion
1.	Proactivity	Skill: proactively search, notice, explore opportunities related to professional activity. Take advantage of opportunities and challenges in the classroom or in the education system, in society as a whole. Knowledge: where to look for opportunities in professional activities, knowledge necessary for the context to take advantage of opportunities in professional activities. Attitude: curiosity, attentiveness, openness to new possibilities.
2.	Strategic vision	Skill: make strategically beneficial decisions using the available data. Knowledge: how to create a strategy to achieve a vision. Attitude: determination, rationality/ strategicity.
3.	Flexibility	Skill: adapt to change, critically evaluate, and analyse reforms, opinions of others and their actions.Knowledge: about alternatives to implementing the desired result.Attitude: openness, flexibility.
4.	Knowledge for effective pedagogical activity	Skill: apply and adapt the necessary class management, curriculum, and methodology. Use knowledge to create unique added value – ensure more efficient transfer of learning content and use appropriate teaching methods. Knowledge: about content, pedagogy and pupils, communities, and families. Attitude: desire to learn, to follow the latest developments in education.
5.	Attracting and using resources	Skill: attract the necessary resources (human resources, finance, material resources). Manage various resources – technological, human capital, time, and informative data. Knowledge: different methods to attract resources – crowdfunding, contacts (networks), political and public support, strategic partnerships. Attitude: openness to corporation and open-minded view.
6.	Professional reflection	 Skill: to build on and learn from the acquired experience in order to move towards success – reflect on the mistakes made and optimize activity. Knowledge: how to reflect and how to optimize activities based on the evaluation carried out (reflection techniques). Attitude: responsibility to students' needs, self-analysis, desire to improve their activities and provide high-quality educational opportunities at both class and school level, as well as taking advantage of extracurricular cooperation opportunities.
7.	Professional determination	 Skill: to set and consistently take the necessary actions to achieve the set goals, overcome difficulties and cope with obstacles (restrictions). Knowledge: about the methods of setting goals. Attitude: determination and perseverance.

Appendix 2. Continued

No.	Component	Expression of criterion
8.	Adding value	Skill: to create added value – at pupil, class, organisation, or non- organisation level, taking into account different needs. Knowledge: about new product creation strategies. Attitude: the desire to innovate, to bring about change.
9.	Effective communication	 Skill: to communicate and cooperate with students, colleagues, administration, stakeholders outside the school. Knowledge: how to create effective communication, business etiquette. Attitude: openness to communication with those involved in education (class, school, extracurricular), willingness to cooperate.
10.	Social innovations	Skills: innovate in the topics to be taught and/or take on new functions (mentor, consultant, etc.), introduce new forms of learning (e.g. experience-based learning), test different resources (e.g. new technologies) and different ways of organising learning (e.g. new forms of cooperation with other teachers or external organisations). Knowledge: about the topics to be taught, methodology, techniques to be applied to create value. Attitude: the desire to create, to improve. Openness to new innovations.
11.	Risk-taking	Skill: cope, respond adequately and act in case of occurrence of risks. Perform calculations and evaluate the consequences. Choose a strategy that minimises risk-related losses. Ability to cope with uncertainty, embarrassment, and emotional stress. Knowledge: how to assess the probability of occurrence of a risk and reduce the occurrence of risk/associated losses. Attitude: willingness to take risks, to learn from mistakes.
12.	Problem solving skills	 Skill: tackling problems at pupil, classroom, and community level to create social change. Challenges and problems are seen as an opportunity and innovate through change. Knowledge: knowledge appropriate to the professional context, which helps to solve the problem that arises. Attitude: social motivation to solve problems.
13.	Leadership	Skills: to work autonomously, to make decisions independently, assessing the changing environment and context, to manage human resources. Knowledge: human resources management, including motivation, marketing, product/service demand and supply. Attitude: taking responsibility for global processes.
14.	Professional autonomy	Skill: to plan the learning process – to work independently and plan the time. Plan the learning process, define individualized goals of the learning process, plan training activities, systematically evaluate the course of the learning process and create learning goals and assessment criteria. Implement the learning process – create a learning environment, promote cooperation, provide feedback and evaluate teaching methods. To improve professional competencies – to reflexively and critically evaluate pedagogical practice, taking into

Appendix 2. Continued

No.	Component	Expression of criterion	
		account the learning results achieved by students, feedback provided by colleagues, the standard of the teaching profession and the latest current events in pedagogy, strategically plan and organize professional development. To develop an educational institution and the field of education – to understand the strategic development vision of the educational institution and to engage in the achievement of the planned goals within the scope of its competence. Delegate tasks.	
		and time planning. Knowledge of current events, challenges, and organizational/ individual professional development opportunities in the field of education. Attitude: the desire to professionally improve and develop the organization in which you work.	

https://doi.org/10.22364/atee.2022.06

Teacher Creator: Practices of Creating Educational Contexts

Asta Lapėnienė¹, Ligita Neverauskienė²

- ¹ Department of Pre-School and Primary Education, Academy of Education, Vytautas Magnus University, Lithuania; asta.lapeniene.@vdu.lt
- ² Network of kindergartens "Taškius", Lithuania; ligitia@gmail.com

ABSTRACT

By exploring certain perspectives, it is hoped that teachers can be helped to create inclusive educational contexts by transforming the learning environment into a third educator. Based on the Reggio Emilia approach, we hope to reveal the ways and means by which the spaces of the educational institution can be interpreted, prepared and in some cases created, in order to encourage children to explore and express themselves. This study presents the concept of context as a modern educational space and draws attention to several essential aspects for the creation of educational contexts: educational provocations and invitations; the use of materials and tools to create them; the learning documentation and learning visibility; and the nature of the adult-child dialogue. A qualitative research model was applied that produces information in the form of descriptive data records by providing clear and systematic descriptions. The data collection techniques used were literature studies and narrative interviews with pre-school teachers. Twelve pre-school teachers participated in the study and criteria-based selection was applied, with thematic analysis being used to analyze the data (Soderberg, 2006).

The experiences of pre-school teachers in creating contexts are summarized by distinguishing the following aspects of the thematic analysis of contextual development experiences: the change in the role of the teacher, the nature of the child's activities and the process and principles of creating contexts.

The results indicated that the context helps to engage the child and establish an authentic "dialogue" between the child and the materials and tools used, which is then developed with the adult. Educational contexts help develop the creation of an educational environment and allows teachers to create unique learning situations in any scenario.

Keywords: educational context, pre-school teacher, the Reggio Emilia approach, learner-centered teaching, creativity, the environment as the third teacher

Introduction

The strategic educational provision "Lithuania 2030", emphasizes, that in the pursuit of quality education there are two important factors: creativity and openness. Creativity and openness should be taken as essential in directing education, as child-centered education is based on them, by creating a social, cultural and physical environment in which the child actively develops his or her current and future powers (M.E.S.R.L, 2015).

Encouraging child activity and engagement is an educational goal and a rapidly increasing global imperative (Key principles of a Quality Framework, 2014), emphasized in European Commission and other documents. According to the theory of child-centered education, education is organized in such a way as to create conditions for the children themselves to actively participate and explore (Miller, 2019; Sommer et al., 2010). Therefore, learning is considered a rocess that is not a given, but a process in which the child actively discovers (Firlik, 1996). Such an educational process is considered tripartite active: the learner is active because he acts; the teacher is active because he creates an environment favorable to the learner's performance; the environment created between them is active because it promotes action and change; and the teacher's role is to organize and regulate the environment (Vygotskij, 1991). By recognizing the potential and importance of the environment as a third educator, the role of the teacher remains active, but takes on a different characteristic (Miller, 2019). The environment as the third educator is a central concept of the Reggio Emilia approach to education, which states that the physical environment plays a particularly important role in learning. Early childhood education theorists such as Loris Malaguzzi and Maria Montessori emphasize the idea of a prepared, or constructed, learning environment (Brown, 2020). Reggio Emilia practices reveal the ways and means by which educational institution spaces can be interpreted, prepared and, in some cases, created to encourage children to explore and express themselves (Asy'ari & Rachmawati, 2022).

The term "the environment as the third teacher" means that the environment has an important role in building knowledge, where children can explore, experiment, play and learn (Biermeier, 2015). Children adapt easily, like to explore, actively work, and enjoy interacting with friends, parents, teachers and surrounding environments. (Asy'ari & Rachmawati, 2022). Children thrive in environments that are suited to their interests and developmental stages. In the Reggio Emilia approach the environment is viewed as a place that is welcoming, authentic aesthetically pleasing, culturally representative of community, embraces nature and filled with purposeful materials. The layout of the environment promotes relationships, communication, collaboration, and exploration through play. Materials are thoughtfully added to the environment to promote creativity, thinking, problem-solving skills, questions, experimentation

and open-ended play (Blocker, 2020). In order to create such an environment, teachers should look deeper into a child's perspective, not just what they see at eye level. This will develop a better understanding of the basic principles of creating an environment, by considering children's thinking, questions, curiosities and surprises (Biermeier, 2015).

This is especially important in the modern context of education, when we are faced with an abundance of tools for use in educational institutions, and educational spaces are turned into warehouses of rarely used tools that lack educational intention. (Biermeier, 2015). A teacher should be able to reflect on the physical organization of the classroom environment, how it can be manipulated to enhance learning and its impact on students (Brown, 2020). Thus, the problem is defined as a lack of teachers' knowledge and understanding on how to turn the environment into a "third educator" and orient it to active learning activities according to the age of children. Other factors such as limited innovativeness, motivation, lack of creativity of teachers in implementing or organizing the surrounding environment also prevent the utilization of the potential of the given environment (Asy'ari & Rachmawati, 2022).

This article actualizes the role of a preschool teacher who is able to create such an environment, which requires a high level of creativity on the part of the teacher (Biermeier, 2015). Thus, the questions posed in the article are: How can today's teacher use the Reggio Emilia educational contexts strategy of creating an environment and create a space that promotes meaningful learning, individual understanding and develops the values of the child. **Aim of the study** – to open certain perspectives to help teachers create inclusive educational contexts by transforming the learning environment and turning it into a third educator.

Theoretical background

Reggio Emilia approach is influenced by many theories of child development. The study methodology is based on constructivist theories, which look at cognitive processes as a set of certain constantly developing and improving cognitive structures (Bertran, 1995; Giordan, 1995). Didactic attitudes based on the principles of constructivism emphasize learning as individual knowledge created on the basis of personal experience. Primary perception acts as a mediator between the learner's knowledge and thinking structures (Bertran, 1995; Giordan, 1995). The structure of the primary perception is constantly being rearranged so that new knowledge is incorporated into the already existing cognitive structure of the learner. New information is always analyzed according to the model of primary perception, but at the same time it changes this model. It is important to note another important aspect of constructivism which is the use of active learning strategies in child-centered education (Neutzling et al., 2019).

Dewey (1910) concept that all of a child's "thinking is inquisitive" is a fundamental reflection of the Reggio Emilia approach to the child's role in their own learning. From Dewey's point of view, children are natural explorers, capable of making their own decisions, hypothesizing, making predictions, and revisiting what they have learned. John Dewey viewed children's learning as an active process, during which a significant experience for the child is formed, combining three aspects of experience into a unified whole: active action, accompanying emotion and new perception (Dewey, 1959). The research focuses on the experience itself during learning situations and its meaning for the author of the experience and the way of connecting the pedagogical interaction into a coherent sequence, as past experiences are renewed in present experiences and the experiences of others are renewed in personal experiences. This concept is central in the Reggio Emilia framework's image of children and the role that children play in their own learning. Dewey stated that many teachers and educators see children and the curriculum as separate; that you have one or the other.

Vygotskij (1991) emphasized the importance of social interaction and cooperative learning while groups engage with each other, in the building of knowledge. He contended that collective social experiences within various social environments affect the social orientation of individuals and ultimately influences their cognitive functions. It is suggested that new knowledge and skills are created as learners interact with each other and make sense of differences between their current knowledge and new experiences (Brackenbury, 2012).

Based on Vygotskij (1991) the main figure of the teaching process is the child himself, therefore, the learner's experience is considered a key factor in learning. Learning is implemented through the child's personal experience, which is fully dependent on the environment and the teacher's role is the organization and regulation of that environment (Vygotskij, 1991). The teacher, using the great possibilities of the social environment in which the child lives and works, can direct and guide their personal activities in order to achieve development.

Conceptual methodology is also based on the holistic approach to education. Holism emphasizes the interpretation of acquired knowledge, its meaningfulness, knowledge of the essence of man and the world. Holism states that everything exists in the context of interaction, connection and meaning, and that any change or event leads to a reorganization of the whole entity, even a small one. To develop a sense of commonality with the whole world and the joy of self-knowledge, to emphasize the importance of the overall education of the individual and general humanistic educational attitudes. The integrity of cognitive ways and methods is emphasized (Morin, 1992). Such an approach creates prerequisites for the diversity of fields of activity and research methods. Inspired, comprehensive child education includes the child's whole being, his wishes and attitudes (Juodaitytė, 2003). A holistic approach to child education is demonstrated in

Gardner's theory of multiple intelligences. Gardner H. (1983) distinguished and justified a multitude of intelligences, on the basis of which an environmental strategy can be created. It offers an environmental strategy that allows for the individual expression of children's diverse needs by creating an exceptionally resource-rich environment that reflects different types of intelligence. Such an environment would strengthen the development of each intellect and provide conditions for the unfolding and growth of the child's individual potential. These provisions made it possible to highlight the main methodological position: the learning process is possible only in an environment that is meaningful to the child. When education is perceived as a "free" environment for the child's spontaneous expression, which takes place through the natural development of social-cognitive potential, together with the emergence of these processes and the assumptions of the child's creativity in the educational environment that is meaningful to him, in a space that is gradually transformed by children's concepts, actions and deeds. The combination of constructivist, contextualism and holistic approaches is reflected in Loris Malaguzzi's advanced practices of creating educational contexts.

Reggio Emilia environment development strategy: educational context

Reggio Emilia approach reconceptualized space as a primary source of educational provocations and inspirations (Miller, 2019). Malaguzzi's approach to environmental design strategy emphasises that "children discover visual and other expressive languages in tight synergy with verbal, body and logical languages (Manera, 2019). This highlights the importance of visual and physical arrangement in the learning space. When designing the educational environment as a "third educator", it is suggested to take into account the following aspects of the educational space: the harmony between the outside and the inside; intentionality and aesthetics of space organization, degree of availability of resources and tools, nature of activity in the studio.

In this case, the term 'contexts' describe learning situations modeled by the teacher in a certain way, for which a specific short-term educational space is created. The content or idea of the context created by the teacher usually depends on the child's area of interest. In child-centered systems, children's interest is used as the impetus from which learning situations are created. Such environment allows the teacher to respond to the child's interests, liberates and enables the co-construction of knowledge (Curtis & Carter, 2000). This is clearly reflected in the example of the study of the spider, which is presented by Biermeier (2015). The teacher may ignore the children's interest in watching a spider in the play-ground and limit this activity. However, the teacher can encourage the children

to either draw what they have observed and share it with the group or search the library for a story about the spider or information about these insects, creating a context for studying the spider. The building of knowledge becomes evident when children depict the body and count the legs of a spider in their drawings, comparing the spider with other insects. Deeper understanding and involvement is developed through children's own observation and exploration, answering the children's questions and changing their understanding (Curtis & Carter, 2000).

The Reggio Emilia system (Edwards et al., 2011), which models advanced practices for the development of a child's creativity, draws attention to several essential aspects of educational contexts:

- Learning provocations and invitations.
- Used materials and tools.
- The dialogue between adults and children.
- Learning documentation and learning visibility.

Educational provocations and educational invitations

Reggio-inspired practices help children to build their knowledge of themselves and the world around them through educational provocations, inquiries, and individual learning experiences (Brown, 2020). Learning provocations and learning invitations are methods used to transform the physical environment by presenting unexpected materials and tools, arranging them in a specific order, which invites and encourages the child to approach, explore, ask questions and think reflexively (Brown, 2020). Provocations and invitations to learn are essential elements of any exploratory, game-based learning environment. Children have an innate desire to explore and understand the wonders of the world around them. The presentation of interesting materials in a stimulating environment reinforces this innate desire (Curtis & Carter, 2000). It may seem that nothing new can happen in a well-known space, but from Reggio's point of view, a different look at familiar things creates opportunities to engage the learner and enrich their understanding of themselves and the world around them. We can define the theatrical provocation as a stone lying on the road, over which a person must step. Such definition is suitable for describing educational provocation. After entering an unexpectedly changed environment, the child instinctively stumbles, begins to explore or transform it. In these environments, the child is extremely active, and deeply involved in the experience. Educational provocation is a specifically constructed context, which is made by using various visual means and/or written prompts in order to provoke the child's actions, thoughts and to motivate thinking and exploration (Brown, 2020). Learning provocations are specially designed by the teacher and can be based on the goals of the educational program and the interests of the children. An educational invitation encourages the child to explore, construct and express the already

existing learning experience in an unlimited environment, using various means and methods of expression. Educational invitations are dominated by artistic expression and materials.

Regardless of whether the teacher creates a learning provocation or a learning invitation, the design of their creation is extremely important and can be compared to the pleasure of giving a gift to a dear friend (Curtis & Carter, 2020). Therefore, the space used in both educational invitations and provocations must be attractive to the child. Materials and tools are arranged in a certain order using mirrors and/or the principle of contrast. To create learning provocations and invitations for children teachers use certain strategies such as changing the physical environment, presenting unexpected materials, encouraging joyful and reflexive thinking, asking questions and creating comments (Brown, 2020). Importantly, sensory and artistic provocations help to promote motoric development, social-emotional skills, language development and cognition (Schwartz & Luckenbill, 2012). Aesthetic spaces, consciously designed by the educator reflect the individual values and beliefs of the teacher (Brown, 2020).

Options for learning materials and tools

Materials in the Reggio-inspired group are more ambiguous and surprising (Brown, 2020). In each group you can find paper and drawing tools that are actively used by children. However, in order to develop children's creativity, it is suggested to discover a variety of materials that will help the child get involved and learn. Therefore, there are several types of materials suggested for creating contexts (Brown, 2020):

- construction materials and secondary raw materials (paper rolls, paper towel rolls, large wooden rings, paint rollers, bottle caps, egg cartons, sticks, boxes, fabric scraps, stickers, etc.,
- 2) natural materials (tree bark, pinecones, acorns, seeds, natural objects, sand, stones, rocks, wooden parts).
- 3) natural objects/objects found in the household.
- 3) mirrors of various shapes and sizes.
- 4) art tools (all types of tools: chalk, pastels, markers, paints, writing tools, clay).
- 5) books, large photographs, reproductions.
- 6) imagination-stimulating toys (animals, dinosaurs, people).
- 7) blocks.
- 8) musical instruments (they can also become household items).
- 9) various light sources. Media that can be used in light ray activities include desk lamps, mirrored tables, used bottles, candles, projectors, white screens, black screens, glasses, magnifying glasses, flashlights, computers, and CDs (Asy'ari & Yeni Rachmawati, 2022).





Figure 1. White paper options

One of the ideas of the Reggio Emilia method is to help children explore, experiment and play using light as a source of learning. Light beam activities can be performed indoors and outdoors (Asy'ari & Rachmawati, 2022). For these activities, indoor spaces are arranged with minimal lighting and dark walls to stimulate children's imaginations using different media. Meanwhile, outdoor activities require bright sunlight so children can use the shadows. Using light and other materials, teachers consciously design engaging learning contexts to create purposeful learning experiences, provoking the child to act and think. Children can also explore materials in new and unusual ways with the help of light. When creating contexts, it is not only suggested to use the most natural materials, objects that children can search for and discover in the environment, but also to create the conditions for the widest possible choice, for example, if the planned activity is to draw on white paper, then children are offered as many options as possible to choose white paper. It can be white paper scraps of different formats, wrapping paper, ribbons, etc. Although a wide variety of means is offered, all objects are arranged in a certain order, sequence, maintaining the structure of an aesthetic composition (Brown, 2020). Children are free to carry materials from one place to another while they are active.

The dialogue between adults and children

In the dynamic process of educational creativity, which is constantly changing, the role of the teacher is changing. From a provider of knowledge to a creator of contexts that provoke discoveries, creating conditions for the child's free, spontaneous creativity. The activity of a teacher as a creator of educational contexts takes on a different character at different stages of the activity process. From the generator of ideas, the designer of an engaging multisensory environment, one moves to the application of reflection, thinking and creativity together with the child. In such a provocative and dialogic context, both the child and the teacher become creators of the process. In an interview with Lella Gandini, Loris

Malaguzzi states that the definition of the teacher's role can never be accepted once and for all, but is constantly revised – as time, circumstances, community, children change, the dynamics of their concern and cooperation change (Edwards et al., 2011).

When creating situations in which the child could act independently and get involved, the teacher withdraws from the leadership process, but moves to the position of an encourager, consultant, observer. The teacher observes and gets involved at the moment when he feels that the child needs help or encouragement and to move the process forward. Encouraging the teacher to get involved in the activity processes together is extremely important for the child, in such a process the child feels supported and develops confidence. The teacher is encouraged to establish a kind of dialogue with the group of children and to join their curiosity (Edwards et al., 2011). According to Loris Malaguzzi (2011), the role of an adult as a teacher complements the role of a child as a learner, so the dialogue between a child and an adult becomes extremely significant. It is a harmony in which the teacher and the child work in the same context. The main action of adults becomes the desire to activate children's creative competences as the basis of all education and the desire to discover appropriate ways to combine their interpretations into a fruitful dialogue with children's thoughts (Edwards et al., 2011).

This dialogue is developed by analyzing processes and asking provocative questions. Correctly used method of questions and moderation of the process unconsciously guides the child towards the desired goal. The metaphor – "catch the ball that the children throw to us and then throw it back to continue the game" speaks of the interaction between the teacher and the child, like a game of badminton. According to Loris Malaguzzi, for the game to continue the skills of the adult and the child need to be properly adjusted so that their growth in learning is meaningful, (Edwards et al., 2012).

The Reggio Emilia approach invites teachers to act playfully, respectfully, leading to an active, provocative educational process. The teacher, as a planner of the educational process, becomes a co-author of knowledge. A creative teacher is perceived as a person who is able to adapt and create methods and activities for specific learning situations, thus being able to create an authentic learning environment.

The role of the pedagogue remains active, while, spontaneous, child-initiated education creates more opportunities than purposefully organized, teacher-led education. Teacher's autonomy and freedom of action and creative thinking should be supported as they are creators and central fugues of knowledge educational and social transformation. The image of the teacher as a creator, fundamentally changes the role of the teacher and becomes a challenge in the educational space.

Learning documentation and learning visibility

Documentation of teaching/learning activities takes place throughout the process. In the Reggio Emilia approach, documentation is used as a tool to allow learners and teachers to identify and reflect on learning (Roque & Tamashiro, 2022). One of the distinctive features of the documentation of the Reggio Emilia system is its visuality. Certain methods based on visuality are used for this purpose: visual trajectories of the child's understanding (recording the child's drawings and/or the child's expressed thoughts), visual participation trajectories, photo collages, hexagons, and other methods. Documentation in the form of notes, photographs, videos, and artifacts aims to "make learning visible" (Krechevsky et al., 2009). Documenting the learning process can reveal a complete and deep picture of a child's learning.

Documents play an important role in recording and identifying individual learning trajectories of children. The recorded changed element in the child's drawing and its verbal naming can reveal a significant experience for the child and show the effectiveness of the pedagogical effect (for example, all the child's drawings and his expressed thoughts related to the study of the spider are consistently recorded). According to Roque and Tamashiro (2022), documentation using images, dialogue, artifacts, and other tools allows educators to capture the individual experience of a child and the value of what and how children learn. On the other hand, such visual documentation is important for the teacher himself. This is an opportunity for teachers to reflect on their practice, the experiences of learners and improve their action plan based on this (Rinaldi, 2004). Teachers can use these types of documents to collaborate with the child in reflecting on their teaching and to assess the collaborative inquiry process. (Roque & Tamashiro, 2022). Furthermore, when teachers document children's learning and make it visible to their families and community, it provides concrete evidence that children are learning through hands-on experience (Kaufman, 2014).

From the point of view of educators in Reggio Emilia schools, documentation is open-ended and changing, following the idea that learning goals and processes emerge in the course of child-centered activities, more often they emerge rather than being predetermined" (Krechevsky et. al., 2009).

Through the visuality of documentation, teaching and learning become "embodied" and reveal the links between teaching and learning. In a recent study by (Vossoughi et al., 2020) work emphasizes that the visual "embodiment" of documentation can have ethical and political implications for those involved, as it reveals how they participate and what their future teaching and learning experiences might look like. Therefore, the aim is to develop educators' understanding of these actions and consequences. Thus, images and visual information are used in several ways: as a means for educators to reflect on their teaching actions, for students to reflect on their experiences. Teachers also document children's learning to make it visible to their families and community.

Methodology

This study employed a qualitative research model that produces information in the form of descriptive data records by providing clear and systematic descriptions. The data collection techniques used were literature studies and narrative interviews with pre-school teachers. Thematic analysis was used to analyze the data (Soderberg, 2006).

In 2022 February – March, 2 months long action research was organized in the pre-school educational institution, during which, scientists collaborated with practitioners, with the aim to initiate innovative practices during creation of educational contexts and to record the experiences of teachers. The purpose of the action research is to test a theoretical solution in practice. In education, the validity of creating theoretical solutions depends not so much on "scientific" truths, but on their usefulness for a specific practical situation. Therefore, with this type of research, the correctness of theoretical solutions is confirmed through practice (McGlinn Manfra, 2019). Twelve pre-school teachers participated in the study and criteria-based selection was applied. Research participants were selected based on the following criteria:

- Preschool teachers, younger than 35 years old.
- Having at least 2 years of educational experience.
- Having participated in specific training related to the creation of educational contexts.

All research participants had higher university education, at least bachelor's degree.

Code	Research participant	Age	Work experience
T1.	Lilija	28	6 yrs.
T2.	Simona	27	3 yrs.
T3.	leva	30	6 yrs.
T4.	Julija	30	4 yrs.
T5.	Gintarė	30	6 yrs.
T6.	Justė	32	13 yrs.
T7.	Ilona	33	7 yrs.
T8.	Ineta	25	2 yrs.
T9.	Darius	26	6 yrs.
T10.	Neringa	32	3 yrs.
T11.	Rita	38	15 yrs.
T12.	Dovilė	40	7 yrs.

Table 1. Characteristics of research participants

TO BE OR NOT TO BE A GREAT EDUCATOR, 2022

A. LAPĖNIENĖ, L. NEVERAUSKIENĖ. Teacher Creator: Practices of Creating Educational Contexts

During the interview, the teachers were asked to describe what specific contexts they have created during this period and to present the process of creating at least one of the contexts in detail, keeping the sequence of events as consistent as possible: the birth of the idea of a context \rightarrow context creation \rightarrow development of context together with children \rightarrow context transformations \rightarrow self-evaluation of activities. During the interview, the research participants were also encouraged to express the experiences and feelings they went through during the process.

After examining the collected material, the main themes were formulated using the inductive method, which are closely related to the available data and are not "tied" to theoretical basis (Braun et al., 2014; Soderberg, 2006).

Ethical principles were followed in order to ensure the well-being, safety and confidentiality of research participants. In order to ensure the confidentiality of the research participants, they have been given fictitious names, and the data were used for academic purposes only. The interviews were conducted at a time convenient for the research participants in a convenient place, thus ensuring the principle of benevolence (Žydžiūnaitė, 2012). During the research process, the principle of human dignity is maintained, the participants are introduced to the means of ensuring confidentiality, the purpose of the research and the application of the results.

Results. Experiences of preschool teachers in creating contexts

During the research, three main topics emerged, which are relevant when analyzing the experience of creating contexts, these are: the competences and role of the teacher as a creator of contexts; the activity and involvement of the creating child; and the process of creating a context as an educational environment.



Figure 2. Thematic map of pre-school teachers' narrative interviews

TO BE OR NOT TO BE A GREAT EDUCATOR, 2022

A. LAPĖNIENĖ, L. NEVERAUSKIENĖ. Teacher Creator: Practices of Creating Educational Contexts

Analyzing the first topic of the **"Teacher Creator"**, the teacher's creativity competence is emphasized as one of the most important prerequisites for professional activity in creating educational contexts. The research participants associate the competence of creativity with the relevant attitude and abilities. The teacher's new approach to the objects in the environment and their use is important here.

Everywhere and always you can discover something new, untried and unknown. All these things must be looked at through the eyes of the developer. A small detail is enough, which can be born into wonderful things – creative projects when working with children. (T1)

Another important manifestation of a creative approach, which is emphasized by many research participants, is the courage to improvise, present your own ideas, have a flexible approach to the educational process, and avoid templates.

A creative teacher takes a broad view of the world, is interested in innovation, looks for new ways to organize activities involving and interest children, uses many non-standard, self-created tools in his work. (T3)

Such a teacher is not afraid to take risks, not afraid of changing circumstances, acts boldly and creatively.

It is important to note that creating contexts provides an opportunity to develop creativity competence, as it recognizes that there is no one right answer, but rather a lot of discovery and exploration.

Every idea born from inquiry is correct because the teacher acts in response to the needs of the students. (T5)

A teacher with such an attitude is able to educate a child by creating an environment, means and opportunities for him.

When describing the experiences of creating educational contexts, the research participants note the changing and dynamic role of the teacher. When children get involved in activities, the teacher becomes an observer, and the children become creators, discoverers, active participants in the process. Therefore, the teacher can be a little more distant, watching the children in the process.

Only at the children's request, the teacher-creator enters the process, helps the children solve the problem or answer the question that arose in the process. (T6)

By observing children acting freely and without restrictions, the teacher can understand how children learn at their own pace. Since children are interested in different things, the more diverse the context, the more interesting it is to observe them.

The creator teacher has a rather difficult task to prepare a quality environment for engagement, but it is a great pleasure to observe the process. (T5)

Describing the teacher as a creator of contexts, the research participants also characterize him as constantly learning from his experiences, experiencing joy and doubting.

Negative feelings can set in when things don't go according to plan. Then I catch myself thinking, "it wasn't meant to be, I didn't think of it that way." Because when children are allowed to act freely, no one can be sure that they will go where they are invited. Sometimes it is not possible to prepare the environment in such a way that it interests children to develop the context more deeply. (T8)

Such a teacher creates conditions that aim for the child to learn, create and act freely.

The second topic "**Creating child**" highlights the children's activity and involvement in activities. It focuses on better listening to children, motivation to act, learn and get to know each other. A well-designed context encourages the child to act and test himself in different activities.

Teachers also notice that children's involvement does not last long, sometimes they lose motivation to act, and they have to be re-engaged.

Not all children concentrate their attention for a long time, often they want to do activities hurriedly, dismissively, but the initiative of other children who are still active brings them back to the activity. (T10)

By acting and creating, children integrally develop a very wide range of abilities. Teachers note that in addition to counting, measuring or writing, children learn to discuss, find answers, express themselves, recognize different materials, and react to the situation appropriately. As a result, self-reliance, greater self-confidence, community spirit and teamwork are developed. Contextual learning provokes children to act independently and creatively, which is the main goal of educational process.

The third topic "**The process of creating contexts**", distinguishes the three sub-topics related to different aspects of contexts' creation:

- Search for ideas and sources of inspiration.
- Context variability, development, unpredictability.
- Context integrity and aesthetic thread.

During the study, teachers proposed and created contexts of different nature e.g.: an egg was left on the windowsill, which caused a great stir. This led to the creation and development of contexts of the active windowsill throughout the entire kindergarten. The following themes were developed: "Bench", "Mirror",

"Octopus", "Suitcase", "Kitchen Art", "Patterns", "Honeycomb", "Chair", "Tile", "Magnifying glass" and "The Shadow".

Research participants note that the simplest things that children pay attention to have become sources of inspiration when creating inclusive educational contexts. Teachers are suggested to look for new and interesting topics in the immediate environment. The objects and their details have become attributes of observation, exploration and creative expression of the child.

Here, for example, the "octopus" noticed by the child on the part of the pavement that we see every day – the rain drain well – can become ornaments in a rich graphic drawing of the child, reflecting his active and sensitive relationship with the environment and a starting point for interest and searching for answers on this topic. It is important to be interested, to see and, if chosen correctly, to be able to apply it. (T2)

When creating a context, often children provide ideas by themselves or through their expressed thoughts. Whilst teachers create contexts through their various trainings, group decisions and the actualization of these decisions.

However, it is emphasized that one common feature, an idea, must prevail in each context. It is important to preserve the integrity of that idea in the creation of a context. The teachers also noted that the synthesis of different spheres allowed the creation of more interesting contexts than those dominated by only one sphere.

Teachers noted the aspect of context variability and unpredictability.

All contexts, no matter which teacher creates them, change their shape rapidly when the children get involved, and are filled with other objects or additional tools. (T6)

Therefore, it is very difficult to define the lifetime of a context. As long as there is action in that environment, as long as it raises questions, then this context can live: from a couple of weeks to months, depending on its relevance.

Also, teachers note that the same context can be used in various ways and adapted to the topic under discussion by remaking, adding or removing details, replacing them with others.

Therefore, you can always look at it from a different angle and not rush to "destroy". The most important thing is for the child to be interested in the environment, to see the changes taking place in it and to want to act in it himself. An interesting, attractive environment always arouses curiosity. (T8)

When the context is put into the "hands of the children", it can take a completely different form than the original idea. The original idea in the creative process can

change as new ideas are born. Through the creation of a context, attention is focused on the meanings created by the child, which are formed while creating non-traditional environments. The child's perception is formed unconsciously, seeing variability and harmony between the exterior and the interior, when unusual or forgotten spaces of the educational institution are used.

Discussion

It is clear that recognizing the importance of the environment as a "third educator" changes the role of the teacher in the educational process. The new approach talks about the proactive and dialogic role of the teacher. The teacher has more than one task: not only identifying and actualizing the child's area of interest, but acting creatively in creating inclusive educational contexts, what's more, the teaching process itself becomes open and dialogic. In such a provocative and dialogic context, both the child and the teacher become creators of the process. For this reason, special importance should be given to the development of the teacher as a creator. Creativity and imagination skills are salient in all areas involving professional perspective. The question arises, how should a teacher capable of transforming the environment and turning it into a third educator, be trained? What are the necessary competencies for a teacher?

It is important to note that during the action research and discussions with teachers, great attention was paid to the elements of environmental composition, aesthetics, and intentionality, which some teachers had not encountered. For a teacher who transforms the environment, aesthetic perception and feeling are important. The thread of aesthetics should accompany every activity and emerge in various educational situations e.g., creating material provocations, serving the table, adult-child communication, exhibiting works, etc., through a sense of harmony, wholeness and continuity.

The experiences of creating contexts recorded by teachers, revealed the lack of process documentation as one of the weakest links in creating an educational context. Created contexts can change and take a completely different direction, so change, analysis and reflection are a necessary part of the process. Not all the contexts created during the action research could involve children and the best, most inclusive solutions can be discovered by consistently monitoring the educational process. Therefore, a detailed analysis and evaluation of the content and the entire process; documentation of children's activities such as by photographing the activities step by step, writing down the child's comments, stories, etc.; and recording individual trajectories of the child's perception; should be one of the most important parts of the process. However, problematic questions arise in this topic: How to actualize and encourage the visual documentation of the process? How can modern technologies help teachers to record individual trajectories of a child's perception and expression, as well as teachers' own teaching and learning experiences? What modern tools can be used to document the educational process, so that teachers learn through experience? The analysis of acquired experience gained by teachers would provide direction for the improvement of teacher qualifications and competencies. In this study, important attention is paid to the teacher, trying to answer how teachers develop their personal and professional identity, which is determined by their qualifications, experience, professional learning, the context of the educational institution and personal, professional goals.

Conclusion

A context is a set of provocative environments created by a teacher for a specific activity, with a specific theme and educational purpose. Creating contexts is a process of well-thought-out situations that involve children in activities that awaken their research and creative pursuits. Location, objects and tools become the primary resource for creating an educational environment. Most importantly, is the child's active involvement through the activation of the senses as they are encouraged to experience, discover, explore, learn and create for themselves.

The study highlighted the following characteristics of creating inclusive contexts:

- Creating choices: Giving the child the choice of materials, tools, formats, mode of action, etc.
- Integrity: The synthesis of different spheres allows for more interesting contexts than those dominated by only one domain.
- Change and dynamism: When given into the hands of children, contexts can take a completely different form than the original idea. The original idea in the creative process can change with the birth of new ideas.
- Searching for harmony between the exterior and the interior: When the object is viewed from different perspectives, new uses of the object are discovered in different spaces. Teachers and children are starting to notice more about what is going on in the environment, thinking about how it can be incorporated into education.

Based on the results of the research it can be stated that the teacher, as a creator of contexts, moves:

- From direct management of children's activities to the creation of situations that promote active, spontaneous, creative and research-based education.
- From direct instructions to context, provocation, challenge, dialogue, thinking and creating together, whilst reflecting on the process.
- From fragmented to holistic, multisensory and experiential learning.
A. LAPÉNIENÉ, L. NEVERAUSKIENÉ. Teacher Creator: Practices of Creating Educational Contexts

Creating contexts is a very creative, engaging process that brings joy to the teacher and children and provides new, interesting and fun learning experiences for children.

REFERENCES

Asy'ari, S. M., Yeni Rachmawati, Y. (2022). Discovering the Properties of Light through the Ray of Light Learning in the Reggio Emilia Approach in Early Childhood Education Proceedings of the 6th International Conference of Early Childhood Education (ICECE-6 2021). Series Advances in Social Science, Education and Humanities Research. https://doi.org/10.2991/assehr.k.220602.015

Bertran, I. (1995). Contemporary Theories and Practice in Education. Madison: Atwood Publishing.

Biermeier, M. A. (2015). Inspired by Reggio Emilia: Emergent curriculum in relationshipdriven learning environments. January 2015YC, *Young Children, 70*(5), 72–79. https:// www.researchgate.net/journal/YC-Young-Children-1538-6619.

Blocker, L. P. (2020). A Comparative review of a Reggio Emilia inspired program for infants and toddlers. A thesis for the degree of Master of Science. Tuscaloosa, Alabama.

Brackenbury, T. (2012, December). A qualitative examination of connections between learner-centered teaching and past significant learning experiences. *Journal of the Scholarship of Teaching and Learning*, *12*(4), 12–28.

Braun, V., Clarke, V., & Terry, G. (2014). Thematic analysis. In P. Rohleder & A. Lyons (Eds.), *Qualitative research in clinical and health psychology*. Basingstoke: Palgrave MacMillan.

Brown, M. F. (2020). The Third Teacher: An analysis of aesthetic and intentionality of space in the classroom. James Madison University. Senior Honors Projects, 2020-current, 32. https://commons.lib.jmu.edu/honors202029/32.

Curtis, D., Carter, M. (2000). Art of Awareness: How Observation Can Transform Your Teaching (3rd Edition). St. Paul, Minnesota: Red leaf Press.

Dewey, J. (1910). How we think. D.C. Heath & co.

Dewey, J. (1959). Art as Experience. New York: Capricorn.

Edwards, C., Gandini, L., & Forman, G. (2012). The Hundred Languages of Children: The Reggio Emilia Experience in Transformation, 3rd Edition, Praeger.

Juodaitytė, A. (2003). Vaikystės fenomenas: socialinis-edukacinis aspektas [Childhood phenomenon: social-educational aspect]. Šiauliai: ŠU Publishing House.

Firlik, R. (1996). Can we adapt the philosophies and practices of Reggio Emilia, Italy, for use in American schools? *Early Childhood Education Journal*, *23*, 217–220. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02353340

Gardner, H. (1983). Frames of Mind. New York: Basic Books Inc.

Giordan, A. (1995). Les nouveaux modèles sur apprendre: pour dépasser le constructivisme [The New Models on Learning: exceeding constructivism]. *Perspectives, 25*(1). http://www. Ides.unige.ch/publi/rech/depConstruct/depConstruct.htm

Kaufman, S. (2014). Learning Together. Schools: Studies in Education, 11(2), 263–305.

A. LAPÉNIENÉ, L. NEVERAUSKIENÉ. Teacher Creator: Practices of Creating Educational Contexts

Key principles of a Quality Framework (2014). European Commission. Children's Perspectives in Theory and Practice. Springer. Directorate-General for Education and Culture. http://ec.europa.eu/assets/eac/education/experts-groups/2011-2013/ecec/ecec-quality-framework_en.pdf

Krechevsky, M., Rivard, M., & Burton, F. R. (2009). Accountability in three realms: Making learning visible inside and outside the classroom. *Theory into practice*, *49*(1), 64–71.

Manera, L. (2019). The aesthetic experience in the Reggio Emilia Approach. *Studi di estetica, anno XLVII [Studies of aesthetics], IV serie, 1/2019. https://doi.org/10.7413/18258646076*

Miller, V. (2019). Creating the Third Teacher Through Participatory Learning Environment Design: Reggio Emilia Principles Support Student Wellbeing. In Hughes, H., Franz, J., Willis, J. (Eds.), *School Spaces for Student Wellbeing and Learning*. Springer, Singapore. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-6092-3_13

McGlinn, Manfra, M. (2019). Action Research and Systematic, Intentional Change in Teaching Practice. *Review of Research in Education*, 43, 163–196. https://doi.org/10.3102/0091732X18821132

Morin, E. (1992). Introduction à la pensée complexe [Introduction to Complex Thinking]. Paris: ESF éditeur.

M.E.S.R.L. *Ministry of Education and Science of the Republic of Lithuania* (2015). Concept of a good school. V-1308, Vilnius. http://www.nmva.smm.lt

Neutzling, M., Pratt, E., & Parker, M. (2019). Perceptions of Learning to Teach in a Constructivist Environment. *The Physical Educator*, *76*(3). https://doi.org/10.18666/TPE-2019-V76-I3-8757.

Schwarz, T., Luckenbill, J. (2012). Let's get messy! Exploring sensory and art activities with infants and toddlers. *Young Children*, 67(4), 26–34.

Soderberg, A-M (2006). Narrative interviewing and narrative analysis in a study of a crossborder merger. *Management International Review*, *46*(4), 391–396. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11575-006-0098-2

Sommer, D., Pramling Samuelsson, I., & Hundeide, K. (2010). Child Perspectives and Children's Perspectives in Theory and Practice. Springer.

Rinaldi, C. (2004). The relationship between documentation and assessment. Innovations in early childhood: *The International Reggio Exchange*, 11, 1–4.

Roque, R., Tamashiro, M. A. (2022, June). Making Learning Visible in Constructionist Learning Contexts. IDC '22: *Interaction Design and Children*, 69–81. https://doi.org/10.1145/3501712.3534093

Vossoughi, S., Jackson, A., Chen, S., Roldan, W., & Escudé, M. (2020). Embodied pathways and ethical trails: Studying learning in and through relational histories. *Journal of the Learning Sciences*, 29(2), 183–223.

Žydžiūnaitė, V. (2012). *Baigiamojo darbo rengimo metodologija* [The methodology of the final paper]. Klaipėdos valstybinė kolegija [Klaipėda's Public College].

Vygotskij, L. S. (1984). Sobranie sochinenij, t. 4. Detskaja psihologija. Moskva: Pedagogika.

Vygotskij, L. S. (1991). Pedagogicheskaja psihologija. Moskva: Pedagogika.

https://doi.org/10.22364/atee.2022.07

Measuring Student Teachers Level of Situation-Specific Skills for Need-Supportive Teaching

Kadi Georg, Katrin Poom-Valickis

Tallinn University, Estonia

ABSTRACT

In the contextual model of teacher competence by Blömeke et al. (2015), teachers' situationspecific skills, like perception, interpretation, and decision-making (PID-skills) are regarded as central aspects that determine the performance of teachers in a classroom and are deemed as processes that revolve around student thinking and learning (Santagata & Yeh, 2016). Teachers' ability to notice and meet students' needs, in turn, influences their motivation and engagement in learning. In need-supportive teaching, teachers use instructional behaviors that support students' basic psychological needs for competence, autonomy, and relatedness. The aim of the current qualitative study was to assess student teachers' level of PID-skills for needs supportive teaching. Due to the situative characteristics of PID-skills, authentic classroom videos were selected to assess student teachers' noticing, analyzing and decision-making skills. After watching video clips, semi-structured interviews were carried out. Content analysis was used to discover what aspects student teachers notice; what is the level of their interpretation and decision-making. The study was conducted with 10 first-year MA-level students of several subjects teachers' programme. The results of the study reveal that although noticing skills are of a good level, interpretation and decision-making skills can be described through lower levels, which indicate the need to pay more attention on the targeted development of student teachers PID-skills in teacher education.

Keywords: self-determination theory, basic psychological needs, teacher situation-specific cognitive processing skills, video based measurement

Introduction

The theoretical framework for this study is based on the contextual model of teacher competence (Blömeke et al., 2015), which establishes that teachers competence consists of their dispositional aspects, situation-specific skills (PID-skills) and performance (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Contextual model of teacher competence (Blömeke et al., 2015)

According to the model, PID-skills function as a bridge between knowledge and classroom actions, where theoretical knowledge is translated into visible teacher behaviour.

Teacher PID-skills are employed in solving complex classroom situations and supporting student learning. Dealing with the complexity of the classroom requires, on the one hand the ability to choose where to target one's attention (Kaiser et al., 2017) and on the other hand, the ability to interpret the situations with theoretical reasoning in mind and make decisions that would support student learning processes. For high quality teaching, knowledge is not sufficient, but situation-specific skills are extremely important (Stahnke & Blömeke, 2021).

Perception has been described as noticing important or noteworthy aspects that influence student learning in a positive or negative way (e.g. Van Es & Sherin, 2002; Seidel & Stürmer, 2014; Alwast & Vorhölter, 2022). In this study, teacher noticing is conceptualized through paying attention to aspects, which are important from the perspective of need supportive teaching. Interpretation refers to the ability to use what one knows to reason about a situation. This means linking classroom events to professional knowledge and clarifying situations according to the components of teaching involved (Seidel & Stürmer, 2014).

Decision-making is characterized as making pedagogical decisions based on the interpretation (Alwast & Vorhölter, 2022). More precisely, decision-making has been characterized through predicting consequences or anticipating responses to student learning and behavior based on the viewed classroom events (Blömeke et al., 2015; Seidel &Stürmer, 2014) or offering alternative solutions and courses of action or more effective teaching strategies (Blömeke et al., 2015, Santagata & Yeh, 2016; van Es & Sherin, 2002).

As self-determination theory (SDT) (Jang, Reeve & Deci, 2010) is the central theory in our teacher education, we were interested in finding out to what extent our student teachers are able to notice need-supportive teaching and supporting

or thwarting student basic psychological needs in the classroom, as well as exploring the level of their interpretation and decision-making skills. The theory practice gap has been well documented in teacher education research and since situation-specific skills function as the bridge between theory and practice, it is important to analyze the level of student teachers PID-skills, in order to support the development thereof during teacher education.

The aim of this study was to pilot instruments for assessing PID-skills created based on previous research (Chan & Yau, 2021; Kersting, 2008; Van Es, 2011; Alwast & Vorhölter, 2022) and analyze the nature of our student teachers PID-skills, in order to determine best possible solutions for supporting the development of these skills during teacher education studies.

The following research questions were formulated:

- 1. What is the level of student teacher perception regarding need-supportive teaching and what kind of aspects do student teachers notice in the class-room episodes regarding basic psychological needs (i.e. autonomy, competence, relatedness) satisfaction?
- 2. What is the level of teacher interpretation skills, i.e. to what extent is interpretation evident through evidence-based reasoning and how much is based on personal experience or without sound reasoning?
- 3. What is the level of teacher decision-making skills, i.e to what extent are the proposed alternative solutions supported by theoretical reasoning of SDT?

Methodology

Participants

The participants of the study comprised 1st year students of several subjects teachers' MA teacher education programme (n = 10). 9 of the participants were female and 1 was male, the average age of the participants was 36.6 (min = 23, max = 52). Half of the participants in the study had already undergone a theoretical course about SDT and need-supportive teaching and half had not. Convenience sampling (Merriam & Tisdell, 2015) was used. Participation in the study was voluntary and informed consent was obtained. Interview transcripts were saved with a pseudonym to preserve the anonymity of the participant and ensure the reliability of data analysis. All of the participants were given the opportunity to review the transcript prior to data analysis.

Data collection

5-minute video clips of authentic classroom situations formed the basis for this study. First, video selection process, which comprised several stages was carried out. Altogether 15 45-minute classroom videos were rated using

the autonomy support rating sheet (Jang, Reeve & Deci, 2010) and the list of observed need-supportive teaching behaviour (Van den Berghe et al., 2013). Using the coding schemes, three 5-minute video clips that featured most aspects of need- supportive or thwarting strategies were selected.

As the next step one-on-one interviews using video stimulated recall protocol were carried out with the participants. In course of the semi-structured interviews, participants watched the 3 clips from basic school lessons and after each clip, were asked prompts based on Chan & Yau (2021). Questions that the participants had to answer were:

- 1) What did you notice? The question was repeated until the participant had nothing else left to add.
- 2) How would you explain the teacher's actions? Why do you think the teacher chose to act in the way she did?
- 3) If you had been the teacher in that classroom, what would you have done differently in order to support student motivation?
- 4) Why do you think that your proposed alternative solution would support student motivation better?

Data analysis

A multi-category coding scheme was developed for content analysis. As the first coding process, reducing procedures and structural procedures (Mayring, 2014) were applied, in order to reduce the amount of material so that only essential content remains and it is structured in a clearer way to facilitate further analysis. Data units were selected from the interview transcripts and coded deductively following the three phases of the PID-model (perception, interpretation, decision-making). In total, 549 data items were determined: perception (252), interpretation (204) and decision-making (93).

In the next phase, each category of PID-skills were coded separately following coding protocols formulated based on previous research (e.g. Kersting, 2008; Van Es, 2011; Alwast & Vorhölter, 2022). For the purpose of analyzing perception, two main categories were developed based on SDT (Jang, Reeve & Deci, 2010): relevance to autonomy supportive teaching and not relevant to autonomy supportive teaching. Further subcategories for those items classified as relevant to autonomy supportive teaching were: need for autonomy, need for relatedness and need for competence. Entries categorized as not relevant to autonomy supportive teaching were further categorized inductively. The aim in analyzing interpreting and decision-making was to clarify what kind of knowledge the participants use in their reasoning and how much of it was evidence based. Categories based on previous research (e.g. Kersting, 2008; Van Es, 2011; Alwast & Vorhölter, 2022) were used to analyze student teachers' interpretation and decision-making skills in classroom situations. Descriptions of the levels underlying the analysis are given in Table 1.

Level Definition Example Interpretation Level 1 General comments and pure descriptions The students' motivation in this about the episode they observed, "often lesson was not supported at all. oversimplifying the complexity of the Student motivation was really classroom episode they observed" (Van well supported in this lesson, the Es. 2011). Comments evaluative without teacher gave choices. offering actual evidence to their claims, mainly rephrasing what they noticed. Comments are highly judgmental and evaluative in nature (Van Es, 2011). No support from the observed video clips offered to support their claims. Level 2 Tries to reason and make sense about the I suppose the teacher gave the noticed situation. Interpretation is based students a choice, because in my on own experience or without bringing experience it has also been an out clear links to theory. "Some analytic effective way of making them more inference occurs" (Kersting, 2008), motivated. teachers state the indicators for selecting a specific aspect (Alwast & Vorhölter, 2022) Level 3 Interprets the noticed aspect clearly The teacher in the lesson clearly through theoretical reasoning. Teacher stated the importance of that "makes connections between events and specific topic, since identifying principles of teaching and learning" (Van value and importance nurtures Es, 2011) inner motivational resources. Decision-making Level 1 No alternative solutions are offered OR I don't know what the teacher Alternative solutions are offered, but could do differently. The teacher they are irrelevant in terms of autonomycould stop asking the students to supportive teaching. (not connected to stand up at the beginning of the motivation) lesson. Level 2 Predictions or alternative solutions What I have done, when I see that are vague and generic or connected to students are really not into the task personal experience and without sound I gave them, is try to come up with evidence. (connected to motivation) some aspects of the task, where they can decide themselves how to do it. I don't know why, but it seems to work. Level 3 Alternative solutions or predictions, As we have learned, giving which are offered are clearly evidenceconstructive feedback to students based and related to the topic of on how they are doing, supports observation (connected to motivation) their need for competence.

Table 1. Interpretation and decision-making evaluation model

Results

Level of student teachers' perception regarding need-supportive teaching

Perception items were categorized deductively according to SDT and the items, which could not be categorized as autonomy, competence or relatedness supportive, where categorized "not relevant to need-supportive teaching" and further coded inductively, in order to discover what the main topics are that teachers notice in classroom practices. Table 2 gives an overview of the division of idea units (sentences or phrases representing a distinct topic) representing perception.

We assumed that the group who had undergone the theoretical course could be able to notice more relevant events in the classroom and our findings also supported this assumption.

	Total	Not relevant	Autonomy	Competence	Relatedness
Perception	252	49	124	64	15
SDT course completed	152	21	83	36	12
SDT course not completed	100	28	41	28	3

Table 2. Overview of the division of perception data units according to SDT

When looking at the category "Relevant to autonomy supportive teaching" and more precisely the subcategories of need for autonomy, competence and relatedness, we can see that autonomy is the prevailing category. Regarding autonomy, the noticed aspects were most often connected to the pace of the lesson (e.g. "It was a bit disturbing that she was hurrying them up all the time;" "It was very intense, the teacher was hurrying up a lot"), teacher language use (e.g. "There was quite a lot of imperative mood used;" "Teacher uses complicated words"); ways of questioning (e.g. "She only said a few times who has to answer, it was mostly voluntary;" "Asking why and how you are thinking - she was guiding with her questions"), active engagement of students to testing and experimenting (e.g. "She did not say, give the students a moment, where they could think about, why that knowledge was actually important;" "It was positive that the teacher did a practical task, they took the concept "turns" and did a practical task at once"), offering choice (e.g. "She actually gave a choice, whether to do together or try alone at first;" "The students in that clip really did not have much choice;"), connecting to prior knowledge (e.g. "It was very interesting that she did not let the students remember themselves, but constantly said "You remember, right" and "We talked about this and this and the rule is this and this;" "Referencing to what was done before activates prior knowledge") and offering encouragement and clues (e.g. "She gave hints, directed

the students to understand it more by themselves;" "She actually constantly helped them to remember"). What stood out from the results was that the prevailing categories were noticed by both groups and the qualitative difference in noticing did not manifest in the difference in noticing need-supportive strategies, but mainly in the sheer volume of noticing aspects and somewhat in the detail-richness of the made comments. The same pattern was observed also in the case of competence.

The main topics that were noticed regarding competence were connected to feedback (e.g. "The teacher gave no feedback;" "She gave praise, but it was just "Well done" and did not specify what was well or had been done well;"), instructions (e.g. "Working memory is supported here. The teacher writes on the blackboard, which task they are doing at the moment;" "She told to open the textbook or workbook and wrote the page number on the blackboard at once"), and lesson objectives (e.g. "I liked that the teacher explained the content of the lesson at the beginning;" "At the beginning, lesson goals were brought out, but at the same time, she did not ask them from the students, but just said that these are the questions we are going to answer during the lesson").

The need for relatedness was the least represented category, where the perceived aspects fell under the topics pair- and groupwork (e.g. "They did pair-work;" "It was nice that they could work in pairs"), cooperative learning (e.g. "There were no possibilities for cooperative learning;" "The students could not really offer help to each other;" "They practiced together") and lack of relatedness support (e.g. "I didn't notice anything connected to relatedness that could have supported it;" "There wasn't much relatedness"). Here, quantitative and qualitative differences were noted, as only 3 out of 15 occurrences of noticings connected to relatedness were made by the group who had not completed the theoretical course and all three instances reported on the students practicing together with the teacher.

As seen from Table 2, the majority of data items under perception did fall under categories deduced from SDT with only 49 data items out of 252 classified as not relevant to need- supportive teaching. The main topics, which were coded as not relevant were mainly connected to teacher and students behavioural aspects (e.g. "Someone yawned;" "They stood up at the beginning of the lesson;" "The teacher had a loud voice") lesson materialistic content related (e.g. "They had a worksheet;" "They used a globe") and task description (e.g. "They read a poem;" "They read the text out loud"), where teachers simply offered descriptions of the noticed activity or the environment.

Level of student teachers' interpretation and decision-making regarding need-supportive teaching

Idea units categorized as interpretation and decision-making were both further categorized into 3 levels based on the quality of the utterances. Table 3 gives an overview of the division of interpretation levels.

		Level 1	Level 2	Level 3
Total	204	90	82	30
SDT course completed	115	51	37	26
SDT course not completed	88	39	45	4

Table 3. Overview of the division of interpretation levels

Regarding interpretation, Level 1 items were characterized as being general comments about the observed aspects, which either oversimplified the classroom event, mainly rephrased what was noticed or were evaluative without offering any evidence to the claim (e.g. "It was a very strict classroom;" "They cannot feel bored, because they are active;" "It was kind of dull rule learning"). Level 2 items were characterized by being based on one's own experience, without bringing clear links to theory, however, some analytical inference occurs (Kersting, 2008). Some of the typical examples in Level 2 included: "I personally don't think that this is important, it somehow implies that orders are given and if you don't comply then I think that this is demotivational" and "Practical tasks, especially for younger classes, are really beneficial, but they also work well for older classes, because students always like to make posters, discuss with each other, draw, make some kind of summaries, so as one part of a lesson, it is definitely very motivating." Level 3 characterizes items, where clear theoretical reasoning of the noticed aspect is offered and clear connections made between the observed events and principles of teaching and learning (Van Es, 2011). Level 3 typical responses include, for example: "Perhaps autonomy isn't supported very much, but it does help a bit that they got to set the goal together, indirectly together, because it was already set, but they got to ask questions themselves." and "It is connected to competence, where they feel that it is not something completely new for them, but that specific task is connected to previous things."

For the purpose of this study, decision-making was contextualized through being able to offer alternative and more effective solutions and the goal was to find out to what extent the offered solutions were evidence-based and related to the specific topic of observation. Table 4 illustrates the division of decision-making levels.

		Level 1	Level 2	Level 3
Total	93	20	73	0
SDT course completed	62	13	48	0
SDT course not completed	32	7	25	0

Table 4. Overview of the division of decision-making levels

Level 1 was illustrated by lack of alternative solutions or offered solutions, which were irrelevant to the focal topic. The majority of the decisions in Level 1 were connected to organizing tasks ("I would read from the textbook first;" "I would have them turn around the right shoulder, not the left one"), rearranging seating ("I would rearrange seating") or standing up for greeting ("I would not have them stand up at the beginning of the lesson"). These categories and examples illustrated the responses of both groups of student teachers with the only difference being that rearranging seating was brought out only by the group that had not completed the SDT course. Level 2 responses, which formed an overwhelming majority of the responses in this category, indicate the type of answer, where the offered alternative solution is either generic or vague or connected to personal experience. In all cases they are connected to need-supportive teaching, in order to be classified as Level 2. Here, the alternatives were mostly connected to lesson structure and task content ("There should be more possibilities for the students to do different tasks;" "Maybe it is possible to make some kind of flashcards or a task on an interactive board. Maybe this would create a bit more of this good excitement"), checking student understanding and giving feedback ("They could have had the chance to check themselves, give some kind of feedback;" "I would ask guiding questions"), teacher visible behaviour and pace of the lesson ("I would give them more time to think;" "I might have written the topics on the blackboard, so they would have been in front of the eyes;" "I would explain the task more slowly"); connecting to previous knowledge and supporting self-direction ("I would let the student try to remember the previous lesson more actively;" "I would let them try on their own for a while"). No instances out of the 93 data items categorized as decision-making were classified as Level 3, which described the instance of offered alternative solution being clearly evidence-based.

Discussion

The aim of the current study was to explore the level of student teachers' situation-specific skills for need-supportive teaching using video stimulated recall method that has been proven to be a valid instrument for assessing PID-skills by numerous studies (e.g. Kersting, 2008; Seidel & Stürmer, 2014). As situation-specific skills are described as processes through which knowledge and

beliefs become relevant in practice (Santagata & Yeh, 2016), it is important to know the quality of student teachers PID-skills for need-supportive teaching, to better understand what they notice and to what extent they are able to transfer theoretical knowledge to classroom practice, in order to support the further development of these skills.

The results of this study revealed that regarding need-supportive teaching, noticing abilities of our teacher students in both groups are of a good level, proven by the fact that the vast majority of noticed aspects were connected to basic psychological needs support or lack thereof. Research into perception has stated that the ability to notice is a skill that develops over time (e.g. Van Es & Sherin, 2002; Keppens et al., 2019) and the competence continuum model shows that PID-skills are influenced by teacher knowledge (Blömeke et al., 2015), i.e. we tend to notice what we know. This explains why student teachers who had previously learnt about SDT noticed more aspects in the classroom videos than the group who had not. However, the study also offered an interesting finding regarding relatedness, which was the least noticed category in perception. Teachers were clearly less capable of noticing aspects that support the creation of a warm and safe classroom environment and paying attention to aspects such as tone of voice, body language, eye-contact, physical proximity to the students. Forming supportive and warm relationships is highly important and has positive effects on student achievement and engagement among other factors (Kincade et al., 2020) and it has been documented by a number of studies that students who believe that their teachers are caring and supportive pay more attention in the lessons (Wentzel, 1997) and are more motivated (Murdock & Miller, 2003). Keeping this knowledge in mind and at the same time seeing that teachers notice aspects related to the formation of warm and caring classroom relationships the least in their observations, gives us a clear indication that more attention needs to be paid on noticing and acknowledging these aspects in teaching.

Regarding interpretation and decision-making skills, the study also revealed several interesting aspects. Santagata & Yeh (2016) argue that PID-skills improve in sophistication over time and this sophistication is revealed through more detailed and coherent interpretations. Based on this, we could hypothesize that the group who had completed the theoretical course would offer interpretations that would fall into the categories of Level 2 and 3. Even though, we see that the group who had completed the SDT course offered more interpretations in Level 3 than the group who had not completed the course, but, in terms of Level 2, an opposite pattern emerged. Moreover, when looking at the whole-some picture of the data, it is revealed that for both groups, Level 1 answers, which indicate descriptive, judgemental and theoretically unproven interpretations form the largest group of responses. One the one hand, this result could be explained by the fact that the participants were at the very beginning of

their teacher education studies, which falls in line with the results of Alwast & Vorhölter (2022). On the other hand, the lower level results revealed in our study indicate that sufficient attention has not been paid on deliberate practicing of PID-skills during the theoretical course to have an impact on the PID- skills of the teachers. This falls in line with previous findings that stress the importance of deliberate practice opportunities for the development of situation-specific skills (Santagata & Yeh, 2016) and that it is not enough for the development of PID-skills to just reflect on classroom events or learning situations, but targeted attention needs to be paid to the interpreting those events and justifying the made decisions (Lin et al., 2005).

The same kind of indication is given by the data regarding decision-making. The overwhelming majority of the responses were assessed as Level 2, which indicates vague and generic answers based on personal experience, but connected to the central topics, i.e. motivation. This result can be explained through our knowledge of teacher beliefs that affect the development of their teaching practice. Richardson (1996) states that teacher education students enter studies with beliefs that strongly influence their learning, which are heavily influenced by their own experiences as students. The question for teacher education lies in finding ways to support the development of interpretation skills, so that student teachers would be more aware of their belief systems on the one hand and, on the other hand, engage in their classroom practices more on the beliefs based on formal knowledge, rather than on beliefs based on their personal schooling experiences. Furthermore, no responses were deemed Level 3 indicating an alternative solution supported by evidence-based reasoning and a number of responses were seen in Level 1, which indicate alternative solutions that are not connected to the topic at hand. There were some differences between the groups that had completed the SDT course and those who had not and it is clearly evident that teachers with theoretical knowledge were able to make more decisions, which corresponds with the findings from previous studies on interpretation skills and the expert-novice differences (eg. Stahnke & Blömeke, 2021). However, the fact that they still made decisions based on the noticed and interpreted events that were not connected to learnt theoretical knowledge and were not able to make true evidence-based decisions, paints a picture of an unsatisfactory level of decision-making and gives a clear indication that, in course of teacher education, deliberate practicing opportunities to develop PID-skills need to be created. Several possibilities have been highlighted in research that support the development of PID-skills, e.g. analysis of classroom videos (e.g. Van Es & Sherin, 2002; Santagata & Guarino, 2011) or using video-based blended learning environments for classroom video reflection and feedback (e.g. Prilop et al., 2021; Weber et al., 2018). Weber (2018) and Prilop (2021) with colleagues have emphasized the importance of expert feedback in developing PID-skills, noting

that even though feedback by peers or self-reflection helps to foster PID-skills, considerable improvements only emerge in case expert feedback is offered to student teachers.

Even though the current study provided a clearer understanding of the level of teachers' PID-skills regarding need-supportive teaching, some significant limitations can be highlighted. The sample of participants does not allow to make broader generalizations. Furthermore, teacher PID-skills have not been studied in relation to need-supportive learning, so additional studies would definitely be needed to draw more profound conclusions. Teacher beliefs were not addressed in the current study, which would definitely help to understand better the development of teacher PID-skills. Further investigation would benefit from studying the interpretation and decision-making skills at greater length and creating a video-based blended learning environment to provide student teachers deliberate practice opportunities with expert feedback for the development of PID-skills for need-supportive teaching, in order to understand more profoundly the different factors influencing the development of these situation-specific skills.

REFERENCES

Alwast, A., Vorhölter, K. (2022). Measuring pre-service teachers' noticing competencies within a mathematical modeling context – an analysis of an instrument. *Educ Stud Math*, *109*, 263–285. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10649-021-10102-8

Blömeke, S., Gustafsson, J., Shavelson, R. (2015). Beyond dichotomies: Competence viewed as a continuum. *Zeitschrift für Psychologie*, 223, 3–13. http://dx.doi.org/10.1027/2151-2604/a000194

Chan, K. K. H., Yau, K. W. (2021). Using Video-Based Interviews to Investigate Pre-service Secondary Science Teachers' Situation-Specific Skills for Informal Formative Assessment. Int *J of Sci and Math Educ, 19,* 289–311. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10763-020-10056-y

Jang, H., Reeve, J., & Deci, E. L. (2010). Engaging students in learning activities: It is not autonomy support or structure but autonomy support and structure. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *102*(3), 588–600. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0019682

Kaiser, G., Blömeke, S., König, J., Busse, A., Döhrmann, M., Hoth, J. (2017). Professional competencies of (prospective) mathematics teachers—cognitive versus situated approaches. *Educational Studies in Mathematics*, *94*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10649-016-9713-8.

Keppens, K., Consuegra, E., Goossens, M., De Maeyer, S., Vanderlinde, R. (2019). Measuring pre-service teachers' professional vision of inclusive classrooms: A video-based comparative judgment instrument. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 78, 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. tate.2018.10.007

Kersting, N. B. (2008). Using video clips of mathematics classroom instruction as item prompts to measure teachers' knowledge of teaching mathematics. *Educational and Psychological Measurement*, *68*(5), 845–861.

Kincade, L., Cook, C., Goerdt, A. (2020). Meta-Analysis and Common Practice Elements of Universal Approaches to Improving Student-Teacher Relationships. *Review of Educational Research*, *90*(5), 710–748. https://doi.org/10.3102/0034654320946836

Lin, X., Schwartz, D., Hatano, G. (2005). Toward Teachers' Adaptive Metacognition. *Educational Psychologist*, 40(4), 245–255. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15326985ep4004_6

Mayring, P. (2014). Qualitative content analysis – theoretical foundation, basic procedures and software solution.

Merriam, S. B., & Tisdell, E. J. (2015). Qualitative Research: A Guide to Design and Implementation. San Francisco, CA: Wiley.

Murdock, T. B., & Miller, A. (2003). Teachers as Sources of Middle School Students' Motivational Identity: Variable-Centered and Person-Centered Analytic Approaches. *The Elementary School Journal*, *103*(4), 383–399. https://doi.org/10.1086/499732

Prilop, C. N., Weber, K. E., Kleinknecht, M. (2021). The role of expert feedback in the development of pre-service teachers' professional vision of classroom management in an online blended learning environment. *Teaching and Teacher Education, 99.* https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2020.103276

Richardson, V. (1996). The role of attitudes and beliefs in learning to teach. In J. Sikula (Ed.), *Handbook of research on teacher education* (2nd ed., pp. 102-119). New York: Macmillan.

Santagata, R., & Guarino, J. (2011). Using Video to Teach Future Teachers to Learn from Teaching. *ZDM the International Journal of Mathematics Education*, *43*, 133–145. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11858-010-0292-3

Santagata, R., Yeh, C. (2016). The role of perception, interpretation, and decision making in the development of beginning teachers' competence. *ZDM Mathematics Education, 48*, 153–165. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11858-015-0737-9

Seidel, T., & Stürmer, K. (2014). Modeling and measuring the structure of professional vision in preservice teachers. *American Educational Research Journal*, *51*(4), 739–771. https://doi.org/10.3102/0002831214531321

Stahnke, R., Blömeke, S. (2021). Novice and expert teachers' situation-specific skills regarding classroom management: What do they perceive, interpret and suggest? *Teaching and Teacher Education, 98.* https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2020.103243.

Van den Berghe, L., Soenens, B., Vansteenkiste, M., Aelterman, N., Cardon, G., Tallir, I. B., & Haerens, L. (2013). Observed need-supportive and need-thwarting teaching behavior in physical education: Do teachers' motivational orientations matter? *Psychology of Sport and Exercise*, *14*(5), 650–661. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychsport.2013.04.006

Van Es, E. (2011). A framework for learning to notice student thinking. In M. G. Sherin, V. R. Jacobs & R. A. Philipp (Eds.), *Mathematics teacher noticing. Seeing through teachers' eyes* (pp. 134–151). Routledge.

Van Es, E. A. & Sherin, M. G. (2002). Learning to Notice: Scaffolding New Teachers' Interpretations of Classroom Interactions. *Journal of Technology and Teacher Education*, *10*(4), 571–596.

Weber, K. E., Gold, B., Prilop, C. N., Kleinknecht, M. (2018). Promoting pre-service teachers' professional vision of classroom management during practical school training: Effects of a structured online- and video-based self-reflection and feedback intervention. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, *76*, 39e49.

Wentzel, K. R. (1997). Student motivation in middle school: The role of perceived pedagogical caring. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *89*(3), 411–419. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-0663.89.3.411

https://doi.org/10.22364/atee.2022.08

Psychological Characteristics of Transprofessional Competences of a Vocational Education Teacher

Alla Kolodyazhna

Kyiv National University of Technologies and Design, Ukraine

ABSTRACT

Today, society needs educators who can respond quickly to the demands of employers and train mid-level professionals for the needs of high-tech production. In this regard, the level of professional competence of vocational education teachers is of particular importance.

This makes the training of vocational education teachers particularly crucial. The competences of various professional activities have already become demanded. A future vocational education teacher should be a researcher and practitioner, an organiser and an implementer, a manager and an analyst, a programmer and a psychologist at the same time. Transprofessionalism as an expansion of socio-professional boundaries and increased effectiveness can be a response to this challenge. The study of transprofessionalism requires special attention from researchers. Transprofessionals with developed interprofessional competences that meet real and future challenges of the digital economy, post-industrial society and digital industrialisation are required. The educational and professional communities are confronted with the problem of identifying the essential characteristics of transprofessional competences.

Transprofessionalism as a scientific category has conflicting interpretations, and researches on this issue in both Ukrainian and foreign science are sparse and not general. Moreover, the lack of holistic methodological ideas of transprofessionalism, how it is formed, and by which personal qualities is determined, makes it impossible to organise and implement the process of transprofessional's training. Our study clarifies the definition of transprofessionalism, analyses its psychological essence rather than the composition of transprofessional competences; the theoretical analysis will be used to identify the component factors of transprofessionalism that contribute to its development in the subject personality's activity.

The purpose of the study: is to identify and describe the psychological characteristics of transprofessional competences of a vocational education teacher. Research methods: theoretical analysis, questionnaire, methods of mathematical and statistical analysis, methods of interpretation.

Keywords: education, professionalism, transprofessionalism, transprofessional competences, engineering training, engineer-teacher

Introduction

Modern global processes of scientific and technological development, digitalisation, socialisation, and ecologisation, which cover all national economies, form both new economic challenges and define new vectors of development. The emergence of such new demands in the labour market has caused the need to fundamentally update the content of vocational education based on employers' requirements and the content of the sectoral training programmes. All this can be done in the presence of relevant professional and pedagogical staff, the core of which consists of vocational training teachers, who have the basic level of professional and pedagogical training, formed as a result of implementing the principles of transprofessionalism in the educational process.

As many foreign professionologists Barr, Horsburgh, Pickard, Rasko and colleagues have noted, the necessity of transprofessionalism formation is caused by the logic of post-industrial society development: rapid change of technological modes, intensive development of information technologies require from a specialist a wider range of professional knowledge, ability to rapidly adjust to the changing conditions of professional environment and teamwork skills. New professions, which were unimaginable not long time before, are constantly appearing in the world and steadily entering our life. Robotization, uberization, the implementation of new technologies as well as the development of these and many other phenomena are forcing people to leave their usual places of work, but not the economy as a whole. The skilled labour is more in demand than ever before, contrary to popular belief. Companies and businesses need more and more people every day.

There is no doubt that the issue of the competence of a vocational teacher remains relevant and open. The activity of a vocational teacher is characterised by a professional orientation, combining two explicit and separate components: the sectoral technical and technological component and the pedagogical one. Each of them cannot be primary or secondary due to its unconditional functional obligation. In the content of vocational education and training, they should be considered only in a balanced way, including their common and specific components (Kislov, 2018).

The issues of competence formation and accordingly the transformation of the education system are considered at the present stage in almost all countries, so in this context we can say that this aspect can play the role of a consolidating trend of building a unified educational space. The level of economic development of countries, including the global economic space, which is directly related to the development of human capital, will also depend on how the issue of competence formation will be addressed and how it will be related to the modernization of production (Boiko et al., 2022). A functioning education system trains the professionals of the past. Young people are taught to go to jobs that no longer

exist, providing future professionals with intellectual tools that have long been ineffective. That is why the percentage of unemployed people in the world is so high (Zhmai, 2018). The question of which psychological mechanisms facilitate information analysis and decision-making in the context of multiple life trajectories, and which ensure the development of pre-adaptation abilities in the early stages of personal and professional development, deserves particular attention.

The semantic concepts of "profession", "professional activity", "specialty" and "professional employment" are widely used in occupational studies. Along with these established concepts, in recent years a new term "transfession", which means a type of labour activity carried out on the basis of synthesis and convergence of social and professional competences belonging to different specialised areas, has been approved (Ialalov, 2015). The theoretical basis of transfession is multidimensionality, involving a transdisciplinary synthesis of knowledge from different sciences: natural, technical, socio-humanitarian and philosophical, and transprofessionalism is the willingness and ability to perform actions from different fields of activity (Zeer & Symanyuk, 2017).

Barr identifies the following problems in this field: the lack of a clear definition of the concepts of "interprofessionalism", "multiprofessionalism", "transprofessionalism", effective assessment tools and evidence base. Accordingly, from the point of view of this researcher, the further development of the ideas of transprofessionalism should proceed in the following directions: clarification of the semantics of terms, improvement of evaluation methodology, creation of theoretical and evidential basis of the theory (Barr, 2013).

According to Horsburgh, interprofessional (as well as multiprofessional) training should be based on certain principles. These are, first of all, learning the characteristics of related professions, understanding and seeing the common professional goals and the contribution of each profession to the final result. It is also about developing teamwork skills, effective communication and understanding not only one's own professional role but also the role of other professions (Horsburgh et al., 2001). Ultimately, this type of training provides the opportunity to practise creating well-adapted, flexible working teams with a high level of communication skills.

While Horsburgh in his work considers interprofessional and multiprofessional education as two parallel trends in learning, Harden considers multiprofessionalism, interprofessionalism and transprofessionalism as stages of transprofessional education (Harden, 1998), which are effective if a number of conditions are met: appropriate type of education, level of education and category of student, clear presentation of training outcomes, consideration of multiprofessional education as a multi-stage process.

The problem of transprofessionalism is also raised from the perspective of bringing together academics and professionals and increasing the level of

interdependence between them. Rasko emphasises the need for a new academic specialisation that would bring together scientific and practical knowledge and enable various related professional groups to cooperate (Rasko et al., 2019).

Thus, an analysis of the literature shows that there are quite a few scientific works devoted to the problem of transprofessionalism, but most of them simply state the phenomenon, and there are relatively few specific studies.

Transprofessionalism is viewed mainly from the position of mastering different types and groups of professions, or emphasizing primarily the readiness of a specialist to work in a team. Transprofessionalism, on the one hand, is a form of professional activity organisation aimed at developing future skills, building partnership and cooperation relations between professions; on the other hand, it is a qualitative characteristic reflecting readiness and ability to master and perform activities in functionally similar professions. These academics emphasise that transprofessionalism is transcending the boundaries of one profession, enriching it with knowledge and technologies related to other professional activities, developing new key competencies enabling to find complex and unique solutions based on a transdisciplinary synthesis of knowledge and interprofessional communication (Zeer et al., 2021).

Transprofessionalism is also presented as an integral characteristic of activity that has emerged as an alternative to professionalism. The latter represents only a high level of performance of work narrowly belonging to a particular field. Transprofessionalism is distinguished by its personal content oriented towards purposefulness, overcoming, achievement, risk-taking, with a high orientation towards society without attachment to one narrowly defined sphere under the permanent influence of activity, career and motivational factors (Guzanov & Fedulova, 2019).

The phenomenon of transprofessionalism is adequate to the modern era with its revolution in the world of professions, its highest dynamics of innovation and change. However, for this phenomenon to spread effectively in society, certain conditions are necessary, above all, related to the vocational training of this kind of specialists capable of multiprofessional activities and who understand all prospects of transprofessional training in particular (Ivanchenko, 2020).

Professionals are now being replaced by transprofessionals, or "portfolio people" who are specialists capable of mastering new or related professions and who carry a unique "package" of knowledge and skills. Transprofessionals must be ready to work freely, through their own thinking and independent organisation of their activities, in different professional environments and organisational structures (Shevchenko, 2011). The basic transprofessional competencies include a narrow specialisation in a profession, the capacity for interprofessional communication, the capacity for transdisciplinary knowledge synthesis, a focus on combining basic research with practical problem solving, teamwork skills,

continuous self-development and self-improvement, real and virtual inclusion in what has been called community of practice (professional and transprofessional networks). Transprofessionalism means a new type of professionalism: a collectively distributed ability to reflexively link and co-organise representatives of different professions to solve complex issues (Bannikova, 2021).

There is a concept in which transfession is understood as a methodological level of professionalism that unites fields of professions different (even contrasting) in content, creating new professions. Achievement of this level is associated with processes of personal self-actualization, a person's search for "life environments" that provide such self-actualization (Kabrin & Galazhinsky, 2017).

Multidimensional competences, the so-called key metaprofessional attributes, form the basis of transprofessional training (Ialalov, 2015). These include: socio-professional and virtual mobility, communicativeness, practical intelligence, responsibility, collectivism, ability to work, corporativeness, innovativeness, etc. In post-industrial society the personality itself acts as a qualified characteristic.

Transprofessionalism, as a readiness and ability to master the accelerating changes of post-industrial society, can be considered as a professional and personal phenomenon. In order to introduce it into the scientific and practical field of occupational studies, it is necessary to define the main semantic components of transprofessionalism and the possibility of its alignment with the changing present and professional future. The solution to this problem has necessitated the design of logical and semantic models of transprofessionalism as a means of pre-adaptation of a subject of activity to professional future and educational technologies of forming necessary competences (hard-, soft- and digital-skills) (Zeer et al., 2021).

Different researchers suggest different structures and models of transprofessionalism depending on the methodological foundations and specifics of the professional environment. Thus, Zeer and Symanyuk, relying on the concept of technology convergence, interdisciplinary basis and methodological multidimensional approach, have developed a logical and semantic model of transprofessionalism, which consists of five components:

- 1. Transprofessional orientation, focused on mastering the activities of different professional fields and putting the acquired knowledge into practice. This component of transprofessional competence model includes "self-concept", socio-professional adaptability, multidimensional identity, transprofessional value orientations and professional activity motivation.
- 2. The regulatory component represents psychological resources of a personality related to organization and regulation of his/her activity. The content aspects of this component are self-organization, self-actualization, self-efficacy, autonomy, and regulation of mental states.

- 3. The information and communication component considers the ability of a person to navigate in the information professional environment and contains such characteristics of a specialist as socio-communicative and professional mobility, tolerance for uncertainty, reflexivity and perceptual adequacy (autocompetence).
- 4. Humanitarian and technological component provides knowledge synthesis from a variety of professional fields and promotes construction of individual trajectory of transprofessional development; it includes socio-cultural competence, transdisciplinary knowledge, cognitive abilities, social intelligence and reflexive-evaluation activity.
- 5. The interprofessional and educational component demonstrates the multidimensional nature of a specialist as a necessary quality of a transprofessional. This component is represented by interdisciplinary competence, metaprofessional qualities and key competences (hard-soft-digital-competence) (Zeer et al., 2021).

The successful performance of any professional activity is ensured by the combination (integration) of hard-, soft- and digital skills. Their ratio depends on the type of professional activity. The formation of soft-skills (competences) is a priority for the development of transprofessionalism (Bystrova et al., 2020). Irrespective of the professional qualification and apart from the domain knowledge, today's professionals need to possess a high Soft Skills quotient in order to succeed in this competitive era. Hard skills contribute to only 15% of one's success while remaining 85% is made by soft skill (John, 2009). It should be noted that while the development of hard skills in vocational training takes place in the course of studies and internships, the development of soft skills occurs spontaneously and depends more on personal qualities and individual work on each person's own development.

Thus, this logical and semantic model of transprofessionalism (Zeer et al., 2021) reflects the essential characteristics of the presented concept and allows not only assessing the formation of transprofessionalism, but also considering the factors determining the formation of students' transprofessional competences. It should be emphasized that transprofessionalism does not negate the importance of the initial, basic profession, but rather contributes to the transition beyond it, enriching it with knowledge, competencies and technologies related to other types of professional activity.

There is no doubt that the strategy of transprofessional training of vocational and pedagogical students requires the implementation of competence-based approach, which provides not a simple transfer of knowledge, skills and abilities, but focuses on the formation of creative initiative, independence, competitiveness through systematic, integrative, interdisciplinary professional training, providing solid fundamental knowledge, professional skills, practical experience,

free mastery of the profession and orientation in the world of work (Konyakhina, 2020). Transprofessionalism of future vocational school teachers' training is already incorporated in its content a priori, it is initially reflected in the requirements for vocational education teachers, which are expressed in special multifunctional competencies, mastering which allows them to solve various problems in professional and social life. These regulations have an integrative structure, i.e. include a set of abilities of future graduates within the framework of pedagogical knowledge transfer to provide effective training of future working personnel for production sphere. At the same time, harmonious personality is provided by mastering such universal competences as interpersonal, legal, systemic, communicative, informational; and involvement in the sphere of professional relations is ensured by professional and profile-specialized competences, which take into account the nature of production activity (Guzanov & Fedulova, 2019).

Methodology

The study was conducted at Kyiv National University of Technologies and Design. The empirical sample comprised the 3-4 year students of the Fashion Industry Faculty and the Faculty of Management and Business Design, in particular those studying in the field of 015.36 Vocational Education (17 persons), 051 Economics and 075 Marketing (48 persons). The total sample of the study was 65 people.

The survey was conducted in order to determine the psychological features which ensure the development of pre-adaptation ability at the early stages of personal and professional formation, particularly, the features of students' self-actualization, the study of their self-efficacy, i. e. the confidence of a person in his potential ability to organize and carry out his own activities necessary to achieve a certain goal and motivation to succeed and avoid failure.

The methods used in the survey were selected in accordance with the principles of competence approach (Konyakhina, 2020) and the logical and semantic model of transprofessionalism of subjects of professional activity (Zeer et al., 2021). The psychological resource of the subject of professional activity, which is characterized by the level of formed skills of planning, designing, predicting and evaluating the results of activity is aimed at activating the regulatory component of this model. Essentially, regulation is a mechanism of mobilization of socio-professional potential of a subject of activity. The conscious self-regulation of the specialist's voluntary activity is of great importance in the implementation of this component. Regulatory predictors of voluntary activity include self-actualization, self-efficacy, self-organization and regulation of mental states.

The hypothesis that there can be differences in the expression level of psychological features that ensure the development of the ability to pre-adaptation in

the early stages of personal and professional development, as components of transprofessionalism, in the studied subjects with different professional orientation was proposed.

To diagnose self-actualization peculiarities, the Jones-Krendall scale developed in 1986 by Jones and Krendall on the basis of Maslow's self-actualization questionnaire was used. Respondents answered each statement using a 4-point scale: 1 point – disagree; 2 points – partially agree; 3 points – partially agree; 4 – points – agree. The higher the total value, the more self-actualised the respondent considers himself/herself to be.

To diagnose self-efficacy, we used the Schwarzer and Jerusalem questionnaire. The self-efficacy scale consists of 10 statements, which the respondent is asked to relate to his/her activity effectiveness. The respondent's ticking of the box 'completely wrong' gives 1 point; 'rather wrong' gives 2 points; 'rather correct' gives 3 points; and 'completely correct' gives 4 points. The final result is obtained by scoring all 10 statements.

Rean's questionnaire for studying success motivation was also used. The questionnaire is designed to differentially assess two interrelated but oppositely directed motivational tendencies: desire for success and fear of failure. Separate combinations of these motivational tendencies in an individual based on their strength create a certain personality type and determine different behaviour. Respondents are asked to answer 20 questions in the questionnaire, choosing the answer 'yes' or 'no'. The respondent will receive 1 point for each key match.

These are close-ended questionnaires in terms of the nature of the answers. The advantage of closed questions in these questionnaires is the ease of data processing and the clear formalisation of the evaluation. The answers received in the course of the survey were elaborated in such a way as to maximally understand readiness for self-education activity, self-development due to which a student reaches transprofessionalism level more effectively, its formation of psychological readiness for innovative activity and personal competitiveness. Subjects participated in the study voluntarily and with sufficient information. Interviewees were informed about why the study was being conducted, how their data would be used and whether there were any associated risks, and whether anonymity was ensured.

Results

Analysing the results of the study, it was found that the "orientation of motivation" of the respondents was distributed in the following order (see Fig. 1).

The results show that success motivation predominates among the respondents. Full motivation for success is noted by 17 respondents (35.4%) from the economists' group, and 11 people (22.8%) partially agree. In the teachers'

group, three respondents (17.6%) note motivation for success, while five people (29.4%) partially agree. At the same time, 8.4% of respondents (4 people) in the group of economists have a tendency to be motivated to fail, and also 8.4% of respondents (4 people) experience fear of failure. Failure motivation was not detected in the group of teachers, and failure motivation tendency was detected in 2 people (11.8%).



Figure 1. Parameters of "motivation orientation" between "motivation to success" and "motivation to fear of failure"

The Mann-Whitney non-parametric U-criterion was used to confirm the hypothesis that respondents with pedagogical orientation have differences with respondents with economic orientation in terms of the degree of success motivation expression during the comparison of two independent samples. In order to study success motivation indicators, a comparative analysis of its expression among specialists in different groups of professions (teachers and economists) was conducted, the results of which revealed that the empirical value of Uemp (4) is in the zone of uncertainty, which does not confirm our assumption (see Fig. 2).

Only 2 respondents (4.2%) from the economists group and 1 person (5.9%) from the teachers group showed a high level of self-efficacy. Significantly more students have an above average level of self-efficacy (41.1% of the group of teachers, 47.9% of the group of economists). There are also high indicators of the average level of self-efficacy (47.1% of the group of teachers, 35.4% of the group of economists). It should be noted that in our sample there are significantly fewer students with a low level of self-efficacy.



Figure 2. Shows the results of our study regarding students' self-efficacy indicators

Only 10.4% of the respondents (5 students) in the group of economists had a below average level and also 2.1% of the respondents (1 person) had a low level of self-efficacy. In the group of teachers, low level of self-efficacy was not identified, and 1 person (5.9%) has a level below average.).

In order to compare self-efficacy indicators, a comparative analysis of its expression among professionals in different groups of professions (teachers and economists) was conducted. According to the results of Mann-Whitney nonparametric U-criterion, it was found that the empirical value of Uemp (7) is in the zone of insignificance, which does not confirm our assumption about the prevalence of higher self-efficacy indicators in the respondents with pedagogical direction of activity.

Analyzing the results of the study, it was found that the parameters of self-actualisation indicators in the respondents were distributed in the following order (see Fig. 3).

A high level of self-actualization is noted by 2 respondents (4.2%) from the group of economists, while 38 people (79.2%) have a level above average. In the group of teachers, a high level of self-actualization is not revealed, 14 people (82.4%) have a level above average. At the same time, 16.6% of respondents (8 students) in the group of economists revealed an average level of self-actualization and also 17.6% of respondents of teachers (3 students). Low and below average levels of self-actualization were not found in both groups.



Figure 3. Parameters of self-actualisation indicators

In order to study self-actualization indicators, we also conducted a comparative analysis of its expression among professionals in different groups of professions (teachers and economists). The Mann-Whitney nonparametric U-criterion revealed that the empirical value of Uemp (10) is in the zone of insignificance, which does not confirm our assumption about the prevalence of higher self-actualization indicators in the respondents with pedagogical direction of activity.

Discussion

A great importance in the development of a personality belongs to the personality itself, its activity, which manifests itself in the desire to go beyond normative requirements and prescriptions, in the phenomena of suprasituational and supra-role initiative. Active position, continuing education, self-organisation, self-education, self-efficacy and self-actualisation are the factors determining the formation of a transprofessional (Shevchenko, 2011). Student age is characterised by the achievement of the highest results, based on all the previous processes of biological, psychological and social development. The qualities that were lacking in high school like purposefulness, determination, perseverance, independence, initiative and self-control – are noticeably strengthened. (Zhdanyuk, 2017).

Success motivation is the mobilisation of all a person's resources, concentration and discipline. A person with success motivation thinks positively, and his or her direction in life is primarily towards success, towards discovering his or her personality in the projects conceived, rather than avoiding failure (Hedzyk et al., 2022).

Already the classic Yerkes-Dodson law establishes the dependence of performance on the strength of motivation. It follows: the higher the strength of motivation, the higher the performance (Yaremchuk, 2017). "Motivation orientation" is a momentary programme that operates in all spheres of human activity, ensuring the formation of the psychological readiness of the individual to innovative activity. The competitiveness of individuals in a rapidly changing environment depends on it (Hedzyk et al., 2022). Therefore, one aspect of the study is the study of success motivation in students. Many respondents (22.8% in the group of economists and 29.4% in the group of teachers) have a moderately high level of success motivation. Young professionals prefer a moderate level of risk taking, they are success-oriented, goal-oriented, and strive to perform at a high level. Complete motivation for success is noted by 35.4% of respondents from the economists group and 17.6% of respondents from the teachers group. All of them belong to the group of highly effective managers with a high level of risk appetite. They are motivated to succeed, to achieve their goals and prefer to work hard to get a result. The activity of students of different groups of future professions (teachers and economists), is based on the hope for success and the need to achieve success. Such people are confident in themselves, in their abilities, responsible, proactive and active. They are characterised by persistence in achieving a goal.

Part of the respondents (10 people in two groups) experience a fear of failure or a tendency to be motivated to failure. Generally, this motivation is based on the idea of avoidance and the idea of negative expectations. When starting a business, a person already fears possible failure in advance, thinking of ways to avoid this hypothetical failure rather than ways to achieve success. People motivated to fail are usually characterised by increased anxiety and low self-confidence. They try to avoid responsible tasks, and may fall into a state of near panic when faced with highly demanding tasks. At least in these cases, their situational anxiety becomes extremely high. All this, however, may be combined with a very responsible attitude to the business.

One of the central properties of personality is self-efficacy as a person's confidence in his/her ability to control the events of his/her own life and to achieve the desired goals. A person's beliefs about their personal effectiveness influence the way they choose to act, the effort they put in, and how long they withstand obstacles and setbacks. Self-efficacy is a productive process of integrating cognitive, social and behavioural components to implement an optimal strategy in different situations. There are three different levels at which perceived self-efficacy plays an important role in academic development. Students' beliefs about their ability to regulate their own learning and master academic activities determine their aspirations, level of motivation and academic achievement (Bandura, 1993). People with high self-efficacy expect success, so their activities always

produce positive results. People with low self-efficacy constantly doubt themselves and expect to fail, so they are often haunted by failure. It's a vicious cycle, thinking about failure, you get failure, and the result is a drop in self-esteem. Such people pay too much attention to their shortcomings and are constantly engaged in self-criticism about their incompetence.

Our study has shown that only 3 students showed a high level of self-efficacy. But significantly more students have above average and average levels of self-efficacy. However, given that the vast majority of students do not yet have direct experience of professional activity, above average self-efficacy can be considered as a manifestation of belief in their own strength, the ability to control a new situation, which indicates the readiness of students to develop professional self-efficacy.

Convergence in the field of psychological development initiates the development of flexible means of adaptation and pre-adaptation to the changes in social-humanitarian, natural-science and technical disciplines (Baksansky, 2014). By determining interdisciplinary and supraprofessional interactions, convergence acts as a factor of designing and approving a fundamentally new phenomenon in professiology – transprofessionalism. Self-actualization, based on the realization of one's personal and professional potential, is the factor of its achievement.

Researchers of the self-actualization phenomenon in humanistic psychology distinguish various components and characteristics of a self-actualized, psychologically healthy, mature personality striving for self-actualization, especially without distinguishing these concepts meaningfully: expanded sense of self, positive self-image, holistic approach to life, activity orientation, realization of creative abilities, respect for self and others, low inner conflict, sense of subjective freedom, personal integrity and existentiality (Kolodyazhna, 2018).

As a rule, constructive self-actualisation gives satisfaction to the subject from the process of activity and self-development, allows successfully setting new goals and mastering new milestones. A high level of constructiveness indicates rapid and high quality mastery of specific actions, techniques, ways of self-expression and mastery of new specializations. In our study, 83.4% of respondents in the group of economists and 82.4% in the group of teachers had an above-average level of self-actualization. At the same time, 16.6% of respondents in the group of economists and 17.6% of respondents in the group of teachers revealed an average level of self-actualization. The levels of low and below average indicators of self-actualization were not found in both groups of respondents. Students of different training profiles mainly achieve high or medium levels of self-actualisation. They are able to live in the present and rely on themselves rather than on the expectations or assessments of others. The students share the values of a self-actualising personality and have a high need for learning and self-knowledge.

This result confirms the theoretical findings of scholars in the field of transprofessionalism. Namely, that transprofessional competences are basic for any type of profession and also ensure productivity of various activities regardless of the field of professional interests (Tretiakova, 2019).

Consequently, transprofessional competences should not differ among representatives of different occupational groups. Thus, the hypothesis that there are no statistically significant differences in the level of expression of psychological features which ensure the development of the ability to pre-adaptation at the early stages of personal and professional development as components of transprofessionalism in the respondents with different professional orientation has not been confirmed.

Conclusions

The focus on transprofessionalism entails the need to find new forms and technologies of vocational education, taking into account the individual characteristics of students, actualizing their desire for conscious, proactive goal-setting and self-actualization in a varied educational and professional space. Creation of practice-oriented educational and production environment, which promotes the application of transprofessional competences and practical mastering of the obtained knowledge, becomes possible due to the use of practical forms of learning in the educational process, aimed at activating students' activities and obtaining particular results in the formation of their practical experience. Students' participation in real projects commissioned by external organisations, grants, professional competitions enhance their interest in self-education activities and significantly increase the level of professional competences being formed. Industrial practice, conducted in professional organizations, allows to expand theoretical knowledge, promotes reflexive thinking. At the same time, a significant motivation incentive is the understanding of the impossibility to apply the knowledge obtained during theoretical training in practical professional activity without reflection. Students' participation in conferences and round tables also increases the level of professional competences. A prerequisite is the student's participation with a report and the involvement of representatives of employers to discuss professional issues on the report.

We believe that in order to increase the level of students' preparation for successful competitive professional activity in the global labour market, it is advisable to create a system of psychological support for professionalization of future specialists in universities in order to identify the main problems related to the initial stage of professional career and to facilitate their positive solution.

The obtained results should be considered as preliminary, requiring a longer research.

REFERENCES

Baksansky, O. E. (2014). The Convergence of Knowledge, Technology and Society: strategic goals of NBICS convergence. *Pedagogy and Education*, *1*, 46–62.

Bandura, A. (1993). Perceived Self-Efficacy in Cognitive Development and Functioning. *Educational Psychologist*, *28*(2), 117–148. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15326985ep2802_3

Bannikova, T. I. (2021). Self-educational activity as the most important pedagogical condition for the development of trans-professional competencies undergraduates-designers. *Kazan Pedagogical Journal*, *145*(2). https://doi.org/10.51379/kpj.2021.145.2.011

Barr, H. (2012). Toward a theoretical framework for interprofessional education. *Journal of Interprofessional Care*, 27(1), 4–9. https://doi.org/10.3109/13561820.2012.698328

Boiko, S., Zhytomyrska, T., Tsilmak, O., Dekarchuk, M., Kolodyazhna, A., & Bilova, N. (2022). The Essence Of The System Of Multilevel Continuing Education As A Single Educational Space. *International Journal of Computer Science and Network Security*, 22(6), 647–651. https://doi.org/10.22937/IJCSNS.2022.22.6.80

Bystrova, N. V., Kaznacheeva, S. N., & Grigoryan, K. M. (2020). Development of soft skills in the conditions of competitiveness formation of pedagogical students. *Problems of Modern Pedagogical Education*, 66(3), 37–40.

Guzanov, B. N., & Fedulova, M. A. (2019). Peculiarities of transprofessional engineering training in vocational and pedagogical higher education institution. *Vocational education and labour market*, 1, 66–70.

Harden, R. M. (1998). AMEE guide No. 12: Multiprofessional education: Part 1 – effective multiprofessional education: a three-dimensional perspective. *Medical Teacher*, *20*(5), 402–408. https://doi.org/10.1080/01421599880472

Hedzyk, A., Kozeruk, Y., Kaliy, V., Kolodyazhna, A., Li, L., & Kharchenko, I. (2022). Actualization Of Learning Motives As A Way Of Forming Applicants For Higher Education In Pedagogical Specialties. *International Journal of Computer Science and Network Security*, 22(5), 635–639. https://doi.org/10.22937/IJCSNS.2022.22.5.88

Horsburgh, M., Lamdin, R., & Williamson, E. (2001). Multiprofessional learning: the attitudes of medical, nursing and pharmacy students to shared learning. *Medical Education*, *35*(9), 876–883. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2923.2001.00959.x

Ialalov, F. G. (2015). Professional multidimensionality: multidimensional competences. *Philology and Culture*, *2*(40), 326–330.

Ivanchenko, O. S. (2020). Transprofessionalism in the system of professional training and adaptation of young scientists in the mobile world. *Bulletin of the South-Russian state technical University (NPI) Series Socio-economic Sciences, 13*(6), 54–61. https://doi.org/10.17213/2075-2067-2020-6-54-61

John, J. (2009). Study on the nature of impact of soft skills training programme on the soft skills development of management students. *Pacific Business Review*, 19–27. https://ssrn. com/abstract=1591331

Kabrin, V. I., & Galazhinsky, E. V. (Ed.). (2017). New psychological contexts of personality formation in a changing world. Publishing House of Tomsk State University.

Kislov, A. G. (2018). From advance to trans-professional education. *The Education and science journal*, 20(1), 54–74. https://doi.org/10.17853/1994-5639-2018-1-54-74

Kolodyazhna, A. (2018). Self- actualization of an individual as a component of the general process of his self-organization. *VIRTUS, 28*, 83–84

Konyakhina, I. V. (2022). The competence approach in higher vocational education (theoretical aspect). *Globus: Psychology and Pedagogy, 2*(37), 18–34.

Racko, G., Oborn, E., & Barrett, M. (2017). Developing collaborative professionalism: an investigation of status differentiation in academic organizations in knowledge transfer partnerships. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*, *30*(3), 457–478. https://doi.org/10.1080/09585192.2017.1281830

Shevchenko, L. S. (2011). Higher education in the era of transprofessionals. Bulletin of the National Law Academy of Ukraine named after Yaroslav the Wise, 6, 7–14.

Tretiakova, V. S. (2019). *Transprofessionalism: problems and solutions*. Transprofessionalism as a predictor of socio-professional mobility of young people, 287–290.

Yaremchuk, O. (2017). Motivation sphere of a lyceum student as the dominant core of a personality. *Fundamental and Applied Researches in Practice of Leading Scientific Schools*, 19(1), 106–112.

Zeer, E. F., & Symaniuk, E. E. (2017). Methodological guidelines for the transprofessionalism development among vocational educators. *The Education and science journal, 19*(8), 9–28. https://doi.org/10.17853/1994-5639-2017-8-9-28

Zeer, E. F., Symanyuk, E. E., & Lebedeva, E. V. (2021). Transprofessionalism as a Predictor for the Preadaptation of an Agent to the Professional Future. *Sibirskiy Psikhologicheskiy Zhurnal*, *79*, 89–107. https://doi.org/10.17223/17267080/79/6

Zhdanyuk, L. O. (2017). Socio-psychological features of student age. *Bulletin of postgraduate education. Series: Social and behavioral sciences*, (4–5), 28–40. http://nbuv.gov.ua/UJRN/ vispdoso_2017_4-5_6

Zhmai, O. V. (2018). Formation of the emotional intelligence as the necessary component of soft skills development process. *Market Economy: Modern Management Theory and Practice*, *17*, 2(39), 119–132. https://doi.org/10.18524/2413-9998.2018.2(39).144919

https://doi.org/10.22364/atee.2022.09

Teachers with Different Educational Background and Their Self-Efficacy

Martin Fico

Masaryk University, Faculty of Education, Department of Education

ABSTRACT

The presented text responds to the repeated opening of the topic of qualification prerequisites for the teaching profession. The aim of the work is to measure and compare teachers' self-efficacy among teachers with different educational backgrounds. The main research question is how preparation for the teaching profession is mirrored in teacher self-efficacy. The research sample in this study consists of Czech teachers (n = 377) with different educational backgrounds (teachers' educational programs from faculties of education, faculties of sciences, faculties of arts) also included those who have not pedagogical qualification (they have degree from university but not in teachers program). Quantitative measurement of teacher self-efficacy took place through the adapted Norwegian teacher self-efficacy scale (NTSES) for the Czech Republic, whose internal structure was verified by confirmatory factor analysis (CFA) and reliability measure by McDonald's Omega and Cronbach's Alpha. Statistical procedures used for data analysis were t-tests and ANOVA tests. The results in the text represent partial results from an ongoing research and suggest that teacher self-efficacy may be related to teachers' educational background and that Czech version of NTSES is fit to be used for another measure of teacher self-efficacy in the Czech educational environment. Bigger and more representative sample is needed for the further research for more evidence of possible effect of educational background to teachers' self-efficacy.

Keywords: adapted research tool, confirmatory factor analysis, NTSES, self-efficacy, teaching programmes, teaching qualification

Introduction

The Teaching Profession Now

Do we need teachers of quality, or qualified ones? This is the question Spilková & Wildová (2014) begin their post with. The question very much reflects the discussion over the past thirty years (not only) in the Czech Republic. There are some reasons for why there is a lack of fully qualified teachers of goodquality in Czech schools: low prestige of the occupation felt by teachers themselves (Czech school inspection, 2020), high average age of teachers (Ministry of Education Youth and Sports, 2019), a high drop-out of young teachers (Ministry of Education Youth and Sports, 2019), and insufficient interest in the study of education (Korbel & Prokop, n.d.). All those possible reasons why there is a lack of high-quality and fully qualified teachers in Czech schools.

This particular problem is of different intensity in regions, in some of which it seems more critical than in others. It is also confirmed by heads of schools who took part in the TALIS research (2018). In the most critical region, up to 99% head teachers confirmed that the lack of qualified teachers is an obstacle for quality teaching (28% said to a great extent, 56% rather yes, 15% to some extent). In the least critical regions, up to 60% headteachers claim it is no obstacle at all.

The persisting absence of the teacher standard and unitary concept in the preparation of teachers does not simplify the situation. In the recent years, discussions on how to solve this situation in education have been opening again. Some suggestions focus on how to increase motivation for this profession (growth of salary, which has already been realised), however, some open the previous suggestions to lower demands of qualifications of teachers. Demands of qualification, quality preparation, and professionalism of teachers is connected to the problems mentioned above. Results from a research from Poland may be a warning. There are even such opinions in the public that everyone can teach for the reason that everyone has children, therefore they are able to do such a job (Smak & Walczak, 2017).

What does it mean to be a qualified teacher, though? According to the Act No. 563/2004 Collection of Law, a qualified teacher is a graduate of an MA teaching program, or a different MA study programme and additional pedagogical education. The qualification demands then count on teachers having gone also through education in psychology and pedagogy, which is considered to be an essential premise for the quality of teaching (Wiliam, 2018; Salman & Adeniyi, 2012; Machingambi et al., 2018).

Options of How to Become a Teacher

In the entire section I will present acquiring qualifications for teachers at lower secondary schools (6th to 9th grade).

Preparations of Teachers at Universities

According to the Act No. 563/2004 Collection of Law, a finished BA programme in education is not sufficient for a graduate for the teaching profession. It is not until finishing an MA programme that a graduate is allowed (qualified) to teach.

One option which is preferred (by the Act No. 563/2004 Collection of Law) to acquire the qualification for teaching is to study a programme of education at university. These programmes are mostly offered at faculties of education, but not exclusively (usually also at Science, Sport, or Philosophical ones). Faculties of Education usually offer BA programmes in which students choose a programme or two focusing on education. During their studies, they go through courses of their chosen programme, didactics of their study programme, pedagogy, psychology, and often also some practice at schools (e.g. as an assistant of a teacher). Different faculties have different courses, amounts of lessons, or compulsory practice, and due to the absence of obligatory standards, the differences can be tremendous. The absence of standard can also be observed at other faculties which offer BA programmes focusing on education. Pedagogy and psychology, sometimes also didactics, are not studied in depth as focus is on knowledge of their study programme.

MA study at faculties of education usually offers lower secondary education programmes, or lower secondary and secondary education programmes. The study also consists of courses of the chosen programme, pedagogy, psychology, didactics, and practice at schools. Basically, the same option is offered at other faculties which have accredited programmes for teachers, but they usually focus on education for secondary schools. As with BA study programmes, MA programmes are also different one from another at different faculties or universities, which results in possible situations of two teachers of the same programme from different universities not having the same knowledge. Finishing an MA programme of education makes a graduate qualified for the teaching profession. The system allowing this has been criticised by many experts (Spilková & Dvořáková 2004) for a long time. The problem lies in the fact that, acquiring the qualification to teach is available to any graduate whose BA study programme did not even focus on education and whose MA programme contained only minimal amount of pedagogy and psychology courses, which is at complete odds with the aims to professionalize this profession.

Alternative Joining of Profession

According to the Act No. 111/1998 Collection of Law, universities in the Czech Republic can also accredit courses in life-long education. These courses can also lead to acquiring qualification to teach (Act No. 563/2004 Collection of Law). The courses are for MA graduates of all programmes who want to (or have to) supplement their teacher qualification. The courses usually take two to three semesters and take place mostly at the weekends so that even full-time working students can join them. After finishing, a student should have knowledge of basics of pedagogy, psychology, didactics, and should have had some practice.

M. FICO. Teachers with Different Educational Background and Their Self-Efficacy

A person teaching without having gone through one of the above described options does not meet the requirements of qualification. How is it possible then that there are such teachers? Act No. 563/2004 Collection of Law gives head teachers (or schools) an option of employing teachers without qualification for an inevitable time and amount of lessons taught – as long as it is proven that the position cannot be taken by a fully qualified teacher. In 2019, there were 7% unqualified teachers at lower secondary schools; the range was between 2.5% and 20% in regions (Ministry of education youth and sports, 2019).

Summary

Current problems in the teaching profession are undoubtedly connected with preparation for the job. The absent standards and huge differences in preparation of teachers may have as a consequence a different readiness for teaching. In spite of that, options to lower qualifications demands are still being discussed, and in the political discourse, an alternative joining the profession is getting in the spotlight – life-long education courses. This is a quicker, and cheaper for the country, option of joining the profession. Stakeholders want to hear no arguments claiming that two semesters of a course, which is not even in a day form, cannot substitute a proper study programme. Pedagogical and psychological preparation is pushed to the background, which is at odds with research data (Machingambi et al., 2018; Kan, 2015) showing that full qualification including education in pedagogy and psychology is immensely important for a job of a teacher.

Teacher Self-efficacy

In the TALIS 2018 research, many headteachers mentioned that a lack of unqualified teachers is a complication. In the same research, teacher self-efficacy was also examined. Compared to other European teachers, the Czech ones were significantly below average. One of the lowest results among the countries were in all three areas of examination: motivation and active involving pupils, class management, teaching methods. The biggest gap was in motivation and active involving pupils. This area demands that teachers have certain pedagogical or pedagogical and psychological competencies, which differ in preparations of teachers, and in the case of unqualified teachers, these competencies are absent. It is not known whether unqualified teachers also participated in the 2018 TALIS research, however, due to them being at lower secondary schools, the chance is they were some of the participants. This might have been one of the factors of lower self-efficacy in comparison to participants in other countries.

Naturally, teacher self-efficacy does not reveal real efficiency of teacher, but only how they subjectively perceive their efficiency, meaning their capability to manage individual situations (Gavora et al., 2020; Bandura, 1997; Ninkovic & M. FICO. Teachers with Different Educational Background and Their Self-Efficacy

Knezevic-Floric, 2018). As a lot of research suggests, teacher self-efficacy is also connected to real efficiency in the teaching profession, quality of teaching, and their pupils' or students' results (Tschannen-Moran et al., 1998). It is this connection between the teacher self-efficacy and their real efficiency that initiates a lot of research in both the Czech Republic and abroad (some of which will be discussed later in this paper). Their results may represent useful outcomes, which can change education of teachers and the profession itself.

However, teacher self-efficacy is not constant. It can develop based on personal experience through practice or changes in educational, cultural, or social context (Smetáčková et al., 2017). Gavora (2008) argues, teacher self-efficacy starts to form already when joining the profession, and over time, it becomes individual and more stable self-efficacy. Since the first practice of Czech (future) teachers is during their studies, it is possible to talk about some development of their own teacher self-efficacy already at that time. These claims are in agreement with the Bandura theory (1997) describing that creating self-efficacy is based on these four sources: experience with fulfilling a task, social modelling, convincing and encouraging by other people, and the ability to regulate signs of stress. Based on data from previous research, these four sources also create teacher self-efficacy (Tschannen-Moran et al., 1998).

Quantitative Research and Research Tools to Measure Teacher Self-efficacy

Interest in examining teacher self-efficacy meant also creating many research tools, which would match, to the greatest possible extent, both the Bandura theory and real teacher's activity. The first tool I must mention is Teacher's efficacy scale - shortened as TES (Gibson & Dembo, 1984), which has been used by many researchers around the world for many years (Deemer & Minke, 2010; Brouwers & Tomic, 2003), and which has also been adapted in the Czech Republic. In the Czech Republic, it was adapted by Greger (2011), in Slovakia by Gavora (2011). The original TES consisted of thirty items and two dimensions – Personal teaching efficacy and General teaching efficacy. The latter one became an object of criticism for its inconsistency in theory (Gavora et al., 2020). There was also a discussion about different results of factor analysis done by authors trying to adapt and use the TES in a different cultural context (Deemer & Minke, 2010; Denzine et al. 2005). Since psychometric characteristics did not reach too high merits either, a shortened 16-item version was created later, and slightly better results were achieved. The 16-item TES was adapted by Gavora (2008) in Slovakia, who, however, also stated that psychometric characteristics were insufficient (34% data explanations and reliability α 0.76 and 0.45).

At the moment, there are two research tools to measure teacher self-efficacy which are worth mentioning, according to Smetáčková et al. (2017). Specifically, The Ohio State Teacher Efficacy Scale – shortened as OSTES (Tschannen-Moran
& Hoy, 2001) and the Norwegian Teacher Self-Efficacy Scale – shortened as NTSES (Skaalvik & Skaalvik, 2007). The OSTES (Tschannen-Moran & Hoy, 2001) created a 24-item scale consisting of three dimensions – Efficacy for student management, Efficacy for instructional strategies, and Efficacy for classroom management. Inconsistency in dimensionality, however, also appeared in this tool. When students of education were added in the sample, factor analysis only revealed one factor which was explored in the version adapted by Gavora as well (2011). While in unidimensional dealing of Tschannen-Moran & Hoy (2001) there was the high – 75% – data variety explained, Gavora (2011) only reached 44.6%. Fluctuating factor scale of the TES and OSTES tools, regularly adapted in more countries, brought questions about validity of the tools. As a result, many researchers decided to create their own scale, which they could tailor to their needs (Gavora & Wiegerová, 2017).

A new tool to measure teacher self-efficacy was also constructed by Skaalvik & Skaalvik (2007), who had the ambition to construct a multidimensional tool, which would fit more a complexity of the teaching profession and at the same time Bandura requirements (Skaalvik & Skaalvik, 2007). Their tool – NTSES – consists of 24 items and six factors. The tool contained the dimensions (factors) as follows: Instruction, Adapt instruction to individual needs, Motivate students, Maintain discipline, Cooperate with colleagues and parents, Cope with change. Factor analyses (exploratory and confirmatory) confirmed good psychometric characters of the scale – for an intended 6-dimensional structure. The scale was firstly verified on a sample of 244 teachers and later on an extended sample of 2249 teachers (Skaalvik & Skaalvik, 2010) and in both research samples, rather high explained variance (60% +) and reliability in all dimensions (0.74-0.91).

A promising constructed validity of this tool lead also to cultural and language adaptations (Avanzi et al., 2013; Khezerlou, 2013; Djigic et al., 2014), which confirmed 6-dimensional structure and good psychometric characters. Good psychometric characters were also confirmed in a Polish research (Baka, 2017), where the suitable solution turned out as 3-dimensional. In the mentioned research though it was only a language adaptation, not a cultural one, as its part would also be a change in the content and deeper discussion with the target group. This may be exactly one of the reasons why the factor structure differed from the above mentioned research. A similar problem was encountered in Sweden, too (Brickman & Olsson, 2021), but the researchers reflect absence of deeper cultural adaptation in the discussion.

Summary of the Introduction

Since the 1990s, the situation in the teaching profession has been discussed in the Czechia. Low interest in the profession, absence of standards, different approaches in preparations of students of education, but also rather a big number of unqualified teachers at schools – national and foreign research point at these problems. Absent concept and oftentimes also pedagogical preparation of future teachers can relate to low self-efficacy of Czech teachers, which was proven in the TALIS research in 2013 and 2018 (Czech school inspection, 2020).

Also for this reason, it is necessary to examine the teacher self-efficacy deeper and try to reveal areas in which teachers think they are behind, and search for reasons behind it. In our region, teacher self-efficacy has been analysed several times, using even new, own scales, or adapted verified foreign ones. From the foreign ones being presently used, the NSTES tool seems to be suitable since it achieves good psychometric characters even in different cultural backgrounds (Liddy, 2018) and catches quite a wide range of activities of the teaching profession, and is constructed according to the Bandura theory and recommendations. These were my reasons for adaptation and usage of the NTSES, which I describe later in this text.

Methodology

Aims of the Research and Hypotheses

Data presented in this paper represent partial results from an ongoing research with data yet being collected. The aim of this research is to double check the functionality of the NTSES tool in the Czech context and contribute with new empirical data to this still topical discussion in the Czechia – whether pedagogical education and on which level is essential for teachers.

The main research question: How is preparation for the teaching profession mirrored in teacher self-efficacy?

- Hypothesis 1: Experienced teachers have higher self-efficacy than less experienced teachers.
- Hypothesis 2: Teachers with pedagogical education have higher self-efficacy than those without pedagogical education.
- Hypothesis 3: Teachers who graduated at Faculty of Education have higher self-efficacy than those who studied their programmes at a different faculty.

Research Tool – Czech Version of NTSES

I have chosen the NTSES tool for my research (Skaalvik & Skaalvik, 2007), which has been adapted before, or researchers from other countries tried to (Avanzi et al., 2013; Khezerlou, 2013; Djigic et al., 2014; Brickman & Olsson, 2021; Baka, 2017). As for results of its adaptations, I have already written about them in the first part of this paper.

Several independent translators worked on translation of the original NTSES from the English version to Czech, which is according to tradition and recommendations (Orcan, 2018; Gudmundsson, 2009). Four translators with C1 to C2

level English worked on the translation. They were: a psychologist, a teacher, a student of English, and a Ph.D. candidate in educational sciences. The translations were fine-tuned in cooperation with one of the translators and two experts from university. Subsequently, I consulted the items with practicing teachers; we identified problematic questions, which they did not quite understand, and in cooperation with a university expert, those questions were either changed or divided into two so as to be clearer. In case of reverse translation, the translation would not make sense due to the change of formulations of some questions. I do not find absence of reverse translation to be problematic, since several authors warn that reverse translation is insufficient (Epstein et al., 2013; Schendel & Tolmie, 2016; Gudmundsson, 2009) because in the cultural adaptation, it is oftentimes necessary to change the formulation or content (Kara et al., 2006 Delgado-Lobete et al., 2021). What is more, evidence suggest that it is appraisal by experts, which was followed in this case, that is more significant than reverse translation (Epstein et al., 2013).

What followed was verifying individual items and verifying also psychometric characteristics of the tool. Pilot testing was conducted on teachers in the Czech Republic (n = 260), with data after cleaning (of those who are students, not yet teaching at schools) being used in this research too (n = 243). After collecting pilot data, a Principal component analysis (PCA) was made. The analysis explored six factors corresponding to the previous NTSES. Some duplicate questions were taken out of the tool (those with better characteristics were kept), and then I came to confirmatory factor analysis (CFA). The analysis confirmed exploratory (and expected) structure of the tool and its suitable psychometric characteristics. In the case of an adaptation, using EFA/PCA and CFA is also suitable and common (Orcan, 2018). To verify reliability, McDonald's omega calculations were used, which is a recommended calculation for a multidimensional tool (Dunn et al., 2013). The tool proved to be reliable and valid both constructively and factually, so I could continue using it for collecting data.

The final look of the research tool consists of 27 items divided into six dimensions: instruction, adapt instruction to individual needs, motivate students, maintain discipline, cooperate with colleagues and parents, cope with change. These six dimensions explained 68.2% of variance and reliability of every dimension was $\omega \ge 0.800$ (whole scale $\omega = 0.934$). Results of CFA from pilot testing is presented in Table 4. Respondents marked on a five-point Likert scale how confident they are about their abilities.

Research Sample and Data Collection

There were two rounds of data collection. In the first one, it was primarily to verify the psychometric characteristics of the tool, possible changes, or in case of its insufficient characteristics, change of the tool. The sample consisted

of teachers in the Czech Republic (n = 243), who were asked to participate in a Facebook group associating Czech teachers. A condition for filling in the online scale was to be employed as a lower secondary school teacher, or a grammar school teacher teaching respective grades.

After verifying the research tool, I launched collecting research data from attenders of complementary pedagogical education. All faculties offering such education were addressed. One department denied a data collection, one did not open their programme for a lack of frequentists. In the end, data collection was at seven faculties opening qualification courses for teachers. At all departments, data collection was at the beginning of courses. All attenders of these courses were addressed too. Data were collected primarily in person with my being in the lecture. In connection with the COVID-19 pandemics, data were collected online at some universities, though.

Response rate of the questionnaire was between 20-70% at individual faculties, with the total number n = 134. More detailed descriptions of respondents can be found in the following tables.

As can be seen in the tables above (Table 1, Table 2, Table 3), respondents were a heterogenic group with different education, length of practice, and sex. Interestingly and surprisingly, ratio between men and women copies the real ratio in educational field in the Czech Republic.

Faculty of Education	Different faculty – teaching programme	Non-teaching programme	Together
160	49	168	377

Table 1. Educational background

Table 2. Length of practice

Practice during study	Max. 1 year	1.1–3 years	3.1–5 years	5.1–10 years	10.1 and more years	Together
87	59	59	27	28	117	377

Table 3. Sex

Male	Female	Together
75	302	377

Ethical Aspects

Before the NTSES adaptation, I had contacted Professor Skaalvik via e-mail to enquire whether I would be allowed to try an adaptation in the Czech Republic and whether I could continue using his tool in my research. Professor Skaalvik agreed with both the adaptation and the research usage of the NTSES and granted me a permission via e-mail. All collected data are anonymous, with no identification data. Participants took part voluntarily, with no reward, and with their agreement to use their data for other research and educational purposes. Their agreement was confirmed electronically in the data collection questionnaire. In case of some of them did not confirm their agreement, the questionnaire did not register their answers.

Data Analysis

After some basic adjustment of data I moved to their analysis. Because my sample was tremendously extended and it was data collection after pilot testing, I firstly wanted to verify inner structure of the tool and reliability of measuring again - whether the indexes are consistent. I did the calculations in SPSS and JASP. I firstly did CFA calculations, which were to verify the inner structure of the research tool on a bigger sample (n = 377) of teachers in the Czech Republic. Other authors who adapted the tool to measure teacher self-efficacy proceeded in a similar way (Ninkovic & Knezevic-Floric, 2018; Avanzi et al., 2013; Klassen et al., 2009; Dilekli & Tezci, 2020). I entered CFA with a six-dimensional model, which matched the original tool and also results from the pilot testing. There were 27 items in six dimensions with four to six items in each dimension. I was watching important indicators - Comparative Fit Index (CFI), Tucker-Lewis Index (TLI), Normed chi-square, Root mean square error of approximation (RMSEA), Standardized root mean square residual (SRMR), factor loadings a p-values and correlations between individual dimensions. After that, I compared that with a unidimensional model and checked Akaike (AIC) and Bayesian (BIC) measured values.

To calculate reliability of the whole scale and also of the individual dimensions, I used McDonald's omega and Cronbach's alfa. It seems to be more suitable to use McDonald's omega for multidimensional tools (Dunn et al., 2013), but I also publish results of Cronbach's alfa, which was used in most teacher self-efficacy research in the past, to be able to adequately compare them with previous studies. Then, I moved to verifying hypotheses using ANOVA calculations and associated post-hoc tests, or eta-squared calculations. I did some calculations using t-tests and then measured the effect size of Pearson's r.

Results

Verification of the NTSES Adapted Tool

CFA confirmed the pilot testing results, when the six-dimensional model seemed to be the most suitable one. In comparison with the unidimensional model, it achieved more than 3000 fewer AIC and BIC points, which suggests this is a more suitable model. Other calculations (presented in Table 4) also prove the suitability of the six-dimensional model. CFI and TLI achieved more than 0.9 value, which is considered a good score (Meschede & Hardy, 2020; Lewis, 2017). RMSEA (0.06) and SRMR (0.05) also achieved acceptable values (Lewis, 2017).

Fit measures	Value	Value (pilot testing)
CFI	0.917	0.917
TLI	0.906	0.905
RMSEA	0.06	< 0.05
SRMR	0.05	0.057

Table 4. Results of CFA

Factor loadings of two items were narrowly bellow 0.5 (0.471 a 0.485), which should mean consideration whether to keep them (Awang, 2012). However, given their importance and a narrow margin of tolerance, I decided to keep them. Other factor loadings were between 0.53 and 0.95, which are acceptable to good values. These results are significant on p-value ($p \le 0.001$). The ratio of the chi-square statistic to the respective degrees of freedom (normed chi-square) is 2,38, which also means suitable value (Hooper et al., 2008).

Reliability of measurement is proved by McDonald's omega and Cronbach's alfa's results. Instruction ($\omega = 0.815$; $\alpha = 0.812$), Adapt instruction to individual needs ($\omega = 0.853$; $\alpha = 0.851$), Motivate students ($\omega = 0.800$; $\alpha = 0.794$), Maintain discipline ($\omega = 0.912$; $\alpha = 0.911$), Cooperate with colleagues and parents ($\omega = 0.821$; $\alpha = 0.818$), Cope with change $\omega = 0.815$; $\alpha = 0.814$) and the whole tool ($\omega = 0.934$; $\alpha = 0.933$). Test results of the reliability are comparable with results of the original NTSES and its successfully adapted versions abroad (Skaalvik & Skaalvik, 2007; Avanzi et al., 2013), and even achieve higher values than an adapted version from Serbia (Djigic et al., 2014).

Teacher's Self-efficacy

As can be seen in Table 5, the researched sample of teachers achieved average total teacher self-efficacy 3.69 (on a five-point scale). The strongest confidence in their own abilities was measured in the Instructions dimension,

in which the average self-efficacy was getting close to the maximum. Given the average, standard deviation is not too high, as is also proved by Coefficients of variations.

	Ν	Min.	Max.	Mean	Std. Deviat.	Coeff. of Variation
Factor 1	377	1	5	4.04	0.63	15.52
Factor 2	377	1	5	3.51	0.71	20.10
Factor 3	377	1.5	5	3.53	0.69	19.60
Factor 4	377	1	5	3.32	0.96	28.86
Factor 5	377	1.25	5	3.89	0.71	21.02
Factor 6	377	1.2	5	3.83	0.69	17.98
Overall SE	377	1.79	5	3.69	0.55	14.96

Table 5. Teachers' self-efficacy results

Hypothesis 1: Experienced teachers have higher self-efficacy than less experienced teachers.

To prove this hypothesis, I divided the sample into two groups: inexperienced with 0–3 years of practice (n = 205) and experienced with more than 3 years of practice (n = 172). On average, experienced teachers achieved higher total self-efficacy (3.91) compared to inexperienced colleagues (3.50). This difference was rather significant (p = <0.001) and with medium applied force (r = 0.37). The null hypothesis can be rejected then.

Since collected data offer a deeper analysis and therefore finding out differences among subcategories based on experience, I continued in the analysis. I did the analysis using ANOVA calculations and post-hoc test. Teachers' answers were divided based on their experience (as is in Table 2). The ANOVA results suggest what t-test had revealed before, which is that it is highly unlikely that there would not be significant differences among the groups (F = 14.522; p = <0.001). Post-hoc test suggests that division into inexperienced (0–3 years of practice) and experienced (more than 3 years of practice) seems to be right. The least experienced teachers have significantly (p = <0.05) lower self-efficacy than teachers with more than three years of practice, and teachers with more than teachers with shorter, maximum equal to three years of practice. Length of practice and amount of experience explain 16.4% variability of the total teacher self-efficacy (Eta-squared).

Hypothesis 2: Teachers with pedagogical education have higher self-efficacy than those without pedagogical education.

To verify this hypothesis, I used Independent Samples T-test calculation, in which I compared resulting self-efficacy of teachers with pedagogical education (n = 209) and teachers without pedagogical education (n = 168). When it comes to teachers with pedagogical education, I did not distinguish between the faculties they studied. Slightly higher self-efficacy was achieved by teachers with pedagogical education (3.7 compared to 3.67). This result, however, was not significant, hence I cannot reject the null hypothesis; a slight difference discovered in data is a coincidence (Rabušic et al., 2019). Except for one dimension (Instructions), the differences were insignificant even in individual factors of teacher self-efficacy. In the Instructions dimension, teachers with higher pedagogical education achieve higher self-efficacy (4.11 compared to 3.95), and the results are significant with (p = 0.013). Pearson's r is low in this case (r = 0.13), meaning that the difference and the effect are small (Rabušic et al., 2019).

Based on finding out and level of suspicion that results can be distorted even by an average higher experience of teachers with pedagogical education, I decided to compare these two groups and exclude the more experienced teachers. Criterion for less experienced teachers was set as 0-3 years (n = 205). Inexperienced teachers with pedagogical education (n = 75) had lower total self-efficacy than inexperienced teachers without pedagogical education (n = 130) in values 3.343 and 3.596. The difference among these groups is significant (p = <0.001) with small effect size (r = 0.245).

Hypothesis 3: Teachers who studied at Faculty of Education have higher self-efficacy than those who studied education at a different faculty.

To verify this hypothesis, I chose Independent sample T-test. Teachers who studied at Faculty of Education (n = 160) achieved lower self-efficacy than those who studied an education programme at a different faculty (n = 49), values being 3.65 compared to 3.89. This difference is significant (p = 0.011) with a small effect size (r = 0.175). The null hypothesis is not rejected then. There is, indeed, a difference among the examined groups, however, it is in a relationship contrary to expectations. Higher total self-efficacy but also in individual dimensions is achieved by teachers who studied education at a different faculty than Faculty of Education. Nevertheless, it is important to say that most teachers in this selection who are from different faculties than of education are more experienced, hence the result may be more affected by their experience than the faculty at which they studied. Similarly, to Hypothesis 2, I will take a closer look at this in the next calculation.

Criterion for this calculation was more than ten years of practice in the teaching profession. I compared a group of teachers from faculties of education (n = 63)

and teachers from different faculties with education programmes (n = 31). Slightly higher self-efficacy was in this case achieved by teachers from different faculties with education programmes (3.93 compared to 3.99), however, this result turned out to be insignificant (p = 0.514).

Limits of Measurement

Selection of the sample was affected by the pandemics precautions, and also by the fact that these results are only from the pilot testing and partial data from an ongoing research. Individual subcategories of respondents are rather small, therefore some analysis results may be distorted. As a result, one cannot possibly get unequivocal conclusions. These limitations in bigger subcategories already came to light during the data analysis when it was impossible to make several analyses, specifically because of too a small sample (subcategory). For future research, it may be useful to conduct a test-reset analysis, which was absent in this measurement, and which would increase credibility of these measurements.

Discussion

Teacher self-efficacy has been paid attention to by experts world-wide for many years now. There is an interest in this topic even in the Czech Republic, where teacher self-efficacy has become a research topic (Smetáčková et al., 2017; Gavora, 2008) and has been written about and published (Gavora et al., 2020). When doing research, its authors were using their own, newly created research tools or they were trying to adapt some from abroad. When it comes to foreign research tools, in our context there were adapted, e.g. TES (Greger, 2011) and OSTES (Gavora, 2011), with neither of them keeping a consistent inner structure or staying the same, original tool.

When making a decision about what tool to use for our research, an important role was played by the fact that NTSES (Skaalvik and Skaalvik, 2007) had been successfully adapted even behind the borders of its origin (Avanzi et al., 2013; Khezerlou, 2013; Djigic et al., 2014), but also by its being a tool and having the ability to capture teacher self-efficacy quite broadly – in six dimensions. NTSES being an interesting tool for measuring teacher self-efficacy can already be found in publication by Smetáčková et al. (2017); since then, nobody has adapted it nor used it for research. Apart from successful NTSES adaptations abroad, there were even some less successful, which did not confirm the original multidimensional structure (Baka, 2017; Brickman and Olsson, 2021), or the tool was not verified with factor analysis nor reliability test (Liddy, 2018). To adapt this tool successfully, it was vital to approach the whole process rigorously and not to rely only on a good-quality translation, but also changes in individual items or adding new items (Kara et al., 2006; Delgado-Lobete et al., 2021). A part of the

process were discussions with teachers from schools, experts from universities, but also psychometric evaluation of the pilot testing. Absence of discussion with the target group was a discussed possible reason for an unsuccessful attempt at an adaptation in Sweden (Brickman & Olsson, 2021). Psychometric characteristics of the tool turned out to be good, while corresponding the original NTSES (Skaalvik & Skaalvik, 2007), but also its successful adaptations abroad (Avanzi et al., 2013). Multidimensional solutions with six dimensions corresponding the original NTSES with high reliability value worked in the pilot testing and also a followed extension of the sample of other teachers, which was confirmed by CFA, being used in other research as well with this purpose (Denzine et al., 2005; Epstein et al., 2013).

Perceived total teacher self-efficacy in this research corresponds approximately equal to what was measured by colleagues in Norway and Italy. Czech teachers achieved 74% of the maximum, Italian 71%, and Norwegian 69% (comp. Avanzi et al., 2013). Findings that Czech teachers achieve slightly higher self-efficacy compared to Italian and Norwegian ones is surprising, given that in the TALIS research they are among those with the lowest self-efficacy in countries in the research. The absolutely lowest results were achieved by Czech and Norwegian teachers in Maintain discipline subscale (comp. Avanzi et al., 2013), which is also in line with results of the TALIS 2018 research (Czech school inspection, 2020), in which Czech teachers achieved values below average in Classroom management subscale, also asking about maintaining discipline in class. Interestingly, after ranking subscales based on their average value SE in them, Czech and Norwegian results are identical, while Italian results differ except for first two subscales (Instructions, Operations) (comp. Avanzi et al., 2013).

Even though the tool used in TALIS 2018 was different, one can see similar questions in subscales: Instructions – Self-efficacy in instructions; Maintain discipline – Self-efficacy in classroom management; Motivate students – Self-efficacy in students' engagement (comp. Skaalvik and Skaalvik, 2007; TALIS 2018). Comparing results from this research and the TALIS 2018 results, one can notice that low self-efficacy appears repeatedly in subscales focusing on motivating students.

Czech school inspection (2020) emphasised that difference between Czech teachers and EU average is the most obvious (and significant), and low values in this area were achieved also by teachers in this research. On the contrary, results in subscale Instructions, in which the teachers in this research are most confident, do not reach the EU average results, nor the TALIS 2018 research ones (Czech school inspection, 2020). According to Bandura, (in Gavora et al., 2020) self-efficacy is created by experience, among other things. In other words, the more years of practice, the more experience, so the more experienced teachers should recognise their own self-efficacy as higher than less experienced ones. This theory is also confirmed by research in which teachers with more years of practice have

higher self-efficacy (Gavora, 2011). Likewise, in this research, results show that more experienced teachers achieve significantly higher self-efficacy than inexperienced ones.

Even though the difference between sexes in the total self-efficacy was not statistically significant, a big difference even with a statistical difference appeared in the Maintain discipline dimension, in which men are more confident than women. This difference may be caused by the fact that, men tend to seem naturally more authoritarian, so they do not worry about maintaining discipline in class. These findings are in contrast to Gavora (2011) in whose research women achieved higher self-efficacy, and it was with a statistical significance. Such different results may be cause by the research sample, but also by a different research tool finding out different dimensions of teacher self-efficacy.

Teachers with pedagogical education in university education programmes achieved significantly higher total self-efficacy than those without pedagogical education. The result itself is not surprising as many authors (Wiliam, 2018; Kola & Sunday, 2015) write about the importance of pedagogical education in preparation of teachers. Certain unclarity may be caused by the fact that, this difference in this research is not significant, hence we cannot completely ignore the possibility that the difference appeared by chance. A significant differ was confirmed in the Instructions dimension, in which teachers with pedagogical education are more confident. If we have a look at results from another analvsis of ours, we will find out that after removing experienced teachers from the sample the difference turned around in favour of teachers without pedagogical education, and rather significantly. This situation could happen primarily because inexperienced teachers, who are working on their pedagogical education, tend to be much older than young teachers, education programmes graduates. Inexperienced teachers had opportunities to have more life experience, therefore be better aware of their self-efficacy.

The differences in this sample came to light even among education programmes graduates. Teachers who studied education at a different faculty than Faculty of Education achieved statistically significantly higher self-efficacy than those who studied at Faculty of Education. I compared these two groups in the subcategory of the most experienced teachers, because I had thought that the results can be distorted by the length of practice. That is because bigger percentage of teachers from other faculties than those of education had more than ten years of practice compared to Faculty of Education graduates. In this sample too, however, higher self-efficacy was achieved by teachers from other faculties. Certainly, differences may be caused by quality of preparation in education programmes, which is proved by Jackson & Miller (2019) research, or, on the other hand, emphasize more on knowledge of their study programme and deemphasize on pedagogical practice itself and knowledge.

Conclusion

The main research question was: How is preparation for the teaching profession mirrored in teacher self-efficacy? An answer to that question could be: Preparation for a job may be connected to teacher self-efficacy. What may be different is pedagogical education compared to non-pedagogical, there are differences even among individual study programmes of education at universities. The results also point out that Czech teachers have the least confidence in motivating students and maintaining discipline, which should be mirrored in preparation of teachers or their other education. Even despite limits, the analysis brought interesting results, which deserve to be verified in another research and on a greater sample of teachers. I believe that the presented results mean a contribution to an ongoing discussion in the education policy in the Czech Republic – or it depends on what education teachers have. The NTSES tool used in this research has repeatedly proved as reliable and valid for research of teacher self-efficacy, hence I recommend this tool to be used even in other research of this focus.

Aknowledgment

This research and text was supported by a grant from Masaryk University (MUNI/A/1397/2021).

REFERENCES

Awang, Z. (2012). Research Methodology and Data Analysis Second Edition. UiTM Press.

Avanzi, L., Miglioretti, M., Velasco, V., Balducci, C., Vecchio, L., Fraccaroli, F., & Skaalvik, E. M. (2013). Cross-validation of the Norwegian Teacher's Self-Efficacy Scale (NTSES). *Teaching and Teacher Education*, *31*, 69–78. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2013.01.002

Baka, Ł. (2017). Norwegian Teacher Self-Efficacy Scale – Psychometric properties of the Polish version of the scale. *Medycyna Pracy*. https://doi.org/10.13075/mp.5893.00569

Bandura, A. (1997). Self-Efficacy: The Exercise of Control (1st ed.). Worth Publishers.

Brickman, J., & Olsson, A. (2021). Self-efficacy and health in Swedish teachers: Validating the Norwegian Teacher Self-Efficacy Scale in a Swedish context. Örebro University.

Brouwers, A., & Tomic, W. (2003). A Test of the Factorial Validity of the Teacher Efficacy Scale. *Research in Education*, 69(1), 67–79. https://doi.org/10.7227/rie.69.6

Czech school inspection. (2020). International research TALIS 2018. Czech school inspection.

Deemer, S. A., & Minke, K. M. (2010). An Investigation of the Factor Structure of the Teacher Efficacy Scale. *The Journal of Educational Research*, 93(1), 3–10. https://doi.org/10.1080/00220679909597624

Delgado-Lobete, L., Montes-Montes, R., Méndez-Alonso, D., & Prieto-Saborit, J. A. (2021). Cross-Cultural Adaptation and Preliminary Reliability of the Adolescents and Adults Coordination Questionnaire into European Spanish. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *18*(12), 6405. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18126405

Denzine, G. M., Cooney, J. B., & McKenzie, R. (2005). Confirmatory factor analysis of the Teacher Efficacy Scale for prospective teachers. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 75(4), 689–708. https://doi.org/10.1348/000709905x37253

Dilekli, Y., & Tezci, E. (2020). A cross-cultural study: Teachers' self-efficacy beliefs for teaching thinking skills. *Thinking Skills and Creativity*, *35*, 100624. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. tsc.2019.100624

Djigic, G., Stojiljkovic, S., & Doskovic, M. (2014). Basic Personality Dimensions and Teachers' Self-efficacy (Vol. 112). Elsevier BV. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2014.01.1206

Dunn, T. J., Baguley, T., & Brunsden, V. (2013). From alpha to omega: A practical solution to the pervasive problem of internal consistency estimation. *British Journal of Psychology*, *105*(3), 399–412. https://doi.org/10.1111/bjop.12046

Epstein, J., Osborne, R. H., Elsworth, G. R., Beaton, D. E., & Guillemin, F. (2013). Crosscultural adaptation of the Health Education Impact Questionnaire: experimental study showed expert committee, not back-translation, added value. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, *68*(4), 360–369. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclinepi.2013.07.013

Gavora, P. (2008). Profesijná zdatnosť vnímaná učiteľom. Adaptácia výskumného nástroja [Teachers self-efficacy. Adaptation of the research tool]. *Pedagogická Revue*, *50*(3–4).

Gavora, P. (2011). Zisťovanie profesijnej zdatnosti učiteľa pomocou dotazníka OSTES [Teachers Self-efficacy measured by OSTES]. *Pedagogika.Sk*, *2*(2).

Gavora, P., Mareš, J., Svatoš, T., & Wiegerová, A. (2020). Self efficacy v edukačních souvislostech II [Self-efficacy in educational context II]. Univerzita Tomáše Bati. Zlín.

Gavora, P., & Wiegerová, A. (2017). Self-efficacy of Students in a Preschool Education Programme: The Construction of a Research Instrument. *The New Educational Review*, *47*(1), 125–138. https://doi.org/10.15804/tner.2017.47.1.10

Gibson, S., & Dembo, M. H. (1984). Teacher efficacy: A construct validation. Journal of Educational Psychology, 76(4), 569–582. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-0663.76.4.569

Greger, D. (2011). Jak čeští učitelé hodnotí vlastní efektivitu? Adaptace zahraničního dotazníku [Self-efficacy of Czech teachers? Adaptation of the research tool]. *Presentation in conference ČAPV, Brno.*

Gudmundsson, E. (2009). Guidelines for translating and adapting psychological instruments. *Nordic Psychology*, *61*(2), 29–45. https://doi.org/10.1027/1901-2276.61.2.29

Hooper, D., Coughlan, J., & Mullen, M. R. (2008). Structural Equation Modelling: Guidelines for Determining Model Fit. *The Electronic Journal of Business Research Methods*, 6(1), 53–60.

Jackson, N., & Miller, R. (2019). Teacher Candidates' Sense of Self-Efficacy Toward Classroom Management. *Journal of Education*, 200(3), 153–163. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022057419881169

Kan, A. U. (2015). Prospective teachers' perceptions of teaching profession. *Contemporary Educational. Researches Journal*, *5*(1), 12–16.

Kara, M., van der Bijl, J. J., Shortridge-Baggett, L. M., Astı, T., & Erguney, S. (2006). Crosscultural adaptation of the diabetes management self-efficacy scale for patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus: Scale development. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 43(5), 611– 621. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2005.07.008

Khezerlou, E. (2013). Teacher Self-efficacy as a Predictor of Job Burnout Among Iranian and Turkish EFL Teachers. *Procedia – Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 70, 1186–1194. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2013.01.175

Klassen, R. M., Bong, M., Usher, E. L., Chong, W. H., Huan, V. S., Wong, I. Y., & Georgiou, T. (2009). Exploring the validity of a teachers' self-efficacy scale in five countries. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, *34*(1), 67–76. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cedpsych.2008.08.001

Kola, A. J., & Sunday, O. S. (2015). A Review of Teachers' Qualifications and Its Implication on Students' Academic Achievement in Nigerian Schools. *International Journal of Educational Research and Information Science*, 2(2).

Korbel, V., & Prokop, D. (n.d.). Proč se lidé nehlásí ke studiu učitelství a jak to změnit? [Whz is not interest for teaching education and how to change that?]. https://www.ucitelnazivo.cz/files/1875-proc-se-lide-nehlasi-ke-studiu-ucitelstvi-a-jak-to-zmenit.pdf (Retrieved August 8, 2022)

Law about pedagogical workers, Act No. 530 C.O.L. (2004). https://www.msmt.cz/dokumenty-3/zakon-o-pedagogickych-pracovnicich-1

Lewis, T. (2017). Evidence Regarding the Internal Structure: Confirmatory Factor Analysis. *Measurement and Evaluation in Counseling and Development*, *50*(4), 239–247. https://doi.org/10.1080/07481756.2017.1336929

Liddy, E. (2018). The impact of an accelerated teacher training programme based on a pedagogy of enactment on trainees' self-efficacy. *Research in Action*.

Machingambi, B., Oyedele, V., Chikwature, W., & Oyedele, O. (2018). Influence of teachers' qualification on students' performance in 'a'-level sciences at selected secondary schools in mutare district, manicaland province in zimbabwe. *International Journal of Academic Research and Reflection*, 6(06).

Meschede, N., & Hardy, I. (2020). Selbstwirksamkeitserwartungen von Lehramtsstudierenden zum adaptiven Unterrichten in heterogenen Lerngruppen. *Zeitschrift Für Erziehungswissenschaft*, 23(3), 565–589. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11618-020-00949-7

Ministry of Education Youth and Sports. (2019). Hlavní výstupy z Mimořádného šetření ke stavu zajištění výuky učiteli v MŠ, ZŠ, SŠ a VOŠ [The main results from the research of teaching and teachers in schools]. Prague.

Ninkovic, S., & Knezevic-Floric, O. (2018). Validation of the Serbian version of the teachers' sense of efficacy scale (TSES), 50(1). National Library of Serbia. https://doi.org/10.2298/zipi1801072n

Orcan, F. (2018). Exploratory and Confirmatory Factor Analysis: Which One to Use First? *Eğitimde ve Psikolojide Ölçme ve Değerlendirme Dergisi*, 414–421. https://doi.org/10.21031/epod.394323

Rabušic, L., Soukup, P., & Mareš, P. (2019). Statistická analýza sociálněvědních dat (prostřednictvím SPSS) [Statistical analysis in social sciences]. Masarykova univerzita.

Salman, M. F., & Adeniyi, C. O. (2012). Influence of teachers' qualification and experience on secondary school students' academic performance in mathematics. *Abacus, the Journal of Mathematical Association of Nigeria, 37*(1), 134–141.

Schendel, R., & Tolmie, A. (2016). Beyond translation: adapting a performance-task-based assessment of critical thinking ability for use in Rwanda. *Assessment & amp; Evaluation in Higher Education*, 42(5), 673–689. https://doi.org/10.1080/02602938.2016.1177484

Skaalvik, E. M., & Skaalvik, S. (2007). Dimensions of teacher self-efficacy and relations with strain factors, perceived collective teacher efficacy, and teacher burnout. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 99(3), 611–625. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-0663.99.3.611

Skaalvik, E. M., & Skaalvik, S. (2010). Teacher self-efficacy and teacher burnout: A study of relations. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, *26*(4), 1059–1069. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. tate.2009.11.001

Smak, M., & Walczak, D. (2017). The prestige of the teaching profession in the perception of teachers and former teachers. *Edukacja*. https://doi.org/10.24131/3724.170502

Smetáčková, I., Topková, P., & Vozková, A. (2017). Development And Piloting Of Teacher Self-Efficacy Scale. *Lifelong Learning*, 7(2), 26–46. https://doi.org/10.11118/lifele2017070226

Spilková, V., & Dvořáková, H. (2004). Současné proměny vzdělávání učitelů [Actual changes in teachers education]. Paido.

Spilková, V., & Wildová, R. (2014). Potřebujeme kvalitní nebo kvalifikované učitele [Do we need teachers with high qualified or high quality]? *Pedagogická Orientace*, *24*(3), 423–432. https://doi.org/10.5817/pedor2014-3-423

Tschannen-Moran, M., Hoy, A. W., & Hoy, W. K. (1998). Teacher Efficacy: Its Meaning and Measure. *Review of Educational Research*, 68(2), 202–248. https://doi.org/10.3102/00346543068002202

Tschannen-Moran, M., & Hoy, A. W. (2001). Ohio State Teacher Efficacy Scale. *PsycTESTS Dataset*. https://doi.org/10.1037/t11400-000

Wiliam, D. (2018). Creating the Schools Our Children Need. Learning Sciences International.

https://doi.org/10.22364/atee.2022.10

Teachers' Professional Self-Efficacy for Collaboration: A Comparison Between European Countries

Kristine Kampmane, Andrejs Geske, Antra Ozola

University of Latvia, Latvia

ABSTRACT

Since the understanding of non-cognitive skills and their importance have grown, it becomes more and more significant to measure their impact on different areas of professional life. It has been researched that not only individual teacher's professional self-efficacy, but also collective self-efficacy has a significant impact on both the teachers' self-efficacy and students' achievement. The purpose of this study is to select a set of factors that correlate with teachers' professional self-efficacy has an impact on teachers' cooperation with colleagues and students.

Latvian, Lithuanian, Estonian, Danish, Norwegian, Swedish, and Finnish data from the OECD TALIS 2018 teacher questionnaires were used.

To analyse which factors correlate with teachers' professional self-efficacy, the authors of this article selected such variables as the type of school, the type of urbanization, the number of special education students in the class, full time or partial time employment, professional development courses and the professional development at university level. The authors found that there were no significant correlations between the type of school, the type of urbanization, and the number of special education students in the classroom, but there was a significant correlation between professional development courses and the professional development during the university study period. The teachers who worked full time job were more self-efficient than others. To study the impact of self-efficacy on collaboration, the authors of this article selected variables that represented teacher – student collaboration and teacher – teacher collaboration. The professional self-efficacy scale was partitioned into four efficacy levels and each level was analysed with answers from each variable. The group comparison and the linear regression analysis showed that teachers with higher self-efficacy levels cooperated more and better with students and colleagues. Thus, this research adds supplementary evidence to studies showing the importance of professional self-efficacy development.

Keywords: teacher's professional self-efficacy, OECD, TALIS 2018, professional collaboration, teacher – student collaboration, large-scale studies of education

Introduction

It has been a concern throughout the history of education, how to ensure teachers' effectiveness and continuously promote educators' knowledge development according to changing workforce requirements and classroom environments, as well as how to foster teachers' feelings and beliefs of professional competence. In the last twenty years a large amount of research has been published that emphasizes the role of non-cognitive skills and personality traits to be as important or even in some cases more important than high IQ. OECD highlights that term "non-cognitive skills" in the scientific literature is described as different attributes that characterise personality, including socio-emotional and soft skills, and are not measured with IQ tests (Kautz et al., 2014). Self-efficacy is widely researched as mediator in one or more personality traits and values (De Feyter et al., 2012; Barni et al., 2019; Mammadov, 2021). In return Mcintyre and Vecchione (2016) emphasize the role of self-efficacy as basis of self-confidence and a source of further self-efficacies development.

Bandura (2001) has defined self-efficacy as a belief in one's possibility to perform successfully in the given situation. Teacher's efficacy in terms of effectiveness is defined as a teacher's set of attitudes and/or behaviours that has impact on students' achievement (Klassen & Tze, 2014), but teacher's self-efficacy – as teacher's sense of the extent to which he/she can perform an action successfully (Granziera & Perera, 2019). Skaalvik and Skaalvik (2007) distinguish the difference between teacher's self-efficacy and effectiveness or external control, whereas Sehgal et al. (2017) provide evidence that teacher's self-efficacy influence effectiveness. Traditionally, teacher's effectiveness as well as teacher's self-efficacy have been measured in terms of what students do or as Tschannen-Moran and Hoy (2001) state: how well one can perform one's primary tasks even in difficult situations like engaging difficult students, giving the best explanation in difficult subject area, etc.

Self-efficacy is of importance not only when personality traits are considered. As early as in 1976 an article was published by Armor et al. (1976) that associated teachers' self-efficacy with students' achievement emphasizing its significant role in teaching profession. Similar associations were found in Caprara et al. (2006) study, but Zee and Koomen (2016) argued that most cited studies claiming this relationship might be theoretical in nature. Some authors argue that teachers' sense of self-efficacy is a belief that affects teaching performance and future career path especially for the first-year in-service teachers (Hoy & Spero, 2005), whereas others emphasize that teachers' effectiveness and subsequent behaviour have long-lasting impact on students (Wright et al., 1997). Klassen and Tze (2014) in their meta-analytic review provided evidence for teachers' sense of self-efficacy being more significant in students' achievement than the number of students in the classroom, students' previous achievement or socio-economic

status (SES). Chesnut and Burley (2015) suggest that teachers with higher self-efficacy levels are more committed to teaching profession. Large body of research is dedicated to teachers' professional self-efficacy and job satisfaction. Ahrari et al. (2021) in meta-analysis study established positive link between these two concepts. Aloe et al. (2014) provided evidence that significant relationship exists between teachers' self-efficacy in classroom management and burnout. Bandura (1997) emphasized that low self-efficacy beliefs can override the best skills, making people to give up when facing difficulties, whereas Vancouver et al. (2001) warn that self-efficacy can negatively influence performance, if it has been formed under inappropriate conditions.

It has been researched that not only individual but collective self-efficacy exists. Bandura (1997) suggested that this efficacy creates a type of social system. Collective efficacy is created in the school environment where two or more teachers work as a team. Skaalvik and Skaalvik (2007) have suggested that teachers' individual self-efficacy should be distinguished from collective efficacy although individual self-efficacy is strongly related with collective efficacy. When applying collective self-efficacy strategies, individual instructional process is managed more effectively (Cansoy et al., 2020). Sehgal et al. (2017) emphasize that collaboration among teachers works as critical factor for teachers' individual self-efficacy, but OECD (2020) stresses the role of interdependent collaboration in building higher levels of teacher's self-efficacy.

Some authors point out that teachers working with highly achieving students (Fackler & Malberg, 2016) and in a well-managed classroom setting (Woolfolk, Rosoff, & Hoy, 1990) show higher levels of self-efficacy. These teachers are less controlling and better at teacher-student interaction (Fackler & Malberg, 2016; Martin et al., 2012). Teachers felt less self-efficacious and less satisfied with their job when facing disruptive students (Zee & Koomen, 2016; Geske & Ozola, 2015).

Butler (2012) found that if a teacher has social motivation (goal) to teach then one will engage more in teacher-student relationships and will use better instructional including mastery-oriented teaching techniques. Usage of these techniques ensures higher reading achievement for 4th grade students (Ozola & Geske, 2019). Chang et al. (2022) discovered that teachers' social goals were positively correlated with self-efficacy for student engagement and classroom management and corresponded to students behavioural and emotional engagement. In addition, Torsney et al. (2019) concluded that social utility value predicted professional engagement and job satisfaction.

As self-efficacy phenomenon was found and researched beginning with mid-19th century, there had been many attempts to create a measurement tool for teachers' self-efficacy, some of them are cited in Lazarides's and Warner's (2020) article. Some authors have argued that self-efficacy according to Bandura's theory is unidimensional, task specific and future oriented (Marsh et al., 2018), some emphasized that self-efficacy measurement instruments should measure just task performance, not goal achievement or general personality traits (Pajares, 1996). Tschannen-Moran and Hoy (2001) created and validated a three-dimensional 24 item self-evaluation survey for teachers that measured teacher's professional self-efficacy in: classroom management (8 items, like "How much can you do to control disruptive behaviour in the classroom?"), student engagement (8 items, like "How much you can do to get students to believe they can do well in schoolwork") and instructions (8 items, like "To what extent can you use a variety of assessment strategies?"), providing comprehensive tool that includes main aspects of teacher's everyday work life.

The aim of this study was to research whether there is a relationship between teacher's professional self-efficacy, motivation, collaboration, and work satisfaction and, if the relationship exists, then is there any difference in trait of collaboration between teachers with high and low self-efficacy. The research questions are formulated hereafter: to what extent a correlation exists between teachers' self-efficacy and chosen factors and, whether there is a difference among collaborative patterns between teachers with high self-efficacy and low self-efficacy.

Methodology

The Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) Teaching and Learning International Survey (TALIS) takes place every five years, and its purpose is to examine teachers' working conditions, teachers' attitudes and work satisfaction with the aim to improve students' learning environment. In the TALIS 2018, 260'000 teachers from 48 countries all over the world participated in the survey.

The Sample

To examine a teacher's professional self-efficacy (TPSE) the authors of this research analysed responses from the TALIS 2018 teachers' questionnaire. In total 20'106 respondents from all countries of comparison were selected in the TALIS two stage random sampling design. In the first stage random sample of 200 schools from every country were selected and in the second stage random sample of 20 teachers from each school were selected.

As countries of comparison all three Baltic countries – Latvia, Lithuania and Estonia, and the Nordic countries – Denmark, Norway, Sweden and Finland were chosen. These two sets of countries represent similar working conditions and share similar history of school development and teachers' education.

Self-efficacy Measurement Methodology

To measure TPSE in the TALIS 2018 teachers' questionnaire Self-efficacy Composite (T3SELF) scale was used. This scale was created according to Tschannen-Moran and Hoy (2001) three-dimensional measurement instrument and includes: self-efficacy in classroom management (T3SECLS), self-efficacy in instruction (T3SEINS) and self-efficacy in student engagement (T3SEENG). All three subscales were created from the items of teachers' questionnaire question: "In your teaching, to what extent can you do the following?". There were four answer options in the Likert-type scale from "Not at all" (1 point) to "A lot" (4 points).

Items that referenced student behavioural management in the classroom were used to create T3SECLS subscale:

- Control disruptive behaviour in the classroom;
- Make my expectations about student behaviour clear;
- Get students to follow classroom rules;
- Calm a student who is disruptive or noisy.

Items that referenced instructional strategies were used to create T3SEINS subscale:

- Craft good questions for students;
- Use a variety of assessment strategies;
- Provide an alternative explanation, for example, when students are confused;
- Very instructional strategies in my classroom.

Items that referenced strategies for student engagement in the lessons were used to create T3SEENG subscale:

- Get students to believe they can do well in school work;
- Help students value learning;
- Motivate students who show low interest in school work;
- Help students think critically.

The composite value for the T3SELF scale for every teacher was calculated as a mean value from three subscales (T3SECLS, T3SEINS, T3SEENG). T3SELF average value was 12.8, the lowest value was 3.2 and the highest – 16.6. The Cronbach-Alpha reliability coefficients for the T3SELF scale varied from 0.76 for Estonia to 0.87 for Finland.

In order to measure the difference between teachers with different TPSE levels the authors of this research created a new variable T3SELF_LEVELS. All teachers were partitioned into four equal groups depending on the value of scale T3SELF with the help of percentiles, where:

- low TPSE level (lowest 25%) was for teachers whose T3SELF scale's values were below 11.5;
- high TPSE level (highest 25%) was for teachers whose T3SELF scale's values were equal or above 13.8.

The Teachers' whose TPSE scale's values were between 11.5 and 13.8 (between 25ths and 75ths percentile) were considered as having average TPSE level.

Job Satisfaction Measurement Methodology

In order to measure teachers' job satisfaction, the TALIS 2018 uses composite scale T3JOBSA. For the purposes of this study, the authors did not use this composite scale but analysed the following items of the question: "We would like to know how you generally feel about your job. How strongly do you agree or disagree with the following statements?":

- The advantages of being a teacher clearly outweigh the disadvantages;
- If I could decide again, I would still choose to work as a teacher;
- I wonder whether it would have been better to choose another profession (the values of this variable were reverse coded);
- I enjoy working at this school;
- All in all I am satisfied with my job.

All items were coded in the Likert-type scale from "Strongly disagree" (1 point) to "Strongly agree" (4 points). All these items together are referenced as "Job satisfaction factors" further in the text.

Collaboration Pattern Measurement Methodology

To measure teachers' patterns of collaboration, the TALIS 2018 used the composite scale T3COOP that was built from two subscales. For the purpose of this study, the authors used all items from both subscales in their data analysis. These items were part of a question: "On average, how often do you do the following in this school?":

- Exchange or develop teaching materials with colleagues;
- Discuss the learning development of specific students;
- Work with other teachers in this school to ensure common standards in evaluations for assessing student progress;
- Attend team conferences;
- Teach jointly as a team in the same class;
- Provide feedback to other teachers about their practice;
- Engage in joint activities across different classes and age groups (e.g. projects);
- Participate in collaborative professional learning.

All items were coded in the Likert-type scale with the following values: "Never" (1 point), "Once a year or less" (2 points), "2–4 times a year" (3 points), "5–10 times a year" (4 points), "1–3 times a month" (5 points), "Once a week or more" (6 points). The Cronbach-Alpha reliability coefficients for the T3COOP subscales varied from 0.56 for Sweden to 0.74 for Finland. All these items together are referenced as "Professional collaboration factors" further in the text.

In order to analyse professional collaboration patterns between teachers with high and low self-efficacy levels, the responses for all item values were recoded as follows:

- "Never" and "Once a year or less" recoded to 1 point;
- "2-4 times a year", "5-10 times a year" recoded to 2 points;
- "1–3 times a month", "Once a week or more" recoded to 3 points and called as "At least once a month" in the data analysis.

Measurement Methodology of the Disciplinary Climate in the Classroom

As it was described in the literature review, the teacher's self-efficacy is closely related with perceived disciplinary climate in the classroom. For this purpose, the authors included a scale "Teachers' perceived disciplinary climate" (T3DISC) in the analysis that was built from the items of the question "How strongly do you agree or disagree with the following statements about this <target class >?" (<Target class > is defined as the first class that teacher taught in the week before participation in the survey on Tuesday after 11AM. If there were no classes on Tuesday, the teacher had to select a class that she or he taught on the day following that Tuesday):

- When the lesson begins, I have to wait quite a long time for students to quieten down;
- Students in this class take care to create a pleasant learning atmosphere (the values of this variable were reverse coded);
- I lose quite a lot of time because of students interrupting the lesson;
- There is much disruptive noise in this classroom.

All items were coded in the Likert-type scale from "Strongly disagree" (1 point) to "Strongly agree" (4 points). The Cronbach-Alpha reliability coefficients for the T3DISC scale varied from 0.86 for Latvia to 0.92 for Finland.

Measurement Methodology of the Motivation to Teach

As some researchers relate self-efficacy to motivational factors, the authors chose to analyse teachers' motivation to teach. There are three motivational scales in the TALIS 2018, the authors chose to report about teachers' social utility to teach as this factor appeared to be most influential from all three. The scale "Teacher's social utility motivation to teach" (T3SOCUT) was calculated from the items of the question "How important were the following for you to become a teacher?":

- Teaching allowed me to influence the development of children and young people;
- Teaching allowed me to benefit the socially disadvantaged;
- Teaching allowed me to provide a contribution to society.

All items were coded in the Likert-type scale with the following values: "Not important at all" (1 point), "Of low importance" (2 points), "Of moderate importance" (3 points), "Of high importance" (4 points). The Cronbach-Alpha reliability coefficients for the T3SOCUT scale varied from 0.73 for Denmark to 0.84 for Sweden.

Data Analysis Procedures

All data were analysed in IBM SPSS and IEA IDBAnalyzer using the TALIS 2018 Multiple Level/Population Teacher Weights. The results of data analysis represent population for each country.

Results

To verify whether there are any correlations between selected job satisfaction, collaboration, classroom discipline and motivation to teach factors and TPSE, the authors performed correlation analysis (see Table 1).

As it is displayed in Table 1, the correlation between selected factors and TPSE exists. From factors that were selected to represent teachers' job satisfaction, the 5th factor correlates the most. The 1st and 2nd factor correlate with TPSE the most in Finland, followed by Lithuania and Estonia, the correlation of the 1st factor in Latvia is very small and is not statistically significant. The 3rd factor correlates the most for Latvian teachers followed by Finland and Sweden, this factor correlates negatively and is not statistically significant in Lithuania. The correlation with 4th factor is significant for all countries of comparison, the highest correlation is for Lithuanian teachers followed by Finland and Estonia.

The factors that represent professional collaboration significantly correlates with TPSE for all countries of comparison. The 1st and the 2nd factor correlate the most for the Baltic countries. The 3rd factor correlates the most for Lithuanian and Latvian teachers followed by Denmark's and Finland's teachers. The highest correlation for the 4th factors is for Lithuanian, Latvian and Finnish teachers.

The factor that represents teachers perceived disciplinary climate (D.F.) correlates significantly and negatively with TPSE, where teachers who strongly agree that they have disciplinary issues in the classroom have significantly lower TSPE than those teachers that do not report such issues. This factor has stronger impact in the Nordic countries than in the Baltic countries having the most impact in Denmark and the least impact in Estonia.

The social utility for motivation to teach is significantly correlated with TPSE for all countries of comparison. Correlation is the strongest in Finland followed by Estonia and Sweden.

r type	Country	ıark	en	ay	р	ia	<i>a</i>	ania
Facto	Factors	Denr	Swed	Norw	Finlar	Eston	Latvia	Lithu
	1. The advantages of being a teacher clearly outweigh the disadvantages	0.09	0.16	0.16	0.26	0.19	0.08*	0.20
	 If I could decide again, I would still choose to work as a teacher 	0.09	0.13	0.15	0.25	0.21	0.15	0.21
tion factors	 I wonder whether it would have been better to choose another profession 	0.13	0.17	0.14	0.17	0.15	0.22	-0.04*
atisfac	4. I enjoy working at this school	0.13	0.10	0.15	0.23	0.19	0.17	0.24
Job si	5. All in all, I am satisfied with my job	0.19	0.27	0.24	0.28	0.21	0.21	0.30
F	1. Professional collaboration in lessons among teachers	0.15	0.20	0.12	0.20	0.21	0.30	0.27
aboratio	 Exchange and co- ordination among teachers 	0.23	0.21	0.15	0.20	0.25	0.29	0.27
al coll	3. Participation among stakeholders, teachers	0.14	0.10	0.08	0.13	0.12	0.24	0.26
Profession	4. Teacher-student collaborative relationship	0.20	0.21	0.20	0.26	0.23	0.30	0.32
D.F.	Teachers perceived disciplinary climate	-0.34	-0.27	-0.33	-0.18	-0.11	-0.29	-0.26
М.F.	Social utility motivation to teach	0.16	0.25	0.18	0.27	0.25	0.24	0.21
M.F.	– Motivational factor							

Table 1. The Correlation of Teachers' Professional Self-efficacy (TPSE) with Factors that Characterise their Job Satisfaction, Motivation to Teach and Collaboration Patterns

D.F. – Disciplinary factor

* not significant at p < 0.05

The authors of this research created four liner regression models in order to analyse the linearity and calculate the explained variance. In all four models, the teacher's professional self-efficacy was dependent variable; independent variables are the described factors illustrated in Table 1. The results of these linear regression models can be seen in Table 2.

Country	R ² Model 1	R ² Model 2	R ² Model 3	R ² Model 4	R ² Model 5
Denmark	0.05	0.10	0.12	0.03	0.20
Sweden	0.07	0.07	0.07	0.06	0.22
Norway	0.05	0.05	0.11	0.03	0.20
Finland	0.10	0.10	0.03	0.07	0.20
Estonia	0.07	0.11	0.01	0.06	0.18
Latvia	0.07	0.17	0.09	0.05	0.25
Lithuania	0.11	0.16	0.07	0.05	0.24

Table 2. Coefficients of Determination (R^2) of the Linear Regression Equations from Factors in the Table 1

The linear regression equation Model 1 analysed linear relationship TPSE and job satisfaction factors (see Table 1). As it is seen in Table 2, overall, this model explains self-efficacy variation better in the Baltic countries than in the Nordic countries, in this case Lithuania has the highest explained variance – 11% of teachers' self-efficacy distribution.

Model 2 (see Table 2) analysed linear relationship between TPSE and teachers' professional collaboration factors (see Table 1). For Latvia and Lithuania this model explains the variation in TPSE the best, almost twice as for Estonian teachers. The Nordic countries have got medial explanation, on average – 15% from all variations of TPSE values.

Model 3 (see Table 2) analysed linear relationship between TPSE and teacher's perceived disciplinary climate in the classroom (see Table 1). This model works the best in Denmark explaining 12% of TPSE variation, but it explains only 1% of variation in Estonia; as it was already shown in Table 1 Estonian TPSE being the least impacted from the classroom disciplinary issues from all countries of comparison.

Model 4 analysed linear relationship between TPSE and teachers' social motivation to teach (see Table 1). As it can be seen in Table 2 – teachers' self-efficacy variation in Sweden, Finland and Estonia is better explained by social motivation to teach than in other countries, in Denmark and Norway this factor being the least.

Model 5 was created in order to analyse the linear relationship between TPSE and all factors described in Table 1. As it can be seen (in Table 2), this model explains on average 21% of variation of TPSE. The model works the best in Latvia, but in Estonia there are other significant factors that should be included in the model in order to explain variation of TPSE as good as in Latvia.

Collaborative Patterns

To answer to the second research question, the authors of this article compared teachers with high and low TPSE levels. The first 4 patterns describe teachers' collaboration with students. The authors compared how many percent of teachers in each corresponding TPSE level strongly agrees that they have these teacher – student collaboration patterns. Next eight patterns describe teachers' collaboration with other teachers (see Table 3).

As it is seen in Table 3, there are many patterns of collaboration that differentiate teachers with high TPSE and low TPSE levels in every country of comparison.

More teachers with low TPSE than those with high TPSE strongly agree that when the lesson begins, they have to wait quite a long time for students to quieten down in all countries of comparison, except Estonia. Two to five times more teachers with high TPSE than low TPSE strongly agree that students in their classrooms take care to create a pleasant learning atmosphere. In all countries of comparison more teachers with low TPSE strongly agree that they lose quite a lot of time because of students interrupting the lesson than teachers with high TPSE. The same can be said about disruptive noise – in all countries of comparison, except Estonia, more teachers with low TPSE report disruptive noise than their colleagues who have high TPSE.

As it can be seen in Table 3, similar patterns of collaboration continue within teacher-teacher collaboration between teachers with low TPSE levels and high TPSE. More teachers with high TPSE than low TPSE reported practising all eight collaboration patterns at least once a month. Despite the difference between countries in both country groups being too diverse to unite them unambiguously under an umbrella of patterns in the Baltic countries or in the Nordic countries, several patterns can be distinguished. In the Nordic countries there are more teachers both with high and low TPSE who at least once a month: 1) teach jointly as a team in the same class, 2) provide feedback to other teachers about their practice and 3) exchange or develop teaching materials with colleagues than in the Baltic countries. In both the Nordic countries and the Baltic countries approximately 15% teachers with high TPSE engage in joint activities across different classes and age groups. In the Nordic countries, Estonia and Latvia both teachers with low and high TPSE discuss the learning development of specific students more than teachers with high TPSE in Lithuania. From all patterns more teachers with high TPSE almost two to three times often reported working with other teachers in their school to ensure common standards in evaluations for assessing student progress. There is very small difference between teachers with low and high TPSE in the Nordic countries in the pattern of conference attendance. The number of teachers attending conferences in Latvia are extremely low. As with the 1st and 2nd collaboration factor, the participation in collaborative professional learning is more common in the Nordic countries than in the Baltic countries.

and leacher-leacher Collaboration (%)								
Factor	TPSE level	Denmark	Sweden	Norway	Finland	Estonia	Latvia	Lithuania
Strongly agree:								
1. when the lesson begins, I have to wait	low	5.6	7.9	4.6	8.3	1.8	5.6	7.0
quite a long time for students to quieten down	high	3.0	3.8	1.5	5.9	3.5	3.1	4.0
2. students in this class take care to create	low	9.8	6.9	4.3	7.6	7.0	6.1	8.1
a pleasant learning atmosphere	high	37.7	27.6	23.1	15.5	19.6	25.0	34.1
3. I lose quite a lot of time because of students interrupting the lesson	low	5.9	8.6	8.1	9.1	3.0	4.0	5.6
	high	3.2	3.3	2.5	4.0	3.1	1.0	2.6
4. there is much	low	4.5	8.0	7.8	10.3	2.2	4.1	5.0
classroom	high	2.4	4.1	2.2	5.9	3.0	2.6	3.3
At least once a month:								
1. teach jointly as a team	low	35.1	38.5	34.7	29.2	14.8	8.4	3.5
in the same class	high	40.8	45.7	43.1	38.7	26.6	26.3	7.8
2. provide feedback to	low	8.4	12.3	10.9	3.2	3.2	4.2	1.7
practice	high	17.1	18.0	13.3	9.7	7.2	14.1	7.8
3. engage in joint activities across different classes and age groups (e.g., projects)	low	10.2	9.5	5.0	5.0	4.8	2.9	2.2
	high	18.2	17.3	12.6	13.0	15.0	17.4	11.0
4. exchange or develop	low	53.0	52.1	60.5	34.4	18.2	20.4	15.4
teaching materials with	1 • 1	(2.0	(5 0	70 ((0.0	267	(2.2	20.2

Table 3. Percentage of Teachers with High or Low TPSE and Their Patterns of Teacher-Student and Teacher-Teacher Collaboration (%)

ers in this school to en-								
in evaluations for assess- ing student progress	high	53.0	68.6	70.2	46.4	55.1	57.4	34.0
7. attend team conferences	low	71.8	92.0	90.8	55.0	46.7	3.1	39.5
	high	76.8	94.0	95.1	64.1	66.7	8.4	55.8
8. participate in	low	11.9	35.0	36.2	5.0	10.0	5.9	6.3
learning	high	18.0	48.4	50.3	13.0	27.5	19.4	18.4

65.2

76.6

88.7

47.9

63.9

60.7

78.0

30.3

78.6

85.5

91.0

52.1

36.7

60.6

80.3

27.3

43.3

52.2

74.7

25.4

39.3

25.1

49.5

11.3

49.9

65.0

79.7

29.4

high

low

high

low

colleagues

students

5. discuss the learning

development of specific

6. work with other teach-

From the selected factors, Finland from the Nordic countries and Lithuania from the Baltic State countries show the least collaborative patterns, but Norwegian teachers with high TPSE show the highest collaborative patterns.

Conclusions

As the data analysis displays, significant correlation and linearity exists between TPSE and selected factors, and there is a difference in collaboration patterns between teachers with high TPSE and low TPSE. As correlations and comparisons do not display causality, the authors of this research cannot deduce whether high TPSE causes the impact on collaboration factors or the collaboration factors cause impact on high TPSE, or both have mutual causation.

In the process of data analysis, the authors of this research discovered that in the TALIS 2018 between all countries of comparison, there was no significant difference in TPSE between gender, place of residence, and school type.

All in all, the mainstream difference between teachers with high TPSE and low TPSE were clearly displayed in Table 3, i.e., on average larger number of teachers with high TPSE were engaged in the selected collaborative activities at least once a month in comparison with the teachers with low TPSE, and there were less teachers with high TPSE that reported disruptive behaviours in the classroom than the number of teachers with low TPSE. Despite there was very high diversity in teachers' behavioural patterns and perceived classroom discipline, on average there were more teachers in the Nordic countries that showed collaborative patterns than the teachers in the Baltic countries.

As this research compared only teachers with high TPSE and low TPSE, i.e., top 25% and bottom 25%, 50% of data is not compared. It should be analysed in further studies, why such a large difference between countries exists. For example, why only 15.5% teachers with high TPSE reported that they strongly agree that students in their class took care to create a pleasant learning atmosphere whereas in Denmark 37.7% teachers with high TPSE reported the same, or why only 13% of teachers in Finland with high TPSE participate in collaborative professional learning at least once a month whereas 36.2% teachers with low TPSE in Latvia did the same.

This research contributes to the body of other studies providing evidence of teacher's self-efficacy in classroom management significance and the role of different patterns of collaboration. This research supplement previous studies that had identified social utility as being one of the most influencing predictors of teacher's self-efficacy.

Aknowledgment

The publication was developed in the project No. 8.3.6.1/16/I/001 "Participation in International Education Studies", supported by the European Social Fund.

REFERENCES

Ahrari, S., Roslan, S., Zaremohzzabieh, Z., Rasdi, R., M., & Samah, A., A. (2021). Relationship between teacher empowerment and job satisfaction: A Meta-Analytic path analysis. *Cogent Education*, 8 (1898737).

Aloe, M. A., Amo, L. C., & Shanahan, M. E. (2014). Classroom Management Self-Efficacy and Burnout: A Multivariate Meta-analysis. *Educational Psychology Review*, 26, 101–126.

Armor, D., Conroy-Oseguera, P., Cox, M., King, N., McDonnell, L., Pascal, A. Pauly, E., & Zellman, G. (1976). *Analysis of the school preferred reading programs in selected Los Angeles minority schools*. (Report No. R-2007-LAUSD). Rand Corporation (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. 130 243).

Bandura, A. (1997). Self-efficacy: the exercise of control. W. H. Freeman and Company.

Bandura, A. (2001). Social Cognitive Theory: An Agentic Perspective. Annual Review of Psychology, 52, 1–26.

Barni, D., Danioni, F., & Benevene, P. (2019). Teachers' Self-Efficacy: The Role of Personal Values and Motivations for Teaching. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *10*(6), 1645.

Butler, R. (2012). Striving to connect: Extending an achievement goal approach to teacher motivation to include relational goals for teaching. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *104*(3), 726–742.

Cansoy, R., Parlar, H., & Polatcan, M. (2020). Collective teacher efficacy as a mediator in the relationship between instructional leadership and teacher commitment. *International Journal of Leadership in Education*, Published on-line. https://doi.org/10.1080/13603124.2 019.1708470

Caprara, G. V., Barbaranelli, C., Steca, P., & Malone, P. S. (2006). Teachers' self-efficacy beliefs as determinants of job satisfaction and students' academic achievement: A study at the school level. *Journal of School Psychology*, 6(12), 473–490.

Chang, C., F., Hall, N., S., Lee, S., Y., & Wang, H. (2022). Teachers' social goals and classroom engagement: The mediating role of teachers' self-efficacy. *International Journal of Educational Research*, *113*(101952).

Chesnut, S., R., & Burley, J. (2015). Self-efficacy as a predictor of commitment to the teaching profession: A meta-analysis. *Educational Research Review*, *15*, 1–16

De Feyter, T., Caers, R., Vigna, C., & Berings, D. (2012). Unravelling the impact of the Big Five personality traits on academic performance: The moderating and mediating effects of self-efficacy and academic motivation. *Learning and Individual Differences, 22*(4), 439–448.

Fackler, S., & Malberg, L. E. (2016). Teachers' self-efficacy in 14 OECD countries: Teacher, student group, school and leadership effects. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, *56*(5), 185–195.

Geske, A., & Ozola, A. (2015). Teachers' Job Satis faction: Findings From TALIS 2013 Study. *Society Integration Education, Proceedings of the International Scientific Conference*, Vol. 2. Rezekne Technology Academy.

Granziera, H., & Perera, H. N. (2019). Relations among teachers' self-efficacy beliefs, engagement, and work satisfaction: A social cognitive view. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, *58*, 75–84.

Klassen, R. M., & Tze, V. M. C. (2014). Teachers' self-efficacy, personality, and teaching effectiveness: A meta-analysis. *Educational Research Review*, *12*(6), 59–76.

Kautz, T., Heckman, J. J., Diris, R., ter Ween, B., & Borghans, L. (2014). Fostering and Measuring Skills: Improving Cognitive and Non-Cognitive Skills to Promote Lifetime Success. *Working paper series*, 20749. National Bureau of Economic Research.

Lazarides, R., & Warner, L. M. (2020). Teacher Self-Efficacy. Oxford research encyclopaedia, education. Oxford University Press.

Mammadov, S. (2021). Big Five personality traits and academic performance: A metaanalysis. *Journal of Personality*, *90*, 222–255.

Martin, N. K., Sass, D. A., & Schmitt, T. A. (2012). Teacher efficacy in student engagement, instructional management, student stressors, and burnout: A theoretical model using in-class variables to predict teachers' intent-to-leave. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 28(4), 546–559.

Marsh, H. W., Pekrun, R., Parker, P. D., Murayama, K., Guo, J., Dicke, T., & Arens, A. K. (2018). The murky distinction between self-concept and self-efficacy: Beware of lurking jingle-jangle fallacies. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *111*(2), 331–353.

Mcintyre, J., R., & Vecchione, R. (2016). Considering non-cognitive factors in the preparation and selection of educators, (pp 87–109). Khine. M., S., & Areepattamannil, S. (Eds.), *Non-cognitive Skills and Factors in Educational Attainment*, Sense Publishers.

OECD (2020). TALIS 2018 Results (Volume II) : Teachers and School Leaders as Valued Professionals, TALIS, OECD Publishing.

Ozola, A., & Geske, A. (2019). What Do Teachers Do to Promote Students' Reading Literacy at 4th Grade? – Evidence From Iea Pirls 2016 Study. *Innovations, Technologies and Research in Education, Proceedings of ATEE Spring Conference.* University of Latvia.

Pajares, F. (1996). Self-efficacy beliefs in academic settings. *Review of educational research*, 66(4), 543–578.

Sehgal, P., Nambudiri, R., & Mishra, K. S. (2017). Teacher effectiveness through self-efficacy, collaboration and principal leadership. *International Journal of Educational Management*, *31*(4), 505–517.

Skaalvik, E. M., & Skaalvik, S. (2007). Dimensions of Teacher Self-Efficacy and Relations with Strain Factors, Perceived Collective Teacher Efficacy, and Teacher Burnout. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *99*(3), 611–625.

Torsney, B. M., Lombardi, D., & Ponnock, A. (2019). The role of values in pre-service teachers' intentions for professional engagement. *Educational Psychology*, 39(1), 19–37.

Tschannen-Moran, M., & Hoy, A. W. (2001). Teacher efficacy: caputuring an elusive consruct. *Teaching and Teacher education*, *17*, 783 – 805.

Vancouver, J., B., Thompson, C., M., & Williams A. A. (2001). The changing signs in the relationships among self-efficacy, personal goals, and performance. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *86*(4), 605–620.

Zee, M., & Koomen, H. M. Y. (2016). Teacher Self-Efficacy and Its Effects on Classroom Processes, Student Academic Adjustment, and Teacher Well-Being: A Synthesis of 40 Years of Research. *Review of Educational Research*, *4*(12), 981–1015.

Woolfolk, A. E., Rosoff, B., & Hoy, W. K. (1990). Teachers' sense of efficacy and their beliefs about managing students. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 6(2), 137–148.

Hoy, A. W., & Spero, R. B. (2005). Changes in teacher efficacy during the early years of teaching: A comparison of four measures. *Teaching and Teachers education*, *21*(4), 43–356.

Wright, S. P., Horn, S. P., & Sanders, W. L. (1997). Teacher and classroom context effects on student achievement: Implications for teacher evaluation. *Journal of Personnel Evaluation in Education*, *11*(1), 57–67.

https://doi.org/10.22364/atee.2022.11

Student-Teachers' Pedagogical Reasoning in TEYL Lesson Plans and Microteaching Presentations

Mustafa Akın Güngör & Müzeyyen Nazlı Güngör

Gazi University, Turkey

ABSTRACT

Pedagogical reasoning enables student-teachers to better understand their own teaching practices, analyse what, why and how they teach, and become aware of their teaching practices. This case study aims to understand student- teachers' decisions and the pedagogical reasoning behind these decisions in lesson plans in an English language pre-service education programme. Three third-year English language student-teachers enrolled in a pedagogical content knowledge course "Teaching English to Young Learners" (TEYL) participated in this study. We collected qualitative data from lesson plans, reflection notes on these performances and plans, and interviews with student-teachers in the TEYL course. We used Shulman's model of pedagogical reasoning and action as a conceptual model to explore the complexity of learning to teach English to young learners. Data were analysed iteratively through content and thematic analysis. The results indicated that student-teachers made decisions mainly in the transformation and instruction stages, and that their pedagogical reasoning emerged from the theory of TEYL and their assumptions about the characteristics of very young and young learners. More opportunities should be provided to increase their self-consciousness, selfknowledge and sense of agency through reflective tasks, action research projects and teaching practice. The study has implications for student-teachers who need guidance and motivation to prepare reflective lesson plans and for teacher educators who need to raise student-teachers' awareness about decision making and pedagogical reasoning.

Keywords: pedagogical reasoning, lesson planning, student-teachers, English, microteaching, TEYL

Introduction

Lesson planning has always been a fundamental competence for studentteachers (STs) around the world. It has been stated as a target competence for STs to gain in methodology courses such as teaching English to young

learners (TEYL), practicum in Turkey (CoHE, 2018) and in P-12 teacher education programme accreditation in the US (Pang, 2016). In these programmes, quality teaching has been related to teachers' knowledge, skills, and dispositions, and planning a lesson and implementing instruction appear as two vital competences for STs to master (Liyanage & Bartlett, 2010). Lesson planning has also been viewed as a notable characteristic of expert teachers (Farrell, 2013; Tsui, 2009).

At pre-service level, planning lessons and microteaching are offered within methodology courses. STs are assessed based on their preparation and readiness in lesson plans and performances in micro teachings. From this perspective, it is widely accepted that STs can best reflect their teaching skills and competences in lesson plans and micro teachings (Pang, 2016). Through enriched reasoned and reflected teaching experiences in these courses (Nilsson, 2009), STs may be aware of their knowledge needs, and build bridges between theory and practice meaningfully. Similarly, Zeichner (1995) argues that taking STs' attention to certain aspects of their teaching via reflection and reasoning was necessary for increasing their awareness and developing critical eye in the future.

Decision making and pedagogical reasoning are main concepts in teachers' lesson planning and effective teaching (Loughran, 2019; Pang, 2016). Teachers make approximately ten decisions per hour during their instruction (Asghari et al., 2021). The quality of these decisions affect their effective teaching strategies and lesson delivery. There are various factors shaping teachers' decisions: students' background, age, emotions, interests and needs, the nature of the lesson, duration, teaching materials, objectives, and the syllabus (Boadu et al., 2020). As a result of these factors, we make decisions and be aware of contextual limitations and tensions, make adaptations, evaluate effective strategies, and then prefer appropriate techniques. Freeman (1989) considers teaching as a decision making process in which teachers observe, try to understand, reach answers and employ appropriate strategies in their classes.

For Shulman (1987), these decision making steps establish pedagogical reasoning. Pedagogical reasoning has been considered an essential component for STs to develop professionally and intellectually (Nilsson, 2009; Pang, 2016). Decision making and pedagogical reasoning take time, require critical analysis of their teaching moments, involve a process with dynamics; therefore, exploring the reasons behind these decisions helps teacher educators understand what they do and why they do it in instruction giving, and STs become more empowered to search for new ways of qualifying their teaching. Teaching consists of a cyclical process of reasoning and transformation (Shulman, 1987). This cycle starts with comprehension and continues subsequently in order of transformation, instruction, evaluation, reflection, and new comprehension (Shulman, 1987, p. 14). In this model, a teacher starts with comprehension in which they first endeavour to understand the subject matter, the functions and notions of the topic, real

contexts in which the target structures can be applied, and the aims of their teaching. Next, through critical analysis of materials for communication purposes, the teacher goes into a critical interpretation of the subject matter, pedagogy, and context either by using analogies, metaphors, or examples, or by using realia or authentic tasks to represent the learning content most effectively. In this way, the teacher makes sure that the target content is clear to students regardless of their diverse learning styles. Then, the teacher is engaged in managing the classroom, explaining, interacting with students, discussing and providing effective teaching. This is the instruction stage in which they enact the observable performance with appropriate practical teaching strategies. Following instruction is evaluation which includes monitoring of learning during teaching, formal testing to give feedback to students, and reconsidering materials, the lesson delivery of the teacher, and the lesson, which leads to reflection at the same time. In the reflection stage, the teacher reflects on his actions and recaptures the important moments, emotions, strengths and/or weaknesses of the lesson to derive new understandings regarding their preferences made in the planning and instruction stages. As a result of the reflection, the teacher achieves new insights into their teaching through experience.

The role of pedagogical reasoning and decision making in lesson plans has captured the attention of various scholars in the teacher education field (Asghari et al., 2021; Cheng et al., 2014; Nilsson, 2009). Liyanage and Bartlett (2010) attempted to address the problem of STs' lesson planning by establishing their own model that included their deliberate metacognitive structuring of a lesson both in planning and review phases. Their study confirmed positive shifts in STs' holistic thinking and a student-centeredness in the critical perspectives they took in both planning and review. Similarly, Cheng et al. (2014) focused on STs to understand whether and how they developed their pedagogical understanding and made development during the teacher education programme. The integration of pedagogical understanding with the teaching contexts, integration of feedback from educators and their focus of concern may be the causes for STs' differences in pedagogical understanding. Their study suggests teacher educators enhance STs' sense of agency with an awareness of individual beliefs and theories about learning and teaching. Nilsson (2009) explored the critical incidents which influence STs' pedagogical reasoning in learning to teach with their concerns and needs. As a result, it was found that incidents which were related to classroom management and students' attitudes and learning were the mostly stated factors which affected their pedagogical reasoning. Kavanagh et al. (2020) aimed to understand to what extent and in what ways teacher educators mediated novice teachers' opportunities to engage in pedagogical reasoning. Their results indicated that teacher educators supported novice teachers in representing, decomposing and approximating teaching in practice-based teacher education, which

valued pedagogical reasoning. Novice teachers were also the focus of Asghari et al.'s (2021) study in which they aimed to identify the novice English teachers' decisions and the pedagogical reasons behind their decisions. They identified six decisions teachers frequently made in implementing instructions and a list of pedagogical reasons such as time management, COVID-19, students' levels, using L1, and so on. Başar (2021) also investigated the main reasons behind English language instructors' decision making skills when departing from pre-planned lesson plans. Affective factors, academic needs, classroom management and timing were found to be the main reasons behind the departure. Also, these teachers' beliefs in deviation from lesson plans were consistent with the decisions they made during their teaching practice. It is advised for teacher educators to prepare STs not only for ideal lesson plans but also the realities of the real teaching atmospheres by giving room for STs' decision making skills against unprecedented incidents.

As the literature shows, although pedagogical reasoning and lesson planning were investigated from different perspectives in different contexts, there has been a scarcity of research for STs' pedagogical reasoning and decision making skills in second language teacher education microteaching sessions. Therefore, this study examines the decisions made by English language STs and the pedagogical reasoning behind these decisions in a methodology course "Teaching English to Young Learners" in a pre-service programme. Accordingly, this study addresses the research questions below:

- What decisions do STs make in TEYL microteaching courses?
- What are the pedagogical reasons behind these decisions?

Methodology

The study utilised a case study method which was exploratory and descriptive in nature in the data collection and analysis procedures (Mackey & Gass, 2015). Case study research design was employed because it allows researchers to capture and describe the complexity of real-life events.

Participants

Three third-year English language student-teachers participated in this study. They were attending the TEYL course at the time of the study. Their ages were 20. One of them was male while the rest were female. The courses they had taken in the programme were advanced writing, listening, speaking, reading, approaches and methods, special teaching methods, literature, linguistics and language acquisition. Ali (the male ST) was interested in teaching very young learners. He was teaching kindergarten students at the time of the study. He is an affectionate, passionate and hardworking student-teacher. Irem (one of

the female participants) just started to tutor secondary school pupils during the study. It was a new experience for her. Through this study, she became more empowered to seek new ways of conceptualising her own teaching techniques and practices. Leyla (the other participant) was new to the TEYL field. The course was the first place for her to be introduced to the field. She had no teaching experience before. The participants were selected through purposive sampling from the ELT programme of a large state university in Middle Anatolia in Türkiye. They submitted consent forms before the study. The reason for preferring purposive sampling and case study design was to gain a rich and deeper understanding of their decisions and pedagogical reasoning. For ethical reasons, participating STs were given pseudonyms. The study was approved by the university ethics committee.

Data Collection

Data came from three sources: STs' lesson plans, reflection notes on these performances and plans, and interviews with student-teachers in the TEYL course. In this way, we aimed to achieve methodological triangulation in data collection. In terms of the TEYL syllabus, STs were required to prepare two lesson plans: one for preparing a song, an art and craft, and a game for very young learners, and the other one for storytelling, and to perform these plans in microteaching sessions. STs referred to their decisions and pedagogical reasoning in three stages of the lesson plans: pre-stage, while-stage and post-stage of the lesson. In other words, each ST developed at least three decisions and reasons per lesson plan. According to the rules of the course, the topic/theme of the plans were assigned by the teacher educator for each ST separately. These plans and microteaching performances took place twice in an academic term, one for midterm and the other one for final evaluation. In total, we collected six lesson plans and participated in six presentations.

Data source	Data collection timing	Aim of the tools
Two lesson plans per ST	one in April and one in June	to help STs plan their teaching presentations, to evaluate STs' techniques and strategies in planning
Reflection notes per ST	one in April and one in June	to enable them to self-evaluate their plans and performances
Interviews with STs	one after midterm presentation, the other one after final presentation	to deepen researchers' understanding of STs' reasoning

Table 1. Data collection details
TO BE OR NOT TO BE A GREAT EDUCATOR, 2022

M. A. GÜNGÖR & M. N. GÜNGÖR. Student-Teachers' Pedagogical Reasoning in Teyl Lesson Plans and ..

Next, the participants were asked to write their reflections on their plans and performances. In the face-to-face interviews which were conducted after the presentations, they were requested to verbalise their decisions and explain their reasons behind in detail while they were revising their lesson plans step by step. Their responses were audio-recorded and later transcribed for content analysis. Their reflections were also analysed in content and themes.

Data Analysis

Shulman's (1987) pedagogical reasoning model was used as the data analysis framework in this study. Data analysis started with content analysis and thematic categorization (Mackey & Gass, 2015). First, each researcher read each data set repeatedly to identify recurring themes from the comprehension to the evaluation stages of Shulman (1987). In this way, we focused on understanding the decisions and reasons behind them which they preferred in simulated contexts. Then, they came together and compared their analysis for inter-rater reliability (Miles & Huberman, 1994). The agreement rate for each data set was found to be 90% and above.

Results

Results were presented in order of the research questions. Both research questions were addressed in relation to Shulman's cycle. So, as an answer to the first research question, we identified the types of decisions each ST reported in their plans and made in microteaching presentations from comprehension to evaluation stages. To start with the first ST, İrem prepared one lesson plan for teaching English to young learners (ages 6–12) and one for very young learners (ages 3–6). Her assigned topic for the first plan was Farm Animals for young learners and for the second plan was Life Below Water for very young learners.

İrem's decisions came from the target age group learners' characteristics, learning styles and her pedagogical content knowledge. She tried to transform the theoretical knowledge she gained in courses into practice in the plans and presentations. Since it was quite a difficult transformation for her at the first lesson plan, she gained self-confidence and got used to thinking and behaving like a very young learner thanks to the in-class sample teaching activities in TEYL courses. Below (Table 2) we present İrem's decisions and pedagogical reasoning behind them.

İrem reflected on her overall plan and performance after her micro-teaching. On her performance, she stated: "I recognized the fact that I love preparing materials for young learners". She discovered herself and the target group. She developed herself in terms of body language use, using her voice effectively, and full teaching potential to very young learners.

Pedagogical reasoning cycle	STs' decisions	STs' pedagogical reasoning behind these decisions
comprehension	using simple past tense for 6-year-old learners for a series of actions sea animals did below water	to enable them to be familiar with the "World Oceans Day", to learn about actions for saving the ocean, and to make sentences with the target vocabulary items
transformation	choosing elicitation technique, decorating the class like ocean	to raise curiosity of learners, to help them imagine the ocean and familiarise themselves with target words about ocean
instruction	using storybook, guided listening activity, story-reading technique trash collection game	to take their attention, to engage them in the story actively, to raise their awareness about saving the ocean
evaluation	story sequencing activity, controlled writing activity	to check their memory about the story, to improve their visual literacy

Table 2. İrem's decisions and reasons

She also mentioned: "TEYL lesson plans taught me the fact that each and every method has a meaning and a purpose to be used according to learners' needs and interests."

For example, comprehension, in Shulman's (1987) definition, means that teachers should first understand the subject matter themselves and then understand how ideas are connected. From this aspect, İrem said that she had a good knowledge of subject matter in the topics of lesson plan (the use of simple past tense for narration). As for her own self-confidence to teach it, she had some hesitations due to learners' age, mother tongue and characteristics. Hence, in her midterm lesson plan, she did not prefer kinesthetic activities very much for fear of losing the classroom management and students' concentration. This could have affected her evaluation and performance in the eyes of the teacher educator. However, in her final presentation, she became more aware of the teaching methods and techniques. She related this improvement to the in-class short sample teaching activities in which the educator guided the whole class in the TEYL sessions. She explained: "We planned everything so elaborately that we could show what we aimed for in the plan explicitly and successfully."

Second, Leyla's first plan was for young learners on the topic of "fruits" while her second plan was for very young learners and on the topic of "good health and wellbeing". She recycled healthy and unhealthy food she used in her first plan and connected them to her new topic in the second presentation. Different from İrem, Leyla's decisions emerged from her endeavour to relate her lesson plan to real classroom context because she believed that language learning should resemble daily life situations. In this way, she thought students could make sense of what they were learning in the classroom. She searched for the daily context

students communicated to each other on health and wellbeing, contacted classroom teachers about this topic used in kindergartens, and learnt what kind of activities they loved doing about it. As a result, she prepared a list of activities and tasks based on her research and preparation. Then, she related these activities to a set of useful language items by checking some language course books. Her aim was to engage students in a variety of real-like communicative activities in which they could use the target language for real purposes. In the post-stage of her plan, she considered students' motor skills and oral language development.

Pedagogical reasoning cycleSTs' decisionsSTs' pedagogical reasoning behind these decisionscomprehensionusing present simple tense for daily habitsto make the classroom learning real life like to create a real like contexttransformationparticipate in group work activities, singing a song, odd-one-out activity, preparing a healthy lunch boxto practice the target language orally, to reinforce learners' previous knowledge or singing a song, colours and food (for recycling the words), to relate classroom tasks with daily life activitiesinstructionusing a puppet choosing a Hippo as the main character in the story (characterisation) letter recognitionto understand their comprehension of the topic via motor skills and oral production			
comprehensionusing present simple tense for daily habitsto make the classroom learning real life like to create a real like contexttransformationparticipate in group work activities,to practice the target language orally, to reinforce learners' previous knowledge o singing a song, odd-one-out activity, preparing a healthy lunch boxto relate classroom tasks with daily life activitiesinstructionusing a puppet choosing a Hippo as the main character in the story (characterisation)to reate interaction, to enhance classroom interaction to develop their motor skillsevaluationdrawing and tellingto understand their comprehension of the topic via motor skills and oral production	Pedagogical reasoning cycle	STs' decisions	STs' pedagogical reasoning behind these decisions
transformationparticipate in group work activities,to practice the target language orally, to reinforce learners' previous knowledge o colours and food (for recycling the words), odd-one-out activity, preparing a healthy lunch boxto relate classroom tasks with daily life activitiesinstructionusing a puppet choosing a Hippo as the main character in the story (characterisation) letter recognitionto reate interaction, to develop their motor skillsevaluationdrawing and tellingto understand their comprehension of the topic via motor skills and oral production	comprehension	using present simple tense for daily habits	to make the classroom learning real life like to create a real like context
instructionusing a puppet choosing a Hippo as the main character in the story (characterisation) letter recognitionto raise their curiosity, to create interaction, to enhance classroom interaction to develop their motor skillsevaluationdrawing and tellingto understand their comprehension of the topic via motor skills and oral production	transformation	participate in group work activities, singing a song, odd-one-out activity, preparing a healthy lunch box	to practice the target language orally, to reinforce learners' previous knowledge of colours and food (for recycling the words), to relate classroom tasks with daily life activities
evaluation drawing and telling to understand their comprehension of the topic via motor skills and oral production	instruction	using a puppet choosing a Hippo as the main character in the story (characterisation) letter recognition	to raise their curiosity, to create interaction, to enhance classroom interaction to develop their motor skills
	evaluation	drawing and telling	to understand their comprehension of the topic via motor skills and oral production

Table 3. Leyla's decisions and reasons

Third, Ali's midterm presentation was for very young learners on the topic of "clothes" while his final presentation was on "celebrations" for 8-year-old young learners. Due to his target culture preference in the plan, he decided to choose "Halloween" as the "celebrations" theme. In case students may fear from some Halloween characters, he planned to choose some cute and age-appropriate characters and emphasise that they are all fictional characters. He prioritised concrete words and action verbs instead of abstract concepts. For this reason, he employed a game, art and craft activity, and a song to verbalise the characters and verbs through body language. He believed that students would better internalise the concepts and new words through interaction with each other. Thus, he mainly focused on speaking and listening skills in the design of his activities. Also, to address all learning styles, he incorporated four language skill-based activities in his plan. Unlike his peers, he preferred to check students' comprehension and give feedback in every stage of his lesson plan.

Pedagogical reasoning cycle	STs' decisions	STs' pedagogical reasoning behind these decisions
comprehension	to practice "have/has got" through Halloween characters for expressing possession.	to show possession through the materials of interesting characters
transformation	art and craft activity look and say approach watching and singing a song	to verbalise characters in practice of "have/has got" to help them visualise Halloween party and to give them an aim for oral participation
instruction	writing a letter	to practice party invitation for a friend
	a Halloween text	to practice reading for the main idea for spoken interaction
	a game	for encouraging extroverted students
	sing along the song and find a partner reading and letter writing activities	for encouraging introverted students
evaluation	using puppets, asking comprehension questions, ordering activities and "find your partner" activity	for checking and feedback as a guest in the classroom, for reading correction,
	using verbal positive reinforcement: "well done, great job, so on."	for encouragement and positive reinforcement

Table 4. Ali's decisions and reasons

Discussion and Conclusion

This study aimed to examine the decisions STs made and the pedagogical reasons behind these decisions in TEYL lesson plans and microteaching presentations. Explored through lesson plans, observations of microteaching presentations, and reflection notes over an academic semester, the study yielded a range of decisions and reasons behind them across three STs. Rather than comparing these STs to each other as in some other studies (Tsui, 2009), the study in this paper provides a more descriptive and inclusive understanding of the STs' decisions and actions in a TEYL context. They prepared lesson plans individually as the course requirement. While they were preparing their microteaching presentations with materials and activities based on the lesson plans, they endeavoured to imagine a typical very young or young learner classroom, their behaviours, reactions, feelings and needs through British Council Kids videos, National Geographic videos, and other young learner channels on YouTube. Then, they transferred, adapted, and altered their decisions, plans and actions accordingly before the presentations. From this aspect, it may be criticised that STs did not observe a typical

classroom in the Turkish context in which they are expected to teach after the graduation, and so they did not internalise or understand the problems, situations or affordances they could meet. Hence, we agree with Nilsson (2009) in that STs should be provided with sample critical incidents to help them better foresee and understand the student profile and classroom situations in such methodology classes.

The first research question aimed to understand the decisions STs made in TEYL lesson plans and microteaching presentations while the second question was to identify the pedagogical reasons behind these decisions. Both decisions and their reasoning appeared to be closely related and complementary in STs' answers, so we preferred to present them in relation to each other here. Since they were in a simulated practice context at a pre-service programme and most of them had not been involved in a teaching practice before, they could not imagine what the actual young learner classrooms would be like or require them to react. Hence, their decisions mainly came from the techniques and principles (the theory) they learnt in the TEYL course.

Mostly preferred techniques for the "transformation" stage appear to be art & craft activities, using songs, and using visuals. This stage is defined to be the stage in which teachers adapt their content knowledge (subject matter knowledge) into forms and ways that are pedagogically powerful and responsive to learner varieties for effective teaching. All STs reasoned that students would learn best when they imagined the context which was the ocean in one example and the Halloween party in another. For this reason, they preferred addressing their visual learning style and imagination, which was parallel to students' characteristics as taught in the theoretical part of this course. For fear of losing classroom management and students' attention, however, they did not prefer kinesthetic activities in midterm presentations and lesson plans. They felt incompetent about learners' age (3-6 years old and 6-12 years-old target groups) and characteristics while they were preparing lesson plans for the first time. They believed that they would not be able to manage the class properly in their first microteaching attempt, so this became the deterring factor for them. Another reason for this was the teacher educator's evaluation criteria. In other words, they thought their lessons may not continue as they planned or expected in the lesson plan and this could cause lower grades for the TEYL course at the programme. Unlike the participants in Asghari et al.'s study (2018), the participants in this study did not prefer to use the native language of the students. A possible reason for this is the importance of English mediated instruction as suggested in TEYL theory and the teacher educator's limitations of STs about this issue. To better understand these STs' tendency, consistency and preference to keep teaching in the target language, future studies as also conducted by Güngör et al. (2019) may involve tracing, observing and interviewing novice teachers in terms of pedagogical reasons and

decisions they made in their own teaching contexts when they become novice teachers. One limitation of this study might be the fact that although they learnt in the theoretical part of the course, they could not identify the learner varieties in its exact sense for making their teaching effective and responsive. They assumed, imagined and contextualised their micro teachings only through videos and classroom descriptions as defined by the educator.

We are also aware that STs' decisions appeared mostly in the "transformation" and "instruction" stages of Shulman's (1987) cycle. To continue with the "instruction" stage, STs preferred using a puppet and a storybook about the target theme because they believed that students at these ages would learn best if their attention was taken and their curiosity aroused through their favourite materials they used in their daily lives (Pang, 2016). This finding is in line with that of Nilsson (2009) in which the participants emphasised the importance of connecting concepts to the pupils' everyday world to make it concrete for them. They also reasoned that if they were engaged in the story which was the learning context for them, they could achieve interaction, keep their attention, and encourage all students to speak authentically. Particularly, STs developed more self-confidence after the midterm presentations as the theoretical knowledge was transferred into practical knowledge more through sample art and craft, song, game, storytelling, simple listening, speaking, and limited reading and writing activities in the TEYL courses. Such a wide range of application of techniques in the class encouraged STs and deterred them from feeling ashamed of being ridiculous in front of their classmates. Clearly, as also acknowledged by Nilsson (2009), the teacher educators must understand the STs' emotions and reasons which could limit or enhance their decisions in preparing lesson plans and microteaching presentations. Accordingly, they may shape their methodology course content by taking these concerns, limitations or enhancements into consideration at pre-service programmes.

Another stage in which STs expressed their decisions and reasons was the "evaluation" although not varied as in two previous stages. STs decided to check students' comprehension by keeping their motor skills active (asking them to draw and tell), checking their memory (story sequencing activity), and giving feedback to them (verbal positive reinforcement through "well done, great, so on). They preferred to evaluate the students' learning or comprehension at the end of the lesson which was also the post-stage of the lesson plan (Pang, 2016). The simulated context made it difficult for STs to understand if and to what extent students in the real context would understand and learn or not in this stage. This, inevitably, shows us another limitation of the study resulting from simulated contexts. For this reason, they only referred to their peers' comments, feedback and questions to understand how much a real very young or young learner would understand or learn in the classroom.

An important finding in this study is that STs felt confident about the subject matter knowledge due to the order and content of target topics to be taught to very young and young learners. The appropriate topics for this age group were seen as simple and mastery to any language user. For this reason, STs did not experience any anxiety or lack of self-confidence in the transformation, instruction or evaluation stages related to the target content. In that sense, the findings of this study should not be generalised over other methodology courses which were, for example, aimed for adult learners, but be compared and contrasted with other studies conducted in the TEYL context at pre-service programmes. However, their stress emerged from the age, characteristics and learning styles of this age group of students and the need to simplify the content to the characteristics of these students. As an overcoming strategy, they found it useful to observe and take notes of the comments and feedback provided by the educator on plans and performances of their peers throughout the term as also found out in Cheng et al.'s (2014) study.

In general, STs found the lesson planning and pedagogical reasoning practices in the TEYL course cognitively demanding but at the same time useful and awareness-raising. They could figure out the actual reasons and actions behind their decisions thanks to the pedagogical reasoning oriented lesson plans instead of trying to obey the course evaluation criteria or the educator's syllabus only. Through the pedagogical reasoning oriented lesson plans and interviews on presentations enabled them to reflective reasoning, STs could confirm or change their emerging beliefs about TEYL and gained multiple perspectives of their peers and the educator on the teaching and learning that took place in the presentations. Nevertheless, in order to better understand what STs think, know, believe and do, there is a need for more in-depth awareness raising studies which explore their pedagogical reasoning through longitudinal studies in language teacher cognition research as also suggested by Borg (2003) and Freeman (2002).

REFERENCES

Asghari, M., Alemi, M., & Tajeddin, Z. (2021). Novice EFL Teachers' Decision-making and Pedagogical Reasoning in Implementing Instruction. *Two Quarterly Journal of English Language Teaching and Learning University of Tabriz*, 13(28).

Başar, S. (2021). Exploring EFL Teachers' Decision-Making Skills: Departure from Lesson Plans. *ELT Research Journal*, *10*(1), 61–82.

Boadu, G., Donnelly, D., & Sharp, H. (2020). History teachers' pedagogical reasoning and the dynamics of classroom implementation in Ghana. *History Education Research Journal*, *17*(2).

Borg, S. (2003). Teacher cognition in language teaching: A review of research on what language teachers think, know, believe, and do. *Language teaching*, *36*(2), 81–109.

Cheng, M. M., Tang, S. Y., & Cheng, A. Y. (2014). Differences in pedagogical understanding among student-teachers in a four-year initial teacher education programme. *Teachers and Teaching*, *20*(2), 152–169.

Council of Higher Education (CoHE). (2018). Guideline for the teaching practice of student-teachers in state schools in Turkey [Uygulama öğrencilerinin Milli Eğitim Bakanlığı'na bağlı eğitim-öğretim kurumlarında yapacakları öğretmenlik uygulamasına ilişkin yönerge]. https:// oygm.meb.gov.tr/meb_iys_dosyalar/2018_06/25172143_YYnerge.pdf (Retrieved August 3, 2022)

Farrell, T. S. (2013). Reflecting on ESL teacher expertise: A case study. *System*, *41*(4), 1070–1082.

Freeman, D. (1989). Teacher training, development, and decision making: A model of teaching and related strategies for language teacher education. *TESOL quarterly*, 23(1), 27–45.

Freeman, D. (2002). The hidden side of the work: Teacher knowledge and learning to teach. A perspective from North American educational research on teacher education in English language teaching. *Language teaching*, *35*(1), 1–13.

Güngör, M. N., Akcan, S., Werbinska, D., & Ekiert, M. (2019). The early years of teaching: A cross-cultural study of Turkish and Polish novice English teachers. *Eurasian Journal of Applied Linguistics*, *5*(2), 287–302.

Kavanagh, S. S., Conrad, J., & Dagogo-Jack, S. (2020). From rote to reasoned: Examining the role of pedagogical reasoning in practice-based teacher education. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, *89*.

Liyanage, I., & Bartlett, B. J. (2010). From autopsy to biopsy: A metacognitive view of lesson planning and teacher trainees in ELT. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, *26*(7), 1362–1371.

Loughran, J. (2019). Pedagogical reasoning: the foundation of the professional knowledge of teaching. *Teachers and Teaching*, *25*(5), 523–535.

Mackey, A., & Gass, S. M. (2015). Second language research: Methodology and design. Routledge.

Miles, M. B., & Huberman, A. M. (1994). Qualitative data analysis: An expanded sourcebook. Sage.

Pang, M. A. Y. (2016). Pedagogical reasoning in EFL/ESL teaching: Revisiting the importance of teaching lesson planning in second language teacher education. *Tesol Quarterly*, *50*(1), 246–263.

Nilsson, P. (2009). From lesson plan to new comprehension: Exploring student teachers' pedagogical reasoning in learning about teaching. *European Journal of Teacher Education*, 32(3), 239–258.

Shulman, L. (1987). Knowledge and teaching: Foundations of the new reform. *Harvard educational review*, *57*(1), 1–23. https://doi.org/10.17763/haer.57.1.j463w79r56455411

Tsui, A.B., (2009). Teaching expertise: approaches, perspectives, and characterization. In Burns, A., Richards, J. (Eds.), *Cambridge guide to second language teacher education*. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, pp. 190e197.

Zeichner, K. M. (1995). Reflections of a teacher educator working for social change. In T. Russell and F. Korthagen (Eds.), *Teachers who teach teachers: Reflections on teacher education* (pp. 11–24). Routledge.

https://doi.org/10.22364/atee.2022.12

Exploratory Study on Latvian Secondary School Teachers' Understanding of the Concept of Scientific Literacy

Agnese Davidsone, Vineta Silkane

Vidzeme University of Applied Sciences, Latvia agnese.davidsone@va.lv; vineta.silkane@va.lv

ABSTRACT

Teachers' scientific knowledge and understanding of science are prominent in determining how teaching scientific literacy will be integrated in the curriculum. However, in previous literature in-service teachers' understanding of scientific literacy has not been studied sufficiently. This qualitative study aims to close this gap and explore how Latvian secondary school teachers (N = 23) understand the concept of scientific literacy. In our study, we distinguished three dimensions of scientific literacy: procedural, affective, and conceptual. Our results indicate that teachers associate scientific literacy mainly with the aspects related to procedural dimension: having knowledge about conducting a scientific study, applying scientific methods, and having an understanding about scientific concepts and processes. Teachers do not perceive themselves as highly scientifically literate for a variety of reasons. For the teachers interviewed, features of scientific literacy overlap with media and information literacy and critical thinking. We conclude that the teachers' understanding only partly covers the depth and breadth of the concept of scientific literacy, and differs depending on teachers' previous education and school subject thought. The importance of teachers' (further) education in developing their understanding of the concept of scientific literacy is discussed.

Keywords: scientific literacy, media literacy, critical thinking, scientifically literate person, secondary school teachers

Introduction

Schools undoubtedly are among the main developers of appreciation of science in society and the main providers of science literacy during one's school years (Solomon, Scott & Duveen, 1996). However, since the emergence of the scientific literacy concept in late 1950s, the teaching of science at schools and the

varied notions of scientific literacy have been an object of heated discussions for researchers and policy makers. Educational goals or constructs, as said by Wilson (1986, p. 27), often "take on a life of their own ... before we know, literally, what we are talking about." Wilson (1986) has proposed that, before we uncritically accept (or reject) any educational goal, first we should attempt to answer the question of meaning, i.e., what is meant by the construct or educational goal? While on a macro level, the meaning of scientific literacy can change depending on the context such as the constraints of the curriculum or institution (Miller, 1998; Laugksch, 2000), on a micro level, it solely depends on teachers' scientific knowledge, their own understanding of science, as well as their ability to assess students' conception of science (Schwartz & Lederman, 2002). Surprisingly, in this long-standing discussion, the voices of educators and in-service teachers and analysis of their interpretations of what it means to be scientifically literate and how such an educational goal can be achieved are understudied (e.g., Choi et al., 2011). Hence, in the present study, our aim is to examine teachers' own interpretations of the concept of scientific literacy. The premise of this study is that by understanding teachers' conceptualizations, it is possible to propose a vision on teacher education and further education and to design new curriculum and professional development frameworks.

In the present study, we also problematize the immoderate focus on science as belonging to natural ("hard") subjects that does not equally include social sciences and humanities (Charlton, 2006). This creates a risk of these disciplines being marginalized in the debate about school science. Moreover, the long-standing split between sub-cultures of humanistic/social and "hard" sciences (Snow, 1990) has never truly been removed from the discussions about scientific literacy in schools. Besides that, we add this specific layer of analysis to our study because in the Latvian context, it is intriguing to discuss teachers' interpretations of scientific literacy from the school subject perspective due to the current changes in the educational paradigm. Since the late 1990s, in Latvian school system the pressure on educators has been mainly to increase the number of students who pursue education and careers in STEM (science, technology, engineering, and mathematics) fields (Kiselova & Gravite, 2017; Karaseva, 2017), thus marking a clear line between the STEM subjects and the rest of the disciplines taught. However, the current school reform, labeled as "School 2030", is grounded in competence-oriented and interdisciplinary teaching framework that prepares students to creatively master the various economic, political, social and cultural challenges in a rapidly changing world (Birzina, Pigozne & Cedere, 2021). Such an approach calls for curricula implementation that is based on the principles of inter- or trans-disciplinarity and the development of students' inquiry skills that breaks the long-standing boundaries between school subjects (Goodson & Mangan, 1995).

Conceptualizations of scientific literacy

There is no single agreed definition of the term "scientific literacy." Rather, a number of conceptualizations exist that stress the varying elements of content knowledge, attitudes, and skills (for extensive reviews see DeBoer, 2000; Laugksch, 2000; Roberts, 2007), leading actually to a conclusion that the concept has become "ill-defined and diffuse" (Laugksch, 2000, as cited in Dillon, 2009, p. 201). Reportedly first used in 1952, the term "scientific literacy," states, in a very condensed manner, that being scientifically literate means "being educated and possessing knowledge in and about science" (Norris & Phillips, 2016, p. 947). Norris and Phillips (2003) note that the term is often used to refer to the following aspects: understanding the nature of science and its relationships with socio-cultural issues, understanding of science and its applicability, appreciation of and comfort with science, including its wonder and curiosity, distinguishing what is and what is not science, ability to use scientific knowledge in everyday life, appreciation of science, its benefits, and understanding the risks of science, ability to think critically about science, and deal with scientific expertise. In an attempt to consolidate the rather scattered aspects of scientific literacy, Miller (1983) proposed a three-dimensional conceptualization consisting of

- a) an understanding of the norms and methods of science;
- b) an understanding of key scientific terms and concepts; and
- c) an awareness and understanding of the impact of science and technology on society.

Similarly, Kemp (2004) has suggested a three-dimensional model of scientific literacy that entails the following:

- a) procedural dimension (learning about science, using science in everyday life, applying science for social purposes, being able to decode and encode scientific communication, think scientifically, engage in inquiry, and use the tools of science);
- b) affective dimension (having appreciation for science, interest in science, inclination to stay up to date with science development and science related social problems, having objective and open mind, and having self-confidence to use science); and
- c) the conceptual dimension (knowledge of science history, science concepts, science vocabulary, principles of science, and limitations of science, as well as the understanding of the interrelations between science, society, and technology, and the understanding of science as a social activity).

Based on an extensive literature review, Chadwick (2018) proposed that scientific literacy can be defined as consisting of various individual and societal aspects. She argued that various combinations of competencies and skills of science, knowledge of the content of science, knowledge of nature of science, and knowledge of scientific processes (all being individual aspects of scientific literacy) impact our interactions with society. For example, knowledge of the nature of science and understanding about the scientific process supports the development of sympathetic and critical attitude towards science (a societal aspect of scientific literacy); while knowledge of scientific content together with competencies and skills of science enables us to actively participate in scientific society (Chadwick, 2018). A scientifically literate individual also can have a sympathetic and critical view of science that benefits them in their daily lives (AAAS, 1989; DeBoer, 2000). For example, they can carry out basic critical evaluation and participate in a discussion about reports of science in the media (DeBoer, 2000).

Advancing the idea of scientific literacy as a multi-dimensional concept, Choi et al. (2011) have outlined a scientific literacy definition for the 21st century. It consists of five dimensions:

- a) scientific contents;
- b) mental habits—communication, systematic thinking, information management, and the use of evidence;
- c) character and values to act responsibly;
- d) science epistemology and the relations of science with society;
- e) metacognition and self-direction.

For them, scientifically literate individuals are global citizens who "are active agents who take responsibility to resolve global issues with moral and social compassion and ecological worldview" (Choi et al., 2011, p. 682).

In academic literature, quite prominent also are the conceptualizations of scientific literacy as a continuum. Among the most well-known such frameworks are those developed by Shamos (1995) and Bybee (1997). As proposed by Shamos, a continuum consists of the degrees of "sophistication as well as the chronological development of the science-oriented mind" (Shamos, 1995, p. 87). For him, the first degree, "cultural scientific literacy," is the simplest, and in Shamos' view, it represents the level of scientific literacy possessed by most educated adults who know science-related terms and their definitions, and thus are able to "recognize many of the science-based terms (the jargon) used by the media, which is generally their only exposure to science" (Shamos, 1995, p. 88). The second form, "functional scientific literacy," entails some level of command of a scientific vocabulary—a "science lexicon" (p. 88)—but it also means that the individual is able to discuss, read, and write using science terms in a nontechnical but meaningful context. A functionally scientifically literate individual would thus not only be able to read and comprehend a science-based newspaper article, but would also be able to communicate the content of the article to somebody else. The third form and level of scientific literacy, "true scientific literacy," according to Shamos (ibid.), is the most difficult to attain, because in addition to the previous forms, also involves, knowledge about the scientific enterprise, science epistemology, and analytical and deductive reasoning skills.

Conceptualizations of scientific literacy as a continuum has led to questioning of whether deep sophisticated knowledge about science is necessary for/is attainable to everyone (for "pro" arguments of such a proposition see Shamos (1995); for a critique of it, see, e.g., Fensham, 2002). As a response, two main views on teaching science at schools (called Vision I and Vision II) have emerged, namely the "focus-on-sciences-and-scientists" (Vision I) and the "focus-on-situations" approaches (Vision II) (Roberts, 2007). Vision I is linked to Shamos' (1995) proposed dimension of "true scientific literacy" that is claimed by him not to be necessary for or attainable by everyone. In the school context, Aikenhead (2006) has described it as learning or teaching science with an aim to prepare future scientists. It emphasizes science as a discipline that demands procedural and propositional knowledge (Liu, 2013), and its subsequent application in a lab-based environment (Bybee, 1997; 2016).

Vision II (and its extension into Vision III-see, e.g., Roth & Barton, 2004, Santos, 2009) on the contrary, draws on a socio-cultural perspective of teaching and learning science, and, as noted by Aikenhead (2006), recognizes that science is not isolated content, but involves rich cultural connotations (values, attitudes, power relations), where both the products and processes of science are embedded in social situations that we face as citizens. Valladares (2021) describes science teaching at schools as a slowly progressing journey from teaching that is focused on the memorization of scientific concepts and laws (Vision I), toward a scientific teaching focused on the study of science risks and impacts on society and, more recently, on the role of science as a tool for social change (Vision II). Hence, often the ways of promoting scientific literacy at schools have been criticized for placing too much focus on a mere body of concepts or indisputable facts (Leden, Hansson & Redfors, 2017), shaped by the image of laboratory science (Roth & Lee, 2002). It is said that while striving to achieve the educational goals related to scientific literacy, schools are missing the sociocultural context of science and insufficiently covering the epistemology of science (Lederman, 2007; Lederman, Lederman & Antik, 2013). It is also said that the competing Visions I and II manifest themselves in current evaluative designs and strategies for teaching and learning. For example, while PISA evaluations are characterized by contextualizing the survey items making it clearly linked to Vision II, at the same time, TIMSS assessments, through its textbook questions without context, reflect the spirit of Vision I (Bybee, 2016; Liu, 2013).

Vision II also tries to tackle the long-standing problem of "two cultures" coined by C. P. Snow in his famous Rede Lecture at Cambridge University in 1959 (Snow, 1990), in which he highlights the sharp division between humanities, social sciences, and natural sciences caused by the narrowing of the notion of "science" to only include natural sciences and using the term "scientist" to only refer to a person who works in or studies an area of natural science. TO BE OR NOT TO BE A GREAT EDUCATOR, 2022

A. DAVIDSONE, V. SILKANE. Exploratory Study on Latvian Secondary School Teachers' Understanding ...

The **Table 1** provides an overview of the various conceptualizations on scientific literacy summarized above. In this summary, we indicate that most of the previous proposals distinguish mainly among three dimensions of scientific literacy: knowledge (cognitive dimension), skills (procedural dimension), and attitudes (affective dimension).

Author Knowledge Skills Attitudes Miller, 1983 an understanding of an awareness and the norms and methods understanding of the of science (i.e., the impact of science and nature of science); technology on society an understanding of key scientific terms and concepts (i.e., science content knowledge); content of science; scientific attitude National science process Academy, 1996 context of science Gräber et al., Subject competence; Learning competence; Ethical competence 2001 Epistemological Social competence; competence Procedural competence: Communicative competence Norris & Understanding the Ability to use scientific Appreciation of Phillips, 2003 nature of science and knowledge in everyday and comfort with its relationships with life science, including its socio-cultural issues; wonder and curiosity, understanding of distinguishing what is science and its and what is not science; applicability appreciation of science, ability to think critically its benefits, and about science and deal understanding the risks of science with scientific expertise Kemp, 2004 Conceptual (e.g. science Procedural (e.g. use appreciation for science; interest in concepts; science science everyday vocabulary; broad life; apply science for science; objective, open principles of science social purposes; think mind and skepticism; ethical values; selfetc.) scientifically; reason and argues; judge the confidence to use validity of claims; solve science problems; integrate knowledge; engage inquiry; use some of the tools of science etc.)

Table 1. Overview of the various conceptualizations of scientific literacy in previous literature

Author	Knowledge	Skills	Attitudes
Chadwick, 2018	Knowledge of nature of science; knowledge of scientific content; knowledge of scientific processes	Competences and skills of science	
PISA, 2018	Scientific understanding: an individual's understanding of scientific concepts, phenomena and processes	Science inquiry skills: their ability to apply this knowledge to new and, at times, non- scientific situations	

Table 1. Continued

Parallels with media and information literacy and critical thinking

The various conceptualizations of scientific literacy entail understanding of science communication or abilities to evaluate trusted sources of scientific information, hence tapping the domains that are typically attributed to media literacy (Rosenthal, 2020). The same can be said about critical thinking. Such a trend has intensified itself due to the growing amounts of science related disinformation, especially during the current COVID-19 pandemic, and the need to grasp the complex role that the digital media play in informing audiences about science-related issues and the cognitive challenges that we experience as media audiences (Singh & Banga, 2022). For the purposes of this study, we conceptualize scientific literacy, media literacy, information literacy, and critical thinking as related but still distinct concepts, and propose that it is fruitful to explore the relationships between them.

The popular descriptions of media literacy refer to the abilities to access, analyze, evaluate and create messages in a wide variety of media modes and formats, and recognize the role and influence of media in society (Aufderheide & Firestone, 1993; Livingstone, 2004). It is generally believed that there are links between scientific literacy, how individuals generally use media, and people's media consumption habits. For example, proficiency in media consumption positively correlates with scientific literacy (e.g., see Takahashi & Tandoc, 2016). Information literacy is often defined as the ability to search for, select, critically evaluate, and use information for solving problems in various contexts (Bawden, 2001).

As for critical thinking, it refers to disciplined and structured intellectual process in which an individual engages when he or she conceptualizes, applies,

analyzes, and/or assesses information obtained from different sources. An individual exercises his or her critical thinking by considering the various alternatives when judging (Ennis, 1987; Hatcher & Spencer, 2000). Previous studies indicate that skills to critically evaluate the accuracy of scientific information online are related to practices of information consumption and sharing (Vosoughi, Roy & Aral, 2018; for a review see Madathil et al., 2015).

The aim of the present study and research questions

To date, few studies have focused on in-service teachers' understanding of the concept of scientific literacy (Choi et al., 2011). Moreover, there is a dearth of studies on the views on scientific literacy of different subject teachers. Hence, in the present study, we explore how Latvian secondary school teachers understand the concept of scientific literacy.

In our study, we aim to capture the views of teachers of STEM, humanities, and social sciences. We examine teachers' understanding from three different angles. First, the "meaning" of scientific literacy is clarified by asking our study participants "How do you describe scientific literacy?", second, we identify what are the participants' views on the "elements" of the concept of scientific literacy by asking "What characterizes a scientifically literate (or illiterate) person?", and third, we apply the lens of reflectivity (Roth & Barton, 2004) by asking how scientifically literate the study participants feel and why.

Method

Participants. Participants were recruited by using purposive sampling. Participation in this study was voluntary. Twenty-three individual interviews were conducted among 25–67 year old secondary school teachers (seven men, 16 women; length of service at the school from one to forty-four years). Teachers represented the following subjects: nine STEM teachers (Mathematics, Biology, Chemistry, Physics, Geography, ICT), seven social sciences teachers (Economics, Psychology, Political science), five humanities teachers (Latvian language, English as foreign language), one sports and one design teacher. When quoted, study participants were identified by code number, area of teaching subject (STEM, SS – social sciences, HS – humanities, other) and age (for example, A1, HS, 28).

Data collection. Semi-structured interviews (40–60 min) were used as a data collection method. Interview questions were formulated in such a way that it would be possible to find out teachers' understanding of science literacy, as well as to examine the following topics: science literacy, scientific literacy, characteristics of a scientifically literate person. Participants were informed about the confidentiality of the information collected.

Data analysis. Inductive thematic analysis was used. First, repeated examinations of each interview took place. Then, the search and definition of topics and

sub-topics was performed. As a result of the thematic analysis, we defined, for example, the following themes: scientific literacy (knowledge, skills, attitudes), scientifically (ill)literate person (see Table 2 for topics, sub-topics and examples).

Торіс	Sub-topic	Example
Scientific literacy	Knowledge	"I understand that it is knowledge, understanding of different scientific concepts, processes that are necessary for everyday life." (A2, STEM, 39)
	Skills	"I think that scientific literacy could be related to the methods of scientific research, its design." (A1, HS, 28)
	Attitudes	"Scientific literacy is when we trust scientific discoveries." (A11, other, 44)
Information literacy		"Literacy is the way they (students) know how to find information." (A18, HS, SS, 37)
Critical thinking		"I think it is the ability to deal with facts, to argue your point. Critical thinking – either I accept the facts as true or false." (A13, SS, 46)
Scientifically literate person	Others	"A scientifically literate person goes about his daily life in a way that is accepted or scientifically proven throughout the world." (A10, STEM, 67)
	Self	I feel more scientifically literate than the average member of the public because I have written scientific papers, and I know what to do if you have to gather a lot of information. (A16, SS, 37)

Table 2. Topics, sub-topics, and examples

Results

1. The teachers' views on the concept of scientific literacy

Following the structural distinction that we established in reviewing the theoretical conceptualizations of scientific literacy, we coded the results on teachers' views on the concept of scientific literacy by looking at three dimensions: conceptual dimension (knowledge), procedural dimension (skills), and affective dimension (attitudes).

On the conceptual dimension, most of the teachers who participated in our study mainly emphasized that scientific literacy means understanding the general concepts of science, understanding what a scientific theory is, and knowing different scientific terms (science vocabulary). Several teachers also noted that scientific literacy is achieved by developing abilities to think in the ways scientists think. Notion of scientific literacy was explained by comparing them to media and information literacy and critical thinking, for example, in the words of one of our study participants:

The way I understand it [scientific literacy], well, let's say, I read some text about what is happening in the world, I immediately think: "The way it was presented, is it the opinion of one person? Or is it based on some research?" I think of the human ability to think critically, understanding of which sources is scientific literature, but which is a gossip page. (A3, STEM, 48)

Our study participants also mentioned that scientific literacy means making decisions, based on scientific information. However, one teacher insisted that a "general scientific" literacy does not exist, for her scientific literacy meant deep knowledge in a specific discipline (A9, HS, 49).

On the procedural dimension, several teachers noted that science is a process, hence also scientific literacy can be associated with its procedural properties: application of various research methods, being able to measure, make conclusions, and compare your findings with the previous literature. During the interviews, the skills for collecting data were emphasized. One of our study participants said that "scientific literacy is related to scientific research methods, their creation, study designs" (A1, HS, 28). When asked to explain more in detail which research methods teachers have in mind, most of them referred to scientific observations that are typical in natural sciences. As one teacher explained, scientific literacy manifests through

some issue that people are deeply interested in. In biology and such fields people can experiment in a laboratory, they experiment with it [the issue] in a lab environment. (...) Then it is proved, described. This cannot be done without research. (A12, SS, 53).

On the affective dimension, we coded only two items and found two types of trust in our data: trust in scientists and trust in scientific discoveries. Both types of trust were associated with features that overlap with some elements of media and information literacy, such as being able to critically evaluate information sources. As one of the teachers interviewed said:

I haven't heard such a term [scientific literacy], but I think what it might mean is trusting scientists who have dedicated their time to researching a problem, not trusting your neighbor posting on Facebook some rubbish. (A16, SS, 37)

An interview participant who was speaking about the affective dimension of scientific literacy emphasized the role of science communication that, in his opinion, could be improved in order to increase the public's trust in scientific discoveries and raise the overall level of scientific literacy in the society. He said that scientific literacy is when we trust scientific discoveries when we read about them in the media. Scientific literacy is that we know how to check resources, facts, it is similar to media literacy. (...) As nowadays everything we know comes mainly from the media, including scientific discoveries, therefore in general, scientists should communicate more with society, then scientific literacy will also be greater. (A11, other, 44)

2. The teachers' views on what characterizes a scientifically literate person.

When coding our data related to the second research question "What characterizes a scientifically literate (or illiterate) person?", we initially applied the same three-dimensional coding scheme focusing on the conceptual, procedural, and affective dimensions of scientific literacy, however, after reviewing all codes, we created a fourth—occupational—dimension.

On the cognitive dimension, the views on what characterizes a scientifically literate/illiterate person overlapped with the descriptions that teachers used when explaining their understanding of the concept of scientific literacy. For our study participants, a scientifically literate person was knowledgeable about scientific theories, about scientific processes, and is able to discuss issues related to science. Most of the teachers insisted that a truly scientifically literate person has deep expert knowledge in only one or, in rare occasions, in several fields. One the teachers explained:

A scientifically literate person is one who understands and has delved into one field of science, who can explain like an expert. From my point of view, if I know, if I have studied history, then I can explain something about it, but if don't have clarity, then I can't explain anything. (A7, HS, 51)

For this interviewee, "clarity" meant knowledge of the general paradigms dominant in the specific discipline. Formal studies finalized with a degree in one specific discipline was the key to ensure that the dominant paradigms are learned. She said: "If I hadn't studied [the field], I could misunderstand things or understand them not in the right way."

On the cognitive dimension, we also found that data codes overlap with the notions of media literacy and critical thinking: several of the study participants equated scientific literacy with information and media literacy. In the words of one of our study participants: "Most likely, a scientifically literate person will be a smart person, an informed person, a person who consumes information carefully, and who has skills of logical thinking and critical thinking." (A9, HS, 49). On cognitive dimension our participants also emphasized the need to develop a habit of constantly improving one's knowledge about science-related matters.

When describing a scientifically illiterate person, teachers most often said that such a person does not know scientific terminology (in the words of one teacher, "does not speak the language of science"), and has limited understanding about science. Parallels were drawn with information illiteracy and potential consequences associated with the lack of this skill, for example, by saying that such a erson is an easy target for manipulation.

On the procedural dimension, the abilities to use technologies, different equipment for engaging in scientific activity, knowing and applying the principles of academic ethics, and, more generally, demonstrating evidence-based behavior in everyday life were mentioned as the characteristics of a scientifically literate person. In this dimension, we noticed overlaps with information literacy, when the study participants compared scientific literacy with doing research by using various information sources before making decisions.

Scientific illiteracy on the procedural dimension, according to our study participants, manifests itself through arguing against science, refusing to act according to scientists' advice, engaging in discussions on science topics without understanding them, and again, overlapping with information literacy, not evaluating information, and not doing proper information analysis before shaping one's opinion.

On the affective dimension of a scientifically literate person, participants noted that such a person trusts science, appreciates science and its discoveries, is enthusiastic and supportive toward science, is motivated to study, learn about science, and is self-motivated to increase one's level of knowledge about science. On the contrary, a scientifically illiterate person was characterized as distrusting scientists, believing in pseudoscience, and, as several of our study participants emphasized, not having interest in the world, and being indifferent to the important issues and challenges that we face as societies. It was discussed in the context of the School 2030 reform, and posed as a challenge that teachers face. One teacher explained:

If a student has the will and desire to understand science, then they also are scientifically literate. You can immediately feel that a student wants to do something, discover something, and check how things work. (A20, STEM, 54)

We established a fourth layer of analysis, the **occupational dimension**, to highlight the participants' views where the professional engagement in science as the core criterion for being a scientifically literate person was expressed. Several of our interviewees pictured such a person, in the words of one of the participants: "He/she is a scientist – creative, passionate, open minded and with a broad horizon." (A19, STEM, 46). The views on an illiterate person justified the creation of this fourth—occupational—dimension, because several teachers

noted that a scientifically illiterate person is the one who is not professionally involved in science.

3. The teachers' views on their own levels of scientific literacy

When asked about their own self-perceived levels of scientific literacy, teachers were quite modest and in most cases—critical towards themselves. When asked to assess their scientific literacy on the scale from 1 to 10 (where 1 is "very low" and10 is "very high"), only three teachers said that they are able to assess their scientific literacy in numerical terms. The answers that they gave were "between 4 and 5", "7" and "between 7 and 8", indicating that they do not evaluate their scientific literacy as being high. Instead of assessing their scientific literacy with a number, several teachers provided reasoning about what makes them feel scientifically literate. One quite often used explanation was that they feel to some extent scientifically literate because of their **knowledge** in specific fields – the school subject that they are teaching or a discipline that they personally are interested in (e.g., medicine, biology) due to some health issues or some other reasons. Several teachers responded that they feel to some extent scientifically literate because they have interest in the subject that they teach at school and an urge to update knowledge and follow the developments in this one specific science field. For others, the indicator that they are scientifically literate was skills in carrying out scientific studies, supervising student research.

Explanations for self-perceived scientific illiteracy. Several reasons can be identified why the teachers assessed their own scientific literacy as being rather moderate and actually quite low. In a number of interviews, links between scientific literacy and information literacy can be identified: these were manifested through, first, self-perceived inability to find, read and understand scientific articles, and second, self-perceived insufficient information processing habits:- the lack of skills to evaluate the credibility of information source and find trusted sources. One teacher explained: "I am moderately scientifically literate, my problem is that I tend to trust people and information uncritically" (A1, HS, 28).

In one instance, the self-perceived low levels of scientific literacy were related to the lack of computer handling skills ("I 'cannot do' ICT"), and in one instance were related to lack of foreign language skills that was the main obstacle why the teacher cannot read scientific studies in their original language of publishing.

We coded two items under the **occupational dimension**: one teacher said that she cannot assess her scientific literacy because "only scientists are scientifically literate, and I am not a scientist." Another teacher explained that "scientific literacy is not for everybody," indicating later during the interview that the presence of scientific literacy is related to one's occupation as a scientist (A23, STEM, 44).

Discussion and Conclusions

In this study, we aimed to explore how Latvian secondary school teachers understand the concept of scientific literacy. We examined teachers' understanding from three different angles. First, the "meaning" of scientific literacy was clarified by asking our study participants "How do you describe scientific literacy?," second, we identified what are the participants' views on the "elements" of the concept of scientific literacy by asking "What characterizes a scientifically literate (or illiterate) person?," and third, we applied the lens of reflectivity (Roth & Barton, 2004) by asking how scientifically literate the study participants feel and why. In this section we will discuss, first, the main findings from the study, and second, provide recommendations for the educators of teachers and teachers' (further) education to develop teachers' understanding of the concept of scientific literacy.

The thematic analysis of the interviews allowed us to assess the link between the expectations placed on teachers and their perceptions of scientific literacy, i.e., teachers are not expected to educate students based on the latest scientific findings. One of the main themes that emerged from the analysis of the results is that most teachers don't see their work as related to science and consequently teachers do not think that they have a role in introducing students to scientific discoveries and establishing links between the school science and students' daily life. Most of our study participants said that they follow the prescribed curriculum and use ready-made teaching materials and textbooks that do not tell how to use science to explain everyday phenomena. It indicates the dominance of Vision I (Roberts, 2007) approach where the school science means "lab science", while the current educational reform in Latvia "School 2030" requires the opposite by postulating that every student should be scientifically literate, understand the process and challenges of science in order to be able to build one's own opinions based on facts (Skola 2030, n.d.). We conclude by arguing that there seems to be a gap between the core ideas of the new curriculum and the fact that teachers who are now implementing it have difficulty in seeing the links between their subjects taught and science, and understanding that science is an interdisciplinary effort, and is heavily theory-laden (Choi et al., 2011). Paradoxically, teachers teach science-based knowledge and scientific discoveries, but their perceptions lack this link between the subject and science, i.e., they do not see themselves as promoters of science.

Another important finding was the realization that teachers align scientific literacy with deep knowledge in one field or discipline. It became most evident when teachers were speaking about their own levels of scientific literacy and compared this with disciplinary knowledge in the subjects that they teach. In their utterances, teachers highlighted that one universal scientific literacy and general understanding of the nature of science does not exist, but it is tied to

the expertise in a specific discipline. Moreover, teachers' understanding about scientific literacy referred mainly to the procedural dimension or one's abilities to carry out a scientific study, collect and analyze data, etc. Much less attention was paid to the epistemology of science as well as the conceptual dimension, especially the social aspects, relations between science and society. In previous literature, it is documented as a disciplinary literacy that is developed by teachers as representatives of different academic disciplines and used to produce and construct knowledge within one specific disciplinary community (e.g., Zygouris-Coe, 2015; Rainey et al., 2017). As a conclusion, we agree with previous literature that there are risks with such an approach, as warned by Holbrook (2010). He notes that scientific literacy must by all means be developed in a meaningful social context-the real world outside the walls of the school, where the everyday challenges require interdisciplinary thinking and solutions that do not derive from one specific discipline. If there is too much emphasis on preserving the subject boundaries and focusing on the disciplinary content without links to a larger picture, the true purpose of teaching scientific literacy becomes hidden (Lederman, Lederman & Antik, 2013).

During the data analysis, it became obvious that scientific literacy is not integrated into the professional identity of teachers. Many of them did not assess their own scientific literacy as being high, and generally proposed that scientific literacy is possessed by those people who can be called as scientists because of their occupation and workplace—an academic institution or a scientific institute. For teachers it is much easier to identify themselves as being information literate, data literate, and media literate than science literate. These former literacies were familiar to teachers and these encompass skills that many teachers reported as being trained to use in their daily work. Our conclusion here is that this finding once again highlights the gap between everyday school life and science: teachers are familiar with the basic facts of science they trust science and use its results, but are not always aware that the knowledge of scientific methods and the understanding of the nature and process of science is necessary for everyone, not just scientists. Here again we established parallels with the Vision I on scientific literacy (Shamos, 1995). It is something to consider in the light of the recent educational reform School 2030 that is drawn on cross-disciplinarity.

Speaking about teacher (further) education, in the context of School 2030 and also within the post-pandemic context, we suggest adding additional emphasis on two issues. First, the broadness of the concept of scientific literacy is not covered sufficiently in teacher training programs. Our analysis shows that teachers are mostly directed toward learning the procedural aspects of scientific literacy, while the conceptual and affective domains lay untouched. Also, the conceptual clarity must be established, distinguishing between various literacies—scientific literacy, media literacy, information literacy, and other literacies, of course, also

indicating the overlaps between these similar but still distinct concepts. And second, teacher educators should pay more attention to the cross-curricularity aspects of scientific literacy development of student teachers and also in-service teachers. Our results indicate that the subject boundaries influence the teachers' views on the concept of science and inevitably also their teaching of science. It would be preferable also for helping students to establish a coherence between different school subjects (McClune, Alexander & Jarman, 2012) which a highly appreciated path to take for implementing the Vison II approach in teaching science in schools (Valladares, 2021). Here we can refer to recent studies conducted in Latvia that highlight the necessary changes for teacher educators and teacher education curriculum in Latvia (Pipere et al., 2022; Odina, Mikelsone & Grigule, 2021), e.g., to include in all subject teaching more topics related to scientific literacy such as research ethics, presentation of scientific results, and others (Davidova & Zariņa, 2021; Jurgena, Cēdere & Keviša, 2015).

Our suggestion for future studies is related to the teachers' views on the structure of the concept of scientific literacy. In teachers' views, it was overlapping with various other literacies, especially media literacy and information literacy. Critical thinking was seen by our study participants as a fundamental aspect of scientific literacy, too. Of course, previous literature outlines that information literacy and critical thinking are necessary for the development of scientific literacy (e.g., Rosenthal, 2020; Takahashi & Tandoc, 2016), but they are not the same concept. Our small sample and qualitative approach allowed us to catch a glimpse here on the given problem, but our findings indicate that there is a need to study this further and capture the teachers' perceptions of science and scientific literacy knowing that the ways how teachers integrate scientific literacy promotion in their teaching solely depends on their scientific knowledge and their own understanding of science (Schwartz & Lederman, 2002).

Limitations of the study are related to the small size of our sample and the qualitative approach that does not let us generalize our findings.

Acknowledgements

This research is funded by the Latvian Council of Science, project "Scientific school culture for sustainable society" project No. lzp-2021/1-0135.

REFERENCES

American Association for the Advancement of Science (1989) Project 2061: science for all Americans: a Project 2061 report on literacy goals in science, Mathematics and Technology. Washington DC: AAAS.

Aikenhead, G. S. (2006). *Science Education for Everyday Life: Evidence-based practice*. London: The Althouse Press.

Aufderheide, P., & Firestone, C. M. (1993). *Media literacy: A report from the leadership conference on media literacy*. Washington, DC: Aspen Institute, Communications and Society Program.

Bawden, D. (2001). Information and digital literacies: A review of concepts. *Journal of Documentation*, 57(2), 218–259.

Birzina, R., Pigozne, T., & Cedere, D. (2021). Students' readiness for stem learning within the context of national education reform. *Human, Technologies and Quality of Education*, 657–752. https://doi.org/10.22364/htqe.2021.53

Bybee, R. W. (1997). Toward an understanding of scientific literacy. In W. Gräber & C. Bolte (Eds.), *Scientific literacy – an international symposium*, Institut für die Pädagogik der Naturwissenschaften, 37–68.

Bybee, R. (2016). Scientific literacy. In R. Gunstone (Ed.), *Encyclopedia of science education* (pp. 944–946). Springer.

Chadwick, R. (2018). Development and assessment of scientific literacy for secondary level science education. PhD thesis, Dublin City University.

Charlton, B. G. (2006). Science school and culture school: Improving the efficiency of high school science teaching in a system of mass science education. *Medical Hypothesis*, 67, 1–5.

Choi, K., Lee, H., Shin, N., Kim, S. W., & Krajcik, J. (2011). Re-conceptualization of scientific literacy in South Korea for the 21st century. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, *48*(6), 670–697.

Croce, K. A., & Watson-Vandiver, M. J. (2020). Understanding science literacy and decisionmaking. What does science literacy have to do with it. In K. A. Croce & J. B. Firestone (Eds.), *Developing Science Literacy in the 21st Century* (pp. 5–22). Charlotte, NC: IAP.

Davidova, J., & Zariņa, S. (2021). Focusing on aspects of research ethics in teacher training programs of Latvia. In *Proceedings of EDULEARN 21 Conference*, July 5–6, Daugavpils (Vol. 5, p. 6th).

DeBoer, G. E. (2000). Scientific literacy: Another look at its historical and contemporary meanings and its relationship to science education reform. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, *37*, 582–601. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/1098-2736(200008)37:6 < 582::AID-TEA5 > 3.0.CO;2-L

Dillon, J. (2009). On scientific literacy and curriculum reform. *International Journal of Environmental & Science Education*, 4(3), 201–213.

Goodson, I., & Mangan, J. F. (1995). Subject cultures and the introduction of classroom computers. *British Educational Research Journal*, *21*(5), 613–629.

Ennis, R. H. (1987). A taxonomy of critical thinking dispositions and abilities. In J. B. Baron & R. J. Sternberg (Eds.), *Teaching thinking skills: Theory and practice*. New York, NY: W. H. Freeman.

Fensham, P.J. (2002). Time to change drivers for scientific literacy. Canadian Journal of Science, Mathematics and Technology Education, 2, 9–24.

Gräber, W., Nentwig, P., Becker, H.-J., Sumfleth, E., Pitton, A., Wollweber, K., & Jorde, D. (2001). Scientific literacy: From theory to practice. In Gräber et al., *Research in Science Education – Past, Present, and Future*. Springer, Dordrecht. https://doi.org/10.1007/0-306-47639-8_6

Hatcher, D. & Spencer, L. A. (2000). *Reasoning and writing: From critical thinking to composition*. Boston, MA: American Press.

Holbrook, L. (2010). Education through science as a motivational innovation for science education for all. *Science Education International*, *21*(2). 80–91.

Jurgena, I., Cēdere, D., & Keviša, I. (2015). Innovative and Traditional Elements in the Work of Academic Staff: The Views of Pre-Service Teachers. *Journal of Teacher Education for Sustainability*, *17*(2), 74–90.

Karaseva, A. (2017). Manifestations of teacher professional agency in relation to integration of ICT in teaching. *Society. Integration. Education. Proceedings of the International Scientific Conference*. Rezekne Academy of Technology, Latvia Vol. 3, pp. 500–514.

Kemp, A. C. (2004). Science educators' competing views on the goal of scientific literacy. Ph.D. Thesis, University of Georgia, Georgia, GA, USA, 2002.

Kiselova, R., & Gravite, A. (2017). STEM education policies and their impact on the labour market in Latvia. *Paper prepared for the Annual International Conference of the Bulgarian Comparative Education Society (BCES)* (15th), Borovets, Bulgaria.

Laugksch, R. C. (2000). Scientific literacy: A conceptual overview. *Science Education, 84*(1), 71–94.

Leden, L., Hansson, L., & Redfors, A. (2017). From black and white to shades of grey. *Science & Education*, 26(5), 483–511.

Lederman, N. G. (2007). Nature of science: Past, present, and future. In S. Abell & N. Lederman (Eds.), *Handbook of research on science education*. Mahwah, NJ: Erlbaum.

Lederman, N. G., Lederman, J. S., & Antink, A. (2013). Nature of science and scientific inquiry as contexts for the learning of science and achievement of scientific literacy. *International Journal of Education in Mathematics, Science and Technology*, 1(3), 138–147.

Livingstone, S. (2004). What is media literacy? *Intermedia*, 32(3), 18–20. http://eprints.lse. ac.uk/id/eprint/1027

Liu, X. (2013). Expanding notions of scientific literacy: A reconceptualization of aims of science education in the knowledge society. In Mansour, N., Wegerif, R. (Eds.), *Science Education for Diversity. Cultural Studies of Science Education*, Vol. 8. Springer, Dordrecht. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-007-4563-6_2

Madathil, K. C., Rivera-Rodriguez, A. J., Greenstein, J. S., Gramopadhye, A. K. (2015). Healthcare information on YouTube: A systematic review. *Health Informatics Journal*, *21*(3), 173–194. https://doi.org/10.1177/1460458213512220

McClune, B., Alexander, J. & Jarman, R. (2012). Unexpected allies: advancing literacy in a "Science – English" cross-curricular context. *International Journal of Educational Research*, *55*, 66–78.

Miller, J. D. (1983). Scientific Literacy: A Conceptual and Empirical Review. *Daedalus*, 112(2), 29–48. http://www.jstor.org/stable/20024852

Miller, J. D. (1998). The Measurement of Civic Scientific Literacy. Public Understanding of Science, 7, 203–223.

Norris, S. P., & Phillips, L. M. (2003). How literacy in its fundamental sense is central to scientific literacy. *Science Education*, *87*(2), 224–240.

Norris, S., & Phillips, L. (2016). Scientific literacy: its relationship to "literacy". Encyclopedia of science education. https://link.springer.com/content/pdf/10.1007 %2F978-94-007-6165-0_179-1.pdf.

Odina, I., Mikelsone, I., Grigule, L. (2021). Factors determining the choice of the teacher's career among the applicants of pre-service teacher education programmes. *Psychology and Education*, *58*(3), 2838–2848.

Pipere, A., Kravale-Pauliņa, M., & Oļehnoviča, E. (2022) Present and Future of Teacher Education Admission: Perspectives From Europe. *Journal of Teacher Education for Sustainability*, 24(1), 145–168.

Rainey, E. C., Maher, B. L., Coupland, D., Franchi, R., & Moje, E. B. (2017). But what does it look like? Illustrations of disciplinary literacy teaching in two content areas. *Journal of Adolescent & Adult Literacy*, *61*(4), 371–379.

Roberts, D. A. (2007) Scientific literacy/science literacy. In Abell, S. K. & Lederman, N. G. (Eds.), Handbook of Research on Science Education (pp. 729–780). Mahwa, New Jersey: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.

Rosenthal, S. (2020). Media literacy, scientific literacy, and science videos on the Internet. *Frontiers in Communication*, *118*(15). https://doi.org/10.3389/fcomm.2020.581585

Roth, W. M., & Barton, A. C. (2004). Rethinking scientific literacy. New York: Routledge.

Roth, W. M., & Lee, S. (2002). Scientific literacy as collective praxis. *Public understanding of Science*, *11*(1), 33.

Santos, W. (2009). Scientific literacy: a Freirean perspective as a radical view of humanistic science education. *Science Education*, *93*(2), 361–382.

Schwartz, R. S. and Lederman, N. G. (2002). "It's the nature of the beast": The influence of knowledge and intentions on learning and teaching nature of science. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, *39*, 205–236. https://doi.org/10.1002/tea.10021

Shamos, M. H. (1995). *The myth of scientific literacy*. New Brunswick, NJ: Rutgers University Press.

Singh, N., & Banga, G. (2022). Media and information literacy for developing resistance to 'infodemic': lessons to be learnt from the binge of misinformation during COVID-19 pandemic. *Media, Culture & Society, 44*(1), 161–171. https://doi.org/10.1177/01634437211060201

Skola [School] 2030. (n.d.). Vision of the student. https://www.skola2030.lv/lv/macibu-saturs/merki-skolenam/redzejums-par-skolenu

Snow, C. (1990). The Two Cultures. Leonardo, 23(2/3), 169-173.

Solomon, J., Scott, L., & Duveen, J. (1996). Large-scale exploration of pupils' understanding of the nature of science. *Science Education*, *80*(5), 493–508.

Takahashi, B., & Tandoc, E. C. (2016). Media sources, credibility, and perceptions of science: Learning about how people learn about science. *Public Understanding of Science*, 25(6), 674–690. https://doi.org/10.1177/0963662515574986

Wilson, B. (1986). What is a concept? Concept teaching and cognitive psychology. *Performance and Instruction*, *25*(10), 16–18.

Valladares, L. (2021). Scientific literacy and social transformation. *Science & Education, 30*, 557–587 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11191-021-00205-2

Vosoughi, S., Roy, D., and Aral, S. (2018). The spread of true and false news online. *Science*, 359(6380), pp. 1146–1151. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aap9559

Zygouris-Coe, V. (2015). Teaching discipline-specific literacies in grades 6–12. Routledge.

About the authors

Agnese Dāvidsone, PhD, is an associate professor and lead researcher in media and communication studies at Vidzeme University of Applied Sciences, Latvia. She is the co-author of several publications and book chapters on pedagogical agency, scientific literacy, media and information literacy.

Vineta Silkāne, Dr. psych., is an associate professor at Vidzeme University of Applied Sciences. She is the author and co-author of several publications on health behaviour, health procrastination, health literacy, scientific literacy, media literacy and civic participation.

https://doi.org/10.22364/atee.2022.13

Stress Resilience and Coping Mechanisms of the Regional University Students in the 2nd Wave of COVID-19 Pandemic

Dzintra Iliško, Jeļena Badjanova, & Vitālijs Raščevskis

Daugavpils University, Latvia dzintra.ilisko@du.lv; jelena.badjanova@du.lv; vitalijs.rascevskis@du.lv

ABSTRACT

Stress is a typical reaction to internal or external factors that are disrupting equilibrium in one's life or daily routine. In this study stress in considered as a multifaceted factor resulting either in good or bad outcomes depending on one's mindset and context. The context of the study is the second wave of the COVID-19 pandemic when University students were forced to continue to pursue a remote learning experience and had to adapt to new learning norms and circumstances. The focus of the study is on how the pandemic and the remote learning have influenced students' stress resilience and how it correlates with their coping strategies. As for the theoretical framework authors have chosen a biopsychosocial (BPS) model where a challenge or a threat is related to the way we think about situational demands and find coping resources that are available to interact with the stressful situation. Stress resilience in this article is discussed as an effective comping mechanism in order to regain the equilibrium. The aim of the study is to explore the factors causing stress of bachelor level students in one of the regional universities of Latvia and their coping mechanisms with stress during the 2nd wave of pandemics. The design of the study is a complementary use of quantitative and qualitative methodology that allows indepth exploration of students' experience during the second wave of pandemic. The methods or instruments: The authors chose students' diary as a means of reporting events that are causing stress in students' life as well as a questionnaire with the students who are engaged in diverse programmes during the second wave of the pandemic (n=196 students) and factors determining their stress resilience.

Keywords: stress resilience, coping mechanisms, pandemic, digitalization, higher education

Introduction

The pandemic has started in year 2019 in China, in the city of Wuhann at the end of 2019 and expanded all over the world. The pandemic took place throughout year 2020 and this study was carried out in the 2nd wave of pandemic when universities have already made a transition to a remote teaching and students have already adjusted to a New Normal. Universities of Latvia have successfully adapted the model of remote learning in the 2nd wave of pandemic. Major social, political, and economic changes that took place worldwide due to COVID-19 pandemic have caused changes in everyday reality, work routine, life style, job structures and interaction patterns. Pandemic caused social distancing, lockdowns, thus leaving negative long-term effects on majority of people. The new situation caused stress among people resulting in a long term health and social implications. Uncertainty about the future made it difficult to plan the future and generated psychosocial stress among people. The current study focuses on students' stress resilience during the 2nd wave of pandemic and their coping strategies.

Anxiety and stress became normal responses in new circumstances. Anxiety can be considered as a normal reaction to a situation that is new and unpredictable, causing changes in concentration, irritability, anxiety, reduced productivity and interpersonal conflicts (Vinkers et al., 2020). Pandemic also has caused feelings of loneliness, the fear of being infected, and not receiving adequate information (Brooks et al., 2020). Stress impacted sleep, memory, and attention (Goff, 2011). Academically stress affected performance and students' ability to cope with tasks. Finally, it affected their ability to learn. *The New Normal* influenced peoples' feelings, thoughts and actions in new circumstances and affected almost all spheres of life.

The circumstances of a New Normal were perceived by students as loss, threat, or challenge. Some students were not able to follow remote classes due to a low internet connection or work obligations. Some students had a difficulty in attending online classes due to work obligations. This all was causing anxiety and stress. Adaptation to a new circumstances affected psychosocial and emotional development of undergraduates. Undergraduate students usually experience stress related to academic pressures and a lack of socialization with classmates and difficulty in adapting to changes in University's life and e-environment. A systemic literature review indicates that undergraduates are undergoing anxiety and stress and other mental health disorders (Auerbach et al., 2018; Jiao, & Zhang, 2007).

Uncertainty of the situation has caused problems with sleep and made some students to adopt sedentary lifestyles (Alzahrani et al., 2021). Some students perceived a new situation as a challenge, assessed their resources how they can do to adapt to new circumstances and were quite successful to adjusting to

new circumstances. They assessed a new situation rationally if they can solve it, removed the threat, based on available sources and personal capacity and available strategies, while others complained and did nothing.

The perceptions of people depend on many personal and environmental factors. Coping is highly subjective and may lead to either homeostatic function or it might be a transformational experience leading to positive or negative change. Person's reaction to stressful situation is influenced by individual's profile, intellectual ability, and a willingness to take risks. The aim of the study is to explore the factors causing stress of bachelor level students in one of the regional universities and their coping mechanisms with stress during the 2nd wave of pandemics. A biopsychosocial (BPS) model serves as a good theoretical framework to relate stress and anxiety to a multiple factors, such as biological, psychological and social factors. This is a transdisciplinary and holistic approach indicating to the existence of interrelatedness of multiple factors. A dynamic interplay to all those components provides a comprehensive understanding of person's reaction to stressful events. Psychological events address thoughts, emotions and behaviour, as well as coping strategies and one's temperament. Psychological issues such as anxiety, low self-esteem, negative thinking can influence a well-being of an individual both directly and indirectly. Social aspect includes peer relationships, availability of support, socioeconomic status and situation at work. One of the criticisms of this model was its complexity and holistic nature and difficulty to apply it in a resource poor settings since it requires training and availability of multidisciplinary teams consisting of psychiatrists, mental health specialists, social welfare workers to allow a holistic understanding of the biological, psychological and social factors of an individual (Babalola, Noel & White, 2017). Still, biopsychosocial model holds a promise for team work of professionals for increasing of a well-being of an individual.

Coping Strategies in Dealing with a New Normal

New norms in social life and education made students to reflect on their inner strength that might elevate their resilience (Cosmas, 2020). Every individual has his/her own strategies for dealing with new circumstances.

Coping involves cognitive and behavioural efforts of students to manage stressful situations (Lazarus & Folkman, 1884). Ben-Zur et al. (2002) point to problem-focused and emotion-focused modes on reacting to a new stressful situation. *Problem-focused coping* is aimed at managing future threats and involves efforts of an individual to change his/her interaction with a new situation. *Emotion-focused coping* is aimed at reducing, preventing or tolerating emotional reactions to a new stressful situation. When a new situation can be controlled, problem-focused coping strategies dominate, while when new situation is considered as unchangeable, a person applies emotionally-focused coping (Lazarus &

Folkman, 1987). Carver, Scheier & Weintrab (1989) pointed to limitations of problem and emotion-driven approaches by adding *active coping* and planning strategies.

There are several studies that are focusing on the use of problem focused coping strategies and indicate to a positive correlation with high achievement in examinations while dealing with stressful events in one's life (Ben-Zur, 2002). In some studies it was discovered that emotion-focused coping strategies correlate positively with psychological distress (Ben-Zur, 2002). The study carried out by Norlander, von Schedvin and Archer (2005) indicates, that *self-actualized affective* students' score was highest while the *self-destructive personalities* show lowest scores on coping with a new stressful situation. *Self-actualized* group of students had the lowest levels of stress, highest receptivity to change and active coping strategies, while the *self-destructive group* of students displayed the highest level of stress, lowest receptivity to change, and passive coping strategies. Among the coping strategies they have mentioned 'emotional support' and 'growth.' Self-actualized personality type of students displayed high positive transformational coping and growth in a new situation (Norlander, et al., 2005).

Self-destructive personality types of students have experienced high levels of stress. They were lacking receptivity to change, flexibility and were not capable to take a control over a new situation (Norlander, et al., 2005).

There are number of tools that were developed for assessing one's coping strategies in a new situation. Among them is SVF120 scale implying 20 coping strategies: positive coping strategies: minimization, denial, distraction, relaxation, situation control, positive self-instruction; and negative coping strategies: rumination, resignation, self-blame. Emotional and behavioural withdrawal, and the use of alcohol are classical examples of avoidant coping behaviour (Lawler et al., 2005). Passive coping strategies are correlate with psychological distress and depression (Snow-Turel et al., 1996). Among the active coping strategies one can mention one's cognitive ability to use behavioural or psychological strategies to change stressor or view on how the stressor is perceived by developing higher adaptability to a new situation and psychological resilience. Resilience among young adults positively relates to extraversion and conscientiousness. Resilience among sportsman in competitive situations is higher for those who apply active coping strategies. Humour is also seen as active coping mechanism with a new and stressful situation in the face of acculturative stress (Cheung & Yue, 2012).

Numerous studies indicate to *faith, religion and spirituality* as significant factors that enhance greater resilience among the students (Cornah, 2006). Students engagement in religious activities, payers may help students to search for a meaning in the face of difficult circumstances. They are healthier and happier as compared with those for whom religion and spirituality is less important

(Ellison & Fan, 2008). This study is focusing on stress resilience of students during the 2nd wave of COVID-19 pandemic resulting in anxiety, depression, health problems and the disruptions of everyday life patterns, as well as pervasive and lasting consequences for the mental health for many people.

Stress Resilience During the 2nd Wave of Pandemic

American Psychological Association (2019) defines psychological resilience as a process of good adaptation in the face of adversity, trauma, tragedy, threats and in the face of other significant stressors such as family, relationship problems or other problems. Resilience can be defined as one's capacity to adaptively overcome stress and to maintain normal psychological functioning (Southwick & Charney, 2012). Precker (2020) refines resilience as person's capability to bounce back in any stressful situation. There is no single definition of resilience. Still, Staroverky (2012) points to a set of characteristics contributing to development of resilience, such as optimism, altruism, moral compass, faith and spirituality, humour, good role models, social support from peers and family, ability to leave a comfort zone, and having a purpose in one's life, aim that helps to overcome failures and any difficulties, and resilience training. Rampe (2010) suggests ten pillars of resilience that are based in positive psychology: optimism leading to take positive action, acceptance of situation, focusing on potential solution, taking responsibility about one's life, overcoming the role of victim of new circumstances, building a network of support and planning a flexible strategy for dealing with challenges.

Latest research in the field have identified mechanisms encompassing genetic, developmental, psychological factors that determine development of resilience (Wu et al., 2013). From the developmental perspective, severe events in childhood affect negatively the development of stress response system, causing long lasting damage. Such factors as positive family relationships, peer relationships, supportive adults, and self-discipline that contribute to resilient functioning (Burt & Paysnick, 2012). Resilience has been widely studied among students and its effect on their well-being in alleviating depressive symptoms (Smith and Yong, 2017). Numerous studies indicate that resilient individuals have strong coping abilities and have a positive view on themselves (Szanton & Gill, 2010). Resilient people display confidence and determination that is critical for studies in the higher institution to endure adversity. Resilient individuals have behavioural, cognitive and emotional abilities to manage changes and crises (Alvord et al., 2016). Resilient people have more positive look on life, they see the bright side in every situation. Higher education students experience a number of problems, to begin with micro stressors such as academic requirements, financial issues to macro lever stressors, such as a new environment and new requirements (Kummaraswamy, 2013). As Carver et al., (2010) reported, optimists have

low hopelessness and helplessness and less use of avoidance coping strategies in stressful situations.

Among the supportive measures one can mention social support from adults, peers, and a shared sense of values, health, supportive environment and religious beliefs, as well as help in developing mastery over life stressors (Werner, 2012; Southwick & Charney, 2012). Among the **psychological factors** that influenced one's resilience and stress tolerance are *cognitive processes, personality traits, optimism*, as well as active *coping mechanisms*. Optimism is seen as the expectation for good outcomes and the use of *active coping strategies*, larger social networks and connectiveness (Colby & Shiften, 2013). Friends and family members also play a critical role in building students' resilience (Kozina, 2020).

Among the other factors of resilience to be mentioned are *cognitive reappraisals*: ability to monitor negative thoughts by replacing them with positive ones (McRae et al., 2012). One's ability to cognitively reassess traumatic or stressful events in one's life can help in developing higher resilience. As Victor Frankl wrote, finding meaning even in the most devastating circumstances, is the most powerful motivation and a diving force (Frankl, 2006). People with a cognitive reappraisal ability exhibit higher resilience. Moral compass or value system is typical for resilient people. Religion or spirituality is seen as a facet of one's moral compass (Southwick & Charney, 2005).

In the circumstances of current crises this is essential to learn to take control over a situation as much as possible. As Vinkers et al. (2020) assert that resilience exists not only at the individual but also at the community level. There is some kind of communal resilience that helps to cope with a new situation. In Latvia, local Municipalities supported schools with technologies for the disadvantaged families, Universities have offered training for the staff members to work online. The first outbreak of pandemic equipped universities and students with the resources to handle a new situation in case of its reoccurrence. Interventions carried out during the first wave of pandemic, like ensuring access to studies in an online environment and taking initiatives locally, helped all agents involved to deal with the situation more efficiently. Numerous studies have been conducted on stress resilience among the students from nursing programs who experienced the highest level of stress (Liang et al., 2019). Fostering students' resilience is particularly important to be successful at the university and in building inner strength. Such training fosters students' positivity, problem solving ability and resourcefulness. Among the factors that foster resilience are peer support, mentoring and networking (in whats up groups or other media).

Resilience Scales

There are numerous tools available to measure resilience. Among the popular ones are *Connor-Davidson Resilience Scale (CD-RISC)* that measured resilience in

stressful conditions and contains such aspects of resilience as personal competence to deal with stressful events, acceptance of a need for a change, tolerance of stress, control over a stressful situation and spiritual strength to overcome all the difficulties. *Academic Resilience Scale (ARS-30)* helps to preserve even in the midst of any difficulty and to gain achievement. It focuses on preservice, adaptive self-seeking, negative affect and emotional self-response. *Scale of Protective Factors (SPF)* developed by Ponce-Garcia et al (2015) focuses on resilience for the individuals who have experienced trauma. Predictive 6-Factor Resilience Scale (PR6) focuses on self-efficacy, emotional regulation, preservice and hardness, reasoning and collaboration. *The Ego Resilience scale (RS-14)* developed by Block and Kremen in 1996 measures one's adaptability to new circumstances.

Coping Strategies Among University Students

There are numerous qualitative studies that have been carried out on coping strategies among the university students. For example, qualitative semi-structured interviews were carried out with eight academically successful Latino students (Borjian, 2018), indicating to a high motivation as a main driver for an academic success and survival in any difficult situation. Individual interviews were carried out with ten at risk students (Bowen, 2016) that indicated to supportive strategies, strong peer group support, adult mentoring and intrinsic motivation as the main coping strategies in the university setting. Another qualitative phenomenological study carried out was focusing on the experience of Latino students (Cavazos et al., 2010) and revealed that goal setting, interpersonal relations, intrinsic motivation, internal locus of control are the main factors of resilience in the educational process. Another qualitative study involved interviews with twelve academically successful Latino students (Welsh, 2012) and pointed out to the importance of family and social support in the process of remote learning. Numerous studies have proved that by improving students' stress resilience, Universities contribute to students' success in academic performance and enable them to deal with stressful events.

Coping strategies relate to cognitive and behavioural changes and management of internal and external stressors. Several studies have singled out three main coping strategies: 1) *problem-focused coping* that is task-oriented coping, 2) *emotion-focused coping* that help with diminishing stress via emotional responses, like anger and self-preoccupation; and 3) *avoidance coping* strategies like avoiding stressful events rather than actively dealing with them (Chen, 2016). *Positive coping strategies* are leading towards positive adjustments in stressful events and decreased a level of anxiety, and students who were more optimistic and used positive coping strategies could manage stress more easily. The research confirms that female students use help-seeking behaviours and emotion focused coping strategies more as compared to males (Liu et al., 2017). There is higher use of

positive coping strategies among medical students in comparison with non-medical students. This can be explained that medical students have more knowledge of coping strategies and mental health than non-medical students (Wu et al., 2020).

Research Methodology and Participants

For the purpose of this study a questionnaire was carried out among the regional university students on their main stressors, stress resilience and coping mechanisms. In total, n = 196 students took part in a questionnaire. The questionnaire was offered to fill in to all students of education and nursing program in an online format. Students were asked to fill in a questionnaire on voluntarily bases. Among the participants were the students of education, management, nursing and IT. The majority of participants who comprised the sample were bachelor level nursing and sport students. According numerous international studies this group of students experienced stressful situations more often than other students since they were having huge workload during the pandemic, they were working under a constant threat and fear of getting infected.

To ensure the validity of data, the authors have used students' diaries and their self-monitored data about their everyday stressors and coping strategies. In depth qualitative meta-ethnographic approach on students' perspectives contributed to building an overall picture on students' stress resilience. The other research method used for the purpose of this study were students' electronic diaries. They were asked to monitor stressors and coping strategies weekly on a voluntarily bases. The researchers have guaranteed the anonymity of the research participants.

All data was gathered, carefully categorized and analysed. Among the limitations of the study is a single regional university therefore findings cannot be generalized to other Universities. Another limitation is a low response rate due to electronic survey distribution. Despite of a low response rate, the sample was substantiated of (n = 196) participants, which is sufficient enough to examine statistical data. The authors also considered selection bias of students who took part in this study as an additional potential limitation, since majority of respondents were from nursing training programs. But, gathering students' perspectives on resilience is essential for filling up the gap and informing training practice. This study has limitations in a sense that sample is comprised of a small sample of regional University and can not be related to international settings.

Research Findings

The survey data indicated that among the most frequent problems during the pandemic the students have mentioned sedentary way of life (Mean = 2.08), and
DZ.ILIŠKO, J. BADJANOVA, & V. RAŠČEVSKIS. Stress Resilience and Coping Mechanisms of the Regional...

a feeling of being tired (Mean = 3.50), as well as difficulty in getting up in the morning (Mean = 2.62), anxiety (Mean = 2.25), and a difficulty with concentration (Mean = 2.35). Among the main worries/stressors the students have mentioned was not having enough time for rest (Mean = 2.16), doing thing in a hasty way (Mean = 2.27) without a deeper engagement and understanding of an issue; not having enough time for hobbies (Mean = 2.10) and not being able to cope with personal problems (Mean = 2.75). The main stressors were related to students studies rather than to their everyday life. Students have developed a good balance between their personal life and studies, therefore not all stressful situations are related to their studies.

Data derived from students' diaries indicate that among the most often mentioned stressors in students' diaries are factors related to their family life, like illness or a death of a family member, care of elderly family members, financial difficulties, and everyday issues, like, forgetting a pin code, health issues, the noise of drilling behind the wall that irritates the students; physiological issues, like, insufficient sleep, back pain from a lack of movements while studying at home office. Since many students combine their studies with work, they have mentioned a number of work related stressors: conflicts with the colleagues at work, intensive workload, fear of getting infected at work, not being able to attend classes because of a heavy workload at work. Majority of respondents (n = 123) were students who are engaged in nursing, therefore, they have mentioned their workload as one of the stressors along with e fear of being infected, lack of time, stress caused by a fear of vaccination, fear of increasing accommodation fees, health issues of family members, positive COVID-19 test result. Among the main stressors related to their studies they have mentioned difficulty to combine work and studies, to attend classes, to complete all the assignment in time, back pain because of long hours spent in zoom. Since the research was carried out during the 2nd wave of pandemic, students partly adapted to a new situation in the university and related stressors mainly to their private and family life. Since majority of students are having their families they have developed a good study-work-family life balance, therefore studies in the university was not their main stressor.

Among the coping strategies during the 2nd wave of pandemic as mentioned by Carver (1998) and Norlander et al. (2002) as the most *highly effective* were social support that was received from the family members and friends, *among the low effective strategies* in a long run were the use of alcohol and sweets.

Among *the cognitive and transformational* strategies were one's ability to change ones destructive and negative thoughts about one's future, but among the *growth strategies* the students have mentioned ability to accept *the situation philosophically*, not being worried about things that cannot be changed or controlled and taking control over the things that can be controlled or changed. TO BE OR NOT TO BE A GREAT EDUCATOR, 2022

DZ.ILIŠKO, J. BADJANOVA, & V. RAŠČEVSKIS. Stress Resilience and Coping Mechanisms of the Regional..

Among the *healthy coping strategies*, students have mentioned: a healthy diet, sport, listening to music, expressing one's emotions, time management, aroma therapy, crying while watching a sentimental movie, walks in the nature, time spent with the family members, cleaning the room, swimming, humour, fishing and gardening.

Response to a stressful situation	Description	Example from students' diaries
Minimization	Devaluate intensity, duration or importance of stress	'This situation will end one day, it cannot last forever'
Distraction	Distraction from stress related activities/ situations	'In order not to think about the future I take a bigger workload at work and study and do both have time to be depressed or stressed'
Substitute Gratification	Turn to positive activities	'I try to find positive emotions in small everyday things: I am listening a good music, going for a walk,
Situation control	Analyses of situation, planning actions, controlling solving problem	"if something is unclear, I contact my mentor and clarify the situation' 'Every evening I discuss things with my husband, we share some worries and think how to solve them'
Control of Response	Keeping ones reactions under control	'When I cannot cope with a situation, I go for a walk, hug the tree and get more positive energy out of it. '
Positive Self- instruction	Encouraging one to control situation	"I try my best to adjust to a changing daily routine, changing regulations' 'I go and plant flowers, meet friends and discuss our concerns and worries'
Social Support	Looking out for somebody to talk, for social support to resolve stressful situation	"In case of some unresolved problems I talk with my family members, I go for regular weekend trips with them or to suburbs.'
Avoidance	Avoiding stressful situation	"I prefer not thinking about pandemic at all as if it does not exist at all"
Escape	Tendency to escape a stressful situation	" In order not to spoil my mood and not let the situation in, I simply was focusing on my hobbies, I was listening to music and pretending that the situation with Covid is a fiction, it is only artificially created reality by somebody"
Rumination	Breaking off from ones destructive thoughts	"I have learned to switch my attention to other things, restarted redecorating my apartment, started jogging."
Resignation	Giving up feelings of helplessness	" Even in helpless situation I try to find a solution"

Table 1. Students Responses in Their Diaries

DZ.ILIŠKO, J. BADJANOVA, & V. RAŠČEVSKIS. Stress Resilience and Coping Mechanisms of the Regional...

As one of the students wrote: 'I am listening Beethoven's sonata and it always improves my mood.' While the other wrote: 'I have learned to accept the situation as it is.' or 'I look at things philosophically and do what I can and what I can change.' Some students have mentioned cognitive **reasoning** what they have practiced in stressful situations: 'In stressful situation I stay calm for a while and try to analyse things, until the picture gets clearer and the solution comes into my mind.'

Majority of students in their diaries have mentioned social support as a coping strategy that they have received from different sources: family members and friends, as well as from their peers. As one of the students wrote: 'Even a short message received in my smart phone from my friend is worth more than ten thousand words in time of pandemic.'

Among unhealthy or low effective coping strategies in a long run students have mentioned an overuse of sweets, coffee and alcohol. Among the self-destructive strategies, students have mentioned fearful thinking, depressive thoughts about the future, one's health.

Among the most frequently mentioned coping strategies, students have mentioned physical exercises, listening to a preferred music, better time management, waking, time spent with their family and friends, yoga, meditation, sweets and alcohol.

Correlations		
Indicators of Self-Care		
Self-care – Physical aspect	Pearson Correlation	.364
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.000
	Ν	198
Self-care – Psychological aspect	Pearson Correlation	.146
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.040
	Ν	198
Self-care – Emotionally	Pearson Correlation	.234
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.001
	Ν	198
Self-care – Spiritually	Pearson Correlation	.075
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.296
	Ν	198
Self-care – Social-Relational	Pearson Correlation	.161
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.024
	Ν	198
Self-care in educational process	Pearson Correlation	.192
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.007
	Ν	198

Table 2. Pearson Correlation Between Different Aspects of Students' Self-Care and Stress Resilience

DZ.ILIŠKO, J. BADJANOVA, & V. RAŠČEVSKIS. Stress Resilience and Coping Mechanisms of the Regional...

The qualitative part of the study indicate to quite good level of emotional and physical self-care among the students, as well as a spiritual care. The higher is self-care for oneself in adverse situation, the higher is students' resilience in adverse circumstances. Students have managed to establish good relationships with peers and families as well as found ways of emotional coping as strong factors of resilience.

The highest level of care among students was in the *physical* (Mean = 1.69) and emotional (Mean = 1.95) dimension of self-care, the lowest indicator was for a spiritual self-care (Mean = 1.56). The higher was students' emotional sphere, the higher is stress resilience (r = .234). Emotional sphere relates to students' ability to maintain good relationships with people who are important in their life, receiving from them support and understand, allowing to express emotions (anger, sadness), finding things that make them laugh, re-reading favourite books, and watched movies. The indicator of psychological self-care (Mean = 1.53) include care about themselves, taking into account one's inner experience by listening to beliefs, feelings, practicing strategies how to reduce stress in life, being open to receive psychological support from others. This means that during the first wave of pandemic students have developed mechanisms of emotional self-care (management of emotions, walking, doing exercises) so that during the 2nd wave of pandemic these indicators were quite high and increased higher stress resilience. The better they were able to cope with their emotions, the higher was there stress resilience.

Conclusions

The coronavirus pandemic has caused a long term impact on students' everyday life and affected their life style and communication patterns. Anxiety and stress were normal responses in these extreme circumstances. Some students responded to a new situation highly adaptively, dealing with emerging challenges, while some students were unable to cope with a new situation. Therefore, the impact of the pandemic is very heterogeneous. Coping is highly subjective and may lead to either homeostatic function or it might be transformational and lead to positive or negative change. Students' reaction to stressful situation is influenced by individual's profile, intellectual ability, and willingness to take risks.

Recourses and coping strategies during pandemic affected the whole community. Among the most widely adapted coping strategies University students used *cognitive problem coping strategies* and a *social support* (keeping ties with friends and families, networking). Promoting social connectiveness is of the most importance, since loneliness and social isolation made more difficult to overcome pandemic. DZ.ILIŠKO, J. BADJANOVA, & V. RAŠČEVSKIS. Stress Resilience and Coping Mechanisms of the Regional..

Among the most efficient strategies as mentioned by the students were planning a daily routine and promoting self-care. Physical exercises and a healthy diet are among efficient means to promote stress resilience as mentioned by the students. One of the factors that can facilitate coping with a new situation, is efficient leadership in the organizations that helps students and staff members with the clarification of a new situation at work.

The upcoming pandemics will continue to affect students therefore governments and educational institutions need to be ready to provide efficient means for building resilience. Resilience training can mitigate the effects of the diverse events and will build stress resilience of students during any upcoming global pandemics. Gathering students' perspectives on resilience is essential for filling the gap in the current research and informing training practice.

REFERENCES

American Psychological Association (2019). *The road to resilience*. https://www.apa.org/ helpcenter/road-resilience

Auerbach, R. P., Mortier, P., Bruffaerts, R., Alonso, J., Benjet, C., Cuijpers, P., et al. (2018). WHO world mental health surveys international college student project: prevalence and distribution of mental disorders. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, *127*, 623–638.

Babalola, E., Noel, P., & White, R. (2017). The bio-psychosocial approach and global mental health: Synergies and opportunities. *Indian Journal of Social Psychiatry*, *33*, 291–296.

Alvord, M.K., Rich, B.A., & Berghorst, L.H. (2016). Resilience interventions. PA handbook in psychology. In *APA Handbook of Clinical Psychology: Psychology and Health* (pp. 505–519). American Psychological Association.

Alzahrani, H., Alshehri, F., Alsufiany, M., Allam, H. H., Almeheyawi, R., Eid, M. M., & Sadarangani K. P. (2021). Impact of the 2019 Coronavirus disease pandemic on health-related quality of life and psychological status: The role of physical activity. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *18*(8), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.3390/ ijerph18083992

Ben-Zur, H. (2002). Monitoring/blunting and social support: Association with coping and affect. International Journal of Stress Management, 9, 357–373.

Block, J., & Kremen, A. M. (1996). IQ and ego-resiliency: Conceptual and empirical connections and separateness. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 70(2), 349–361. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.70.2.349

Borjian, A. (2018). Academically successful Latino undocumented students in college: Resilience and civic engagement. *Hispanic Journal of Behavioural Sciences*, 40(1), 22–36.

Bowen, J. (2016). A Qualitative case study of educational resilience in at-risk city college graduates (Doctoral dissertation), Western Carolina University.

Brooks, S. K., Webster, R. K., Smith, L. E., Woodland, L.... (2020). The psychological impact of quarantine and how to reduce it: rapid review of the evidence. *Lancet*, *395*, 912–920.

Burt, K. B., & Paysnick, A. A. (2012). Resilience in the transition to adulthood. *Developmental Psychopathology*, *24*, 493–505.

DZ.ILIŠKO, J. BADJANOVA, & V. RAŠČEVSKIS. Stress Resilience and Coping Mechanisms of the Regional..

Carver, C. S., Scheier, M. F., and Weintrab, J. K. (1989). Assessing coping strategies: A theoretically based approach. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *56*, 267–283.

Carver, C. S. (1998). Resilience and thriving: issues, models and linkages. *Journal of Social Issues, 54*, 245–266.

Carver, C. S., & Scheier, M. E., & Segerstrom, S. C. (2010). Optimism. *Clinical Psychological Review, 30,* 879–889.

Cavazos, J., Johnson, M. B., Fielding, C., Cavazos, A.G., Castron, V., & Vela, L. (2010). A qualitative study of resilient Latina/o college students. *Journal of Latinos and Education*, 9(3), 172–188.

Chen, C. (2016). The role of resilience and coping styles in subjective well-being among Chinese University students. *Asia Pacific Education Research*, *25*, 1–11.

Cheung, C. K., & Yue, X. D. (2012). Sojourn students' humour styles as buffers to achieve resilience. *International Journal of Intercultural Relationships, 36*, 353–364.

Colby, D. A., & Shiften, K. (2013). Optimism, mental health, and quality of life: a study among breast cancer patients. *Psychological Health Medicine*, *18*, 10–20.

Cornah, D. (2006). The impact of spirituality on mental health: A review of the literature. London: Mental Health Foundation. https://www.mentalhealth.org.uk/sites/default/files/impact-spirituality.pdf

Cosmas, G. (2020). Psychological support in uplifting university students' Happiness in fighting the Coronavirus lockdown. *Postmodern Openings*, *11*(2), 31–42. https://doi.org/10.18662/po/11.2/155

Ellison, G. C., & Fan, D., (2008). Daily spiritual experiences and psychological well-being among us adults. *Social Indicators Research*, 88(2), 247–271.

Frankl, V. (2006). Man's Search for Meaning. Boston: Beacon Press.

Goff, A. (2011) Stressors, academic performance, and learned resourcefulness in baccalaureate nursing students. *International Journal of Nursing Education Scholarship*, *8*, 1–15.

Jiao, L., & Zhang, H. (2007). Analysis of mental health status and personality of medical college students. *Chinese Journal of Health Psychology*, *15*, 231–4.

Kalisch, R., Baker, D. G., Boks, M. P. et al., (2017). The resilience framework as a strategy to combat stress-related disorders. *Nature Human Behaviour, 1,* 784–790.

Kummaraswamy, N. (2013). Academic stress, anxiety and depression among college students. A brief review. *International Review of Social Sciences and Humanities*, 5(1), 135–143.

Kozina, A. (2020). School-based prevention of anxiety using the 'My Friends' emotional resilience program: Six month follow-up. *International Journal of Psychology*, *55*, 70–77.

Lazarus, R. S., & Folkman, S. (1984). Stress, appraisal and coping. New York: Spring.

Lazarus, R. S., & Folkman, S. (1987). Transactional theory and research on emotions and coping. In L. Laux & G. Vossel (Eds). Personality in biographical stress and coping research *European Journal of Personality*, *1*, 141–169.

Lawler, C., Ouimette, P., & Dahlstedt, D. (2005). Posttraumatic stress symptoms, coping, and physical health status among university students seeking health care. *Journal of Trauma and Stress*, *18*, 741–750.

Liang, H. Wu, K., Hung, C., Wang, Y., & Peng, N. (2019). Resilience enhancement among student nurses during clinical practices: A participatory action research study. *Nurse Education Today*, *75*, 22–27.

DZ.ILIŠKO, J. BADJANOVA, & V. RAŠČEVSKIS. Stress Resilience and Coping Mechanisms of the Regional.

Liu, F., Zhou, N., Cao, H., Fang, X., Deng, L., Chen, W., et al. (2017). Chinese college freshmen's mental health problems and their subsequent help-seeking behaviours: a cohort design (2005–2011). *PLoS One, 12*, e0185531.

McRae, K., Ciesielski, B., & Gross, I. J. (2012). Unpacking cognitive reappraisal: goals, tactics, and outcomes, *Emotion*, *12*, 250–255.

Norlander, T., Bood, S. A., & Archer, T. (2002). Performance during stress: Affective personality, age, and regularity of physical exercise. *Social Behaviour and Personality, 30*, 495–508.

Norlander, T., von Schedvin, H., & Archer, T. (2005). Thriving as a function of affective personality: Relation to personality factors, coping strategies and Stress. *Anxiety, Stress, and Coping, 18*(2), 105–116.

Ponce-Garcia, E., Madwell, A.N. & Kennison, S.M. (2015). The development of the scale of protective factors: Resilience in a violent trauma sample. Violence Vict, 30(5), 735–755. https://doi.org/10.1891/0886-6708

Precker, M. (2020, September 9). *In these tough times, focus on resilience*. Message posted to https://www.heart.org/en/news/2020/09/09/in-these-tough-times-focus-on-resilience

Rampe, M. (2010). Der R-faktor [The R factor]. Hamburg & Norderstedt.

Snow-Turel, A. L., Norris, M. P., & Tan, G. (1996). Active and passive coping strategies in chronic pain patients, *Pain, 64,* 455–462.

Southwick, S. M., & Charney, D. S. (2012). The science of resilience: implications for the prevention and treatment of depression. *Science, 338*, 79–82.

Staroversky, I. (2012, October 1). What is resilience? 10 critical characteristics of resilience. *StarOverSky Counseling & Psychotherapy*. https://staroversky.com/blog/what-is-resilience-10-critical-characteristics-of-resilience

Smith, G. D., & Yong, F. (2017). Stress, resilience and psychological well-being in Chinese undergraduate nursing students. *Nurse Education Today*, *49*, 90–95.

Szanton, S. L., & Gill, J. M. (2010). Facilitating resilience using a society-to-cells framework: A Theory of nursing essentials applied to research and practice. *Advances in Nursing Science*, 33(4), 329–343.

Vinkers, C., van Amelsvoort, T., Bisson, J., et al. (2020). Stress resilience during the coronavirus pandemic. *European Neuropsychopharmacology*, *35*, 12–16.

Welsh, M. M. (2012). Exploring resilience in Latina migrant students in Sothern California : successful college students. Doctoral Dissertation, Azusa Pacific University.

Werner, E. E. (2012). Children and war: risk, resilience, and recovery. *Developmental Psychopathology*, 24, 553–558.

Weyers, P., Ising, M., & Janke, W., (2005). Effects of imagined stress intensity on responses in a stress coping inventory. *Anxiety, Stress, and Coping, 18*(2), 117–130.

World Health Organization (WHO), (2020). https://www.who.int/

Wu, Y., Yu, W., Wu, X., Wan, H., Wang, Y., and Lu, G. (2020). Psychological resilience and positive coping styles among Chinese undergraduate students: a cross-sectional study. *BMC Psychology*, *8*, 79, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40359-020-00444-y

Wu, G., Feder, A., Cohen, H., Kim, J., Calderon, S., Charney, D., Mathe, A. (2013). Understanding resilience. *Frontiers in Behavioural Neuroscience*, *7*, 1–15.

DZ.ILIŠKO, J. BADJANOVA, & V. RAŠČEVSKIS. Stress Resilience and Coping Mechanisms of the Regional...

About the authors

Prof. PhD Dzintra Iliško is a professor of Education at the Institute of Humanities and Social Sciences at Daugavpils University, Latvia. She has an experience of academic work as a university teacher, researcher, editor and reviewer of journals and participant of projects in education. She is an expert in psychology and education.

Dr. Jeļena Badjanova is a docent at the Faculty of Education and Management of Daugavpils University, Latvia. She research interests are teacher education, culture and music education, as well as holistic education in primary education. She is the head of the professional bachelor program: "Primary school Teacher." Currently she is implementing new education program for the primary school teachers witing the competency based framework at the regional university in Latvia.

Dr. Vitālijs Raščevskis is a docent at the Faculty of Social Sciences at Daugavpils University, Latvia. He is a docent and a practicing psychologist. His research interests are consoling and migration issues, ethnic identity issues and saturability. He is the author of number of publication and he is a member of editorial boards of several international https://doi.org/10.22364/atee.2022.14

Teachers' Reflection on Personalized Learning

Dora Levterova-Gadjalova, Krasimira Ivanova

Plovdiv University, Bulgaria dora.levterova@pfpu.bg, stoilovakris@gmail.com

ABSTRACT

Personalized learning as a new trend in inclusive education is undoubtedly influenced by teachers' reflections before and after its implementation. The carried-out reflection allows each teacher to change previously established positions for the implementation of the educational activity, to reach the ability to change his points of view according to the strengths and potential of the students, and thus achieve greater efficiency in the learning process. Through realized reflection, each teacher creates creative attitudes towards and for the learning process and undoubtedly a more complete unity between consciousness and responsibility for the learning process and behavior.

A focused study was conducted with three groups of teacher-respondents. The groups are structured accordingly: the first group of 15 primary teachers, the second group of 15 high school teachers, and the third group of 15 resource teachers. The reflective activity of the three groups of teacher-respondents at different levels of reflection towards personalized learning is investigated: intellectual reflection in learning, personal reflection, reflection as dialogue, reflection in problem situations, and undoubtedly praxeological reflection in the two variants of manifestation: professional and technological reflection. The results demonstrate higher levels of reflection as dialogue and praxeological reflection in primary and resource teachers compared to primary teachers, and higher levels of reflection in problem situations and intellectual reflection in primary teachers compared to primary teachers. It turns out that the reflection of the teacher-respondents on personalized learning is strongly influenced by the cultural and existential reflection in the three groups of respondents. With all the teacher-respondents, the critical reflection towards personalized learning is very vividly demonstrated, which finds expression in the presentation of one's own pedagogical experience and one's own pedagogical intuition. There is a dynamic from a-reflection to reflection to personalized learning with the A-effectiveness of both respondents and students.

Keywords: inclusive education, personalized learning, reflection, self-efficacy, teachers

Introduction

Inclusive education develops in the direction of developing an approach to identifying the strengths and potential of each student and each teacher. Personalized learning makes it possible to implement this approach, in which the teacher, according to his own strengths, teaches the whole class in a way that each student can perceive, understand, make sense of and learn the learning content according to his strengths and the capabilities he possesses. The implementation of personalized learning is unthinkable without teachers' reflection on it. The carried out reflection allows each teacher to realize more and more creative attitudes towards and for the learning process, and more complete unity between consciousness and responsibility for the learning process and behavior according to the student's potential. By applying the personalized learning model, each teacher can and does achieve greater effectiveness in the learning process for each student.

Main Text

As a relatively new learning model, personalized learning does not present a uniformly accepted definition of personalized learning. According to Bray and McClaskey (2015), personalization is learner-centered and learner-driven. According to them, there is a difference between personalization, differentiation, and individualization. The definition they derived is multi-layered and aimed at favoring in leadership "learners who:

- know how they learn best, and participate in the design of the curriculum and the learning environment.
- have flexible learning anytime and anywhere;
- have the right to vote and choose about their studies;
- · have quality teachers who are partners in learning;
- use a competency-based model to demonstrate mastery;
- independently direct their studies;
- design their academic path for college and career." (Bray & McClaskey, 2015).

The stated leadership favoring of learners is actually essential in personalized learning and is associated with the active participation of each learner in the learning process and becoming an expert in their own learning. The teacher in personalized learning is transformed from a teacher from the department, from a sole and undisputed provider of knowledge into a facilitator and partner in the learning process. In personalized learning, each learner has perceptual, cognitive, and emotional-social access to learning content and has the right and freedom to choose his own most effective learning style, to learn at his own pace, and achieve academic success that he can easily transfer to live outside of school and throughout life.

At the same time, as noted by Schmid and Petko (Schmid & Petko, 2019), "a clearly defined concept of personalized learning is still missing. Rather, it serves as an umbrella term for educational approaches that attempt to meet the individual abilities, knowledge, and learning needs of each student." In this aspect, phenomenological profiles of personalized learning are more common, in which personalized learning is considered to be an optimizing process of school learning with the achievement of synchronicity between the educational context and the active participation of each student according to his characteristics and abilities.

Undoubtedly, personalized learning does not offer ready-made recipes for application in the learning process, and even as a general term for educational approaches, suitable and corresponding to the needs and strengths of learners already has its specificity. The most essential feature of personalized learning is targeting the strengths of the learners and the strengths of the trainers. In this apparent shift from the medical model that has long dominated education to an inclusive model of education lies the power and values of personalized learning. Identifying, understanding, and matching students' strengths is possible through the structuring of individual student profiles, which are sometimes formalized to the questionnaires used. In a qualitative aspect, the individual manifestations of teachers' reflection are much more valuable for outlining the trajectories of students' strengths and for the realization of personalized learning.

"Reflection is a complex concept subject to many interpretations with subtle variations" (Dahlberg et al., 2002). Reflection is defined as:

- "a process, an intellectual procedure that requires active engagement on the part of the individual;
- a phenomenon that occurs when an individual finds himself in a confusing, difficult-to-solve situation (dilemma) or experience;
- a process that involves examining one's own cognitive activity or one's personality traits, one's responses, beliefs, and assumptions in the context of one's situation and available means of action;
- the result of complete integration of new concepts (understandings) about the performed cognitive actions and personal qualities." (Hadjiali, 2011).
- "socio-culturally determined, instrumental integral procedure (process, set of conscious and controlled mental actions), directed and meaningful to self-knowledge;
- knowledge of one's own cognitive activity and one's own personality.
- mental dialogue with the other, in which the logic and content of the partner's thinking is reproduced, and the subject becomes self-aware through the control and awareness of the impact of his own behavior on the partner.
- mental tracking, and control over the realization of the subject's knowledge and qualities in his practical activity (reflexive control over the objectification and technologization of his own knowledge and qualities)" (Vasilev et al., 2005).

It could be synthesized that reflection is a multidimensional construct of mental activity for self-knowledge, self-acceptance, self-evaluation, and self-development.

In this context, each teacher carries out personalized intellectual reflection in its two main manifestations: retrospective reflection (interpretation of own professional competencies with a view to past learning situations – conventional and extreme) and prospective reflection (creating a predictive cognitive scheme for solving a possible learning situation in the future). The two spaces of intellectual reflection can function as a critical reflection that establishes an already implemented or constructs a new pattern of learning activities. Critical reflection is realized through the freedom each teacher has as a leader in the classroom and through which they can implement personalized learning at different speeds in each individual class and with each student.

In both manifestations of intellectual reflection, the teacher considers his own self-efficacy. Undoubtedly, intellectual reflection is impossible without personal reflection.

Personal reflection bases the self-determination of professional self-efficacy and focuses both on the outcome of one's own teaching style and personal qualities. Personalized reflection is not a personal reflection. Personalized reflection is an umbrella term that covers the intellectual, personal, and praxeological (professional and technological) reflection of the teacher. The teachers' reflection on personalized learning presents the crossing of the barrier from misunderstanding or incomplete understanding of inclusive education to a full understanding and rationalization of inclusive processes through personalized learning. The reflection is "the practice of a rigorous self-examination, through which to investigate the processes of meaning-origination" (Moran, 2000).

Thanks to personalized reflection, each teacher realizes and interprets not only cognitive information about his own professional activity in the direction of educational inclusion. Moreover, each teacher in the personalized reflection realizes and makes sense of his social professional acceptance, i.e. how others perceive and interpret his demonstrated professional competencies in relation to inclusive education.

For the implementation of personalized learning, Watson and Watson (2016) derive universal principles: personalized instructional goals, personalized task environment, personalized scaffolding of instruction, personalized assessment of performance and learning, and personalized reflection. The principle of personalized reflection stands out quite clearly.

Personalized reflection is a foundation for realizing the universal principles of personalized learning because they cannot be realized without reflection on their application, reflection on the results of the application, and reflection on the manifested personal qualities. In the modern pragmatic world, there is little time left for reflection, evaluation of results and experiences, consideration, and overall judgment of behavior i.e. activities as required by reflection, including reflection on personalized learning. Teacher reflection is not only awareness, evaluation, and rethinking of one's own behavior in a school environment. The teacher's reflection is a significant psychological resource for the implementation of educational activities and for the expression of creative thinking and the creative potential of the teacher.

Methodology

The research was conducted using the focus group method.

In July 2021, a training session on "Personalized Learning in the Classroom" was held. Teachers implemented personalized learning with one class during the 2021–2022 school year, which went through learning models: distance in an electronic environment, face-to-face learning, and blended learning. In June 2022, training with additional information on the topic "Personalized learning in the classroom" was conducted again, after which research was conducted using the focus group method.

Participants in the study

Participants in the research are 45 teachers, who are structured into three groups:

- first group of 15 primary teachers,
- second group of 15 high school teachers
- third group of 15 resource teachers.

In the selection of the participants in the study, two criteria are followed: voluntary participation and results of traditional interview. When conducting the research, each group was differentiated into three sub-groups of 5 teachers. There are a total of 9 focus sub-groups in the study.

Procedure

Each sub-group is assigned 2 tasks.

The first task is to identify five strengths and five weaknesses of personalized learning through experiential learning and expertise. There is a requirement to arrange the answers in order of importance.

The second task is carried out by a whole group and asks the respondents to determine the type of reflection that is brought out when conducting personalized learning in a percentage ratio: intellectual reflection in learning, personal reflection, reflection as dialogue, reflection in problem situations, and undoubtedly praxeological reflection in the two variants of manifestation: professional and technological reflection.

The execution time is limited to 30 minutes for each task.

Results

The results show aggregated responses ranked first, second and third in order of importance from the three sub-groups of the primary teacher group. The responses that the group of primary teachers considered to be most significant is listed first, the responses of lower importance are listed second, and the responses that the group of primary teachers considers least significant are listed third. The responses from the three subgroups are summarized for the whole group of primary teachers and are presented in Table 1.

Table 1. Frequency-ranked responses from the primary teacher group

Primary teachers			
	Strengts	Problematic side	
1	Unleashing the potential of every student	More time for teacher preparation	
2	Greater teacher commitment	A large number of students in a class	
3	A more accessible and interesting way of learning	Difficult application in distance learning	

Figure 1 presents the correlations between the individual types of reflection from the group of primary teachers. The results are summarized from the responses of the three sub-groups of the primary teacher group.



Figure 1. Reflection in the group of primary teachers

The results show aggregated responses ranked as first, second and third in order of importance from the three sub-groups of the high school teacher group. The answers that the group of high school teachers considered to be most significant is listed first, the answers of lower importance are listed second, and the answers that the group of high school teachers considers least significant are listed third. The responses from the three subgroups are summarized for the entire group of high school teachers and are presented in Table 2.

High school teachers		
	Strengths	Problematic side
1	Learning at different speeds	It cannot be applied to all subjects
2	Peers work with peers	Teacher overload
3	An opportunity for self-expression and to reveal potential	Lack of criteria for evaluating student achievements

Table 2. Frequency-ranked responses from the high school teacher group

Figure 2 presents the correlations between the individual types of reflection from the group of junior high school teachers. The results are summarized from the responses of the three sub-groups of the high school teacher group.



Figure 2. Reflection on the group of high school teachers

Only responses ranked first, second, and third in importance by the respective sub-group of the resource teacher pool are displayed in the results. The responses that the resource teacher group considered to be most significant are listed first, the responses of less importance are listed second, and the responses that the resource teacher group considers least significant are listed third.

Table 3. Frequency-ranked responses from the resource teacher group

Resource teachers		
	Strengths	Problematic side
1	Unlocking the potential of every student	Teacher overload
2	Implementation of project-based learning	A difficult application in distance learning
3	Teamwork	It cannot be applied to all students with SEN (special educational needs

Figure 3 presents the correlations between the individual types of reflection from the group of resource teachers. The results are summarized from the responses of the three sub-groups of the resource teacher group.



Figure 3. Reflection in the group of resource teachers

Discussion

The presented results (Table 1, Table 2, and Table 3) demonstrate a reflexive delineation of the strengths and problematic aspects of personalized learning. It is noteworthy that there is a dynamic in the realized reflexive potential regarding personalized education both in the individual subgroups and in the entire groups. In two of the subgroups of primary teachers, "greater teacher commitment" and "More time for teacher preparation "were perceived as both a strength and a problem. This, at first sight, the contradiction in the two separate sub-groups is related to a reflection of the primary teachers' own professional behavior as independent subjects of pedagogical activity. Primary teachers work with the individual class more time, almost throughout the school day. In the educational process, they can and do manage the reflective space of the class more holistically than high school and resource teachers. "Reflective space" can be understood as a space constituted by socially established arrangements that enable and hold reflecting practices in place. In this sense, creating a "reflective space" means creating arrangements to support such practices (Thelin, 2020). High school teachers teach more than one class and many more students and spend much less time with the individual class than primary teachers. In addition to having more minimized opportunities to manage the reflective space of the class, they also have significantly more limited time resources for reflection on learning activities with individual students. At the same time, high school teachers have much more methodological resources for innovative learning activities due to the older age of the students. Resource teachers have the opportunity to manage the reflective space of students with SEN in two trajectories: in the classroom (with joint teaching) and in the resource office (with individual work), i.e. reflective dimensions of a different model of learning activities are present. The triggering of praxeological reflection (knowing oneself through and in one's actions and the results obtained) in the three groups is based on different kinds of social interactions with students, and reflection as a dialogue demonstrates differences that influence praxeological reflection. Another interpretation of the obtained differences could be given in the direction of the personal and existential reflection of the teachers from the three groups, which find expression in self-determination, self-efficacy, and possibly in motives for self-affirmation. In the case of primary teachers, due to the nature of their professional activity and due to their acceptance as the Significant Other of the students in this age period, the reflexive responsibility (expressed in personal and existential reflection) for self-knowledge in the context of "greater commitment of the teacher" is activated and "more preparation time" that "may or may not" take place. While a similar existential reflexive dilemma is not manifested in high school and resource teachers. But, the appearance of the two statements in dichotomous positions gives reason to argue that primary teachers bring socio-professional acceptance of personalized learning and realize it by continuing to look for strong and problematic aspects of "greater self-engagement". Personal and praxeological reflection raises questions about ways to reduce engagement, about optimizing the personalized learning process, and about specifying which engagement is high: cognitive, emotional, or social. An analogous reflection is also manifested regarding "more time for preparation" with self-analysis and self-knowledge of personal and professional qualities. Obviously, self-efficacy provokes further reflexive dilemmas. A spiral effect occurs: the acceptance and implementation of personalized learning by primary teachers provoke personal reflection, which leads to an increase in self-efficacy manifested in the implementation of personalized learning, which in turn again gives rise to personal and individual reflection, etc. It manifests itself as "reflection as learning about the self" (Frick et al., 2010).

"Teacher overload" appears to be a favored problematic aspect of a reflective position among high school and resource teachers. Obviously, the respondents demonstrate personal reflection at a relatively lower level, where cognitive and emotional engagement with regard to personalized learning is not brought to the level of independence and activity. Answers about problematic aspects such as "a large number of students in a class", "cannot be applied to all subjects", and "cannot be applied to all students with SEN" speak in favor of this argument. The pedagogical arsenal of the respondents still shows resistance to a holistic application of personalized learning. The location of this resistance can be sought in personal reflection and in the reflection on problem situations. The explanatory models differed for the two groups of teachers. While for high school teachers, the large number of students and the different classes can cause difficulties in the reflection in dialogue and in praxeological reflection, it is likely that for resource teachers the difficulties in these two types of reflection are related to the different types and the different degree of disabilities that provoked SEN. The interpretation of the reflexive answers to the problem aspect of "difficult application in

distance learning in an electronic environment" is analogous. Existential reflection is not strongly manifested and rather tends to non-acceptance of personalized learning among high school teachers.

In the nine subgroups, "unfolding the potential of each child/student" by primary and resource teachers and "opportunity for self-expression and revealing potential" by high school teachers are reported as strengths. On the one hand, interpretation can be brought in the direction of mastered knowledge about personalized learning, but on the other hand, interpretation can be brought in the direction of socially relevant motivation or momentary self-actualization. The reflexive consideration of the statements: "more accessible and more interesting way of learning", "learning at a different speed" among primary teachers; as well as the statements: "peers work with peers" among high school teachers, and the statements: "applying project-based learning", "teamwork" among resource teachers testify that as the sovereign implementation of personalized learning increases, a personal and professional reflection of the respondents.

It can be seen from the results of the second task (Figure 1, Figure 2, and Figure 3) that personal reflection is shown to be the highest among primary teachers - 26.66%, while among high school teachers it is 13.33% and among resource teachers, it is 6.67%. These diverging results are interesting because there is a decreasing dynamic in terms of increasing educational attainment and the use of special learning support methods engaged in by the three groups of respondents. In an explanatory model, the manifestation of a reflexive thinking strategy with the search for new knowledge and skills, new goals, and tasks based on mastered information about personalized learning can be indicated. The highest result obtained among the respondents from the group of primary teachers can be explained by realized professional pragmatics for personalized training. While for the respondents from the groups of high school and resource teachers, the results are lower probably because for the respondents there is no categorical evidence of self-actualization in the direction of personalized learning, and new questions and new hypotheses about the process of personalized learning are provoked.

Professional reflection is the same for all three groups – 20%. The result obtained is surprising, but not entirely unexpected. Reflection is a demonstration of an objective self-assessment of subjectively possessed capabilities. Apparently, the respondents consider that the implementation of personalized training is not yet carried out by themselves at the expected level of their professional competencies. It is possible to show metacognitive reflection on one's own knowledge and skills in taxonomized levels: acquired and mastered, missing and necessary professional knowledge and skills. Respondents "know and are able to recognize the gaps and advantages of their level of knowledge and skills" (Levterova, 2018). Realized professional engagement with personalized learning processes

elicits a higher order of reflective metacognitive regulation. Reflection, in fact, is a process of preparation for ever higher self-efficacy, including the implementation of personalized training by teachers.

The low score obtained for technological reflection (6.67%) among resource teachers is surprising because they use the most assistive and adaptive technologies in the process of supporting learning. At the same time, the obtained result has its logic of explanation related to reflection as making sense of the experiences of the present, and reflection as making sense of the goals of the future. For respondents from the group of primary teachers, "technological reflection" is 6.67%, and for respondents from the group of high school teachers, it is 20%. The latter, in turn, have to make most often technologically based decisions in the educational process, and reflection on already achieved goals increases the optimistic disposition for the future. The so-called reflection towards the past and the present with the "future self-continuity" hypothesis is observed. "Individuals who felt more similar to their future selves may have made more prudent decisions because of their perceived connectedness to a future self ... Although it is turned to the past ..., this reflection does not remain chained to the past ..., but continues in the future" (Ersner-Hershfield et al., 2009).

The result obtained for "reflection as dialogue" was definitely a surprise with results for the respondents from the group of resource teachers (6.67%), high school teachers (13.33%), and primary teachers (20%). Expectations for high "reflection as dialogue" among resource teachers are not justified. For "reflection as a dialogue", the lower values of the result for the respondents from the group of resource teachers can be linked to the more limited contact with the student community, individual contacts are more frequent, mainly with students with SEN. Obviously, the high "reflection in problem situations" (40%) weighs more than the low "personal reflection" (6.67%) and the low "reflection as dialogue" (6.67%) among the resource teachers. This burden of a formed strong space of "reflection in problem situations" can be explained by the fact that resource teachers encounter in their work very often problem situations of a different nature when working with students with SEN. The fact that "reflection as a dialogue" includes external and internal dialogue should not be overlooked, i.e. both with others and with oneself. With resource teachers, the socio-temporal dimension of external dialogue is narrower, i.e. social interactions with students are more minimized at school, and accordingly, reflection as dialogue presents a low result. Reflection as dialogue is usually closely related to and cultivates "intellectual reflection", and this theoretical postulate is also observed in the respondents from the group of primary teachers, who are most often in a wide dialogic space with high temporality with their students.

"Intellectual reflection in learning" (personalized learning) manifested results of 6.67% in the group of primary teachers and in the group of resource teachers, while high school teachers provided a result of 13.33%. The higher score of the high school teacher respondents can be attributed to an awareness of the knowledge bases and practice-proven teaching methods related to the acquisition of knowledge by their students. Overall, the "intellectual reflection" on personalized learning among respondents from all three groups is imbued with critical intentionality. Apparently, the reflective self is not yet fully ready for the implementation of personalized learning, despite the knowledge and experience it possesses.

Regarding "reflection in problem situations", the result of the respondents from the group of primary teachers was 6.67%, that of high school teachers was 20%, and that of resource teachers was 40%. Obviously, the respondents from the group of resource teachers were most often in effective reflective situations towards personalized learning, and the reflection was shaped as norm-determining and resulted in acceptable subjective self-efficacy.

It would not be possible to study reflection as a whole, but only in its differentiated manifestations. The results obtained for the individual taxonomic units of reflection in the study were variable among respondents from the three groups, and this fact provides an optimistic perspective for personalized learning.

Conclusion

It turns out that the reflection of the teacher-respondents on personalized learning is strongly influenced by the knowledge, skills, and practical experience of the three groups of respondents. With all the teacher-respondents, the critical reflection towards personalized learning is very vividly demonstrated, which finds expression in the presentation of one's own pedagogical experience and one's own pedagogical intuition. There is a dynamic from a-reflection to reflection to personalized learning with the A-effectiveness of both respondents and students. "Reflection is a core quality of effective teachers" (Frick et al., 2010). In this context, any study of reflection, even in general, provides facts, concepts, and ideas for the development of innovative methods and models of learning. Teachers' reflection on personalized learning follows the explainable path of any educational reform. At first, there is resistance, followed by gradual acceptance until the innovative reform becomes current and traditional. When teachers' personal reflection, then personalized learning will be the natural educational model.

Acknowledgments

This work is supported by "ECVET compliant psycho-motorists training" "PSYmotoristsRTRAINING" (2020-1-BG01-KA202-079031), a project funded by the Erasmus + program.

REFERENCE

Bray, B., & McClaskey, K. (2015). Make learning personal: The what, who, wow, where, and why. Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin.

Dahlberg, K., Drew, N. & Nystrom, M. (2002). Reflective lifeworld research. Lund, Sweden: Studentlitteratur.

Ersner-Hershfield, H., Garton, M. T., Ballard, K., Samanez-Larkin, G. R., & Knutson, B. (2009). Don't stop thinking about tomorrow: Individual differences in future self-continuity account for saving. *Judgment and Decision Making*, *4*(4), 280–286.

Frick, L., Karl., A. & Beets, P. (2010). Reflection as learning about the self in context: Mentoring as a catalyst for reflective development in pre-service teachers. *South African Journal of Education*, *30*(3). https://doi.org/10.4314/saje.v30i3.60038

Levterova, D. (2018). Metacognitive reflection in educational neuroscience for students with special educational needs. In *The Reflection Book*. Paisii Hilendarski University Publishing House [Левтерова, Д. Метакогнитивна рефлексия в образователните невронауки за ученици със специални образователни потребности. В: Книга за рефлексията. Университетско издателство "Паисий Хилендарски"]

Moran, D. (2000). Introduction to phenomenology. London, England: Routledge.

Schmid, R. & Petko, D. (2019). Does the use of educational technology in personalized learning environments correlate with self-reported digital skills and beliefs of secondary-school students?. *Computers & Education*, *136*(1), 75–86. Elsevier Ltd. Retrieved April 25, 2022. https://www.learntechlib.org/p/208395/.

Thelin, K. (2020). Creating a reflective space in higher education. The case of a Swedish course for professional principals. *Learning and Teaching*. https://doi.org/10.3167/latiss.2020.130302

Watson, W. R., & Watson, S. L. (2016). Personalized instruction. In C. M. Reigeluth & B. Beatty (Eds.), *Instructional-Design Theories and Models, 4*, 93–120. New York: Taylor & Francis.

Hadjiali, I. (2011). Model of reflexive approach in high school stage of biological education. [Хаджиали, И. Модел на рефлексивен подход в гимназиален етап на биологичното образование]. http://compass.uni-plovdiv.bg

Vasilev, V., Dimova, Y. & Kolarova-Kancheva, T., (2005). Reflection and training – 1 part. Plovdiv: Makros. [Василев, В., Димова, Й. & Коларова-Кънчева, Т. Рефлексия и обучение – 1 част. Пловдив: Макрос]

About the authors

Dora Levterova is a professor in Education in Pedagogy Faculty in Plovdiv University "Paisii Hilendarski", Plovdiv, Bulgaria. She has over 120 publications in the field of inclusive education, pedagogy, and psychology of children and students with SEN. She supervised 17 successfully defended Ph.D. students.

Krasimira Ivanova is a Ph.D. student in Special Education in Pedagogy Faculty in Plovdiv University "Paisii Hilendarski", Plovdiv, Bulgaria. She works as a resource teacher and speech therapist. https://doi.org/10.22364/atee.2022.15

School as a Learning Organisation: Impediments to Its Implementation in Latvia and Abroad

Beata Lavrinoviča¹, Inga Linde¹, Gunta Siliņa-Jasjukeviča¹, Inese Lūsēna-Ezera²

¹ University of Latvia, Latvia

² Liepaja University, Latvia

ABSTRACT

One after another, European educational systems are applying reforms to transform primary and secondary schools to fit continuously changing and dynamic environments. Reforms require schools to serve as lifelong learning centres for various learners' groups, including school leaders, teachers and school staff, making them more flexible, collaborative and innovative in what comes to the teaching approaches. Simultaneously, gradual transformations in education are contextualised by the decrease in teaching staff and low motivation to remain in the profession due to a variety of reasons.

'School as a learning organisation' concept is introduced to define a school that continuously changes and adapts to new environments and circumstances through individual and collective learning of its staff. This paper aims to review the main impediments to implementations of the 'school as a learning organisation' concept, considering its functioning in Latvia and abroad. Literature and document analysis was done to assess the characteristics of learning organisations in the European context. With special focus on Latvia, several focus group interviews were conducted with the education managers and stakeholders to verify the implementation impediments in Latvia and define main risks of schools as learning organisations. Content analysis was applied to draw conclusions.

The results have shown that institutional autonomy and leadership are the keys to positive changes in educational staff perceptions and motivation to take on risks and obtain new knowledge, skills and competence for the individual and organisational growth. However, there are other impediments, such as lack of time, financial resources and insufficient communication and understanding of the whole idea of the school as a learning organisation, that stops schools from being the agents of change. The obtained results will be further applied in the design of the 'School as a learning organisation' model and a tool for its measurement in Latvia.

Keywords: autonomy, collaboration, leadership, learning organisation, schools in Latvia, team learning

Introduction

The concept of the 'learning organisation' was first introduced by Peter Senge (1990) as a result of systems thinking, shared vision, development of mental models, collaborative and individual mastery, which altogether lead to organisational growth. Years later, the concept started to be discussed by the experts in education, focusing on the need to transform educational institutions, including their staff, leaders and external stakeholders, into lifelong learners willing to positively impact students' learning outcomes. Kools and Stoll (2016) have conceptualised a school as a learning organisation (SLO) as the school with the capacity to change and adapt routinely to new environments and circumstances as its members, individually and together, learn their way to realising their goals. It is determined by the OECD experts to define schools as learning organisations. These are:

- 1) a shared vision centred on the learning of all students,
- 2) continuous learning opportunities for all staff,
- 3) team learning and collaboration,
- 4) a culture of enquiry, innovation and exploration,
- 5) systems for collecting and exchanging knowledge and learning,
- 6) learning with and from the external environment, and
- 7) modelling learning leadership. Later, for greater precision, the 8th dimension,
- 8) partners contributing to the vision of the school, was proposed (Kools etal., 2020).

The theory has been translated into a functional instrument to measure schools' compliance with the concept of a learning organisation.

Despite theoretical conceptualization and wide dissemination of the concept by the OECD experts, practical implementation is not easy. So far only few European countries, such as Greece and Wales (United Kingdom), have researched in detail and reported on SLO implementation internationally (Kools and Stoll, 2016; Papazoglou and Koutouzis, 2020). These experiences are extremely diverse. Even in Wales, which is considered as a flagman of SLO implementation in Europe, schools demonstrate diverse results as 58% of primary and secondary schools managed to work on 5–7 SLO dimensions and only 30% out of these schools worked on all 7 dimensions, but the rest of 42% of schools have to improve their performance according to SLO quality criteria, as almost a third part of schools in Wales was only able to report 1 or 2 SLO dimensions in practice (OECD, 2018). The best results were demonstrated in terms of team learning and collaboration among all school staff, but the weakest point seemed to be the creation of acommon school vision for all learners that is a student-centred learning at its core (OECD, 2018).

In Latvia, SLO concept is included in the recommendations of the National Centre for Education and is defined by four main elements –

- 1) vision that promotes learning for every student,
- 2) culture of inquiry and innovation,
- 3) teamwork and mutual learning, and
- 4) management support for development (Skola2030, 2019).

Several large municipalities have already defined SLO as a concept to develop regionally and locally. Although the concept of SLO is not widely known among the school staff across Latvia, characteristics of SLO have been identified by the interviewed representatives of education policy-making institutions. This paper aims to identify the main impediments to the implementation of SLO in Latvia and abroad.

Methodology

Content analysis was carried out by reviewing scientific literature and documents describing schools as learning organisations in theory and practice. The OECD reports and scientific papers composed by Marco Kools and colleagues (Kools and Stoll, 2016; Kools et al., 2020) were analysed as a primary reference to international practice. The theoretical model of schools as learning organisations composed of 7 main dimensions (also called as the Wales' model) was applied for further analysis of organisational learning practices in education applied in Latvia and other European countries. Snowball sampling method for further literature selection and analysis was applied to conclude on the main impediments to 'school as a learning organisation' concept implementation in Europe.

The situation in Latvia was specifically analysed based on 7 focus groups interviews, where discussions with representatives from school management and education boards, municipalities, the State Education Quality Service, the National Centre for Education, the Association of Education Managers, the Ministry of Education and Science and the Employers' Confederation of Latvia took place. Interviews with the total of 30 respondents (groups of 2–7) were carried out by the Professor Inese Lūsēna-Ezera and Associate Professor Gunta Siliņa-Jasjukeviča in the period from August 19, 2022 to August 26, 2022 in the MS Teams platform (online) and took no longer than 2 hours each. Semistructured interviews were recorded, transcribed and subjected to content analysis. Apart from the topic of impediments to SLO implementation, the questions also focused on general understanding of the SLO concept, it's dimensions and practical examples of implementing SLO practices in Latvia. The main goal of the interview analysis was to identify the most important impediments to SLO implementation nationally. All interviews were conducted in accordance with

the ethical standards of the institutional and national research committee and with the 1964 Helsinki declaration and its later amendments or comparable ethical standards.

Results

Despite gradual educational reforms carried out across Europe and country-specific recommendations of OECD experts on how to support schools in becoming learning organisations (OECD, 2018; Liebowitz et al., 2018; Kools and Stoll, 2016), the understanding of SLO in Europe is generally low at several levels – among policy makers (national and municipal), school leaders, school staff and the larger stakeholder groups. The basic impediment to designing a proper perception of SLO in educational institutions and among the decision makers themselves, is the lack of framework and clear vision on the SLO implementation nationally, as there is no universal formula for SLO implementation across countries. The design of the SLO framework includes participation of a variety of stakeholders to make it functional, data-based and adjusted to specific needs.

Even when the SLO framework is well designed, it needs to reach main stakeholders. Respondents in Latvia particularly highlight the lack of SLO guidelines and proper communication with educational institutions (teachers and school leaders) as a serious risk for SLO implementation. First of all, policy makers and researchers are often operating with complex academic terms that are simply not accessible for non-academic school staff. As pointed out by the representatives of the Employers' Confederation of Latvia, 'it is very important to turn each of their beautiful phrases into very concrete actions'. School staff need brief and practical guidelines answering specific questions of 'what exactly is expected?' and 'how can I accomplish it?'. According to the respondents, the enormous amount of strategic documents and incompatibility of languages makes it difficult to translate abstract terms into specific outcomes, creating confusion. As stated by one of the interviewees in Latvia, 'schools are already tired and extremely overloaded with all new reforms, all novelties, therefore, we have to be very careful about how we build this whole story from their perspective'.

In general, several interviewees have pointed out the constant reforms as a burden for implementing SLO, as dynamic changes hinder mindful developments in previously defined directions. According to one interviewee, 'stability is a need for us to implement the best quality. We will get used to this now and then we will move on.' On the other hand, SLO as a concept itself stands for dynamics.

According to respondents, insufficiency of the municipal and state support for schools, especially in the employment matters, is listed as one of the impediments for SLO implementation in Latvia. The lack of trust and communication among the stakeholders, as well as perceiving them as 'controllers' rather than 'supporters'

and the ones that share responsibilities for SLO development, hinders fruitful growth of SLOs. The support has to be systemic, responsibilities well defined and coordinated collaboratively in between several institutions: the Ministry of Education and Science, the State Education Quality Service, the National Centre for Education and the State Education Development Agency. More targeted support is a necessity, as stated by the representatives of the National Centre for Education and the Ministry of Education and Science.

Developing a shared vision means creating the basis for a purposeful school development plan that is defined jointly by all staff and stakeholders, so it is not set 'from above'. Research shows that those who have contributed to the creation of a shared vision are better equipped to deal with its implementation and the associated challenges (Schlechty, 2009). However, respondents admit that one of the most challenging dimensions of SLO to implement is creating a shared vision involving all students in the learning process. Special concerns are expressed towards the abilities of school leaders to manage transformations and participation of parties that are supposed to support schools, but do not engage sufficiently. 'The most difficult thing is creating a common vision where other partners are involved. For two years, I have not been able to get the municipality engaged in defining the purpose of the school together with me. How does the municipality see my school's place in the county?'. Moreover, this vision is not complete without the involvement of students (Smyth and Fasoli, 2007) and external stakeholders, such as parents, local community, other educational institutions or companies (Kools and Stoll, 2016).

The requirements towards schools as learning organisations need to provide adequate resources to develop as SLOs. This means developing specific competences of school leaders, teaching and non-teaching staff, providing time for individual learning, collaboration, interaction with education stakeholders and ensuring its financial coverage.

One of the impediments to the SLO development is characterised by insufficiency of skills and competencies which hinder inquiry, innovation, proper use of data, collaboration and team learning, etc. As a 'continuously changing and adapting' structure (Kools and Stoll, 2016), learning organisation requires teachers to be inquisitive and proactive. However, as stated by the respondents, not all educators have enough initiative to learn new things – 'it is easier for them to work with what has been [learn] in the past'. As stressed by multiple respondents in Latvia and SLO researchers from abroad, collaboration and team learning are specifically important, as these support pedagogical competence development, open dialogue, trust and feeling of safety, improve organisational processes, including learning, as well as eliminate fear of failure, which in result might decrease the number of mistakes (Higgins et al., 2012; Kools and Stoll, 2016). What is more, certain skills can be hardly developed in students by the

teachers not having them. The same applies to school management as school leaders who do not facilitate and participate in learning cannot convince other school staff to do it.

School leadership is one of the main components of ensuring development of SLO (Kools and Stoll, 2016; OECD, 2018) and the role of the leader should not be underestimated. The learning leadership responsibility usually lays on the principal or senior management team; however, as stated by the OECD experts, the concept of leadership is often misunderstood (Liebowitz et al., 2018). For instance, interviewees have recognized that good management of educational institutions is mainly achieved by skilful 'managers', but less often by leaders. Learning leadership, in turn, remains one of the most challenging dimensions of the SLO model'. As stated by the respondent, 'everything depends on the head of the institution, whether they are leaders in their institutions, whether they have this vision, (...) how they engage their team, their organisation and community'. As pointed out by another interviewee, 'A principal must be a strategist. He has to see all sequenced things that need to be evaluated in order to achieve the goal set. And if there is no strategic vision, there will be no followers. And there will be no way at all.'

The lack of skills among school leaders (principals, management teams) is a problem for schools to develop as SLOs. School leaders, who are most often associated with learning leadership, must be able to challenge their own and school staff's thinking, be brave, willing to take risks and strive for positive transformation (Kools and Stoll, 2016; MacBeath, 2013). A learning leader is a person that promotes and reminds about shared goals, challenges, stimulates the development of their own knowledge, leads achievement of goals, as well as learns together with the team of the school staff, instead of coordinating learning processes of others (Leithwood and Reihl, 2003; Kools and Stoll, 2016). As stated by the interviewees, it requires 'strategic vision, great communication skills and being able to demonstrate a personal example of a learner'.

The interviewed education stakeholders agree that the task of the leaders of the schools in is extremely difficult as it requires resistance to stress and strong mental health. As stated by the practitioner, 'a lot of principals experience burnout; we have a lot of vacancies and no one is running to become a school principal'. School leaders are often overburdened with employing teaching staff, taking part in evaluations and fulfilling loads of administrative functions, so there is little room for learning process leadership. According to one of the representatives of local municipalities, '... so that the school's leadership team could start to speak about SLO, basic needs of schools must be met first. Basic needs include having teaching staff, time and no work overload, so the focus can be put on developing a culture of research and innovation (...) it simply cannot be done in the 25th hour of a day!'. Systemic investments are required from the

leader in both school management and pedagogic practices, which requires being extremely social and engaging in constant interaction with the team.

TALIS research has revealed that about a third (32%) of teachers report lack of support from their employer as a barrier to professional development (OECD, 2014). Therefore, modern educational systems emphasise leadership training, and Latvia is not an exception. Variety of meetings and training sessions are organised for school principals as systemic support actions; however, as respondents point out, a lot depends on personality traits, for instance, openness, empathy, ability to communicate and share. The lack of professional training and experience exchange for school leaders, weak mechanisms of responsibility sharing (e.g. delegation) and insufficient autonomy of schools are a serious burden for SLO development.

The lack of time is among the most common impediments to SLO implementation stressed by the practitioners and experts of SLO. Even if there are highly qualified school leaders, it does not necessarily mean that they have real time to dedicate to leadership functions, that is, to communicate regularly with staff, collect necessary information and learn new things. Similar challenges are experienced by the teaching staff. The teaching staff often lacks time for learning, as apart from lesson preparation, a large number of reports and assessments are to be done on a regular basis, and besides that, tasks associated with communication with parents are often overwhelming (especially based on the experience of pandemic). More than half of the teachers participating in TALIS research report 'that their own schedule conflicts with professional development' (OECD, 2014). In Latvia (similarly as in other countries) there is a serious shortage of teaching staff, as teachers often feel undervalued, exhausted and burned out, as a result, they leave the profession. To ensure purposeful development as a SLO, an atmosphere of trust, communication and paid time for collaborative activities of school staff is necessary, otherwise teaching staff already have a load of individual professional training to implement as a standard professional requirement (Lielvārds, 2021). Another problem is caused by the mobility of teachers as a number of teaching staff in Latvia work in several schools, therefore, regular communication and involvement of all staff is problematic.

In Latvia, more attention should be paid to creation of such a support framework that promotes greater interaction and cooperation between the schools (as opposed to a competition between them). Closer cooperation with other schools can provide the exchange of professional experience, cooperation with parents can lead to greater support for teachers and greater involvement of students, and cooperation with higher educational institutions can increase professional development opportunities for all staff. Universities, for instance, can also benefit from such collaboration, as schools provide an insight into practical challenges to be researched (Kools and Stoll, 2016). For professional schools, collaboration

with employers is particularly important, as it adds to the knowledge of the teaching staff about the industry and ensures that students are well prepared for working life.

Parental involvement in SLOs has been particularly emphasised by the Association of Education Managers, local education authorities and representatives of municipalities as an essential element of SLO activities. According to them, parents have the opportunity to improve the educational process with their participation, belonging and accountability for students' learning outcomes. What is necessary, according to an interviewee, is 'Understanding and engagement. Participation is a benefit for every institution, but for every pedagogue it would definitely be the support that is received from the colleagues, from the management, from wider collaborative work between educational institutions. This support would benefit everyone.' Without collaboration with a larger audience of stakeholders, the opportunities for innovation development in schools are limited.

Modern schools and education systems all around Europe tend to develop functional systems to gather, store, exchange and process data to be applied in decision making. However, even in the systems where multiple level evaluations of teachers, principals and schools take place, the data is not always properly analysed and applied for improvement. SLO in turn emphasises the importance of data gathering, specifically paying attention to qualitative data that provide in-depth insight into daily challenges for more efficient solution search. It includes processing data on teachers and students, as well as a larger stakeholder pool, such as parents, non-teaching staff, other schools etc. (OECD, 2018). Latvia is one of the countries where multiple evaluations of schools take place; however, data management is still considered as one of the weakest points from the perspective of SLO implementation. In addition, respondents admit that qualitative data (for example, student grades and satisfaction surveys) do not provide sufficient information. In order to engage deeply in the research of SLO implementation, the processing of qualitative data needs to be present at all levels.

What hinders creation of such data management and exchange systems is the lack of time, skilful management, methodologies and tools, inability to involve all staff and ensure proper technological solutions for fast and convenient data management. The lack of the abovementioned hinders effective monitoring and using school data to make informed decisions.

While the funding is not the main determinant of being a SLO, insufficiency of financial resources is a serious impediment to SLO development in all European education systems. The education budget cuts in Greece (Papazoglou and Koutouzis, 2022) and schools' consolidation into school networks in Portugal (Liebowitz et al., 2018), Latvia (OECD, 2020) and other countries demonstrate the constant optimisation efforts and their consequences. Financial resources

determine the workload of school staff and motivation to engage in extra learning activities, as it allows school leaders to employ a sufficient number of employees to avoid teaching staff's work overload so that teachers can spend more time on inquiry and experimentation. Moreover, finances and their fair distribution allow for increased efficiency of collection, exchange and analysis of data, where modern ICT tools can be applied to support decision making. Obviously, the financial capacity of schools has an impact on the technological equipment of classrooms, and consequently on innovation and creativity in the learning process; therefore, the lack of cooperation with other schools and industry in order to exchange resources and knowledge might be another risk for developing as a SLO.

Discussion

According to Systems Theory, isolation significantly limits the learning opportunities of the parties involved (Portfelt, 2006). The isolation of schools nowadays is associated with limited opportunities to launch creative projects, benefit from funding programmes and cooperate with other stakeholders to observe and adopt practices, and implement social learning. SLO, on the other hand, is positioning schools as highly social structures that understand the benefits of cooperation between teaching and non-teaching staff, local and national authorities, local organisations, businesses, parents, students, researchers and other stakeholders and practices collaborative learning.

There is no universal formula for SLO implementation in different countries. However, the literature emphasises shared leadership and autonomy of schools as important prerequisites for developing as SLOs in accordance with the real needs of stakeholders (OECD, 2018). Autonomy of schools has not been highlighted as a problem in the interviews with education stakeholders in Latvia; however, the OECD experts point out this condition for successful SLO implementation in other countries. Centralization of educational systems, where a large proportion of decisions is taken at ministerial level, are assessed as less efficient and hinder SLO development. For instance, educational systems in Greece or Portugal are gradually moving towards decentralisation of schools, however, hindering factors are the lack of skilful school leaders, easy trackable financial schemes, support of municipalities and other schools and other lacking elements. Similar impediments have been observed in Latvia.

Therefore, effective leadership is emphasised by the experts across the globe. Leadership has a huge impact on school autonomy in practice (Briggs and Wohlstetter, 2003), as it can sustain high quality of education with the collaborative practices and avoid relying on centralised decisions and centrally distributed financial resources as the only resources needed to improve the quality of learning, for both staff and students. However, leadership skills of school

management and the time and motivation to practise learning leadership activities are one of the main concerns of education stakeholders internationally. To be effective, regular communication between the school leader and staff is essential. The lack of proper leadership hinders development of an inclusive working environment, trust and support between its staff in schools, which is important for promoting common learning, experience sharing, information exchange and collaboration. The research shows that the working environment focused on mutual trust and collaboration positively impacts student learning outcomes, and their engagement and participation in school life (Silins et al., 2002).

Leadership can be developed through acting as a facilitator, coach or mentor, by regularly collaborating with other school leaders, by organising weekly meetings, consultations, networking, conferences, inductions of new teachers, sharing knowledge, experiences and resources, shadowing other school leaders, and networking and collaborating in other ways (Matthews et al., 2011; Somech and Drach-Zahavy, 2007; Kools and Stoll, 2016). Researchers acknowledge that mentoring as a regular practice has a positive impact on the learning process and the cultivation of common values (Kools and Stoll, 2016; Thompson et al., 2004; OECD, 2014). As a task of the learning leader, mentorship requires certain knowledge and mentorship skills, ability to create trustful and supportive atmosphere, as well as time to conduct it regularly. The lack of proper mentorship skills can create additional pressure, hinder self-confidence and readiness to experiment and innovate among school staff. Variety of practices of acquiring and implementing school leadership (including induction periods, setting the physical space, peer learning activities etc.) are demonstrated across the globe and need to be analysed and described to be practically applicable in schools.

Interestingly, the research has revealed an opinion, that smaller schools (referred to rural schools) are considered as having better potential for developing as learning organisations, as they are naturally developed as local community centres with closer interaction and common learning habits of their stakeholders. The research carried out in Greece confirms the assumption about smaller schools (<50 pupils) having better conditions to develop as SLOs, however, there is no valid proof stating that rural schools have better disposition towards SLOs than urban ones (Papazoglou and Koutouzis, 2020). Moreover, the research on SLO in Wales shows that secondary level schools were less successful in developing as learning organisations (OECD,2018). A similar assumption about professional schools is also shared by the respondents. Further research is necessary to validate these hypotheses in more countries by applying one of the SLO evaluation tools to identify risks and potential solutions to support SLOs.

The limitation of this research on impediments to the development of SLOs in Latvia is that it focuses mainly on the stakeholders not directly involved in the learning process, but rather acting as experts at the national and local TO BE OR NOT TO BE A GREAT EDUCATOR, 2022

B.LAVRINOVIČA, I.LINDE, G.SILIŅA-JASJUKEVIČA, I.LŪSĒNA-EZERA. Schoolasa Learning Organisation ...

levels. Bigger picture might be drawn by developing in-depth interviews with the teachers and school principals that are aware of the meaning of the SLO concept. More impediments and risks to SLO implementation, that were not specifically mentioned in the interviews, can be found in the extensive report on 'Developing Schools as Learning Organisations in Wales' (2018) prepared by the OECD.

Conclusions

Four main stakeholder groups involved in the development of SLO were detected during the analysis of data on main impediments to SLO, such as,

- 1) policy support system,
- 2) school leadership,
- 3) organisational learners (school staff), and
- 4) learning partners, and each of them has its own function and barriers to its implementation.

At the education policy level, SLO is promoted, first of all, by collaboration with researchers, developing the nationally relevant SLO model and communicating it to schools and education stakeholders. At this point, the main risks are related to the translation of theoretical, academic concepts into practical guidelines that can be directly applied to organisational learning at school level.

Another serious impediment to SLO development is the lack of human and financial resources to enable teachers and non-teaching staff to devote more paid time to learning activities. As a large part of the responsibility for autonomous SLO lies on the school leader (principal or management team), it is significant that the school leader is well prepared for this role, has a clear understanding of the concept of SLO, is future-oriented and has appropriate competencies to engage in the learning process, facilitate learning of others, provide support to the staff, involve school staff and other stakeholders in the creation and further implementation of the shared vision for student development. School leader is both the learner and facilitator of team learning within the educational institution.

What hinders development of SLO and partly depends on the capacity of the school leaders are: insufficient support for school staff, including the inability to provide individual mentoring or proper feedback to individual staff members, the lack of trustful and encouraging atmosphere in the school, the lack of a system for collecting and sharing information, the lack of time or mainly administrative role of the 'leader', which generally means the lack of leadership as a potential agent of change. The impediments to the development of SLO are highly dependent on the skills, such as, ability to take risks, experiment, innovate, communicate, collaborate and work out a shared vision, of both school leadership and school staff, as well as the lack of paid time to practice them in an individual and team learning.

Another aspect hindering organisational learning is detachment of learning from the real work environment, meaning that learning is mainly facilitated outside the school, with others rather than within the school team. However, the presence and involvement of larger stakeholder groups is a part of successful SLO development. Weak networks with parents, other educational institutions, such as schools and higher educational institutions, and even students, is a risk, because isolation of school significantly decreases the access to resources and opportunities for learning.

The situation in Latvia demonstrates similar challenges for SLO implementation. The main impediments stated by the education stakeholders are: the lack of communication between different level policy makers and implementers, inappropriate languages of communication, low shared responsibility in schools and insufficiency of time and financial resources to implement common learning and collaboration. The lack of necessary skills and the actual shortage of teaching staff, are caused by high workload and low financial remuneration, lack of instructional and financial support from school leaders and municipalities, and low prestige of the profession in society.

Aknowledgment

The article was prepared under the European Social fund project No. 8.3.6.2/17/I/001 'Establishment and implementation of the Education Quality Monitoring System' within the framework of the research 'A model and tool to support the implementation of the approach school as a learning organization in educational institutions'.

REFERENCES

Briggs, K., & Wohlstetter, P. (2003). Key elements of a successful school-based management strategy. School Effectiveness and School Improvement: *An International Journal of Research, Policy and Practice, 14*(3). https://doi.org/10.1076/sesi.14.3.351.15840

Higgins, M., Ishimaru, A., Holcombe, R., & Fowler, A. (2012). Examining Organizational Learning in Schools: The Role of Psychological Safety, Experimentation, and Leadership that Reinforces Learning. *Journal of Educational Change*, *13*(1), 67–94. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10833-011-9167-9

Kools, M., & Stoll L. (2016). What Makes a School a Learning Organisation?, *OECD Education Working Papers*, *No. 137*. OECD Publishing, Paris. http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/5jlwm62b3bvh-en

Kools, M., Stoll, L., George, B., Steijn, B., Bekkers, V., & Gouedard, P. (2020). The school as a learning organisation: The concept and its measurement. *European Journal of Education*, 55(1), 24–42. https://doi.org/10.1111/ejed.12383

Liebowitz, D., González, P., Hooge, E., & Lima, G. (2018). OECD Reviews of School Resources: Portugal 2018, OECD Reviews of School Resources. *OECD Publishing, Paris.* https://doi.org/10.1787/9789264308411-en

Lielvārds (2021) Pētījums "Skolotāju balss" [Research 'The Voice of Teachers']. Lielvārds. https://lielvards.lv/petijums-skolotaju-balss/pdf

Leithwood, K. A. & Reihl, C. (2003). What We Know About Successful Leadership, National College for Educational Leadership. http://dcbsimpson.com/randd-leithwood-successful-leadership.pdf.

MacBeath, J. (2013). Leading learning in a world of change. in OECD (2013), Leadership for 21st Century Learning, *Educational Research and Innovation*. *OECD Publishing, Paris*. http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/9789264205406-en

Matthews, P. Higham, R., Stoll, L., Brennan, J., & Riley, K. (2011). *Prepared to lead: how schools, federations and chains grow education leaders*. National College for School Leadership, Nottingham.

OECD (2014). TALIS 2013 Results: An International Perspective on Teaching and Learning, TALIS. *OECD Publishing, Paris*. http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/9789264196261-en.

OECD (2018). Developing Schools as Learning Organisations in Wales, Implementing Education Policies. *OECD Publishing, Paris*. https://doi.org/10.1787/9789264307193-en

OECD (2020). Education Policy Outlook: Latvia. OECD Publishing, Paris. www.oecd.org/education/policy-outlook/country-profile-Latvia-2020.pdf

Papazoglou, A., & Koutouzis, M. (2020) Schools as learning organisations in Greece: Measurement and first indications. *European Journal of Education*, 55(1), 43–57. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1111/ejed.12380

Papazoglou, A., & Koutouzis, M. (2022). Educational leadership roles for the development of learning organizations: Seeking scope in the Greek context, *International Journal of Leadership in Education*, *25*(4). https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/13603124. 2019.1690950

Portfelt, I. S. (2006). The University; A Learning Organization? An Illuminative Review Based on System Theory. Karlstad University Studies, Karlstad.

Schlechty, P. C. (2009). Leading for Learning: How to Transform Schools into Learning Organizations. Jossey-Bass, San Francisco.

Senge, P. M. (1990). *The fifth discipline: The art and practice of the learning organization*. New York: Doubleday-Currency.

Silins, H., Mulford, B., & Zarins, S. (2002). Organizational Learning and School Change. *Educational Administration Quarterly, 38*(5), 611–641. http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0013161X 02239641

Skola2030 (2019). School as a learning organisation [Skola kā mācīšanās organizācija]. https://www.skola2030.lv/lv/istenosana/macibu-pieeja/macibu-organizacija-skola

Smyth, J., & Fasoli, L. (2007). Climbing over the rocks in the road to student engagement and learning in a challenging high school in Australia. *Educational Research*, *49*(3).

Somech, A., & Drach-Zahavy, A. (2007). Strategies for coping with work-family conflict: The distinctive relationships of gender-role ideology, *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, *12*(1), 1–19.

Thompson, M., Goe, L., Paek, P., & Ponte, E. (2004). Study of the Impact of the California Formative Assessment and Support System for Teachers: Report 1, Beginning Teachers' Engagement with BTSA/CFASST. ETS, Princeton. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1110991.pdf

About the authors

Beata Lavrinoviča, PhD student of Educational Sciences in the Faculty of Pedagogy, Psychology and Art of the University of Latvia. beatalavrinovica@inbox.lv

Gunta Siliņa-Jasjukeviča, Dr. paed, associate professor at the Faculty of Pedagogy, Psychology and Art, senior researcher in Scientific Institute of Pedagogy, University of Latvia. gunta.silina-jasjukevica@lu.lv

Inga Linde, PhD student of Educational Sciences at the Faculty of Pedagogy, Psychology and Art of the University of Latvia. inga.linde@inbox.lv

Inese Lūsēna-Ezera, Dr. sc. administr, professor and leading researcher at Liepaja University. inese.lusena-ezera@liepu.lv https://doi.org/10.22364/atee.2022.16

Implementation of the School as a Learning Organisation: Latvian Educators' Experience

Oskars Kaulēns¹, Inese Lūsēna-Ezera², Gunta Siliņa-Jasjukeviča¹, Ilze Briška¹

¹ University of Latvia, Latvia ² Liepaja University, Latvia

ABSTRACT

The idea of the school as a learning organisation (SLO) has become a topical issue in many countries due to the rapid changes in curricula and the management of educational institutions. The process of purposeful implementation of SLO has started in the Latvian education system too. Within the framework of the project "Competence Approach to Curriculum" (School2030) implemented by the National Centre for Education (Republic of Latvia), not only the current curriculum documents are reviewed and improved, but also the introduction of SLO in general and vocational education in Latvia is realised – a school where each student's deep learning is supported, students, teachers, school management and other staff learn individually and together, a school that is constantly changing and ready to meet the new challenges. SLO is also important for ensuring the assessment and monitoring of the quality of education. Consequently, the issue of SLO is also relevant for the Latvian State Education Quality Service in the accreditation and self-evaluation of educational institutions and the improvement of their principals' professional competence. The aim of the research is to evaluate the mutual coherence and interaction of different levels of policy (education level, municipal level) in the successful implementation of SLO in general education in Latvia. In order to indicate the extent to which the approaches implemented at different levels of educational policy are consistent with the conceptual model of SLO, the theoretical concept of SLO is analysed in the study - key components, operating principles and preconditions for successful school transformation. The study also describes the international experience in the implementation of the SLO model, thus revealing the possible transfer of the experience of other countries to the Latvian educational context.

Keywords: learning organisation, a model of school as a learning organisation, education quality assessment, general and vocational education, education policy in Latvia
Introduction

In many countries around the world, national governments have launched education reforms aimed at transforming and streamlining school governance. As a result of these reforms, schools are expected to develop inclusive collaborative structures, improve communication channels, organise targeted staff professional development and implement learning-centered leadership (Lo, 2004). Although schools aim to prepare students to live and work in a changing world, schools do not always keep pace with societal changes. This is attributed to the fact that teachers too often do not develop the professional skills and practices that would enable them to support students' diverse learning needs. Therefore, the reforms that are implemented in the education sector are often implemented without continuity, without creating significant and lasting changes in teachers' beliefs and convictions (Fullan, 2015).

The school as a learning organisation is proposed as an alternative strategy to achieve school-wide change, to facilitate the transformation of the school governance model, to influence different aspects of the internal culture of the school organisation and to promote innovation in school governance (Stoll & Kools, 2017). Building schools into effective learning organisations or using their characteristics in school governance is also at the core of several recommendations made by international organisations such as the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) and the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organisation (UNESCO) to national education policy makers (OECD, 2016; UNESCO, 2022).

Since 2016, Latvia has been working on the introduction of a new general education standard, envisaging a gradual transition to a competence-based approach to learning. This change involves not only new learning outcomes for students, but also a new approach to school governance. "A school that supports the learning of every pupil and implements a learning-by-doing approach operates as a learning organisation that changes and adapts independently to new circumstances. It is where pupils, teachers, school leaders and other staff learn individually and collectively to achieve their own and shared goals." (National Centre for Education, 2017) This means that Latvia, too, has set the national education policy goal of gradually transforming schools into effective learning organisations.

The aim of the study is to find out which professional practices characterise schools as learning organisations and how these practices are reflected in documents. In order to achieve this goal, the authors have analysed the scientific literature on the school as a learning organisation, paying particular attention to the dimensions of this model and the prerequisites for its implementation in school management, studied the experience of other countries and regions – Wales (UK) and Singapore – in implementing the principles of the school as a learning organisation, and analysed Latvian education policy documents such as the Education Law, Education Development Guidelines 2021–2027, etc, assessing the relevance of the provisions contained therein to the principles of the learning organisation.

School as a learning organisation: literature review

There is no single, all-encompassing definition of a learning organisation in the academic literature, as each definition highlights and emphasises those elements of a learning organisation that are relevant to the context in which the research is being conducted. However, researchers have concluded that what learning organisations have in common is that they need to be created in the context of a rapidly changing external environment, where the learning organisation is seen as a way in which the organisation learns to cope with challenges and solve problems by using the potential of collective learning. A learning organisation is an organisation that has the capacity to change and continuously adapt to new external environmental conditions as its members individually and collectively learn and develop their own unique way of implementing the organisation's vision (Kools & Stoll, 2016).

At the heart of a learning organisation is the learning of all the participants involved, which is acknowledged as the main reason for the organisation's existence. It is an organisation that supports both individual and collective learning and encourages its employees to share with their colleagues their vision of their individual goals and how they relate to the organisation's common goals (Marquardt, 2002). This implies that learning organisations share a number of common elements – strategic leadership and management, a highly developed internal organisational culture, effective communication systems, information and knowledge sharing systems, and multiple levels of learning (Birdthistle, 2009).

A learning organisation is characterised by the ability to create, acquire, interpret, transfer and retain knowledge, and to purposefully redesign its activities to reflect new knowledge and insights gained through the learning process. Moreover, it is important that the collective knowledge acquired during the organisation's activities is retained in the organisation's memory and reflected in the activities, norms and procedures implemented by the organisation (Garvin, 2000).

The development of a learning organisation is determined by 4 interrelated elements: organisational learning, learning at work, the learning climate and the learning structure of the organisation. Organisational learning focuses on different levels of learning, the creation and accumulation of knowledge and its use in the organisation. Workplace learning means that employees have the opportunity to learn on site in the organisation because knowledge is contextual (Marsick & Watkins, 1990, 2020). A learning climate implies that the management of the

organisation creates a positive atmosphere in the workplace that is supportive, open and helps to develop new and critical thinking patterns in employees. A learning structure requires that the organisation develops a management that is flexible and decentralised and encourages the formation of teams of employees (Örtenblad, 2004).

Dimensions of the learning organisation

Senge (1990) proposes 5 dimensions of a learning organisation:

- 1) personal mastery, in which the members of the organisation create their personal vision, care for their professional development and use their knowledge for the benefit of the organisation;
- mental models, which involve an ongoing dialogue between employees that allows them to evaluate existing and develop new values, opinions and beliefs;
- shared vision, which is created through collective agreement and is understood and accepted by all employees;
- 4) team learning, which is characterised by thinking collectively and learning from each other's past experiences;
- 5) systems thinking, which is related to understanding the processes within and outside the organisation and their impact on the organisation's performance.

In the context of implementing the principles of learning organisations in schools, researchers propose the concept of a "learning school". This is a school in which learning is central, and everyone learns – students, teachers and school management (Ng, 2005b). A learning school is a school that is transformed and made sustainable not through edicts, rules or instructions, but through an explicit orientation towards learning. All school-related actors are encouraged to express their vision of the direction of the school's development and contribute to the realisation of this vision (Senge et al., 2000).

Johnston & Caldwell (2001) point out that the school as a learning organisation is characterised by 4 dimensions:

- 1) effective communication channels between stakeholders;
- 2) inclusive collaborative structures within the school, and between the school and the local community;
- 3) integrated and inclusive professional development for staff; and
- 4) learning-focused leadership. The school as a learning organisation is characterised by a climate of trust and collaboration within the school; the capacity and willingness of staff to take initiative and risks; a shared and monitored school mission and professional development of staff (Silins et al., 2002).

Referring to the ideas of Peter Senge, Lo (2004) points out that a school as a learning organisation is characterised by:

- personal mastery, which is linked to staff understanding of their personal goals, critical evaluation of current practices and purposeful professional development;
- 2) mental models, characterised by staff openness to change, willingness to experiment and regular reflection;
- shared vision, involving a wide range of people in the formulation of the school's mission and goals;
- team learning, which involves building such systems that foster collaboration among staff, harnessing the potential of informal learning;
- 5) systems thinking, characterised by the use of multiple communication channels, sharing decision-making and responsibility among school staff and understanding the changes taking place in the broader educational context.

The school as a learning organisation is characterised by continuous learning opportunities, exploration of professional practice and dialogue, collaboration and team learning, systems for knowledge accumulation and dissemination, encouragement to pursue a collective vision, alignment of action with the collective vision, strategic leadership with a focus on learning and alignment of action with the external environment (Marsick & Watkins, 2003).

Whereas OECD researchers in the context of the school as a learning organisation propose a 7-dimension model:

- 1) a shared vision of learning for all students;
- 2) creating and providing continuous learning opportunities for all staff;
- 3) fostering team learning and collaboration among staff;
- 4) culture of inquiry, innovation and exploration within the school;
- 5) systems for acquiring, storing and sharing new knowledge within the school;
- 6) learning from the external environment and other systems;
- 7) modelling and growth of learning management (OECD, 2016; Stoll & Kools, 2017; Kools et al., 2020).

Prerequisites for developing a school into a learning organisation

To develop a school as a learning organisation, it is necessary to achieve the formation of such internal culture of the organisation, that is based on trust among employees (Stoll & Kools, 2017). In schools characterised by high levels of trust, teachers can talk more openly about the challenges they face in their daily work and learn more effectively from mistakes (Vaessen, van den Beemt & de Laat, 2014). It involves a shift in mindset and a commitment by all school staff

to self-reflect and evaluate their professional performance. Without collective commitment, collaboration and risk-taking, it is not possible to establish a school as an authentic learning organisation (Harris & Jones, 2018).

The microclimate of relationships in the school and the dynamics of teachers' interpersonal relationships are important for the implementation of the principles of a learning organisation (Carney, 2000). It will be possible to implement the principles of the learning organisation if school staff are open to new experiences, willing to support other colleagues in their change efforts, and willing to share the knowledge and good practice accumulated in the school. It is also important to develop the skills of providing and using reflection and feedback of all parties involved (Kelchterman, 2004; Timperley et al., 2008).

The implementation of the learning organisation model in schools is linked to a change in the role of school leaders. Despite the fact that learning leadership is often shared in schools, employees are not always able to take responsibility and change the way processes are implemented unless they are supported by the school leadership. Consequently, the leadership team has a responsibility to provide a safe environment in which people can develop new behaviours and be aware that they are not expected to maintain the status quo, but to challenge established practices (Marsick & Watkins, 1999).

Another prerequisite for the implementation of a school as a learning organisation is how well the school administration implements a policy of shared leadership and responsibility in the school and how teachers are involved in issues related to school governance (Harris & Jones, 2010). The participation of school employees in the decision-making processes can increase the responsibility of teachers and other stakeholders for the achievement of organisational goals (Thoonen et al., 2011).

Research methodology

The qualitative data and information required for the study were obtained using the monographic method, by identifying, selecting and systematically analysing professional and scientific literature in English in the international databases such as EBSCO, Taylor & Francis, EMERALD, WEB of Science, etc. The aim of the literature analysis is to answer 2 research questions:

- 1) What is "school as a learning organisation" and what are the dimensions of this concept?
- 2) What are the international examples of national or regional transformation of schools into learning organisations and what can other countries learn from this experience?

To analyse the international experience of implementing the "School as a learning organisation" model, 2 examples are examined – Singapore and

Wales (UK). Singapore has been selected for the case study analysis because its education system has been ranked as one of the best in the world according to the OECD's 2018 PISA survey, with students demonstrating high academic achievement in mathematics, science and literacy (OECD, 2019). This has been attributed as one of the outcomes of the nationwide 'School Excellence Model', which has transformed schools into learning organisations (Ng, 2003). In contrast, Wales (UK) is selected for the case study because, according to the OECD's PISA 2009 survey, Welsh pupils have shown mediocre learning outcomes in mathematics, science and literacy (OECD, 2018). As a result, an education reform "Education in Wales: Our national mission, Action plan 2017–2021" (Welsh Government, 2017), was launched and implemented in Wales with the aim of transforming schools into effective learning organisations.

The authors have conducted a qualitative content analysis of Latvian education policy documents in order to answer the research question on how the principles of school as a learning organisation are reflected in the framework of the documents of the Latvian education system and what is their mutual coherence in the context of the implementation of the "School as a Learning Organisation" model. The 7 dimensions of the OECD's School as a Learning Organisation model have been selected as the research categories for the analysis of the documents (OECD, 2016; Stoll & Kools, 2017; Kools et al., 2020). This model has been selected because the relevance of it has been scientifically proven in practice in Wales (UK), Singapore and other countries and regions.

The following Latvian education policy documents have been analysed as part of the qualitative content analysis:

- 1) National Development Plan 2021-2027 (2020);
- 2) The Law on Education (1998);
- 3) Education Development Guidelines 2021–2027 (2021);
- 4) The Standard of the Teaching Profession (2020);
- 5) Guidelines for Quality Assurance in General and Vocational Education and their annexes (2022);
- 6) Recommendations of the National Centre for Education project "Competence Approach in Curriculum" (National Centre for Education, 2021).

Research results

Singapore's experience in implementing the "School as a Learning Organisation" model

According to the OECD's implemented research "Programme for International Student Assessment" (PISA) in 2018, Singapore's education system is considered one of the best in the world, with students demonstrating high learning achievements in areas such as mathematics, science and literacy (OECD, 2019).

This performance has been attributed to long-term education policy reforms that have aimed to integrate the teaching of 21st century skills into the curriculum, cultivate a culture of lifelong learning, foster students' innovative, creative and critical thinking skills, broaden their learning experiences and prepare civically active learners for life in the global world (Gopinathan & Lee, 2018).

Singapore's education system is based on decentralised decision-making, which is a delegation of responsibility from the central government to the local school level and an agreement on decision-making between the school principal, teachers, parents, local community and students at the school level (Levacic, 1998; Raab, 2000). Within this paradigm, school leaders, teachers, students and parents are delegated greater freedom and autonomy in making decisions related to the use of school budget, personnel management and curriculum design to promote a learning environment that is appropriate for all students (Ng & Chan, 2008).

In 2000, in all schools in Singapore, the implementation of "The School Excellence Model" was launched, under which schools were guided to develop towards excellence through increasing their autonomy, strengthening the leadership and management skills of school principals, promoting educational innovation in schools, and increasing parental and community involvement in educational processes (Goh & Richards, 1997). This model emphasises the role of school leadership and teachers in promoting students' academic achievement, and according to it, excellence in education is defined as holistic education that ensures sustained academic outcomes rather than one-off events (Ng, 2017).

The School Excellence Model includes 9 quality criteria or dimensions:

- leadership: what management systems are implemented in the school to promote student learning and excellence in academic achievement and to meet the school's responsibilities to society;
- strategic planning: how the school sets relevant development goals for its stakeholders, develops an action plan and monitors progress in achieving these goals;
- staff management: how the school develops and uses the potential of its staff to become an outstanding school;
- 4) resources: how the school manages its internal and external human resources to achieve its goals;
- 5) student-centred process: how the school designs, implements, manages and improves processes to ensure holistic education and student well-being;
- 6) administrative and operational outcomes: how the school achieves operational efficiency and provides a meaningful education for its students;
- staff outcomes: how the school contributes to staff professional development and job satisfaction;

- partnership and community outcomes: how the school works with partners and the wider local community;
- 9) key performance outcomes: how the school ensures the holistic development of students and the set educational goals (Ng, 2003).

A study published in 2019 concludes that decentralisation in Singapore's education system has encouraged flexibility and innovation in schools, while retaining government oversight has ensured that schools are held accountable for improving learning outcomes for all students. Factors such as the measures taken in schools to support the growth of every student, the professional development of teachers, and the extracurricular activities offered to students have contributed to the implementation of Singapore's "School Excellence Model" (Huang et al., 2019).

In the context of the implementation of the School Excellence Model, it is concluded that Singapore's education system is characterised by sound human resource management policies, coherence between action policies at different levels of the education system and a culturally embedded respect for the teacher as a leader. These are factors that play a pivotal role in building a sustainable, coherent and high-performing education system. Similarly, innovation and entrepreneurship have been given a significant place in Singapore's education system and are defined as a mandatory strategic focus for every school (Ng, 2005a).

Despite the positive changes brought about by the implementation of Singapore's "School Excellence Model", Singapore's education policy has been criticised for its strong focus on students' academic achievement. While Singaporean students perform very well in international studies, these achievements are often achieved through traditional teaching and learning methods. This is due to the fact that society in Singapore is still focused on examinations, which are used to select students for the later stages of education. As a result, the education system has become a source of socio-economic inequality (Gopinathan & Lee, 2018).

The experience of Wales (UK) in implementing the "School as a Learning Organisation" model

According to data obtained from the implemented study by the OECD, Programme for International Student Assessment (PISA) in 2009, Welsh pupils were performing mediocrely, which led to the launch of a reform project in 2011 with the aim of reorganising the education system and implementing quality and inclusive education that meets the requirements of the 21st century (OECD, 2018). The reforms were based on an action plan, "Education in Wales: Our national mission 2017-21", which aimed to achieve 4 education goals between 2017 and 2021, helping to create:

- 1) purposeful and skilled learners who are ready for lifelong learning;
- enterprising, creative people who are ready to engage fully in life and work;

- 3) ethical and informed citizens of the Welsh region and the world;
- 4) healthy and confident individuals who are ready to lead fulfilling lives in contemporary society (Donaldson, 2015, p. 29).

In parallel with the development of the policy documents, it was agreed between policy decision makers and schools that the successful implementation of the Action Plan requires the continuous collaboration and development of teachers, support staff, school management and all stakeholders, thus contributing to the development of a culture of learning in every school. Following the example of other countries, such as Norway, the Netherlands and Singapore, the Welsh education system defined a common goal: to transform all schools into effective learning organisations. To achieve this goal, in cooperation with the OECD, a 7-dimension model of a learning organisation was developed (Kools & Stoll, 2016; OECD, 2018; Kools et al., 2019).

To assess the impact of the changes, OECD researchers conducted interviews with school staff, education policy makers and other stakeholders in the Wales region; researched education planning documents; and developed a 69-question survey to assess a school as a learning organisation (Kools et al., 2020). In 2018, an OECD report was published which concluded that the majority of schools in Wales are on their way to implementing the school as a learning organisation model, as 58% of schools have worked with 5–7 dimensions of the learning organisation and 30% out of these schools have worked with all 7 dimensions, however, 42% of schools need to improve their implementation of the principles of the learning organisation (OECD, 2018).

OECD research data show that schools do best when it comes to team learning and fostering collaboration among staff and building systems for collecting and exchanging knowledge, while the biggest challenges are building a shared vision of learning for all students, creating a culture of inquiry, exploration and innovation, and collaborating and learning from the external environment and other systems (OECD, 2018). Although Wales is in the process of implementing education reforms that will last until September 2022, the Welsh Government already acknowledges that additional investment and contributions will be necessary for school staff to broaden their skills and vision on how school as a learning organisation functions (OECD, 2018).

Latvian experience in implementing the "School as a Learning Organisation" model

Dimension "A shared vision of learning for all students". Latvian policy documents consider the vision of education in the context of the achievable outcomes in other fields of economic activity. For example, in the National Development Plan 2021-2027 (hereafter: NDP) and the Guidelines for the Development of Education 2021-2027 (hereafter: GDE), the vision of education

is viewed in the context of the country's economic growth, development of civil society and the issues of cultural sustainability (National Development Plan, 2020; Education Development Guidlines, 2021). However, it is not stated that every school in Latvia should develop a clear vision for student learning in the context of nationally defined education policy priorities.

Whereas the Guidelines for Quality Assurance in General and Vocational Education (hereafter referred to as the Education Quality Guidelines) state that every educational institution should have a mission, vision and values, which are defined through the involvement of all target groups, such as students, teachers, parents, etc. (Guidelines for Quality Assurance in General and Vocational Education, 2022). A similar concept is also found in the recommendations of the National Centre for Education (NCE) project "Competence Approach in Curriculum" (hereafter: NCE recommendations), which calls on every school to define and put into practice a school vision that promotes and enhances learning for every student and in which all stakeholders are involved (National Centre for Education, 2021).

The above-mentioned evidence suggests that the dimension "A shared vision of learning for all students" of the "School as a learning organisation" model is integrated in Latvian policy documents, but its reflection is not consistent and coherent. For example, Education Policy Framework documents such as the NDP and GDE refer to the vision of learning not in the context of schools as individual organisations, but in a broader context. In contrast, the Education Quality Guidelines and the NCE recommendations refer specifically to the need for schools to develop a particular vision to support the learning of all learners.

Dimension "Creating and providing continuous learning opportunities for all employees". The Law on Education of the Republic of Latvia defines the local municipality as the implementer of teachers' professional development, which is also the founder of the school (The Law on Education, 1998). This means that there is also a requirement at the local level to plan and organise teacher professional development in line with the goals set by the education policy. The NDP and GDE also include a requirement for teachers to undertake continuous professional development to support students' learning (National Development Plan, 2020; Education Development Guidelines, 2021). However, these documents refer specifically to teachers' learning, without including other school staff such as support staff and technical staff, even though the 'School as a Learning Organisation' model emphasises professional development of all employees.

The Standard of the Teaching Profession states that, in order to perform professional duties, teachers need to be skilled to regularly evaluate their own performance and to plan and implement professional development to support pupils' learning and development. Teachers are also expected to apply the latest pedagogical knowledge and innovations in their practice, which can be acquired

through continuous professional development (The Standard of the Teaching Profession, 2020). On the other hand, the Education Quality Guidelines emphasise that it is the responsibility of the school principal to provide learning opportunities for teachers, implemented both through formal learning (attending lectures, seminars, workshops, etc.) and informal professional development (teacher collaboration groups, networking with other organisations, etc.) (Guidelines for Quality Assurance in General and Vocational Education, 2022).

Therefore, it can be concluded that the dimension "Creating and providing continuous learning opportunities for all employees" of the model "School as a learning organisation" is included in the reviewed Latvian education policy documents. However, the related normative framework emphasises only the role of teachers and school management in planning and implementing professional development, without mentioning other staff whose actions and professional performance may have an impact on pupils' learning and well-being at school.

Dimension "Fostering team learning and cooperation among employees". The Education Quality Guidelines indicate that schools need cooperation between teachers, jointly planning and evaluating student learning, so that teachers have the opportunity to learn from each other's experiences. The policy document also emphasizes the importance of collaboration between the head teacher, teachers, support staff and pupils in ensuring the quality of education, innovation and the well-being of everyone involved in the education process (Guidelines for Quality Assurance in General and Vocational Education, 2022). This leads to the conclusion that team learning and collaboration is extended to a wider range of actors than the dimension discussed above, which focuses on the learning of teachers rather than all staff.

The Standard of the Teaching Profession states that teachers are obliged to evaluate their professional competence in cooperation with other colleagues, share experience and provide feedback to improve performance (The Standard of the Teaching Profession, 2020). This means that the need for informal learning to build a collaborative school internal organisational culture is emphasised, which is a prerequisite for building a learning organisation. Whereas the NCE recommendations indicate that teachers need to cooperate in order to monitor and follow the progress of all students in the learning process and ensure better learning opportunities, which is possible to implement if teachers regularly and purposefully cooperate and learn together. It also emphasises that collaboration is a way for teachers to improve their professional performance by learning from each other and from examples of good practice within the organisation (National Centre for Education, 2021).

The above-mentioned results lead to the conclusion that the dimension "Fostering team learning and cooperation among employees" of the "School as a learning organisation" model is included in the reviewed Latvian education

policy documents. Furthermore, it can be concluded that the understanding of why teacher collaboration and shared learning is necessary is similar across them, that is, it is a way for teachers to improve their professional performance and more successfully support the learning of every student.

Dimension "A culture of inquiry, exploration and innovation at school". In the Standard of the Teaching Profession, although the use of the term "innovation" does not appear directly, it is emphasised that the teachers are professionals who explore and study the learning needs of their students. Therefore, the teacher is expected to carry out research activities that allow the learning process to be adapted to students with different learning needs (The Standard of the Teaching Profession, 2020). The GDE, on the other hand, contains an indication that it is important for teachers to experiment in order to improve the quality of education at school (Education Development Guidelines, 2021), but similar references are not found in other Latvian education policy documents.

The Education Quality Guidelines state that it is important for teachers to use the knowledge and skills acquired through professional development activities, thus implementing innovations in their performance. It is also important for teachers to use the results and findings of current research in the field of education and to use information communication technologies to enhance student learning. Whereas at the school level, it is discussed that schools need to gather a variety of data in order to conclude what changes should be made and how to implement them in the organisation (Guidelines for Quality Assurance in General and Vocational Education, 2022).

Therefore, it can be concluded that the dimension "A culture of inquiry, exploration and innovation at school" of the "School as a learning organisation" model is indirectly integrated into the Latvian policy documents, as some of its elements, such as the study of professional practice and the collection of diverse data, are mentioned in them. However, the policy documents currently lack a direct indication on which innovations and in what way teachers should implement in their daily practice, therefore, the implementation of innovations is left entirely to the schools and not regulated at the national level.

Dimension "Systems for collecting and exchanging knowledge and learning". All of the reviewed Latvian education policy documents describe in detail what data a school needs to collect in order to define development goals and priorities, and to set qualitative and quantitative outcomes for ensuring the quality of education. They also specify what data collection methods should be used to enable teachers and the school to self-evaluate their performance, for example, questionnaires, lesson observations, focus group discussions, document analysis, etc. The Education Quality Guidelines state that education quality monitoring is carried out by the educational institution and its head, the municipality as the school founder and the National Service for Quality in Education (Guidelines for

Quality Assurance in General and Vocational Education, 2022). This means that the quality of education offered at a school is determined by diagnosing and evaluating both the performance of the individual pupil and the professional activities of the teacher, as well as the professional activities of the school head.

In turn, the NCE recommendations indicate that the task of the school staff is to introduce innovations in their work, perceiving problems and mistakes as a learning opportunity, and to involve students in researching and learning about the school as an organisation, thus creating a common understanding of the meaning and essence of change in the school. Schools are also expected to monitor and evaluate the quality of the education offered in the school, defining measurable outcomes and self-assessing their progress in relation to the goals set (National Centre for Education, 2021).

The above mentioned findings suggest that the dimension "Systems for collecting and exchanging knowledge and learning" of the "School as a learning organisation" model is included in the Latvian policy documents, but it is too general. For example, the policy documents specify which data collection methods a school should use to evaluate its performance and plan the changes to be made, but do not explicitly indicate how the obtained data should be analysed in order to draw conclusions about the need for a change in the organisation.

Dimension "Learning with and from the external environment and larger systems". In the Latvian policy documents examined in the framework of the study, learning from the external environment is understood as the school's cooperation with various partners, such as businesses, local government, professional communities and higher education institutions, with the aim of improving the quality of education. The Standard of the Teaching Profession states that the teacher's task is to organise a learning process in which pupils have the opportunity to act in real-life situations (The Standard of the Teaching Profession, 2020). However, this is attributed to student learning, not teacher learning, narrowing the understanding of teacher professional development as taking place in the school environment rather than outside it, learning from the experience of other organisations.

The Education Quality Guidelines state that it is the school principal's responsibility to encourage and organise cooperation with the local community and businesses to learn from their experiences. "The [school] head ... initiates cooperation with other institutions to ensure high quality learning achievements and the qualitative implementation of educational programmes." (Guidelines for Quality Assurance in General and Vocational Education, 2022). This means that the principal has a responsibility to build purposeful cooperation networks with other organisations, and as a result of this cooperation to improve both the school's governance model and the quality of teaching, as well as broaden the learning experience of students and teachers.

Therefore, it can be concluded that the dimension "Learning with and from the external environment and larger systems" of the "School as a learning organisation" model is included in Latvian education policy documents. However, its elements as a specific field of professional activities of a school are described in more detail in documents that have a recommendatory character, such as NCE recommendations, rather than in the Law on Education (Law on Education, 1998), where the norms are mandatory for schools to comply with. This means that learning from the external environment and larger systems in the Latvian case is more associated with desirable and encouraged behaviour, but it is not seen as a mandatory prerequisite for improving school's performance and transforming it into a learning organisation.

Dimension "Modelling and growing learning leadership". The Standard of the Teaching Profession states that teachers are active participants in the school governance, proposing their own ideas and solutions to problems (The Standard of the Teaching Profession, 2020). This means that a teacher is a professional who takes the lead in initiating the necessary changes and improvements in an organisation to promote student learning. In contrast, the NCE recommendations regarding the modelling of learning management refer to self-regulated learning, which is attributed to the learning of students rather than teachers and other school staff (National Centre for Education, 2021).

The Education Quality Guidelines include the indication that the school principal "leads mutual learning and teamwork, which enables the opportunity to collect, accumulate and publicise knowledge creation and learning experiences, provides the support functions of the methodological centre for other educational institutions" (Guidelines for Quality Assurance in General and Vocational Education, 2022). This means that the school principal, in a school as a learning organisation, not only takes responsibility for managing the administrative and economic processes, but also provides methodological support to teachers. In this way, the understanding of the role of the school principal is significantly expanded, with a focus on their own learning and that of other professionals. "The head of the school knows how to provide professional and growth-oriented feedback to his employees" (Guidelines for Quality Assurance in General and Vocational Education, 2022), thereby demonstrating the ability to manage learning.

This means that the dimension "Modelling and growing of learning leadership" of the "School as a Learning Organisation" model can be found in Latvian education policy documents. However, it is primarily understood as the leadership implemented by students in organising self-regulated learning, and the role of the school leaders in guiding their own and other staff members' learning. As for teachers, the focus is on their involvement in solving school-level challenges and proposing ideas, with less emphasis on the teachers as professionals

who purposefully guide not only their students' learning, but also their learning, which means defining their individual learning needs and demonstrating an example of lifelong learning.

Conclusions

All 7 dimensions of the "School as a learning organisation" model can be found in the Latvian educational policy documents, which shows that in the case of Latvia, similarly to the foreign examples discussed in the study, there is a gradual progress towards the transformation of schools into learning organisations. However, the planning of Latvia's education policy in the context of the learning organisation does not take place in a single, unified system, as there is no direct consistency and coherence between the different policy documents. This refers both to the interpretation of the concepts used in the policy documents and to the priorities set for the implementation of changes in school governance and ensuring the quality of education. Therefore, it would be recommended to harmonise the norms contained in policy documents and agree on a collective understanding of what is meant by a learning organisation and its functioning dimensions in the Latvian context.

The authors' analysis of Latvian education policy documents shows that there are elements of the "School as a learning organisation" model that are included and explained in a broad and comprehensive way, such as teacher professional development and team learning and cooperation. This could be explained by the fact that the implementation of these dimensions has been a priority of education policy for a long time and is equally applied to both teacher and student learning. Therefore, professional practices included in these dimensions are easier to understand and teachers have personal experience of participating in the implementation of these dimensions.

However, there are also dimensions of the "School as a learning organisation" model that are only superficially addressed in Latvian education policy documents or are only included in a few policy documents, such as modelling and growing learning leadership and a culture of inquiry, exploration and innovation in schools. This could be explained by the fact that the understanding of these dimensions is related to professional practices that have been less frequently implemented in Latvian schools, and more education of educational staff and society is required in order to realise the importance of these dimensions in improving the quality of education.

Moreover, the concepts used in these dimensions, such as "innovation", provide wide interpretation possibilities, which prevents the possibility of reaching a consensus on how their implementation could look like in the practice of Latvian schools. Therefore, it would be recommendable to develop a model of

a learning organisation that would be tailored specifically to the Latvian education context, reaching as much consensus as possible on the importance of each dimension for improving the quality of education and the practical manifestations of teachers, students, parents and other stakeholders.

Aknowledgment

The article was prepared under the European Social Fund project No. 8.3.6.2/17/I/001 "Establishment and implementation of the Education Quality Monitoring System" within the framework of the research "A model and tool to support the implementation of the approach school as a learning organisation in educational institutions".

REFERENCES

Birdthistle, N. (2009). Family Businesses and the Learning Organisation: A guide to transforming the family business into a learning organisation. VDM Verlag.

Carney, S. (2000). Getting the most out of school-based initial teacher education: professional development possibilities for teachers. *Improving Schools, 3*(2), 31–37. https://doi.org/10.1177/136548020000300209

Donaldson, G. (2015). Successful Futures: Independent review of curriculum and assessment arrangements in Wales. Welsh Government. [Online] https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2018-03/successful-futures.pdf [02.01.2023.]

Fullan, M. (2015). The New Meaning of Educational Change (5th ed.). Routledge.

Garvin, D. A. (2000). Learning in action. A guide to putting the learning organization to work. Harvard Business School Press.

Goh, C. S., Richards, G. (1997). Benchmarking the Learning Capability of Organisations. *European Management Journal*, *15*, 575–583. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0263-2373(97) 00036-4

Gopinathan, S., Lee, H. M. (2018). Excellence and equity in high-performing education systems: policy lessons from Singapore and Hong Kong. *Journal for the Study of Education and Development*, *41*(2), 203–247. https://doi.org/10.1080/02103702.2018.1434043

Harris, A., Jones, M. (2010). Professional learning communities and system improvement. *Improving Schools*, *13*(2), 172–181. http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/1365480210376487

Harris, A., Jones, M. (2018). Leading schools as learning organizations. *School Leadership & Management*, *38*(4). https://doi.org/10.1080/13632434.2018.1483553

Huang, J., Tang, Y., He, W., Li, Q. (2019). Singapore's School Excellence Model and student learning: evidence from PISA 2012 and TALIS 2013. *Asia Pacific Journal of Education*, *39*(1), 96–112. https://doi.org/10.1080/02188791.2019.1575185

Izglītības attīstības pamatnostādnes 2021.–2027. gadam. [Education Development Guidelines 2021–2027] (2022). [Online]. https://likumi.lv/ta/id/324332-par-izglitibas-attistibas-pamatnostadnem-2021-2027-gadam [02.01.2023.]

Izglītības likums. [The Law on Education] (1998). [Online]. https://likumi.lv/ta/id/50759-izglitibas-likums [02.01.2023.]

Johnston, C., Caldwell, B. (2001). Leadership and Organisational Learning in the Quest for World Class Schools. *The International Journal of Educational Management,* 15(2), 94–103. https://doi.org/10.1108/09513540110383827

Kelchtermans, G. (2004). CPD for professional renewal: moving beyond knowledge for practice. In C. Day and J. Sachs (Eds.) *International Handbook on the Continuing Professional Development of Teachers*. Open University Press.

Kools, M., & Stoll, L. (2016). What makes a school a learning organisation? OECD Publishing.

Kools, M., Gouëdard, P., George, B., Steijn, B., Bekkers, V., & Stoll, L. (2019). The relationship between the school as a learning organisation and staff outcomes: A case study of Wales. *European Journal of Education*, *54*(3) 426–442. https://doi.org/10.1111/ejed.12355

Kools, M., Stoll, L., George, B., Steijn, B., Bekkers, V., Gouëdard, P. (2020). The school as a learning organisation: The concept and its measurement. *European Journal of Education*, 55(1), 1–19. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/ejed.12383

Levacic, R. (1998). Local management of schools in England: results after six years. *Journal of Education Policy*, *13*(3), 331–350. https://doi.org/10.1080/0268093980130304

Lo, J. (2004). Implementation of the Learning Organisation Concept in School Management: a Literature Review. *Studies in Educational Policy and Educational Philosophy*, (1). https://doi.org/10.1080/16522729.2004.11803884

Marquardt, M. J. (2002). Building the learning organization. Davies-Black Publishing.

Marsick, V., Watkins, K. (1990). Informal and Incidental Learning in the Workplace. Routledge.

Marsick, V., Watkins, K. (1999). Facilitating Learning Organisations. Making Learning Count. Gower Publishing Limited.

Marsick, V., Watkins, K. (2003). Demonstrating the Value of an Organization's Learning Culture: The Dimensions of the Learning Organization Questionnaire. *Advances in Developing Human Resources*, 5(2), 132–151. https://doi.org/10.1177/1523422303005002002

Marsick, V., Watkins, K. (2020). Informal and Incidental Learning in the time of COVID-19. *Advances in Developing Human Resources, 23*(1), 88–96. https://doi.org/10.1177/15234223 2097365

Nacionālais attīstības plāns 2021.–2027. gadam [National Development Plan 2021–2027] (2020). [Online]. https://pkc.gov.lv/lv/nap2027 [02.01.2023.]

National Centre for Education Republic of Latvia (2017). Izglītība mūsdienīgai lietpratībai: mācību satura un pieejas apraksts [Education for Modern Literacy: A Curriculum and Approach Description]. [Online]. https://skola2030.lv/admin/filemanager/files/2/prezent-acija_izgl_musdienigai.pdf [03.01.2023.]

National Centre for Education Republic of Latvia (2021). Projekta "Kompetenču pieeja mācību saturā" rekomendācijas[Recommendations of the project "Competency Approach in Curriculum"]. [Online]. https://www.skola2030.lv/lv/istenosana/macibu-pieeja/macibu-organizacija-skola [02.01.2023.]

Ng, P. T. (2005a). The Learning School: Innovation and Enterprise. Prentice Hall.

Ng, P. T. (2003). The Singapore school and the School Excellence Model. *Educational Research for Policy and Practice*, 2(1), 27–39. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1024465302953

Ng, P. T. (2005b). Innovation and enterprise in Singapore schools. *Educational Research for Policy and Practice*, *3*(3), 183–198. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10671-004-8240-z

Ng, P. T., Chan, D. (2008). A comparative study of Singapore's school excellence model with Hog Kong's school-based management. *International Journal of Educational Management*, 22(6), 408–505. https://doi.org/10.1108/09513540810895426

OECD (2016). What makes a school a learning organisation? [Online] https://www.oecd.org/education/school/school-learning-organisation.pdf [02.01.2023.]

OECD (2018). Developing Schools as Learning Organisations in Wales. OECD Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1787/9789264307193-en

OECD (2019). *PISA 2018 Results* (Volume I): What Students Know and Can Do. OECD Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1787/5f07c754-en.

Örtenblad, A. (2004) The learning organization: towards an integrated model. *The Learning Organisation*, 11(2), 129–144. https://doi.org/10.1108/09696470410521592

Raab, C. D. (2000). The devolved management of schools and its implications for governance. In Arnott, M. A. and Raab, C. D. (Eds.) *The Governance of Schooling: Comparative Studies of Devolved Management*. Routledge.

Senge, P. (1990). The Fifth Discipline. Doubleday.

Senge, P. M., Cambron-McCabe, N., Lucas, T., Smith, B., Dutton, J. and Kleiner, A. (2000). Schools that Learn: A Fifth Discipline Fieldbook for Educators, Parents and Everyone Who Cares About Education. Doubleday.

Silins, H., Zarins, S., Mulford, B. (2002). What characteristics and processes define a school as a learning organisation? Is it a useful concept to apply to schools? *International Education Journal*, *3*(1), 24–32.

Skolotāja profesijas standarts [Standard of the Teaching Profession]. (2020). [Online]. https://registri.visc.gov.lv/profizglitiba/nks_stand_saraksts_mk_not_626.shtml [02.01.2023.]

Stoll, L., Kools, M. (2017). The school as a learning organisation: a review revisiting and extending a timely concept. *Journal of Professional Capital and Community*, 2(1), 2–17. https://doi.org/10.1108/JPCC-09-2016-0022

Thoonen, E. J. E., Sleegers, J. C. P., Oort, J. F., Peetsma, T. D. T., Geijsel, P. F. (2011). How to Improve Teaching Practices: The Role of Teacher Motivation, Organizational Factors, and Leadership Practices. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, *47*(3), 496–536. https://doi.org/10.1177/0013161X11400

Timperley, H., Wilson, A., Barrar, H., Fung, I. (2008). *Teacher Professional Learning and Development: Best Evidence Synthesis Iteration*. New Zealand Ministry of Education.

UNESCO (2022). Pārdomas par mūsu kopīgo nākotni: jauns sabiedriskais līgums izglītības jomā [Reflections on our shared future: A new social contract for education]. [Online]. https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000381966 [02.01.2023.]

Vadlīnijas izglītības kvalitātes nodrošināšanai vispārējā un profesionālajā izglītībā [Guidelines for Quality Assurance in General and Vocational Education]. (2022). [Online]. https://www.ikvd.gov.lv/lv/akreditacija [02.01.2023.]

Vaessen, M., van den Beemt, A., de Laat, M. (2014) Networked professional learning: relating the formal and the informal. *Frontline Learning Research*, *2*(2), 56–71. https://doi.org/10.14786/flr.v2i2.92

Watkins, K., Marsick, V. (1993). Sculpting the Learning Organization: Lessons in the Art and Science of Systemic Change (1st ed.). Jossey Bass.

Welsh Government (2017). Education in Wales: Our national mission. Action plan 2017–2021. [Online] https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2018-03/education-in-wales-our-national-mission.pdf [02.01.2023.]

About the authors

Oskars Kaulēns, Principal of Friendly Appeal Cesis State Gymnasium; Ph.D. candidate for education sciences from the University of Latvia; teachers' professional development expert of National Centre for Education Republic of Latvia. oskars.kaulens@lu.lv

Inese Lūsēna-Ezera, Dr.sc.administr, professor and senior researcher at Liepaja University. inese.lusena-ezera@liepu.lv

Gunta Siliņa-Jasjukeviča, Dr.paed, associate professor at the Faculty of Pedagogy, Psychology and Art, senior researcher at Scientific Institute of Pedagogy, University of Latvia. gunta.silina-jasjukevica@lu.lv

Ize Briška, Dr.paed, associate professor at the Faculty of Pedagogy, Psychology and Art, senior researcher at Scientific Institute of Pedagogy, University of Latvia. ilze.briska@lu.lv https://doi.org/10.22364/atee.2022.17

Teachers' Beliefs about Teaching and Learning: Why is It Still a Challenge?

Solvita Lazdina, Evi Daga-Krumina

University of Latvia Solvita.Lazdina@lu.lv; edaga@edu.riga.lv

ABSTRACT

Teachers' beliefs influence their classroom activities and students' involvement in learning more than knowledge or curriculum, beliefs can slow down the implementation of educational reforms, the introduction of new practices, or support it. Exploring beliefs is difficult, teachers may not be open in expressing existing beliefs, or they may be unsure of their own beliefs, replacing them with slogans that are socially acceptable narratives. The purpose of this study is to identify teachers' beliefs that characterize student teaching, additionally evaluating how these beliefs affect teacher agency. The answers to these questions were obtained by implementing a case analysis – studying the narrative identity of all mathematics teachers of one school, while the research process is like ethnographic research, data is obtained by interviewing respondents and observing them in practical work. The belief identified as a result of the research is that the teacher's main task is to prepare students for sufficiently high results in the mathematics exam, describing how the identity of a "good teacher" is formed, which brings with it agency an active contribution to make it happen. The second identified belief – some students cannot study in the classroom together with the others, this demonstrates the absence of teacher agency, teachers' responsibility for children whose learning is a challenge, these children are handed over to other agents - parents and private tutors.

Keywords: agency, beliefs, identity, school, teachers

Introduction

Belief system is like a filter that influences teachers' decision-making more than pedagogical knowledge or curricula (Clark & Peterson, 1986). However, identifying beliefs and evaluating their impact on teaching and learning is a difficult task. Beliefs are in a kind of *grey area* – we don't have a common practice

of talking about beliefs, teachers talk about the program, methods, challenges, claims, but not about the beliefs behind it all.

In the cognition process of beliefs it is not easy to decide whether what the teacher said is a socially desirable answer or a true description of the situation and one's own disposition. Despite these obstacles, we will show how to find out teachers' beliefs, thereby understanding the individual and collective discourse that affects teachers' perceptions, judgements and decisions by directing future actions.

To implement this, we will use the concepts of narrative identity and agency, which will allow us to understand existing beliefs through teachers' stories about themselves and others, analyzing how they affect the set of teachers' actions and active participation in teaching different students.

The research of beliefs is especially important in the context of the curriculum reform that is currently being implemented in our country. It is the belief system that can become a serious obstacle to implementing changes in education (Šmeļkova, 2013). On the other hand, by finding out and critically reflecting on their identity as a teacher, it is possible to promote both changes in beliefs and teacher agency.

Teacher's beliefs as a complex phenomena

Teacher's beliefs are visible in the teacher's actions and setting, they influence the decisions made and the implemented actions – instructional decisions, classroom climate (Hill et al., 2019, Chong et al., 2010), acceptance of diversity (Kiely et al., 2015), motivation to cooperate with other teachers (Kolleck, 2019; Drossel et al., 2018), while teachers' self-efficacy beliefs influence resilience (Yada et al., 2021) and can reduce the risk of burnout (Skaalvik and Skaalvik, 2007).

The research of teachers' beliefs has grown significantly in the last 20 years (Ashton, 2015), focusing research mainly in three directions – the biographical and historical origins of beliefs, development, evolution, and change in beliefs over time and in context, and connections between teachers' beliefs and class-room practice (Bullough, 2015: p.165).

The influence of experience and biography on the formation of beliefs is looked at by describing the experiences gained at school and in the family, which further influence the teacher's beliefs. For example, mathematics teachers' beliefs about themselves as teachers of mathematics are often related to their past experiences as students who have learned mathematics – relationships with mathematics teachers/parents' relationships with mathematics (John, 2022). Beliefs are formed by accumulating experience, and a teacher who has formed beliefs about himself as an effective professional does not change these beliefs so easily (Rezaeian & Abdollahzadeh, 2020; Wolters & Daugherty, 2007, Klassen & Chiu, 2010) Several authors point out that changing beliefs is complex, an intense and long-term process, and some studies even raise doubts about the feasibility of this direction because there is no certainty that this type of change will lead to better outcomes (Ashton, 2015; Fives & Gill, 2015), while others point out that it is possible to overcome or change the influence of the past (Bosica, 2022) by using a reflexive analysis of one's own beliefs (Grootenboer, 2008)

The broad research trend also determines the differences in the definitions of beliefs. Many authors emphasize the role of emotions in the formation and maintenance of beliefs.

Other authors emphasize the relationship between beliefs and practices. For example, – Beliefs are the driving force of human goals, emotions, decisions, and actions (Bandura, 1997). Beliefs are lenses which affect the view of the world and the disposition that directs action (Philipp, 2007, quoted by Goldin et al., 2016). The dialectical relationship between the beliefs and practice are significant because they allow us to identify what the teacher does, not what he/she says (Goldin et al., 2016). Teachers' beliefs allow us to understand what constitutes good teaching in a specific place, distinguishing two possible directions – whether it is focused on students and knowledge construction, or the teacher who implements the transfer of knowledge to students (Fives et al., 2015).

Looking at it this way, it can be said that beliefs affect the possibilities of implementing educational reforms because if teachers are convinced of the transfer of knowledge to students as the most effective teaching, the implementation of the constructivist approach requires significant changes in beliefs.

Another way of defining beliefs is related to the context in which they are formed and from which they are inseparable (Tschannen-Moran et al. 2015; Biesta et al., 2015; Fives et al., 2015). The impact of the context can be viewed more broadly – teachers' beliefs can be considered part of the culture that is formed – both at the school and at the level of the district, state and its policies, it contributes to the implementation of the established curricula (Fives & Buehl, 2012). Or more narrowly – the teacher's beliefs are situational – context dependent and subject specific – so it changes in different situations (Tschannen-Moran & Hoy, 2007; Dellinger et al., 2008), and there are no general teacher's beliefs, the teacher's beliefs are about specific topics or constructs; and they are important in certain circumstances/context (for example, beliefs about teaching, assessment, specific academic field, etc.) (Pajares, 1992).

By studying beliefs, it is possible to see contradictions that may exist between the individual beliefs and values of the teacher and the wider institutional discourse and culture (Biesta et al., 2015) therefore the teacher's beliefs can be described as a characteristic of the individual and collective discourse which further affects the teachers' perception, judgments, decision-making, motivating and guiding the teacher's actions (Biesta et al., 2015). In this way, the influence

of the individual and the wider context on the established habitual actions or practices are combined, pointing out that beliefs allow us to identify the direction of the action by explaining its reasons.

Identity for the cognition of beliefs

Beliefs like attitudes, values are difficult to study, so it is necessary to find a way to do it in a research-correct manner, and this can be done with the study of identity without pretending in this way to an in-depth study of human behavior (Sfard & Prusak, 2005). Identity is like an analytical lens for educational research (Gee, 2000, it allows to understand the interaction of individual and collective influence (Holland et al., 1998; Aoyama, 2021) explaining how a person learns (Sfard & Prusak, 2005; Lave & Wenger, 1991). Identity is created and transformed by people in a constant process of interaction, contrary to personality and character, which is biologically determined (Sfard & Prusak, 2005), it "creates new activities, new words, find new ways of being (Holland et al., 1998, p. 5), also allowing to see "personal and collective responsibilities for individual lives." (Sfard & Prusak, 2005, p.15)

Next, let's look at different characteristics of identity, choosing the most suitable one for the cognition of teacher's beliefs.

Gee defines identity as "a kind of person, in a given context" (Gee, 2000, p. 99). He describes four perspectives on how to look at identity, pointing out that one of them was in the foreground in historical development. Nature identity was formed as a result of genes or early social experiences, determining human behavior; institutional identity is formed under the influence of the norms, traditions, and principles established in the institution; it can be imposed or it can be as a professional calling. Discourse identity is formed through discourse and dialogue, recognizing and owning this identity in the institution. Affinity identity describes belonging to a group with common interests expressed as participation in common practices.

Menon (2020) combines two constructs in one model, pointing out that the sources of beliefs forming self-efficacy – mastery experiences, vicarious experiences, verbal persuasion, physiological and affective states (after Bandura, 1997) contribute to the formation of the various dimensions of identity, as described by Gee. For example, mastery experience, which can be seen in discourse with classroom stunts, success with engaging students, hands on investigations, etc., creates discourse identity and affinity identity (p. 476). Such an approach can be called an attempt to explain the ways of identity emergence, but this approach does not answer the question – what beliefs exist in the community and why they have formed.

Another approach in defining identity is related to the communities of practice in which a person learns. Thus, Lave and Wenger (1991) believe that identity

is created in the learning process which includes the construction of identity, as a person becomes a different person. Being an active member of a community, people create identities that relate to that community, creating a personal "history of becoming" (Wenger, 2009) in this way, identity is a person's sense of who he is /she is, it is like a lens through which he/she creates his/her experience, positioning himself/herself in the social environment. In the process of learning identities emerge and these identities contribute to learning, acquiring new knowledge and skills, forms of participation, creating new identities that correspond to their community (Nasir, 2002), influencing how teachers think and act (Ayoma et al., 2016).

In the framework of this work the narrative definition of identity by Sfard and Prusak (2005) is most appropriate, covering individual and collective influences, the dynamic nature of identity, but also practices that characterize the existing identities and the beliefs behind them, can be used to identify them and characterize the beliefs.

Summarizing what was written above, it can be said that beliefs are a way of expressing identity, which can be seen in individual and collective narratives, in contradictions, they have been formed in communities in social interaction, influencing the teacher's actions. In addition, the narrative approach makes it possible to learn about everyone's individual beliefs, as well as to identify differences in beliefs and practices, which can also exist in the field of education (Goldin et al., 2016).

Essential role of the Agency

Agency is the third essential concept in this study, as it describes a person's active actions, not passive acceptance of the situation and participation. Luehmann (2007) writes that the implementation of educational reforms requires new teacher identities, but when trying something new, there is a risk of not being recognized and the usual order will be disrupted, so many teachers are not motivated, afraid and resist. Thus, a tension is created between past experiences and the existing discourse, and past experiences have a stronger impact on identity (ibid). Understanding and learning about the agency allows you to see and solve this dilemma.

Two different perspectives on the interaction of agency and identity are discussed below. In the first approach, identity formation is already interpreted as a form of agency, adopting an identity, creating an identity (Hsieh, 2010). It begins with the choice of repeating practices, reactions, conversations over time, further understanding oneself in these practices, taking into account the experienced social interaction and feedback as a response to the newly adopted identity (ibid.). Although the authors emphasize the presence of agency, it does not significantly

affect the existing order, so in this case we choose another approach that clearly describes the influence of agency on changes, including beliefs and actions.

Agency, viewed at the individual level, is not just a hope or a prediction of future actions, it is an active commitment that is converted into action, subordinating priorities to it, regulating one's behavior, cognitive processes, and the influence of the environment (Bandura, 2001). This is the teacher's active contribution in his/her work, taking responsibility for the quality of one's own provided education, for example, by critically reacting to problem situations, creating conditions to reduce them in the future (Biesta & Tedder, 2006).

The influence of structures is essential in the existence of the agency. It can be weak in an environment where a person has limited power (Holland et al., 1998), so at the level of education policy one should think about how to empower teachers by promoting Teacher agency, rather than imposing oppressive power relations (Aoyama, 2021). It is equally important to look at education more broadly. Assuming that education is only the achievement of certain standards, moving away from content, goals, relationships, it is demanded that the teacher should become an evidence-based professional (Biesta, 2015). In an effort to reduce teachers' opportunities to make decisions and control their own work, teacher agency is replaced by a data-driven approach, but an externally determined vision of good education limits Teacher agency, while a healthy discussion about teaching and education in general promotes it (Biesta et al., 2015).

Summing up, it can be said that the concept of teacher agency allows the teacher's identity and beliefs to be combined with active action aimed at teaching different students.

The interaction of beliefs, identity and agency as a theoretical framework

We have previously described three concepts – beliefs, identity and agency, briefly sketching their mutual interaction. The concepts are chosen to identify the beliefs that exist in the field of education and how beliefs characterize and influence teaching. Beliefs in this work mean the discourses existing at the individual and collective level, which, having formed and strengthened, influence the decisions, motivation and actions of teachers.

However, as already mentioned, cognition of beliefs is a complex process, therefore, the identification of narrative identity was additionally chosen for characterizing the discourse, the teacher can understand the beliefs that stand behind them through stories that describe themselves and others, assigning meanings, creating images. In our case, the identities expressed in the narrative are like the glue that binds the discourse to the person, allowing to reveal beliefs that can be contradictory, ambiguous and different at individual or collective levels.

On the other hand, the concept of agency allows one to see and explain how beliefs and identity influence the teacher's active actions, to take responsibility, making efforts and influencing processes so that students learn. Agency may also not be present, the teacher and teachers may have beliefs that influence not taking responsibility, beliefs may also reduce agency (Biesta et al., 2015), so it is important to reveal, understand and explain this interaction. Research questions also follow from this theoretical framework: what collective and individual beliefs characterize student teaching? How do conscious beliefs affect teacher agency?

Methodology

In order to find answers to the research questions, case analysis was chosen which can help clarify the significant influence of the context on both causes and consequences (Cohen et al., 2008). On the other hand, the research process itself is similar to ethnographic research because it describes and analyzes beliefs (Freebody, 2003).

The selected school as a case meets the following criteria: the school is located in a city and is attended by students of all age groups and different levels of academic achievement (winners of olympiads and individuals who are exempt from exams), has participated in the education reform project as a pilot school, the management team recognizes education reforms as a challenge, the school is eager to participate in the research and is open to sharing of data.

If the goal is to obtain as much information as possible about a problem or phenomenon, it is necessary to analyze extreme cases because they provide more information (Flyvbierg, 2006). In this case, a group of teachers teaching one subject was studied, and the extreme status was assigned to this group by the school management team, saying that mathematicians who work with students from grades 5–12, unlike other teachers, are not united in their beliefs and communicate relatively little with each other, requests from parents are received about some of the teachers to introduce changes. This study is part of a larger study focused on the study of teachers' beliefs and practices, which is ongoing. Therefore, this article will not describe all the data obtained and neither all the findings be reflected.

Three methods were used to collect information – partly-structured interviews, observation and unstructured interviews. Data related to this article (study) have been obtained during the period of March-May 2022.

Interviews were conducted with all 8 teachers, covering the following topics – a good teacher, practices where it can be seen, teacher's growth and what influenced it, interaction with colleagues, what it gives/takes away; challenges and satisfaction.

A total of 8 academic lessons and 5 extracurricular teacher-student communication situations were observed. Which lessons to observe was the teachers own choice, this was done to reduce the anxiety that can arise when a person not

belonging to school observes a lesson. In the process of data organization and analysis mainly grounded theory (Glaser & Strauss, 1967) was used, taking into account the criticism of other sources and additions to the theory, because, as Thomas & James, (2006) emphasize, the success of this theory is the introduced reliability test, but the researcher who uses the whole theory of justification risks to lose the essential meaning of interpretation. In the process of data analysis, the main steps should be noted: acquaintance with the data, categorizing them by separating groups of topics, cutting the data by placing a topic or problem in the center (for example, contradictions that characterize certain beliefs), comparing and interpreting.

Prior to interviews the teachers were informed about the use of the acquired data in research and security of anonymity of respondents. Teachers were asked to give the interviews by phone at the time convenient for them. Information was presented after classes or in the days when the teachers were preparing for the work with their students. On the average an interview lasted 60 minutes. One of the teachers refused to record the conversation, the rest were recorded and transcripted.

Results

This study examines the perspectives of mathematics teachers on the main task of their profession. Through analysis of teachers' stories and reflections on their teaching practice, the research finds a tension between the belief that mathematics is a tool for stimulating thinking and the reality of classroom practices that may not always be thought-provoking for all students. The study also highlights non-participatory power relations and the recognition of innate abilities in students' thinking as factors that contribute to this dilemma. Additionally, the focus on state-mandated exams as a measure of success in the teaching of mathematics is discussed as a potential hindrance to the development of critical thinking skills in students. The study ultimately highlights the need for a re-examination of the purpose and methods of mathematics teaching in order to promote the development of critical thinking in students.

Dilemma: The Dual Purpose of Mathematics Teaching

Dilemma – what is the main task of a mathematics teacher? In the teachers' stories about themselves and teaching mathematics, two different directions describing the meaning of their work appear. Primary teachers describe their subject as a tool that is essential for a person, stimulating thinking, but at the same time, in other episodes of the stories, they reveal contradictions that make you doubt about the existence of such a belief:

- the learning methods implemented in the classroom cannot always be called thought-stimulating for all students, for example, some students may be quiet and little involved;
- 2) teachers describe and demonstrate non-participatory power relations, a truly immersive disposition;
- 3) teachers recognize that students' thinking is related to innate abilities;
- 4) teachers say that the results of their work can be seen in state-mandated exams, and there are no stories describing how students have improved their thinking.

Talking about exams, teachers no longer mention development of thinking. The broad perspective is lost, the stories reveal the gamut of teachers' emotions – pride, shame, fear, anger, acknowledging that the quality of their work is determined by what the students achieve. All teachers develop this topic by mentioning the exam in 14 different episodes in one interview. Therefore, it can rather be said that teachers believe that their task is to prepare students for exams.

Next, we will look at and analyze the teachers' narrative in more detail, which will further explain and justify the above-mentioned conclusions.

At the beginning of the interview, when talking about themselves as teachers of the particular subject, the interviewees emphasize that the task of the mathematics subject and teachers is to teach thinking and solve problems. For example, one teacher says:

those math tasks, (...) they give something to the character, (...), (my task) is not to grow you in length, width, but to wrinkle your brain". Another says seeing regularities, another says that the task of mathematics is to teach a person to think by explaining it: "Know what the problem is, don't throw your hands in the air (...), divide it into smaller parts, which in turn (...) maybe you don't understand something, then you can ask.

The existence of the belief could be confirmed by the situations observed in the lessons – the techniques taught by the teachers, which promote students' active participation, independence and (possibly) thinking, for example, working in groups, testing their knowledge and skills; reminders about independent ways of looking for help, the option to work extra, explaining the solution to others, etc., but not all students follow the course of the lesson, only part of the students ask questions, there are children who sit quietly, write something down (later it turns out – some of them imitate writing down or transcribing what others have written). Therefore, the first contradiction that appears in the data is – teachers' beliefs on the role of mathematics cannot always be seen in practical work in the classroom.

The other contradiction – activities described by teachers, which "teach to think" cannot be interpreted unambiguously. For example, the most frequently

mentioned thinking-stimulating strategy described in the interviews and observed in the lessons is teachers' deliberate mistakes. This is how the teacher retells the information about herself given to the students in the interview:

Don't trust me, I am going to deceive you (...) I will make mistakes, I will make mistakes very often. Sometimes they will be careless mistakes, but sometimes they will be on purpose, simply so that you (pause) think along all the time, so that it is not that we write down and shake our heads, but the main thing is that it is felt in the brain.

This example clearly shows a power relationship that could be formulated as "I will force you to think". Similar situations, when the teacher uses power hoping for more active involvement of the students, have also been observed in several lessons (the teacher shouting, punishing with extra work, changing the student's seat to the far corner of the classroom), although it must be recognized that the use of power strategies is not characteristic of all teachers, or the teacher uses them against some students.

When learning mathematics, it is important that classes are formed as mathematics learning communities, when learning together, students acquire not only new knowledge and skills, but also forms of participation, further encouraging the emergence of new forms of participation while setting new and more complex goals (Nasir, 2002). On the other hand, power relations do not contribute to the formation of communities where there is equal participation, power relations can distance students from learning. In addition, in such conditions students are not given opportunities to exercise agency in various ways (Nasir & Hand, 2006). Therefore, it can be said that teachers, on the one hand, say that they teach thinking, but on the other hand, they take away this opportunity.

The third contradiction which calls into question the belief of mathematics as a tool for developing thinking, is the characterization of the so-called good students. The thought process of these students is interpreted as a "genetically determined" reward that is used in the lesson, rather than a process and outcome influenced by the teacher. That one teacher describing his/her excellent student, says: "Others still beat:

Why do I need this and I won't need this" and something else, she never beat about it (...) And that's what I see that she was used to the fact that when there are problems, (her) brain immediately solves the problem, instead of looking for excuses (...) just like in math problems.

A final contradiction that calls into question the belief that a math teacher develops thinking is the glorification of student test scores, pointing out that it is a measure of the teacher's quality. In these stories, there is no connection with

mathematics as a tool for developing thinking. The emotions expressed by the teachers, the pauses in the stories. The significant preponderance of the stories allow us to conclude that the teacher believes that his/her task is to prepare the students for the exam. Let's look at some examples.

The teacher who started working at the school recently, talks about his/her students and concerns:

I hope it will be better than the average in the country (laughs). This is already a high-ranking school, if, and in general, the results should be much better than the average in the country.

Next, naming 5 reasons that would justify an insufficiently high assessment of students, therefore "There should not be very high expectations, it's just that".

Another teacher tells about the betrayal she experienced – a colleague who works in a parallel class, had copied and forwarded the mock exam papers to the students. There are pauses in the teacher's narration at this moment, she doesn't say everything, and the interviewer asks: "It doesn't sound fair..." she answers – "Yes!" and pauses with the interviewer. Another teacher tells how important it is not to help students in the exam "because I'm interested in what I've taught them, well, how much I've taught them – well, how much I've done and how much I haven't done. Yes. It's for me, the report".

One teacher describes the emotions he experienced:

There was one kid who was always calculating with the application at the beginning, in the end I posted a mark 4, (...) he barely got it. He did not study more and passed the exam with 18%. Horrible!! What a shame, I can't

Many stories are devoted to how teachers find a way to stimulate students to prepare for an exam, for example, by posting a failing grade in the semester, which, with active work, can be corrected in the coming weeks. Some students are advised to get medical statements which exempt them from taking the exam. There is an impression that students would be satisfied with low results in exams, as long as they are allowed to finish school, but teachers are not satisfied with this.

In the described situations the teacher's agency can be seen – an activity aimed at achieving a goal that is important to her/him – high results. It is also supported at the collective level, for example, by emphasizing the importance of exams to all respondents, describing their actions, interpreting the actions of others. However, in this case teachers' identities and agency maintain unchanged beliefs about their role as a teacher.

It can be said that the main task of the mathematics teacher mentioned in the interviews is to teach to think, but it does not characterize the teacher's beliefs which are visible in practical work, it is more like a slogan. It is possible to agree

with Kaša (2009) that the culture of exam results as a priority prevails in the education system in Latvia.

Similar findings are expressed by Biesta and colleagues (2015), describing the work of teachers in Scotland. According to them, narrow goals determine limited activities in the classroom. It can be said that in our situation, teachers who prepare exam takers direct their agency towards achieving a limited goal, without even trying to see other possibilities to promote mathematics teaching, for example, creating a mathematics learning community in the classroom.

Some students are not able to study in the classroom together with others

Teachers' narratives describing students and the learning process can be divided into two large groups. The first group consists of teachers who recognize that teaching all students is a challenge, they cannot cope with it. The other group of teachers express the opinion that they are able to involve and support different students in the learning process, but the data does not support this. Therefore, it can be concluded that the individual and collective narrative in the school confirms the belief that some students cannot acquire the content intended for learning in the classroom well enough, together with the rest of the students. This belief limits the teacher's agency, the responsibility for students for whom learning is a challenge, by handing them over to other people – parents, private tutor. In the described interaction, the collective sense of academic emphasis and academic optimism is not formed, which would allow to accumulate positive experiences and develop inclusive practices for all students.

Stories about students that teachers have difficulties to teach appear in the narratives of all teachers. Only one teacher, who started work at the secondary school level relatively recently, emphasizes that the students of this school have passed the selection and compared to the students of other schools, all of them are able to study well enough because "the basics have been mastered". All the stories of the other teachers are individually different, but they are united by one theme – it is difficult to teach some children, and it is impossible to do it during the lesson.

One teacher expresses her thoughts that some of her students are not able to learn mathematics at all:

how can I say it... so that it doesn't sound wrong, I mean that the teacher cannot teach everything.

Later in the interview, talking about the students for whom learning is a challenge, the teacher emotionally continues:

In the classroom I do everything. when they don't do it, I poke, poke, poke, poke, poke, they sometimes know that I am especially strict to them, and I will ask him while he will be able to answer the same kind of questions.

Later in the interview, anger is replaced by apathy:

I do have those. I say one, two who I don't care about at all, the main thing is that he doesn't make any noise, that he doesn't disturb the lessons, and then do what you want, I don't care anymore, I'm already tired.

Another teacher says:

"In the class they may not be able to think in their slow pace, but the problem is, because there are also smart children in my class, I can't slow down those clever ones all the time, well, then I mostly choose the middle level and those bastards have a ... hard time, um, they have to catch up and those who are smart kids, um, well, you understand, yes?

This narrative characterizes "bell-curve thinking", which marginalizes those students who are at the ends of the curve and characterizes the teacher's approach to learning the curriculum instead of teaching all children (Florian, 2015).

In the described situations the teachers openly admit difficulties to work with all children in the classroom, but the other teachers are confident that they support all their students in the learning process, but the data indicate discrepancies.

The teacher who works with students up to the 6th grade, emphasizes diversity in the stories as a part of the school's everyday life, accepting it: "I have a painter here, a reader over there (...) Those children are very different. That boy (points to the empty bench) is having a hard time. Benevolent, ready to do anything, he has confidence that everything is fine", but as a result, there are rarely solutions without mistakes. "There are silencers from whom it is difficult to get anything at all." The teacher admits that she does not really understand some children: "children are different. They are teenagers in space. In the 4th grade they press buttons, but they can't understand the clock!". Greater contradictions appear in the teacher's story about providing support to students, comparing it with what was observed. In the interview the teacher explains that she supports students by working individually and facilitating tests. However, while observing the lessons, the teacher did not pay attention to these children, saying that they should come to study after the lessons. What's more, the teacher used frontal knowledge transfer, telling her stories and having the students to complete tasks. For example, when solving tasks about time, the clock was not available as a support.

In the senior classes one of the teachers said in the interview that she accepted all kinds of students. In her previous work she had been able to integrate children with mental disabilities in the class. As the teacher explains, a very detailed preparation for the lessons helped her, to which the teacher devoted a whole day

every week. However, the observed situation in the classroom is different – one of the students cannot keep up with the processes taking place in the class. He is late, makes mistakes, so he doesn't keep up with the pace of the class again, starts behaving inappropriately – walks around the class, tries to start a conversation with the boys in the next row who answer him. The teacher scolds, calls the student to order and turns her head. After the lesson the interviewer asks the teacher why she doesn't adapt the task to the boy's learning needs, receiving back a blunt, angry answer "Where can I find time for this? And the materials are not available either". The data collector gets the impression that he has crossed the boundaries, with this question indicating a lack of professionalism that has offended the teacher. This student is not included in the teacher's story about the day dedicated to preparing for work with students.

The contradictions identified in both described narratives, supplemented by observations, can be interpreted as giving socially desirable answers, creating a slogan – "I support the learning of different children in the classroom", as the teacher herself believes that this is the case, rather than existing beliefs. What is said is not followed by decisions and active actions, so it should rather be concluded that teachers at the collective and individual level do not see the opportunity to work in the classroom with all students, although not everyone sees and admits it. A similar conclusion is described by Biesta and colleagues (2015) – some teachers in Scotland admit that including less able pupils in the classroom is not useful, as teachers interpret the pupils' abilities as fixed.

This data can be interpreted as the absence of sense of academic emphasis (Woolfolk Hoy, 2012) in the mathematics community because teachers are not focused on the learning of all students and the formation of appropriate behaviour in the classroom. Teachers' beliefs about the sense of academic emphasis can be seen in the behaviour demonstrated by the teacher, the thoughts expressed, and the actions taken, which increase the active participation of students in lessons, which further affects their learning (Woolfolk Hoy, 2012; Hoy et al., 2008; Smith & Hoy, 2007). This type of discourse and practice cannot be observed in school yet.

This interpretation is also confirmed by the theme developed by five teachers – there are children who are unable to learn without additional support implemented outside of class, parents should provide it themselves or by hiring private tutors. In the interviews teachers openly say that children study with private tutors who are their colleagues, and this is recognized and appreciated. On the other hand, not looking for a private tutor is a sign of insufficient investment:

Others have parents who don't care at all. That parent has shown no interest, nothing, absolutely nothing. And there are children who are not good at it and, for example, if I write a letter or I communicate on the phone or something like that with parents... and then you can feel that little work has been done there,

or there, for example, a private tutor has already been found in time, that parent is quick (...) has responded to everything quickly with that child. Not that he has been doing nothing for 4 years.

At school there is also an opportunity to receive individual counselling within the framework of a state-funded project, but some students do not value it. "Students don't have time. (...) They come irregularly, if the parents pay, then they appreciate it." Another teacher: "But those who come to (the project) are the ones who want it. Those who don't want to, they don't come there at all, they miss the lessons there", the project does not reach those students who need it.

Discussion

The teachers' beliefs revealed in the study, by which we understand the individual and collective discourse that affects teachers' decisions, actions, motivation or agency, which can be seen in identity narratives when teachers describe themselves and others, gave the opportunity to understand that the beliefs existing in the field of education can be hidden, not always consciously for the teacher himself/herself.

Some teachers primarily express a socially desirable vision ("the task of a mathematics teacher is to develop thinking", "I am able to teach and support different children"), which we call slogans; they were seen in practice only in individual cases. Instead, it can be said that teachers are convinced that their main task is to ensure high academic achievement in exams but reaching and teaching students who are not sufficiently engaged in learning is the responsibility of parents and private tutors – this does not interfere with the identity of a "good mathematician". Therefore, we can agree with the conclusions of Biesta and colleagues (2015) that teachers' narrow interpretation of the purpose of teaching mathematics determines a limited choice of activities. On the other hand, other people are responsible for students who cannot achieve this goal. In addition, individual and collective views demonstrate the unequal access to education, the essential role of parental capital in learning. This creates a risk that students, having experienced the tension associated with the orientation towards the highest possible performance, may not engage in lifelong learning (Harlen & Crick, 2003).

Teachers' beliefs expressed through identity and practices allow us to see teacher agency. Teachers make an active contribution to achieve the highest possible results in a mathematics exam, while agency cannot be identified when teachers describe teaching children with learning challenges. Therefore, it can be said that beliefs directly affect the existence of teacher agency. TO BE OR NOT TO BE A GREAT EDUCATOR, 2022

S. LAZDINA, E. DAGA-KRUMINA. Teachers' Beliefs about Teaching and Learning: Why is It Still ...

Our study is an ethnographic case study, the examples discussed represent only one community of mathematics teachers in one school, and although the findings are compared with those found by other authors, they are not generalizable. However, we agree with Flyvbierg (2006) that the power of the case is not sufficiently appreciated because teachers' stories, compared with what was observed in the lessons, allow us to identify the *grey zone*, which is essential to help realize the real situation, discuss it and further implement changes in schools.

Conscious beliefs narrowly interpret the goals of education, the professionalism of teachers, limiting the availability of equal education for all. Therefore, we can agree with Biesta and colleagues (2015), who ask questions to which we also need to get answers – who should take responsibility for students' learning and how to protect students from the shortcomings of the education system? The answers to these questions should be sought in future study.

Conclusions

Researching teachers' beliefs is a challenging task, beliefs are not immediately visible, not always what the teachers tell describes the beliefs, they can be hidden and can only be seen by observing practices and comparing them with what is told.

For finding out the beliefs we can use the concepts of narrative identity and agency, it gives an opportunity not only to understand what kind of beliefs exist at the individual and collective level, but also to explain how they affect the teacher's actions or passivity.

These concepts in mutual interaction made it possible to see the contradictions existing in the field of education – a wide interpretation of the meaning of the subject, which in practice manifests itself as preparing students for the exam, or verbally expressing the acceptance and support of different students, which is not related to practical actions. It is these findings that allow us to conclude that learning and analyzing teachers' beliefs can help to reveal and explain developments in the school.

Beliefs limit the opportunities to implement curriculum reform that has set broad educational goals and is focused on expanding the learning opportunities of every student, so it is necessary to think about how to talk to teachers about beliefs, taking them out of the *grey zone* so that we could further look for opportunities to challenge them and change.

REFERENCES

Aoyama, R. (2021). Language Teacher Identity and English Education Policy in Japan: Competing Discourses Surrounding "Non-native" English-speaking Teachers. *RELC Journal*, 0(0). https://doi.org/10.1177/00336882211032999

Ashton, P. T. (2015). Historical overview and theoretical perspectives of research on teachers' beliefs. In H. Fives and M. C. Gill (Eds.), *International Handbook of Research on Teachers' Beliefs* (pp. 31–47). New York: Routledge.

Bandura, A. (1997). Self-effi cacy: The exercise of control. New York: W. H. Freeman.

Bandura, A. (2001). Social Cognitive Theory: An Agentic Perspective. *Annual Review Psychology*, 52, 1–26. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.52.1.1

Biesta, G. (2015). What is Education For? On Good Education, Teacher Judgement, and Educational Professionalism. *European Journal of Education*, 50(1), 75–87. https://doi.org/10.1111/ejed.12109

Biesta, G. and Tedder, M. (2006). How is agency possible? Towards an ecological understanding of agency-as-achievement. https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Michael-Tedder/ publication/228644383_How_is_agency_possible_Towards_an_ecological_understanding_of_ agency-as-achievement/links/00b4952cadd9bd2b6a000000/How-is-agency-possible-Towards-an-ecological-understanding-of-agency-as-achievement.pdf

Biesta, G., Priestley, M. and Robinson, S. (2015). The role of beliefs in teacher agency, *Teachers and Teaching*, *21*(6), 624–640. https://doi.org/10.1080/13540602.2015.1044325

Bosica, J. (2022). Using a Mixed Methods Approach to Study the Relationship Between Mathematics Anxiety, Mathematics Teacher Efficacy, and Mathematics Teaching Anxiety in Preservice Elementary School Teachers in Ontario. *Canadian Journal of Science, Mathematics and Tehnology Education*, 22, 190–209. https://doi.org/10.1007/s42330-022-00203-8

Bullough, J. R. (2015.) Methods for Studying Beliefs: Teacher Writing, Scenarios, and Metaphor Analysis. In H. Fives and M. C. Gill (Eds.), *International Handbook of Research on Teachers' Beliefs* (pp. 150–170). New York: Routledge.

Chong, W. H., Klassen, R. M., Huan V. S., Wong, I and. Kates, A. D. (2010). The relationships among school types, teacher efficacy beliefs, and academic climate: Perspective from Asian middle school. *The Journal of Educational Research*, *103*, 183–90.

Clark, C. M. and Peterson, P. L. (1986). Teachers' thought processes. In M. C. Wittrock (Ed.), *Handbook of research on teaching* (pp. 255–296). New York: Macmillan.

Cohen, L., Manion, L. and Morrison, K. (2008). Research methods in education. 6th ed., London: Routledge.

Dellinger, A. B., Bobbett, J. J., Olivier, D. F., and Ellett, C. D. (2008). Measuring teachers' self-efficacy beliefs: Development and use of the TEBS-Self. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, *24*(3), 751–766.

Drossel, K., Eickelmann, B., van Ophuysen, S. and Bos, W. (2018). Why teachers cooperate: an expectancy-value model of teacher cooperation. *European Journal of Psychology Education*, *50*, 1–22. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10212-018-0368-y

Fives, H. and Buehl, M. M. (2012). Spring cleaning for the "messy" construct of teachers' beliefs: What are they? Which have been examined? What can they tell us? In K. R. Harris, S. Graham, and T. Urdan (Eds.), *APA educational psychology handbook*: Vol. 2. Individual differences and cultural and contextual factors (pp. 471–499). Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.
S. LAZDINA, E. DAGA-KRUMINA. Teachers' Beliefs about Teaching and Learning: Why is It Still ..

Fives, H., Lacatena, N. and Gerard. L. (2015). Teachers' Beliefs About Teaching (and Learning). In H. Fives and M. C. Gill (Eds.), *International Handbook of Research on Teachers' Beliefs* (pp. 249–265). New York: Routledge.

Flyvbierg, B. (2006). Five misunderstandings about case – study research. *Qualitative inquiry 12*, 219–245.

Florian, L. (2015). Inclusive Pedagogy: A transformative approach to individual differences but can it help reduce educational inequalities? *Scottish Educational Review*, *47*(1), 5–14.

Freebody, P. (2003). Qualitative research in education, London: Sage Publications.

Gee, J. P. (2000). Identity as an Analytic Lens for Research in Education. *Review of Research in Education*, 25, 99–125.

Gill, M. G. and Fives, H. (2015). Introduction. In H. Fives and M. C. Gill (Eds.), *International Handbook of Research on Teachers' Beliefs* (pp. 1–10). New York and London: Routledge.

Glaser, B. G. and Strauss, A. L. (1967). *The Discovery of grounded theory: strategies for qualitative research,* Chicago: Aldine Publishing Company.

Goldin, G. A., Hannula, M. S., Heyd-Metzuyanim, F., Jansen, A., Kaasila, R., Lutovac, S., Di Martino, P., Morselli, F., Middleton, J. A., Pantziara, M. and Zhang, O. (2016). *Attitudes, Beliefs, Motivation and Identity in Mathematics Education An Overview of the Field and Future Directions.* Springer Open. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-32811-9

Grootenboer, P. (2008). Mathematical Belief Change in Prospective Primary Teachers. *Journal of Mathematics Teacher Education*, 11(6), 479–497. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10857-008-9084-x

Harlen W. and Crick R. D. (2003). Testing and Motivation for Learning. Assessment in Education: Principles, Policy & Practice, 10(2), 169–207. https://doi.org/10.1080/0969594032000121270

Hill, H. C., Charalambous, Y. and Chin, M. J. (2019). Teacher Characteristics and Student Learning in Mathematics: A Comprehensive Assessment. *Educational Policy*, 33(7), 1103–1134.

Holland, D., Lachiocotte, W., Skinner, D. and Cain, C. (1998). *Identity and agency in cultural worlds*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.

Hoy, A. W., Hoy, W. K. and Kurz, N. M. (2008). Teacher's academic optimism: the development and test of a new construct. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 24(4), 821–835.

Hsieh, B. (2010). Exploring the Complexity of Teacher Professional Identity. Thesis. https://escholarship.org/uc/item/9406p4sb

Yada, A., Björn, P. M., Savolainen, P., Kyttälä, M., Aro, M., & Savolainen, H. (2021). Pre-service teachers' self-efficacy in implementing inclusive practices and resilience in Finland. *Teaching and teacher education*, 105, Article 103398. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. tate.2021.103398

John, B. (2022). Using a Mixed Methods Approach to Study the Relationship between Mathematics Anxiety, Mathematics Teacher Efficacy, and Mathematics Teaching Anxiety in Preservice Elementary School Teachers in Ontario. *Canadian Journal of Science, Mathematics and Technology Education*, 22, 190–209.

Kaša, R. (2009). Rezultātu apkopojums pētījumam "(Radošās) domāšanas prasmes Latvijas skolās" [Summary of the Study results "Skills of Creative Thinking in Latvian Schools"]. http://providus.lv/article_files/850/original/domasana_lv_rita_kasa.pdf?1326199426

S. LAZDINA, E. DAGA-KRUMINA. Teachers' Beliefs about Teaching and Learning: Why is It Still ..

Kiely, M. T., Brownell, M. T., Lauterbach, A. A., and Benedict, A. E.. (2015). Teachers' Beliefs About Students with Special Needs and Inclusion In H. Fives and M. C. Gill (Eds.), *International Handbook of Research on Teachers' Beliefs* (pp. 475–491). New York: Routledge.

Klassen, R. M. and Chiu, M. M. (2010). Effects on teachers' self-efficacy and job satisfaction: teacher gender, years of experience, and job stress. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *102*(3), 741–756.

Kolleck, N. (2019). Motivational Aspects of Teacher Collaboration. *Frontiers in Education*, 4(122). https://doi.org/10.3389/feduc.2019.00122

Lave, J. and Wenger, E. (1991). *Situated Learning: Legitimate Peripheral participation*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Luehmann, A. L. (2007). Identity Development As a Lens to Science Teacher Preparation. Wiley InterScience, 822–839. https://doi.org/10.1002/sce.20209

Menon, D. (2020) Influence of the Sources of Science Teaching SelfEfficacy in Preservice Elementary Teachers' Identity Development. *Journal of Science Teacher Education*, 31(4), 460–481. https://doi.org/10.1080/1046560X.2020.1718863

Nasir, N. I. S. (2002). Identity, goals, and learning: Mathematics in cultural practice. *Mathematical Thinking and Learning*, 4(2–3), 213–247. https://doi.org/0.1207/ S15327833MTL04023_6

Nasir, N. S. and Hand, V. M. (2006). Exploring Sociocultural Perspectives on Race, Culture, and Learning. *Review of Educational Research*, 76(4), 449–475. https://doi.org/10.3102/00346543076004449

Pajares, M. (1992). Teachers' beliefs and educational research: Cleaning up a messy construct. *Review of Educational Research*, 62(3), 307–332.

Rezaeian, S. and Abdollahzadeh, E. (2020). Teacher efficacy and its correlates in the EFL context of Iran: The role of age, experience, and gender. *International Online Journal of Education and Teaching (IOJET)*, 7(4), 1533–1548.

Sfard, A. and Prusak, A. (2005). Telling identities: in search of analytic tool for investigating learning as a culturally shaped activity. *Educational Researcher*, *34*, 14–22.

Skaalvik, E. M., and Skaalvik, S. (2007). Dimensions of teacher self-efficacy and relations with strain factors, perceived collective teacher efficacy, and teacher burnout. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *99*, 611–25.

Smith, A. and Hoy, W. K. (2007). Academic optimism and student achievement in urban elementary schools. *Journal of Educational Administration*, 45(5), 556–568. https://doi.org/10.1108/09578230710778196

Šmeļkova, A. (2013). Matemātikas skolotāju uzskati par matemātiku un to ietekme uz matemātikas mācīšanu: teorētiskā analīze [Mathematics Teachers' Beliefs about the Nature of Mathematics: Theoretical Analysis]. *Proceedings of the 54rd International Scientific Conference of Daugavpils University* (pp. 645–650). Daugavpils University, Academic press "Saule".

Thomas, G. and James, D. (2006). Reinventing Grounded Theory: Some Questions About Theory, Ground and Discovery. *British Educationl Research Journal*, *32*(6), 767–795.

Tschannen-Moran, M., Salloum, S. J., and Goddard, R. D. (2015). Context matters: The influence of collective beliefs and shared norms. In H. Fives and M. G. Gill (Eds.), *International Handbook of Research on Teachers' Beliefs* (pp. 301–316). New York, NY: Taylor & Francis.

Tschannen-Moran, M. and Woolfolk Hoy, A. (2007). The differential antecedents of selfefficacy beliefs of novice and experienced teachers. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 23(6), 944–956.

S. LAZDINA, E. DAGA-KRUMINA. Teachers' Beliefs about Teaching and Learning: Why is It Still ..

Wenger, E. (2009). A social theory of learning. In K. Illeris (Ed.) Contemporary Theories of Learning (pp. 209–218), New York: Routledge.

Wynne, H. and Crick R. D. (2003). Testing and Motivation for Learning. *Assessment in Education: Principles, Policy & Practice, 10*(2), 169–207. https://doi.org/10.1080/09695940 32000121270

Woolfolk Hoy, A. (2012). Academic Optimism and Teacher Education. *The Teacher Educator*, 47(2), 91–100. https://doi.org/10.1080/08878730.2012.662875

Wolters, C. A. and Daugherty, S. G. (2007). Goal structures and teachers' sense of efficacy: Their relation and association to teaching experience and academic level. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *99*, 181–193.

https://doi.org/10.22364/atee.2022.18

Global and Citizenship Competence Conceptualization Through Sustainability Paradigm

Dace Medne¹, Alise Oļesika², Sanita Baranova²

¹ Jāzeps Vītols Latvian Academy of Music, Latvia

² University of Latvia, Latvia

ABSTRACT

Nowadays, the ideological focus of sustainable development is leading in all industries worldwide. Sustainable education enriches the understanding of the link between social, ecological, and economic needs; develops the ability to take responsibility for their own daily choices and contribute to a fairer future for present and future generations. All levels and areas of education invest in sustainable development, including higher education programs, which play a crucial role in putting sustainability ideas into practice.

Therefore, in April 2022, the University of Latvia implemented the second round of the study, "Assessment of Competences of Higher Education Students and Dynamics of Their Development in the Study Period", within which multidimensional research of students' transversal competencies is continued.

The first round of the study identified that the theoretical approaches to the distinction and consolidation of global and civic transversal competencies are contrasting. For that reason, this study aims to analyze civic and global transversal competencies' common, diverse, and unifying aspects. The design of a cartographic review was chosen for conceptualization. The aim is to structure the literature items included in the study, based on which a classification scheme was created, and the field of aspect coverage was identified.

The study data were analyzed using the qualitative data processing program NVivo 12.0. As a result, the various aspects of the two transversal competencies have been identified. The theoretical framework of global civic competence is formulated based on the aspects identified in the coverage field.

Keywords: Citizenship Competence, Civic Transversal Competence, Conceptualization, Higher education, Global Civic Transversal Competence, Nvivo

Introduction

Over the past 30 years, the concepts of global and civic transversal competences have established themselves at all levels of education worldwide. Global and civic competence are regularly used in political, social, cultural, economic, and educational contexts. However, the conceptual use of these competencies in educational policy documents and research is inconsistent.

In April 2022, the implementation of the second round of the national-level study "Assessment of the competencies of students in higher education and the dynamics of their development during the study period" has been started, within the framework of which the multidimensional research of the transversal competencies of the students is being continued.

Inside the first-round range, it has been identified that the theoretical approaches to the distinctions and consolidation of global and civic competences are different (Rubene et al., 2021, Medne et al., 2021). Therefore, one of the tasks of the second round of the study is determined to identify the rationale for the division or combination of global and civic transversal competences in the framework of transversal competences in the context of sustainable higher education. Global or civic transversal competence, together with the need to give it meaning in the context of sustainable education for stakeholders, makes these concepts attractive from an educational perspective, as they require shared meaning-making and understanding.

This is because the content of all these concepts closely overlaps, as the mentioned transversal competences and sustainability can be included in the study process. On the other hand, sustainable higher education is the acquisition of specific competencies and qualifications and the development of human talents, emotional intelligence, and personality (Medne & Jansone-Ratinika, 2019). The European higher education space's quality assurance standards and guidelines formulate the idea that higher education institutions are responsible for creating a sustainable culture by developing certain principles focused on student-centered learning, teaching, and assessment (Cirlan & Loukkola, 2021, ESG, 2015).

Therefore, all levels and fields of education invest resources in implementing sustainable development, including higher education programs, which play a vital role in the transition to implementing sustainability ideas in practice as one of the solutions of valuable practice in the context of sustainability for ensuring quality education in the long term, which allows universities to ensure the sustainability of education itself, remote learning opportunities and digitization of the study process are emphasized (Baranova et al., 2021). In the context of distance learning, the issue of learning global or civic competences at the level of practice expands its boundaries: how to promote their learning in a remote format. As another pedagogical solution for effective search, simulation is offered, one of the teaching methods considered adequate because it best connects theory and

practice and promotes the acquisition of specific professional and general skills (Medne, 2022).

Additionally, conceptualizing notions of global competence or civic transversal competence and their integration in the learning process becomes an intrinsic part of the study. Research data show that the conceptual and practical issues related to the concepts of civic and global transversal competence for students at the higher education level are complex both conceptually and practically. On the other hand, their contextual issues are: the position of higher education institutions in the acquisition of these competencies, the ambiguity of terms, the issues of values related to them, the position and ideas of the students themselves, the interest of employers and the social and political situation (IEAA, 2014).

However, Global competence, less historically rooted in an educational context than civic competence, has influenced the current focus in education on educating for global competence (Evans et al., 2009). The formulated project tasks and the analyzed problem settled the purpose of this study – to determine the stability criteria of global competence in the identified literature units.

Methodology

A selection of studies, reports and international education policy documents were initially carried out to implement the research. Overall, studies (n = 16), reports (n = 2) and policy papers (n = 3) met the inclusion criteria. The study included studies whose time frame is 2017–2022 and educational documents from 2014-2022. Various studies were included – systemic literature reviews, empirical studies, policy documents, scientific journal articles, and technical and project final reports. The subject of research was defined as civic development and global civic competence. Boolean search operators were used in the selection of literature units: "Citizenship Competence," "Civic Competence," "Global Competence," "Higher Education," "Global Civic Competence," and "Global Citizenship Compet."ce."

A cartographic review strategy (mapping review) was chosen for the study, the purpose of which is to structure the literature units included in the study, create a classification scheme and structure the field of interest to identify the coverage of criteria in the research field. By choosing mapping methodology, topics, and the context in literature units, the study's authors try to introduce a new and productive way to analyze and discuss the concept of competence in education, considering the diversity of competences.

Data analysis and synthesis – performed according to the narrative synthesis type, which included three consecutive steps:

- 1) defined logical categories (codes),
- 2) analyzed data from each obtained category (the content of codes),

3) synthesized questions about all included logical categories (Petticrew & Roberts, 2006).

The SPIDER (Sample-Phenomenon) strategy was used for a structured qualitative systematic selection of publications (Cooke et al., 2012; Booth, 2016). Inclusion criteria:

- a) published between 2016 and 2022,
- b) content and form analysis of civic and global civic cross-cutting competences conducted in the higher education space
- c) published in English. Exclusion criteria: no access to the full text.

The research content was analyzed using qualitative and quantitative contextual analysis in the qualitative data processing program QSR NVivo 12. Linguistic processing and analysis of the literary units included in the analysis were carried out in the following order:

The choice of data processing program NVivo in the study was determined by the fact that it increases the validity of qualitative research (Siccama & Penna, 2008). The study was carried out from May 2022 to August 2022.

The research was carried out in four steps of group cooperation:

- 1) initially, research participants agreed on the criteria for inclusion of literature units and the research design,
- 2) identification of studies, which researchers carried out individually,
- 3) two participants performed double coding of the included publications, the program showed 86% codes coincidence, which is considered high,
- 4) the research group discussed the obtained results and their possible interpretations.

Results

The data search strategy was carried out using open-access databases: PubMed, ResearchGate, SciELO, Cochrane Library, Campbell Collaboration, EppiCentre, ScienceDirect, SpringerOpen, and Academia. The framework of the structural concept of Arksey and O'Malley (Arksey & O'Malley, 2005) was chosen for the design of the research protocol, which was further developed by The Joanna Briggs Institute in five stages:

- 1) identification of research questions;
- 2) identification of scientific literature;
- 3) selection of scientific literature according to criteria;
- 4) data analysis and synthesis;
- 5) compilation of data into tables.

In the five-step framework, the second and third steps integrated the fourstep data selection scheme of PRISMA (Moher et al., 2009): identificationscreening-eligibility-inclusion. TO BE OR NOT TO BE A GREAT EDUCATOR, 2022

D. MEDNE, A. OLESIKA, S. BARANOVA. Global and Citizenship Competence Conceptualization ..

After identifying the primary studies, an initial assessment was conducted to determine whether they met the inclusion criteria and the basic quality requirements: clear and precise statement of the objective, clear description of the study, method, and sufficient amount of raw data). After duplicates were excluded, eligible studies were included according to the inclusion/exclusion criteria for evaluation. At this stage, most publications were excluded from inclusion in the study because they did not meet any of the exclusion criteria for inclusion in the study (Timulak, 2014). (Table 1)

Table 1. PRISMA selection scheme

Studies identified in databases PubMed, ResearchGate, SciELO, Cochrane Library,	
Campbell Collaboration, EppiCentre, ScienceDirect, SpringerOpen,	
and Academia $(n = 32)$	
Observation of Duplication of studies $(n = 4)$	
Studies after initial evaluation ($n = 28$) Excluded studies $n = 7$	
Studies included qualitative synthesis ($n = 21$)	

The included literature units (n = 21) were sequentially entered into the table created in .docx, the structural components of which were determined according to the purpose of the study: publication title/availability; year of issue; institution/author; nature of the content/ context; identification of competence or competence type (G, P, G/P); criteria and their indicators.

In the identified units of literature (n = 21), the following conceptual units of the competence group were placed: global competence (n = 5), civic competence (n = 5), global civic competence (n = 9), sustainability competence (n = 1), and comprehensive global competence (n = 1). When initially selecting, structuring, and reviewing the studies, it was concluded that a specific methodological choice for the name of competence in the literature units was not justified. Therefore, in the next step of the research, the full texts of the literature units in the original language were uploaded into the Nvivo 12 program, and global aspects were identified.

The global perspective in this study was determined by the fact that all the mentioned competencies included the global dimension, and the aspect of sustainability was revealed in their content. Thus, global competence expands the boundaries of understanding the concept of civic competence and education for sustainable development, simultaneously expanding the ambiguity in the use of these concepts. Deductive coding was chosen as the coding method. The choice is based on the basic idea of the deductive approach, which provides structure and theoretical relevance from the outset. It is a top-down approach in which the first step is to identify a set of codes, and the second step is to identify the codes within the literature units.

The set of codes for identifying the global dimension in literature units was determined according to The OECD PISA global competence framework (PISA, 2018): the four dimensions of global competence and understanding of their content:

- 1) knows issues of local, global and cultural importance,
- 2) understands and evaluates perspectives and worldviews of others,
- 3) engage in open, appropriate, and effective intercultural interactions, and
- 4) act for collective well-being and sustainable development.

This generation and application of criteria were chosen because it minimizes the risks of a highly subjective selection of literature units.

To meaningfully understand the content of the identified literature units, full texts in the original language (English) were imported into the Nvivo 12 program. The next step was deductive coding (identifying themes and contexts by assigning a code to the relevant passage of text). During deductive coding, all the codes determined by The OECD PISA global competence framework (PISA, 2018): global competence were identified following the purpose of the study. The identified codes are summarized and visualized in Table 2.

Code	The number of documents in which the code is identified	Total number of codes
Knows issues of local, global and cultural importance	21	65
Understands and appreciates other people's perspectives and worldviews	20	71
Engages in open, appropriate, and effective intercultural interactions	20	36
Acting for collective well-being and sustainable development	20	41

Table 2. Matrix of frequency of use of codes identified in literature units

The frequency of use of codes indicates how widely and elaborately a question is presented in the literature units, also indirectly indicating the code's relevance. The frequency of codes obtained during coding shows that all four indicators of global competence are sufficiently detailed and widely characterized in the literature unit: knows local, global, and cultural issues identified in all literature units, a total of 65 times (n = 65), understands and evaluates other people's perspectives and worldviews identified in 20 literary units 71 times (n = 71), engages in open, appropriate and effective intercultural interaction identified in 19 literary units, as a code identified 36 times (n = 36), acting for collective welfare and sustainable development identified in 16 literary units in total 41 times (n = 41).

In the further course of the research, the content of the global competence criteria is described in the publication according to the identified code frequencies in the NVivo program in descending order.

The most significant number of codes in the identified publications is for the criterion to understand and appreciates other people's perspectives and worldviews (n = 71). The second largest number of codes was identified for the criterion: knows issues of local, global and cultural significance identified in all literature units, a total of 65 times (n = 65). On the other hand, the criterion acting for the benefit of collective well-being and sustainable development was identified in 16 literature units 41 times (n = 41). The fewest identified publications deal with the issue of engaging in open, appropriate, and effective intercultural interaction (n = 36).

In implementing the research idea, the distinction of codes in the thematic units of the competence group updated in the study was looked at. The following tables present the distribution of codes by thematic units of competences.

Code	The number of documents in which the code is identified	Total number of codes
Knows issues of local, global and cultural importance	5	18
Understands and appreciates other people's perspectives and worldviews	5	21
Engages in open, appropriate and effective intercultural interactions	5	10
Acting for collective well-being and sustainable development	5	10

Table 3. Frequency matrix of codes identified in literature units for global competence

Table 4. Matrix of frequency of use of codes identified in literature units for civic competence

Code	The number of documents in which the code is identified	Total number of codes
Knows issues of local, global and cultural importance	5	19
Understands and appreciates other people's perspectives and worldviews	4	19
Engages in open, appropriate and effective intercultural interactions	5	11
Acting for collective well-being and sustainable development	5	12

Table 5. Frequency matrix of codes identified in literature units for global citizenship competence

Code	The number of documents in which the code is identified	Total number of codes
Knows issues of local, global and cultural importance	9	19
Understands and appreciates other people's perspectives and worldviews	9	24
Engages in open, appropriate and effective intercultural interactions	9	9
Acting for collective well-being and sustainable development	8	11

Table 6. Matrix of frequency of use of codes identified in literature units for long-term competence

Code	The number of documents in which the code is identified	Total number of codes
Knows issues of local, global and cultural importance	1	5
Understands and appreciates other people's perspectives and worldviews	1	4
Engages in open, appropriate and effective intercultural interactions	1	3
Acting for collective well-being and sustainable development	1	4

Table 7. Matrix of frequency of use of codes identified in literature units for comprehensive global competence Matrix of frequency of use of codes identified in literature units for comprehensive global competence

Code	The number of documents in which the code is identified	Total number of codes
Knows issues of local, global and cultural importance	1	4
Understands and appreciates other people's perspectives and worldviews	1	4
Engages in open, appropriate and effective intercultural interactions	1	3
Acting for collective well-being and sustainable development	1	4

TO BE OR NOT TO BE A GREAT EDUCATOR, 2022

D. MEDNE, A. OLESIKA, S. BARANOVA. Global and Citizenship Competence Conceptualization ..

As a result of the coding, it can be concluded that the global competence criteria determined by The OECD PISA global competence framework (PISA, 2018) can be identified in all the literature units included in the study. In the next stage, a qualitative content analysis was carried out, which allowed the authors to conclude that, regardless of the name of the competence (conceptual unit), the content of all codes includes the constantly evolving social processes, cultural context (local and global), people (behavior) and sustainability positioning in them.

Discussion and Conclusions

This study has several potential limitations:

- 1) limited scope of analysis, as only 21 literature units were found to be relevant to the research idea
- 2) reviews, reflect the search for the current state of the art in a specific field, but there is a subjective abstraction, misinterpretation, and risks of over-simplification, so according to this review, a risk of this study could be that the included literature units represent multiple fields (education, policy, health care, etc.). This can be considered a limitation, but paradoxically, it is also a convincing argument at the same time because it creates a wider focus,
- 3) only English language units of literature were identified and analyzed,
- 4) the methodology of the literature units included in the review was not analyzed and evaluated.

This review aimed to create a topography of the literature whose conceptual units are global competence, civic competence, global civic competence, sustainability competence, and comprehensive global competence. To implement it, 21 literary units were mapped. Mapping the research subject using the review design allows authors to conclude the following:

The literature units included and analyzed in the study reveal a high level of complexity in explaining this group of competences, both in theory and practice.

Global citizenship competence (n = 9) is mentioned as the dominant competence in the selected studies and documents, while global competence (n = 5)and civic competence (n = 5) follow in equal numbers. This conclusion reflects that the evidence base for the conceptual use of competences is not clear-cut. Authors interpret it as relatively open, unstable, and cross-sectoral. Thus, civic and global competence in research reports is also linked to the industry and its external and internal demands. Also, the interpretation differs in connection with social and political actualities, and there is no single, coherent methodological basis for their formation.

Within the framework of this study, the research subject exhibits the dominance of the English language, which probably reflects a certain decontextualized narrowness, which in turn may affect the methodological narrowness of the ideas of understanding competence, as well as the limitations of the development of education policy, therefore, within the scope of this study, it is determined as a research limitation.

Although the identified tension in the context of the explanation of the concept of competence between generalization (transversal competence) and specialization (professional competence), taking into account contextual factors such as national and cultural differences and differences in educational levels, shows that such research is underutilized due to unsystematic review in the context of sustainability. The identified units of literature also show the diversification of competence definitions: sustainability competence (n = 1) (2022) and comprehensive global competence (n = 1) (2018). During the research, it was concluded that they include the same content units, this suggests that the stability of the content of these competences remains, but there is a tendency for the name (conceptual unit) to change.

Analyzing the texts of literary units, it can be concluded that citizenship is rarely associated with a specific territory. Today, in the context of globalization, this concept has been expanded by emphasizing that citizenship simultaneously means both status and social role. The first refers to the civil, political, and social rights the state guarantees its citizens (objective dimension). The second aspect includes the identity, values, and mental representations that each person formulates in relation to social life and the political-economic situation (subjective dimension). This subjective dimension can be attached to a particular region and nation but can also be an organization, a social network, or a supranational entity (Europe, the World). Already Habermas (1995) formulates a similar idea, calling this phenomenon institutional patriotism, which is a way of identifying with democracy and its institutions, not with a certain geographical space.

The dynamics of the understanding of civic competence and global competence as multidimensional concepts show that their nature is related to constantly evolving social processes and people's actions in them, which determines that the explanation of these categories is never final but can be qualitatively different depending on the context. Contextual aspects define the global dimension in understanding this set of competencies and present unique challenges in its precise formulation.

Both sustainability competence and global citizenship competence are based on solving world problems and developing the connection between the local and the global (home – local community – global world) in the social, economic, and environmental fields, thus essentially including/including the multidimensional aspects of citizenship competence.

Mapping global and civic competence reveals the theoretical possibility of their conceptual combination – global – civic competence.

The analysis of the content of all identified competencies allows us to conclude that all competencies, regardless of the name, include behavioral indicators that ensure sustainable development and sustainability. To a certain extent, the evolution of concepts can be identified: civic competence – global competence – global – civic competence – sustainability competence, determined by the context of society and education policy, or the United Nations (UN) Sustainable Development Goals (SDG).

The purpose of this review was not to conceptualize any of the conceptual units of the research focus group of competencies, but to substantiate the breadth and depth of the global dimension conceptually and objectively in the twenties of the 21st century.

Acknowledgments

This research was supported by the project "Assessment of Competences of Higher Education Students and Dynamics of Their Development in the Study Process" (ESF project 8.3.6.2: "Development and Implementation of the Education Quality Monitoring System," project agreement number 8.3.6.2/17/I/001 (ESS2022/422)).

REFERENCES

Arksey, H., & O'Malley, L. (2005). Scoping studies: towards a methodological framework. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology, 8*(1), 19–32. https://doi.org/10.1080/1364557032000119616

Baranova, S., Nimante, D., Kalnina, D., & Olesika, A. (2021). Student's Perspective on Remote On-Line Teaching and Learning at the University of Latvia in the First and Second COVID-19 Period. *Special Issue Digital Technologies for Sustainable Education. Sustainability* 13(21), 11890. https://www.mdpi.com/2071-1050/13/21/11890

Booth, A. (2016). Searching for qualitative research for inclusion in systematic reviews A structured methodological review. *Systematic Reviews*, *5*, 1–23. https://systematicreviewsjournal.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s13643-016-0249-x

Cirlan, E., & Loukkola, T. (2021). Internal Quality Assurance in Times of COVID-19. https://eua.eu/downloads/publications/internal%20qa.pdf

Cooke, A., Smith, D., & Booth, A. (2012). Beyond PICO: The SPIDER tool for qualitative evidence synthesis. *Qualitative Health Research, 22*, 1435–1443. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/230565751_Beyond_PICO_the_SPIDER_tool_for_qualitative_evidence_synthesis

Education Association of Australia (IEAA) (2014). Fostering Global Competence: A National Symposium report. https://www.academia.edu/29357031/Fostering_Global_Citizenship_and_Global_Competence_in_Higher_Education_Outcomes_Report_from_a_National_Symposium

Evans, M., Ingram, L. A., Macdonald, A., & Weber, N. (2009). Mapping the "global dimension" of citizenship education in Canada: The complex interplay of theory, practice and context. *Citizenship Teaching and Learning*, *5*(2).

Habermas, J. (1995). Citizenship and National Identity: Some Reflections on the Future of Europe. Ed. R. Beiner Theorizing Citizenship, Albany, State University of New York Press, 255-281.

Medne, D., Rubene, Z., Bernande, M., Illiško, Dz. (2021). Conceptualisation of University Students' Civic Transversal Competence. In L. Daniela (Ed.), *Human, Technologies and Quality of Education, 2021*, 1148. Rīga, University of Latvia. ISBN 978-9934-18-735-3. https://doi.org/10.22364/htge.2021.59

Medne, D., Jansone-Ratinika, N. (2019). Professional Mastery of Academics in Higher Education: The Case of Latvia. *Innovations, Technologies and Research in Education, 2019,* 718, 591–600. https://doi.org/10.22364/atee.2019.itre.43

Medne, D. (2022). Situation Simulation as a Pedagogical Method in Teacher Education. Rural Environment. Education. Personality. (REEP) *Proceedings of the 15th International Scientific Conference No. 15. Latvia University of Life Sciences and Technologies Jelgava*, Latvia. https://doi.org/10.22616/REEP.2022.15.012

Moher, D. (2009). Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement. https://www.bmj.com/content/339/bmj.b2535

Petticrew, M., Roberts, H. (2006). Systematic reviews in the cocial scencies. A practical guide. London: Blackwell Publishing. https://fcsalud.ua.es/en/portal-de-investigacion/documentos/tools-for-the-bibliographic-research/guide-of-systematic-reviews-in-social-sciences.pdf

PISA (2018). Preparing our Youth for an Inclusive and Sustainable World. The OECD PISA global competence framework. https://www.oecd.org/education/Global-competency-for-an-inclusive-world.pdf

Rubene, Z., Dimdiņš, G., Miltuze, A., Baranova, S., Medne, D., Jansone-Ratinika, N., Āboltiņa, L., Bernande, M., Āboliņa, A., Demitere, M., Lāma, G., Oļesika, A., Sarva, E., Sīlis, M., & Slišāne, A. (2021). Assessment of Student Competences in Higher Education and Their Development Dynamics During the Study Period. Rīga: LU. ISBN 978-9934-9052-0-9

Siccama, C. J., & Penna, S. (2008). Enhancing Validity of a Qualitative Dissertation Research Study by Using NVIVO. *Qualitative Research Journal*, 8(2), 91–103. https://doi.org/10.3316/QRJ0802091

Standards and Guidelines for Quality Assurance in the European Higher Education Area (ESG). (2015). https://www.enqa.eu/wp-content/uploads/ 2015/11/ESG _2 015.pdf

Timulak, L. (2014). Qualitative meta-analysis. Ed. U. Flick. *The Sage handbook of qualitative data analysis*, 481–495. London: Sage.

References for concept mapping review

Auld, E., & Morris, P. (2019). Science by streetlight and the OECD's measure of global competence: A new yardstick for internationalisation? *Policy Futures in Education*, *17*(6), 677–698. https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/full/10.1177/14 78210318819246

Barrett, M. (2021). Citizenship Competences. *Scuola democratica, XII*, 145–160. https://doi.org/10.12828/100675.

Cotton, D., Morrison, D., Magne, P., Payne, S., & Heffernan, T. (2019). Global Citizenship and Cross-Cultural Competency: Student and Expert Understandings of Internationalization

Terminology. Journal of Studies in International Education, 23(3), 346–364. https://doi.org/ 10.1177/1028315318789

Cramer, K. J., & Toff, B. (2017). The Fact of Experience: Rethinking Political Knowledge and Civic Competence. *Perspectives on Politics*, *15*(3), 754–770.

Dellegrazie, E. (2021). Internationalization of Business Curriculum: Global Competence and Global Citizenship [Doctoral dissertation, Concordia University Chicago]. ProQuest Dissertations Publishing. https://www.proquest.com/openview/122a56ff2c6e38e8f297fdaf 5293392c/1?pq-origsite = gscholar&cbl = 18750&diss = y

Doerr, N. M. (2020). Global competence of minority immigrant students: hierarchy of experience and ideology of global competence in study abroad. *Discourse: Studies in the Cultural Politics of Education, 41*(1). https://doi.org/10.1080/01596306.2018.1462147

European Union (2022). GreenComp The European sustainability competence framework. https://publications.jrc.ec.europa.eu/repository/bitstream/JRC128040/jrc128040_greencomp_f2.pdf

European Union (2018). COUNCIL RECOMMENDATION of 22 May 2018 on key competences for lifelong learning. *Official Journal of the European Union*, C 189/1. https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri = CELEX:32018H0604(01)&rid = 7

Global competence development at higher education institutions (2021). Ed. Kjellgren, B., Richter, T. Contributors: the European Union through Erasmus+ project grant no 2018-1-ES01-KA203-050477. https://blogs.upm.es/tavie/wp-content/uploads/sites/589/2021/09/IOS-Guidebook.pdf

Grotlüschen, A. (2018). Global competence – Does the new OECD competence domain ignore the global South? *Studies in the Education of Adults*, *50*(2), 185–202.

Iliško, Dz., Rubene, Z., Oļehnoviča, E., Medne, D. (2020). Global Competence for Embracing Diversity by the Globally Minded Citizens in Higher Education. *12th International Conference on Education and New Learning Technologies*. 8711–8717. https://doi.org/10.21125/edulearn.2020.2152

International Education Association of Australia (IEAA) (2014). Fostering global competence: a national symposium. https://www.academia.edu/29357031/Fos tering_Global_Citizenship_and_Global_Competence_in_Higher_Education_Outcomes_Report_from_a_National Symposium

Kang, J. H., Kim, S. Y., Jang, S., Koh, A-R. (2018). Can College Students'Global Competence Be Enhanced in the Classroom? The Impact of Cross- and Inter-CulturalOnline Projects. *Innovations in Education and Teaching International*, *55*(6), 683–693. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/314070402_Can_college_students'_global_competence_be_enhanced_in_the_classroom_The_impact_of_cross-_and_inter-cultural_online_projects

Li, J. (2020). Comprehensive Global Competence for World-Class Universities in China Context, Concept, Model and Evaluation. Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd.

Meng, Q., Zhu, C., & Cao, C. (2018). Chinese international students' social connectedness, social and academic adaptation. *Higher Education*, *75*(1), 131–147.

Ndubuisi, A., Marzi, E., Mohammed, D., Edun, O., Asare, P., & Slotta, J. (2022). Developing Global Competence in Global Virtual Team Projects: A Qualitative Exploration of Engineering Students' Experiences. *Journal of Studies in International Education*, *26*(2), 259–278. https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/full/10.1177/10283153221091623

OECD (2018). Preparing our youth for an inclusive and sustainable world. The PISA global competence framework. https://www.oecd.org/education/Global-competency-for-an-inclu-sive-world.pdf

Ortiz-Marcos, I., Breuker, V., Rodríguez-Rivero, R., Kjellgren, B., Dorel, F., Toffolon, M., Uribe d., & Eccli, V. (2020). A framework of global competence for engineers: The need for a sustainable world. *Sustainability*, *12*(22), 1–25. https://oa.upm.es/65865/1/INVE_MEM_2020_328373.pdf

SOLIDAR Foundation (2019). Citizenship and Lifelong learning. Monitor 2019. Continuous digital and intercultural education for EU citizens' societal inclusion and active participation. https://www.solidar.org/system/downloads/attachments/000/001/121/original/Citizenship_and_Lifelong_Learning_Monitor_2019_-online.pdf?1587973552

UNESCO (2016). Education 2030. Incheon Declaration and Framework for Action for the implementation of Sustainable Development Goal 4. Ensure inclusive and equitable quality education and promote lifelong learning opportunities for all. https://uis.unesco.org/sites/default/files/documents/education-2030-incheon-framework-for-action-implementation-of-sdg4-2016-en_2.pdf

Wangbei, Y. (2019). Students' Citizenship Competence Learning in China's Yangzhong City. *British Journal of Educational Studies*, 67(4), 513–539. https://doi.org/10.1080/00071005.2 018.1453045

About the authors

Dace Medne is a professor and researcher at the Jāzepa Vītola Latvian Academy of Music in the Art Education department and a researcher in a ESF project No. 8.3.6.2. "Development and Implementation of the Education Quality Monitoring System" at the University of Latvia, Faculty of Education, Psychology, and Art, the Department of Education Sciences and Pedagogical Innovation.

Alise Oļesika is a scientific assistant at the University of Latvia, Faculty of Education, Psychology, and Art and a doctoral student in the joint program "Educational Sciences".

Sanita Baranova is an asociate professor and seniour researcher at the University of Latvia, Faculty of Education, Psychology, and Art, the Department of Education Sciences and Pedagogical Innovation.

https://doi.org/10.22364/atee.2022.19

Informal Learning for Creating Professional Support Groups for Teachers and School Leadership Teams: A Case Study

Oskars Kaulēns, Edīte Sarva

University of Latvia oskars.kaulens@lu.lv; edite.sarva@lu.lv

ABSTRACT

From the school year 2020/2021 the implementation of a competence-based curriculum has started in Latvia which determines new learning outcomes for students and at the same time defines new professional development needs for teachers. There are changes in the content that teachers need to learn and the learning approach that teachers need to use for their professional development to ensure that they meet the new quality requirements of teaching. In order to successfully implement new teaching and learning approaches and to promote the development of a wider learning community, teachers' formal professional development, such as attendance at lectures, seminars etc., has to be supplemented with informal professional development through sharing experiences, participation in learning groups, etc. The remote work experience of the COVID-19 pandemic has provided additional opportunities for a variety of online in-service teacher education activities based on principles of informal learning. The goal of the research conducted by the authors is to find out what is the interest of teachers to get involved in the teacher cooperation events "Emergency Methodological Assistance" organised by the Friendly Appeal Cesis State Gymnasium and what are the professional benefits of teachers' participation in such informal learning activities. Within the framework of the research, a qualitative content analysis of the teachers' reflection bulletins has been performed, which teachers have submitted at the end of events, evaluating their professional benefits from participation in the events. The data of the research show that teachers appreciate the opportunity to get acquainted with professionally tested and practical teaching methods and techniques for the implementation of new curriculum, to receive encouragement from other colleagues in the conditions of constant change and uncertainty, and to find professional partners among teachers for long-term planning and cooperation activities.

Keywords: professional development, formal and informal learning, distance learning, remote learning, learning community

Introduction

Along with the changes taking place in society, characterised by rapid digitization and globalisation (Kurer & Gallego, 2019), there are also changes in society's demand concerning the education sector, where new achievable results for students and employees are defined. The nature of changes in education is particularly evident in crisis situations, when the processes taking place on a national or global scale affect the content and the approach towards organising learning. Thus, for example, the global pandemic caused by COVID-19 determined the need to organise learning remotely, using various technological solutions, such as the internet and television. This also meant that the teachers had to learn new pedagogical concepts and teaching methods, the use of which they were not specially trained for before (Schleicher, 2020). The COVID-19 pandemic rapidly transformed learning by moving it online in many schools around the world (Hodges et al., 2020; Laganovska, 2021).

Online learning has also directly affected teachers' expectations, learning needs, professional skills and roles (Darling-Hammond & Hyler, 2020), creating additional cognitive, subjective, physical and social challenges (Viac & Fraser, 2020). In the context of the COVID-19 pandemic, new learning needs were defined for teachers, for which innovative online professional development solutions were sought. Moreover, this was done despite the findings of previous studies before the COVID-19 pandemic showing that teachers prefer to participate in face-to-face rather than online professional development activities (OECD, 2019).

Also, in the context of professional development of teachers, the pandemic caused by COVID-19 raised the question of how further education activities can help teachers become more effective leaders of their personal growth and learning, can provide access to tools that support teachers' specific learning needs, and promote cooperation and interaction between teachers, to increase the impact on their professional performance in work with students (OECD, 2020). As a result, more emphasis was placed on informal online learning in teacher professional development, thus creating innovative solutions for both how teachers work with students and how they organise their own professional development (Yu et al., 2021).

The aim of this research was to determine whether teachers are interested in participating in the online teachers' cooperation and networking events "Emergency Methodological Assistance" organised by the Friendly Appeal Cesis State Gymnasium, as well as to investigate what are the main benefits for teachers from participating in such online professional development events. A research of the scientific literature on issues related to the informal professional development of teachers and its implementation in distance learning was carried out. Also, a qualitative content analysis of teachers' reflection on these online events was performed in order to determine the categories of professional benefits indicated by teachers.

Informal learning as teacher professional development

Informal learning is emphasised as a particularly important mechanism for increasing the professional capacity of teachers (Rogoff et al., 2016), as it provides the opportunity for teachers to choose the learning content and the most suitable form of learning according to their personal interests and current learning needs. Informal learning is not didactic because it does not identify a person whose role and responsibility is to teach others. It is organised through meaningful activities in which participants take part willingly, not forcibly; the learning process is based on the personal initiative, interests and choices made by the participants, not on externally defined achievable results, and does not involve external evaluation of the results achieved. Informal learning occurs as a result of social interactions where participants use their existing knowledge and skills to innovate and develop new ideas and skills (Desimone, 2009; Rogoff et al., 2016).

Informal learning refers to acquiring new knowledge and developing skills outside of a structured, institutionally organized learning environment. Such professional development takes place in a process of voluntary cooperation and exchange of experiences, where employees of one or more organizations interact (Marsick et al., 2008). Informal learning is a type of professional development that is not always purposefully organized, externally or internally guided, systematic and regular and does not have predetermined learning content. Informal learning occurs unconsciously as participants engage in activities that provide new learning experiences without pre-defined achievable outcomes, such as socializing with others, participating in conversations and discussions, etc. (Melnic & Botez, 2014).

Informal learning involves intensive use of previous professional experience and reflection on it. Learning in this format takes place as an exchange of knowledge and experience among colleagues, trying out new teaching methods and reflecting on the acquired experience, researching the professional environment inside and outside of their own school in order to gain new ideas for organising learning for their students (Lohman, 2006). Informal professional development is the result of observing the professional performance of other colleagues, conducting trials and analysing errors, asking for help in problem situations, talking with other colleagues and reflecting on one's previous experience (Dabbagh & Kitsantas, 2012, p. 4).

The purpose of informal learning is to provide teachers with continuous, goal-oriented competence development in the workplace, taking into account the real learning needs of the parties involved and using the knowledge, experience and available professional resources already accumulated in the organisation (Tynjälä, 2008). Therefore, unlike traditional professional development, which takes the form of lectures, conferences, seminars, etc. in attending similar events, informal learning enables teachers to meet specific learning needs and

offer solutions to the challenges they face in their daily work with students. The positive impact of informal learning on teacher performance and professional competence is also determined by the fact that such learning is based on well tried and immediately usable examples (Cheng, 2017).

Distance learning as teacher professional development

Researchers point to differences in the use of the terms distance learning and remote learning when describing the teaching and learning process that was implemented during the COVID-19 pandemic. So, for example, distance learning has so far been considered as an opportunity for students to learn the full curriculum or individual parts of it remotely and self-directedly. Using the opportunities created by technology, such as TV, radio or the Internet, students can participate in the learning process organised in this way both synchronously and asynchronously (Anderson & Dron 2011). Remote learning, on the other hand, is associated with attempts to create and implement in practice the same organisational structure of the learning process that is implemented in face-toface setting, and technologies are used to communicate with students, conduct lessons, check whether and at what level the set learning goals are achieved, and provide feedback on learning outcomes (Daniela & Visvizi, 2021).

Effective distance learning involves several interrelated elements: effective teachers, the use of appropriate technology, and engaged students. Teachers with good content knowledge, technical skills for using technologies and support resources, and appropriate pedagogical techniques are more effective than those who lack such skills. On the other hand, the availability and use of technologies appropriate to the learning context and learning goals is a prerequisite for distance learning to be possible at all (Muñoz-Najar et al., 2021). This allows us to conclude that in the context of teachers' professional development, it means that effective informal learning of teachers remotely becomes possible if the learning process is purposefully managed and organised, in this way, informal learning is supplemented with elements of formal or traditional professional development, for example, the person who organises the learning for others.

In the distance learning, the teacher's role and direct control over students and their learning decreases, while students' individual responsibility for their own learning increases, thus creating a demand for the implementation of a new learning approach (Azorín, 2020; Dhawan, 2020; Reimer & Schleiche, 2020; Digiuseppe et al. ., 2017; Bonde et al., 2014). This means that distance learning provides an opportunity to individualise the learning experience, develop self-directed learning and digital skills, and provides access to learning opportunities in situations where this would not be possible otherwise (Bonde et al., 2014; Dhawan 2020; Nolen & Koretsky, 2018). In the context of teachers' professional development, this means an opportunity for teachers to improve such important

skills as defining their individual learning needs, setting professional development goals, organising effective cooperation among colleagues, meaningful use of technology in learning and other skills.

The professional development of teachers during distance learning can be viewed as informal learning, since the teachers themselves choose which online learning resources to use, which online learning activities to participate in, and the teachers themselves take responsibility for their learning results. Such professional development can be considered as experiential learning, which includes the creation of new online learning experiences and promotes the formation of alternative learning behaviour, which is manifested in the analysis of the performance of other colleagues and conversations about their professional practice (Manuti et al., 2015; Wolfson et al., 2018). The main differences between face-to-face and online informal learning are related to the fact that online informal learning provides participants with a higher degree of individual autonomy and a larger variety of learning opportunities, so it provides more advantages and better reflects the nature of informal learning (Yu et al., 2021).

Online informal learning is in a way an action research, where learning occurs to bridge the gap between teachers' existing and desired knowledge and skills needed to solve a particular problem or make a decision. As part of such professional development, teachers also collect information from several involved parties, try to understand and interpret it, as well as evaluate several problem-solving alternatives. Engaging in such learning activities is a social activity as it involves collaboration with other colleagues within one or more organisations. In addition, such learning is also influenced by several contextual factors, such as the existing power relations between the participants, the distribution of roles and responsibilities during learning, the access of all participants to the necessary learning resources, etc. (Watkins & Marsick, 2020).

Methodology

The research is based on data collected during Friendly Appeal Cesis State Gymnasium organised online events "Emergency Methodological Assistance". These are professional development events for teachers, where deputy principals or teachers who teach a similar subject and student age group and have started implementing the improved curriculum, meet. The purpose of these events is to provide an opportunity for teachers and representatives of school management teams to talk about the challenges they face in their daily work, and search for solutions to solve common challenges in their work, to share experiences and teaching materials, as well as to plan the implementation of the improved curriculum.

From 2020 to 2022 13 "Emergency Methodological Assistance" events were organised during the school year. These events took place online via Zoom

meetings and were organised according to the principles of informal learning – the participants themselves chose the content they wanted to discuss during the meetings and chose what they wanted to learn from colleagues they met during these events. Information about the possibility to apply for participation in the "Emergency Methodological Assistance" events was distributed through the Friendly Appeal Cesis State Gymnasium *Facebook* page and through local municipality Education Departments sharing the information through official emails and inviting to pass it on to interested schools. Participation in teachers' cooperation events "Emergency Methodological Assistance" was voluntary, thus the composition of participants in every event was variable.

At the end of each event, participants were asked to reflect on their learning experiences and benefits from participation in the event. Participants were informed that gathered data will be used in the research analysis of the learning event and could submit their reflections publicly using the *Zoom* chat feature or anonymously by sending a personal message in *Zoom* chat. As a result, 714 participant responses were obtained, of which 458 were selected for further analysis according to the purpose of the study. Responses that were too general or provided information other than participants' reflection on the benefits of participating in these activities were not included in the analysis. Before analysis for the purposes of this publication all data was anonymized. Participant response citations used in the article were translated to English by researchers, trying to preserve the opinions expressed by the participants as much as possible.

The analysis of the selected answers was performed using the qualitative content analysis method (Schreier, 2014) with the aim of defining the categories for grouping the benefits mentioned by the participants. In order to maintain objectivity in the analysis of the research data, researchers first grouped the responses of individual participants individually and defined their own analysis categories, then compared the obtained data and agreed on a common understanding for categorising data. As a result, 10 categories were defined, according to which all participant responses obtained were grouped.

Results

One of the questions raised in this research is whether teachers are interested in participating in informal professional development activities that are carried out online. The data obtained in this study show that a total of 1153 participants applied for participation in 13 "Emergency methodological assistance" events. Although not all participants took part in the online conversations, it can be concluded that the interest of teachers in this type of professional development in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic is high.

The obtained data show that the number of participant applications for each event is different, where 59 was the smallest, while 110 was the largest number of participant applications (Fig. 1). Such differences can be explained by of several factors, such as the number of teachers who teach the specific subject in schools; content issues that have been proposed for discussion during the participants' meeting, as well as the period of time when the event has been organised – the number of applications during the school year is higher than it is at the end of the school year.



Figure 1. Amount of applications for each of the learning events

The second question raised in this research is what are the benefits for teachers from participating in the professional development activities of "Emergency Methodological Assistance". According to the data obtained in the study, the benefits mentioned by the participants can be classified into 10 categories:

- 1. professional conversations, sharing experiences, opinions, advice;
- 2. learning and work process organization;
- 3. learning materials, resources, ICT;
- 4. a sense of community;
- 5. belief that cooperation is a solution to common problems;
- 6. new valuable experience for professional development;
- 7. developing learning materials;
- 8. confidence in their work;
- 9. belief that professional development is needed;
- 10. inspiration for further work (Fig. 2).





Figure 2. Participants' benefits from attending learning events

The obtained data show that the most frequently mentioned benefit for participants from participation in professional development events of this format is the opportunity to participate in professional conversations with colleagues, to listen to the experiences of other colleagues and to share their own experiences, as well as to exchange opinions and advice. 182 participants have emphasised this in their reflections (Fig. 2).

I liked the fact that I could talk with colleagues who teach "my" subject, share experiences and insights.

During the conversations with colleagues, I gained confidence in the direction I have chosen for teaching my subject. Also in these conversations new ideas arise that can be implemented in my work.

The second most frequently mentioned benefit for the participants is related to the acquisition of new ideas for organising learning. Reference to such benefits can be found in the reflections of 123 participants.

(...) we all drive in the same direction, faster or slower, but we drive. I highly appreciate this opportunity to learn together (...). We created a great lesson plan on the Reformation in 40 minutes. Super teachers!

I learned how to work with the [subject] syllabus and create a thematic plan. My benefit is really significant – I understood how to plan. I appreciate the opportunity to hear the experiences of my colleagues, which I will be able to use in my own work. Thank you!

Almost half as many participants -67 – indicate in their reflections that their benefit is related to the acquisition of new learning materials and resources for use in work with students. It is evident that these events have been beneficial for teachers for obtaining information tested in practice and immediately usable teaching methods and materials for organising learning.

The task created by [a colleague] about verbs in songs will be useful for me. I will definitely use materials of the book publishing house "Liels und mazs" (...).

I found out about websites where I can look for information and ideas for my lessons. (...) It was valuable to meet, surely such meetings should be organised more. I found out the answers to some questions that were relevant to me.

An important benefit for the participants is also related to the fact that participation in the "Emergency Methodological Assistance" events has given teachers a sense of belonging to a wider professional community. This is clearly illustrated by several participants' comments.

My benefit today is supportive conversations with colleagues, support and feeling of a safe shoulder.

(...) Although online, a colleague's shoulder is, nevertheless, an important support mechanism.

Considering the fact that the events were attended by participants from different schools, belonging to a wider community of education professionals is promoted in this way.

I appreciated the fact that today I had the opportunity to talk with colleagues from other schools and share experiences, (...) and obtaining the feeling that we are all searching for solutions.

Although such a benefit appears in the answers of only 50 participants, it is important to emphasise that the participants of the event also indicate as a benefit that they have strengthened their belief that the cooperation of teachers is a solution to common challenges. This is especially important in the context of Latvia, where teachers have started the implementation of the improved curriculum in conditions where all teaching aids and methodological materials are not available, thus there is also a greater risk of encountering various types of professional challenges.

I appreciate that by putting our heads together we can achieve much more. Thank you! Cooperation and optimism – my benefits from these events.

In conversations with my colleagues, I found out that [our] problems are similar and together [we] can solve a lot.

The different benefits from participating in these collaborative events can be explained by the fact that the events were devoted to different topics and content issues, and in each of them different formats of teacher collaboration were used. Thus, for example, in one of the events, teachers jointly created thematic plans for the implementation of the curriculum, while in another, they shared their personal examples of good practice in connection with the implementation of the improved curriculum. This means that teachers' answers about the benefits of participating in these activities could depend on what their individual goals of the participation have been and whether they have met their learning needs during the collaboration with other colleagues.

On the other hand, one of the main risks for the professional development of teachers in this format was the learning interdependence of the teachers, because the learning outcomes for individual teachers were directly dependent on the involvement of other participants, their desire to cooperate and share their experiences and materials. There was also a risk that not all the participants have had relevant prior professional experience in the topics discussed during these events, thereby limiting the learning opportunities and potential benefits for other teachers.

Conclusions

The interest of teachers in participating in informal professional development activities online is high, as evidenced by the number of applications received for participation in the "Emergency Methodological Assistance" cooperation events organised by the Friendly Appeal Cesis State Gymnasium. This could be explained by the fact that, in the context of the pandemic caused by COVID-19 and the introduction of the improved curriculum, teachers in Latvia require additional support from other professionals who face similar challenges.

Specific ideas for their work as well as the possibility to share their own professional experiences with colleagues are mentioned as main gains by participants of the "Emergency Methodological Assistance" events. This indicates that this form of learning is a way for education professionals to learn from their own and others' experiences, gain the ideas tested in the practice for improving professional performance, and meet their individual learning needs. Furthermore, the participants emphasise the importance of collaboration with other professionals in solving common problems and thus formation of a sense of community.

The results of this study show that informal professional development, implemented online, can provide an opportunity for education professionals to get to know colleagues from other schools and learn from their experiences. As a result, this format of professional development has the potential to influence not only teacher performance, but also attitudes and beliefs because data of the research shows that one of the benefits for teachers from participating in the "Emergency Methodological Assistance" events have been a sense of belonging to the wider professional community. Among other benefits of participation in the "Emergency Methodological Assistance" events, participants mention a strengthened belief that professional development is necessary, and cooperation is an effective solution towards solving the common challenges that teachers face when performing their daily duties.

REFERENCES

Anderson, T., Dron, J. (2011). Three generations of distance education pedagogy. *The International Review of Research in Open and Distributed Learning*, 12(3), 80–97. https://doi.org/10.19173/irrodl.v12i3.890

Azorín, C. (2020). Beyond COVID-19 supernova. Is another education coming? *Journal of Professional Capital and Community*, 5(3/4), 381–390. https://doi.org/10.1108/JPCC-05-2020-0019

Bonde, M., Makransky, G., Wandall, J. Larsen M., Morsing M., Jarmer H., Sommer M. (2014). Improving biotech education through gamified laboratory simulations. *Nature Biotechnology*, *32*, 694–697. https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt.2955

Cheng, C. K. E. (2017) Managing school-based professional development activities. *International Journal of Educational Management*, 31(4), 445–454. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJEM-02-2016-0042

Dabbagh, N., Kitsantas, A. (2012). Personal Learning Environments, social media, and self-regulated learning: A natural formula for connecting formal and informal learning. *The Internet and higher education*, *15*(1), 3–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.iheduc.2011.06.002

Daniela, L., Visvizi, A. (2021) Introduction: Remote learning as a mode of distance learning. In Daniela, A., Visvizi, A. (Eds.) *Remote Learning in Times of Pandemic: Issues, Implications and Best Practice.* Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781003167594

Darling-Hammond, L., Hyler, M. E. (2020). Preparing educators for the time of COVID... and beyond. *European Journal of Teacher Education*, 43(4), 457–465. https://doi.org/10.108 0/02619768.2020.1816961

Desimone, L. M. (2009) Improving impact studies of teachers' professional development: toward better conceptualizations and measures. *Educational Researcher*, *38*(3), 181–199. https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189X08331140

Dhawan, S. (2020). Online Learning: A Panacea in the Time of COVID-19 Crisis. *Journal of Educational Technology Systems*, 49(1), 5–22. https://doi.org/10.1177/0047239520934018

Digiuseppe, M., Oostveen, R., Childs, E., Blayone, T., Barber, W. (2017). Are you ready? Assessing Digital Competencies for Online Learning via the General Technology Confidence and Use (GTCU) Instrument. Conference: EdMedia: World Conference on Educational Media and Technology At: Washington, D.C.

Hodges, C., Moore, S., Lockee, B., Trust, T., Bond, A. (2020). The Difference Between Emergency Remote Teaching and Online Learning. [Online] https://er.educause.edu/articles/2020/3/the-difference-between-emergency-remote-teaching-and-online-learning [07.01.2023.]

Kurer, T., Gallego, A. (2019). Distributional consequences of technological change: Workerlevel evidence. *Research & Politics*, 6(1). https://doi.org/10.1177/205316801882214

Laganovska, E. (2021). Remote Learning During the COVID-19 Pandemic for Students with Learning Disabilities: Challenges and Opportunities. In Daniela, L. (Ed.), *Human, Technologies and Quality of Education. University of Latvia.* https://doi.org/10.22364/htqe.2021.38

Lohman, C. M. (2006). Factors Influencing Teachers' Engagement in Informal Learning Activities. *Journal of Workplace Learning*, *18*(3), 141–156. https://doi.org/10.1108/13665620610654577

Manuti, A., Pastore, S., Scardigno, A. F., Giancaspro, M. L., and Morciano, D. (2015). Formal and informal learning in the workplace: a research review. *International Journal of Training and Development*, 19(1), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1111/ijtd.12044

Marsick, V. J., Watkins, K. E., Callahan, W. M., Volpe M. (2008). Informal and Incidental Learning in the Workplace. In Smith, M. C., DeFrates-Densch, N. (Eds.) *Handbook of Research on Adult Learning and Development*. Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203887882

Melnic, A. S. & Botez, N. (2014). Formal, Non-Formal and Informal Interdependence in Education. *Economy Transdisciplinary Cognition*, *17*(1), 113–118.

Muñoz-Najar, A., Gilberto, A., Hasan, A., Cobo, C., Azevedo, P. J., Akmal, M. (2021). Remote Learning During COVID-19: Lessons from Today, Principles for Tomorrow. [Online] https://documents1.worldbank.org/curated/en/160271637074230077/pdf [07.01.2023]

Nolen, S. B., Koretsky, M. D. (2018). Affordances of Virtual and Physical Laboratory Projects for Instructional Design: Impacts on Student Engagement. *IEEE Transactions on Education*, 61(3), 226–233. https://doi.org/10.1109/TE.2018.2791445

OECD (2019). *TALIS 2018 Results (Volume I): Teachers and School Leaders as Lifelong Learners*. OECD Publishing. https://dx.doi.org/10.1787/1d0bc92a-en.

OECD (2020). Lessons for Education from COVID-19. A Policy Maker's Handbook for More Resilient Systems. OECD Library. https://doi.org/10.1787/0a530888-en

Reimer, F. M., Schleiche, A. (2020). A framework to guide an education response to the COVID-19 Pandemic of 2020. OECD Library. [Online]. https://doi.org/10.1787/6ae21003-en [06.01.2023.]

Rogoff, B., Callanan, A. M., Gutierrez, D. K., Erickson, F. (2016). The Organization of Informal Learning. *Review of Research in Education*, 40(1), 356–401. https://doi.org/10.3102/0091732X16680994

Schleicher, A. (2020). The Impact of COVID-19 on Education: Insights from Education at a Glance 2020. [Online]. www.oecd.org/education/the-impact-of-covid-19-on-education-insights-education-at-a-glance-2020.pdf [06.01.2023.]

Schreier, M. (2014) Qualitative Content Analysis. In Flick, U. (ed.) *The SAGE Handbook of Qualitative Data Analysis*. SAGE Publications. https://dx.doi.org/10.4135/9781446282243

Tynjälä, P. (2008) Perspectives into learning at the workplace. *Educational Research Review*, 3(2), 131–154. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.edurev.2007.12.001

Viac, C., Fraser, P. (2020). Teachers' well-being: A framework for data collection and analysis. OECD Education Working Papers, No. 213. OECD Library. https://doi.org/10.1787/c36fc9d3-en

Watkins, K. E., Marsick, V. J. (2020). Informal and Incidental Learning in the time of COVID-19. Advances in Developing Human Resources, 23(1), 88–96. https://doi.org/10.1177/1523422320973656

Wolfson, M. A., Tannenbaum, S. I., Mathieu, J. E., Maynard, M. T. (2018). A cross-level investigation of informal field-based learning and performance improvements. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 103(1), 14–36. https://doi.org/10.1037/apl0000267

Yu, H., Liu, P., Huang, X., Cao, Y. (2021). Teacher Online Informal Learning as a Means to Innovative Teaching During Home Quarantine in the COVID-19 Pandemic. *Frontiers in Psychology*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.596582

https://doi.org/10.22364/atee.2022.20

Professional Autonomy as a Cornerstone for Effective Professional and Social Activity

Alise Olesika, Zanda Rubene

University of Latvia, Latvia

ABSTRACT

Current challenges in the labor market associated with rapid globalization, digitalization, and skills gaps, cause features such as a learning community, opportunities for collaboration, student self-efficacy, social skills, coherent intercultural communication, and self-realization to play a significant role in students' professional development. Successful interpersonal and social participation in society as well as skills such as independence, self-confidence, decision-making, openness to change, and responsibility, which are emphasized in the definition of professional autonomy, are also fundamental to their development.

To prepare university students for the labor market, it is necessary to consider the above and develop students' professional autonomy to close the gap between students' theoretical learning and the development of practical professional pursuits. Despite the importance of professional autonomy, its concept in educational sciences is not sufficiently defined and described, as it lacks a theoretical basis. For that reason, this research aims to study the etymology of professional autonomy, and how professional autonomy is measured in higher education by conducting a systematic literature analysis.

The results of this study reveal divergent definitions of professional autonomy, the scope of its concept, and explain the applicability of tools for measuring professional autonomy in higher education. Additionally, it identifies three levels of professional autonomy: general, collegial, and individual.

Keywords: Higher Education, Interpersonal Skills, Professional Autonomy, Social Skills, Systematic Literature Analysis

Introduction

UNESCO's latest education policy document, Reimagining our Futures together A new Social Contract for Education, among the proposals for the renewal of A. OLESIKA, Z. RUBENE. Professional Autonomy as a Cornerstone for Effective Professional and ...

education, mentions the need to expand the professional aspects of learning, seeing it as a common goal, recognizing the work done by teachers and recognizing that they are creators and central figures of knowledge in educational and social transformation. Teamwork and cooperation are the main characteristics of teachers' work. Reflection, inquiry, and the creation of knowledge and new teaching methods must become integral aspects of teaching (UNESCO, 2021). This means that teachers' autonomy and freedom of action must be supported and that educators must actively participate in public discussions and dialogue about the future development of education.

Given current challenges in the labor market associated with rapid globalization, digitalization, and skills gaps, features such as a learning community, opportunities for collaboration, student self-efficacy, social skills, coherent intercultural communication, and self-realization play a significant role in students' professional development. To prepare university students for the labor market, it is necessary to consider the above and develop students' professional autonomy to close the gap between students' theoretical learning and the transfer to professional pursuits (Skills development and employability in Europe, 2016).

In Latvia, professional autonomy is one of the quality monitoring indicators of the quality of higher education, and the implementation and evaluation of professional autonomy as a result of study in the study process is considered a serious and challenging task for further research to ensure the quality of higher education (Rubene et al., 2021).

For that reason, this research aims to study the etymology of the concept of professional autonomy, the typology of professional autonomy, and how professional autonomy is measured in higher education by conducting a systematic literature analysis.

Methodology

A systematic review was conducted in five phases by Xu Xiao and Maria Watson (Xiao, Watson, 2019). The first phase included searching the literature in the University of Latvia database Primo. The keywords were selected by the researchers based on their knowledge of the field and the results of the search conducted. Originally, studies were selected using keywords: professional autonomy, professional autonomy in higher education, and student professional autonomy.

All Searches were restricted to full-text articles that were published between 2017 and 2020 in English and Latvian . The search procedure was conducted using the Primo database with the specified keywords. A total of 25 potential articles were found.

Within the second phase, based on the analysis of abstracts, each article was verified to determine if it should be included for data extraction and analysis.

A. OĻESIKA, Z. RUBENE. Professional Autonomy as a Cornerstone for Effective Professional and ..

The criteria for inclusion and exclusion were established so that the research units met the requirements and articles could be included or excluded from the study (see Table 1).

Table 1. Inclusion and exclusion criteria

Inclusion criteria	Exclusion criteria
Studies in the English and Latvian languages.	Studies in other languages.
Education/higher education field	Other fields
Definitions of measurement of professional autonomy	No definition or measurement provided
Scientific articles, reviews or books, monographs.	Conference review, Conference paper.

After careful review, a total of 5 studies were excluded for different reasons. (For instance, if there was no definition provided, if the full text was not available, or only the abstract was available, and if the articles were in languages other than English). In general, 15 studies from the initial search were included in the next step of the full-text inquiry.

To obtain a complete list of literature, a backward search was conducted to point out the articles' most cited studies or research units using the list of references (Webster, Watson 2002; Xiao, Watson, 2019). This search resulted in the identification of 3 more articles, expanding the search criteria – the year of publication of scientific articles (one article from 1987, a second from 2003 and a third from 2011) and the field of articles (as the origin of the term "professional autonomy" derives from the field of nursing (medicine)).

Results

In the third phase of the study, after screening for inclusion, the full texts of of the studies were derived for quality assessment in order to refine the full-text articles. This was the final step in preparing studies for data extraction and analysis (Xiao, Watson, 2019). The research was conducted on articles publishedbetween 2003 and 2020 (and one article in 1987) from the following countries: Portugal, Finland, India, Netherlands, Japan, Sweden, and Iran, which emerged as a result of the data analysis of 18 research units.

In the fourth phase – data extraction or characterization of the studies was carried out (Xiao, Watson, 2019). From each study, information was extracted and divided into research areas or categories by an inductive method. After careful reading of the literature units, four thematic categories were developed:

A. OLESIKA, Z. RUBENE. Professional Autonomy as a Cornerstone for Effective Professional and ...

Authors
WMA, 2017 Schutzenhofer, 1987 Hara, Asakura, K., Asakura, T., 2020 Delshad, Belkrouz, Masoumeh 2019; Salvatore et al., 2018 Gobbi, Caunonen, 2018; Seetoodegan et al., 2019
Han, 2014; Puaca, 2020 Carvalho, Diogo, 2017 Wagenaar, 2018
Wagenaar, 2018 Schwimmer, Maxwell, 2017
Lundstrom, Holm, 2011 Frostenson, 2015 Evetts, 2003 Svensson, 2008 Wermke, 2013

Table 2. Thematic categories of systematic review

The main features of the thematic inductive analysis were applied to analyze the content of the given articles, dividing them into four categories.

The first category looked at the definition of professional autonomy in the field of medicine, where the concept of "professional autonomy" has been known in theoretical discourse since 1987 when the Madrid Declaration on Professional Autonomy and Self-Regulation of the World Medical Association was signed (WMA, 2017), which states that professional autonomy is a quality that confirms the ability to be independent, self-determined, self-directed in decision-making, flexible, endowed with life force (resilience) when performing one's professional activity.

From analyzing the genesis of the concept, it can be concluded that professional autonomy has been studied in medicine most often, and that medical publications are the first to describe its assessment in the study process (Schutzenhofer, 1987). One of the definitions considers professional autonomy as the freedom of professional participants to determine the nature of professional work in terms of its formal content, quality criteria, formal education, control mechanisms, ethics, etc. (Hara, Asakura, K., Asakura, T., 2020).

Another definition in the medical field emphasizes that professional autonomy, as an integral part of the medical profession, refers to self-control, independence, and the ability to use clinical decision-making and clinical assessment of patient care within the scope of the individual's profession, while also taking into account the relevant work rules and regulations (Hara, Asakura, K., Asakura, T., 2020). Three dimensions of professional autonomy are identified in medical A. OLESIKA, Z. RUBENE. Professional Autonomy as a Cornerstone for Effective Professional and ..

research: clinical or professional freedom of work (includes the doctor's ability to decide about patient care), social and economic independence of work (the doctor determines, for example, the workload, which is largely influenced by institutional arrangements) and influence on organizational decisions (the doctor has the opportunity to affect the functioning of the hospital). The relationship between professional cooperation and professional autonomy is emphasized, in which decision-making and taking responsibility for decisions are essential. The level of skills is highlighted as a determining factor in making these decisions (Delshad, Belkrouz, Masoumeh, 2019; Salvatore et al., 2018).

One of the fields of medicine in which professional autonomy has been studied more and more in recent years is nursing education (Gobbi, Caunonen, 2018; Seetoodegan et al., 2019), where it is called a complex concept and the basis of professionalism, the professional right to act autonomously within the framework of duties and working conditions (Seetoodegan et al., 2019). In addition, professional autonomy includes the right to make independent decisions. Additional indicators of professional autonomy include critical thinking, clinical decision-making, discretion and self-manage, specific personality traits, job satisfaction, and teamwork. The degree of nurses' autonomy is related to their level of knowledge and education, as well as aspects of life experience, confidence, and sociability (Seetoodegan et al., 2019).

In the second category, professional autonomy was also considered in studies related to teacher education, and in this area, the need for interaction and ensuring successful intercultural communication in the classroom is revealed, creating a unique environment supporting self-realization and autonomy in which the teacher assumes the role of coordinator, collaborator, advisor, mediator, inspiring supporter – a role that stimulates the possibilities and creativity of students and helps ensure quality education (Han, 2014; Fallah, Gholami, 2014). Researchers emphasize that developing teachers' professional autonomy requires further education, including learning new skills for implementing innovative and creative methods (Puaca, 2020).

The study of professional autonomy shows that it is a multidimensional concept closely related to institutional autonomy. It determines the right of professionals to act autonomously within the framework of specific duties or work rights, which, of course, does not exclude opportunities for cooperation with colleagues. The main characteristics of professional autonomy are the individual's ability to make independent and responsible decisions, the ability to think critically, freedom of opinion, possession of knowledge, skills, and attitudes, all of which are based on the individual's education and personal characteristics and affect their professionalism. Several studies describe the conditions for promoting students' professional autonomy. It is emphasized that teachers need to be professionally autonomous before they teach it to students. Therefore, it is vital to provide lecturers with opportunities to conduct self-analysis and self-evaluation of their professional activities to reveal their personal and professional potential, develop lecturers' analytical and critical thinking skills, as well as the skills to make choices in the context of uncertainty or incomplete information. It is also necessary for lecturers to stimulate cooperation and collective action both in the educational environment of the university and outside it, as well as to promote their involvement in various innovative practices. It is emphasized that it is necessary to formulate guidelines for developing the professional autonomy of lecturers (Carvalho, Diogo, 2017).

On the other hand, in promoting the development of students' professional autonomy, the learning community, the opportunities for cooperation between teaching staff and students, as well as the promotion of students' self-efficacy, it is possible to close the gap between students' studies and the development of professional activities, which is of great importance. Clearer cooperation between educational institutions and internship centers is needed to help students identify opportunities for professional development. To connect theory and practice, it is necessary to create professional development centers for students, which would help young professionals to reduce possible institutional and bureaucratic obstacles (Carvalho, Diogo, 2017).

University of Groningen professor Robert Wagenaar emphasizes the need to promote civic, social, and cultural participation to prepare students for active social representation and involvement in the labor market. Therefore, it is essential to improve students' social competence by understanding the generally accepted codes of conduct and norms of behavior in different societies and environments, for example, distinguishing between personal and professional spheres at work and civic competence, which is related to the ability to function effectively in public space with others and show solidarity and interest in solving problems, which in turn affects local and broader society (Wagenaar, 2018).

It can be inferred therefore that the promotion of professional autonomy is relevant for both students and teaching staff. However, to promote professional autonomy, it is necessary to improve the social and civic competence of academic communities.

The third category shows the assessment of professional autonomy in the process of studying, where the Comparing Achievements of Learning Outcomes in Higher Education in Europe (hereinafter CALOHEE) framework should be mentioned. This includes areas of civic, social, and cultural involvement with four dimensions:

- 1) society and culture,
- 2) information and communication processes,
- 3) management and decision-making processes,
- 4) ethics, norms, values, and professional standards.
A. OLESIKA, Z. RUBENE. Professional Autonomy as a Cornerstone for Effective Professional and ..

Each domain includes characteristics of knowledge, skills, autonomy, and responsibility. The last part corresponds to the assessment of professional autonomy, as it contains indicators describing professional autonomy. For example, the CALOHEE Reference Framework for Civic, Social and Cultural Engagement (which emphasizes a problem-solving learning approach, practical action, and responsibility for promoting professional development (Wagenaar, 2018).

The CALOHEE framework was developed to conduct assessments, or tests, to assess the quality and relevance of curricula. The comparative evaluations are based on the CALOHEE multidimensional evaluation model, which distinguishes between knowledge (theory and methodology, use of knowledge and skills), preparation for the labor market, civic, social, and cultural involvement, and professional field evaluation system.

The framework offers a new tool for understanding, defining, and visualizing curriculum requirements. They cover the fields of study in construction (engineering), teacher education (social sciences), history (humanities), nursing (health care), and physics (natural sciences). Assessment frameworks show in detail which competencies are formulated as learning outcomes and providing valuable indications about the respective fields of study – not only the content of basic knowledge, including theory and methodology, but also the skills for developing and using this content, as well as the level at which the graduate will be able to function meaningfully in his profession and society as a whole . It differentiates between first and second-cycle degrees (Bachelor's and Master's degrees) in the professional field, showing the links between the levels of learning to be developed. The assessment framework includes tables containing indicators covering the categories 'knowledge', 'skills,' 'autonomy,' and 'responsibility' according to the European Qualifications Framework for Lifelong Learning (Wagenaar, 2018).

CALOHEE's highest level of study is characterized by the "autonomy and responsibility" descriptor, which is based on knowledge and skills acquired and practiced within the process of studying. The description of autonomy and responsibility ('broader competence') can be compared to the 'competency framework' used by employers. Such a system describes which competencies are desirable for an employee in a particular profession and which can be applied in practice.

Regarding the last category – the division of professional autonomy – it is stated in research that it can be divided into at least three categories – General professional autonomy, which refers to the frames of professional work with regard to the organization of the school system, legislation, entry requirements, teacher education, curricula and procedures, where professional autonomy implies organization of teachers' work.

Meanwhile, Collegial professional autonomy in the teaching profession concerns the teachers' collective freedom to influence and decide on practice at the local level (Svensson, 2008; Wermke, 2013). Collegial autonomy may be A. OLESIKA, Z. RUBENE. Professional Autonomy as a Cornerstone for Effective Professional and ..

generated through two different processes. It may be seen as the delegated and preferred principle for organizing work from a managerial perspective, or it may be seen as the collegial outcome of individual autonomy, where the preferences of individual teachers result in collegial action and decisions. Individual autonomy may be understood as the individual's opportunity to influence the contents, frames, and controls of teaching practice (Krejsler, 2005). This includes the choice of teaching materials, methodological decisions on temporal and spatial conditions of work, and the influence of the evaluation systems of professional teaching practice (Frostenson, 2015).

The above-mentioned factors mean that employment can range from research and analytically oriented positions to practical realization; the required skills will change but will be related to general competencies concerning the structure of the professional work (Lundstrom, Holm, 2011). Regarding the level of practice, which includes collegial and individual autonomy, the former reveals issues related to professional knowledge, control, and organization of professional work (Evetts, 2003). On the other hand, individual autonomy shows that the sphere of activity and decision-making related to the professional practice of each individual is essential (Frostenson, 2015).

Finally, when evaluating professional autonomy, it is necessary to take into account the three levels of autonomy mentioned above (general professional autonomy, collegial professional autonomy, and individual professional autonomy), showing that professionalism is influenced by the institution, management, and colleagues, as well as by one's professional practice as was described in the fourth category of the thematic analysis.

Discussion and conclusions

In analyzing the genesis of the concept, it should be concluded that professional autonomy has been studied in medicine most often, and that publications in medicine are the first to describe its assessment within the process of studying.

The study of professional autonomy shows that it is a multidimensional concept closely related to institutional autonomy. It determines the right of professionals to act autonomously within the framework of specific duties or work rights, which, of course, does not exclude opportunities for cooperation with colleagues.

The main characteristics of professional autonomy are the individual's ability to make independent and responsible decisions, the ability to think critically, freedom of opinion, possession of knowledge, skills, and attitudes, which are based on the education and personal characteristics of the individual – all of which affect their professionalism. A. OLESIKA, Z. RUBENE. Professional Autonomy as a Cornerstone for Effective Professional and ...

On the other hand, in promoting the development of students' professional autonomy, aspects such as the learning community, the opportunities for cooperation between teaching staff and students, as well as the promotion of students' self-efficacy, can close the gap between students' theoretical studies and the development of professional activities. To link theory and practice, it is necessary to create professional development centers for students, which would help young professionals to reduce possible institutional and bureaucratic obstacles.

In the assessment of students' professional autonomy, it is possible to provide opportunities for lecturers to conduct self-analysis and self-evaluation of their professional activities by developing guidelines for the development of the professional autonomy of lecturers and students, which means that the civic, social, and cultural aspects of the field must be purposefully integrated into the study programs.

The assessment of professional autonomy should take into account four dimensions:

- 1) society and culture,
- 2) information and communication processes,
- 3) management and decision-making processes,
- professional and research ethics, norms, values, professional standards and its three degrees of professional autonomy: general, collegial and individual.

Study program evaluation tools can be used to assess professional autonomy, with professional autonomy being given the highest rank, as it proves that the student can use the knowledge and competencies acquired at the university in his professional activity. Professional autonomy can be measured using self-assessment questionnaires, in which respondents have the opportunity to assess their professional autonomy characteristics using a Likert scale.

Acknowledgments

This research is supported by the project "Assessment of Competences of Higher Education Students and Dynamics of Their Development in the Study Process" (ESF project 8.3.6.2: "Development and Implementation of the Education Quality Monitoring System," project agreement number 8.3.6.2/17/I/001 (ESS2022/422).

REFERENCES

Carvalho, T., & Diogo, S. (Eds.). (2017). Exploring the relationship between institutional and professional autonomy: A comparative study between Portugal and Finland. *Journal of Higher Education Policy and Management*, 40(1), 18–33. https://doi.org/10.1080/13600 80X.2018.1395916

A. OLESIKA, Z. RUBENE. Professional Autonomy as a Cornerstone for Effective Professional and ...

Delshad, A., Belkrouz, D., & Masoumeh, A. (2019). Nurse–Physician Collaboration and the Professional Autonomy of Intensive Care Units Nurses. *Indian Journal of Critical Care Medicine*, 23(4), 178–181. https://doi.org/10.5005/jp-journals-10071-23149

Evetts, J. (2003). The sociological analysis of professionalism: Occupational change in the modern world. *International Sociology*, 18(2), 395–415.

Frostenson, M. (2015). Three forms of professional autonomy: De-professionalisation of teachers in a new light. *Nordic Journal of Studies in Educational Policy*, 2015(2), 28464. https://doi.org/10.3402/nstep.v1.28464

Gobbi, M., & Caunonen, M. (2018). Guidelines and reference points for the design and delivery of degree programmes in nursing. University of Groningen.

Han, L. (2014). Teachers role in Developing Learner Autonomy: A Literature review. *International Journal of English Language Teaching*, 1(2). https://doi.org/10.5430/ijelt. v1n2p21

Hara, Y., Asakura, K., & Asakura, T. (2020). The impact of changes in professional autonomy and occupational commitment on nurses' intention to leave: A two-wave longitudinal study in Japan. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *7*(17), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17176120

Krejsler, J. (2005). Professions and their identities: How to explore professional development among (semi-)professions. *Scandinavian Journal of Educational Research*, 49(4), 335–357.

Lundstrom, U., & Holm, A.-S. (2011). Market competition in upper secondary education: Perceived effects on teachers' work. *Policy Futures in Education*, *9*(2), 193–205.

Puaca, G. (2020). Academic leadership and governance of professional autonomy in Swedish higher education. *Scandinavian Journal of Educational Research, 2020*, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1080/00313831.2020.1755359

Rubene, Z., Dimdiņš, Ģ., Miltuze, A., Baranova, S., Medne, D., Jansone-Ratinika, N., Āboltiņa, L., Bernande, M., Āboliņa, A., Demitere, M., Lāma, G., Oļesika, A., Sarva, E., Sīlis, M., & Slišāne, A. (2021). Augstākajā izglītībā studējošo kompetenču novērtējums un to attīstības dinamika studiju periodā [Assessment of Student Competences in Higher Education and Their Development Dynamics During the Study Period], Rīga: LU. ISBN 978-9934 9052-0-9.

Salvatore, D., Dino, N., & Fattore, G. (2018). Physicians' professional autonomy and their organizational identification with their hospital. *BMC Health Services Research*, *18*(1), 775. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-018-3582-z

Schutzenhofer, K. K. (1987). The measurement of professional autonomy. *Journal of Professional Nursing*, 3(5), 278–283. https://doi.org/10.1016/S8755-7223(87)80039-X

Schwimmer, M., & Maxwell, B. (2017). Codes of ethics and teachers' professional autonomy. *Ethics and Education*, *12*(2), 141–152. https://doi.org/10.1080/17449642.2017.1287495

Skills Development and Employability in Europe. (2016). Brussels: European Parliament.

Seetoodegan, E., Sakinesh, G., Mahnaz, R., & Hamid, P. (2019). Nurses' lived experiences of professional autonomy in Iran. *International Journal of Nursing Sciences*, 6(3), 315–322. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnss.2019.05.002

Svensson, L. G. (2008). Professions, organisations, collegiality and accountability. In L. G. Svensson & J. Evetts (Eds.), *Sociology of professions: Continental and Anglo-Saxon traditions* (pp. 145–166). Gothenburg: Daidalos.

A. OLESIKA, Z. RUBENE. Professional Autonomy as a Cornerstone for Effective Professional and ...

UNESCO International Commission on the Futures of Education. (2021). *Reimagining our futures together: A new social contract for education*. Book. Year of publication: 2021, Collation: 188 pages. ISBN: 978-92-3-100478-0.

Xiao, Y., & Watson, M. (2019). Guidance on conducting a systematic literature review. *Journal of Planning Education and Research*, *39*(1), 93–112. https://doi.org/10.1177/0739456X17723971

Wagenaar, R. (2018). Tuning-CALOHEE assessment reference frameworks. University of Groningen.

Webster, J., & Watson, R. (2002). Analyzing the past to prepare for the future: Writing a literature review. *MIS Quarterly*, *26*(2), xiii-xiii. http://www.jstor.org/stable/4132319

Wermke, W. (2013). Development and autonomy: Conceptualizing teachers' continuing professional development in different national contexts. Stockholm: Stockholm University, p. 173.

About the authors

Dr. paed. Zanda Rubene is a professor and vice-dean at the University of Latvia, Faculty of Education Psychology and Art.

Alise Olesika is a scientific assistant at the University of Latvia, Faculty of Education, Psychology and Art, and a doctoral student in the joint program "Educational Sciences".

https://doi.org/10.22364/atee.2022.21

Teachers' Emotional Burnout, Psychological Detachment from Work and Self-Reported Health During the COVID-19 Pandemic

Agrita Ronesala, Baiba Martinsone

University of Latvia, Latvia

ABSTRACT

The outbreak of the COVID-19 infection has created unprecedented changes in the education system. The emotional burnout of teachers increased during the pandemic, unfavourably affecting their physical and mental health. In this context, teachers' ability to psychologically detach themselves from work to recharge is of special relevance. Research about the quality of teachers' professional life and emotional burnout during the pandemic is not sufficient. Therefore, the aim of the current research is to investigate the relationship between teachers' emotional burnout, their psychological detachment from work, and self-reported health during the pandemic, involving teachers working both face-to-face and remotely.

The sample consisted of 506 teachers, with the majority aged from 2–64 years, of whom 472 were female and 34 were male. Of these, 269 teachers worked mainly face-to-face, whereas 237 worked in a hybrid form or mainly remotely. Data were collected from October to December 2021 during periods of varying restrictions due to the COVID-19 pandemic. The respondents completed the Teachers' Burnout and Teachers' Self-Perceived Health scale, designed for the Erasmus+ project "Teaching to Be: Supporting Teachers' Professional Growth and Wellbeing in the Field of Social and Emotional Learning", and the Psychological Detachment from Work scale. It was found that higher emotional burnout in teachers is related to a lower ability to detach themselves psychologically from their work. Moreover, teachers who worked face-to-face and those working mixed or remotely, differences were found in their levels of emotional burnout; specifically, teachers who worked face-to-face reported higher burnout. These results have practical implications supporting the necessity to promote teachers' mental health and wellbeing in their workplaces.

Keywords: burnout, COVID-19, pandemic, psychological detachment from work, self-reported health, teachers

Introduction

The outbreak of the coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic in 2019 and its continuation have created unprecedented challenges for the education system and the work of teachers in general. It has been estimated that COVID-19-related difficulties have affected 63 million teachers and 117 million students worldwide (Giannini et al., 2021; UNESCO, 2020), and the pandemic is still continuing. The social distancing practices that were introduced and the closing of schools significantly changed the organization of the learning process and the everyday lives of educational institutions, teaching staff, students, and their parents (Ferri et al., 2020; Herman et al., 2021; Sokal et al., 2021). The latest research highlights the negative aspects of the pandemic crisis, such as fatigue from the protracted situation and the continuation of uncertainty, as there is no point of reference when and whether the situation in the field of education will return to that of the pre-pandemic period. Uncertainty can create and/or maintain additional work stress and adaptation disturbances and increase the burnout risks of those involved in the situation (Chan et al., 2021; Kazlauskas & Quero, 2020; Reynolds et al., 2021).

The teaching profession belongs to those areas of professional activity that are associated with a high risk of emotional burnout (Mahoney et al., 2011; Marcionetti al., 2018), and recent research suggests that teachers' stress and burnout may have increased significantly during the pandemic (Allen et al., 2020; Chan et al., 2021; Reynolds et al., 2021). The pandemic is still continuing, and there is simultaneous uncertainty regarding the future, causing chronic fatigue from crisis management over a long period of time, which does not raise hopes that work tension will decrease soon and that there will be an opportunity to recover from the situation (DiStaso & Shoss, 2020; Kazlauskas & Quero, 2020). Taking this into account, there is a significant need to focus on strengthening teachers' wellbeing and search for protective factors against emotional burnout (Herman et al., 2021). Recent research has targeted teachers' health issues as a consequence of burnout (Collie, 2021; De Clercq et al., 2021), while their ability to distance themselves psychologically from their work, thus balancing the professional and personal aspects of their lives, has been recognized as a protective factor.

Studies have shown that creating psychological distance from work – the ability to rest without performing work-related activities outside working hours and without thinking about work – reduces work stress and burnout and acts as a protective factor against burnout (Fritz et al., 2010). It provides employees with opportunities to reduce the symptoms of work stress and recharge the emotional and physical resources spent during working hours, thus increasing their psycho-emotional wellbeing and work quality indicators in general (Gerber et al., 2020; Ouyang et al., 2019; Sonnentag et al., 2017). Studies using samples

of teachers have found that the experience of psychological distancing significantly reduces the damage caused by emotional burnout (Klusmann et al., 2016; Yang & Hayes, 2020).

Although many studies have been carried out on the emotional burnout of teachers, less research has been done on the relationship of teachers' burnout with variables characteristic of the pandemic conditions (Yagil, 2020). The practical usefulness of research carried out in the context of the pandemic can be attributed both to the assessment of the quality of teachers' working life and to the clarification of protective factors in order to reduce the risk of emotional burnout.

The term "emotional burnout" is described in psychology as a condition in which chronic work stress has reached a level at which an individual experiences emotional exhaustion, depersonalization and a sense that his or her personal abilities have decreased (Aluja et al., 2005; de Beer & Bianchi, 2019; Kim & Burić, 2020; Maslach et al., 1996; Yang & Hayes, 2020). Particular emphasis is placed on emotional, physical and mental exhaustion (Petitta & Jiang, 2020), which is characteristic mainly of those working in the social sphere and occurs in situations of prolonged emotional overload (Maslach et al., 1996; Schonfeld et al., 2019).

Emotional burnout is facilitated by a working environment with a high intensity and a low support system (Ogińska-Bulik & Michalska, 2021). Dimensions of burnout such as depersonalization and diminished personal accomplishment are commonly used in psychological research to determine emotional burnout rates in different samples (Guthier et al., 2020) because they are related to negative effects on an individual's psychological wellbeing and health, work achievements, ability to distance themselves from work, absenteeism, and even their departure from the profession (Burgess et al., 2020). Emotional exhaustion reduces productivity and effectiveness and is associated with interpersonal and family life problems, an inability to detach from work out of hours and insomnia (Cordes, 2021; Estevez Cores et al., 2021; Klusmann et al., 2016; Warren et al., 2013).

Depersonalization is characterized by cynicism and a tendency to treat others negatively, intolerantly and formally to protect one's own internal resources from the consequences of emotional exhaustion by being less involved in work (de Beer & Bianchi, 2019; Schonfeld et al., 2019). The underestimation of personal achievements is related to a sense of incompetence, a sense of guilt for feeling negative at work and dissatisfaction with belonging to one's profession (Aluja et al., 2005; de Beer et al., 2019; Schonfeld et al., 2019; Taris et al., 2001). Both of these aspects can significantly hinder the quality of work of a teacher as well as negatively affect the health of an individual (Almen et al., 2020). If stressful situations at work are frequent and long-lasting, they contribute to the development of chronic conditions such as anxiety and depression that lower one's quality of life (Collie, 2021; Schonfeld et al., 2017).

The research shows high rates of emotional exhaustion and depersonalization in samples of teachers because their work includes specific tasks – responsibility for the educational process of students and its management – in addition to maintaining intensive interactions with different groups, including colleagues, the school administration, and students and their parents (Kim & Buric, 2020; Mahoney et al., 2011; Marcionetti et al., 2018). Students benefit from their teachers' ability to raise their interest and provide support in the learning process, parents would like to get an individual approach for their child, while the school administration requires high levels of achievement and successful classroom management (Kim & Buric, 2020; Pas et al., 2010; Philipp & Schüpbach, 2010).

In the context of distance learning during the COVID-19 pandemic, such work-related resources as a predictable working environment, close cooperation with colleagues, and positive feedback in the workplace are limited (Collie, 2021). There are also technological, pedagogical and social challenges to distance learning, such as the availability of technological devices and the internet and the necessity of parental involvement in their children's learning (Martinsone & Stokenberga, 2021). Pedagogical challenges may be related to the digital competence of teachers, the need to adapt teaching materials to remote learning, and providing positive feedback to ensure that students have learnt the subject's content and stayed motivated (Chan et al., 2021; Ferri et al., 2020). This also entails the time needed to prepare for the online learning process, which creates a risk of additional workload and emotional burnout (Kersten et al., 2021).

Recent studies confirm that the pandemic has had negative consequences on the wellbeing of teachers and pupils and on the quality of learning indicators in general (Chan et al., 2021; Ferri et al., 2020; Herman et al., 2021; Hilger et al., 2021). An additional stressor was related to teachers' concerns about their health and fear of becoming infected with the virus (Pressley et al., 2021). Finally, teachers' workload increased due to the need to replace colleagues who were ill or left their jobs during the pandemic. Taking the experience of the difficulties with the distance learning process during the initial period of the pandemic into account, maximum efforts are currently being made to ensure the learning process remains face-to-face. During the pandemic, three forms of organization of the learning process could be conditionally distinguished: on-site learning/faceto-face, where groups of classes were physically and socially distanced; remote/ online learning; and the so-called hybrid form of learning, where the process took place both face-to-face and remotely (Pressley et al., 2021). These forms of educational organization altered in a natural and sudden manner in response to the dynamics of COVID-19 infections spreading in the country or within the framework of the illness and quarantine status of a particular class, teacher or pupil being determined. Nevertheless, little research has been done on teachers' wellbeing in the context of hybrid learning, which will be addressed in this study.

At the same time, scientific studies have concluded that remote work has reduced the preservation of a healthy relationship between working and non-working life boundaries, reducing the chances of restoring resources after work (Kossek et al., 2021). Studies have shown that the greater the stress of work has been on a working day, the more time is needed for rest, so the balance of work life and out-of-work life is vital to restore the energy lost during a working day (Karabinski et al., 2021; Schulz et al., 2021). Psychologically distancing oneself from work - the ability to rest from work without performing work-related activities outside working hours and without thinking about work - is a recovery strategy (Fritz et al., 2010; Sonnentag & Fritz, 2007). The concept includes not only a physical absence from work and not performing work-related activities during out-of-work hours but also the ability to disconnect mentally from work and stop thinking about work-related problems (Schulz et al., 2021), thus restoring resources (Hobfoll et al., 2018). Psychologically distancing oneself from work has also been shown to increase an employee's wellbeing and reduce the risk of emotional burnout (Bennett et al., 2016; Ouyang et al., 2019; Sonnentag & Fritz, 2007; Sonnentag et al., 2017). It has been found that the experience of psychological distancing significantly reduces exhaustion and emotional emptiness, and therefore teachers who use individual strategies and distance themselves from work are better able to reduce the risk of burnout and health problems (Ebert et al., 2015; Fritz et al., 2010).

Based on this brief review of the literature and taking into account the aim of the study to find out the relationship between the indicators of emotional burnout of teachers, their psychological detachment from work, and their self-reported state of health in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic, the following research questions were posed:

- 1. What is the relationship between the indicators of teachers' emotional burnout, their psychological detachment from work, and their self-reported state of health?
- 2. Are there differences in levels of emotional burnout, psychological detachment from work and self-reported health between teachers who work faceto-face and teachers working remotely or in a hybrid form of learning?
- 3. How do teachers' psychological detachment from work and self-reported health explain the variation in teachers' emotional burnout, controlling for their demographic indicators and the form of learning employed during the COVID-19 pandemic?

Methodology

Study participants

Five hundred and six teachers teaching at the elementary, primary and secondary school stages of general and vocational education institutions in Latvia participated voluntarily in this study, with the majority being between the ages of 21 and 64 (11% were aged 21–29; 34% were 30–44; 33% were 45–54; 19% were 55–64; and 3% were 65 and over). Women made up 93% of the sample (n = 472), and men made up the remaining 7% (n = 34). In terms of location, 269 teachers worked mainly face-to-face where measures were put in place to limit COVID-19 infection, and 237 worked remotely or in a hybrid form. Analyzing the indicators of teachers' total work experience, it can be seen that 30% of respondents' work experience is 26 years or more, 17% had worked as a teacher for 21–25 years, while 18% had working experience of just 1–5 years. According to the information provided by the respondents about their workload, 455 teachers (90%) were employed full-time, while 51 (10%) worked part-time.

Instrumentation

To indicate the rates of teachers' emotional burnout and self-reported health, the Erasmus + project's "Teaching to Be: Supporting Teachers' Professional Growth and Wellbeing in the Field of Social and Emotional Learning" developed questionnaire was used.

The nine claims of the Teachers' Burnout Scale measure teachers' emotional burnout. Each statement is evaluated on a Likert scale from 1 to 6, where 1 is "Completely agree" and 6 is "Completely disagree". The scale includes three subscales of emotional burnout assessment: emotional exhaustion, depersonalization and diminished personal accomplishment. The sum of all subscales indicates the level of burnout of the respondent, but the sum of each subscale indicates the specific burnout dimension, and the higher the sum of the scale and subscales, the more pronounced the respondent's burnout rates.

On a scale to self-report their health, teachers performed a subjective assessment of their health in response to individual statements on a Likert scale from 1 to 5, which was rated as follows: 1 - bad, 2 - medium, 3 - good, 4 - very good, and 5 - excellent. The sum obtained on the scale indicates the level of self-reported health of the respondent, and the higher the sum, the more positive the self-assessment of the respondent's health.

The Psychological Detachment from Work scale was used to determine the teachers' psychological detachment from work (Sonnentag & Fritz, 2007; in 2016, Berga adapted the survey for use in Latvia). The scale measures the level of psychological distancing with four statements on a Likert scale from 1 to

5, where 1 is "Completely disagree" and 5 is "Completely agree". The level of psychological distancing is obtained by summing up the self-assessment scores and dividing it by the number of statements (arithmetic mean), and the higher the sum, the more pronounced and positive the psychological distancing of the respondent from work is.

The survey of teachers' demographic data included questions about their gender, age, experience of pedagogical work, workload, and the way in which the teaching/learning process took place in the last month (face-to-face, mainly remotely, remotely, and face-to-face).

Procedure

The research data were collected from October to December 2021 when, due to the measures intended to contain the spread of COVID-19 infections in Latvia, both the learning process and the work of teachers were undertaken in all three formats: face-to-face, remotely, or in a hybrid form. When respondents were asked to participate in the survey, they confirmed their informed consent to participate voluntarily in the study. The survey was carried out using Google Forms. A link to the questionnaire was sent to various e-mail addresses of Latvian educational institutions or to the directors of educational institutions, who then forwarded the information to teachers and invited them to participate in the study anonymously and voluntarily. An additional link to the survey was posted in several teachers' discussion groups on social networks. The participants were informed that the study would be kept confidential and that the data obtained would only be used in the aggregate. The data collection was carried out individually and without a time limit.

The design of the study is a correlated cross-cut study. The obtained data were collected in Excel and then exported to and processed in SPSS v.26.0.

Results

The data on the reliability indicators of the surveys used in the study and the empirical distribution of the data obtained are summarized in Table 1 and show that the overall internal coherence indicators of the scales are very good or excellent. Since the indicators of scales and subscales do not correspond to a normal distribution, non-parametric statistical methods were used for further calculations.

After evaluating the averages of the study variable values, it can be concluded that the overall burnout rate of the teacher sample (M = 3.98) is above average and indicates a trend of emotional burnout. Overall, the average rate of psychological detachment from work (M = 2.62) shows a positive trend, which indicates an above-average psychological distancing of teachers from their work.

Variable	М	Min.	Мах	SD	а	K-S
Burnout (total)	3.98	1	6	1.17	0.95	0.07*
Emotional exhaustion	4.43	1	6	1.22	0.87	0.12*
Depersonalization	3.85	1	6	1.36	0.91	0.12*
Diminished personal accomplishment	3.66	1	6	1.32	0.86	0.09*
Self-reported health	2.38	1	5	0.73	_	0.29*
Psychological detachment from work	2.62	1	5	1.08	0.94	0.11*
*p<.05						

Table 1. Reliability indicators for the burnout scale and its subscales, self-reported health scale, and psychological detachment from work scale (n = 506)

Teachers' self-reported state of health (M = 2.38) is slightly below average, as evidenced by the most frequent answers provided by teachers, 51% of whom described their health condition as average and 36% as good.

A correlation analysis was carried out to determine the relationship between the indicators of the emotional burnout of teachers, their psychological detachment from work, and their self-reported state of health (see Table 2).

Variable Psychological Self-reported health detachment from work Burnout (total) -0.46** -0.36** Emotional exhaustion -0.41** -0.43** Depersonalization -0.42** -0.32** -0.25** Diminished personal accomplishment -0.38** Self-reported health 0.36** _ Psychological detachment from work 0.36**

Table 2. Spearman correlation coefficients between the burnout scale and its subscales, self-reported health scale, and psychological detachment from work scale

N = 605; ** *p* < .01

Looking at the relationship between teachers' burnout and self-reported health, it was concluded that self-reported health indicators presented significantly negative results that correlated with the burnout scale and its subscale indicators. This demonstrates that the increase in burnout rates leads to a reduction in teachers' self-reported health as a positive construct.

In terms of the relationship between teachers' burnout and psychological detachment from work, it can be concluded that psychological detachment correlates negatively and significantly with burnout; in other words, the lower the

assessment of psychological detachment, the higher the burnout rates. The correlation between the subscale of emotional exhaustion and psychological detachment is also statistically significant, which indicates the difficulty for teachers to psychologically distance themselves from work, causing them to suffer from emotional exhaustion. The correlation between diminished personal accomplishment and psychological detachment is statistically negative. Teachers' psychological detachment and self-reported health are positively and significantly correlated, which indicates that their ability to distance themselves psychologically from work is positively related to self-assessed health. These conclusions have also been reached in other scientific studies (Ebert et al., 2015; Fritz et al., 2010; Schulz et al., 2021; Sonnentag et al., 2017).

In order to address the differentiation in levels of emotional burnout, psychological detachment from work and self-reported health indicators for teachers working face-to-face and those working both remotely and face-to-face, Mann-Whitney tests were conducted for a comparison of independent samples (see Table 3).

The results indicate that teachers who basically work face-to-face report higher overall rates of emotional burnout, depersonalization and diminished personal accomplishment than teachers working remotely or in a hybrid form. However, there are no significant differences in the two groups' levels of self-reported health and psychological detachment from work.

A stepwise regression analysis was used to assess how teachers' psychological detachment from work and self-reported state of health predict their emotional burnout by controlling for demographic variables and form of teaching organization (see Table 4).

	Form of teaching				
	Face-to-face (<i>n</i> = 269)		Hybrid and (n =	d remotely 237)	Mann-Whitney output
Variable	М	SD	М	SD	U
Burnout (total)	4,11	1,13	3.84	1,20	27841,00*
Emotional exhaustion	4,54	1,13	4,32	1,30	29210,00
Depersonalization	3,96	1,34	3,71	1,37	28547,00*
Diminished personal accomplishment	3,82	1,29	3,48	1,34	27450,00**
Self-reported health	2,36	0,73	2,39	0,73	31315,50
Psychological detachment from work	2,62	1,11	2,63	1,07	31486,50

Table 3. Differences in levels of teachers' emotional burnout, self-reported health and psychological detachment from work by form of teaching

*p<.05; **p<.01

Predictor	В	B SE	β	t
Step 1				
Self-reported health	-0.62	0.07	-0.40	-9.49**
Psychological detachment from work	-0.24	0.04	-0.23	-5.38**
Form of teaching organization	-0.22	0.09	-0.09	-2.43*
Gender	-0.10	0.18	-0.22	-0.56
Age	-0.01	0.07	-0.01	-0.17
Work experience	-0.02	0.04	-0.04	-0.58
Marital status	-0.03	0.03	-0.04	-1.01
Workload	-0.39	0.15	-0.10	-2.55*
Step 6				
Self-reported health	-0.61	0.64	-0.39	-9.57**
Psychological detachment from work	-0.24	0.04	-0.23	-5.66**
Form of teaching organization	-0.23	0.09	-0.10	-2.60**
Workload	-0.38	0.15	-0.10	-2.60**

Table 4. Regression analysis for the dependent variable 'emotional burnout of teachers' (n = 506)

Note. For reasons of space, only the first and last steps of the analysis are included. In step 1, $R^2 = .30$, p < .01. In step 6, $R^2 = .29$, p < .01.

*p < .05; **p < .01

The results of the regression analysis show that the emotional burnout of teachers is statistically significantly predicted by lower self-reported health, less psychological detachment from work, the face-to-face form of teaching, and a full workload. These variables in the study sample explain 29% of the variation in teachers' emotional burnout ($R^2 = .29$).

Discussion

The results of this study mostly coincide with those of other studies. Teachers who indicate higher rates of emotional burnout assess their state of health more negatively. This is in line with the conclusions of other researchers on the relationship between emotional burnout and deteriorating health (Collie, 2021; Estevez Cores et al., 2021; Kazauskas & Quero, 2020).

The relationship between emotional burnout and psychological detachment from work coincides with the guidelines of the conservation of resources theory (Hobfoll et al., 2018), which indicates the potential for recovery from psychological detachment from work and provides opportunities to reduce symptoms related to work stress and replenish the resources spent during work. It has previously been confirmed that experience of psychological detachment from work significantly reduces the damage caused by emotional exhaustion, which, in the case of the emotional burnout of teachers, can be especially high and associated

with negative health consequences (Ebert et al., 2015; Fritz et al., 2010; Klusmann et al., 2016). This also explains the significant correlation between psychological detachment from work and self-reported health, which shows that the ability of teachers to distance themselves psychologically from work interacts positively with their self-assessments of their health.

With regard to differences between indicators of emotional burnout, psychological detachment from work and self-reported health, the results are different from those of other scientific studies. Teachers who worked mostly face-to-face rather than in a hybrid form or remotely reported significantly higher rates of emotional burnout, particularly in the dimensions of depersonalization and diminished personal accomplishment. This result may be explained by the situation relating to the pandemic in Latvia during the collection of research data, which was characterized by high rates of infection, serious restrictions in social distancing, increasing workload due to the necessity to replace colleagues who were ill or quarantined, and additional job responsibilities that were not related to teachers' direct duties (e.g., COVID testing and monitoring the use of personal protective equipment). Finally, in parallel with working with students face-toface, teachers needed to organize the online learning process for those students who were ill or quarantined. Some other scientific studies reached similar conclusions related to issues of uncertainty and unpredictability in the working environment, including worries about personal health and fear of contracting COVID-19, excessive workload and poorer results (Chan et al., 2021; Pressley et al., 2021; Venkatesh et al., 2021).

The comparatively higher rates of the depersonalization subscale among teachers who worked mostly face-to-face can be explained by taking into account that the depersonalization of the individual acts as a defence mechanism to protect oneself from the exhaustion of internal and external resources at work (de Beer et al., 2019; Schonfeld et al., 2019).

The significant differences between teacher groups in the diminished personal accomplishment subscale can be explained in light of the findings of other studies on the academic achievements of pupils who have declined during the pandemic, which could lead teachers to a reduced and negative self-assessment of their professional abilities (Chan et al., 2021; Ferri et al., 2020; Herman et al., 2021; Hilger et al., 2021). It should also be mentioned that teachers who carried out activities during the study period in addition to their direct duties and activities not related to their pedagogical work, such as testing students, could have experienced additional workload.

In the present sample of teachers, it was found that their emotional burnout rate was predicted by self-assessments of health and psychological distancing from work, as well as the form of organization of teaching and workload, which explained 29% of the variation in teachers' emotional burnout. These results

are consistent with those of other studies. With regard to the job demands-resources model, especially in the context of the specifics of teachers' work and pandemic conditions, it can be concluded that teachers' lower self-assessed health is related to higher indicators of emotional burnout (Bakker & Demerouti, 2017). Previous studies indicate that emotional burnout rates can be attributed to various aspects of mental and physical health that significantly lower the quality of life and wellbeing of employees (Collie, 2021; Schonfeld et al., 2017). In addition, employees who do not take sufficient care of themselves and are unable to maintain a healthy balance between working life and out-of-work life have a lower ability to psychologically distance themselves from work, which could cause higher emotional burnout (Almén et al., 2020; Hetland et al., 2021).

Previous research findings show similarities with the results of this study insofar as they predict the emotional burnout of teachers, taking into account the form of organization of their work (Chan et al., 2021; Kossek et al., 2021). This study shows that emotional burnout is significantly predicted by teachers' work-load indicators; specifically, those teachers working face-to-face reported higher rates of burnout than those working remotely or in a hybrid form. The scientific literature extensively examines the impact of workload on burnout, revealing that a higher workload explains higher rates of emotional burnout (Marcionetti et al., 2018; Venkatesh et al., 2021; Warren et al., 2013).

It should be taken into account that the data for this study were obtained using self-assessment questionnaires. This creates a risk that the obtained data depend on the participants' subjective understanding of the questions, and the provision of socially desirable answers is also possible. The survey was conducted electronically, and therefore it can be assumed that the study's participants could comprise the most motivated respondents. The cross-sectional design of the study, which does not allow a conclusion of how the variables measured may change over time, could also be considered a limitation.

Overall, the findings of this study are mostly in line with the conclusions of previous studies, confirming that lower psychological distancing from work and self-assessed health are related to higher rates of emotional burnout among teachers. The comparison of teacher groups in this study provided new evidence on the possible interaction of face-to-face teaching with higher rates of emotional burnout. The study also addressed teachers' wellbeing in the hybrid teaching model, which has previously received insufficient research.

With regard to the implications of the findings, it is important to pay attention to the mental health of teachers in their professional life, firstly, by creating working conditions at a school as an institution in which psychological distancing from work is possible and supported. Secondly, one of the essential criteria for the quality of teachers' work to be considered is their ability to maintain a balance between their professional and personal lives, as well as their

individual responsibility to consciously invest in their recovery. It is important to continue research on promoting teachers' mental health and finding a healthy balance between their at-work and out-of-work activities in future studies.

Conclusions

This study addressed the relationship between teachers' emotional burnout, psychological detachment from work and self-reported health in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic. It was found that higher self-reported rates regarding the ability to distance oneself from work were associated with lower rates of emotional burnout among teachers. The relationship between psychological distancing from work and self-assessed health indicated that teachers' ability to psychologically distance themselves from work interacts positively with their self-assessed health. Their emotional burnout is statistically significantly predicted by their self-reported health, psychological detachment from work, the form of organization of teaching, and their workload. These factors explain 29% of the variations in the emotional burnout of teachers.

It was also found that teachers who mainly worked face-to-face indicated higher rates of emotional burnout both in general and in separate dimensions compared to those who worked remotely or in a hybrid form. This may be explained by the necessity to integrate additional activities into their everyday work, such as supporting those students who were in quarantine, replacing infected colleagues or organizing the testing of students. No differences in teachers' self-reported health and ability to psychologically detach themselves from work were found when comparing groups of teachers based on their teaching form.

This study illuminates the role of psychological detachment from work as a protective factor against emotional burnout. It also raises awareness of promoting teachers' physical and mental health, facilitating their psychological distancing from work and thus keeping a balance between teachers' professional work and their personal life. This should be considered as both an institutional obligation when organizing work and also a teacher's individual responsibility.

Aknowledgment

This research was a part of the piloting of the research instruments within the Erasmus + project "Teaching to Be: Supporting Teachers' Professional Growth and Wellbeing in the Field of Social and Emotional Learning" (626155-EPP-1-2022-2-LT-EPPKA3-PI-POLICY).

REFERENCES

Allen, R., Jerrim, J., & Simms, S. (2020). *How did the early stages of the COVID-19 pandemic affect teacher well-being?* Working Paper No. 20–15. Centre for Education Policy and Equalizing Opportunities (CEPEO).

Almén, N., Lisspers, J., Öst, L.-G., & Sundin, Ö. (2020). Behavioral stress recovery management intervention for people with high levels of perceived stress: A randomized controlled trial. *International Journal of Stress Management*, 27(2), 183–194. https://doi.org/10.1037/str0000140

Aluja, A., Blanch, A., & García, L. F. (2005). Dimensionality of the Maslach Burnout Inventory in school teachers: A study of several proposals. *European Journal of Psychological Assessment, 21*(1), 67–76. https://doi.org/10.1027/1015-5759.21.1.67

Bakker, A. B., & Demerouti, E. (2017). Job demands–resources theory: Taking stock and looking forward. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, 22(3), 273–285. https://doi.org/10.1037/ocp0000056

Bennett, A. A., Gabriel, A. S., Calderwood, C., Dahling, J. J., & Trougakos, J. P. (2016). Better together? Examining profiles of employee recovery experiences. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *101*(12), 1635–1654. https://doi.org/10.1037/apl0000157

Burgess, M. G., Brough, P., Biggs, A., & Hawkes, A. J. (2020). Why interventions fail: A systematic review of occupational health psychology interventions. *International Journal of Stress Management*, *27*(2), 195–207. https://doi.org/10.1037/str0000144

Chan, M.-K., Sharkey, J. D., Lawrie, S. I., Arch, D. A. N., & Nylund-Gibson, K. (2021). Elementary school teacher well-being and supportive measures amid COVID-19: An exploratory study. *School Psychology*, *36*(6), 533–545. https://doi.org/10.1037/spq0000441

Collie, R. J. (2021). COVID-19 and teachers' somatic burden, stress, and emotional exhaustion: examining the role of principal leadership and workplace buoyancy. *AERA Open*, 7(1), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1177/2332858420986187

Cordes, C. C. (2021). Burnout ... trauma ... both? Identifying and addressing needs during COVID-19 through informatics. *Families, Systems, & Health, 39*(1), 169–171. https://doi.org/10.1037/fsh0000598

De Beer, L. T., & Bianchi, R. (2019). Confirmatory factor analysis of the Maslach Burnout Inventory: A Bayesian structural equation modeling approach. *European Journal of Psychological Assessment, 35*(2), 217–224. https://doi.org/10.1027/1015-5759/a000392

De Clercq, M., Watt, H. M. G., & Richardson, P. W. (2021). Profiles of teachers' striving and wellbeing: Evolution and relations with context factors, retention, and professional engagement. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *114*(3), 637–655. https://doi.org/10.1037/edu0000702

DiStaso, M. J., & Shoss, M. K. (2020). Looking forward: How anticipated workload change influences the present workload–emotional strain relationship. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, *25*(6), 401–409. https://doi.org/10.1037/ocp0000261

Ebert, D. D., Berking, M., Thiart, H., Riper, H., Laferton, J. A. C., Cuijpers, P., Sieland, B., & Lehr, D. (2015). Restoring depleted resources: Efficacy and mechanisms of change of an internet-based unguided recovery training for better sleep and psychological detachment from work. *Health Psychology*, *34*, S1240–S1251. https://doi.org/10.1037/hea0000277

Estevez Cores, S., Sayed, A. A., Tracy, D. K., & Kempton, M. J. (2021). Individual-focused occupational health interventions: A meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, *26*(3), 189–203. https://doi.org/10.1037/ocp0000249

Ferri, F., Grifoni, P. & Guzzo, T. (2020). Online learning and emergency remote teaching: Opportunities and challenges in emergency situations. *Societies*, *10*(4), 86. https://doi.org/10.3390/soc10040086

Fritz, C., Yankelevich, M., Zarubin, A., & Barger, P. (2010). Happy, healthy, and productive: The role of detachment from work during nonwork time. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 95(5), 977–983. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0019462

Gerber, M., Schilling, R., Colledge, F., Ludyga, S., Pühse, U., & Brand, S. (2020). More than a simple pastime? The potential of physical activity to moderate the relationship between occupational stress and burnout symptoms. *International Journal of Stress Management*, 27(1), 53–64. https://doi.org/10.1037/str0000129

Giannini, S., Jenkins, R., & Saavedra, J. (2021, October 5). *There will be no recovery without empowered, motivated and effective teachers*. World Bank. https://blogs.worldbank.org/education/there-will-be-no-recovery-without-empowered-motivated-and-effective-teachers

Guthier, C., Dormann, C., & Voelkle, M. C. (2020). Reciprocal effects between job stressors and burnout: A continuous time meta-analysis of longitudinal studies. *Psychological Bulletin*, *146*(12), 1146–1173. https://doi.org/10.1037/bul0000304

Herman, K. C., Sebastian, J., Reinke, W. M., & Huang, F. L. (2021). Individual and school predictors of teacher stress, coping, and wellness during the COVID-19 pandemic. *School Psychology*, *36*(6), 483–493. https://doi.org/10.1037/spq0000456

Hetland, J., Bakker, A. B., Demerouti, E., Espevik, R., & Olsen, O. K. (2021). Work pressure and recovery during a cross-atlantic voyage: A test of the stressor-detachment model. *International Journal of Stress Management*, 28(4), 245–255. https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/str0000170

Hilger, K. J. E., Scheibe, S., Frenzel, A. C., & Keller, M. M. (2021). Exceptional circumstances: Changes in teachers' work characteristics and well-being during COVID-19 lockdown. *School Psychology*, *36*(6), 516–532. https://doi.org/10.1037/spq0000457

Hobfoll, S. E., Halbesleben, J., Neveu, J.-P., & Westman, M. (2018). Conservation of resources in the organizational context: The reality of resources and their consequences. *Annual Review of Organizational Psychology and Organizational Behavior*, 5(1), 103–128. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-orgpsych-032117-104640

Karabinski, T., Haun, V. C., Nübold, A., Wendsche, J., & Wegge, J. (2021). Interventions for improving psychological detachment from work: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, *26*(3), 224–242. https://doi.org/10.1037/ocp0000280

Kazlauskas, E., & Quero, S. (2020). Adjustment and coronavirus: How to prepare for COVID-19 pandemic-related adjustment disorder worldwide? *Psychological Trauma: Theory, Research, Practice, and Policy, 12*(S1), S22–S24. https://doi.org/10.1037/tra0000706

Kersten, A., van Woerkom, M., Kooij, D. T. A. M., & Bauwens, R. (2021). Paying gratitude forward at work: How work-specific gratitude can affect burnout through interpersonal helping behavior. *Journal of Personnel Psychology*. https://doi.org/10.1027/1866-5888/a000296

Kim, L. E., & Burić, I. (2020). Teacher self-efficacy and burnout: Determining the directions of prediction through an autoregressive cross-lagged panel model. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *112*(8), 1661–1676. https://doi.org/10.1037/edu0000424

Klusmann, U., Richter, D., & Ludtke, O. (2016). Teachers' emotional exhaustion is negatively related to students' achievement: Evidence from a large-scale assessment study. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *108*(8), 1193–1203. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/edu0000125

Mahoney, K. T., Buboltz, W. C., Buckner, J. E., & Doverspike, D. (2011). Emotional labor in American professors. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, *16*(4), 406–423. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0025099

Marcionetti, J., Castelli, L., Crescentini, A., Avanzi, L., Fraccaroli, F., & Balducci, C. (2018). Validation of a short scale in Italian to measure teacher burnout. *Swiss Journal of Psychology*, 77(2), 49–58. https://doi.org/10.1024/1421-0185/a000208

Martinsone, B., & Stokenberga, I. (2021). Parents' perspectives on distance learning during the COVID-19 pandemic in Latvia. In L. Daniela & A. Visvizi (Eds.), *Remote learning in times of pandemic: Issues, implications and best practice* (pp. 226–239). Routledge.

Maslach, C., Jackson, S. E., & Leiter, P. M. (1996). Maslach Burnout Inventory Manual (3rd. ed.). Consulting Psychologists Pres.

Ogińska-Bulik, N., & Michalska, P. (2021). Psychological resilience and secondary traumatic stress in nurses working with terminally ill patients – The mediating role of job burnout. *Psychological Services*, *18*(3), 398–405. https://doi.org/10.1037/ser0000421

Ouyang, K., Cheng, B. H., Lam, W., & Parker, S. K. (2019). Enjoy your evening, be proactive tomorrow: How off-job experiences shape daily proactivity. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *104*(8), 207–221. https://doi.org/10.1037/apl0000391

Pas, E. T., Bradshaw, C. P., Hershfeldt, P. A., & Leaf, P. J. (2010). A multilevel exploration of the influence of teacher efficacy and burnout on response to student problem behavior and school-based service use. *School Psychology*, *25*(1), 13–27. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0018576

Petitta, L., & Jiang, L. (2020). How emotional contagion relates to burnout: A moderated mediation model of job insecurity and group member prototypicality. *International Journal of Stress Management*, 27(1), 12–22. https://doi.org/10.1037/str0000134

Philipp, A., & Schüpbach, H. (2010). Longitudinal effects of emotional labour on emotional exhaustion and dedication of teachers. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, *15*(4), 494–504. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0021046

Pressley, T., Ha, C., & Learn, E. (2021). Teacher stress and anxiety during COVID-19: An empirical study. *School Psychology*, *36*(5), 367–376. https://doi.org/10.1037/spq0000468

Reynolds, K. A., Perera, E., Pierce, S., El-Gabalawy, R., Mota, N., & Roos, L. E. (2021). "And then came COVID-19": Manitoban reflections on the emergence of the pandemic. *Canadian Psychology/Psychologie canadienne*, 62(1), 127–135. https://doi.org/10.1037/cap0000265

Schonfeld, I. S., Bianchi, R., & Luehring-Jones, P. (2017). Consequences of job stress for the mental health of teachers. In T. Mendonça McIntyre, S. E. McIntyre, & D. J. Francis (Eds.), *Educator stress: An occupational health perspective* (pp. 55–76). Springer.

Schonfeld, I. S., Verkuilen, J., & Bianchi, R. (2019). An exploratory structural equation modeling bi-factor analytic approach to uncovering what burnout, depression, and anxiety scales measure. *Psychological Assessment*, *31*(8), 1073–1079. https://doi.org/10.1037/pas0000721

Schulz, A. D., Schöllgen, I., Wendsche, J., Fay, D., & Wegge, J. (2021). The dynamics of social stressors and detachment: Long-term mechanisms impacting well-being. *International Journal of Stress Management*, 28(3), 207–219. https://doi.org/10.1037/str0000216

Sokal, L., Trudel, L. E., & Babb, J. (2021). I've had it! Factors associated with burnout and low organizational commitment in Canadian teachers during the second wave of the COVID-19 pandemic. *International Journal of Educational Research Open*, *2*, 100023. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijedro.2020.100023

Sonnentag, S., & Fritz, C. (2007). The Recovery Experience Questionnaire: Development and validation of a measure for assessing recuperation and unwinding from work. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, *12*(3), 204–221. https://doi.org/10.1037/1076-8998.12.3.204

Sonnentag, S., Venz, L., & Casper, A. (2017). Advances in recovery research: What have we learned? What should be done next? *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, *22*(3), 365–380. https://doi.org/10.1037/ocp0000079

Taris, T. W., Peeters, M. C., Le Blanc, P. M., Schreurs, P. J., & Schaufeli, W. B. (2001). From inequity to burnout: The role of job stress. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, 6(4), 303–323. https://doi.org/10.1037/1076-8998.6.4.303

UNESCO. (2020, March 27). Teacher Task Force calls to support 63 million teachers touched by the COVID-19 crisis. https://en.unesco.org/news/teacher-task-force-calls-support-63-million-teachers-touched-covid-19-crisis

Venkatesh, V., Ganster, D. C., Schuetz, S. W., & Sykes, T. A. (2021). Risks and rewards of conscientiousness during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *106*(5), 643–656. https://doi.org/10.1037/apl0000919

Warren, C., Schafer, K., Crowley, M. E., & Olivardia, R. (2013). Demographic and workrelated correlates of job burnout in professional eating disorder treatment providers. *Psychotherapy*, *50*(4), 553–564. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0028783

Yagil, D. (2020). Positive framing of surface acting: The mitigating effect of self-serving attributions on sense of inauthenticity and emotional exhaustion. *International Journal of Stress Management*, 27(3), 217–225. https://doi.org/10.1037/str0000148

Yang, Y., & Hayes, J. A. (2020). Causes and consequences of burnout among mental health professionals: A practice-oriented review of recent empirical literature. *Psychotherapy*, *57*(3), 426–436. https://doi.org/10.1037/pst0000317

https://doi.org/10.22364/atee.2022.22

The Notion of Sustainable Team Management in Educational Institution

Anna Kvelde, Indra Odina

University of Latvia, Latvia

ABSTRACT

The article deals with one aspect of a larger scale and long-term grounded theory research to explore and define the concept of the sustainable team management in educational institution. This article seeks the answers to research questions: what constitutes the management of educational institutions, and which sustainable development initiatives are implemented in the management of educational institutions.

This article aims to explore the concept of the sustainable team management of educational institution, as well as to coin the elements of the sustainable development of organization, which could serve as a basis to improve sustainable team management in educational institution.

The data were collected by the content analysis of the sustainable team management initiatives reflected on 47 homepages of educational institutions; case studies regarding the implementation of sustainable team management in educational sector and 12 interviews with school administration on the state of the art of sustainable team management. Research sample was 59 educational institutions: 17 primary schools, 29 secondary schools, and 13 state gymnasiums with broad geographical representation – the schools in the capital city, cities, small towns, and countryside.

Sustainable team management supports principals and their teams in leading their educational institutions towards sustainability, also, achieves institutional goals and cultivates a culture where collaboration, appreciation, and teamwork are valued. According to the data of the study, the institutions insufficiently implement the sustainable development initiatives in the education management process of the educational institution that does not meet state policy and vision, also, in order to implement sustainable development initiatives in educational institutions, attract funding from Erasmus+ or other projects. There is also a lack of the uniform understanding of sustainability among the members of education management team. The authors admit that the concept of sustainable team management in an educational institution needs to be defined at the national level.

Keywords: education management, organizational performance, sustainable development of organization, sustainable team, sustainable team management

Introduction

The education sector plays a vital role in an economic, social and environmental context since it has the capacity to transform society and educate students to adapt to needs and challenges from different perspectives. Sustainable team management (STM) contains a complex of activities accompanying various stages of personal and organizational development and therefore it is necessary to create the guidelines for educational institutions to implement this change.

International Commission on the Futures of Education (2021) highlights the importance of sustainability for future education, especially in the field of education management, which includes teamwork, collaboration and culture of organization. Among the priorities, there is mentioned steering educational opportunities towards inclusion and sustainability. It also states that: "Educational institutions should unite collective endeavors and provide the knowledge, science, and innovative approach to shape sustainable futures for all anchored in social, economic, and environmental justice and prepare their teams for environmental, technological, and social changes on the horizon" (International Commission on the Futures of Education, 2021, 15).

The Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) defined by the United Nations (UN) recognize quality education as an integral element of sustainable development (United Nations General Assembly, 2015). Although each of the 17 SDGs (169 sub-goals) is presented as a separate initiative, it should be noted that the five pillars (Environmental, Economic, Social, Political and Corporate) of sustainable development are all interconnected (Morrissey & Heidkamp, 2022). UN define that developing SDG 4 (a quality education) is the foundation to improving people's lives and sustainable development and, therefore, the education sector has a central role in the achievement of this SDG which also has a transversal impact on the rest of SDGs. So, SDG 4 (a quality education) is recognized as an essential means of achieving the other 16 SDGs (Liu & Kitamura, 2019).

The European Commission (EC) has established Eco-Management and Audit Scheme (EMAS) to integrate the SDGs into everyday life of educational institutions. EMAS is a systematic approach that ensures the actions linked to the SDGs are not isolated, but framed within a broader vision and reporting on achievements can be easily integrated also in the environmental statement. EMAS also cooperate with "UNESCO Project School" and Eco-School projects. Regardless of the type of educational institution, these organizations need to evolve and adapt in order to prepare future generations for the changing environment and societal concerns. Working within a systematic approach like EMAS provides the education sector with the necessary tools to get prepared, innovate and have a real positive impact on society (European Commission, 2022).

Present article is a theoretical concept paper based on a literature review, analysis of case studies and interviews with principals, and the authors' conceptual

work. It offers a model and seeks to support principals and their teams in leading their educational institutions towards sustainability. Also, the concept of the STM in educational institution is defined for each of the development stages, as well, a number of practical actions and management strategies are suggested and explained in detail.

According to the Law of the Education in Latvia (Izglītības likums [Education Law], 1998), the quality education consists of four criteria such as goal-orientation, qualitative education, inclusive environment, and education management. Also, one of the main directions of Sustainable Development Strategy in Latvia until 2030 admits that is necessary to create new management forms according to SDGs goals (Latvijas ilgtspējīgas attīstības stratēģija līdz 2030. gadam [Sustainable Development Strategy of Latvia until 2030], 2010).

In 2016, the National Centre for Education of the Republic of Latvia started a project "Competence Approach to Curriculum" (Project School2030) to introduce a competence-oriented curriculum in all educational institutions from pre-school to general secondary school with the aim of promoting the acquisition of necessary skills for living in the 21st century. Project School2030 highlights the importance of team in educational institutions and the initiatives of sustainable development. The implementation of Project School2030 goals is related to significant changes in the structure of school and pre-school curriculum, the system of evaluation of learning outcomes, teacher education, and as a result, it affects the management of educational institutions (Skola2030, n.d.^b).

This article aims to explore the concept of the sustainable team management of educational institution, as well as to coin the elements of the sustainable development of organization, which could serve as a basis to improve sustainable team management in educational institutions.

Research questions:

- RQ1: what constitutes the sustainable team management of educational institutions?
- RQ2: which sustainable development initiatives are implemented in the management of educational institutions?

Literature review

The term of the sustainability of organisation is used as a synonym of sustainable development or organisation's social responsibility – organisation's sustainability is based on economic, environmental, social (Bagdonienė, Galbuogienė, Paulavičienė, 2009), political and corporate responsibility aspects (Morrissey & Heidkamp, 2022).

A sustainable organisation is becoming one of the most popular and ambitious concepts because environment and organisational performance are closely related

and its long-term success depends on the fact how the organisation is able to integrate human capital into the environment (Seivwright & Unsworth, 2016; de Haan, 2010).

Sustainable team management consists of seven factors such as:

- core management strategy;
- value for both internal and external parties;
- building cross-departmental bridges;
- democratic decision-making and the motivation of the participants in the long term;
- effective teamwork leaders and group work;
- team-building methods;
- involvement of all groups of participants (United Nations General Assembly, 2015, Warner & Elser, 2015).

Kvelde and Odina (2022) distinguish several development stages for the team to reach the status of a sustainable team in an educational institution starting from a small group of people working together and sharing common interests, then a formal and appointed team of people – administration team taking care of the management of an educational institution, followed by collective team referring to small organizations where all people are considered as a whole, sometimes also called as family team (Warr & Nielsen, 2018). The next stage would be effective team demonstrating high level teamwork and finally sustainable team working cross-departmentally and centred on adding value to organisations (Wiek, Withycombe, Redman, 2011).

Combining the five pillars of sustainable development in education is a complex process that should result in a completely new vision of educational institutions. It raises the necessity for a management structure to encourage and support the sustainability initiatives within the organisation.

Sustainable development initiatives can be classified by attributing them to sustainable development pillars (see Table 1).

For last 20 years, the most demanded sustainable development initiative for organisations is corporate sustainability and responsibility, as well, it is evaluated according to the indicators of the sustainability index.

The sustainability index is an effective management tool based on an internationally recognized methodology. It helps organisations to diagnose the sustainability of their operations and the level of corporate responsibility in their everyday management.

Pillars of sustainable development	Sustainable development initiative
Environmetal pillar (Mikulčić et al., 2017)	Climate change/global warming Air pollution Deforestation and desertification Rising sea levels Water scarcity Industrial waste
	Household waste
Economic pillar (Purvis et al., 2019)	Leadership and change Educational organisations International development Sustainable and ethical international cooperation Responsibility and ethics Population Corporate social responsibility Consumption and trade Economic globalization Economic growth
Social pillar (Murphy, 2017)	Intercultural understanding Sustainability in the built environment Sustainable communities Cultural diversity Health and well-being Peace, Security and Conflict Citizenship, Government, Democracy Human rights and needs Travel, transport and mobility Human rights Education accessibility and quality
Political pillar (Chitescua & Lixandrub, 2016)	Use of power in sustainability Effective management Fight corruption Employee evaluation, talent search Government and political transparency Business that promotes national production
Corporate pillar (Saufi e al., 2016)	Corporate environmental responsibility Corporate social responsibility

Table 1. The sustainable development initiatives (created by authors)

The sustainability indexes that have the largest impact and representativeness:

- in the Unites States, it is Domini 400 social index a stock index focusing on companies that maintain high environmental, social, and governance standards (Fernando, 2022a);
- in Europe the two most popular are:
 - the Dow Jones Sustainability Indexes: evaluate three spheres of action (*economic, environmental and social*) based on 24 parameters (Banco Bilbao Vizcaya Argentaria, 2019);

- FTSE4Good: is designed to measure the performance of companies demonstrating specific *environmental, social and governance* practices (Fernando, 2022^b);
- in Latvia, sustainability index is measured by the Institute of Corporate Sustainability and Responsibility (ICSR). ICSR evaluates organisations according to five criteria: local community, management strategy, organisational culture, environment and work environment (Institute of Corporate Sustainability and Responsibility, n.d.).

According to the European Commission (2022), a whole-school approach involves integrating learning about environmental sustainability throughout the institution, it can also help students develop a sustainable mindset. This means that by implementing sustainability in management, teaching and learning systems, educational institutions can provide learners with consistent opportunities to practise what they learn. In order to initiate change in educational institution, there are some key objectives to reach, in particular:

- 1. To develop an inclusive whole-school plan involving all stakeholders students, staff, parents, partners and community stakeholders.
- 2. To develop a future-oriented perspective to increase the impact of wholeschool plan and student motivation.
- 3. To shift from environmental education to learning about sustainability, as learning about sustainability sees learners as active and engaged agents of change (European Commission, 2022).

The case study on the implementation of STM in educational sector of 27 member states the European Union shows the evidence of successful EMAS. EMAS provides a better knowledge and anticipation of the environmental context as it prepares the organization to meet new challenges and societal needs, also guides the opportunity to concrete involvement of students, employees and families (for example, the creation of eco-teams, surveys and opinion polls, gamification activities, enrolment in environmental projects/initiatives, etc.), improves the working environment and facilitates organizations willing to consider also social actions to integrate them under a common tool and have a systematic approach to sustainability (European Commission, 2022). The data of register of EMAS (data from 2020) show that:

- 448 European educational institutions, with 101.130 employees, registered in EMAS;
- 231 of registered educational institutions have implemented EMAS in the education sector;
- 134 of these organizations have less than 49 workers, 50 are medium organizations and the other 47 have a really large workforce, 25 of these large organizations have more than 1.000 employees.

With regards to the geographical distribution, Germany represents 59% of EMAS registered organizations in the education sector (137 organizations), followed by Spain (25%) and Austria (10%) with 57 and 23 EMAS registered organizations respectively. Although with a smaller presence, other EU countries also have EMAS registered organizations, such as Italy, Sweden, Belgium, Cyprus, Greece, Luxembourg and Poland. Important to mention that Latvian educational institutions are not registered in EMAS register (European Commission, n.d.).

Thereover, Foundation for Environmental Education (FEE) in cooperation with Environmental Education Foundation of Latvia, has implemented the global Eco-School programme. The Eco-School programme is one of the most comprehensive and already popular models of environmental education in the world. It is based on the competence approach and is a method that helps to achieve the expected outcomes defined in the teaching standard and curriculum, as well as the goals of environmental protection and sustainable development. (Vides izglītības fonds/ [Environmental Education Foundation], n.d.).

The symbol of the Eco-School programme is the Green Flag award. Currently, more than 56,000 schools around the world are involved in the Eco-Schools programme, in Latvia they are almost 200 educational institutions, from primary schools to universities.

In order to achieve the EU's ambitious goal of becoming the first climate-neutral continent by 2050, the education sector must act and implement STM in educational institutions.

Methodology

Due to the need of exploring theoretical notions and defining the concept "sustainable team management", the research was organized using grounded theory method research design. The authors of grounded theory method, Glaser and Strauss (1967) originally introduced it to facilitate theory development that consisted of obtaining and analysing data. Bryant and Charmaz (2007, 1) describe it as a method containing "a systematic, inductive, and comparative approach for conducting inquiry for the purpose of constructing theory".

It is considered one of the most generally applied and popular qualitative research methods and is used in areas that have not been widely researched, or to acquire a new insight in previously researched areas (Mārtinsone, Pipere, 2021). In order to develop a theory, the researcher should start by defining research questions, as well as selecting participants, using theoretical sampling, followed by data collection, data analysis and validation stages. This is what the present research article also reveals as it deals with one aspect of a larger scale and long-term grounded theory research. The last stages, namely theoretical saturation stage when theoretical saturation is defined, meaning that in the development

of theory no new categories, concepts, dimensions or incidents arise and finally discovery and conclusion stage when the findings and restrictions of the research are demonstrated are not discussed in this article.

The data were collected by performing the content analysis of the STM initiatives reflected on the homepages of educational institutions in Latvia (n = 47), 122 homepages of educational institutions in Latvia were analysed. As it was stated before, a theoretical sampling was used as most appropriate type of sampling for the grounded theory research to select new research sites, events, activities, documents and actors to compare with those already studied. 26 percent of homepages (47 out of 122) contained information regarding sustainable development initiatives in the operation of the educational institution. The data were compared to the report presented by the EU regarding the implementation of sustainable development initiatives in the educational sector in EU (n = 231). Afterwards the interviews with school administration on the state of the art of STM in educational institutions (n = 12 principals) were carried out. As to sampling, first probability sample - simple random was applied. More than 20 invitations to participate in the interview were sent out as part of the research to principals from the different educational institutions. Answers were received only from five principals from four Latvian cities (Riga and its district, Rezekne and its district, Ventspils and its district and Limbazi and its district). Later purposive sampling was used to approach the school administration of other educational institutions in these cities that already participated in the research. The research sample consisted of three principals from each district and represented different academic levels, such as primary school, secondary school and gymnasium. Based on the principles of research ethics, the informed consent that respondents enter research voluntarily with full information about what it means for them to take part, and that they give consent before they enter the research was obtained. Before obtaining informed consent, the principles were informed about the aim, process, methods, expected benefits, potential risks and rights of research participants. They had the right to stop participating in the study at any time.

All in all, the research sample was 59 educational institutions: 17 primary schools, 29 secondary schools, and 13 state gymnasiums. Selection consisted of analysed homepages of educational institutions (n = 47) and the interviewed representatives of school administration (n = 12) – the homepages of 12 educational institutions participating in the interviews were not analysed in the research. 12 school principals represented four primary schools, four secondary schools, and four state gymnasiums, as well as geographically they were from the schools in the capital, cities, small towns, and countryside.

The content analysis was performed based on the concept of the STM in educational institution defined by Müller, Lude & Hancock (2020).

- Stage 0: Sustainability is not (yet) an issue only individual teachers deal with SDGs topics in their lessons, no evidence on the institutional and management level;
- Stage I: Projects SDGs topics are tackled in the lessons from time to time and there are initiatives of interdisciplinary cooperation projects (the creation of a school garden, recycling initiatives and others); education management is aware of the sustainable development activities in the educational institution;
- Stage II: System the teaching staff regularly implements SDGs topics in the lessons and is involved in the development of teaching concepts and projects, such as the construction of a solar plant, the redesign of the school grounds, or cooperation with external partners; education management supports the sustainable development activities in the educational institution;
- Stage III: Profile SDGs are integrated comprehensively into teaching and school life and sustainable development has been made a key issue and developed a specific, expressly communicated sustainability school profile that distinguishes the school from other schools, for instance, the certification according to a formal quality label such as, "UNESCO Project School" or the European "Eco-Management and Audit Scheme" (EMAS) or Eco-School. Education management initiates the sustainable development activities in the educational institution.

Results and Discussion

The content analysis of the STM initiatives reflected on the homepages of educational institutions and interviews with school administration: how much sustainable development constituted management initiatives integrated into educational institutions in Latvia. 59 sources of the education management hierarchy structure were examined, including 47 structures from the homepages of Latvian educational institutions and 12 from interviews with school administration.

According to Figure 1, the data of the analysis of educational institutions for the implementation of sustainable development initiatives show that 45 percent (28 educational institutions out of 59) have reached *Stage 0: Sustainability is not* (*yet*) an issue, because, there are little or no significant activities in the educational institution with regard to sustainable development initiatives. 35 percent (21 out of 59 educational institutions) have reached *Stage 1: Project* and the educational institutions have started a process to reflect on and consider sustainable development. Only 10% (6 educational institutions) have reached *Stage 2: System* and the educational institutions are managed in accordance with the

criteria of sustainable development. Also, only 10% (6 educational institutions) have reached *Stage 3: Profile* and have accredited Eco-School programme.

According to the data, the institutions minimally implement the sustainable development initiatives in the education management process of the educational institution that does not meet the vision of the Project School2030.



Figure 1. The data of the analysis of educational institutions for the implementation of sustainable development initiatives

According to the data on the implemented initiatives of sustainable development in education management of institutions (Figure 2) - 78 percent (46 out of 59 educational institutions) implement recycling and waste sorting initiative, also, 62 percent (37 out of 59 educational institutions) placed container for disposing of batteries. 44 percent (26 out of 59 educational institutions) implement Smart Management School Programme, they are focused on digital strategy development. Smart Management School Programme benefits with four key elements as interactive classes, cooperative activities, a motivating environment and digital content. Also, Smart Management School Programme helps to increase the digital competence of teachers of professional subjects in online training and create a digital platform in the MOODLE environment. 38 percent (23 out of 59 educational institutions) are involved in Erasmus Green Deal projects, one of the European Commission's six priorities for 2019–2024. The European Green Deal project aims to improve the well-being and health of citizens and future generations by providing eight actions: climate, environment and oceans, energy, transport, finance and regional development, research and innovation, agriculture and industry.



Figure 2. The implementation of sustainable development initiatives in education management of institution

Only 18 percent (11 out of 59 educational institutions) have got the accreditation of Eco-School programme and received the Green Flag as a symbol that sustainable development is one of priorities of the educational institution. Also, only 8 percent (5 out of 59 educational institutions) have energy efficient buildings, because educational institutions have been renovated in last 10 years. One of the participants of the study has received "Most Energy Efficient Building in Latvia 2020" award, given by the Ministry of Economics (MoE) in cooperation with the "Būvinženieris [Civil Engineer]" magazine and the Ministry of Environmental Protection and Regional Development (MoEPRD).

18 percent (9 out of 59 educational institutions) admit that administration team implements STM, as well, only 8 percent (5 out of 59 educational institutions) of educational institutions implement the student-centred approach and student council helps to implement sustainable development initiatives.

According to the data, the institutions minimally implement the sustainable development initiatives in the education management, majority of initiatives are related to environmental pillar. The limitation of the research could be the insufficient information on the homepage of the educational institution. It did not always provide an accurate picture of what was happening (project, initiatives, development strategy) regarding the implementation of the sustainable development initiatives in an educational institution.

Analysing the homepages, the indicators that meet the STM criteria, according to the Environmental Management and Audit Scheme (European Commission, 2021),

Global Eco-Schools Programme (n.d.) and Sustainable Development Initiatives (see Table 1, created by authors) were collected. The collected data reflect what initiatives are being implemented, which allows authors to understand whether there is a common understanding of STM in educational institutions in Latvia. According to the findings, there are no uniform sustainable development criteria for educational institutions of Latvia.

Twelve interviews with educational institution principals were conducted to analyse the policy of school regarding the implementation of the sustainable development initiatives in educational institutions. The aim of the interview was to understand the notion of the sustainable team management in educational institutions, as well as how the school administration promoted the teamwork and corporate pillar. Seven questions were asked to the representatives of educational institutions. First, they were asked to introduce themselves and their educational institution and justify why these things were told. School representatives were invited to describe what a prospective teacher should know about the educational institution, what a child's parent should know about the educational institution, and what a student should know about the educational institution, and what a student should know about the educational institution. Also, it was requested to describe whether their educational institution worked as a team and what was the evidence of this, as well as the last question was asked to name the prerequisites for the team to continue to work successfully.

According to the data collected, the majority of principals admitted that sustainable development was important for "stable economic growth, conservation of natural resources, social progress and equality and environmental protection".

According to the findings of the interviews, the majority of educational institution principals agreed that for last years, especially during COVID-19, the priority of the school was digitalisation and digital transformation. Regarding Project School2030, majority of principals noted that teachers "should implement sustainable development and SDGs initiatives in the context of the lesson", also, "educate students about challenges of globalisation", but, at this stage of the implementation of education reform, "teachers faced many situations when sustainable development was not a priority".

Also, principals admitted that regarding the implementation of sustainable development and SDGs initiatives, it was important "to cooperate with student council and to involve parents' council". Only eight of the twelve educational institutions had active student councils, and five (three secondary schools and two gymnasiums) had two student councils: primary school student council (from Forms 7 to 9) and secondary school student council (from Forms 10 to 12).

According to the findings of the interviews, students were mostly involved in Erasmus Green Deal project planning and implementation, also, focused on "teamwork culture and organise team-building events regarding sustainable development initiatives for teachers and students, excluding regular school events such as class events, excursions, and visits to cultural events". Furthermore, principals emphasised that students lacked knowledge in sustainable development initiatives, at least, if these initiatives were not taking place at their home, so it could be very useful to create guidelines to guide students for a better understanding of their contribution and involvement in STM processes.

In order to find out what fostered STM in educational institution, the principals were asked, "What is the evidence that your school is performing as a sustainable team?" 25% (three out of 12 educational institutions) named their teams as the collective, it should be noted that the principals represented small primary and secondary schools, where the teaching staff did not exceed 20 teachers. 33% (4 educational institutions) named their teams as sustainable teams, emphasized that they promoted sustainable development initiatives, as well, they had received the accreditation of Eco-School programme or had been involved in Erasmus Green Deal projects. They focused on teamwork and cooperation among administration team members, teachers and student council, also, had the Eco-Council in educational institution. The Eco-Council is primarily student-led, it aims to promote sustainable development initiatives, also, creates Green Action Plan and informs about Eco actions in educational institution. The Eco-Council in educational institution ensures that everyone in the institutional community is represented in the decision-making process, providing a link between students, teachers and the whole institutional community, and it takes the lead in delivering the Green Action Plan.

42% (five out of 12 educational institutions) named their teams as administration teams, also, noted that the priority of the school was to implement digital transformation, so, they did not pay enough attention to sustainable development and teamwork cooperation, which was influenced by the frequent change of teachers, COVID-19 pandemic and the workload of teachers, in connection with what had been happening in the world in the last two years.

According to the findings of the interviews, principals mentioned the elements of STM related to team performance, such as

organisational climate and environment, seminars or webinars about sustainable development and SDGs for teachers and students, competences of principals and teachers, organisational culture, team culture, team performance, cooperation with students and parents, initiatives comes from students or teachers, change management and adoption to new challenges, as well, to promote sustainability in society and taking the initiative and participating in youth and NGO conferences and forums regarding Sustainability.

According to the literature review, no one mentioned democratic decision-making and the motivation of the participants in the long term, but kept focus on creating partnerships with internal and external resources. TO BE OR NOT TO BE A GREAT EDUCATOR, 2022

A. KVELDE, I. ODINA. The Notion of Sustainable Team Management in Educational Institution

Less than half of the interviewed principals, 42 percent (five out of 12 educational institutions), continued to focus on "student well-being and the joy of learning at school", indicating, "principals and administration teams do not understand how to develop and maintain STM". Furthermore, the educational institution lacked "an appropriate environment for the long-term development of their team and organisation".

The principal of gymnasium said:

It is important for us to create an environment and educate students, so, they will have sustainable mindset. We observe the problems of globalization, ignorance of sustainable values, so it is necessary to start talking about it in school and society. We can exist without digital technologies, but we cannot survive without clean air, before we transform a child into a "digital citizen", we must teach them to respect nature, resources, human capital, only then technology and material values.

It is critical to emphasise this when answering the question, "Why is it difficult to implement sustainable development initiatives in your educational institution?". Majority of principals noted that sustainability should be placed as priority on national level in everyday practises. Also, schools need to receive financial support for STM implementation, because, at this moment, principals and their teams are attracting Erasmus or other project funds.

The principal of a small countryside school described the problem in the implementation of "A whole-school approach to sustainability" suggested by European Commission. Principal said that:

Food is one of the key areas where schools can effectively transform their actions and implement sustainable solutions across the board. For example, if students grow their own food in school gardens, schools can build awareness by labelling the food in the menu of cafeteria and informing students about the environmental impact of the choices they make. Leftover food, with the help of local charities, can be distributed to those who need it most. Also, teachers can emphasize food-related sustainability issues through the curriculum, and students can discuss the issue at home.

However, principal and his team faced financial issues and this project was stuck, they were trying to cooperate with municipality and local farmers for the implementation of sustainable development initiative.

Answering the last question of the interview "What are the requirements for the successful implementation of STM?", majority of principals admitted that they should talk more about sustainable development initiatives, as well, teachers should be educated about this topic. Principals also noted that they
should motivate teachers to organise events according to sustainable development initiatives. As well, few principals gave promise to explore communities and programmes, such as Eco-School, to be involved in. Principal of gymnasium admitted that: "We should educate our society to think for sustainability at workplace, at home and at school".

Conclusions

The article deals with a systematic literature review, defining such terms as sustainable team and team performance as key elements for embedding STM in organization. The study expounds on the importance of sustainable development initiatives that proactively seek to contribute to sustainability equilibria of today, as well as their inter-relations within the time dimension (i.e., the short, long-term), while addressing the institutional system such as management and strategy, assessment and communication. The importance of team performance and organizational culture in educational institution is outlined as well.

The development of a STM in an educational institution depends on combining the five pillars (Environmental, Economic, Social, Political and Corporate) of sustainable development in education such as a complex process that should result in a completely new vision of educational institutions. It raises the necessity for a management structure to encourage and support the sustainability initiatives within the organisation.

Based on a preliminary data of a larger scale and long-term grounded theory research, it can be concluded that the institutions yet minimally implement the sustainable development initiatives in the education management process of the educational institution. That does not meet the vision of the Project School2030. Also, the most used initiatives are related to environment pillar.

The analysis of the data show that 45 percent (28 out of 59 educational institutions) have reached *Stage 0: Sustainability is not (yet) an issue*, 35 percent (21 out of 59 educational institutions) have reached *Stage 1: Project* and the educational institution has started a process to reflect on and consider sustainable development. Only 10% (6 out of 59 educational institutions) have reached *Stage 2: System* and the educational institution is managed in accordance with the criteria of sustainable development. Also, only 10% (6 out of 59 educational institutions) have reached *Stage 3: Profile* and have got the accreditation of Eco-School programme.

It can be concluded that according to the analysed data of the interviews, the majority of principals admitted that sustainable development was important for "stable economic growth, conservation of natural resources, social progress and equality and environmental protection".

Although, less than half of the interviewed principals, 42 percent (five educational institutions), continued to focus on "student well-being and the joy of A. KVELDE, I. ODINA. The Notion of Sustainable Team Management in Educational Institution

learning at school", indicating, "principals and administration teams do not understand how to develop and maintain STM".

The following limitations of the study can be indicated, first of all, the information on the homepage of the educational institution does not always provide an accurate picture of what is happening (project, initiatives, development strategy) in the educational institution. Also, from such a small sample, general statements cannot be made, so the authors recommend to explore the notion of organizational performance for sustainable development education. It should be admitted that is necessary to describe the concept of a STM in an educational institution at the national level, as well as the role of students in it must be defined. In addition, there is no shared understanding of sustainability among the members of the education management team.

REFERENCES

Bagdonienė, D., Galbuogienė, A., Paulavičienė, E. (2009). Darnios organizacijos koncepcijos formavimas visuotinės kokybės vadybos pagrindu [Formation of a Coherent Organizational Concept on the Basis of Global Quality Management]. *Ekonomika ir vadyba [Economy and Management]*, 14, 1044–1053. https://www.lituanistika.lt/content/22390

Banco Bilbao Vizcaya Argentaria. (2019). What Is a Sustainability Index Used for? https://www.bbva.com/en/sustainability/what-is-a-sustainability-index-used-for/

Bryant, A., Charmaz, K. (2007). The SAGE Handbook of Grounded Theory. Thousand Oaks, California: Sage.

Chitescua, R. I. & Lixandrub, M. (2016). The Influence of the Social, Political and Economic Impact on Human Resources, as a Determinant Factor of Sustainable Development. *Procedia Economics and Finance*, *39*, 820–826. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2212567116302593

de Haan, G. (2010). The Development of ESD-Related Competencies in Supportive Institutional Frameworks. *International Review of Education*, *56*, 315–328. https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s11159-010-9157-9

European Commission. (2022). EMAS Clubs. *Eco-Management and Audit Scheme*. https://ec.europa.eu/environment/emas/join_emas/emas_clubs_en.htm

European Commission. (n.d.). Key Benefits. *Eco-Management and Audit Scheme*. https://ec.europa.eu/environment/emas/emas_for_you/premium_benefits_through_emas/key_benefits_en.htm

Fernando, J. (2022^a). FTSE4Good Index Series. *Investopedia*. https://www.investopedia. com/terms/f/ftse4good-index.asp

Fernando, J. (2022^b). What Is the MSCI KLD 400 Social Index? *Investopedia*. https://www.investopedia.com/terms/d/domini_400.asp

Glaser, B. G., Strauss, A. (1967). The Discovery of Grounded Theory: Strategies for Qualitative Research. Chicago: Aldine.

International Commission on the Futures of Education. (2021). *Reimagining Our Futures Together: A New Social Contract for Education*. UNESCO. https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000379707.locale=en

A. KVELDE, I. ODINA. The Notion of Sustainable Team Management in Educational Institution

Izglītības likums [Education Law]. Saeima. 3 p. (1998). https://likumi.lv/ta/id/50759-izglitibas-likums

Korporatīvās ilgtspējas un atbildības institūts [Institute of Corporate Sustainability and Responsibility]. (n.d.) Atbildīga biznesa novērtējums [Assessment of Responsible Business]. https://www.incsr.eu/novertejumi/atbildiga-biznesa-novertejums-2/

Kvelde, A. & Odina, I. (2022). The Notion of Sustainable Team in Education Institution. LU 80. Starptautiskās zinātniskās konferences Cilvēks, tehnoloģijas un izglītības kvalitātem, 2022 rakstu krājums [Proceedings of the UL 80th International Scientific Conference Human, Technologies and Quality of Education, 2022], 800–815. https://doi.org/10.22364/ https.2022.57

Latvijas ilgtspējīgas attīstības stratēģija līdz 2030. gadam/ [Sustainable Development Strategy of Latvia until 2030]. Latvijas Republikas Saeima/ [Saeima of the Republic of Latvia]. (2010). https://www.pkc.gov.lv/sites/default/files/inline-files/Latvija_2030_6.pdf

Liu, J. & Kitamura, Y. (2019). The Role of Universities in Promoting Sustainability in Asia. *Innovations in Asian Higher Education. Routledge.* 1st edition. Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780429341861-6

Mārtinsone, K. & Pipere, A. (2021). Ievads pētniecībā: stratēģijas, dizaini, metodes [Introduction into Research: Strategies, Designs, Methods]. Rīga: RaKa.

Mikulčić, H., Duić, H. & Dewil, R. (2017). Environmental Management as a Pillar for Sustainable Development. *The Journal of Environmental Management, 203*(3), 867–871. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0301479717309027?casa_token = F fLMwSvgrTsAAAAA:lvWkuxhlJ6c8cUN-5pEWkDv2abBtWyZQ560tfA5RCOkVd9m9CHjV IWT252-zXGxvaG-6BuJN1qmG

Morrissey, J. & Heidkamp, P. (2022). Sustainability after COVID-19: Pillars for a Just Transition. *Environmental Sustainability*, *5*, 261–269. https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s42398-022-00231-y

Müller, U., Lude, A., Hancock, D.R. (2020). Leading Schools Towards Sustainability. Fields of Action and Management Strategies for Principals. *Sustainability*, *12*(7), 3031. https://doi.org/10.3390/su12073031

Murphy, K. (2017). The Social Pillar of Sustainable Development: a Literature Review and Framework for Policy Analysis. *Sustainability: Science, Practice and Policy, 8*, 15–29. https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/15487733.2012.11908081

Purvis, B., Mao, Y. & Robinson, D. (2019). Three Pillars of Sustainability: in Search of Conceptual Origins. *Sustainability Science*, *14*, 681–695. https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s11625-018-0627-5

Rieckmann, M. (2012). Future-oriented Higher Education: Which Key Competencies Should Be Fostered Through University Teaching and Learning? *Futures, Special Issue: University Learning,* 44, 127–135. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0016328711002448?via%3Dihub

Saufi, N. A. A., Daud, S. & Hassan, H. (2016). Green Growth and Corporate Sustainability Performance. *Procedia Economics and Finance*, *35*, 374–378. https://www.sciencedirect. com/science/article/pii/S2212567116000460

Seivwright, A. & Unsworth, K. (2016). Making Sense of Corporate Social Responsibility and Work. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *7*, 443–452. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2016.00443

United Nations General Assembly. (2015). *Transforming Our World: the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development*. https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/post2015/transformingour-world/publication

A. KVELDE, I. ODINA. The Notion of Sustainable Team Management in Educational Institution

Vides izglītības fonds [Foundation for Environmental Education]. (n.d.). *Ekoskolu programma* [*Ecoschool Programme*]. http://www.videsfonds.lv/lv/ekoskolas

Warner, B., Elser, M. (2015). How Do Sustainable Schools Integrate Sustainability Education? An Assessment of Certified Sustainable K-12 Schools in the United States. *The Journal of Environmental Education, 46*, 1–22. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/280216697_ How_Do_Sustainable_Schools_Integrate_Sustainability_Education_An_Assessment_of_Certified_ Sustainable_K-12_Schools_in_the_United_States

Warr, P. & Nielsen, K. (2018). Wellbeing and Work Performance. In E. Diener, S. Oishi, & L. Tay (Eds.), *Handbook of Well-being*. Salt Lake City, UT: DEF Publishers, 1–22. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/323268036_Wellbeing_and_work_performance

Wiek, A., Withycombe, L. & Redman, C. L. (2011). Key Competencies in Sustainability: a Reference Framework for Academic Program Development. *Sustainability Science*, *6*, 203–218. https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s11625-011-0132-6

https://doi.org/10.22364/atee.2022.23

Digital Competence of Medical College Teachers According to Digcompedu Framework

Sanita Litiņa, Karīna Svētiņa

University of Latvia, Latvia Red Cross Medical College of Riga Stradins University

ABSTRACT

Over the last decade, learning and working in medicine have been increasingly influenced by digital tools and the "digital transformation" is now a popular topic. Today's medical students are growing up in a digital age in which digital tools and devices are a regular part of their professional life. Digital transformation in healthcare is not just about technology but strategy and new ways of thinking. Developing digital competence is essential to health professional education to increase confidence in accessing the best evidence for clinical practice. Healthcare lecturers play a crucial role in promoting the acquisition of digital competencies and therefore need to be digitally competent themselves. This study aims to identify teachers' digital competence at one medical college using the framework for the Digital Competence of Educators (DigCompEdu). A total of 47 medical college teacher participated. The results confirmed that the self-assessment instrument developed is reliable, valid, and thus suitable for measuring teachers' digital competence. Generally, values are centred across the four major competence categories, and most participants obtain a score at the intermediate (B1) level. Investing in teacher training aimed at practical work with students is necessary, as the area showing the most significant weaknesses is Area 5: Empowering Learners. In particular, teachers also need to help their students use technologies in their education.

Keywords: digital competence, healthcare education, information technology, teacher, DigCompEdu

Introduction

Digitalisation and new technologies have caused significant changes in the way people access information and communicate with each other. Information is distributed in the form of digital technology and nowadays, access to information is possible anywhere and anytime (Saykili et al., 2019). Digital technologies are

also increasingly entering the field of education. Technology is used to deliver education, knowledge and skills in new and innovative ways. This, in turn, requires adaptation for educational institutions, teachers and students (Kamsker et al., 2020).

Evaluating the digital competences of teachers is essential, because often it is the level of competence of teachers that can play a decisive role in promoting the acquisition of digital competence in their students. The results of several studies show that the higher the level of digital competence of the teacher, the better the indicators of digital literacy of the student (Maini et al., 2021; Sillat et al., 2021). The most critical pedagogical factors that create obstacles in the development of students' digital skills and competencies are insufficient knowledge of teachers and lack of skills in cooperation with students, weak collaboration with colleagues, inability to support learning activities based on digital technology, as well as insufficient digital communication skills.

Digitisation of healthcare and the importance of digital competence

The comprehensive use of digital technologies requires the ability to engage critically and competently in the digital environment and requires certain skills to access, select and interpret information, to communicate effectively and to create content in a way that respects others and uses technology responsibly (European Commission, 2021). According to the definition of the European Commission, digital competence is defined as "the confident, critical and responsible use of digital technologies to learn, work and engage in society. This includes information and data literacy, communication and collaboration, media literacy, digital content creation (including programming), security (including digital well-being and cyber security competencies), intellectual property issues, problem solving and critical thinking" (European Council, 2018).

Digital competence can be understood as the ability to effectively use technology to improve functioning in all areas of daily life. However, digital competence is not just a skill to be developed separately, but a set of skills, abilities and attitudes to be used in different fields and forms of knowledge (Ferrari et al., 2014).

The development of digitisation has also significantly affected the healthcare system, facilitating the exchange of information between medical institutions and patients. A secure and fast means of transmitting information collected by different individuals is an important prerequisite for coordinating patient treatment and overall care. Representatives of health care professions need to learn new competencies and new areas of activity, which include several levels, including a different model of relationship with the patient, which is more based on mutual trust, gradual learning of digital tools as a result of training, changes in the technical representation of the provision of care services, as well

as collaborative and sharing approach through interoperable systems (European Economic and Social Committee, 2017).

In order for the benefits of digitisation to be fully utilised and included, increased attention should be paid to the digital competence of students, teachers and healthcare professionals involved in the healthcare sector.

Education and training of healthcare professionals are key drivers of digital health adoption. Improving the digital skills of health care students in the process of health studies is particularly important to ensure the acquisition of basic knowledge in working with health information in a digital environment, to improve students' understanding of user-oriented digital services, including the design and operation of e-health services, the ability to select and interpret critical data. Healthcare education needs to adapt to different healthcare contexts, including digitised healthcare systems and the digital generation of students in a hyper-connected world (Han et al., 2019).

For example, Sánchez-Caballé, a researcher at the University of Spain, and colleagues studied how digital competence is developed in higher education as part of a systematic review. As a result, it was emphasized that it is essential to promote the competence of academic staff by adapting it to the pace of technological development (Sánchez-Caballé1 et al., 2020).

Digital competence is also crucial for teachers. Tomczyk and colleagues (2021) found that the implementation of technology by teachers depended on how highly they valued their own digital competencies, as well as their attitudes to the implementation of such technologies (Tomczyk, et al., 2021).

Considering all of the above, this research will explore teachers' digital competence level in one of the medical colleges in Latvia.

DigCompEdu self-reflection survey tool

In order to ensure the improvement of digital competences, the digital skills of teachers who pass on knowledge to their students are essential. The digital competence of teachers can be defined as a set of knowledge, abilities and skills about information and communication technologies (ICT) related to the teaching profession and which can help to solve professional and/or pedagogical problems in the knowledge society (Cabero-Almenara et al., 2021; European Union Council, 2018; Ghomi & Redecker, 2019).

Different frameworks are used to assess digital competence and according to the World Bank's 2020 report Digital Skills: Frameworks and Programs, one of the most comprehensive and widely used universal digital competence frameworks is the framework developed by the European Union European Digital Competence Framework for Citizens – DigComp. On the other hand, regarding the assessment of employees and lecturers in the education sector, the research conducted by the researcher Cabero-Almenara (2021) together with her colleagues has compiled

several of the most important frameworks for the assessment of the digital competence of teachers – European Union Framework of Digital Competence of Educators – DigCompEdu; The Framework of the "International Society for Technology in Education" (ISTE) for teachers; the UNESCO framework of ICT Competency Framework for Teachers u.c. (Cabero-Almenara et al., 2021).

DigCompEdu was published in late 2017 by the Joint Research Centre of the European Union (Redecker & Punie, 2017). Its main objective is to align the European educational policies with such reference framework. Moreover, it is a synthesis of scientific studies at the local, national, European and international level (Ghomi & Redecker, 2018; Redecker & Punie, 2017). DigCompEdu is a digital competence model with 6 differentiated competence areas.

Each area has a series of competencies that "teachers must have in order to promote effective, inclusive and innovative learning strategies, using digital tools" (Redecker & Punie, 2017, p. 4).

- Professional commitment: Capacity to use digital technologies to improve the teaching process and interact professionally with colleagues, students, parents and different agents of the educational community. Furthermore, this communication through technology allows for individual professional development and collective and contin uous innovation in the educational organisation.
- 2. Digital resources: Identifying quality educational resources. Teachers must also beable to modify, create and share these resources to adjust them to their objectives, students and teaching styles. Likewise, they must know how to use and administer the digital content responsibly, respecting the author rights and protecting personal data.
- 3. Digital pedagogy: Knowing how to design, plan and implement the use of digital technologies in all the phases of the teaching process, promoting student-centred approaches and methodologies.
- 4. Evaluation and feedback: Digital technologies can improve the existing evaluation strategies and pave the way for new and better evaluation methods. Moreover, after analysing the large amount of available data (digital) about the individual interactions of students, teachers can provide more specific comments and support.
- 5. Empowering the students: One of the key strengths of digital technologies in education is their potential to boost the collaboration of students in the teaching-learning process and their autonomy in it. Moreover, digital technologies can be used to provide learning activities adapted to the competence level, interests and learning needs of each student.
- 6. Facilitating the competence: The capacity to facilitate the digital competence to the students is an integral part of teacher competence in ICT and the main theme of this competence area.

Each individual competence of the DigCompEdu framework is discribed along six proficiency levels (A1, A2, B1, B2, C1, C2) with a cumulative progression. The scoring rule for the instrument allocates 0 point to the lowest answer option, 1 to the second lowest, and so on, so that the maximum number of points per question is 4. The maximum total number of points is 88.



Figure 1. DigCompEdu progression model- Source: Redecker & Punie (2017)

Methodology

The digital competence of the higher education college teachers was measured with the DigCompEdu Check-In instrument based on the DigCompEdu framework and its proficiency levels. The focus of the framework is not on technical skills. Instead, it explains how lecturers can use digital technologies to enhance and innovate their practices. The content of DigCompEdu migrated to the online survey platform VisiDati.lv. The research instrument consisted of 22 statements supplemented with demographic questions (gender, age, education level), and the question of the duration of the use of digital technologies in pedagogical work was included. The research instrument development was guided by two principles:

- 1) to condense and simplify the critical ideas of the DigComEdu framework and
- 2) to offer targeted feedback to teachers according to their level of competence for each of the 22 indicators.

The self-assessment instrument was approved by the medical college's Ethics Commission, and participation was voluntary, with prior informed consent given of the purpose and its confidentiality. Since this research it was planned to collect participants' personal data (email addresses), privacy policy principles were described in the introduction to the questionnaire. It was explained that the data would be anonymised and stored separately from publicly available research

results within the means available. The participants were also informed that they could withdraw from the research at any time.

In the first stage of the study, 89 teachers were sent an email with an invitation to participate in the survey to determine self-assessment of digital competence in accordance with the DigCompEdu framework. As a result, 47 participants agreed to take part in the research.

After completing the survey, in the second stage of the study, the participants were sent a scale of digital competence from A1–C2 (Appendix 1), where the characteristics of each level were reflected, and the participants were asked to evaluate their current digital competencies based on the characteristics. Forty participants took part in the second stage of the survey. After receiving the consent of the respondent, the respondents were given feedback by sending a total evaluation of the points and an explanation to the email indicated by the participant.

The novelty of this study is based on the second survey, where teachers, after independently familiarising themselves with the levels of digital competence from (A1–C2), had to indicate which level of digital competence corresponds exactly to them (it should be noted that at this stage when filling out the second questionnaire, the research participants were not informed about the results of the first questionnaire). In this way, teachers could check whether their assessments of digital competence match or whether teachers overestimate themselves or, on the contrary, are not sure of their digital competences.

Sample

The participants were medical college teachers who work in higher education in the study direction "Healthcare" (*European Qualifications Framework level 5*). There are a total of five medical colleges in Latvia, three are located in Riga, one in Jurmala and another in Daugavpils. This study took place in one of Riga's medical colleges.

Information about participation in the study was sent to all college teachers (89) by e-mail, emphasizing that participation is voluntary. A total of 47 medical college lecturers (38 females and 9 males) participated and mean age of the sample was 44,30 years (SD = 11.51). Responses were collected between December 2021 and January 2022.

Self-assessment instrument

As part of the study, respondents had to provide answers to 22 statements according to the DigCompEdu Check-In instrument methodology. Five answer options were offered for each of the statements, and the research participant had to choose the option that best corresponds to their practice. The scoring rule for the instrument allocates 0 points to the lowest answer option, 1 to the

second lowest, and so on, so that the maximum number of points per question is 4. The maximum total number of points is 88. The scoring scale is attached in Appendix A.

Sample question:

I create my own digital resources and modify existing ones to adapt them to my needs.

- I do not create my own digital resources
- I do create worksheets/lecture notes or reading lists with a computer, but then I print them
- · I create digital presentations, but not much more
- I create different types of resources
- · I set up and adapt complex, interactive resources

For each study participant, the overall score was calculated individually according to the methodology developed by the European Commission Joint Research Centre (Appendix A).

The study calculated Cronbach's alpha coefficient. The entire instrument with 22 items has an excellent internal consistency with a value of .920 for Cronbach's alpha. (Appendix B).

Results

This paper is based on a case study of 47 medical college lecturers of one medical college. There were more female participants (81%) than male participants (19%). During the research, the demographic characteristics of the research respondents and also the experience of the respondents in working with digital technologies were clarified. The obtained results related to the experience in using digital technologies are reflected in Figure 1. In the framework of this study, digital technologies included digital devices, applications and platforms used in pedagogical work with students.

The use of digital technology at work is not necessarily clearly linked to higher digital competence level, which can be seen from the results in Table 1. As part of the study, information was gathered about the use of digital technologies by teachers in the study process. As can be seen in Table 1, most of the teachers have at least 10–14 years of teaching experience using digital technologies.

At the same time, it can be seen that more experience in working with digital technologies does not mean that teachers have a more confident assessment of their digital competences. Among those with 10 to 14 years of teaching experience most had low (A2/B1) levels of competence.

In the next stage of the study, the respondents provided answers to 22 statements collected in 6 areas according to the methodology of the DigCompEdu Check-In instrument. The obtained results are shown in Table 2.





Figure 1. Duration of use of digital technologies in pedagogical work

How long have you been using digital technologies in your teaching?	A1	A2	B1	B2	C1	Total
Less than 1 year	1	0	0	0	0	1
1–3 years	0	3	5	3	1	12
4–5 years	0	1	1	3	0	5
6–9 years	0	0	6	1	1	8
10–14 years	1	2	6	8	0	17
15–19 years	0	0	1	0	2	3
Do not wish to specify	0	0	1	0	0	1
Total	2	6	20	15	4	47

Table 1. The use of digital technologies at work in relation to the level of digital competence

Table 2. Assessment by the Medical College Teachers (%)

Level	Area 1: Professional Engagement	Area 2: Digital Resources	Area 3: Teaching and Learn- ing	Area 4: As- sessment	Area 5: Empow- ering Learners	Area 6: Facil- itating Learn- ers' Digital Competence	Total
A1	4.26	6.38	19.15	10.64	21.28	17.02	4.26
A2	21.28	23.40	19.15	42.55	29.79	21.28	14.89
B1	51.06	19.15	38.30	19.15	19.15	51.06	40.43
B2	21.28	36.17	19.15	14.89	19.15	8.51	34.04
C1	2.13	14.89	2.13	6.38	10.64	2.13	6.38
C2	0.00	0.00	2.13	6.38	0.00	0.00	0.00

Few participants scored at the lowest or highest level of competence. However, all four core competences levels, Explorer (A2) to Leader(C1), were well represented in the group. In accordance with the design of the scoring rule and its intentions, most respondents were classified to be either Integrators (B1) (40.43%) or Experts (B2) (34.04%).

According to DigCompEdu framework Level B1 – Integrator – characterizes teachers as professionals who use digital technologies in different contexts and are willing to do more. However, they still need to know which technologies work better in each strategy and teaching method.

Whereas Level B2 – Expert – characterises teachers use a range of digital technologies confidently, creatively and critically to enhance your professional activities. They select digital technologies for particular situations, and try to understand the benefits and drawbacks of different digital strategies. Experts are the backbone of any educational organisation when it comes to innovating practice.

After filling out the first questionnaire, the respondents were sent another additional questionnaire, which contained only one question "How do you currently assess your digital competence as a teacher?" and an added description with digital competence levels from A1–C2. In the second questionnaire, feedback was received from 40 respondents, therefore Table 3 reflects only the self-assessment provided by respondents who participated in both the first and second stages of the study.

As can be seen in Table 3, teachers self-assess their current digital competence based only on the descriptions of digital competence levels weaker compared to the results obtained in the first survey.

Digital Competence Level	Survey 1 (<i>n</i> = 40)	Survey 2 (<i>n</i> = 40)
A1	2	1
A2	6	18
B1	16	13
B2	13	6
C1	3	1
C2	0	1

Table 3. Self-assessment of digital competence after the first and second surveys

As part of the study, it was found that 23 teachers rated their level of digital competence lower than it was reported when filling out the survey tool. On the other hand, 8 teachers overestimated their level of digital competence, indicating it was higher than it was when filling out the survey tool. Only 9 teachers had the same level of digital competence both when filling out the first questionnaire and the second.

Area	No.	Statements (1–22)	Pearson Correlation Coefficient between results of digital competence level statements (1–22)
Professional engagement (1)	C1	Organizational communication	0.59
	C2	Professional collaboration	0.35
	С3	Reflective practice	0.53
	C4	Digital CPD	0.24
Digital Resource (2)	C5	Selecting	0.59
	C6	Creating&modifying	0.52
	C7	Managing, protectiong, sharing	0.44
Teaching and learning (3)	C8	Teaching	0.69
	С9	Guidance	0.64
	C10	Collaborative learning	0.65
	C11	Self-regulated learning	0.70
Assessment (4)	C12	Assesment strategies	0.65
	C13	Analysing evidence	0.77
	C14	Feedback & planning	0.79
Empowering learners (5)	C15	Accessibility &inclusion	0.58
	C16	Differentation & personalisation	0.70
	C17	Actively engaging learners	0.68
Facilitating learners' digital	C18	Infiormation & media literacy	0.60
competence (6)	C19	Communication	0.41
	C20	Content creation	0.49
	C21	Responsible use	0.55
	C22	Problem solving	0.63

Table 4. Pearson Correlation Coefficient Result (22 competencies)

Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).**

As part of the study, a correlation analysis was also carried out in order to find out whether there is a relationship between statements characterising digital competence and the level of digital competence, or the total score obtained. The research used Pearson correlation coefficients between the z-scores for the statements 1–22, and the z-scores for the digital competence level of teachers. Overall, a positive relationship was found in statements C8–C14, which are related to the 3rd field Teaching and learning C16–C18, which is related to the 4th field Assessment and C22, which is related to the 6th field Facilitating learners` digital competence. The results demonstrate that the more developed is any of the digital competence area, the higher is the digital competence level. For example, teachers having better results in "Teaaching and learning" have higher digital

competence, and it could be interpreted that they more often introduce digital tools and resources into the study process in order to improve learning intervention effectiveness; and they also experiment and develop new study formats and pedagogical methods.

Discussion

In the digital age, higher education institutions face serious challenges for students and digital tools are transforming the way today's students think and behave (Saykili, 2019). Developing digital competence is an essential component of health professional education to increase confidence in accessing the best evidence for clinical practice (Topol et al., 2015) To better understand the digital competences that teachers should develop, including the promotion of meaningful integration of digital technologies in the study process, it is necessary to find out how the teachers themselves assessed their digital competences. Most of the teachers who participated in this study indicated that their digital competences correspond to the B1 level (40.43%) and B2 level (34.04%) and it is considered as an average level. Similar results were also found, for example, in Cabero-Almenara et al., (2020) a study conducted in Spain using the DigCompEdu framework. Within the framework of the study, professors of higher education institutions were evaluated and the results indicated a significant lack of digital training for instructors, both in terms of both genders, age ranges, and different fields of knowledge. All teachers who participated in the study scored between the basic and intermediate levels (Cabero-Almenara et al., 2020).

Also in a study conducted in Morocco among English teachers, the majority of the study participants had a B1 level. This study observed that teachers with longer teaching experience also had higher levels of digital competence (Benali et al., 2018).

Evaluating the indicators of digital competence of teachers by area, it can be concluded that the weaker indicators of digital competence are exactly in Area 5: Empowering Learners. Therefore, it is necessary to invest in teacher training aimed at practical work with students. It is the implementation of digital technologies that can offer new ways to engage students and better adapt to the educational needs of the students themselves (Shonfeld etal., 2021).

The study revealed that more than half of the research respondents rated their level of digital competence lower and did not correspond to the results collected by filling out the DigComEdu survey questionnaire. Only 22% (n = 9) of respondents had the same self-assessment of digital competence when filling in both the first and second questionnaires. The obtained results indicate a tendency that medical college teachers are not confident about their own digital competences and in the future this may contribute to the emergence of digital divides,

which may manifest as differences in digital and technological skills between lecturers.

Within the framework of the study, several limitations have also been identified, which should be taken into account when interpreting the results. First, it should be noted that this is a small sample of teachers representing one medical college. It would be advisable to repeat the study with a larger number of respondents, including teachers from other branches. The second factor is the low activity of teachers to participate in the study, which could also have influenced the obtained results. It is possible that the uneven distribution of genders, which was present in this study, also revealed some negative results.

In future studies, it would be worthwhile to obtain qualitative data in addition to using the DigCimpEdu instrument, for example by conducting interviews or focus group discussions with teachers, which would strengthen the obtained research results.

Conclusions

The study aimed to provide an opportunity for medical college teachers to evaluate their strengths and weaknesses in using digital technologies for educational purposes and to support and encourage teachers to use digital tools for academic promotion and innovation. The overall level of digital competence of medical college teachers was B1 – Integrator, which shows much room for improvement, especially in using digital technologies in different contexts and for other purposes. Teachers must improve their understanding of adapting digital technologies to pedagogical strategies and methods. The self-assessment of teachers' digital competence is a successful solution that colleges and universities can use to encourage teachers and lecturers to self-reflection and internal motivation to develop digital pedagogical competences and possibly promote a more comprehensive implementation of digital technologies in pedagogical practice.

REFERENCES

Benali, M., Kaddouri, M., & Azzimani, T. (2018). Digital competence of Moroccan teachers of English. *International journal of education and development using information and communication technology*, *14*, 99–120.

Cabero-Almenara, J., & Guillén-Gámez, F. D., Ruiz-Palmero, J., Palacios-Rodríguez, A. (2020). Digital competence of higher education professor according to DigCompEdu. Statistical research methods with ANOVA between fields of knowledge in different age ranges. *Education and Information Technologies*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10639-021-10476-5

European Commission. (2021). Digital Education action Plan 2021–2027. Resetting education and training for the digital age (p. 40). https://ec.europa.eu/education/sites/ default/files/document-library-docs/deap-swd-sept2020_en.pdf

European Council. (2018) Recommendation on key competences for lifelong learning . Official Journal of the European Union. https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content

European Economic and Social Committee. (2017). Opinion of the European Economic and Social Committee on the 'Impact of the digital healthcare revolution on health insurance' (own-initiative opinion).

Ferrari, A., Neza, B., & Punie, Y. (2014). DIGCOMP: A framework for developing and understanding digital competence in Europe. *eLearning Papers*, *38*, 3–17. https://publications.jrc.ec.europa.eu/repository/bitstream/JRC83167/l-na-26035-enn.pdf

Ghomi, M., & Redecker, C. (2019). Digital Competence of Educators (DigCompEdu): Development and Evaluation of a Self-assessment Instrument for Teachers' Digital Competence. *CSEDU*.

Han, E. R., Yeo, S., Kim, M. J., Lee, Y. H., Park, K. H., & Roh, H. (2019). Medical education trends for future physicians in the era of advanced technology and artificial intelligence: an integrative review. *BMC medical education*, *19*(1), 460. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12909-019-1891-5

Kamsker, S., Janschitz, G., & Monitzer, S. (2020). Digital transformation and higher education: A survey on the digital competencies of learners to develop higher education teaching. *International Journal for Business Education*, 160(1), Article 2.

Maini, R., Sehgal, S., & Agrawal, G. (2021). Todays' digital natives: an exploratory study on students' engagement and satisfaction towards virtual classes amid COVID-19 pandemic.

Redecker, C., & Punie, Y. (2017). *European Framework for the Digital Competence of Educators: DigCompEdu*. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union.

Saykili, A. (2019). Higher education in the digital age: The impact of digital connective technologies. *Journal of Educational Technology & Online Learning*, 2(1), 1–15.

Sánchez-Caballél A., Gisbert-Cervera M., Esteve-Mon F. (2020). The digital competence of university students: a systematic literature review. *Aloma*, *38*(1).

Shonfeld, M., Cotnam-Kappel, M., Judge, M., Ng, C. Y., Ntebutse, J. G., Williamson-Leadley, S., & Yildiz, M. N. (2021). Learning in digital environments: a model for crosscultural alignment. *Educational technology research and development : ETR & D*, 69(4), 2151–2170. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11423-021-09967-6

Sillat, L. H., Tammets, K., & Laanpere, M. (2021). Digital Competence Assessment Methods in Higher Education: A Systematic Literature Review. *Education Sciences*, *11*(8), 402. https://doi.org/10.3390/educsci11080402

Tomczyk, Ł., Jáuregui, V. C., de La Higuera Amato, C. A., Muñoz, D., Arteaga, M., Oyelere, S. S., Akyar, Ö. Y., & Porta, M. (2021). Are teachers techno-optimists or techno-pessimists? A pilot comparative among teachers in Bolivia, Brazil, the Dominican Republic, Ecuador, Finland, Poland, Turkey, and Uruguay. *Education and Information Technologies,* 26(3), 2715–2741. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10639-020-10380-4

Topol, E. J., Steinhubl, S. R., & Torkamani, A. (2015). Digital medical tools and sensors. *JAMA*, *313*(4), 353–354. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2014.17125

Appendix A

A1 below 20	This means: You have an opportunity to begin enhancing your skills with digital technology. The feedback you get from this survey has identified a number of actions you can try. Select one or two to start off with over the next learning period, focusing on meaningfully enhancing your teaching strategies. As you do so, you'll find yourself moving to the next step of digital competence, the Explorer level.
A2 between 20 and 33	This means: You are aware of the potential of digital technologies and are interested in exploring them to enhance pedagogical and professional practice. You have started using digital technologies in some areas and will benefit from more consistent practice. You can increase your competence by collaborating and exchanging with colleagues, and by further amplifying your repertoire of digital practices and skills. This will move you to the next step of digital competence, the Integrator level.
B1 between 34 and 49	This means: You experiment with digital technologies in a variety of contexts and for a range of purposes, integrating them into many of your practices. You creatively use them to enhance diverse aspects of your professional engagement. You are eager to expand your repertoire of practices. You will benefit by increasing your understanding about which tools work best in which situations and on fitting digital technologies to pedagogic strategies and methods. Try to give yourself some more time for reflection and adaptation, complemented by collaborative encouragement and knowledge exchange, to reach the next step, Expert (B2).
B2 between 50 and 65	This means: You use a range of digital technologies confidently, creatively and critically to enhance your professional activities. You purposefully select digital technologies for particular situations, and try to understand the benefits and drawbacks of different digital strategies. You are curious and open to new ideas, knowing that there are many things you have not tried out yet. You use experimentation as a means of expanding, structuring and consolidating your repertoire of strategies. Share your expertise with other [lecturers] and continue critically developing your digital strategies to reach the Leader (C1) level.
C1 between 66 and 80	This means: You have a consistent and comprehensive approach to using digital technologies to enhance pedagogic and professional practices. You rely on a broad repertoire of digital strategies from which you know how to choose the most appropriate for any given situation. You continuously reflect on and further develop your practices. Exchanging with peers, you keep updated on new developments and ideas and help other [lecturers] seize the potential of digital technologies for enhancing teaching and learning. If you are ready to experiment a bit more, you'll be able to reach the last stage of competence, as a Pioneer.
C2 above 80	This means: You question the adequacy of contemporary digital and pedagogical practices, in which you are a Leader. You are concerned about the constraints or drawbacks of these practices and driven by the impulse to innovate education even further. You experiment with highly innovative and complex digital technologies and/or develop novel pedagogical approaches. You lead innovation and are a role model for other [lecturers].

Appendix B

		Corrected Item-Total Correlation	Squared Multiple Correlation	Cronbach's Alpha if Item Deleted
C1	I systematically use different digital channels to enhance communication with [student]s, parents and colleagues	.559	.542	.917
C2	I use digital technologies to work together with colleagues inside and outside my educational organization	.383	.601	.920
С3	I actively develop my digital teaching skills	.454	.501	.919
C4	I participate in online training opportunities e.g. online courses, MOOCs, webinars, virtual conferences.	.269	.507	.922
C5	I use different internet sites and search strategies to find and select a range of different digital resources	.611	.721	.917
C6	I create my own digital resources and modify existing ones to adapt them to my needs	.485	.737	.919
C7	l effectively protect personal data, e.g. exams, [student]s' grades, personal data	.435	.510	.920
C8	I carefully consider how, when and why to use digital technologies in [class], to ensure that they are used with added value	.709	.691	.915
С9	I carefully consider how, when and why to use digital technologies in [class], to ensure that they are used with added value	.586	.563	.917
C10	When my [student]s work in groups, they use digital technologies to acquire and document knowledge	.593	.655	.917
C11	I use digital technologies to allow [students] to plan, document and monitor their learning themselves	.681	.741	.915
C12	l use digital assessment tools to monitor [student] progress	.616	.687	.916
C13	I analyze all data available to me to effectively identify [student]s who need additional support	.758	.697	.913
C14	l use digital technologies to provide effective feedback	.765	.739	.914
C15	When I create digital assignments for [students] I consider and address potential practical or technical difficulties	.598	.526	.916
C16	l use digital technologies to offer [students] personalized learning opportunities	.709	.759	.914
C17	I use digital technologies for [student]s to actively participate in [class]	.660	.634	.915

Appendix B. Continued

		Corrected Item-Total Correlation	Squared Multiple Correlation	Cronbach's Alpha if Item Deleted
C18	I teach [students] how to assess the reliability of information and to identify misinformation and bias	.622	.692	.916
C19	I set up assignments which require [students] to use digital means to communicate and collaborate with each other or with an outside audience	.403	.547	.920
C20	l set up assignments which require [students] to create digital content	.412	.586	.920
C21	l teach [students] how to use digital technology safely and responsibly	.577	.551	.917
C22	I encourage [students] to use digital technologies creatively to solve concrete problems e.g. to overcome obstacles or challenges emerging in the learning process	.600	.660	.917

https://doi.org/10.22364/atee.2022.24

Ted Talks as a Digital Material in Foreign Language Teaching

Olga Nezhyva

National University of Food Technologies, Kyiv, Ukraine

Abstract

The paper considers the opportunity of practical use of TED Talks as a digital material in the process of foreign language teaching and learning in educational institutions of different types. It has been shown that TED Talks are quite a significant and powerful tool for developing students' speaking skills. The students improve their communication skills in a foreign language; definitely, it provides further professional opportunities for getting and sharing information, experience, ideas and views. The paper illustrates that the spheres of influence of TED Talks materials, which will be used in the educational process, can be conditionally divided into four groups such as sociocultural dimension, competence dimension, language dimension and psychological dimension. It is emphasized that TED Talks can be multifunctional, satisfying almost any didactic request. However, the teacher should take into account the certain criteria for choosing a video watching. These criteria are: what video is about, the usefulness of the topic video; the appropriateness of the video to the academic environment and the length of the video. All of these criteria help to create the video to be successful and effective. If the teacher neglects these choosing criteria, the teacher will have a negative result after the video watching and during the discussion of this video among students. The paper also highlights that the use of TED Talks during foreign language teaching helps the teacher to solve a number of problems, in particular, to overcome the negative impact of interlanguage interference, and to increase students' motivation to learn a foreign language. Furthermore, it helps to make foreign language teaching more interesting and creative.

Keywords: TED Talks, English language teaching, communication, competences, skills, professional environment, students

Introduction

There have been changes in modern society today. These changes have taken place in the socio-psychological, economic and other spheres of human life as well as education. After all, it encourages the search for new ways, means of

solving the problems of organizing the education process. Therefore, such digital technologies as Cloud Technology, YouTube, Facebook, Twitter, Google, etc. help education to become more accessible. Students can learn using digital tools anywhere and anytime. Moreover, they have the opportunity to gain knowledge, including a non-professional one. Using modern digital materials allows teachers to fully conduct teaching during online classes and makes it interesting at the same time. It encourages teachers to use modern digital tools both for online and offline education (Nezhyva, 2021). These materials make the education process mobile, interesting, individual and differentiated. At the same time, digital tools do not replace the teacher, but complement and expand his/her capabilities. In addition, during foreign language classes, it is necessary to use digital technologies which create educational material that is accessible, interesting and motivating for students.

One such digital material is TED Talks. According to the evidence of current leading professionals in English language teaching, TED Talks is one of the most promising digital materials today. According to Ahluwalia Gurleen & Deepti Gupta (2017), Tara Arntsen (2016), Mark Mallinde (2016), Adam Ramejkis (2012), it is now relevant to turn to TED Talks video, which is a resource for learning a modern foreign language. This is also followed in the article *Theory in Computer Assisted Language Learning Research and Practice* by Philip Hubbard and Michael Levy (2016), where they cover the theory of this issue in detail and consider it in the process of teaching foreign languages using ICT.

The aim of the study

This study proposes the practical use of TED Talks as a digital material in the process of foreign language teaching and learning in educational institutions of different types. Thus, the aim of this paper is to investigate the advantages and opportunities of using TED Talks presentations, and several ways of implementing TED Talks in the ELT classroom.

Methodology

The methodological framework for the study of TED Talks as a digital material in foreign language teaching is based on a number of authentic Englishlanguage sources and the author's personal teaching experience. In particular, interdisciplinary and transdisciplinary approaches were used, it was possible to involve not only traditional but also new methods and principles in the analysis of using TED Talks presentations. Among the classical approaches to scientific knowledge the principles of consistency, integrity, objectivity, historicity and development were applied. Also general scientific methods such as analysis, synthesis, comparison, abstraction, systematization are widely used in this

paper. During the academic semester, 20 TED Talks presentations were used in English classes to recreate a foreign language communication environment that promotes the development of language skills. The participants of this study were 46 first-year students, taught by the teacher, in four English classes at university in Ukraine. Of the 46 students, 16 were male and 30 were female. The students' average age was 18 years. At the beginning and end of the use of this method, all students were tested on the level of foreign language proficiency. The results of these tests, which were compared, were successful and became the basis of this study.

Results

TED Talks (which stands for "Technology, Entertainment, and Design") is a world-renowned conference which consists of short lectures. These lectures focus on the natural sciences, the arts, education, culture, business, global issues, and sustainable development - the broad subject areas which together shape our future. Here are some examples of lectures: Wolpe: Bio-engineering by Paul Root, How to stay calm when you know you'll be stressed by Daniel Levitin, Every Kid Needs a Champion by Rita Pierson. One speech is about 20 minutes and contains a relevant and original opinion topic. However, a successful speech is not just a worthy idea, but also the rich English language (Belmaz, 2019). This is an important factor for the improvement and development of foreign language skills, namely listening and speaking in the process of foreign language learning. After all, each lesson is based on a spoken text (TED Talk), which serves as a meaningful basis for all exercises during the class. In addition, properly chosen TED Talk materials and an organized concept help immerse students in a real communication situation that have to be practiced in order to properly use the foreign language (Hubbard & Levy, 2016). Furthermore, it activates lexical and grammatical material, stimulate conversational processes, and contribute to overcoming the language barrier, which often is in a real communication situation.

Also, in addition to developing new vocabulary, and grammatical and syntactic constructions, TED Talks promote the development of a number of different skills which are useful in an academic and professional environment (Noriko & Chi, 2004). Furthermore, the students learn to make speeches and prepare presentations by themselves, which helps them to feel free in the future when speaking at scientific seminars and conferences, etc.

Thus, we came to the conclusion that the spheres of influence of TED Talks materials, which will be used in the educational process, can be conventionally divided into four groups. They are:

1. The first group is *a socio-cultural dimension*. The topics are in the TED Talks videos relate to the most pressing problems of humanity such as interracial

and interethnic tolerance, social adaptation of people with special needs, the impact of the latest technologies on society, the role of women in modern society, etc. Moreover, obviously, watching such topics of public speaking will not only introduce students to socio-cultural trends, scientific discoveries, hypotheses and technological innovations, but will also help them to form their personal opinion about the presented information, their own vision of the causes and solutions to a particular problem (Reimer, 2002). The provocative nature of the speeches can encourage students to engage in an interested discussion about what they have heard. This discussion can be started even before watching the video and continued after one.

2. The second group is *a competence dimension*. If the teacher organizes watching TED Talks videos correctly, these videos will improve listening skills (direct watching of a recorded public-speaking presentation), reading (working on freely available full transcripts of each video speech published on the website), speaking (as part of an organized discussion on the topic of a speech with an emphasis on structural and lexical features of speech) and writing (which can be organized after the completion of the review and discussion of the problem).

However, TED Talks video develops the most important competences (Yu-jung & Hung-Tzu, 2015) such as:

- presentation skills. The ability to effectively prepare public-speaking presentation. This preparing consists of such stages as choice of topic, effective structuring of main ideas, and selection of techniques for successful verbal and non-verbal interaction with listeners and methods of maintaining a high level of sustained interest of the audience in the information provided by the speaker.
- *note-taking skills*. The ability to note down information, that is, to keep records that will be used for further tasks.

Presentation skills and note-taking skills will be useful to students in the academic environment (when preparing scientific papers and listening to lectures), in the professional environment (in the context of business negotiations and contact with clients, when participating in professional conferences, meetings, seminars as a speaker, as well as the listener) and in everyday life (in the sphere of interpersonal communication and private interests, like noting the main ideas of an interesting book, etc.).

3. The third group is *a language dimension*. If the educator organizes watching TED Talks videos correctly, TED Talks conferences will contribute to a contextual vision of the lexical-grammatical component of the presentations, an understanding the meaning of words, grammatical structures and constructions function in the authentic speech, analysis of lexical and syntactic aspects (Nezhyva, 2017). In addition, we consider it appropriate to emphasize the presence of a large number of speeches made not by native English speakers, but by speakers

who use British English as a foreign language and quite often have a peculiar accent characteristic of their native language. Introducing students to TED Talks shed light on the diversity of foreign accents and will give an opportunity to hear how people speak from different countries. We distinguish that it is extremely useful for the students in their future because today's students will be more likely to conduct academic or professional communication not with native speakers, but with representatives of other countries and cultures (Azimova, 2019). Thus, working with TED Talks will allow them to get used to the distinctive sound of the same words and to appreciate the richness and potential of English as a language of international communication;

4. The fourth group is a psychological dimension. Emotional presentation of information in TED Talks conferences, curiosity and modernity of topics create a favorable learning atmosphere, which positively affects the motivation and desire of students to listen, analyze, and perform relevant tasks. In addition, TED Talks conferences are intended to show that the main goal of the project and the English language as a mediator of international communication is successful communication and expression of one's position, regardless of a foreign accent and limited vocabulary. Students' vision of speakers who are able to interest the audience without being native speakers removes the psychological barrier, teaches not to be afraid of making mistakes in pronouncing words (Reimer, 2002). Moreover, it helps to realize that the main goal of learning English is not the ability to speak absolutely flawlessly, but the ability to express oneself clearly for the interlocutor, the ability to achieve the necessary communicative goal (Nezhyva, 2020 b). Furthermore, the discussion of interesting and topical issues raised in the video is highly likely to cause a communicative reaction in students i.e. students will have a desire to agree or disagree with the following statements, which they heard, express their own opinions, provide counterarguments, etc. It is known that students often evade the answer, remain silent or answer in monosyllables, if the topic of the question is not interesting to them, not up-todate, not relevant or they have nothing to say because they do not have enough information about the discussed problem. When a TED Talks video is successfully chosen for foreign language classes, as well as the correct construction of the process of working with it, it will inspire students to speak i.e. students start to make their own statements and exchange ideas.

Such a wide range of advantages and areas of influence of TED Talks presentations requires a balanced approach to the creation of educational tasks in order to fully realize the potential of these videos as educational material when teaching English to students of higher education institutions. Moreover, TED Talks videos can be used into the educational process as in and out of class. If a TED Talks video is offered for watching in the class, then it should traditionally be accompanied by quality worksheets with properly structured exercises.

Of course, the teacher can use English textbooks which consists of TED Talks videos e.g. textbooks by National Geographic Learning. Otherwise, the teacher creates his/her own classroom materials. Before watching TED Talks, it is advisable to organize a preliminary discussion of the relevant problem, which will be revealed in the prepared video. Moreover, the teacher should give students the word lists as well as terms and expressions which will be used in the video. This list is called the concept-based vocabulary teaching. This is a conceptual approach to the presentation of new lexical items, which promotes the development of critical thinking because it helps to understand the connections between different concepts (Azimova, 2019). While watching the video, which, by the way, can be divided into parts for a more detailed discussion of each piece of information, students can be asked to find answers to questions prepared in advance by the teacher, fill in the gaps in the text, take notes, etc. After watching the video, a discussion can be held in the form of a debate during which students will have to support or give arguments to disagree with the following statements, which they heard. Moreover, students can be asked to retell the video, or even repeat the speaker's speech using nonverbal communication and body language (Yu-jung & Hung-Tzu, 2015).

Moreover, students can receive tasks (both in the classroom and as part of independent work outside the classroom) to make a speech on a related topic or a topic of their own choice or write an essay. Another task is verbal and non-verbal communication explains in detail, i.e. analyzing the structure of the public speaking. This task can be useful for Masters and PhD students who are working on research papers and preparing presentations at international conferences.

An interesting approach to watching video is offered by Mark Mallinder (2016), who provides videos to his students to watch them outside the classroom every week. First, his students get acquainted with the full text of the speech (transcript), find out the meaning of new phrases and words. Then they listen to the speech, reading its text in parallel and paying attention to the accents in the words. Later, students listen to the speaker without having the text of the speech in front of them, observing the general intonation and accents. Finally, students are asked to reproduce this same speech by making an audio recording and sending it to the teacher. Moreover, following these steps, audio recordings of student speech are listened to and analyzed in the classroom, discussion of new words and phrases is organized, and discussion is held on meaningful topics raised by TED Talks speakers (Mallinder, 2016).

Another educator Alexandra Lowe (2013) offers students to independently choose videos to watch at home, and in classes organizes watching of short fragments of the most interesting videos which were liked by students. This approach to the organization of independent work is effective because during classes, students freely discuss what they are really interested in. Furthermore,

the students can also learn from others about exciting videos which they will want to watch in their spare time. This instills interest in learning English (Lowe, 2013).

According to the purpose of the lesson, TED Talks materials can be multifunctional, satisfying almost any didactic requests. However, working with the video will be successful and effective if the teacher should take into account the certain criteria for choosing a video watching (Arntsen, 2016). These criteria are:

- *The usefulness of the topic video.* Taking into account the fact that the topic of TED Talks presentations, as indicated above is impressive in its diversity, the teacher should conscientiously select videos, in according with the curriculum, the general topic of the current module and a specific lesson. Moreover, it should be appropriateness, expediency, usefulness and the interest of the problem revealed in the speech for students of a specific group.
- The appropriateness of the video to the academic environment. This criterion is very similar in nature to the previous one, but it concerns a more detailed study of the video by the teacher before demonstrating it to a group of students. Here, the teacher should check the choosing video for the presence of offensive, obscene language, jokes or stories that carry an overly provocative message or have a religious, political, or sexist character. Moreover, the teacher should pay not least attention to the person and image of the speaker, as well as the academic and socio-cultural readiness and interest of students in the chosen topic.
- The level of language and pronunciation difficulty. When the teacher chooses a recorded public-speaking presentation offered on the TED Talks website, he/she should analyze their lexical-grammatical, phonetic and stylistic features. For the reason that a chosen public-speaking presentation will should have the lexical and grammatical units, the construction of sentences, the style of presenting information, non-verbal communication, clarity of pronunciation which will correspond to the level of students' knowledge of the English language and will not hinder perception and understanding.
- *The length of a video*. TED Talks presentations usually vary between 5–20 minutes, so the teacher should clearly plan the lesson that the chosen length of video meets the requirements of the type of the lesson.

If the teacher neglects these selecting criteria, he/she will have a negative result after the video watching and during the discussion of this video among students. So, for example, students may lose interest in the public-speaking presentation due to insufficient understanding of the vocabulary or speaking too fast in a presentation. Furthermore, the incorrect time calculation led to a violation of the structure of the lesson and inferior work with the heard information.

Moreover, the choice of social sensitivity issues for which students are not prepared to discuss, or which touch on personal experiences of students, can cause indignation or even cause too heated discussion.

Discussion

This paper had shown the rich potential of the TED Talks presentations as a quite significant and powerful tool for developing students' speaking skills. The potential direction of further scientific and methodological development of this topic is to conduct a practical experiment (with elements of surveys and observations of experimental and control groups) of implementing TED Talks materials in the English classes in higher education institutions of different types. It will allow to demonstrate the educational potential of this resource, as well as to find the most effective ways of incorporating it into the process of foreign language teaching.

Conclusion

After the collected and analyzed the results of students' level of foreign language proficiency based on the used method, some conclusions can be drawn. These are touched on one by one below:

- TED Talks offers a large number of recorded public-speaking presentations which present the process of the foreign language learning as one of the most significant trend of the 21st century.
- TED Talks are a powerful tool for preparing students to communicate in an English-speaking professional and academic environment.
- The use of TED Talks during foreign language teaching helps the teacher to solve a number of problems, in particular, to overcome the negative impact of interlanguage interference, and to increase students' motivation to learn a foreign language.
- TED Talks helps to make foreign language teaching more interesting and creative.

REFERENCES

Arntsen, T. (2016, September). English language teaching with TED Talks. TESOL Connections.

Azimova, S. (2019). The Communicative Approach in English Language Teaching. Bulletin of Science and Practice, 5(4), 471–475.

Belmaz, Y. (2019). Criteria of efficiency of higher education teachers (us and Great Britain experience). *Scientific Journal of Khortytsia National Academy (Series: Pedagogy. Social Work)*, *1*(1), 74–82. Publishing house of the Municipal Institution of Higher Education Khortytsia National Educational Rehabilitation Academy of Zaporizhzhia Regional Council.

Gurleen, A. & Gupta, D. (2017). Impact of Technology-Enhanced Language Learning on the Writing Skills of Engineering Students: A Case Study. *Multiculturalism and Technology-Enhanced Language Learning*. https://doi.org/10.4018/978-1-5225-1882-2.ch003

Hubbard, P. & Levy, M. (2016). Theory in computer-assisted language learning research and practice. *The Routledge Handbook of Language Learning and Technology*. Routledge, pp. 24–38. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315657899.

Lowe, A. (2013). TED Talks as authentic listening materials: turning points and neardeath experiences. 1st of June 2022. http://blog.tesol.org/ted-talks-as-authentic-listen-ingmaterials-turning-points-and-near-death-ex-periences

Mallinder, M. (2016, August). Teaching English using TED Talks. EFL Magazine. The Magazine for English Language Teachers, Issue 7.

Nezhyva, O. (2017). The phenomenon of educational policy: national and international dimensions. Kyiv: Foreign Trade.

Nezhyva, O. (2020). Modernization of educational policy in the context of modern civilizational processes. *International Scientific Journal "Universities and Leadership*". Kyiv: NAPN Ukrayiny, 1(9), 78–86. https://doi.org/10.31874/2520-6702-2020-9-1-78-86.

Nezhyva, O. (2021). The Aspects of Smart Education in The World. *Khazar Journal of Humanities and Social Sciences*, 24(3), 62–72. https://doi.org/10.5782/2223-2621.2021.24.3.62

Noriko, I. & Chi, J. C. (2004). Authentic Video in the Beginning ESOL Classroom: Using a Full-Length Feature Films for Listening and Speaking Strategy Practice. *English Teaching Forum*, pp. 30–32.

Ramejkis, A. (2012). TED talks – teaching presentation skills to Business English students. 10th of July 2022. https://www.academia.edu/4072686/TED_talks_teaching_presentation_skills_to_Business_English_students

Reimer, M. J. (2002). English and communication skills for the global engineer. *Global Journal of Engineering Education*, 6(1), 91–100.

Yu-jung, C. & Hung-Tzu, H. (2015). Exploring TED Talks as a Pedagogical Resource for Oral Presentations: A Corpus-Based Move Analysis. *English Teaching & Learning*, *39*(4), 29–62. https://doi.org/10.6330/ETL.2015.39.4.02

About the author

Olga Nezhyva is a Doctor of Philosophical Sciences (Philosophy of Education), Associate Professor at the Department of Foreign Languages for Professional Purposes, National University of Food Technologies, Ukraine. She is the author of over 100 scientific works, including articles and books. Her research focuses on modern methods of teaching, the use of innovative technologies in language teaching, teacher-student interaction and teacher education.

e-mail: nezhyva@gmail.com

ORCID ID 0000-0003-4229-6754

https://doi.org/10.22364/atee.2022.25

Theoretical Aspects of Teaching English Grammar through Bilingual Comparativistics at the University Level

Larisa Izotova, Olena Saprunova

V. N. Karazin Kharkiv National University, Ukraine University of Latvia, Latvia

Abstract

The article deals with an aspect of the research to explore the concept of teaching English grammar through bilingual comparativistics as one of the best methods of teaching English grammar at non-linguistic faculties of the university. This article seeks the answers to research questions: how effective is the bilingual education in teaching foreign languages comparing with monolingual one.

The article aims is to substantiate theoretical aspects of teaching English through bilingual comparativistics at the university level and to determine the main approaches to English effective assimilation by students at non-linguistic faculties.

The data were collected by performing the content analysis of scientific literature via the Internet as electronic media in accordance with such criteria as the definition of other researchers' achievements in the studied field of knowledge and determination of different points of view on the problem studied for defining perspectives of our research. The content analysis of the scientific literature was organized using such methods as *the deconstruction method* which takes into account such criteria as preserving the context of text meaning from primary sources and its correct use in the scientific research; *the method of apperception* which helped the research to be supplemented with the new information from other sources related to the chosen topic of the scientific project; *the descriptive method* allowed to highlight the key words in the study for substantiating authors' points of view relying on them.

The theoretical data were supported with the statistical data of the practical part of the research as a pilot research project on the use of a bilingual system for teaching English grammar through bilingual comparativistics for the second-year students of Faculty of Economics in V. N. Karazin Kharkov University. Theoratical aspects were studied at University of Latvia.are obtained. To confirm the effectiveness of the theoretically grounded statements of teaching English through bilingual comparativistics at the university level at the control stage of the experiment, all the indicators of students' mastery of English grammar were diagnosed using the following criteria:

motivative level (motivation, positive students' attitude to teaching English grammar), *substantive level* (the development of analytical thinking), *procedural level* as a level of the formation of general educational skills (to be creative, educational: orientation in English grammar rules, correct oral speech, avoiding interference).

Theoretical aspects and special approaches to improve a process of teaching English grammar through bilingual comparativistics at the university level for the error-free intercultural students' communication are determined. The conceptual and terminological apparatus of the problem is characterized. Advantages and disadvantages of teaching English through bilingual comparativistics at the university level are specified. Factors for preventing interference are identified. The integrative educational activity that synthesizes essential conditions for teaching English grammar through bilingual comparativistics are determined.

The authors came to the conclusion that teacher's actions to attract students' attention and interest to learn English grammar through bilingual Comparativistics at the university level can be provided by the formation of the general semantic system which is the same in both languages (native and foreign ones) in which meanings of foreign language concepts are revealed for students through concepts in their native language at the verbal and semantic level, as well as at the cognitive and pragmatic ones that show such students' results in learning English grammar through bilingual Comparativistics effectively as well as developing their creativity, analytical and logical thinking, helping students to speak English fluently, avoiding interference. Perfect results allow students use complex English grammatical structures correctly in their error-free intercultural communication and help them to master British English at level B2.

Keywords: bilingualism, communication, comparativistics, English, foreign language, teaching, university

Introduction

Today the necessity to master British English at level B2 is a general feature of the language acquisition by students at the university. However, monolingual learning English gives examples of incorrect strategies because they provide ineffective efforts spending on teaching. Especially, today English teachers are faced with a problem when their explanation of grammar rules in FL2 (the second foreign language) does not allow students to use complex grammatical structures of a foreign language in their speech correctly.

Also, a lot of researches improve that the recipients' mental processes usually occur when FL2 is learned through the bilingual perception (Who are bilingual persons?, 2022). Whereas, the recent researches made by neurologists, psychologists and linguists with the help of the latest brain scanning tools revealed a lot of cognitive and intellectual advantages of bilingualism. The main explanation of them is the fact that our incredibly flexible brain is perfectly adapted to work in a multitask mode. This is partly explained by the grammatical tools of the language. Bilinguals rarely confuse languages, but they may use a word

or a grammatical structure from another language when their interlocutor also speaks it. As the scientist Vinche notes: "Bilinguals learn grammatical rules better and identify errors in the grammatical constructions easier" (Vinche, 2016). According to that, the consequences of the bilingual interaction between different English grammatical structures and native ones can be seen at almost all levels and have close, extensive connections between these two languages.

The topicality of the research is strengthened by English teachers' interest to find effective approaches for improving the process of teaching English grammar at the university level which can not only systematize grammar rules in students' mind with the aim of the error-free intercultural communication, but also help learners to understand and study a content of different subjects better.

Thus, our hypothesis is that the best method of teaching English grammar at non-linguistic faculties of the university can be only effective through bilingual Comparativistics: it lets students develop their creativity and analytical thinking, be motivated in the educational process, avoid interference, be oriented in complex foreign grammar rules well and speak English correctly.

The present article is a theoretical concept paper based on a literature review and it is supported with the practical part of a pilot research project on the use of a bilingual system for teaching English grammar through bilingual comparativistics for the second-year students as the analysis of students' tests on mastering English grammar.

Basing on the study of the scientific literature, it was established that certain aspects of the mentioned problem were revealed in foreign and Ukrainian scientists' researches.

It offers and seeks English lecturers working at non-linguistic faculties at the universities how to improve the English teachers' qualification at the university for making students' level of English higher.

At the same time, the analysis of the scientific papers on the mentioned problem brought us to the conclusion that the issue of teaching English grammar through bilingual comparativistics at the university level remains unsolved, although the problem of improving students' foreign language communicative competence at non-linguistic faculties of the university becomes topical.

The subject of the research is teaching the English language.

The object of the research is teaching the English grammar through bilingual Comparativistics at the university level.

The aim of the study is to substantiate theoretical aspects of teaching English through bilingual comparativistics at the university level and to determine the main approaches to English effective assimilation by students at non-linguistic faculties.

The following research tasks are defined in accordance with the topicality of the research:

- 1) to characterize the conceptual and terminological apparatus of the problem of teaching English through bilingual comparativistics at the university level.
- to specify advantages and disadvantages of teaching English through bilingual Comparativistics.
- 3) to identify factors to prevent interference.
- 4) to determine an integrative educational activity that synthesizes the essential conditions for teaching the English grammar through bilingual comparativistics.

Literature review

Firstly, it should be noted that *comparativistics* is a science that studies processes by comparing them (Azanova & Pogosova, 2019). Secondly, *bilingualism* in Linguistics means the ability to speak both languages native and foreign ones at the same time. It came from Latin bilingua – "*bilingualism*" (Who are bilingual persons?, 2022). Thus, scientist U. Weinreich in his work "*Language contacts*" states that bilingualism refers to the ability of using two languages in turn and their use depends on the conditions of the language communication (Weinreich, 1979). Thirdly, researcher V. Belyanin distinguishes that there are two kinds of bilingualism: the natural (a native language) and the artificial (educational) ones emphasizing on the fact that if we learn English with the help of the latter, the foreign language must be learned applying forceful efforts and using special methods and techniques (Belyanin, 2008).

Azanova and Pogosova explore the issues devoted to polylinguistic teaching foreign languages. The authors showed several multilingual lessons, the analysis which helped them to show special features of the communication skills formation and main approaches of work in teaching German based on English. It led the authors to the conclusion about the positive influence of FL2 in teaching FL1 and vice versa. Azanova and Pogosova believe that polylinguistic lessons help to overcome difficults connected with interference FL1. (Azanova, Pogosova).

Ruzhnitsky and Potemkina's article covers the analysis of bilingualism as it relates to linguodidactics and the language personality theory. The author gives a detailed analysis of the structural differences between a native language personality and the second language personality and desribes a model of bilingual personality formation.

Scientist Shcherba considers methods of teaching foreign languages. The author paid his attention to peculiarities of teaching English grammar, especially, to a correct word order in an English sentence and parts of speech for their correct using in the foreign written and oral speech.

Velichkova and Abakumova devoted their article to the problem of creating early artificial bilingualism from Psycholinguistics point of view and a theory of

the speech activity. Basic principles and approaches to the organization of the process of early bilingualism establishment are presented.

The article written by Patt reveals the meaning of a concept of comparativistics: what it studies, problems of this discipline and its key ideas.

Vincha shows peculiarities of bilingualism in human thinking. The author considers that the human brain is adapted to multilingualism through the evolution.

The study of Khaliyeva is particularly important for our study which is devoted to a problem of teaching how to understand oral foreign speech in the interlinguocultural communication based on the development of both linguistic and cognitive consciousness. Weyranht studies the problem of a language mix in his research written on 209 pages, which addresses to an issue of how to avoid interference when a foreign language is learned, that is why the psychological side of bilingualism in modern researchers on the topic of the language interaction is promoted to the fore. So, considering various aspects of learning a foreign language: phonetics, grammar and vocabulary, Weinreich uses the same methods of analyzing cases of substitutions and displacements old elements with new ones and carefully separates these issues from "non-linguistic conditions".

Methodology

Due to the need of exploring theoretical notions and defining the concepts "bilingual comparativistics" the research of scientific literature was organized using such methods as *the deconstruction method* which takes into account such criteria as preserving the context of text meaning from primary sources and its correct use in the scientific research; *the method of apperception* which helped the research to be supplemented with the new information from other sources related to the chosen topic of the scientific project; *the descriptive method* allowed to highlight the key words in the study for substantiating authors' points of view relying on them.

The data were collected by performing the content analysis of scientific literature via the Internet as electronic media in accordance with such criteria as the definition of other researchers' achievements in the studied field of knowledge and determination of different points of view on the problem studied for defining perspectives of our research.

So, a theoretical sampling was used as most appropriate type of sampling for the grounded theory research to select new research ideas, text-books, documents. It includes a scientific study by Vayrankht on 209 pages, scientific articles such authors as Azanova and Pogosova, Shcherba, Velichkova, Winch, Ruzhnitsky and Potemkina, Patt, a synopsis of the dissertation for the degree of PhD in Pedagogy of Khalieva, a textbook on Psycholinguistics written by Belyanin.

The statistical data were obtained the results of a pilot research project on the use of a bilingual system for teaching English grammar through bilingual comparativistics the second-year students of Faculty of Economics in V. N. Karazin Kharkov University. Theoratical aspects were studied at University of Latvia.

The study sample consists of two groups of the second year students from Faculty of Economics of V. N. Karazin Kharkov National University, Ukraine: a group of specialty "Finance and Credit" in the quantity of 21 students and a group of specialty "Entrepreneurship, commerce and exchange activities" in the quantity of 13 students. One group learned grammar only in English, the second group learned grammar rules through bilingual comparativistics during a semester.

Our dedication to gather and apply the knowledge with the aim of how to improve the English teachers' qualification for teaching English grammar at non-linguistic faculties of the university and based on a commitment of ethical principles based on the principles of research ethics: students' verbal information agreement was received for the respondents' voluntary participation in the study with full information about what this participation means for them and what they give their consent on before taking part in the study. Participants were informed about purposes, a process, methods, expected benefits, potential risks and study participants' rights before receiving the verbal information agreement. They had the right to stop their participation in the research at any time they want.

To confirm the effectiveness of the theoretically grounded statements of teaching English through bilingual comparativistics at the university level at the control stage of the experiment, all the indicators of students' mastery of English grammar were diagnosed using the following criteria: *motivative level* (motivation, positive students' attitude to teaching English grammar), *substantive level* (the development of analytical thinking), *procedural level* as a level of the formation of general educational skills (to be creative, educational: orientation in English grammar rules, correct oral speech, avoiding interference).

For testing students' *motivation*, the researcher used "Methodology for diagnosing the learning motivation of students" by Rean and Yakunin (Rean, Yakunin 2004). The motives of students' learning activity were studied according to the 5-point system and their significance for us using the following criteria *professional motives, motives for creative self-realization, educational and cognitive motives* (1 point corresponds to the minimum significance of the motive, 5 points to the maximum).

So, according to the first criterion, at the control stage of the experiment, the level of the formation of students' *positive attitude* to the process of learning English grammar was defined. Conductive interviews, the observation after students' work in classes and studies of that activity were carried out by researchers. It should be noted, that after analyzing the data of conductive interviews and the

observation after students' work in classes, positive changes as for students' development of the grounded motives were highlighted. The students became more and more motivated and oriented towards mastering new knowledge and getting excellent marks.

Thus, for checking the level of *orientation in English grammar rules* according to the corriculumn learned during the semester, authors used *empirical* and *praxisymmetric* methods as testing. The material in tests was given in the form in which it was given by a lecturer in class or according to a textbook. The algorithmic application included the control of student's ability to use rules for solving typical tasks of the subject studied only within a specific section of the training course. The main evaluation criteria was to do tasks correctly and meaningfully. The tests included written tasks to check students' knowledge on English grammar. The maximum number of points was 20. *A recognition test* was proposed, in accordance with which the control of student's ability to select (recognize) the necessary information from the proposed variant of the task. The student received one point for the right answer. The forms of the control of students' results for the semester were two current written tests and a final written test.

The examination of students' formation of speaking skills was done with the aim to evaluate students' communicative and speech competences taking into account the linguistic correct using grammar rules in their *oral speech*. The main criteria of students results evaluation is student's ability to reproduce the required knowledge by his memory without explaining it. There was no external help. Students' knowledge was evaluated taking into account correct using of the vocabulary and grammar studied (max. 20%). The evaluation criterion was considered to be a correct answer without any grammatical and lexical mistakes. Thus, the communicative task was considered done. The forms of our test control were the oral presentations giving in two current tests and final one.

The test method was used to check students' ability to *avoid interference* in English. The main evaluation criterion was to do the paraphrasing giving phrases in the task correctly. One point was given for one correct paraphrasing; 0 points were given for incorrect paraphrasing with making a mistake or without any answer. The maximum number of points is 20. The forms of control of students' achievements for the semester were to current written tests and a final one.

The method of doing non-standard task was applied to test the development of students' *analytical thinking* and *creativity*. The task was creative requiring more complex mental activity such as analysis, synthesis, comparison, abstraction, generalization. Students must master operations and methods of analysis to develop their *analytical thinking* and *creativity* during their period of training at the university. So, the task is to make a mental memo scheme on an English grammar rule obtaining the information logically and analytically.
Also, we relied on the theory of divergent (creative) thinking by Gilford (Gilford, 1967), according to which four main criteria for evaluating students' creative thinking were identified: 1. "Fluency" – the ability to produce a large number of ideas; 2. "Flexibility" – the ability to apply a variety of strategies in solving problems; 3. "Originality" – the ability to produce unusual, non-standard ideas; 4. "Development" – the ability to develop non-standard ideas in detail. Scored 1 point for correctly presented scheme using grammar and 1 point for creativity. Forms of control were carried out tasks throughout the semester (Gilford, 1967).

When processing the results of all types of testing, the average score of the indicators was taken into account. On the basis of the received results of the research, the control data of the students of the experimental and control groups were insured. They are giving in Table1.

Results

The bar chart shows (Fig. 1) the percentage change of students' test results in group A in which English grammar was learned through bilingual comparativistics and in group B in which English grammar was taught only in English from the beginning of semester in September and to the end of the semester in December.



Figure 1. The indexes of students' test results of mastering English grammar during the semester from September to December, %

In September the index of students' test results (enter testing) (%) on mastering English grammar was the same in both groups about 20% because of the level of knowing certain grammar rules learned by some students beforehand at school.

As it is shown at the end of the semester in December group A, which learned the English grammar through bilingual comparetivistics had the highest total share of test results 94%. The total share of test results in group B, which only learned the foreign grammar in English, was only 51% in December.

So, by the end of semester in Deember group A had the highest index of students' test results among two groups at 95%. Group B had the lowest one at 51%. The good results in mastering English grammar through bilingual comparativistics in group A are 43% higher than in group B in which students learned English grammar only in the foreign language.

The table compares data about the indicators of effectiveness (%) of teaching English grammar through bilingual comparativistics in group A and teaching English only using the foreign language in group B and total correlations index (%) after receiving results of a pilot research project at the end of the semester.

The following indicators are motivation, positive students' attitude to teaching English grammar, the development of analytical thinking, creativity, orientation in English rules, correct oral speech, avoiding interference were diagnosed.

So, motivation is 62% higher in group A than in group B.

Positive students' attitude to learning English grammar is 23% higher in group A than in group B.

The development of analytical thinking is 53% higher in group A than in group B. *Creativeness* is 58% higher in group A than in group B.

Mastering English rules is 55% higher in group A than in group B.

Correct oral speech is 46% higher in group A than in group B.

Avoiding interference is 51% higher in group A than in group B.

It is noticeable that the proportion of all indicators in group A taking up English grammar using bilingual comparativistics is almost double the percentage of group B.

Overall, the performance indicators of the effectiveness of teaching English grammar through bilingual comparativistics at the university level at the end of the semester giving in Table 1 show that results in group A are on average 49% higher than in group B in which students only learned the foreign grammar in English.

So, the results, given in Figure 1 and Table 1, show that teaching English grammar through bilingual coparativistics improves students' language competence to carry out the necessary communication tasks according with correct grammar. Thus, educational bilingualism in English classes of non-linguistic faculties of the university is more effective than monolinguizm.

Table 1. Descriptive statistics (%) of the criteria of the indicators of students' mastery of English grammar during the semester

Criteria of the indicators of students' mastery of English grammar	Group A	Group B	Correlations, %
1. Motivation	97%	35%	62%
2. Positive students' attitude to teaching English	98%	75%	23%
The development of students' analytical thinking	85%	32%	53%
4. Creativity	75%	17%	58%
5. Orientation in English grammar rules	95%	40%	55%
6. Correct oral speech	83%	73%	46%
7. Avoiding interference	85%	34%	51%

Note: average index correlation = 49%

Discussion

There is no doubt that students have a strategy for learning English in the natural, interactive environment using both languages their native language and a foreign one.

Meanwhile, researchers Velichkova and Abakumova confirm that a person is biologically adapted to the code acquisition and for using some codes (language systems) in his speech: another system of codes (a foreign language) has the same functions as the first one (a native language) (Velichkova & Abakumova, 2019).

Also, the practice shows that the concept acquisition is specific for a foreign culture and occurs with the help of the native language as a main tool of the human cognition. This was noted by scientist Shcherba who says that a student only understands a foreign phenomenon when he manages to find an equivalent for this phenomenon in his native language (Shcherba, 2014).

It should be noted that researchers Ruzhytskyi and Potemkina also confirm that a foreign language speaking personality is created on the basis of a native language speaker. A person who is taught a foreign language perceives the foreign speech he learns through a prism of his native language automatically. He "translates" some information from an unknown code into known one using the existing conceptual base (Ruzhitsky & Potiomkina, 2015).

So, linguistic researchers show that while the foreign language is being learned, the mixed bilingualism is being formed which is characterized by the presence of the common semantic basis of two languages in which specific features of a foreign language culture are explained to a person through the meanings from the native language.

It should be noted that a common substrate from both the native and foreign languages provides main impetus for their interaction (a place of the two languages contact) between bilinguals' linguistic consciousness and linguistic activity. Units, that have certain common features, forms or a content always interact. The depth of their interaction depends on how two language structures are close to each other.

Thus, scientists emphasize that first of all the emotional interaction serves for the successful development of the linguistic interaction between two languages (obtaining the sufficient volume of the language material (input)) which reflects the units of this foreign language clearly in the hierarchy of their formation in language ontogenesis and the nature of the language material representation which can be called compressive and it is for the successful development of the process of the linguistic bilingual interaction. It refers to the acquisition of prosodic and segmental units of the spoken language, lexical and syntactic units in their psycholinguistic interrelationship taking into account their features in the natural language ontogenesis, but it is shortened by the time of their acquisition. This factor is a compressive process of the presentation and assimilation of a non-native language in accordance with the natural consolidation of the language (Velichkova, L. & Abakumova, 2019).

In particular, scientists found out that our brain can find language patterns subconsciously, that's why when you don't think about the logic of the foreign language communication, you achieve better results, and those students or teachers, who try to study out the language logic and identify certain patterns, always show the worst results (Vinche, 2016).

Therefore, the success of learning English grammar through bilingual Comparetivistics using two languages and a content at the same time does not require the logic, understanding occurs subconsciously.

But, some linguists believe that "speech porridge" appears in the human brain when we learn English using our native language at the same time. It seems to us that words are confused with each other and languages interfere with each other, too. Philologists call this phenomenon as interference.

Thus, researcher I. Khalieva confirms that interference between two language systems inevitably occurs at the cognitive level in the process of learning a foreign language (Khalieva, 1990).

However, we note that students should learn how to overcome a confusion between their mother tongue and English, formulate sentences clearly and express their thoughts in English correctly.

It should be noted that interference is easier to be prevented when you pay your attention to similarities and differences between two languages in the process of teaching English grammar using any content: learning words and phrases from the English content using sound associations to these words, explain

foreign grammatical phenomena in students' native language, but examples only should be given in English. This makes it possible to understand and take into account the peculiarities of using certain English phrases or grammatical constructions and rules.

As practice shows, after explaining English rules in students' native language with the examples in English, a recipient makes a breakthrough in understanding the material learned orienting in complex grammar rules and starts making correct English grammatical constructions using each language as a separate unit, comparing and understanding cognitive and linguistic components at the same time.

It should be understood that there are no almost complete and systematic descriptions how intensively the native language influences on the language balance when English grammar is learned. Moreover, extensive connections between any native language or English cause differences in "mobility" of the penetration of various grammatical structures into the foreign speech. Although, there is no any complete isolation between various factors of the grammar: the influence of the native language corrects the effect of structural units of the foreign language grammar and vice versa.

But, as a number of scientists think, bilingualism lets the broadest consequences of the grammatical structural interaction of English and any native language occur in the image perception of certain foreign language grammatical structures and their reproduction (Azanova & Pogosova, 2019).

Thus, in our opinion, the mobile function of the English grammar rules which are learned through bilingual comparative principles can be implemented: firstly, by an associative mnemonic scheme as a system of the introduction and semantization of the foreign language phenomena when the difference and similarity between two languages (native and foreign ones) are understood through the image perception of a certain English grammar rule. This approach can be characterized as "similarity and difference". Where "similarity" is a certain number of some English grammar structures included in a mnemonic scheme, and "difference" is the native language in which the description of these structures is presented or a mental image that is clear in both languages.

For example, when grammatical tenses are learned, students can imagine the Present Continuous Tense as a mental image of a sendglass, The Present Perfect Tense can be imagined like a glass of brewed coffee, The Present Simple Tense as a balance wheel. It should be noted that mnemonic schemes are understandable for everyone and can be remembered easily thanks to associative thinking, when two brain hemispheres work at the same time: the left one, which is responsible for logical thinking, and the right one which is responsible for image thinking. That is why the English tenses can be understood cognitively. So, as our practice improves, making mnemonic grammar schemes by students develop their creativity and arouse their interest to the process of learning.

Besides, the approach of learning English grammar through mnemonic schemes correlates with K. Ushinsky's principle of the educational processes in accordance with the nature, in which learning a language is equated to the development of students' existing language ability, which determines goals of language learning including the most universal one as the accelerated development of thinking (Ushinsky,1998).

The algorithm of work with mnemonic schemes includes teacher's explanation of a meaning of a certain English grammatical category (its cognitive content) in the native language and comparing with analogues from English. Then students continue mastering actions of analyzing foreign language categories step by step using mnemonic schemes and what reflects the cognitive-linguistic content of these categories. Later, when the action of the analysis a foreign language phenomenon becomes automatic, students can use mnemonic schemes as reference material.

But, the English grammatical categories is worth to be presented to students as a complex of signs and rules like mnemonic schemes. The phenomena of subconscious grammar (for example, language clichés) makes sense to be presented in the form of certain units making them according to the situation in which they are usually used, comparing them with the units of the native language being relevant to this situation. In this case we can hope that mechanisms of creating any foreign language communication will be taken without a deformation of any information from the English content and without "fitting" it to external similar phenomena of the native language. Thus, the foreign grammatical phenomenon is revealed for studying categorically, that is in the complex of essential features and links between them which let students to orient in the English grammar.

Therefore, the results of our study let us confirm that firstly, learning English through bilingualism provides the creation of certain constructions in the student's mind which represents the system of understanding English not only at the verbal-semantic level, but also at the cognitive and pragmatic levels, helps to develop students' analitical thinking and creativity.

The presence of the linguistic environment of the native language allows us to conclude that learning some linguistic elements in English should be provided basing on the native language in order to prevent interference. Thus, in order to achieve this goal, at the stage of updating any content, students of non-language faculties can compare, for an example, a word order in the English and native language sentences, indirect speech, Simple and Continuous Tenses with the same structures in their native language analyzing a degree of the correspondence between the linguistic phenomena of both languages, differences characteristics in English and native language can be found, too.

Secondly, if we think about the nature of teaching any educational grammar material in English and peculiarities of its acquisition we should speak about the

development of the language ability, which occurs in the process of using the native language in any educational process.

Such a visual demonstration of similarities and differences of grammatical and syntactic features from the native and foreign languages helps to the English language acquisition of the subject content more effectively and uses learned grammatical structures in the communication correctly and also motivates students to learn this foreign language.

Therefore, each of these stages is related to the previous and the following ones and determines a final effect of mastering the foreign language phenomenon which is learned under the conditions of the native language dominance. So, our hypothesis is supported by our results.

Further our research will be devoted to the description of the conditions for the formation of educational bilingualism in linguodidactics during the process of teaching English students of non-linguistic faculties of the university.

Conclusions

So, the author came to the conclusion that the teacher's actions to attract the students' attention and interest to learn English grammar through bilingual comparativistics at the university level can be provided by the formation of the general semantic system which is the same in both languages (native and foreign ones) and in which meanings of foreign language concepts are revealed for students through concepts in their native language at the verbal and semantic level, as well as at cognitive and pragmatic ones that show such students' results in learning English as developing their creativity, analytical thinking, helping them to speak English correctly avoiding interference.

The significance of the results show that teaching English grammar through bilingual comparetivistics at the university level allows students use complex English grammatical structures correctly in their error-free intercultural communication, helps them to master British English at level B2 and become perfect specialists in their future professional life.

The research was done for the money of Latvien government.

References

Guilford, J. The Nature of Human Intelligence. Me. GrawHill, 1967. 248 p.

Азанова, Т., Погосова, Н. (2019). Реализация технологии полилингвиального обучения иностранным языкам как средство формирования иноязычной коммуникативной компетенции у обучающихся [The implementation of the technology for foreign language multilingual teaching as a means of students' foreign language communicative qualification formation]. Обучение иностранным языкам–современные проблемы и решения [Teaching

foreign languages – modern problems and solutions] / [Сборник материалов I Международной конференции, 5–6 ноября 2019 г.] [The collection of papers of the I-st International Conference, November 5–6, 2019], 24–26. https://mgimo.ru/upload/2019/05/Solovova_Sbornik.pdf

Белянин, В. (2016). Психолингвистика. [Psycholinguistics]. ФЛИНТ, 415 с. http://lib.ysu. am/open_books/413123.pdf

Вайнрайх, У. (1979). Языковые контакты. Состояние и проблемы исследования [Language contacts. The state and problems of the research]. https://www.booksite.ru/fulltext/vainraih/index.htm

Величкова, Л., Абакумова, О. (2019). Психолингвистическая основа становления раннего искусственного билингвизма [Psycholinguistic basis for the formation of early artificial bilingualism]. Инновационные технологии обучения иностранному языку в вузе и иколе: реализация современных ФГОС [Innovative technologies of foreign language teaching at a university or school: the implementation of modern GEF]. / [Сборник научных трудов по материалам Четвертой Международной научно-практической конференции, 19–20 февраля 2019 г.] [The digest of scientific papers based on the materials of the Fourth International Scientific and Practical Conference, February 19–20, 2019]: в 2 ч., 25–31. https://www.rgph.vsu.ru/ru/science/publications/docs/innov-tekh1.pdf

Винче, Г. (2016). Что происходит в мозгу билингва? [What happens in bilingual's brain?] https://www.bbc.com/ukrainian/vert_fut_russian/2016/08/160817_ru_s_vert_fut_amazing_benefits_of_being_billingual

Компаративістика-що це? Відповідаємо на запитання. Компаративістика: визначення поняття і значення [Comparativistics – what is it? We answer the questions. Comparativistics: the defenition of the concept and meaning]. https://uk-12012.studiovladimirs.cz/komparativistika-eto-chto-takoe-komparativistika-opredelenie-ponyatiya-i-znachenie-601

Реан, А., Якунин, В. (2004). *Методика для диагностики учебной мотивации студентов* [The methodology for diagnostics of students' educational motivation]. http://www.amurkst.ru/branch2/upload/doc/diagnosticheskie-materialy-2017-18/Диагностика_мотивации.PDF

Ружицкий, И., Потемкина, Е. (2013). Проблема формирования билингвальной личности в лингводидактике [The problem of bilingual personality formation in linguodidactics], 1–10. https://cyberleninka.ru/article/n/problema-formirovaniya-bilingvalnoy-lichnosti-v-lingvodidaktike

Ушинский, К. (1948). О народности в общественном воспитании. [About a nationality in the public education]. *Собрание сочинений. Педагогические статьи.* 1857–1861 [The collection of writings. Pedagogical articles. 1857–1861]. Т. 2, 69–166. https://imwerden.de/pdf/ushinsky sobranie sochineny_tom02_1948 text.pdf

Халеева, И. (1990). Основы теории обучения пониманию иноязычной речи (подготовка nepeвoдчиков) [The fundamentals of learning theory how to understand a foreign language (training of translators)]. / [Автореферат диссертации на соискание ученой степени доктора педагогических наук] [The abstract of the thesis for the degree of Doctor of pedagogical sciences], 1–38. https://gavrilenko-nn.ru/upload/pdf/7371d0a496d905b2c5d-92ce813b19fd6.pdf

Хто такі білінгви? (2015). Люди майбутнього чи просто поліглоти? [Who are bilinguals? People of the future or just polyglots?]. https://everest-center.com/khto-taki-bilingvy/

Щерба, Л. (1929). Как надо изучать иностранные языки [How to learn foreign languages]. https://rusneb.ru/catalog/000199_000009_008163358/ https://doi.org/10.22364/atee.2022.26

Student Teachers of English on the Lookout for Good Teaching

Evija Latkovska

University of Latvia, Latvia

ABSTRACT

Education has always been a subject to changes structure and content wise; its quality has been an issue all the time. In Latvia, the recent reform named School 2030, which essence is a competence approach to the curriculum, is introducing its requirements. Additionally, the government has planned to introduce a system monitoring the quality of education by 2023. Consequently, questions like what a good school, teacher and teaching are gain certain attention. The particular qualitative approach research concentrates on finding out student teachers' answers to these questions as core values they remember to be the most significant ones to make them think of their schools, teachers and their teaching as good. The aim of the research is to examine how student teachers of English who have begun their teacher education studies recently perceive good teaching. To provide answers, they filled out Personal Statement – an introductory part of the European Portfolio for Student Teachers of Languages. The research sample of the case study consists of 55 second and fourth year full and part-time students who have decided to become teachers of English. They are studying at the faculty of Education, Psychology and Art, the University of Latvia. To analyse student teachers' opinions, content analysis was used. The data allows concluding that student teachers' perception of good teaching is characterised by three key elements: good classroom management techniques, relevant teaching methodology and teachers' personalities. Furthermore, student teachers of English are of the opinion that in good teaching environment teachers take into account their pupils' personalities. The same ideas prevail in the answers revealing what student teachers want to master in their studies. That implies student teachers of English long to see academic staff at the university as role models of good teaching.

Keywords: European Portfolio for Student Teachers of Languages (EPOSTL), methodology of English as a foreign language, reflection before action, student teachers of English, teacher professional identity

406

Introduction

Education is a multifaceted notion. As a social science, it entails and represents several co-existing parts. To mention a few, education system, schools, teaching and learning, and, of course, teachers, pupils and parents. Education as a system has undergone serious changes in all the times and all the countries trying to reach its best form to comply with certain quality standards. In Latvia, the recent education system reform is called Skola 2030 (English: School 2030) and its essence is to introduce a competence approach to the curriculum. A benchmark for the quality of education in this case is considered to be pupils who as a result of their schooling become ready for real life having acquired necessary knowledge, skills and attitude, having honed their transversal skills and developed a core of vales and virtues (School 2030). Consequently, the new approach to the curriculum asks for a new quality monitoring system. The Ministry of Education and Science of the Republic of Latvia (Latvijas Republikas Izglītības un Zinātnes Ministrija IZM, 2020, 4) has proposed a scheme consisting of four basic categories which have to be evaluated to determine the quality of education in each particular educational establishment - compliance with the goals, quality of teaching and learning, inclusive environment, and good administration. Each of the four categories is divided into three subcategories. Within the scope of the present article its author being a teacher educator, the category of quality of teaching and learning is of importance as out of its three subcategories it represents two teacher education in general deals with: the quality of teaching and learning and teachers' professional capacity. More detailed criteria for both of them can be traced in the standard of the profession 'Teacher', which gives a comprehensive look on responsibilities and tasks teachers have to perform in Latvia. For example, to plan and carry out teaching, assess pupils' progress and learning achievements, participate in continuous professional development, and be a part of the educational establishment (Valsts izglītības un satura centrs VISC, 2020). Taking into account the amount of requirements teachers face to prove the quality of the work they do is good, teacher education programmes introduce students to them gradually. Moreover, even prior to setting out in the professional field during teaching practices, students are helped to become aware of what 'good teaching' could mean by inviting them to participate in reflection-before-action activities. The emphasis of these activities is to let students imagine and visualise what, why and how will be done in their professional practice (Loughran, 2002; Conway, 2001). With the help of university faculty and school mentors, it fosters student teachers' turning into reflective practitioners (Kowalczuk-Waledziak et al., 2018; Latkovska, 2015; Freese, 2006). Furthermore, reflection-before-action serves as a basis for student teachers to see themselves as practitioners in realistic circumstances avoiding having shattered images - discrepancy between unrealistic and realistic vison of future professional prospects (Cole & Knowles, 1993).

Building their professional identity with the help of reflection, student teachers understand significance of teacher professionalism, which ultimately means 'good teaching' (Miķelsone & Odiņa, 2020; Dassa & Derose, 2017; Urzua & Vasquez, 2008; Graham & Phelps, 2003).

To find out what 'good teaching' means for student teachers, is the aim of the particular study as its author is a language teacher educator whose task is to help student teachers of English comply with requirements that in future will prove their professional quality. In order to reach the aim of the study, the author first analysed theoretical and methodological literature on what constitutes good teaching and learning of English as a foreign language. Literature analysis proves that in spite of reforms in education and changing times, good teaching continuously involves three main constituent elements which are a teacher's personality, a teacher's knowledge of the language itself and a teacher's skills to apply relevant language teaching and learning methodology (Johnson & Golombek, 2020; Goksel & Rakicioglu-Soylemez, 2018; Darling-Hammond, 2006; Gabrielatos, 2002). Gabrielatos (2002) provides a visual comparison of the relationship of the three elements to those of an equilateral triangle, which is stable only if all three sides are of equal length. He proposes an idea that such interaction of the three elements fosters efficiency of language teachers. Darling-Hammond calls it 'a vision of professional practice' (2006, 5) which helps student teachers see the essence of teaching as a profession and encourages them to think about their pupils' rights to learn in a democratic environment. Concentrating on pupils and their learning is also a key factor for good teaching in Latvia nowadays according to School 2030 as only a teacher who thinks about rapport with pupils can help them flourish as personalities and become competent language users.

Methodology

After the analysis of theoretical and methodological literature, student teachers' of English opinions on good teaching and good teachers were gathered. The research method of the study is a case study as a practice-oriented approach to small-scale education research (Cropley, 2022; Hamilton, 2018). The data collection method is a document analysis – student teacher's reflection on their prior learning – answers to open questions answered in writing as an assignment within the study course on foreign language teaching and learning methodology. Prior to completing the assignment, student teachers were informed their answers would be a part of the case study. Student teachers who agreed to be participants of the study submitted their answers to the Moodle system of the University of Latvia, while those who had their reasons not to agree, skipped the assignment. Qualitative content analysis was used to analyse the submitted work and define student teachers' emerging answer patterns (Cropley,

2022; Cohen et al., 2007) on what they consider to be good teaching and good teachers marking the constituent elements of personality, methodology and language knowledge based on the scientific and methodological literature analysis. Respective codes used for student teachers' answers: P = personality, M = methodology, L = language.

Overall, 55 second and fourth year full-time and part-time student teachers (n = 55) representing a professional bachelor's study programme 'Teacher', a sub-programme 'Teacher of English' at the faculty of Education, Psychology and Art became participants of the current study. It was a non-probability convenience research sample (Cohen et al., 2007). It consisted of 49 female and six male students and 53 local and two Erasmus students.

To provide their opinions, student teachers completed a part of a Personal Statement – a first part of the European Portfolio for Student Teachers of Languages (EPOSTL), which is an intellectual output of one of project teams of the European Centre for Modern Languages (ECML). EPOSTL as a reflection tool for teacher education 'encourages to reflect on the competences a teacher strives to attain and on the underlying knowledge which feeds these competences; helps prepare for future profession in a variety of teaching contexts; promotes discussion among student teachers, teacher educators and mentors; facilitates self-assessment of developing competence; provides an instrument which helps chart progress' (Newby et al., 2007, p. 5). The open questions student teachers answered in a free form in writing, and which content was analysed to reach the aim of the present study were as follows:

- As learners in school, you already have had a lot of contact with teaching. What aspects – teacher's qualities, practices etc. – of your own language teaching might influence how you wish or do not wish to teach? Mention positive and negative examples of being taught.
- 2. What do you wish to do at school as a teacher?
- 3. To your mind, what five characteristics are important for a teacher?

Results

At the beginning of the analysis of student teachers' reflection, it has to be mentioned that they mainly wrote about female teachers and male teachers were only mentioned five times. Therefore, there is no teacher gender difference taken into account in the present study. As regards student teachers' reflection on their positive experiences of being taught at school, the majority of them belong to the code of personality P = 59. Most recurring thematic threads are 'patient' and 'understanding' followed by 'approachable' and 'helpful'. In general, it may be said student teachers value rapport with teachers. Separate expressions exemplifying student teachers' opinions: 'the teacher didn't label us',

'we felt safe and weren't afraid to make mistakes', 'our thoughts were taken into account' and 'the teacher taught us more than English – she taught us life'. Second most often mentioned code is methodology M = 50. Key thematic threads are 'creative' and 'prepared'. It may be concluded that student teachers appreciate if teachers do have lesson plans, but at the same time they are flexible to adapt to pupils' interests and needs. Separate examples of expressions for this code are 'the teacher always had heaps of materials being ready to use all of them should the need arise', 'the teacher knew how to challenge us – she offered different kinds of activities'. Emphasis of classroom management skills belong to the methodology code as well because student teachers' expressions, for example, on classroom dynamics and discipline are combined with methodology: 'she organised group work so that we could help each other to learn new vocabulary' or 'a combination of strict classroom rules and well-planned lessons was awesome'. The code of a teacher knowing the language is L = 27. Two recurring thematic threads are 'knows English herself' and 'speaks English in lessons'. On the one hand, the mentioned examples reveal a positive trend of knowledgeable teachers who speak the target language with pupils. While on the other hand, it may be inferred that there are also teachers who do not do that, which is worrying. To mention an expression standing out among others and not directly corresponding to any of the codes, is a description of the teacher's appearance: 'Her looks! Great! She looks like a wife of the president!' Even though there is only one expression like this, it is still a reminder that besides personality and methodological and language competence teachers should look decent.

Being asked to think of their negative school experience, student teachers' answers again show the importance of a teacher's personality P = 50. Typical expressions for the are 'scary' and 'demotivating'. Unfortunately, student teachers write about teachers whose lessons are not psychologically safe for pupils - they are labelled and not listened to. In the worst cases, screaming and others signs of emotional bullying are mentioned. These expressions serve as warnings for teacher educators to be good role models for student teachers to help to direct their negative experiences of being taught to positive ones. Methodology as a code is second most often mentioned by student teachers M = 44. There are such recurring thematic threads as 'just checking answers' and 'no explanations'. That means teacher educators have to help student teachers become aware of and learn a variety of methodological approaches to choose from when getting ready for their subject lessons. The language code is mentioned two names, which is good because it allows thinking that in cases teachers are not pleasant personalities or are incompetent teaching and learning methodology wise, they at least use good English themselves. Both expressions for the code highlight a teacher's unwillingness to admit to having made a language mistake.

To sum up good and bad experiences of teachers and their work student teachers have described, resemble the constituent elements of good teaching and teachers emerging from the literature analysis. However, there is no equilateral triangle in the case of the present study as the sides of personality and methodology are longer than the language side.

When asked to think about things they would wish to do at school as teachers, student teachers give a preference to methodology M = 52. They wish to help pupils learn and 'see learners' development' and 'work creatively'. Among the expressions of the methodology code, there are also expressions that concern information technologies because students name them as a 'brilliant tool to enliven any lesson plan'. Separate student teachers mention separate components as main things they would love to work on as teachers, such as helping pupils master particular spoken and written reception and production skills or the overall linguistic competence. Personality as a code is mentioned is P = 33. A recurring thematic thread for the code is 'rapport with pupils'. There is also a thematic thread of 'importance of my own lifelong learning' which in context emphasises student teachers' wish to grow as personalities - encompassing a broader scope of interests besides teaching. Language does not emerge as a code in the particular question. That may mean that future teachers of English do not think about the language as an individual element because they see it as part and parcel of methodology – honing their language competence simultaneously with the methodological competence.

In the third question on five important characteristics of teachers, student teachers make the code of personality stand out P = 91 once again emphasising 'patience' and 'understanding'. Besides these two, there are such thematic threads as 'open-minded', 'passionate' and 'respectful'. Methodology is the second code M = 61. The dominant thematic threads here are 'lesson planning' and 'creativity'. If in the previous question the language code on its own is rare, in this question student teachers do mention it L = 34. However, they rather emphasise a teacher's linguistic competence than their oral and written reception and production. What makes the author of the article think, is the student teachers' idea that an important characteristic feature of a teacher is 'being ready to take a break and ask for help' (n = 6). This reveals a healthy psychological approach to one's health and, in fact, could be counted among the expressions of the personality code as taking care of oneself means being able to act better for others as well.

Conclusions

Good teachers and good teaching have always been a significant matter as it gets the society to the ultimate goal of education – competent pupils which turn into competent society. Therefore, the quality of education, teaching and teachers

has always been measured. An issue, however, is that what makes the quality 'good' is a changing matter. To find out how good teaching and good teachers are viewed in the 21st century, the author of the article analysed relevant scientific and methodological literature and concluded that three constituent elements are a teacher's personality, teacher's methodological competence and the knowledge and competence of the language. Although according to the literature analysis, all of the three components are of equal importance, the analysis of the opinions of the student teachers' of English show that they regard a teacher's personality and competence in teaching and learning methodology to be more important leaving language knowledge behind or they do incorporate it within the methodology part. This is a sign for teacher educators, first, be good role models and, second, plan teacher education programmes the way it is possible for student teachers develop as personalities and learn the methodology of teaching and learning a foreign language while improving their own language competence – linguistic competence and oral and written reception and production. A new trend, even if it is not tremendous, of the perception of good characteristics of teachers among student teachers can be highlighted in the present study. In particular, student teachers think that teachers should care not only for their pupils' well-being in lessons and in school in general, they should be able to take care of themselves as well. This demonstrates that sustainability of a teacher's inner sources linked with the idea of good teachers and good teaching may be a topic for further exploration.

REFERENCES

Cole, A. L. & Knowles, J. G. (1993). Shattered images: Understanding expectations and realities of field experiences. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, *9*(5/6), 457–471.

Cohen, L., Manion, L., & Morrison, K. (2007). *Research Methods in Education*. Routledge Taylor & Francis Group.

Conway, P. F. (2001). Anticipatory refection while learning to teach: from a temporally truncated to a temporally distributed model of reflection in teacher education. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, *17*, 89–116.

Cropley, A. J. (2022). Qualitative research methods: A practice-oriented introduction. https://doi.org/10.13140/RG.2.1.3095.6888/1

Darling-Hammond, L. (2006, May/June). Constructing 21st-Century Teacher Education. *Journal of Teacher Education*, *57*(3), 300–314.

Dassa, L., & Derose, D. S. (2017). Get in the teacher Zone. A Perception Study of Preservice teachers and Their Teacher Identity. *Issues in Teacher Education*, *26*(1), 101–113.

Freese, A. R. (2006). Reframing one's teaching: Discovering our teacher selves through reflection and inquiry. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 22, 100–119.

Gabrielatos, C. (2002). The shape of the language teacher. In Pulverness, A. (Ed.) *IATEFL-2002: York Conference Selections*, Whitstable, Kent, IATEFL, pp. 75–78.

Goksel, S., & Rakicioglu-Soylemez, A. (2018). Becoming a professional: Exploring EFL preservice teachers' conceptions of an effective foreign language teacher. *Journal of Language and Linguistic Studies*, 14(4), 111–135.

Graham, A. & Phelps, R. (2003). Being a Teacher': Developing Identity and Enhancing Practice through Metacognitive and Reflective Learning Process, *Australian Journal of Teacher Education*, *27*(2), Article 2. http://ro.ecu.edu.au/ajte/vol27/iss2/2

Hamilton, L. (2018). An Annotated Account of Case Study in Education Research. USA: OUP. https://www.oxfordbibliographies.com/view/document/obo-9780199756810/obo-9780199756810-0201.xml

Johnson, K. E., & Golombek, P. R. (2020). Informing and transforming language teacher education pedagogy. *Language Teaching Research*, 24(I), 116–127.

Kowalczuk-Waledziak, M., Korneziecka-Bondar, A., Danilewicz, W., & Lauwers, G. (2018). A Time for Reflection and Dialogue: How Do We Educate Teachers to Meet the Challenges of the 21st Century? In *Rethinking Teacher Education for the 21st Century. Trends, Challenges and New Directions* (Eds. Kowaslczuk-Waledziak, M., Korneziecka-Bondar, A., Danilewicz, W., & Lauwers, G.), pp. 15–23.

Latkovska, E. (2015). *Topošo skolotāju pedagoģiskās darbības pašizvērtēšana* [Self-Assessment of Student Teachers' Pedagogical Activity]. Doctoral thesis. https://dspace.lu.lv/dspace/bit-stream/handle/7/28261/298-46281-Evija_Latkovska_2015.pdf?sequence = 1&isAllowed = y

Latvijas Republikas Izglītības un Zinātnes ministrija [Ministry of Education and Science of the Republic of Latvia] (2020). *Informatīvais ziņojums Par izglītības kvalitātes monitoring sistēmas izveidi* [An Informative Report on the Development of the Quality Monitoring System of Education]. https://www.izm.gov.lv/lv/informativais-zinojums-par-izglitibas-kvalitates-monitoringa-sistemas-izveidi/izmzino_060220_monitorings_13021.pdf/izmzino_060220_monitorings_13021.pdf

Loughran, J. J. (2002, January/February). Effective reflective practice: In search of meaning in learning about teaching. *Journal of Teacher Education*, *53*, 1, 33–43.

Miķelsone, I. & Odiņa, I. (2020). Skolotāja profesionālā identitāte un pedagoģiskā meistarība [Teacher's Professional Identity and Pedagogical Mastery]. Latvijas Universitāte, Pedagoģijas, psiholoģijas un mākslas fakultāte. Rīga: LU Akadēmiskais apgāds.

Newby, D., Allan, R., Fenner, A.-B., Jones, B., Komorowska, H., & Soghikyan, K. (2007). Council of Europe. https://www.ecml.at/Portals/1/documents/ECML-resources/EPOSTL-EN.pdf? ver = 2018-03-22-164301-450

Skola 2030 [School 2030]. https://www.skola2030.lv/lv/par-projektu

Urzua, A. & Vasquez, C. (2008). Reflection and professional identity in teachers' futureoriented discourse. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 24, 1935–1946.

Valsts izglītības un satura centrs [National Centre for Education of the Republic of Latvia]. (2020). *Skolotāja profesijas standarts* [Standard of the Profession 'Teacher']. https://registri.visc.gov.lv/profizglitiba/dokumenti/standarti/2017/PS-138.pdf

https://doi.org/10.22364/atee.2022.27

The English Language as a Factor Influencing Foreign Students' Learning Outcomes in Higher Education

Karīna Svētiņa

University of Latvia, Latvia jansonekarina@inbox.lv

ABSTRACT

English language skills are an important factor that should be assessed in the context of foreign students studying for a degree in higher education in another country. Previous research has mainly been conducted in Australia, New Zealand and the United Kingdom, as these are global study destinations. The aim is to investigate whether English language skills affect foreign students' learning outcomes in Latvia. The research question intends to find out what the English proficiency is in class, determine the English test at the time of admission, and whether the previous learning of English at the general level of education affects the learning outcomes in higher education. The research sample involves South Asian and Central Asian students. In the first stage of the study, the focus group method was used with the academic staff to find out English proficiency in class. In the second stage, interviews were conducted with representatives of higher education institutions to determine the English test at the time of admission. In the third stage, interviews were conducted with nationals of India, Sri Lanka and Uzbekistan to find out the English language training of their countries of origin in general education. As a result, it can be concluded – foreign students' use of English differs according to the school (public or private) where they have studied general education before. Lecturers and representatives of higher education institutions indicate that English is not the determining factor, but rather knowledge and understanding of the topic and content regarding learning outcomes, while nationals agree that English is the determining factor affecting learning outcomes.

Keywords: higher education, foreign students, teaching methods, English language, western education, support

Introduction

For foreign students studying full-time for a degree in another country, English is an important factor that could affect the learning outcomes. Students rely on their previous English language training as a foundation on which to build their higher education studies in another country. Language barriers can hinder socio-cultural adaptation, cause misunderstandings and affect the academic achievement of foreign students. Adjustment problems are mainly related to English language skills and culture (Ballard & Clanchy, 1991; Wu et al., 2015). Language barriers further exacerbate the difficulty of adapting to the local colloquial language (Robertsons et al., 2000; Sookrajh et al., 2005; Wang, 2003). English as a factor affecting learning outcomes is common among Australian researchers, as English is the mother tongue of local students in Australia, but English is not the mother tongue of foreign students who come to study, mainly from Asia. In Australia, problems arise due to the poor written and spoken English skills of incoming Asian students. Several authors have conducted research in higher education institutions in Australia and New Zealand focusing on the language aspect (Bayley et al., 2002; Bretag et al., 2002; Holmes, 2004, 2005; Johnson & Kumar, 2010; Kukatlapalli et al., 2020; Sawir, 2005).

There is extensive literature on the English proficiency of foreign students from East Asia, but there is little research on the English proficiency of students from South Asia and especially Central Asia. Each of these regions has its own historical background, which has influenced the course of the development of the English language. The novelty of this study is that the research sample is based on foreign students of South and Central Asian origin. Another novelty is that the research tends to investigate whether English training in general education in students` country of origin affects learning outcomes in higher education.

English in academia

This chapter will discuss other conclusions of the author regarding the importance of English in an academic study environment and the importance of language training in the students' country of origin.

In the academic environment, students feel a lack of confidence in their English. They have an incomplete understanding of what the lecturers say in class and feel dissatisfied with their ability to express themselves orally in the presence of other classmates. Several foreign students identified their lack of English language skills as a major source of learning difficulties (Hellsten & Prescott, 2004; Robertson, 2000; Wong, 2004). Students felt uncomfortable expressing themselves orally because of their accent and English language skills (Sanner et al., 2002). Foreign students at a Canadian university had difficulty with note-taking, vocabulary, understanding lecture content and heavy reading loads (Mendelsohn, 2002).

There are studies available on international students studying in Australia. Sawir (2005) finds that the poor English language skills of students in Vietnam, Japan, Hong Kong, Indonesia and Thailand are the cause of outdated pedagogical English didactics in the students' countries of origin. The learning difficulties faced by students studying in Australia are based on the shortcomings of students' previous learning experiences - overly focusing on grammar and reading in teacher-led classrooms rather than developing conversational skills. Sawir (2005) suggested that Australian academic and administrative staff should be more sensitive to the language difficulties faced by international students. Academic and administrative staff are responsible for foreign students; they should better understand the root causes of their language learning problems by getting to know the students' previous experiences and learning habits. In turn, this will allow lecturers to develop better programmes. Countries of origin need to develop better communicative teaching practices, using a variety of interesting methods that will create excitement in students, beyond just learning grammar and vocabulary. Most of the Indian students felt confident about their English skills, but generally suffered from a lack of confidence when interacting with Australians. Some students said that they have adapted well to understanding the Australian accent, but are very aware that they also have an English accent (Johnson & Kumar, 2010).

It should be concluded that the available literature should also be viewed in the cultural aspect of the country in which the research was conducted. To date, most research has been developed in Australia. Considering this, it should be borne in mind that in Australia, English also has its own specific pronunciation, which is an aggravating factor in that students who learn and understand English suddenly do not understand it.

Academic staff also criticised foreign students' poor writing and critical thinking skills (Robertson, 2000). Bretag et al. (2002) and Bayley et al. (2002) found that, according to academic staff, foreign students from non-native English speaking countries were unable to participate effectively in the training discussion as required and their papers were often difficult to read and assess due to poor grammar.

Holmes (2004) concluded that the opinions of foreign students and lecturers did not always coincide. The professors' language accents, idiomatic expressions, humour and choice of examples in the lectures caused problems (Holmes, 2004). This was also found in the study of Ramsay (1999) where first-year foreign students at an Australian university had difficulty understanding lecture content. Lecturers spoke too quickly or gave insufficient information. Foreign students find the staff unfriendly, and say that they give poor directions in the courses (Dandy, 2009; Wang, 2003). Students say that foreign students tend to 'ask more questions' due to their poor understanding of English, but teachers

and other students perceive them as 'stupid'. The lecturers do not understand the accent of the students, so they lose patience and become easily irritated. Incomplete knowledge of English was associated with a lack of intelligence. It creates fear in students, as well as a desire not to participate in discussions (Naidoo, 2018).

In recent years, students from China have had to face more complicated visa processes and students have had to meet relatively high requirements for English language skills, which is carried out with the aim of reducing the number of students with poor language skills, although this does not solve the problem itself (Townsend & Poh, 2008). Compared to students from China, Indian students have a better command of English, as English is an official language in India due to the historical ties with Britain (Levis et al., 2012).

There have been many studies asking students to self-assess their English language skills. For example, students' self-assessed writing and speaking skills were rated lower than reading and listening skills. Most (88%) indicated little difficulty in expressing themselves in English, but some (12%) found it moderately or very difficult. Students clearly indicated difficulties with writing, often related to paraphrasing, referencing, avoiding plagiarism and argumentation skills. Having never been asked to reference or cite sources before, students found that they could not write critically, which was highly expected (Gourlay, 2009; Holmes, 2005). Students acknowledged that university staff took it for granted that students would know what was expected of academic English writing (Kukatlapalli et al., 2020).

The aspect of the English language is not directed only towards the students, but also towards the lecturers, where the interaction of the parties should achieve the highest desired result.

English language and learning outcomes

Some studies have looked for a correlation between English language skills and learning outcomes. Learning outcomes refer to the measurable, demonstrable results of how a student has learnt. They can be assessed by the successful completion of course requirements, and grade point average.

Ramburuth (2001) concluded that the stronger the proficiency in written English, the higher the academic achievement among both domestic and international students in Australia. 76% of non-native foreign students were identified as requiring intensive support in English based on their written application. Additionally, another study showed that students with higher TOEFL (Test of English as a Foreign Language) scores experienced less adjustment difficulties, had more positive experiences, and felt more satisfied than those with lower scores. Beasley (1990) indicated that foreign students faced challenges in reading and writing, as well as difficulties adapting to Western educational traditions consisting of independent learning, critical analysis, and idea generation. These factors contribute to the reasons why international students do not achieve learning outcomes (Andrade, 2006; Beasley, 1990; Holmes, 2004). A study in New Zealand found that working hard does not necessarily mean good grades for foreign students from China. Students lacked discussion skills and had insufficient listening comprehension in lectures (Holmes, 2004). While students learnt from their mistakes, it affected student grades and learning outcomes (Kukatlapalli et al., 2020).

Few studies show that foreign students are academically successful and generally satisfied with their experience at English-speaking universities (Andrade, 2006; Berman & Cheng, 2001).

It can be concluded that in the studies so far, the negative influence is revealed in more cases, that is, the English language affects the learning outcomes in a negative way.

Background

The role of foreign students in Latvia

The Republic of Latvia is a country in the Baltic region of Northern Europe. The Bologna Process in Latvia was launched on 19 June 1999. Higher education in Latvia has three levels – bachelor's, master's and doctoral (Ministry of Education and Science, 2020). In 2020, 9,342 foreign students, which is 14% of all students, studied in Latvian higher education for the purpose of obtaining a degree. In the case of Latvia, the largest education importing regions are East Asia – India, Central Asia – Uzbekistan, followed by Central Europe – Germany, Sweden and Eastern Europe – Russia. 68% of foreign students come from countries outside the European Union (Overview of Latvian higher education in 2020, 2021).

Admission of foreign students in the context of English

The Ministry of Education and Science has defined the principles of good practice on attracting foreign students and delivering studies. If the previous education of the potential foreign student was obtained in other language, either an internationally recognised certificate is necessary or the higher education institution shall organise a test of the foreign language which certifies knowledge of the language in which the study programme is implemented, and the level of knowledge set by the higher education institution (Agreement on Good Practice of Attracting International Students and Delivering Studies has been signed between the Ministry and higher education institutions, 2017). Besides Cabinet Regulation No. 846 *Regulations Regarding the Requirements, Criteria and*

Procedures for Admission to Study Programmes, universities and colleges check the foreigner's language proficiency of the relevant study programme to at least the B2 level according to approved methodology set by the regulations (Rules on requirements, criteria and procedures for admission to study programmes, 2006).

Foreign students are an important segment for higher education institutions and higher education internationalisation in Latvia. In order to improve the English language admission tests and the overall quality, improvements are constantly being made, which are reflected in the Agreement and in the Cabinet Regulation.

Methodology

Focus group method

In the first stage of the study, the focus group method was used by the academic staff-lecturers. Lecturers were selected and invited to participate according to the following criteria:

- 1) work with foreign students,
- 2) work experience of at least 10 years directly with foreign students,
- 3) work with students from different countries like (India, Bangladesh, Sri Lanka, Uzbekistan, Kazakhstan, Azerbaijan, Belarus, and Russia).

The purpose of the focus group discussion was to determine the English proficiency in class and whether English affects learning outcomes. 7 lecturers took part in it, with 5 lecturers representing the private education institution Turiba University and 2 participants representing the state university The EKA University of Applied Sciences, and the state university The University of Latvia. Participation was voluntary, and prior informed consent was given regarding the purpose and confidentiality. The focus group took place once in December 2021, online on the Webex platform. The length of the focus group discussion was 90 minutes. In the beginning of the focus group discussion, the respondents were introduced to the research aim and focus group discussion. The focus group was conducted in Latvian. At the end of the focus group, the moderator provided a summary and feedback on the answers received from the respondents. Then respondents reflected, confirmed or added to the content of their answers. After the focus group discussion, the moderator prepared a detailed interview transcript. This study used the thematic analysis approach outlined by Braun and Clarke (Braun Clarke, 2006). After the discussion, the researcher read the transcripts of the focus groups to gain an overall idea about the answers. The first step was to encode the obtained data, while in the second step the researcher organised the data in a meaningful and logical order. The researcher coded each segment of data related to it and also noted if something interesting and meaningful came up according to the research question. The researcher

compared the codes and modified them if necessary before moving on to the rest of the transcripts. After generating the codes, the researchers moved to search for themes. The final step involved combining the analytical narrative and data extracts.

Interviews with higher education institutions

In the second stage, interviews were conducted with representatives of higher education institutions (n = 10) to determine English proficiency at the time of admission and whether English affects foreign students' learning outcomes. The representatives were chosen from universities where foreign students are most represented. 7 represented state universities, and 3 private. Interviews took place in Spring 2022 online, individually on the *Zoom* platform and by mobile phone. Respondents were informed that confidentiality would be respected and the results would only be available in aggregated form. The interviews were conducted in Latvian.

Interviews with nationals

In the third stage, interviews were conducted with nationals (same as the students) of India, Sri Lanka and Uzbekistan (n = 3) to determine the English language training of their countries of origin in their previous education and whether English affects the learning outcomes. The Indian national is a lecturer at Turiba University, the nationals from Sri Lanka and Uzbekistan are students. These representatives were chosen because they represent different countries and different positions.

Interviews took place in Spring 2022 online, individually on the *Zoom* platform. Participation was voluntary, and prior informed consent was given regarding the purpose and confidentiality. The interviews were conducted in English. An interview transcript was compiled for each interview as the first step. Each interview transcript was sent to the respondent to confirm that the opinion was accurate. After receiving the clarifications and approval, analysis of the interviews was carried out. The analysis included:

- 1) breaking down data into thematic codes,
- 2) drawing related codes into categories,
- 3) movement towards conceptualising meaning: exploring thematic relationships in response to research question (Galletta & Cross, 2013).

Results

The first paragraph of the chapter presents the results of the focus group on the lecturers' vision regarding foreign students' English proficiency in class. The second paragraph of the chapter reflects the results of university representatives

regarding English at admission and during studies. The third paragraph reflects English training of students' countries of origin in general education.

Results of the focus group on the lecturers' vision regarding foreign students' English proficiency in class

Proficiency of the English language is divided into oral, written knowledge and comprehension. The opinions of the lecturers generally indicate that there are very different levels of English within the same group with regard to students' oral expression in English. Students from South Asia are more difficult to understand because of the accent, but their language skills are better in general. Students from Central Asia still have poor language skills. 7 out of 7 lecturers agreed that it is difficult for students to express themselves orally, when students have not prepared, have not read, and have not learnt. Students experience great difficulty speaking in complete sentences rather than just phrases. It is often necessary to address students verbally in order to develop a discussion. 7 out of 7 lecturers agreed that knowledge is the main factor regarding whether students will make an effort to express themselves or not. It is more difficult for many students to express themselves in writing than in speaking. Students will use the copy-paste function at the first opportunity, regardless of the region they belong to, because it is easier and students have this unchangeable belief that in this way the text will be understandable, correct and mistake-free (7 out of 7 lecturers agreed). The lecturers indicate that a great deal of explanatory work is invested so that the students are aware that neither grammar nor sentence construction will be evaluated, but answers to their own words are expected. Discussing comprehension, lecturers indicate that students from South Asia fall into two groups - those who are not shy to speak because of their accent or lack of English, and those who speak, but not always on topic. 4 lecturers point out that the fast speaking of Indian students is difficult for the lecturer to understand, but it is possible to get used to it over the years. 5 lecturers emphasise there are often situations when the student even gives an answer 3 times, but it is still difficult to understand the student's thoughts, and then both parties remain in an awkward situation. It is true that students sit next to each other and help translate. 3 lecturers state that students also come along to consultations and support each other. All 7 lecturers stress that most often, students do not understand the lecturers when there is a defence of study/practice papers, which contain specific knowledge of terminology. The student does not know the term due to a lack of knowledge, and not because of the English language as such.

The results of university representatives regarding English at admission and during studies

All 10 representatives agree that all students must successfully pass the admission requirements when applying for studies, including the English language test, so that students are admitted with a sufficient knowledge of English to study

successfully. Students must have B2 level in English. An international English language certificate alone is not considered. An oral virtual interview in English is held with each student in the case of most education institutions. Even if the certificate has a high level, but practically no knowledge is shown at the oral virtual interview, then the student is not admitted (with particular emphasis on the quality aspect -5 out of 10 representatives point out). In addition to the general English language test, the admission also require a comprehension test about global processes in the world in English, which is a good way of demonstrating the student's judgement and English language skills. This depends on which country the student comes from. There are countries such as India where the English language is at a high level, but unfortunately there are many strong accents and dialects, which affects the result. 10 out of 10 representatives point out that the lecturers get used to the accent of the students through experience and the students get used to the accent of the lecturers. Only 4 representatives out of 10 state that the lecturers and the administration regularly have English language courses. It is more difficult with guest lecturers, because they change more often. For the first couple of months at the beginning of the semester, it is more difficult for students while they get used to the lecturers' accent, new system and English in general, but despite this, students adapt quickly. And this is why 10 out of 10 representatives agreed that globally, English is not a factor affecting the learning outcomes.

Results of English training of students' countries of origin in general education

In India, primary education is compulsory from class 1-8. It is available in public schools for free and in private schools for a fee. In private educational institutions, lessons are immediately conducted in English, which provides students with early English language skills. In public schools, English is taught as one of the subjects. When students from India enter higher education in Latvia, the lecturers have to face the fact that the students have different accents and dialects, and depending on the school where the students studied basic education, public or private, English language skills also vary. The lecturers complain that they do not understand the students, and it is not easy for the English lecturer to understand the English language of students from India. Students complain that they also do not understand what the lecturer says, as they also have a different English accent. In Sri Lanka International (private) schools, all subjects are taught through the medium of English. English is one of the core subjects included in the Ordinary Level Examination and Advanced Level Examination, in which a student would not receive entry to university without at least an S (satisfactory) Pass for English. In State schools, English is taught orally from grade one onwards. Nevertheless, it is obvious that the English knowledge of students who study at state schools is considerably less than the students who

go to international schools. There are also different clubs and associations in both schools such as the English Literary Association as well as zonal, provincial and state level English language competitions organised under categories such as creative writing, copywriting, impromptu speaking, drama etc. Students in Latvia usually do not have problems in English. The English language is taught in Uzbekistan, but the emphasis is on grammar and not on the oral part, so the English language training is inferior. Similar results were expressed by Sawir (2005), in that when students come to Latvia, they don't understand what the teachers are saying and requesting, and the students cannot fulfil the request or answer. It creates great problems expressing oneself orally in the classroom, asking questions to teachers, and presenting presentations. There was a big barrier and feeling of shame trying to express myself – recalls one student. When asked if the English accent has been an obstacle, the student replies that in the beginning there were so many problems with the English language that teachers were not understood regardless of whether they spoke with or without an accent.

Discussion

Knowledge of the content of the course is the main factor regarding whether students make an effort to express themselves or not. Even if the student knows the answer but is not strong in English, it has been observed that students try to show that they know the answer in various ways, for example asking other classmates for words. It is one thing to talk about everyday subjects, which students will certainly understand in different contexts, talking about terms and content in study courses, where there are difficulties understanding, even with perfect English pronunciation, is more problematic.

Lecturers' thoughts are divided; it is disturbing when students help the next student with translations during the lecture. They also come along to consultations and support each other, although some lecturers do not support this practice. Students have to be independent. Other lecturers agree and admit that they invite students to help each other with English, without condemning it. The lecturers also point out cases when they themselves ask for help with words that have suddenly been forgotten, and this is how mutual cooperation and understanding is formed, rather than condemning someone for having worse or better English skills.

The lecturers admit that perhaps the lecturers themselves speak too fast and some students have also even reprimanded the lecturers. The lecturers state that they themselves do not feel their accent in English. There were many complaints from students in the very beginning about the lecturers' ability to speak English, when foreign students started studying full time in Latvia, but now there are almost no such complaints. In order for students to better understand what

the lecturer said, it is preferable to duplicate the information on slides in the presentation.

Students state that the English language tests at admission are too standardised and overly lenient. Students usually already know what the questions will be. Agents are already preparing students for what the requirements will be and what questions the educational institution will ask for the English language test.

During the interviews with representatives of higher education institutions, it was pointed out that there are other more important factors that affect the results of studies. For example, learning approach, ability to study independently, time management, methodology used by students, self-control and self-motivation. Previous learning experience and the use of different learning approaches is important. In future studies, more emphasis should be placed on study methods as an influencing factor. University representatives emphasised that foreign students often delay the start of the semester, which is affected by obtaining a visa in the student's home country and which can lead to affecting learning outcomes. This aspect should be raised for further research.

Conclusions

- The aim was to determine whether knowledge of the English language affects the learning outcomes among foreign students. Lecturers and representatives of higher education institutions indicate that English is not the determining factor, but knowledge and understanding of the topic and content is the determining factor for the learning outcomes, while nationals agree that English is the determining factor affecting learning outcomes.
- The use of English by foreign students in class differs by country of origin. Students from South Asia are more difficult to understand because of the accent, but their language skills are better in general, while students from Central Asia still have poor language skills.
- If the knowledge of the study content (terminology) is understandable then there are no problems for the student expressing themselves in English.
- The use of English by foreign students differs by the school (public or private) where they have studied general education before. Students who studied in private schools have a much better command of English than students who studied in public schools. Learning English in general education in the student's country of origin affects the learning outcomes.
- English language tests at admission are too standardised and overly lenient. English admission control should be made stricter in every higher education institution. The unfair practice of commercial agents preparing students for English language tests must be eradicated.

- Academic and administrative staff should be more sensitive to the language difficulties faced by foreign students. International offices in higher education institutions should educate and provide information (especially new lecturers and guest lecturers) about the needs of foreign students regarding the English language.
- Since English is not the native language of the lecturers in Latvia, the lecturers are therefore more sensitive and understanding towards the students' accent and language skills.
- There is too much reliance on experience (the lecturers get used to the accent of the students through experience and the students get used to the accent of the lecturers). There is a lack of methodical, systematic English language training for academic staff. New lecturers and guest lecturers suffer due to this.

REFERENCES

Andrade, M. (2006). International students in English-speaking universities. *Journal of Research in International Education*, 5(2), 131–154.

Ballard, B., & Clanchy, J. (1991). Teaching students from overseas: A brief guide for lecturers and supervisors. Melbourne: Longman Cheshire.

Bayley, S., Fearnside, R., Arnol, J., Misiano, J., & Rottura, R. (2002). International students in Victoria. *People and Place*, 10(2), 45–54.

Beasley, C. (1990). Content-based language instruction: Helping ESL/EFL students with language and study skills at tertiary level. *TESOL in Context*, 1, 10–14.

Berman, R., & Cheng, L. (2001). English academic language skills: Perceived difficulties by undergraduate and graduate students, and their academic achievement. *Canadian Journal of Applied Linguistics*, 4(1–2): 25–40. https://journals.lib.unb.ca/index.php/CJAL/article/view/19830

Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using Thematic Analysis in Psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, *3*, 77–101. https://doi.org/10.1191/1478088706qp063oa

Bretag, T., Horrocks, S., & Smith, J. (2002). Developing classroom practice to support NESB students in information systems courses: some preliminary findings. *International Education Journal*, *3*(4), 57–69.

Dandy, J. (2009). Refugee and Migrant Integration: Examining the Discourse of the Dominant. *Tamara: Journal for Critical Organization Inquiry*, 8(2), 225–233.

Galletta, A. & Cross, W..E.(2013). Mastering the Semi-Structured Interview and Beyond: From Research Design to Analysis and Publication. New York University Press.

Gourlay, L. (2009). Threshold practices: Becoming a student through academic literacies. *London Review of Education*, *7*(2), 181–192. https://doi.org/10.1080/14748460903003626

Hellsten, M., & Prescott, A. (2004). Learning at university: the international students experience. *International Education Journal*, 5(3), 344–351.

Holmes, P. (2004). Negotiating differences in learning and intercultural communication. *Business Communication Quarterly*, 67(3), 294–307. https://doi.org/10.1177/1080569904268141

Holmes, P. (2005). Ethnic Chinese students' communication with cultural others in a New Zealand university. *Communication Education*, 54(4), 289–311.

Johnson, R., & Kumar, M. (2010). The Monsoon Wedding phenomenon: understanding Indian students studying in Australian universities. *Higher Education Research & Development*, 29(3), 215–227. https://doi.org/10.1080/07294360903532008

Kukatlapalli J., Doyle, S., & Bandyopadhyay, S. (2020). An investigation into the English language experiences of Indian international students studying in New Zealand universities. *Higher Education Research & Development, 39*(3), 485–499. https://doi.org/10.1080/072943 60.2019.1685940

Levis, J., G. M. Levis, & T. Slater. (2012). Working theories for teaching assistant and international teaching assistant development. In G.Gorsuch (Eds.), *Written English into spoken: A functional discourse analysis of American, Indian, and Chinese TA presentations.* New Forums Press.

Naidoo, D. (2018). Like strangers in a new world ... 'Interrogating issues of access, belonging and participation of foreign students in private higher education in South Africa. *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, 22(6), 622–637. https://doi.org/10.1080/13603 116.2017.1391339

Mendelsohn, D. (2002). The lecture buddy project: An experiment in EAP listening comprehension. *TESL Canada Journal*, 20(1), 64–73. https://doi.org/10.18806/tesl.v20i1.939

Overview of Latvian higher education in 2020. Key statistics (2021). Izglītības un zinātnes ministrija: Statistika par augstāko izglītību [The Ministry of Education and Science: Statistics on higher education]. https://www.izm.gov.lv/lv/statistika-par-augstako-izglitibu (Retrieved 02.03.2022)

Ramburuth, P. (2001). Language diversity and the first-year experience: Implications for academic achievement and language skills acquisition. *Journal of the First-Year Experience*, 13(2), 75–93.

Ramsay, S., Barker, M., & Jones, E. (1999). Academic adjustment and learning processes: A comparison of international and local students in first-year university. *Higher Education Research & Development*, *18*(1), 129–44. https://doi.org/10.1080/0729436990180110

Robertson, M., Line, M., Jones, S., & Thomas, S. (2000). International students, learning environments and perceptions: A case study using the Delphi technique. *Higher Education Research and Development*, *19*(1), 89–102. https://doi.org/10.1080/07294360050020499

Rules on requirements, criteria and procedures for admission to study programs. (October 10, 2006). Regulations of the Cabinet of Ministers, No. 846. Latvijas Vēstnesis, 172, 27.10.2006. https://likumi.lv/ta/id/146637

Sanner, S., Wilson, A.H., & Samson, L.F. (2002). The experiences of international nursing studens in a baccalaureate nursing program. *Journal of Professional Nursing*, *18*, 206–213. https://doi.org/10.1053/jpnu.2002.127943

Sawir, E. (2005). Language difficulties of international students in Australia: The effects of prior learning experience. *International Education Journal*, *6*(5), 567–580.

Sookrajh, R., Gopal, N., & Maharaj, B. (2005). Interrogating Inclusionary and Exclusionary Practices: Learners of War and Flight. *Perspectives in Education*, 23(1), 19–26.

Townsend, P., & Poh, H.J. (2008). An Exploratory Study of International Students Studying and Living in a Regional Area. *Journal of Marketing for Higher Education*, 18(2), 240–263. https://doi.org/10.1080/08841240802487411

The Agreement on Good Practice of Attracting International Students and Delivering Studies has been signed between the Ministry and higher education institutions (2017). The Ministry of Education and Science. https://www.izm.gov.lv/en/agreement-good-practice-attracting-foreign-students

Wang, J. (2003). A Study of the Adjustment of International Graduate Students at American Universities, Including Both Resilience and Traditional Background Factors [Doctoral dissertation, Florida State University]. http://purl.flvc.org/fsu/fd/FSU_migr_etd-1270

Wong, J. K.-K. (2004). Are the learning styles of Asian internationals culturally or contextually based? *International Education Journal*, *4*(4), 154–166.

Wu, H., Garza, E., & Guzman, N. (2015). International Student's Challenge and Adjustment to College. *Education Research International*. https://doi.org/10.1155/2015/202753

About the author

Karīna Svētiņa is PhD student of University of Latvia, Faculty of Education, Psychology and Art.

https://doi.org/10.22364/atee.2022.28

Ideo Workbook in English Lessons: A Fit Analysis to Skola2030 Transversal Skills

leva Margeviča-Grinberga, Anna Sidorova

University of Latvia, Latvia

ABSTRACT

The concept of transversal skills is a crucial element in competency-based approach in Latvia, which is specified in project Skola2030 and gradually has been approbated since 2017 in schools in Latvia. Teachers were provided with the methodological tools to practise these skills successfully, however, there are still struggles in this field. The objective of the research was to demonstrate the evidence regarding whether the principles of IDEO workbook are appropriate ('fits') Latvian educational context, particularly, the notion of Skola2030 transversal skills. Based on fit and feasibility theory this work addressed the research question: 'How does the design of IDEO workbook's skill set fit to the transversal skills of Skola2030 methodological tool in English lessons?' The examination used statistical descriptive frequency analysis of the transversal skills of each document and comparative analysis between the two document sets included in each of them, using Excel software. The results show that the Skola2030 methodological tool for teachers on transversal skills in language areas stresses critical thinking, collaboration, and digital skills, whereas IDEO workbook underlines critical thinking, creativity and entrepreneurship, and self-directed learning. The high fit of both documents suggests that the adaptation of the IDEO workbook in the schools of Latvia could considerably enrich the Skola2030 educational offer. Suggestions for the improvement of the IDEO workbook and its adaptation are put forward.

Keywords: English as a Foreign Language, fit and feasibility analysis, Hexagon tool, IDEO workbook, Skola2030, transversal skills

Introduction

Significant changes in Europe and worldwide have fuelled the understanding of the value of continuous learning and enhanced the need for all persons to build talents, competences, and inclinations that go beyond core skills over the

past several decades. These shifts have also influenced existing notions and techniques for developing transversal skills. According to the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO), transversal skills are often not explicitly tied to a specific task, job, academic discipline, or specific subject and may be applied in a broad range of contexts and workplaces (Skills and Education Group, 2019). These abilities are 'transferable' since they are not limited to a single industry or professional role. Like a transversal line in geometry, the term 'transversal' refers to how specific talents 'cut across' diverse tasks and jobs. They are analytical and innovative thinking, active learning, complex problem solving, leadership and social influence, technology use, monitoring and control etc. (World Economic Forum, 2020, 36; Álvarez, 2020). Teachers who possess the skills mentioned above can adapt to various work settings and situations. However, the challenge comes when they are not well-versed in English, which is a globally used language for instruction (Zeide, 2022). IDEO workbook is an appropriate methodology to get such teachers on board with language acquisition due to its discovery, interpretation, ideation, experimentation, and evolution approaches with the help of a design thinking approach, which involves recurrences to improve the solutions and increase knowledge (Schallmo et al., 2018).

To begin with, IDEO is design thinking that is experimental in nature. Therefore, it permits teachers to develop new ideas, obtain feedback on them, and then iterate (Lūka, 2014). Design Thinking allows teachers to fail and learn from their failures. Given the breadth of the instructors' needs, their English acquisition will never be completed or "solved" on time (Henriksen et al., 2020). Riverdale (n.d.). states that it will always be in the works. Riverdale Country School located in New York City, and the design firm IDEO collaborated to establish Design Thinking for Educators (DTE). As the name implies, it provides a teamwork approach to developing thinking aimed at teachers looking for design solutions. DTE's toolset and workbook are its highlights since they provide a step-by-step way to get design solutions. The fact that this material is entirely free to download from IDEO's website adds to its appeal, making it an open call for teachers with a focus on English acquisition gain from it.

This research analyses one of the recent contributions to the improvement of the implementation of transversal skills in Latvian schools. Since 2016 Latvia is gradually moving to competency-based education, in which transversal skills promote knowledge acquisition in various contexts with different ways of thinking and self-directed learning, thus boosting the connection of new knowledge with a student's personal experience. Moreover, the use of transversal skills in different learning areas strengthens students' abilities to use them independently and in a wide variety of situations, including complex and unpredictable ones (Skola2030, 2019).

The methodological tool for teachers to enhance students' transversal skills includes specific skills according to the learning areas, such as critical thinking and problem solving, creativity and entrepreneurship, self-directed learning, cooperation, civil participation, digital skills. As for the language area, where foreign languages are included as well, the main three transversal skills that are highlighted to be taught more meaningfully and successfully are critical thinking and problem solving, cooperation, and digital skills (Skola2030, n.d.). Nonetheless, according to the curricula of English as a foreign language in Forms 1 to 12, approved by National Centre for Education Republic of Latvia (Valsts izglītības satura centrs), all existing transversal skills in Skola2030 and outcomes of a successful acquisition of them is mentioned and described (VISC, 2020). In UNESCO document on assessing transversal competencies (Care et al., 2019, 2) a divergent set of transversal skills is mentioned; however, the main domains are global citizenship, critical and innovative thinking, physical health and religious values, intrapersonal skills, interpersonal skills, media and information literacy, which have got the relevance both to the list of transversal skills in Skola2030 and IDEO workbook (see Table 1).

In the Skola2030 methodological tool, in the chapter of each transversal skill, specific recommendations are described on how to develop students' transversal skills, using all three teacher actions, such as: shape in their own actions the skills and attitudes that students learn, create an environment and offer tasks that promote skill practice, guide the development of skills and support students in the learning process. It is also crucial to point out that the methodological tool provides advice on enhancing critical thinking, cooperation, and digital skills especially in the language area (Skola2030, n.d.). Critical thinking in students is formed when students analyse and evaluate various types of information and situations, study problem situations related to language learning or the language system itself and offer simple or complex solutions, determine the open and hidden intention of the author of the text, justify the opinion and formulate the argumentation.

Table 1. Main Transversal Skills in the Skola2030 Curricula in English Lessons and IDEO Workbook

Skola2030	critical thinking and problem solving (4 ^b), creativity and entrepreneurship
Curricula	(3), self-directed learning (5), cooperation (3), civil participation (4),
in Forms 1 to 12 ^ª	digital skills (4)
IDEO Workbook	teamwork and collaboration, creativity, digital literacy, application skills, empathy, reflective thinking, communication skills, self-discipline

Note. ^a The curriculum 'English as a First Foreign Language' for Forms 1 to 9 was chosen for the analysis, whereas for Forms 10 to 11 it was 'Foreign Language I (English, B2 level)', and 'Foreign Language II (English, C1 level)' for Form 12 were analysed. ^b The numbers describe additional notes on variations of possible outcomes of the enhanced transversal skills.

Whereas cooperation is developed by offering topics and tasks that encourage students to think about communication as a basis for successful cooperation, and by providing it. According to the communication situation, students express their thoughts, feelings, and opinions orally and in written form to learn and provide information, express emotions and build relationships, as well as listen to others and solve language-related problems together in a group. The digital skills in students are strengthened in diverse learning activities, using digital technologies in a safe and ergonomic way, and critically analysing the content found on the web, including the content of social networks, as well as creating their own original content. The teachers should promote the process rather than just educate so that there is learning by the students with the added outcome of garnering and nourishing experiences about students' own learning (Skola2030, n.d.; Pande & Bharathi, 2020).

The objective of this research was to provide evidence regarding whether the IDEO workbook is appropriate ('fits') to the Latvian context, in reference to the Skola2030 curricula in English lessons. This curriculum research would also be useful to improve the lesson plans for further implementation in English acquisition. The research question guiding the enquiry was: 'How does the design of IDEO workbook's skill set fit to the transversal skills of Skola2030 methodological tool in English lessons?'. The methods for answering this question included content analysis, both thematic and quantitative, focussing on the similarities and differences of the sets of transversal skills that are present in Skola2030 curricula and IDEO workbook.

Methodology

The documental base of the research included the whole IDEO workbook and Skola2030 methodological tool for teaching transversal skills through all learning areas. The IDEO workbook included six activity plans described in the following sections: definition of a challenge, discovery, interpretation, ideation, experimentation, evolution. The Skola2030 methodological tool for teachers on transversal skills' enhancement proposed description and activity plans for the following transversal skills: critical thinking and problem solving, creativity and entrepreneurship, self-directed learning, cooperation, civil participation, digital skills. Both documents included 129 pages, that consisted of the main idea and objective of the document and advised activities that can be used by educators. The UNESCO document on assessment of transversal competencies was also taken into account (Care et al., 2019).

Data collection and analysis covers the DTE document's concept of the five main components, such as discovery, interpretation, ideation, experimentation, evolution is divided into the similar sections throughout the whole IDEO workbook. In the beginning of each of the unit and afterwards the whole idea of the activities was provided with the precise description, that helped to conduct the analysis of the practised transversal skills. Regarding Skola2030 the main accent was put both on the set of transversal skills, and to the concept of aims and objectives especially in secondary education, since the level of the use of IDEO workbook requires students' English proficiency at least on level B1, which is the introductory level in Form 10.

The qualitative content analysis was carried out in two stages: first, descriptive analysis of the transversal skills of each project was performed using Excel software. A comparative analysis between the two document sets was implemented by using the Hexagon Discussion and Analysis Tool (Metz & Louison, 2019), revealing similarities and differences between IDEO workbook and Skola2030 methodological tool.

Results

The descriptive analysis is presented by analysing the set of transversal skills (see Table 2). In the Skola2030 methodological tool transversal skills match UNESCO almost all domains except the physical skills and religious values. The same happens with the transversal skills practised in IDEO workbook, moreover, the global citizenship skills are not present as well. However, there is a presence of other skills practised in the IDEO workbook. For instance, every aspect of the workbook goes with a control question. In the beginning of a 'discovery' phase, students have got a challenge and should find the ways to approach it.

Transversal skills category (UNESCO)	Skola2030 Methodological Tool	IDEO Workbook
Global citizenship	civil participation	
Critical, innovative thinking	creativity and entrepreneurship; critical thinking and problem solving	creativity, application skills, reflective thinking,
Physical skills, religious values		
Intrapersonal skills	self-directed learning	self-discipline
Interpersonal skills	cooperation	teamwork and collaboration, communication skills, empathy
Media and information	digital skills	digital literacy

Table 2. Transversal Skills Retrieved in the Skola2030 and the IDEO Workbook

Digital literacy is practised the most since students have the chance to explore existing ideas across the internet. In the 'interpretation' students have already learnt something, thus they must interpret it by using communication skills and creativity, especially through the brainstorming process. Self-discipline and application skills are required the most since opportunities are provided in the 'ideation' phase; at this point students are welcomed to comprehend what they will create next. Teamwork and collaboration are performed the most during the 'experimentation' students try to build new ideas around the existing ones. Reflective thinking and empathy is required in the last phase of 'evolution'. Students already have experienced their projects, at this point they have a chance for the future to evolve.

The comparative analysis was carried out by applying the Hexagon tool, which was used as a planning tool to evaluate two document sets and practices for use. It is commonly used during the exploration stage, when there is a necessity to identify possible new programmes or practices to implement in the future (Metz & Louison, 2019). This exploration tool consists of two main concepts: implementing site indicators and programme indicators. The questions that were put forward for the discussion were aligned to each of the concepts and their criteria and analysed among the authors of the research (see Table 3).

Indicators	Criteria	Question	Skola2030 Method- ological Tool	IDEO Workbook
Implement- ing site	capacity	Does the programme require new technology/tools?	2	2
	fit	What other initiatives currently being implemented will intersect with the programme?	3	3
	need	Was an analysis of data conducted to identify specific area(s) of need relevant to the programme?	5	4
Programme	evidence	Is there a well-developed theory that demonstrates how the programme is expected to contribute to outcomes?	4	4
	usability	Has the programme been adapted culturally and linguistically?	5	5
	supports	Is coaching/guidance available for this programme or practice?	5	5
		Total:	24	23

Table 3. Hexagon Tool Implementation in the Skola2030 and the IDEO Workbook (Metz & Louison, 2019)
I. MARGEVIČA-GRINBERGA, A. SIDOROVA. Ideo Workbook in English Lessons: A Fit Analysis ..

Afterwards the evaluation was applied in the following formula: 5 for high evidence 4 for evidence; 3 for some evidence; 2 for minimal evidence, and 1 for no evidence.

The question regarding the capacity of the implementing site indicator 'Does the programme require new technology/tools?' brings two points for both Skola2030 methodological tool and IDEO workbook since both are guided by a well-developed theory, including clear criteria for achieving specific skills, however, they do not demonstrate effectiveness of any other technologies or tools through a research study presented in the document. As for the question 'What other initiatives currently being implemented will intersect with the programme?' For the fit of the implementing site indicator both documents receive 3 points because practice shows some evidence of effectiveness through examples and comments from the educators, who have carried out similar activities presented in the document. The last question of the need of the implementing site indicator 'Was an analysis of data conducted to identify specific area(s) of need relevant to the programme?' Skola2030 methodological tool receives 5 points since the introduction of the document includes the theoretical basis because the need in the curriculum is required and the tool has demonstrated sustained effects at least one year of application. Even though the IDEO workbook exists for several years, it mostly stresses the presentation of the innovative approach of design thinking and creative confidence, as well as that, the DTE is continuation of the company's IDEO hard work, thus 4 points are accessed.

The programme indicator continued with the criteria of the 'evidence' with the question 'Is there a well-developed theory that demonstrates how the programme is expected to contribute to outcomes?'. Both tools receive 4 points since the theoretical and scientific basis is present. According to transversal skills in Skola2030, the main aspect was taken from the global documents and sustainable development goals, whereas DTE is based on the research of creative confidence and design thinking as a tool for its enhancement. In the category of 'usability' both programmes receive the highest points for the question 'Has the programme been adapted culturally and linguistically?'. The tools present data from the experience of others, moreover, the experience has been transformed into the tasks that are provided in both documents. Lastly, for the category of 'supports' by the question 'Is coaching/guidance available for this programme or practice?' the maximum number of points is provided as well, because both materials present a great amount of pages devoted to help educators to use the provided activities in practice.

I. MARGEVIČA-GRINBERGA, A. SIDOROVA. Ideo Workbook in English Lessons: A Fit Analysis ..

Discussion

Ideation is the process of producing many ideas. Brainstorming allows you to think freely and without limitations (IDEO, n.d.). Outlandish concepts frequently spark visionary ideas. A brainstorming session can generate hundreds of new ideas with proper planning and a defined set of guidelines. Teachers can discuss what they have learned, give the meaning of a massive quantity of data, and look for design opportunities during this phase. They will have many ideas, including some that they will keep and others that they will toss out. They will make their ideas real by developing rough prototypes, which they will then share with the people they have gained and receive feedback on. They will continue to iterate, refine, and construct until they are satisfied with their solution. This stage might help students answer problems like, "How do I make good sense of everything I've learned?" How do I convert my newfound knowledge into a design opportunity? What's the best way to make a prototype? And how can I know whether my concept is viable? Sketching, modelling, and building can be incorporated into this phase to uncover various new ideas (IDEO, 2013). Innovations are considered as a necessary and positive aspect of changes (Andersone, 2020), thus design thinking activities and experiential learning should be integrated into the lessons (Stock et al., 2018).

The concept of evolution is the progression of ideas over time. It entails determining the following steps, expressing your opinion to those who can assist you, and recording the process. Change takes place over time, and it's crucial to keep track of even the most minor signals of improvement. The workbook is also human-centred, which means it is uniquely positioned to arrive at desirable, practical, and viable solutions. Teachers can quickly identify what is far more desirable by commencing with humans, their hopes, anxieties, and wants. However, this is merely one lens through which they view their answers. Next, they can focus on what is technically possible to implement and how to render the solution financially viable once they have identified a range of ideas that might appeal to them. It's a delicate balancing act and one that is essentially necessary for developing solutions, particularly for English learning, that are effective and long-lasting.

Furthermore, teachers can improve their vocabulary by watching the world around them. Seeking inspiration in other contexts will open their minds and assist them in gaining a new perspective on learning. There is also a need to raise foreign language teachers' awareness as to the implementation of particular transversal skills in the classroom (Baran-Łucarz & Klimas, 2020; Cleminson & Cowie, 2021). They need to try new things by getting out of their comfort zone. Learning from people's interviews, group interviews, and observing their colleagues' conversations are just a few ways they might learn from English language users. Each gathering of information requires a particular setup to ensure the optimal discovery experience and people's comfort and readiness to participate. Spending time with others will encourage them to engage with and learn from them more profoundly. Afterwards, stories become meaningful insights through interpretation (Boris, 2017). Observations, field trips, or even a simple chat can be sources of inspiration but extracting meaning from them and translating them into design opportunities is not always straightforward. It entails presenting stories and organising and condensing ideas until you have developed a clear point of view and ideation path.

Limitations of the study were presented in the English proficiency level which must be obtained by students. Unfortunately, it is challenging for students of level A1 to A2 to use activities from the IDEO workbook on their own. Of course, teachers may adapt the activities and simplify the language in the tasks, however, it may be time consuming, thus not appropriate to every educator.

Conclusions

There is an underlying assumption that educators must aim for perfectionism, never make a mistake, and always be excellent role models. It is difficult for them to take risks when under pressure. It restricts the opportunities for more radical reform in English learning. However, educators must be willing to try new things as they can only learn by doing. By putting English into practice through daily communication, the teachers can grow accustomed to the language, accept corrections, and advance with time.

The basis of the idea is built on discovery. Developing an effective solution for instructors begins with a thorough grasp of their requirements. When they are open to new possibilities and remain encouraged to create fresh ideas, teachers can discover what they need for English acquisition. It will provide insight and provide teachers with explicit knowledge of the design issue if adequately prepared. Creativity and fresh insights can also be found in various locations with a curious mentality and without too much preparation, and they can help them master English more quickly.

To sum up, the IDEO workbook is an appropriate methodology tool. It necessitates the acquisition of English by complementing some of the transversal skills such as innovative and critical thinking. Both transversal competencies and the IDEO workbook complement each other as they aim to create an all-around individual. The Skola2030 methodological tool for teachers on transversal skills in language areas stresses critical thinking, collaboration, and digital skills, whereas IDEO workbook underlines critical thinking, creativity and entrepreneurship, and self-directed learning. The high fit of both documents suggests that the adaptation of the IDEO workbook in the schools of Latvia could considerably enrich the Skola2030 educational offer. Suggestions for the improvement of the IDEO workbook and its adaptation are put forward. I. MARGEVIČA-GRINBERGA, A. SIDOROVA. Ideo Workbook in English Lessons: A Fit Analysis ...

REFERENCES

Álvarez, L. F. C. (2020). Intercultural communicative competence: In-service EFL teachers building understanding through study groups. *Profile Issues in TeachersProfessional Development*, 22(1), 75–92. https://doi.org/10.15446/profile.v22n1.76796

Andersone, R. (2020). Innovations in the improved curriculum content of the competence approach: A case study in Latvia. In *The Proceedings of the International Scientific Conference Rural Environment. Education. Personality (REEP)* (Vol. 13, pp. 213–218). https://doi.org/10.22616/REEP.2020.025

Baran-Łucarz, M., & Klimas, A. (2020). Developing 21st Century Skills in a Foreign Language Classroom: EFL Student Teachers' Beliefs and Self-Awareness. *Academic Journal of Modern Philology*, *10*, 23–38. https://doi.org/10.34616/ajmp.2020.10

Boris, V. (2017). What Makes Storytelling So Effective For Learning? *Harvard Business Publishing Corporate Learning*. https://www.harvardbusiness.org/what-makes-storytelling-so-effective-for-learning/

Care, E., Vista, A., & Kim, H. (2019). Assessment of Transversal Competencies: Current Tools in the Asian Region. UNESCO Bangkok.

Cleminson, T., & Cowie, N. (2021). Using design thinking as an approach to creative and communicative engagement in the English as a Foreign Language (EFL) classroom. *Journal of University Teaching & Learning Practice*, *18*(4), 7. https://doi.org/10.53761/1.18.4.7

Henriksen, D., Gretter, S., & Richardson, C. (2020). Design thinking and the practicing teacher: Addressing problems of practice in teacher education. *Teaching Education*, *31*(2), 209–229. https://doi.org/10.1080/10476210.2018.1531841

IDEO (n.d.). Human-centered design sits at the intersection of empathy and creativity. https://www.ideo.org/tools

IDEO (2013). Design Thinking for Educators. https://www.ideo.com/post/design-thinking-for-educators

Lūka, I. (2014). Design Thinking in Pedagogy. *Journal of Education Culture and Society*, No 2. http://nowadays.home.pl/JECS/data/documents/JECS = 202014 = 20 = 282 = 29 = 2063.74.pdf

Metz, A., & Louison, L. (2019). The Hexagon: An Exploration Tool. Hexagon Discussion & Analysis Tool Instructions. *National Implementation Research Network*.

Pande, M., & Bharathi, S. V. (2020). Theoretical foundations of design thinking–A constructivism learning approach to design thinking. *Thinking Skills and Creativity*, 36. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tsc.2020.100637

Riverdale (n.d.). Innovating With The Teachers Guild. https://www.riverdale. edu/2019/10/10/innovating-with-the-teachers-guild/

Skills and Education Group. (2019). *Transversal skills: What are they, and why are they so important? Skills & Education Group.* https://www.skillsandeducationgroup.co.uk/transversal-skills-what-are-they-and-why-are-they-so-important/

Schallmo, D., Williams, C. A., & Lang, K. (2018). An integrated design thinking approachliterature review, basic principles and roadmap for design thinking. In *ISPIM Innovation Symposium* (pp. 1–18). The International Society for Professional Innovation Management (ISPIM).

Skola2030 (n.d.). Methodological tool for teachers: How to develop transversal skills? [Metodiskais līdzeklis skolotājiem: Kā attīstīt caurviju prasmes?]. https://mape.skola2030. lv/resources/6285

I. MARGEVIČA-GRINBERGA, A. SIDOROVA. Ideo Workbook in English Lessons: A Fit Analysis ..

Skola2030 (2019). Caurviju prasmes. https://www.skola2030.lv/lv/macibu-saturs/merki-skolenam/caurviju-prasmes

Stock, K. L., Bucar, B., & Vokoun, J. (2018). Walking in Another's Shoes: Enhancing Experiential Learning Through Design Thinking. *Management Teaching Review*, 3(3), 221–228. https://doi.org/10.1177/2379298117736283

VISC (2020). English (first foreign language) For forms 1-9. Sample syllabus of a study subject [Angļu valoda (pirmā svešvaloda) 1.–9. Klasei. Mācību priekšmeta programmas paraugs]. https://mape.skola2030.lv/resources/5447

VISC (2020). Foreign Language I (English). Sample syllabus of basic courses for general secondary education [Svešvaloda I (angļu valoda). Pamatkursu programmas paraugs vispārējai vidējai izglītībai]. https://mape.skola2030.lv/resources/388

VISC (2020). Foreign Language II (English). Sample Advanced Course Syllabus for General Secondary Education [Svešvaloda II (angļu valoda). Padziļinātā kursa programmas paraugs vispārējai vidējai izglītībai]. https://mape.skola2030.lv/resources/5054

World Economic Forum (2020). The Future Jobs Report 2020. https://www3.weforum.org/ docs/WEF_Future_of_Jobs_2020.pdf

Zeide, I. (2022). English Language Skills of Managers of Educational Institutions as a Professional Capital Resource in the Context of the Quality of Life [Izglītības iestāžu vadītāju angļu valodas prasmes kā profesionālā kapitāla resurss dzīves kvalitātes kontekstā]. *Doctoral Thesis.* https://dspace.lu.lv/dspace/bitstream/handle/7/57149/298-86524-Zeide_Inga_iz12020.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y

https://doi.org/10.22364/atee.2022.29

Why Do Students of English Cheat Online and How Do They Do It?

Aurelija Daukšaitė-Kolpakovienė

Vytautas Magnus University, Lithuania aurelija.dauksaite-kolpakoviene@vdu.lt

ABSTRACT

The global pandemic that started in 2020 brought a variety of challenges in many spheres of life. Higher education was not an exception, as all classes were moved to online environments. One of the main challenges became the one of academic integrity, since students' knowledge and skills were tested online as well. This paper will discuss a case study carried out at Vytautas Magnus University (Lithuania) in 2021 that involved Lithuanian students of English as a Foreign Language (EFL) who filled in an anonymous questionnaire with open ended and closed ended questions. The study aimed to find out if the students had cheated in any form of EFL assessment (tests, midterm tests, examinations, etc.) online during the pandemic. They were also asked to indicate the ways in which they had cheated and explain why they had behaved this way. The results showed that eighty percent of all the students had engaged in "digital cheating" in one way or another but provided a variety of reasons to justify such a dishonest behaviour. For example, they wanted to obtain good grades, check the spelling of some words online or translate unknown words (which they should have learned). However, not all students perceived such a behaviour as dishonest. They indicated that what they had done could not be seen as a "big crime."

Keywords: academic integrity, distance learning, English as a Foreign Language, higher education, online learning

Introduction

Academic dishonesty has always been a topical issue (Michael and Williams, 2013) not only at school but also at university level. It is an issue probably almost impossible to eradicate completely. However, due to the spread of COVID-19, a shift of university classes to distance learning environments has

brought even more challenges than before. In order to fight those challenges, in spring 2020, foreign language and other teachers at Vytautas Magnus University (VMU) were given recommendations that could help to ensure academic integrity while assessing students' skills in the virtual (online) study environment during the pandemic. Some of the most popular and effective means were the following: computer cameras used by students during assessment; restricted possibility to return to previous tasks during all written tests or other assignments; a time limit to do certain tasks (e.g. examinations), which was hoped would not leave time to consult other sources; 3-4 versions of the same task so that the computer system would assign a different task to students randomly and even mix the task order – in case students get the same task, they would not see it at the same time. It does not mean that students did not cheat then, as their teachers still did not see the screen view of their students, so the teachers could not be sure if the students had opened something else rather than, for example, a test on Moodle. Later, in the beginning of 2021, these and other rules were included into the Order for Distance Language Learning compiled by teachers of the Institute of Foreign Languages at VMU. So students studying foreign languages had to stick to the rules in the spring semester of 2021 and later, since the pandemic continued and foreign language classes were held online even in the spring semester of 2022. Nevertheless, it would be interesting to learn about student behaviour related to academic integrity a year before this order. Therefore, a small-scale study was carried out with an aim to find out whether Lithuanian VMU EFL (English as a Foreign Language) students cheated (that is, engaged in academically dishonest behaviour) in any form of assessment (tests, midterm tests, examinations, etc.) online during the pandemic, how and why they did it, since their classes were delivered online, and assessment took place online as well.

Academic Integrity / Honesty and Academic Dishonesty / Cheating

So what is academic integrity, which is also referred to as academic integrity/ honesty, and academic dishonesty/ cheating, as both terms will be used further in this article? According to Imani and Johnson (2018), there is no single definition of these phenomena. In fact, "literature defines academic dishonesty but identifies academic integrity as avoidance of academic dishonesty" (Imani & Johnson, 2018, p. 1365). Having reviewed various sources on the topic, it is possible to claim that different definitions provided by researchers focus on either particular values that academic integrity includes or behaviour that academic dishonesty involves. For example, Benson et al. (2019) provide the following definition:

Academic integrity is understood as the commitment to six fundamental values: honesty, trust, fairness, respect, responsibility, and courage. In this vein,

The first part of this definition focuses on the values that describe academically honest behaviour, while the second part of it is related to actions which are seen as dishonest behaviour. Such behaviour includes issues from plagiarism to cheating on tests and examinations to submitting a work written by somebody else as their own (Imani and Johnson, 2018), which shows a great variety of activities which can be seen as academically dishonest, so cheating can be seen as "a complex system" (Rarisi, 2013, p. 183) of certain behaviour. To be more precise, it "can be more than a single event; it can be a way of perceiving the world" (McKaya et al., 2019, p. 2). One's perception of the world matters because as some research suggest, students do not necessarily see all kinds of academic dishonesty as cheating. The perception may differ depending on one's culture, country, or individual understanding (McKaya et al., 2019) of what is considered as a good/ acceptable or bad/unacceptable behaviour. McKaya et al. point out that "[c]heating is experienced differentially across cultures with some evidence of culturally specific factors such as a higher level of cheating in collectivist countries although the evidence is not entirely conclusive" (2019, p. 4). There is a variety of other reasons why students engage in dishonest behaviour. Some of these are a "lack of responsibility, laziness, lack of respect for academic rules and being apathetic" (Mamoun Saleh & Meccawy, 2021). In addition, sometimes cheating may be seen as a way of socialisation similar to the one on social networks, thus this behaviour is perceived as a way to support each other rather than dishonest behaviour (Mamoun Saleh & Meccawy, 2021, p. 31). The present study involves only Lithuanian university students, but the number of participants is rather limited and the results could not be generalisable and applicable to all Lithuanian students and their dishonest behaviour in online EFL classes.

Moreover, student perception of what is possible may vary depending on where dishonest behaviour is exhibited. According to Langa (2013),

Students seem to find it more acceptable for them to personally cheat when using IT than when not using IT. However, students do not perceive that same difference for others. They seem to regard cheating for others the same with or without the use of IT. (p. 427)

In other words, when students engage in dishonest behaviour, they do not necessarily see it as cheating if they use technologies, so they would tend to cheat online more rather than in a physical classroom. Furthermore, when other students cheat with the help of or without technologies, it is considered as dishonest behaviour, even though the students would not necessarily see the same behaviour as cheating if they engaged in it themselves. In fact, Azulay

Chertok et al. note that technologies help to cheat because "new modes of academic dishonesty" have become possible and thus evolved, but again it is important to note that there is no clear definition of what actually constitutes online cheating as such (2014, p. 1324). Similarly, Imani and Johnson (2018) agree that the use of technologies not only have improved teaching and learning but also have brought academic integrity-related challenges, one of which is an increased "risk to academic integrity" (Azulay Chertok et al., 2014, p. 1324). The Internet makes it easier to access all the available information quickly and use it, while social networks, which students use, create conditions for communication and information sharing and exchange (Azulay Chertok et al., 2014, p. 1328).

On the one hand, it is thought that students do not have much time for that during assessment online, but Azulay Chertok et al. argue that "multi-tasking is an expectation in the digitally oriented reality" (2014, p. 1328). Most of our students nowaways are digital natives who can do quite many things that involve technologies at the same time. According to Peterson,

[c]heating has gone beyond just copying papers or answers. Students can now (...) send each other answers through phones and other devices – one student can share answers with another via digital media and suddenly half the class has the same answers. (Peterson, 2019, p. 25)

This is why Rarisi refers to such behaviour as "digital cheating" (2013, p. 179). In fact, Hayes et al. emphasise that "[t]here are literally hundreds of ways students can cheat" (2006) online (and offline). Therefore, the ways of cheating depend on student imagination and become more and more sophisticated (Hayes et al., 2006, p. 4), since "temptation for cheating is always around" (Naghdipour & Emeagwali, 2013, p. 265). What is also important is that, as Michael and Williams point out, the

online environment, by its nature, may make it more difficult to prevent [cheating] or catch students who are involved in working together when they are not supposed to be. (Michael & Williams, 2013, n.p)

In the context of VMU, it may be less likely that students worked together on tasks during the pandemic, because they did not know each other well and were from different study programmes, so they met only in their EFL classes online. Yet, it is known that EFL students do create Facebook groups and sometimes communicate there (even when their classes are held in physical classrooms), thus cooperation may happen even though the students are almost strangers to one another and have not met in the real world. However, Peterson claims that the belief that academic dishonesty online is more widespread than in physical classrooms is not true because a "number of studies have been completed in this area

and, in fact, many have shown that students are more likely to cheat in on-campus courses than in online courses" (Peterson, 2019, p. 24, italics in original). Yet, it was not possible to find any of such studies while doing literature review for the present paper.

Quite many researchers studying academic dishonesty also discuss the so called Fraud Triangle that comes from business studies and is used to discuss fraudulent employee behaviour (Rarisi, 2013). According to Hayes et al.,

[a] though the fraud triangle is used most often to discuss financial fraud, a closer look at research on why students cheat indicates that student cheating behavior falls within the elements of the fraud triangle. (2006, p. 2)

As Little and Handel (2016) note, the so-called Fraud Triangle was developed by W. Steve Albrecht and later improved by Donald R. Cressey and Edwin Suterland; it formed out of the following three components: pressure, opportunity, and rationalisation. The triangle is explained in terms of employee behaviour that describes how an employee commits fraud, but it could easily be applied while describing student dishonest behaviour in any physical or online classroom. A student may feel pressure to perform well on a test or other assignment and thus is motivated to behave unethically. Distance or online learning provides an opportunity to engage in unethical activities, such as using the Internet and consulting different resources in order to find answers, but the rationale behind such a behaviour or justification of it is that everybody does it in distance or online learning, noone sees it or maybe that it is not a "big thing". A cheater may not even see this as cheating (Hayes et al., 2006). Little and Handel (2016) suggest a possible solution to the problem of academic cheating which involves three elements: leadership (involving codes of conduct, policies, etc. and education on ethical behaviour), control (the teachers' role to inform the students about academic integrity, rules, etc. and establish control of academic integrity in assessment) and effective follow-up (reporting of cases of academic dishonesty and making sure that the actions that are indicated in institutional, e.g. university, documents are taken). One more solution is to reduce one of the components (pressure, opportunity or rationalisation) of the Fraud Triangle, because in such a case the amount of cheating can be also reduced or eliminated (Hayes et al., 2006).

As far as other solutions are concerned, Michael and Williams point out that "an online testing environment requires different strategies and tactics from what we have had to consider in the past" (2013, n.p). On the other hand, these scholars suggest that based on their study, there will always be some cheating students no matter the effort and hard work of educational institutions (Michael & Williams, 2013). Prevention is key and starts with raised or created "awareness of the problem" (Michael & Williams, 2013, n.p), but it is

impossible to prevent cheating without knowing what and why students do when they cheat (Naghdipour & Emeagwali, 2013), since knowledge may help to "promote ethical responsibility" and foster "a culture of academic integrity" in both academic and institutional communities (Imany & Johnson, 2018, p. 1366). Hayes et al. (2006) suggest including academic integrity-related policies in course syllabi and discussing them during the first class in all study subjects, which could be an important step in the process of promotion of academic integrity, or reminding about the issue periodically (Krishnamurthi & Rhode, 2018).

What else can be done? There are technological solutions and ways of prevention. For example, there are remote proctor systems, including microphones and cameras, which monitor what happens during assessment in the student's environment (Michael & Williams, 2013). There are also applications that prevent students from opening other webpages during online testing. Moreover, it is recommended to update test content constantly so that the tasks differ in different groups of the same class in the same or different semester, the same or different year.

Methodology

The aim of the study was to find out whether VMU EFL students cheated in any form of assessment during the pandemic in 2020, what kind of behaviour they engaged in and why. 44 students of general English at upper-intermediate level at VMU were asked to fill in an online questionnaire about their academic behaviour during EFL assessment online in 2020, but the study itself was carried out in the beginning of 2021. The students participated on a voluntary basis and were granted full confidentiality. They were also informed that by filling in the questionnaire they would give their consent to participate in the study and for the results to be used for academic and scientific purposes.

39 out of 44 students agreed to reveal their behaviour by participating in the survey. Out of all the participants, 74.4% were female and 25.6% were male students. They were 18 to 22 years old, but the biggest part, 56.4% of them were 19, while 28.2% were 20 years old. All the participants were bachelor's degree students. In fact, most of them were freshmen, as 89.7% of them were year one students, while the rest of the sample – 10.3% – were in year two of their bachelor studies. The students indicated their demographic information in the first part of the survey, while in the second part the respondents were able to choose all the statements (out of thirteen given ones) that applied to their experience and (non)academic behaviour in the online learning of English as a foreign language in 2020 at VMU in terms of academic integrity or dishonesty. Even though the study was both qualitative and quantitative, the biggest attention in

TO BE OR NOT TO BE A GREAT EDUCATOR, 2022

A. DAUKŠAITĖ-KOLPAKOVIENĖ. Why Do Students of English Cheat Online and How Do They Do It?

the study was dedicated to the qualitative part that included respondents' explanations of what exactly they did during their assessment of English and why (the components of the earlier discussed Fraud Triangle – *pressure, opportunity,* and *rationalisation*).

Having received and processed the research data or this small scale case study, the students were presented the results and informed about the academic behaviour that was considered as unacceptable. It was hoped that the students would change it.

Results and Discussion

In the second part of the online questionnaire, the research participants were asked to choose all the statements that applied to their academic experience of being assessed in English online in 2020. The options were the following:

Statement	%
1. I used my notes during tests/exams, etc.	29.2
 I used my class materials, e.g. handouts, slides, books, etc., during tests/ midterm tests/exams, etc. 	13.8
3. I used the Internet (e.g. Google) for information during tests/ midterm tests/ exams, etc.	16.9
 I asked for help from my family members or relatives during tests/ midterm tests/ exams, etc. 	0
5. I asked for help from my friends during tests/ midterm tests/ exams, etc.	7.7
6. I sent print screen pictures to other course peers to learn the answers during tests/ midterm tests/ exams, etc.	3.1
7. I took a test/ midterm test/ exam, etc. later, so I asked other students who had taken it about it, hoping I would get the same one.	0
8. I paid someone to take a test/ midterm test/ exam, etc. instead of me	0
9. I sent my test/ midterm test/ exam, etc. answers in some form (e.g. print screen pictures) to a friend or a course peer in a chat/ email, etc.	1.5
10. I copy-pasted information from an article/ the Internet or some other resource when I prepared my presentation	4.6
11. I submitted a work from my previous class as a new one in a different class (no matter if there were any changes made or not)	1.5
12. I did something that is not mentioned here, but I will indicate and explain it in the box below.	1.5
13. I always relied on my own knowledge and did not engage in any dishonest academic behaviour in my English tests/ midterm tests/ exams, etc.	20

Table 1. Statements on Academic Integrity or Dishonesty

TO BE OR NOT TO BE A GREAT EDUCATOR, 2022

A. DAUKŠAITĖ-KOLPAKOVIENĖ. Why Do Students of English Cheat Online and How Do They Do It?

Later the respondents of the questionnaire were asked to comment on their choices by explaining why they engaged in the particular type(s) of behaviour. As Table 1 shows, approximately 29% of the respondents used their notes during tests, midterm tests and examinations. Thematic analysis was employed in this study in open-ended answers in order to identify most common explanations and reasons of dishonest behaviour. In the case of cheating by using notes, the reasoning was the following:

- The students forgot something and wanted to check.
- The students did not believe in/ trust their knowledge of English.
- The students were stressed.
- They could/ the materials were reachable.
- By using their notes the students could do better in their assessment.
- It helped to understand how to do a task or make sure they were doing a task correctly.
- Doing this is not a big crime.

In other words, the students had low self-esteem or were stressed because they wanted to succeed (*pressure*) and an *opportunity* to feel less stressed presented itself, since the assessment was done online. As a result, many used the *opportunity* to behave dishonestly. The table below shows some answers provided by the research partcipants (their language here and elsewhere in the paper has not been corrected).

Table 2. Students used their notes	during their assessment	of English
------------------------------------	-------------------------	------------

State	ment 1
R9.	I used my notes during tests/ midterms/ exams, etc. I wrote answers after I finished exam, to check later what mistakes I made and how it should be correctly.
R13.	I used my notes not because I wanted to cheat on my test. I did that because I forgot something and looked at my notes. That happened once maybe twice.
R15.	I used my notes during test/ midterms/ exams because I did not believe my knowledge.
R18.	used my notes because I could in distance learning.
R19.	I used my notes because I'm stressed when I have to write an exam, I'm the slow one, so I always run out of time.
R22.	I used my notes () because I was afraid of the grade I could get. The tests were really important to me.
R28.	Yes, using the notes during test/midterm is cheating, however learning shouldn't be like hammering in. Using notes while writing or learning is much more better. () University teaching should be based more on using notes plus your general knowledge that you learned during the course or school.
R29.	In my personal thinking using notes from the lectures and information from books is not a big crime. It helps me to comprehend how task is required to be done. And also I think, that way I avoid stress.

TO BE OR NOT TO BE A GREAT EDUCATOR, 2022

A. DAUKŠAITĖ-KOLPAKOVIENĖ. Why Do Students of English Cheat Online and How Do They Do It?

As R29. (R. here and elsewhere will stand for "research participant") notes, using notes "is not a big crime." Similarly, R28. points out that university assessment should in fact include open-book type testing where student notes would be used, even if it was a foreign language, such as English, class.

Around 14% of the research participants used class materials such as slides, handouts and others during different types of assessment when they did not understand something or wanted to check their answers before submitting them. Several examples can be found in the table below.

Table 3. Students used their class materials during the assessment of English

Statement 2			
R1.	I rarely use my notes. Maybe on 1 or 2 questions if I don't understand something. But usually I just guess in that case.		
R7.	I just used my class materials because I want to check myself and I want to do exam myself.		

It seems that students did not use class materials often, but when they did, they wanted to make sure they had correct answers, which was related to the pressure they felt to be correct that later led to a better grade. On the other hand, sometimes looking at the materials served as a means to understand tasks instead of asking for an explanation from the teacher who was proctoring a particular test or some other form of assessment online.

Approximately 17% of the respondents used the Internet connection during their assessment of English. Reasons for this academic dishonesty varied. However, the following three reasons were provided most frequently by the study participants:

- It was useful to check the spelling of English words.
- They needed to check word meanings on Google Translate.
- They wanted to obtain good grades.

In other words, the reasons for cheating were related either to the students' lack of knowledge in terms of written forms or meanings of vocabulary or the *pressure* to succeed by getting good grades. Table 4 provides some examples of the provided open-ended answers.

It can be stated that the use of the Internet, Google in particular, during testing was a way to get some correct answers that would finally lead to a better grade than these students would get if they did all the tasks themselves. In addition, as the testing happened online, the students pointed out that it was easy to access the information available there, so they simply used the *opportunity*. Moreover, sometimes it was quicker to google the answer rather than try to remember what the student had learned. It was also used to fill in the knowledge gap when something had not been learned but should have been.

Table 4. Students used sources on the Internet during their assessment of English

State	Statement 3			
R5.	Used internet mostly to double check spelling of the word. We had tests as big as exam before mid-term and final exam to look how the exam will look like and if we're actually prepared for it, in those I've never use any notes or external material.			
R8.	Most of the time I was using google translator or I was searching for verbs.			
R11.	I know is wrong but it just hard not to search for answers and get better grade, when I can.			
R17.	It's very hard not to use information then you have simple access to it. I know that isn't best option to do, but everyone want good grades. In the other hand i don't ask help from other students or friends, because i trust only myself.			
R34.	I used the google translate because sometimes it takes time to remember one or another word.			
R38.	I used a bit of internet and 1. my own notes (), not because of not knowing, just in-case.			

Some students admitted that cheating was wrong but they did it anyway: e.g. R. 11 "I know it is wrong but it is just hard not to search for answers and get better grade" or R. 28 "Yes, using the notes during test/midterm is cheating, however learning shouldn't be like hammering in" (a literal translation from Lithuanian where it means to learn something by heart). Nevertheless, almost 8% of all questionnaire respondents asked for help from their friends, as probably they would not have been able to do the tasks themselves even if they tried to consult other sources. At other times cheating happened in a way which was not clearly indicated: R2. "I a wanted better mark, so instead of not answering the question I chose to check other information I had."

Nevertheless, it is pertinent to emphasise that academic integrity is important not only in assessment that happens in a test or some other format. For example, in their English classes of different levels at VMU, students usually make presentations, so it was interesting to learn that there were some academic integrity-related issues that probably would have happened even if the classes had been held in a physical classroom, not online, as well, as some students admitted to have plagiarised or self-plagiarised: "I copy-pasted information from an article/ internet when I prepared my presentation because I didn't know the information that I had to use in the presentation and I think I also learned what I used" (R9). One more example on the issue is the following: "My actions are inexcusable and I do not have any good explanation for them. I still study hard for my exams, midterms and tests but my wish to get the best mark I can is stronger than my integrity. The reason I submitted a work from my previous class is because that was the easiest way out and my group and I were already late on that assignment, so we just used my already previously done project and just shortened it to a 5 min presentation" (R3).

This only shows that there is a need to speak about the issue of plagiarism as a component of academic dishonesty not only in a foreign language classroom but

also at all university classes. Just like in other earlier discussed cases, students plagiarised either because they wished to get a better grade or because they had not put the effort to do something themselves. It is important to point out that since the respondents were able to choose more than one provided statement to describe their behaviour, some students indicated they had engaged in several types of cheating. Yet, 80% of them cheated in at least one way.

The reasons why 20% of the respondents relied only on their own knowledge and did not engage in any dishonest behaviour in their online EFL classes when their skills were assessed were related to student personal values, as they explained that they did not like cheating in general, trusted themselves and their knowledge. Some of the open-ended answers are provided in Table 5 below.

Table 5. Students did not engage in any dishonest behaviour in their assessment of English

State	ment 13
R4.	I know that cheating not helps to improve your level, I am in university, cause I want to be more clever than other from my village who do not believed to powers about desire to study.
R14.	I did not use any information to write my exam or midterm.
R16.	I did not use notes or internet because I have enough English knowledge from living abroad.
R20.	Because I hate cheating.
R21.	I didn't use anything. I did everything on tests by myself.
R26.	I do not like to cheat.
R37.	I am always honest, so I have nothing to explain. My grades were not very good but I got them for what I really knew.
R39.	l trust myself.

As R4. Rightly noted, cheating in EFL assessment does not improve one's level of English, but as the students who had cheated explained, their motivation for cheating was related to better grades rather than actual English skills (for more information about Lithuanian students' intrinsic and extrinsic motivation to study English see Daukšaitė-Kolpakovienė, 2021). As a result, R37 pointed out that s/he relied on the knowledge s/he had gained in the course but this did not result in very good grades. This might lead to a misconception that cheating leads to good grades while being honest does not, since good grades actually depend on one's effort to learn and demonstrated knowledge and skills. Furthermore, students will use English in many contexts outside the online or physical classroom, so by cheating in EFL assessment they actually cheat on their own understanding of the skills they have. Finally, it is good news that in the survey there were students who did not cheat in any way, but on the other hand, the part of such students was rather small.

Conclusions

Knowledge about the ways students cheat online is useful because their teachers can search for ways to obstruct such behaviour. Most of the ways of cheating in the study could be prevented with the use of more advanced technologies to proctor student assessment. However, such technological advances are quite costly and not all universities can afford them, at least most Lithuanian universities cannot. Thus, there is a need to search for other affordable ways.

Of course, it is important to raise student awareness about the requirements of ethical behaviour whether classes take place in physical classrooms or online, but at the same time, the tasks themselves should be prepared in such a way that openbook exams become possible, as the students would need to apply the knowledge they have, synthesise and compare information rather than include something from their notes or a text book. This may not apply to lower levels of English but would be definitely useful while assessing intermediate and higher levels.

As the study has revealed, the students who cheat are often motivated by their lack of knowledge (related to something they did not learn but should have) or better grades that they hope to obtain. Therefore, it is important to help them understand that grades are meant to show how much of something they already know, what they have not studied enough yet and thus should improve in the future. Consequently, the grades received by cheating do not show anything and do not encourage further improvement or growth in any way. On the other hand, future studies may analyse why grades are so important. Some possible reasons may be related to high expectations of individual students, parental or peer-pressure, possibilities to study free of charge and receive scholarships awarded by the university.

It is important to take into account the fact that the study is limited in the number of its participants. Therefore, it is not possible to generalise its results or claim that most of VMU EFL students cheat online. However, the study sheds light on what sometimes happens in online learning.

REFERENCES

Imani, A., & Johnson, E. (2018). Cultivating Academic Integrity in a Digital Learning Environment. *Journal of Digital Society (IJDS), 9*(1), 1359–1366. https://infonomics-society.org/wp-content/uploads/ijds/published-papers/volume-9-2018-2/Cultivating-Academic-Integrity-in-a-Digital-Learning-Environment.pdf

Azulay Chertok, I. R., Barnes, E. R., & Gilleland, D. (2014). Academic Integrity in the Online Learning Environment for Health Sciences Students. *Nurse Education Today, 34*(10), 1324–1329. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2013.06.002

Benson, L., Rodier, K., Enström, R., & Bocatto, E. (2019). Developing a University-wide Academic Integrity E-learning Tutorial: a Canadian Case. *International Journal for Educational Integrity*, *15*(5), 1–23. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40979-019-0045-1

Daukšaitė-Kolpakovienė, A. (2021). Lithuanian University Students' Motivation to Study English. Human, technologies and quality of education / Cilvēks, tehnoloģijas un izglītības kvalitāte. 79th International Scientific Conference of the University of Latvia: Proceedings of Scientific Papers, 868–875. https://doi.org/10.22364/htqe.2021

Hayes, D., Hurtt, K., and Bee, S. (2006). The War on Fraud: Reducing Cheating in the Classroom. *Journal of College Teaching & Learning*, *3*(2), 1–12. https://clutejournals.com/index.php/TLC/article/view/1742

Krishnamurthi, M. & Rhode, J. (2018). Addressing Academic Integrity in Education and Innovation. *International Journal of Information and Education Technology*, 8(11), 786–791. http://www.ijiet.org/vol8/1140-ME0018.pdf

Langa, C. (2013). Investigation of Students' Attitude to Academic Honesty–Empirical Study. *Procedia – Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 76, 426–430. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. sbspro.2013.04.140

Little, J., & Handel, S. (2016). Student Cheating and the Fraud Triangle. Business Education Forum, 37–40. https://www.sheehancpa.com/pdf/student-cheating-and-the-fraud-triangle.pdf

Naghdipour, B., & Emeagwali, O. L. (2013). Students' Justifications for Academic Dishonesty: Call for Action. *Procedia – Social and Behavioral Sciences, 83*, 261–265. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2013.06.051

Mamoun Saleh, A., & Meccawy, Z. (2021) EFL Female Students' Perceptions towards Cheating in Distance Learning Programmes. *English Language Teaching*, *14*(1), 29–36. https://doi.org/10.5539/elt.v14n1p29

McKaya, R., Cray, D., & Mittelman, R. (2019). We're not in Kansas anymore: Academic Honesty in an International Business Program. *The International Journal of Management, 17*, 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijme.2018.10.004

Michael, T. B., & Williams, M. A. (2013). Student Equity: Discouraging Cheating in Online Courses. Administrative Issues *Journal: Education, Practice, and Research*, n.p. https://doi.org/10.5929/2013.3.2.8

Peterson, J. (2019). An Analysis of Academic Dishonesty in Online Classes. Mid-Western Educational Researcher, 31(1), 24–36. https://www.mwera.org/MWER/volumes/v31/ issue1/V31n1-Peterson-FEATURE-ARTICLE.pdf

Rarisi, M. I. (2013). Academic Dishonesty in Distance Higher Education: Challenges and Models for Moral Education in the Digital Era. *Turkish Online Journal of Distance Education – TOJDE, 14*(4), 176–195. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1042597.pdf

About the author

Aurelija Daukšaitė-Kolpakovienė is a lecturer at the Institute of Foreign Languages, Vytautas Magnus University in Kaunas, Lithuania. She holds a PhD in Philology and has been teaching English and other subjects in English for more than twelve years. Her research interests include EFL, distance learning, out-of-class foreign language learning, and assessment. https://doi.org/10.22364/atee.2022.30

Professional Development Used to Enhance K-5 Teachers' Competencies Working with English Language Learners

Tiffany Nichole Gardner Bennett

West Chester University, United States of America

ABSTRACT

Over the past decade, the United States education system has predicted a significant increase in the number of English Language Learners (ELLs) enrolled in public schools. A substantial number of teachers who interact with ELLs lack the preparedness to support their student's academic needs. Research has shown that the lack of professional development (PD) debars teachers from receiving efficacious resources to support English Language Learners. Most professional development (PD) provided for teachers excludes addressing ELL's content. The absence of PD specifically focused on ELLs has left many teachers entering the profession not adequately trained to engage and support ELL students. The types of PD described by teachers tend to give the bare minimum coverage of how to work with ELLs rather than go in-depth on the issues that prohibit ELL students' ability to understand the learning content. The conceptual framework incorporated in this exploratory research will be Thomas Guskey's theory of teacher change to focus on the goals of professional development. This exploratory research will examine PD to further understand which delivery modes are optimal to address a major deficit in knowledge regarding PD training that limits teachers' competencies to understand and support ELLs.

Keywords: competencies, English Language Learners, learning outcomes, professional development, teachers

Introduction

When the 2020 Coronavirus disease (COVID-19) emerged as a pandemic, the U.S. educational system had to implement strict protocol procedures to ensure the safety of all educators and students. The new protocols pivoted many educational institutions to shift the classroom culture from in-person to virtual learning (Chaturvedi et al., 2020). The impact of the pandemic has affected the formality of how students receive instructional learning. For individuals who

identify as second language learners, the impact has had more negative experiences because several barriers such as lack of online learning resources, internet access, language barriers, and families' limited capacity to fully support their child's online learning shaped their educational experiences (Scheicher, 2020; Umansky, 2021).

Before the pandemic, an increasing number of English Language Learners (ELLs) were enrolled in mainstream classrooms with teachers who had not been formally trained to support ELL students academically (Feiman-Nemser, 2018). Over 3.8 million ELL students were enrolled in schools across the United States, with 16.2% registered in the elementary grade level (National Center for Education Statistics [NCES], 2020). Rapid growth in the ELL student population required educators' attention as the academic success rate of ELL students continued to fall behind the rest of the student population (Batt, 2008; Sugarman & Geary, 2018; Zarrabi, 2016). Teachers encounter a multitude of challenges when selecting a method that is effective for developing English proficiency in the primary grade levels (Ariyanti et al., 2019). A growing number of teachers who interact with ELL students do not have previous experience or lack the preparedness to academically support ELL students in the classroom (Hansen-Thomas et al., 2016).

According to Ariyanti et al. (2019), teachers must identify what strategies particular students process new information. While PD such as graduate courses or after-school workshops may provide teachers with skills by demonstrating teaching strategies that work for linguistic learners (Hansen-Thomas et al., 2016), many teachers still feel unprepared to work with ELLs (Wu & Guerra, 2017). Guskey (2000) states, "We cannot improve schools without improving the skills and abilities of the teachers within them" (p.18). Primary teachers who are not properly prepared to serve ELL students face an increasing struggle to provide adequate instruction to ELLs (Hegde et al., 2018).

Teachers relied upon PD opportunities such as graduate courses or single workshops to demonstrate teaching strategies for today's educational climate, however, these opportunities are currently insufficient to equip teachers with the necessary knowledge to educate ELL students properly (Khong & Saito, 2013). Professional development training can offer teachers ways to improve their self-efficacy and deepen their knowledge about ELL students (Tran, 2014), yet 57% of teachers reported needing additional training to offer sufficient instruction to ELL students (Gomez & Diarrassouba, 2014).

Previous studies conducted before the pandemic show an increasing interest in the professional development processes (Dengerink et al., 2015), however, these studies do not provide sufficient evidence of the effectiveness of professional development as it correlates to ELL learning outcomes. As the pandemic continues into its third year, it has exposed several inequities in our education

system that have resulted in the heavy loss of instructional learning for K-5 students, particularly second language learners. Given that pre-pandemic, K-5 teachers felt that they barely understood how to meet ELL students' needs, and the pandemic only deepened these pedagogical concerns, given the educational losses of these students, it is important to discern what types of PD would be most efficient to support teachers working with ELLs?

Review of the Literature

Professional Development in Education

Traditional PD activities for teachers typically take the structure of one-sizefits-all. The basic model behind traditional professional development requires teachers to passively receive program "experts" that teach too many types of interventions in one setting (Yurtsever, 2013). However, many teachers find these types of workshops trivial due to the information not correlating with their specific needs. According to Loucks & Horsley et al., (1989), professional development must be a continuous learning process, not an *event*. Thomas Guskey (2002) identifies that "teacher's knowledge of subject content and academic disciplines, the ways students learn, procedures, and classroom management that create an effective learning environment is continuously expanding" (p. 19). Therefore, teachers need continuous learning to adapt and adjust to their task environment. At least some of the PD opportunities need to focus on learning practices based on their current task environment and their knowledge of practices in curriculum instruction.

Researchers have begun to study the quality of practical PD opportunities based on student learning outcomes (Darling-Hammond et al., 2017; Van der Kinkl et al., 2016; Posthom, 2018). One study identified that the critical elements of effective professional development should be:

- a) content focus,
- b) incorporates activity learning,
- c) offers collaboration,
- d) modeling of instruction,
- e) offer coaching support, and
- f) adequate time (Darling-Hammond, 2017).

Research in the U.S.A. found that many PD opportunities do not meet the necessary elements to support teacher practices and student learning outcomes. There is also limited evidence showing specific PD opportunities that highlights ELL contents. In a survey, teachers reported participating in some form of PD that focused on subject content taught (85 percent), whereas teaching ELL students (27 percent) was a minor topic covered (Rotemund et al., 2017). The question that remains unaddressed is how to measure the effectiveness of PD activities on

ELLs' learning outcomes when there are limitations on the number of opportunities provided to teachers?

Van der Kinkl et al., (2016) findings identified that teachers valued quality PD opportunities that addresses their identities and students' different ambitions and learning needs. According to Guskey (2000),

A broader conception of professional development includes opportunities for educators to discuss, think about, try out, and hone new practices in an environment that values inquiry and expectations (p. 7).

Thus, the ideal design of PD opportunities looks to bring a continuous movement of positive change and improvement that will produce students' opportunity for success. These positive changes and improvements can be found when schools provide opportunities for educators to collaborate with other educators, give performance feedback, and allow teacher observation with experienced teachers (Postholm, 2018). In addition, one study closely examined how PD activities influence school improvement. The finding recognized the value of language through teacher reflections that could be used to enhance PD opportunities based on teacher knowledge (Postholm, 2018).

This study will define professional development as processes and activities to enhance teachers' professional knowledge, skills, and beliefs so they can improve and support individual learning needs (Guskey, 2000). A broader scope of how professional development is defined can be based on these three characteristics; it should be (a) intentional, (b) ongoing, and (c) systemic. When PD activities are intentional it creates a clear purpose and attainable goals for educators. These goals focus on the "result-driven" and can be assessed based on the evidence of students' learning (Sparks, 1996b). Teachers must be continuous learners throughout their careers for PD to be ongoing. As a "one-shot" event, professional development is insufficient to provide meaningful practices (Darling-Hammond, 2010); focusing on sustained durations allows teachers the opportunity to identify the challenges and develop practical solutions (Bates & Morgan, 2018). Darling-Hammond (2010) states,

Teachers judge professional development to be most valuable when it provides opportunities to do "hands-on" work that builds their knowledge of academic content and how to teach to their students and when it takes into account the local context (p. 227).

Professional development as a systemic process can be an approach that recognizes that everyone from the teacher to the organization affects student learning (Guskey, 2000). Thus, PD opportunities must be intentional, ongoing, and systemic, and be aligned to both the organization's and individual's goals to ensure improvement in teacher's competencies and student learning.

Challenges

One of the growing trends in the education field is addressing the concerns of teachers' inability to cater to culturally and linguistically diverse students. Several researchers identified common challenges that K-12 teachers face working with ELLs, including a lack of academic vocabulary, poor communication with students and parents, lack of time, and shortage of resources to provide culturally responsive instructions to ELLs (Akbari, 2015; Hansen-Thomas et al., 2016; Songbatumis, 2017). According to Hansen-Thomas et al. (2016), teachers feel unprepared and at a loss instead of finding strategies and resources to support and challenge ELL students. Teachers who do not have the proper knowledge of the students' cultural backgrounds with whom they work tend to have a negative attitude or belief about ELL students. Researchers found that teachers' most common issues could be narrowed down to a lack of PD activities and not being prepared well enough in their teacher preparation programs (Khong & Saito, 2014; Songbatumis, 2017).

The data available for PD activities are vague on a national level (Sims & Fletcher-Wood, 2020) and there is limited evidence that has focused on the type of professional development that addresses ELLs content. However, several studies have recognized the effectiveness of PD opportunities for teachers. A recent Teaching and Learning International Survey (TALIS) found that roughly 82% of primary teachers experience a positive impact after PD activities (Sim & Waterfield, 2019). However, when teaching in a multicultural setting, roughly 33% of teachers did not feel confident in their abilities to address the challenges of working with a culturally or linguistically diverse student body (Methlagl, 2022).

Identifying a promising approach to improve teaching quality and students outcomes requires relegation from the "sit & get" content delivery norm. Current PD opportunities are interactive models used to enhance teachers' competencies and skills in subject content, technology, classroom management, and other content areas (Rotemund et al., 2017). However, the COVID-19 pandemic provided limited PD opportunities for teachers to address the online teaching challenges and expectations (Trikoilis & Papanastasiou, 2020), hence the amount of data available is limited.

Conceptual Framework on Professional Development (PD)

Based on Guskey's model of teacher change (2002), the effectiveness of PD programs can assess the change in teachers' classroom practice, student learning outcomes, and teachers' beliefs and attitudes. Figure 1 models what teachers changed, based on a sequence of outcomes related to professional development. There is an assumption that for teachers to show commitment and acceptance for learning new strategies and skills, PDs must first address the teacher's attitude and beliefs.



Figure 1. Guskey's Model of Teacher Change

Guskey (2002) argued, "an alternative approach would result in a significant change in teacher's attitudes and beliefs occur primarily after experiential-based learning" (p. 384). Professional development opportunities that change teachers' attitudes are the result of successful implementation of practices that change the way teachers' perspectives on new instructional strategies. Support for this model was evident through studies from the late eighties, which found that adjusting teachers' attitudes and beliefs before new practices were executed was unsuccessful (Bolster, 1982).

Similar results come from a three-year international study that infused drama courses into classroom teaching through an in-service program. According to Gatt (2009), a 3-year study designed to prepare Malta teachers to use drama education in their classroom had significant changes in teachers' attitudes and beliefs, however, this was only evident after witnessing improvement in student learning. In addition, a 2018 year-long study examined changes in teachers' beliefs about the implementation of inquiry practices to teach science to middle schoolers. This study found that teachers experienced significant gains in personal self-efficacy after practice-teaching sessions and reflection sessions (Lotter et al., 2016).

Guskey's (2002) model of teacher change guides the creation of PD programs because it argued that change in teachers' beliefs and attitudes occurred after student learning improvement (p. 383). Recent research has led experts to believe that professional development activity should consider teachers' diverse learning styles and needs, and enhance their knowledge and experience (Hanover Research, 2017). With eighty-two percent of teachers stating that PD activities had a positive impact on their competency skills, there were still areas of improvement that needed to be addressed, such as the lack of PD opportunities for teaching in multicultural settings and about students with special needs (OCED, 2019). These could be evidence-based PD opportunities provided to teachers within their school districts.

Methodology

The study investigated how professional development enhances teachers' competencies to support ELL students. In this case, the guiding questions for this study:

1. What types of professional development opportunities are optimal for supporting teachers working with ELLs?

2. How do primary teachers describe the role of professional development opportunities in enhancing teachers' competency?

By concentrating on these questions, this study will highlight the personal preference of teachers using three data collection methods: online questionnaires, semi-structured interviews, and a focus group to ensure validity and triangulate data.

Population and Sample

In Miami-Dade County, approximately 338,000 students were enrolled in the 2020-2021 academic school year. Roughly 57% of the student population's primary home language was non-English, making it the highest population of second language learners in Florida (Miami-Dade County Public School, 2020). According to the NCES (2020), 7,350 teachers worked in the elementary sector. For this study, the target population was primary teachers with a minimum of three years of experience working with ELLs in classrooms. Using purposive sampling, the researcher recruited 18 participants based on specific characteristics that would provide the most reliable information based on experience and knowledge (Etikan et al., 2016).

Table 1.1 provides a population demographic of the teachers' backgrounds in this study.

Pseudonym	Gender	Age	Degree	Question- naire	Interview	Focus Group
101	Female	20-30	Master's	Х	Х	
102	Male	50+	Master's	Х	Х	
103	Female	40-50	Bachelor's	Х		
104	Female	20-30	Bachelor's	Х		
105	Female	40-50	Master's	Х		
106	Female	40-50	Master's	Х		
107	Female	20-30	Bachelor's	Х		
108	Female	40-50	Doctorate	Х		
109	Female	20-30	Bachelor's	Х		
110	Female	20-30	Bachelor's	Х		
111	Female	20-30	Master's	Х	Х	
112	Female	30-40	Master's	Х		
113	Female	20-30	Master's	Х	Х	Х
114	Female	30-40	Bachelor's	Х	Х	
115	Male	20-30	Bachelor's	Х		
118	Male	30-40	Master's	Х	Х	Х
119	Female	30-40	Bachelor's	Х		
120	Female	30-40	Master's	Х	Х	Х

Table 1. Participant Demographics

Instruments

For this study, the researcher used three data collection methods to gather information on teachers' experience and knowledge of PD activities. The first method was an online questionnaire using the Qualtrics platform. Questionnaires collect information based on opinion, knowledge, and behavior (Yaddananpudi & Yaddananpudi, 2019). Questionnaires are an easy tool for surveying diverse perspectives to help fill in the literature gap related to PD and ELLs (Braun et al., 2020). The second method was a semi-structured interview which allowed participants to share their past experiences or reflections on given scenarios (Queirós et al., 2017).

The researcher elicited open-ended questions to allow teachers to share their perceptions on the quality of PD opportunities and how it enhanced their competency in working with ELL students. The final technique was a focus group that allowed participants to discuss PD issues for ELL teachers. Focus groups can be described as a meeting that is organized and has structure while providing open dialogue for the individuals to contribute to each other opinions (Sim & Waterfield, 2019). The researcher asked ten questions to the participants in each of the three methods that aligned with the research questions for this study.

Procedures

This study aimed to understand what types of PD were used to enhance teaching competency for teachers working with ELLs. No data collection occurred until the researcher received approval from the Institutional Board of Review (IRB). An email was sent to multiple social media platforms such as Facebook and LinkedIn and to former colleagues who could provide external connections to teachers in this school district. To be eligible for this study, participants were asked: (a) Do you work with students in your classroom who identify as ELLs? and (b) Have you participated in any PD training within the last three years?

In addition, confidentiality was assured as each participant was assigned a pseudonym. Participants were given a confidentiality agreement which stated they agreed to provide the researcher answers based on their knowledge and experiences. For participants' safety and to manage the safety needs related to the COVID-19 pandemic, questionnaires, interviews, and the focus group were conducted through Zoom.

The data collected from the three instruments were transcribed for thematic analysis. Thematic analysis identifies pattern recognitions through themes in qualitative data (Maguire & Delahunt, 2017; Roberts et al., 2019). The initial data analysis revealed multiple themes which were further analyzed and coded using the NVivo software system. Using Braun et al. (2020) six-step framework that involved:

- a) familiarization,
- b) generating initial codes,
- c) generate themes,
- d) reviewing themes,
- e) defining themes, and
- f) writing the results.

After coding the data, common themes emerged from the study that addressed the research questions. One limitation which may affect the validity of the findings was that attrition occurred due to participants withdrawing from the study early due to personal obligations or high demands from their job. Additional questions required further investigation on professional development and student learning outcomes.

Results

This section provides a step-by-step report on what types of PD activities were optimal for enhancing teaching competencies based on teachers' perceptions of the types of PDs offered in their school district. Previous studies have shown that teachers often feel unprepared and frustrated when working with second language learners (Feiman-Nemser, 2018; Villages, 2018). The literature review revealed that more research is needed to understand how teachers are prepared to work in today's diverse classroom setting. This study's primary objective was to understand teachers' experiences by incorporating the competencies learned from PD activities. Eighteen participants took part in the online questionnaires, however, most teachers opted out of the study due to personal reasons or job obligations.

Research Question #1

The first research question asked "What types of professional development were optimal for teachers working with ELLs? This question was sectioned into two parts to bring clarity for teachers in the study. The participants shared the number PD received and identified what professional development activities specifically cater to ELL students. The range of PD opportunities provided to teachers was 3 to 15. The number of PD activities provided during the 2020–2021 academic school year was contingent upon the teacher's interest. In Miami-Dade County, the school district offers a 24/7 On-Demand Professional Learning tool that encompassed various instructional practices and resources to improve teacher effectiveness and learning outcomes, allowing teachers to select courses they were interested in attending (*Office of Professional Learning & Career Development*, n.d.). Figure 1 shows the percentage of teachers participating in selected PD activities.



Figure 1. Participating in professional development activities SY 2019-2020

The most prevalent topic of PD activities by teachers in 2019–2020 was subject content (40 percent), followed by a variety of classroom management strategies (26 percent), and teaching ELLs (17 percent). All participants mentioned attending on average two PD activities that focused explicitly on ELLs. In addition, teachers identified peer observations and collaboration as the most efficient pedagogical techniques for enhancing their competency skills and support for ELLs. Some participants found that seeking support from experienced teachers was most helpful in identifying good teaching strategies.

Participant 117 stated, "I like hands-on demonstrations and watching other teachers because it gives real-world examples." Participant 119 stated, "I think the most effective PD is when real lessons and units are presented to show how to support the students as opposed to vague strategies that they expect you to master instantly." Overall, this type of PD opportunity can be voluntarily pursued or required, depending on the school, district, and state level policies. Further studies on peer observation and collaboration analysis could highlight the limits and potential that could help strengthen teaching competencies.

Research Question 2

The second question asked, "How do primary teachers describe the role of professional development in enhancing teacher's competency?" This school district provided teachers with a professional development catalog and the opportunity to collaborate and observe their peers. Although a few teachers had described PD activities as not being helpful, a significant number of teachers reported positive feedback when implementing instructional practices in their classroom after receiving PD that addressed ELLs content.

The responses can be found in Table 2. The researcher asked participants to share their PD experience and how it built their competency skills to support their ELL students.

Table 2. Teacher's Perception After Receiving Professional Development

Participants	Perception on Professional Development		
120	It helped me to consider that all PPT slides created need to be done with a lot of images, and a lot of pictures that are labeled, in order for students who cannot read as easily are learning the meaning of words as they go. It's reminded me that the strategy of repetition is important, and to incorporate Spanish (the primary secondary language of our ELL students) into my lessons whenever possible.		
107	Gave me strategies to support reading listening and speaking needs		
119	The professional development focuses on ELD standards and incorporating ELL strategies in all subject areas.		
118	We had a complete training in a program called Systemic ELD. Part of this was how to develop sentence frames to use in our content areas blocks.		
116	The models and examples, as well as step by step techniques and variety of ideas.		
115	The training helped me to learn ways to communicate with students and get to them on a personal level.		
109	They have given me tools to use in my classroom.		
106	As a native English speaker, I am not always aware of the challenges ELLs face. By attending training, not only was I introduced to those challenges, but I was also prepared to deal with those issues as they arise in the classroom.		
105	Using images, dictionaries and hands-on materials were all gained during professional development.		

The finding shows that teachers who received PD training that addressed ELL content reported having a higher confidence level in their ability to instruct ELLs than those who had not received any PD opportunities. Roughly half the teachers found the PD activities did not support their individual needs in the classroom. As participant 118 shared, "On the surface level no. Kind of feels like a lot of PD and instructional types of stuff focuses on the best-case scenario, and there are always a lot of hiccups and roadblocks trying to implement in the classroom." This is evident from previous literature reviews that showed many teachers entered their classrooms feeling unprepared to engage and support ELL students (Feiman-Nemser, 2018; Mellom et al., 2018; Villegas, 2018).

However, some participants pointed out that PD is not always helpful nor easy to implement. Those participants who received PD believed that more improvements should be made to support teachers' individual needs in the classroom. Furthermore, some PD activities focuses on the surface levels whether than going in-depth to address the challenges that occur in diverse classroom settings. Guskey (2002) stated, "What they [teachers] hope to gain through PD opportunities are specific, concrete, and practical ideas that directly relate to the day-to-day operations of their classroom." (p. 383). For teachers who receive PD activity addressing ELLs content, there is a level of dissatisfaction regarding how

the content is delivered and a desire for more PDs that informs teachers how to serve second language learners.

Discussion

Professional development activities should be continuous throughout a teacher's professional career, promoting knowledge and skills to address the students, schools, and national needs (Avidvov-Ungar, 2016). For decades, many educators have used a variety of PD opportunities to enhance their knowledge of pedagogical skills. The primary models of professional development identified are:

- a) training,
- b) peer observation of teaching (PoT),
- c) involvement in development,
- d) study groups,
- e) action research,
- f) individually guided activities, and
- g) mentoring (Guskey, 2000).

Extensive research has been conducted on PD trainings as a means to achieve effectiveness and students' learning achievements (Avidov-Ungar, 2016; Sims & Fletcher-Wood, 2020; Postholm, 2018).

Many scholars have identified a problem in the past couple of decades: a high number of teachers reportedly feel overwhelmed and unprepared to work with ELLs (Ariyanti et al., 2019; Villegas, 2018). In the United States, the population of ELLs is increasing rapidly in mainstream classrooms (Lopez, 2019). Researchers have predicted that by 2025, one out of every four students will identify as non-native English speakers. This study examined one U.S school district's methods of administering PD to see which type of PD opportunities were beneficial to help teachers working with ELL students.

The two research questions were "What types of professional development are optimal for supporting teachers working with ELLs?" and "How do primary teachers describe the role of professional development in enhancing teacher's competency?" The majority of participants stated that they attended virtual or on-campus workshops provided by the school district. The findings are not generalizable to the overall United States education system as limitations such as the changing sample size and all participants preparing for standardized test [Miami-Dade County School District].

The responses showed that teachers were not satisfied with the PD content being provided by the school district and felt improvements could be made to further support teachers' needs in multicultural classrooms. This paralleled results from other research studies that found that certain types of PD opportunities that are one-way learning often do not provide teachers with the resources to practice

and reflect on new skills (Gomez and Diarrassouba, 2014; Garcia and Weiss, 2019; Nguyen, 2018). For this study, participants were satisfied with observation and peer collaboration to improve their knowledge and pedagogy skills. Compared to a single-based workshop, observation and peer collaboration connected teachers to what they wanted and needed to strengthen or improve their practice. Bates and Morgan (2018) asserted, "Collaboration supports a togetherness mindset and develops collective knowledge that extends beyond individual, isolated experiences in classrooms" (p. 624). A key element of collaboration requires a trusting environment for individuals to share, reflect, and solve problems within their practices (Darling-Hammond et al., 2017). When PD opportunities utilize collaboration effectively, the outcomes produce evidence-based conversations which change professional behaviors, tweak curriculum instructions, and focus on the next steps of meeting students' needs.

Some teachers found that observing veteran teachers modeling specific skills in their classrooms gave them a vision of what effective practices would look like before implementing those competencies. Using models and modeling can support teachers by providing a visual of the techniques and including observations of colleagues, videos, and sample lesson plans or units (Darling-Hammond et al., 2017). Modeling the different methods gives teachers an idea of what to expect and allows them to set attainable goals suitable for their student's needs (Bates & Morgan, 2018). As Guskey (2000) states, "Observations that are well planned, focus on specific issues, and provide follow-up to document improvement are generally the most effective." (p. 24). Researchers have found that when it comes to the relationship between PD and student learning outcomes, observation and peer collaboration seemed to help enhance teachers' competencies and student learning more than traditional workshops did (Desimone & Garet, 2015; Huber et al., 2020; Hunzicker, 2010). Therefore, school districts with high numbers of second language learners should consider providing teachers with PD opportunities that incorporate active learning through observation and peer collaboration.

Conclusion

Professional development opportunities can help to determine teacher effectiveness when they target subject matter content, instructional practices, and student learning. Garcia and Weiss's research (2019) found that teachers were not given the proper resources and time to practice and reflect on new instructional practices. Professional development experiences vary across the United States. Previous research has acknowledged the disconnect traditional one-shot training has on addressing teachers' wants and needs (Daniels et al., 2013).

In this study, eighteen teachers selected from Miami-Dade County School District were asked to identify PD activities were optimal for supporting their

ELL students. The school district provided teachers with a digital platform to select PD activities that touch on the subject matter, classroom management, and technology. However, most teachers acknowledged not receiving any training focused on ELLs. Their dissatisfaction comes from a limited amount of PD that focuses on ELLs, and PDs are informative, making teachers passive learners. In addition, results showed that teachers found observing experienced teachers and collaborating with their peers to be the methods most beneficial for increasing competency skills to work with diverse students. This allowed teachers to witness classroom practices, thus enhancing their confidence to implement similar practices in their classrooms.

The sample size was a limitation in this study, therefore future research should expand the population sample to identify if similar findings could be drawn from other school districts across the country. Furthermore, research should closely examine student academic growth based on teachers' practices implemented after peer collaboration and observations. As the world transitions back to normalcy, school districts must consider new ways to make PD opportunities relevant to address the unprecedented challenges teachers now encounter post-pandemic. This includes providing teachers with what they strongly desire (Starks & Wissnink, 2019) and more PD opportunities that actively engage and builds teaching competency to support ELLs' learning needs.

REFERENCES

Akbari, Z. (2015). Current challenges in teaching/learning English for EFL learners: The case of junior high school and high school. *Procedia – Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 199, 394–401. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2015.07.524

Ariyanti, A., Pane, W. S., & Fauzan, U. (2019). Teacher's strategy in solving EFL students' problems in learning English. ASIAN TEFL Journal of Language Teaching and Applied Linguistics, 4(2), 129. https://doi.org/10.21462/asiantefl.v4i2.97

Avidov-Ungar, O. (2016). A model of professional development: Teachers' perceptions of their professional development. *Teachers and Teaching*, *22*(6), 653–669. https://doi.org/10. 1080/13540602.2016.1158955

Bates, C. C., & Morgan, D. N. (2018). Seven elements of effective professional development. *The Reading Teacher*, *71*(5), 623–626. https://doi.org/10.1002/trtr.1674

Batt, E. (2008). Teachers' preceptions of ELL education: Potential solutions to overcome the greatest challeneges. *Multicultural Education*, *15*, 39–43. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ793903.pdf

Best Practices in Professional Development (pp. 3–39). (2017). HANOVER RESEARCH.

Braun, V., Clarke, V., Boulton, E., Davey, L., & McEvoy, C. (2020). The online survey as a qualitative research tool. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, *24*(6), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2020.1805550

Bolster, Jr., S. (1983). Toward a more effective model of research on teaching. *Harvard Educational Review*, 53(3), 294–308. https://doi.org/10.17763/haer.53.3.0105420v41776340

Chaturvedi, K., Kumar Vishwakarma, D., & Singh, N. (2020). COVID-19 and its impact on education, social life and mental health of students: A Survey. *Children and Youth Services Review*, *121*(105866), 105866. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2020.105866

Daniels, R. J., & Trebilcock, M. J. (2013). Rethinking the welfare state. Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203448076

Darling-Hammond, L. (2010). The flat world and education: how America's commitment to equity will determine our future. Teachers College Press.

Darling-Hammond, L., Hyler, M., & Gardner, M. (2017). *Effective teacher professional development*. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED606743.pdf

Dengerink, J., Lunenberg, M., & Kools, Q. (2015). What and how teacher educators prefer to learn. *Journal of Education for Teaching*, 41(1), 78–96. https://doi.org/10.1080/0260747 6.2014.992635

Desimone, L. M., & Garet, M. S. (2015). Best practices in teachers' professional development in the United States. *Psychology, Society, & Education*, 7(3), 252. https://doi.org/10.25115/psye.v7i3.515

Etikan, I., Musa, S. A., & Alkassim, R. S. (2016). Comparison of convenience sampling and purposive sampling. *American Journal of Theoretical and Applied Statistics*, 5(1), 1–4. https://doi.org/10.11648/j.ajtas.20160501.11

Feiman-Nemser, S. (2018). What does research tell us about educating mainstream teachers to work with ELLs? *The Educational Forum*, *82*(2), 227–234. https://doi.org/10.1080/0013 1725.2018.1420872

Ferrer Ariza, E., & Poole, P. M. (2018). Creating a teacher development program linked to curriculum renewal. *Profile: Issues in Teachers' Professional Development*, 20(2), 249–266. https://doi.org/10.15446/profile.v20n2.67937

Garcia, E., & Weiss, E. (2019). The role of early career supports, continuous professional development, and learning communities in the teacher shortage. In *Economic policy institute* (pp. 1–44). https://files.epi.org/pdf/164976.pdf

Gatt, I. (2009). Changing Perceptions, Practice and Pedagogy: Challenges for and Ways Into Teacher Change. *Journal of Transformative Education*, 7(2), 164–184. https://doi.org/10.1177/1541344609339024

Gomez, M., & Diarrassouba, N. (2014). What do teachers need to support English Learners? *English Language Teaching*, 7(5). https://doi.org/10.5539/elt.v7n5p89

Guskey, T. R. (2002). Professional development and teacher change. *Teachers and Teaching*, 8(3), 381–391. https://doi.org/10.1080/135406002100000512

Guskey, T. R. (2000). Evaluating professional development. Corwin Press.

Hansen-Thomas, H., Grosso Richins, L., Kakkar, K., & Okeyo, C. (2016). I do not feel I am properly trained to help them! Rural teachers' perceptions of challenges and needs with English-language learners. *Professional Development in Education*, 42(2), 308–324. https://doi.org/10.1080/19415257.2014.973528

Hegde, A. V., Hewett, B., & Terrell, E. (2016). Examination of teachers' preparedness and strategies used to teach English language learners in kindergarten. *Early Child Development and Care*, *188*(6), 774–784. https://doi.org/10.1080/03004430.2016.1237513

Hunzicker, J. (2010). *Characteristics of effective professional development: A checklist*. 1–13. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED510366.pdf

Khong, T. D. H., & Saito, E. (2013). Challenges confronting teachers of English language learners. *Educational Review*, 66(2), 210–225. https://doi.org/10.1080/00131911.2013.769425

Ladson-Billings, G. (2014). Culturally Relevant Pedagogy 2.0: a.k.a. the Remix. *Harvard Educational Review*, 84(1), 74–84. https://doi.org/10.17763/haer.84.1.p2rj131485484751

Lopez, S. (2019). Literacy strategies used by teachers of English Language Learners in Grades 3-5: A case study (pp. 1–138) [Dissertation].

Lotter, C. R., Thompson, S., Dickenson, T. S., Smiley, W. F., Blue, G., & Rea, M. (2016). The impact of a practice-teaching professional development model on teachers' inquiry instruction and inquiry efficacy beliefs. *International Journal of Science and Mathematics Education*, *16*(2), 255–273. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10763-016-9779-x

Loucks-Horsley, S., & Sparks, D. (1989). Five models of staff development for teachers. *Journal of Staff Development*, 10(4), 40–57.

Maguire, M., & Delahunt, B. (2017). Doing a thematic analysis: A practical, step by step guide for learning and teaching scholar. *All Ireland Journal of Teaching and Learning in Higher Education (AISHE)*, 8(3). https://ojs.aishe.org/index.php/aishe-j/article/view/335/553

Mellom, P. J., Straubhaar, R., Balderas, C., Ariail, M., & Portes, P. R. (2018). "They come with nothing:" How professional development in a culturally responsive pedagogy shapes teacher attitudes towards Latino/a English language learners. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, *71*(71), 98–107. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2017.12.013

Mensah, F. (2021). Culturally relevant and culturally responsive teaching in the elementary science classroom.science teaching. *NSTA Science Scope*, *58*(4), 10–13.

Methlagl, M. (2022). Patterns of teacher collaboration, professional development and teaching practices: A multiple correspondence analysis of TALIS 2018. *International Journal of Educational Research Open*, *3*(3), 100137. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijedro.2022.100137

National Center for Education Statistics. (2021, May). COE – English Language Learners in public schools. Nces.ed.gov. https://nces.ed.gov/programs/coe/indicator/cgf

Nguyen, H. (2018). Teacher preparation programs in the United States. *International Journal of Progressive Education*, 14(3), 76–92. https://doi.org/10.29329/ijpe.2018.146.6

Office of professional learning & career development. (n.d.). Www.hrdadeschools.net. Retrieved February 8, 2023, from https://www.hrdadeschools.net/prodev/

Organization of Economic and Co-Operation OECD. (2009). The professional development of teachers. In *Creating Effective Teaching and Learning Environments: First Results from TALIS*.

Postholm, M. B. (2018). Teachers' professional development in school: A review study. *Cogent Education*, 5(1). https://doi.org/10.1080/2331186x.2018.1522781

Professional development system: Miami-Dade county public school. (2022). Office of Professional Learning and Career Development. https://www.hrdadeschools.net/prodev/

Queirós, A., Faria, D., & Almeida, F. (2017). Strengths and limitations of qualitative and quantitative research methods. *European Journal of Education Studies*, *3*(9), 369–387. https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.887089

Roberts, K., Dowell, A., & Nie, J.-B. (2019). Attempting rigour and replicability in thematic analysis of qualitative research data; a case study of codebook development. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, *19*(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-019-0707-y

Schleicher, A. (2020). *The impact of COVID-19 on education insights from education at a glance* (pp. 1–31). OECD. https://www.oecd.org/education/the-impact-of-covid-19-on-education-insights-education-at-a-glance-2020.pdf

Sim, J., & Waterfield, J. (2019). Focus group methodology: Some ethical challenges. *Quality & Quantity*, 53(6), 3003–3022. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11135-019-00914-5

Sims, S., & Fletcher-Wood, H. (2020). Identifying the characteristics of effective teacher professional development: a critical review. *School Effectiveness and School Improvement*, 32(1), 47–63. https://doi.org/10.1080/09243453.2020.1772841

Songbatumis, M. (2017). Challenges in Teaching English Faced by English Teachers at MTsN Taliwang, Indonesia. *Journal of Foreign Languange Teaching and Learning*, 2(2). https://doi.org/10.18196/ftl.2223

Sparks, D., & Guskey, T. (1996). Exploring the relationship between staff development and improvements in student learning. *Journal of Staff Development*, *17*(4), 34–38.

Starks, S., & Wissnink, B. (2019). Elementary teachers perceptions of preparedness to teach English Language Learners. *Educational Research and Reviews*, 14(10), 349–357. https://doi.org/10.5897/err2019-3734

Sugarman, J., & Courtney Geary. (2018). English Learners in Florida: demographics, outcomes, and state (pp. 1–12). Migration Policy Institute.

Teachers Know Best Teachers' Views on Professional Development (pp. 1–20). (2014). Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation.

Tran, Y. K. (2014). Professional Development and Teacher Efficacy: Contexts of What, When, and How in Serving ELLs. *Multicultural Education Review*, 6(2), 81–116. https://doi.org/10.1080/2005615x.2014.11102913

Trikoilis, D., & Papanastasiou, E. (2020). The potential of research for professional development in isolated settings during the COVID-19 crisis and beyond. *Journal of Technology and Teacher Education*, 28(2), 294–300. https://www.learntechlib.org/primary/p/216071/

Umansky, I. M., & Dumont, H. (2021). English learner labeling: How English learner classification in kindergarten shapes teacher perceptions of student skills and the moderating role of bilingual instructional settings. *American Educational Research Journal*, 000283122199757. https://doi.org/10.3102/0002831221997571

Van der Klink, M., Kools, Q., Avissar, G., White, S., & Sakata, T. (2016). Professional development of teacher educators: what do they do? Findings from an explorative international study. *Professional Development in Education*, *43*(2), 163–178. https://doi.org/10.1080/19415257.2015.1114506

Villegas, A. M. (2018). Introduction to "Preparation and Development of Mainstream Teachers for Today's Linguistically Diverse Classrooms." *The Educational Forum*, *82*(2), 131–137. https://doi.org/10.1080/00131725.2018.1420848

Wu, H., & Guerra, M. J. (2017). Examination of Pre-service Teacher's Training through Tutoring Approach. *Journal of Education and Training Studies*, 5(2), 1. https://doi.org/10.11114/jets.v5i2.2082

Yaddanapudi, S., & Yaddanapudi, L. (2019). How to design a questionnaire. *Indian Journal of Anaesthesia*, 63(5), 335. https://doi.org/10.4103/ija.ija_334_19

Yurtsever, G. (2013). English language instructors' beliefs on professional development models and preferences to improve their teaching skills. *Procedia – Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 70, 666–674. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2013.01.107

Zarrabi, F. (2016). A study on cooperative language learning: the impact on CLL approach on English language proficiency of EFL learners. *European Journal of Education Studies*, 1(2). https://oapub.org/edu/index.php/ejes/article/view/38

https://doi.org/10.22364/atee.2022.31

English Language Curicculum for Student Teachers Training to Perform in Cultirally Diversified Settings

Nataliia Avsheniuk¹, Nataliya Seminikhyna², Olena Lutsenko³

- ¹ Foreign Systems of Pedagogical and Adult Education Department, Ivan Ziaziun Institute of Pedagogical and Adult Education of the NAES of Ukraine, Kyiv; National Agency for Higher Education Quality Assurance (Ukraine) navsheniuk@naqa.gov.ua
- ² Department of Foreign languages, Faculty of Economics, Taras Shevchenko National University of Kyiv, Ukraine
- ³ Department of Foreign Languages for Natural Sciences Faculties, Institute of Philology, Taras Shevchenko National University of Kyiv, Ukraine

ABSTRACT

As Ukraine continues to move toward Europe and the rest of the world, it is crucial that teachers improve their English language competence. Teachers' language proficiency corresponds with their capacity to provide effective quality education for diverse classrooms to reach global competence. Cultural diversity in the school population is becoming the norm rather than the exception in Ukraine. The recent rise in immigration is accountable for the rapid and significant demographic changes in Ukraine's school-aged population. The study's primary objective is to assess student teachers' perspectives on the objective, content, teaching and learning process, and assessment and evaluation elements of the importance and sufficiency of the English proficiency curriculum implemented at Ukraine's faculty of education to meet the needs of the culturally diverse school population. The case study design was used as one of the research methods. The study's participants were 14 student teachers from four different faculties of education at Ukrainian universities. Participants were chosen using a criterion sampling model. The data was collected using an open-ended question form designed by the authors during the spring semester of the 2020-2021 academic year. The data collected was analysed using content analysis. The findings revealed that participants' attitudes about the objective aspect of the student teachers' English language curriculum were generally good. On the other side, it was determined that the curriculum was insufficiently tailored to students' needs, interests, and degrees of English language competence. Furthermore, participants identified insufficient time for activities, a limited selection of classroom activities (case study, collaborative work,
discussion), and short course hours as unfavourable features. The implications of the results might help improve the English proficiency curriculum and equip student teachers to work successfully with school children who have a diversity of language and learning difficulties.

Keywords: case study design, cultural diversity, English language competence, English language curriculum, student teachers, Ukraine

Introduction

One of the eight key competencies that serve as the benchmark for how the EU Member States should incorporate lifelong learning into their strategies and infrastructure is "cultural awareness and expression". Cultural awareness affects our capacity to develop social, civic, and intercultural competencies and our feeling about initiative and entrepreneurship. In the lives of the twenty-first century, these competencies are undoubtedly closely connected and interdependent. People must continuously improve their skills, abilities, and attitudes in order to meet society's evolving requirements. One of the most critical competencies is the ability to convey one's culture. It takes more than just acquiring a particular knowledge base and skill set to strengthen a key competence. Applying the appropriate skills and expertise to fulfil challenging needs is crucial.

Culturally competent teachers should recognize each student's full potential, regardless of cultural background, and give the challenges necessary for them to accomplish their significant potential. They must be knowledgeable of their students' primary languages, backgrounds, and cultures to provide curriculum that is relevant to their students' lives. They must modify their curriculum to integrate their pupils' diverse cultural backgrounds in order to provide them with a more meaningful and collaborative educational experience. Building on students' culture and heritage not only enhances their academic success but also empowers them as persons. Teachers should involve their pupils in team-building activities in the classroom so that they may learn about and appreciate different cultures. Making cultural awareness and expression a reality in the classroom will thus require the establishment of suitable reference contexts, research into learning settings, good practices, and empirical methods (Education, 2016).

Ukraine has made significant progress in creating a modern educational system for the twenty-first century. The future of education in Ukraine must strongly emphasize equity and inclusion. As people's requirements for language learning have grown due to globalization, language learning and instruction have assumed critical significance (Ger & Bahar, 2018). In order to successfully educate students in a varied educational environment and promote their development of the necessary communication skills, future teachers must acquire English language proficiency at an appropriate level for engagement in contemporary worldwide society. All teachers must employ linguistically and culturally

inclusive teaching methods to encourage students to engage in class activities. These methods might include scaffolding, fostering the use of foreign languages, and teaching, learning, and assessment. Understanding the cultural complexity of their school communities and how they affect the classroom is crucial for teachers. Teachers should broaden their sociocultural knowledge and offer inclusive, flexible, and relevant teaching and learning opportunities to enhance the learning process and outcomes for all students.

During language study and practice, considering the multicultural aspect of a student teacher entails improving one's proficiency in the target language and recognizing one's cultural circumstances and the ways in which they influence communication. Moreover, due to the close influence of culture, it is crucial to comprehend how crucial it is to create language curricula in a multicultural setting. To put it another way, language course curricula and syllabuses should be designed for the multicultural nature of students, their race and linguistic background.

The teacher training curriculum is a crucial component of the pedagogical education system since it illustrates how future teachers may acquire the essential competencies. Researchers argue that with the ever-changing world, a teacher training curriculum should be based on what is needed to keep the overall knowledge, skills and dispositions of practicing teachers solidly based, up-to-date and effective (Dembélé & Schwille, 2006). Therefore, the teacher education curriculum should include the subject content and the teaching method of the content. Trainee teachers should possess the knowledge, attitudes, values and skills needed to perform their duties effectively in the classroom and school. Teacher education programs should prepare teachers to develop students who can function effectively in the socioeconomic and political environment of the 21st century. This includes preparing people to recognize, accept and appreciate differences in attitudes, life-styles, languages, religions, races, cultures or genders. Schools around the world are very concerned about embracing diversity as a whole with tolerance.

Due to changing classroom demographics, teachers must be equipped to recognize and work with students from cultures different than their own. In the meantime, teachers are being asked to teach populations they know very little about. On the other hand, there has been much theoretical debate concerning teachers' assigned responsibilities and the need for cultural diversity management training (González & Darling-Hammond, 1997). In its contemporary history and concerning migration, Ukraine has been mainly a sending rather than a receiving country. Approximately 400,000 foreigners have resided permanently or temporarily in Ukraine since the beginning of 2019. This migration has changed the composition of the student population in Ukraine. In the year 2018–2019, for example, the percentage of migrant children comprised 2.1% of the total student population (State Statistics Service of Ukraine, 2019). It should be highlighted that cultural diversity is not just tied to the issue of migration. It exists, but

acountry's educational system mostly neglects it. However, most academics and researchers in multicultural education believe that for it to be implemented successfully, institutional adjustments must be undertaken, including modifications in the curriculum, teaching materials, and teaching and learning methods (Buxton & Lee, 2007). Despite the fact that every language is a part of a culture, it serves and reflects different cultural perspectives. Nonetheless, there are regions where populations have a similar cultural orientation but speak languages that are not only mutually unintelligible but also structurally dissimilar. This is especially true when we have a class of pupils learning and speaking English from various ethnic backgrounds.

A well-defined curriculum involving teaching goals and particular objectives was one of the important elements for offering effective and high-quality language training. As a result, developing a high-quality curriculum is critical to achieving high-quality language education. The English language training program for student teachers at the university where this study is being conducted has particular aims. First, it aims to provide students with a broad awareness of the English language and cultural diversity. Second, it educates and improves students' English communicative skills in typical social and professional situations to a somewhat proficient level. It ensures that they will obtain the professional qualifications required to perform effectively in culturally diverse school classrooms. The curriculum, in particular, provides student teachers with appropriate study skills for higher education while enhancing language competence.

Moreover, the goal of the curriculum is to develop students' perceptions and research ability for language and cultural concerns. Furthermore, master's students can acquire the B2 level of English language competency according to the Common European Framework of Reference for Languages (CEFR).

However, almost nothing is investigated regarding Ukrainian institutions' English language curriculums for education majors, and it is unknown what the curriculum's strengths and weaknesses are. It is debatable whether students are satisfied with the curriculum, which approaches teachers employ most frequently in class, if the resources are adequate to satisfy the educational objectives, and whether the assessment processes are favourable for teaching. The current study seeks to provide solutions to these issues. Evaluating the English language curriculum in Ukrainian universities from the perspectives of student teachers training to work in diverse contexts is central to the research. It is expected that the study findings will contribute to modifying and improving the English language curriculum at education faculties at the university and enhancing the cross-cultural quality at the tertiary level in the future. These questions will help spot whether the curriculum can train student teachers to work in a diversified environment:

1. What are student teachers' views about the objectives of the English language curriculum?

- 2. What are student teachers' views about the content element of the English language curriculum?
- 3. What are student teachers' views about the English language curriculum's teaching and learning process element?
- 4. What are student teachers' views about the assessment and evaluation element of the English language curriculum?

Methodology

Study Design

One of the qualitative research methodologies used in this study was a case study. Case studies analyses an event in its current and real context, provide extensive descriptions and explanations, and aims to conduct an in-depth investigation of a system with defined limits (Merriam, 2010). The current study aimed to examine in-depth student teachers' views on the elements of the English language curriculum. A criteria sampling strategy was used to choose participants. A review of the literature on curriculum and its components was undertaken, and studies on the subject were explored to establish the participants' questions.

Study group

This study included 14 student teachers from four different faculties of education at Ukrainian universities, ranging in age from 21 to 25. A criteria sampling model, one of the purposeful sampling methods, was used to choose participants. As a result, studying in faculties of education at Ukrainian universities as a student teacher was used as a factor for selecting participants. Because of research ethics, the names of the individuals were not included. Instead, students that took part were assigned the codes S1, S2, ... S14. It is emphasized that received information would only be exploited for scientific purposes.

Data Collection Process

The qualitative data were collected by open-ended questionnaires distributed to university students. The survey form was distributed to the student teachers using "Google Forms", and the students responded via "Google Forms". Consequently, 14 student teachers who were reachable and answered all questions were included as research participants. Data collection was undertaken during the spring semester of 2020–2021.

Data analysis

The data collected was analysed using content analysis. Before the questionnaires were sent to the 14 student participants, detailed instructions were

given to ensure the reliability of their replies. To guarantee the validity, the data used included only direct quotes from the students, so as to accurately reflect their opinions. The data was collected in Ukrainian and translated into English without changing opinions expressed. The coding reliability was evaluated using the Miles–Huberman formula while obtaining the codes after the content analysis. The reliability percentage is obtained from the formula (Reliability Percentage = Agreement / (Total Agreement + Disagreement)), and at least 70% reliability is expected to be obtained (Miles and Huberman, 1994). Professor Avsheniuk conceived the study and was in charge of overall direction and planning. Seminikhyna and Lutsenko aided in developing the theoretical framework, collecting and interpreting the results and worked on the manuscript. All authors contributed to the design and implementation of the research, to the analysis of the results and to the writing of the manuscript.

Results

Findings related to the opinions of students on the objectives of the English language curriculum

The first question of the study was aimed to determine the opinions of student teachers on the objectives of the English language curriculum for education majors. It was seen that students' opinions were grouped under two topics as "strengths" and "weaknesses." The obtained topics, codes and the frequencies are presented in Table 1.

Topics	Codes	Frequency (f)	Coder reliability %
Strengths	Concise and accurate	f 11	76
	Satisfy future student's needs	f 9	64
	Based on student-centred approach	f 10	71
	Applicable in workplace	f 8	57
	Providing intercultural value to students in preservice training and in-service context	f7	50
	Measurable	f 6	42
	Teach students to perform skills they will perform on the job after the study.	f 6	42
Weaknesses	Including misleading concepts	f 5	36
	Insufficient to develop student autonomy	F 7	50
	Insufficient to work in a diversified setting	f 8	57

Table 1. Students' opinions on the objectives of the curriculum

As seen in Table 1, some opinions were grouped under the topic of "strengths". Under this theme, the most frequently expressed codes were: "concise and accurate" (f = 9); "satisfy future student's needs" (f = 7); "applicable in the workplace" (f = 8); "based on student-centred approach" (f = 7) and "teach students to perform skills they will perform on the job after the study" (f = 6). On the other hand, the participants stated their negative opinions about the curriculum's objectives under the theme of "weaknesses". Under this topic, the most frequently expressed codes were: "including misleading concepts" (f = 5), "insufficient to develop student autonomy" (f = 7) and "insufficient to work in a diversified setting" (f = 5). Direct quotations from the participants on these topics and codes are given below.

... In my opinion, determined objectives in the curriculum are concise and accurate. In other words, the sentences are comprehensible to students ... (student 4).

... It is possible to state that the objectives were organized to teach students to perform skills they will perform on the job after the study ... (student 6).

They are insufficient to work in a diversified setting. In a way, it seems complicated, but it is critical to creating an open and inclusive workplace environment, so all team members feel empowered to contribute (student 5).

To my mind the objectives do not develop student autonomy. Instead, I mean that it is critical for the 21st-century knowledge society that the educational system cultivates autonomous, life-long learners capable of independently constructing intercultural knowledge and developing relevant skills to effectively adapt to a challenging global environment (student 7).

Findings related to the opinions of student teachers on the content element of the English language curriculum

The second research question of the study aimed to determine student teachers' opinions on the content of the English language curriculum at the faculties of education.

According to Table 2, it was seen that some opinions were grouped under the topic of "appropriate for students". Under this topic, the most frequently expressed codes were as: "Self-sufficient in learning" (f = 9), "Matches the aim of the curriculum" (f = 8); "Suitable to the learners' present state of learning" (f = 5); "Appropriate organization of the content" (f = 4) and "Provides awareness of individual's and other's culture" (f = 11).

Торіс	Codes	Frequency (f)	Coder reliability %
Appropriate to work in a diversified setting	Self-sufficient in diversified learning	f 10	71
	Matches the aim of the curriculum.	f 8	57
	Encouraging active participation of students	f 10	71
	Suitable to the learners' present state of learning	f 5	36
	Relates to the authenticity of the content selected	f 8	57
	Provides awareness of individual's and other's culture	f 11	76
	Appropriate for different methods and techniques	f 4	29
	Appropriate organisation of the content	f 5	36
Inappropri- ate to work in	Irrelevant to the language level of the student	f 8	57
a diversified	Not interesting	f 4	29
setting	Unable to integrate the four language skills	f 8	57
	Including too much grammar	f 7	50
	Irrelevant topics	f 9	64
	Not authentic	f 7	50
	Learning experience doesn't cater to the needs of different types of learners by providing different types of experiences	f 5	36

Table 2. Students' opinions on the content of the curriculum

On the other hand, the participants stated their negative opinions under the topic of "Inappropriate for students", including the codes such as "Irrelevant to the language level of the students" (f = 8); "Irrelevant topics" (f = 7); "Including too much grammar" (f=7); "Unable to integrate the four language skills" (f = 8); "Inappropriate for developmental levels of students" (f = 7) and "Learning experience doesn't cater to the needs of different types of learners by providing different types of experiences" (f = 6). The following excerpts are related to the topic and codes above.

It can be said that the content self-sufficient in learning. I mean the content equips students with skills and knowledge that can help them accomplish tasks on their own ... (student 2).

... the content is interesting and uncomplicated encourages the active participation of students ... (student 6).

I found out that the content was with irrelevant topics. While learning, it made me bored and demotivated (student 3).

The most prominent negative aspect of the content is that it does not integrate the four language skills. Especially, activities based on listening and writing skills are limited or not present at a level student can comprehend (student 2).

Findings related to teachers' opinions on the English language curriculum's teaching and learning process element.

The third research question of the study aimed to determine student teachers' opinions on the teaching and learning process element of the English language curriculum at the faculties of education. It was seen that students' opinions were grouped under two themes "Disadvantages" of the learning process" and "Advantages of the learning process". The obtained themes, codes and frequencies are presented in Table 3.

According to Table 3, it was seen that some opinions were grouped under the topic of "Advantages of the learning process". These opinions reflected participants' negative attitudes toward the teaching and learning process element. Under this topic, the most frequently expressed codes were as: "Insufficient time for activities" (f = 9); "Unable to meet students' interests" (f = 9); "Insufficient course hours" (f = 8) and "Inappropriate for students' different language levels" (f = 6).

Торіс	Codes	Frequency (f)	Coder reliability %
Advantages of learning	Consistency of methods and techniques with the objectives and the content	f 8	57
process	Learning activities are in relation to real life situations	f 5	36
	Promotes team work	f 7	50
	Promotes intercultural communicative competence	f 7	50
	Immediate feedback from peers, teachers	f 5	36
	Able to reveal personal differences	f 4	29
Disadvantag-	Insufficient time for activities	f 9	64
es of learning process	Unable to meet students' interests in intercultural collaboration	f 8	57
	Insufficient course hours	f 8	57
	Unable to promote authentic environment	f 6	42
	Inappropriate for students' different language levels	f 9	64

Table 3. Students' opinions on the teaching and learning process of the curriculum

The participants expressed their positive opinions under the topic of "advantages of the learning process". Under this theme, the most frequently expressed codes were as: "Consistency of methods and techniques with the objectives and the content" (f = 8) and "Promotes teamwork" (f = 4);" Immediate feedback from peers, teachers (f = 4).

In this regard, the participants' opinions are reflected in the following comments:

... there is limited time for activities. This is a demotivating factor ... (student 7).

Frankly speaking, more course hours are needed to meet different student's linguistic levels ... (student 10).

What I like is immediate constructive feedback from my teacher. It motivates me to learn more (student 13).

Some of the activities help students engage in the teamwork willingly and helps to develop our speaking skills ... (student 14).

Findings related to students' opinions on the assessment and evaluation element of the English language curriculum.

The fourth research question of the study aimed to determine teachers' opinions on the assessment and evaluation element of the English language curriculum. It was seen that teachers' opinions were grouped under two themes as "Variety of assessment techniques" and "Deficiencies in assessment and evaluation process". The obtained topics, codes and frequencies are presented in Table 4.

Торіс	Codes	Frequency (f)	Coder reliability %
Variety of assessment methods	Project assessment	f 9	64
	Test assessment	f 10	71
	Individual assessment	f 10	71
	Peer feedback	f 4	29
Deficiencies	Presentation assessment	f 4	29
in Assessment Process	Limited time for individual evaluation	f 9	64
	Lack of sufficient resources about assessment and evaluation	f 7	50
	Lack of peer review	f 6	42
	Unable to measure speaking skills	f 10	71

Table 4. Students' opinions on the assessment and evaluation element of the English language curriculum

According to Table 4, it was seen that the participants stated the assessment techniques they used. These were grouped under the topic of "providing different assessment techniques". Under this theme, the most frequently expressed codes were as: "Project assessment" (f = 11), "Test assessment" (f = 10) and "Teacher assessment" (f = 10). On the other hand, the participants stated their negative opinions related to assessment and evaluation elements under the topic of "Deficiencies in assessment and evaluation process", including the codes such as "Limited time for individual evaluation" (f = 10); "Ineffective assessment and evaluation because of overcrowded classes" (f = 9); "Lack of sufficient resources about assessment and evaluation" (f = 7) and "unable to measure speaking skills" (f = 7). Direct quotations from the participants on these themes and codes are given below.

... In my opinion, there is limited time to evaluate students individually. I consider this as an obstacle in terms of conducting an effective assessment process ... (student 1).

To my mind, the curriculum lacks fair peer reviewing, which increases motivation ... (student 7).

... I think that if there are evaluation guidelines in assessment and evaluation part of speaking in the course book, we can manage the process under these rules. These deficiencies should be fulfilled (student 11).

Discussions

The study's findings indicate that master's students in education faculties were relatively satisfied with the English language curriculum. According to the student questionnaires, students were positive about the curriculum's objectives, content, and evaluation but negative about teaching process.

Students' reflections on the curriculum received high scores for the first element of the curriculum. Most students stated that the objectives were student-centred, concise, and accurate. However, participants indicated that the objectives were insufficient to foster learner autonomy. This finding is supported by research done by Benson (2012), which indicated that institutional and policy restrictions are one of the constraints in the English language curriculum that prevent students from acquiring language learner autonomy. According to Benson, there are four constraints when implementing language learner autonomy: institutional constraints, policy constraints, conceptions of language and language teaching.

The second research question explored student teachers' opinions about the content of the English language curriculum. Most participants claimed that the curriculum's content encourages students' active participation, is self-sufficient in

learning and relates to the authenticity of the materials. Project-based learning was named a favourable component of the curriculum that demonstrated positive affective benefits in content knowledge and helped build relationships and collaboration between groups, communication and reflection within real-world diversified settings. Siwatu (2007) also listed knowledge about linguistic and cultural diversity as essential. It provides culture-awareness of individual's and other's cultures. It corroborates with studies showing that cultural awareness needs to be integrated into teacher education (Byram, 2012), and curriculum and coursebook designs need to be done accordingly (Birckbichler, 2015). These findings suggest that the content helps students learn a foreign language. However, most student teachers expressed neutral views regarding the study's materials and that the experience they gained did not adapt to the demands of diverse classes of learners with different types of experiences.

Furthermore, most student teachers stated that the materials were inappropriate and that they could not incorporate the four language skills. These observations contradict Widdowson's (1978) research, which advocated combining the four language skills in instruction to increase learners' proficiency levels and enable advanced language acquisition. Widdowson emphasizes that almost all language functions are included in the approach for integrated and communicative language training in general and in English for specific purposes. Widdowson study highlights that practically all language functions are part of sociolinguistic contexts and different types of discourses. He even points out that separate teaching of language skills is not highly recommended from the communicative point of view.

Regarding the teaching and learning process types, the study results showed parallel perceptions, which show that it promotes teamwork that develops intercultural communicative competence. This type of contact helps pupils improve their communication skills. On the other hand, students reported dissatisfaction with the limited time for activities and pointed out that the English language curriculum was inappropriate for the students' various language levels.

Finally, participants reported that the critical assessment methods for the curriculum were project assessment, exam, and individual assessment, all of which were highly ranked. It backs up the argument that providing helpful feedback on various assessment tasks may improve learners' performance (Sambell et al., 2017). This finding is corroborated by Gibson and Shaw's (2011) research, which revealed that typical summative assessment techniques include unit tests and final presentations or projects. However, student teachers pointed out that the assessment techniques were inadequate to evaluate speaking skills and highlighted concerns about limited time for individual evaluation and a lack of appropriate resources to ensure transparency in the assessment and evaluation process. The scoring method was seen as relatively fair because there was a significant

disparity across various faculty members. These findings contradict Rogler (Rogler, 2014), who argued that transparency in assessment involves students in the evaluation process. They are also assisted in comprehending the exam style and determining how to rate their answers or performance. Another requirement for a meaningful evaluation is reliability.

Overall, positive student reflections on the capacity of the English language curriculum to equip future teachers to function in diverse classrooms included factual accuracy, student-based approach to objectives, self-sufficiency in learning, and promotion of students' engagement.

Implications of the Study

The study's findings have crucial implications for tailoring the English language curriculum for university teacher majors. The data demonstrate that most students had good opinions regarding the curriculum's objectives, content, and assessment, which they rated highly. However, most students were dissatisfied with the teaching-learning process, indicating that it could be improved. The university should survey to research students' professional interests and the topics they intend to take so that the program may enhance its objectives and subjects that fulfil their expectations. To resolve the problem of course materials, lecturers might survey students' expectations of that topic and then use several credible sources to compile the core course book rather than relying on a single course book. Another important practical implication is that the program's educational objectives for English language majors should become more flexible, with the goal of assisting learners not only in achieving a certain level of language proficiency but also in obtaining the necessary knowledge to work in a multicultural environment. In terms of evaluation, the findings from this study show that the university should provide university lecturers with consistent, detailed grading criteria. Furthermore, the university should review the evaluation form of specific disciplines and fine-tune the grading score technique.

In conclusion, the current study aimed to contribute by investigating future teachers' perceptions of the effectiveness of the English language curriculum. The study has reinforced the notion that the viewpoints of students who play significant roles in the curriculum implementation process are critical in determining the strengths and weaknesses of the existing curriculum. Based on the data, it is possible to claim that the curriculum has certain flaws and should be altered. More research is needed to examine the causes of the difficulties identified in this study. Although the study met its objectives, there were some inherent flaws.

This evaluation study is based solely on students' evaluations of the English language curriculum at a few Ukrainian institutions, which cannot have identified all of the English language program's strengths and shortcomings. Second,

the study was done with a limited number of participants, only 14 students, which may have impacted the study's generalization. Furthermore, the data was gathered primarily from current students rather than graduates of the program, which may have been analysed to see whether or not the program satisfied students' requirements as its initial clearly defined objectives. Finally, the study's broad scope is a significant limitation. This study has raised several concerns in need of further investigation. First, more objective data should be acquired to avoid subjective data. Second, it may be possible to study a bigger group of participants to collect more data in future studies. As a result, more research should be carried out utilizing alternative universes and samples to enhance the generalizability of the findings achieved in this study and compare the findings.

REFERENCES

Benson, C. (2012). Curriculum development in multilingual schools. *The Encyclopedia of Applied Linguistics*. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781405198431.wbeal0307

Birckbichler, D. W. (2015). Tomlinson, Brian (ed.). Developing materials for language teaching. 2nd ed. London, UK and New York, NY: Bloomsbury Publishing, 2013. pp. 576. ISBN 978-1-441-18683-6. *The Modern Language Journal*, *99*(1), 198–199. https://doi.org/10.1111/modl.12203

Buxton, C., & Lee, O. (2007). Bridging the divide between curriculum theory and practice for Nonmainstream students in Science Education. *Journal of Curriculum and Pedagogy*, *4*(1), 39–44. https://doi.org/10.1080/15505170.2007.10411620

Byram, M. (2012). Cultural awareness in multilingual education. *The Encyclopedia of Applied Linguistics*. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781405198431.wbeal0294

Common European framework of reference for languages: Learning ... (n.d.). http://www.ebcl. eu.com/wp-content/uploads/2011/11/CEFR-all-scales-and-all-skills.pdf

Dembélé, M., & Schwille, J. (2006). Can the global trend toward accountability be reconciled with ideals of teacher empowerment? *International Journal of Educational Research*, 45(4–5), 302–314. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijer.2007.02.005

Education, D. G. for. (2016, September 13). Cultural Awareness and Expression Handbook: Open Method of Coordination (OMC) Working Group of EU member states' experts on 'cultural awareness and expression. https://op.europa.eu/en/publication-detail/-/publication/6066c082-e68a-11e5-8a50-01aa75ed71a1

Ger, U., & Bahar, M. (2018). Learning a language and studying content in an additional language: Student opinions. *International Journal of Educational Methodology*, *4*(1), 29–35. https://doi.org/10.12973/ijem.4.1.29

Gibson, K., & Shaw, C. M. (2011). Assessment of Active Learning. Oxford Research Encyclopedia of International Studies. https://doi.org/10.1093/acrefore/9780190846626.013.120

González Josué M., & Darling-Hammond, L. (1997). New Concepts for new challenges: Professional development for teachers of immigrant youth. Center for Applied Linguistics.

Miles, M. B., Huberman, A. M. (1994). *Qualitative Data Analysis: An expanded sourcebook* (2nd edn.). Sage: London & Thousand Oaks, California.

Merriam, S. B. (2010). Qualitative case studies. *International Encyclopedia of Education*, 456–462. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-08-044894-7.01532-3

Rogler, D. (2014). Assessment Literacy: Building a Base for Better Teaching and Learning.

Sambell, K., Brown, S., & Graham, L. (2017). Engaging students with positive learning experiences through assessment and feedback. *Professionalism in Practice*, 139–187. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-54552-3_5

Siwatu, K. O. (2007). Preservice teachers' culturally responsive teaching self-efficacy and outcome expectancy beliefs. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 23(7), 1086–1101. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2006.07.011

State Statistics Service of Ukraine. (n.d.). http://ukrstat.gov.ua/druk/publicat/kat_u/2019/zb/11/zb_yearbook_2018.pdf

Widdowson, H. G. (1978). The significance of simplification. *Studies in Second Language Acquisition*, 1(1), 11–20. https://doi.org/10.1017/s0272263100000681

https://doi.org/10.22364/atee.2022.32

The Use of Online Dictionaries During Web-Based Collaborative Writing Among EFL Learners

Hasan Selcuk, Linda Daniela

University of Latvia, Latvia

ABSTRACT

This study is about an investigation of Turkish high school English as a Foreign Language (EFL) learners' use of online dictionaries during asynchronous web-based collaborative writing (CW) activity. 26 groups of three EFL learners (N = 78, 16 years) were involved in a-two-hour CW task in English outside the classroom setting in a Facebook group. Data were gathered from 78 online researcher-participant interviews and 8,700 discussion threads collected from 26 groups. The study's findings revealed that 80% of participants used their mobile phones to undertake the activity, so they preferred online English dictionaries with mobile applications. Participants with high English proficiency mainly used online English dictionaries to search for the collocations of words to vivify their sentences. Also, those participants directed their group members to use the online dictionaries to independently identify their vocabulary mistakes and validate their existing vocabulary knowledge. Participants who had low English proficiency mainly used online bilingual dictionaries (Turkish-English) to look up the unknown words and then got their group partners to verify their use in their collaborative writing pieces. Additionally, Google Translate was utilised by those participants to serve a purpose of an online dictionary. This study provides useful insights for researchers and EFL teachers about how online dictionaries were used during the web-based collaborative writing process.

Keywords: EFL writing, collaboration, online writing, small group learning, foreign language, dictionaries

Introduction

Collaborative writing (CW), which can be defined as "an [instructional] activity where there is a shared and negotiated decision-making process and a shared responsibility for the production of a single text" (Storch, 2013, p. 3), has been extensively researched by the foreign/second language writing

researchers by dint of the constantly evolving technology-enhanced collaborative tools and increasing accessibility of Web 2.0 technologies (Li, 2018; Bikowski & Vithanage, 2016).

A recent review study by Zhang and Zou (2021) has indicated that to date, previous studies have used the following web-based environments such as wiki (N = 21 studies), Google Doc (N = 6 studies), offline word processor (N = 3 studies), Facebook (N = 2 studies), chat (N = 2 studies) and forum (N = 2 studies) when undertaking the CW activities in second/foreign language writing contexts. Additionally, previous studies on web-based CW explored

- 1) patterns of peer interaction and learners' co-constructed texts (e.g., Abrams, 2019; Li & Zhu, 2017),
- 2) peer affective factors (e.g., Selcuk & Jones, 2022; Selcuk, 2017), individual writing versus CW (e.g., Alsubaie & Ashuraidah, 2017), and the influence of peer leadership during the CW process (e.g., Selcuk, Jones & Vonkova, 2019a).

Nevertheless, few studies (e.g., Selcuk, Jones & Vonkova, 2019b) investigated the Information Communications Technology (ICT) tools used by the learners during the CW processes. Therefore, to fill a gap in the literature, this current study examines the use of online dictionaries during web-based CW among 26 groups of three in a total of 78 learners of EFL.

In their study, Selcuk et al. (2019b) explored for what purposes Google Translate (GT) as an ICT tool was used among Turkish high school EFL learners (N = 6) during seven weeks of web-based CW. The findings showed that participants who reported that they were not confident with their English knowledge and were feeling anxious writing in English used GT in the pre-writing stages of writing. Also, the study found that participants with lower grades in English used GT more frequently than participants with higher grades in English. Another emerging finding was that a group member who mainly led the group writing process encouraged them to use GT to start with their writing, which enabled some group members to gain self-confidence in writing in English.

Theoretical Framework

The main theoretical bases of the web-based CW in connection with teaching and learning EFL writing in this study are social constructivism (Vygotsky, 1978), the process-oriented approach (Hyland), and the sustainable smart pedagogy framework proposed by Daniela (2019) (also Lytras et al., 2018).

Collaborative work undertaken with peers or in small groups in an EFL writing context is mainly supported by a social constructivist framework in which there are affordances for interactive learning and knowledge-sharing (Storch, 2019). Furthermore, the process-oriented approach to teaching EFL

writing (Hyland, 2009) was considered the most suitable for the present study for the following reasons. This approach is a non-linear and recursive approach to writing that comprises planning, drafting and revision, and editing activities. As argued by Steele (1992) and Hyland (2003), this approach would involve peer collaboration during the writing process, involving learners in brainstorming, group discussion, peer feedback and CW. The web-based CW activity was designed based on the sustainable smart pedagogy framework by Daniela (2019) (see Table 2) because, as argued by Selcuk and Jones (2022), the activity is to be undertaken synchronously anywhere and anytime; students opting in were considered 'intellectually smart', social, and motivated when doing the activity and the learning environment was technologically enhanced with the use of up-to-date laptops and smartphones. The 'smart pedagogy' aligned with the writing process and group members' roles as fluid and dynamic, enabling students to develop meta-cognitively during the writing process and to be developers of technology used in this context.

Table 1. Smart pedagogy framework

S	smart (in the sense of intellectual smartness), social
М	meta-cognitively developed and motivated
Α	anywhere, anytime (in the sense of a learning process that is flowing across the temporal and spatial borders)
R	rapidly changing
т	technology enhanced, which takes into account the peculiarities of human development, the taxonomy of the educational process where the next generations are using the benefits of technology, and Smart Pedagogy bringing the students of the next generations in front of progress to serve as developers for new levels of innovation.

Source. (Daniela, 2019, p.16)

Aims and Research Questions

This study aimed to investigate how and which online dictionaries were used among 26 groups of three (N = 78) Turkish high school EFL learners during a two-hour web-based CW activity. Considering the aim of the study, we formulated the following research questions:

- 1. How do EFL learners make use of online dictionaries as an ICT tool during the web-based CW?
- 2. Which online dictionaries do EFL learners benefit from as an ICT tool during the web-based CW?

Methodology

Participants

Seventy-eight EFL learners who were 10th graders (57.7% females and 42.3%, males, 16 years old) in a public high school in Izmir, Turkey, volunteered to participate in the study. These seventy-six participants were asked to form a group of three (N = 26 groups) and undertake a CW task of writing a short story in English synchronously in a Facebook (FB) group outside school hours. The CW task lasted around two hours. Before the study's commencement, official consents were obtained from the Provincial Directorate of National Education, the school's principal, and all participants' parents.

Before group participants started their collaborative short story writing task, they were asked to self-assess their English proficiency on a scale of five (elementary, pre-intermediate, intermediate, upper intermediate and advanced). Moreover, the participants' teacher of English was asked to evaluate all participants' English proficiency on the same scale of five.

Table 2 displays participants' self-assessed English language proficiency and their teacher's evaluation of participants' English proficiency.

Teacher's evaluation						
Self-assessed	Ele	mentary	Pre-	Intermediate	Upper	Total
English level			Intermediate		Intermediate	
Starter	F	5	0	0	0	5
	%	21.7	0	0	0	6.4%
Elementary	F	9	7	1	0	17
	%	39.1	21.9	5.3	0.0	21.8%
Pre-Intermediate	F	8	19	3	1	31
	%	34.8	59.4	15.8	25.0	39.7%
Intermediate	F	1	6	12	1	20
	%	4.3	18.8	63.2	25.0	25.6%
Upper Intermediate	F	0	0	3	2	5
	%	0	0	15.8	50.0	6.4%
Total	F	23	32	19	4	78
	%	29.48%	41.3%	24.36%	5.13%	100,0%

Table 2. Participants' self-assessed English language proficiency and their teacher's evaluation of participants' proficiency in English

According to the Turkish Ministry of National Education (2011), 10th-grade students' English level is expected to be pre-intermediate or A2, according to the Council of Europe (2001). A2 level language users are categorised as 'basic users' by the Council of Europe (2011, p. 25), and their capabilities are described as follows:

They can understand sentences and frequently used expressions related to areas of most immediate relevance (e.g., basic personal and family information, shopping, local geography, employment). They can communicate in simple and routine tasks requiring a simple and direct exchange of information on familiar and routine matters. They can describe aspects of his/her background, immediate environment and matters in areas of immediate need.

Concerning the skill of writing, the Council of Europe (2001) highlights that A2 level language users should be able to write simple short notes and messages in areas of immediate need. They need to be able to write an elementary personal letter, for example, thanking someone for something.

Web-based Collaborative Writing Activity Design

Participants in groups were asked to write a short story not less than 150 words and no more than 300 words in English with their group members collaboratively in a FB group created only for the study. Participants were asked to undertake this writing activity outside of school hours online. During the writing activity, 80% of participants reported using their smartphones to engage and interact with the discussion sessions in a FB group. Participants in groups were told to complete their short stories within two hours. Five volunteer teachers of English served as a facilitator of this writing activity. The facilitator's role was only to provide participants with writing instructions at the beginning of the writing task.

Participants reported that they had not previously undertaken a collaboratively regulated learning activity outside the classroom. Their writing experience in secondary school classrooms was limited to perfunctory textbook exercises with little collaboration. As argued by Aydin and Özdemir (2019), EFL learners in Turkish secondary schools generally have insufficient writing practice in English lessons due to factors such as time constraints, inadequate writing instruction, exam-oriented classrooms, grammar/reading-based textbooks, and teachers' attitudes toward EFL writing, all of which serve to reduce opportunities for students to develop their writing skills. Against this backdrop, it was decided to use the FB group as the technological setting of the study.

Data Collection Methods

This study mainly gathered data from 78 online researcher-participant interviews and 8,700 written discussion threads collected from 26 groups. The researchers interviewed each seventy-eight participants using Facebook Live Chat. Each participant interview was recorded and lasted around 10–15 minutes. To gain a deeper understanding from the interviews, we also collected all 26 groups' written discussion threads (N = 8,700) from the FB group. Before

the CW activity, all participants were asked to discuss in their FB groups in a written manner. The rationale behind that decision was to collect information from participants' interactions during the CW process.

Data Analysis Procedure

The group interviews, along with the online written facilitator-participant chats and the FB discussion boards enabled us to gather different types of qualitative data sets. We analysed each data source using an open coding analytical approach (Saldana, 2009). We used open coding because there is no existing parallel research therefore no previously existing analytical framework available in the Turkish public high school context.

Findings

Based on the overall evaluation comprised of participants' self-assessed English language proficiency and their teacher's evaluation of participants' proficiency in English in Table 2, participants' (N = 78) achievements in English subject were grouped into four categories (1. low Achievers, 2. Average Achievers, 3. High Achievers, and 4. Very High Achievers). Additionally, based on the analysed data from researcher-participant interviews and participants' written discussion threads, Figure 1 was created to illustrate the relationship between participants' English language achievements and their online dictionary preference during the CW process.





Note. Eng. TR./ TR.-Eng. (Bilingual), Only Eng. (Monolingual)

Low Achievers

23 participants (29.48%) among seventy-eight were considered 'low achievers' in the light of the overall evaluation of participants' self-assessed English language proficiency and their teacher's assessments of their proficiency in English. Based on the analysed data on web-based researcher-participants interviews and online written discussion threads, it is found that low achievers avoided using monolingual online English dictionaries due to their low language proficiency in English. Most low achievers used bilingual dictionaries, Turkish-English or vice versa during the CW process. Other than that, some low achievers (34.78%) stated that they used neither online nor printed dictionaries during the CW process.

Most low achievers reported using Google Translate (GT) as an online dictionary when working with their group partners during the CW process. As 80% of the participants reported undertaking the CW activity using their mobile phones, most participants said they used GT's mobile app during the task. Moreover, their primary purposes of using online dictionaries were listed as (1) looking up unknown words and (2) getting their group partners to verify their use in their CW pieces. For example, one participant expressed,

I rarely write in English, and it was a stressful activity for me to produce sentences in English for this activity. However, Google Translate (GT) helps me a lot when choosing the most appropriate English word for me ... I first produce my sentence in Turkish and then get it translated using GT, and I do not need to spend hours searching for the right English word for my sentence (Participant 23).

Another participant highlighted,

GT translated 'Sally iyi Fransızca konuşur' [Sally speaking French well] as Sally speaking English good. However, my group partner corrected the sentence and told me I should use 'well' instead of 'good'. After that, I felt more comfortable writing in English as I knew that my [group partner] would correct my written mistakes (Participant 72).

Average Achievers

Of 78 participants, 32 (41.3%) were considered 'average achievers' in connection with the overall evaluation of both participants' self-assessments and their teacher's assessments of students' proficiency in English. Based on the analysed data on web-based researcher-participants interviews and online written discussion threads, it was discovered that most participants used bilingual dictionaries (Tr.-Eng.; Eng.-Tr.). Even though most used Google Translate as an online dictionary, the participants also used the mobile apps of Tureng and Sesli Sözlük online dictionaries. As reported by the participants, the primary purposes of using online dictionaries during the activity were

- 1) to search for the unfamiliar words that their group partner(s) used in the co-constructed text and
- 2) to diversify the words used in the Google Translated text.

Some average achievers (15.62%) said they did not use a dictionary (neither online nor printed) when doing the CW writing task. Few average achievers (6.25%) professed that they also used online monolingual dictionaries to verify the meanings and usages of the words they had already looked up in online bilingual dictionaries. For instance, one participant explained,

I did not know that advice is an uncountable word. In Turkish, you can make it countable. I checked 'advice' in the online Cambridge Dictionary from my phone to find out if it says anything about the plural form of the word and found that 'a piece of advice' could be used for the plural use of the word (Participant, 45).

High Achievers

19 (24.36%) participants among seventy-eight were considered 'high achievers' in the overall evaluation of both participants' self-assessments and their teachers' assessments of students' proficiency in English. Based on the analysed data on online researcher-participants interviews and written discussion threads, it is found that among high achievers, the number of participants who used online bilingual (36.84%) and monolingual (34.84%) dictionaries was even. Additionally, some high achievers (26.32%) reported that they did not use any dictionary during the CW activity. Interestingly, among high achievers, none of the participants indicated that they used Google Translate as an online dictionary. Some said they used Tureng and Sesli Sözlük. Concerning the monolingual dictionaries, Online Cambridge Dictionary, Online Oxford Dictionary, The Free Dictionary and Online Collins Dictionary were the most frequently used online dictionaries among high achievers. The primary purposes of online dictionaries for the high achievers were to search the synonyms of words they already know and verify the correctness of the selected word they use in the co-constructed text. Most high achievers who used the online dictionaries when undertaking the CW activity felt responsible for leading their group. For example, one participant explained,

I attached too much importance to the correctness and appropriateness of my word choices as the other two group partners were seeking help from my vocabulary and grammar knowledge, and I felt that I had become the teacher of the group. Therefore, I checked Cambridge Dictionaries several times during the activity to be sure I was using the right word (Participant, 29).

Very High Achievers

4 (5.13%) participants among seventy-eight were considered 'very high achievers' based on the overall evaluation of both participants' self-assessments

and their teachers' assessments of students' proficiency in English. Based on the analysed data on online researcher-participants interviews and written discussion threads, it is found that all very high achievers only used monolingual dictionaries when undertaking the CW activity. The primary purposes of online dictionary use for very high achievers were to search collocation of words, search sample examples with the words they already know, and find synonyms of the already known words to diversify their writing in English. Also, very high achiever participants were instructing their group partners about how monolingual dictionaries will potentially improve their vocabulary knowledge and selecting an appropriate word for their writing. The following episode was taken from one of the group's written discussion threads and illustrating how very high achiever (P24) was correcting his group partners' (P2, low achiever) vocabulary mistake and showing how monolingual dictionary will help him rectify his error.

P2: I would say 'Jack was at home only'.

P24: At home only?

P2: I mean, Jack was at home without other people.

P24: hahaha... [laughter sign] that is funny! Only and alone give the same meaning in Turkish, but you should use 'alone', not 'only'. Only your sentence is used in the adverb form, not the adjective form. If you want to use it only, you can use it this way. 'Jack was the only person at home.'

P2: Okay

P24: Check these out https://dictionary.cambridge.org/dictionary/englishturkish/alone?q = ALONE, https://sentence.yourdictionary.com/alone

P24: There are several sample sentences about 'alone'. For example, 'leave him alone; he is tired.'

P2: Okay, understood, thanks.

Discission and Conclusion

This study aimed to investigate how and which online dictionaries were used among 26 groups of three (N = 78) Turkish high school EFL learners during a two-hour web-based CW activity. The following two research questions were asked considering the aim of the study:

- 1) How do EFL learners make use of online dictionaries as an ICT tool during the web-based CW?, and
- 2) Which online dictionaries do EFL learners benefit from as an ICT tool during the web-based CW?

The findings revealed that participants who were categorised as 'low achievers', mainly used bilingual dictionaries when undertaking the web-based CW activity. It is understood that GT facilitated low achievers' writing process which concurs with the findings of Selcuk, et al. (2019b). Most proficient participants in English mainly used monolingual dictionaries. The corrected feedback received by very high and high achievers after some low or average achiever group members' initial attempts in producing a piece of writing in English fits well with the fundamental principles of the process-oriented approach. This current study is a small-scale study, conducted with seventy-eight participants in one high school involving only one age range of 16-year-old high school EFL learners and, what is more, they were enthusiastic volunteers. All these matters restrict any generalisation of the findings to other high schools, students, or contexts. However, the insights gained were substantial for this context, and the outcome of such smallscale research we have shown can add nuanced findings to the field about how EFL teaching and learning in Turkey and similar educational contexts could be developed in a more student-centred way with more student autonomy through online-based small group CW activities.

Participants were digitally literate in terms of confidently using smartphones and laptops and, through necessity, making effective use of online dictionaries. That was especially the case with the use of their smartphones as there were no or few laptops and desktop computers in some participants' homes. All the participants could join in and benefit from the present study because they were all confident and prolific users of their smartphones. The participants in this study indicated the limited availability of laptops was potentially disadvantageous to those students if they could only use those devices, whereas using FB, given the widespread ownership of smartphones, would allow for universal participation in any such exercise. FB can be downloaded as a mobile smartphone application and thus facilitate written discussions.

It would be helpful to replicate or do similar research with students of different age groups and motivation, in different schools, in different locales to gain further insights into the use of online dictionaries to enhance the development of writing skills in EFL and, indeed, of any potential for transfer to other skills.

REFERENCES

Abrams, Z. (2019). Collaborative writing and text quality in Google Docs. *Language Learning & Technology, 23*(2), 22–42.

Alsubaie, J., & Ashuraidah, A. (2017). Exploring writing individually and collaboratively using Google Docs in EFL contexts. *English Language Teaching*, *10*(10), 10–30.

Aydin S. Özdemir E. (2019). A qualitative research on foreign language learners' perceptions of Facebook as a learning environment. *Language and Technology*, *1*(1), 16–29.

Bikowski, D., & Vithanage, R. (2016). Effects of web-based collaborative writing on individual L2 writing development. *Language Learning & Technology*, 20(1), 79–99.

Council of Europe (2001). Common European framework of reference for languages: Learning, teaching, assessment. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. http://www.coe. int/t/dg4/linguistic/Source/Framework_EN.pdf

Daniela L. (2019). Smart pedagogy for technology-enhanced learning. In Daniela L. (Ed.), Didactics of smart pedagogy (pp. 3–21). Springer.

Hyland, K. (2009). Teaching and researching writing (2nd ed.). Longman.

Hyland, K. (2003). Second Language Writing. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Li, M. (2018). Computer-mediated collaborative writing in L2 contexts: An analysis of empirical research. *Computer Assisted Language Learning*, 31(8), 882–904.

Li, M., & Zhu, W. (2017). Explaining dynamic interactions in wiki-based collaborative writing. *Language Learning & Technology*, *21*(2), 96–120.

Lytras, M. D. Visvizi, A. Daniela, L. Sarirete, A. Ordonez, De Pablos, P. (2018). Social networks research for sustainable smart education. *Sustainability*, *10*(9), 2974. https://doi.org/10.3390/su10092974

Saldana, J. (2009). The coding manual for qualitative researchers. Thousand Oaks, California: Sage.

Selcuk, H., & Jones, J. (2022). Turkish EFL learners' perceptions of using a social network environment for collaborative writing: creating a trustful affinity space. *Journal of Smart Education and Urban Society*, 13(1), 1–14.

Selcuk, H., Jones, J., & Vonkova, H. (2019a). The emergence and influence of group leaders in web-based collaborative writing: self-reported accounts of EFL learners. *Computers Assisted Language Learning*, *34*(8), 1040–1080.

Selcuk, H., Jones, J. & Vonkova, H. (2019b). The use of Google Translate as an ICT tool in web-based collaborative writing: Self-reported accounts of EFL learners. In H. Kratochvilova & R. Kratochvil (Eds.), *Proceedings of IAC 2019 in Vienna* (pp. 74–80). Czech Institute of Academic Education, Prague. ISBN 978-80-88203-11-7.

Selcuk, H. (2017). Peer Affective Factors in Peer Collaboration: Facebook-based collaborative writing activity among Turkish high school EFL learners. In Tatnall A., Webb M. (Eds.) *Tomorrow's Learning: Involving Everyone. Learning with and about Technologies and Computing. WCCE 2017.* IFIP Advances in Information and Communication Technology, 515. Springer, Cham.

Steele, V. (1992). Product and Process Writing: A Comparison. Newbury House.

Storch, N. (2019). Collaborative writing. Language Teaching, 52(1), 40-59.

Storch, N. (2013). Collaborative writing in L2 classrooms. *Multilingual matters*. https://doi.org/ 10.21832/9781847699954

The Turkish Ministry of National Education. (2011). Secondary school (grade 9–12) English language teaching curriculum [Ortaog!retim kurumları I_ngilizce dersi og!retim programi]. Retrieved from https://dyned33.files.wordpress.com/2011/09/ortac3b6c49-fretim-ingilizce-dersi-hazc4b1rlc4b1k-9-12-sc4b1nc4b1flar-c3b6c49fretim-program-larc4b12.pdf

Vygotsky, L. S. (1978). *Mind in society: The development of higher mental process*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.

Zhang, R. & Zou, D. (2021). Types, features, and effectiveness of technologies in collaborative writing for second language learning, *Computer Assisted Language Learning*. https://doi.org/10.1080/09588221.2021.1880441

https://doi.org/10.22364/atee.2022.33

Mentors' Perceptions of Supervising Student English Language Teachers During One-Year Clinical Practice

Monika Černá, Irena Reimannová

University of Pardubice, Czech Republic monika.cerna@upce.cz; irena.reimannova@upce.cz

ABSTRACT

Mentoring in initial teacher education programmes is believed to play one of the primary roles in student teachers' professional development, as it enhances the professional learning of student teachers in the context of their classroom and school experience. The purpose of the article is to explore mentors' perceptions of their readiness, expectations, and relationship with student teachers during one-year clinical teaching practice. The article defines and discusses mentoring in an initial teacher education programme at a Czech university and reports the findings of a qualitative study which was conducted in a group of mentors who provided mentoring to student English language teachers during their one-year clinical practice. The clinical teaching practice is conducted in selected schools at primary and lower-secondary levels of education and mentors, student teachers, and university teacher educators communicate and cooperate closely. The study offers insights into the mentors' perceptions of various aspects of mentoring, including the relationship of the mentors and the student English language teachers in the specific clinical practice model. The findings of the study are interpreted in the light of the proposed reform of initial teacher education in the Czech Republic and as such might be recognised by the education community and policymakers.

Keywords: teaching practice, initial teacher education, mentor, mentoring, student/pre-service English language teacher

Introduction

Mentoring plays one of the fundamental roles in student teachers' professional development, as it enhances their professional learning in the context of the classroom and school experience. However, not much is known about mentoring processes, specifically the development of the mentoring relationship (Sheridan & M. ČERNÁ, I. REIMANNOVÁ. Mentors' Perceptions of Supervising Student English Language Teachers ..

Nguyen, 2020, 296). Thus, the purpose of the article is to explore mentors' perceptions of various aspects of mentoring in terms of their readiness, expectations, and relationship with student English language teachers during one-year clinical teaching practice.

Theoretical framework

Recently, teacher education has been in a period labelled 'practice turn' (Reid, 2011). As a consequence, students in initial teacher education (ITE) are required to spend a substantial amount of time in school-based parts of the programmes. For example, acknowledging teaching as an academically taught clinical practice profession, the American Association of Colleges for Teacher Education recommends the States to require each pre-service teacher candidate to complete a full year (30 weeks or 900 hours) of clinical preparation¹ (AACTE, 2012). In Australia, pre-service teachers need to complete between 60 and 80 days of supervised professional experience (Wilson & Huynh, 2020). In New Zealand, the Teaching Council's recent revision of accreditation requirements has extended the minimum number of weeks that pre-service teachers must spend in practice settings to 16 (Hoben, 2021). Most European countries specify a minimum length of professional training, including in-school placements²; in some countries, however, institutions are autonomous (e.g. the Czech Republic, the Netherlands, Slovakia) or a single system does not exist (e.g. Germany, the United Kingdom) (Eurydice, 2015, pp. 32-33). In spite of the autonomy that the Czech ITE institutions possess, the structure of programmes is specified by the mandatory guidelines issued by the Ministry of Education, Youth and Sports of the Czech Republic (MŠMT, 2017). According to these guidelines, for example, the teaching practice experience and its reflection should be allocated from 24 to 30 ECTS during the whole ITE (Bachelor's and Master's programmes together), which equals about 900 hours of work.

The length of the practicum matters; however, what other constituent parts of ITE programmes there are and how they fit together are also important. Lofthouse (2018, p. 248) proposes that professional and academic elements may be interwoven and integrated through a range of curricular and programme designs. Consequently, a diversity of such designs reflecting specific socio-cultural contexts and traditions may be observed across the world.

For illustration, in England, the practice turn has led to the proliferation and diversity of ITE providers (Lofthouse, 2018). Apart from university-led or

¹ Characteristics of effective clinical preparation are proposed, for example, by Darling-Hammond & Baratz-Snowden (2007) and by AACTE (2018).

² In terms of ECTS credits for in-school placements, the number ranges across European states from 15 or less (e.g. Slovenia, Estonia) to 50 (Hungary), the average being 25 (Eurydice, 2015, p. 35).

M. ČERNÁ, I. REIMANNOVÁ. Mentors' Perceptions of Supervising Student English Language Teachers.

school-led programmes (Furlong et al., 2000) utilising some kind of university-school partnership, there are also programmes which are solely school-based (*SCITT programmes, School Direct Programme*, Eurydice 2015, p. 36; Ofsted, 2017). These SCITTs decide about the academic part of the programme, i.e. whether or not to work with universities, which, according to Lofthouse (2018), has led to a withdrawal of well-established university schools of education in England from teacher education.

Given the amount of time that student teachers in ITE spend on school placements, the role of school-based mentors³ is critical (Becher & Orland-Barak, 2018, p. 477; Hoben, 2021, p. 42; Lofthouse, 2018, p. 248) for the realisation of ITE programmes, no matter whether they are university-led, school-led, or entirely school-based. Mentoring is widely recognised as one of the most important support systems for teachers entering the profession (Hobson et al. 2009; Pinnick, 2020). To define mentoring, however, is not straightforward, since definitions of mentoring vary greatly (Ambrosetti & Dekkers, 2010) in terms of the nature of the relationship they reflect, the dimensions they cover, etc. Ambrosetti and Dekkers (2010) offer a definition of mentoring in ITE:

Mentoring is a non-hierarchical, reciprocal relationship between mentors and mentees who work towards specific professional and personal outcomes for the mentee. The relationship usually follows a developmental pattern within a specified timeframe and roles are defined, expectations are outlined and a purpose is (ideally) clearly delineated (p. 52).

The definition includes all three components that embrace mentoring, i.e. relationship, process, and context.

Mentor-mentee relationship

Mentor-mentee relationships have become a key factor in the context of ITE (Wilson et al., 2020) since they determine the learning experience of mentees,⁴ given its potential benefits for learning, performance, networks, and personal satisfaction (Sheridan & Nguyen, 2020). Establishing a non-hierarchical relation-ship has been identified by Hobson (2016) as one of seven imperative indicators of quality mentoring – its absence "makes it difficult to establish relational trust and for mentees to openly share their professional learning and development needs with mentors" (Hobson, 2016, p. 101). In addition, Wilson et al. (2020)

³ A number of different words are used to refer to mentors in English (cooperating teacher, supervising teacher, etc.) and in the Czech language. With reference to Greek mythology, we prefer the word 'mentor' since Mentor meant a "father figure, an approachable counsellor, a trusted advisor, a challenger, an encourager" (Carruthers, 1993, p. 9).

⁴ Mentee = student teacher/pre-service teacher.

argue that pre-service teachers' capacity to cope during a professional placement is closely linked to the quality of the mentoring relationship; those pre-service teachers who favour non-productive coping strategies (e.g. dwelling on the negative, self-blaming, worrying) tended to experience heightened challenges whilst on placement and reported difficult mentor-mentee communication. Similarly, Mackie (2018) proposes that the key mentoring relationship is that between the class teacher mentor and the mentee, and is essential in developing the mentee's teaching capacity. Sheridan and Nguyen (2020) explored the development of the mentor-mentee relationship during professional experience using a four-phase conceptual model of progression (Kram, 1983 in Sheridan & Nguyen, 2020), which includes:

- a) initiation (the start of the relationship);
- b) cultivation (mentoring functions expand);
- c) separation (the established relationship is substantially altered by context and/or psychological changes), and
- d) redefinition (the relationship evolves and/or ends).

The same authors conclude that the development of mentor-mentee relationships is complex and highly variable as the mentoring relationship moves between the four phases. The findings contribute to a deeper understanding of how the mentoring relationship develops and what processes contribute to supporting confident, autonomous teachers (Sheridan & Nguyen, 2020, p. 309). The development of the mentoring relationship is also determined by its length and closeness. Bentley et al. (2017) explored mentor-mentee relationships across a year-long practicum at one school and concluded that during the year, pre-service teachers were more likely to establish stronger and trusting relationships with their mentors; the mentees who felt comfortable with their mentors were more willing to take risks and utilised mistakes as valuable learning experiences. Contrary to that, Jederud et al. (2021) show how implementing a paired practicum, one of the structural changes that the practice turn has brought to Sweden, has a negative influence on the mentor-mentee relationship.

The knowledge base for mentoring

Mentors' knowledge is deeply rooted in their teaching knowledge (Becher & Orland-Barak, 2018). Their knowledge about teaching is practice-oriented and emerges from their professional experience, their teaching skills, their pre-service teacher education, and, to a considerable extent, their own personal experience (Clarke, Killeavy, & Moloney, 2013). In order to conceptualise mentor knowledge, Jones and Straker (2006) used Shulman's (1987) model of teacher knowledge and transferred four domains of teacher knowledge to a model of mentor knowledge: Content knowledge \rightarrow Teacher knowledge, social, cultural, and expertise; General pedagogical knowledge \rightarrow Working with adult learners;

M. ČERNÁ, I. REIMANNOVÁ. Mentors' Perceptions of Supervising Student English Language Teachers.

Pedagogical content knowledge \rightarrow Professional training and development; Context knowledge \rightarrow The wider and political context (Jones & Straker, 2006, p. 169).

Methods

The aim of this small-scale study is to present qualitative evidence from within the context of one-year clinical teaching practice to uncover mentors' subjective perceptions of their readiness, expectations, and relationship with student teachers in a specific ITE programme in the Czech Republic. In particular, this study explored three research questions:

- 1. How do the mentors perceive their readiness to work as mentors?
- 2. What are the mentors' expectations of their mentoring role?
- 3. What role does the relationship of the mentor and student teacher play in the practicum?

The design of the qualitative study was inspired by a sequential explanatory design (Creswell, 1996), as the data was collected over a period of time in two consecutive phases in the period from May to June 2022. During the first phase, a questionnaire with open-ended items was used (n = 14). The data in the questionnaire was drawn from the mentors who cooperated with the 2020 and 2021 cohorts of students, and 14 out of 23 mentors returned the filled in questionnaire. In the second phase, during the in-depth interviews (n = 3)mentors' perceptions of their mentoring roles and the development of their relationship with mentees were examined. The informant selection and data collection in the semi-structured interviews with open-ended questions were guided by the results of the questionnaire data analysis. The targeted context specific qualitative sample (Miles, Huberman, & Saldana, 2013 in Sheridan and Nguyen, 2020, p. 299) may be seen as a limitation of the study as it involves only a contextually bound small sample of participants, however, such a sample allows to collect different views of mentoring from a distinct group of mentors with different mentoring experience backgrounds and within different school settings (e.g. types of schools, sources of mentoring knowledge, teaching and mentoring experience, teachers' duties and responsibilities, their positions in schools, and types of schools).

Context

In the Czech Republic, all ITE programmes have to comply with the above-mentioned ministerial guidelines prescribing the proportions of individual components of the programme (subject matter, field didactics, teaching practice and reflection thereon, etc.). Otherwise, individual institutions make their own decisions regarding all aspects of the programme. Several changes on the system level are yet to come, as declared in the Strategy for the Education Policy of the Czech Republic up to 2030 + (MŠMT, 2020). One of the aims of the reforms is to maintain and cultivate the collaboration of ITE faculties and field/practice schools, especially in terms of a sufficient amount of school-based teaching practice, of reflection on school-based practice, of first-rate mentors, and adequate financial rewards for school-based mentors supervising the school-based teaching practice (MŠMT, 2022, p. 8). Currently, such a system is non-existent, as a result of which ITE providers are left to find, for example, their own ways of training mentors.

The English Language Teacher Education (ELTE) study programme at the University of Pardubice is a two-year master's degree programme which prepares teachers of English who are fully qualified to teach primary and lower-secondary learners. The way the practicum is interwoven with the academic and other professional components of the ELTE programme, as well as its length, makes it unique in the context of Czech ITE. The current programme reflects the best traditions of the programme integrating a year-long in-school placement (Píšová, 2005; Černá et al., 2017), and the understanding of teaching as an academically taught clinical profession (Alter & Coggshall, 2009).

The clinical practice itself spans the second and third semesters. The first semester, however, is a preparatory phase, during which the students are familiarised with its philosophy. Furthermore, university faculty members (tutors), together with the students, are engaged in finding and negotiating the best possible in-school placements for the students. In the second semester, students are on their placements one day a week for 13 weeks (equalling 52 hours), during which they get to know the school, observe their mentors' classes, team-teach with their mentors, teach their own lessons, and engage in other teaching-related activities. During the third semester, the school-based part of the programme is extended to three days per week, which equals 195 hours of work at school. The student teachers are involved in similar activities as in the previous semester; however, their own teaching becomes more extensive, which enables them to conduct action research.

Concerning the mentors, one group is represented by mentors who have been cooperating with the department for some time and the other comprises mentors nominated by the school leadership following previous consultations with the tutors (one mentor, one mentee). The mentors are expected to function in a range of roles across the structural, supportive, and professional dimensions of mentoring using various strategies (Yeomans & Sampson, 1994). The tutors provide the mentors with information and guidance (i.e. with mentor training reflecting the specifics of the programme) through online meetings (MS Teams), personal meetings at schools (once per term at a minimum), materials (LMS Moodle), and emails or phone calls. M. ČERNÁ, I. REIMANNOVÁ. Mentors' Perceptions of Supervising Student English Language Teachers.

Participants

Teacher mentors for the study were recruited from thirteen schools where pre-service teachers of the ELTE programme did their teaching practice in 2020 and 2021 to provide a range of contexts (e.g. primary level of education only, primary and lower-secondary level of education only, lower- and upper-secondary level of education only) and varied in terms of their cohort of pupils and size (small – medium – large enrolments in metropolitan, urban, and rural areas). During an email survey, twenty-three mentors were approached and out of them fourteen participated in the study, all of them females. Three out of these fourteen mentors were nominated to be interviewed (via MS Teams) in the second phase of the study. Their selection was intentional and might be considered representative as the mentors who were interviewed are from different school settings and contexts, vary in their positions in schools and their duties and responsibilities, and bring diversity in their experience with, and competence in, mentoring pre-service teachers (for the mentors' demographic information see Table 1 below).

Mentor	Level of education	Subjects taught	ELTE qualified (Yes/No)	Years of teaching	Interviewed (Yes/No)
M1	Primary and lower- secondary	English	Y	20	Ν
M2	Upper-secondary	English	Y	11	Ν
M3	Lower-secondary	English, Music	Υ	22	Ν
M4	Primary	All primary subjects	Y (primary level, ELT specialization)	14	Ν
M5	Lower-secondary	English, Russian, German, Music	Ν	27	Ν
M6	Lower-secondary	English, Czech	Ν	30	Υ
M7	Primary and lower- secondary	English	Y	19	Ν
M8	Primary and lower- secondary	English	N (finishing ELTE master's study)	3	Ν
M9	Primary and lower- secondary	English	Y	>20	Y
M10	Primary and lower- secondary	English	Y	11	Ν
M11	Primary and lower- secondary	English	Y	23	Ν
M12	Primary and lower- secondary	English mainly	Y	12	Ν
M13	Upper-secondary	English	Υ	23	Υ
M14	lower-secondary	Fnglish	N	19	N

Table 1. Mentors' demographic information

M. ČERNÁ, I. REIMANNOVÁ. Mentors' Perceptions of Supervising Student English Language Teachers..

Data collection

Qualitative data was collected in both phases of the research through openended items (Oppenheim, 1992). The questionnaire comprised eleven items investigating the motives of the mentors, their expectations and readiness for mentoring, ways of guiding and supporting the mentee, and mentoring time load, support from the university, and demographic information.

The questions used in the semi-structured in-depth interviews were constructed on the basis of the responses collected with the questionnaires. They were designed to establish an atmosphere of trust and rapport in order to obtain rich, detailed, and personalised information from the mentors, checking back the information provided by the individual participants and thus validating the data from the questionnaires. The interviews were recorded, transcribed verbatim, and analysed afterwards.

Data analysis

The responses from the questionnaires from the first phase were at first clustered under the individual questions and then coded using Atlas.ti. It allowed us to create codes for the categories of different mentors' perceptions "dealing with the same theme" and those were "given the same code" (Boeije, 2002, p. 397). For the interviews, the individual ones were coded at first to identify the categories of the mentors' perceptions. The researchers coded the questionnaires and interview transcripts, then discussed the results to come to an agreement to obtain internal validity of the identified coded themes revealing the mentors' perceptions of their readiness, expectations, and relationship with student teachers (Sheridan & Nguyen, 2020, 302). The themes that appeared both in the questionnaires and interviews were constantly re-examined and discussed to depict the mentors' perspectives as well as possible.

Authenticity and trustworthiness

In the research, the strategies of member checking and triangulation were used to assure the authenticity and trustworthiness of the research findings (Creswell, 2011, p. 259). The technique of member checking (Creswell, 2011, p. 259) was used to validate the findings from the questionnaires in the follow-up interview phase (see Data collection part). The data was also triangulated when using a sequential process of data collection, different methods of data collection to corroborate evidence from different mentors. The researchers worked as a pair in the phases of data collection (interviews) and data analysis (coding of the questionnaires and interviews) to assure the validity of the findings through negotiation. The respondents were familiarized with the research project, namely with its purpose, duration and procedures. All of them signed an informed, revokable consent with being involved in the project. M. ČERNÁ, I. REIMANNOVÁ. Mentors' Perceptions of Supervising Student English Language Teachers..

Limitations

A major limitation of the study is its scope because the study is limited to the context of one ITE programme and a proposed reform in one country. Thus, the findings apply only to the context that was investigated. Another limitation may be the focus solely on the mentors' perceptions. It is desirable to complement it by exploring the mentees' point of view.

Findings and discussion

Readiness

The mentors' perceptions of their readiness can be presented on a continuum: ready to mentor – partially ready to mentor – not ready. Nevertheless, the data analysis does not reveal much variation in the mentors' perceptions. They perceive themselves as being ready, or partially ready. There appears a single negative response, which is linked to a more general negative attitude towards mentoring on the part of a particular mentor (M10) who was nominated to become a mentor by the leadership of the school without her previous consent.

The mentors perceive their readiness as being based solely on one source, mainly their teaching or mentoring experience, or they rely on multiple sources.

a) readiness based on teaching experience:

I've been teaching for many years; I think I'm well prepared to become a mentor. (M5)

Thanks to the length of my teaching experience I was hoping to be able to provide advice to my student teacher, show her important things, answer her questions, etc. (M14)

The quote illustrates the mentors' reliance on teaching experience; the mentors typically emphasise the length of their experience (many years, long-term, 30 years, etc.) rather than any other aspect (e.g. richness, quality). Teaching experience is undoubtedly an important part of the mentor's knowledge base, but, in itself, it does not make a good mentor. It is crucial that the mentors are able to make accessible their practice and the teaching principles that support it; otherwise they may fail as mentors even if they are successful practitioners who provide good role models (Corrigan & Peace, 2006, in Píšová & Duschinská, 2011, p. 80).

b) readiness based on mentoring experience:

I've been mentoring student teachers of Charles Uni for many years; I believe I ill manage it :-) (M13)

M. ČERNÁ, I. REIMANNOVÁ. Mentors' Perceptions of Supervising Student English Language Teachers..

When specifying the mentoring experience the mentors have had, they use indefinite expressions such as *some experience, several students*. In the quote above, Mentor 13 suggests the length of her experience. Some mentors rely on the experience they previously gained when mentoring student teachers in different (ITE) programmes (M13 above; M2 below), which may vary considerably in terms of their conception. Nevertheless, the transferability of the experience from one ITE context to another may be questionable. The contexts matter, and therefore reflecting the contextual differences of individual ITE programmes is crucial for mentors to be ready. Knowing the wider context is an important component of mentors' knowledge base (Jones & Straker, 2006, p. 169).

c) readiness based on mentor training:

In the years 2016–2019 I participated in two courses of mentoring in JOB and "Teacher as Coach" in the Libchava Academy (M9)

Mentor 9, who does not mention her extensive teaching experience at all, is an example of a teacher who underwent some kind of mentor training, which is provided in the Czech Republic by commercial agencies or by ITE institutions that educate mentors in cooperating schools. Mentor 9 was nominated by the school leadership to participate in the commercial courses mentioned above, though at that time her school was not cooperating with any ITE institutions. Participation in some kind of mentor training is scarcely mentioned by the mentors.

Being explicitly asked about potential support, the interviewees agreed that mentor training might be helpful, but particularly for new mentors. But the opinions of Mentor 13 seem ambivalent – she suggests that mentor training would be beneficial, but she expresses her reservations regarding mandatory mentor training:

If you had told us at the beginning "Now you are mentors and you have to go through compulsory mentor training", I would understand it as meaning that you are trying to impose the way of doing it on me, which I would not like. (M13 IW3)

The length of the training seems to be an issue for the mentors as well; all the interviewees would be willing to devote several hours or a maximum of one day to such training, given the demands of their workload.

The findings of this study identify a low level of involvement of the mentors in training. This is most probably caused by its limited availability because of the non-existence of a system of mentor training in the Czech Republic. This finding is consistent with the empirical studies which report a discrepancy between the requirements associated with mentor selection and training and the reality (Hoben, 2021). TO BE OR NOT TO BE A GREAT EDUCATOR, 2022

M. ČERNÁ, I. REIMANNOVÁ. Mentors' Perceptions of Supervising Student English Language Teachers..

From this perspective, the tentative plans of the Ministry of Education, Youth and Sport to provide extended time for teaching practice reflection and to introduce changes in mentor remuneration, mentor training, and systematic faculty support of mentors (MŠMT, 2022, p. 8) may lead to the development of the desired competence in mentoring. In the light of the findings, however, some aspects of the plans seem to be ambitious – the mentors are willing to devote much less time (up to eight hours) to mentor training than the reform proposes. Obviously, if the reform is implemented, efforts need to be made to explain the purpose and aims of mentor training to potential mentors so that they can identify with them.

d) readiness based on student experience in ITE:

As I did the practicum as a student teacher, I had some ideas what it means to be a mentor. So, I was partly prepared. (M12)

Mentor 12 felt partially prepared for mentoring since she had experienced the same ITE programme as a student. Apart from contextual differences, such an experience may be both facilitating and limiting. On the one hand, it may help to build understanding of the expectations in terms of the roles of the mentor in the ELTE programme; on the other hand, experiencing a particular model of mentoring as a mentee may be limiting. Individual mentors, however, differ in terms of their personality and knowledge base and, as a consequence, use a different repertoire of roles and strategies across the structural, supportive, and professional dimensions of mentoring (Yeomans & Sampson, 1994).

e) readiness based on multiple sources

I worked as a mentor in the Fulbright Commission programme for one year and in the programme, I also participated in two workshops focused on mentoring. (M2)

I am certainly not a professional mentor, I have not participated in any courses or seminars, but I have some teaching and mentoring experience. (...) I also rely on my student experience... (M1)

I have 30 years of experience with school education and I have mentored two student teachers already. (M6)

Several mentors refer to multiple sources of their readiness. Mentor 2 mentions her year-long experience of mentoring a student within the Fulbright programme, which also included mentor training. Interestingly, she does not comment on her mentoring experience outside the Fulbright programme and on her teaching experience (11 years). For Mentor 1, all kinds of experience, that of teacher, mentor, and student, which is not specified in any way, contribute to her sense
of readiness to mentor. Mentor 6 relies on her extensive teaching experience and on some mentoring experience.

To summarise, the mentors mostly perceive themselves as ready to mentor utilising their idiosyncratic resources. Being experienced, in terms of teaching and/or mentoring, is what constitutes a sense of readiness for the mentors. Thus, becoming a mentor is embedded in experiential learning. The findings suggest that mentor training is available under specific conditions, for example, participation in a project, having financial support to attend commercial courses, or cooperation with an ITE institution providing training.

Without mentor training, however, the knowledge base of mentors may appear insufficient in some dimensions, particularly "working with adult learners" and "professional training and development" (Jones & Straker, 2006, p. 169). Introducing a system of mentor training is one of the aims of the proposed reform of ITE in the Czech Republic (MŠMT, 2022), which might contribute to both ITE and the professional socialisation of novice teachers.

Expectations

The mentors formulate both positive expectations and concerns of different types.

a) positive expectations

I expected that the student would be interested in teaching. (M6)

I knew that the mentee is competent and nice and that it would be a pleasure to collaborate with her. (M13)

I know the student; I expected good collaboration. (M3)

The mentors' student-related positive expectations stemmed from a general assumption that a student in an ITE study programme is interested in teaching (M6) or from knowing the student well prior to the practicum (M13, M3) – on the basis of knowing students, positive expectations for future collaboration are generated.

I expected the student teachers to be helpless ... (M9)

Mentor 9 expected her mentees to need much more help. Interestingly, her mentees appeared to be more mature, both professionally and personally, than she expected.

I expected that this experience would broaden my horizons and provide insights into ITE, and perhaps it would bring enrichment in new trends and methods in *ELT*. (M7)

I expected that I would get some inspiration for new activities for pupils. I looked forward to collaboration and sharing experience. (M11)

I would expect some new methods ... and the use of ICT in teaching ... what websites, what apps are available now. (M6, IW1)

The expectations of Mentor 7 and Mentor 11 are associated with their own professional development. Generally, while mentoring student teachers, the two mentors expect an enriching experience; they expect to learn innovative approaches, methods, and techniques for ELT as well as to become aware of the ITE context. In addition, the expectations of Mentor 11 are connected to the interpersonal dimension of mentoring. Mentor 6 formulates her expectations, which reflect her own current specific professional needs – given the recent emphasis on the development of learners' digital competence in the Czech curriculum, she expects to learn not only new ELT methods but also to observe some innovative use of ICT in English lessons.

b) expectations coupled with concerns

I didn't have any great expectations, I was just curious who the student teacher would be and about his approach to learning. I was also worried a little whether I would have enough time for both teaching and mentoring. (M1)

I was looking forward to cooperation with a person from the academic setting (...) At the same time, I had some worries whether I would have enough time for mentoring because of my workload. (M12)

Mentor 1 labelled her expectations as curiosity regarding the student teacher and his approach to learning. Her positive expectations were coupled with concerns about the time, i.e. whether mentoring would be manageable together with teaching. Similarly, Mentor 12 shares the same time-related fears, while she is positive about prospective collaboration with a university student.

c) concerns

Maybe I was worried a little because the situation at schools (COVID, quarantine) was not ideal at all and I was considering whether we would manage the practicum online. I was also worried about the mentee's ability to learn, how much time I would spend on mentoring. (M2)

The concerns of Mentor 2 are related not only to the specific situation (the threat of a resurgence of the COVID-19 pandemic) but to the issues already mentioned (the time needed for mentoring). Mentor 2 is well aware of all the burdens of online education during the covid-19 pandemic and, perhaps, envisaged the challenges of doing the practicum online, including the demands in terms of time.

d) expectations not shared

Two mentors (M4, M10) claim having no expectations at all. While Mentor 10 responded *None* and left out the section of the questionnaire blank, Mentor 4 explained that it was her preventive strategy. We can only hypothesise as to their reasons for not sharing their expectations.

To sum up, the mentors express both positive expectations and some concerns about the practicum. The positive expectations, which predominate, are related to a future mentee and prospective collaboration with her/him and to the mentors' own professional development. Some mentors formulate their positive expectations about their future mentees, but, at the same time, couple them with concerns about the time needed for mentoring. Furthermore, one mentor articulates only her apprehensions which she connects with a potential online practicum because of the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic.

Surprisingly, the mentors, irrespective of whether they had some previous mentor training or not, do not mention either expectations or concerns in terms of their mentoring role. Furthermore, the findings show that the mentees, novices in the profession, are expected to stimulate the professional development of their mentors, i.e. experienced teachers.

In addition, the analysis of the mentors' expectations also discloses their reasons for becoming mentors. The interviewees suggest that financial bonuses are not the incentives motivating the teachers to become mentors; there are other driving forces, as the analysis of the mentors' expectations suggests: mission – helping the profession or the ITE institution (*It's important to help the students...* to enable them to do the practicum so that they can try things out in a real school (M6, IW1); *If I don't do it [mentor student teachers], who would?* (M13, IW3); ... being grateful, paying back for university education (M9, IW2)), and recognition of expertise (*I have something to pass on.* (M9, IW2)). The mentors' time-related worries concern the feasibility of teaching and mentoring at the same time; the interviewees suggest that freeing mentors from other duties (e.g. substituting for absent colleagues) would be very welcome. The proposed reform intends to reflect the demands of mentoring discussed above, unfortunately; at the moment it is too early for detailed guidelines to introduce structural changes.

Mentor-mentee relationship

a) initiation - knowing the mentee

I know the student, so I expected good cooperation (M3).

... I knew that the mentee was competent and nice and that it would be a pleasure to cooperate with her ... (M13).

TO BE OR NOT TO BE A GREAT EDUCATOR, 2022

M. ČERNÁ, I. REIMANNOVÁ. Mentors' Perceptions of Supervising Student English Language Teachers..

The relationship between the mentor and the student teacher (often knowing the student as a former pupil or knowing the student's siblings, experience of earlier collaboration with the student, etc.) appears to be a crucial determinant which influences the mentor's decision whether to engage in cooperation with the university. Furthermore, if the mentor knows the student before the practicum starts, i.e. there is already some relationship, she is likely to have positive expectations concerning future collaboration with the student teacher. Interestingly, while the mentor-mentee relationship is in the initiation phase, the former relationship is actually in the redefinition stage from teacher-pupil to mentor-mentee.

In the interview, Mentor 13 said:

I didn't know her [mentee T.], but both mentee K. and Professor S. spoke for her a lot (M13, IW3).

She further explains that student teacher K. was a specific case since she was a former student of the grammar school, with strong bonds with the school. The same mentor did not know student teacher T., who came the following year and, therefore, she was reluctant to accept her. The interventions of student teacher K. and a university tutor helped.

b) initiation - not knowing the mentee

Conversely, not knowing the student teacher is a source of worries for the mentor.

... certainly, partly nervousness about what student will be assigned to me and whether our professional and personal selves will match up (M8).

If the mentor does not know her prospective mentee, she tries to build a mutual relationship with the mentee from the very first moment of their cooperation:

We certainly talked with both, both girls, so that we got to know each other ... to learn about our families a little ... about what made them choose teaching as a profession, whether they really want to teach or not ... (M9, IW2)

The actions taken by Mentor 9 (i.e. initiating contact with the mentee, establishing shared goals, trust, and mutual respect) comply with the initiation stage of the development of the mentor-mentee relationship (Sheridan & Nguyen, 2020).

c) cultivation of the relationship

When being interviewed, Mentor 9 and Mentor 6 described the development of the mentor-mentee relationship:

... with the mentee I think ... when we were meeting more frequently it [the relationship] was getting more and more friendly ... (M6, IW1)

At first you really see the mentee: 'well, a student came to do the practicum' and then it [the relationship] changes, say, alters, transforms into a collegial relationship...suddenly I forget that she is a student teacher, she is a real colleague (M9, IW2)

Mentor 6 exemplifies how the frequency of contact contributes to the development of the relationship to the cultivation phase (Sheridan & Nguyen, 2020). Moreover, Mentor 9 suggests how the relationship is no longer hierarchical, but becomes reciprocal, collegiate, and in fact is redefined from one of mentormentee to one of colleague-colleague. Ambrosetti and Dekkers (2010) argue that in the context of ITE, the relationship follows a developmental pattern within a specified timeframe, which is two semesters in this study. With reference to Bentley et al. (2017), it may be concluded that the length of the practicum in the ELTE study programme at the University of Pardubice is conducive to the development of the mentor-mentee relationship. Moreover, the one mentor-one mentee format of the practicum is also favourable regarding the development of the relationship, unlike the paired format (one mentor with two mentees), which changes the relational dynamics (Jederud et al., 2021). If viewed from the perspective of the proposed reform of ITE in the Czech Republic, the intentions to introduce the paired format of the practicum may impact considerably on the development of the mentor-mentee relationship.

Conclusions

The aim of the study was to investigate mentors' perceptions of their readiness, expectations, and relationships with student teachers during the ELTE one-year teaching practice. The findings of the study are interpreted in the light of the proposed ITE reform in the Czech Republic. We may conclude that introducing structural changes (the length of the practicum, the system of mentoring and mentor training, the faculty and other support for mentors) may bring the expected benefits at the system level. However, there are partial aspects of the reform, namely at the individual level, which need to be reconsidered. They concern the mentor-mentee relationship, which stands at the centre of mentoring. It appears that a former teacher-pupil relationship accelerates, or even enables, initiation and cultivation of the mentor-mentee relationship. From the mentors' perspective, it is professional ethics that urges teachers to engage in mentoring student teachers and, thus, accept shared responsibility for ITE. Also, from the students' perspective, their freedom to nomination of a school/mentor may be beneficial. Having free will to enter the mentor-mentee relationship is significant, though this approach is criticised by the reform, which intends to centralise in-school placements in a lower number of institutions implementing the paired

format of the practicum. However, the mentor-mentee relationship is one that it is difficult or even impossible to develop in the proposed paired practicum format.

REFERENCES

Alter, J., & Coggshall, J. G. (2009). *Teaching as a clinical practice profession: Implications for teacher preparation and state policy*. New York: Comprehensive Center and the National Comprehensive Center on Teacher Quality.

Ambrosetti, A., & Dekkers, J. (2010). The Interconnectedness of the Roles of Mentors and Mentees in Pre-service Teacher Education Mentoring Relationships. *Australian Journal of Teacher Education*, *35*(6), 42–55. http://dx.doi.org/10.14221/ajte.2010v35n6.3

AACTE. (2012). Where We Stand: Clinical Preparation of Teachers. New York: AACTE.

AACTE. (2018). A Pivot Toward Clinical Practice, Its Lexicon, and the Renewal of Educator Preparation. New York: AACTE.

Becher, A., & Orland-Barak, L. (2018). Context Matters: Contextual Factors Informing Mentoring in Art Initial Teacher Education. *Journal of Teacher Education*, 69(5), 477–492.

Bentley, E., Workman, M., & Overby, A. (2017). Being 'adopted' into a teaching community: exploring mentoring relationships in a yearlong field placement. *International Journal of Mentoring and Coaching in Education*, 6(3), 228–241.

Boeije, H. (2002). A purposeful approach to the constant comparative method in the analysis of qualitative interviews. *Quality & Quantity*, *36*(4), 391–409.

Carruthers, J. (1993). The Principle and Practice of Mentoring. In B. J. Caldwell & E. M. A. Carter (Eds.), *The Return of the Mentor* (pp. 9–24). London: The Falmer Press.

Černá, M., Píšová, M., & Vlčková, K. (2017). Vliv klinické zkušenosti na profesní rozvoj studentů učitelství v přípravném vzdělávání učitelů [The impact of clinical experience on the professional development of student teachers]. *Studia paedagogica*, *22*(3), 41–68. https://doi.org/10.5817/SP2017-3-4

Clarke, M., Killeavy, M., & Moloney, A. (2013). The genesis of mentors' professional and personal knowledge about teaching: Perspectives from the Republic of Ireland. *European Journal of Teacher Education*, *36*(3), 364–375.

Creswell, J. W. (1996). Research design. Qualitative and Quantitative Approach. Thousand Oaks: Sage Publications.

Creswell, J. W. (2011). Educational research. Planning, conducting and evaluating quantitative and qualitative research (4th ed.). Boston: Pearson.

Darling-Hammond, L., & Baratz-Snowden, J. (2007). A Good Teacher in Every Classroom: Preparing the Highly Qualified Teachers Our Children Deserve. *Educational Horizons*, *85*(2), 111–132.

Eurydice (2015). The Teaching Profession in Europe: Practices, Perceptions, and Policies. Eurydice Report. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union.

Furlong, J., Barton, L., Miles, S., Whitty, C., & Whiting, G. (2000). *Teacher Education in Transition: Reforming teacher professionalism?* Milton Keynes: Open University Press.

Hoben, N. (2021). Challenges for Mentors in Working with Secondary School Pre-service Teachers. *New Zealand Journal of Educational Studies*, *56*, 41–63.

Hobson, A. J. (2016). Judgementoring and how to avert it: Introducing ONSIDE Mentoring for beginning teachers. *International Journal of Mentoring and Coaching in Education*, 5(2), 87–110.

Hobson, A., Ashby, P., Malderez, A., & Tomlinson, P. (2009). Mentoring Beginning Teachers: What We Know and What We Don't. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, *25*, 207–216. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2008.09.001

Jones, M., & Straker, K. (2006). What informs mentors' practice when working with trainees and newly qualified teachers? An investigation into mentors' professional knowledge base. *Journal of Education for Teaching*, *32*(2), 165–184. https://doi.org/10.1080/02607470600655227

Jederud, S., Rytzler, J., & Lindqvist, P. (2021): Learning to teach as a two-sided endeavor: mentors' perceptions of paired practicum in initial teacher education, *Teaching Education*. https://doi.org/10.1080/10476210.2021.1978967

Lofthouse, R. M. (2018). Re-imagining mentoring as a dynamic hub in the transformation of initial teacher education. The role of mentors and teacher educators. *International Journal of Mentoring and Coaching in Education*, 7(3), 248–260. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJMCE-04-2017-0033

Mackie, L. (2018). Understandings of Mentoring within Initial Teacher Education School Placement Contexts: a Scottish perspective, *Professional Development in Education*, 44(5), 622–637. https://doi.org/10.1080/19415257.2017.1398179

MŠMT. (2017). Rámcové požadavky na studijní programy, jejichž absolvováním se získává odborná kvalifikace k výkonu regulovaných povolání pedagogických pracovníků [Framework for study programmes which qualify graduates to perform regulated professions in education]. Praha: MŠMT.

MŠMT. (2020). Strategy for the Education Policy of the Czech Republic up to 2030 +. Praha: MŠMT.

MŠMT. (2022). *Reforma přípravy učitelů a učitelek v ČR* [The reform of initial teacher education in the Czech Republic]. Praha: MŠMT.

Ofsted. (2017). The Annual Report of Her Majesty's Chief Inspector of Education, Children's Services and Skills 2016/2017. London: Ofsted.

Oppenheim, A. N. (1992). Questionnaire Design, Interviewing and Attitude Measurement. London: Continuum.

Pinnick, S. (2020). Mentoring secondary English trainee teachers: a case study. *English in Education*, 54(3), 251–264. https://doi.org/10.1080/04250494.2020.1777097

Píšová, M. (2005). *Klinický rok: procesy profesního rozvoje studentů učitelství a jejich podpora*. [Clinical year: Processes and support of professional development in student teachers]. Pardubice: Univerzita Pardubice.

Píšová, M., & Duschinská, K. et al. (2011). *Mentoring v učitelství* [Mentoring in teaching]. Praha: Univerzita Karlova.

Reid, J-A. (2011). A practice turn for teacher education? Asia-Pacific Journal of Teacher Education, 39(4), 293–310.

Sheridan, L., & Nguyen, H. T. M. (2020). Operationalizing the mentoring processes as perceived by teacher mentors. *Mentoring & Tutoring: Partnership in Learning, 28*(3), 295–317. https://doi.org/10.1080/13611267.2020.1783499

Shulman, L. S. (1987). Knowledge and teaching: Foundations of the new reform. *Harvard Educational Review*, *57*(1), 1–21.

Wilson, A., & Huynh, M. (2020). Mentor-mentee relationships as anchors for pre service teachers' coping on professional placement. *International Journal of Mentoring and Coaching in Education*, 9(1), 71–86. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJMCE-04-2019-0052

Yeomans, J., & Sampson, R. (Eds.). (1994). *Mentorship in the Primary School*. London: The Falmer Press.

About the authors

Monika Černá works as an English language teacher educator in the Department of English and American Studies, University of Pardubice, Czech Republic. Her research interests include among others initial English language teacher education (teaching practice, mentoring, portfolio), Teaching English as a Foreign Language, and aspects of second language acquisition, more specifically individual histories of learning English.

Irena Reimannová is a member of the Department of English and American Studies at the University of Pardubice. Her research interests include mainly initial English language teacher education (teaching practice, mentoring, student English language teachers' professional knowledge), and Teaching English as a Foreign Language (integration of ICT in ELT).

https://doi.org/10.22364/atee.2022.34

Focusing on Arts Education from the Perspectives of Well-Being

Edgars Vītols¹, Anda Zīsberga²

¹ Jāzeps Vītols Latvian Academy of Music, Latvia

² Andas Rages Dance School "Colour Point", Latvia

ABSTRACT

The place of well-being has been the focus of arts pedagogy and research and practice of lifelong learning for some time. This is because arts education itself is seen as a challenge today, as it is included in performance-oriented curricula. They are based on the contradiction between organizing and maintaining high-quality learning experiences and achievements through a well-being perspective. Within the framework of this research, one of the sub-branches of art pedagogy – dance pedagogy – has been studied. Dance pedagogy has been chosen because, firstly, it still has implications of authoritarian pedagogy in its particular cultural environment, and secondly, dance pedagogy as a component of quality of life and healthy ageing in the context of lifelong learning is beginning to significantly strengthen its place. The purpose of this publication is to identify the components of well-being formation in an adult dance class from the teacher's point of view. This choice of focus was determined by the results of the previous research stage, where one of the criteria of well-being was identified in the dancers' interviews: the personality and professional mastery of the teacher, as well as the still current idea that the vital aspect of art pedagogy is how the teacher conceptualizes the pedagogical process. The respondents were selected during the nomination process, i.e., the candidates were nominated by the dancers and industry professionals themselves. Data were analysed using the qualitative data processing program NVivo 12.0. As a result, the dance teachers' vision of the pedagogical process was identified, which promotes the dancer's well-being, where the following criteria are established as an essential part of the pedagogical process: the student's personality understanding, involvement and preparedness, and psychological knowledge. The results of this research will serve as a basis for the creation of a professional development program for art teachers.

Keywords: art pedagogy, dance pedagogy, lifelong learning, NVivo, well-being

Introduction

Nowadays, the idea of improving one's quality of life through the offered lifelong learning opportunities, which allows to promote well-being both in a social context and by improving one's personality, maintains its relevance. This discussion becomes especially relevant in the context of the consumer society, since consumption is positioned as a space of experience, both present and surrounded by the modern person, in which he forms his own attitudes towards himself, others and the world (Medne et al., 2018). Most people take a proactive approach to healthy lifestyle; the global pandemic has increased attention to the latest health and wellness trends, in the context of which the cult of the body and a healthy lifestyle often exhibit an unhealthy interpretation. Therefore, in exhibiting well-being, it is important to be aware of the possibility that wellbeing, becoming a topical subject, involves the risk of becoming a commodity (Manchanda, 2017). Well-being is a sustainable condition that allows a person to live and develop qualitatively. Therefore, in many sectors, well-being in theoretical concepts becomes the subject of research (Zīsberga, 2022).

The place of well-being has also been the focus of arts pedagogy and research and practice of lifelong learning for some time. This is because art education itself is nowadays seen as a challenge, as it is looked after by Performance-Orientated curricula. Challenges are based on the contradiction between highquality learning experiences and the organisation and maintenance of achievements through a well-being perspective. It is emphasized that the time has come to move beyond the perspective of defining quality, which focuses on policies that create the conditions for high-quality arts programmes, instead of using the perspective of experience, which focuses on the learning experience of students. This change of focus prioritizes student learning as the essence — the compass and measure of each art learning experience (Seidel et al., 2009).

Regular physical activity is important at all ages for people who want to promote their well-being. Within the framework of this research, one of the sub-branches of art pedagogy – dance pedagogy – has been studied. Csikszentmihalyi (1978) has already emphasized that artistic activities and experience in them are important for phylogenetic and ontogenetic development. Even nowadays, it is more often emphasized that self-expression is topical throughout life, and dance classes for adults are one of the possibilities of self-fulfilment (York-Pryce, 2014). Arts pedagogy increasingly emphasizes not only the level of abilities and skills, but also the importance of processes that occur mentally (Muceniece et al., 2021. Within the framework of this research, dance pedagogy has been chosen because, firstly, it still has implications of authoritarian pedagogy in the particular cultural environment (Latvia), and secondly, dance pedagogy as a component of quality life and healthy ageing in the context of lifelong learning is beginning to significantly strengthen its place. The purpose

of this publication is to identify the components of well-being formation in an adult dance class from the teacher's point of view. Such a choice of focus was determined by the results of the previous research stage (Zīsberga, 2022), where one of the criteria of well-being was identified in the dancers' interviews: the personality and professional mastery of the teacher, as well as the still current idea that the vital aspect of art pedagogy is how the teacher conceptualizes the pedagogical process. At this stage of the research, it was concluded that a dance teacher is an essential component in promoting dancers' well-being. However, scientific research highlights that the relationship between students and teachers in adult education has not been sufficiently studied (Hagenauer & Volet, 2014). The study of teachers' vision was chosen because it is considered a powerful tool for understanding teachers' work experience (Hammerness, 2004). The vision can serve as a guide for managing pedagogical practice, as well as means of assessing how far teachers can deviate from their ideals. Exploring it can help explain what assumptions teachers make; what they know about their assumptions; the pretexts why and how they can choose to change their practice; and even whether or not they choose to remain in the profession. It is a powerful tool to help teachers discover and identify their views and new approaches to promising new practices (Hammerness, 2001). In the context of higher education, it is emphasized that teachers have a great potential to promote students' emotional well-being by using learning innovations and consciously creating the learning environment (Baik et al., 2017). Based on the findings that the teacher's personality and professional mastery, as well as the current idea that a vital aspect in art pedagogy is how the teacher sees the pedagogical process (Siddins, 2021; Medne & Jansone-Ratinika, 2019), the perspective of the teacher was determined as the focus of the further research. The aim of this study was to identify how dance teachers themselves interpret the pedagogical focus of the dance class.

Methodology

To achieve the aim of the research, phenomenological research design was chosen, because phenomenology investigates the nature of experience, revealing how complex meaning or networks of meanings are formed from simple units of direct experiences. The main objective of such research is to reduce individual experience to a description of its universal nature – within the framework of this research: the content scope of the teacher's vision.

Sample. The type of sample chosen to achieve the objective of the study: purposive sampling (Cohen et al., 2007). The research sample consisted of 10 respondents – experts; the sample was selected during the nomination process, namely, the candidates were nominated by students and industry professionals.

Each expert was contacted individually by telephone. The nominated experts represented the following dance styles: classical dance (n = 6) and contemporary dance (n = 4). Work experience in both groups: 15–20 years (n = 5); 21–25 years (n = 1); 26–30 years (n = 2); 31–35 years (n = 1); 36–40 years (n = 1); 41–45 years (n = 1).

Research ethics. The study was conducted in accordance with the ethical aspects of the research, and consent was obtained from the experts. At the beginning of the interviews, the interviewer provided information about the study, inviting participants to participate in the study on a voluntary basis. Study participants were informed that they were entitled to stop participating in the study at any time. During the interviews, information that could allow the identification of respondents was not asked, the interviews were coded and then transcribed anonymously. After transcribing, the audio files of the interviews were deleted.

Data analysis and synthesis were performed according to the type of narrative synthesis, which included three consecutive steps:

- 1) defined logical categories,
- 2) analysed data from each obtained category,
- 3) synthesized questions about all included logical categories (Petticrew & Roberts, 2006).

Results

Inductive coding (identification of topics and contexts by assigning code to the relevant passage of text) was used to identify the vision of teachers. During inductive coding, 25 codes were identified and defined: support (identified in all interviews, 114 times in total); *feedback* (identified in 9 out of 10 interviews, 63 times in total); relationship (identified in all interviews, 151 times in total); emotional intelligence (identified in all interviews, 115 times in total); humour (identified in all interviews, 43 times in total); encouragement (identified in all interviews, 78 times in total); individual approach (identified in all interviews, 200 times in total); student's individual success (identified in 9 out of 10 interviews, 61 times in total); *interest* (identified in all interviews, 56 times in total); competence (identified in all interviews, 202 times in total); communication (identified in 9 out of 10 interviews, 182 times in total); balancing (identified in all interviews, 131 times in total); teacher's activity (identified in all interviews, 77 times in total); teacher's involvement (identified in all interviews, 199 times in total); *teacher's personality* (identified in all interviews, 139 times in total); experience (identified in all interviews, 99 times in total); positivity (identified in all interviews, 159 times in total); knowledge of psychology (identified in 9 out of 10 interviews, 69 times in total); result (identified in all interviews, 175 times in total); optimal use of one's resources (consciously) (identified in 9 out of 10 interviews, 33 times in total); use of one's resources (unconsciously) (identified in 8 out of 10 interviews, 13 times in total); self-awareness (identified in all interviews, 103 times in total); ability to overcome difficulties (identified in all interviews, 91 times in total); trust in the student (identified in all interviews, 37 times in total); knowledge (identified in all interviews, 95 times in total).

The results of the code frequencies obtained in the study show that the interviews broadly and in detail describe the aspects characterizing the relationship, individual approach, the competence of the teacher, the results, the involvement of the teacher, positivity, and communication. Certain codes, such as trust in the student, optimal use of one's resources, humour, are used less frequently. This can be explained by the intention of the authors of the study to use as many different codes as possible at the beginning of the analysis in order to describe the different indicators of teacher's vision in more detail and breadth. Therefore, in the initial phase, the most complete list of open codes was developed, covering the entire range of topics described in the publications. At a later stage of coding, they were combined in meaningful broader codes, because the program NVivo allows you to group meaningful similar codes into hierarchical codes. In other words, inductive coding was followed by hierarchical coding, which was necessary in order to combine codes related in meaning. Therefore, the program analysed the code ranges (according to the codes) using Jaccard's coefficient. As a result, the relationship between the open and hierarchical codes linked to each other was obtained and three hierarchical codes were identified.

By summarizing the codes identified by each expert in the interviews, the consistency of the expert opinions was examined using the Kendall concordance coefficient (with the Kendall W (tau_c) test in the SPSS Statistics Trial program). The coefficient shall reflect how similar the peers have used each code and how close the peer reviews are to each other (code frequency for interviews). If there is a high degree of convergence of views, then it can be considered that all experts have accentuated each code equally frequently and that their overall assessment is close to the true one (Legendre, 2010). The concordance coefficient ranges from 0 to 1, so closer it is to one, the greater the coherence between expert opinions. It can be concluded that the opinions of the experts of this study in all code interpolations range from 0.699 (code *teacher's involvement*) to 0.989 (code *positivity*), so all the codes are close to 1 and thus should be interpreted so that there is a correlation between the expert assessments for all the codes. The relationship between open and hierarchical codes and the concordance coefficient for each code are shown in Table 1.

Hierarchical codes	Subcodes	Number of interviews	Number of codes	Kendall's W (tau_c) test
Student's	Support	10	114	0.786
self-efficacy	Encouragement	10	78	0.816
	Individual approach	10	200	0.781
	Individual success (student's)	9	61	0.831
	Interest	10	56	0.921
	Balancing	10	131	0.887
	Result	10	175	0.797
	Optimal use of one's resources	9	33	0.891
	Ability to overcome difficulties	10	91	0.883
	Trust in the student	10	37	0.795
Personal	Emotional intelligence	10	115	0.858
self-efficacy	Humour	10	43	0.879
	Competence	10	202	0.799
	Teacher's personality	10	139	0.891
	Experience	10	99	0.865
	Positivity	10	159	0.989
	Knowledge of psychology	9	69	0.901
	Use of one's resources	8	13	0.799
	Self-awareness	10	103	0.889
	Knowledge	10	95	0.901
Cooperation	Feedback	9	63	0.779
	Relationship	10	151	0.859
	Communication	9	182	0.897
	Teacher's activity	10	77	0.799
	Teacher's involvement	10	199	0.699

Table 1. Hierarchical and open codes identified in interviews

To determine the content framework for the teacher's vision, an action was performed in the programme that allows you to determine the distribution and succession of the most common code interrelationships. The program set up a scheme reflecting interrelationships in thematic blocks, the order of which is in accordance with their interdependencies. The results refer to the three blocks of code interrelationships, where the order of the codes indicates their relationship, as well as the subordination between them and the succession. When analysing the interrelationship of codes in each of the three blocks, the subject of their content was initially formulated as the personal effectiveness of the teacher and the effectiveness of the student, however, continuing with the analysis it leads to the conclusion that the content of each block corresponds to the explanation of the concept of self-efficacy of Bandura (1995), namely, self-efficacy influences

what a person chooses to do, how much effort is made to achieve it, how persistent he is in facing difficulties, how complex the objectives are, therefore the code blocks are redefined as the teacher's self-efficacy, students' self-efficacy and cooperation.

The obtained results indicate the three blocks of code interrelationships: teacher's self-efficacy, student's self-efficacy and cooperation, which also coincides with the results of the cluster analysis results. The Teacher's Self-Efficacy Block consists of two sub-code blocks: Competence and Positivity, where Competence is related to the codes Teacher's personality and Emotional intelligence. Code Positivity is associated with codes Emotional intelligence and Self-awareness. Code Teacher's personality is related to codes Experience and Knowledge (as equally significant for symmetric sizes). On the other hand, code Emotional intelligence creates connections with codes Experience and Knowledge, Knowledge of psychology and Humour. Code Self-awareness is linked to code Emotional intelligence, Knowledge of psychology, which in turn is linked to codes Humour and Optimal use of one's resources. Analysing the results obtained, it can be explained that teachers, using professional competence in their work, promote positivity in dance classes, which respondent S formulates as follows: you have to be kind and positive to all those people, if they have come to you, because they want to come to you and do it, and respondent L describes it as follows: I really care what happens to those people. I always say, if you go out of the dance class more satisfied, happier or have discovered something, then I've done my job. The results allow to conclude that the relationship of the teacher's personality code with the codes Competence, Positivity, Emotional intelligence and Experience is identifiable. In order for positivity to be formed in dance classes, experts emphasize the importance of emotional intelligence, because for each person positivity is formed as a result of subjective perception, and the teacher's ability to perceive this set of subjective needs is a direct manifestation of emotional intelligence, through which, using professional competence, appropriate tools are sought to work productively with students. Respondent S describes it as follows: there is very, very nuanced work to be done there, while Respondent Z describes it as follows: You have to feel it very delicately. It's such an extremely subtle thing, but the respondent O describes it like this: because we read people more, instantaneously, because we speak on a different level. The code Experience and the code Knowledge are also clearly interrelated. Experts emphasize that it is the experience that determines the choice of the type and method of knowledge application in specific situations, which respondent Z describes as follows: absolutely technical knowledge and know things. Know the subject. In turn, respondent B describes it as: that's my path of knowledge, as far as I can, let's say, come up with more. How else to explain, how else to show it so that they would, let's say, understand. The code Humour was used by respondents individually, according to their pedagogical vision and their personality, but the results

show the relationship with the codes Optimal use of one's resources, Knowledge of psychology and Knowledge. It can be concluded that humour is often used as an instrument within the framework of professional competence, which promotes both the creation of a social atmosphere and the development of positivity, as an instrument for overcoming difficulties, and as a communication tool, which respondent R characterizes as very important. I think it's easy to teach. Not to make the heavy load even heavier. It's this sense of humour that helps, while respondent X describes it as: of the people who come, they say they like that kind of humour, but respondent G emphasises that: it somehow attracts, it's a personality with a sense of humour, it attracts, it encourages, it creates that positive field around that teacher. Code Knowledge of psychology, is related to codes Self-awareness, Optimal use of one's resources, Experience, which could be explained that in pedagogical work with the student the professional assessment of the student's resources is essential, and using experience and knowledge of psychology as a working tool, often using humour, it is possible to promote positivity, which respondent R describes as follows: The smallest thing you see, then you have to say, then you have to praise, and so, that person, first of all, he feels appreciated, noticed, and gradually he collects, let's say his own set of strong sides, which he might also be aware of, and the respondent S emphasizes this as follows: I have always said that the teacher should be more of a psychologist than a teacher, the psychological thought is the main thing for us. Because the subconscious is working for you all the time, while the respondent L emphasizes it as follows: essentially, through dancing, I want to bring a person closer to himself. Let him understand who he is, and so if you understand what you're doing in dancing, you can dance well.

The student's self-efficacy block consists of two subcode blocks: individual approach and result. Code Individual approach is linked to code Balancing, which is linked to two codes: code Ability to overcome difficulties and code Individual success. Code Ability to overcome difficulties is linked to code Encouragement. Code Individual success is linked to code Trust in the student. Code Result is linked to code Support which is linked to codes Individual success and Interest. Code Interest is linked to code Trust in the student. In turn, code Interest is linked to code Use of one's resources. The results obtained can be explained that balancing is an essential pedagogical tool that can effectively achieve results and goals. It is important to realize that students set most of the goals according to their individual subjective vision of life, according to which an individual approach is required, which is also repeatedly emphasized by the experts in the interviews, for example, the respondent O describes it as follows: individual work with him. And then we see the result. In ballet, unfortunately, in ballet school, it can't, it's not, I, I really, I've been talking about it for twenty years. (We) need to change the system if we want to raise stars. If we want to raise Corps de ballet, then nothing needs to change, or for example, respondent G describes it as follows: in my opinion, (it's) individual work,

really, understanding. I see the questions for the specific person there again, and then, applying, from the answers I hear, I can again understand how I act, how I speak, what tasks I give him, but the respondent L describes it as follows: all dance teachers are probably also therapists, and we work one-on-one, but respondent S emphasizes it as follows: how much everyone wants it, whether he wants it for himself, whether he wants to know (the subject) more deeply or... I look and try, I try to approach each one individually. Also visible is the code Balancing relation with codes Ability to overcome difficulties and Support, which could be explained by the previously analysed theory of individual dynamic balance of well-being content, which is based on the opinion that in order to regain balance (homeostasis), a person has to match his/her resources with a challenge, and the teacher is this balancing factor, which, with his/her support and encouragement, promotes the ability to overcome difficulties and challenges, which in turn contributes to the student's achievement, development and growth, which the respondent S defined as follows: everything depends on the thinking how deeply he/she approaches the process. Those who enter superficially will not want to change anything either. But person who goes deeper, he's ready for various changes, but the respondent R describes it as follows, also highlighting the risk of burnout in the work of the teacher: with such kind of human attention. And there, too, care must be taken so that the same teacher does not leave with them. Because it's not easy either. Raise your energy, understand your competence frameworks, somehow and don't take on more than you are capable of. In order to successfully balance the pedagogical process, experts, as one of the approaches, choose an individual approach that logically provides cooperation between the teacher and the student, therefore, when analysing the relationship between the codes, a third thematic block of codes was logically formed: Cooperation, which is linked to both other thematic blocks: Teacher's self-efficacy and Student's self-efficacy. Code block Teacher's self-efficacy is linked to code Teacher's engagement and Communication, where code Communication is linked to code Relationship. In turn, code block Student's self-efficacy is linked to codes Communication, Relationships, Teacher's activity and Feedback. When explaining the obtained results, one can see the central role of communication in the ability of the teacher to form a relationship with the student, the intensity of this relationship is formed from the level of teacher's involvement, as well as the formation of feedback. Experts choose communication as a tool to balance the process, to promote the formation of well-being, which respondent I explains as follows: also to say how, let's say, what is the goal you want to achieve, and then if they say, well, in order to achieve it, then you have to do this and that, or respondent X explains as follows: with communication I can help, it works or respondent S describes it as follows: to show visually what it looks like, then to try to talk it over with him, see we will have to work more on this, less on that, as well as to be able to adapt the pedagogical work as effectively as possible for each student individually, which

respondent L explains as follows: either they have different goals and we try to talk about those goals, I ask them questions, or respondent R describes it as follows: it always allows you to go in some depth, and also to communicate much more in such intangible categories, which are those human things, which is all this mutual chemistry here. Code Communication links previously analysed code blocks, and interacts with the largest amount of codes in the obtained results.

The program performed code mapping to triangulate the results. The mapping was done by aligning each hierarchical code to its subcodes. Choosing this mapping type shows the relationship between hierarchical codes and classifiers, as well as the relationship between subcodes. The mapping results lead to the conclusion that the hierarchical codes and subcodes are interrelated and can be used to identify and monitor the vision of the teacher. However, its further use would require verification of internal coherence and reliability on a statistical basis.

Discussion

After evaluating the results of the research, it can be concluded that in the dance class for adult students the well-being is formed as a direct and purposefully directed action of the teacher, which is determined by the vision of the teacher. The pedagogical approach defined in the teacher's competence is used in the dance class as a tool to balance student's resources and overcome challenges. Thus, it can be assumed that the teacher is the balancing component in the student's individual resource - challenge - dynamic balance system. The pedagogical activity of the teacher is the balancing component of the student's resources and challenges, which, with support and encouragement, contributes to the student's ability to overcome difficulties and challenges, which in turn contributes to the achievement of the student's goals, development, and growth. Thus, the basic relationship: the vision of the teacher – the student's well-being in its current, general and individual scope - can be seen as an interaction between challenges and resources for both the teacher and the students. Thus, a dance class in the context of lifelong learning can be seen as both a space for experience and an opportunity.

In turn, the cooperation between the student and the teacher is both a pedagogical background and a pedagogical technique that promotes the development of the students' well-being in the dance class.

The teacher's self-efficacy is directly related to his/her pedagogical vision and the use of individual pedagogical tools. These conclusions are consistent with the results of other studies, which conclude that the pedagogical mastery of the teacher is what determines both the well-being and professional development of the students (Medne, 2022).

Conclusions

This study looks at the vision of dance teachers in the context of lifelong learning as a means of research based on art. The aim of the study was to identify the pedagogical techniques of experts identified during the nomination process that contribute to the well-being of students. The study analysed 10 interviews and identified 25 codes: support, feedback, relationships, emotional intelligence, humour, encouragement, individual approach, student's individual success, interest, competence, communication, balancing, teacher's activity, teacher's personality, experience, positivity, knowledge of psychology, result, optimal use of one's resources, self-awareness, ability to overcome difficulties, trust in the student, knowledge. Three thematic circles were identified in the interviews:

- 1) it is the social and professional role of the teacher that is leading the construction of the student's well-being and acts as the organizer and promoter of this construction,
- 2) the knowledge of psychology is identified as an essential resource, and
- 3) the professional vision of the teacher determines his/her pedagogical approach.

This research was carried out in the dance teacher population of Latvia, common topics were identified in the interviews and coherence of views was established, however, it would not be correct to generalize the results of this research to the wider dance teacher community. Thus, the secondary discussion of the research is more about the identification of teaching methods to promote the well-being of students than the repetition of specific discoveries.

REFERENCES

Baik, C., Larcombe, W., Brooker A., Wyn, J., Allen, L., Brett, M., Field, R., & James, R. (2017). Enhancing Student Mental Wellbeing. *A Handbook for Academic Educators*. https:// melbourne-cshe.unimelb.edu.au/_data/assets/pdf_file/0006/2408604/MCSHE-Student-Wellbeing-Handbook-FINAL.pdf

Bandura, A. (1995). Exercise of personal and collective efficacy in changing societies. In A. Bandura (Eds.), *Self- efficacy in changing societies*.

Cohen, L., Manion, L., & Morrison, K. (2007). *Research Methods in Education*. Routledge Taylor & Francis Group. https://islmblogblog.files.wordpress.com/2016/05/rme-edu-helpline-blogspot-com.pdf

Csikszentmihalyi, M. (1978). Phylogenetic and Ontogenetic Functions of Artistic Cognition. In S. S. Madeja (Eds.), *The Arts, Cognition, and Basic Skills*.

Hagenauer, G., & Volet, S. E. (2014). Teacher-student relationship at university: an important yet under-researched field. *Review of Education*, 40(3), 370–388. https://doi.org/10.1080/03054985.2014.921613

Hammerness, K. (2001). Teachers' Visions: The Role of Personal Ideals in School Reform. *Journal of Educational Change*, *2*, 143–163. https://link.springer.com/article /10.1023/A:1017961615264

Hammerness, K. (2004). Teaching with vision: How one teacher negotiates the tension between high ideals and standardized testing. *Project: Studies of Teachers' Visions*. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/313503875_Teaching_with_vision_How_one_teacher_negotiates the tension between high ideals and standardized_testing

Legendre, P. (2010). Coefficient of concordance. *Encyclopaedia of Research Design*, (1). In J. Salkind (Eds.). SAGE Publications, Inc.

Manchanda, R. (2017). Consumer well-being – Contemporary conceptualization. *Indian Journal of Economics and Development*, 5(1). https://www.researchgate.net/publication/314948890_Consumer_well-being_-Contemporary_conceptualization

Medne, D. (2022). Situation Simulation as a Pedagogical Method in Teacher Education. *Rural Environment. Education. Personality.* (REEP) Proceedings of the 15th International Scientific Conference No. 15. Latvia University of Life Sciences and Technologies Jelgava, Latvia. https://doi.org/10.22616/REEP.2022.15.012

Medne, D., & Jansone Ratinika N. (2019). Professional Mastery of Academics in Higher Education: The Case of Latvia. *Innovations, Technologies and Research in Education, 2019,* 718, 591–600. https://www.apgads.lu.lv/fileadmin/user_upload/lu_portal/apgads/PDF/ATEE-2019-ITRE/Book_itre-2019.pdf

Medne, D., Jansone-Ratinika, N., & Dinka I. (2018). Narratives of Consumerism in Parenting: Perspective of the Magazine "My Baby". *Innovations, Technologied and Research in Education.* Cambridge Scholars Publishing, pp. 310–323. https://www.cambridgescholars. com/resources/pdfs/978-1-5275-0622-0-sample.pdf

Muceniece, L., Medne, D., & Gintere, Ē. (2021). Pedagogical Potential of Mental Practice in Teaching Brass Instruments at University. In L. Daniela (Eds.), *Human, Technologies and Quality of Education, 2021*, 1148. Riga, University of Latvia. https://doi.org/10.22364/httqe.2021.77

Petticrew, M., & Roberts, H. (2006). *Systematic reviews in the social sciences. A practical guide.* London: Blackwell Publishing. https://fcsalud.ua.es/en/portal-de-investigacion/documentos/ tools-for-the-bibliographic-research/guide-of-systematic-reviews-in-social-sciences.pdf

Seidel, S., Tishman, S., Winner, E., Hetland, L., & Palmer, P. (2009). *The Qualities of Quality Understanding Excellence in Arts Education. Project Zero.* https://www.wallacefoundation.org/knowledge-center/Documents/Understanding-Excellence-in-Arts-Education.pdf

Siddins, E. (2021). The Visual Arts Wellbeing Project: A Wellbeing Needs Assessment of Visual Art Students in Australian Universities. *Thesis for: Doctor of Philosophy, Creative Arts.* https://www.researchgate.net/publication/356491900_The_Visual_Arts_Wellbeing_Project_A_Wellbeing_Needs_Assessment_of_Visual_Art_Students_in_Australian_Universities

York-Pryce, S. (2014). Ageism and the Mature Dancer. Conference: time space & the body. *Mansfield College Oxford University UK. Project: Ageism and the Mature Dancer*. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/298787187_Ageism_and_the_Mature_Dancer

Zīsberga, A. (2022). The concept of a dance class to promote the well-being of adults. *Society. Integration. Education. Proceedings of the International Scientific Conference* 1, 865–876. http://journals.rta.lv/index.php/SIE/article/view/6835/5743

About the authors

Edgars Vītols is an assistant professor at the Jāzepa Vītola Academy of Music of Latvia, Department of Art Pedagogy and choir conductor.

Anda Zīsberga is a master's student at Liepāja University, a dance teacher.

https://doi.org/10.22364/atee.2022.35

Rubrics as a Tool for Objective Assessment in Art Education

Austra Avotina, Valeria Froloviceva

Faculty of Education, Psychology and Art of University of Latvia, Riga, Latvia austra.avotina@lu.lv; valerija.froloviceva@gmail.com

ABSTRACT

The paper describes the importance of a rubric as an assessment tool in art education. The assessment of a work of art, for example, a landscape or a portrait painting usually consists of a combination of objective information and a subjective point of view, which makes it difficult for educators to assess students' learning outcomes. The use of rubrics is considered an innovative way for educators not only to measure the student's comprehension and skills but also as a teaching method to increase learners' engagement in order to bring the creation of art to the forefront of the learning process within school art education.

The relevance of the subject of this paper is defined by the changes in the evaluation system during the ongoing education reform in Latvia. The rubric, as an assessment tool in Latvia, was first introduced in 2020 as a part of the reform of the school curriculum. Rubrics for creative art assignments observe the main stages of the learning process, including sketching, expression of original ideas, creative work, documentation of the creation process and self-evaluation. It can be used for both, summative and formative assessments of learning outcomes. The criteria are based on the Common European Framework of Reference for Visual Literacy which was developed by The European Network of Visual Literacy. Therefore, the research aim is to determine the optimal way to evaluate students' work in art lessons within the framework of school art education.

The research involved two stages of data collection. During the first stage (2021) there was conducted a survey of 60 Latvian secondary school teachers that identified several problematic issues concerning the evaluation criteria. In the second stage (2022) the in-depth analysis was performed to investigate the connection between the feedback from educational practice and recommended rubrics in new curricula.

Keywords: art education, assessment, formal education, rubric, analytical rubric, learning process

Introduction

For several years now, large-scale reforms of curricula, instruction design and assessment system have been carried out around the world in order to prepare the children most efficiently for the higher education, requirements of life and work in the 21st century (Darling-Hammond, 2012). By rethinking the role of assessment in the learning process, student assessment has gained new meaning and importance. Current educational guidelines state that assessment is done not only by the teacher, but also by the students themselves. Students use assessment criteria to improve learning, set learning goals and track their performance. In this way, they are aware of their level of skills and knowledge precisely because they are informed of how the judgments about their learning outcomes are made (Gardner et al., 2014). The curriculum was also revised in Latvia, at all levels of education, implementing a competency-based approach. Thus, the questions are rising about the assessment practice and its role in the learning process in all school subjects, including art education.

Due to the educational reform implemented in Latvia, two types of assessment are used in the current school evaluation system: formative and summative. The formative assessment is used to assess student performance on a daily basis, and it can be documented in percentage or levels, while a 10-point scale is used for final or summative assessment starting from the third grade. Both types of assessment are implemented together in correlation with the student achievement at four levels (beginning, developing, accomplished, exemplary), which are defined by specific learning objectives in each subject. In order to determine the achievements of students by level, the rubric as an evaluation tool was introduced in Latvia for the first time in 2020 as part of the school curriculum reform.

Therefore, the purpose of this research is to determine the optimal way to assess students' work in art lessons within the framework of school art education. In accordance with the aim of the study, two research questions have arisen:

- 1) How to evaluate art in formal education?
- 2) Are teachers receiving sufficient support to understand and acquire the necessary skills to master the use of the new assessment tool?

Problematics of art assessment within the framework of school education

"Art is eccentric, emotional, touchy-feely. Assessment is mainstream, scientific, rigorous." (Soep, 2005, p. 39). This observation was relevant around a decade ago and remains relevant today (Soep, 2005; Douglas, 2012; Burnard, 2011; McArdle & Wright, 2014), and it accurately describes why evaluating a study work of art is quite a difficult task. Teachers are still confronted with the fact that the mastery in the arts within the framework of school education is not easy to assess, as for too many teachers art and assessment may seem contradictory as "the first is free and expressive, while the second is calculating and institutionalized" (Soep, 2005, p. 40).

The difficulties to assess students' work in art lessons may be as follows:

- the evaluation of a work of art usually consists of a combination of objective information, such as mastery of a particular technique and the number of sketches required, as well as more subjective information, such as points of view or perceptions of originality (McArdle & Wright, 2014);
- each student makes his personal creative path, develops and performs in different ways (Hobdell, 2014);
- there are opinions that too strict criteria and focus on evaluation can negatively affect the student's creative work, interrupt self-expression and experience of his personal creative process (Douglas, 2012).

Although expression in art is difficult to measure and evaluate, assessment plays an important role in the learning process. It could be used to communicate what is expected of a particular learning experience, so that the learner has clear information about the aims and outcomes of the learning process and understands how their achievement will be assessed (Gardner et al., 2014). Furthermore, the school education system determines the need to monitor and evaluate students' knowledge and skills in all subjects, so it is necessary to find an objective way to evaluate students' achievements in art curricula as well (Douglas, 2012). And the evaluation strategy must be designed so that every student, teacher and school administration can be confident about the validity of the results, teacher must be able to explain and justify his opinion about the students' achievements (Black & Wiliam, 2012; Binkley et al., 2012; Hoge & Butcher, 2014).

Rubric as an assessment tool

The rubric as an assessment tool in pedagogical practice was introduced in a language classroom to analyse writing in 1912 (Brooks, 2013). It is defined as "a scoring tool for qualitative rating of authentic or complex student work." (Jonsson & Svingby, 2007, p. 131), which also corresponds to the work of students in art classes, the focus of which is on the development of students' creative abilities, their originality and innovative thinking (Burnard, 2011).

The rubric was created to reduce the teacher's personal, subjective opinion when evaluating the student's achievements. The subjective view on the quality of the students' work made the assessment unclear and imprecise, as it depended on the opinion of a specific individual (teacher). For this reason, the need of an objective evaluation tool was expressed, which would be unambiguous, transparent, and clear to all involved in the learning process and would not depend on the opinion of one individual (Noyes, 1912 in Turley & Gallagher, 2008).

Rubric splits a task into its components and goals and gives a detailed description of the acceptable and unacceptable level of performance for each criterion (Stevens & Levi, 2005). It helps to assess the quality, creativity, and conceptual basis of the work, defines what is expected, how it will be assessed, and provides an overview of the criteria that determine whether the required level of knowledge and skills has been achieved (Whitton, 2015). There are two main types of rubrics for evaluating the final product (Luft, 1997; Whitton, 2015):

- 1) holistic rubric evaluates several criteria together;
- 2) analytical rubric evaluates the criteria, which are subdivided into sub-criteria, providing detailed information and guidance to the student and teacher on how to develop the necessary knowledge and skills.

Analytical type assessment rubric is considered in current research because this type of rubric was introduced as an assessment tool in Latvia as part of the school curriculum reform in 2020.

Methodology

In order to investigate the problematic issues outlined in introduction part about the art assessment within the framework of school education, two following research methods were used:

- 1) an online questionnaire surveys of Latvian secondary school teachers, which was conducted in two stages;
- 2) participants' observation during the teacher professional development program "Evaluation of Creative Works in the Art in School Education".

Each online questionnaire survey was designed with its own purpose and included a different set of questions. In the first stage, the purpose of the survey was to determine the situation at the initial stage of the implementation of the reform ideas, when teachers were introduced to the evaluation rubric as a new tool for evaluating student achievements. The survey was conducted in 2021, where 60 teachers took part in, who participated in education courses organized by the Latvian State Education Centre in 2021 received an individual e-mail with an invitation to participate in a survey about the experience of teaching visual arts and the evaluation process in elementary school. The purpose of this questionnaire was to understand the opinion of Latvian school teachers towards the evaluation of works of art. The questionnaire consisted of 18 questions, which were divided into three groups: the first part was about the structure of the learning process (number of assessments and topics); the second part of the questionnaire contained questions about the principles of evaluation and student involvement in the formulation of criteria, and in the third part, teachers had the opportunity to freely express ideas and suggestions for the evaluation of creative works.

Further, during the second stage of the survey in 2022, an in-depth analysis of the problematic issues of assessment was conducted, where 77 teachers participated. Teachers were approached in two ways:

1) individually via e-mail with a request to participate in the study and fill out the survey;

2) in the social network *Facebook*, addressing Latvian school teachers to participate in the study.

As a result, 54 completed questionnaires were received from the individually addressed teachers, while 23 questionnaires were received from the *Facebook* community of teachers. The purpose of this questionnaire was to examine the experience of teachers in using the assessment rubric and to identify the challenges teachers faced in implementing the new assessment tool in art classes. Therefore, the survey questions were focused directly on the rubric, the criteria of the rubric and the objectivity of the assessment. The questionnaire consisted of 17 closed-ended questions, which were divided into two groups:

- the first part consisted of general questions about teachers' work experience as visual art teachers, and assessment practices in everyday classroom work;
- 2) the second part of the questionnaire contained questions about the use of rubric as an assessment tool while evaluating students' works.

After the seconds survey in 2022, the participant observation was conducted during the Teacher professional development program "Evaluation of Creative Works in the Art in School Education" in August 2022. The purpose of the program was to improve teachers, skills to plan an effective creative process and to evaluate students, works of art according to the specifics of the subject. The total duration of the program was 36 hours with participation of 25 teachers of visual arts from general and professional schools. In this stage of the research, the experience of teachers in applying the rubric as an assessment tool, as well as a teaching and learning method, was described by collecting teachers' statements and insights from three phases of training: firstly, during the open discussion in the introductory part, secondly, in the rubric creation workshop and finally in the reflection part at the end of the courses. Thus, the purpose of the participant observation was to get acquainted with the skills of teachers in creating a rubric and to identify the main problems that teachers face in this process.

Results

The results of each stage of the study are described in a separate subsection, to facilitate a better overview of the progress of the study and highlight the most important key considerations.

The first-round questionnaire

A brief survey was conducted in 2021, to acknowledge the attitude of Latvian school teachers towards the evaluation of study works of art. It was completed by 60 visual arts teachers. The selection of teachers for this survey can be considered

an expert survey because structurally they were teachers with more than 10 years of experience as visual arts teachers (70%), who received professional education at the Faculty of Pedagogy, Psychology and Art of the Republic of Latvia. University of Latvia (65%) and Latvian Academy of Arts (20%). The survey was anonymous.

In the first part of the questionnaire, 65% of respondents stated that they give 2 to 4 summative assessments per semester, 30% give 5 to 6 assessments and 5% noted that they give 7 assessments per semester, performing both finished work and half-finished work and also sketch evaluation, depending on the situation.

In the second part of the survey, it can be concluded that out of 60 teachers, only 22 participate in the evaluation process together with the students, which indicates a procedural problem, such as lack of time. 8 teachers indicate that they give the assessment individually in a conversation with each student, and 6 that they give the assessment only in written form. When commenting on the importance of evaluations, answers about the assessment of skills dominate (mentioned 48 times), and the level of creativity is almost equally important (mentioned 44 times). This means that the findings of the theory fixed at the beginning of the article will be confirmed. It is also possible to evaluate personal effort (mentioned 34 times), process quality (mentioned 43 times) and knowledge (mentioned 32 times). When answering why assessment is needed in the visual arts, only a few teachers admit that "so that the student can better see his own growth" and "understand the basic principles of art". However, the favorite topic is "ornament in national culture", which shows that it is easier to create a rubric for such a topic related to precision and structure.

In general, 80% of respondents indicated that assessment in art subjects is necessary. However, 20% of respondents stated that they do not consider the necessity to evaluate student artworks. Their responses consisted of statements such as "Creative work should not be evaluated", "Art should be like a therapy session", "Art is difficult to evaluate", "Art evaluation is a matter of taste" etc. Despite the fact that such responses were in the minority, they were sufficient to initiate a deeper investigation and questioning teachers about the assessment practices in the visual arts in school education.

The second-round questionnaire

At the second stage of the survey, an in-depth analysis of the problematic issues of art assessment was carried out with an emphasis on the experience of teachers using the rubric as an assessment tool. A three-point Likert scale was used (*never*, *sometimes*, *often*) to find out teachers' opinions about the objectivity of their assessment of students' works in art classes. The answer *never* was counted as a negative answer, while the answers *often* and *sometimes* were counted as positive. An overview of the results of this survey is provided below.

Questions		Answers		
		Positive	Negative	
1.	Do you think your personal (subjective) opinion is present in the assessments of student work?	40%	60%	
2.	Do you use a comparison of student work ("best and worst") when giving a summative assessment?	65%	35%	
3.	Have you had a situation where, in your opinion, the summative assessment (on a 10-point scale) did not reflect the student's real achievements.	87%	13%	

Table 1. Respondents' answers to the questionnaire (second stage, 2022)

As can be seen from Table 1, more than half of the teachers rated their assessment practice as objective. On the other hand, answers to additional questions lead to a reconsideration of the objectivity of teachers' assessment practice, as they note that they use comparison of students' work, and do not always agree with criteria-based assessment.

The reasons for contradictions in the answers of individual teachers regarding the objectivity of assessment could be that either teachers find it difficult to determine appropriate criteria and points, or they still tend to evaluate students' work based on subjective judgments.

In the second part of the questionnaire teachers were asked to answer the questions related directly to the rubrics. Respondents expressed their opinion about the need for rubrics and noted whether they had any experience in using them. The results show that 61% of respondents consider rubric as a necessary tool in art assessment, 22% stated that rubric is inadequate tool for art assessment, and 17% admitted that they are not familiar with this kind of assessment. Therefore 64% of the same respondents noted that they do use rubric, while 36% prefer other methods of assessment.

Most of the respondents noted that they use rubrics in the assessment process, and yet the majority of these teachers (90%) have noted in the first part of the questionnaire that in their experience there are often situations when the summative assessment (on a 10-point scale) does not reflect the student's real achievements. Furthermore, in the response to the question of whether teachers have difficulty determining appropriate criteria and scoring, 88% of respondents admitted that they have some difficulties with creating an appropriate assessment tool on their own.

At the end of the survey, in a multiple-choice question, teachers were asked to select one or more criteria that, in their opinion, should be taken into account in art classes when evaluating works. And for the last question, they were asked to indicate one criterion that is most problematic to measure and evaluate. The results are shown in Figure 1.





The most frequently respondents noted such criteria as composition (mentioned 58 times), the idea of the artwork (mentioned 54 times), planning and direction of the artistic project (mentioned 47 times), demonstration and presentation of the artwork (mentioned 47 times) and skill (mentioned 42 times) that are considered important when evaluating student's works. Whereas the most challenging for teachers is to evaluate students' work according to such criteria as the idea of a work of art (mentioned 12 times), creativity (mentioned 7 times) and craftmanship (mentioned 10 times).

Participant observation

In order to get a better understanding of the teachers' experience, using rubrics as an assessment tool, the participant observation was conducted during the Teacher professional development program «Evaluation of creative works in the art in school education». The total duration of the program was 36 hours with participation of 25 teachers of visual arts from general and professional schools.

Within the framework of the program, teachers were invited to listen to theoretical lectures on creativity and its development in students, as well as to participate in practical workshops, creating assessment tools for evaluating students' works in art classes. During the workshop, participant observation was carried out in order to get acquainted with the skills of teachers in compiling the rubric, as well as to identify the main problems that teachers face in this process.

At the beginning of the workshop, teachers looked at examples of ready-made rubrics and were invited to express their opinion about the possibilities of this tool, implementing an objective and meaningful evaluation of students' works. Teachers mainly highlighted the rubric's impediments when thinking about students' creativity. On the other hand, the lecturers motivated teachers and emphasized the possibilities and benefits of rubrics for improving the learning process. During the discussion, the participants' statements were recorded, in which they expressed their opinion on the use of the evaluation rubric in the art lessons. For analysis, quotations were selected expressing an opinion on the benefits or impediments of the rubric as an assessment tool. Key takeaways from the discussion are summarised below (Table 2).

Table 2. Participants' quotes from the discussion about the introduction of the rubric in the practice of evaluating creative works

Impediments (participants' arguments)	Benefits (lecturers' arguments)	
"I really don't understand why everything must be described in such a detail. It is not realistic to do this in classes every day." "I will allow students to create works freely, I will not limit them in any parameters."	"How will the teacher know whether and in what quality the student will have achieved the learning goal? How will the teacher justify the grade to the student?" "How else can students understand what quality work is?"	
"Another massive job that a teacher has to do in his spare time!"	"It is good if the students are also involved in creating the rubric. Maybe it could be introduced as part of the lesson?"	
"Criteria can interfere with creativity and interfere with expressing oneself."	"We should evaluate in such a way that evaluation becomes a learning tool and promotes self-regulation, metacognition and motivation."	
"Criticism of work can harm the personality of a young student and the further development of creativity."		
"Extraordinary activity cannot be foreseen in the criteria!"	structural advice."	
"Creativity means that the student is always reaching for something new, so it is difficult to set static criteria."		

At the beginning of the rubric creation workshop, the instructor brought four samples of student work, which were projected onto the screen. The teachers were invited to an open discussion to exchange the views on the evaluation of each work. At the end of discussion, it was concluded, that the teachers could not come to a common decision on how to evaluate these works. The cause of the situation was that the teachers evaluated the work from their own point of view. Some judged by the technique, others were interested in the idea or the student's efforts in creating this work, etc. And the most common decision of their assessment was based not on specific criteria, but on the comparison of students' work, when one work is better or worse than another.

The outcome of both discussions clearly reflected the importance of finding and agreeing on an objective assessment tool that would be clear, unambiguous, and understandable to all involved in the learning process, that corresponds to the guideline that creating rubric requires clear language about learning objectives associated with the lesson or learning task (Krause, 2010).

During the observation of participants in the workshop, when the teachers had to create the evaluation rubric, the difficulties were observed not only in the selection of criteria and division into levels of achievement, but also the lack of skills in choosing appropriate concepts was detected along with difficulties finding the right words while creating a textual description. Therefore, participants joined together and found it very useful to collect the most frequently used keywords and phrases to use when creating a rubric in a table, so that in the future they could only copy the desired criteria with a ready-made division into levels. The result of the collaborative work is reflected in the Table 3.

Artistic Process	Criteria	Sub-criteria	Useful keywords
Foundation (framework)	Project directions (requirements)	Goal and objectives Guidelines Project expectations	Independence, responsibility, accuracy, relevance, preciseness
Creation Creation	Research (investigations)	Samples (images, texts, hyperlink etc.) Sources Descriptions Self-reflection	Selection, quantity quality, relevance, variety
	Creativity	Innovations Taking creative risks Experiments Sketches	Originality, uniqueness, quantity
	Technique and skills (craftsmanship)	Art medium Materials Tools Equipment	Selection, use, neatness, cleanliness, accuracy, attention to details
	Composition	Elements of art	Placement, use, arrangement, originality
Presentation	Demonstration (exhibit, share)	Use of media Content Organisation and timing Engaging the audience	Relevance, communication, preparation, explanation, confidence

Table 3. Criteria, sub-criteria and useful keywords for assessment rubric in visual arts

Artistic Process	Criteria	Sub-criteria	Useful keywords
Soft skills	Effort	Personal engagement Attitude Self-direction and focus Time management Improvements	Participation, activity Independence, responsibility
	Critical thinking	Interpretation Problem solving Pre-planning Envisioning Decision making	Independence, activity

Table 3. Continued

The set of criteria (Table 3) was compiled in collaboration with participants and was based on the recommendations of the European Network for Visual Literacy (ENViL) (http://www.envil.eu). The above mentioned set of criteria met the requirements of the Latvian educational standard and the content of the curriculum.

Discussion

The results of the survey confirmed the relevance of the question of how to assess the arts in formal education, and whether teachers receive sufficient support to understand and acquire the necessary skills to master the use of new assessment tools. It can be concluded that difficulties in the assessment of students' works of art are present not because of the teachers' attitude towards the assessment of the creative process, but because of the lack of skills to determine the criteria and the appropriate number of points to measure them. This confirms the relevance of the question of how to assess the arts in formal education, and whether teachers receive sufficient support in acquiring the necessary skills and mastering the use of a new assessment tools.

After reviewing the documented quotes of teachers and lecturers from the participant observation in Table 2, references can be made to the decades-old research observations and scientific paper conclusions (Soep, 2005; Douglas, 2012; Burnard, 2011; McArdle & Wright, 2014) that were mentioned in the introductory part of this article. This shows that the issue of objective assessment and its importance in the modern educational process in general, as well as the nature and process of summative assessment in art education, is still relevant.

For example, pros and cons quotes (Table 2) like "I really don't understand why everything must be described in such detail" and "How else can students understand what quality work is?" corresponds to necessity to rethink the purpose of assessment in general, focusing on that the educational goal of assessment is to motivate students and support their learning improvements (Pedder & James, 2012). Or the quotes "Another massive job that a teacher has to do in his spare time!" and "Criteria can interfere with creativity and interfere with expressing yourself." corresponds to the observation that creating rubric for teacher is very time-consuming task (Krause, 2010). During the workshop it was observed, that it is sufficient to provide teachers with clear assessment criteria and guidelines, and consistent moderation and consultations are necessary, while implementing a new assessment tool (Johnson, 2014). And in the final reflection part the teachers found it very useful to communicate with other teachers to share experiences, to reflect on each other's decisions (Gardner et al., 2014).

As the results of the survey showed, almost all the teachers who already use a rubric still face difficulties in conducting an objective and convincing assessment of students' work. Therefore, it is recommended to develop a practical guide for creating rubric that also includes templates with keywords for different types of assignments. It would also be useful to conduct a study of alternative assessment tools in school education that are relevant to the specifics of the arts.

Conclusion

Both the survey and participant observation have showed following problematics of art assessment within the school framework:

Creating sets of criteria in art is problematic due to its diversity, it is difficult to combine and balance objectively determined learning outcomes and subjectively determined creative expression in the same assessment rubric.

Expression in art largely reflects the student's own personality, feelings and thoughts. For this reason, the selection of criteria should be well thought out and balanced, and the students themselves should be involved in the selection of criteria and goal setting, so that the demands or assessment imposed by the teacher do not negatively affect the students' self-expression and at the same time help them understand what quality work means.

Although the specifics of the arts include elements that cannot always be measured, arts education also requires data that demonstrates student growth. This data is important both for the teacher and for the student. The teacher is evaluating the effectiveness of teaching methods and for a student this data serves as a tool for personal and professional development.

Teachers expressed insecurity about their skills in setting criteria and objective assessment, as evidenced by frequent concerns about their decision, fair and accurate assessment. Therefore, the teachers expressed the need for help in implementing this evaluation tool, for example, rubrics approved by senior officials or

a comprehensive manual and templates with criteria and their descriptions for different types of tasks.

Considering that the rubric as an evaluation tool was introduced in 2020 and within two years, teachers are still not confident in their competence to evaluate the achievements of students, it can be concluded that teachers have not received sufficient support for acquiring the new skill.

REFERENCES

Binkley, M., Erstad, O., Herman, J., Raizen, S., Ripley, M., Miller-Ricci, M., & Rumble, M. (2012). Defining twenty-first century skills. In P. Griffin, B. McGaw, & E. Care (Eds.), *Assessment and teaching of 21st century skills* (pp. 17–66). Springer.

Black, P., & Wiliam, D. (2012). The reliability of assessment. In J. Gardner (Eds.), Assessment and learning (2nd ed., pp. 243–263). Sage Publications.

Brooks, G. (2013). Assessment and academic writing: A look at the use of rubrics in the second language writing classroom. *Kwansei Gakuin University humanities review*, *17*, 227–240. https://core.ac.uk/download/pdf/143638458.pdf

Burnard, P. (2011). Constructing assessment for creative learning. In J. Sefton-Green, P. Thomson, K. Jones & L. Bresler (Eds.), *The Routledge international handbook of creative learning* (pp. 140–149). Routledge.

Darling-Hammond, L. (2012). Policy frameworks for new assessments. In P. Griffin, B. McGaw, & E. Care (Eds.), *Assessment and teaching of 21st century skills* (pp. 301–340). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-007-2324-5_6

Douglas, K. M. (2012). Advocating for a student-centered art program: Navigating expectations. In D. B. Jaquith & N. E. Hathaway (Eds.), *The learner-directed classroom: Developing creative thinking skills through art* (pp. 9–17). Teachers College Press.

Gardner, J., Harlen, W., Hayward, L., & Stobart, G. (2014). Engaging and empowering teachers in innovative assessment practice. In J. Gardner (Eds.), *Assessment in education: Assessment by teachers* (1, pp. 81–96). Sage Reference.

Hobdell, G. (2014). Connect, transform, learn: Achieving visual literacy in the art classroom. In G. Barton (Eds.), *Literacy in the arts* (pp. 175–202). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-04846-8

Hoge, D. R., & Butcher, R. (2014). Analysis of teacher judgments of pupil achievement levels. In J. Gardner (Eds.), *Assessment in education: Assessment by teachers* (1, pp. 115–122). Sage Reference.

Johnson, S. (2014). On the reliability of high-stakes teacher assessment. In J. Gardner (Eds.), *Assessment in education: Assessment by teachers* (1, pp. 123–140). Sage Reference.

Jonsson, A., & Svingby, G. (2007). The use of scoring rubrics: Reliability, validity and educational consequences. *Educational research review*, 2(2), 130–144. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.edurev.2007.05.002

Krause, M. G. (2010). Undergraduates in the archives: Using an assessment rubric to measure learning. *The American archivist*, 73(2), 507–534. http://www.jstor.org/stable/23290757

Luft, J. (1997). Design your own rubric. Science Scope, 20(5), 25–27. https://www.jstor. org/stable/43177356

McArdle, F., & Wright, S. K. (2014). First literacies: Art, creativity, play, constructive meaning-making. In G. Barton (Eds.), *Literacy in the arts: retheorising learning and teaching* (pp. 21–37). Springer.

Pedder, D., & James, M. (2012). Professional learning and condition for assessment for learning. In J. Gardner (Eds.), *Assessment and learning* (2nd ed., pp. 33–48). Sage Publications.

Soep, E. (2005). Critique: Where art meets assessment. *Phi Delta Kappan. 87*(1), 38–63. https://doi.org/10.1177/003172170508700109

Stevens, D., & Levi, A. (2005). Introduction to rubrics: An assessment tool to save grading time, convey effective feedback, and promote student learning. Stylus Publishing.

Turley, E. D., & Gallagher, C. W. (2008). On the "uses" of rubrics: Reframing the great rubric debate. *The English Journal*, *97*(4), 87–92. http://www.jstor.org/stable/30047253

Whitton, D. (2015). Teaching and learning strategies. Cambridge University Press.

About the authors

Austra Avotina – Dr. ed. associate professor at the University of Latvia Faculty of Education, Psychology and Art. She is a researcher in art education, an author of monographs, study books and articles, participated in international projects as an expert: e.g. ESFP – *Development of visual art teachers professional and pedagogical competence; the Implementing competency-based curriculum project* in Latvia (*Skola2030*) and represented interests of the University of Latvia in European Network of Observatories in the Field of Arts and Cultural Education linked to UNESCO (ENO).

Valeria Froloviceva – obtained The Master of Education degree and is continuing education in the doctoral study program Education Sciences at the University of Latvia, Faculty of Education, Psychology and Art. Currently works as a high school culture and art teacher and as an expert in ESF project "Competency approach in the curriculum" in Latvia within which develops and implements digital learning materials for culture and art subjects in the high school. https://doi.org/10.22364/atee.2022.36

Music Teachers' Job Satisfaction During the COVID-19 Pandemic

Ligita Stramkale

University of Latvia, Latvia ligita.stramkale@lu.lv

ABSTRACT

The COVID-19 pandemic has radically changed the nature of the music teacher's job. The aim of the study is to determine music teachers' job satisfaction on four study scales – emotional well-being, social involvement, self-expression and achievement orientation. The following research questions were raised: RQ1: At what level do music teachers assess each of the study scales that describe job satisfaction? RQ2: Is there a statistically significant correlation between music teachers' job satisfaction during the COVID-19 pandemic and their emotional well-being, social involvement, self-expression and achievement orientation? RQ3: Is there a statistically significant difference in the levels of job satisfaction between music teachers who work only in comprehensive schools and those who have additional work in other music-related educational institutions? A questionnaire was created to achieve the study aim, in which the respondents (N = 73) had to assess the importance of various factors that affect the music teacher's job satisfaction on a Likert scale from one to four points. The study involved music teachers working in comprehensive schools and other educational institutions where music is acquired. The study results were reflected in four scales: (1) emotional well-being scale, (2) social involvement scale, (3) self-expression scale, and (4) achievement orientation scale.

The study revealed that the respondents rated all job satisfaction scales at a moderate level. Music teachers' job satisfaction during the COVID-19 pandemic is most affected by the inability to control school activities and the lack of positive emotions in daily life. The results do not show a significant difference in job satisfaction levels during the COVID-19 pandemic between music teachers who work only at comprehensive schools and those who have additional work in other music-related schools.

Keywords: achievement orientation, COVID-19 pandemic, emotional well-being, job satisfaction, music teachers, self-expression, social involvement

L. STRAMKALE. Music Teachers' Job Satisfaction During the COVID-19 Pandemic

Introduction

A music teacher helps students discover their musical potential through singing, playing musical instruments and other musical activities. Therefore, a music teacher's job requires creativity, special knowledge and skills. Making music during the learning process needs a variety of sound tools and other material and technical means. The COVID-19 pandemic changed the specifics of a music teacher's job, as several conditions had to be considered in daily work. At first, the learning process took place remotely or online for several months. Secondly, at a time when it was possible to teach and learn face-to-face, it was necessary to distance yourself, wear face masks, ventilate classrooms, sanitize hands and various items, as well as observe other epidemiological requirements to reduce the risk of spreading COVID-19 infection at school. That had a significant impact on the pedagogical work of the music teacher. It was a challenge to provide singing in a face-to-face music lesson because of wearing face masks, and synchronous joint singing by several students when learning online was impossible due to different speeds and quality of the internet connections. Playing sound tools in music lessons also required extra work from the teacher, as they needed to be disinfected after each use. However, it was hard to provide all students with the necessary sound tools during learning music online. The various restrictions and additional responsibilities of teaching music face-to-face and online have changed the daily work of a music teacher beyond recognition. That may have affected the job satisfaction of music teachers. Therefore, the aim of this study was to determine music teachers' job satisfaction on four study scales – emotional well-being, social involvement, self-expression and achievement orientation.

Theoretical Background

The level of job satisfaction indicates the teachers' attitude towards their profession and the daily work they perform. Job satisfaction is associated with the positive emotional state of the music teacher and results from evaluating the daily work routine. Researchers recognize that job satisfaction is an essential requirement for teacher performance (Baluyos et al., 2019), it is related to individual work results (Iqbal et al., 2016; Ismail & Meran, 2021), enhances the status of the teaching profession (Toropova et al., 2020) and is decisive for employees' well-being and retention in the career (Dicke et al., 2019). Donald Boyd and his colleagues also point out that job dissatisfaction remains one of the main factors influencing teachers' decisions to leave the school (Boyd et al., 2011). Teachers' mobility and willingness to change workplaces are influenced by several factors such as administrative support, discipline enforcement, school safety, small class sizes, and access to high-quality professional development (Viano et al., 2020). It is essential for teachers to be mostly satisfied with the work they do.
Job satisfaction is examined in the context of gender, age, school type and location. Researchers do not have a clear research-based opinion on this issue. For example, a study by Michael Galanakis & Evmorfia Alamani (2020) determined that gender does not affect job stress and satisfaction. A similar result was obtained by Bhagat Singh's study (2016), which found that primary school teachers' job satisfaction was independent of gender. However, Ramazan Sak (2018) revealed that males have lower job satisfaction than females by studying the impact of gender differences on job satisfaction among preschool teachers. The opposite results were obtained by Volkan Burak Kibici (2021), who examined the job satisfaction of music teachers in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic and found out that men have a higher level of job satisfaction than women. There is also a difference in research-based evidence on job satisfaction among teachers who work in public or private schools. One study determined that teachers who teach in private schools are more satisfied with their work than public school teachers (Sungu et al., 2014), but another study found the opposite results (Kibici, 2021). Several studies have also revealed that younger teachers have higher job satisfaction than older teachers (McNeill, 2016; Kibici, 2021). However, one of the studies found that music teachers with more work experience who work in music schools are more satisfied with their work than their colleagues with less work experience (Sabljar et al., 2020). Huan Wang (2022) and colleagues report disturbing indicators for the level of job satisfaction among teachers in rural schools in China. In Latvia, teachers' job satisfaction does not depend on the location and the type of the school. In the early and late stages of careers, teachers are more satisfied with their work than in the middle of their working life (Geske et al., 2015). The contradictory results obtained in previous studies are determined by the differences in the sample size of the study, the location of the study, and the chosen research methodology.

To a large extent, the teachers' job satisfaction depends on the head of the educational institution and the school administration, who have an essential responsibility to take care of teachers. What should school administrations do to keep teachers satisfied with their work? Studies examining the effects of leadership style on teacher job satisfaction found that teachers are happier with their jobs when a democratic leadership style is used (Ch et al., 2017; Munir & Iqbal, 2018). The leadership approach of the school principal and the decision-making style determined job satisfaction among teachers (Hui et al., 2013). Researchers recommend that school principals have to decrease the supervision of teachers and give them more autonomy (Baluyos et al., 2019). Autonomy-supportive school leadership is associated with less stress and emotional exhaustion among teachers (Collie, 2021). School administration should make efforts to meet the needs of music teachers by allowing them to do what they like, including using innovative teaching methods and creativity (Feng & Angeline, 2011). That means ensuring

the professional freedom of teachers. Teachers need daily support, especially where they do not feel safe. In several studies, there is conflicting evidence about the effect of the emotional and informational support of school administration for teachers on job satisfaction. For example, Ramazan Ertürk (2021) determined in his research that supportive behaviours of school administrators can positively affect teachers' job satisfaction and subjective well-being. If school administrators provide moderate emotional and informational support for their teachers, they will also have decent job satisfaction. However, Beau Hannah (2021) proved that the job satisfaction of teachers who work in a school for the first year is not significantly affected by receiving emotional support or informational support. The researchers believe that the principals should improve the school climate because it is connected with teachers' job satisfaction (Aldridge & Fraser, 2016). There is a significant correlation between teachers' perceptions of school climate and job satisfaction. More attention should be paid to the school as an educational organization that ensures a healthy work climate and the necessary conditions for the teacher's professional development (Yuan & Chayanuvat, 2022). The school administration can influence the teacher's job satisfaction by choosing a management style and creating an appropriate school climate, as well as by providing the necessary support and at the same time ensuring autonomy.

Job satisfaction is multidimensional, which includes several aspects. That is proven by the results obtained in several studies where job satisfaction is analysed in the context of various influencing factors. For example, Gene Lynn Forsythe (2016) found out that job satisfaction refers to teachers' experiences and the respect and support they receive from others, which, in turn, creates a sense that the teacher can change something. Anna Toropova (2020) and her colleagues identified a significant relationship between teachers' job satisfaction and factors affecting schools' working conditions, such as work stress, teacher cooperation and perception of student discipline at school. On the other hand, Mahmut Polatcan and Ramazan Cansoy (2019) believe that a strong school culture with support, trust, justice and communication are the decisive factors that ensure teacher job satisfaction. The job satisfaction of music teachers is negatively affected by the low value of music in the school community, the dissonance between professional goals and community values, and isolation as an unseen barrier to student-centred goals (Padron, 2020). In developing countries, the autocratic management style, mistrust, non-transparent system, work-life imbalance, ineffective learning environment and lack of resources are the main factors that influence teachers' job dissatisfaction (Sahito & Vaisanen, 2020). In the last ten years, many studies (Kibici, 2021; McNeill, 2016; Sabljar et al., 2020; Sahito & Vaisanen, 2020; Wang et al., 2022) have been conducted on teachers' job satisfaction, but only some have analysed teachers' job satisfaction in the context of the restrictions and additional duties imposed during the COVID-19 pandemic.

Methodology

The following research questions were raised: RQ1: At what level do music teachers assess each of the study scales that describe job satisfaction? RQ2: Is there a statistically significant correlation between music teachers' job satisfaction during the COVID-19 pandemic and their emotional well-being, social involvement, self-expression and achievement orientation? RQ3: Is there a statistically significant difference in the levels of job satisfaction between music teachers who work only in comprehensive schools and those who have additional work in other music-related educational institutions?

The study involved 73 (N = 73) music teachers from all over Latvia, 97,3% are women, and only 2,7% are men. The majority of the respondents were between the ages of 51 and 60, and their work experience was mostly more than 20 years (see Table 1). All respondents teach music in comprehensive schools, and 17.8% of them work in other music-related educational institutions at the same time, for example, music schools or interest education centres.

	Years	f(%)
Age	21–30	8.2
	31–40	4.1
	41-50	24.7
	51-60	46.6
	Age above 60 years	16.4
Work experience	0-1	0.0
	2-5	6.8
	6-10	2.7
	11–20	5.5
	20 and above	84.9

Table 1. Age and work experience profile of online questionnaire respondents

The study took place in the period from March 2021 to May 2021. Music teachers had to evaluate their job satisfaction during the last year between March 2020 and March 2021.

A questionnaire was created for data collection and structured in two parts. The general part of the questionnaire marked respondents' age, work experience and type of schools. The conceptual part of the questionnaire consisted of 12 statements that the respondents should rate on a four-point Likert scale. The statements were grouped into four study scales: emotional well-being, social involvement, self-expression and achievement orientation. The questionnaire also included open-ended questions in which the respondents justified their opinion on each statement.

The questionnaire was in digital format and sent to music teachers from all over Latvia. It was anonymous, and the results were analysed as a whole. Participation in the study was voluntary.

The quantitative data were analysed using the SPSS 22 statistical analysis computer program. Cronbach's alpha coefficient was calculated for each study scale to examine the reliability and validity of the statements included in the questionnaire. The following descriptive statistics were calculated to identify at what level music teachers evaluate each of the study scales that described job satisfaction: Mean (M), Standard Deviation (SD), Standard Error of Mean (SE), Kurtosis and Skewness values. The following measurements are used to determine music teachers' job satisfaction levels on each scale. The average value from 1.00 to 2.00 points is a low level of job satisfaction, 2.01 to 3.00 points is a moderate level, and 3.01 to 4.00 points is a high level of job satisfaction. The One-Sample Kolmogorov-Smirnov test and One Sample t-Test were calculated to understand if there is a significant difference between the scores of respondents and the central tendency. The correlation coefficient was used to determine the relationship between two or more variables. This study defines the relationship between music teachers' job satisfaction during the COVID-19 pandemic and their emotional well-being, social involvement, self-expression and achievement orientation. The non-parametric Mann-Whitney U test was used to determine the difference in job satisfaction between music teachers who work only at comprehensive schools and those who have additional work in other music-related schools.

All procedures performed in studies involving human participants were in accordance with the ethical standards of the institutional and/or national research committee and with the 1964 Helsinki declaration and its later amendments or comparable ethical standards.

Results

The Cronbach's alpha test on the scales of emotional well-being (a = .797) and social involvement (a = .700) proves good internal consistency, but the scales of self-expression (a = .675) and achievement orientation (a = .638) indicate an acceptable level of reliability.

The music teachers have rated their emotional well-being (M = 2.53, SD = .620; D(73) = .160, p = .000), social involvement (M = 2.68, SD = .68; D(73) = .115, p = .019), self-expression (M = 2.57, SD = .591; D(73) = .111, p = .027) and achievement orientation (M = 2.75, SD = .598; D(73) = .167, p = .000) at a moderate level. The emotional well-being scale has the lowest average ratings of the four study scales (see Table 2). This scale determined how often music teachers experienced positive emotions and good moods and were

less exposed to negative stress during the last year. Such assessment could be related to the restrictions and the additional duties imposed by the COVID-19 pandemic. As a result, the music teachers rated their emotional well-being at a moderate level and lower than the other study scales.

The highest average ratings are for the research scale, which determined achievement orientation. This research scale identified the self-efficacy of music teachers, the ability to achieve the goals set in the music lesson and the desire to improve themselves professionally. This scale had the highest average ratings compared to the other scales of the study because the music teachers in the last year, to be able to implement new pedagogical approaches in the teaching process, had to improve themselves professionally a lot and regularly (M = 3.10, SD = .986; t = 30.945, p = .000). The respondents rated the professional development at a high level.

Study scales	Mean	SD	SE	Kurtosis	Skewness
Emotional well-being	2.53	.620	.072	.058	379
Social involvement	2.68	.683	.080	023	-057
Self-expression	2.57	.591	.069	.319	124
Achievement orientation	2.75	.598	.070	.694	552

Table 2. Results of the study scales

The social involvement scale revealed the opinion of music teachers about their activity in the school team, belonging to the team members and building positive relationships. During the COVID-19 pandemic, music teachers tried to maintain the desire to build positive relationships with colleagues (M = 2.82, SD = .100; t = 20.425, p = .000) and belonging to the school team (M = 2.67, SD = .101; t = 22.507, p = .000), however, they rated the opportunity to be active lower (M = 2.58, SD = .102; t = 17.904, p = .000) because they often lacked authenticity and physical presence.

The scale of the self-expression determined the opinion of music teachers about autonomy, the possibility of controlling ongoing activities and being creative. The music teachers' opinion about creative self-expression is very contradictory, so in this study scale, the opportunity to be creative (M = 2.73, SD = .975; t = 25.904, p = .000) was rated even slightly higher than the opportunity to be autonomous (M = 2.54, SD = .915; t = 30.397, p = .000) or control ongoing activities (M = 2.46, SD = .106; t = 13.849, p = .003).

The study found (see Table 3) that music teachers' job satisfaction is closely related to their emotional well-being (r = .611, p < 0.01), social involvement (r = .550, p < 0.01), self-expression (r = .630, p < 0.01) and achievement orientation (r = .585, p < 0.01).

Study scales		Music Teachers' Job Satisfaction
Emotional well-being	Pearson Correlation	.611
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.000
	Ν	73
Social involvement	Pearson Correlation	.550
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.000
	Ν	73
Self-expression	Pearson Correlation	.630
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.000
	Ν	73
Achievement orientation	Pearson Correlation	.585
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.000
	Ν	73

Table 3. Correlation between music teachers' job satisfaction and study scales

The results of the study show that the emotional well-being and social involvement of teachers who teach music only in comprehensive schools (M = 2.69, SD = .658; M = 2.58, SD = .557) are slightly higher than teachers who teach music at the same time in other educational institutions (M = 2.61, SD = .814; M = 2.53, SD = .752). A Mann-Whitney test indicated that this difference was not statistically significant (U = 324.00, z - .968, p = .333; U = 409.50, z = .285, p = .776). However, the teachers who work in comprehensive schools and other music-related educational institutions have rated the self-expression scale slightly higher (M = 2.79, SD = .788) than those who work only in general education schools (M = 2.74, SD = .556). A Mann-Whitney test indicated that this difference was not statistically significant (U = 406.50, z = .242, p = .809). The biggest difference in the opinions of music teachers was regarding the scale that characterized achievement orientation. Teachers who teach music in comprehensive schools and at the same time in other educational institutions (M = 2.69, SD = .854) were more achievement-oriented than teachers who work only in comprehensive schools. However, even on this study scale, a Mann-Whitney test indicated that the difference was not statistically significant (U = 347.00, z = -.633, p = .527).

Conclusion and Discussion

The first research question aimed to determine at what level music teachers evaluate their emotional well-being, social involvement, self-expression and achievement orientation. The study revealed that the respondents rated all study scales at moderate levels. However, the highest scores are for the scale that determined the achievement orientation of music teachers and the lowest characterized emotional well-being. It indicates that even under the influence of the COVID-19 pandemic, music teachers are trying to maintain efficiency and improve themselves professionally, but the current situation affects their emotional well-being. Feeling good and focusing on achievements are essential for music teachers to be satisfied with their work. Volkan Burak Kibici's study also found a negative relationship between COVID-19 anxiety and the job satisfaction of music teachers (Kibici, 2021). Teachers show a high level of stress related to the new teaching demands created by the current situation in education (Pressley, 2021). Studies have also determined that efficacy is associated with greater job satisfaction among teachers and reduced wellness to leave the teaching profession (Grissom, 2011). The teachers who have more access to professional development and are more effective also have a higher level of job satisfaction (Toropova et al., 2020; Hderson, 2022). The relationship between teachers' self-efficacy and job satisfaction has been demonstrated in several studies (Aldridge & Fraser, 2016; Katsantonis, 2021; Türker & Kahraman, 2021; Polatcan & Cansoy, 2019).

Social involvement and self-expression are essential factors for music teachers' job satisfaction. Social involvement and especially the level of music teachers' activity in the school have been affected by the restrictions imposed during the COVID-19 pandemic. Some music teachers are more receptive to change and thus see the challenges as opportunities to be creative. At the same time, other music teachers believe that restrictions prevent them from being creative. Music teachers have a greater desire for autonomy and the ability to control the activities taking place in the school. Moreover, several studies have shown that job satisfaction is influenced by relationships and cooperation with colleagues and students (Adams, 2016; Olsen & Huang, 2019; Lopes & Oliveira, 2020), participation in decision-making (Bahtilla & Hui, 2021; Ch et al., 2017; Taiwo & Ogunlade, 2020) and autonomy (Chew, 2016).

The second research question aimed to reveal if there is a statistically significant relationship between music teachers' job satisfaction during the COVID-19 pandemic and their emotional well-being, social involvement, self-expression and achievement orientation. The study found that music teachers' job satisfaction is correlated positively with all four study scales – emotional well-being, social involvement, self-expression and achievement orientation.

The third research question determined if there is a statistically significant difference in the levels of job satisfaction between music teachers who work only in comprehensive schools and those who have additional work in other music-related educational institutions. Although emotional well-being and social involvement were rated slightly higher by music teachers who work only in comprehensive schools than by those who at the same time teach music in other educational institutions, this difference was not statistically significant. In addition, there was no statistically significant difference in respondents' opinions

regarding self-expression and achievement orientation, even if these study scales were rated slightly higher by music teachers who teach music in both comprehensive schools and other educational institutions.

In a further study, it is necessary to explore whether the opinion of music teachers on job satisfaction using the same study scales will change after lifting all COVID-19 restrictions.

REFERENCES

Adams, C. A. B. (2016). Teacher professional capital: The relationship between principal practice and teacher job satisfaction. *LMU/LLS Theses and Dissertations,* Loyola Marymount University. https://digitalcommons.lmu.edu/etd/488

Aldridge, J. M., & Fraser, B. J. (2016). Teachers' views of their school climate and its relationship with teacher self-efficacy and job satisfaction. *Learning Environments Research*, *19*, 291–307. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10984-015-9198-x

Bahtilla, M., & Hui, X. (2021). The impact of school environment on teachers' job satisfaction in secondary schools. *European Journal of Education Studies*, 8(7), 16–43.

Baluyos, G. R., Rivera, H. L. & Baluyos, E. L. (2019). Teachers' job satisfaction and work performance. *Open Journal of Social Sciences*, 7, 206–221. http://www.scirp.org/journal/jss

Boyd, D., Grossman, P., Ing, M., Lankford, H., Loeb, S. & Wyckoff, J. (2011). The influence of school administrators on teacher retention decisions. *American Educational Research Journal*, 48(2), 303–333. https://doi.org/10.3102/0002831210380788

Ch. A. H., Ahmad, S., Malik, M. & Batool, A. (2017). Principals' leadership styles and teachers' job satisfaction: A correlation study at secondary level. *Bulletin of Education and Research*, *39*(3), 45–56.

Chew, Y. C. (2016). The impact of intrinsic & extrinsic motivation on job satisfaction of music teachers working in commercial music schools in Klang Valley, Malaysia. Dissertation. University of the West of England.

Collie, R. J. (2021). COVID-19 and teachers' somatic burden, stress, and emotional exhaustion: Examining the role of principal leadership and workplace buoyancy. *AERA Open*, 7(1), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1177/2332858420986187

Dicke, T., Marsh, H. W., Parker, P. D., Guo, J., Riley, P. & Waldeyer, J. (2019). Job satisfaction of teachers and their principals in relation to climate and student achievement. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *112*(5), 1–41. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/edu0000409

Ertürk, R. (2021). The relationship between school administrators' supportive behaviors and teachers' job satisfaction and subjective well-being. *International Journal of Contemporary Educational Research*, *8*(4), 184–195. https://doi.org/10.33200/ijcer.956667

Forsythe, G. L. (2016). Spirituality and job satisfaction: A correlational study of elementary school teachers. Dissertation. University of la Verne.

Galanakis, M., & Alamani, E. (2020). How gender and working conditions affect occupational stress and job satisfaction of general education's preschool and elementary teachers in Greek public schools. *Psychology*, *11*, 364–372. https://doi.org/10.4236/psych.2020.112023

Geske, A., Kiris, K., Kozlovska, A., Ozola, A., Rečs, N. & Spridzāne, K. (2015). *Skolotāji Latvijā un pasaulē*. (Teachers in Latvia and Around the World). Rīga: LU Izglītības un pētniecības institūts. (In Latvian)

Grissom, J. A. (2011). Can good principals keep teachers in disadvantaged schools? Linking principal effectiveness to teacher satisfaction and turnover in hard-to-staff environments. *Teachers College Record: The Voice of Scholarship in Education, 113*(11), 2552–2585. https://doi.org/10.1177/016146811111301102

Hannah, B. (2021). The relationship between principal support and first-year teacher job satisfaction. Dissertation. The University of Southern Mississippi.

Henderson, S. S. (2022). Investigating music teacher job satisfaction, professional development, and administrative support. Dissertation. University of South Alabama.

Hui, H., Jenatabadi, H. S., Ismail, N. A. & Radzi, C. (2013). Principal's leadership style and teacher job satisfaction: A case study in China. *Interdisciplinary Journal of Contemporary Research in Business*, 5(4), 175–184.

Iqbal, A., Aziz, F., Farooqi, T. K. & Ali, S. (2016). Relationship between teachers' job satisfaction and students' academic performance. *Eurasian Journal of Educational Research*, 65, 335–344. http://dx.doi.org/10.14689/ejer.2016.65.19

Ismail, S. N., & Meran, M. (2021). The relationship between teacher's job satisfaction with teacher's job performance at primary schools. *Research in Management of Technology and Business*, 2(1), 293–307. https://publisher.uthm.edu.my/periodicals/index.php/rmtb/issue/view/24

Yuan, A., & Chayanuvat, A. (2022). The relationship between teachers' perception towards school climate and their job satisfaction. *Asian Journal of Management Sciences & Education*, *11*(1), 27–44.

Katsantonis, I. (2021). Cross-country perspective on reverse pathway dynamics between teachers' self-efficacy and job satisfaction. *Pedagogical Research*, 6(2), em0092. https://doi.org/10.29333/pr/9726

Kibici, V. B. (2021). Analysis of music teachers' job satisfaction and COVID-19 anxiety levels. *International Journal on Social and Education Sciences, 3*(4), 752–767. https://doi.org/10.46328/ijonses.275

Lopes, J., & Oliveira, C. (2020). Teacher and school determinants of teacher job satisfaction: A multilevel analysis. *School Effectiveness and School Improvement*, *31*(4), 641–659. https://doi.org/10.1080/09243453.2020.1764593

McNeill, K. M. (2016). A study of factors that impact middle school teacher job satisfaction. Dissertation. The University of Nevada, Reno.

Munir, H. & Iqbal, M. Z. (2018). A study of relationship between leadership styles of principals and job satisfaction of teachers in colleges for women. *Bulletin of Education and Research*, 40(2), 65–78.

Olsen, A. A., & Huang, F. L. (2019). Teacher job satisfaction by principal support and teacher cooperation: Results from the schools and staffing survey. *Education Policy Analysis Archives*, *27*(11), 1–31. https://doi.org/10.14507/epaa.27.4174

Padron, C. L. (2020). Rural music teacher job satisfaction, retention, and music education's career ladder. Colorado State University, Colorado.

Polatcan, M., & Cansoy, R. (2019). Examining studies on the factors predicting teachers' job satisfaction: A systematic review. *International Online Journal of Education and Teaching*, 6(1), 116–134. http://www.iojet.org/index.php/IOJET/article/view/477

Pressley, T. (2021). Factors contributing to teacher burnout during COVID-19. *Educational Researcher*, 50(5), 325–327.

Sabljar, M., Opič, S. & Begič, J. Š. (2020). Piano teachers' job satisfaction in music schools in the Republic of Croatia. *Journal of Elementary Education*, 1(4), 497–518.

Sahito, Z., & Vaisanen, P. (2020). A literature review on teachers' job satisfaction in developing countries: Recommendations and solutions for the enhancement of the job. *Review of Education*, 8(1), 3–34.

Sak, R. (2018). Gender differences in Turkish early childhood teacher job satisfaction, job burnout and organizational cynicism. *Early Childhood Education Journal*, *46*(6), 643–653. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10643-018-0895-9

Singh, B. (2016). Effect of emotional intelligence and gender on job satisfaction of primary school teacher. *European Journal of Educational Research*, *5*(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.12973/eu-jer.5.1.1

Sungu, H., Ilgan, A., Parylo, O. & Erdem, M. (2014). Examining teacher job satisfaction and principals' instructional supervision behaviours: A comparative study of Turkish private and public school teachers. *Alberta Journal of Educational Research*, *60*(1), 98–118.

Taiwo, A. E., & Ogunlade, L. A. (2020). Teachers' decisional participation and job satisfaction in secondary schools in Ekiti state, Nigeria. *International Journal of Educational Administration and Policy Studies, 12*(1), 1–11.

Toropova, A., Myrberg, E. & Johansson, S. (2020). Teacher job satisfaction: The importance of school working conditions and teacher characteristics. *Educational Review*, *73*(1), 71–97. https://doi.org/10.1080/00131911.2019.1705247

Türker, Y., & Kahraman, Ü. (2021). School climate and self-efficacy as predictor of job satisfaction. *Journal of Theoretical Educational Science*, 14(4), 548–569. http://doi.org/10.30831/akukeg.901457

Viano, S., Pham, L. D., Henry, G. T., Kho, A. & Zimmer, R. W. (2020). What teachers want: School factors predicting teachers' decisions to work in low-performing schools. *American Educational Research Journal*, *58*(1), 201–233. https://doi.org/10.3102/0002831220930199

Wang, H., Cousineau, C., Wang, B., Zeng, L., Sun, A., Kohrman, E., Li, N., Tok, E., Boswell, M. & Rozelle, S. (2022). Exploring teacher job satisfaction in rural China: Prevalence and correlates. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *19*(6), 3537. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph19063537

About the author

Ligita Stramkale has a doctoral degree in educational sciences and has a position of assistant professor at the Faculty of Education, Psychology and Art of the University of Latvia. Research interests: music education in the general education system, teacher training in higher education, modern trends in education.

https://doi.org/10.22364/atee.2022.37

Use of Music and Openness in a Group of Teachers-in-Training Receiving a Musical Intervention

Giusi Antonia Toto, Benedetta Ragni*, Pierpaolo Limone

Learning Science Hub, Department of Humanistic Studies, University of Foggia, Italy * Corresponding: benedetta.ragni@unifg.it

ABSTRACT

The effects of music education on cognitive abilities have raised great interest among scholars of education and learning. According to literature, the use of music in pedagogical practices enhances learning processes with positive impact on the intellectual and social development of students. The main objective of this study was to explore the personal experience with music of teachers-in-training while participating in a musical intervention. The intervention, included both theoretical and practical modules, was delivered during a Digital Storytelling (DST) course. Specifically, our main aim was to investigate possible relationships between the personality openness dimension of teachers-in-training, the role of music in their personal life, and rewards they perceived associated with music. 818 teachers-in-training attending the DST class in an online specialisation course at the University of Foggia were enrolled. After their informed consent was obtained, they completed an online survey including three self-report questionnaires: The Big Five Inventory (BFI; John et al., 1991), The Brief Music Experience Questionnaire (Brief-MEQ; Werner et al., 2006 and the Barcelona Music Reward Questionnaire (BMRQ; Mas-Herrero et al., 2013). The research study was approved by the Institutional Review Board of the University of Foggia. In order to test the associations among the studied variables, correlations (Pearson's r) and a CFA analysis were conducted using the SPSS software. Results showed that teachers who reported to positively use music daily (r = .67), especially enjoy in sharing music with other people, and teachers who reported to use music as a reward in terms of special connection with it (r = .64), also reported higher levels of openness (originality, curiosity, reflective thinking, imagination, invention, giving values to artistic and aesthetic experiences). Our results highlight the importance of including music in learning processes as a possible mediator able to enhance teachers and students' socio-emotional and cognitive skills.

Keywords: Digital Story Telling, music education, music intervention, openness, teacher-in-training

Introduction

The effects of music education on cognitive abilities have aroused growing interest in the scientific community in recent years. The study of musical disciplines is associated with a greater development of both intellectual (multiple intelligences, general and factorial intelligence) and executive functions of students (Gardner, 2016; Medina-Garrido & Mejorando, 2017; Vélez & Rico, 2017; additionally, numerous studies confirm the ability of music to trigger physiological responses, such as changes in heart rate, breathing, skin temperature and conductance as well as hormone secretion (Koelsch, 2012).

It is difficult to associate music lessons with academic achievement (Dumont et al., 2017) since there are several variables involved including personality traits that can act as advantageous factors for the development of the cognitive functions and motivation to follow music lessons (Corrigall et al., 2013). The longitudinal analysis conducted by Jaschke and colleagues (2018), for example, has shown that music education positively influences the cognitive abilities of children at 6 years of age, especially those relating to inhibition and planning. The study also reveals an effect of transfer of skills, from musical education to academic performance, mediated by executive sub-functions. Considering the beneficial effects of music on the development of children in relation to emotional intelligence, academic performance and prosocial skills (Blasco-Magraner et al., 2021) it could, therefore, be concluded that music should be used in school settings, not only as an important subject in itself, but also as an educational tool within the curricula.

The role of music on cognitive and emotional development can be explained by several factors. First of all, the human neural processing of music involves an extremely complex and widespread bilateral network of cortical and subcortical areas that integrate various functions including auditory, cognitive, motor, sensory and emotional ones (Koelsch, 2011). Furthermore, music is an essential component of many social activities and differences in music preferences tend to vary widely from person to person. The relationship between personality and artistic preferences has received considerable attention from psychologists over the years, in an effort to further delineate the predictive utility of traits on specific factions of human behavior. Understanding the relationships between music preference and personality may inform applications of music therapies.

According to Chamorro-Premuzic and Furnham (2007) people listen to music as a means of emotion regulation, cognitive stimulation, and as a background stimulus. Further, Chamorro-Premuzic and Furnham (2007) hypothesized and found evidence for individual differences in uses of music, whereby individuals rating high in trait neuroticism were found to use music as a medium for emotion regulation, whereas openness to experience correlated positively with cognitive uses of music. These findings provide a sense of coherence between trait and

behavior; individuals experiencing a high degree of negative affect as a function of trait neuroticism may be predicted to engage in music listening as a means of regulating mood states, just as those fascinated by aesthetic beauty and art may use music as a means of cognitive stimulation by actively appreciating the complexity of musical compositions. Openness to experience, indeed, has been found in several studies to be associated with cognitive and intellectually-stimulating functions of music listening and neuroticism with affect-regulating functions (i.e., regulating moods and emotions; (Chamorro-Premuzic & Furnham, 2007). Moreover, Chamorro-Premuzic and Furnham (2007) showed that intelligent and intellectually-engaged people are likely to listen to music for cognitive stimulation, and that introverted people tend to use music for affect regulation.

Other variables also influence the uses of music (North et al., 2004; Greb et al., 2019. For example, being alone while listening to music helps to reduce tension and loneliness (Tarrant et al., 2000). Singing in group and average level of attention to music are associated to higher levels of wellbeing than solo singing (Greasley & Lamont, 2011; Stewart & Lonsdale, 2016; Greb et al., 2019.

The significant effects of music on brain function have led to the implementation of specific therapies that use music as a therapeutic tool, in sectors including in psychiatric rehabilitation as well as therapies for contrast of cognitive aging, regulation of neural development of premature babies, and treatment of diversabilities (Chorna et al., 2019; James et al., 2020; Koelsch, 2011; Lordier et al., 2019; Sihvonen et al., 2020; Torppa & Huotilainen, 2019).

Technology is a tool that is capable of enhancing the association between music education and intelligence. In this the digital revolution, transliteracy mediates the breakdown of the limits of traditional educational practice to develop the potential of all learners. Technology, therefore, contributes to the evolution of education by promoting socialisation, personalised learning and high levels of motivation and involvement (Fabbro et al., 2017; Toto, 2019). For example, Lv and Luo (2021) have shown that online platforms have the potential to generate more creative approaches for music teaching and improve student performance since having online resources allows for a higher quality of both teaching and learning. The literature has, therefore, demonstrated the usefulness of not only music education but also of technology as a means of teaching it to improve cognitive, relational and psychological skills.

The association between musical education and intelligence is supported by the fact that musical ability in humans play a key phylogenetic role in the evolution of language and cognitive abilities in general. In fact, music and language share the hierarchical structure of their subcomponents and the neural bases (Yu et a., 2017); moreover, pedagogical practice that is mediated by music induces benefits on general learning, emotional communication and reflexive as well as metacognitive abilities (Biasutti, 2017). It can be concluded that music education

has a strong impact on the intellectual, social and personal development of children, young people and the elderly, and therefore on the psychological wellbeing of the individual throughout his life.

The current study

The main objective of this study was to explore the personal experience with music of teachers-in-training while participating in a musical intervention. The intervention, included both theoretical and practical modules, was delivered during a Digital Storytelling (DST) course. Specifically, our main aim was to investigate possible relationships between the personality openness dimension of teachers-in-training, the role of music in their personal life, and rewards they perceived associated with music.

Method

The intervention, called 'DST music and soundtracks', was constituted in the model of the University of Foggia (present below) (Limone et al., 2021) in a theoretical lesson on listening to music, musical intelligence and three international good practices (Toto, 2017) of technology-mediated music teaching in which students observe student treatment, behaviour and outcomes of this teaching practice. As an alternative to the latter theme, it is possible to replace it with a lesson on rhythm for which no prior knowledge of musical content is required. This first phase lasts for 2 hours.

As shown in table 1, the group of students who were subjected to a second theoretical-experiential treatment centred on the following themes:

- In-depth study of neuro-aesthetic studies concerning the neural basis of musical appreciation with particular reference to the theories of Brattico and Pearce (2013), according to which musical aesthetic experience consists of aesthetic emotions, aesthetic judgments and manifestations of preference, and Zentner et al., (2008) who elaborated a model of nine music-induced emotions called GEMS.
- 2) Analysis of musical structures and characteristics that are capable of determining positive or negative sensations in a constant and universal way. Distinguishing between consonant and dissonant harmonic intervals that are the basis of tonal and atonal music, which is typical of twentieth century composers. Listening to the piece, "Duo for Bruno", by Franco Donatoni and analysing the main characteristics at compositional and stylistic level.
- 3) In-depth study of the role devoid of familiarity and expectations in musical appreciation: "exposure effect" (Ritossa & Rickard, 2004) and "boredom effect".

4) Analysis of the functions performed by music in films with reference to the essay, "Sound and image. Music, voice, noise and silence in films", by Vincenzo Ramaglia, edited by Dino Audino. For each function, brief theoretical explanation and viewing of extracts from some well-known film scenes is included such as predictive function in "The Shark" by Spielberg, interpretative function in "A Clockwork Orange" by Kubrick with Rossini's soundtrack, provocative function in "Bowling for Colombine" by Michael Moore with the soundtrack "What a wonderful World" by Amstrong, and function of moral connotations of the characters.

This second treatment lasted 45 minutes.

1) Theoretical phase	 Emotional Intelligence;
	 Musical listening;
	 Good practice;
	► Rhythm lesson.
2) Theoretical-experiential phase	 Neuro-aesthetics;
	 Musical emotions;
	 Musical exhibitions;
	 Soundtrack functions.
3) First individual exercise	 Listening track;
	 Elicitate emotions.
4) Second group exercise	 Evocation of music;
	► Film.
5) Third group exercise	 Music association to Storyboard on personal history.

Table 1. Music tutorial for DST

The third intervention opens with an individual exercise structured as follows: Individual exercise 1 (30 minutes). Everyone listens to three minutes of the pieces that follow and mark, in the appropriate exercise file (represented in Table 2), the relative emotion felt between the following:

Table 2. Table of emotions in music

Wonder	Transcen- dence	Tender- ness	Nostalgia	Tranquil- lity	Power Joy	Tension	Sadness

The tracks used for the experiment were as follows:

- "Mars" (from "The Planets"), by Gustav Holst
- "La Primavera" (from "The Four Seasons"), by Antonio Vivaldi
- "Adagio" in G minor, by Tommaso Albinoni and Remo Giazotto
- "Night on Bald Mountain"
- "Adagio for strings", op. 11 by Samuel Barber
- "Midsommarvarka", by Hugo Alfvèn

With a break of 10 to15 minutes, a second exercise is structured in small groups of 8–10 people according to the following model: indicate, as a group, which characteristics of the music according to the listener induce the sensations described above (30 minutes). Moreover, participants were asked: Which movie or scene would you match each of the following fragments to?

- "Bonito" by Jarabe de Palo
- "Beggin" by Maneskin
- "This must be the place" by Talking Heads
- "Getting older" by Billie Eilish
- "Photograph" by Ed Sheeran
- "The passenger" by Iggy Pop

The last intervention comprises an exercise to choose a soundtrack that is consistent with a work produced in a previous workshop to write a storyboard on a personal story:

• 3rd group exercise (30 minutes): replace the media included in the storyboard with non-copyrighted media using the repositories indicated in the file "attached to exercise 3".

Participants

The research is developed in the Italian context, where the specialisation course of teachers is online, and it groups teachers on a national scale; therefore, students belong to all areas of Italy (63% from southern Italy; n = 818). The maximum age for the respondents was 60 and the minimum was 22. Out of all the respondents, 125 (15.28%) were males and 690 (84.72%) were females.

In fact, the teachers who were interviewed received a follow-up to all eight steps of the Foggia model, by passing an exercise phase where they worked individually to a collective phase where they worked in groups. The interviewees were an adult population belonging to different areas of Italy with an extensive training course.

The final version of the questionnaire, in addition to demographic questions on gender, age and grade of school, presented 76 Likert-type questions relating to the previous three scales with which the user could express various levels of agreement or disagreement.

Measures

The Big Five Inventory

The Big Five Inventory (BFI) was developed by John, Donahue and Kentle in 1991. The BFI in the English version consists of 44 items and allows for an efficient and flexible assessment of the five dimensions of personality. The construction of the items was derived from the definitions of the Big Five prototypes that were developed by Robert R. McCrae and Paul T. Costa in 1985. The authors postulated five big dimensions (Big Five) of personality: extroversion-introversion, agreeableness-unpleasantness, conscientiousness-neglect, neuroticism-emotional stability and open-mindedness-closed-mindedness. The items are short and they avoid complex sentence structures to maintain the advantages of brevity and simplicity and avoid some pitfalls such as ambiguous or multiple meanings and desirability. Participants rate each item on a 5-point scale ranging from 1 (strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree). Scores on the scale are calculated as the participant's average item response (i.e., adding all items rated on a scale and dividing by the number of items on the scale). Some items are evaluated by means of a Likert scale by inverting the score and replacing 1 with 5, 2 with 4, 4 with 2 and 5 with 1. The result then generates a total score for each personality dimension. Despite its brevity, the BFI does not sacrifice either the exhaustiveness of the contents or the good psychometric properties. Recently, the BIF-2, which contains 60 items, has also been published to measure traits at both domain and facet levels as well as control compliance bias.

The Brief Music Experience Questionnaire (brief MEQ)

The MEQ comprises a questionnaire on the role of music in the life of the subject, the items that concern his thoughts, feelings and reactions to the music and how it relates to other activities. The subject is asked to indicate, for each statement, an answer using a scale ranging from 1 (very false) to 5 (very true). The questionnaire measures individual differences in the relationship with music using a short version of 53 items built in 1995 by Paul Werner, Alan J. Swope and Frederick Heide (2006). The first version of the MEQ comprised 141 items and was developed in 1992 by them. The scales in the short version have been developed on a rational and theoretical basis and have been refined through item analysis to increase internal consistency and reduce redundancy between scales. The scales are as follows: commitment to music (centrality of the search for musical experiences in the person's life), innovative musical aptitude (ability to perform music as well as generate musical themes and works), social uplift (experience of being stimulated and raised in a group-oriented manner by music), affective reactions (affective and spiritual reactions to music), positive psychotropic effects (calming, energising and integrating reactions) and reactive musical behaviour (behavioural responses including humming, swaying, etc. along with music). Recently the scale was used by Calma-Roddin and Drury (Calma-Roddin & Drury, 2020) to probe the innovative musical aptitude in order to explore the relationship between language and music.

The Barcelona Music Reward Questionnaire (BMRQ)

The BMRQ was developed by Mas-Herrero, Marco-Pallares, Lorenzo-Seva, Zatorre and Rodriguez-Fornells in 2013 (Mas-Herrer et al., 2013). The authors intended to study the musical experience by probing, in particular the reward associated with music. The questionnaire consists of 20 items that require responses averaged on a Likert scale ranging from 1 (absolutely disagree) to 5 (absolutely agree). The musical reward experience has been operationalised in five dimensions: musical research, evocation of emotions, mood regulation, social reward and sensory-motor reward. These factors were correlated with socio-demographic factors and measures of general sensitivity to reward and hedonic experience. The reliability calculated for the overall BMRQ is acceptable and equal to 0.92. The questionnaire was recently used by Ferreri and Rodriguez-Fornells (Ferreri & Rodriguez-Fornells, 2017) to study the relationship between music, reward and memory. The authors demonstrated that music-driven reward responses directly implicated higher cognitive functions and probably explained the individual differences in memory performance.

The research study complied with the general ethical principles of the Declaration of Helsinki and was approved by the research team's University Institutional Review Board, protocol code 40979-III.11 and approved on 16 October 2021 issued by University of Foggia.

Results

Reliability Analysis

Reliability analysis was used to check the reliability of questionnaire by Cronbach alpha C_{α} ranges from 0 to 1. If C_{α} is greater than 0.9 considered as Excellent, $C_{\alpha} = 0.9 > \alpha \ge 0.8$ is good, $0.8 > \alpha \ge 0.7$ is acceptable, $0.7 > \alpha \ge 0.6$ is questionable, $0.6 > \alpha \ge 0.5$ is poor and $0.5 > \alpha$ is Unacceptable.

Table 3 shows the reliability of the questionnaire which is consist of four sections that is Demographic variables, BFQ, Barcelona and Music Experience (MEQ). Demographic variables have 3 questions the C_{α} is 0.101 which is considered as Unacceptable, BFQ has ten Elements with C_{α} is 0.8444 is considered as good. Barcelona (BAR) has 20 elements with $C_{\alpha} > 0.8$ which is considered as Good and Music expertise have excellent value of Cronbach's alpha. Overall reliability of all questionnaires with 79 elements is excellent.

Variable	ltems	Cronbach's Alpha	Performance
Demographic Variables	3	0.101	Unacceptable
BFQ	10	0.844	Good
BAR	20	0.846	Good
MEQ	46	0.915	Excellent
Overall Reliability	79	0.938	Excellent

Table 3. Reliability Analysis

Descriptive Statistics

Table 4 shows the descriptive statistics for BFQ that includes minimum, maximum, mean and standard deviation of every variable. As shown in above table maximum and minimum value of very variable is 1 and 5 except, curious about many different things and likes to reflect, play with ideas having minimum value is 2. Mean value of coming up with new ideas is 3.63 with standard deviation 0.875, mean and standard deviation of curious about many different things is 4.05 and 0.805. Mean value of people prefers work that is routine likes to reflect, play with ideas is 3.89 with standard deviation 0.772, artistic interest have mean 4.11 and 0.979 standard deviation.

	Min.	Max.	Mean	Std. Deviation
Is original, comes up with new ideas	1	5	3.63	.875
Is curious about many different things	2	5	4.05	.805
Is ingenious, adeep thinker	1	5	3.63	.885
Has an active imagination	1	5	3.77	.844
Is inventive	1	5	3.66	.843
Values artistic, aesthetic experiences	1	5	3.74	.896
Prefers work that is routine	1	5	3.80	.949
Likes to reflect, play with ideas	2	5	3.93	.772
Has few artistic interests	1	5	4.11	.979
Is sophisticated in art, music, or literature	1	5	2.87	1.034

Table 4. Descriptive Statistics for BFQ

Table 5 shows the descriptive statistics for music choice for people live in Barcelona Minimum and Maximum value for each variable is same. Mean value for "When I share music with someone, I feel a special connection with that person" is 3.96 with standard deviation 0.896, Mean value for "In my free time I hardly listen to music" is 2.13 with Standard deviation 1.275. Mean responses of "I like listen to music that contains emotion" is 4.55 with standard deviation

0.781. participants mean responses on "Music keeps me company when I'm alone" is 4.33 with standard deviation 0.781. Respondents in Barcelona thinks "Music makes me bond with other people" with mean response is 4.09 with standard deviation is 0.858.

	Min.	Max.	Mean	Std. Deviation
Special connection	1	5	3.96	.896
I hardly listen to music.	1	5	2.13	1.275
Emotion	1	5	4.55	.781
Alone	1	5	4.33	.908
Don't like to dance	1	5	1.82	1.194
Bond with other people	1	5	4.09	.858
Inform myself about music	1	5	4.12	.938
Emotional listening to certain	1	5	4.69	.634
Calms and relaxes	1	5	4.49	.721
Makes me dance	1	5	3.99	1.075
Looking for new music	1	5	3.49	1.040
Listen to a melody	1	5	4.03	1.127
Sing or play an instrument	1	5	3.35	1.268
Helps me chill	1	5	4.39	.807
Can't help humming or singing	1	5	4.39	.871
Feel connected to the performers	1	5	4.17	.915
Quite a bit of money	1	5	2.65	1.113
Feel chills	1	5	4.45	.784
Music comforts me	1	5	4.19	.884
Can't help tapping	1	5	4.02	1.007

Table 5. Descriptive Statistics for Barcelona

Table 6 shows the descriptive statistics for Brief Music Experience. Mean Value of "I frequently hear songs in my head" is 4.44 with standard deviation 0.707. Mean responses of "I feel more integrated (more "together") when I hear certain kinds of music" is 4.18 with standard deviation 0.864. The mean responses of "I often sing, hum, or whistle along with recorded music" is 4.22 with standard deviation 0.856. Mean value of "I would never want to listen to the same piece of music twice in a row" is 2.09 with standard deviation 1.081. Mean responses of "When I'm enjoying music with other people, I feel like we're speaking the same language" is 4.17 with Standard deviation 0.828. "I've had musical experiences that have changed my whole mood" with mean value 3.99 and Standard deviation is 1.005. Mean responses of the respondents on "I enjoy singing in the

shower or bath" is 3.65 with Standard deviation 1.231, for "I sometimes spend more money than I can afford to attend a musical performance" is 2.24 with standard deviation is 1.190, for "It is hard for me to keep the beat when Dancing" is 2.13 with Standard deviation 1.171. Mean responses on "Music unites my mind and my body" is 4.14 with standard deviation 0.920.

	Min.	Max.	Mean	Std. Deviation
Frequently hear songs	1	5	4.44	.707
More integrated	1	5	4.18	.864
Sing, hum, or whistle	1	5	4.22	.856
Same piece of music twice	1	5	2.09	1.081
Enjoying music with other people	1	5	4.17	.828
Musical experiences changed mood	1	5	3.99	1.005
Singing in the shower or bath	1	5	3.65	1.231
Attend a musical performance	1	5	2.24	1.190
Beat when dancing	1	5	2.13	1.171
Unites my mind and body	1	5	4.14	.920
Made me feel joyous	1	5	1.50	.883
Music that has a message	1	5	4.12	.885
Singing a beloved song	1	5	4.05	.945
Private experience	1	5	3.72	.989
Family had sung together	1	5	3.41	1.188
Patriotic songs	1	5	3.42	1.044
Childhood	1	5	3.19	1.287
Physically stirred up	1	5	1.24	.735
Important thing in my life	1	5	3.17	1.004
Forget my cares	1	5	3.80	.953
Hardly resist dancing	1	5	3.77	1.145
Sense of purpose and movement	1	5	3.96	.910
Closer to a higher power	1	5	3.60	1.075
Beat or rhythm in music	1	5	3.95	.930
Depth of my concentration on music	1	5	3.80	.996
Swaying in tune with music	1	5	3.91	1.034
Never affects my feelings.	1	5	2.08	1.132
No place in my life	1	5	1.50	.885
Helps me get out of myself	1	5	3.72	.972
Draws me strongly to dance	1	5	4.02	1.001

Table 6. Descriptive Statistics for MEQ

	Min.	Max.	Mean	Std. Deviation
Sacrifices in my life	1	5	1.94	1.147
Certain musical performers' lives	1	5	3.23	1.183
Kinds of music	1	5	4.14	.809
Musical recordings	1	5	1.89	1.056
Music being performed	1	5	3.40	1.167
Feel so lonely	1	5	3.76	1.038
Tap my feet or hands	1	5	4.03	.939
Better able to face the world	1	5	3.62	1.036
Emotional side of music	1	5	1.74	.940
Some kinds of music	1	5	3.80	1.014
Aroused and satisfied	1	5	3.24	1.037
Sense of order	1	5	2.43	1.237
Period of my life	1	5	4.53	.687
Influence my emotions	1	5	4.16	.848
Life would be meaningless	1	5	3.13	1.256
Experiences of ecstasy	1	5	3.72	1.145

Table 6. Continued

Correlation

Table 7 shows the correlation between BFQ and Barcelona variables, Correlation basically tells us a strength of the relationship between two variables from the above table the relationship between "When I share music with someone I feel a special connection with that person" and "Is original, comes up with new ideas" is 0.234 which is a weak, this variable also shows weak relationship with all the variables of BFQ, Second variable of Barcelona is "In my free time I hardly listen to music" shows the weak and negative relationship with all variables of BFQ. Researcher observed that the correlation between all variables of Barcelona with BFQ variables have weak relationship none of the pair shows the strong strength relationship.

Table 8 shows the Chi square test for BFQ variables at 5% level of significance. First variable of BFQ is original comes up with new idea shows the Chi square value is 2.475 with 4 degree of freedom whose p value is greater than 0.05 so we conclude that the variable shows the non-significant effect, all variables of BFQ Chi square shows the non-significant effect with p value is greater than 0.05 except "Prefers work that is routine" it shows significant effect with chi square value is 10.02 with p value 0.04 which is less than 0.05.

	BFQ_	BFQ_	BFQ_	BFQ_	BFQ_	BFQ_	BFQ_	BFQ_	BFQ_	BFQ_
	5	10	15	20	25	30	35	40	41	44
Bar_1	.234**	.277**	.299**	.262**	.204**	.320**	.086*	.279**	.228**	.301**
Bar_2	102**	112**	-0.062	106**	-0.065	160**	129**	111**	287**	124**
Bar_3	.125**	.241**	.133**	.130**	.083*	.184**	.110**	.147**	.177**	.117**
Bar_4	.145**	.190**	.167**	.138**	.152**	.139**	0.057	.140**	.193**	.151**
Bar_5	102**	137**	-0.037	097**	-0.065	159**	205**	-0.066	196**	-0.011
Bar_6	.189**	.265**	.200**	.188**	.169**	.248**	.165**	.203**	.252**	.205**
Bar_7	.214**	.287**	.226**	.236**	.197**	.287**	.186**	.170**	.364**	.250**
Bar_8	.122**	.236**	.115**	.135**	.098**	.178**	.154**	.195**	.241**	.093**
Bar_9	.137**	.218**	.130**	.158**	.112**	.183**	.161**	.182**	.232**	.120**
Bar_10	.132**	.169**	0.045	.124**	.087*	.163**	.121**	.114**	0.066	.090*
Bar_11	.288**	.274**	.251**	.217**	.250**	.320**	.094**	.233**	.244**	.305**
Bar_12	.126**	.140**	.100**	.199**	.093**	.192**	0.054	.136**	.174**	.145**
Bar_13	.231**	.254**	.176**	.198**	.160**	.309**	.137**	.168**	.203**	.303**
Bar_14	.135**	.178**	.155**	.155**	.129**	.183**	.152**	.162**	.203**	.164**
Bar_15	.134**	.189**	.156**	.202**	.101**	.185**	.158**	.179**	.182**	.136**
Bar_16	.196**	.218**	.243**	.214**	.158**	.278**	.135**	.166**	.237**	.222**
Bar_17	.206**	.195**	.229**	.163**	.185**	.327**	.084*	.126**	.196**	.382**
Bar_18	.164**	.197**	.145**	.191**	.103**	.191**	.176**	.167**	.249**	.154**
Bar_19	.157**	.193**	.198**	.204**	.192**	.221**	.086*	.175**	.208**	.216**
Bar_20	.108**	.174**	.102**	.145**	.105**	.184**	.160**	.118**	.130**	.143**

Table 7. Correlation between BFQ and Barcelona

Table 8. Chi-square test for BFQ variables

Variables	Chi-Square	D.F	<i>p</i> value
Is original, comes up with new ideas	2.475	4	0.649
Is curious about many different things	2.032	3	0.565
Is ingenious, a deep thinker	3.892	4	0.421
Has an active imagination	3.547	4	0.471
Is inventive	0.8	4	0.939
Values artistic, aesthetic experiences	3.734	4	0.443
Prefers work that is routine	10.02	4	0.04
Likes to reflect, play with ideas	2.045	3	0.563
Has few artistic interests	1.325	4	0.857
Is sophisticated in art, music, or literature	5.703	4	0.222

Table 9 shows the Chi-square test for Barcelona variables at 5% significance level, Chi square value of "When I share music with someone, I feel a special connection with that person" is 6.675 with 4 degree of freedom shows the significant effect as p value is 0.015 which is less than 0.05. Chi square value of "I can't help humming or singing along to music that I like "is 8.35 with 4 degrees of freedom, shows significant effect as P value is less than 0.05 and "At a concert I feel connected to the performers and the audience" also shows the significant effect on the model with p value is less than 0.05. other all variables p value is greater than 0.05 which is non-significant for the model.

Variables	Chi-Square	D.F	<i>p</i> value
Special connection	6.675	4	0.015
I hardly listen to music.	3.505	4	0.477
Emotion	0.503	4	0.973
Alone	4.038	4	0.401
Don't like to dance	7.168	4	0.127
Bond with other people	1.785	4	0.775
Inform myself about music	0.747	4	0.945
Emotional listening to certain	5.455	4	0.244
Calms and relaxes	2.422	4	0.659
Makes me dance	7.502	4	0.111
Looking for new music	3.656	4	0.455
Listen to a melody	3.74	4	0.422
Sing or play an instrument	6.848	4	0.144
Helps me chill	2.431	4	0.657
Can't help humming or singing	8.35	4	0.008
Feel connected to the performers	4.928	4	0.029
Quite a bit of money	3.174	4	0.529
Feel chills	3.127	4	0.537
Music comforts me	3.638	4	0.457
Can't help tapping	5.408	4	0.248

Table 9. Chi-Square for Barcelona Variables

Table 10 shows the chi square test for Brief Music Experience. The Chi Square value for "It is hard for me to keep the beat when dancing" is 13.756 whose p value is 0.008 which is less than 0.05 so its shows the significant effect on the model. Chi square value for "I wish my family had sung together more when I was growing up" is 11.993 with p value 0.017, it shows the significant effect on the model, "I have never been physically stirred up by music" shows the chi

square value is 13.252 with p value is 0.01 is significant. Chi square value of "I am especially responsive to the beat or rhythm in music" is 14.518 whose p value is less than 0.05 so it also shows the significant effect, "I often find myself swaying in tune with music to which I'm listening", "Music has no place in my life", and "Certain music draws me strongly to dance" shows the significant on the model because P value of those variables is less than 0.05. Other variables of Brief Music Experience show the non-significant effect on the model because Chi Square Test shows the P value is greater than 0.05 level of significance.

Variables	Chi-Square	D.F	<i>p</i> value
Frequently hear songs	4.345	4	0.361
More integrated	1.661	4	0.798
Sing, hum, or whistle	3.571	4	0.467
Same piece of music twice	1.096	4	0.895
Enjoying music with other people	1.567	4	0.811
Musical experiences changed mood	3.383	4	0.496
Singing in the shower or bath	7.011	4	0.135
Attend a musical performance	2.288	4	0.683
Beat when dancing	13.756	4	0.008
Unites my mind and body	6.534	4	0.163
Made me feel joyous	0.451	4	0.978
Music that has a message	0.4531	4	0.339
Singing a beloved song	1.076	4	0.898
Private experience	3.589	4	0.464
Family had sung together	11.993	4	0.017
Patriotic songs	3.645	4	0.456
Childhood	2.6	4	0.627
Physically stirred up	13.252	4	0.01
Important thing in my life	6.069	4	0.194
Forget my cares	8.408	4	0.078
Hardly resist dancing	2.116	4	0.714
Sense of purpose and movement	7.738	4	0.102
Closer to a higher power	8.367	4	0.079
Beat or rhythm in music	14.518	4	0.006
Depth of my concentration on music	2.487	4	0.647
Swaying in tune with music	9.681	4	0.046
Never affects my feelings.	7.094	4	0.131
No place in my life	9.993	4	0.041
Helps me get out of myself	1.463	4	0.833

Table 10. Chi-Square Test for Brief Music Experience

Variables	Chi-Square	D.F	<i>p</i> value
Draws me strongly to dance	10.565	4	0.032
Sacrifices in my life	5.472	4	0.242
Certain musical performers' lives	4.082	4	0.395
Kinds of music	4.197	4	0.38
Musical recordings	1.208	4	0.877
Music being performed	1.387	4	0.847
Feel so lonely	2.818	4	0.589
Tap my feet or hands	3.882	4	0.422
Better able to face the world	1.456	4	0.834
Emotional side of music	1.623	4	0.805
Some kinds of music	1.785	4	0.775
Aroused and satisfied	0.77	4	0.999
Sense of order	0.767	4	0.93
Period of my life	2.45	4	0.654
Influence my emotions	3.436	4	0.488
Life would be meaningless	1.128	4	0.89
Experiences of ecstasy	0.725	4	0.948

Table 10. Continued

Confirmatory Factor Analysis

Confirmatory factor analysis (CFA) is a statistical technique used to verify the factor structure of a set of observed variables. CFA allows the researcher to test the hypothesis that a relationship between observed variables and their underlying latent constructs exists. Figure 2 shows the Confirmatory Factor analysis for the model from above figure Coefficient of determination between Brief Music Experience and BFQ is 0.64 it shows the model explained 64% variability in the model, Barcelona and BFQ shows 67% variability in the model and Barcelona and Brief Music Experience shows 95% variability in the model where e1, e2, e15 are unobserved errors in the above model.

Table 11 shows the Comparative Fit Index (CFI) of the model from the above table for default and saturated Model TLI and CFI is 0.838 and 0.865 these two values indicates the default model is progressive, for saturated model CFI is greater than 0.93 so we can conclude that our model is acceptable. The Root Mean Square Error of Approximation is a parsimony-adjusted index (Table 12). Values closer to 0 represent a good fit. It should be < .08 or < .05. For the default model our RMSEA value is 0.069 lies between the C.I[0.063,0.076] so, it represents the good fit. And P- Value is less than 0.05 so it shows significant effect.



Figure 2. Confirmaty factor analysis

Table 11. Baseline Comparisons

Model	NFI	RFI	IFI	TLI	CFI
	Delta1	rho1	Delta2	rho2	
Default model	.838	.804	.866	.838	.865
Saturated model	1.000		1.000		1.000
Independence model	.000	.000	.000	.000	.000

Table 12. RMSEA

Model	RMSEA	LO 90	HI 90	PCLOSE
Default model	.069	.063	.076	.000
Independence model	.172	.167	.178	.000

Discussion & Conclusions

The results reported in the previous sections demonstrate that musical intervention in a digital storytelling laboratory, if properly designed, can produce important effects in learning. Specifically, the teachers in the initial training course who declare their love for routine work and reflection are particularly oriented to playing with new ideas and artistic interest. Additionally, the choice of the musical piece is linked to the dimension of sharing and social relationship between people. This treatment, although delivered as online teaching, produced the same results as face-to-face teaching (Alamos, 2019). The value that these teachers give to music in general is, however, linked to an intimate value, which they try to share in the peer group through exercises from the musical treatment. The most interesting result in the present study that should be further investigated is the very strong correlation between social relationship and creativity in generating innovative ideas. Music is, therefore, seen not as a distracting element (Soares Brito & Vieira, 2017), but as a creator (Alamino-Fernàndez, 2020) of social aggregation (Jeremić, et al., 2020). Besides, musical learning in childhood has a significant value and there is a belief that an early and familiar stimulation of music affects musical choices and knowledge in adulthood.

Furthermore, the study perspectives on musical intelligence have aligned with the current educational orientations by focusing attention on two structural dimensions of music: cognitive and emotional. The study of music must allow the development of a "unique" and original thought although, in reality, musical intelligence crosses other forms of intelligence and thought, makes them its own and at the same time contributes to develop and strengthen them (Custodio & Cano-Campos, 2017). Therefore, education through music, but also education in music. The second dimension, the emotional one, calls into question the education to affectivity since it develops reflection on the emotions themselves and their symbolic "putting into shape". Besides, education in affectivity favours decentralisation, with respect to them, since music implies knowledge, recognition and management of emotions through listening and reflection.

REFERENCES

Alamos, J. E. (2019). Música en la vida de los adolescenzas: una approssimazione a las implicancias pedagógicas que poseen las preferencias musicales de los jóvenes per l'aula de Educación Musical en Enseñanza Media [Music in the life of adolescents: an approximation of the pedagogical implications of the musical preferences of young people for the Musical Education classroom in High School]. *Rivista Actos, 1*(1), 88–101.

Biasutti, M. (2017). Teaching Improvisation through Processes. Applications in Music Education and Implications for General Education. *Frontiers in psychology*, *8*, 911. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2017.00911

Blasco-Magraner, J. S., Bernabe-Valero, G., Marín-Liébana, P., & Moret-Tatay, C. (2021). Effects of the Educational Use of Music on 3- to 12-Year-Old Children's Emotional Development: A Systematic Review. *International journal of environmental research and public health*, *18*(7), 3668. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18073668

Brattico, E., & Pearce M. (2013). The neuroaesthetics of music. *Psychology of Aesthetics, Creativity, and the Arts, 7*(1):48.

Calma-Roddin, N., & Drury, J. E. (2020). Music, language, and the N400: ERP interference patterns across cognitive domains. *Scientific reports*, *10*(1), 1–14.

Chamorro-Premuzic, T., & Furnham, A. (2007). Personality and music: Can traits explain how people use music in everyday life? *British journal of psychology*, *98*(2), 175–185.

Chorna, O., Filippa, M., De Almeida, J. S., Lordier, L., Monaci, M. G., Hüppi, P., Grandjean, D., & Guzzetta A. (2019). Neuroprocessing Mechanisms of Music during Fetal and Neonatal Development: A Role in Neuroplasticity and Neurodevelopment. *Neural plasticity*, 3972918. https://doi.org/10.1155/2019/3972918

Custodio, N., & Cano-Campos, M. (2017). Efectos de la música sobre las funciones cognitivas [Effects of music on cognitive functions]. Revista de Neuro-psiquiatría, 80(1), 60–69.

Corrigall, A., Schellenberg, E. G., & Misura, N. M. (2013). Music training, cognition and personality. *Front. Psychol.*, 4(222). https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2013.00222

Dumont, E., Syurina, E. V., Feron, F. J. M., & van Hooren, S. (2017). Music interventions and child development: a critical review and further directions. *Front. Psychol.*, *8*(1694). https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2017.01694

Ferreri, L, & Rodriguez-Fornells, A. (2017). Music-related reward responses predict episodic memory performance. *Exp Brain Res*, 235(12), 3721–3731. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-017-5095-0. Epub 2017 Sep 22. PMID: 28940086.

Fabbro, F., Agosti, A. & Correa, E. (2017). Pratiche digitali nella scuola primaria: il bambino è protagonista? [Digital practices in primary school: is the child the protagonist?]. Form@ re, 17(1).

Gardner, H. S. L. (2016). Estructuras de la mente: la teoría de las inteligencias múltiples [Structures of the mind: the theory of multiple intelligences]. Fondo de cultura economica de espana: Carrera, 2016.

Greasley, A. E., & Lamont, A. (2011). Exploring engagement with music in everyday life using experience sampling methodology. *Musicae Scientiae*, *15*(1), 45–71.

Greb, F., Steffens, J., & Schlotz, W. (2019). Modeling music-selection behavior in everyday life: A multilevel statistical learning approach and mediation analysis of experience sampling data. *Frontiers in psychology*, *10*, 390.

James, C. E., Altenmüller, E., Kliegel, M., Krüger, T., Van De Ville, D., Worschech, F., Abdili, L., Scholz, D. S., Jünemann, K., Hering, A., Grouiller, F., Sinke, C., & Marie D. (2020). Train the brain with music (TBM): brain plasticity and cognitive benefits induced by musical training in elderly people in Germany and Switzerland, a study protocol for an RCT comparing musical instrumental practice to sensitization to music. *BMC geriatrics*, 20(1), 418. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12877-020-01761-y

Jaschke, A. C., Honing, H., & Scherder, E. (2018). Longitudinal Analysis of Music Education on Executive Functions in Primary School Children. *Frontiers in neuroscience*, *12*(103). https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2018.00103

Jeremić, B. S., Pećanac, R., Stanković, E., & Đurđević, T. (2020). Music Technology Software in Adopting Music Teaching Contents. *Croatian Journal of Education: Hrvatski časopis za odgoj i obrazovanje*, 22(1), 263–286.

John, O. P., Donahue, E. M., & Kentle, R. L. (1991). Big five inventory. *Journal of Personality* and Social Psychology.

Koelsch, S. (2011). Toward a neural basis of music perception–a review and updated model. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 2(110). https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2011.00110

Koelsch, S. (2012). Brain and Music. Wiley-Blackwell: Oxford.

Limone, P., Toto, G.A., & Cafarelli, B. (2021). The Decision-Making Process and the Construction of Online Sociality through the Digital Storytelling Methodology. *Electronics*, *10*(2465). https://doi.org/10.3390/electronics10202465

Lordier, L., Meskaldji, D. E., Grouiller, F., Pittet, M. P., Vollenweide, A., Vasung, L., Borradori-Tolsa, C., Lazeyras, F., Grandjean, D., Van De Ville, D., & Hüppi P. S. (2019). Music in premature infants enhances high-level cognitive brain networks. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *116*(24), 12103–12108. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1817536116

Lv, H. Z., & Luo, J. (2021). Creative approaches in music teaching: Possibilities of web 2.0 technologies. *Thinking Skills and Creativity*, 40. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tsc.2021.100840

Mas-Herrero, E., Marco-Pallares, J., Lorenzo-Seva, U., Zatorre, R. J., & Rodriguez-Fornells A. (2013). Barcelona Music Reward Questionnaire. *Music Perception*, *31*(2), 118–138.

Medina-Garrido, J., & León, E. (2017). Mejorando la percepción sobre la inteligencia: una intervención breve para alumnos de Educación Secundaria. *Elettrone. J. Ris. Educa. Psico, 15.*

North, A. C., Hargreaves, D. J., & Hargreaves, J. J. (2004). Uses of music in everyday life. *Music perception*, 22(1), 41–77.

Ritossa, D. A., & Rickard N. S. (2004). The relative utility of 'pleasantness' and "liking" dimensions in predicting the emotions expressed by music. *Psychology of Music*, *32*(1), 5–22.

Sihvonen, A. J., Leo, V., Ripollés, P., Lehtovaara, T., Ylönen, A., Rajanaro, P., Laitinen, S., Forsblom, A., Saunavaara, J., Autti, T., Laine, M., Rodríguez-Fornells, A., Tervaniemi, M., Soinila, S., & Särkämö, T. (2020). Vocal music enhances memory and language recovery after stroke: pooled results from two RCTs. *Annals of clinical and translational neurology*, *7*(11), 2272–2287. https://doi.org/10.1002/acn3.51217

Soares Brito, H. M., & Vieira, M. E. (2017). Era uma vez um gato maltês, tocava piano e falava francês: um olhar sobre o acesso à rede pública de ensino artístico especializado da música [Once upon a time there was a Maltese cat, played the piano and spoke French: an eye on the access to the public network of artistic education specialized in music]. *Revista de Estudios e Investigación en Psicología y Educación*, 134–139.

Stewart, N. A. J., & Lonsdale, A. J. (2016). It's better together: The psychological benefits of singing in a choir. *Psychology of Music*, *44*(6), 1240–1254.

Tarrant, M., North, A. C., & Hargreaves, D. J. (2000). English and American adolescents' reasons for listening to music. *Psychology of Music*, 28(2), 166–173.

Torppa, R. & Huotilainen, M. (2019). Why and how music can be used to rehabilitate and develop speech and language skills in hearing-impaired children. *Hearing research*, *380*, 108–122. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heares.2019.06.003

Toto, G. (2017). The Role of The musical Learning in the Development of the socio and cognitive abilities. A review. *Turkish Online Journal Of Educational Technology*, 604–610.

Toto, G. A. (2019). Effects and consequences of media technology on learning and innovative educational strategies. Online journal of communication and media technologies, 9(1), 1–11.

Vélez, A. M., & Rico, T. G. (2017). Reflexiones en torno a la inteligencia musical. *Rev. Espanola Pedagog.*, 75, 451–461.

Werner, P. D., Swope, A. J., & Heide, F. J. (2006). The music experience questionnaire: Development and correlates. *The Journal of psychology*, *140*(4), 329–345.

Yu, M., Xu, M., Li, X., Chen, Z., Song, Y., & Liu, J. (2017). The shared neural basis of music and language. *Neuroscience*, *357*, 208–219. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2017.06.003

Zentner, M., Grandjean, D., & Scherer K. R. (2008). Emotions evoked by the sound of music: Characterization, classification, and measurement. *Emotion*, *8*(494).

https://doi.org/10.22364/atee.2022.38

Spatial Reasoning Skills as a Universal Learning Outcome

Inguna Karlsone

University of Latvia, Latvia

ABSTRACT

Over the last decades, the importance of spatial reasoning skills in all areas of life, including education, has received increasing attention while at the same time recognizing the need for solutions to organize learning processes to foster spatial reasoning skills.

Connectivism learning theory emphasizes the importance of an individual's ability to navigate today's information space in the learning process. According to Connectivism, to learn is to create a microsystem of personal learning within the macrosystem of society by creating a Personal Learning Environment to promote learning autonomy and self-regulated learning strategies.

Implementing Universal Design principles in education provides a theoretical framework for an inclusive educational solution based on respect for each learner's unique learning and strategies, as determined by innate abilities and experiences gained through interactions with the environment and society. This study aims to explore the possibilities of modeling the educational process using a Universal Design approach and principles in the context of Connectivism learning theory, focusing on spatial reasoning skills as a prerequisite for diversity and developing an organizational process-oriented model to foster spatial reasoning skills as a learning outcome. The developed model of study organization has been validated in a design study process; the results allowed for the creation and justification of recommendations for using the research results in other study programs and future research.

Keywords: Connectivism learning theory, educational process, learning outcome, spatial reasoning skills, Universal Design

Introduction

One of the primary purposes of 21st-century education is not only to master new knowledge but to administer the process of mastering this knowledge as well, for learners to become experts in studying and persons who are eager to

study and can perform the learning process in a strategically and individually unique mode, thus becoming lifelong learners.

"Space is the basic component of our cognition" (Ishikawa & Newcombe, 2021) and spatial reasoning enables us to collect the results of spatial thinking not only to solve the adaptive task of grasping, analyzing, and forming conclusions about the information obtained but also by mentally structuring, combining, or otherwise transforming it, to creatively develop new solutions and spatial combinations (Newcombe & Huttenlocher, 2003). The skill to reason and operate in diverse situations according to the decision has been mastered all lifelong. The obtained experience is one of the essential preconditions of diversity. Concerning the learning process, it can be concluded that students have different spatial reasoning skills at the start of their studies, determined by a combination of individual abilities, age differences, and the circumstances (family, socio-cultural environment, previous education) in which previous spatial experiences were formed.

The Universal Design principles (Mace, 1997), which articulate a user-centered and inclusive design approach, provide a conceptual framework for implementing student-centered learning environments, recognizing diversity as the norm rather than the exception.

Research shows that the way people learn is authentic and, at the same time, changeable, learnable, and improvable through the learning process. The method or strategy of learning is determined by innate abilities and acquired experiences (Zhang & Evans, 2015).

The processes associated with developing digital technologies in the 21st century have paved the way for a paradigm shift in education, providing opportunities to learn in before previously impossible ways (Siemens, 2005). The space in which we acquire knowledge has expanded, from the school as a physical place in the 19th century where "knowledge is acquired" (Barr & Tagg, 1995), to the digital intellectual environment of the 21st century (Siemens, 2008). Connectivism learning theory emphasizes the importance of navigating information space in the learning process, arguing that learning in today's context of information diversity enabled by information and communication technologies means learning to navigate between these points of connection (Downes, 2019).

Education is a multidisciplinary field, but it must be acknowledged that several disciplines do not imply a transdisciplinary approach (Choi & Pak, 2007). As a significant disadvantage of scientific research on spatial reasoning over the centuries, it reveals a significant gap in research on how "spatial reasoning" is understood and studied across academic disciplines. The first historical map produced shows the evolution of spatial reasoning in major scientific fields, where it is evident that educational researchers do not include the vital work of psychologists and neuroscientists and vice versa (Bruce et al., 2017, p. 4).

The authors of this study argue that a greater emphasis on transdisciplinary research maybe be timely, and perhaps even necessary, in the evolution of educational research" (Bruce et al., 2017, p. 1).

This study aims to construct a theoretical framework to explore the possibilities of modeling the educational process using the Universal Design approach and principles in the context of Connectivism learning theory, focusing on spatial reasoning skills as a prerequisite for diversity.

Methodology

An integrative literature review method was used to achieve the study's aim. An integrative review approach can be useful when the purpose of the review is not to cover all articles ever published on the topic, but rather to combine perspectives to develop new theoretical models (Snyder, 2019). Unlike a semi-structured review, an integrative review often aims to assess and synthesise new knowledge, weaving together ideas from the literature on the research topic to create the basis for a new theoretical framework in a unique synthesis model (Torraco, 2016). The review followed a conceptual structure, focusing in this article on spatial reasoning and the possibilities of promoting spatial reasoning skills in the organisation of the educational process. Literature on spatial thinking and the promotion of spatial reasoning in the organisation of educational processes were selected for review only if it met all of the following criteria: books and peer-reviewed scientific journal articles dealing with spatial reasoning as an essential prerequisite for individual diversity, especially for achieving learning outcomes, were selected for review. Articles in non-peer-reviewed scientific journals and non-professional publications were excluded from the review. Publications, books and journal articles on spatial reasoning published in the last 40 years (since 1983) were selected for review. Publications that met the above criteria were selected for review in Cognitive Psychology and Education (Universal Design in education and Connectivism learning theory). A holistic approach is utilized, integrating findings of cognitive psychology, implementation of the principles of Universal Design in education, and Connectivism learning theory, to establish correlations.

Literature review

Firstly: the study provides some essential insights into significant research findings in cognitive psychology.

It is important to emphasize that the concept of space encompasses physical and intellectual domains and their representation and interaction over time and that spatial reasoning skills help not only to structure and organize but also to analyze

and explain the vast amount of data that we can acquire and store in memory (Downs & DeSouza, 2006). Research in cognitive psychology and neuroscience, well documented in the scientific literature, shows the diversity of processes involved in spatial thinking. In space and time, spatial reasoning is a tool for determining spatial relations between the static and the dynamic, between the self and other objects and entities in space. It is itself a complex and dynamic process that allows us to describe, explain and predict the structure and function of space in both real and imagined spatial environments, as well as to generate hypotheses, make predictions and define possible consequences (Downs & DeSouza, 2006). However, how we learn about a space acquires a symbolic sense of meaning in our understanding, and the context of the space, and at the same time the social situation in which we receive the information, is a determining factor in shaping comprehension, meaning, and significance (Newcombe et al., 2013).

Moore-Russo et al. (2013) define spatial literacy, i.e., spatial reasoning skills, as the organization of the spatial thinking process and conceptualize three functional domains involved: visualization, reasoning, and communication, which overlap and influence each other (Moore-Russo et al., 2013). Spatial reasoning is both an internal mental process involving visualization and argumentation and a public process that is communicated in three primary ways: graphically, kinaesthetically, and verbally, using spatial information code systems (graphics, body language, verbal communication) as tools (Downs & DeSouza, 2006; Newcombe et al., 2013).

Spatial skills are malleable and can be enhanced: even a small amount of training can improve spatial reasoning skills for everyone, regardless of age or gender, and in a purposeful learning process, the levels of spatial reasoning skills converge; therefore, spatial training programs can play a vital role in education (Uttal et al., 2013).

The ability to reason and infer using spatial patterns and structures is essential in many arts and sciences. Spatial reasoning skills are needed in every field of knowledge, especially medicine, physics, education, and design (Lee & Bednarz, 2012), yet its importance in learning is under-recognized and under-valued (Downs & DeSouza, 2006).

In order to identify spatial objects and understand the properties of and relationships between objects – hence to promote spatial reasoning, Golledge (2002) emphasizes the importance of the concept of language as a code for spatial information and suggests organizing the learning process sequentially from the simplest to the most complex:

- start by clarifying the basic concepts,
- to add individual spatial concepts, skeletonizing the overall relationships,
- demonstrate how a spatial concept is formed from the aggregates,
- engage students in independent reasoning (Golledge, 2002).

The scientific literature suggests that the process of studying spatial contexts and spatial examples can be a variety of learning processes organized through the use of spatial contexts in both the presentation and discussion of information:

- promotes spatial thinking and reasoning (Terlecki et al., 2008),
- enables learning outcomes that are robust, long-lasting, and at the same time flexible in their application to different problem-solving situations (Mohler & Miller, 2008; Sorby, 2009),
- is efficient and can reduce the time required for learning in any discipline (Rovet, 1983).

Summarizing the theoretical findings related to the promotion of spatial reasoning skills in the study process, three essential conditions for the development of spatial reasoning skills:

- 1. Comprehension:
 - context of information (Glass et al., 2013),
 - accurate and justified use and explanation of linguistic concepts,
 - verbal communication is supported by graphic diagrams, pictures, spatial patterns, and appropriate gestures) (Newcombe et al., 2013);

a study process that provides a varied display of information provides comprehension of space in the context of the social situation, which is the first essential condition for developing spatial reasoning skills;

2. Opportunity:

- the right to an opinion (students' voice) (Toshalis & Nakkula, 2012),
- active engagement,
- use of own learning strategies (Mann, 2006);

the opportunity for multiple involvement and participation in the learning process according to the diversity of students' learning in time and space is another essential prerequisite for promoting spatial reasoning skills.

Toshalis and Nakkula (2012) argue that without engagement and "voice," there is no authenticity in learning, and without motivation, there is no incentive to learn (Toshalis & Nakkula, 2012).

Neuroscience research shows that if the experience is gained through active engagement. A student-centered learning process enables students to engage in active learning experiences and thus becomes relevant to their everyday lives (Hinton et al., 2012).

3. Motivation:

- establish task value,
- promote mastery goals,
- promote belonging,
- promote emotion regulation,
- promote expectancy for success,
- promote autonomy (Belland et al., 2013);

Secondly, the study explores how the implementation of principles of the Universal Design in education correlates with the findings mentioned before to facilitate the students' spatial reasoning skills.

At the turn of the 20th and 21st centuries, Universal Design principles were adapted to education through several models, including Universal Design for Learning (UDL) (Rose, 2001; Rose & Meyer, 2006); Universal Design for Instruction (UDI) (Shaw et al., 2001; Scott et al., 2003), and Universal Instructional Design (UID) (Silver et al., 1998). These are not in competition with each other but rather complement each other (Higbee & Goff, 2008). The three theories mentioned above are often cited in the literature as a conceptual framework for accessibility in education to create inclusive learning environments for all students (Rao et al., 2014).

The principles developed in UDL, UID, and UDI focus on the organization of flexible teaching and learning processes to meet the diverse needs of students (Hall et al., 2012).

Summarizing the insights and principles developed by all three theories, it can be concluded that the implementation of Universal Design principles in the organization of the study process is characterized by:

- an inclusive and welcoming learning environment based on respect for the individuality of each person, recognizing student diversity as the norm rather than the exception, with an emphasis on fostering an understanding of personal responsibility for the decisions made:
- diverse opportunities for action, cooperation, interaction, and communication,
- 3) versatility of material presented,
- 4) the activity of the lecturer assessing the relevance of his/her approach to the diversity of the students.

The study reveals how theoretical insights on promoting spatial thinking skills relate to the principles of Universal Design in education according to contemporary learning theories in a diverse open-access information space.

Summarizing the theoretical findings related to the promotion of spatial reasoning skills in the study process, it can be concluded that a supportive study environment and lecturer's actions, which correspond to the diversity of students, create prerequisites that enable students to make spatial judgments in communication (diverse communication opportunities) and to develop an understanding of spatial information in the context of the social situation (diversity of presented material), as well as encourage each student to develop personal awareness and attitudes (see Figure 1).



Figure 1. Student spatial skills-enhancing study process, Author's concept

Thirdly analyzing the main concepts of the Connectivism learning theory study investigates the factors that determine the learning required in today's complex and fast-changing information environment where an almost unlimited amount of knowledge is available (Downes, 2019).

According to Connectivism understanding, the starting point of learning and knowledge is the individual or the subject. The knowledge of the subject is a multimodal structure and is formed in interaction with the social environment and society, which in turn becomes an object in the social environment and influences the development of knowledge (personal network organization) of other individuals or subjects (Siemens, 2005, p. 2). Connectivism provides a rationale for the learning that is needed in the new digital age and the tasks that need to be undertaken in the learning process so that students not only acquire knowledge, skills, and competencies but also know how to use them in different social and cultural spaces, transforming them into new situations (Kersh et al., 2012) while promoting learning autonomy and self-regulated learning strategies (Schmidt et al., 2013). Connectivism learning theory emphasizes that acquired knowledge finds meaning in a context that shows the relationships between individual facts (Siemens, 2008; Downes, 2012).

Moreover, the tasks that need to be undertaken in the learning process so that students not only acquire knowledge, skills, and competencies but also know how to apply them in unforeseen situations in different spaces of social and cultural life and activity. Connectivism learning theory emphasizes the importance of the individual's ability to navigate the modern information space creating a unique

Personal Learning Environment (PLE) to promote learning autonomy and self-regulated learning strategies. The principles of creating a PLE and its implementation in the learning process according to Connectivism are characterized by five aspects (Downes, 2007) (see Table 1).

Nr.	Principles	Implementation tasks
1	Informative community	Providing links between diverse information sources/ objects
2	Creative activities	A creative approach, looking for new solutions rather than memorizing facts
3	Context of information	Assessment of the gained information in every situation
4	Support tools	Use of communication technologies
5	Diversity of participation	Opportunities for autonomy and choice

Table 1. Personal learning environment, Author's concept

Results

The symbiosis of the insights of the Connectivism learning theory and the implementation of the Universal Design principles in education is an application of the model of the organization of the learning process focusing on spatial reasoning skills.

The organizational model of the learning process aims to provide an inclusive and receptive learning environment, respecting the student's existing spatial reasoning skills at the beginning of the study, which becomes a frame of reference and a starting point for learning and understanding new information. The result of an investigation of the Universal Design principles in education and principles of creating a PLE according to Connectivism learning theory provides the theoretical framework for creating an organizational process-oriented model to promote spatial reasoning skills as a learning outcome (see Figure 2).

The model developed as a result of the research is based on a symbiosis of the insights of Connectivism learning theory and the principles of Universal Design in education. The organizational model of the study process aims to provide an inclusive and receptive study environment, with respect for each student's identity or the student's existing spatial reasoning skills at the start of the study, which becomes a frame of reference and a starting point for learning and understanding new information. The student's personal learning environment, in which opportunities for collaboration, interaction, and participation are provided by the lecturer's assessment of the student's understanding of the context of the information acquired according to the social situation.



Figure 2. The organizational process-oriented model of studies, Author's concept

In contrast, the opportunity to communicate their unique judgment, experience, and creativity in the learning process will encourage the motivation to develop personal opinions and justify the decision-making process, promoting the student's spatial reasoning skills as a learning outcome.

Conclusions

Summarizing the theoretical findings on the promotion of spatial reasoning skills in the study process, it can be concluded that a study process that provides:

- the versatility in demonstration of information (the interconnection of sources/objects in context, also using the possibilities offered by digital communication technologies),
- versatility of engagement (autonomy and choice according to the diversity of students' learning in time and space, including the creation of a learning community within social networks),
- the opportunity for debate and the "right to your own opinion."
- a motivating, inclusive and supportive learning environment,

is grounded in Connectivism learning theory as an embodiment of the Universal Design principles in education and promotes spatial reasoning skills.

The developed model of study organization has been validated in a design study process; the results allowed for to creation and justification of recommendations for the use of the research results in other study programs and future research (Karlsone, 2017).

REFERENCES

Barr, R. B., & Tagg, J. (1995). From teaching to learning—A new paradigm for undergraduate education. *Change: The magazine of higher learning*, *27*(6), 12–26.

Belland, B. R., Kim, C., & Hannafin, M. J. (2013). A framework for designing scaffolds that improve motivation and cognition. *Educational psychologist*, *48*(4), 243–270. https://doi.org/10.1080/00461520.2013.838920

Bruce, C. D., Davis, B., Sinclair, N., McGarvey, L., Hallowell, D., Drefs, M., & ... Woolcott, G. (2017). Understanding gaps in research networks: using "spatial reasoning" as a window into the importance of networked educational research. *Educational Studies in Mathematics*, *95*(2), 143–161. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10649-016-9743-2

Choi, B. C., & Pak, A. W. (2007). Multidisciplinarity, interdisciplinarity, and transdisciplinarity in health research, services, education and policy: 2. Promotors, barriers, and strategies of enhancement. *Clinical and Investigative Medicine*, E224-E232.

Downes, S. (2007). Learning Networks In Practice. National Research Council Canada.

Downes, S. (2012). Connectivism and connective knowledge: Essays on meaning and learning networks. http://www. downes. National Research Council Canada. https://www. downes.ca/files/books/Connective_Knowledge-19May2012.pdf

Downes, S. (2019). Recent Work in Connectivism. European Journal of Open, Distance and E-Learning, 22(2), 112–131. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1245809.pdf

Downs, R., & DeSouza, A. (2006). *Learning to Think Spatially: GIS as a Support System in the K-12 Curriculum*. Washington, WA: National Academies Press.

Glass, D., Meyer, A., & Rose, D. (2013). Universal design for learning and the arts. *Harvard Educational Review*, 83(1), 98–119.

Golledge, R. (2002). The nature of geographic knowledge. Annals of the Association of American Geographers, 92(1), 1–14.

Hall, T. E., Meyer, A., & Rose, D. (2012). Universal design for learning in the classroom. New York, NY: Guilford Press.

Higbee, J. L., & Goff, E. (2008). *Implementing Universal Design in Higher Education*. Minneapolis, MN, USA: University of Minnesota.

Hinton, C., Fischer, K. W., & Glennon, C. (2012). Mind, Brain and Education. MIND, 1-28.

Ishikawa, T., & Newcombe, N. S. (2021). Why spatial is special in education, learning, and everyday activities. *Cognitive Research: Principles and Implications*, 6(1), 1–5. https://doi.org/10.1186/s41235-021-00274-5

Karlsone, I. (2017). Dizaina studentu telpiskās spriešanas prasme kā mācīšanās rezultāts [Design Students' Spatial Reasoning Skill as a Learning Outcome]. University of Latvia. http://dspace.lu.lv/dspace/bitstream/handle/7/37923/298-62723-Karlsone_Inguna_ik09402.pdf?sequence=1

Kersh, N., Waite, E., & Evans, K. (2012). The Spatial Dimensions of Workplace Learning: Acquiring Literacy and Numeracy Skills within the Workplace. Routledge.

Lee, J., & Bednarz, R. (2012). Components of Spatial Thinking: Evidence from a Spatial Thinking Ability Test. *Journal of Geography*, *111*(1), 15–26.

Mace, R. (1997). What is universal design. *The Center for Universal Design at North Carolina State University*, 19. Retrieved November, 19, 2004.

Mann, R. L. (2006). Effective Teaching Strategies for Gifted/Learning-Disabled Students With Spatial Strengths. *The Journal of Secondary Gifted Education, XVII*(2), 112–121.

Mohler, J. L., & Miller, C. (2008). Improving spatial ability with mentored sketching. *Engineering Design Graphics Journal*, 72(1), 19–27.

Moore-Russo, D., Viglietti, J. M., Chiu, M. M., & Bateman, S. M. (2013). Teachers' spatial literacy as visualization, reasoning, and communication. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, *29*, 97–109.

Newcombe, N. S., & Huttenlocher, J. (2003). Making space: The development of spatial representation and reasoning. MIT Press.

Newcombe, N., Uttal, D., & Sauter, M. (2013). Spatial Development. Oxford handbook of developmental psychology, 1, 564–590.

Rao, K., Ok, M. W., & Bryant, B. R. (2014). A Review of Research on Universal Design Educational Models. *Remedial and Special Education*, 35(3), 153–166.

Rose, D. (2001). Universal Design for Learning: Deriving guiding principles from networks that learn. *Journal of Special Education Technology*, *16*(2), 66–67.

Rose, D., & Meyer, A. (2006). *Practical Reader in Universal Design for Learning*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard Education Press.

Rovet, J. (1983). The education of spatial transformations. D. R. Olson (Red.), *The structure and development of mental representations of spatial relations* (lpp. 164–181). Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.

Schmidt, S., Tinti, C., Fantino, M., Mammarella, I. C., & Cornoldi, C. (2013). Spatial representations in blind people: the role of strategies and mobility skills. *Acta psychologica*, *142*(1), 43–50.

Scott, S., McGuire, J. M., & Shaw, S. F. (2003). Universal Design for Instruction: A new paradigm for adult instruction in postsecondary education. *Remedial and Special Education*, 24(6), 369–379.

Shaw, S. F., Scott, S. S., & McGuire, J. M. (2001). Teaching College Students with Learning Disabilities. *ERIC Digest*, 3-6.

Siemens, G. (2005). Connectivism: a learning theory for the digital age. *International journal of instructional technology and distance learning*, 2(1), 3–10.

Siemens, G. (2008). Learning and knowing in networks: Changing roles for educators and designers. *ITFORUM for Discussion*, 1–26.

Silver, P., Bourke, A., & Strehorn, K. C. (1998). Universal Instructional Design in higher education: An approach for inclusion. *Equity & Excellence*, *31*(2), 47–51.

Snyder, H. (2019). Literature review as a research methodology: An overview and guidelines. *Journal of business research*, *104*, 333–339. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2019.07.039

Sorby, S. (2009). Educational research in developing 3-D spatial skills for engineering students. *International Journal of Science Education*, *31*(3), 459–480.

Terlecki, M. S., Newcombe, N., & Little, M. (2008). Durable and generalized effects of spatial experience on mental rotation: gender differences in growth patterns. *Applied Cognitive Psychology*, 22(7), 996–1013.

Torraco, R. J. (2016). Writing integrative literature reviews: Using the past and present to explore the future. *Human resource development review*, 15(4), 404–428. https://doi.org/10.1177/1534484316671606

Toshalis, E., & Nakkula, M. (2012). Motivation, engagement, and student voice. *The students at the center series*, 1–42.

Uttal, D. H., Meadow, N. G., Tipton, E., Hand, L. L., Alden, A. R., Warren, C., & Newcombe, N. S. (2013). The malleability of spatial skills: A meta-analysis of training studies. *Psychological Bulletin*, *139*(2), 352–402.

Zhang, L.-F., & Evans, C. (2015). The malleability of intellectual styles. *Higher Education*, 69(1), 169–172.

https://doi.org/10.22364/atee.2022.39

Sketching – an Undervalued Tool in General Education

Māra Urdziņa-Deruma, Austra Celmiņa-Ķeirāne, Austra Avotiņa, Inguna Karlsone

University of Latvia, Latvia

ABSTRACT

Sketching is one of the key activities that characterise the process of visualising ideas in the creation of design products and artworks. Sketching skills are necessary to record observations. In addition, sketching can be used to capture new information. In the new State basic education standard of Latvia, sketching has a noticeable place in both design and technologies and art. The study aimed to investigate the role of sketching in the general education of students future teachers of primary school education, future design and technologies teachers, and future designers. A survey (n = 126) was used to achieve the aim. The results show that sketching is to a greater extent and more diversely taught in visual arts than in home economics and technologies. Almost a fifth of the respondents (19%) did not learn sketching in visual arts, and almost half (48%) - in home economics and technologies. Most respondents consider that a sketch is a rough idea for a work, a draft of a work, and its main characteristic is quickness. 43% associate sketching with drawing techniques. Students use sketching most in free sketching situations and in generating ideas for visual artworks. Students sketch equally to record observations and stylize them as well as to visualize design product ideas. Most students emphasise that sketching needs to be practised, it is a way to visualise thoughts and ideas, and it stimulates creativity. Most students believe that sketching has an impact on the result of product design (both speed and quality), and they also stress that sketching ideas makes it easier to choose which idea to pursue.

Keywords: design and technologies education, drawing, idea visualization, sketch, visual arts education

Introduction

The research "Sketching – an undervalued tool in general education" has been developed at the Faculty of Education, Psychology and Art of the University of Latvia in the framework of the 2022 research project "Human, technologies and

quality of education". The study involves four researchers from the Department of Art and Technology and aims to develop criteria for assessing sketches and new study tasks in sketching to be integrated into the study courses at the University of Latvia. This article is devoted to the initial phase of the study.

This phase aimed to investigate the experience of students of study programmes "Teacher of Primary School Education", "Teacher of Design and Technologies", and "Art": their previous experience in sketching in general education, their sketching habits now and their perceptions of the usefulness of sketching. A survey was used to achieve the aim.

Sketching is one of the key activities that characterise the process of visualising ideas in the creation of design products and artworks (Buxton & Buxton, 2007; Sung et al., 2019; Ceylan & Soygenis, 2022). Sketching skills are necessary to record observations. In addition, sketching can be used to capture new information. In the new State basic education standard of Latvia, sketching has a noticeable place in both design and technologies, and arts. With the reform of general education in Latvia, learning to sketch has been included as an outcome in design and technologies education in grades 1–12 (Noteikumi par valsts pamatizglītības standartu un pamatizglītības programmu paraugiem Nr. 747 [Regulations regarding the state basic education standard and model basic education programmes No. 747], 2018; Noteikumi par valsts vispārējās vidējās izglītības standartu un vispārējās vidējās izglītības programmu paraugiem Nr. 416 [Regulations regarding the state general secondary education standard and model general secondary education programmes No. 416], 2019). This means that sketching skills are a must for future design teachers.

Sketch and sketching in general

To carry out the survey of students at the beginning of the research and to analyse the results of the questionnaire, a theoretical base was initially established by collecting materials explaining the definition of sketch and sketching. In dictionaries, the term 'sketch' is interpreted both as a small work of art that is the result of observation and experience and as a draft of a work of art. The dictionary of the Latvian literary language explains a sketch as an image in which the main features of an object or an impression, idea or conception are recorded in a generalised and non-detailed way (Latviešu literārās valodas vārdnīca [Dictionary of Latvian Literary Language], 1972–1996). The various explanations of the term also show two main types of sketches, which also mark the functions of sketches: observational sketches and sketches of ideas. "Sketches (...) record information, to remind one's self or to convey information and preserve it for others. They externalize internal thought, making it visible to self and others" (Heiser et al., 2004, p. 69). "A sketch has been defined as a preliminary,

rough representation without detail, usually rapidly executed to present only key elements of the design" (Pei et al., 2011, p. 67).

In several explanations of what a sketch is, it is closely related to a drawing. For example, Eckert et al. (2004) use the word 'sketch' in two related senses: (1) it is an informal drawing on paper with rough details, (2) it is a quick, informal, imprecise description in which details are tentative or missing. "Sketching, commonly defined as 'drawing', is an activity that all human beings are involved in on some level" (Ceylan & Soygenis, 2022, p. 325). "A sketch is quick and somewhat rough, not a finished drawing" (Pistone, 2002, pp. 25–26).

Dictionaries also suggest linking the term 'sketch' to specific techniques: drawing and painting. In dictionary explanations, a sketch is a rough, unfinished, undetailed, simply, or hastily executed drawing or painting (Oxford University Press, n. d.; American Heritage Dictionary of the English Language, 2016; Random House Kernerman Webster's College Dictionary, 2010).

When talking about sketching as a process, several authors note the impact of sketching on visual thinking. "Sketching is beneficial because it supports visual thinking. Visual thinking is a preferred cognitive strategy in design ..." (Goldschmidt, 2014, p. 445). "Sketches can be defined as supportive tools for the human brain's visualisation process of mental images" (Ceylan & Soygenis, 2022, p. 325).

Research also highlights that sketching is a way of communicating and generating ideas. Greenberg et al. (2011) point to several advantages of sketching in terms of quickly recording, visualising and comparing ideas, communicating, sharing and discussing them, choosing ideas worth pursuing, and using the results of sketching later. Finally, they mention the function of sketching as making the design process exciting and fun.

Types of sketches

As already mentioned, the definitions of sketch and sketching also include references to the types of sketches. One of the ways to divide them stems from whether the sketches relate to fine art or design. Another way to sort would be whether the sketches are the result of observation or the visualisation of an idea (Thurlow et al., 2019). If sketches are created to visualise ideas and to be easy to work with for the author and others, then one of the criteria for categorising sketches is what the sketches are created for.

When it comes to design product sketches, Pei et al. (2011) divide them into four groups depending on the purpose of the sketch, the user, and the detail of the sketch:

- 1) personal (idea, study, referential and memory sketches),
- 2) shared (coded and information sketches),
- 3) persuasive (renderings and inspiration sketches),
- 4) handover sketches.

TO BE OR NOT TO BE A GREAT EDUCATOR, 2022

M. URDZIŅA-DERUMA, ET AL. Sketching - an Undervalued Tool in General Education

If we recall, in several definitions of sketch it was mentioned that it is not detailed, however, the rendering sketches in group 3, according to the authors, represent the exact shape, colours, and tones of the product, while the sketches in group 4 are technical images containing information about the production. Therefore, there is a discrepancy between the sketch definitions and the established division.

Buxton and Buxton (2007) describe design sketches as quick, timely, cheap, disposable, multiple, with clear visual vocabulary, with specific features that distinguish them from other visual representations, with a sense of freedom, minimal detail, and ambiguity because they are open to interpretation.

Variety of materials and techniques used to create sketches

The study also focused on the techniques and materials that can be used for sketching. As can be seen from the definitions of sketching discussed above, sketching involves drawing or drawing and painting. Artists, designers, and art researchers suggest varying the sketching techniques. Kinard (2009) recommends the use of a soft sketching pencil, black-ink pen, and crayons. Cheney and McAllister (2013) point out that there is no right or wrong way to draw, suggesting different tools and grounds, combining techniques, using collage and all kinds of paper techniques. Meech (2009) also recommends the use of different papers, sketch pads, black-coated scrap-board, and a variety of dry and wet media: pencils, graphite sticks, erasers, charcoal, chalk pastels, oil pastels, etc. Leimanis (2021) also recommends the use of different coloured grounds and materials for sketches, looking separately at materials for the early construction phase (e.g., pencils, coloured pencils, grey markers, etc.) and materials for details and atmosphere in the final sketching phase (e.g., charcoal, erasers, pastels, Conté, ink, watercolour, etc.).

Brown (2013) points out that there are several ways to sketch design ideas, for example in clothing design. Besides free sketching, one option is to use a template of a garment shape as a base, another is to create collages, and yet another is to create 3-dimensional works by draping fabric on paper or a mannequin. Here again, there is a contradiction between some definitions of sketching, which relate sketching only to drawing and painting techniques, and the recommendations of practising designers for sketching.

Kinard (2009) recommends using sketchbooks to draw or post sketches and to take notes. Her suggestions for sketching are based on studying the natural or subject environment, using a window-tool to find compositions to sketch, or taking photographs.

Methodology

The study aimed to investigate the role of sketching in the general education of students – future teachers of primary school education, teachers of design and technologies and future designers. To achieve the research objective, four research questions were formulated:

RQ1: What is the sketching experience of students in visual arts and home economics and technologies in general education?

RQ2: What is students' understanding of what sketch and sketching are?

RQ3: How and what do respondents sketch daily?

RQ4: How do students understand the importance of sketching?

A survey with 28 questions was designed to achieve the research objective. 7 questions were designed to find out information about the respondents, 9 questions to find out the respondents' experience in sketching, 4 questions to find out what and how the respondents sketch daily, and 8 questions to find out the respondents' opinions and understanding of sketching. Mostly multiple-choice questions were used, 25 in total; 15 of them using a Likert scale with ranks from 1–5 (see Pipere, 2016). According to the recommendations (Geske & Grinfelds, 2006), multiple-choice questions included the option "other answer". In addition, three open-ended questions; one to elicit general information about the respondents, and two to elicit the respondents' views on sketching. As recommended by Geske and Grinfelds (2020), the questionnaire was first pre-field-tested and field-trial-tested, after which some questions were refined.

The survey was distributed electronically to professional bachelor study programme (PBSP) "Art" students, PBSP "Teacher of Design and Technologies" students and PBSP "Teacher of Primary School Education" students (for study years 1, 2, and 3 in the spring semester of the academic year 2021/22).

Student participation in the study was voluntary and the survey was anonymous. Following the principles and ethical aspects of data protection, informed consent was obtained from all participants. The data was used only in aggregate form. Answers to open-ended questions received codes.

The results of the survey were analysed quantitatively and qualitatively.

Characteristics of respondents

Electronic surveys were received from 126 respondents. All respondents are studying in professional bachelor study programmes. 53% of respondents are studying in the programme "Art": 38% to acquire the qualification of a graphic designer, and 15% – the qualification of an interior designer. 47% of respondents are studying to be teachers: 29% for primary education teachers, and 18% for design and technologies teachers (see Figure 1). The largest number of respondents are 2nd-semester students (64%), followed by 4th-semester students (19%) and 6th-semester students (17%). The respondents obtained their secondary

education in various regions and localities of Latvia. 40% of respondents received their secondary education in Riga, 25% in Vidzeme, 21% in Zemgale, 9% in Kurzeme and 5% in Latgale. 39% studied in small towns, 16% in big cities, and 5% in rural areas.



Figure 1. Respondents' study programmes (n = 126)

In addition to secondary education, many respondents also had additional education, both formal and informal. 30% of respondents have attended an interest education programme related to visual arts, 21% of respondents have attended a vocational art school, 14% of respondents have taken courses, and 13% have studied in art studios. However, it should be noted that a significant number of respondents (37%) have not received additional education (see Figure 2).



Figure 2. Additional education of respondents

Results

RQ1: What is the sketching experience of students in visual arts and home economics and technologies in general education?

Given that sketching is a compulsory skill in the new curriculum, it is important to find out about students' experiences. A total of 17% have sketched often or very often in visual arts, and 30% sometimes. Almost a fifth of respondents (19%) have not sketched at all in visual arts (see Figure 3).

Compared to sketching in visual arts, sketching is less frequently taught in lessons on home economics and technologies. Only 10 respondents, or 8%, say they have learnt it often or very often, while 48%, or almost half, have not learnt sketching at all in these lessons (see Figure 3). This means that sketching needs to be given a special place in design and technologies teaching methodologies, as some future teachers do not have this experience themselves.



Figure 3. Frequency of sketching in visual arts and home economics and technologies (n = 126)



Figure 4. Variety of graphic materials in visual arts and home economics and technologies (n = 126)

For a more varied sketching experience, it is recommended to use different graphic materials and grounds. 58% of respondents have experienced using a variety of graphic materials for sketching in the visual arts, while 35% have not used a variety of graphic materials. In home economics and technologies, only 36% of respondents have used different graphic materials for sketching, while 53% have not (see Figure 4). This implies that the variety of graphic materials, especially in design and technologies teaching methodologies, also needs to be addressed in the study process. The responses show that a variety of sketching grounds is used comparatively less than a variety of graphic materials. In the visual arts, 38% of respondents indicate that they have used a variety of sketching grounds, while 52% have not. In home economics and technologies, 27% of respondents have used a variety of grounds, while 63% have not.

In addition, only 28% of respondents say they have studied artists' sketches in visual arts, while 24% have studied artists'/designers' sketches in home economics and technologies.

RQ2: What is students' understanding of what sketch and sketching are?

In response to the open question "What is a sketch?", most respondents (60%) consider a sketch to be a rough draft (see Figure 5), e.g., S22 writes that "a sketch is a draft of the real work." In addition, just over half of the respondents (52%) write that a characteristic of a sketch is that it is quickly done. For example, DT13 writes that it is "a quick implementation of ideas on paper." 43% associate sketching with drawing techniques. For example, S14 defines a sketch as a drawing "from which a work of art is made." Respondent M61 writes: "A sketch is a quick drawing." 21% of respondents associate sketching with sketching an idea, e.g., DT12 writes that a sketch is "a representation of your idea on paper." 12% of respondents associate sketching subjects/objects. M61 thinks that "a sketch is a draft of things, objects or people, mostly of a small size."



Figure 5. The most common answers to the question "What is a sketch?" (n = 126)

Only a few respondents mention specific materials (pencils, felt-tip pens, etc.) (5%) and the means of expression (8%) used in the sketch, including line, colour, proportion, silhouette, shape, etc. For example, M15 describes a sketch as a drawing "in pencil/felt-tip pen/drawing pen." M25 writes: "A sketch is a rough draft of a drawing made over a short period, in which the shape, proportions, composition and, in some cases, shadow/lighting can be determined."

The majority of respondents believe that there are differences between sketching by hand and sketching digitally, with 61% saying definitely yes and 26% saying rather yes (see Figure 6).



Figure 6. Differences between sketching by hand and digitally as perceived by respondents (n = 126)

RQ3: How and what do respondents sketch daily?

Most respondents sketch by hand (96%) in their daily lives, while 2/3 of all respondents sketch digitally (66%). 37% of respondents sketch by hand often or very often, and 11% of respondents sketch digitally often or very often (see Figure 7). Sketch notebook has been used by 2/3 of respondents.



Figure 7. Frequency of sketching by hand and digitally in respondents' daily life

When asked what they sketch, many respondents (73%) tick the option "free sketching in different situations". A large majority of respondents (65%) sketch to visualise ideas for artworks. Just under half of respondents sketch to explore nature and the subject environment, and to create sketches for different products. 39% study the artworks – stylising them or making creative compositions, and 33% sketch artworks to copy them. 31% of respondents sketch connections while listening to a text. A relatively small proportion of respondents (18%) sketch on a template provided (see Figure 8).





Most respondents produce monochrome sketches (92%) in a single technique (63%). In contrast, polychrome sketches (45%), as well as sketches in several techniques (44%), are made by slightly less than half of the respondents.

Most respondents sketch design products to visualise ideas (88%), slightly fewer students sketch to choose between several ideas (75%), and 65% sketch to experiment. This suggests that in the study process more attention should be paid to experimental sketching and the possibility of variations in sketches.

RQ4: How do students understand the importance of sketching?

Students' motivation and understanding of the worth of sketching are important. A convincing majority of respondents agree (77% strongly agree and 21% rather agree) that it is necessary to learn to sketch by hand to be able to visualise their ideas. Similarly, the majority of respondents rate sketching as something to learn to be able to record their observations (69% strongly agree and 26% rather agree).

Most respondents (around 3/4) agree that the amount of work put into sketching determines both the overall quality of the design product and the speed with which a design product can be produced. 17% of respondents neither agree nor disagree that the amount of work put into the sketch depends on the quality of the overall design product. 15% of respondents neither agree nor disagree that the amount of work invested in the sketch depends on the speed with which a design product can be produced. This means that it is necessary to think about how to motivate students to sketch design products.

86% of respondents answered the question "What would you like to add about sketching by hand?" (see Figure 9), which shows that respondents are not indifferent to sketching.



Figure 9. What would respondents like to add about sketching by hand? (n = 126)

23% express the opinion that sketching skills need to be developed, e.g., respondent DT5 writes: "I think sketching skills should be compulsory at school as part of design thinking." 21% of the respondents to this question think that sketching is useful for visualising ideas. For example, respondent M32 points out that sketches "help to visualise and plan ideas." 15% emphasise that sketching generates new ideas. For example, respondent M12 says: "Sketching gives ideas that don't just come to mind." 13% of respondents associate sketching with sketching objects or the environment, e.g., M8 indicates: "A quick sketch of an object/landscape etc. A drawing that includes the main details. 1–10 min." 8% of respondents believe that sketching contributes in many ways to personal development, including the development of thinking and memory. For example, respondent DT9 writes: "Developing drawing/sketching skills makes people more creative, better able to structure their ideas and thinking, better able to explain them to others, and better able to accentuate key and secondary details."

8% of respondents say it is faster and easier to sketch by hand. For example, respondent M42 thinks that sketching by hand "is a faster way to work than

doing it digitally." 2% of respondents stress the opposite view. Respondent M7 writes: "I like [sketching] with digital tools better than by hand because of the ability to erase."

Discussion

The results of the survey show that the students have different sketching experience, which was gained in the general education school. In general, there has been a greater variety of sketching tasks (different graphic materials used and different grounds for sketching) in visual arts than in home economics and technologies. However, 35% of respondents in visual arts also did not have a variety of materials for sketching and 7% neither agreed nor disagreed with this. This is directly related to respondents' understanding of sketching, as when defining a sketch, 43% of respondents associate sketching with drawing techniques. This is also in line with the understanding of the term 'sketch' proposed by several authors (Ceylan & Soygenis, 2022; Pistone, 2002).

Students consider that there is a significant difference between sketching by hand and sketching digitally, with a higher percentage of students using sketching by hand. The highest percentage of students sketch freely in different situations. 31% of respondents sketch commonalities while listening to a text, this supports research that 1/3 of people are strongly visual-spatial (Silverman, 2002). There is a noticeable correlation between the fact that more students have learned sketching in the visual arts, as more respondents use sketching for visualising ideas for artwork than for visualising ideas for design products. Students' previous experience can also be related to the fact that a higher percentage of students appreciate the need to sketch to visualise ideas and record observations than the effort put into sketching design product ideas to influence the overall quality and development speed of the design product.

23% of students especially appreciate the need to learn to sketch and emphasize it when answering the question of what else they want to add. The results of the research show that it is necessary to pay more attention to sketching in the university for future designers and design and technologies educators. It is especially necessary to pay attention to the variety of sketches (the variety of techniques and materials used) and to create tasks that focus on both observation and idea sketching, as well as experimentation in the sketching process.

The results of the study cannot be generalized due to the small number of respondents, but they are valuable for future studies on learning sketching in the study process.

Conclusions

The study answered all four research questions.

Regarding RQ1 on students' previous experience, the study showed that respondents have different sketching experiences before their university studies, which calls for a differentiated approach at university. The sketching experience has been influenced by both the comprehensive school and additional educational opportunities.

In general education, respondents have sketched more frequently and differently in visual arts than in home economics and technologies. This is because sketching has been traditionally more associated with visual arts than with product design.

When the term 'sketch' is defined, it is often associated with drawing, and this is also reflected in many students' understandings of what sketch and sketching are (RQ2). Books written by artists and designers, on the other hand, offer a wide range of materials and techniques to use. This means that students need to be shown a variety of possibilities, including the possibility of creating sketches in appliqué, collage, painting, and other techniques.

Responses related to the RQ3 about students' daily sketching habits show that sketching by hand plays an important role in respondents' creative and professional self-expression. This is shown by the respondents' attitude towards the survey: even when answering the question allowing for non-response, 86% of the students submitted answers. Most respondents sketch freehand in different situations and visualise ideas for visual artworks, which is directly related to the fact that at school sketching is taught more in visual arts than in home economics and technologies. 37% of respondents sketch by hand often or very often, 39% sometimes, 4% never and the rest rarely. Overall, respondents sketch more often by hand than digitally.

Respondents appreciate the importance of sketching (RQ4), as almost all agree with the statement that sketching is necessary to visualise ideas and record observations. In response to the question "What else would you like to add?" 23% say that sketching needs to be developed.

Overall, the results show that the role of sketching in general education has been undervalued. New educational standards in Latvia and curriculum reforms have changed the official framework, but the teaching of sketching skills in each school will depend on individual teachers. Therefore, preparing future teachers for a fulfilling job is a very important motivation for changes in the content of university curricula. The study revealed key aspects that need attention when designing and developing new tasks for teaching sketching. It should be noted that the role of sketching in the professional activities of future graphic and interior designers will not diminish either. Techniques and tools may change, but the need to visualise ideas will not disappear.

Aknowledgment

The article is developed in the framework of the 2022 research project "Human, Technologies and Quality of Education" of the University of Latvia, Faculty of Education, Psychology and Art.

REFERENCES

American Heritage Dictionary of the English Language. (2016). Sketch. In *The free dictionary by Farlex*. https://www.thefreedictionary.com/sketch (Retrieved December 28, 2021)

Brown, C. (2013). Knitwear design. Laurence King.

Buxton, W., & Buxton, B. (2007). Sketching user experiences: Getting the design right and the right design. Morgan Kaufmann.

Ceylan, S., & Soygenis, S. (2022). Improving architecture students' design skills: A studio experience. *International Journal of Art & Design Education*, 41(2), 320–340. https://doi.org/10.1111/jade.12401

Cheney, N., & McAllister, H. (2013). *Textile surface manipulation (Textiles handbooks)*. Bloomsbury Visual Arts.

Collins English Dictionary – Complete and Unabridged. (2014). Sketch. In *The free dictionary by Farlex*. https://www.thefreedictionary.com/sketch (Retrieved December 28, 2021)

Eckert, C. M., Blackwell, A. F., Stacey, M. K., & Earl, C. F. (2004). Sketching across design domains. In J. S. Gero, B. Tversky, & T. Knight (Eds.), *Visual and Spatial Reasoning in Design III* (pp. 79–101). Key Centre of Design Computing and Cognition, University of Sydney. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/42797012_Sketching_across_design_domains

Geske, A., & Grīnfelds, A. (2006). *Izglītības pētniecība* [Educational research]. LU Akadēmiskais apgāds.

Geske, A., & Grīnfelds, A. (2020). *Izglītības pētījumu aptaujas – no izveidošanas līdz datu apstrādei* [Education research surveys – from design to data processing]. LU Akadēmiskais apgāds.

Goldschmidt, G. (2014). Modeling the role of sketching in design idea generation. In A. Chakrabarti, & L. Blessing (Eds.), An anthology of theories and models of design (pp. 433–450). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4471-6338-1_21

Greenberg, S., Carpendale, S., Marquardt, N., & Buxton, B. (2011). *Sketching user experiences: The workbook*. Elsevier.

Heiser, J., Tversky, B., & Silverman, M. (2004). Sketches for and from collaboration. In J. S. Gero, B. Tversky, & T. Knight (Eds.), *Visual and spatial reasoning in design II* (pp. 69–78). Key Centre of Design Computing and Cognition, University of Sydney. https://www.tc. columbia.edu/faculty/bt2158/faculty-profile/files/rsky_Silverman_Sketchesforandfrom-collaboration.PDF

Kinard, L. (2009). Art + quilt: Design principles and creativity exercises. Interweave.

Latviešu literārās valodas vārdnīca [Dictionary of Latvian Literary Language]. (1972–1996). Skice. In *Tezaurs.lv dictionary*. https://tezaurs.lv/skice (Retrieved September 24, 2022)

Leimanis, I. (2021). Sketching perspective. The Crowood Press.

Meech, S. (2009). Connecting art to stitch. Batsford.

Noteikumi par valsts pamatizglitibas standartu un pamatizglitibas programmu paraugiem Nr. 747 [Regulations regarding the state basic education standard and model basic education programmes No. 747] (2018). https://likumi.lv/ta/id/303768-noteikumi-par-valstspamatizglitibas-standartu-un-pamatizglitibas-programmu-paraugiem

Noteikumi par valsts vispārējās vidējās izglītības standartu un vispārējās vidējās izglītības programmu paraugiem Nr. 416 [Regulations regarding the state general secondary education standard and model general secondary education programmes No. 416] (2019). https://likumi.lv/ta/id/309597-noteikumi-par-valsts-visparejas-videjas-izglītības-standartu-un-visparejas-videjas-izglītības-programmu-paraugiem

Oxford University Press. (n.d.). Sketch. In Oxfordlearnersdictionaries.com dictionary. https://www.oxfordlearnersdictionaries.com/definition/english/sketch_1?q = sketch (Retrieved September 30, 2022)

Pei, E., Campbell, I., & Evans, M. (2011). A taxonomic classification of visual design representations used by industrial designers and engineering designers. *The Design Journal*, *14*(1), 64–91. https://doi.org/10.2752/175630610X12877385838803

Pipere, A. (2016). Primāro datu ieguves metodes [Methods of primary data extraction]. In K. Mārtinsone, A. Pipere, D. Kamerāde (Eds.), *Pētniecība: teorija un prakse* [Research: Theory and practice] (pp. 212–283). RaKa.

Pistone, N. (2002). Envisioning arts assessment: A process guide for assessing arts education in school districts and states (ED474414). ERIC. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED474414.pdf

Random House Kernerman Webster's College Dictionary. (2010). Sketch. In *The free dictionary by Farlex*. https://www.thefreedictionary.com/sketch (Retrieved December 28, 2021)

Silverman, L. K. (2002). *Upside-down brilliance: The visual-spatial learner*. DeLeon Publishing. https://l-atent.be/wp-content/uploads/2020/12/Upside-Down-Brilliance-A4-pdf.pdf

Sung, E., Kelley, T. R., & Han, J. (2019). Influence of sketching instruction on elementary students' design cognition: a study of three sketching approaches. *Journal of Engineering Design*, *30*(6), 199–226. https://doi-org.datubazes.lanet.lv/10.1080/09544828.2019.1617413

Thurlow, L., Ford, P., & Hudson, G. (2019). Skirting the sketch: An analysis of sketch inhibition within contemporary design higher education. *The International Journal of Art & Design Education*, *38*(2), 478–491. https://doi-org/10.1111/jade.12207

About the authors

Māra Urdziņa-Deruma – Dr. paed., associate professor at the University of Latvia Faculty of Education, Psychology and Art (FEPA).

Scientific interests: textile education, design and technologies education, arts pedagogy.

She developed and taught courses in design and technologies and its teaching methodologies, and art pedagogy in various teacher education programmes of bachelor, first- and second-level teacher education programmes. Since 1996, she organised National Olympiades (total of 8) and Open Olympiades (total of 16) in home economics and design and technologies.

Austra Celmiņa-Ķeirāne – Dr. philol., Mg. art., assistant professor at the University of Latvia FEPA. She has been working at the University of Latvia since 2008. Since 2016, she has been the director of the study program "Art", but since 2020 – the head of the study field "Arts" of the UL.

Interior and graphic designers are taught study courses Drawing I–VII, Painting I–V, Composition in Design I–IV, Plein Air I, II.

She works in the field of textile art and is a member of the Latvian Artists Union and the Latvian Textile Art Association.

Austra Avotina - Dr. paed., associate professor at the University of Latvia FEPA.

She is a researcher in art education, an author of monographs, study books and articles, and participated in international projects as an expert: e.g., ESFP – Development of visual art teachers professional and pedagogical competence; the Implementing competency-based curriculum project in Latvia (Skola2030) and represented interests of the University of Latvia in European Network of Observatories in the Field of Arts and Cultural Education linked to UNESCO (ENO).

Inguna Karlsone – Dr. paed., Mg. arch., assistant professor at the University of Latvia FEPA. Scientific interests: architecture, design, design education, pedagogy, spatial reasoning. She works at the University of Latvia since 2008 in the professional bachelor's study programme "Art"; since 2020 in the professional bachelor's study programme "Teacher" and the master's study programme "Technology Innovation and Design for Education". During this period, the study courses Basics of Architecture, Universal Design, Universal Design in Education, and Environment Design have been developed and taught. https://doi.org/10.22364/atee.2022.40

Integrating Computational Thinking into Classroom Practice: A Case Study

Diane Vassallo, Leonard Busuttil

University of Malta, Malta

ABSTRACT

Recent educational developments have seen increasing attention attributed to Computational Thinking (CT) and its integration into school curricula. This has brought along a series of challenges for teachers integrating CT into their practice. The study presented in this article explores the journey of a Maltese secondary school teacher in his efforts to integrate CT within the context of a Math club. The teacher participant was recruited from the Malta EU Codeweek summer school, a pilot initiative that stemmed from the EU Codeweek's Train the Trainer programme carried out during summer 2021. The qualitative methodology involved a case study research, with data collected from an online discussion forum, interviews with the participant teacher as well as an analysis of the teaching material developed by the teacher. The results shed light on the CT aspects that were used to scaffold the teaching of mathematical concepts and highlight the challenges and obstacles that the teacher encountered in his integration efforts. The discussion proposes that non-formal learning environments, such as in-break activities, can serve as test-beds for CT integration and emphasises the need for CT to be introduced much earlier on in Maltese schools. Ultimately, this study can substantially help inform further research and practice around the integration of CT in classroom practice.

Keywords: Computational Thinking, EU Codeweek, formal and informal learning settings, K-12, Mathematics education

Introduction

The importance of Computational Thinking (CT), or "the new literacy of the 21st century" (Wing, 2006) cannot be understated in the field of education. As computationally enabled technological advances invade and reshape essential components of our everyday lives, the set of competencies offered by CT are seen to possess the potential of helping our young generations to move from

being consumers of technology towards using the technology to create new forms of expression, build new tools and foster creativity (Barr & Stephenson, 2011; Grover & Pea, 2013; Mishra et al., 2013).

CT involves a set of abstract thinking skills that draw on concepts fundamental to Computer Science (Wing, 2006). These skills represent a "universally applicable attitude and skill set" (Wing, 2006, pg. 33) that should be part of the repertoire of every child's analytical ability and thus should constitute a vital part of school learning. This notion has influenced a number of educational movements which have recently attributed increasing attention to CT and its integration into modern curricula.

In fact, the introduction of CT concepts and practices has been formally recognised by many institutions across the world (Duncan et al., 2017; Bocconi et al., 2018; Pears et al., 2017). Malta is no exception, with a strategy underway for all students from Kindergarten to Year 11 to "understand and apply the fundamental principles and concepts of computational thinking" (Catania, 2014, pg 15).

However, despite this increased attention towards CT and the wide range of curriculum strategies and other initiatives, the integration of CT into the curriculum is still facing a range of issues and challenges (Voogt et al., 2015; Angeli & Giannakos, 2020). Including CT practices in and of itself offers little guidance for teachers about what aspects of CT to include in their practices, and how. In this study, the focus is on the integration of CT into classroom practice by exploring the teaching experience of a Maltese secondary school teacher in his efforts to plan, develop and integrate CT within the context of Mathematics lessons as part of an in-break Math club. The research study endeavours to answer the following main research questions:

- What aspects of CT are characterised in the planning and delivery of mathematical concepts?
- What are the major challenges and obstacles experienced in integration efforts?

Defining CT and its components

Wing (2006) initially highlighted CT as broadly revolving around designing systems, solving problems and understanding human behaviour by drawing on computer science concepts. Later, she refined this definition to encompass the thought processes involved in framing problems and their solutions in ways in which computers could understand and execute (Wing, 2010). Just like proficiency in language aids communication, Lu and Fletcher (2009) define proficiency in CT as a means to "systematically, correctly and efficiently process information and tasks" when dealing with intricate problems.

CT broadly consists of a number of thinking processes which include abstraction, algorithm design, decomposition, pattern recognition, and data

representation (Wing, 2006). Similarly, Kalelioglu et al., (2016) developed, from a systematic review of the literature, a framework for CT that focuses on the processes of abstracting and decomposing, analysing data and recognising patterns, algorithmic thinking, implementation, evaluating and generalising. Ultimately, despite the range of views that have emerged over the years about what components truly constitute CT, there seems to be a set of universally accepted CT elements, which include abstraction (Lee et al., 2011; Wang et al., 2014), decomposition (Grover & Pea, 2013), algorithmic thinking (Atmatzidou & Demetriadis, 2016; van Borkulo et al., 2021) and generalization (Angeli et al., 2016; Selby & Woollard, 2013), among others.

Mathematics and Computational Thinking

The importance of CT skills, and their relevance to various learning and critical problem-solving contexts has been widely supported (Council, 2010; Wing, 2006; Barr & Stephenson, 2011). This is particularly true in Science, Technology, Engineering and Mathematics (STEM) fields (Lee et al., 2020), where research seems to show positive correlations between the use of CT in these areas of discipline (Orton et al., 2016; Weintrop et al., 2016).

The link between CT and Mathematics more specifically, has its roots in the work of Papert (1980) who argued that using programming environments to teach Mathematics allowed students to learn concepts in a more meaningful way. It does seem that recently, the integration of Mathematics and CT has been mainly focussed on programming (Hickmott et al., 2018) or involved a software tool or hardware device (Barcelos et al., 2018). Underlying these integration efforts are beliefs about higher-order skills that are identified as common between the two fields (Barcelos & Silveira, 2016). Weintrop et al. (2016) propose a definition for CT in high school Mathematics (and Science) in the form of a taxonomy with the aim to bring current educational efforts up-to-date with the increasingly computational nature of these subjects. Much of these integration efforts have been triggered by the formal acknowledgement of the importance of CT in Mathematics by important entities. The OECD's new Programme for International Student Assessment survey (PISA) have recently introduced aspects of CT into their framework (OECD, 2018), while the Next Generation Science Standards (NGSS) have also listed the use of Mathematics and CT as one of eight distinct scientific practices (NGSS, 2013). These have served to highlight the promising opportunities for fostering CT skills that help promote learning and problem-solving in mathematical activities that are aligned with existing curricula. Recent empirical studies indicate a positive correlation between CT and mathematical achievement (eg. Sáez-López et al., 2019; Psycharis & Kallia, 2017). Other qualitative studies have also portrayed positive results in how CT could be employed to engage students meaningfully towards possibly improving

a wide range of mathematical abilities (eg. Pei et al., 2018; Sinclair & Patterson, 2018; Gadanidis, 2017). Despite all this, a scoping review of the literature by Hickmott et al. (2018) indicates that there are still gaps in the knowledge of CT as integrated in Mathematics K-12 education. Among the gaps identified is the lack of empirical studies that offer relevant practices and hands-on advice to educators for bringing together mathematics and CT. This paper addresses these gaps by adding to the list of empirical studies that inform research on the possible methods that can be used to integrate CT into mathematics in an informal school setting.

Moreover, the practice of embedding CT into mathematics lessons is a complex and challenging endeavour, and does not in itself guarantee a successful complement of the use of CT to advance the understanding of the various mathematical topics. In fact, many teachers have a lack of awareness of how CT skills can be incorporated into their teaching practices (Sands et al., 2018; Looi et al., 2020). To complicate things further, teachers have also reported barriers to their integration efforts which have posed further challenges in terms of time management, support from school leaders and access to technology amongst others (Morreale et al., 2012; Pollock et al., 2017).

The local context

In Malta, plans for integrating CT across the curriculum may be underway (Catania, 2014), however there is very little or no evidence at all in most curriculum content that mentions CT aspects or their integration. One of the known direct references to CT is in the ICT C3 syllabus (this is the compulsory ICT syllabus for years 7 to 11), where a very brief direct mention of CT can be found. There is also very little or no CT content in local teacher education programmes. This points to a scenario whereby CT and its integration largely happens in vacuumed pockets by scattered enthusiast teachers who may have followed specific courses, like the EU Codeweek summer school, as was the case with the participant teacher in this study. In terms of Mathematics, Malta generally places poorly in the league of nearly 80 countries when it comes to PISA testing, especially in Mathematics (Schleicher, 2018). Consequently, the need for the integration of CT as described above, with all its promising aspects and challenges, are seen to be as relevant and much needed in Malta as they are elsewhere.

Methodology

Background to the study

In the summer of 2021, academics from University of Malta collaborated with members from the national Maltese Digital Literacy department on the organisation of the EU Codeweek summer school. Recruitment for this initiative happened

through calls for participation posted on teachers' groups on Facebook. A total of 20 teachers participated in the initiative, the outcome of which was to guide participants to formulate a plan to integrate CT into their own individual practice for the ensuing academic year. Following the summer school, a call for participation went out to the participants to invite them to collaborate with members from the University of Malta on the implementation of their proposed plan. This was done through a presentation about the proposed research which was carried out during one of the sessions of the EU Codeweek, where information was provided to all participants on what participation in the research would entail. Paul (a pseudonym) was one of the three summer school teachers who opted to collaborate in the study. He was interested in participating and opted into the research after reading further about the project from the information and consent form letter presented to all potential participants. This study thus presents Paul's attempt at integrating CT and Mathematics into his classroom practice over the academic year 2021-2022. His personal ambition was to ultimately enhance the integration of CT across the general mathematics curriculum, however, he decided to initially start on a smaller scale, with a Math club. The reasons for this were multifaceted, involving both issues to do with teacher mastery of CT integration into Mathematics as well as curricular constraints pertaining to the amount of content to be covered for exams, perceived lack of time and other limitations.

Details of the Math club initiative

The Math club was planned to be Paul's educational space to implement his action plan for CT and Mathematics integration.

A total of 28, 45-minute sessions were held once a week, during break times, between the months of October 2021 and May 2022.

Students, recruited from the middle school in level 6 to level 8 (10 to 12-year olds), were asked to sit for an aptitude test. The invitation to join the club was open to all students, and a total of 20 students showed interest and sat for the test. No grades were allocated for the final outcome. Instead, the scripts were separately vetted by four Mathematics teachers within the Maths department of the school. The result of this vetting process indicated that the academic level of students ranged from average to very high. This information was used by Paul to understand his target audience and inform his planning accordingly. Thus, all students were offered a place on the Math club, with 18 of these initially taking up the offer. After the first few sessions 5 dropped out, leaving a total of 13 students who attended regularly.

The 13 mixed-gender students consisted of five Level 6, four Level 7 and four Level 8 students. They all attended the sessions together and initially worked in groups within their respective grade level. There were however multiple

occasions during the Math club sessions where the students collaborated together in mixed grade level groups.

The Math club sessions were meant to provide the students with a space where to engage and indulge in CT in the context of Mathematics. Amongst the topics covered were number systems, divisibility rules in Mathematics and prime factorisation. Most of the time links were made to Computer Science topics, and programming in Lego, Scratch and Python also featured as part of the activities. While Paul had detailed initial plans, he was flexible throughout and was guided by the students' feedback and progress during the sessions. Paul constantly changed and adapted his plans for the sessions to offer students a more personalised experience that suited their needs and interests, while upholding their motivation. The setting was rather informal, unlike what the students are usually used to in the context of their more formal classroom settings. In fact, the Math club sessions were characterised by less strict rules, more opportunities to be creative and freedom to explore different learning trajectories. Paul employed a project-based approach, with his role shifting more towards a mentor who guides and supports the students rather than the more traditional style that is more predominant in formal lessons within the general school culture. The Math club culminated in a Maths Exhibition, organised by the Mathematics department, where the students had an opportunity to showcase projects they had collaborated on in the club. Furthermore, to reward the students for their hard work and dedication, Paul organised an escape room activity on the school grounds in June 2022, where the Math club participants had the opportunity to flaunt their CT skills to solve puzzles and questions posed by this activity.

Methods of data collection

In order to answer the research questions, this study was conducted as a single case study (Yin, 2014). This implies an in-depth investigation of the Math club intervention in its real-life context (Creswell, 2013; Yin, 2014). According to Yin (2014), a key strength of the case study research is the opportunity to employ a range of sources of evidence to support the study's construct validity. Unfortunately, due to COVID-19 restrictions, it was not possible for the researchers to physically be present in the classroom, however, this case study findings build on several sources of information, including forum discussions between the teacher and the researchers, semi-structured interviews, the teacher's resources used during the Math club sessions and pictures shared by the teacher of the students working, as well as pictures of artefacts created by the students as part of the projects they were involved in.

The asynchronous discussions, carried out using the Microsoft Teams platform, were active between September 2021 and July 2022. This online space was commonly used by the teacher and the researchers to communicate on

a weekly basis. Paul shared his ideas while planning and adapting the sessions and the researchers offered feedback and guidance throughout the design process. A discussion was also generated on a weekly basis that helped sustain a reflective process to evaluate the teaching and learning processes and inform adaptations of the design of future sessions.

The aim of the interviews was to collect in-depth data from the teacher about the progress of the integration process, as well as other aspects of interest that would emerge during the online discussions. The interviews also focussed on aspects identified by the researchers from their analysis of the resources used during the Math club sessions. Two forty-five minute interviews were carried out, one in December 2021 and another in June 2022. This was a time during the COVID-19 pandemic, when major restrictions were in place in Malta, therefore the interviews were held online via the Microsoft Teams platform. Both interviews were recorded with Paul's consent and later transcribed.

The pictures shared by the teacher were instrumental in supporting the other data sources during the process of analysis (Creswell, 2013). More specifically, the pictures of student's work and artefacts were jointly evaluated by the teacher and the researchers as they exemplified how CT was employed in the learning process.

Research ethics for this study was followed very rigorously and an ethics application for carrying out the research was approved by the Faculty Research Ethics Committee, FREC and the University Research Ethics Committee, UREC, at the University of Malta.

Data Analysis

Thematic analysis offers a flexible method for identifying, analysing and reporting patterns within the data. With the help of the qualitative research software Taguette, thematic analysis (Braun & Clarke, 2006) was used in this study to analyse all the data collected. Transcripts were coded based on two coding schemes: one focussing on the characteristics of CT emerging from Math club sessions, and the other with the aim of identifying challenges and obstacles in the teacher's integration efforts. The six-phase procedure based on Braun and Clarke (2006) involved starting to familiarise with the data, identify initial codes, then subsequently search, review, define and name the emergent themes, and ultimately produce the report.

Results

Data analysis resulted in the identification of a total of 4 themes and 15 categories, as portrayed in Table 1 and Table 2. The emerging themes shed light on how the teacher translated his understanding of CT into practice to deliver specific mathematical concepts and the challenges met along the way. Primarily, theme 1

in Table 1, referring to the connections established between CT and Mathematics, indicates that prior training about CT was crucial in helping the teacher become more aware of certain specific components of CT. Findings portray how these were then progressively linked to the teaching of Mathematics and subsequently further refined following feedback gained from practical experience. It was also clear that the teacher's own interpretation of CT, which developed and evolved throughout the study, heavily influenced the CT components which ultimately emerged during both the planning as well as the delivery of the Mathematics lessons. Furthermore, analysis of the second theme, about CT characteristics (theme 2, Table 1), indicates that decomposition was the CT component which featured more heavily in the integration efforts, followed by abstraction, pattern recognition and the use of algorithms. Finally, the themes emerging about the challenges and obstacles of CT integration point to a range of barriers met by the teacher. These include amongst others, issues around the context in which the learning was taking place, with informal contexts being identified as being more conductive to the integration of CT into practice over more formal educational experiences. Moreover, issues related to school environment and different methods of teaching were also found to be major contributing factors. The next section discusses these main findings.

Theme	Categories
1 – CT and Mathematics connection	Teacher experience, Teacher training, EU CodeWeek reflection, Professional development
2 – CT characteristics	Abstraction, Algorithm, Decomposition, Patterns, Students' prior exposure to CT

Table 1. Themes and categories of characteristics of CT emerging from the Math club

Table 2. Themes and categories of challenges and obstacles to CT integration

Theme	Categories
1 – Learning setting	Formal settings, Informal settings
2 – School environment	Curriculum constraints, Time constraints, School management and culture, Students' prior exposure to CT

Discussion

Making the connection between CT and Mathematics

The positive effect of training on CT received during the Malta EU Codeweek Summer School, emerged very prominently from the teacher interviews. Paul in fact recalled how following the training, he had become more conscious of CT and its components. He explains how, prior to the training, he would inadvertently use aspects of CT in his Mathematics classes. However, the training had helped him establish a better understanding of how the different aspects of CT could be translated to enhance his teaching of mathematical concepts more purposefully, as he explains:

... the training has helped me put things into perspective, and all the things I had read about before kind of fell into place and made more sense. The practical examples given by other educators during the training was also both very encouraging and enlightening! (Paul, interview 2).

This highlights the need, as clearly emphasised also across the literature (eg. Angeli & Giannakos, 2020; Caeli & Bundsgaard, 2020), for teacher continued professional development (CPD), to ensure that integration efforts are well-informed and focussed on how best to amalgamate CT skills towards the enhancement of classroom practice. Unfortunately, Paul's CPD experience at his local school rarely met his needs in the classroom as he describes the CPD opportunities within his school as:

... being most of the time out of synch with the real demands of the classroom and only superficially addressing tangible needs (Paul, interview 2).

Targeted CPD could help avoid unwanted situations whereby less experienced teachers might fail to address all relevant CT components in their integration efforts (Maharani et al., 2021) because of a lack of proper training. Ultimately, as identified by another one of the categories of this theme, teacher experience was instrumental in cultivating the link between CT and Mathematics. This clearly emerged during online discussions, where Paul was constantly revisiting and revising his teaching material and his plans for the Math club sessions based on feedback gained as he progressively became more in tune with new and improved ways of how to integrate CT. The analysis of his teaching materials also clearly shows how later versions of his work indicate a kind of greater maturity in his approach to integrating CT based on a better understanding of his own practice and the evolving needs of his students.

Meaningful training and a structured support system, such as that experienced by Paul in this study, are seen here as a crucial strategy that can be extended further in the local Maltese context to ensure better integration of CT across

the curriculum. Looi et al., (2020) also recommend involving teachers in co-designing CT enhanced curricula as a very effective way of promoting CT integration. Furthermore, given the importance of both CT as a "universally applicable attitude and skill set" (Wing, 2006, pg. 33), and the essence of teacher training, it is believed to be imperative that teacher preparation programs include elements of CT and how this can be included and integrated in the different subject disciplines (Yadav et al., 2017).

CT components and Mathematics instruction

Results from the study indicate that the most common CT component that prominently featured in both planning and delivery of various mathematical concepts during the Math club was decomposition. This was followed by abstraction, pattern recognition and the use of algorithms.

Decomposition was the major initial step that was noted as being used at the beginning of every problem explanation. The teacher would explicitly guide the students to

... look at the problem and dissect it and break it into smaller problems (Paul, interview 1).

The prevailing aim at the start of every problem-solving session would be in fact to systematically look at a problem and find ways of decomposing it into a number of smaller, manageable pieces which they would then go on to solve individually. This CT component was also evident in graphical ways in some of the resources the teacher had planned, with visual representations of problems being broken down into smaller pieces. It may seem that the reason for decomposition being the most prominent aspect of CT that surfaced during planning and instruction would be that, as Selby (2015) notes, this is the most difficult aspect of CT. In addition to this, it can be considered as the first step in a structured problem-solving approach, and as The Royal Society (2012) notes, an indispensable skill to master before moving on to other CT skills. It is to be noted that the students who participated in the Math club had little or no background of CT. This, as previously explained, is because CT is not emphasised within Maltese curricula, despite efforts being made for its inclusion. In fact, apart from the ICT C3 syllabus, there is no direct mention of CT anywhere, and it would only feature in lessons where enthusiastic teachers would take their own initiative to integrate CT into their own practice. This may point to the fact that students may not be proficient in CT skills yet, so the need must have been to focus more on decomposition in order to master this before moving on to higher levels of CT skills required for the type of problem solving included in the maths problems presented during the club.

Along with decomposition, abstraction was also a component that the participating teacher used quite frequently in his delivery of mathematical concepts. In accordance with the literature (eg. Chaabi et al., 2019) the teacher considered abstraction as a key skill for both mathematics and CT. For him, abstraction was especially useful when encouraging students to sift details and information given in the problem brief in the process of working towards a solution. Many times, this involved translating the information given into a diagrammatic form which would better portray the problem. As the teacher himself expressed:

the sense of abstraction is about re-moving what is not necessary, and representing what you have visually to help in solving the problem (Paul, interview 1).

On many occasions, especially when problems started becoming progressively more challenging over the course of the Math club, the teacher started introducing the concept of pattern recognition and the idea of

finding patterns and finding what is similar and what is repeating (Paul, interview 1).

A study by Ling & Loh (2020) confirms the positive correlations that exist between pattern recognition and mathematical ability. In fact, in this study, the skill of pattern recognition was used by the participating teacher on multiple occasions as an additional strategy in his quest to help students with their next steps in their problem solving approach.

Finally, algorithmic thinking was the last component of CT that emerged from this study as part of the teacher's integration efforts. Algorithmic thinking was seen to bring all the problem-solving steps that the teacher was promoting with his students in order to come up with a

formula that you can apply in general terms, so if you are asked to scale up and say find the sum of all the natural numbers from one to 7 billion, you would be able to do it in a few seconds (Paul, interview 1).

This highlighted the aspect of generalisation as an important component of CT (Kallia et al., 2021). As also explained in the study by van Borkulo et al. (2021), Paul approached the aspect of generalisation in both plugged and unplugged ways throughout the Math club. In some occasions, he also used the resulting algorithm to program the solution.

Ultimately, our study seems to suggest that, in accordance with the literature (Kallia et al., 2021), learning opportunities that integrate CT into mathematics instruction should highlight aspects of decomposition, abstraction, pattern recognition and algorithmic thinking amongst others. These form part of the problem solving approach that emerged quite starkly in both the planning as well as in the

delivery of mathematical concepts in our study. Furthermore, similar to the study conducted by Kallia et al., (2021) problem solving and all the thinking processes involved in it are regarded as common between CT and mathematical thinking. Similar to a study by Niemel et al. (2017), the participating teacher seemed to have a natural pre-disposition to associate CT with problem solving in maths very generally, and his basic underlying notions of CT in mathematics corresponded with his own ways of teaching mathematics (Huang et al., 2021). It can thus be concluded that these problem solving thinking skills were ultimately strategically employed in this study as a way to scaffold the understanding of mathematical concepts (Huang et al., 2021). This highlights the importance of including CT, and more specifically the aspects of decomposition, abstraction, pattern recognition and algorithmic thinking in mathematics instruction. It also highlights the importance of further research to identify other aspects of CT that may have not emerged in our study, but are evident in other studies, like data practices (Kallia et al., 2021), logic and logical thinking (Grover & Pea, 2013), and testing and debugging (Weintrop et al., 2016) amongst others.

Barriers and Challenges faced by teachers

The fairly successful integration of CT into mathematics education carried out during the lessons for this study, led the teacher to identify a number of challenges and barriers which in one way or another he had to struggle with during his integration efforts. The CT literature supports this aspect as it consistently identifies barriers and challenges to implementation efforts, which include access to resources, concerns with timings and school support (Morreale et al., 2012; Pollock et al., 2017). In this study, the integration experience during the in-break club served to highlight issues encountered during the teacher's formal teaching of mathematics lessons. The main concern encountered seems to highlight a correlation with the context in which the instruction was taking place. In fact, the teacher frequently compared instruction in the Math club to his other mathematics lessons and confessed:

I would say I'm more successful, because I am free to push the boundaries further in the Math club, because it is an extra-curricular activity" and also "In the Math club I can afford to scratch their head deeper (Paul, interview 2).

On the other hand, the formal lessons were characterised with quotes like:

I am stressed about the syllabus. I share classes with other teachers and I am concerned when, for whatever reason, I fall behind...and with the whole COVID-19 situation, that has happened quite often lately. There-fore, I always have the syllabus at the back of my mind. (Paul, interview 2).

It is interesting to note that, unlike findings experienced in other studies (eg. Morreale et al., 2012; Pollock et al., 2017), in this study, the school where the teaching was taking place provided the teacher with enough flexibility to adapt and shape instruction in ways deemed effective by the teacher. Furthermore, the Paul also reported a great degree of support provided by the school in backing these initiatives. Nonetheless, it was evident that the teacher's aim to provide students with opportunities to develop their CT skills and encourage students to internalise these skills to become a natural habit of thinking and part of their general repertoire of problem solving skills, was far more successful in the informal rather than in the formal setting. The main issues, as also identified by (Google Inc. & Gallup Inc., 2016), were those of competing curriculum priorities and the resulting concern over lack of enough time prevailing in the formal setting. Research that focuses specifically on the positive affordances that CT yields in informal settings can be found in the literature (eg. Ehsan et al., 2018, 2019; Rehmat et al., 2020). However, it is argued that, in order to better understand some of the specific barriers and challenges that the integration of CT may be faced with in formal settings, more research is needed to be able to compare and contrast these two important contexts. It is duly acknowledged here that integrating CT only in in-formal settings may lead to the exclusion of some students and thus promote inequitable learning outcomes. It is thus proposed that the use of informal settings may prove to be ideal for teachers as pilot projects, which can then be potentially rolled out to the wider formal setting.

Another challenge which the teacher identified in his integration efforts was the low-level of CT skills that the students were equipped with, compared to their age level. This deterred, to some degree, the progression of the acquisition of the various mathematical concepts, because the acquisition of CT had to come first and this, the teacher felt, resulted in time taken away from purely mathematical instruction to focussing on upskilling the students. This is attributed to the fact that the students have been exposed very little, or none at all to CT competencies, in their previous schooling experiences in the local Maltese educational context. In conclusion, the academic literature clearly confirms that the acquisition of CT skills can be successfully acquired in early childhood (Bati, 2021), and furthermore, this highlights the importance of introducing these very important skills at a much earlier stage in the educational experiences of students.

Conclusion

This study presented an investigation of the integration of CT into mathematical practice. Results shed light on a range of different aspects that shape the reality of teachers, who like Paul, believe in CT and strive to integrate it
into their everyday practice. From a local Maltese perspective, it is argued that even before taking the plunge to integrate CT into Mathematics instruction at a secondary school level, preliminary measures need to be taken to ensure that the proper foundations have been laid out. This refers to both making sure that the students have the basic fundamentals of CT to allow them to thrive, as well as ensuring that robust structures are in place to support teachers in their integration efforts. Following the implications of the learning context presented in this study, it is recommended that informal settings may be ideal for piloting and experimenting with integration efforts until teachers are confident enough and achieve mastery of CT strategies. It is however crucial that integration efforts do not stop at the boundary of informal settings and that every effort should be made to understand, acknowledge and try to overcome the existing challenges in order to transcend into the wider formal settings.

In conclusion, we argue that given the current-socio economic trends and needs emerging from our modern society, CT training should be a core component of teacher-training education as well as an important on-going component of teacher professional development. Finally, it is also strongly recommended that the integration of CT should start early on in the schooling experience, as this would enable students to internalise the skills from a young age and be further empowered to use these through a range of interdisciplinary subjects more meaningfully through-out their learning experiences.

REFERENCES

Angeli, C., & Giannakos, M. (2020). Computational thinking education: Issues and challenges. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 105. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2019.106185

Angeli, C., Voogt, J., Fluck, A., Webb, M., Cox, M., Malyn-Smith, J., & Zagami, J. (2016). A K-6 computational thinking curriculum framework: Implications for teacher knowledge. *Educational Technology and Society*, *19*(3).

Atmatzidou, S., & Demetriadis, S. (2016). Advancing students' computational thinking skills through educational robotics: A study on age and gender relevant differences. *Robotics and Autonomous Systems*, 75. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.robot.2015.10.008

Barcelos, T. S., Munoz, R., Villarroel, R., Merino, E., & Silveira, I. F. (2018). Mathematics learn-ing through computational thinking activities: A systematic literature review. *Journal of Universal Computer Science*, 24(7).

Barcelos, T. S., & Silveira, I. F. (2016). Computational thinking and mathematics: Possible rela-tionships revealed by an analysis of national curriculum guidelines. *Leadership and Per-sonnel Management: Concepts, Methodologies, Tools, and Applications, 2.* https://doi.org/10.4018/978-1-4666-9624-2.ch037

Barr, V., & Stephenson, C. (2011). Bringing computational thinking to K-12: What is involved and what is the role of the computer science education community? *ACM Inroads, 2*(1). https://doi.org/10.1145/1929887.1929905

Bati, K. (2021). A systematic literature review regarding computational thinking and program-ming in early childhood education. *Education and Information Technologies*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10639-021-10700-2

Bocconi, S., Chioccariello, A., & Earp, J. (2018). *The Nordic Approach To Introducing Computational Thinking And Programming In Compulsary Education*. Report Prepared for the Nordic@ BETT2018 Steering Group.

Braun, V., & Clark, V. (2006). Using Thematic Analysis in Psychology. Qualitative Research in Psychology, 3(2).

Catania, J. (2014). *Computing as a Core Entitlement Framework*. The Ministry for Education, Great Seige Road, Floriana.

Caeli, E., & Bundsgaard, J. (2020). Computational Thinking in Compulsory Education: a survey study on initiatives and conceptions. *Educational Technology Research and Development*, 68(1).

Chaabi, H., Azmani, A., & Dodero, J. M. (2019). Analysis of the relationship between computational thinking and mathematical abstraction in primary education. PervasiveHealth: Pervasive Computing Technologies for Healthcare. https://doi.org/10.1145/3362789.3362881

CollegeBoard. (2017). AP computer science A: Course and exam description. AP Central.

Council, N. R. (2010). Committee for the workshops on computational thinking: Report of a workshop on the scope and nature of computational thinking. Washington, DC: National Academy.

Creswell, J. W. (2013). *Qualitative Inquiry & Research Design: Choosing among five approaches* (3rd ed.). In Public Administration. Sage.

Duncan, C., Bell, T., & Atlas, J. (2017). What do the teachers think? Introducing computational thinking in the primary school curriculum. *ACM International Conference Proceeding Series*. https://doi.org/10.1145/3013499.3013506

Ehsan, H., Dandridge, T. M., Yeter, I. H., & Cardella, M. E. (2018, June). K-2 students' computational thinking engagement in formal and informal learning settings: A case study (fundamental). *ASEE Annual Conference and Exposition, Conference Proceedings*. https://doi.org/10.18260/1-2--30743

Ehsan, H., Ohland, C., Dandridge, T., & Cardella, M. (2019). Computing for the Critters: Explor-ing Computational Thinking of Children in an Informal Learning Setting. Proceedings – Frontiers in Education Conference, FIE, 2018-October. https://doi.org/10.1109/ FIE.2018.8659268

Gadanidis, G. (2017). Five Affordances of Computational Thinking to support Elementary Mathematics Education. *Journal of Computers in Mathematics & Science Teaching*, 36(2).

Grover, S., & Pea, R. (2013). Computational Thinking in K-12: A Review of the State of the Field. *Educational Researcher*, *42*(1). https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189X12463051

Hickmott, D., Prieto-Rodriguez, E., & Holmes, K. (2018). A Scoping Review of Studies on Computational Thinking in K–12 Mathematics Classrooms. *Digital Experiences in Mathematics Education*, 4(1). https://doi.org/10.1007/s40751-017-0038-8

Huang, W., Chan, S. W., & Looi, C. K. (2021). Frame Shifting as a Challenge to Integrating Computational Thinking in Secondary Mathematics Education. *SIGCSE 2021 – Proceedings of the 52nd ACM Technical Symposium on Computer Science Education*. https://doi.org/10.1145/3408877.3432400

Kalelioglu, F., Gulbahar, Y., & Kukul, V. (2016). A Framework for Computational Thinking Based on a Systematic Research Review. *Baltic Journal of Modern Computing*, *4*(3).

Kallia, M., van Borkulo, S. P., Drijvers, P., Barendsen, E., & Tolboom, J. (2021). Characterising computational thinking in mathematics education: a literature-informed Delphi study. *Research in Mathematics Education*, 23(2). https://doi.org/10.1080/1479480 2.2020.1852104

Lee, I., Grover, S., Martin, F., Pillai, S., & Malyn-Smith, J. (2020). Computational Thinking from a Disciplinary Perspective: Integrating Computational Thinking in K-12 Science, Technolo-gy, Engineering, and Mathematics Education. *Journal of Science Education and Technology*, *29*(1). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10956-019-09803-w

Lee, I., Martin, F., Denner, J., Coulter, B., Allan, W., Erickson, J., Malyn-Smith, J., & Werner, L. (2011). Computational thinking for youth in practice. *ACM Inroads, 2*(1). https://doi.org/10.1145/1929887.1929902

Ling, M. K. D., & Loh, S. C. (2020). Relationship of creativity and critical thinking to pattern recognition among Singapore private school students. *Journal of Educational Research*, *113*(1). https://doi.org/10.1080/00220671.2020.1716203

Looi, C. K., Chan, S. W., Huang, W., Seow, P., & Wu, L. (2020). Preservice teachers' views of computational thinking: Stem teachers vs non-stem teachers. Proceedings of International Conference on Computational Thinking Education.

Lu, J. J., & Fletcher, G. H. L. (2009). Thinking about computational thinking. *SIGCSE* Bulletin Inroads, 41(1). https://doi.org/10.1145/1539024.1508959

Maharani, S., Nusantara, T., As'ari, A. R., & Qohar, A. (2021). Exploring the computational thinking of our pre-service mathematics teachers in prepare of lesson plan. *Journal of Physics: Conference Series, 1783*(1). https://doi.org/10.1088/1742-6596/1783/1/012101

Mishra, P., Yadav, A., Henriksen, D., Kereluik, K., Terry, L., Fahnoe, C., & Terry, C. (2013). Rethinking Technology & Creativity in the 21st Century. *TechTrends*, *57*(3). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11528-013-0655-z

Morreale, P., Goski, C., Jimenez, L., & Stewart-Gardiner, C. (2012). Measuring the impact of computational thinking workshops on high school teachers. *Journal of Computing Sciences in Colleges*, *27*(6).

Niemel, P., Partanen, T., Harsu, M., Leppänen, L., & Ihantola, P. (2017). Computational thinking as an emergent learning trajectory of mathematics. *ACM International Conference Proceeding Series*. https://doi.org/10.1145/3141880.3141885

Orton, K., Weintrop, D., Beheshti, E., Horn, M., Jona, K., & Wilensky, U. (2016). Bringing computational thinking into high school mathematics and science classrooms. *Proceedings of International Conference of the Learning Sciences, ICLS*, 2.

Papert, S. (1980). Mindstorms Children, Computers, and Powerful Ideas (Second edition). *BasicBooks*, 1.

Papert, S. (1991). Situating Constructionism. In I. Harel & S. Papert (Eds.), *Contructionism* (pp. 1–11). Ablex.

Pears, A., Dagiene, V., & Jasute, E. (2017). Baltic and nordic K-12 teacher perspectives on computational thinking and computing. Lecture Notes in Computer Science (Including Subseries Lecture Notes in Artificial Intelligence and Lecture Notes in Bioinformatics), 10696 LNCS. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-71483-7_12

Pei, C. (Yu), Weintrop, D., & Wilensky, U. (2018). Cultivating Computational Thinking Practices and Mathematical Habits of Mind in Lattice Land. *Mathematical Thinking and Learning*, 20(1). https://doi.org/10.1080/10986065.2018.1403543

Pollock, L., Mouza, C., Czik, A., Little, A., Coffey, D., & Buttram, J. (2017). From professional development to the classroom: Findings from CS K-12 teachers. *Proceedings of the Conference on Integrating Technology into Computer Science Education, ITiCSE*. https://doi.org/10.1145/3017680.3017739

Psycharis, S., & Kallia, M. (2017). The effects of computer programming on high school stu-dents' reasoning skills and mathematical self-efficacy and problem solving. *Instructional Science*, *45*(5). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11251-017-9421-5

Rehmat, A. P., Ehsan, H., & Cardella, M. E. (2020). Instructional strategies to promote computa-tional thinking for young learners. *Journal of Digital Learning in Teacher Education*, 36(1). https://doi.org/10.1080/21532974.2019.1693942

Rich, K. M., Yadav, A., & Larimore, R. A. (2020). Teacher implementation profiles for integrat-ing computational thinking into elementary mathematics and science instruction. *Education and Information Technologies*, 25(4). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10639-020-10115-5

Sáez-López, J. M., Sevillano-García, M. L., & Vazquez-Cano, E. (2019). The effect of programming on primary school students' mathematical and scientific understanding: educational use of mBot. *Educational Technology Research and Development*, 67(6). https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s11423-019-09648-5

Sands, P., Yadav, A., & Good, J. (2018). Computational thinking in K-12: In-service teacher perceptions of computational thinking. In *Computational Thinking in the STEM Disciplines: Foundations and Research Highlights*. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-93566-9_8

Schleicher, A. (2018). PISA 2018: Insight and Interpretations. OECD, 24(1).

Selby, C. C. (2015, November). Relationships: Computational thinking, Pedagogy of programming, And bloom's taxonomy. ACM International Conference Proceeding Series. https://doi.org/10.1145/2818314.2818315

Selby, C., & Woollard, J. (2013). Computational Thinking : The Developing Definition. ITiCSE Conference 2013.

Sinclair, N., & Patterson, M. (2018). The Dynamic Geometrisation of Computer Programming. Mathematical Thinking and Learning, 20(1). https://doi.org/10.1080/10986065.2018.140 3541

The Royal Society. (2012). Shut down or restart? The way forward for computing in UK schools. *Technology*, January.

van Borkulo, S., Chytas, C., Drijvers, P., Barendsen, E., & Tolboom, J. (2021). Computational Thinking in the Mathematics Classroom: Fostering Algorithmic Thinking and Generalization Skills Using Dynamic Mathematics Software. *ACM International Conference Proceeding Series*. https://doi.org/10.1145/3481312.3481319

Voogt, J., Fisser, P., Good, J., Mishra, P., & Yadav, A. (2015). Computational thinking in com-pulsory education: Towards an agenda for research and practice. *Education and Information Technologies*, 20(4). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10639-015-9412-6

Wang, D., Wang, T., & Liu, Z. (2014). A tangible programming tool for children to cultivate computational thinking. *The Scientific World Journal, 2014.* https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/428080

Weintrop, D., Beheshti, E., Horn, M., Orton, K., Jona, K., Trouille, L., & Wilensky, U. (2016). Defining Computational Thinking for Mathematics and Science Classrooms. *Journal of Science Education and Technology*, 25(1). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10956-015-9581-5

Wing, J. (2006). Computational Thinking. Communication of the ACM, 49(3), 33-35.

Wing, J. M. (2010). Computational Thinking: What and Why? *Thelink – The Magaizne of the Varnegie Mellon University School of Computer Science*, March 2006.

Yadav, A., Stephenson, C., & Hong, H. (2017). Computational thinking for teacher education. *Communications of the ACM*, *60*(4). https://doi.org/10.1145/2994591

Yin, R. K. (2014). Case study research: Design and methods (5th ed.). In *Thousand Oaks*, CA: SAGE Publications.

About the authors

Diane Vassallo is a lecturer at the Faculty of Education, University of Malta. She conducts research in the field of Computational Thinking and has a particular interest in Computing education, digital competencies and curriculum design and development.

Leonard Busuttil is a senior lecturer at the Faculty of Education, University of Malta. Leonard is involved in the formation of pre-service and in-service Computing educators. His research interests include Computational Thinking, Computing education, design of educational software, game-based learning and human computer interaction.

https://doi.org/10.22364/atee.2022.41

Primary School Mathematics Education Curricula in the United States and Latvia

Astrida Cirulis^{1,2}, Ineta Helmane¹

¹ University of Latvia, Latvia

² Concordia University Chicago, U.S.

ABSTRACT

Mathematics and its related competencies are used consciously and unconsciously in many of life's everyday activities regardless of the country or geographical location, policies, social, economic or political situations. The abstract language of mathematics is understood throughout the world but is learned in a variety of different types and levels of institutions of learning. An everchanging globalized world prioritizes the need for mathematics. Therefore, the mathematics taught in school should give an understanding of mathematics and the tools to use mathematics effectively in new situations. It is common today that many countries are re-evaluating and revising their education system's standards for mathematics teaching, recognizing the changing needs of the work force and society. Within the framework of a project implemented at the Faculty of Pedagogy, Psychology and Art at the University of Latvia, one of the main priorities of which is to promote the exchange of academic staff and cooperation in training future teachers, it was possible to evaluate and compare mathematics curricula in both countries. The aim of this paper is to do a preliminary analysis of the content of the basic education curricula in Latvia and U.S., focusing specifically on geometry and measurement, and seek data about the impact of the Standards on learning. The study, using document analysis, reviews the competencybased approach taken in Latvia's Skola2030 (School2030), and compares it to the Common Core State Standards, implemented in the U.S. A review of the similarities and differences in the content and sequencing is explored. Reviewing the mathematics content in both countries showed more similarities than differences in geometry and measurement. The study looked at not only the mathematical content of the standards but also the approach both countries' standards take in developing students' conceptual understanding of primary mathematics to promote mathematical literacy for all students.

Keywords: content, curricula, mathematics education, mathematics standards, primary school

A. CIRULIS, I. HELMANE. Primary School Mathematics Education Curricula in the United States and ..

Introduction

Many processes connected to education change along with societal shifts. Accordingly, laws and regulations regarding mathematics education are affected by educational, philosophical, and political positions. Mathematics teaching is often regulated by some form of a governing document through a curriculum or a set of standards (Ernest, 1991; Niss, 1981). Stakeholders in this process have a great interest in seeing the intentions behind the standards or curricula influence learning outcomes (Ellsworth, 2000; Boesena et al., 2014). Regardless of the country or geographical location, policies, social, economic or political situations, countries are reevaluating and revising their national standards for mathematics education, recognizing the changing needs of the work force and society. Latvia and the United States, as many countries worldwide, have sought to improve the quality of their education systems, especially in the STEM fields. Many countries have updated their standards or curriculum guidelines to promote systemic changes in their respective compulsory education programs. As examples, in the U.S. Common Core State Standards (Common Core State Standards [CCSS], 2010) were developed, but Latvia introduced its new mathematics program School 2030 (Skola2030, 2018).

In order to assure the effectiveness of new standards, these curriculum guidelines need to be designed and developed within evidence-based instructional practice, monitoring progress and making data-informed instructional decisions (Fuchs & Fuchs, 2007; Rinaldi & Samson, 2008). Traditional curriculum focused little on the practices of doing mathematics but rather on mathematical structures: notions, concepts, theories, methods, and results (Hoffmann, 1989). During the 1990s changes emerged. Recently developed curricula aim to clarify the relationship between mathematical content and practice and make the development of sound mathematical practice an explicit curricular goal (Boesena et al., 2014):

Every researcher, every producer of mathematics will readily admit that mathematics is an activity (Freudenthal, 1991, p. 14).

The classroom or other learning space is no longer a place where the teacher imparts his or her knowledge to students who are expected to listen passively to the teacher and wait for him or her to tell them what to do. In modern times, it is expected that students are active participants in the learning process (Bada, 2015). Today's student needs to change from a passive participant in the learning process, who quietly listen to the teacher's narration, to an active participant in the learning process, who brings with his own learning experiences and approaches to learning (Rajendra, 2019; Thompson, 2015). Teachers need to recognize that mathematics and mathematics teaching must be dynamic (Machisi, 2021). Many educators agree that the mathematics classroom must be an environment that gives students the opportunity to be actively involved in learning, not just passive receivers of information. Thus, in documents regulating and determining educational processes, including standards and programs, it is necessary to specifically include language that promotes the active involvement of students in learning mathematics. It is thus worthy to ask how standards differ in content and structure. A closer analysis of similarities and differences may lead to discovering paths to improvement in both countries.

Methodology

The aim of this paper is to do a preliminary analysis of the content of the basic education curriculums in Latvia and U.S., focusing specifically on geometry and measurement, and seek data about the impact of the standards on learning. The study was conducted between January 2022 and August 2022.

International assessments, like the Trends in International Mathematics and Science Study (TIMSS) provide opportunity for countries to identify strengths and areas of improvement in curriculum. This study compared primary school mathematics standards in Latvia and the United States in the context of the 2019 4th grade TIMSS results. Overall achievement on the TIMSS assessment has increased over the years in both countries and both are doing well by international comparison. In 2019 Latvia ranked 10th best in 4th grade mathematics while the United States was 15th of 58 countries. Content domain specific results are shown in Table 1 (Mullis et al., 2020).

Country	Average Score					
	Total	Number	Data	Measurement and Geometry		
Latvia	546	547	542	548		
United States	535	542	533	520		

Table 1. Trends in International Mathematics and Science Study (Mullis et al., 2020)

Reviewing the content domains overall, Latvia and the U.S. had similar scores in Number and Data, but the largest difference was found in Measurement and Geometry (Table 1). Based on this, the focus of this study was placed on this content domain. The difference between the score in Measurement and Geometry was significantly different than the overall mathematics average scale score for the U.S., indicating an area for improvement.

The study, using document analysis, selected the basic education curricula for mathematics currently used in the United States and Latvia (Table 2). Documents that meet the following criteria were selected for the document analysis: intended for primary school education, define mathematics content and learning outcomes, and are issued in the period from 2010 till 2022. The curricula were analyzed by A. CIRULIS, I. HELMANE. Primary School Mathematics Education Curricula in the United States and ..

using content analysis as a research method. The learning outcomes tables was structured to illustrate the document content and describe the different relationships between learning outcomes that make up the text.

Title	Publisher	Year	Country
Mathematics 1.–9. grade	National Centre for Education (VISC)	2018	Latvia
Regulations Regarding the State Basic Education Standard and Model Basic Education Programmes No. 747	Cabinet of Ministers	2018	Latvia
Common Core State Standards (CCSS)	National Governors Association for Best Practices and Council of Chief State School Officers	2010	U.S.

Table 2. Analyzed Mathematics Curricula

Standards alone cannot change what is taught. Real changes to what is taught and how it is taught is dependent upon implementation of new standards. While it is impossible to say with absolute certainty that they are, standards that are reflected in student textbooks are a strong indication that to some degree the standards are implemented. Research has shown that textbooks play a major role in determining what is to be taught and the experiences students encounter (Gene, 2018). Textbooks are a tool that translate standards into classroom interactions. They are a resource that are used to provide opportunities to master the knowledge and skills that have been identified as important by the education system. Textbooks have been found to strongly affect teachers' instruction in multinational studies (Valverde et al., 2002).

To begin the study, three popularly used U.S. textbook series were chosen as claiming to adhere to the Common Core State Standards (CCSS, 2010). The textbook series included:

- · Common Core Progress Mathematics published by Sadlier School,
- · McGraw-Hill MyMath published by McGraw-Hill,
- EnVision Mathematics published by Scott Foresman.

The individual textbooks for 1st through 4th grade for each series were reviewed to ascertain the presence of content for each standard. It was found that this was indeed the case with few exceptions. Thus, it can be reasonably assumed that many schools in the United States are actually teaching material required by the standards at that grade level. In Latvia, the Ministry of Education and Science, which certifies that a textbook adheres to the country's current standards, examine textbooks. While Latvia's current standards were revised and adopted in 2018, the 2006 standards are predecessors to the current standards A. CIRULIS, I. HELMANE. Primary School Mathematics Education Curricula in the United States and ...

and appear in textbooks used throughout the country. The mathematics textbooks for primary school included different publishers:

- Mathematics 1st 3rd grade published by Lielvards,
- Mathematics 1st 3rd grade published by Zvaigzne ABC,
- Mathematics 1st 3rd grade published by Petergailis.

The Latvian standards are actually law governing the education system. The United States has for the most part adopted the Common Core State Standards (CCSS, 2010) but it is not law. The CCSS were sponsored by the National Governors Association and the Council of Chief State School Officers. In the United States, the regulation of schools is governed by state or territory legislature, not the federal government. Thus, states had the option to adopt or reject CCSS. Over 40 states and territories adopted Common Core since its release in 2010 as its fundamental document for guiding what children in grades K-12 learn and grade level goals in mathematics and English (CCSS, 2010).

The current standards for both Latvia and the United States were reviewed for overall structure and mathematical content in first through third grade. It is important to note that Latvian school children begin 1st grade at age 7, while American children at age 6. Thus, it was appropriate to also review 4th grade for American content. The focus was on the geometry and measurement standards of both countries. Measurement was limited to measurement associated with geometry; length, area and volume.

Results

Reviewing the mathematics content in both countries show more similarities than differences in geometry and measurements. The United States Common Core State Standards (CCSS, 2010) do not specify how the content is to be taught or the sequencing of the material. Integral to CCSS are the first eight Mathematical Practices Standards. These standards are overarching over all content and considered to be an essential part of what it means to be mathematically literate. They include:

- 1. Make sense of problems and persevere in solving them.
- 2. Reason abstractly and quantitatively.
- 3. Construct viable arguments and critique the reasoning of others.
- 4. Model with mathematics.
- 5. Use appropriate tools strategically.
- 6. Attend to precision.
- 7. Look for and make use of structure.
- 8. Look for and express regularity in repeated reasoning (CCSS, 2010).

Mathematics learning standards in Latvia and the adopted program School 2030 (Matemātika, 2018) are more numerous and are more precise and detailed

A. CIRULIS, I. HELMANE. Primary School Mathematics Education Curricula in the United States and ...

in their descriptions and stress both knowledge and skill goals. School2030 (2018) includes both a suggested sequencing of each major topic as well as methodological commentary. The learning content in mathematics is organized according to the Big Ideas (*Lielās idejas*) that the student has to acquire in order to develop common understanding about the surrounding world and oneself in it. The big ideas form the structural framework of the compulsory learning content. Requirements for the acquisition of the learning content or the learning outcomes that the pupil has to attain finishing the particular stage of education are described according to these big ideas: mathematics language; strategies and reasoning in mathematics; numbers, operations with numbers, algebra and functions; shapes; data and statistics (Matemātika, 2018). The learning outcomes are defined both for each theme in the learning content and the respective educational three-year period, finishing Grade 3, 6 and 9.

The standards in both countries state specific learning goals but the Latvian standards give a more precise and detailed description of desired learning outcomes. For instance, the learning outcomes for geometry in the Latvian standards and accompanying program divide geometry into categories that encourage solving practical problems and encourage students to form conclusions about shapes and space:

- shapes and their components and properties;
- position of figures in a plane, in space and their mutual position;
- equality and similarity of shapes;
- movements and transformations of shapes in the plane (Regulation No. 747, 2018).

It specifically delineates skills and gives emphasis to conceptual understanding. Latvian standards contain much more material for the teacher. It could be argued that the verbosity may hinder some but gives more detailed information and guidance to those who seek it.

Table 3 below gives an abbreviated version of the Measurement and Geometry standards for Grades 1–3 regarding mathematical content for both countries side by side. Similar standards were grouped side by side for comparison. The table includes the action words used in each standard, emphasizing student engagement. The U.S. 4th grade standards include: convert linear units of measurement; apply area and perimeter formulas; recognize and draw parallel and perpendicular lines, angles and symmetry.

To ascertain whether there were connections between differences in standards and differences in achievement, individual TIMSS test questions were examined. TIMSS releases only a small number of test questions. In Measurement and Geometry, three questions were released from the 2019 4th grade study. One item is classified as an Intermediate International Benchmark of Mathematics Achievement item, while the other two are Advanced (Mullis et al., 2020).

A. CIRULIS, I. HELMANE. Primary School Mathematics Education Curricula in the United States and ..

Grade Mathematics by School 2030 (2018) Common Core State Standards (2010) U.S. Latvia 1stGrade **Compose** 2-d and 3-d shapes from smaller Compose 2-d and 3-d shapes from smaller shapes shapes **Compare** lengths **Compare** lengths, order 3 lengths **Compare** attributes of various shapes **Distinguish** defining attributes of Draw shapes with straight-edge and free-hand shapes Build and draw shapes with Measure lengths **Divide** shapes into two and four equal pieces defining attributes **Express** a length by unit lengths Partition 2-d shapes into 2 and 4 equal pieces **Build** 2-d and 3-d shapes with stick-like materials **Recognize** symmetry in figures Draw symmetric images **Group** shapes by properties **Decompose** shapes in various ways Make ethnic straw ornaments **Recognize** congruent shapes Duplicate by drawing a given shape on graph paper Draw lines of given cm length Grade Name polygons Name polygons **Draw** shapes with given properties **Measure** lengths using different Cover shapes with given shapes units and measuring instruments 2nd **Decompose** shapes in different ways, discuss Estimate lengths all possibilities **Compare** lengths Divide rectangles into equal squares and other Recognize and draw shapes with figures in different ways specific attributes **Divide** a figure into 2 equal parts different ways Partition a rectangle into samesized squares and count total Partition circles and rectangles into 2, 3 and 4 parts **Recognize** that equal shapes of identical wholes need not have the same shape **Compose** 3-d shapes from cubes **Describe** shapes from various perspective Draw given cm or mm length Mark halves and quarters of a segment **Compute** perimeter Find area as covering by a given number of unit squares Draw rectangles with given perimeter or area on graph paper

Table 3. Results of Geometry in 1st Grade, 2nd Grade, 3rd Grade

Α.	CIRULIS, I	. HELMANE.	Primary School	Mathematics Educati	on Curricula in the	United States and
----	------------	------------	----------------	---------------------	---------------------	-------------------

Table 3. Co	ontinued
-------------	----------

3 rd Grade	Measure lengths using different units and measuring instruments Estimate lengths Compare lengths Recognize and draw shapes with specific attributes Partition a rectangle into same-sized squares and count total Partition circles and rectangles into 2, 3 and 4 parts Recognize that equal parts of identical wholes need not have the same shape	Understand concept of unit square and area Measure halves and fourths of an inch Measure area by counting and multiplication of side lengths, connect these concepts Decompose areas into smaller areas Find perimeter of various shapes Exhibit rectangles with the same perimeter and different areas and different perimeter and same area Understand classes of shapes can have common attributes Draw quadrilaterals that do not belong to special subcategories Partition shapes into parts with equal area
	Explore different types of angles Make and draw shapes with given angles or sides Describe and identify faces, edges, vertices Make 3-d shapes with stick-like materials and	
	with nets Explore nets of solids Build right rectangular parallelepipeds with cubes Make 2-d scale drawings of real life objects	
	Compute volume of right rectangular parallelepiped by counting cubes	

Intermediate test question 1.11.1 asks students to draw the symmetric image of a 2-dimensional shape. Results show that 89% of Latvian 4th graders correctly answered the question while only 60% of students in the United States. The international average on this item was 70%. Latvian students scored significantly better than the average while U.S. students significantly lower (Mullis et al., 2020).

To help explain this large achievement gap, we note that in Latvia, School 2030 (Matemātika, 2018) introduces symmetry in 1st grade. Students are asked to recognize reflective symmetry and draw the image for themselves. In contrast, Common Core State Standards (2010) introduces the idea of symmetry in 4th grade but does not specify that students should actually create the image themselves but rather to simply identify the line of symmetry. While symmetry in primary school standards can be argued as non-essential, it shows the importance of standards in student learning.

A. CIRULIS, I. HELMANE. Primary School Mathematics Education Curricula in the United States and ...

Another difference was the inclusion of describing shapes from various perspectives in the Latvian 2nd grade standards. This is not included in U.S. standards through 4th grade. It should also be noted that Common Core State Standards (2010) does not mention drawing lines of a certain length to be a goal, but rather just to measure. This skill is specifically mentioned in School 2030 (Matemātika, 2018). Several content differences become apparent also in 3rd Grade. For example, another goal in the Latvian Standards is to make scale drawings of real-life objects.

Advanced question 1.13.2 asks students to fill a 6×6 cm square using multiple copies of three different shapes: 3×3 squares, 2×6 rectangles and 6×6 right triangles. Students need to identify how many copies of each of the three shapes are needed to cover the square. On this question, the percentage of Latvian students who answered the question correctly was almost double the U.S. students (31% vs 17%) (Mullis et al., 2020). In this question again Latvian students scored significantly better than the TIMSS average while U.S. students significantly lower. Latvian standards pay specific attention to the concept that equal parts may not have the same shape.

In advanced test question 1.13.3 students are shown three-dimensional shapes and asked how many triangles and squares faces they see in each shape. Latvian students scored significantly lower than the international average with 22% of students answering the question correctly. Students in the U.S. did better on this question with 25% answering correctly which is below the international average of 27%, but not significantly (Mullis et al., 2020). This slight advantage might be due to the emphasis the U.S. standards place on identifying, rather than building for themselves.

Conclusions

- Mathematics standards can have varying degrees of importance in regards to oversight by governing institutions. The Latvian standards are law governing the education system and the United States has for the most part adopted the Common Core State Standards but it is not federal law. The level of detail and components of the standards also vary.
- Both countries standards address not only the mathematical content that should be mastered at each grade level, but also emphasize the opportunity for students to be actively involved in the mathematics acquisition process.
- Minor differences appear in geometry and measurement between the standards of Latvia and the U.S. There are differences in the sequencing of geometric content as well as skill acquisition.
- Textbook adherence to standards in Latvia is certified by the government, but there is no such oversight in the U.S.

- While these differences may appear small, focus on such nuances could help both countries improve test scores and most importantly help their students gain a better understanding of mathematics.
- Reviewing results on international assessments such as TIMSS points out the importance of the standards and even the wording of standards, indicating that well thought-out changes to standards can have an impact on student knowledge.

Aknowledgment

The present paper has been carried out as part of the project "Motivated, modern and competitive academic staff of the University of Latvia study direction "Education, pedagogy and sport.""; project number: 8.2.2.0/18/I/004.

REFERENCES

Bada, S. O. (2015). Constructivism Learning Theory: A Paradigm for Teaching and Learning. *IOSR Journal of Research & Method in Education*, *5*(6), 66–70. https://doi.org/10.9790/7388-05616670

Boesena, J., Helenius, O., Bergqvist, E., Bergqvist, T., Lithner, J., Palmb, T., & Palmberg, B. (2014). Developing mathematical competence: From the intended to the enacted curriculum. *The Journal of Mathematical Behavior*, *33*, 72–87. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmathb.2013.10.001

Common Core State Standards. (2010). Council of Chief State School Officers (CCSSO), National Governors Association Center for Best Practices (NGA Center). http://www.corestandards.org

Ernest, P. (1991). *The philosophy of mathematics education*. London: Falmer Press. https://p4mriunpat.files.wordpress.com/2011/10/the-philosophy-of-mathematics-education-studies-in-mathematicseducation.pdf

Ellsworth, J. B. (2000). Surviving change: A survey of educational change models. New York: ERIC Clearinghouse on Information & Technology. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED443417.pdf

Freudenthal, H. (1991). Revisiting mathematics education: China lectures. Dordrecht: Kluwer Academic. https://doi.org/10.1007/0-306-47202-3

Fuchs, L. S., & Fuchs, D. (2007). A model for implementing responsiveness to intervention. *Teaching Exceptional Children*, *39*(5), 14–23. https://doi.org/10.1177/004005990703900503

Gene, K. (2018). An Analysis of School Mathematics Textbooks in Terms of Their Pedagogical Orientation. *Open Journal for Educational Research*, 2(1), 1–18. https://doi.org/10.32591/coas.ojer.0201.01001g

Hoffmann, K. (1989). The science of patterns: A practical philosophy of mathematics education. Paper presented at the annual meeting of the American Educational Research Association.

Machisi, E. (2021). Grade 11 Students' Reflections on their Euclidean Geometry Learning Experiences. *EURASIA Journal of Mathematics, Science and Technology Education*, *17*(2), em1938. https://doi.org/10.29333/ejmste/9672

A. CIRULIS, I. HELMANE. Primary School Mathematics Education Curricula in the United States and ...

Matemātika 1.–9. klasei [Mathematics 1st-9th Gades]. (2018). Mācību priekšmeta programmas paraugs [Sample teaching-learning program]. Skola2030, Valsts izglītības satura centrs [School2030, National Centre for Education]. https://mape.skola2030.lv/resources/159

Mullis, I. V. S., Martin, M. O., Foy, P., Kelly, D. L., & Fishbein, B. (2020). *TIMSS 2019 International Results in Mathematics and Science*. Retrieved from Boston College, TIMSS & PIRLS International Study Center. https://timssandpirls.bc.edu/timss2019/international-results/

Niss, M. (1981). Goals as a reflection of the needs of society. In R. Morris (Ed.), Studies in mathematics education 2, (pp. 11–21). Paris: UNESCO. https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000051904

Skola 2030. Izglītība mūsdienīgai lietpratībai: mācību satura un pieejas apraksts [School 2030. Education for modern literacy: description of the teaching/learning content and approach]. (2018). Skola2030, Valsts izglītības satura centrs, VISC. https://static.lsm.lv/documents/ge.pdf

Rajendra, K. S. (2019). Effective Constructivist Teaching Learning in the Classroom. Shanlax *International Journal of Education*, 7(4), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.34293/education.v7i4.600

Regulations Regarding the State Basic Education Standard and Model Basic Education Programmes. (2018). Cabinet of Ministers. https://likumi.lv/ta/en/en/id/303768-regulations-regarding-the-state-basic-education-standard-and-model-basic-education-programmes

Rinaldi, C., & Samson, J. (2008). English language learners and response to intervention: Referral considerations. *Teaching Exceptional Children*, 40(5), 6–14. https://doi.org/10.1177/004005990804000501

Thompson, C. M. (2015). Constructivism in the Art Classroom: Praxis and Policy. Arts Education Policy Review, 116(3), 118-127. https://doi.org/10.1080/10632913.2015.1015759

Valverde, G. A., Bianchi, L. J., Wolfe, R. G., Schmidt, W. H., Houang, R. T. (2002). According to the Book: Using TIMSS to investigate the transition of policy into practice through the world of textbooks. Boston, MA: Kluwer Academic Publishers.

About the authors

Astrida Cirulis – Professor Emeritus of Mathematics at the Concordia University Chicago, U.S. Dr. Cirulis teaches mathematics courses in the elementary and secondary teacher education programs. Among her research interests are elementary pre-service and in-service teachers' understanding of mathematics. Dr. Cirulis has been a member of Concordia's faculty since 2005. A. Cirulis has scientific publications on educational content, mathematics education. Dr. Cirulis has contributed to Math Trailblazers K-5 chapter in "Standards-Based School Mathematics Curricula".

Ineta Helmane – Associate Professor of Education at the University of Latvia, Faculty of Education, Psychology and Art with focus on Mathematics education in preschool and primary school. She is a Head of Preschool Education and Primary School Education Department at Faculty of Education, Psychology and Arts in University of Latvia. The author of several scientific publications on educational content, mathematics teaching/learning, integrated education, interdisciplinary approach in education, teacher's professional competence, etc. Dr. Helmane is the author of textbooks, interactive materials and teaching tools for mathematics education in preschool and primary school.

https://doi.org/10.22364/atee.2022.42

The Development of Numeracy Test Using Three-Dimensional Framework to Assess Numeracy Skills in Grade 7

Ilze France, Marta Mikite, Girts Burgmanis, Dace Namsone

University of Latvia, Latvia ilze.france@lu.lv; marta.mikite@lu.lv; girts.burgmanis@lu.lv; dace.namsone@lu.lv

ABSTRACT

A growing body of evidence including international level studies (e.g. PISA, TIMSS) demonstrate that numeracy skills (also known internationally by other terms such as mathematical literacy) is crucial for a person's educational achievements and for informed and participatory citizenship. Early and successful interventions to improve students' numeracy skills lie in developing and using valid and reliable diagnostic tests for numeracy skill assessment. This study explored how developing a numeracy test based on three-dimensional framework could be used for numeracy diagnostic purposes in grade 7. To achieve this, initially a three-dimensional numeracy framework based on

- 1) content knowledge of mathematics,
- 2) information literacy skills,
- 3) complexity levels of SOLO taxonomy, was prepared.

Then the framework was used to construct a 32-item numeracy test assessing the ability to use relationships, functions and numerical information in different contexts including science. Next, the instrument was administered to 7th grade students (N = 205) in four schools who were asked to complete 3 hour-long tests. Such diagnostic data could inform teachers on students' numeracy skills and prepare instructional materials that target specific weaknesses in class level. Further, such information could inform personalized student learning instruction and produce improved numeracy diagnostic tests for future use.

Keywords: diagnostic assessment, numeracy skills, test development, test validation, threedimensional framework, SOLO taxonomy

Introduction

An understanding of mathematics is central to a young person's preparedness for participation in and contribution to modern society. A growing proportion of problems and situations encountered in daily life, including professional contexts, require some level of understanding of mathematics before they can be properly understood and addressed (Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development [OECD], 2022). One of the key factors in the development of education systems is the availability of increasingly frequent, accurate and detailed feedback mechanisms at different levels of decision making (Csapó & Szendrei, 2011). Tools specifically for diagnosing students' math or science skills, do not measure the students' ability to transfer their math skills in different contexts. It is this transfer that characterizes students' deep thinking and high performance. Such tasks cannot be completed without a degree of cognitive effort, and the underlying conceptual ideas must be engaged with. Higher-level demands mean procedures that require connecting meaning with mathematical operations. A task requires the doing of mathematics when complex thinking is required (Smith & Stein, 1998). When mathematical skills are used in different contexts, the term numeracy is used. This study focuses on the development of a reliable and useful diagnostic instrument for measuring students' numeracy skills that is based on a three-dimensional framework. This includes how students cope with various representations of linear functions and solve real life tasks where the mathematical model is a linear function or ratio and proportion in various contexts, including science. The aim of the study is to find out to what extent the different contexts affect students' numeracy performance and what can be concluded about students' ability to use math skills in different situations.

Definition of numeracy

Numeracy is the ability, confidence, and willingness to engage with quantitative or spatial information to make informed decisions in all aspects of daily living (Numeracy Progressions, 2021) Numeracy is not about being able to flexibly use all of mathematics to deal with "life's diverse contexts and situations", but rather to flexibly draw on that subset of mathematics that is most useful in dealing with these "diverse contexts and situations" (Liljedahl & Liu, 2013). Other authors defined numeracy as "ability or tendency to reason critically about quantitative information" (Gittens, 2015). A numerate individual has the confidence and awareness to know when and how to apply quantitative and spatial understandings at home, at school, at work or in the community (Numeracy, 2017). Numerate individuals have "the confidence and competence in using numbers which will allow individuals to solve problems, analyze information and make informed decisions based on calculations" (Curriculum for

Excellence, 2009). Numeracy is generally seen as some combination of mathematical knowledge, tools, and dispositions, and to be numerate means to be willing and able to use this knowledge, tools, and dispositions across a wide variety of contextual situations (Goos et al., 2013).

A growing body of evidence including international level studies (Programme for International Student Assessment [PISA] or Trends in International Mathematics and Science Study [TIMSS]) demonstrate that numeracy skills are crucial for person's educational achievements and for informed and participatory citizenship. Numeracy skills are also known internationally by other terms such as mathematical literacy. It is more common to use the term numeracy in countries, such as the UK, Canada, South Africa, Australia, and New Zealand. Other names, such as quantitative literacy or mathematical literacy, are used in the USA and elsewhere (Geiger et al., 2015).

In the case of mathematical literacy, PISA is designed to assess if students can make use of their mathematical knowledge in life related contexts as a measure of their readiness for their active participation in society (Geiger et al., 2015). Numeracy emphasizes the use of analysis, inference, interpretation, explanation, evaluation, as well as reflection on one's own reasoning process (metacognition and self-regulation) (Gittens, 2015). The term numeracy assessment is usually used when talking about the assessment of the abilities of adults. The OECD Programme for the International Assessment of Adult Competencies (PIAAC) defines numeracy as the ability to access, use, interpret and communicate mathematical information and ideas, in order to engage in and manage the mathematical demands of a range of situations in adult life and numerate behaviour involves managing a situation or solving a problem in a real context, by responding to mathematical content/information/ideas represented in multiple ways (OECD, 2022).

Learner's learning towards conceptual understanding should be ensured through a process of continuous and comprehensive evaluation (Behera, 2021). In the 7th grade most of the number operations have been learned, so it is important to diagnose the ability to use these operations in different contexts before moving on to abstract mathematics. The authors chose the topics "ratio and proportion" and "function" because they are widely used in other contexts, for example in science. Therefore, they meet the criteria to be able to evaluate students' numeracy skills. They fit in one of four key areas of mathematical content, information and ideas that are covered by the numeracy assessment in PIAAC "Pattern, relationships and change" (OECD, 2022). The use of mathematics alone, without a context, cannot be seen as a numeracy activity. Thus, context is at the heart of numeracy (Goos et al., 2019). When the skill of using ratio and proportion and function is used in a scientific context, we can confidently say that numeracy is being demonstrated.

Ratio, proportions and linear function in mathematics and science

One of numeracy's four core dimensions is application of mathematical knowledge (Goos et al., 2019). In turn, teachers are being encouraged more and more to teach the Big Ideas of mathematics: one that links numerous mathematical understandings into a coherent whole. One of the Big Ideas is Proportionality: if two quantities vary proportionally, that relationship can be represented as a linear function (Charles & Carmel, 2005).

In order to be able to diagnose the ability to use ratios and proportions in different contexts, for example in science, it is essential to understand how a student develops understanding in this field. Proportional reasoning, a big idea from mathematics, requires a shift in student thinking away from additive thinking toward multiplicative thinking. This shift is not trivial and unless carefully addressed can lead to student misunderstandings of scale, relation and proportion. (Abramovich & Connell, 2021.) A ratio is a multiplicative comparison of two quantities or measures. A key developmental milestone is the ability of a student to begin to think of a ratio as a distinct entry, different from the two measures that made it up (Van de Walle et al., 2013). Proportion, a big idea from mathematics, is an equation with a ratio on each side. This requires ratio, another big mathematical idea, to be at least partially understood prior to beginning work with proportions (Abramovich & Connell, 2021).

Proportional thinking is developed through activities involving comparing and determining the equivalence of ratios and solving proportions in a wide variety of problem-based contexts and situations without recourse to rules or formulas (Van de Walle et al., 2013). At the simplest level, proportional reasoning, whether involving ratio or proportion, relies on the ability to use multiplicative thinking rather than additive thinking. In other words, instead of describing a relationship between two quantities as being larger by three or smaller by five, the relationship would be described in terms such as triple the size, one fifth the size, four times greater, etc. (Abramovich & Connell, 2021). There are four types of ratios (Abramovich & Connell, 2021, Van de Walle et al., 2013, Musser, et al., 2016.):

- 1) Part-Part Ratios, where a ratio can relate one part of a whole to another part of the same whole
- 2) Part-Whole Ratios, which can also be used to represent comparisons of a part to a whole
- 3) Reflecting Quotients as Ratios can be thought of as a type of quotient
- Reflecting Rates as Ratios in problems involving students per class, passengers per trolley, etc.

Ratios are extended to understanding and applying proportional reasoning (Van de Walle et al., 2013). Proportional situations are linear situations. Ratios are a special case of linear situations. Proportional quantities are the basis of

many main concepts of science, such as speed, pressure, density, composition of mixtures of substances in chemistry, etc. Understanding measurements and unit conversions is crucial to performing any calculation in any field of science.

A three-dimensional framework for numeracy diagnostic instrument

For purposes of the numeracy diagnostic assessment, a three-dimensional framework has been developed (Burgmanis et al., 2021), which has foundations in several prominent previous studies and frameworks. The authors suggest that numeracy can be analyzed in terms of three inter-related dimensions:

- 1) Content of mathematical knowledge important for designing of the items;
- Information literacy skills important to apply mathematical knowledge and skills in various contexts;
- 3) The complexity of student's performance to analyze and provide evidence on the structure of student's understandings and application of skills.

The first dimension of the framework "mathematical content" includes following categories:

- 1) quantity and numbers
- 2) ratio and relationship
- 3) data analysis and probability
- 4) measurement
- 5) space and shape
- 6) location and directions.

The second dimension of the framework is information literacy skills, which refer to ability of student to acquire, analyze, utilize and communicate mathematical knowledge in various contexts. The third dimension of the framework is complexity of student's performance. The authors of the framework use Structure of the Observed Learning Outcome (SOLO) taxonomy (Biggs & Collis, 1989).

Methodology

Participants

The diagnostic assessment instrument was administered using a sample of 205 7th grade pupils from four schools in Latvia. The sample of the study was selected using convenience sampling which is widely employed in the pilot test of an under-developed instrument. All pupils in 7th grade who attended the school on the days when the pilot tests were given completed the test and were included in the study sample. The sample of schools were representative and stratified by mathematics achievements (i.e., high, above medium, below medium and low achievement) of pupils from 9th grade in national level testing. Agreements were signed between the Rector of the University of Latvia, the municipality and the school, setting out the procedures for collecting and processing data for the

study. This agreement was not violated during the study and the ethical standards of the study were respected.

Procedure

The study was carried out in two stages:

- developing the numeracy skills tests based on a three-dimensional assessment framework that includes constructing items that target the specified attributes,
- 2) statistical analysis of data from test administration using item analysis and Rasch analysis.

The first stage of the study was to carry out an extensive study on the literature pertaining to diagnostic assessment, measuring numeracy skills and test development for the purpose of developing a numeracy skills tests based on a three-dimensional framework. The second phase included test administration in schools.

Instrument and item development

A three-dimensional framework was used to construct a 32-item numeracy test focused on the context category "ratio and relationship". It was divided into three parts:

- 1) Functions,
- 2) Ratio and Proportion,
- 3) Ratio and relationship in science.

The test items were designed to correspond to specific content of mathematical knowledge sections (Table 1). Correspondence of items in information literacy and complexity of students' performance is summarized in Table 2.

Table 1. Structure of the test: item correspondence with content of mathematical knowledge

The skill used in the item	ltem
Use of different types of ratios	S_2.1.; S_2.2.; S_3.1.; S_3.2.; R_1.1.; R_1.2.; R_1.3.; R_1.4.; R_1.5.; R_1.6.; R_1. 7.; R_2.1.; R_2.2.;
Determine the unknown term of the proportion	S_1.2.; F_1.; R_3.1.; R_3.2.; R_3.3.;
Sees the relationship using a graph	S_1.1.; S_3.3.; F_4.1.; F_4.2.; F_4.3.; F_4.4.; F_5.;
Represent the relationship graphically	F_6.1.; F_6.2.; F_7_1.; F_7_2.;
See the relationship using a table or formula	F_2.; F_3.; F_7.3.;

Note. The name of each item is a code in which the letters represent the test in which it is included (F – Functions, R – Ratio and Proportion, S – Ratio and relationship in science), and the numbers represent the item number in the test.

	Unistructural	Multistructural	Relational and Extended Abstract
Acquire information	S_1.1.	S_3.3.; R_3.1.; F_4.1.; F_5.	F_4.2.; R_1.7.
Analyze information	R_1.1.; R_1.4.	S_3.1.; R_1.2.; F_1.; F_6.1.; F_2.; S_2.1.	R_1.6.; F_3.; F_7.3.; S_1.2.; R_3.2.; F_6.2.; F_4.3.; R_1.5; R_2.2.;
Utilize information and communicate	F_7.2.	R_1.3.	R_2.1.; S_3.2.; S_2.2.; R_3.3.; F_7.1.; F_4.4.;

Table 2. Structure of the test: item correspondence to information literacy skills and level of performance complexity

The first two tests in mathematics and the third test in science were created based on the same framework with two groups of experts working separately. Each group of experts designed items, approbated in smaller groups of students and improved the tests during the development process. Next, the instrument was administered to students in grade 7 (N = 205) in four schools who were asked to complete the tests in 3 series each 1-hr long.

Data analysis

In this study Item Response Theory (IRT) was used to accurately examine a set of items that is measured. IRT is a collection of measurement models that attempt to explain the connection between observed item responses on a scale and an underlying construct (Cappelleri et al., 2014). Content validity was established by 3 experts. The Delphi methodology was used. Experts did a quantitative (scale 1–5) evaluation of items using two criteria: (1) item coherence with indicator, (2) item correspondence to specific level of SOLO taxonomy. The student completed tests were also evaluated by experts. Assessment calibration was done using the following procedure. 20 works were initially selected from each test and evaluated by several experts. The results were compared, and the reliability of the correction was evaluated. To evaluate the quality of items a Rasch model for the Partial Credit Model (Masters, 1982) was used. Previous studies show that Rasch techniques can be used to document and evaluate the measurement functioning of diagnostic instruments through analysis of item fit (Boone et al., 2013). For the statistical analysis the SPSS software version 26.0 and WINSTEPS version 4.6.2 (Linacre, 2015) was used.

Results

Students' performance in developed numeracy tests

The student results in each item were analyzed using a Rasch Wright Map (Figure 1). Since the item mean is one standard deviation higher than the person

mean, it can be assured that the items were difficult and challenging for this group of students. Items above the mean value are more difficult than the ones below.



Figure 1. Rasch Wright map

Students' numeracy performance in different contexts

The authors use the following procedure to select the items to be studied further. Three items in the science test have been selected. To cover a larger part of the construct, tasks are from different categories of information literacy (Table 2). Then two corresponding items from mathematics were selected for each of three science items, creating three sets of three items from the same construct field and the same mathematical skill used to complete the item. From the obtained data, students' ability to use mathematical skills in different contexts can be ascertained. In order to see how students make a transfer between different contexts, students' performance in selected items was compared using SOLO taxonomy where it was possible.

Acquiring information in various contexts

Analyzing the students' ability to obtain information, 3 tasks with the same level of performance complexity were selected for deeper research. In item S_3.3. students select the appropriate relationship graph after being given a precise description in a scientific context. Students need to determine the direction of a graph of a linear function to match the given situation. A similar item is F_5. Only here students need to choose a schedule based on the values given in the description of the situation. In the third task F_4.4. the graph shows the path of a girl going home, where the distance depends on time. Students must be able to read from the graph where the halfway point is and in how many minutes the girl will reach it. In the first item, the context is considered scientific, in the other two, mathematical. Student performance in a science context differed significantly from using the same skill in a math context (Table 3).

Table 3.	Students	results of	facquirin	g information	in	different contexts
	0100110		~~~~~	5		

Item and context	S_3.3. (Science context)	F_4.1. (Mathematical context)	F_5 (Mathematical context)
Correct answers,	8%	65%	68%

Analyze information in various contexts

In the first item (S_1.2.) of this construct field, students have to use percentages in the calculation of proportional quantities. In the second item (R_3.2.), they have to see the relationship that connects the amount of fuel consumed and the number of kilometres travelled. Information must be obtained from the graph in the third item (F_4.3.) about the relationship between the distance travelled and the time spent, which is the velocity. The first item's context is scientific, the second is real- life and the third is mathematical. The maximum level of performance complexity in all items is multistructural. Collected data on the percentage of students whose outcome is at the unistructural and multistructural level is shown in Table 4. The performance of the other students can be evaluated at the pre-structural level.

Item and context	Unistructural	Multistructural
S_1.2 (Science context)	10%	5%
R_3.2. (Real-life context)	23%	2%
F_4.3. (Mathematical context)	12%	18%

Table 4. Students results of acquiring information in different contexts

The results show that in the contexts of science and everyday life, most of the students operate at the unistructural level, which is different from the context of mathematics, where the number of students with answers at the multistructural level is significantly higher. This indicates that students have problems transferring between different contexts.

Communication in different contexts

In the following three items, the task is to mathematically justify a statement. In the science item, students must "explain choice using calculations". In item R_3.3. which corresponds to the real-life context, students need to write a "recommendation based on calculations of how much fuel Monika needs to fill up when going to visit her sister". In F_4.4. students have to describe a graph in order to justify the falsity of the statement.

It can be seen from Table 5 that students show low performance on relational and extended abstract level in all contexts. In the context of science most of the students performed at the unistructural level. In the context of mathematics, students performed relatively well at the multistructural level, but did not make the transfer to the relational and extended abstract level.

Item and context	Unistructural	Multistructural	Relational and Extended Abstract
S_2.2. (Science context)	34%	8%	4%
R_3.3. (Real-life context)	19%	17%	8%
F_4.4. (Mathematical context)	19%	40%	5%

Table 5. Students results of communication in different contexts

Discussion

Low students' performance in numeracy tests may have different reasons. To understand what those might be, it is necessary to analyze the experience of testing numeracy in Latvia so far, as well as the results of research in other countries. There is also a need to consider how numeracy is taught in schools.

The lack of pragmatic clarity as to what numeracy is, coupled with a lack of resources around this important construct, afforded the emergence of a more intuitive and grounded entry into numeracy (Liljedahl, 2015). For students to become numerate, they must engage with tasks that demand the use of mathematics in multiple contexts, and so effective numeracy instruction must take place in all school subjects, not just mathematics (Steen, 2001). It is therefore particularly important to measure the same construct in multiple subjects, as the three-dimensional framework is measured in mathematics and science in this study.

Reason for the low results could be that no separate measurements of students' numeracy skills have been carried out in Latvia so far. When initially performing such measurements, students' results tend to be low (Liljedahl, 2015). In a previous study (Cao et al., 2022) on students' performance in numeracy in Vietnam one of the findings was low results on ability to apply mathematics knowledge and skills in everyday situations. Referring to authors (Cao et al., 2022) a significant reason for these results is the fact that students were still learning mathematics according to the old curriculum that was mostly based on mathematics content rather than the competency-based approach. Before implementing the new curriculum in Latvia, more attention in lessons and tests was paid to obtaining answers, not on how answers were obtained, decision and conclusions based on the obtained results.

This type of assessment allows feedback on performance at a particular point in time but does not give the opportunity to monitor students' progress. Norwegian researchers (Ræder et al., 2022) implement a vertical scaling design for existing assessment system. To keep track of how numeracy skills are developing, they use ongoing national assessments. Inspired by this further research could examine the possibility of linking the three-dimensional framework and national assessments in mathematics and science, looking for ways to track students' progress.

Conclusions

Analyzing the performance of the students in all three tests in general, using the Rasch Wright map, it can be concluded that this diagnostic tool was very challenging for the students and the performance of the students is low. No unequivocal relationship was observed between students' performance on the tasks and the cognitive depth of the tasks.

The three created tests, combining tasks in mathematics and science, give an opportunity to determine students' numeracy skills. They provide an opportunity to verify to what extent students can perform mathematical operations, and to what extent they can build the transfer of knowledge and skills in different contexts. The performance of the students included in the study in the contexts of science and real-life is lower than when using the same mathematical skills in the context of mathematics.

In any context, students demonstrate poor performance at the Relational and Extended Abstract level, which indicates the need to analyze the learning process and place greater emphasis on tasks with higher performance complexity.

Aknowledgment

This research was supported within the project "IT-based support system prototype for providing feedback and improve student performance in literacy and numeracy acquisition" Agreement no. 1.1.1.1/19/A/076

REFERENCES

Abramovich, S., & Connell, M. L. (2021). Developing Deep Knowledge in Middle School Mathematics. Springer International Publishing.

Behera, B. (2021). Does Diagnostic Evaluation in Mathematics Improve Learners' Learning? *Journal of Global Research in Education and Social Science*, 15(2), 1–8.

Biggs, J., & Collis, K. (1989). Towards a model of school-based curriculum development and assessment using the SOLO taxonomy. *Australian journal of education*, 33(2), 151–163.

Boone, W. J., Staver, J. R., & Yale, M. S. (2013). Rasch analysis in the human sciences. Springer Science & Business Media.

Burgmanis, G., France, I., Namsone, D., & Čakāne, L. (2021). Development and Validation of Diagnostic Assessment Instrument for Numeracy Skills in 7th Grade. In *ICERI2021 Proceedings* (pp. 7781–7791). IATED.

Cao, T. H., Nguyen, H. C., Dang, X. C., Chu, C. T., Le, T. A., & Le, T. T. H. (2022). Exploring Numeracy Skills of Lower Secondary School Students in Mountainous Areas of Northern Vietnam. *International Journal of Learning, Teaching and Educational Research*, *21*(10).

Cappelleri, J. C., Lundy, J. J., & Hays, R. D. (2014). Overview of classical test theory and item response theory for the quantitative assessment of items in developing patient-reported outcomes measures. *Clinical therapeutics*, *36*(5), 648–662.

Charles, R. I., & Carmel, C. A. (2005). Big ideas and understandings as the foundation for elementary and middle school mathematics. *Journal of Mathematics Education*, 7(3), 9–24.

Csapó, B., & Szendrei, M. (2011). Framework for diagnostic assessment of mathematics. Nemzeti Tankönyvkiadó.

Curriculum for Excellence, Scottish Government (2009). https://education.gov.scot/ documents/All-experiencesoutcomes18.pdf

Dole, S., & Geiger, V. (2020). Numeracy across the curriculum: Research-based strategies for enhancing teaching and learning. Routledge.

Geiger, V., Goos, M., & Forgasz, H. (2015). A rich interpretation of numeracy for the 21st century: A survey of the state of the field. *ZDM*, *47*, 531–548.

Gittens, C. A. (2015). Assessing numeracy in the upper elementary and middle school years. *Numeracy*, *8*(1), 15–28.

Goos, M., Geiger, V., & Dole, S. (2013). Designing rich numeracy tasks. *ICMI Study 22: Task Design in Mathematics*, 589–597.

Goos, M., Geiger, V., Forgasz, H., Bennison, A., & Dole, S. (2019). Numeracy Across the Curriculum (1st ed.). Taylor and Francis.

Liljedahl, P. (2015). Numeracy task design: A case of changing mathematics teaching practice. ZDM, 47, 625–637.

Liljedahl, P., & Liu, M. (2013). Numeracy. *Vector*, *2*, 34–39. http://www.peterliljedahl.com/ wp-content/uploads/NR-Numeracy.pdf

Linacre, J. M. (2015). Winsteps® Rasch measurement computer program. Winsteps.com, Beaverton.

Masters, G. N. (1982). A Rasch model for partial credit scoring. Psychometrika, 47(2), 149–174.

Musser, G. L., Burger, W. F. & Peterson, B. E. (2016). Mathematics for elementary teachers: A contemporary approach.

Numeracy, Government of Alberta (2017). https://education.alberta.ca/literacy-and-numeracy/ numeracy/everyone/numeracy-resource-links/

Numeracy Progressions, Govermet of Alberta (2021). https://curriculum.learnalberta.ca/cdn/progression-pdfs/Numeracy%20Progressions%20-%20EN.pdf

OECD, PISA, O. (2022). Mathematics Framework (Draft). *PISA*. https://pisa2022-maths.oecd.org/files/PISA%202022%20Mathematics%20Framework%20Draft.pdf

Ræder, H. G., Andersson, B., & Olsen, R. V. (2022). Numeracy across grades-vertically scaling the Norwegian national numeracy tests. *Assessment in Education: Principles, Policy & Practice*, 1–21.

Smith, M. S., & Stein, M. K. (1998). Reflections on practice: Selecting and creating mathematical tasks: From research to practice. *Mathematics teaching in the middle school*, *3*(5), 344–350.

Steen, L. A. (Ed.). (2001). Mathematics and democracy: The case for quantitative literacy. Princeton, NJ: NCED.

Van de Walle, J. A., Karp, K. S., & Bay-Williams, J. M. (2016). *Elementary and middle school mathematics*. London: Pearson Education UK.

https://doi.org/10.22364/atee.2022.43

Maths Games without Frontiers

Maria Giulia Ballatore¹, Luca Damonte², Anita Tabacco¹

¹ Dept. of Mathematical Sciences 'G.L. Lagrange', Politecnico di Torino, Torino, Italy

² Dept. of Economic and Finance, Luiss University, Roma, Italy

ABSTRACT

The use of games in higher education significantly benefits cognitive, motivational, affective, and sociocultural perspectives. This paper describes a mathematical challenge for first-year STEM students at the "College of Merit Camplus", located in different cities in Italy from South to Nord, during the autumn of 2020 and 2021. Students in pairs play different puzzler games to reinforce mathematical prerequisites and basic knowledge. Due to the pandemic situation, non-digital games were forced to adjust to the remote environment. On the one hand, moving online was a challenge both from the organisational side and for the students that sometimes need to cooperate from different locations. On the other end, approaching the games remotely allowed students from colleges all around Italy to participate. The work describes and comments on each game in detail, considering the students' performance. In general, it can be stated that students liked the playful experience, although they found themselves not wholly confident with some topics and the related time restriction. These games, first-of-all helped review and train the basic concepts; therefore, the students have a better approach to studying the first Mathematical course at the University. They found the games' dynamics helpful in highlighting some simple tricks and common mistakes.

Keywords: Game based learning, Mathematics, Online challenge, Pair work, Playful environment

Introduction

Gamification and game-based learning are well-implemented approaches that foster cognitive development by increasing students' motivation and engagement through game elements within educational environments (Danniels & Pyle, 2018). While gamification is defined as using game features in a non-game setting, gamebased learning identifies real games, usually on a digital platform, used for an educational purpose with a defined learning outcome (Plass et al., 2015). The level

of engagement and the social perspective of games makes them an ideal learning medium (Squire, 2011). In higher education, game-based learning is very effective as it increases enjoyment reducing anxiety with improvements in deep learning and higher-order thinking (Bawa, 2020; Crocco, 2016). Although the creation of digital games requires economic and time effort, the non-digital ones are cost-effective, require low administrative overheads, demand little or no prerequisite skills, and provide opportunities for enhanced social interaction (Mustafa et al., 2011; Whitton, 2012). Then, non-digital game-based learning suits mathematics' educational goals in higher education (Naik, 2017). Numerous applications are designed to be used directly in the classroom or for homework activities: card games, puzzlers, or strategic games (Lai, 2018; Lee et al., 2016). In designing a game, the five playful pillars should be considered to ensure cognitive activation (Zosh et al., 2017). Neuroscience studies show that people learn best from experiences that are joyful, meaningful, actively engaging, iteratively and socially interactive (Liu et al., 2017). Play requires an integrated approach based on creative, emotional, physical and social skills (Riley, 2013). The role of the teacher also has to be defined accordingly to the goal that wants to be achieved; it can span from free play to guided play to teacher-directed play (Weisberg et al., 2013)

Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, non-digital games have been pushed to shift to be played in a remote environment.

This study describes a mathematical competition that first occurred during the lockdown in the autumn of 2020. The games were originally the non-digital type but were adjusted to be played remotely. Thanks to this positive experience, the second edition in autumn 2021 replicated the same format. This online choice allowed the participation of students living in Camplus all over Italy.

The following section highlights the context in which the experimentation took place. The third section describes the methodology, while the fourth contains deeper details of each proposed game. Finally, a general discussion with the conclusion is given.

Context

The Italian educational system is organised into two cycles of training. The first education cycle lasts five years and consists of primary school from 6 to 10. There is no specialised path, and the goal is to acquire fundamental knowledge and skills in all subjects. The second education cycle lasts eight years and is divided into lower secondary school (from 11 to 13) and upper secondary (from 14 to 18). Like primary schools, the lower one is common to all students and shares a nationwide curriculum. Instead, the upper secondary is classified by the curricula as Lycée (general schools), technical institutes, and vocational institutes. The Ministry of Education defines basic curricula for all schools. Upper

secondary education is further classified into sub-paths, such as Scientific Lycée, Classical Lycée, Mechanical technical institute, or ICT technical institute.

Mathematics is a fundamental subject for all schools, but how it is taught could differ in terms of time per week and general goals.

This paper describes the experience "Math games without frontiers", which aims to support studying the first university Mathematics course for students from a Camplus college in Italy. The Ministry of Education recognises Camplus as a College of Merit offering residences and training for students. The training activities are compulsory and in addition to the university programs. It has different locations distributed throughout the Italian territory.

"Math games without frontiers" offers the opportunity to improve logic and calculation skills through playful exercises in a competition between couples of students and between the different Camplus locations. In five thematic evenings, various games are presented, and students are evaluated with an updated score.

Methodology

This paper follows the narrative case study with the support of qualitative research. The analysis includes the data related to the games (time and score), the in-field observations, and a final survey. The Camplus board ethically approved the current research, and each student signed a consent declaration, including a factsheet.

The challenge was open to all the first-year students living in one of the Italian Camplus and with at least a mathematical exam into the university's first year. The first edition involved 52 participants (15 females and 37 males) from 9 different colleges. In the second edition, there were 30 participants (14 female and 16 male) from 7 colleges. They autonomously group into couples within the same Camplus, with some exceptions in the first edition when two mixed pairs came from different Camplus. Due to the pandemic situation, the challenge was entirely run on an online platform. Each team was free to choose either to play physically or remotely together. A private instantaneous message channel between lecturers and each couple was established to collect the game's solutions.

Applying the game-based learning methodology, the games recall famous puzzlers to familiarise themselves with Mathematical basics contents. They are partially inspired by the work of Morando (2009) and further developed in order to be played remotely. The "Math games without frontier" foresees five meetings one hour long of playful scored activities. The events were one week apart and required some mathematical knowledge as well as some teamwork and strategy. In the edition 2020, the first three evenings worked on essential knowledge (elementary functions such as trigonometric, exponential, and logarithmic functions; equations and inequalities), while the last 2 reinforced the concepts

of limits and derivatives. In the edition 2021, the first two evenings worked on essential knowledge, while the remaining 3 reinforced the concepts of limits, derivatives, and integrals. The choice to include questions about integration was due to the comments on the final survey of the competition's first edition.

The day before each challenge, the scheduled games' rules and any printed material were made available to students. Each evening consisted of three different games made in various rounds. To maintain the students' concentration for the entire game session, the lecturers showed and discussed all the solutions at the end of the meeting. Each pair received their score during the week while they accessed their ranking position at the beginning of each evening. At the end of the experience, a winning team and a winning Camplus were elected and received a prize.

Games Description

The challenge includes different games that are now described. The chosen games are easily adaptable to various topics. For this reason, the same game can be played with different themes or rounds. Below are the basic rules used during the competition. Bonus scores are present in all games but in three other forms: time, fairness, and knowledge.

Labyrinth

The tutor reads ten true-false statements twice. Starting from the centre, answers define a path to exit the labyrinth; at each crossroad, a true answer matches the green star, while a false answer matches the red star.



Figure 1. Solution of a labyrinth round

TO BE OR NOT TO BE A GREAT EDUCATOR, 2022

M. G. BALLATORE, L. DAMONTE, A. TABACCO. Maths Games without Frontiers

Fig. 1 shows a possible path that starts with false, true, false, etc. When the reading ends and 30 seconds have elapsed, all the statements appear on the screen for 1 minute; the game ends 30 seconds later (a total of 120 seconds from the end of the reading). Teams gain 1 point for each correct answer, two bonus points if they submit within 30 seconds from the end of the reading, and one bonus point if they submit within 90 seconds from the end of the reading. The first submitting team gains another two bonus points.

Ordering

The game is divided into two rounds: in the first one, teams have to order eight values of trigonometric functions in ascending order, while in the second, eight values must be sorted in a decreasing manner. Each heat has a duration of 4 minutes. Each team has a "STOP" to indicate the point at which to end the sequence's validation. Teams have one extra minute for the sequence's delivery. Pairs gain 1 point for each correctly ordered sequence but get 0 points if the series order is wrong, even for a single value. Teams get two bonus points if the complete sequence is correct and delivered before time runs out.

Math Twins

A table of 12 + 12 elements to be paired is given to each team. In 5 minutes, the team have to form as many pairs as possible, and within 1 minute, they have to send the complete list of pairs. Each team gains 1 point for each correct pair but loses 1 for each wrong couple. If all pairs are matched correctly, two bonus points are awarded. If the total score is negative, the team score equals zero.

Colouring puzzle

The game requires teams to blacken spaces of a figure in which there are the solutions of 15 mathematical expressions (for example, inequalities, equations or limits), see Fig. 2. The available time is 12 minutes. Once completed, the team has to send the photo of the obtained image to tutors.



Figure 2. Solution of a colouring puzzle

Suppose the figure is coloured correctly; the couple scores ten points. The team loses 1 point for each incorrect or missing box. The team gains two bonus points if the correct figure is delivered before time runs.

Treasure hunt

Each team has to solve a system of inequalities graphically; the goal is to identify the object constrained in the solution plane region of the system. Axes origin is assumed in the lower-left corner (see Fig. 3). The available time to complete the game is 5 minutes. Teams that deliver the correct object within 3 minutes gain ten points; couples that provide the proper object after 3 minutes earn five points. If the object is wrong, the team gets no points. Two bonus points are assigned to the first team that identifies the correct object.

Figure 3. Treasure hunt scheme with the identified object (the target) [image: freepik.com]

Guess what?

Thirty plots of function are shown to teams. The tutor secretly chooses one between all figures. Couples can ask questions about a specific feature defined in advance, with yes or no answers, to guess the tutor's choice. Teams who think they have identified the correct function send a message to the tutors, and the game ends as soon as a pair correctly guesses. Each team has at most three attempts, and the game is played in multiple rounds. The team that identifies the correct function gains three points; the same team gains one bonus point if it identifies an admissible analytic expression within 30 seconds and two bonus points if it identifies two different expressions in 30 + 30 seconds.

Target

A target made up of boxes is shown to teams. Each box contains one function. The game's goal is to reach the centre of the target by passing over each box at most once, starting from the pointed box. One can move from one box to another if the two boxes are adjacent and the functions follow a prescribed property (for example, Fig. 4 shows the case in which the rule is: the intervals of increasing monotony of two functions have a non-empty intersection).





Figure 4. Solution of a target round

The available time is 7 minutes plus one extra minute for delivery. Teams gain 1 point for each correct passage between boxes. They earn one bonus point if they deliver within 7 minutes and gain another two bonus points if, for each box, they indicate the specific property (for example, the interval in which the function is increasing).

Sudoku

Each team has to solve a sudoku with some empty coloured dots (see Fig. 5). Each colour is associated with a definite integral. Solving them, they must place the numbers and complete the sudoku correctly. The available time to complete the game is 20 minutes plus one minute for the delivery.





Teams are asked to deliver the starting scheme with the integrals computed in order to obtain points: one point for each correct result within 10 minutes and 0.5 points for each proper answer delivered before the end. Six bonus points are gained by the teams that complete the sudoku within 15 minutes, five points within 20 minutes and 4 points if the solved scheme is delivered at the end of the time.'

Connect the dots

Each team must solve ten limits and, following the given order, use the solutions to connect the related dots (see Fig. 6).
M. G. BALLATORE, L. DAMONTE, A. TABACCO. Maths Games without Frontiers



Figure 6. Solution of a "Connect the dots" game

The aim is to draw the secret image within 10 minutes. Each number correctly linked gives one point. The team receives two bonus points if it delivers the correct picture within 10 minutes.

Discussion and conclusions

Different observations can be raised considering the pairs' results in each game (scores and times) and the final survey results.

The Labyrinth game was played on three different evenings. The main difficulty was that answering T/Fs to a spoken sentence requires great initial concentration. Indeed, students are mainly used to solving mathematical problems by reading a written text. Therefore, in both editions, only a few teams delivered their solution on the first evening before instructions appeared on the screen. However, on the last evening, the number of couples who returned immediately after the end of the reading increased considerably. This denotes how the formalisation skills of a problem spoken aloud can be improved and reinforced.

The Ordering game was played only on the first evening but also highlighted a critical fact discovered in other games. Students are unfamiliar with trigonometric expressions and find it difficult to quantify them. In 2020, 75% of teams scored zero despite having the "stop" available. Similar results came out in the 2021 edition, where 50% of couples were unable to solve at least one of the two "ordering" games proposed. This suggests that many students still feel confident in the results, although they do not have a complete mastery of trigonometric functions. Therefore, this could explain why few have used the stop.

The Math Twins game confirmed students' difficulty associating the algebraic expression of a function with its graphs. The game was played on three different evenings, and each evening there was a different type of twins: trigonometric expressions and numerical values, functions and derivatives, functions and graphs. In the game, teams reached higher scores when the associations were not graphical. Conversely, scores are lower when students associated the graph

M. G. BALLATORE, L. DAMONTE, A. TABACCO. Maths Games without Frontiers

with the analytic expression; notice that almost 50% of teams scored zero in the first evening on both editions.

Scores of the other games suggest the same conclusions. In particular, the Treasure hunt game highlighted again that most students are unfamiliar with the graphical exercise's solution. Furthermore, a common fact of all games is the short time to complete challenges: quickly solving exercises requires a specific mastery of mathematics. Since the goals of this challenge are to develop the ability to intuitively visualise the graph of an analytic function and support preparation in differential calculus, these games suggest that more emphasis has to be devoted to the graphical part.

We introduced two new games in the second edition: Sudoku and Connect the dots. Regarding the Sudoku, only three teams were able to solve the integrals and complete the scheme. It seems that students made mistakes in calculating elementary integrals quickly. Then, when they got stuck on the sudoku, they did not realise that the error was on the computation of the integrals, not the scheme solution. Similar considerations can be drawn for the second added game. As before, the time limit seems a significant obstacle for students.

An important fact concerns the online procedure. Indeed, working online as a team was more complicated than the same work done in person. But on the other hand, it was possible to organise this challenge on a national basis only because of the online environment.

Analysing the comments from the final survey, it is clear that many students liked the playful experience. Moreover, most of them found it helpful and educational how the exercises were carried out: many games helped students understand "tricks of the trade". The limited time put teams in a healthy competition, making mathematics more challenging. In general, answers show that the students were satisfied and would like to continue with a new edition next year.

Author Note

We would like to express our special thanks of gratitude to the staff and the students of "Collegio Camplus" for the opportunity of implementing the "Math games without frontiers".

REFERENCES

Bawa, P. (2020). Game On!: Investigating Digital Game-Based Versus Gamified Learning in Higher Education. *International Journal of Game-Based Learning (IJGBL), 10*(3), 16–46.

Crocco, F., Offenholley, K., & Hernandez, C. (2016). A Proof-of-Concept Study of Game-Based Learning in Higher Education. *Simulation & Gaming*, *47*(4), 403–422.

Danniels, E., and Pyle, A. (2018). Defining play-based learning. In R. E. Tremblay, M. Boivin, and R. D. Peters (Eds.), *Encyclopedia of early childhood development*.

M. G. BALLATORE, L. DAMONTE, A. TABACCO. Maths Games without Frontiers

Lai, A. (2018). A Study of Gamification Techniques in Mathematics Education. http://people.math.harvard.edu/~knill/gamification/paper.pdf (Accessed June 17th 2021)

Lee, Y. H., Dunbar, N., Kornelson, K., Wilson, S., Ralston, R., Savic, M., Stewart, S., Lennox, E., Thompson, W., & Elizondo, J. (2016). Digital Game-based Learning for Undergraduate Calculus Education: Immersion, Calculation, and Conceptual Understanding. *International Journal of Gaming and Computer-Mediated Simulations*, 8(1), 13–27.

Liu, C., Solis, S. L., Jensen, H., Hopkins, E. J., Neale, D., Zosh, J. M., Hirsh-Pasek, K., & Whitebread, D. (2017). *Neuroscience and learning through play: a review of the evidence* (research summary). The LEGO Foundation, DK.

Morando, P. (2009). Learning and Playing Mathematics. *EDULEARN09 Proceedings*, pp. 3038–3043.

Naik, N. (2017). The use of GBL to teach mathematics in higher education. *Innovations in Education and Teaching International*, 54(3), 238–246.

Mustafa, J., Khan, A., & Ullah, A. (2011). Investigating students' achievement in mathematics through non technological game based teaching. *International Journal of Scientific Research in Education, 4*, 151–164.

Plass, J. L., Homer, B. D., & Kinzer, C. K. (2015) Foundations of Game-Based Learning, *Educational Psychologist*, 5(4), 258–283.

Riley, P. E. (2013). Curriculum reform in rural China: an exploratory case study. *Research and Issues in Music Education*, 11(1,5)

Squire, K. (2011). Video games and learning: Teaching and participatory culture in the digital age. *Technology, Education, Connections (The TEC series)*. New York, NY: Teachers College Press.

Weisberg, D. S., Hirsh-Pasek, K., and Golinkoff, R. M. (2013). Guided play: Where curricular goals meet a playful pedagogy. *Mind, Brain, and Education*, *7*, 104–112.

Whitton, N., & Moseley, A. (2012). Using Games to Enhance Learning and Teaching: A Beginner's Guide. New York: NY: Routledge.

Zosh, J. M., Hopkins, E. J., Jensen, H., Liu, C., Neale, D., Hirsh-Pasek, K., Solis, S. L., & Whitebread, D. (2017). *Learning through play: A review of the experience*.

About the authors

Maria Giulia Ballatore. She is a Research Fellow at the Department of Mathematical Sciences of the Politecnico di Torino, Italy and a graduate student in Engineering Education. Her research interests lie in engineering education, the development and standardisation of learning technology, spatial abilities and gender issue. ORCID: 0000-0002-6216-8939

Luca Damonte. He is a Research Fellow at the Department of Economics and Finance at Luiss University in Rome, Italy. His research interests lie in the field of multi-agent systems and game theory. ORCID: 0000-0002-9314-0883

Anita Tabacco. She is a full professor of Mathematical Analysis at the Department of Mathematical Sciences of the Politecnico di Torino, Italy. Her mathematical research activities are related to harmonic and functional analysis. Moreover, she is working in the field of Engineering Education. She is deeply involved in the management of the university. ORCID: 0000-0001-5731-4885

https://doi.org/10.22364/atee.2022.44

Fostering Teachers' Mathematical Competence in Problem Solving

Elīna Buliņa, Andrejs Cibulis

University of Latvia, Latvia

ABSTRACT

The problem of a growing shortage of qualified mathematics teachers, which is emerging in many countries today, is also quite acute in Latvia. Moreover, there are only few students in Latvia who want to study mathematics at a serious level and become mathematics teachers. A shortage of students and teachers is one of the reasons for the decline in the quality of mathematics teaching. Teaching and learning mathematics is impossible without understanding and problem solving, which, as noted by the famous mathematician Paul Halmos, is 'the heart of mathematics'. It is a well-known idea that by developing problem-solving skills, we learn not only how to tackle mathematical problems, but also how to logically work our way through any problems we may face. Unfortunately, this idea does little to contribute to a successful tackling of the teacher shortage, which is not a mathematics problem for which somebody can find a quick and easy solution. This article offers some research topics that may be useful for teachers working with their gifted pupils; deals with a non-trivial problem of constructing magic polygons on a triangular lattice, which is recommended as a research topic for teachers to encourage them and their students to better master different solution strategies and so-called big ideas in mathematics; the article also gives some insights into mathematics teacher training education in Latvia.

Keywords: polyforms, polyiamond, polyomino, problem solving, research topics, teacher shortage

Introduction

Nowadays we can hear more and more about growing teacher shortage problems all over the world (Lyons, 2021; McLean Davies & Watterston, 2022; Natanson, 2022).

The shortage of teachers in Latvia and the problems in education are indicated by headlines in newspapers, media and, of course, on the Internet. Here are English translations of some of the most striking headlines (2022):

- Teacher shortage in STEM subjects threatens Latvia's future,
- Where teachers disappear or the "black hole" of the Latvian education system,
- Schools face a shortage of teachers and the biggest shortage mathematics teachers (A large number of teacher vacancies 1,000 have been announced.),
- Many schools face a catastrophic shortage of teachers ahead of the new school year (The number of vacancies has already reached around 2,000, so for many schools it will be impossible to find the teachers they need for September 1st and possibly longer. Many schools will therefore have to cope with missing lessons, merged classes and overworked teachers in the new school year.).

At the end of August 2022 on the website *esiskolotajs.lu.lv* we can find information about 35 free mathematics teacher vacancies and on *izglitiba.riga.lv* we can see that in Riga, the capital of Latvia, there are 20 mathematics teachers' vacancies in need to be filled. In addition, all this is right before the new school year starts. According to the Teacher Vacancies website, there are currently 40 mathematics teacher vacancies. The shortage of teachers in schools is a problem that has persisted for years. There are several reasons for this, based on a variety of sources:

- the low prestige of the profession,
- the unbalanced salaries and workload,
- the hasty introduction of new curricula without adequate provision of teaching resources,
- parents' attitudes, teacher burnout, emotional abuse by students and parents,
- teachers have responsibilities, but no rights to take firm action against those who bully the whole class,
- the inability of the Ministry of Education and Science (Latvia) to find timely solutions to several issues and ineffective communication is the reason why the problems have become so acute.

In Latvia, mathematics teacher profession can be obtained in the University of Latvia, Liepaja University and Daugavpils University. It should be noted that in 2022, the University of Latvia received only 17 applications for the Mathematics Teacher study programme. The other two universities offer the Mathematics Teacher Study Programme every second year, not every year, due to the low number of applications. To make matters worse, there are students who decide to drop out of university, a significant number of graduates do not go to work in schools at all, and many future teachers are not sufficiently prepared to work with gifted pupils, to train them for mathematics olympiads or to supervise their research work. The quality of education is also affected by the fact that there are too many higher education institutions in Latvia, which significantly reduces competitiveness. Higher education institutions are trying to fill all budget places, first, but they do not have enough capacity to raise the quality of higher education. In 2019, Ilga Šuplinska, Minister of Education (from 2019 to 2021), emphasised that the number of higher education institutions in Latvia is not optimal, as evidenced, for example, by the fact that their infrastructure allows them to enrol around 160 000 students, but only 80 000 study.

The problem of teacher training and development has been an issue for many years. In Notices of the AMS (Wu, 1999) particularly emphasises that the only way to achieve better mathematics education is to have better mathematics teachers, and that "Any improvement in education must start with improvement of the teachers already in the classroom". To ensure that gifted pupils (future potential students at universities) are challenged enough we need to foster their teacher's mathematical competence in problem solving, so they can train and inspire their pupils to learn mathematics in greater depth. Although there are opportunities for teachers to develop their competence in school related topics by applying for courses, the courses that are oriented on developing more advanced skills (how to run mathematics clubs, how to prepare pupils for mathematics competitions, how to choose and develop appropriate research topics, etc.) are rare. That is why this paper mainly focuses on giving teachers some topics they can use to work at a higher level with the gifted pupils with a goal to supervise their scientific research.

Problem solving

Many of the commonly used terms, especially if they are non-mathematical, mean different things to different people. Albrecht, (2022) in her internet article notes "Problem solving is one example. The lack of a shared understanding complicates discussions at all levels, including national curriculum stoushes like the recent ones in Australia." This Internet article summarises different aspects of problem solving and provides important references such as, (Halmos, 1980; Polya, 2004), seminal paper of Alan Schoenfeld (Schoenfeld, 1992). To avoid ambiguity, let us clarify right away that we shall be dealing with mathematical problems, not routine school exercises, but non-trivial so-called challenging problems that can be useful as research topics for working with gifted pupils.

It is useful to know, that problem solving is the heart of mathematics. All the mathematics (theories, theorems, constructions etc.) we have now has been invented to solve some problems. Some of these problems might have come from

science, economics, or even real-life situations while others are purely mathematical. In (Halmos et al., 1975) it is written

The best way to learn is to do, (...) What mathematics is really all about is solving concrete problems. (...) A good teacher challenges, asks, annoys, irritates, and maintains high standards – all that is generally not pleasant. A good teacher may not be a popular teacher (except perhaps with his ex-students), because some students don't like to be challenged, asked, annoyed, and irritated – but he produces pearls (instead of casting them in the proverbial manner).

Mathematics popularisers, those interested in recreational mathematics know that one of the best ways to capture the imagination of young people and get them interested in mathematics is by "hooking them" on irresistible problems.

In mathematics, there are a variety of topics (unexplored islands) that gifted pupils could make a new contribution to, which are not only unfamiliar only to them but also to their teachers. A gifted pupil may occasionally feel frustrated that his teachers themselves are not prepared to deal with such olympiad-level problems. You cannot teach what you do not understand. As Marilyn Burns write (Burns, 2007, p. 5) "teachers can't teach for understanding if they don't have a firm foundation of understanding themselves".

In Book Series: Problem Solving in Mathematics and Beyond, Volume 22, Seduced by Mathematics Pritsker (2021) presents a problem solving process consisting of 8 steps and gives some problems as an example for reader to better understand how these steps work and are carried out. He refers to the 1973 edition of Polya's book "How to Solve It", and it should be noted that this book, a bestseller, has many editions in different languages, the first edition having been published in 1945. Polya (2004) in page 1 of his book "How to Solve It" has written that "One of the most important tasks of the teacher is to help his students. This task is not quite easy; it demands time, practice, devotion, and sound principles." Generations of readers have relished Polya's – indeed, brilliant – instructions on stripping away irrelevancies and going straight to the heart of the problem. Polya identifies four basic principles for problem solving:

- 1. Understand the problem,
- 2. Devise a plan,
- 3. Carry out the plan,
- 4. Look back.

As it can be read in Polya's book, there are many reasonable ways to solve problems, but the skill of choosing an appropriate strategy is best learned best of all by solving mathematical problems. He mentions problem solving strategies such as guess and check, make an orderly list, eliminate possibilities, use symmetry, consider special cases, use direct reasoning, solve an equation, look

for a pattern, draw a picture, solve a simpler problem, use model, work backwards, use formula, be ingenious. For challenging problems, see, for example, Problem 1 below, almost all of these strategies can be useful, but for typical school problems a small number of simple techniques may suffice.

Let us start with an instructive school exam task (VISC, 2022) that Form 9 pupils had to solve this year in Latvia, see Figure 1, where formulation was not mathematically correct and could have caused some confusion to pupils. This example illustrates that many teachers, even the so-called experts who design the tests, should practise, and develop not only their problem solving skills, but also even their mathematical problem formulation skills.



Figure 1. Problem 8 from the examination in mathematics for Form 9 in Latvia, 2022

The translation of this school task is as follows:

Zaiga is making shapes (see. Figure 1) from sticks that are 2.5 cm long.

- 8.1. How many sticks will be needed to make the fourth shape?
- 8.2. Write an expression and calculate how many sticks will be needed to make the 100th figure.
- 8.3. Calculate the number of the figure the perimeter of which is 105 cm.
- 8.4. Calculate the number of sticks in a figure the perimeter of which is 105 cm.

Remark. The formulation given by the authors of *Problem* 8 (see Figure 1) is not mathematically correct because, firstly, rule has not been given according to which the next shapes must be constructed and, secondly, it is bad that the ends of the sticks are not connected in the drawing. If the ends of the sticks have not been joined together, the question arises what is meant by the perimeter of the figure.

The fourth shape is probably assumed to be as in Figure 2. The next shapes could just as well be as in Figure 3.



Figure 2. Arrangement along the bar



Figure 3. Spiral arrangement

The situation with at least two different correct solutions is not always good for a pupil, because the teacher that corrects the solution of the pupil, might not consider other solutions that differ from the given one. For that teachers needs to be competent themselves to understand that other solution does not always mean that it is incorrect. On the Internet, you can find a solution that teachers are likely to show to their pupils as a good example of how to solve this problem, see Figure 4. This solution is neither the simplest nor the shortest.

ens matemātikā 9. kla uzdevums (7 punkti).
 Zaiga no vienādiem 2,5 cm gariem kociņiem veido figūras (skat. zīm.) 2. figūra 1. fiqūra figūra 8.1. Cik kocinu būs nepieciešams, lai izveidotu ceturto figūru? grocini. $3, 5, 7, 9, \dots, d = 2$ $a_{100} = a_1 + (n-1)d = 3 + (100-1) 2 = 201 \times 100 - 1$ $a_{1} = 3 \cdot 2 \cdot 5 = 7 \cdot 5 \cdot a_{1}$ $a_n = a_1 + (u - 1)d$ a = 4.2,5=10 m an= 4,+(u-1) a = 5.2,5=12,5= 105=7,5+(n-1) $a_n = 105 \text{ cm}$ d = 2,5kociniem veidota figūra, ku $a_{40} = a_1 + (n - 1)d = 3 + (40 - 1) \cdot 2 =$ = 3 + 78 = 81 KOCIM

Figure 4. Solution found on the YouTube (Jansons, 2022)

Here is a better solution.

Solution 8.2. Every next figure gains extra 2 sticks, this means that the number of the sticks in *n*-th figure can be calculated by formula

$$s(n) = 2n + 1 \Rightarrow s(100) = 201$$

Solution 8.3. The perimeter p(n) formula is p(n) = 2.5(2 + n). If

$$p(n) = 2.5(2 + n) = 105$$
, then $2.5n = 100$, and $n = 40$.

Solution 8.4. From the previous task we know that 40th shape has the perimeter equal to 105 cm, so s(40) = 81.

Some Problems about Magic Polygons

It is a familiar fact of mathematical instruction that a single good problem can awake a dormant mind more readily than highly polished lectures do.

Some instructive mathematics olympiad problems as well as topics for pupils' research papers to support, to encourage and to better equip teachers in their work with the gifted pupils are discussed. Several of these topics involve the study of geometric shapes – polyforms, which is not a part of the school mathematics curriculum. Polyforms are a rich source of problems, puzzles, and games, which are also quite suitable for workshops. Some such problems were presented at the 11th International Conference on Mathematical Creativity and Giftedness and have been published in proceedings of this conference (Bulina & Cibulis, 2019). In this paper some other problems from polyform topic, that are new and can be used in work with gifted pupils will be given and described.

Let us define some mathematical terms that will be used further in some of the given problems. A *polyomino* (*polyiamond*) is a plane shape that consists of unit squares (unit triangles) that are added to each other edge to edge. Here by *magic polygon*, we shall understand a squared or triangular polygon (a polyomino or polyiamond respectively) with all distinct whole sides: 1, 2, up to n (see Figure 5).



Figure 5. Magic polyomino and magic polyiamonds

If side lengths of a magic polygon are in the increasing order, it will be called *perfect* (see shape c) in Figure 5). In some literature (Dewdney, 1990; Sallows et al., 1991) perfect polygons on square grid are called *golygons*.

Let us look at some problems that deal with magic or perfect polygons.

Problem 1. Prove that there exists at least one magic polyiamond for each $n \ge 5$.

This problem can be easily solved with simple construction where magic polyiamond with n = 2k + 1 edges (k > 2) can be found by adding line segments to polyiamond with n - 1 sides from point X to Y with length n, 1 and n + 1accordingly (see Figure 6). Similarly, you can construct magic polyiamonds with n = 2k, where $k \ge 3$.



Figure 6. First four magic polyiamonds (found using given construction) and one magic hexagon

Finding such constructions is a good way to help gifted pupils to think outside the box and find some connection that might not be so easy to find at first. Problem 1 can be modified.

Problem 2. Prove that the construction in Figure 6 gives a magic polyiamond with the minimum area (polyiamond consists of the least number of triangles for fixed n).

Research topic 1. Find a construction that gives a magic polyomino with minimum area (polyomino consists of the least number of unit squares for fixed *n*).

Research topic 2. Find a construction that gives a magic polyomino with maximum area (polyomino consists of the greatest number of unit squares for fixed n).

In mathematics, as soon as new quantities are defined, there is a question about their existence. Here, the existence of perfect polyiamonds is a non-trivial question. This question can be divided in two separate problems (see Problem 3 and Problem 4).

Problem 3. Prove that for every even number $n \ge 6$ there exists a perfect polyiamond with *n* edges.

Solution to Problem 3. Since the number of edges is an even number n = 2k, here we use the idea of constructing only half of the broken line to start with, to obtain the polyiamond from two such halves. To implement the idea, we need to find broken lines with *k* edges which keep two fixed points (endpoints) after extending the edges. In mathematics, quantities that are preserved under a transformation are called *invariants*; the use of invariants is one of the big ideas of mathematics. After a little experimentation we can find some broken lines for which this invariance property holds, see Figure 7. Easy to check that if each segment length of the broken line (see A, B, C and D in Figure 7) is increased by 1 unit (dotted lines in Figure 7), the position of the broken lines endpoints (red and blue points in Figure 7) will remain the same.



Figure 7. Broken lines with invariant position of its endpoints

The invariance property of the endpoints will also hold if the lengths of these broken line segments are different natural consecutive numbers (see A_1 , B_1 , C_1 and D_1 in Figure 8).



Figure 8. Broken lines with consecutive edges

Let us use this result to prove that for each even *n* where n > 4 exists at least one perfect polyiamond. We separate 4 cases: n = 6 + 8k, n = 8 + 8k, n = 10 + 8k, n = 12 + 8k (for all cases $k \ge 0$).

To find at least one perfect polyiamond for each n = 6 + 8k where $k \in Z_+$, we need to take two broken lines A from Figure 7 and add to each of them 4 edges (blue dotted lines in Figure 9) k times. For example, when k = 1 from broken lines A, B, C, D in Figure 7 we get broken lines with 7, 8, 9 and 10 segments (see Figure 9), while when k = 2 from broken lines A, B, C, D in Figure 7 we get broken lines in Figure 7 we get broken lines A, B, C, D in Figure 7 we get broken lines A, B, C, D in Figure 7 we get broken lines A, B, C, D in Figure 7 we get broken lines with 11, 12, 13 and 14 segments (see Figure 10).



Figure 9. Broken lines with added dotted lines k = 1 times



Figure 10. Broken lines with added dotted lines k = 2 times

To get magic polyiamond the two copies of a broken line of the same type, should be connected by endpoints of these broken lines. We then draw the resulting shape starting at one of the endpoints (connecting points) so that lengths of the edges starting at this point are consecutive numbers from 1 to *n*. For example, if n = 14, this construction gives a magic polyiamond shown in Figure 11.

Similarly, we can construct other perfect polyiamonds, except a perfect 10-gon. To show that there exists a perfect 12-gon, we need to take two copies of a broken line with 6 segments so the first and last segment both are not horizontal at the same time as it is for a broken line D in Figure 7.



Figure 11. Perfect 14-gon

For example, using two copies of a broken line D* (see, Figure 7) we can construct a perfect 12-gon. From (Sallows, 1992) we also know that there exists four perfect 10-gons (polyiamonds). Moreover, none of these four perfect 10-gons can be obtained using construction given in Problem 3.

Problem 4. Prove that for every odd number $n \ge 5$ there exists a perfect polyiamond.

Problem 3 and Problem 4 are suitable topics that can be explored by gifted pupils with the aim of obtaining new constructions of perfect polyiamonds. Here we present one of the simplest constructions of perfect polyiamonds when the number of sides is n = 8k + 3.

We place the four edges, namely with the lengths 2k, 4k + 1, 6k + 2 and 8k + 3 horizontally, starting with the longest edge we assign orientation to all edges from 1 to *n*, as shown in Figure 12.



Figure 12. Perfect polyiamond with n = 8 k + 3

Let us calculate the four sums S_1 , S_2 , S_3 , and S_4 of edge lengths, see Figure 14. Applying the formula for the sum of the terms of an arithmetic progression, we obtain that

$$S_{1} = 1 + 2 + \dots + (2k - 1) = (2k - 1)k$$

$$S_{2} = (2k + 1) + (2k + 2) + \dots + 4k = (6k + 1)k$$

$$S_{3} = (4k + 2) + (4k + 3) + \dots + (6k + 1) = (10k + 3)k$$

$$S_{4} = (6k + 3) + (6k + 4) + \dots + (8k + 2) = (14k + 5)k.$$

From here, it is easy to see that

$$S_1 + S_4 = S_2 + S_3 \tag{1}$$

It means that the sum of edges with orientation \nearrow and \checkmark ("up") is equal to the sum of edges with orientation \checkmark and \searrow ("down"). Similarly, the sum of edges with orientation \rightarrow ("right") is equal to the sum of edges with orientation \leftarrow ("left")

$$2k + (8k + 3) = (4k + 1) + (6k + 2)$$
⁽²⁾

The mathematical interpretation of equalities (1) and (2) is that such construction does give a broken, closed line.

Remark. This construction was found in 2022 by Marta Rudzāte, a pupil of Form 12, now a student at the Faculty of Physics, Mathematics and Optometry, the University of Latvia. She has also been able to find perfect polyiamonds with n = 8k + j, j = 1, 3, 5, 7. Here we see that there are gifted pupils who can perform at Master's level.

Research topic 3. Show that there exists at least one perfect polyiamond for cases n = 8k + 1, n = 8k + 5 and n = 8k + 7. Is it possible to find a construction of perfect polyiamonds that gives (2k + 1)-polygons at once, i.e., without having to search separately four types of polygons?

Let us propose one more research topic to use in work with gifted pupils in their research works or contest papers. Some results could be modified to be used as problems in mathematics olympiads.

Research topic 4. What is the maximum (minimum) area of a polyomino having edges. What is the answer to the modified problem if additionally, we require polyomino to be perfect? Research these questions when considering polyiamonds instead of polyominoes.

Conclusions

Teacher shortages are a serious problem not only in Latvia, but also worldwide. This situation leads to a shortage of qualified teachers who can work not only on school subjects, but also at a higher level, supervising the research projects of gifted pupils. TO BE OR NOT TO BE A GREAT EDUCATOR, 2022

E. BULIŅA, A. CIBULIS . Fostering Teachers' Mathematical Competence in Problem Solving

The shortage of teachers has many negative effects, such as no competition, no contingent to work with at a higher level, and in this context, there are repeated assessments by education experts that the Latvian education system is catastrophically lacking excellence, and the overall level is very mediocre compared to other developed countries. A shortage of teachers creates a shortage of excellence, but excellence requires difficult tasks.

The compilers of the school task (see Figure 1) had to draw a triangle lattice instead of a square lattice, because the task requires drawing and counting triangles.

This article offers some research topics as well as mathematical ideas that may be useful for teachers working with their gifted pupils.

All the given research topics deals with polygons on a square or triangle grid. Exploring polygons of this type can easily be integrated into the new school curricula that emphasise the so-called big ideas in mathematics, such as analogy, abstraction, averaging, induction, symmetry, transformations, invariants, etc. Authors are always eager to learn about clever alternate solutions for challenging problems, and therefore would be pleased to hear from you should you have any.

REFERENCES

Albrecht, A. (2022, May 2). What do we mean by 'problem solving', *Wonder in Mathematics, Amie Albrecht Personal Blog.* https://amiealbrecht.com/2022/05/02/what-do-we-mean-by-problem-solving/

Bulina, E., & Cibulis, A. (2019). Magic Polygons and Its Usage in Work with Gifted Pupils, Proceedings of the 11th International Conference on Mathematical Creativity and Giftedness (MCG 11) "Including the Highly Gifted and Creative Students – Current Ideas and Future Directions", pp. 250–256. https://doi.org/10.37626/GA9783959871327.0

Burns, M. (2007). About Teaching Mathematics: A K-8 Resource., *Math Solutions Publications*. http://docplayer.net/30175932-Mathematics-marilyn-burns-about-teaching-mathematics-third-edition-about-teaching-mathematics-a-k-8-resource-third-edition.html

Dewdney, A. K. (1990). An Odd Journey Along Even Roads Leads to Home in Golygon City, *Scientific American*, 63(1), 118–121. https://www.jstor.org/stable/24996874?seq=1#page_scan_tab_contents

Halmos, P. R. (1980). The Heart of Mathematics. *The American Mathematical Monthly*, 87(7), 519–524. https://doi.org/10.2307/2321415

Halmos, P. R., Moise, E. E., Piranian, G. (1975, May). The problem of Learning to Teach., *The American Mathematical Monthly*, *82*(5),466–476. https://www.jstor.org/stable/2319737

Jansons, K. (2022). Mathematics Examination for Form 9, Year 2022, (In Latvian). *YouTube video*. https://youtu.be/HErcj8CKfbw?t=5290

Lyons, H. (2021). 'We're running dry': Brussels teacher shortage reaches critical levels. *The Brussels Times*. https://www.brusselstimes.com/189896/were-running-dry-brussels-teacher-shortage-reaches-critical-levels

McLean Davies, L., Watterston J. (2022). Australia's teacher shortage won't be solved until we treat teaching as a profession, not a trade, *The Conversation*. https://theconversation. com/australias-teacher-shortage-wont-be-solved-until-we-treat-teaching-as-a-profession-not-a-trade-188441?utm_medium = Social&utm_source = Facebook&fbclid = IwAR3trGuPQxBd-HOBv7qU93JFovgxKPcycsOeA5qo7ByM9zLVnj8X72UqDnj0#Echobox = 1660250515

Natanson, H. (2022). 'Never seen it this bad': America faces catastrophic teacher shortage, *The Washington Post.* https://www.washingtonpost.com/education/2022/08/03/school-teacher-shortage/

Polya, G. (2004, First Edition in 1945). How to Solve It: A New Aspect of Mathematical Method, *Princeton University Press*. http://www.im.ufrj.br/~monica/funcoes/Polya.pdf

Pritsker, B. (2021) Mathematical Labyrinths. Pathfinding., Book Series: Problem Solving in Mathematics and Beyond, 22, 307. https://doi.org/10.1142/12040

Sallows, L., Gardner, M., Guy R. K., Knuth D. (1991). Serial Isogons of 90 Degrees, *Mathematical Magazine*, 64(5), 315–324. https://doi.org/10.1080/0025570X.1991.11977626

Sallows, L. (1992). New Pathways in Serial Isogons. In *The Mathematical Intelligencer*, pp. 55–67. https://leesallows.com/files/New%20Pathways.pdf

Schoenfeld, A. H. (2016, originally published in 1992). Learning to Think Mathematically: Problem Solving, Metacognition, and Sense Making in Mathematics (Reprint). *Journal of Education*, *196(2)*, 1–38.

Statistics of Applications for Studies at Universities. (2022). https://epakalpojumi.latvija.lv/ EServices/EP190-v1-0/?language=EN

VISC, Exam in Mathematics for Form 9 (2022). Latvia. https://www.visc.gov.lv/lv/media/ 17300/download

Wu, H. (1999). Professional Development of Mathematics Teachers. *Notices of the American Mathematical Society*, 4(5), 535–542. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/234733414_ Professional_Development_of_Mathematics_Teachers https://doi.org/10.22364/atee.2022.45

Changes in the Mathematics Curriculum for Grades 10–12 in Latvia

Maruta Avotiņa, Agnese Zīlīte

Faculty of Physics, Mathematics and Optometry of the University of Latvia, Latvia maruta.avotina@lu.lv; agnese.zilite@lu.lv

ABSTRACT

In the school year 2021/2022 in all schools and for all grades in Latvia ends the gradual transition from the previous mathematics standard (that was used since year 2008) to the new mathematics standard. This standard is developed within the ESF project "Competence Approach to Curriculum (School 2030)". The mathematics subject in the secondary school is divided into two parts: Mathematics I (optimal level for every secondary school student) and Mathematics II (advanced level for secondary school students who plan to study exact sciences at the university). The final exam also is different and will focus not only on solving problems but also on the correct use of mathematical language and justification. These changes also have effect on the learning process, now emphasis is on the competency-based learning that will provide pupils with the knowledge, skills and attitudes needed for modern life.

The aim of our study is to compare standards, curricula, and final exams to analyse the differences in mathematics content for grades 10–12. The method used in this article is document analysis as documentary research as well as analysis of pupils' results in final mathematics exams.

As the education system in Latvia is in the process of transition, it is important to understand how the changes might affect pupils' knowledge and skills in mathematics.

Keywords: competency-based education, education system in Latvia, mathematics curriculum, mathematics for Grade 10–12, mathematics final exam, project School2030, secondary education standard

Introduction

Mathematics education has been changing and developing in Latvia as everything else over the last twenty years of independence. The changes affected educational programmes, teaching methods etc. Basic educational attitudes in

Latvia changed from traditional (heritage of soviet education) to progressive education.

Currently, education systems in every country are different, but there are international studies that evaluate the academic performance of pupils, so that each country can compare the performance of its pupils with others and decide on the necessary changes.

For example, PISA is an international survey which is aimed at the evaluation of education systems worldwide by testing skills and knowledge of 15-year-old pupils. It is conducted every three years. One of areas in which students are assessed in this study, is mathematics. The mean score in mathematics from PISA 2018 for Latvia in mathematics was 496, i.e., pupils in Latvia scored higher result than the OECD average (489) in mathematics (PISA 2018 Results. Combined Executive Summaries. Volume I, II & III, 2019). For comparison, the two other Baltic countries with a similar history have the following mean scores in mathematics: Lithuania 481; Estonia 523. Mean mathematics performance was significantly higher in PISA 2018 than in PISA 2015, but when considering the entire 2003-2018 period, mathematics performance appeared to oscillate around a stable mean, with no clear direction of change; a more consistently positive trend is observed amongst the lowest-achieving students in mathematics, narrowing the gap between those and higher-achieving students to some extent (Country Note. PISA 2018 Results. Latvia, 2019).

TIMSS is an international assessment of mathematics and science, it is conducted every four years for Grade 4 and Grade 8. Average mathematics scale score for Latvia (Grade 4) in 2019 was 546, TIMSS scale centerpoint was 500, for comparison, Lithuania 542, Estonia did not take part in this study (Mullis et al., 2020). There are no results for Grade 8 pupils.

Unfortunately, both studies concern pupils in primary education. There are no international studies for pupils in secondary education. We can internationally compare the performance of secondary school pupils in mathematics through mathematical olympiads. For example, relative ranking for Latvia in last three years in the International Mathematical Olympiad is respectively 36.54%, 55.66%, 39.81%; for Lithuania 49.04%, 29.25%, 54.37%; for Estonia 46.15%, 53.77%, 52.43% (International Mathematical Olympiad. Latvia. Team Results, 2022). Unfortunately, these results do not reflect knowledge and skills that can be acquired in mathematics lessons.

The other way how to compare different education systems in countries to gain knowledge about possibilities for improvement is to compare curricula. Note that this is not the only way, for example, different levels of comparison in educational studies are described in (Bray & Thomas, 1995).

There are several research studies describing or comparing education systems in different countries. For example, Moravcova et al. (2019), Kácovský et al. (2022),

Prendergast & Treacy (2017), Demirtaş et al. (2015), Norvaiša (2019). Curricula from other countries are often not available in English, making it difficult to compare them. However, we do not know any publication that compares a mathematics curriculum of Latvia with other countries or describe changes in mathematics curriculum in Latvia.

The aim of our study is to describe and compare standards, curricula, and final exams to analyse the differences in mathematics content for grades 10–12, as well as to investigate the immediate effect (if any) that this change has on pupils' final exam results. This will be done through analysing the results of two types (the old one and the new one) of final exam in 2022.

In Latvia the following levels of education are specified:

- 1) pre-school education,
- 2) basic education (Grades 1-9, age from 7 to 16),
- 3) secondary education (Grades 10-12, age from 16 to 19),
- 4) higher education (Education Law, 1998).

More about system of education in Latvia see (System of education, 2022).

Curriculum is a broad term. In our research, we analyse only official national documents of intended curriculum for secondary education in which we can find learning content, time allotment, educational goals, and objectives.

In Latvia, the official document that sets out requirements for secondary education is Republic of Latvia Cabinet of Ministers Regulation No. 416 (Regulations Regarding the State General Secondary Education Standard and Model General Secondary Education Programmes, 2019). Since 2020, the new standard gradually is implemented in different grade groups. This standard is developed as part of the National Centre of Education ESF project Nr.8.3.1.1./16/I/002 "Competence Approach to Curriculum (School 2030)" (About Project, 2022). These changes affect educational institutions from pre-school to secondary school, most significant changes in mathematics are in Grades 10–12, that will be discussed in this article.

In order to make it easier for teachers to fulfil the requirements of the law, in Latvia a sample of curriculum for mathematics is centrally developed and it is recommended to use it when organizing the mathematics learning process. The sample curriculum is only a recommendation, so teachers can develop their own curriculum accordingly to the subject standard. In this article we analyse a curriculum for the optimal level and a curriculum for the highest level: (Mathematics I. Sample curriculum of the optimal course for general secondary education, 2020) and (Mathematics II. Sample advanced course curriculum for general secondary education, 2020). Curriculum for the general level course Mathematics will not be analysed in the article.

Methodology

The research subject of this work is the changes in the mathematics curriculum for Grades 10-12 in Latvia. The study aims to overview the current situation of education system and teaching mathematics. The method used in this article is document analysis as documentary research where we analyse general and specific changes in mathematics curricula compared to the previous mathematics standard and curricula that were introduced in 2008. The focus was on the optimal and higher level courses. Also, we analyse pupils' results in the mathematics final exam.

Results

This section is divided into four parts. We start with a brief history of education system in Latvia. In the second and third part we describe the general and specific changes of the subject Mathematics in the secondary education system in Latvia. As final part we analyse pupils' results in mathematics final exam.

A Brief History of the Mathematics Education System in Latvia

In 1991, Latvia regained its independence, therefore there was a need for new educational system. As a result, in 1991, the Law of Education was adopted.

In 1995, with the conformation of the concept of Latvian Education the reform of the educational content was started. In 1998, the first national basic education standard was approved, as well as a new Law on Education was adopted. A year later, in 1999, the law on general education and the law on vocational education were introduced. The reform lasted until 2002 when all grades were taught by the new standard. During this period a national examination system was established, which provided national examinations in the grade 3, 6, 9 and 12 and final centralized examinations at the end of general secondary education programs (Andersone, 2022).

In 2008 a new curriculum with reduced content of mathematics for secondary school (grade 10–12) was developed. Based on this curriculum new national education standards were approved for primary education (2014) and for general secondary education (2013). Subject curricula and educational standards based on the competency approach are being developed and improved from 2012 to 2017. New educational standards and curricula are immediately introduced a system of national tests and centralized examinations that encourage to faster introduce the innovations (Andersone, 2022).

During this period the main changes in the content of mathematics were the removal of complex numbers, polynomial division, elements of mathematical analysis and elements of analytic geometry from the curriculum. Until 2002 these topics were included in advanced mathematics courses.

In 2020 significant changes are again introduced in mathematics content. As a result, a pupil can choose to obtain mathematics in advanced level that includes for example elements of mathematical analyses and elements of analytic geometry.

Secondary school education now is divided in three levels – general, optimal and highest. (See Figure 1 as example for mathematics). For each level the intended results to be achieved by a pupil have been formulated, see (Regulations Regarding the State General Secondary Education Standard and Model General Secondary Education Programmes, 2019).



Figure 1. Three levels of secondary school education

On the general level a pupil must solve problems in familiar situations, supplement, generalise, and systematise the knowledge, understanding, and skills acquired in the basic education. On the general level of acquisition, it is mandatory to acquire a part of the content of each field of study according to the standard of general secondary education. This level is more intended for pupil who have chosen secondary education with professional orientation in some direction (for example, arts, music, cook, tailor).

On the optimal level a pupil strengthens skills to plan and implement independent action of cognition and problem-solving, identifies and solves problems in simple, unfamiliar situations, establishes deepened conceptual understanding in the field of study with interdisciplinary elements, demonstrates complex skills, acquires product creation experience. Acquisition of the study content on the optimal level is a pre-condition to study on the highest level and is important for comprehensive general secondary education.

On the highest level the pupil intentionally, responsibly, creatively, and independently plans and supervises his cognitive activity, independently solves problems in unfamiliar, complex situations, establishes a deep conceptual understanding in the field of study, and recognises interdisciplinary regularities. On

this level the study content is advanced, expanded, and significant for the further studies at the universities.

All study subjects in the secondary school are divided into courses. There are two or three courses for each subject, these courses are named Subject, Subject I and Subject II (Sample curricula in secondary education, 2020). For the general level are courses Subject and some Subject I courses (for example, pupil must learn course Mathematics and course Latvian I, as well as pass the appropriate exams). The general level is separated from secondary education and will not be analysed in this article.

For the optimal level are intended courses Subject I, but for the highest level courses Subject II (for example, pupil learns Mathematics I on the optimal level and Mathematics II on the highest level). A pupil must choose to acquire at least three courses in the highest level and pass at least two appropriate highest level exams. To graduate a secondary school pupil must pass at least four exams, including exam in Latvian (native language), foreign language and mathematics. All exams must be at least in the optimal level and at least two exams must be in the highest level.

General Changes in Mathematics for Grades 10-12 in Latvia

Since there are crucial general changes in the secondary education system, it also influences the subject curricula and teaching process organization. Previously in secondary school pupils learned mathematics all three years (grade 10–12) and there was the same final exam, regardless of the number of math classes that could have differed from 4 to 8 hours per week. Accordingly, to the new standard a school can choose what level courses it will provide to pupils and how the learning process will be organized. There are four main options how mathematics can be taught (see Figure 2). In the most cases schools choose to teach course Mathematics I in Grade 10 and Grade 11 (each year 6 hours per week), after completing this course, pupils take an optimal level exam.



Figure 2. Course Mathematics I and Mathematics II learning organization in schools

The knowledge acquired in the course Mathematics I (the optimal level) is sufficient for further studies in areas where mathematics is not a profiling course. Thus, if school provides and pupil chooses the course Mathematics II (the highest level in which a pupil acquires knowledge that is essential for further studies where mathematics is necessary, for example, physics, computer science) is taught in Grade 12 (8 hours per week). At the end of grade 12 a pupil can take a highest-level exam if he needs it. Other option is to teach course Mathematics I in grades 10–12 choosing an appropriate number of lessons per week and taking an optimal level exam at the end of Grade 12. There are some schools (mostly gymnasiums) that teach both mathematics courses in an integrated manner without diving the content of mathematics into two parts.

Since the project School2030 developed the standard from pre-school till secondary school education then the standard of mathematics for secondary education continues the structure of basic education and also has six main parts (Regulations Regarding the State General Secondary Education Standard and Model General Secondary Education Programmes, 2019):

- the language of mathematics,
- strategies and reasoning characteristic to mathematics,
- numbers, operations on numbers,
- elements of algebra and functions,
- data and elements of statistics,
- shapes.

The approach to learning process itself also has changed (see Figure 3). If before the 2000s a teacher was more like a lecturer who gave ready knowledge and facts to pupils and pupils mostly solved tasks by the given algorithm, then now a teacher must become a consultant that helps pupils to construct new knowledge themselves and apply it in new situations.



Figure 3. Main Changes in the Teaching and Learning Process

Thus, the learning process has changed from transfer and referral of knowledge to creating new knowledge by questioning and exploring. The frontal teaching process changes to process where pupils take active involvement and corporation. The accents are on using and creating knowledge as opposed the previous situation where emphasis was more on remembering specific facts as a goal of a study subject. Understanding a mathematical concept is put primary to practising, which is necessary but secondary. The exam results in next few years will show how these changes have affected students' mathematical knowledge since remembering mathematical facts and formulas are necessary to be able to solve complex problems and create new knowledge.

Evaluation system also has changed, now a teacher must set learning outcomes and give meaningful feedback on the process of learning and further development, as well as pupils should be encouraged to reflect on their learning and thinking.

Continuity, systematicity and integrity are the guiding principles behind the new standard and curriculum. Consequently, the course Mathematics II is built as a logical continuation for the course Mathematics I (see Table 1). In order to create a transparent and content-successive relationship between these courses, their content is organized in modules, for example, the module "Analytic geometry II" includes content that successively continues the content of the module "Analytic geometry I", supplementing it and deepening.

Mathematics I modules	Mathematics II modules
Analytic geometry I	Mathematical induction
Probability and statistics I	Probability and statistics II
Algebra I	Algebra II
Trigonometry I	Elements of mathematical analysis
Geometry I	Trigonometry II
	Analytic geometry II
	Geometry II

Table 1. Mathematics I and Mathematics II modules

In the course Mathematics II after more than 20 years again are included elements of mathematical analysis. This crucial change is justified by a global situation since many schools in other countries teach mathematical analysis, likewise, many universities require that future students have already acquired elements of higher mathematics such as limit, derivative, integral etc.

Specific Changes in the Mathematics Standard and Curriculum for Grades 10–12

In this subsection mathematics curriculum examples for Grades 10–12 are compared, focusing on content changes in each grade:

previous curriculum – (Mathematics for Grades 10–12. Sample curriculum, 2008);

 current curriculum – (Mathematics I. Sample curriculum of the optimal course for general secondary education, 2020) and (Mathematics II. Sample advanced course curriculum for general secondary education, 2020).

Previous curriculum was designed for educational programmes with 4 mathematics lessons per week. Teachers could use it as a model for their own authoring curriculum, for example, if the number of mathematics lessons per week was higher. In the current curriculum 6 lessons per week are planned for Mathematics I (Grades 10–11) and 8 lessons per week are planned for Mathematics II (Grade 12).

The General Education Law in Latvia states that the duration of a lesson in general secondary education programmes shall be 40 minutes and the duration of the academic year in general secondary education institutions shall be:

- 1) 35 weeks in grades 10 and 11;
- 2) 38 weeks in grade 12 (General Education Law, 1999).

In Tables 2, Table 3 and Table 4 are given order of topics in the previous and current mathematics curriculum, as well as number of lessons (indicated in brackets) intended for each topic. In the new curriculum is changed the emphasis on teaching approach and teaching sequence of certain mathematics topics and concepts. The main changes are commented below the tables.

	Curriculum 2008	Curriculum 2020 (Mathematics I)				
	(4 lessons per week)	(6 lessons per week)				
	Introduction (4)					
10.1.	Vectors (10)	Analytic	Vectors and motion (26)			
10.2.	Linear, power and quadratic functions (16)	geometry l	Equation of a line (34)			
10.3.	Mathematical statements, proofs (18)	Probability and statistics I	Combinatorics and probability (38			
10.4.	Concept of angle, triangles (16)	-	Statistics (30)			
10.5.	Trigonometric, logarithmic, and exponent functions (20)	Algebra I	Rational function, algebraic fractions (46)			
10.6.	Sequences (10)	-	Rational equations and inequalities (34)			
10.7.	Algebraic expressions and equations (18)					
10.8.	Circles and polygons (16)					

Table 2. Topic Order in the Curriculum for Grade 10

In the topic "Vectors and motion" the number of lessons in the current curriculum has more than doubled. This topic is planned as an interdisciplinary topic in mathematics and physics.

In the topic "Equation of a line" equations Ax + By + C = 0 and $\frac{x-x_1}{x_2-x_1} = \frac{y-y_1}{y_2-y_1}$ and $(x - a)^2 + (y - b)^2 = R^2$ are included. In the previous

curriculum only equation of a straight line in form y = ax + b was included besides in topics other than analytic geometry. Physics content is also integrated in this topic.

Previously topics "Combinatorics and probability" and "Statistics" were in Grade 11. The number of lessons in the current curriculum has more than doubled. The new curriculum has more in-depth content related to elements of probability theory, e.g., students will use operations with sets to calculate the probability of events, develop an understanding of conditional probability and independence of events. The new curriculum both deepens and extends the statistical content (e.g., quartiles and box plot are included). Currently in Latvia there are no textbooks that are intended for the new standard and curriculum. In the textbooks that were used for the previous curriculum can be found materials for most of the topics, unfortunately there is a problem with the topic "Statistics", because there are no appropriate materials in Latvian that could be used in the learning process. This could have a negative effect on pupils' knowledge and the exam results.

Previously topics "Rational function, algebraic fractions" and "Rational equations and inequalities" were divided through Grade 8, 10 and 11. In the current mathematics curriculum is a topic "Rational function, algebraic fractions" that includes transformations of algebraic fractions that were previously included in the elementary school mathematics curriculum. Current content includes defining the properties of the function $y = \frac{ax+b}{cx+d}$, graphing and applying it to contexts of other learning areas such as economics.

In the previous curriculum was topic "Trigonometric, logarithmic, and exponent functions". Logarithmic functions are not included in the current curriculum for Mathematics I. The new curriculum (Mathematics I) includes only two of trigonometric functions – the sine and cosine functions which are covered in the Grade 11 topic "Sine and cosine functions".

The existing curriculum has reduced the amount of content in geometry, integrating it into the topic of trigonometry and replacing it with the topic of some analytical geometry questions. Classical geometry topics (such as angles in circles, triangles, inscribed and circumscribed quadrilateral etc.) that previously were taught in Grade 8 and Grade 10, now are included only at the end of the course Mathematics II. It is unclear the further use of this knowledge since at the universities there is no need for these concepts. However, classical geometry is a basis for mathematical olympiads starting from national level competitions till the International Mathematical Olympiad. Thus, these changes might have a negative effect on pupils' knowledge in classical geometry and cause a decrease on mathematical olympiad results, because in the olympiad problem set there always is at least one problem in classical geometry.

	Curriculum 2008 (4 lessons per week)	Curriculum 2020 (Mathematics I) (6 lessons per week)			
11.1.	Algebraic inequalities (18)	Trigonometry I	Sine and cosine functions (29)		
11.2.	Geometric transformations (12)		Trigonometric expressions and equations (24)		
11.3.	Elements of statistics (12)	Algebra I	Power with a rational exponent, geometric progression (28)		
11.4.	Elements of combinatorics (12)	_	Exponent function (32)		
11.5.	Elements of probability (12)	Geometry I	Straight lines and planes in space, polyhedrons (38)		
11.6.	Parallel and perpendicular lines and planes (22)	_	Solids of revolution and combinations of solids (38)		
11.7.	Trigonometric equations and inequalities (26)				
11.8.	Prism (16)				

Table 3. Topic Order in the Curriculum for Grade 11

As said above in Mathematics I (Trigonometry I) is not included functions $y = \tan x$ and $y = \cot x$. By looking only at the sine and cosine functions, in optimal level pupils might get the false impression that all trigonometric functions are bounded and continuous. Tangent and cotangent functions are included only in Mathematics II. Trigonometric inequalities also are removed from the optimal level course curriculum, simple trigonometric inequalities are included only in Mathematics II.

Topic about power with a rational exponent and geometric progression previously was in Grade 10 in different topics, but now these concepts are joined in one topic.

The new curriculum has 76 lessons for Geometry I and all polyhedrons are joined. Previously, roughly the same topics were covered in Grade 11 and 12, with 70 lessons within 5 topics.

In the previous curriculum geometric transformations was as separate topic, but now these transformations are included as part of different topics: parallel translation and axial symmetry is taught together with function transformations and in the topic "Sine and cosine functions"; rotation is in the topic "Sine and cosine functions", but homothety is not mentioned in the current curricula in Mathematics I, although homothety is mentioned in the standard for optimal level. Geometric transformations are included as subtopic Mathematics II topic "Planimetry II".

After many years, elements of mathematical analysis are again included in the curriculum.

	Curriculum 2008 (4 lessons per week)	Curriculum 2020 (Mathematics II) (8 lessons per week)				
12.1.	Exponential equations and inequalities (16)	Mathematical induction (16)				
12.2.	Logarithmic equations and inequalities (16)	Probability and statistics II (23)				
12.3.	Pyramids (16)	Algebra II	Sequences and power function (20)			
12.4.	Solids of revolution (18)	-	Exponent function and logarithmic function (24)			
12.5.	Functions (16)		Rational function and algebraic transformations (26)			
12.6.	Equations and inequalities, their systems (24)	Mathematical analysis	Derivation and its applications (47)			
12.7.	Combinations of solids (14)	-	Integrals and its applications (27)			
12.8.	Mathematics as a value and mathematics as a tool (6)	Trigonometry II (28)				
12.9.		Analytic geometry II (22)				
12.10.		Geometry II Planimetry (18)				
12.11.			Stereometry (20)			

Table 4. Topic Order in the Curriculum for Grade 12

These topics require that pupils can explain or define the limit of a sequence, the limit and continuity of a function, the derivative of a function, the primitive function, the indefinite and the definite integral; use derivatives and integrals of functions in mathematics and in the context of other fields of study. Emphasis is put more on practical applications of these concepts and on use of an information technology than on solving techniques and theoretical basis. The project School2030 as main arguments for the inclusion of the mathematical analysis in the secondary school curriculum states the following:

- elements of mathematical analysis are necessary for other subjects (for example, physics),
- · acquisition and applications include and bind knowledge obtained before,
- it is necessary to prepare pupils for successful studies by creating an understanding of basic concepts of mathematical analysis, understanding is primary, but technique is secondary (Vilciņš, 2020).

Until now, elements of mathematical analysis were usually taught at universities during the first year of studies. Although these topics are usually taught more theoretically at universities, one should think about whether some accents must be changed in order not to duplicate what was taught at school. In addition, university teaching staff are concerned whether teachers will be knowledgeable and competent enough to teach mathematical analysis at school. Another dangerous turn of events is that teachers without appropriate knowledge can give to pupils the wrong idea about certain mathematical concepts and their use. This concern has a reason since part of the teachers are not confident in their ability to teach mathematical analysis and emphasize that courses for teachers are necessary (Vilciņš, 2020).

Mathematics Final Exams and Changes in Exam Structure

Referring to the fact that the labour market lacks people with knowledge of STEM subjects, in school year 2008/2009, the mathematics exam was made mandatory for all secondary education pupils. Until then, pupils could choose to take or not to take a final mathematics exam, it was up to school to decide whether their pupils must take the exam or not. However, during the years 2001–2007 for all secondary education pupils it was mandatory to take a final test in mathematics (this test was easier than the exam). The year 2022 was the last year when all secondary education pupils took the same mandatory final mathematics exam.

When in the school year 2021/2022 a discussion about a mandatory final exam in one of the STEM subjects started with the main argument that it is necessary to improve pupils' knowledge in natural sciences, the Minister of Education and Science of Latvia Anita Muižniece (2021–2022) urges not to do so, if only based on the conclusions about what the mandatory mathematics exam gave (or did not give):

During this 12-year period, in only three years did the average score exceed the 40 percent threshold. This is not evidence of a trend, but rather a response to lower requirements, so it is clear that the mandatory exam does not automatically produce more competitive secondary school graduates. The motivation to study is not created by the requirement of exams, but by the content and quality of the process, that is why we must give a chance to the new content – only by waiting and evaluating the results of the acquisition of in-depth knowledge and skills, we can talk about the need for additional changes. (Muižniece, 2022)

In the Table 5 are given average results in the mandatory final centralized exam in mathematics for last 14 years (Results of centralized examinations, 2022), (National examinations 2021/2022 Statistics, 2022). The year 2022 mathematics final exam can be found in (Centralized exam, Mathematics, 2022). The results in 2022 are a bit higher than in previous years, but it could be explained by the fact that before the exam it was stated what kind of tasks will be in the exam (for example, first task in the second part of the exam will be an exponential equation or inequality of the form $a^{f(x)} = a^{g(x)}$ or $a^{f(x)} > a^{g(x)}$. Thus, it was planned to reduce the negative impact of the COVID pandemic on pupils' knowledge, because Grade 12 pupils of year 2022 learned remotely for more than 1.5 years in total.

TO BE OR NOT TO BE A GREAT EDUCATOR, 2022

M. AVOTIŅA, A. ZĪLĪTE. Changes in the Mathematics Curriculum for Grades 10-12 in Latvia

Table 5. Average Results in the Mandatory Final Centralized Exam in Mathematics by Year

Year	2022	2021	2020	2019	2018	2017	2016	2015	2014	2013	2012	2011	2010	2009
Average, %	37.6	36.1	35.4	32.7	34.6	34.9	36.2	43.6	43.3	37.3	42.9	35.6	37.3	37.1

In 2022, Grade 11 pupils' that learn in schools and vocational education institutions and who have taken the course of the optimal level according to the new standard requirements, took the new exam for the first time. Only 4338 pupils took the mathematics exam in the optimal level and the average result in this exam was 40.03% (National examinations 2021/2022 Statistics, 2022).

According to the average score in the exams (37.6% in the mandatory final centralized exam and 40.03% in the optimal level exam), the National Centre for Education Republic Latvia concludes that the Grade 11 pupils' results are equivalent to those achieved by the Grade 12 pupils (This year, students managed to slightly improve their performance in all centralized exams, 2022).

It should be noted that only part of the pupils who learned the course Mathematics I took this exam, the rest will take it in the next school year. Thus, the average result 40.03% does not describe the situation in general, because many pupils decided to postpone their exam since it was something new and unknown, and only one sample of the exam was given. The 2022 mathematics exam sample for the optimal level can be found in (Centralized exam, Mathematics, Optimal Level, 2022).

In the Figure 4 are given overall rankings by school type in 2022 in the final exam (overall 14489 pupils) and in the optimal level exam (overall 4338 pupils). We can observe that the results for gymnasiums and secondary schools are significantly lower than in the centralized exam. One of the reasons could be that in the exam more attention was paid to correct mathematical language and explanation of the solution steps – this is a new experience and pupils do not know how much in detail they must explain their solution and judgments.





Pupils who are good at mathematics frequently use facts, formulas, and algorithms that they assume are well known or obvious and do not consider it is necessary to explain anything further, but thus they can lose points. There are no precise instructions about the facts that can be used without justification, so pupils do not know what kind of solutions and explanations are expected. On the other hand, for the vocational and art schools whose pupils' results were significantly lower have improved this year. One of the reasons could be that many pupils of these schools have decided to take the final mathematics exam in the general level and only few took the optimal level exam. The other reasons could be that some very simple tasks were included or maybe it is possible that the changes in the standard and curriculum improve the basic knowledge and understanding of mathematical concepts.

Although the average results in the mathematics exam at the optimal level are higher than in this year's mandatory final centralized exam, it is difficult to predict whether this trend will continue in the following years. In addition, it should be noted that these exams are different both the structure and evaluation criteria.

Discussion and Conclusions

We have analysed how the education system in Latvia has changed over the last 30 years of independence, as well as changes in the mathematics standards and curricula since 2008.

In the school year 2022/2023 all grades (Grade 1 to 12) in all schools in Latvia are learning according to the new standard and curriculum. Compared to the previous mathematics curricula, some topics have been reordered and some topics have been moved from the primary school and some topics cover themes from the higher education. The changes in the subject content and in the teaching approach are significant, but at the moment it is not known how these changes will affect pupils' knowledge. The results of the first final mathematics exam in the optimal level show some improvement on the average score, but the increase is not significant and not all pupils took this exam.

By the new standard not all secondary school pupils learn the same content, there is an opportunity to specialize in specific fields that are necessary for the pupil in the future, also the final exam is different according to the chosen courses and subjects he acquire. Now, there are only one year's results, which were not taken by everyone who have learned the course Mathematics I, so for now there are no trends to be observed, what impact the new content and approach has on the pupils' knowledge and skills.

There is a greater emphasis on the correct use of mathematical language and these skills are evaluated in exams, this can have a negative impact on the

exam results for the talented pupils who consider many mathematical facts to be common and obvious and do not see the necessity to further justify them in more detail. Since talented pupils participate in mathematical olympiads it is not known what impact the new order of topics will have on pupils olympiad results in both national and international level.

There is no research on how the inclusion of higher mathematics elements in the secondary education will affect universities – the data are not available since first graduates that learn by the new standard will enter universities only in autumn 2023. It is possible that there will be a need for significant changes in the higher education as well.

Since the education system in Latvia is still in the process of transition there are open questions to be discussed and analysed further:

- Are all the changes justified and supported by teachers?
- Are teachers competent to teach by the new approach and the new content?
- · How does the lack of textbooks affect the implementation of the content?
- How will these changes affect the study process at universities?
- How will these changes affect mathematical olympiads?

To draw qualitative conclusions about the impact of the new curriculum on the pupils learning and knowledge, it is necessary that factors affecting the learning process, such as the COVID-19 pandemic, pupils that have only partially learned following the new curriculum, preparedness of teachers, lack of textbooks, no longer have a significant impact.

REFERENCES

About Project. (2022). https://www.skola2030.lv/lv/par-projektu

Andersone, R. (2022, 16 January). Basic education and general secondary education in Latvia. https://enciklopedija.lv/skirklis/9879

Bray, M., & Thomas, R. (1995). Levels of Comparison in Educational Studies: Different Insights from Different Literatures and the Value of Multilevel Analyses. *Harvard Educational Revue*, *65*(3), 472–490.

Centralized exam, Mathematics. (2022). https://www.visc.gov.lv/lv/media/17051/download

Centralized exam, Mathematics, Optimal Level. (2022). https://www.visc.gov.lv/lv/media/17054/download

Country Note. PISA 2018 Results. Latvia. (2019). https://www.oecd.org/pisa/publications/ PISA2018_CN_LVA.pdf

Demirtaş, Z., Arslan, S., Eskicumalı, A., & Kargi, G. (2015). Teachers' Opinions about the Renewed Fifth Grade Mathematics Curriculum and Comparison of Two Versions. *Procedia – Social and Behavioral Sciences 174*, 1782–1790.

Education Law. (1998). https://likumi.lv/ta/en/en/id/50759

General Education Law. (1999). https://likumi.lv/ta/en/en/id/20243

International Mathematical Olympiad. Latvia. Team Results. (2022). https://www.imo-official.org/country_team_r.aspx?code=LVA&column=year&order=desc

Kácovský, P., Jedličková, T., Kuba, R., Snětinová, M., Surynková, P., Vrhel, M., & Urválková, E. (2022). Lower secondary intended curricula of science subjects and mathematics: a comparison of the Czech Republic, Estonia, Poland and Slovenia. *Journal of Curriculum Studies*, *54*(3), 384–405.

Mathematics for Grades 10–12. Sample curriculum. (2008). https://www.siic.lu.lv/fileadmin/ user_upload/lu_portal/projekti/siic/Macibu_prieksmetu_programmas_10.-12.kl/MPP_ matematika.pdf

Mathematics I. Sample curriculum of the optimal course for general secondary education. (2020). https://mape.skola2030.lv/resources/5284

Mathematics II. Sample advanced course curriculum for general secondary education. (2020). https://mape.skola2030.lv/resources/9482

Moravcova, V., Surynková, P., & Hromadová, J. (2019). Comparison of Lower Secondary School Education of Mathematics in the Czech Republic and Selected Countries with Respect to Curriculum Documents. *Scientia in Educatione*, *10*(3), 4–32. https://doi.org/10.14712/18047106.1291

Muižniece, A. (2022, 12 April). *Mandatory science exams will not create a love for STEM subjects*. https://www.delfi.lv/calis/jaunumi/obligatais-eksamens-dabaszinatnes-neradis-milestibu-pret-stem-prieksmetiem.d?id=54238956

Mullis, I., Martin, M., Foy, P., Kelly, D., & Fishbein, B. (2020). *TIMSS 2019. International Results in Mathematics and Science*. https://timss2019.org/reports/wp-content/themes/timssandpirls/download-center/TIMSS-2019-International-Results-in-Mathematics-and-Science.pdf

National examinations 2021/2022 Statistics. (2022, 6 September). https://www.visc.gov.lv/lv/valsts-parbaudes-darbi-20212022-mg-statistika

Norvaiša, R. (2019). Why do we teach the mathematics that we do? The case of Lithuanian school mathematics. *Lietuvos matematikos rinkinys*, *60*, 21–26.

PISA 2018 Results. Combined Executive Summaries. Volume I, II & III. (2019). https://www.oecd.org/pisa/Combined_Executive_Summaries_PISA_2018.pdf

Prendergast, M., & Treacy, P. (2017). Curriculum reform in Irish secondary schools – a focus on algebra. *Journal of Curriculum Studies*.

Regulations Regarding the State General Secondary Education Standard and Model General Secondary Education Programmes. (2019). https://likumi.lv/ta/en/en/id/309597

Results of centralized examinations. (2022). https://stat.gov.lv/lv/statistikas-temas/izglitiba-kultura-zinatne/visparizglitojosas-skolas/cits/12464-centralizeto?themeCode = IA

Sample curricula in secondary education. (2020). https://www.skola2030.lv/lv/skolotajiem/ programmu-paraugi-videja-izglitiba

System of education. (2022). https://aic.lv/en/izglitiba-latvija/system-of-education

This year, students managed to slightly improve their performance in all centralized exams. (2022, 29 June). https://www.diena.lv/raksts/latvija/zinas/skoleniem-sogad-izdevies-nedaudz-uzlabot-sniegumu-visos-centralizetajos-eksamenos-14282434

Vilciņš, J. (2020). About changes in mathematics content in secondary school. https://www.ppmf.lu.lv/fileadmin/user_upload/lu_portal/projekti/ppmf/lmsa/2019_2020/LMSA_Liepaja_izmainas_matematikas_satura_vilcins.pdf

About the authors

Maruta Avotiņa and **Agnese Zīlīte** are lecturers at the University of Latvia at the Faculty of Physics, Mathematics and Optometry and researchers at the Correspondence Mathematics School at the University of Latvia that coordinates mathematical olympiad activities in Latvia.

The science interest fields are teaching mathematics, modern elementary mathematics, mathematical olympiads and work with gifted pupils. To keep in close touch with current novelties at school, authors work at school in regular classes, as well as with gifted pupils and teachers of mathematics. https://doi.org/10.22364/atee.2022.46

Secondary-School Student Transversal Skills in Mathematics. Comparison Between Teacher Assessment and Student Self-Assessment

Gatis Lāma

University of Latvia, Latvia

ABSTRACT

In order to ensure attainment of educational objectives, the development of transversal skills has been identified as a key component of learning. The future is uncertain, and it is difficult to predict, which knowledge and skills will be needed for life. Education must not only prepare young people for work but also encourage the development of skills that are essential for students to become active and responsible citizens. The uncertainty about the future also changes accents in education by increasing the importance of transversal skills in secondary education, including in the subject of mathematics. In view of the fact that learning in school is mostly carried out in specific subjects and the context of the subject influences the expression of transversal skills, it is necessary to assess the student degree of transversal skill development in a specific subject. Therefore, the study assessed transversal skills of secondary school students in mathematics. Student transversal skills were measured from two perspectives: teacher assessment and student self-assessment. The mean values of pupils' self-assessment were significantly higher than that of teachers. However, the analysis of the results shows the similarities between teacher assessment and student self-assessment as transversal skills that are evaluated higher are the same. Both teachers and students have highly evaluated their analysis and collaboration skills. Also, transversal skills that are evaluated as least developed by teacher and students are the same. Both teachers and students have evaluated their problemsolving skills and creativity as the less developed among all measured transversal skills. Although average values of teacher assessments and student self-assessments vary, there is consistency in both assessments, indicating that both students and teachers are well aware of students' transversal skill development level. However, students' self-assessments mean value tends to be higher than mean value of student assessment by teacher.

Keywords: secondary school, self-assessment, mathematics, transferable skills, transversal skills
Introduction

Globalization and the rapid development of technologies has led to changes in our daily lives. The new generation needs to be integrated into an environment characterized by density and diversity (Rongraung et al., 2014). We have significantly changed way of life, work, and activities, especially in education (Khan et al., 2018). As a result, today's education system faces a difficult challenge: improving students' transversal skills to enable them to continue their education at the next level, enabling them to enter the labour market successfully (Mohd Rasli, 2020) and, if necessary, to learn remotely (Lāma & Lāma, 2020, Lāma, 2021, Baranova et al., 2021, Slišāne et al., 2021). The United Nations (UN)Sustainable Development Goals 2030 Education Section aims to provide inclusive and high-quality education and promote lifelong learning opportunities (UNESCO, 2016). The learning of different learning strategies already in the secondary education phase is of particular importance (Ananiadou & Claro, 2009), that provides effective and appropriate learning outcomes for all young people and provides a basis for lifelong learning (UNESCO, 2016). Lifelong learning can complement the necessary knowledge and skills, thus, allowing to adapt to the changing world. However, the success of lifelong learning, including non-formal education, requires transversal skills. Although transversal skills are essential to be fully integrated into society and the working environment, studies show that many have not improved their skills sufficiently (Mitsea et al., 2021, Majid et al., 2012). Given the importance of transversal skills, it is important to improve them from early childhood (Rubene, 2018) and specially at school. This would allow a student to focus on personal means that enable them to enter the labour market more easily later (Heckman & Kautz, 2012). Different terms are used to describe transversal skills, such as, 21st-century skills, general competencies, key competences, soft skills etc. Transversal skills, even if developed in a specific context, should be considered as skills to be used in different disciplines, situations, and contexts (Economou, 2016) Transversal skills are cross-disciplinary and go beyond a specific area or curriculum. (Flora, 2014). However, transversal skills highlighted in different frameworks vary significantly (Rodriguez et al., 2021). Binkley analysed 12 current transversal skill frameworks and developed a 21st century skill taxonomy, that highlighted skills that would ensure each readiness for changes. Skills have been grouped according to the needs of human everyday life in today's society and categorized into four broad domains: ways of thinking, ways of working, tools for working, ways of living in the world (Binkley et al., 2010). Pellegrino and Hilton approached transversal skill categorization from the perspective of human behaviour and divided transversal skills into three broad areas: cognitive, intrapersonal, interpersonal (Pellegrino & Hilton, 2012). However, the recommendations of the European Union set out eight key competences for life-long learning, that citizens need

for healthy and sustainable lifestyles, employment, active citizenship, and social inclusion (European Commission, 2019).

The diversity of perspectives creates difficulties, when we try to compare transversal skills across different framework structures. For example, when it is necessary to identify the most appropriate or relevant skills in a specific field.

Transversal skills in secondary school are determined by the curriculum. Gordon et al. points to a number of ways in which transversal skills can be integrated into the school curricula:

- As a specific subject. Include transversal skill development as a separate subject with specific objectives and formal means of training,
- In all existing subjects (cross-subject approach). Identifying and developing transversal skills according to the specific content of each subject,
- As extra-Curricular activities. Identifying transversal skills as part of school life and targeting different types of out-of-class classes (UNESCO Bangkok Office, Asia and Pacific Regional Bureau for Education, 2015; Gordon et al., 2009).

In Latvia, like in several other countries, the cross-subject approach is used to improve students' transversal skills. It also makes it necessary to define transversal skills more narrowly in each given subject. It is essential to take into consideration objectives of each subject and the appropriateness of the content when defining transversal skills and integrating them in day-to-day activities, otherwise students might not be able to develop them.Three broad domains of transversal skills can be identified based on the analysis of scientific literature and mathematics (Lāma & Andersone, 2021, Lāma, 2022):

- Transversal skills required to address secondary school mathematical challenges
 - analyzation skills,
 - interpretation skills,
 - decision-making skills.
- · Transversal skills required for the use of different teaching methods
 - collaboration skills,
 - communication skills,
 - planning skills.
- · Transversal skills needed for everyday life
 - creativity,
 - problem-solving skills,
 - digital skills.

The proposed classification of transversal skills stems from the objectives set out in the curriculum, the specific nature of the day-to-day work and the content of the subject-matter of mathematics, but is not to be regarded as ambiguous.

In spite of the importance of transversal skills in the learning process, the issue of improving and assessing them is still ongoing (Rodriguez et al., 2021).

The importance, development and assessment of transversal skills in secondary schools that is shared among students and teachers is therefore becoming an essential element.

Consequently, the aim of this study is to:

- to evaluate the secondary school student transversal skills in mathematics from students' and teachers' perspectives,
- to compare student self-assessment with teacher assessment.

Methodology

Transversal skills in secondary school mathematics were assessed by using online survey. To distribute the survey, a publicly available list of schools was found. Next, by searching through official school web pages, contacts were found for each school. The dissemination of the questionnaire followed the following steps:

- An email letter was sent to all of the secondary schools in the sample, which accompanied:
 - a teacher's questionnaire link, that was requested to be sent to all secondary school mathematics teachers;
 - a student's questionnaire link, requested to be sent to all secondary school students.
- One month later, a repeated request to participate in the study was sent to schools from which no teacher or student had shown activity.

The list of publicly available schools consisted of 183 schools, but some of them had already been reformed into primary schools and some of them had already been closed. In total, 643 secondary school students and 110 secondary school mathematics teachers from 134 Latvian secondary schools participated in the study. The study considered all ethical research standards in accordance with the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR). The survey was anonymous and participation in it was completely voluntary.

Question Pro was used for data collection and SPSS, MS excel, and Python was used for data analyses. The online survey focused on 9 different students' transversal skills: analyzation skills (2 statements), interpretation skills (2 statements), decision-making skills (2 statements), collaboration skills (2 statements), communication skills (2 statements), planning skills (2 statements), creativity (2 statements), problem-solving skills (2 statements), digital skills (2 statements).

The online survey consisted of 19 statements, which were evaluated on a 4-point Likert scale (1-poor, 2-fair, 3-good, 4-excelent).

The assessment of each transversal skill was defined as the mean value of the corresponding statements rounded to an integer. The teachers' and students' questionnaires consisted of same statements, with the exception of students being asked to assess their transversal skills while teachers were asked to assess their students' transversal skills. Data was analysed through descriptive statistics. To determine the questionnaire's reliability, Cronbach's alpha values were calculated for students and teachers' questionnaire separately. Additionally, Mann-Whitney *U* test was carried out to determine the difference between students' self-assessments and student evaluation by teachers.

Results

To determine Likert's scale internal consistency, Cronbach's alpha values were calculated. Both for student questionnaire ($\alpha = 0.871$) and for teacher questionnaires ($\alpha = 0.866$) internal consistency was very good.

By analysing the mean values of the students transversal skill self-assessment, it can be concluded that students have highly valued transversals skills such as: analyzation skills ($\underline{x} = 3.26$, SD = 0.71), collaboration skills ($\underline{x} = 3.11$, SD = 0.86), communication skills ($\underline{x} = 3.02$, SD = 0.72) (Table 1).

Transversal skills	Students' self-assessment	Student assessment by teachers
Analyzation skills	Mean = 3.26 Median = 3 St.Dev. = 0.71	Mean = 2.95 Median = 3 St.Dev. = 0.53
Interpretation skills	Mean = 2.78 Median = 3 St.Dev. = 0.81	Mean = 2.49 Median = 2 St.Dev. = 0.65
Decision-making skills	Mean = 2.95 Median = 3 St.Dev. = 0.78	Mean = 2.43 Median = 2 St.Dev. = 0.55
Collaboration skills	Mean = 3.11 Median = 3 St.Dev. = 0.86	Mean = 2.77 Median = 2 St.Dev. = 0.73
Communication skills	Mean = 3.02 Median= 3 St.Dev. = 0.72	Mean = 2.63 Median = 3 St.Dev. = 0.57
Planning skills	Mean = 2.96 Median = 3 St.Dev. = 0.76	Mean = 2.93 Median = 3 St.Dev. = 0.44
Creativity	Mean = 2.74 Median = 3 St.Dev. = 0.75	Mean = 2.36 Median = 2 St.Dev. = 0.60
Problem-solving skills	Mean = 2.35 Median = 2 St.Dev. = 0.82	Mean = 2.19 Median = 2 St.Dev. = 0.61
Digital skills	Mean = 2.79 Median = 3 St.Dev. = 0.76	Mean = 2.56 Median = 3 St.Dev. = 0.63

Table 1. Mean value, median and standard deviation of students' self-assessment and student assessment by teachers

These are also three only transversal skills for which the mean value of students' self-assessment exceeds 3. Teachers have highly evaluated transversal skills like analyzation skills ($\underline{x} = 2.95$, SD = 0.53), planning skills ($\underline{x} = 2.93$, SD = 0.44, collaboration skills ($\underline{x} = 2.77$, SD = 0.73). Two of the three most highly evaluated transversal skills in teacher and student assessments are the same. In addition, students' planning skills, that are evaluated by teachers relatively high, are highly evaluated by students as well with mean value just below 3. This points to the fact that the opinion of students and teachers on which of the transversal skills are better developed among students are relatively similar. When comparing the median, it can be concluded that, in both the students' self-assessment and the teachers' assessment, the median of analyzation skills, collaboration skills and communication skills is 3.

There is also similar trend in teacher and student assessments, comparing least developed transversal skills. Student has assessed as the least developed transversal skills, such skills like problem-solving skills ($\underline{x} = 2.35$, SD = 0.82), creativity ($\underline{x} = 2.74$, SD = 0.75) and interpretation skills ($\underline{x} = 2.78$, SD = 0.81). While creativity and interpretation skill evaluation is quite similar with other skills, students self-assessed their problem-solving skills lot lower. Similarly, teachers believe that students have less developed transversal skills like problem-solving skills ($\underline{x} = 2.19$, SD = 0.61), creativity ($\underline{x} = 2.36$, SD = 0.60) and decision-making skills ($\underline{x} = 2.43$, SD = 0.55). It can also be concluded that the teachers have evaluated student problem-solving skills as lowest among all transversal skills. It should be stressed that in this study, problem-solving skills were defined as skills needed for everyday life. Problem solving consisted of two evaluation criteria: understanding the problem or students' skill to turn everyday problem into mathematical problem and reflection about problems solution or students' skill to evaluate the solution of the task.

However, it should be stressed that the use the mathematics in the day-to-day problem-solving should be considered as one of the most important skills enabling students to transfer their mathematical skills and knowledge and to use them after school graduation. It indicates to the need to focus much more on developing problem-solving skill in secondary school mathematics. It should be stressed that only for problem-solving skills the median of students' self-assessments is 2, but in teacher assessment for all three above mentioned skills (problem-solving skills, creativity, decision-making skills) median is 2. This indicates that more than half of the teachers thinks that their students' skills should be considered as poor or fair. By comparing the students' transversal skill self-assessment with the teachers' evaluation, it is important to highlight that the student self-assessment mean values for all transversal skills are higher and the median is higher or equal to that of teachers. TO BE OR NOT TO BE A GREAT EDUCATOR, 2022

G. LĀMA. Secondary-School Student Transversal Skills in Mathematics. Comparison Between ...

It can therefore be concluded that students may have overestimated their skill level. In addition, the students' transversal skills self-assessments are more dispersed as for each skill student self-assessment standard deviation is greater than standard deviation in teacher assessment.

By analysing results of Whitney-Mann U test it can be concluded that for almost all transversal skills H0 is rejected and therefore there is a significant difference between students' self-assessment and student assessment by teachers (Table 2.)

Only for planning skills H1 hypotheses- there is a statistically significant difference between teacher assessments and students' self-assessments- are accepted. This points to the fact that in most of the cases there is a significant difference between teacher assessment and the students' self-assessment. Researchers, in their analysis of students' transversal skill self-assessment, comparing the self-assessment of university students from different fields, point to the fact that students' self-assessment is not always increasing with higher level of competence (Slišāne et al., 2022, Rubene et al., 2021).

Transversal skill	Group	Ν	Mean rank	Sum of ranks	U	Ζ	Р	
Analyzation	SSA	643	391.58	251784.00	25992.0	-4.90	0.000	
skills	SST	110	291.79	32097.00				
Interpretation	SSA	643	388.88	250049.50	250049.50 27726.5		0.000	
skills	SST	110	307.56	33831.50	_			
Decision-making	SSA	643	398.47	256219.00	21557.0	-7.1	0.000	
skills	SST	110	251.47	27662.00				
Collaboration	SSA	643	390.56	251127.00	26649.0	-4.4	0.000	
skills	SST	110	297.76	32754.00				
Communication	SSA	643	393.34	252918.00	24858.0	-5.5	0.000	
skills	SST	110	281.48	30963.00				
Planning skills	SSA	643	378.98	243681.00	34095.0	-0.7	0.505	
	SST	110	365.45	40200.00				
Creativity	SSA	643	393.24	252856.00	24920.0	-5.4	0.000	
	SST	110	282.05	31025.00				
Problem-solving	SSA	643	383.07	246313.00	31463.0	-2.0	0.045	
skills	SST	110	341.53	37568.00				
Digital skills	SSA	643	386.33	248410.00	29366.0	-3.1	0.002	
	SST	110	322.46	35471.00	-			

Table 2. Comparison of students' transversal skills self-assessment and student transversal skills assessment by teachers. Whitney-Mann U test

*SSA - Students' self-assessment

** SST - Student assessment by teachers

On the contrary, students are able to be aware of what really means highly advanced skills and are able to assess themselves more objectively. This is also indicated by the analyses of transversal skill relative distribution by levels. Students more often assess their skills as excellent compared to teachers (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Students' transversal skills self-assessment and student transversal skills assessment by teachers relative distribution

While 11% of teachers note that students' analyzation skills in mathematics are excellent over 1/3, or 41% of pupils believe that their analytical skills are excellent. More than 3 times more frequently, students have assessed their analyzation skills as excellent. A similar assessment relationship is observed for the most of the assessed transversal skills, where students assess their transversal skills 3-4 times more frequently as excellent compared to teachers. However, particular emphasis should be given to decision-making skills, communication skills and planning skills assessments. While teachers consider these skills to be improved at the highest level in 1%-5% of the cases, the pupils themselves assess these skills as excellent in 24%-26%. This points to a very significant difference in awareness and could hinder the development of transversal skills. It would

therefore be necessary to raise shared awareness among students and teachers about how well-developed decision-making skills, communication skills and planning skills should be considered excellent.

Discussion

The results of the study indicate that student transversal skills in mathematics should be improved. The results of the study indicate that there is a fundamental difference between the students' self-assessments and teacher evaluations. The level of students' transversal skills in mathematics measured by students' self-assessment is relatively high, while it is significantly lower in teacher assessment. Although the results show that pupils are able to identify transversal skills that would need to be improved, unlike teachers, a large proportion of students are unable to understand what the highest level (excellent) of assessment means.

As part of the study, statements were defined relatively broadly, yet they highlighted exactly the skill being assessed. Although transversal skills are interdisciplinary, they can be expressed in concrete action and context. Students may lack the ability to perceive and understand the skills assessment by linking it to the practical activity to be performed in the classroom. It might have influenced they perception of their transversal skills, compared to teachers, a significantly higher proportion of students assessed their transversal skills as excellent, which could indicate that students themselves are unable to identify their learning needs at school age and could lead to incorrect learning objectives. This could cause serious difficulties and knowledge gaps if it will be necessary to return to remote learning.

Further studies are needed to explain in more detail the reasons for differences in teacher and students' assessments and to understand what they are associated with. It is necessary to find an explanation at which extent high students' self-assessment is associated with the specific features of self-assessment as an assessment tool and whether self-assessment accuracy can be improved, for example by paying more attention during school hours on explaining the assessment criteria and allowing students to practice assessment themselves more often.

Conclusions

The development of transversal skills in schools is considered to be one of the key learning goals to allow students to successfully continue learning in universities, to better integrate into the labour market and to respond to the challenges of rapid change. The study assessed 9 transversal skills of students in mathematics by students' self-assessment and teacher assessment. The results of the study allow the following conclusions to be drawn:

- Nearly all students self-assessed almost all transversal skills as good. The students' self-assessment median for of 8 out of 9 rolling skills is 3 (good) and the mean value for these skills ranges from 2,74 to 3,26 (4-point Likert scale).
- Teacher evaluations of students are significantly worse. For only 5 out of 9 rolling skills assessments, the median is 3 (good), while for the other four measured transversal skills it is 2 (fair). The mean values for all measured transversal skills are also below 3.
- Teachers' and students' assessments vary significantly. Whitney-Mann U test indicates that for 8 out of 9 measured transversal skills p value is below 0,05, that indicates that there is significant difference between students' self-assessment and student assessment by teachers. It would therefore be necessary to increase the focus on the development of students' assessment skills.
- The lowest rated transversal skill in both students' self-assessment ($\underline{x} = 2.35$, SD = 0.82) and teacher assessment ($\underline{x} = 2.19$, SD = 0.61) is problem-solving. Problem-solving skills were defined as skills for everyday life and included skills that are necessary to transform everyday problems into mathematical problems. Both students and teachers are well aware that everyday problem solving mathematically poses significant difficulties and it can lead to a theoretical mathematical knowledge that is not applicable after school graduation. This requires more attention to mathematical modelling tasks and the development of cross-curricular links between mathematics and other school subjects

REFERENCES

Ananiadou, K., & Claro, M. (2009). 21st century skills and competences for new millennium learners in OECD countries. OECD. http://www.oecd.org/officialdocuments/publicdisplaydocumentpdf/?cote = EDU/WKP(2009)20&doclanguage = en

Baranova, S. & Nīmante, D. & Kalniņa, D. & Oļesika, A. (2021). Students' Perspective on Remote On-Line Teaching and Learning at the University of Latvia in the First and Second COVID-19 Period. *Sustainability*. https://doi.org/13. 10.3390/su132111890

Binkley, Erstad, O., Herman, J., Raizen, S., Ripley, M., & Rumble, M. (2010). *Defining 21st Century Skills. White Paper commissioned for the Assessment and Teaching of 21st Century Skills Project (ATC21S)*. ATC21S. https://oei.org.ar/ibertic/evaluacion/sites/default/files/biblioteca/24_defining-21st-century-skills.pdf

Caeiro Rodriguez, M., Vázquez, M., M., Fernández, A., Llamas, N., M., Iglesias F., José, M., Tsalapatas, H., Heidmann, O., Vaz de Carvalho, C., Jesmin, T., Terasmaa, J., Sørensen, L. (2021). Teaching Soft Skills in Engineering Education: An European Perspective. *IEEE, 9*, 29222–29242. https://doi.org/10.1109/ACCESS.2021.3059516

Economou, A. (2016). Research Report on Transversal Skills Frameworks. ATS2020. ats2020. eu/deliverables

European Commission. (2019). *Key competences for lifelong learning*. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union. https://doi.org/10.2766/569540

Flora, N. (2014). Contribution to Gender Studies for Competences Achievement Stipulated by National Qualifications. *Journal of Research in Gender Studies*, 4(2), 741–750.

Gordon, J., Halasz, G., Krawczyk, M., Leney, T., Michel, A., Pepper, D., ... Wisniewski, J. (2009). *Key competences in Europe. Opening doors for lifelong learners across the school curriculum and teacher education*. Warsaw: Center for Social and Economic Research on behalf of CASE Network. http://www.case-research.eu/upload/publikacja_plik/27191519_CNR_87_final.pdf

Heckman, J. J., & Kautz, T. (2012). Hard evidence on soft skills. *Labour Economics*, 19(4), 451–464. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.labeco.2012.05.014

Khan, I. U., Hameed, Z., Yu, Y., Islam, T., Sheikh, Z. & Khan, S. U. (2018, Jul.) "Predicting the acceptance of MOOCs in a developing country: Application of task-technology fit model, social motivation, and self-determination theory," *Telemat. Inform.*, *35*(4), 964–978. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tele.2017.09.009

Lāma, G. (2021). Self-Directed Learning In Secondary Education During Remote Study Process. Case Study In Latvia, In L. Daniela (Ed.), *Human, Technologies and Quality of Education*, 309–320. https://doi.org/10.22364/htqe.2021

Lāma, G., Andersone, R. (2021). Transversal Skills in Mathematics Curriculums of Latvian Secondary Education: 1940–2020. In V. Dislere (Ed.), *The Proceedings of the International Scientific Conference Rural Environment.Education. Personality (REEP)*, 14. Jelgava: LLU, 120–129. https://doi.org/10.22616/REEP.2021.14.013

Lāma, G. (2022). Evaluation and Students' Self-assessment of Transversal Skills in Secondary School Mathematics. Case Study in Latvia. In N. Vronska (Ed.), *The Proceedings of the International Scientific Conference Rural Environment.Education. Personality (REEP)*, 15. Jelgava: LLU, 90–97. https://doi.org/10.22616/REEP.2022.15.011

Lāma, G., & Lāma, E. (2020). Remote study process during COVID-19: Application and self-evaluation of digital communication and collaboration skills. *New Trends and Issues Proceedings on Humanities and Social Sciences*, 7(3), 124–129. https://doi.org/10.18844/prosoc.v7i3.5241

Majid, S., Liming, Z., Tong, S., & Raihana, S. (2012). Importance of soft skills for education and career success. *International Journal for Cross-Disciplinary Subjects in Education*, 2(2), 1037–1042. https://doi.org/10.20533/ijcdse.2042.6364.2012.0147

Mitsea, E., Drigas, A., & Mantas, P. (2021). Soft Skills & Metacognition as Inclusion Amplifiers in the 21st Century. *International Journal of Online and Biomedical Engineering (iJOE)*, 17(04), 121–132. https://doi.org/10.3991/ijoe.v17i04.20567

Mohd Rasli, M., A. (2020). Do Soft Skills Really Matter? *European Proceedings of Social and Behavioural Sciences*, 427–435. https://doi.org/10.15405/epsbs.2020.12.05.46

Slišāne, A., Lāma, G., Rubene, Z. (2022) How is entrepreneurship as generic and professional competences diverse? Some reflections on the evaluations of university students' generic competences (students of education and bioeconomics). *Frontiers in Education*, *7*, 1–15. https://doi.org/10.3389/feduc.2022.909968

Slišāne, A., Lāma, G., and Rubene, Z. (2021). Self-assessment of the entrepreneurial competence of teacher education students in the remote study process. *Sustainability, 13*, 11. 6424. https://doi.org/10.3390/su13116424

Pellegrino, J. W., & Hilton, M. L. (2012). Education for Life and Work: Developing Transferable Knowledge and Skills in the 21st Century. American Psychological Association. https://hewlett.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/08/Education for Life and Work.pdf

Rongraung, S., Somprach, K., Khanthapa, J., & Sitthisomjin, J. (2014). Soft Skill for private Basic Education Schools in Thailand. *Procedia – Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 112, 956–961. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2014.01.1254

Rubene, Z. (2018). Digital Childhood: Some Reflections from the Point of View of Philosophy of Education. In Linda Daniela (Ed.), *Innovations, Technologies and Research in Education*, Chapter Six, pp. 64–77. Newcastle upon Tyne: Cambridge Scholars Publishing.

Rubene, Z., Dimdiņš, Ģ., Miltuze, A., Baranova, S., Medne, D., Jansone-Ratinika, N., Āboltiņa, L., Bernande, M., Āboliņa, A., Demitere, M., Lāma, G., Oļesika, A., Sarva, E., Sīlis, M., and Slišāne, A. (2021). Augstākajā izglītībā studējošo kompetenču novērtējums un to attīstības dinamika studiju periodā. 1. kārtas noslēguma ziņojums [Assessment of student competences in higher education and the dynamics of their development during studies]. Rīga: Latvia University.

UNESCO. (2016). Unpacking Sustainable Development Goal 4 Education 2030. UNESCO. https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000246300

UNESCO Bangkok Office, Asia and Pacific Regional Bureau for Education. (2015). 2013 Asia-Pacific Education Research Institutes Network (ERI-Net): Regional Study on Transversal Competencies in Education Policy and Practice (Phase I). France, Paris: United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization 7. https://doi.org/10.22364/atee.2022.47

Reasons for Rapid Growth in Addition Strategy Use in 1st Grade Students

Ildze Čakāne¹, Astrida Cirulis^{1, 2}, Ilze France¹

¹ University of Latvia, Latvia

² Concordia University Chicago, USA

ABSTRACT

Today's quickly evolving world requires citizens to use the tools of mathematics to make informed decisions. This involves understanding the meaning and properties of mathematical operations and the ability to use them in an intuitive and flexible manner to solve problems. Working with mathematical operations begins in early primary school and establishes a basis for future work in mathematics.

Choosing the best addition strategy to compute effectively and accurately and the ability to explain their work is often challenging for young children. They often rely on familiar and safe solutions without thinking about why they chose a certain method. The purpose of this research was to gain understanding of the factors that influence students' fluency with addition, their ability to explain their work and along with that gain flexibility and confidence in mathematics.

This is action research, that involves 16 first grade students, all of whom were struggling with math at the beginning of the school year, but some of them made great gains in their ability to solve mathematics problems involving addition. The students with high performance improved in their ability to explain their actions verbally and use multiple strategies and choose appropriate and effective strategies for each task.

The aim of this research is to understand the reasons for the rapid improvement of the high performance subjects and compare it to the lower performing groups in order to help improve understanding of number operations for all students. The research involves observations and written work over a school year, and individual interviews with the students. Data about the home environment was collected from parents. The research shows that a tendency for rapid progress is due to active participation in guided class discussions and use of advanced strategies for routine tasks.

Keywords: addition strategies, calculation speed, mathematical reasoning, primary school mathematics

Introduction

In the previous year's national 3rd grade math diagnostics 25% out of all students in Latvia could not correctly add two two-digit numbers (National Centre for Education of the Republic of Latvia, 2022). What will happen with the mathematical competence of these students we can only presume, but without effective intervention it will not be satisfactory. The reason for this alarming lack of basic math operation skills undoubtedly takes root in early math, and we can assume that it is a product of teaching math through instrumental understanding rather than relational understanding (Skemp, 1987; Skemp, 2006; Boaler, 2015). What happens in the 1st grade with basic skills is fundamental and has to be looked at seriously. Since research has shown that the number of different strategies children understand and use predicts their later learning (Clements & Sarama, 2014), a closer look at the situation was needed to improve these skills.

The National Council of Teachers of Mathematics [NCTM] and other evidencebased essential math teaching practices are described below.

Teaching emphases

- 1. During lessons students model each new concept (or whenever it is necessary for them) with manipulatives, visuals and descriptive representations and make connections between them (NCTM, 2014; Smith et al., 2017). Five types of representations are used to gain understanding of a concept: physical, visual, contextual, verbal and symbolic (Cramer, 2003; Huinker, 2015; Huinker & Bill, 2017; Lesh et al., 1987). The trajectory of representations on how to build understanding of each concept is from concrete models, through pictorial representations and finally introducing abstract form (Bruner & Bruner, 1966; Lesh & Doerr, 2003; Hurrel, 2021).
- 2. To develop number and operational sense:
 - Deliberate practice to conceptually subitize (Clements & Sarama, 2014; Walle et al., 2018) using subgroups of dots to learn how to reason about quantities in flexible ways since "subitizing supports children's development of number sense and operation sense; it engages children in decomposing and composing numbers as a basis for reasoning strategies with basic facts for addition" (NCTM, 2020, 84).
 - Learn basic number combinations through understanding not memorization (Clements & Sarama, 2014; NCTM, 2020).
- 3. Explain and justify: the teacher focuses on letting students explain their thinking and compare it to the way their peers are thinking. Students know that in this classroom different approaches are valued, so they try to think of alternative (maybe not yet the most effective) ways of reasoning (NCTM, 2014; Smith et al., 2017). Students learn to judge which ways are the most

effective or most comfortable for them. "Classroom discussion must move beyond children providing short answers to direct questions toward explaining and justifying their reasoning and answers, which not only benefits individual children's learning but also contributes to the shared learning of the classroom community" (NCTM, 2020, 74).

- 4. Help students notice and use mathematical structures (NCTM, 2020) by organizing the tasks so there are visible patterns (Fan et al., 2015). Noticing how a previous problem is similar to another one can help to figure out the new one. Practice by looking for patterns in 100's chart and other number and figure arrangements. By noticing structures children see that mathematics make sense and that their ideas are valued and worth exploring and discussing. Students learn to observe, make educated guesses and generalizations.
- 5. Teach that there are specific different addition strategies (Clements & Sarama, 2014; Walle et al., 2018), see the possible strategies with clarifications are provided by the authors in Table 1.

Represents addends with manipulatives	► from 1
(fingers, base ten blocks, two colored	 count on from one addend
counters and others) and counts	
Counting on	 counting on from the first addend
	 counting on from the largest addend
Making a 10	▶ e.g. 8 + 7 = 8 + 2 + 5
Memorized addition facts	
Reasoning from known addition facts	
Adding tens and adding ones	 with manipulatives
	 without manipulatives
Mix of strategies	 when adding two-digit numbers, knowing the
	ten's sum, adding the ones by counting on
	adding tens by counting on, and then adding
	the ones by making a ten
	► etc.
Personal strategy	 counting by twos
	► 5 as a benchmark, e.g. 8+7 = 5 + 5 + 3 + 2
	► etc.

Table 1. Addition strategies

6. Build procedural fluency from conceptual understanding (NCTM, 2014; Walle et al., 2018, Burns et al., 2015; Smith et al., 2017).

All of these are evidence-based effective practices and many students benefit from them greatly, but still others continue to struggle with basic operations. The authors searched for an answer as to why this is so by posing the following questions:

- 1. Does multiple strategy use indicate an overall better performance in addition?
- 2. What might be the reasons for rapid growth in addition strategy use?
- 3. What does a student's speed at solving addition problems tell us about their addition skills?

Methodology

This is an action research that was conducted by an educator with the guidance of two researchers. This form of research was chosen because the impact for the teacher and students is immediate and corresponds to the specific setting and problem (Efron & Ravid, 2019). The research originated with a math teacher who implemented into her teaching all of the mathematics teaching practices described in the subsection "teaching emphasis". Still, some of her 1st grade students did not show satisfactory addition skills.

In the beginning of the 2021./2022. school year the first grade math teacher made an observation that 16 out of 48 of her new students might have difficulties in math in the coming year based on their math skills and knowledge in September. At the end of the school year from May 24th to 27th a rigorous diagnostic of their addition skills was conducted. During the assessment the teacher offered 11 addition problems one at a time for the pupil to solve, using manipulatives or paper and pen as needed. The process was videotaped and analyzed (see Figures 1 and 2).



Figure 1. A screenshot from the diagnostic process video



Figure 2. The setting

Permissions to videotape, publish pictures and participate in the research were obtained from the parents of the students. The problems were later divided in two parts: 6 of the addition problems had been covered in the 1st year curriculum (consisting mostly of one digit addends). These were **routine tasks**. Five of the problems dealt with two or three digit numbers or problems that were

not taught yet. These were **challenging tasks**, to test the childs' ability to make connections and transfer his skill to a new settings. The tasks were designed so the pupils could demonstrate different strategies (see Table 2).

Table 2. Addition problem categories

routine tasks				challanging tasks						
7 + 2	3 + 8	8 + 5	8 + 8	8 + 9	24 + 6	17 + 6	33 + 46	15 + 17 + 15	12 + 28	57 + 36

Note. Highlighted are problems not covered in the 1st grade program.

Two indicators were identified; whether a child was able to make connections and whether they chose an effective strategy. Based on their performance on the diagnostic task (see Figure 3), the children were divided in three groups: children with low performance (if both indicators were below 50%) in their math skills (n = 7), average performance (n = 5) (if at least one indicator was 50%) and high performance (n = 4) (if both indicators were above 50%). The first indicator showed students' ability to solve addition problems that were not taught in class. This indicated the ability to make connections and transfer knowledge. If a child was able to solve 28 + 12, based on the skill to add one digit addends so a new ten is formed, it was decided that he can make some connections; if a child could solve 57 + 36, a more complicated situation with regrouping, then it was categorized that the child can make connections. The second indicator was the students' effective use of strategies. A strategy was deemed effective if 3 requirements were met: first, the strategy is objectively effective; second, the child was fluent in using the strategy; and third, the answer was correct.



Figure 3. Grouping principle

Results

1. Does multiple strategy use indicate an overall better performance in addition?

In the Table 3 we can see a tendency: the higher the performance group, the higher the percentage of correct answers and better the ability to explain one's reasoning. It is not clear if because of the ability to explain one's reasoning the child can effectively use strategies or the other way around. Regardless, we can reason that it is more likely that if a pupil can explain his reasoning, he will be able to make connections, be more precise in his calculations and use strategies effectively.

Group	Low performance	Middle performance	High performance
precision	72%	77%	98%
ability to explain one's reasoning	36%	40%	88%

Table 3. Average student demonstrated skills in the research setting

Note. Precision refers to correctly solved addition tasks. The ability to explain one's reasoning indicates whether the student could recall and understandably explain or show his addition strategy.

Figure 4 shows how many different strategies children used to solve the 11 given addition sentences. In this research, the high performance group used more strategies than the low. The reasons for low strategy count might differ.



Figure 4. Strategy use

For example, the 1st student felt safe with using the counting-on strategy and used it with various success for almost every problem. But, if it is because she felt safe with it and for that reason did not learn new strategies provided in lessons, we can only speculate. The 2nd student had a poor understanding of place value, that did not allow him to use strategies that relied on this knowledge. The 3th student tried to use strategies that she did not really understand why they worked, so fell back to using the simplier strategy of modeling: make the numbers out of manipulatives and count.

The other data visible in the graph shows how many times the students used a nonconsecutive strategy. This in the design phase of the research was thought to show the flexibility of strategy use since the child did not use the previous strategy, but chose another from his strategies. We can see that more "jumping" in between strategies happened in the low and average group. We can reason that since the higher group uses more strategies it is less likely they will use any previously used strategy. There is another possibility that occurred looking at the data. There are children who, when facing a math problem, do not mentally look through their arsenal of tools (strategies) and then decide for the best one in the situation. Instead they start doing something without giving it a thought if it is effective or the best strategy. They are just keen to get a result, that led to chaotic "jumping" through their strategies without deliberation. This might be the story of the 5th and 6th student.

2. What might be the reasons for rapid growth in addition strategy use?

Children in the higher performance group seemed to have more confidence in math (see Table 4). The confidence was measured from the parent questionnaire and from student comments. This evaluation is by nature subjective. If a student has low confidence he was scored 0, if average confidence: 0.5, if great confidence: 1.

In the second row of Table 4 we can see that it is more likely that a child will have higher performance at the end of a school year if he participates in class discussion. This means he uses math language, explains his thinking to others, listens to other solutions and all in all is an active participant in learning. If a student participated in classroom discussion only if asked directly, he was scored 0, if participate rarely: 0.5, if participated often: 1.

Group	Low performance	Average performance	High performance
participation in class discussion	0.36	0.6	0.88
confidence in math	0.5	0.6	0.88

Table 4. Teacher observations in classroom settings. The average scores of each group.

Note. Both indicators were measured in a scale 0 to 1.

Gathered data from the home environment showed a childs' additional math learning at home. The use of applications and games related to mathematics did not show any correlation to skills. Some children from the low, average and high performance group did extra learning at home and some did not. Contrary to what was predicted in this sample, school attendance data showed no relationship to performance level (see Table 5), although in individual cases both extra learning (10th &14th student) or high attendance might be one of the reasons for higher performance (or low attendance for low performance: 2nd, 3d & 6th student).

Table 5. S	school	atendance	2
------------	--------	-----------	---

Group	Low	perfo	rman	ce				Aver	age p	erfor	manc	e	High	perf	ormar	nce
student number	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15	16
missed lessons	101	134	160	47	63	142	36	129	83	158	77	62	61	189	117	108
average	97.5	7						101.	80				118.	75		

Note. The number of overall missed lessons including math lessons.

3. What does addition sentence solving speed tell about addition skills of a pupil?

When analyzing the videos, the time for completing each task was measured, from the moment the task was given until the student gave the answer. The overall average speed was higher for the high performance group (see Table 6). The authors would like to point out that the difference between time needed to solve routine and challenging problems is significantly higher for the low group. One of the reasons we observed was that the routine tasks with smaller numbers allowed more basic strategies (representing addends with manipulatives and counting them or counting on), that were either unsuccessful or very time consuming for the challenging tasks.

Group	low performance	Average performance	High performance
Group	Low performance	Average performance	ingi performance
routine tasks	21.13	21.74	12.22
challenging tasks	83. 42	52.02	36.52
difference	62.29	30.28	24.29

Table 6. Average addition problem solving speed in seconds

When looking at separate situations (see Figure 5), there were children from the low performance group who solved the easy tasks even faster (up to 12 sec.) on average than children from the high group. These same children solved the hard tasks significantly slower. The reason why the high performance group children in this research solved easy problems slower could be because they used more advanced strategies (e.g. making ten, reasoning from a known sum) in situations where the basic strategies may give faster answers, but in the long run the children using the more advanced strategies in easy tasks and taking more time, had better understanding in using them in general and were comparatively faster in challenging tasks.



Figure 5. Average routine and challenging task solving speed in seconds. Individual students

Discussion

Our research confirmed that multiple strategy knowledge and use is advantageous in early math (Clements & Sarama, 2014), because the higher performance group used more strategies. Nonconsecutive use of strategies is not an unequivocal indicator, and is dependent on the order of the tasks, not just selection of most effective strategy and is not a certain indicator of fluency in this research. Understanding and using multiple strategies is important not just in the early years of learning math, but predicts their later learning (Clements & Sarama, 2014).

Not surprisingly this research confirmed that it is more likely that a child will have confidence in math if he is in the higher performance group, since we tend to like the things we are good at (Kohn, 2018). It is more likely a child will have better performance in mathematics if he actively participates in classroom

discussions and peer discussions, since we understand better the concepts we talk about (Harlen & Qualter, 2018). School attendance and home environment were significant only in individual cases, but in this research sample no general tendencies were illuminated.

The most exciting observations or conclusion from this research was when looking at speed. As Jo Boaler (2015) pointed out math is not about speed, which is a widespread assumption, and if speed is an incessant part of math teaching and learning we can overlook slower and deeper thinkers. The data in this research shows that overlooking slow thinkers is not the only problem with speed in math, but can give teachers false security in children's math competence. This illuminates the necessity to know how a student gets to an answer, not just if it is correct.

For the classroom teacher this indicated:

- 1. A teacher observing that a child produces fast and precise answers might conclude that they do not need any intervention and are overlooked in the sense that they do not develop advanced strategy use and reasoning skills, so causing problems later on. Easy addition problems do not demand reasoning, only applying known algorithms. A child might lose the opportunity to master more advanced strategies if they are allowed to use only basic strategies.
- 2. Speed should not be the main component in mathematics, but rather the "how" and "why" and the efforts to find the most effective strategies and explaining one's reasoning.

Further research would be beneficial in discovering why some students do not use advanced strategies, and how to lead them to fluency in different strategies, because research shows that the use of more strategies is beneficial.

Additional data is needed to specify the reasons why some students become high and some remain low performers.

Conclusions

Most of the students who were in the low performance group had different gaps in their skills or knowledge that did not allow them to do the challenging addition tasks. For example, one of the students had not developed understanding of place value. Another child tried to use strategies he did not understand and another could not break the habit of adding by counting by ones and other made mistakes in rote counting. Each of these problems or gaps require different intervention strategies.

The authors see a possible two step solution:

1. Diagnostic can not just rely on correct answers, as the teacher can not see the thinking process or strategy. For this kind of diagnostic preliminary work in the classroom is necessary: children must have been exposed to a teacher modeling their thinking and experience and practice explaining one's reasoning and learning to understand their classmate's strategies and thinking.

2. Early and continuous individualized intervention is necessary that is focused on the specific knowledge or skill gaps of each student. The emphasis is on *continuous*. It should be performed until the gap is fully closed, because some interventions and small after class individualized work did occur for the students in this research, but not systematically. The problem in the early math classroom is that the lack of fluency can be due to a lack of different skills for various students. The basic skills do not develop fast, time and regularity is necessary but not for all students and not for the same skill.

Aknowledgment

This research was supported within the project "Innovative solutions for blended learning implementation: teaching and learning process in the digital transformation context", project number: VPP-LETONIKA-2021/1-0010.

REFERENCES

Boaler, J. (2015). Mathematical mindsets: Unleashing students' potential through creative math, inspiring messages and innovative teaching. John Wiley & Sons.

Bruner, J. S., & Bruner, U. P. J. (1966). *Toward a theory of instruction*. Harvard University Press.

Burns, M. K., Walick, C., Simonson, G. R., Dominguez, L., Harelstad, L., Kincaid, A., & Nelson, G. S. (2015). Using a conceptual understanding and procedural fluency heuristic to target math interventions with students in early elementary. *Learning Disabilities Research & amp; Practice*, *30*(2), 52–60. https://doi.org/10.1111/ldrp.12056

Clements, D. H., & Sarama, J. (2014). Learning and teaching early math: The learning trajectories approach.

Cramer, K. A. (2003). Using a translation model for curriculum development and classroom instruction: Models and modeling perspectives on mathematics pr. In R. Lesh, & H. Doerr (Eds.), *Beyond Constructivism: Models and modeling perspectives on mathematics pr* (pp. 449–464). Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.

Efron, S. E., & Ravid, R. (2019). Action research in education, second edition: A practical guide. Guilford Publications.

Fan, L., Miao, Z., & Mok, A. C. I. (2015). How Chinese teachers teach mathematics and pursue professional development: Perspectives from contemporary international research. *How Chinese teach mathematics: Perspectives from insiders*, 43–70.

Harlen, W., & Qualter, A. (2018). The teaching of science in primary schools. David Fulton Publishers.

Huinker, D. (2015). Representational competence: A renewed focus for classroom practice in mathematics. *Wisconsin Teacher of Mathematics*, 67(2), 4–8.

Huinker, D. & Bill, V. (2017). Implementing effective mathematics teaching practices in Kindergarten-grade 5. *The National Council of Teachers of Mathematics*.

Hurrell, D. P. (2021). Conceptual knowledge OR Procedural knowledge OR Conceptual knowledge AND Procedural knowledge: Why the conjunction is important for teachers. *Australian Journal of Teacher Education*, 46(2). http://dx.doi.org/10.14221/ajte.2021v46n2.4

Kohn, A. (2018). Punished by rewards: The trouble with gold stars, incentive plans, a's, praise, and other bribes. Mariner Books.

Lesh, R., Post, T. R., & Behr, M. (1987). Representations and translations among representations in mathematics learning and problem solving. In *Problems of representations in the teaching and learning of mathematics* (pp. 33–40). Lawrence Erlbaum.

Lesh, R. A., & Doerr, H. M. (2003). Beyond constructivism: Models and modeling perspectives on mathematics problem solving, learning, and teaching. Routledge.

National Centre for Education of the Republic of Latvia (2022). Valsts pārbaudes darbi 2021./2022. m.g. Statistika [State tests 2021/2022. Statistics]. https://www.visc.gov.lv/lv/valsts-parbaudes-darbi-20212022-mg-statistika

Skemp, R. R. (1987). The Psychology of Learning Mathematics. Psychology Press.

Skemp, R. R. (2006). Relational understanding and instrumental understanding. *Mathematics Teaching in the Middle School*, *12*(2), 88–95. https://doi.org/10.5951/mtms.12.2.0088

Smith, M. S., Steele, M. D., & Raith, M. L. (2017). Taking action: Implementing effective mathematics teaching practices in grades 6–8.

The National Council of Teachers of Mathematics. (2014). Principles to actions: Ensuring mathematical success for all.

The National Council of Teachers of Mathematics. (2020). Catalyzing change in early childhood and elementary mathematics: Initiating critical conversations.

Walle, J. A. V., Karp, K. S., Bay-Williams, J. M., & Wray, J. A. (2018). Elementary and middle school mathematics: Teaching developmentally.

https://doi.org/10.22364/atee.2022.48

Synchronous Online Learning for Solving Physical Problems in a Team: Challenges and Opportunities

Irmantas Adomaitis

Vytautas Magnus University, Lithuania

ABSTRACT

Today's challenges make us change and sometimes, for example, in critical situations, forcefully transfer studying to digital spaces. One of the main objectives raised by educators is ensuring effective, collaborative interaction between learners and teachers or groups of learners involved in the educational process (Verstegen et al., 2016). E-learning is not an exception, there interaction and collaboration are also very important (Stadler et al., 2019). This raises a key question: how to ensure that interaction and collaboration are upheld in distance learning? To find an answer to this question qualitative case study was chosen. The case study considers the interaction and collaboration in solving physics problems. The aim of the research - to find in what ways does coherence between the Collaborative Problem Solving construct and various interactions help the teacher to strive for effective education of students during synchronous learning. Results show that cognition and practical activities are inseparable, when solving problems and cooperating in virtual environments. In addition, solving life-related problems in a virtual environment is one of the most effective ways to empower students to act. The findings of this research can be beneficial to teachers of natural sciences when striving to enhance distance learning in crisis and other extreme situations. It can also be an incentive to change attitudes towards the limitations of distance learning.

Keywords: Collaborative Problem Solving, Interaction, Online Learning, Synchronous E-Learning, Problem based learning, 3C3R PBL model

Introduction

Interaction and collaboration are considered to be one of the most effective forms of learning that are important in developing essential 21st century skills (Andreasen & Nielsen, 2013; Fung, 2017; Herayanti et al. 2019, Timonen & Ruokamo, 2021). Therefore, today the main goal of educationists is to ensure

effective learning based on cooperation and interaction between learners, teachers, and all participants in the educational process (Verstegen et al., 2016). Cooperative learning creates essential conditions for learners to be active participants in learning. It is like a "rotating spiral" – practical activities of cooperative learning enable students to act, discuss, discuss, research, solve problems (Garrison, 2017), and active participation of learners in learning activities and joint responsibility for the common group work encourages them to learn cooperatively (Ruhalahti et al., 2018). This kind of learning based on active interaction and collaboration can be considered as a unique learning model for developing students' cognitive and social skills and achieving deep and meaningful learning (Timonen & Ruokamo, 2021).

However, in the context of today's challenges (pandemic and other critical situations), learning is often forced into digital spaces. It is necessary to adapt to new technologies, new solutions, new teaching and learning methods. Impactful use of IT not only occupies an important place in today's learning process, but also opens a wide range of learning opportunities (Forkosh-Baruch & Avidov-Ungar, 2019). Virtual learning environments, social networks, virtual museums, educational tours, images conveyed by surveillance cameras can be purposefully adapted for learning. However, some researchers criticize learning in the digital space both because of the social isolation of students and because of the technical problems that may arise (Kolbaek, 2018). Despite that, there is a real consensus that interaction and collaboration in the digital space must remain important elements of learning (Stadler et al., 2019), it is necessary to maintain social presence together in the digital space between learners and all participants in the educational process (Cheung, 2021). A fundamental question arises: how to organize learning in the digital space so that it is based on interaction and collaboration? What forms and methods of teaching should be used to bring learning in the digital space even closer to F2F learning in the classroom? And in general, is it possible?

One of the widely used forms of learning in virtual space is synchronous learning (Kwok Chi Ng 2007; Pacheco, 2020). These are real-time lectures, webinars, live broadcasts on social networks, chats where learners have the opportunity to ask questions, complete tasks given by the teacher and are encouraged to communicate and collaborate in groups (Strang, 2013). According to researchers, real-time synchronous interaction not only promotes student engagement in the learning process, but also provides an opportunity to interpret complex learning material, while also allowing teachers to give instant feedback when interacting with students (Hrastinski, 2008; Strang, 2013; Watts, 2016, Francescucci & Rohani, 2019). Although synchronous communication tools help learners and teachers directly communicate and collaborate (Giesbers et. al. 2013), synchronous teaching is much, much more than just imagining that a "talking head" on

a screen is already synchronous teaching. According to educators, the teacher's task is first and foremost careful and consistent teaching planning. Special attention should be paid not only to the selected video conferencing tools, but also to the possibilities of learning through synchronous cooperation and exercises that promote student activity (Kwok Chi Ng, 2007). Therefore, the researchers emphasize that due to insufficient attention to the intricacies of synchronous teaching planning, the lack of face-to-face (F2F) student-faculty or student-tostudent communication remains a major issue in digital learning (Francescucci & Rohani, 2019). More effective ways to improve student engagement in digital learning environments are needed (Watts, 2016; Francescucci & Rohani, 2019). And for online education to be recognized as equivalent or at least close to traditional face-to-face (F2F) classroom learning, the quality of education in the digital space must be continuously improved (Palvia et al., 2018). So, there is no doubt that synchronous learning in the digital space plays an important role and deserves special attention (Timonen & Ruokamo, 2021), and planning and premeditated learning activities are a key prerequisite for effective collaborative learning (Anderson et al., 2006). However, it is still not completely clear what teaching strategies and methods to choose for synchronous teaching in digital spaces. This remains an important field of research in education (Timonen & Ruokamo, 2021). So, what teaching strategy to choose when organizing synchronous teaching?

Dialogue, reflection, interaction, and collaboration are important elements of student learning (Dewey, 1916; Hmelo-Silver, 2012; Lazonder & Harmsen, 2016), therefore, to achieve integration, some educators try to integrate them using the PBL strategy. Several advantages of PBL application emphasized in the literature are the development of critical, reflective, and creative thinking (Kolbaek, 2018). Possible shortcomings are also revealed – individual problem solving may limit individuals' ability to solve a problem, or the solution method of Problem Solving may not be immediately obvious to the person seeking to solve the problem (OECD, 2010). However, if we take the view that interaction and collaboration are one of the most important parts of effective learning (Andreasen & Nielsen, 2013; Fung, 2017; Herayanti et al. 2019), and problem-based teaching encourages learners to think in solving problematic situations and to search for answers to problematic questions, it can be assumed that the organizing learning using the PBL strategy in the digital space will also encourage student interaction and cooperation among all participants in the educational process. Such learning can be referred to as collaborative problem solving (CPS), which plays a vital role in today's world (Griffin, McGaw, 2012.). CPS skills are considered critical and necessary not only in various educational contexts, but also when working in teams to improve teamwork efficiency and quality, decision-making as well as employee creativity. Such digital learning is characterized not only

by collaboration (Garrison et al., 2000) but also by creating meaning, while working towards a common goal. Active participation, communication and commitment to the coaching group promotes collaborative learning (Ruhalahti et al., 2018). However, some researchers question the effectiveness of applying the CPS strategy in the digital space, arguing that CPS is not as useful for learners in the digital space as it is for students who solve problems in the F2F classroom (Kolbaek, 2018). The lack of motivation of students to solve problem situations is emphasized exclusively (Kolbaek, 2018). Another aspect that poses a challenge is the creation of a problem or problematic situation. Teachers need to be careful when creating problems and should pay attention to the level of difficulty of the problem. Easy problems lead to finding a solution without any effort, while too difficult problems can lead to frustration (Yurniwati & Dudung, 2020). So, how should problems or problematic situations be formulated and presented in the digital space so that students are motivated to be active and solve problems collaboratively?

The reflections presented in the introduction and the discussion questions raised can serve as an incentive for educationists to delve even deeper into synchronous teaching strategies, create new methodologies and look for new ways to ensure interaction and cooperation in synchronous teaching in digital spaces.

Method

How to ensure that interaction and collaboration are upheld in distance learning? To find an answer to this question qualitative case study was chosen. The case study considers the interaction and collaboration in solving physics problems.

The aim of the research – to find in what ways does coherence between the Collaborative Problem Solving construct and various interactions help the teacher to strive for effective education of students during synchronous learning.

The case is: Interaction and collaboration for solving physical problems in a team in synchronous online learning.

Participants: 15–16-year-old high school students (2 student groups of 4 students each (9th grade) and 2 student groups of 4 students each (10th grade). Students' participation in the study was voluntary – students who are interested in physics participated and wanted to solve challenging physics exercises as well as real-life problems in teams.

Research ethics

Students' participation in the study was voluntary. The research idea was clearly defined for the students, and all the procedures that would be performed during the research had been discussed. After receiving the consent of the

students, a meeting was organized for their parents. During the meeting, the idea of the research, its progress and benefits were discussed. After coordinating the details, the parents of the students participating in the study signed informed consents for their children's participation. All collected data is saved to an external drive. Data is non-accessible, confidential, and protected.

Activities and their duration

MsTeams video conferencing tool was used for synchronous learning.

All learning activities for all groups were the same. Meetings with students were organized for 2 months, once a week. These were informal lessons/consultations aimed at developing cooperative physics problem solving skills and deepening physics knowledge.

To avoid fatigue, classes with students lasted 30 – 40 minutes without interruption. because online synchronous learning, especially during longer sessions, requires energy and engagement (Pacheco, 2020).

Research questions

- How to formulate and present problem-based learning (PBL) tasks to encourage interaction and collaboration?
- Why does using PBL strategy during synchronous teaching promote student interaction and cooperation?
- What characterizes different interactions in collaborative problem solving in synchronous learning?
- This qualitative Case Study research was implemented in several stages:

Adaptation of research material for synchronous teaching

Creating tasks based on the Collaborative problem solving (CPS) construct (Griffin, Care, McGaw, 2012) and 3C3R PBL model (Hung, 2006).

CPS construct was chosen for several aspects:

First, when implementing the CPS construct, two or more people participate in the activities, and the successful implementation of the activities requires the cooperation of team members, sharing of problem-solving ideas, monitoring, and analyzing the problem-solving process, explaining cause-and-effect relationships, proposing strategies for solving the problem in the team (Hesse et al., 2015).

Second, in the CPS construct, the relationship between social and cognitive abilities in implementing the CPS construct is very strong (Griffin et. al. 2012). Social skills play an important role not only in solving problems together but are also a distinctive feature of many cooperative activities. Cognitive abilities, in turn, have a lot in common with classical problem-solving methods, based on which problem solvers look for answers to problematic questions and present the decisions made with arguments.

The planning and activities of the synchronous teaching were chosen according to the 3C3R model (Hung, 2006).

This 3C3R model was chosen because of its broad scope for integrating content and activities (Hung, 2006), e.g., various problematic real-life situations, the solution of which requires the interaction of learners, requires social, communicative, cognitive, and cognitive abilities.

Second, for teachers, the 3C3R model provides a conceptual framework within which they can more systematically and effectively formulate and design problems (Hung, 2006).

Third, the use of the 3C3R model provides a conceptual framework for designing PBL problems and evaluating their relevance and effectiveness (Hung, 2006).

Synchronic lessons with the students

Based on the CPS construct and the 3C3R model, tasks and activities were placed on six slides and named "Six slides principle for synchronous teaching". The presentation of the slides is shown in the picture below (Fig. 1).





Data collection and analysis

The following methods of data collection were chosen – observation, researcher's notes, semi-structured interviews in focus groups, lesson videos, student reflections. The coding of the research participants is presented in Fig. 2.



Figure 2 The coding of the research participants

All video sessions were recorded and later transcribed. MAXQDA2020 software was used for data processing. The collected data was coded and analyzed according to the distance learning model A Model of E-Learning (Anderson, 2004), the CPS construct (Griffin, Care, McGaw, 2012) and the elements of the 3C3R model (Hung, 2006). Attention was focused on the following interactions during synchronous teaching: student-teacher, student-student, student-teaching content, teacher-content. These interactions used in the study were defined according to A Model of E-Learning (Anderson, 2004).

Interaction	Description
student-teacher	Multifaceted student-teacher communication and collaboration through synchronous delivery of learning materials, organizing discussions, F2F communication, and other real-time activities.
student-student	Learning together based on the ideas of constructivism and connectivism, promoting the cognitive process and research, helping to accumulate knowledge together based on the experience of the learning community and developing cooperation skills using technological solutions for learning in a virtual environment.
student-content	Learning opportunities using interactive tools (real-time explorations, real-time video presentations, interactive tasks, virtual labs, etc.). This interaction is focused on meeting the individual learning needs of learners (providing targeted learning support, quick feedback, orientation to further learning).
teacher-content	The process of creating and/or updating educational content (educational materials/resources, educational objects, interactive tasks) and educational activities related to the implementation of the content (research, creative tasks, etc.).

Table 1. Interactions according to A Model of E-Learning

Results

The results of the study show that the tasks and activities created based on the CPS construct (Collaborative problem solving construct (Griffin, Care, McGaw, 2012) and the 3C3R problem-based learning (PBL) model (Hung, 2006) in organizing synchronous teaching using the "Six slide principle for synchronous teaching" activate all studied interactions connected by common elements (Table 2).

Observational data show that to promote interaction and cooperation-based teaching, teacher-content interaction is extremely important, not only in the initial stage of planning, creating problem situations and predicting activities, but also during the entire synchronous teaching.

Slide	Description	Interaction	Connection
1st slide Content / Problem / Challenge	A contextual problem or problem situation related to the teaching content is presented	Teacher – Content Teacher – Student Student – Content	Real-life experience, problem situations, challenges with questions starting with How? Why?
2nd slide The idea to solve problem	Students present ideas on how to solve the problem.	Student – Student Student – Content	Mindmap, brainstorming, etc.
3rd slide "Helping slide"	A hint given by the teacher that directs the students to the solution to the problem	Teacher – Content Student – Content Student – Student Teacher – Student	A picture with help elements without clear instruction and exploring idea for the solution.
4th slide Tools	Teacher-provided tools for the test that will help answer the given question	Teacher – Content Student – Content Student – Student	Tools for the experiment that will help answer the given question. Tools are provided in a variety and more than necessary, which can be found at home.
5th slide Helping content / learning material	Help provided by the teacher: teaching content, description, links, etc.	Teacher – Content Student – Content Student – Student Teacher – Student	Texts, explaining, knowledge which students must connect with their experiment results
6th slide Reflection	Student and teacher reflection	Student – Student Teacher – Student Teacher – Content	Reflection, important questions like: Why? What makes you decide about it? Comment your choice, etc.

Table 2. Elements connecting interactions

Teacher – content interaction

The problem arising from the context – a prerequisite for encouraging student activity

The observation data of the conducted research show that teacher – content interaction is a very important element of synchronous teaching. The success of the entire synchronous teaching depends on the choice of the teacher, the challenge presented, the organized activities and moderation. The context and the resulting problem situation are extremely important for students' interest and engagement in synchronous learning. For example, if the lesson took place before Christmas or another holiday, an example of a problematic situation could be the following: a family celebration, a large dinner table, laughter, shouting... Suddenly, a person chokes without speaking. How to help him? This simple problematic situation not only actualizes the problem itself, brings it closer to the students' life experience, but also encourages students to think, discuss, and explain the observed phenomenon based on the laws of natural sciences. Therefore, the biggest challenge for

the teacher is to find phenomena or teaching objects from the surrounding environment that would be relevant to the students and would pose a challenge. It would be possible to model problematic situations, and after modeling the students could study them at home using the simplest tools.

Cognitive conflict - an incentive to think and cooperate

The analysis of the video material of the lessons suggests that one of the ways to promote the interaction between students is the cognitive conflict that arose during the exploration (... But it should work, if there is a lot of air here, press it and it should push the ball out. I don't know why it doesn't work for me ...) S1C1. It was noticed that the interaction between students intensified significantly while searching for a solution to this problem.

Hints - silent aids that encourage student-student interaction

The analysis of activities in synchronous lessons revealed that after presenting a problematic situation, the teacher must be ready to give hints to the students, which would allow the students to change the direction of thinking and encourage them to look at the problem from a different angle. Observational data revealed that visual material works very well for this, e.g., pictures, diagrams, etc. All this activates the student-student interaction and helps to achieve the set goals.

Teacher – student interaction

The study revealed that teacher-student interactions based on simple agreements with students (... Let's immediately agree that you will speak. okay? Of course, I will also talk to you, but you should talk more. OK? ...) has a positive effect on student-student interaction. The analysis of the videos shows that the students try to stick to the agreements, get involved in the discussions themselves and try to involve others (... S3C1, what do you think? ...) S1C1, (... Maybe we should try, as you said? ...) S4C3, (... What if we did, what you said? ...) S2C3.

The teacher's "withdrawal" and "timely return" are prerequisites for students to interact

Monitoring data shows that the teacher's unexpected "retraction" (... For three minutes I'm offline ...) TC3, (... it's your decision ...) TC1 disturbs students, but at the same time it activates student cooperation, helps students get more involved in independent problem-solving activities, encourages sharing of ideas. And the teacher's "timely return" and showing that he was interested in the students' decisions (... What are you doing? What did you come up with? ...) TC1, (... Tell me, very interesting ...) TC4, (... How unexpected ...) TC2 encourages interaction even more. The teacher's "withdrawal" and "timely return" are effective means to keep students active during synchronous teaching.

Do it together with the students - keep the intrigue

The research data show that the presence of the teacher with the students, involvement in their research activities, arouses the interest of the students

(... And you, the teacher, will you wait until we are done and do it after or? ...) S3C1, (... I'm doing the same as you... we'll see how well we succeed ...) TC1 During this kind of interaction, students feel relaxed, trust emerges, all members of the group try to get involved in the activities, and the desire to look for even better options for solving the problem also appears (... But, here, it is possible to come up with more ...) S2C3, (... maybe I'll think a little more ...) S4C4.

Student – student interaction

Delve deeper, share and be a team member...

The results of the study revealed that the interaction between students when planning activities according to the presented model is exceptional. Students strive to be important team members. Before sharing something with the members of their group, they first delve into the topic, read the material presented, individually analyze the problem and only then start discussions (... I think our team's tactics are quite good, first we each individually looked at what we think about it, what we know, what we understand, then we discuss ...) S4C3 (... In the beginning, we looked individually at what we know and can solve and then we talked, discussed ...) S3C4, (... we checked our knowledge, we said our opinion ...) S1C1 The students identify the need for individual analysis of the problem as one of the very important things (... I think it is very important to clarify what you want to say, because if you only come up with thoughts and attack other people for theirs and say maybe yes maybe so. Then, there will be such a long discussion ...) S2C2. Here you can also see the students' responsibility for the team's overall activities (... If you formulate the answer clearly to yourself, what you want to say, those discussions happen very quickly somehow ...) S1C2 Research data also revealed that when working in a team, students are open to listen, accept the opinions of other team members and negotiate (... I think you just need to listen to each other... be able to accept it and say your opinion ...) S3C3, (... often while making a decision we either state ours, listen to others, change our minds, or we just agree ...) S2C1. Such students' reflections suggest that being together is very important to these students.

A cohesive team – an essential step towards successful collaborative problem solving

The research revealed that the composition and size of the team is also very important to the students (... *If we had more people, maybe it would be more difficult or if there were fewer people, maybe it would also be too difficult ...*) S4C1, (... now that is the optimal amount – the relationship is pleasant and communication is easy ...) S1C1, (... what is important is which group and which people you are with ...) S1C4. Observational data revealed that to solve a problem in team cooperation, students often discuss several solutions to the problem, which help to find the answer. Therefore, it is necessary that the work in the team goes smoothly (... you

just need a non-confrontational team that functions properly in solving problems ...) S3C4. In a cohesive team, when someone from the group gives his answer, he is listened to (... I think the most important thing is to listen, to be able to listen ...) S1C1, (... we listen to other ideas...Very, very, very good thing) S2C2, and when examining possible ideas for solving the problem, all group members look for compromises and a final solution (... You look for compromises and you don't think that your answer is the right one ...) S3C1, there is a discussion if necessary (... When there is actually a discussion and either common solution is reached or the answer is found during practice, you can compare whose answer was correct ...) S1C1. So, being in a cohesive team means being part of a team.

"Fear of making mistakes..." or "We learn from mistakes..."?

The research revealed that in a harmonious team, not being afraid to make mistakes (... it is important to understand that you can make mistakes ...) S1C1, (... and I decided that maybe I could do it without them, I failed. I had to try it and find out who is right and who is wrong. ...) S3C1 and acknowledgement of the ideas proposed by other team members to solve the problem (... I didn't think of that... How did you come up with such a good idea? ...) S3C4 is one of the prerequisites for implementing successful interaction and solving problems in a team. All this can only be achieved through mutual respect (... Mutual respect is needed. If there is the understanding that there is nothing terrible to make a mistake here ...) S3C2, (... no one judges you for making a mistake here, everyone says that everything will be fine ...) S4C1. Mutual respect and learning without fear of making mistakes are prerequisites for deep, interactive, and collaborative learning.

Student – content interaction

Problem tasks are an incentive to search for diverse information

Research data revealed that student-content interaction is very diverse. When solving problems, students use various sources of information (... Read some examples ...) S1C1, (... you can google it... however, there are many answers on the Internet ...) S4C1, (... first of all I think about what the topic could be in accordance to what we have already covered and what might be related to that problem ...) S1C1, (... I'm looking in old notebooks ...) S2C4, (... I have a physics problem book ...) S1C4. Problem-based tasks not only direct students to different sources of information, but resource management becomes one of the priorities. Students understand that they cannot limit themselves to the information found in only one information source, so before presenting their reflections, they check the information found (... if the information does not match, then you rely on several sources and see how you can get the correct one from them ...) S3C2, (... it is important to check the information, because if, for example, you say something wrong, then you can steer the discussion in the wrong direction ...) S1C1.

The lack of instruction encourages students to think

Observational data and analysis of videos revealed that the students who participated in the study have only superficial abilities to explore and experiment, in most cases students are waiting for instructions, instructions or a description of the experiment on how to perform it (... Do we use all the tools here? ...) S3C1, (... let's do it together teacher? ...) S1C1. Students find it difficult to find analogues of the observed phenomena and model them using simple tools, but these activities undoubtedly create many opportunities for students to make mistakes, look for new solutions, and re-analyze the presented material. All this only encourages students to get to know the observed phenomena better.

Discussion

There is no doubt that interaction and collaboration are one of the most effective forms of education, which is important for developing essential 21st century skills (Andreasen & Nielsen, 2013; Fung, 2017; Herayanti et. al. 2019, Timonen & Ruokamo, 2021). However, teaching in the digital space remains a problem, which is often criticized for the social isolation of students and the technical problems that arise (Kolbaek, 2018). It could be agreed that social isolation of students really exists, especially when a lecture – "talking head" is chosen for synchronous teaching, there is a real threat of monotony as a one-way of disseminating information to students (Khan et al., 2021). However, our research shows that the social isolation of students can be avoided by choosing tools that promote collaboration, such as the application of the CPS construct using the 3C3R model, because the combination of the CPS construct and the 3C3R model creates unique opportunities to promote student interaction, involve them in active and interactive learning. the process.

When talking about interactive teaching methods in virtual environments, researchers often give examples of interactive videos, various quizzes that can be part of live sessions, and teachers provide feedback or initiate discussion during each interaction (Khan et al., 2021) The idea is great if the teacher takes the role of leader and moderates the discussion. However, let's look at it from the other side, if we want the student to be in the center, and we want to bring learning in the virtual space as close as possible to F2F teaching in the classroom, shouldn't we think about strategies that would give students even more opportunities to raise new ideas, think critically and creatively, discuss, plan tests, raise hypotheses, perform "live" science experiments using tools available at home, discover and create new knowledge and apply it in practice? To implement this during synchronous teaching, as our research revealed, is it enough to use the "Six slides principle for synchronous teaching" principle?

We fully understand the limitations of our study. Therefore, it can be agreed that there is no model suitable for everyone and there cannot be because of different students, different involvement, different cultures, but it is also obvious that the principles, models, and constructs really exist. So, the goal is to find connections and integration between them and present the result to teachers for use in practice. Therefore, it is worth looking for as many models and constructs as possible, which would allow each education in different countries to choose the model that is relevant and important for the students.

Conclusions

Impactful learning in the digital space for active communication and collaboration is one of the critical issues that educators are faced with today. Our study revealed that the harmony of the CPS construct and the 3C3R model is a prerequisite for successful implementation of synchronous teaching (creating tasks, presenting them, organizing activities, etc.) in virtual environments.

We conclude that creating tasks and organizing synchronous teaching based on the CPS construct and applying the 3C3R problem solving model creates strong connections between teacher – content, teacher – student, student – student and student – content interactions. Presentation of problematic tasks during synchronous training is an incentive to search for various information, select and critically evaluate it. On the other hand, arising cognitive conflicts when faced with problems encourage students to think, delve into problem solving, cooperate and be part of a team.

In addition, the application of the "Six slide principle for synchronous learning" based on the CPS construct and the 3C3R model revealed that solving problem situations related to students' lives, exploring in real time, using simple tools at home, trusting each other, not being afraid to make mistakes and being a team member influence interaction and cooperation for successful learning.

The findings of this study may be useful for science teachers to enhance distance learning in crisis and other extreme situations. It can also be an incentive to change the way we think about the limitations of distance learning.

REFERENCES

Khan R. A., Atta. K., Sajjad, M., Jawaid, M. (2021). Twelve tips to enhance student engagement in synchronous online teaching and learning, *Medical Teacher*, 44(6), 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1080/0142159X.2021.1912310

Anderson, L., Fyvie, B., Koritko, B., McCarthy, K., Murillo Paz, S., Rizzuto, M., Tremblay, R., & Sawyers, U. (2006). Best Practices in Synchronous Conferencing Moderation. *The International Review of Research in Open and Distributed Learning*, 7(1). https://doi.org/10.19173/irrodl.v7i1.308
I. ADOMAITIS. Synchronous Online Learning for Solving Physical Problems in a Team: Challenges ...

Anderson, T. (2004). *Toward a Theory of Online Learning*. The Theory and Practice of Online Learning. Athabasca University. http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1. 131.9849&rep=rep1&type=pdf

Andreasen, L., Nielsen, J. (2013). Dimensions of problem based learning – dialogue and online collaboration in projects. *Mendeley*. https://doi.org/10.5278/ojs.jpblhe.v1i1.283

Cheung, A. (2021). Synchronous online teaching, a blessing or a curse? Insights from EFL primary students' interaction during online English lessons. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. system.2021.102566

Dewey, J. (1916). Democracy and education: an introduction to the philosophy of education. New York: The Macmillan Company.

Forkosh-Baruch, A., Avidov-Ungar, O. (2019). Ict Implementation in Colleges of Education: A Framework for Teacher Educators. *Journal of Information Technology Education: Research*, *18*, 207–229. https://doi.org/10.28945/4312

Francescucci, A., & Rohani, L. (2019). Exclusively Synchronous Online (VIRI) Learning: The Impact on Student Performance and Engagement Outcomes. *Journal of Marketing Education*, *41*(1), 60–69. https://doi.org/10.1177/0273475318818864

Fung, D. (2017). A connected curriculum for higher education. University College London.

Garrison, R. D., Anderson, T., & Archer, W. (2000). Critical inquiry in a text-based environment: Computer conferencing in higher education. *The Internet and Higher Education*, *2*(2), 87–105. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1096-7516(00)00016-6

Garrison, R. D. (2017). *E-learning in the 21st century: A community of inquiry framework for research and practice* (3rd ed.). Routledge.

Giesbers, B., Rienties, B., Tempelaar, D., Gijselaers, W. (2013). Investigating the relations between motivation, tool use, participation, and performance in an e-learning course using web-videoconferencing. *Computers in Human Behavior*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. chb.2012.09.005

Griffin, P., Care, E., McGaw, B. (2012). The changing role of education and schools. *Springer*. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-007-2324-5_1

Hesse, F., Care, E., Buder, J., Sassenberg, K., Griffin, P. (2015). A Framework for Teachable Collaborative Problem Solving Skills Assessment and Teaching of 21st Century Skills. University of Melbourne. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-017-9395-7

Herayanti, L., Widodo, W., Susantini, E., & Gunawan, G. (2019). Blended Learning Based Inquiry Collaborative Tutorial Model for Physics Students. *Jurnal Penelitian Pendidikan Sains*, 8(2), 1676–1683. https://doi.org/10.26740/jpps.v8n2.p1676-1683

Hmelo-Silver, C. E. (2012). International perspectives on problem-based learning: contexts, cultures, challenges, and adaptations. *Interdisciplinary Journal of Problem-Based Learning*. 6(1), 3. https://doi.org/10.7771/1541-5015.1310

Hrastinski, S. (2008). Asynchronous and synchronous e-learning. *Educause Quarterly*, 31(4), 51–55.

Kolbaek, D. (2018). Problem-Based Learning in the Digital Age. International Association for Development of the Information Society (IADIS) International Conference on Cognition and Exploratory Learning in the Digital Age (CELDA). https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED600498.pdf

Kwok Chi Ng (2007). Replacing Face-to-Face Tutorials by Synchronous Online Technologies: Challenges and pedagogical implications. The Open University of Hong Kong, PRC. ISSN: 1492-3831.

I. ADOMAITIS. Synchronous Online Learning for Solving Physical Problems in a Team: Challenges ...

Lazonder, A. W., and Harmsen, R. (2016). Meta-analysis of inquiry-based learning effects of guidance. *Review of Educational Research.* 86(3), 681–718.

OECD. (2010). PISA 2012 assessment and analytical framework: Mathematics, reading, science, problem solving and financial literacy. Paris: OECD. http://dx.doi. org/10.1787/9789264190511-6-en

Pacheco, E. (2020). Twelve Tips for online live classes. Med Ed Publish, 9(1), 250.

Palvia, S., Aeron, P., Gupta, P., Mahapatra, D, Parida, R., Rosner, R. & Sindhi, S. (2018). Online Education: Worldwide Status, Challenges, Trends, and Implications. *Journal of Global Information Technology Management*, *21*(4), 233–241. https://doi.org/10.1080/1097 198X.2018.1542262

Ruhalahti, S., Soderlund, M., & Timonen, P. (2018). Students' experiences of collaborative learning on digital youth work cMOOCs. HAMK Unlimited Scientific. https://unlimited.hamk.fi/ammatillinen-osaaminen-ja-opetus/collaborative-learning-in-cmoocs/#.YwdrZEZByUk

Stadler, M., Herborn, K., Mustafić, M., Greiff, S. (2019). Computer-Based Collaborative Problem Solving in PISA 2015 and the Role of Personality. *Journal of Intelligence*. https://doi.org/10.3390/jintelligence7030015

Strang, K. (2013). Cooperative learning in graduate student projects: Comparing synchronous versus asynchronous collaboration. *Journal of Interactive Learning Research, 24*, 447–464.

Timonen, P., Ruokamo, H., (2021). Designing a Preliminary Model of Coaching Pedagogy for Synchronous Collaborative Online Learning. *Journal of Pacific Rim Psychology*, *15*, 1–22. https://doi.org/10.1080/0142159X.2021.1912310

Verstegen, D. M. L., Jong, N., Berlo, J., Camp, A., Könings K. D., Jeroen J. G. van Merriënboer, Donkers, J. (2016). How e-Learning Can Support PBL Groups: A Literature Review. *Springer, Cham.* https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-08275-2_2

Watts, L. (2016). Synchronous and asynchronous communication in distance learning: A review of the literature. *Quarterly Review of Distance Education*, *17*(1), 23–32.

Yurniwati, Dudung, A. S. (2020). The Effectiveness of Computer-Based Problem Solving to Improve Higher Order Thinking Skills on Prospective Teachers. *International Journal of Instruction*, *13*(2), 393–406.

https://doi.org/10.22364/atee.2022.49

Introduction of Educational Robotics at Secondary School Level in the Latvian Education Curriculum

Veinberga Grieta, Rūdolfa Arta, Linda Daniela

University of Latvia, Latvia grieta.veinberga@gmail.com; arta.rudolfa@lu.lv; linda.daniela@lu.lv

ABSTRACT

The relevance of the present research is justified by the wide range of educational robotics applications and the rapid development of educational technologies in general. Technologies are produced faster than it is possible to develop methodical teaching materials or curricula, especially in the Latvian language. Educational robotics develops various skills and knowledge, such as algorithmic thinking, problem-solving, logical thinking, etc. However, despite the clear achievements in technology education, there are a number of related problems. These include the lack of teachers, the qualifications of teachers, the lack of funding, and the insufficient provision of teaching materials in line with the new approach in the Latvian education curriculum. The study aimed to develop, test, and improve instructional materials for the implementation of the curriculum for the use of digital technology in elementary schools, as well as to create a methodology for evaluating learning achievements in ICT lessons on the topic "What is programming and how to program in a visual environment" and promoting the development of algorithmic thinking (learning with the educational robot Photon). The study uses mixed research methods. The first part was the analysis of the literature on educational robotics and computational thinking. In the empirical part of the action research, both quantitative and qualitative research methods were used. The results obtained are important for a wider and more meaningful introduction of educational robotics in Latvian schools.

Keywords: computational thinking, educational robotics, instructional materials, Photon, educational robot

Introduction

Robotics, science, and techno-scientific practices in general have become increasingly common in individual and industrial contexts. In both social contexts,

we see how artificial intelligence (AI) is integrated into various processes, such as security recognition or disease detection and prevention in public health (Salas-Pilco, 2020). Integrating technology, including educational robotics, into the learning process is essential. It is important to implement the technology-enhanced learning process meaningfully, responsibly, and in such a way that technology is a tool to achieve specific goals. Technologies in education are associated with both the technical and organizational support of the educational process, which includes learning management systems, learning platforms, and the management systems of educational institutions (Daniela, 2021), and with learning means, such as educational robotics (devices of various complexity, structure, and functionality), which can be used in the learning process for learning specific achievable results. There are various obstacles to the implementation of educational robotics in practice. One of the main obstacles is the lack of effective instructional materials for the use of educational robotics in classrooms, as well as well-defined curricula and learning materials. These obstacles have created a lack of experienced and professional educators in the productive use of educational robotics (Yang et al., 2020).

Educational robotics is now being widely introduced in learning in schools around the world (at various education levels), including in the general education curriculum in Latvia. However, the amount of instructional materials available in Latvian is very limited. This is a significant obstacle to the introduction of robotics in the learning process. Teaching robotics can be a big challenge for many teachers because, for example, translating materials from another language or creating one's own takes a lot of effort. Another problem is the lack of educators who can teach robotics. Sometimes, educational robots are available at schools, but no one is ready to teach with them.

Currently, there are significant differences in the definitions and implementation processes of educational robotics in educational processes. There are also sometimes noticeably different opinions about the advantages and disadvantages of educational robotics and how to learn it better at different age stages. As such, it is important to use uniform terms, criteria, and guidelines when creating instructional materials for robotics.

Concept of robotics and robot, their development and importance

The field of robotics is a combination of science, technology, and engineering. The main goal of robotics is to produce intelligent machines (Alici, 2018). On the one hand, robotics could be considered a recent trend, and it is now possible to robotize almost everything. From robots that weld parts on car manufacturing lines to robots that interact with people in the service industry (Staples, 2018), we encounter various robots in our daily life, such as chatbots on the web, self-service checkouts, robot hoovers and lawnmowers in

households, etc. Robotic technology is thus emerging as tools with particular purposes that will allow us to improve the quality of our lives in many aspects, whether caring for our loved ones or making our businesses more productive (Hawes, 2021).

Robots can be classified in many different ways. First of all, it is important to point out that robots can be divided into physical robots and software robots. This research focuses on instructional materials in educational robotics, and the materials developed are for working with the physical robot known as Photon. Despite all the advantages that robotics can bring to education, there is still a lack of a clear definition of the purpose of introducing robots into education (Scaradozzi et al., 2019). Although it is difficult to come to a single definition due to the rapid and dynamic development of the robotics industry and the development of the field of technology more generally, it is possible to classify robots according to their functionality, characteristics, and purpose of operation.

Educational robotics

The beginnings of educational robotics can be traced back to Papert's invention of the LOGO programming language (Papert, 1980), which was suitable for encouraging children's development of their technology and programming skills. Papert's career spanned a trio of influential movements: child development, artificial intelligence, and educational technology. Based on his insights into children's thinking and learning, Papert recognized that computers can be used not only to provide information and instructions but also to allow children to experiment, explore, and express themselves (Resnick & Robinson, 2017).

Robotics in education (hereinafter, RI) covers various applications of robots in the world of teaching and learning, such as replacing the teacher with a robotic device at some stage of learning (reading texts, etc.) or using robots as a support device (communication, motivating students, etc.). On the other hand, educational robotics (hereinafter, ER) is a field that aims to improve people's learning experience, where two aspects (pedagogical and technological) are essential to introduce, improve, and choose appropriate activities, tools (guidelines, templates, etc.), and technologies in which robots play an active role, each activity is pedagogically justified, and the most appropriate methods are chosen (Angel-Fernandez & Vincze, 2018). In short, ER teaches the design, analysis, applicability, and operation of robots, while robotics is used to motivate the learning and acquisition of programming, artificial intelligence, and engineering skills.

Regardless of the classification of robots used and how ER is integrated into the learning process, ER for students aims to achieve specific learning outcomes:

 To improve problem-solving skills, making it easier to understand complex concepts, research, and make decisions.

- To increase self-efficacy: The natural controllability of the robot encourages experimentation, discovery, and rejection, thus increasing the student's self-confidence, as the student feels in control of the machine. It also strengthens students' critical thinking.
- To improve algorithmic thinking: Students learn algorithmic thinking to break down a large problem into smaller ones and then solve it, thus learning to focus on important information and reject irrelevant details.
- To increase creativity by learning with knowledge that conveys play in a more playful form. Learning turns into a fun activity and becomes more attractive and interesting for the student.
- To increase motivation, as ER allows students to engage in a specific activity and stick to it (Evripidou et al., 2020).

There are two basic types of educational robots based on Papert's ideas: *Build Bots*, which students must assemble before use, and *User Bots*, which students can take out of the packaging and use immediately (Catlin et al., 2019). Researchers and authors have described various benefits to students using ER with both *Build Bots* and *User Bots* in the learning process. The three most important are the development of computational thinking, problem-solving skills, and creativity. Researchers who are working in the field of educational robotics explain that *black box robots* (or *User Bots*) are ready-made devices that students can work with, but since there is no customizing, joining of parts, or creating a design, the student does not know what is inside the robot and does not develop an understanding of its functioning.

The situation in the field of STEM education in Latvia as a whole can be assessed as quite good and constantly improving. However, one of the biggest problems is related to the availability of instructional materials in Latvian and the lack of teachers in the field of robotics. Therefore, during this research, instructional materials were developed for working with the Photon educational robot.

Photon is a learning tool of the latest generation and can be used both at educational institutions and at home, allowing children to get to know the world of modern technology through their own experiences and experiments. According to the taxonomy described above, the Photon robot is ready-made (*black box, User Bots*) and does not qualify as a toy (Photon Robot for Education, 2021) because it has the characteristics of an educational robot, such as flexibility, digitization, repeatability, humanization, and natural interactivity (Pei & Nie, 2018). With the help of the Photon robot, children can develop their algorithmic thinking, creativity, and logical thinking. In the same way, working with a robot can develop their ability to search for solutions to problems in different ways and promote the acquisition of both programming skills and knowledge of the English language.

TO BE OR NOT TO BE A GREAT EDUCATOR, 2022

V. GRIETA, R. ARTA, L. DANIELA. Introduction of Educational Robotics at Secondary School Level ..

By applying appropriate methods in a specific situation, the impact of the robot on the development of children's skills could be divided into four main categories: cognitive, conceptual, language, and social (cooperation) skills (Toh et al., 2016). It is important not to treat ER as the "main" focus of learning where students learn how to play with robots; instead, it should be integrated into a holistic pedagogical strategy to benefit students' learning and development (Tang et al., 2020) to support the formation of knowledge of programming, computational thinking, and creativity.

Computational thinking

The beginnings of computational thinking in the context of technology can be traced back to the previously mentioned Papert in 1960 when he published his concept and basic principles of computational thinking. He also created and introduced the LOGO programming language in 1967 (Resnick et al., 1988) and coined the term "computational thinking" in *Mindstorms: Children, Computers and Powerful Ideas* (Papert, 1980). The educational team founded by Papert at the Massachusetts Institute of Technology has since developed and researched methods for developing algorithmic thinking in students. According to Papert, there are six essential principles of computational thinking:

- an understanding of human-computer interaction;
- the ability to create algorithms to solve problems;
- abstraction and the ability to find and use information;
- problem analysis: possible solutions and anticipation of other problems;
- communication: one must be able to explain problems and provide possible solutions;
- teamwork: one must actively work with others to solve problems (Papert, 1996).

The principles of computational thinking and the development of related skills are closely related to everyday challenges even today. As such, computational thinking is and will be urgent both in the learning process and throughout life. When considering the definition of computational thinking, it is important to mention that, as is the tendency in the field of technology, there is no single definition for this term. However, the following definitions have been put forward by some of the best-known authors on this topic:

- thinking that solves problems in computer science and that makes one think abstractly. Papert primarily connected this concept with the ability to solve problems in computer science (Papert, 1980);
- thinking processes involved in formulating problems and their solutions so that they can be represented in a form that can be implemented by a human or a computer (Wing, 2017;

- a set of skills that connect basic cognitive skills involved in complex tasks such as abstraction, algorithmic thinking, and data representation (Brennan & Resnick, 2012);
- a way of finding solutions with clearly defined steps).

In scientific articles, conceptualizations of computational thinking are divided into two categories: computational thinking as a code-oriented skill and computational thinking as an interdisciplinary practice. Regardless of whether a code-oriented or interdisciplinary practice is adopted, the computational thinking research community mainly uses the computational thinking construct in the form of programming-based activities (Kite et al., 2021). Relatively few attempts have been made to integrate computational thinking into advanced curriculum programs.

Computational thinking as an interdisciplinary practice can be implemented in any field, but a code-oriented practice can be specifically applied in computer classes because these provide an environment where everyone has access to a computer and a teacher who understands programming. Computational thinking in computer classes is not only related to programming, however. Elementary school students start with logical games in the 1st grade, learn the visual programming environment in the classroom in the 4th-6th grade, and then continue with a text-based programming environment in the 7th-9th grade.

During the last 20 years, methodologies and techniques have been developed that aim to support the development of computational thinking. It was essential to understand how to combine computer capabilities with human capabilities to create the best solution. A key takeaway from these findings is that supporting computational thinking is much more than just programming accessibility (Repenning et al., 2020).

Methodology

For the purposes of this research, 13 instructional materials were developed on how to work with Photon with 4th-5th grade students. The materials were developed in a sequential mode, meaning that each material was developed before a particular class, and the next one was developed based on the results from previous classes. Knowledge development was evaluated using formative assessment tests that followed four levels of knowledge based on the SCML evaluation system (Started to learn: 0–24%; Continues to learn: 25–49%; Mastered: 50–74%; Learned in-depth: 75–100%) to determine how these materials supported the development of computational thinking. At the end of each lesson, students performed a self-test by answering open-ended questions in the Quizziz tool, which started with simple questions and increased in difficulty (see Table 1). Their answers were evaluated on a scale from 0–4, where 0 = no answer given, 1 = 0-24%, 2 = 25-49%, 3 = 50-74%, and 4 = 75-100%.

Outcome to be achieved	Questions
To materialize the idea, you need to understand what actions have to be done.	 What is a robot? What actions does a robot help us do in our daily lives? What do you understand by "robotics in education"?
Both computers and humans can perform algorithmic operations.	 What is an algorithm? Who can perform/execute algorithmic operations? Write a short simple algorithm
between humans and computers in the action performed by the human.	5. write a short, simple algorithm
For each result, the achievement can be described and broken down into a number of smaller and simpler actions.	 Who can perform/execute algorithmic operations? What commands/actions does the Photon robot perform (write at least 3)?
Required actions can be written down in different ways.	3. What types of algorithm notation can you write down?
Describe the algorithm of your idea in words or diagrams.	 What are the different types of algorithms? How do you rate your work today – write how it went and what was most interesting. Fill in the
Verbally (by making a list) and schematically (by schematic drawing in free form), describe linear and cyclic algorithms in everyday situations.	self-assessment. 3. What sensors does the Photon robot have, and why are they necessary?
The correctness of the algorithm can be checked by executing the sequential steps specified.	 How can you work better in Scratch with a spirit or a robot? How do you problem-solve on a daily basis? Describe the steps How can you check the correctness of an algorithm?
The simple actions that are possible are determined by the environment in which the actions are performed (programming or physical).	 Enter two words that fit into the paragraph in the space provided: "The simple actions that are possible are determined by the environment in which the actions are performed – or" Draw a short linear algorithm.
The computer executes the commands given to it verbatim, so the accuracy of the algorithm in the input is very important.	 Draw a short branching algorithm. Draw a short cyclic algorithm.
Create a project in a visual programming environment that executes a written or schematically defined algorithm.	 List two ways how an algorithm can be defined. Write down why it is important to analyze and describe an operational algorithm. Describe the steps to create a qualitative
Create a description of the solution and record the sequence of steps.	project in the visual programming environment Scratch.

Table 1. Learning outcome evaluation questions

Table 1. Continued

Outcome to be achieved	Questions
The design solution is targeted and implemented according to a plan. The design program is tested for story representation and possible improvements are identified.	 What are the features of Scratch's visual programming environment? Write down three types of algorithms. Describe the steps to create a quality project in Scratch with the Photon robot.
Design and visualize an animated story with several characters who perform various simple or cyclical actions to convey the message.	 Write down what you did best. Write down which part of the test you liked best. Write down what didn't go well and what you would like to do next time to improve. Write down which part of the test you disliked the most or which seemed redundant. How many marks would you give yourself if you were to assess your work according to the criteria?
In a programming environment, plan and visualize a story to be represented on a carpet by a Photon robot that performs various simple or cyclical actions to convey the message of the story.	 Write down what worked best for you. Write which part of the test you liked best. Write down what didn't go well and what you would like to do next time to improve. Write down which part of the test you disliked the most or which seemed redundant. How many marks would you give yourself if you were to assess your work according to the criteria?
Demonstrate visual programming stories developed in a programming environment, evaluates classmates' performance, and analyze the results.	 Write down your thoughts on whether you prefer working on Scratch with or without the Photon robot. Why? Was there anything in your classmates' programs you didn't know how to make? Can you describe what it was? Compared to other topics in computer lessons, was this topic different? Did you like it better or not? Why? What did you learn about in this topic?

At the end of the topic, a summative assessment was carried out, consisting of three parts (Scratch, Scratch + Photon, test). The results of 28 students were analyzed in this research; however, this paper only analyzes the final evaluation results.

The materials developed were validated to see whether implementing the developed learning materials improved problem-solving skills, increased self-efficacy, and developed algorithmic thinking, creativity, and motivation.

All procedures performed while involving human participants were conducted in accordance with the ethical standards of the institutional and/or national research committee and with the 1964 Declaration of Helsinki and its later amendments or comparable ethical standards.

Results

Students' answers to the formative assessment tests were assessed using the SCML principle. Observations show that some pupils did not go into what the question asked or submitted incomplete answers, resulting in a score of 0. The results also depended on whether the question was easy to assess. For instance, naming the types of algorithms has specific correct answers, but answering what a robot is is not so easy to answer, resulting in very different answers.

When assessing the progress of the students, it is evident that the students who answered more accurately at the very beginning ended up with significantly higher marks on the test and vice versa – if they gave no answer or an inaccurate one, their final mark was not very high either. This conclusion is based on the students' scores. After analyzing the data, it can be concluded that almost half (43%) of the respondents have mastered the topic and 25% learned it in-depth for a total of 68%. This is by far the largest part of the respondents. Of the remainder, 25% were assessed at the level of "Continues to learn," while only 7% were assessed as "Started to learn."

The reasons for the low performance indicators could be different, for example, frequent absence from school or the students' light-hearted attitude, e.g., doing everything quickly rather than with better quality. This might have resulted in them not answering the questions at all or answering something completely different from what was asked, thus causing them to get the lowest number of points.

It can also be concluded from the student survey that of robots, algorithms, and the visual programming environment, students knew the most about robots before learning the topic. Similar results also appeared after learning the topic. The respondents knew less about algorithmic thinking and the visual programming environment before learning the topic, but after learning the topic, they knew what an algorithm is.

The visual programming environment performed worst, which was perhaps because it was not talked about as much. For instance, the students knew that the environment they were working in (Scratch) was a visual programming environment, but most did not perceive it. Only a few respondents had previously worked in the Scratch environment or with robots.

This questionnaire proved to be not only a unique and productive experience but also resulted in skills and knowledge being gained, as evidenced in the practical tasks at the end of the survey. The results can be seen in Table 2.

Scratch	81.9%
Scratch + Photon	82.3%
Tests	77.9%
AVG in class	80.5%

Tat	ole	2.	Students'	results	in	the	final	test	
-----	-----	----	-----------	---------	----	-----	-------	------	--

TO BE OR NOT TO BE A GREAT EDUCATOR, 2022

V. GRIETA, R. ARTA, L. DANIELA. Introduction of Educational Robotics at Secondary School Level ..

Analyzing the students' results after completing the tasks shows that they did the best with the Scratch + Photon part and the worst with the theory test. Overall, the class' grades ranged from 3 to 9, and the average grade was 80.5%, which is very good. The results also vary when comparing the students' individual results, and students who got a failure score did not complete two parts (Photon and test).

Conclusions

Activities with Photon robots develop creative and logical thinking, other skills in a variety of creative ways, and programming skills. When this is combined with the visual programming environment Scratch, discussions, theories, and, above all, practical tasks, pupils are encouraged to develop their algorithmic thinking.

When creating instructional materials, first of all, the goal for ER's implementation should be set in the learning process in computer classes. Second, the learning content should be clearly defined and have achievable results. Next, teaching methods and pedagogical conditions for achieving the goal and learning outcomes should be determined. Then the structure of the learning module, the lesson, should be divided by subtopics with clear indications of exactly which stages ER is included in during the learning process.

The development of teaching materials using an action research design was a very successful practice, enabling the researchers to plan the overall course based on the lessons' results, observations, and conclusions.

REFERENCES

Alici, G. (2018). Softer is harder: What differentiates soft robotics from hard robotics? *MRS Advances*, *3*(28), 1557–1568. https://doi.org/10.1557/adv.2018.159

Angel-Fernandez, J. M., & Vincze, M. (2018). Towards a definition of educational robotics. In P. Zech & J. Piater (Eds.), *Proceedings of the Austrian robotics workshop 2018* (pp. 37–42). Innsbruck University Press. https://doi.org/10.15203/3187-22-1

Brennan, K., & Resnick, M. (2012). New frameworks for studying and assessing the development of computational thinking. In *Proceedings of the 2012 annual meeting of the American educational research association, Vancouver, 13–17 April 2012*, vol. 1. American Educational Research Association.

Catlin, D., Kandlhofer, M., Cabibihan, J., Angel-Fernandez, J., Holmquist, S., & Csizmadia, A. (2019). EduRobot taxonomy. In L. Daniela (Ed.), *Smart learning with educational robotics* (pp. 333–338). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-19913-5_15

Daniela L. (2021). Pedagogical considerations for technology-enhanced learning. In D. Scaradozzi, L. Guasti, M. Di Stasio, B. Miotti, A. Monteriù, & P. Blikstein (Eds.), *Makers at school, educational robotics and innovative learning environments*, Lecture Notes in Networks and Systems 240 (pp. 57–64). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-77040-2_8

Evripidou, S., Georgiou, K., Doitsidis, L., Amanatiadis, A. A., Zinonos, Z., & Chatzichristofis, S. A. (2020). Educational robotics: Platforms, competitions and expected learning outcomes. *IEEE Access, 8,* 219534–219562. https://doi.org/10.1109/ACCESS.2020.3042555

Hawes, N. (2021). *The reality of robots in everyday life*. https://www.birmingham.ac.uk/ research/perspective/reality-of-robots.aspx

Kite, V., Park, S., & Wiebe, E. (2021). The code-centric nature of computational thinking education: A review of trends and issues in computational thinking education research. *SAGE Open*, *11*(2). https://doi.org/10.1177/21582440211016418

Papert, S. (1980). Mindstorms: Children, computers, and powerful ideas. Harvester Press.

Papert, S. (1996). An exploration in the space of mathematics educations. *International Journal of Computers for Mathematical Learning*, 1, 95–123. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00191473

Pei, Z., & Nie, Y. (2018). Educational robots: Classification, characteristics, application areas and problems. In 2018 Seventh International Conference of Educational Innovation through Technology (pp. 57–62). IEEE. https://doi.org/10.1109/EITT.2018.00020

Repenning, A., Zurmühle, J., Lamprou, A., & Hug, D. (2020). Computational music thinking patterns: Connecting music education with computer science education through the design of interactive notations. In H. C. Lane, S. Zvacek, & J. Uhomoibhi (Eds.), *Proceedings of the 12th international conference on computer supported education*, vol. 1 (pp. 641–652). SciTePress. https://doi.org/10.5220/0009817506410652

Resnick, M., & Robinson, K. (2017). Lifelong kindergarten: Cultivating creativity through projects, passion, peers, and play. MIT Press.

Resnick, M., Ocko, S., & Papert, S. (1988). Lego, logo, and design. *Children's Environments Quarterly*, 5(4), 14–18. http://www.jstor.org/stable/41514692

Salas-Pilco, S. Z. (2020). The impact of AI and robotics on physical, social- emotional and intellectual learning outcomes: An integrated analytical framework. *British Journal of Educational Technology*, *51*(5), 1808–1825. https://doi.org/10.1111/bjet.12984

Scaradozzi, D., Screpanti, L., & Cesaretti, L. (2019). Towards a definition of educational robotics: a classification of tools, experiences and assessments. In L. Daniela (Ed.), *Smart learning with educational robotics* (pp. 63–92). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-19913-5_3

Staples, P. (2018, June 27). Robots used in everyday life. *Sciencing*. https://sciencing.com/robots-used-in-everyday-life-12084150.html

Tang, A. L., Tung, V. W. S., & Cheng, T. O. (2020). Dual roles of educational robotics in management education: Pedagogical means and learning outcomes. *Education and Information Technologies*, 25(2), 1271–1283. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10639-019-10015-3

Toh, L. P. E., Causo, A., Tzuo, P. W., Chen, I. M., & Yeo, S. H. (2016). A review on the use of robots in education and young children. *Journal of Educational Technology & Society*, *19*(2), 148–163. http://www.jstor.org/stable/jeductechsoci.19.2.148

Wing, J. M. (2017). A conversation about computational thinking. https://education.nsw.gov. au/teaching-and-learning/education-for-a-changing-world/resource-library/a-conversationabout-computational-thinking

Yang, Y., Long, Y., Sun, D., Van Aalst, J., & Cheng, S. (2020). Fostering students' creativity via educational robotics: An investigation of teachers' pedagogical practices based on teacher interviews. *British Journal of Educational Technology*, *51*(5), 1826–1842. https://doi.org/10.1111/bjet.12985

https://doi.org/10.22364/atee.2022.50

Promoting Ocean Literacy and Combating Chemical Pollution via Marine Education in Taiwan

Nethusari S. Rajapakse

International Bilingual School at Tainan Science Park, Taiwan nethusarirajapakse@gmail.com

ABSTRACT

In the rapidly industrializing world of the 21st century, the many negative environmental impacts of modern-day human practices are becoming substantially more evident. One such problem not brought into considerable focus is chemical pollution in the oceans. As Taiwan is an island that relies heavily on the surrounding ocean for many economic practices, the harms and preventive measures of ocean chemical pollution must be discussed forthwith. This paper aims to conduct an analysis on the current scientific literature published on the topic of ocean chemical pollution and its various impacts specifically on Taiwan's oceans but also aims to conduct a study on Taiwanese university students to investigate the role the current education system plays in establishing the basic understanding of the risks of ocean chemical pollution. This study was organized by surveying 62 university students from the Tainan National University of the Arts and the National Taipei University of Technology. Results showed that 59.7% of students reported they had never learned about ocean chemical pollution in school before, 17.7% of students reported they were not sure, and only 22.6% of students reported that they did learn about ocean chemical pollution in school. This statistically correlates to how only 25.8% of students answered chemical pollution as the most serious problem Taiwan's oceans are facing. A fundamental understanding of ocean chemical pollution in the upcoming generation of young workers, who ultimately will take part in future governmental decision-making, is necessary in that it leads to:

- 1) an overall increased public support when the government or other private organizations take charge to implement solutions
- 2) an ability to develop lifestyles that reduce the risk of man-made ocean chemical pollution
- 3) a willingness to contribute to preventive measures.

Keywords: education system, ocean chemical pollution, ocean literacy, Taiwan, university students

Introduction

Taiwan is an island where the surrounding oceans have significant economic, political, and cultural value. The oceans play a large biological role in that it helps sustain marine biodiversity, acts as a carbon sink, produces about $50 \sim 80\%$ of the oxygen in the Earth's atmosphere, maintains ecosystem resilience, engages in matter and energy cycles such as water, nutrients, and waste cycling, and partakes in climate regulation (National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration [NOAA], 2022). This paper plans to focus on the negative impacts of marine pollution specifically in Taiwan to better understand the immediate effects ocean chemical pollution can have on the local marine ecosystems and what the response from the public would be. Analyzing the problem on a small-scale first would be beneficial in that it provides a more specific area of study with less overall confounding variables to throw off the end results. This is why this paper will be specifically focusing on Taiwan's oceans to analyze the problem on a local level before applying the knowledge and methodology to an international scale.

Ocean chemical pollution is the dumpage of harmful contaminants into the oceans, commonly originating from man-made sources such as pesticides, herbicides, fertilizers, detergents, oils, industrial chemicals and waste, metals, and sewage (Howard, 2019). Even though ocean chemical pollution poses a great danger to the marine environment, it has long been ignored compared to the other types of pollution in the oceans. Media outlets and current recovery projects only aim to lessen the harms of plastic pollution rather than trying to combat lesser-known problems such as ocean chemical pollution. ENGOs and governmental agencies such as Taiwan's Environmental Protection Administration (EPA) have collaborated to work towards the shared goal of plastic-free oceans by issuing a 15-year ban on plastic and enacting a 10-year Action Plan which would notably advance the limitation and clean-up of plastic waste from the environment (Walther et al., 2021). While these efforts are good indications of sustainable decision-making, this does not change the dire fact that chemical waste in the oceans is still going largely unnoticed and will continue to harm the marine ecosystem's health, human health, and economic strength if overlooked.

Little do people know that plastic pollution is in fact largely linked with chemical pollution, being that plastic pollution plays a key role in the planetary boundary corresponding to chemical pollutants and waste via the discarding of microplastics and other industrial chemicals made during plastic production such as cadmium, phthalates, and lead (Villarrubia-Gomez et al., 2018). Countering both problems concurrently would be beneficial in that effectively resolving two interrelated problems will minimize the chances of one reactivating the other, therefore efforts to combat both must be taken rather than only focusing on plastic pollution. This paper sees that chemical pollution is the most serious problem Taiwan's oceans are facing as of now predominantly because it is being

widely ignored on both the public and governmental level even though it poses the same level of threat as issues such as plastic pollution. In this regard, the seriousness of a problem should be defined with respect to the number of preventive measures taken to combat the problem in the status quo, not only the degree of harm the problem poses.

Problems that do not receive much public attention or governmental involvement tend to root from the lack of prior knowledge or education regarding the basic causes and possible preventive measures concerning the problem. Comparing this study to prior ones conducted by others revealed the proposed need for the increased integration of marine pollution education into school curriculums and expanded public support and inclination to partake in pollution recovery efforts. This paper shows that public support is something people will be willing to give if they are educated about the many harms and potential life risks of the various types of marine pollution from a young age. This tendency to be willing to support recovery efforts will be based on the innate human need to satisfy their protection and well-being by enhancing the health of their environment after having learned about the risks. A similar study done by Liu et al. (2019) examined the educational role of marine pollution prevention by surveying ninth-grade students from a harbor city in southern Taiwan and having them complete a drawing activity and answer several survey questions. After analyzing the students' responses, it appeared that most of the students' mental models of marine pollution were disconnected and lacked the human component of the problem (Liu et al., 2019). Another study done in Taiwan by Tsai & Chang (2018) developed a Chinese scale for measuring high school students' ocean literacy to allow students to reflect upon the reality of marine pollution issues. The personal understanding and mental models people have of problems affect how they perceive the reality of the issue and how willing they are to make efforts to prevent or lessen the harm.

The majority of prior studies discuss the many environmental threats of ocean chemical pollution however don't discuss the importance of the education curriculum in teaching the growing populace about those threats and cease to analyze the problem from its root cause. Even if a few studies do mention the educational aspect of the problem, data has only been gathered from high school students or younger while this paper conducts a study on university students who have already been through the entire school curriculum and have had the chance to be exposed to the reality of ocean chemical pollution and other types of marine pollution via the internet or other external sources. Therefore, gathering data from university students presents a clearer overall picture of the educational environment current students are exposed to, both inside and outside school, and how well it prepares them to better understand local ocean chemical pollution and other marine pollution issues.

Literature Analysis

Ocean chemical pollution harms the marine environment via various different sources and routes. This paper aims to categorize the distinct types of ocean chemical pollution sources and analyze each type separately to better comprehend the whole picture. This paper will prove the dire situation of ocean chemical pollution in Taiwan by analyzing different works and information concerning the situation. For the benefit of establishing a clear analysis, this paper has categorized ocean chemical pollution sources into 4 different components: agricultural, industrial, urban, and maritime transport.

Agricultural Component

The agricultural component of ocean chemical pollution sources includes chemicals commonly found in pesticides, herbicides, fertilizers, fungicides, soil fumigants, harvest aids, etc. Taiwan is a large user of chemical pesticides and other such agricultural chemicals, where the total consumption of agricultural pesticides in Taiwan from the year 2019 to 2020 amounted to about 4.5 billion NTD (Wong, 2021). Chemically consisting of nitrates, abamectin, hydramethylnon, cyfluthrin, bifenthrin, and other such harmful toxins (Srivastava et al., 2014), these chemicals often end up in the ocean as a result of agricultural runoffs and soil leaching. Agricultural runoffs are commonplace if nearby agricultural lands are exposed to intensive irrigation practices and heavy tropical rains, but an extensive reliance on toxic farm chemicals pollutes the water which end up in nearby bodies of water via the runoff. Once these toxins end up in the marine ecosystem, they simply remain trapped in the bionetwork due to bioaccumulation and biomagnification, where the toxic chemicals either gradually accumulate in organisms' fat tissue content or magnify in concentration as one moves up the food chain in the ecosystem. This in turn inhibits certain biological functions of these organisms and threatens the biodiversity of the environment, lessening the overall resilience and resistance an ecosystem has towards external dangers.

The introduction of abamectin into marine environments have resulted in abnormal growth and gill alterations in fish where the epithelial cells of the gill filaments and the secondary lamellae membrane of the gills merge, causing the appearance of aneurysm or bulges in blood vessels which have a high risk of rupturing (Novelli et al., 2016). If the blood vessel is ruptured in the wrong part of the body such as the brain or the heart, there is a risk of death for the organism. Hydramethylnon is also another chemical which gravely harms the fish population if presented in the environment. With an LC50 of 0.16 ppm and 0.10 ppm in rainbow trout and channel catfish respectively, hydramethylnon is highly toxic in fish and often accumulates in the fatty tissue of fish due to its low water solubility, large KOW, and large KOC ratios (Bacey, 2000). Additionally, cyfluthrin is highly toxic to fish species, killing them in LC50s as low as 1 ppb

and also negatively affecting the reproductive success of aquatic invertebrates such as water fleas and mysid shrimp species (Cox, 1994). Moreover, the rapid influx of nitrates into marine coastal ecosystems can result in eutrophication where the abundance of nitrates prompts algae blooms, a rapid accumulation of algae in the ocean, which consumes most of the dissolved oxygen in the waters. This results in extended dead zones where the marine ecosystem has a very low dissolved oxygen content and cannot sustain life for a prolonged period of time.

Industrial Component

The industrial component of ocean chemical pollution sources includes the chemicals that are used in industrial manufacturing processes or used as active ingredients in commercial product manufacturing. Taiwan has a booming chemical industry, boasting approximately 42 member companies of the Taiwan Petrochemical Association and 80 other major chemical companies as of 2010 (Hu & Chen, 2012). Due to the high production capacity, Taiwan exports 50% of its petrochemical products and 70% of its plastic and synthetic rubber raw materials such as polyethylene and styrene-butadiene rubber, with Taiwan's chemical industries making a total of 135 billion USD (Hu & Chen, 2012). These statistics prove that industrial chemical manufacturing in Taiwan is very prevalent and explains how 19.0 million metric tons of industrial waste were generated in Taiwan in 2016 alone (Tsai, 2019). If Taiwan wants to continue its growth in the global chemical industry, proper preventive measures must be taught and understood to restrict the influx of these harmful industrial chemicals into the marine environment.

Industrial chemical wastewater is not only a consequence of fossil fuel mining, powerplants, and chemical manufacturing companies, but also produced as a result of food, beverage, plastic, and clothing processing industries. Chemicals released via petroleum refineries and petrochemical companies comprise of pollutants such as oil, suspended solids, ammonia, chromium, phenols, sulfides, ethylene, propylene, chlorine, nitrates, phosphoric acid, etc (Moore et al., 2021). Fossil fuel power plants, predominantly coal-powered plants, discharge industrial wastewater with substantial amounts of metals such as mercury, lead, cadmium, chromium, arsenic, and selenium (Micronics Engineered Filtration Group, 2021). These metals and toxins, in turn, harm the marine ecosystem into which these industrial wastewaters are dumped into or enter them through wastewater runoff. It has been reported that trace metals such as cadmium, chromium, and lead have been found in marine copepods in northern Taiwan's coastal areas and indicates the high level of contamination in these waters (Fang et al., 2006). High concentrations of selenium, iron, zinc, copper, manganese, and mercury were found in muscle, lung, kidney, and liver tissues of cetacean species such as Kogia sima, Grampus griseus, Lagenodelphis hosei, Stenella attenuata, and more in

the marine waters of northern and eastern Taiwan (Chen et al., 2020). Not only are Taiwanese marine biodiversity suffering from metals and industrial chemicals contamination, they are also prone to microplastic contamination where 1,097 microplastic particles ranging from 0.25 mm and more than 4 mm, weighing 0.771 grams were identified in only eight 0.0125 m3 samples of Taiwan's northern beaches and coastal marine areas (Kunz et al., 2016). Industrial chemicals, metals, and microplastics pose a great threat to the marine ecosystems of Taiwan's coastal areas and must be dealt with to lessen the chance of endangerment of marine species.

Urban Component

The urban component of ocean chemical pollution sources include urban wastewaters, sewage sludge, domestic chemical detergents, household chemical products, etc. Municipal wastewater is one of Taiwan's largest sources of water pollution, especially in concentrated urban areas lacking proper sewer systems and sanitation protocols. The Environmental White Paper 2007 presented by the Taiwanese Environmental Protection Administration (EPA) analyzed that inadequately treated municipal wastewater have been continuously contaminating local water bodies and coastal areas, additionally stating that sanitary sewer systems have not been properly augmented to sustain growing city populations, rapid urbanization, and expanding commercial activities (Chou, 2013). Furthermore, it was reported on May 1, 2018, that surfers and tourists at Nanwan Beach in southern Taiwan encountered sludge discharge from a local sewage treatment plant in the coastal area (Everington, 2018). Specialists later analyzed that the sewage sludge had already been spread far enough into the ocean and has a high prospect of disrupting the local marine ecosystem and harming the biodiversity. Additionally, in 2020, the Taiwanese domestic consumption of synthetic chemical detergents measured up to approximately 70,000 metric tons and has shown a positive trend with increasing consumption of household chemical detergents throughout the years (US Environmental Protection Agency, 2000). This proves the dire state of urban ocean chemical pollution in Taiwan, with inadequate urban wastewater disposal systems and the overwhelming domestic consumption of chemical products and detergents.

Chemicals often found in sewage discharges and urban sludges include considerable amounts of nitrates, ammonia, phenols, polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs), phthalates, volatile aromatic compounds (toluene, benzene, xylene), selenium, etc. (US Environmental Protection Agency, 2000). These toxins inhibit chemical senses of fish species and biomagnify throughout marine ecological food chains. Due to the high affinity for lipids and low elimination rate, PCBs tend to bioaccumulate in the fatty tissue of fish and results in irregular levels of thyroid hormones and neurotransmitters due to disruptions of the endocrine system in

fish (Monosson, 2000). High levels of PCBs also immoderately negatively affects the hypothalamic-pituitary-gonadal-liver (HPGL) axis of fish, a closely regulated feedback loop essential for the supervision of proper reproductive success, which leads to alterations in sex steroid hormones, gonad growth, and embryo yolk production (Monosson, 2000). Ultimately, PCBs are highly toxic to fish and greatly alters the reproductive cycles. Additionally, chemical detergents are proven to harm fish species such as *Ictalurus natalis* by damaging their chemoreceptors revealing erosion of taste buds and impairment of receptor function, affecting ability to feed or swim just after being exposed to only 0.5 ppm of the chemical detergent (Bardach et al., 1965). It was reported that afflicted fish did not recover even after spending 6 weeks in detergent-free waters, demonstrating the long-term negative effects excessive use of chemical detergents can have on the marine ecosystem. Furthermore, the influx of nitrates found in sewage sludges are very likely to result in eutrophication and harmful algae blooms just as discussed earlier in the agricultural component section.

Maritime Transport Component

The maritime transport component of ocean chemical pollution sources involve marine transportation for commerce and global trade via coastal trading vessels, bulk carriers, tankers, container ships, cargo ships, etc. The main link maritime transport has to chemical pollution are the harmful incidents of chemical and oil spills and the degradation they bring to marine ecosystems. This case of ocean chemical pollution is also distinctive to Taiwan due to the previous occurrences of oil spills caused by maritime transport. It was reported in March 2016 that a grounded ship, the T.S. Lines freighter, around Shimen Township in the coastal waters of New Taipei City encountered a breach in the hull which caused flooding in the engine compartment and severe damage to the fuel tank. This resulted in an expansive oil spill, where the local marine ecosystem was greatly threatened due to the fact that the ship was storing 40 tons of diesel fuel, 447 tons of gasoline, and 9 containers of hazardous chemicals (Charlier, 2016).

Additionally, another oil spill took place when the Greek-registered ship, the *Amorgos*, passed by the southern coastal areas of Taiwan and caused a vast oil spill, putting the local marine species in danger due to an accident in the merchant vessel. These occurrences demonstrate the realistic harm oil spills via maritime transport can cause to the environment. Even if people argue that oil spills have a rare occurrence rate, ecologically damaging oil spill accidents have already happened before and especially with heavy maritime traffic where approximately 30,000 tankers travel through Taiwan's coastal waters every year (Chiau, 2005), proper education and development of effective protocols is absolutely necessary to ensure the safety of Taiwan's coastal waters while still allowing for the continuation of economic maritime activities.

Incorporating the Educational Factor

Ocean literacy is a knowledge set that is essential for people to have in a world where sustainable development is constantly being promoted and studied. Historically, ocean literacy has only been something taught to people who have direct exposure or involvement with the ocean and its many commercial practices. However, as the world is growing ever more interconnected, where the actions of people living away from the oceans still have an impact on the health of the oceans, ocean literacy needs to be more than just informally mentioned at schools. Similar to the European Marine Science Educators Association, there is an inherent need for the formation of an organization dedicated to mapping out ocean literacy principles in order to uniformly incorporate marine education into high school curriculums in Taiwan (Worm et al., 2021). For most students, ocean literacy may seem like an abstract term, therefore, in order to incorporate ocean and interacy, the practical and cultural connections between the ocean and students' everyday lives must be made so that students can develop a clearer mental map of the importance of the ocean.

Although over the years, Taiwan has gotten more involved in marine protection methods to participate in the UN's Decade of Ocean Science for Sustainable Development, most of these measures are not implemented directly in education. The Taiwanese education system would benefit from incorporating a measurement tool to determine students' ocean literacy levels and thus make changes to the curriculums accordingly. An example would be the International Ocean Literacy Survey which sets a standard for students, however, this kind of survey has never been implemented within Taiwan, thus marking a need for change (Fauville et al., 2018).

Methodology

To better understand the role, the educational curriculum plays in establishing a basic understanding of ocean chemical pollution and other marine issues in students, a survey was designed and given to Taiwanese university students. Participation in this study was voluntary and anonymous. This was a self-administered web-enabled questionnaire, which was estimated to take approximately 5 minutes to complete the survey.

Even if a few studies do mention the educational aspect of the problem, data has only been gathered from high school students or younger while this paper conducts a study on university students who have already been through the entire school curriculum and have had the chance to be exposed to the reality of ocean chemical pollution and other types of marine pollution via the internet or other external sources. Therefore, gathering data from university students presents a clearer overall picture of the educational environment current students are exposed

to, both inside and outside school, and how well it prepares them to better understand local ocean chemical pollution and other marine pollution issues.

Survey Development

The questionnaire was created and administered in both English and Chinese to aid the Taiwanese university students and avoid confounding variables. The survey was designed to gather information about the students' opinions on how well the school curriculum developed their ocean literacy and how confident they are in their personal understanding and knowledge about marine pollution issues in Taiwan.

- Questions 1~3 were designed to ask for basic personal information and demographic data. Information such as age, gender, and highest level of education were asked for.
- Questions 4~5 were designed to directly and explicitly ask what the students' views were on how well the school curriculum prepared their ocean literacy. They were asked whether they had learned about ocean chemical pollution in school before and what they thought the most serious marine pollution problem was after being exposed to the school curriculum and other external sources such as the internet.
- Questions 6~13 were designed to indirectly and implicitly ask what their knowledge about ocean chemical pollution and marine issues were. These questions helped gather objective data on how well the school curriculum developed students' ocean literacy. They were asked questions about certain facts or what they thought about a certain piece of information or statement regarding marine issues.

The majority of the responses were recorded using a 5-point Likert scale, where 1 represented strongly disagree and 5 represented strongly agree. A few of the questions were multiple-choice or free-answer style questions.

Survey Administration

The questionnaire was presented through an online Google forms survey platform. The survey was given specifically to Taiwanese university students, unlike the previous studies that were discussed in the introduction. University students were chosen exclusively due to how their responses would present an overall impression of how well the entire school curriculum and external educational environment prepares students' ocean literacy and gives them the chance to understand marine issues in their country. University students from the Tainan National University of the Arts and National Taipei University of Technology were chosen specifically since the combination of these universities' student populations would have a broader range of professional backgrounds and education specialization areas to avoid results from being deceiving or biased.

Additionally, since the universities are located in different regions of Taiwan, the school curriculums and educational environments of different counties could be taken into consideration in this study. The online questionnaire was distributed to students at the Tainan National University of the Arts and was published on the student website of the National Taipei University of Technology to have students voluntarily fill out and submit responses via the Google forms link. The students were given a period of 6 days to fill out the survey, starting on June 25, 2021, and ending on June 30, 2021.

To take into consideration ethical approval for this study, as an independent research, we received an IRB approval from the Tainan National University of the Arts. Additionally, before administering the survey, it was made clear to the participants that their responses to the survey were for the purpose of this study and that any personal information remained confidential and the survey responses were anonymous. If the participants did not want to take part in the study, then they were free to choose not to participate. Those who agreed and consented to using their answers as data were free to proceed with the survey, thus being voluntary participation after informed consent.

Data Analysis & Discussion

Demographic Data

Out of the university students that were surveyed, 61.3% (38 people) of participants were female, 37.1% (23 people) were male, and 1.6% (1 person) preferred not to say.



Education (highest degree completed)?

Figure 1. Demographic data on the educational status of the participants

The data on age range was that 62.9% (39 people) of participants were between the ages of 18 and 24, 30.6% (19 people) were between the ages of 25 and 34, 3.2% (2 people) were between the ages of 35 and 44, and 3.2% (2 people) were between the ages of 45 and 54. The data on the highest degree of education completed is shown in Figure 1.

As Figure 1 shows, 11.3% (7 people) of participants had graduated high school, 3.2% (2 people) had completed vocational school, 29% (18 people) had completed some college but had not yet obtained a degree, 29% (18 people) had completed a Bachelor's degree, and 27.4% (17 people) had completed a post-graduate degree. Results show a varied student body allowing for a fair variety of views amongst the participants.

Critical Data Points

In providing the analysis of the survey results, there were a few questions that provided the critical data values for this study. The first question being "Did you ever learn about marine chemical pollution in school before?", this question aimed to explicitly examine what the university students' views were on their own education systems and have them question the role their school curriculums and educational environment played in ensuring students with a basic foundation of ocean literacy for the future. The results for this question supported this paper's claim that there is in fact a lack of proper integration of ocean education, regarding ocean chemical pollution and other such marine pollution issues, into the curriculums of local Taiwanese schools. As shown in Figure 2, the 59.7% majority of students (37 people) answered that they have never learned about marine chemical pollution in school before. Only 22.6% of students (14 people) were absolutely certain when answering that they have in fact learned about these kinds of marine issues in school before, with 17.7% of students (11 people) not being sure.

To provide further analysis, the students' age ranges and levels of education were studied to see if it was possible to derive a correlation between these variables. Out of the 37 people who answered that they have never learned about marine pollution in school before, the majority of the responses came from students who are between the ages of 18 to 24 (19 students; 51.4%) and between the ages of 25 to 34 (15 students; 40.5%), while only the extreme minority of responses coming from older age groups (1 student in the age range between 35 to 44 at 2.7% and 2 students in the age range between 45 to 54 at 5.4%). Therefore, the majority of the students who commented on the lack of ocean literacy in their school curriculums were those from younger age groups, meaning those who were exposed to the most current educational curriculums in Taiwan admit that their curriculums did not do a good job of preparing them and educating them on marine pollution issues. Out of the 37 people who answered

no, when asked for the highest level of education they have been involved in, 14 students responded high school (37.8%), 10 students responded Bachelor's degree (27%), and 13 students responded post-graduate degree (35.1%).

From these specific data points, it can be identified that the responses are divided fairly equally amongst the three levels of education, meaning that the more educated one was didn't really play a significant factor in ensuring whether someone was more educated on marine issues or not. However, looking back at the statistics regarding the ages of people who answered no, the overwhelming majority were those who were from younger age groups, implying that education on all three levels was almost equally bad in ensuring ocean literacy and the trend with age probably meant that students' external learning environments, such as the internet, current news, or the very limited public environmental campaigns, played the biggest factor in the trend of ages observed. In other words, the older the students are, the longer they have been exposed to this external learning environment and thus the more of them that have a better understanding of marine issues. In conclusion, the relative trend of how younger students knew less about these issues could be due to two reasons:

- 1) the quality of education in this area or the overall integration of marine pollution education into school curriculums decreased or
- 2) the longer the students are exposed to external factors of education such as the media or already existing public campaigns, which age played a key factor in.



Did your school curriculum ever mention ocean chemical pollution or other marine issues?

Figure 2. Results on whether students ever learned about marine chemical pollution or other related marine issues in their high school curriculum

The second question being "What do you think is the most serious problem Taiwan's oceans are facing no?", this question was meant to test the participants' knowledge of marine issues and how their educational environments influenced their opinions on this matter. Out of the 5 main types of marine pollution listed, the 3 that were answered the most were plastic pollution, chemical pollution, and solid waste pollution. As illustrated in Figure 3, the responses from the 63 participants showed that the majority 54.8% (34 people) of students stated plastic pollution as the most serious problem, 11.3% (7 people) stated solid waste pollution, 4.8% (3 people) stated thermal pollution, 3.2% (2 people) chose other, and only 25.8% (16 people) answered chemical pollution as the most serious problem Taiwan's oceans are facing. To put it in other words, only 16 out of 63 people thought that chemical marine pollution, which this paper previously went in depth about its direness and a justification for why it should be considered.

More specifically, out of the 34 people who responded with plastic pollution as the most dire situation in Taiwan, 22 of those participants were those whose high school curriculums didn't include marine pollution education. Consequently, out of that batch, 6 people answered earlier that their high school curriculum included marine pollution education while the remaining 6 participants were unsure. In comparison, out of the 16 people who answered chemical pollution as the most dire marine pollution situation in Taiwan, 9 of those people have never properly learned about marine pollution in school, while 3 people have learned about it and 4 people were unsure. These numbers show inconsistency in ensuring students with the prerequisite knowledge of marine education, demonstrating how the majority of people whose curriculums had no mention of marine issues were more likely to immediately believe that plastic pollution was more dire than chemical pollution, presumably due to the relatively larger media coverage plastic pollution receives in Taiwan. Comparatively, people who chose chemical pollution as the most dire situation didn't display a statistically relevant percentage breakdown of people who learned about marine issues in school versus people who didn't. However, due to the lack of marine pollution education in school curriculums as demonstrated by the statistics shown in Figure 2, only a minority of students realize the real serious nature behind ocean chemical pollution. The majority of students who chose plastic pollution were highly likely to never been educated on the fact on there are many current recovery projects targeting plastic pollution in Taiwan and it is in fact ocean chemical pollution that is not getting enough recognition as a serious marine problem. As proven in the literature analysis, the prolonged harms of ocean chemical pollution will continue if students aren't educated on the distressing reality of ocean chemical pollution and will continue to acknowledge plastic pollution as the most serious problem simply due to the fact that the term is heard much more frequently in media broadcasting stations and news articles. As a part of the marine pollution

education that needs to be integrated into school curriculums, students must be taught a clearer system of defining the seriousness of an ecological problem, where both the level of environmental harm and the number of current targeted recovery projects and organizational efforts to prevent the harms are taken into consideration to evaluate the urgent nature of a problem.



Figure 3. Results on what the students personally thought was the most serious problem that Taiwan's oceans are facing in the status quo

The students were later asked questions about their confidence in Taiwan's marine ecosystem safety and health, Figure 4 shows the results being a variety of answers in this case.



I think Taiwan's oceans are healthier than other countries' oceans.

Figure 4. Results on the students' opinions on whether Taiwan's oceans safer and cleaner when compared to other countries' oceans

In response to the statement "I think Taiwan's oceans are healthier than other countries' oceans: 3.2% (2 people) strongly agreed, 8.1% (5 people) agreed, 30.6% (19 people) remained neutral, 48.4% (30 people) disagreed, and 9.7% (6 people) strongly disagreed. These statistics prove how there is a considerable variation in the students' answers and this in turn will affect the ability for these university students to later collaborate to work towards marine pollution recovery projects and prevention policies. This proves the need for a more effective integration of marine pollution education in school curriculums to enable the growth of a more consistent mindset towards protection of Taiwan's oceans amongst young minds. A clearer, more unified viewpoint established amongst students will aid the effective development of successful preventive measures of marine pollution issues.

The slight majority of students, however, did disagree to the fact that Taiwan's oceans are healthier and safer than other countries'. This piece of data also shows that there is a certain urge in the youth population of Taiwan to take better care of Taiwan's oceans. If they are provided with proper education on these topics and a healthy development of ocean literacy from a young age, these students and future young workers will be more capable of launching legitimate recovery projects and ultimately better practice sustainable decision making via successfully passing and monitoring marine protection policies. Another data point to support this assertion was gathered from the students' responses to the question on whether they believed that ocean chemical pollution would have a direct negative impact on human health and lifestyle.



I think chemical pollution in the oceans has no effect on the health of humans.

Figure 5. Students' responses to whether they thought ocean chemical pollution affected human health

Responses had an overwhelming majority of students who disagreed with the statement "I think chemical pollution in the oceans has no effect on the health of humans" with: 58.1% (36 people) who strongly disagreed, 37.1% (23 people) who disagreed, and 4.8% (3 people) who agreed with the statement. These results are shown in Figure 5, demonstrating that there is a general concern for the prevalence of ocean chemical pollution due to the threat it poses to human health. Furthermore, this shows how students do have an urge to help due to the fear brought about by the possible risk it poses to humans, however, proper marine pollution education is necessary for the effective use of the widespread concern in the youth population of Taiwan to better solve these marine issues.

This statistic proves how only a minority of the survey population have had actual marine pollution education in their school curriculums, which when applied to the wider population of university students in Taiwan is very concerning due to the fact that the majority of Taiwanese society's future workers and young minds have not had the proper schooling on the dire topics of ocean chemical pollution and marine pollution issues.

Conclusion

According to the conducted research study, results clearly demonstrate the need for the adequate integration of ocean chemical pollution and other marine issues education into the school curriculum. Even though it was a limited survey, the gathered statistics still prove the claim made in this paper. This paper has conducted an analysis and thorough investigation of ocean chemical pollution both on how certain toxic chemicals affect marine biodiversity and how each case of ocean chemical pollution applies to Taiwan. Through the literature analysis, this paper has proven the seriousness of the problem that ocean chemical pollution is in Taiwan's oceans and have also proposed the best way to lessen the environmental harms. To better solve problems such as ocean chemical pollution that do not get much attention from public or governmental sectors, proper marine education and development of students' ocean literacy must be enforced. The introduction of marine education into school curriculums can be brought upon, for example, by the development of a Taiwan Marine Education Act, which sets proper guidelines for schools to develop their curriculum to allow students to be educated on topics such as ocean chemical pollution and other marine issues. This will allow for more consistent social awareness on the topic of ocean chemical pollution and also the enhancement of a basic understanding of such topics in students.

A basic understanding of ocean chemical pollution and other marine issues are crucial in the next generation of young minds in Taiwan due to the potential for

1) increased public support when the government or other private organizations take charge to implement solutions

- 2) development of life styles that reduce the risk of man-made ocean chemical pollution in youth populations
- 3) the growth of a common willingness to contribute to preventive measures.

In future research, investigations on university students can be done on a larger sample population of students and from a greater variety of universities in Taiwan. These future studies will allow for the gathering of legitimate data to back up the development of marine education in school curriculums. Ocean chemical pollution is a real threat to Taiwan's oceans and educating the youth of Taiwan is the best way to combat the prolonged destruction it has on the marine ecosystems of Taiwan.

REFERENCES

Bacey, J. (2000). *Environmental Fate of Hydramethylnon*. Environmental Monitoring & Pest Management Branch, Department of Pesticide Regulation. http://piat.org.nz/uploads/PIAT_content/pdfs/Environmental%20fate%20of%20Hrdramethylnon.pdf

Bardach, J. E., Fujiya, M., & Holl, A. (1965). Detergents: Effects on the Chemical Senses of the Fish *Ictalurus natalis* (le Sueur). *Science*. *148*(3677), 1605–1607. https://science.sciencemag.org/content/148/3677/1605.abstract

Charlier, P. (2016). *Grounded Ship Presents Serious Environmental Threats*. Taiwan English News. https://taiwanenglishnews.com/grounded-ship-presents-serious-environmental-threats/

Chen, M.-H., Lin, Y.-T., Lai, C.-C., Chou, L.-S., & Chen, C.-Y. (2020). Tissue concentrations of Fe, Zn, Cu and Mn of four Taiwanese toothed cetaceans. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, *158*, 111094. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2020.111094

Chiau, W. Y. (2005). Changes in the marine pollution manage system in response to the *Amorgos* oil spill in Taiwan. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*. *51*(8–12), 1041–1047. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2005.02.048

Chou, R. J. (2013). Addressing watercourse sanitation in dense, water pollution-affected urban areas in Taiwan. *Environmental and Urbanization*. 25(2), 523–540. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956247813501140

Cox, C. (1994). Insecticide Fact Sheet – Cyfluthrin. *Journal of Pesticide Reform.* 14(2), 28–34. shorturl.at/fqBGJ

Everington, K. (2018). Surfers stuck in sewage sludge at southern Taiwan beach. Taiwan News. https://www.taiwannews.com.tw/en/news/3420075

Fang, T.-H., Hwang, J.-S., Hsiao, S.-H., & Chen, H.-Y. (2006). Trace metals in seawater and copepods in the ocean outfall area off the Northern Taiwan Coast. *Marine Environmental Research*, *61*(2), 224–243. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marenvres.2005.10.002

Fauville, G., Strang, C., Cannady, M. A., & Chen, Y.-F. (2018). Development of the International Ocean Literacy Survey: Measuring Knowledge Across the world. *Environmental Education Research*, *25*(2), 238–263. https://doi.org/10.1080/13504622.2018.1440381

Howard, J. (2019). *Marine pollution, explained*. National Geographic. https://www.nationalgeographic.com/environment/article/critical-issues-marine-pollution

Hu, Y. C., & Chen, S. C. (2012). *Taiwan's Chemical Industry: Looking Back and Looking Ahead*. American Institute of Chemical Engineers. http://fscarbonmanagement.org/sites/default/files/cep/20120441.pdf

Kunz, A., Walther, B. A., Löwemark, L., & Lee, Y.-C. (2016). Distribution and quantity of microplastic on sandy beaches along the northern coast of Taiwan. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, *111*(1–2), 126–135. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2016.07.022

Liu, S. C., Lin, H. S., & Tsai, C. Y. (2019). Ninth grade students' mental models of the marine environment and their implications for environmental science education in Taiwan. *The Journal of Environmental Education*. *51*(1), 72–82. https://doi.org/10.1080/00958964.2 019.1633990

Made Safe. (2016). *How to Avoid Toxic Chemicals in Plastics*. Made Safe. https://www.madesafe.org/avoid-toxic-chemicals-plastics/

Micronics Engineered Filtration Group. (2021). *Industrial Wastewater: What is it & Where does it come from?* Micronics. https://www.micronicsinc.com/filtration-news/what-is-industrial-wastewater/

Monosson, E. (2000). Reproductive and developmental effects of PCBs in fish: a synthesis of laboratory and field studies. *Reviews in Toxicology*, *3*, 25–75. https://semspub.epa.gov/work/02/68517.pdf

Moore, J. T., Hren, C., & Mikulecky, P. J. (2021). *The Top 10 Industrial Chemicals*. Dummies. https://www.dummies.com/education/science/chemistry/the-top-10-industrial-chemicals/

National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration. (2021). How much oxygen comes from the Ocean? National Ocean Service. https://oceanservice.noaa.gov/facts/ocean-oxygen.html

Novelli, A., Vieira, B. H., Braun, A. S., Mendes, L. B., Daam, M. A., & Espíndola, E. L. (2016). Impact of runoff water from an experimental agricultural field applied with Vertimec® 18EC (abamectin) on the survival, growth and Gill morphology of zebrafish juveniles. *Chemosphere*, 144, 1408–1414. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2015.10.004

Srivastava, N., Kumari, U., Rai, A. K., Mittal, S., & Mittal, A. K. (2014). Alterations in the gill filaments and secondary lamellae of *cirrhinus mrigala* exposed to "Nuvan," an organophosphorus insecticide. *Journal of Histology*, 2014, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/190139

Taiwan Environmental Protection Administration. (2018). *Plastic-Free Ocean Promoted in Response to International Trend*. Environmental Protection Administration Executive Yuan, R.O.C. (Taiwan). https://www.epa.gov.tw/eng/F7AB26007B8FE8DF/fea08fd0-3afe-4ba9-a9c2-d5f6efd337d8

Tsai, L. T., & Chang, C. C. (2018). Measuring ocean literacy of high school students: psychometric properties of a Chinese version of the ocean literacy scale. *Environmental Education Research*. *25*(2), 264–279. https://doi.org/10.1080/13504622.2018.1542487

Tsai, W. T. (2019). Promoting the Circular Economy via Waste-to-Power (WTP) in Taiwan. *Resources*, 8(2), 95. https://doi.org/10.3390/resources8020095

US Environmental Protection Agency. (2000). *Public Health Concerns About Chemical Constituents in Treated Wastewater and Sludge*. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA). https://www3.epa.gov/npdes/pubs/mstr-ch6.pdf

Villarrubia-Gomez, P., Cornell, S.E., & Fabres, J. (2018). Marine plastic pollution as a planetary boundary threat – The drifting piece in the sustainability puzzle. *Marine Policy*, *96*, 213–220. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2017.11.035

Walther, B. A., Yen, N., & Hu, C. S. (2021). Strategies, actions, and policies by Taiwan's ENGOs, media, and government to reduce plastic use and marine plastic pollution. *Marine Policy*, *126*, 104391. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2021.104391

Wong, S. (2021). Domestic consumption of agricultural pesticides in Taiwan 2010-2020. Statistica. https://www.statista.com/statistics/816857/taiwan-agricultural-pesticides-domestic-consumption/

Worm, B., Elliff, C., Fonseca, J. G., Gell, F. R., Serra-Gonçalves, C., Helder, N. K., Murray, K., Peckham, H., Prelovec, L., & Sink, K. (2021). Making ocean literacy inclusive and accessible. *Ethics in Science and Environmental Politics*, *21*, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.3354/esep00196

About the author

Nethusari Sakithya Rajapakse is a high school senior student of Sri Lankan nationality studying at the International Bilingual School at Tainan Science Park in Taiwan. Her academic interests include neuroscience, human biology, and cancer immunology. She is a selected board member of the Taiwan International Ocean Youth Advisory Committee, which played a large role in initiating this research. She is the co-founder of the science club at her school and a Yale Young Global Scholar 2022 alumni.

https://doi.org/10.22364/atee.2022.51

The Impact of Additional Sports Activities on the Development of Students in General Education Schools

Rihards Parandjuks

University of Latvia, Latvia

ABSTRACT

Sports can be diverse – dual career, sports for the general public, youth sports, and other levels. However, the level of general education schools is vital, as it is compulsory in the Latvian education system. Thus, for approximately 70% of Latvian children and young people, sports lessons are the only places to do sports. The study's author has analyzed the "Sport everyone in the class" project organized by the Latvian Olympic Committee. The essence of the project is related to additional sports activities that depend on the capabilities of the particular school – both in terms of infrastructure and human resources. A quantitative and qualitative survey method has been performed. Data were obtained from 26 schools participating in the project. Number of respondents – students – n-582. The author analyzed the impact of additional sports activities on students' work ethic, learning achievements, physical fitness, etc. Data were processed using the Windows SPSS program. It is concluded that students improve their ability to concentrate and complete the learning process and their eating habits. In qualitative surveys – interviews with school management, it was found that this type of process is recommended for all educational institutions because the benefits are more than the negative factors.

Keywords: Sport, education, health, kids, societies well-being

Introduction

The importance of sports in society is becoming more and more critical. Overall, health trends at different age stages have a negative trend. The World Health Organization (WHO) points out a significant trend related to the poor physical fitness of young people and the consequences of these processes. Unhealthier children and young people are not a good development vision for the country's general well-being (World health..., 2021). It is possible to develop and improve the country's welfare based on a better understanding of the level R. PARANDJUKS. The Impact of Additional Sports Activities on the Development of Students in ..

of sports and general health. Youth, who will better understand the importance of sports, will be able to perform primary activities – study, work, and improve themselves – with better quality.

An increasingly pronounced correlation can be observed with integrating education into sports. Educational institutions of different levels – primary schools, secondary schools, universities – associate their identity with sports, thus combining two vitally essential directions of development – sports and education. Today it is defined as a dual career. However, its manifestations and possible variations can be different. A dual career is a collaborative process of activities in which the athlete develops his athletic and academic competence and promotes psychosocial and psychological development (Stambulova, 2009).

However, a dual career is not the only development direction in the combination of sports and education. The author of the study points out that the conduct of sports lessons in general education schools is vital in ensuring society's well-being.

Theory

The author considers integrating different sports necessary for the overall education system. It is indicated that regular physical activity can avoid signs of anxiety and depression (Eime et al., 2013). The author wants to emphasize two theses. Firstly, in the EU Member States, the average number of hours of sport is 3-4 times a week. This does not correspond to the required volume because, in the context of mainstream schools, it would be possible to provide sports activities every working day or five times a week. Although the importance of sport in society is quite understandable, in Latvia and elsewhere in Europe, the number of sports lessons is not enough. For example, in the 2018/2019 school year, public education institutions (France, Germany, and Greece) held sports lessons three times a week (D'anna et al., 2019). Most Member States organize sports lessons in mainstream schools three times a week as part of sports lessons. This practice is still in Finland and Estonia, while there are sports hours four times a week in Austria. Although the overall trends in the Member States of the European Union focus on integrating relatively high levels of physical activity in education, some countries behave differently. For example, in Swedish secondary schools, sports activities are recommended but not mandatory (Physical activity..., 2018). In the future, it is planned to increase the number to three times, similar to other parts of Europe. WHO has developed analytical information material describing data related to the Sports Guidelines of the Member States of the European Union.

Sports activities can also integrate students with learning problems (Nopembri et al., 2019). Students can feel relatively more unrestricted and more comfortable in sports infrastructure – in the hall, stadium, or elsewhere. This way, the

R. PARANDJUKS. The Impact of Additional Sports Activities on the Development of Students in ..

inequalities likely to form in the rest of the learning process can be reduced. Using different types of activities – games, games, or other activities- a sports teacher can promote mutual communication between students.

However, in different studies, researchers from sports, medicine, and psychology indicate a more significant number of desired daily sports activities. For example, in Australia (Bateman et al., 2020), the researcher and his team studied how sports can affect the psychological and social aspects of adolescence.

The development of an educational institution depends on several factors. One of the most important is to define the activity and quality of the director of the educational institution. Education researchers have concluded that the competence of an education leader is the second most significant influencing factor concerning students' learning performance. Even more significant is the class teacher's work, which is more frequent and direct contact with students (Geske & Račs, 2019). The strategic role and overall vision of school leaders are of great importance. Other authors have also pointed this out (Stoll & Temperley, 2009).

The study's author emphasizes the need for sports lessons and their content side. Starting from the 2021/2022 school year, the new competence approach was introduced into the Latvian education system. They are learning content based on several guidelines – self-critical thinking, transversal skills, interdisciplinary linkages, and other relevant aspects. The changes also relate to the field of sports, since not only the names of the subject are changed, but also a large part of the curriculum. The official name of the change in educational content is "Competence approach to learning content School 2030" (School 2030, 2020).

By the 2021/2022 school year, the content of sports lessons was much different. Their content was primarily based on the testing and measurement of physical abilities. For example, a test of physical characteristics – tests of speed, strength, or endurance. The students performed runs to time control and performed physical exercises by another. As a result, differences in achievements were visually visible within the framework of sports lessons, contributing to the reluctance to attend sports lessons. In the context of the new competence approach, the evaluation criteria to date are broader and more democratic:

- Progress;
- Attitude;
- Self-esteem;
- Assessment of other class members;
- Ingenuity or creativity;
- The result presented;
- The indicated result in the technical field, etc.

The integration of self-assessment into the evaluation process is of great importance for the evaluation criteria. Self-esteem is essential for further personal development (Prihadi & Chua, 2012).

R. PARANDJUKS. The Impact of Additional Sports Activities on the Development of Students in ..

By critically evaluating one's development and activities, it is possible to make significant progress in various aspects. From an early age, students should be taught how a meaningful and thoughtful analysis of their actions takes place. Of course, in specific age periods with the involvement of self-critical thinking in the learning process, educators should be cautious. For example, at the stage of adolescence, when schoolchildren have an exacerbated perception (Malm et al., 2003).

Successful inclusion of additional sports students in the daily learning process requires a strong management stance and appropriate action. In the context of education, the concept of "leadership" is translated from English as Leader or Leadership. The term "leader" controls individual human resources of individuals, groups, states, or people of a different size. The leader may have various specific directions—for example, religious deviance (Cambridge Dictionary, 2022). On the other hand, the scientific article focuses on the difference between the concept of "leader" and "leadership." The leader's activity focuses on developing specific people or groups, while the leadership process includes many people (Day et al., 2014).

There are different levels in the field of educational management, so that the responsibilities may be different. There are three levels of managers – first-level, middle-level, and senior managers. The first is responsible for the operational level of management, the second tactical, and the third strategic (Clark, 2009). Each of them has its specialized task at the management level. For example, in the context of education, the middle manager is more often the school director.

In education and other areas, communication abilities are of great importance (Armstrong & McCain, 2021). Through communication, school management can better define the goal and play an essential role in defining the potential benefits of the process in question.

Managerial skills can directly contribute to the quality of an institution in the context of the learning process and work ethic. Above, a manager's necessary skills were listed to successfully direct an educational institution toward achieving specific goals. The aspects mentioned in other literary sources are somewhat different from those already considered above.

Skills:

- Technical;
- Human;
- Conceptual;
- Delegation skills;
- Knowledge of foreign languages (Colemen, 2012).

For the school to include additional sports lessons, it is necessary to carry out organizational activities. For example, in the Latvian education system, the Latvian Olympic Committee's project "Sport everyone in the class" has been
integrated into the education system for a long time. As part of this, schools receive methodological materials in addition to implementing sports studies. However, the financial aspect remains in the hands of school management. In order to successfully attract the additional financial resources needed, school leaders must be able to justify the purpose and added value of the necessary funding. One option is to include sports in the planning document of a medium or long-term institution. For example, by including a desire to emphasize student health in the development of the strategy, school authorities can clearly define their need for additional funding.

The concept of "strategy" has historically been associated with various military operations. Several definitions are given in the scientific literature. However, they are primarily associated with business development and the basic principles of sustainability. Dr.oec. Janis Caune and Dr.sc.ing. Andrejs Dzedons, in his book "Strategic Management," pointed out that the strategy includes

- all the essential activities of the company,
- causing the direction of the company's activities and the goal of existence,
- pushing the necessary changes that are determined by the operating environment.

It defines how organizations create a competitive advantage and ensure sustainability (Caune & Dzedonis, 2009). A strategy is a plan of senior management to achieve long-term results by the organization's operational goals.

Including additional sports lessons are vital because it facilitates several positive processes, but from a management point of view, it is an essential prerequisite for several variables.

School management must be able to successfully define its goal of integrating sport. The process must be justified in the context of infrastructure and human resources, and, of course, there must be a target audience that can and wants to implement the planned process.





Methodology

The operation of the projection "Sport everyone in the class" was studied. One quantitative survey with students, who participated in this project and one quantitative survey with educators were conducted, bringing the total respondents to n-683: n-582 students; n-75 teachers; n-26 school's directors.

Its mission is to strengthen the ideals of the Olympic Movement and the values of the high achievements of Latvian athletes in society by interesting children and young people to engage in physical activity, improving the health of pupils and their quality of life (Olympic, 2021).

The author used the quantitative method because it has more positive aspects that contribute to the quality of the study: Economy of resources (so-called time and financial); Anonymity; Includes many responses (Geske & Grīnfelds 2006).

Research

Through the mediation of school management, questionnaires were sent to students, teachers, school principals, or their deputies. Questionnaires were sent only to those schools that participated in the project with at least two classes. The obtained data were processed with the Windows SPPS 16.00 program. Pearson correlation was used to find a correlation between two variables. With its help, it is possible to calculate the correlation coefficient obtained based on quantitative data. Pearson correlation is usually used if the variables are measured on an interval or proportional scale.

The most significant respondents were students who participated in the whole class sports project. The study's author wanted to determine the effect of sports lessons every day from the student's point of view.

		Since doing more sports, I have started to study better	Since I've been doing more sports, it's easier for me to concentrate and study	I have become more athletic
Since doing more sports, I	Pearson Correlation	1	,419**	,095*
have started to study better	Sig. (2-tailed)		,000	,022
	Ν	582	582	582
Since I've been doing more	Pearson Correlation	,419**	1	,076
concentrate and study	Sig. (2-tailed)	.000		.066
	Ν	582	582	582
I have become more athletic	Pearson Correlation	,095*	,076	1
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.022	.066	
	Ν	582	582	582
have started to eat	Pearson Correlation	,247**	,290**	,035
riealtriier	Sig. (2-tailed) N	,000 582	,000 582	,394 582

Table 1. Obtained correlations from students' responses to the statements

**. Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

*. Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed).

It can be seen that several significant correlations with a high degree of confidence have emerged. The data were obtained by collecting the answers given by all *n*-582 students-respondents. There is a significant correlation between the statements about the student's opinions regarding the impact of sports on their studies and the fact that it is easier for students to concentrate and learn. The *p*-value of the corresponding correlation is 0.00, which is very high confidence. On the other hand, the correlation is 0.419, which can be evaluated as relatively high and significant.

The content of both statements indicates a positive trend concerning the sports integration process. For a higher-quality learning process to take place, students need the ability to concentrate and perceive new information. The unifying element of both statements is the sport. Therefore, it can be concluded that it has contributed to the level of concentration abilities, which has also contributed to academic achievements.

The study's author emphasizes another binding correlation that was not predicted before. The fact is related to eating habits, which have been facilitated by daily extra sports hours. Although the need for healthy eating is not explicitly emphasized within the sports lessons (the content of the lessons may differ for each school), the students were pointed to positive changes. The correlation (0.247 and 0.290) between statements about eating habits and the ability to concentrate better or academic achievement is not exceptionally high, but it does indicate a positive trend.

In the project "Sports for everyone in the class," educators who work with children, especially sports teachers, are essential. The author also raised the opinion of pedagogues regarding their views regarding including additional sports lessons in the learning process. The main emphasis of the statements was focused on the same guidelines as for the students.

A significant correlation was obtained between the statements "I believe that additional sports activities positively affect the work ethic of students (for example, concentration, etc.)" and "I believe that additional sports activities positively affect the success of students," a high correlation is observed. The p-value of the resulting correlation is 0.00, which is high confidence. On the other hand, the correlation is 0.682. The obtained data show that the pedagogues have indicated positive and significant trends – sports activities have improved the work ethic. At the same time, there is an improvement in learning achievements.

However, another correlation indicates the opposite trend. The obtained correlation between the statements "I believe that additional sports activities have a positive effect on student success" and "Students who study "Sports for everyone in the class" have better results compared to their peers." The *p*-value obtained between the two statements has a moderately high confidence of 0.057 and a correlation of 0.221, which cannot be defined as very high.

Correlations				
		Students studying "Sports for the whole class" have better results compared to their peers	l believe that additional sports activities have a positive effect on the success of students	I believe that additional sports activities have a positive effect on the work ethic of students (for example, ability to concentrate, etc.)
Students studying "Sports for the whole class" have better results compared to their peers	Pearson Correlation	1	.221	.147
	Sig. (2-tailed)		.057	.207
	Ν	75	75	75
I believe that additional sports activities have	Pearson Correlation	.221	1	.628**
a positive effect on the success of students	Sig. (2-tailed)	.057		.000
	N	75	75	75
I believe that additional sports activities have a positive effect on the work ethic of students	Pearson Correlation	.147	.628**	1
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.207	.000	
(for example, ability to concentrate, etc.)	Ν	75	75	75

Table 2. Obtained correlations from teachers responses to the statements

**. Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

Considering the content of the relevant statements and the previously discussed correlation analysis, attention should be paid to essential aspects. Suppose the sports integration process could meaningfully improve the students' work ethic while also improving the learning outcomes. In that case, the obtained correlation should have been higher, according to the study's author.

Ensuring the project's integration into daily learning requires a significant management role. It is necessary to provide the sports lessons planned within the project, which require delegation and attraction skills. The study's author wanted to understand how the school directors evaluate the relevant process related to integrating additional sports lessons.

The answers given by the school management establish higher-level correlations with each other. For example, among the statements that mention the impact of information on student achievements and the integration of sports on the overall development of the school.

Correlations				
		I believe that the integration of sports has helped the school to develop	I think that the integration of sports has allowed students to improve their learning outcomes	I think that the integration of sports has allowed students to improve their work ethic
I believe that the integration of sports has	Pearson Correlation	1	.871**	.606**
helped the school to develop	Sig. (2-tailed)		.000	.001
	Ν	28	28	28
I think that the integration of sports	Pearson Correlation	.871**	1	.661**
has allowed students to improve their learning outcomes	Sig. (2-tailed)	.000		.000
	Ν	28	28	28
I think that the integration of sports has allowed students to	Pearson Correlation	.606**	.661**	1
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.001	.000	
improve their work ethic	Ν	28	28	28

Table 4.	Obtained	correlations	from schools	' management	responses	to the statements
----------	----------	--------------	--------------	--------------	-----------	-------------------

**. Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

Obtained correlation with high reliability (p-value 0.00), correlation – 0.871. It can be concluded that based on the sports integration process, students' performance improves, which in turn contributes to the overall development of the school. A slightly lower level of correlation was formed between the statements about the school's development and the student's work ethic. The obtained correlation is 0.606.

Conclusion

The author of the study states that both in the analysis of the theory and in the empirical part, it can be observed that sports activities are evaluated as good. Sports scientists have indicated that regular sports activities improve physical fitness and reduce other risks – for example, psychological disorders, including anxiety or depression. It can be a vital deciding factor in the teenage years, so regular sports activities should be included in children's daily life at the beginning of school.

- Evaluating the empirical part of the study, it can be concluded that school principals indicated a more pronounced positive influence. Higher correlations than correlations between statements are observed;
- From the students' point of view, it can be concluded that sports have a positive effect on two interrelated processes work ethic and ability to concentrate, which intertwine together with the improvement of academic achievements;
- The change in students' eating habits is also positively evaluated;
- The teacher respondents do not observe such a pronounced positive trend in connection with the existence of additional sports activities. Although there is a high correlation concerning the overall development of students, theoretically compared to peers, the assessment is not so pronounced and specific.

Although the study reported only a few of the correlations made, the number of respondents is large enough to make verified claims. By implementing additional sports lessons in their daily learning process, schools ensure the recommendations mentioned by the WHO, as well as promote the development of the school and the students in various forms.

REFERENCES

Armstrong, P., J., & McCain, D., K., (2021). Narrative Pedagogy for Leadership Education: Stories of Leadership Efficacy, *Self-Identity, and Leadership Development. Journal of Leadership Studies, 14*(4).

Bateman, E., J., & Lowell, P., G., & Burke, J., K., & Lastella, M. (2020). Coach Education and Positive Youth Development as a Means of Improving Australian Sport. *Frontiers in Sports and Active Living*, 2. https://doi.org/10.3389/fspor.2020.591633

Cambridge Dictionary. (2022). Cambridge University Press.

Caune, J., & Dzedonis, A. (2009). Stratēģiskā vadīšana [Strategic management]. Caunes redakcija [Caunes editorial office].

Clark, T. (2009). 21st Century Scholars. Educational Leadership, 67(1), 66-70.

Colemen, M. (2012). Leadership and Diversity. Educational Management Administration & Leadership, 40(5), 592–609.

D'anna, C., & Forte, P., & Paloma, F.,G. (2019). Physical education status in European school'scurriculum, extension of educational offer and planning. *Department of Human, Philosophical and Education Science, University of Salerno, Italy. Sport and Health Science*, 5–8.

Day, V., D., & Fleenor, W., J., & Atwater, E., L., & Strum., E., R., & McKee, A., R. (2014). Advances in leader and leadership development: A review of 25 years of research and theory. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 25(1).

Eime, M. R., & Young, A. J., & Harvey, T. J., & Charty, J. M., & Payne, R. M. (2013). A systematic review of the psychological and social benefits of participation in sport for children and adolescents: informing development of a conceptual model of health through sport. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity, 10*, 98.

Geske, A., & Račs, N. (2019). The Impact of Headmaster's Leadership Practice on the Formation of a Professional Learning Community at School. SOCIETY. INTEGRATION. EDUCATION. Proceedings of the International Scientific Conference. Volume II, 90–105.

Malm, R. M., & Young, A. J., & Harvey, T. J., & Charity, J. M., & Payne, R. W. (2003). A systematic review of the psychological and social benefits of participation in sport for children and adolescents: informing development of a conceptual model of health through sport. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, *10*(98).

Nopembri, S., & Sugiyama, Y., & Rithaudin, A. (2019). Improving stress coping and problemsolving skills of children in disaster-prone area through cooperative physical education and sports lesson. *Journal of Human Sport and Exercise*, *14*(1).

Olimpiāde [Olympic] (2021). *Nolikums [Regulation]*. https://www.olimpiade.lv/storage/app/uploads/public/616/ec5/41e/616ec541e7df5515805964.pdf

Physical activity factsheets. (2018). For the 28 European Union member states of the who european region. *Published by World Health Organization*.

Prihadi, D. K., & Chua, M. (2012). Students' Self-Esteem at School: The Risk, the Challenge, and the Cure, *Journal of Education and Learning* (EduLearn), 6(1), 1.

Stambulova, N. (2009). Talent development in sport: A career transitions perspective. In Tsung-Min Hung, E., Lidor, R., Hackfort, D. (Eds.) *Psychology of Sport Excellence*. Morgantown, WV: Fitness Information Technology, pp. 63–74.

School2030 (2020). Skolotājiem-vērtēšana [For teachers – Evolution for criteria]. https://www.skola2030.lv/lv/skolotajiem/vertesana

Stoll, L., & Temperley, Y. (2009). Creative leadership: A challenge of our times. *School Leadership and Management*, 29(1), 65–78.

Worlds Health Organization. (2021). Obesity and owerweight. https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/obesity-and-overweight

https://doi.org/10.22364/atee.2022.52

Support to Children at Risk of Social Exclusion as a Component of Inclusive Education in Croatian Early Childhood Education and Care Institutions¹

Dejana Bouillet and Marina Panić

Faculty of Teacher Education, University of Zagreb

ABSTRACT

Children's participation in high-quality early childhood education and care (hereinafter ECEC) institutions and inclusive pedagogical practice represent an important compensatory mechanism that significantly reduces the risk of children's social exclusion. The role of ECEC is to contribute to the reduction or possible elimination of the risks of social exclusion (hereinafter RSE) of children and the consequences of their unfavourable actions through systematic preventive action. The scientific project "Models of Response to Educational Needs of Children at Risk of Social Exclusion in ECEC Institutions" (MORENEC, hereafter the Project MORENEC), funded by the Croatian Science Foundation, is focused on issues arising from this topic. This research is an integral part of the Project, and its goal is to analyse how Croatian ECEC institutions contribute to the prevention of the RSE of children in order to prevent unfavourable developmental outcomes. The data were collected on a sample of 65 ECEC institutions, which is representative for Croatia. The obtained results indicate an uneven practice of preventing the RSE in Croatian ECEC institutions. Various methods, programmes and techniques are used to prevent the RSE of children. Only a third of ECEC institutions implement comprehensive, structured preventive programs, and only a fifth of institutions offer different forms of support for parents.

The authors conclude that systematic support for children and families at RSE in the Croatian ECEC system, has not yet fully taken root. The findings point to the need to improve the preventive capacities of the Croatian ECEC system, with an emphasis on expanding the offer of science-based programmes led by educated staff, which includes various forms of support for children at RSE and their family members.

Keywords: risk of social exclusion, early and preschool education and care, universal prevention, selective prevention, Croatia

¹ The Project funded by the Croatian Science Foundation IP-2019-04-2011.

Introduction

Inclusive education is the process of responding to the various educational needs of children by increasing their participation in culture, community and learning and reducing their exclusion from education (UNESCO, 2005). Children's participation in high-quality ECEC programmes is a key component of inclusive education and has a positive impact on a child's development from an early age (Biedinger et al., 2008; Love et al., 2003). Children's participation in highquality early childhood education care programmes (ECEC) is a key component of inclusive education and has a positive impact on child development from an early age, while their accessibility together with inclusive pedagogical practice represent an important compensatory mechanism that significantly reduces the risk of children's social exclusion (Balladares & Kankaraš, 2020). Social exclusion of children is defined as a multidimensional construct that includes economic, social, cultural, health and other aspects of disadvantage and deprivation that individually or in combination can have an unfavourable impact on the development of a child in childhood and adulthood (Bouillet & Domović, 2021; Sukkar et al., 2017). The role of high-quality ECEC programmes is to contribute to the reduction or elimination of the RSE and the consequences of their unfavourable effects through systematic preventive action. Until now, there has been no systematic research in Croatia on the role and possibilities of ECEC institutions to contribute to the prevention of children's RSE. The scientific project "Models of response to educational needs of children at risk of social exclusion in ECEC institutions" funded by the Croatian Science Foundation is dedicated to this topic. One of the goals of the Project MORENEC is to investigate the effectiveness of available support programmes for families and children at RSE in Croatian ECEC institutions. The goal of this work emerged from the stated goal of the Project, which is to analyse the ways in which Croatian ECEC institutions contribute to the prevention of RSE of children with the aim of preventing unfavourable developmental outcomes.

The prevention of RSE of children in ECEC

ECEC in Croatia is regulated by the Preschool Education Law (1997) and related by-laws. It includes education and care for children of early and preschool age, and is realised through programmes of education, health care, nutrition and social care for children from six months until they start primary school. ECEC forms the initial level of the educational system and, with the exception of the preschool programme (which is compulsory for children one year before entering primary school), is not compulsory for all children. It is divided into two educational cycles:

- 1) nursery (6 month 3 yr.) and
- 2) kindergarten (3 yr.- 7 yr.).

ECEC institutions are expected to provide the best possible conditions and support for the successful learning and integral development of every child, because every child has the right to experience belonging, to be equally valued and treated with respect, which are important features of inclusive education (Berge & Johansson, 2021) and a prerequisite for the prevention of RSE of children (Bašić, 2009; Dunst, 2009; Sukkar et al., 2017). The starting points, principles, values and goals of ECEC are defined by the National Curriculum for ECEC (hereinafter National curriculum, 2015). The document promotes an inclusive approach because it advocates abandoning unified, unique standards for all children in favour of respecting and accepting the diversity of children, primarily through the implementation of various educational programmes that have the character of preventing unfavourable developmental outcomes of children at RSE.

The term prevention is widely used to denote any system of measures or programmes aimed at reducing or eliminating risk factors and the consequences of their action (Dadds & Fraser, 2003) by supporting the positive development of children and developing their resilience (Miljević-Riđički et al., 2017). World Health Organization (WHO, 2004) classifies prevention on three levels: universal, selective and indicated, depending on the level of risk in the population or group targeted by prevention measures. Universal prevention refers to the general public or the entire population, not identified on the basis of individual risk (Dadds & Fraser, 2003; Stoolmiller et al., 2000). In ECEC institutions, universal prevention is intended for all children and is often implemented in the curricula and educational work of preschool teachers (Stefan & Miclea, 2012). The goal of universal prevention is most often the development of children's socio-emotional competences (Aksoy, 2019; Nelson et al., 2003; Ștefan & Miclea, 2012). Selective prevention is aimed at individuals or subgroups of the population whose risk in a certain area is higher than average (European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction, 2019). Within ECEC, it covers the learning of social skills of children at RSE, but also systematic work with parents (Mikas et al., 2013). Indicated prevention is aimed at high-risk individuals with visible signs pointing to a certain problem (Sakashita & Oyama, 2019).

Preventive programmes have a positive effect on the quality of life of children of early and preschool age because they act as a protective factor and increase the opportunities for children's later academic achievements (Aksoy, 2019; Nelson et al., 2003). Many studies show that universal prevention programmes have a great effect on improving children's socio-emotional, behavioural and cognitive skills (Catalano et al., 2002; Dadds & Roth, 2008; Domitrovich et al., 2007; Greenberg et al., 2001; Manning et al., 2010), while some meta-analyses (Gates et al., 2017; Turner et al., 2018) attribute the improvement of social skills to selective and indicated prevention. The involvement of parents in prevention programmes is an important element of successful prevention programmes (Hahlweg et al.,

2010; Stefan & Miclea, 2012) because it encourages the transfer of skills acquired within the ECEC institution to the relationship between parent and child (Hughes et al., 2005; Manning et al., 2010). Such programmes contribute to the reduction of aggressive and unacceptable behaviour of children at RSE in the family and institutional environment (Bašić, 2009; Manning et al., 2010; Webster-Stratton et al., 2003). The quality and effectiveness of prevention programmes in ECEC institutions depend on the professional competence of preschool teachers (Bašić, 2009; Lochman & Wells, 2002; Tatalović Vorkapić et al., 2012; Webster-Stratton et al., 2008) which are the cornerstone of comprehensive prevention. It covers all three levels of prevention, with integrated action towards the child, family and community. The positive effects of such programmes are multiple (Nelson et al., 2003), and are visible in the development of social competence and the reduction of children's social withdrawal (Domitrovich et al., 2007). Therefore, the systematic support of ECEC institutions for children at RSE is reflected in the offer of various types of prevention programmes led by educated preschool teachers, with the involvement of parents/guardians of children.

RSE prevention model in the ECEC system in Croatia

In Croatia, there is very little research devoted to the evaluation of RSE prevention programmes in ECEC institutions. The Project MORENEC is aimed at achieving this goal by developing a model of response to the educational needs of children at RSE, which is based on a theoretical model of evaluation and development of quality ECEC (Vlasov et al., 2019, Figure 1).

The model points to the need of implementing the ISSA quality standards within measures to support families and children at RSE, as the starting point of the value system from which pedagogical practice emerges. The ISSA quality standards describe the value system that defines quality, the goals that ECEC strives for, and the reasons why these goals are considered important. When it comes to children at RSE, as a rule, their needs require additional support measures that form an integral part of the structural and process factors of quality. These factors are in dynamic interaction, and are dependent on national, regional, local and institutional policies. Structural factors of quality are related to the organisation, accessibility and conceptualisation of the ECEC system and the division of responsibilities among different levels, and are defined by legal regulations. As such, they provide prerequisites for pedagogical practice that reflects the process factors of quality, that is, the ways, forms and contents of realising the key function of institutional ECEC. Pedagogical practice takes place at the level of the individual and institution, and is directly related to the experiences of children, while it operationalises the institutional culture. It describes how the goals and contents of ECEC are realised in practice, in the interaction of individuals and contexts. When it comes to children at RSE, it answers the

question of how the ECEC system contributes to the prevention of unfavourable developmental outcomes of children and ensures their well-being, acting as a factor of protection in the child's social environment. It is not possible to precisely determine these effects if pedagogical practice and support measures for families and children at RSE are not continuously evaluated. That is why the model implies the application of four interconnected phases or steps, namely: assessment of needs, planning of educational intervention within the framework of appropriate pedagogical practice, implementation and evaluation.



Figure 1. A theoretical model of mapping support measures in ECEC institutions (adjusted according to Vlasov et al., 2019, p. 40)

The first step, *the assessment of needs*, includes the assessment of children's RSE and the definition of criteria for the inclusion of children and their family members in the intervention. The assessment is aimed at getting to know, understand and interpret the risks, needs and strengths of children and their ecological system, whereby such an assessment is considered a key link in ensuring appropriate and timely intervention. The second step, *planning the intervention*, refers to the definition of intervention's specific goals with regard to the identified RSE of children, the selection of activities that will achieve, the defined goals and the elaboration of the activity plan (e.g., duration, frequency, performers, resources). The third step, *the implementation of intervention*, refers to the application and other experts in the ECEC institution in accordance with the previously defined intervention plan, and refers to the application of educational strategies, programmes, methods and techniques aimed at the prevention of RSE of children. The fourth step, *evaluation of the intervention*, is based on the

assessment of the effectiveness of the programme. It is a periodic assessment of the cost-effectiveness, efficiency, impact, sustainability and relevance of a specific programme, project or intervention in the context of established goals.

Examples of preventive programmes in ECEC institutions in Croatia

This article is focused on the mapping of pedagogical practice that contributes to the prevention of children's RSE, and includes the implementation of evaluated programmes at the level of universal prevention in ECEC institutions and the application of strategies and methods in direct work with children at RSE, at the level of selective prevention. For example, at the level of universal prevention, the following programmes are implemented:

- A resilience curriculum for early years and primary schools (RESCUR) offers key tools for overcoming obstacles in their development, with the use of personal strength as part of activities for social and emotional learning of preschool and primary school children (Miljević-Riđički et al., 2015).
- **CAP programme** is aimed at the prevention of child abuse with the aim of encouraging the active commitment of the local community and educational systems for a comprehensive approach to the prevention of violence against and among children, through the implementation of structured workshops (Parents association "Korak po korak", 2014).
- **Growing Up Together** is a programme of workshops for parents, which is carried out with the aim of creating a stimulating and empowering environment in which parents get to know their role as parents, recognise how they relate to their child, and see other possibilities of relating to the child (Pećnik & Starc, 2010).
- Appreciation of Diversity to a Culture of Peace is implemented with the aim of developing socio-emotional competences of children in ECEC curricula, through the realisation of curricular activities in four areas: identity and belonging, expression of emotions and thoughts, appreciation of diversity, safety and responsibility (Bouillet & Šarić, 2016).
- **Problem-solving Management Model** (UPS model) refers to teaching how to solve problems by understanding human behaviour, providing assistance in meeting human needs, and developing problem-solving skills. UPS model helps the child to independently find a responsible solution to a problem that will not endanger him/herself, others or property (Modrić, 2021).
- **Persona doll** is a method in which a doll is used as a mediator between preschool teachers and children with an emphasis on different anti-discrimination scenarios. Recognition and appropriate response to injustice in society is part of education for social justice, which is applied with the aim of developing children's emotional competences (Logue & Kim, 2011).

TO BE OR NOT TO BE A GREAT EDUCATOR, 2022

D. BOUILLET, M. PANIĆ. Support to Children at Risk of Social Exclusion as a Component of Inclusive ..

Examples of educational practices and programs at the level of selective prevention in the ECEC system:

- Small Creative Socialisation Groups is a programme aimed at the process of socialisation and training for successful coping of children at RSE and strengthening of protection factors in children's environment (Janković & Richter, 2010).
- **Growing up Together Plus**, as a version of the programme *Growing up Together*, for parents of children with developmental disabilities (Pećnik & Starc, 2010).
- Application of behaviour modification techniques within social modelling (Bandura, 1977). These techniques are aimed at directly changing the child's behaviour, relying on the principles of learning (e.g., loss of privileges, positive feedback, rewards, behaviour rules checking, behaviour contract, restitution, self-reflection, time-out).
- **Mediation** i.e., intervention in negotiation or conflict resolution by an impartial person to achieve a mutually satisfactory solution. It contributes to personal growth and development, long-term problem solving and the promotion of equality and social justice (Munivrana et al., 2017).
- **Restitution** is an approach to strengthening children, a substitute for punishment and supervision, a means of developing self-discipline, and at the same time it is a collaborative process in which children learn to seek solutions to problems and learn about rights and obligations (Chelsom Gossen, 1994). It enables the redirection of children's behaviour because it is a proactive process, which leads the child to stop avoiding embarrassment and turn to a better relationship with other people and appropriate ways of social development.
- **Play therapy** is a measure of support for children who have difficulties in socio-emotional development and/or behaviour, in the form of workshops that help create contact and an emotional connection with a child at risk of developing behavioural problems (Ray et al., 2001).

The presented examples are part of pedagogical practices that some ECEC institutions include in their curricula, but they are not mandatory, so some institutions apply them and some do not.

Research methods

With the aim of determining and analysing the ways in which Croatian ECEC institutions provide support to families and children in order to prevent unfavourable developmental outcomes of children at RSE, within the framework of the Project MORENEC, a mapping of pedagogical practice was carried out on

a representative sample of 65 ECEC institutions (10.4% of the total number of ECEC institutions in Croatia at the time of data collection²). The sample is representative according to: the criteria of number of children between the ages of 5 and 7 included in ECEC programs in 6 Croatian regions, according to the founder of the institution, the administrative status of the local self-government unit in which it operates and the size of the ECEC institution. The size of the ECEC institution is determined by the number of preschool teachers employed, and ranges from 2 to 320, and the average number of preschool teachers in kindergartens is 40. In the included kindergartens, the number of professional associates ranges from 0 to 16, with an average of 3 employed within one institution. The number of facilities in which the ECEC institution operates varies on a continuum from 1 to 26, and the average number of facilities per institution is 4. In the included ECEC institutions, the number of enrolled children ranges from 31 to 2972, while an average of 369 children are enrolled in kindergarten.

Representatives of ECEC institutions, in cooperation with members of the research team, completed The Protocol for mapping measures to support families and children at RSE in ECEC institutions, which was developed as part of the Project MORENEC. The Protocol consists of questions related to: assessment methods for children at RSE, ways in which parents of children at RSE can be involved in the work of the educational institution, forms of support for families of children at RSE offered by ECEC institutions, available programs, methods and techniques for preventing children's RSE, sources of funding for prevention programs, methods of evaluation and quality assurance of support measures for families and children at RSE. In addition to the above, a detailed explanation of one support measure used in the ECEC institution is requested i.e., data on the RSE group to which the measure is directed, the number of users of the measure, the objectives of the measure, activities and methods of evaluating the success of the measure. This paper presents basic information on the representation of the 4 steps of the RSE prevention model in ECEC institutions (needs assessment, planning, implementation and evaluation).

The data were collected in the spring of 2022, and were processed in the SPSS program (version 26) at the level of descriptive statistics (percentages) and using the non-parametric Spearman correlation coefficient.

² Croatian Bureau of Statistics (2021). *Kindergartens and other legal entities that implement preschool education programs, the beginning of the pedagogical year 2020./21.* Zagreb: Croatian Bureau of Statistics. www.dzs.hr

Results

The first step in the prevention of children at RSE refers to the assessment of needs, that is, their recognition. Table 1 shows the frequency of application of different assessment methods in ECEC institutions, according to whether they are applied at the level of the institution, individual facilities, educational groups or specific children.

Table 1. The frequency of application of different assessment methods of children at RSE in ECEC institutions (%)

RSE assessment methods	Institution	Facilities	Groups	Children	Doesn't apply
Initial interview with the child before enrolling in the ECEC programme	69.2	1.5	1.5	9.2	18.5
Initial interview with the child's parents/guardians before enrolling in the ECEC programme	93.8	0	0	4.6	1.5
Regular individual meetings with parents/guardians of the child during the pedagogical year	70.8	0	7.7	21.5	0
Use of a standardised measuring instrument to assess the child's developmental status	30.8	1.5	4.6	29.2	33.8
Using internal scales to assess children's developmental status	58.5	3.1	10.8	16.9	10.8
Individual assessments of professional associates in the kindergarten	44.6	1.5	1.5	41.5	10.8
Comprehensive team differentiated assessment of the child	27.7	1.5	1.5	55.4	13.8
Creation and monitoring of the child's development map	50.8	4.6	27.7	3.1	13.8
Observation of the child in the educational group by a member of the professional team	47.7	1.5	3.1	40.0	7.7

It can be seen that ECEC institutions use different methods of assessing RSE of children, while the practice itself is extremely uneven. Most institutions apply initial interviews with the child's parents/guardians before enrolling in the ECEC program. Two-thirds of institutions use regular individual interviews with the child's parents/guardians during the pedagogical year, and initial interviews with the child before enrolling in the ECEC programme (69.2%). Only a third of institutions apply comprehensive team differentiated assessment of children, or standardised measuring instruments. Summary indicators of the application of different methods of RSE assessment of children in individual ECEC institutions are presented in the Figure 2.





Figure 2. ECEC institutions according to the number of applied methods of assessment of children's RSE

The assessment methods used in institutions range from 0 to 9, while more than half (58%) use 2 to 5 methods. A modest assessment practice is noticeable in (4.6%) institutions that do not assess RSE of children, or use only one assessment method. On the other hand, there are institutions with a very rich practice of applying different methods of assessing children's RSE (37%).

The purpose of the assessment is the planning and implementation of various support measures for children, which inevitably includes work with parents. Table 2 shows the forms of cooperation with parents in Croatian ECEC institutions.

The findings show that the most frequent practice of working with parents is individual counselling work. Two-thirds of institutions offer parent education through lectures and workshops, while only one-fifth of institutions organise group counselling work with parents. Support groups for parents are offered by one-third of ECEC institutions in Croatia.

Forms of support for families of children at RSE	NO	YES
Lectures	29.2	70.8
Workshops	32.3	67.7
Support groups for parents/guardians	69.2	30.8
Individual counselling work with parents/guardians	4.6	95.4
Group counselling work with parents/guardians	80.0	20.0
Informing about social and health services in the community	27.7	72.3

Table 2. Frequency of different forms of support for families of children at RSE in ECEC institutions (%)



The share of ECEC institutions according to the number of forms of support they offer to families is shown in the Figure 3.

The data point to the conclusion that the Croatian ECEC system is dominated by institutions that offer parents 2 to 4 forms of support (72.3%). A modest support form practice involves 6% institutions, while a fifth of institutions have developed a diverse support practice.

Data on the distribution of structured children's RSE prevention programme and behaviour modification techniques are presented in the Table 3.

Programmes, methods and techniques of prevention of children at RSE	Institution	Facilities	Groups	Doesn't apply
CAP programme	23.1	4.6	7.7	64.6
RESCUR	1.5	0	4.6	93.8
Appreciating Diversity Leads to a Culture of Peace	6.2	1.5	12.3	80.0
Growing Up Together	50.8	1.5	4.6	43.1
Growing Up Together Plus	16.9	1.5	3.1	78.5
Mediation	6.2	3.1	6.2	84.6
Restitution	6.2	0	7.7	86.2
Modelling	13.8	0	10.8	75.4
Play therapy	6.2	4.6	15.4	73.8
Persona doll	7.7	0	16.9	75.4
Problem-solving Management	12.3	3.1	9.2	75.4

Table 3. Frequency of implementation of programmes, methods and techniques of prevention of children at RSE in ECEC institutions (%)

Figure 3. ECEC institutions, according to the number of support forms for parents

Overall, the findings point to the conclusion that structured prevention programs for children at RSE are implemented by a minority of ECEC institutions. The most often applied programme is Growing Up Together, while other programmes took root in fewer institutions. Selective prevention programmes in ECEC institutions almost do not exist, while the program Growing Up Together Plus is carried out in one fifth of institutions.

In summary, only a third of ECEC institutions have developed a comprehensive strategy for the prevention of children at RSE, which is reflected in the offer of preventive programmes at the level of individual institutions. The practice of evaluating the effectiveness of programmes to prevent RSE of children is relatively modest, and most often comes down to keeping pedagogical documentation and internal evaluation, while other forms of evaluation are extremely rare (Table 4).

Methods of evaluation and quality assurance of support measures	NO	YES
Ensuring the internal education of preschool teachers for a specific programme/measure/method	26.2	73.8
Ensuring external education of preschool teachers for a specific programme/measure/method	35.4	64.6
Organising regular internal support of professionals during the implementation of the programme/measure/method	50.8	49.2
Organising regular external support of professionals (supervision) during the implementation of the programme/ measure/method	73.8	26.2
Management and monitoring of pedagogical documentation	4.6	95.4
By applying scientific evaluation	89.2	10.8
System of internal evaluation	23.1	76.9
Through occasional external evaluation	81.5	18.5

Table 4. The frequency of application of evaluation methods and quality assurance of support measures for families and children at RSE in ECEC institutions (%)

More than half of the ECEC institutions provide external education for preschool teachers for the application of specific forms of prevention for children at RSE, and almost half of the institutions offer internal support from a professional support team. In summary, the majority of institutions (80%) implement 3 or more evaluation methods, although it is mainly an evaluation of the usual pedagogical practice that is not focused on the prevention of the specificities of children at RSE (Figure 4).



Figure 4. ECEC institutions according to the number of methods of evaluation of support measures for families and children at RSE

The results shown in Table 5 show that there is a statistically significant relationship between the components (steps) of prevention of children at RSE. Institutions that implement comprehensive prevention programmes for children at RSE offer several forms of support to families of children at RSE. They are directed in several different ways towards evaluating and ensuring the quality of support measures for families and children at RSE.

Components of RSE prevention	Needs assessment	Parents support	Comprehensive programmes	Evaluation
Needs assessment	1	.113	.155	.173
Parents support		1	.434**	.578**
Comprehensive programmes			1	.385**
Evaluation				1

Table 5. Spearman correlation coefficient on composite variables

** p < .01

Research limitations

The research is based on information received from representatives of ECEC institutions and not on objective data. However, this is the first research of this type conducted in Croatia, so further analyses are needed to verify the obtained results. In addition, the research is of a descriptive nature, which limits the

possibilities of finding a connection between the described preventive practice and the well-being of children at RSE. It is important to emphasise that the Project MORENEC is ongoing and that the evaluation of the described support measures is yet to follow.

Discussion

The results of the research indicate an uneven pedagogical practice of prevention aimed at children at RSE in the form of reducing and preventing unfavourable developmental outcomes of children and ensuring their well-being in ECEC institutions in Croatia. Earlier research (Bouillet & Antulić Majcen, 2022; Khan et al., 2015) showed that an assessment aimed at getting to know and understand the individual risks and needs of children is considered crucial in providing interventions that lead to an increase in favourable and a decrease in unfavourable developmental outcomes of children. This research showed that assessment of children at RSE in ECEC institutions is done in different ways using different methods. Institutions that use 2 to 5 methods predominate, while there are still institutions that do not assess children at RSE at all or use only one method. Although the involvement of parents in prevention programmes has been recognised as a key element in the successful prevention of children's RSE in many studies (Hahlweg et al., 2010; Manning et al., 2010; Ștefan & Miclea, 2012), different forms of parent support and their involvement in the work of the educational institution are implemented only in a fifth of ECEC institutions in Croatia. Most ECEC institutions offer 2 to 4 forms of support to parents, while there are still institutions that do not have integrated support for parents in their practice. Although comprehensive prevention, which includes all three levels of prevention and works towards the child, family and community has been recognised in previous research as very successful (Domitrovich et al., 2007; Nelson et al., 2003), the results of this research indicate that only a third of ECEC institutions in Croatia implement structured, comprehensive programmes for the prevention of children's RSE. The evaluation of the effectiveness of the program in ECEC institutions in Croatia is most often carried out using 3 or more evaluation methods, which in most cases are not aimed at the prevention of specific RSE of children, so we cannot even talk about precisely defined indicators of the success and effectiveness of interventions (Španja, 2019). Research (Tatalović Vorkapić et al., 2012; Webster-Stratton et al., 2008) have shown that the positive effect on child development is most visible in programmes in which preschool teachers are additionally educated for its implementation, and such practice in the form of conducting external and internal education of preschool teachers for the application of specific forms of prevention of children's RSE is carried out by more than 50% of institutions in Croatia.

Conclusion

The goal of this research is to determine and analyse the ways in which ECEC institutions in Croatia provide support to families and children in order to prevent unfavourable developmental outcomes of children at RSE. The research results indicate the existence of an uneven practice of providing support to families and children at RSE. Although a third of ECEC institutions offer various support measures to families and children at RSE, there are still institutions that do not offer any support measures. From all of the above, we can conclude that the systematic support of ECEC institutions for children at RSE, which is reflected in the offer of various types of prevention programmes by educated preschool teachers, with the involvement of parents/guardians of children in the Croatian context, has not yet fully taken root.

That is why it seems justified to invest efforts that will reflect the theoretical model of mapping support measures in the preventive practices of the ECEC institutions in Croatia. This is the first and important step in improving the possibility of developing the structural and process factors of the quality of ECEC institutions, which are a prerequisite for an adequate response of the ECEC system to RSE and the prevention of possible unfavourable development outcomes related to them.

Aknowledgment

This research was financed by the funds of the Croatian Science Foundation through the Project IP-2019-04-2011.

REFERENCES

Aksoy, P. (2019). Prevention programs for the development of social-emotional learning in preschool years. *European Journal of Education Studies*, 6(6), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.3406762

Balladares, J., & Kankaraš, M. (2020). Attendance in early childhood education and care programmes and academic proficiencies at age 15. OECD Education Working Papers No. 214. OECD Publishing.

Bandura, A. (1977). Social learning theory. Prentice Hall.

Bašić, J. (2009). Teorija prevencije: prevencija poremećaja u ponašanju i rizičnih ponašanja djece i mladih [Theories of prevention: prevention of behavioural disorders and risk behaviours of children and youth]. Školska knjiga.

Berge, A. & Johansson, E. (2021). The politics of belonging: Educators' interpretations of communities, positions, and borders in preschool. *International Research in Early Childhood Education*, *11*(2), 24–40.

Biedinger, N., Becker, B., & Rohling, I. (2008). Early Ethnic Educational Inequality: The Influence of Duration of Preschool Attendance and Social Composition. *European Sociological Review, 24*(2), 243–256. https://doi.org/10.1093/esr/jcn001

Bouillet, D. & Šarić, Lj. (2016). Uvažavanjem različitosti do kulture mira: priručnik za odgojitelje djece rane i predškolske dobi [Achieving culture of peace by respecting diversity: Manual for teachers of children of early and preschool age]. Centar za civilne inicijative.

Bouillet, D. & Antulić Majcen, S. (2022). Risks of social exclusion among children in ECEC settings: assessments by parents and ECEC teachers. *Sage Open*, *12*(3), 1–12. https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/full/10.1177/21582440221126636

Bouillet, D. & Domović, V. (2021). Socijalna isključenost djece rane i predškolske dobi: konceptualizacija, rizici i model intervencija [Social exclusion of early and preschool children: conceptualization, risks and intervention model]. *Ljetopis socijalnog rada, 28*(1), 71–96. https://doi.org/10.3935/ljsr.v28i1.388

Catalano, R. F., Berglund, M. L., Ryan, J. A. M., Lonczak, H. S., & Hawkins, J. D. (2002). Positive youth development in the United States: Research findings on evaluations of positive youth development programs. *Prevention & Treatment, 5*(1), Article 15. https://doi.org/10.1037/1522-3736.5.1.515a

Chelsom Gossen, D. (1994). Restitucija – preobrazba školske discipline [Restitution – transformation of school discipline]. Alinea.

Dadds, M. R., & Fraser, J. A. (2003). Prevention programs. In C. A. Essau (Ed.), *Conduct and oppositional defiant disorders: Epidemiology, risk factors, and treatment* (193–222). Lawrence Erlbaum Associates Publishers.

Dadds, M. R., & Roth, J. H. (2008). Prevention of anxiety disorders: Results of a universal trial with young children. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, *17*, 320–335. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10826-007-9144-3

Domitrovich, C. E., Cortes, R. C., & Greenberg, M. T. (2007). Improving Young Children's Social and Emotional Competence: A Randomized Trial of the Preschool "PATHS" Curriculum. *The Journal of Primary Prevention*, *28*(2), 67–91. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10935-007-0081-0

Dunst, C. (2009). Implications of evidence-based practices for personnel preparation development in early childhood intervention. *Infant & Young Children, 22*(1), 44–53.

European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction (2019). European Prevention Curriculum: a handbook for decision-makers, opinion-makers and policy-makers in science-based prevention of substance use. Publications Office of the European Union.

Gates, J. A., Kang, E., & Lerner, M. D. (2017). Efficacy of group social skills interventions for youth with autism spectrum disorder: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Clin. Psychol. Rev.*, *52*, 164–181.

Greenberg, M. T., Domitrovich, C., & Bumbarger, B. (2001). The prevention of mental disorders in school-aged children: Current state of the field. *Prevention & Treatment, 4*(1), Article 1a. https://doi.org/10.1037/1522-3736.4.1.41a

Hahlweg, K., Heinrichs, N., Kuschel, A., Bertram, H. & Naumann, S. (2010). Research Longterm outcome of a randomized controlled universal prevention trial through a positive parenting program: is it worth the effort? *Child and Adolescent Psychiatry and Mental Health*, 4(14), 1–14.

Hughes, J. N., Cavell, T. M., Meehan, B. T., Zhang, D., & Collie, C. (2005). Adverse school context moderates the outcomes of selective interventions for aggressive children. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, *73*, 731–736. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.73.4.731

Janković, J. & Richter, M. (2010). Ajmo skupa: male kreativne socijalizacijske skupine za predškolsku dob [Let's do it together: small creative socialization groups for preschool age]. Udruga Poticaj.

Khan, S, Combaz, E. & McAslan Fraser, E. (2015). Social exclusion: topic guide. Revised edition. University of Birmingham.

Lochman, J. E., & Wells, K. C. (2002). The Coping Power program at the middle-school transition: Universal and indicated prevention effects. *Psychology of Addictive Behaviors, 16*, 40–54. https://doi.org/10.1037/0893-164X.16.4S.S40

Logue, M.E. & Kim, S. (2011). The Persona Doll Project: Promoting Diversity Awareness Among Preservice Teachers Through Storytelling. *Social Studies Research and Practice*, 6(2), 60–80. https://doi.org/10.1108/SSRP-02-2011-B0006

Love, J. M., Harrison, L., Sagi-Schwartz, A., Van IJzendoorn, M. H., Ross, C., Ungerer, J. A., Raikes, H., Brady-Smith, C., Boller, K., Brooks-Gunn, J., Constantine, J., Eliason Kisker, E., Paulsell, D., & Chazan-Cohen, R. (2003). Child care quality matters: How conclusions may vary with context. *Child Development*, *74*(4), 1021–1033.

Manning, M., Homel, R., & Smith, C. (2010). A meta-analysis of the effects of early developmental prevention programs in at-risk populations on non-health outcomes in adolescence. *Children and Youth Services Review*, *32*(4), 506–519. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. childyouth.2009.11

Mikas, D., Pavlović, Ž., & Sunko, E. (2013). Predškolski preventivni programi [Preschool preventive programs]. *Paediatria Croatica*, *57*(1), 125–130.

Miljević-Riđički, R., Bouillet, D., Pavin Ivanec, T., & Milanović, M. (2015). RESCUR: Na valovima: kurikul otpornosti za predškolsku i osnovnoškolsku dob: vodič za odgojitelje i učitelje [RESCUR: surfing the waves. A resilience curriculum for early years and primary schools. A Teacher's Guide]. Učiteljski fakultet Sveučilišta u Zagrebu.

Miljević-Riđički, R., Plantak, K., & Bouillet, D. (2017). Resilience in Preschool Children – The Perspectives of Teachers. *Parents and Children. International Journal of Emotional Education. Special Issue, 9*(2), 31–43.

Modrić, N. (2021). Upravljanje problemnim situacijama: UPS model [Problem-solving Management Model: UPS model]. Vlastita naklada.

Munivrana, A., Pijaca Plavšić, E., Pavlović, V., & Perak, J. (2017). Možemo to riješiti! Razumijevanje i upravljanje sukobima [We can solve it! Understanding and managing conflicts]. Forum za slobodu odgoja.

Nacionalni kurikulum ranog i predškolskog odgoja i obrazovanja [National Curriculum for Early Childhood Education and Care]. (2015). Official Gazette, 5.

Nelson, G., Westhues, A., & MacLeod, J. (2003). A Meta-Analysis of Longitudinal Research on Preschool Prevention Programs for Children. *Prevention & Treatment, 6*(1), Article 31a. https://doi.org/10.1037/1522-3736.6.1.631a

Pećnik, N. & Starc, B. (2010). Roditeljstvo u najboljem interesu djeteta i podrška roditeljima najmlađe djece [Parenting in the best interests of the child and support to parents of the youngest children]. Ured UNICEF-a za Hrvatsku.

Ray, D., Bratton, S., Rhine, T., & Jones, L. (2001). The effectiveness of play therapy: Responding to the critics. *International Journal of Play Therapy*, *10*(1), 85–108. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0089444

Sakashita, T., & Oyama, H. (2019). Developing a Hypothetical Model for Suicide Progression in Older Adults with Universal, Selective, and Indicated Prevention Strategies. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, *10*, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00161

Stefan, C. A., & Miclea, M. (2012). Classroom Effects of a Hybrid Universal and Indicated Prevention Program for Preschool Children: A Comparative Analysis Based on Social and Emotional Competence Screening. *Early Education & Development, 23*(3), 393–426. https://doi.org/10.1080/10409289.2011.554756

Stoolmiller, M., Eddy, J. M., & Reid, J. B. (2000). Detecting and describing preventive intervention effects in a universal school-based randomized trial targeting delinquent and violent behavior. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, *68*(2), 296–306. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.68.2.296

Sukkar, H., Dunst, C. J., & Kirkby, J. (2017). Early Childhood Intervention: Working with Families of Young Children with Special Needs. Routledge.

Španja, S. (2019). Evaluacija kao pedagoški fenomen [Evaluation as a pedagogical phenomenon]. *Školski vjesnik, 68*(1), 261–278.

Tatalović Vorkapić, S., Vlah, N., & Vujičić, L. (2012). Osnaživanje uloge budućih odgojitelja u očuvanju mentalnog zdravlja predškolske djece: promjene studijskog programa [Strengthening future preschool teachers' role in preserving the mental health of preschool children: Current changes in the study program]. *Život i škola, LVIII* (28), 130–143.

Turner, D.T., McGlanaghy, E., Cuijpers, P., van der Gaag, M., Karyotaki, E., & MacBeth, A. (2018). A meta-analysis of social skills training and related interventions for psychosis. *Schizophr. Bull*, *44*, 475–491. https://doi.org/10.1093/schbul/sbx146

Udruga roditelja "Korak po korak" (2014). Svako dijete ima pravo biti sigurno, jako i slobodno – 15 godina CAP-a [Every child has the right to be safe, strong and free – 15 years of CAP]. Correctus media.

UNESCO (2005). Guidelines for Inclusion: Ensuring Access to Education for All. UNESCO.

Vlasov, J., Salminen, J., Repo, L., Karila, K., Kinnunen, S., Mattila, V., Nukarinen, T., Parrila, S. & Sulonen, H. (2019). *Guidelines and recommendations for evaluating the quality of early childhood education and care.* Finnish Education Evaluation Centre.

Webster-Stratton, C., & Reid, J. M. (2003). Treating conduct problems and strengthening social and emotional competence in young children: The Dina Dinosaur Program. *Journal of Emotional and Behavioral Disorders*, *2*, 130–143.

Webster-Stratton, C. & Reid, J. M., & Stoolmiller, M. (2008). Preventing conduct problems and improving school readiness: evaluation of the Incredible Years Teacher and Child Training Programs in high-risk schools. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 49(5), 471–488. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.2007.01861.x

World Health Organization (2004). Prevention of mental disorders: effective interventions and policy options: summary report. World Health Organization.

Zakon o predškolskom odgoju i obrazovanju [Preschool Education Act]. (1997). Official Gazette, 10/97; 107/07; 94/13; 98/19.

About the authors

Dejana Bouillet holds a PhD in Social Pedagogy and is a full-time professor at the Faculty of Teacher Education, University of Zagreb, Croatia. She teaches inclusive and social pedagogy

and researches a wide range of etiological, phenomenological and intervention aspects of socialization problems of children and youth. She has published more than 90 scientific and professional articles in different scientific journals and 15 books (bibliography: see https://bib. irb.hr/ Bouillet, Dejana).

Marina Panić is a research assistant at the Croatian Science Foundation project "Models of response to educational needs of children at risk of social exclusion in ECEC institutions". Also, she is a teaching assistant at the Faculty of Teacher Education at the University of Zagreb where she participates in teaching inclusive pedagogy and inclusive curriculum. She is a PhD student at the University of Zadar. Her research interests are early and preschool pedagogy and inclusive pedagogy (bibliography: see https://www.bib.irb.hr/index.php/pregled/profil/39766).

https://doi.org/10.22364/atee.2022.53

Implementation of Equal Opportunities for Children with Autism Spectrum Disorder in Pre-School Education Institution

Rasa Braslauskienė, Reda Jacynė

Klaipėda University, Lithuania

ABSTRACT

With the entry into force of the principles of democracy in modern society, inclusive education that means the right of all people to education, ensuring the presence, participation and progress and, above all, equal opportunities of all pupils, is becoming important. There are more and more children in the country who are being diagnosed with autism spectrum disorder, but their fate is determined not by the disorder itself, but by psychological, social and pedagogical rehabilitation. It is necessary to provide a child with special educational needs with the opportunity to use the services of specialists, help one constructively so that (s)he becomes as involved in the life of society as possible, could develop one's personality and improve spiritually (Convention on the Rights of the Child, 1989; Lithuania's Progress Strategy "Lithuania 2030" 2012). The aim is to reveal teachers' attitude about the possibilities of the implementation of equal opportunities for children with autism spectrum disorder in the pre-school education institution. To achieve the aim, a qualitative study using an in-depth interview method, was conducted. The qualitative content analysis was used to process the research data. The findings of the research revealed that teachers believe that opportunities to ensure equal rights for children with autism are limited: it is difficult to ensure the safety of children; teachers do not have assistants; premises are not fully adapted; it is hard to change the established negative attitude of other people. Nevertheless, teachers provide individualized education opportunities for children with autism spectrum disorder; provide them with appropriate and safe means of education; create a separate space in the group, communicate and cooperate with children's parents, thus ensuring more effective education; involve the child in social activities.

Keywords: autism spectrum disorder, children with special educational needs, inclusive education, pre-school education institution

Introduction

Like other European countries, Lithuania has joined international treaties that declare basic social, economic, civil and political human rights. A child, as every member of our society, is the holder of all human rights. *The United Nations Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities* (2006), *UNESCO Salamanca Statement and Framework for Action on Special Needs Education (1994), the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child (1989)* and the provisions of other international treaties and agreements provide for the rights of children with special educational needs (hereinafter: SEN). All of the mentioned documents are based on the principle of non-discrimination and the concept of positive obligations assumed by the state towards these children. *The United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child* (1989) obliges countries to ensure an inclusive education system at all levels that is accessible to SEN children and that educational needs of each person, making it possible to get free education in the general education system.

With the establishment of democratic principles in the modern society, the inclusion of SEN children in society becomes very important. At the same time, the number of children diagnosed with autism is increasing in the country. Autism is the third most common childhood disorder after intellectual disability and language disorder (Zager et al., 2016). According to Aleksienė (2016), statistical data from various countries show that autism is diagnosed more and more often, children with this disorder are born in various families regardless of parents' education, social status or race. East et al. (2008) note that autism is a multifaceted development disorder, and since 1980, the idea of the autism spectrum disorder has been widely recognized. According to Sicile-Kira (2014), Mikulėnaitė et al. (2004), Robledo et al. (2005), Jokubaitienė et al. (2019), autism is diagnosed four times more often in boys, but girls suffer from a more severe form of this disorder. As stated by Lesinskiene et al. (2002), autism covers many areas of mental functioning and severely impairs the child's development and social adaptation, therefore autism is classified as a group of multifaceted disorders. Multifaceted developmental disorders are manifested by qualitative impairments in social interaction and communication as well as limited, stereotyped and repetitive nature of interests and activities.

The fate of children with autism spectrum disorder (hereinafter: ASD) is determined not by the disorder itself, but by psychological, social, and pedagogical rehabilitation. It is necessary to provide a child with ASD with an opportunity to use the services of specialists, help one constructively so that the child becomes as involved in the life of society as possible, could develop one's personality and improve spiritually. Many authors (Lesinskienė et al., 2002; Ivoškuvienė, et al., 2002; Frith, 2003; Mikulėnaitė et al., 2004; Robledo et al., 2005; East, et al.,

2008; Notbohm, 2012; Гилберг et al., 2013; Zager et al., 2016; Aleksienė, 2016) claim that such involvement is caused by:

- 1) social environment. ASD children have difficulty in understanding social situations, thus they often get confused or agitated when interacting with other people. It is difficult for ASD children to understand the behaviour of others, the meaning of the skills they have and are developing. They often fail to apply the things they learn in one environment in another similar situation. They mechanically perform tasks, do not understand the meaning of activities and experiences they have had. ASD children do not recognize the same people in other environments. They do not realize that the same person can be in a different place. Therefore, it is extremely important to determine whether the child really recognizes other people;
- communication difficulties. Children find it difficult to understand both verbal and non-verbal communication and use communication tools such as eye contact, facial expression, gestures, and body language;
- 3) disorders of thought and imagination. Already at an early age it is noticeable that the child's playful and imaginative activities are disrupted. Children with ASD like a routine that helps them understand their surroundings, thus even the smallest changes can cause them great stress. ASD children may find it difficult to adapt in the pre-school education institution, as they are often characterized by hand flapping, rocking or spinning in circles; increased sensitivity to noise, smells, touch or visual stimuli; tendency to self-harm; aggressive behaviour; hyperactivity; strange posture or gait; unexplained fears or phobias.

According to Prokopčik (2012), the child is vulnerable and needs special assistance to be able to exercise one's rights. When making decisions that affect the child's life, the child's interests must be taken into account first. The interests of parents, society and the state must not be considered superior. The Declaration of the Rights of the Child (1959) states that the child has the right to education. One has the right to free education, parents and other persons responsible for one's upbringing must take care of the child's well-being. The child must be given the conditions to play and to grow and develop while playing. Society must not prevent the child from exercising this right. The Convention on the Rights of the Child (1989) also emphasizes that every child must be given equal opportunities to develop their abilities. It is noted that internal rules of the educational institution cannot violate the rights and dignity of the child. Republic of Lithuania Law on the Amendment of the Law on Equal Treatment (2020) emphasizes that equal treatment of people must be established and implemented regardless of one's gender, race, nationality, citizenship, language, origin, social status, disability, ethnicity, etc. The Lithuania's progress strategy "Lithuania 2030" (2012) indicates that the task of a solidary society is to ensure the availability of pre-school

education institutions for child care. The *Strategy* emphasizes that too little attention is paid to individual education, which is so important for the child with an autism spectrum disorder, and it could not only enable acquisition of basic knowledge, but also create conditions for providing higher abilities.

As noted by many researchers (Ališauskas et al., 2011; Ryann et al., 2012; Giedrienė, 2015; Iacono et al., 2016; Thiemann-Bourque et al., 2016; Ewing et al., 2017; Crispel et al., 2019; Braslauskienė et al., 2021), inclusive education is a universal right, but in order to implement it, it is necessary to formulate a policy aimed at providing quality education and equal opportunity services to every citizen. Educational institutions must be equipped with the necessary financial, human, educational services and technical resources. According to the authors, the following conditions are necessary for successful inclusion: a flexible education system; diversity must be valued; all obstacles must be removed (the environment, curriculum and materials must be adapted, sceptic attitudes must disappear, there should be enough equipment, socialization and communication conditions should be improved, the availability of oral and other means of communication); assistance provided to teachers; there must be team work; strong leadership in educational institutions; harmony must prevail among children; there must be collaboration between parents, professionals and volunteers.

Sufficiently abundant scientific research allows to claim that considerable attention is paid to the implementation of inclusive education of SEN children in educational institutions, but it is noticeable that the aspects of the implementation of equal opportunities for children with ASD in a pre-school education institution are not widely presented and analysed. Accordingly, the scientific problem of the following research is: what are the features of the implementation of equal opportunities for children with autism spectrum disorder in a pre-school education institution? The aim of the work is to reveal the features of the implementation of equal opportunities for children with autism spectrum disorder in a pre-school education institution. Work methods: analysis of scientific literature and documents, qualitative research (semi-structured interview), qualitative data (content) analysis.

Methodology

In order to reveal features of ensuring equal opportunities for children with ASD in a pre-school education institution, a qualitative research method was chosen. The research data were collected by applying the *semi-structured interview instrument,* when the interview questions are formulated in advance and there is a possibility to freely change their order, ask follow-up questions, thus obtaining more detailed structured data, while the interview remains informal, and takes place in the form of conversation (Bitinas et al., 2008). According to Kardelis

(2017), even though the interview method of data collection takes longer than the questionnaire survey method, it provides wider opportunities to get to know the subjects in more depth, clarify their answers, and ensure the completeness of the data. The choice of the *semi-structured interview* was determined by the flexibility, immediacy of this method and the possibility to use additional questions by taking into account the answers of the informants. It should be noted that the limitations of qualitative research are associated with the inevitable subjectivity in qualitative research (Luobikienė, 2011; Hesse-Biber et al., 2011; Bitinas, 2013). Therefore, even though the planning and conducting of the qualitative research met the requirements necessary for this type of research, the generalization of the research findings was limited by the small number of research participants. It is the data of qualitative research that are unique and specific only to the individuals who participated in a specific research.

The qualitative research was conducted in the period from December 2021 to March 2022. Criterion selection was used to select participants. There were 2 essential criteria for selecting informants: experience of an educator/educational support specialist (at least 3 years of work experience) in working with children with ASD and work in an educational institution that implements inclusive education. First of all, it was necessary to contact the administration of the institution that indicated pre-school teachers and educational support specialists, who have been working with children with ASD in the educational institution for at least 3 years. During the interview, 6 pre-school teachers (hereinafter: PT) and 5 educational support specialists (hereinafter: ESS) working in pre-school education institutions of Klaipėda city and Klaipėda district were interviewed. The questionnaire was formulated by taking into account the criteria for the selection of informants and assuming that these specific informants will communicate and express their opinions during the interview. All research participants are women. During the interview, the following topics were selected: what are the features of ensuring equal opportunities for children with ASD in a pre-school education institution; what is the organization of educational support in a pre-school education institution. The duration of the conversation with each research participant was 45 minutes. After informing the informant about the use of the recording equipment and after obtaining one's verbal consent, the conversation was recorded on a dictaphone.

Research data were collected in accordance with the aim and tasks of the research. The collected data were transcribed (rewritten) and analysed. Data analysis was carried out in the following order (Cohen et al., 2007; Kardelis, 2017; Žydžiūnaitė et al., 2017): writing down analytical notes while analysing the data, which, according to the aforementioned authors, promote analytic thinking and stimulate insight; afterwards, following this categorization was carried out (certain categories were distinguished and defined to facilitate the comparison of

the elements belonging to them). While working with the text, first the primary categories were created, then they were reviewed, refined, subcategories were distinguished, and statements illustrating them were presented. The research was conducted in accordance with the principles of research ethics: benevolence, respect for the dignity of the person, the right to receive accurate information, justice (Žydžiūnaitė et al., 2017). Taking into account the general principles of research ethics, each research participant was free to decide on the participation in the research. The subjects were also assured of the confidentiality and anonymity of the received information. After the research report was prepared, the informants were offered to familiarize with it. Informants did not submit any comments.

Research findings

Data analysis of the opinion of pre-school teachers about the features of the implementation of equal opportunities for children with autism spectrum disorder in an educational institution

An insight into the features of ensuring equal opportunities for children in a pre-school education institution was provided during the research. The informants were asked: "what difficulties did you face before admitting a child with ASD to the group, which opportunities for children are ensured and which ones are violated, it was clarified what are the opportunities and preventive means in order to ensure those equal opportunities for them". The obtained information is presented in Table 1.

Category	Subcategory	Number of statements
Difficulties	No	5
	Yes	1
Enforceable rights	Independence	4
	Freedom	4
	Right to education	3
	Child's wishes	2
	Respect and dignity	1
Violated rights	Safety	2
	Respect	2
	Freedom	2
Opportunities	Limited	4
	Ample, great	2
	Preventive means	6

Table 1. Features of ensuring equal opportunities in a pre-school education institution

The data presented in Table 1 show that the majority (5 informants) indicated that there were no difficulties with the admission of a child with ASD to the group: there were no difficulties from the management's side (...) at first, nobody mentioned the child's diagnosis (...) came to us, since nursery (...) there was nothing against (...) I think not (...) the director admits all (...). 1 informant stated that there were difficulties: the parents of some children weren't satisfied (...) the parents are afraid that their children might be harmed (...) an aggressive girl would bite, kick, scream, and parents would say that she doesn't belong here (...) there are complaints from parents (...). Scientific literature shows that the attitude of both educators and parents of other children towards a different child still remain negative, though the situation is improving. The following is also confirmed by the answers of the informants, because only 1 out of 6 informants said that it was difficult for an ASD child to get admitted the group.

The assessment of equal opportunities for children with ASD in a pre-school education institution revealed that PT take the utmost account of ensuring of the child's independence, freedom and the right to education: *efforts are made to realize all rights of the child, to ensure equal opportunities* (...) *not ignored* (...) *if* [*s*] *he wants a separate space – one has it* (...) *we allow one to do what* [*s*]*he likes, but at the same time include education* (...) *complete freedom* (...) *we're not in the old days just to stand and tell* (...) *does what* [*s*]*he wants, carries out one's favourite activities* (...) *I let one wash one's hands, make one's bed, eat independently* (...) *all rights are ensured, we strive for equal opportunities, like for other children* (...) *he like cosiness, collects his favourite toys and stays alone, in the place designated for him* (...) *we try to understand what the child wants from his position, look* (...) *if he is engaged in inappropriate activities, I direct him elsewhere in a "nice form"* (...) *I let him dress himself if he wants to* (...). It should also not be forgotten that the child has the right to respect and dignity as well as free expression (display) of one's wishes.

The informants were also asked about violations of the rights and equal opportunities of these children. PT have singled out only the rights that are sometimes violated, i.e. safety, respect and freedom: *it's impossible to look after him all day long so that the environment or facilities wouldn't cause him any danger (...) so that everyone around would respond respectfully to such children (...) it's not uncommon to hear that this child doesn't belong here (...) if you let one do what [s]he wants, [s] he'll be dragging all day(...) we ask the ergo-therapist to take one out (...) the child is excluded from the celebration (...) I don't invite one to some activities, because he eats playdough for example (...) we used "force", we often had to say: "you go", "go do it", because [s]he didn't do anything by oneself (...) sometimes we don't take one outside, because there are only two of us (...) we sometimes force one to do educational exercises, because [s]he oneself doesn't want to (...) we have to force one to learn (...) we encourage to move, even though one doesn't want to (...) can't keep*

pace with one outside, doesn't stay within the territory (...) one eats grass, eats dirt, eats tree branches (...).

It can be seen from the data presented in Table 1 that the assurance of equal opportunities for children with ASD to participate in various activities is limited: a lot of funds are needed (...) inappropriate attitude of people (...) not enough employees (...) little space (...) otherwise restricted, you can't always go out in public (...) a PT assistant is needed (...). 2 informants indicated that it is possible to ensure equal opportunities for these children, if one wishes to: the possibilities are great, as there aren't many children in the group (...) can pay enough attention (...) if the educator wishes to, then opportunities are definitely available (...).

All informants who participated in the research stated that they take preventive measures in order to ensure equal opportunities. The preventive measures of each PT are very different, but the most popular is conversation: *conversations both with children and with parents or institution employees* (...) *conversations with parents/children* (...) we celebrate Autism Day in our institution on the 2nd of April (...) we carry out the "I am Different" campaign (...) we distribute leaflets with various information to parents (...) we only talk (...) we don't allow other children to mock (...) try to explain (...) work with the parents of that child (...) situation management by the educator, getting ahead of things (...) we go to the city library, take part in all kinds of presentations there (...) we have sponsors (...). PT could apply more diverse preventive measures, develop informal activities, thus ensuring social participation of these children.

The summary of the PT responses allows to claim that it is sometimes still difficult for a child with ASD to be admitted to a group where only children with normal development are educated. The reason for this is usually the reluctance and fear of the parents of other children that their offspring will have to study together with a "different" child. The situation is often complicated by the fact that a child with ASD is aggressive/self-aggressive. Most of the time, PT try to ensure equal opportunities of the child to independence, freedom as well as education, but often they do not have these opportunities. The findings of the research reveal that pre-school education institutions lack employees in the groups, where children with ASD are educated. The analysis of the informants' answers allows to claim that equal opportunities for children with ASD in pre-school education institution are limited.

In order to ensure equal opportunities for children with ASD in pre-school education institution, it is crucial to find out what support they need to make this happen. The informants were asked: "what kind of help do they currently need, what kind of communication method do they choose when communicating with the parents of a child with ASD, and what are the opportunities for inclusive education for these children". The data are presented in Table 2.

Category	Subcategory	Number of statements
Assistance to educators	Physical	5
	Educational	5
	Financial	4
	Psychological	3
Ways of communicating with parents of a child with ASD	Individually	6
	Telephone conversations	3
	Social networks	1
Opportunities for inclusive	Limited	3
education	Ample	3
	Promotion of inclusive education	3
	Selection of special institutions/groups	3

Table 2. Organization of assistance in a pre-school education institution

According to the informants' answers, PT most need educational, physical and financial assistance: in order not to stay in the same place, but to improve in this field (...) when outside, a second person is needed, because it's very difficult when you're alone (...) I make a lot of different tools myself (...) I usually pay the expenses of seminars, conferences myself (...) one person is needed, especially during educational activities and when going outside (...) falls down, doesn't want to go to a group, or cannot "tear one off" from the swing (...) an assistant is needed (...) there is lack of seminars, because there are few of them (...) just try to catch seminars, because they just appear and immediately no more places are left (...) I would like to have more practical seminars (...).

When speaking about the importance of cooperation with parents, all informants emphasized that it is very important to communicate and cooperate with the child's parents. Informants emphasize that it would be impossible to achieve anything without parents. PT often turn to parents themselves in order to find out what parents do, how they behave in one or another situation at home. Most of the time PT prefer individual and phone conversations: we usually communicate individually (...) phone conversations (...) individually with everyone (...) we communicate face to face all the time (...) via wired connection (...) I invite them to see how the child behaves in the kindergarten (...) to activities for them to observe (...).

Research conducted by researchers has shown that educators with a positive approach help children with SEN to successfully enter educational institutions, form positive mutual relationships, educational strategies, and a suitable environment for the inclusion of these children. As claimed by Braslauskiene et al. (2021), all of the following not only reduces the child's disability at the social level, but at the same time expands one's activity area where confidence matures

not only in oneself, but also in society. Informants' answers allow to conclude that the attitude towards the inclusion of these children is not yet positive, and therefore the inclusion process is not successful. The data presented in Table 2 show that 3 informants claim that it is better for these children to attend special institutions or groups: while the teacher is busy, [s]he gets into such mischief (...) because it's too hard for the educator (...) because they are given more freedom in special institutions (...) if they don't want to sleep – they may not go to sleep (...) they would have all the conditions for education there (...) for the safety of other children (...) other children are afraid and suffer, because most attention is paid to one (...) if they don't have awareness, one will be better there (...). There are PT who believe that inclusion should be promoted: must be educated with children of normal development, because they are not sick (...) special institutions are not necessary (...) children of normal development have to understand that there are also "different" children (...) autistic children learn by examples they see (...) their inappropriate behaviour can be corrected and it will get better over time (...) if the child is stronger, then it's good - one is improving (...).

The possibilities for inclusion depend very much on the attitude of a person. According to some PT, there are all possibilities for inclusions, all that is needed is wish: everything depends on the teacher (...) in kindergarten the possibilities for inclusion are much easier than in school, because children accept more easily (...) there will always be possibilities for inclusion, all you need is wish (...) there are possibilities (...). Others are convinced that possibilities for inclusion are very limited: parents of other children are very disappointed (...) there's lack of specialists (...) children are cruel, it's very difficult for them to accept (...).

Having summarized PT answers it can be claimed that educators try to ensure equal opportunities for children with ASD, but the assurance of all opportunities for them is limited, because informants lack educational, physical and financial support.

Data analysis of the opinion of educational support specialists about the features of the implementation of equal opportunities for children with autism spectrum disorder in an educational institution

When discussing the features of ensuring equal opportunities for children, informants were asked: "were there any difficulties regarding the admission of a child with ASD to the institution? Which equal opportunities of the child are realized and which ones are violated? What are the opportunities and preventive measures to ensure those equal opportunities for them?" The data are presented in Table 3.

As can be seen from the data presented in Table 3, the child's opportunities are usually already violated when there is reluctance to admit the child to an educational institution.
Category	Subcategory	Number of statements
Difficulties	No	3
	Yes	2
Enforceable rights	Safety	5
	Right to education	4
	Right to equality	3
	Independence	3
	Receiving of help	2
Violated rights	Lack of specialists	1
	Exclusion from admission to an educational institution	1
	Bullying/ right to dignity	1
	Rejection	1
	Separation/isolation	1
	Freedom	1
Opportunities	All opportunities	3
	Limited opportunities	2
	Preventive measures	5

Table 3. Features of ensuring equal opportunities in a pre-school education institution

According to 2 informants, there were difficulties regarding the admission of the child to a pre-school education institution: the biggest problem is the lack of preparation of specialists (...) lack of competence of the group educators in teaching these children (...) lack of knowledge about the applied methods and ways (...) specialists often get scared and avoid such learners (...) the director's reluctance to admit the child in the absence of a suitable specialist in the kindergarten (...) depends very much on parents, how they accept this news, if they do not accept the situation, then they blame the institution (...). 3 informants stated that there were no difficulties: there were no (...) willingly admit (...) there were no difficulties (...). The answers of ESS revealed that the difficulties in admitting the child arise not only from the reluctance of other children's parents, as stated by PT, but also from the lack of suitable specialists or the lack of competences of existing specialists and teachers, and the fear of working with these children.

When discussing the opportunities of the child with ASD that are implemented in an educational institution, informants distinguished safety: *safety is ensured* (...) *safer, because there are fewer children* (...) *safety from dangers, negative emotions, intolerance is ensured* (...). The right to education: *the right to education, educators and a speech therapist, and a special teacher as well as a movement correction specialist work with one* (...). The right to equality: *the child is not differentiated from others* (...) *can learn together with other children who don't have SEN* (...).

Independence: if [s]he can do something by oneself, then you don't do it for one, let one do it oneself (...). Getting help: one is rendered all services provided in the kindergarten (...) we protect one from children (...) we teach children how to deal with autistic children (...) one is provided with intensive help from a speech therapist, additional attention from teachers (...).

On the basis of the informants' answers, several violations of the non-assurance of equal opportunities were mentioned. ESS distinguished the following cases: lack of specialists: not enough of specialists when working with these children (...). Non-acceptance of the child: transfer of the child to another educational institution by the decision of the director (...) only children with normal development are admitted (...). Bullying: the child experiences insults (...). Rejection: the child himself is not yet able to make contact, so he is rejected (...). Separation/isolation: if the child has some kind of a seizure, then we take him to the washroom until he calms down (...) the nursey takes one out (...). Freedom: the child's freedom is slightly restricted (...) one is not allowed to go anywhere, where he wants to (...) when outside one is taught to understand the boundaries and not run anywhere (...) the child likes to crawl under the table and be there, I don't allow that (...). Even though ESS identified only single cases when equal opportunities of the child are violated, they indicated more violations than PT did.

Informants were asked about the available opportunities in the educational institution to ensure equality for children with ASD. Only three informants emphasized that all opportunities are provided: the child learns with other children, regardless of the fact that he is diagnosed with autism, he's not singled out from other learners (...) he is treated like other children (...) social teacher takes the child out to work separately (...) I come to groups to observe (...) if the activity causes stress to the child, the teacher's assistant takes him out (...) all opportunities are provided (...) one is allowed to bring one's own food, the teacher warms it up separately if the child doesn't want to eat kindergarten food (...). 2 informants stated that opportunities are limited: there's lack of competence (...) attempts to speak to the director didn't yield any results (...) the attitude of the director (...).

However, all 5 ESS indicated that they apply preventive measures and have all the opportunities to apply them: education of employees about such children (...) the institution started a project about children with autism syndrome in order to find out as much as possible how to help them (...) education of parents of other children (...) education of those around, for them to be more tolerant (...) team work with PT, PT assistants, music teacher (...) solutions to involve the child and encourage communication with peers (...) we often have conversations with other children (...) we prepare various reports on this topic (...) we organize open table discussions for specialists and educators from our kindergarten community (...) we share best practices (...) we invite specialists from abroad (...) we participate in various projects to get financing (...). Similar to PT, all ESS apply preventive measures,

but the preventive measures of specialists are more varied and wider. PT place the greatest emphasis on conversations and explanations, while ESS pay more attention to dissemination of information about this issue, sharing experiences not only within the community circle of the pre-school education institution, but also much more widely, including even foreign specialists.

In order to ensure equal opportunities for children with ASD in the pre-school education institution, it was purposefully clarified what kind of help is needed to make the following happen. ESS were asked: "what kind of help do they personally need the most? Are there opportunities for child involvement? It was clarified whether it is important to cooperate with the child's parents, and in what ways it should be done?" Summarized answers of the informants are presented in Table 4.

Category	Subcategory	Number of statements
Assistance to a specialist	Educational	5
	Financial	4
Communication with the child's	Important	5
parents	Individual conversations	5
	E-mail	1
	Social networks (Facebook)	1
Opportunities for inclusion	Yes	3
	No	2
	Promotion of inclusion	3
	Selection of a special institution/group	2

Table 4. Organization of assistance in a pre-school education institution

On the basis of the data in Table 4, it became clear that ESS need educational assistance the most: educational, it's never too much (...) I'd like not only theoretical subjects, but also practical ones, real situations, analyses (...) additional courses, seminars, conferences (...) to go to seminars, conferences that would contain practical information on how to educate these children (...) courses for specialists (...) open table discussions (...) sharing of best practices (...). In addition, financial assistance: there's a lot of new, good tools, educational games for autistic children, but all of them are not cheap (...) lack of funds (...) to acquire more diverse educational materials (...).

According to Ruškus (2002), partnership relations between parents of a disabled child and specialists can not only help to understand each other, but also to break down the walls of psychological detachment and social self-isolation of both specialists and parents. We must understand that parents, first of all, want to be understood. The research revealed that ESS also agree with the following, because all informants emphasized that communication and cooperation with the parents of the child are extremely important: of course it's important (...) working

cohesively, continuously with these children is very important (...) it's very important to involve the parents (...)together we get to know the child faster (...) it's very important (...) we share advice (...) it's one of the most important elements of a child's education (...) communication with parents and applying the same methods at home and in an educational institution allow to achieve comprehensive education of the child (...) I can't imagine full and productive work without parents (...). Most of the times informants, similar to PT, apply individual conversations: we communicate individually, at an agreed time (...) conversations with parents (...) we always discuss how things are going and give homework (...) we get a lot of advice from parents (...) there are constant conversations (...) an individual conversation, consultation are the best (...).

Currently, a lot of attention is paid to the inclusion of children with SEN. The scientific literature claims that inclusion is important and benefits not only the child with ASD, but also those around one. ESS were asked: "if they support inclusion and what opportunities are there for it in their educational institution?" 3 informants indicated that there are opportunities: there are opportunities, but they depend on people (...) if people are ready for it, there should be no problems (...) full inclusion (...) learn together with peers with no SEN (...). 2 informants said that there are absolutely no opportunities for inclusion in their pre-school education institutions: there are specialists who are against the inclusion of these children (...) there's no wish for inclusion (...). It can be seen from the ESS statements that there are opportunities for inclusion, but they depend on the will of people. If people are in favour of the inclusion of these children, then it is not difficult to do so and the inclusion itself becomes successful, but if ESS are against the inclusion of these children, then the whole process of inclusion becomes very difficult. Therefore, ESS were asked: "what is their opinion about inclusion? Are they for or against it?"

3 informants spoke in favour of promoting inclusion: such children should no longer surprise others, they are like other children (...) there's no need to be afraid of them (...)it's better when such children are brought up with children of normal development (...) a good example, the natural behaviour of children, it's good for them (...) the child will integrate into society much faster (...) will observe the behaviour, communication of other children, it's to one's benefit (...) I don't agree that they should attend special institutions (...) it's necessary to decide according to the need, situation, because each case is different and individual (...). 2 informants claimed that children with ASD should attend special institutions: only in favour of special institutions (...) they are better off there (...) they are guaranteed better conditions there (...) it's easier for the specialist (...) they would better feel the full-day regime there (...) there are often celebrations, projects in a regular kindergarten, and autistic children are afraid to change the environment (...) specialists go into more detail there (...) they learn in an adapted institution (...). TO BE OR NOT TO BE A GREAT EDUCATOR, 2022

R. BRASLAUSKIENĖ, R. JACYNĖ. Implementation of Equal Opportunities for Children with Autism ..

Having summarized ESS answers, it can be stated that they manage to ensure more equal opportunities for the child compared to PT, because they work with the child individually, and, accordingly, have more opportunities. Though, not all equal opportunities of children with ASD are ensured, because ESS lack educational support. Moreover, some specialists are against the inclusion of these children, thus their equal opportunities cannot be fully ensured.

Discussion

The features of the implementation of equal opportunities for children with ASD in a pre-school education institution are relevant as well as a field of research with theoretical and practical significance. Jokubaitiene et al. (2019), reviewing the activities of the Lithuanian Autism Association *Lietaus vaikai* (*Rain Children*), singled out the main problems that need to be solved in Lithuania when it comes to providing support to children with ASD:

- 1) early diagnosis is not ensured;
- 2) necessary therapy is not applied, there is lack of unified medical services;
- 3) inflexible, non-inclusive education system for SEN children.

Pre-school education institutions are unable to ensure equal opportunities for children with ASD.

One of the conditions of successful inclusive education is a positive public attitude towards the education of children with SEN. Inclusive education affects many groups of people: educators, heads of the school, parents of children, children themselves and others. The results of the study conducted by Jankevičienė (2013) revealed that future teachers generally (67%) support the concept of inclusive education of children with SEN, a quarter (25%) did not have an opinion on the matter. The qualitative study carried out by the authors of the article revealed that the attitude towards the inclusion of these children is not yet completely positive, and therefore, the inclusion process is not successful. A considerable number of informants said that it is better for these children to attend special institutions or groups, while the other part of informants claimed that there are all opportunities for inclusion, all that is needed is wish. It all depends on the teacher, how one will accept the child.

Research carried out by Ibrahimagic et al. (2015) revealed that inappropriate education of children with ASD occurs due to the attitude of people, as they do not believe that positive changes in these children are possible; due to inadequate teaching that does not correspond to the latest knowledge, and due to lack of funds. The following is also confirmed by the qualitative research, when informants indicated that the negative attitude (of parents, administration) towards these children still remains. PT and ESS stated that they lack knowledge and especially practical training in working with these children, there are not enough

seminars. Moreover, both educators and ESS lack funds to ensure equal opportunities for these children in the pre-school education institution.

After carrying out the empirical study, some problems and limitations emerged. The sample size was small, 6 and 5 informants, thus the findings of the research are only intended to fulfil the purpose of this research. One of the limitations is the difficult recording of answers, because not all informants agreed to have their statements recorded on a dictaphone. The refusal was influenced by their previous negative experiences of participating in research. Another limitation is the lack of time, two informants had time for the interview only during their lunch breaks; thus, time for the interview was limited and took place in a hurry.

Recommendations for further research: in order to obtain more detailed information about the features of ensuring equal opportunities for children with ASD in a pre-school education institution, it would be appropriate to interview children's parents and the administrative staff of the pre-school education institution. An action plan for the implementation of inclusive education has been prepared on the basis of inclusive education; thus, it would be significant to select a larger and more diverse sample of informants/respondents and interview them about ensuring equal opportunities for children with ASD in pre-school education institution.

Possibilities of using research findings in practice: in Lithuania, more and more attention is being paid to the early education and ensuring equal opportunities for children with ASD, therefore the application of the obtained findings could be a preventive measure, when taking into account which opportunities of the children are most often violated and what opportunities are available in order to avoid those violations.

Conclusions

According to pre-school teachers, ensuring equal opportunities for children with ASD is limited. Educators distinguish the following features: there is no possibility to ensure that the child is 100% safe in the pre-school education institution, because they work in groups alone, with no assistants; the groups are not fully adapted to these children, thus PT are often forced to restrict the freedom and opportunities of these children; PT are not able to control the ridicule of other children and adults, to change the established negative attitude, and to ensure the respect of all those around them. However, children with ASD are provided with the following opportunities: individual education; educators produce suitable and safe educational tools for them; create a separate space in the group, where the child can feel safe and calm; actively and willingly communicate and cooperate with the child's parents, thus ensuring more effective education, involve the child in social activities (cultural activities, dances, excursions).

In the opinion of educational support specialists, features of the implementation of equal opportunities for children with ASD in the pre-school education institution are as follows: specialists work with children individually, the child receives all the necessary help (of a special educator, speech therapist, physiotherapist, psychologist); the environment, where the child is being educated, is safe and adapted, ESS apply safe and appropriate tools in the education of children; preventive measures are implemented, thus there are no difficulties regarding the child's admission to an educational institution. Nonetheless, equal opportunities of these children are limited by: lack of appropriate means; unpreparedness of ESS (lack of knowledge, competence and experience to work with these children); educational and financial support is needed.

REFERENCES

Aleksienė, V. (2016). *Apie autizmą [About the Autism]*. Muzikinės veiklos ypatumai ugdant autistiškus vaikus: gerosios praktikos vadovas [Features of musical activities in the education of autistic children: a guide to good practice]. Vilnius: Šviesa.

Ališauskas, A., Ališauskienė, S., Gerulaitis, D., Kaffemanienė, I., Melienė, R., Miltenienė L. (2011). Specialiųjų ugdymo(si) poreikių tenkinimas: Lietuvos patirtis užsienio šalių kontekste [Meeting special educational needs: Lithuanian experience in the context of foreign countries]. Šiauliai: specialiosios pedagogikos ir psichologijos centras.

Bitinas, B., Rupšienė, L., Žydžiūnaitė, V. (2008). Kokybinių tyrimų metodologija: vadovėlis vadybos ir administravimo studentams [Qualitative Research Methodology: A Textbook for Management and Administration Students]. Klaipėda: S. Jokužio leidykla-spaustuvė.

Bitinas, B. (2013). Rinktiniai ir edukologiniai raštai. Ugdymo idėjos ir problemos [Selected and educational writings. Educational ideas and problems]. I tomas. Ugdymo filosofija. Vilnius: Lietuvos edukologijos universiteto leidykla.

Braslauskienė, R., Turauskienė, E. (2021). Developing language skills in pre-school children with special educational needs in the course of inclusive education. *Regional formation and development studies*, *2*(34), 26–39. Klaipėda: KU leidykla.

Cohen, L., Manion, L., Morison, K. (2007). *Research Methods in Education*. London and New York: Routledge. https://www.unicef.org/child-rights-convention/convention-text

Crispel, O., Kasperski, R. (2019). The impact of teacher training in special education on the implementation of inclusion in mainstream classrooms. Taylor and Francis Online, 1079–1090. https://doi.org/10.1080/13603116.2019.1600590

East, V., Evans, L. (2008). Vienu žvilgsniu [At a glance]. Vilnius: Tyto alba.

Ewing, D. L., Monsen, J. J., Kielblock, S. (2017). Teachers' attitudes towards inclusive education: a critical review of published questionnaires. *Educational Psychology in Practice*, *34*(14), 1–16. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/322148580_Teachers'_attitudes_towards_inclusive_education_a_critical_review_of_published_questionnaires

Frith, U. (2003). Autism: Explaining the Enigma. 2nd Edition. Cambridge: Blackwell Publishing.

Giedrienė, R. (2015). Raidos sutrikimai ir vaiko socializacija [Developmental disorders and child socialization]. Vilnius: Lietuvos edukologijos universiteto leidykla.

Hesse-Biber, S., Nagy Leavy, P. (2011). The Practice of Qualitative Research (2nd ed.). New York: Sage.

Iacono, T., Trembath, D., Erickson, S. (2016, Sep 19). The role of augmentative and alternative communication for children with autism: current status and future trends. *Neuropsychiatric Diseases Treatment*, *12*, 2349–2361. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/27703354/

Ibrahimagic, A., Junuzovic-Zunic, L., Duranovic, M., Radic, B. (2015) Autism treatment in special schools in Bosnia and Herzegovina. https://www.researchgate.net/publica-tion/301681216_Autism_treatment_in_special_schools_in_Bosnia_and_Herzegovina

Ivoškuvienė, R., Balčiūnaitė, J. (2002). Autistiškų vaikų ugdymas [Education of autistic children]. Šiauliai: Šiaulių universiteto leidykla.

Jankevičienė, L. (2013). Specialiųjų ugdymosi poreikių turinčių vaikų integracija į bendrojo lavinimo mokyklą: būsimųjų pedagogų požiūris [Integration of children with special educational needs into the general education school: perspective of future educators]. *Jaunųjų mokslininkų darbai*, 1(39), 32–37.

Jokubaitienė, T., Ališauskas, A. (2019). Vaikų, turinčių autizmo spektro sutrikimą, ugdymosi sėkmę lemiantys veiksniai [Determinants of educational success in children with autism spectrum disorder]. *Specialusis ugdymas, 2*(40), 36–47. https://www.zurnalai.vu.lt/special-education/article/view/25454

Jungtinių Tautų organizacija. (1959). Vaiko teisių deklaracija [Declaration of the Rights of the Child]. Generalinės Asamblėjos 1959 m lapkričio 20 d. 1/86 (XIV) rezoliucija. http://elibrary.lt/resursai/NPLC/nepilnameciu_justicija/JUNGTINIU%20TAUTU%20VAIKO%20 TEISIU%20DEKLARACIJA.pdf

Kardelis, K. (2017). Mokslinių tyrimų metodologija ir metodai [Research methodology and methods]. Vilnius: Mokslo ir enciklopedijų leidybos centras.

Lesinskienė, S., Pūras, D., Kajokienė, A., Šenina, J. (2002). Autizmo sutrikimą turinčių vaikų slaugos ypatumai [Peculiarities of care for children with autism]. *Medicina, 38*(4), 412–419.

Lietuvos Respublikos Seimas. (2012). Lietuvos pažangos strategija 2030 [Lithuania's Progress Strategy 2030]. https://e-seimas.lrs.lt/portal/legalAct/lt/TAD/TAIS.412512

Lietuvos Respublikos Seimas. (2020). Lietuvos Respublikos Lygių galimybių įstatymo pakeitimo istatymas. [Law on Amendments to the Law on Equal Opportunities of the Republic of Lithuania] https://e-seimas.lrs.lt/portal/legalAct/lt/TAP/652fea40c13111ec9f0095b4d96fd400

Luobikienė, I. (2011). Sociologinių tyrimų metodika [Sociological research methodology]. Kaunas: KTU leidykla Technologija.

Mikulėnaitė, L., Ulevičiūtė, R. (2004). Ankstyvojo amžiaus vaikų autizmas [Early childhood autism]. Vilnius: Lietuvos sutrikusio intelekto žmonių globos draugija "Viltis".

Lietuvos Respublikos Vyriausybė. (2006). Neįgaliųjų teisių konvencija [Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities]. https://e-seimas.lrs.lt/portal/legalAct/lt/TAD/TAIS.335882

Notbohm, E. (2012). Kiekvienas autistiškas vaikas norėtų, kad Jūs žinotumėte dešimt dalykų [Ten things every autistic child wishes you knew]. Vilnius: Tyto alba.

Prokopčik, M. (2012). Vaikų teisės. Nuostatų įgyvendinimas [Children's rights. Implementation of regulations]. Vilnius: Vaiko teisių informacijos centras.

Robledo, S. J., Ham-Kucharski, D. (2005). *The Autism Book. Answers to your most pressing questions.* New York: The Penguin Group, Inc.

Ruškus, J. (2002). Negalės fenomenas. Monografija [The phenomenon of disability. Monograph]. Šiauliai: Šiaulių universiteto leidykla.

Ryann, T. G., Gottfried, J. (2012). Elementary Supervision and the Supervisor: Teacher Attitudes and Inclusive Education. *International Electronic Journal of Elementary Education*, *4*(3), 563–571. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/236862469_Elementary_SuperVision_and_the_Supervisor_Teacher_Attitudes_and_Inclusive_Education

Sicile-Kira, C. (2014). Autism Spectrum Disorders. The complete guide to understanding Autism, Asperger's syndrome, pervasive developmental disorder and other ASD's. New York: TarcherPerigee.

UNESCO. (1994). The Salamanca Statement and Framework for Action on Special Needs Education. http://www.csie.org.uk/inclusion/unesco-salamanca.shtml

Thiemann-Bourque, K., Brady, N., McGuff, S., Stump, K., Naylor, A. (2016). Picture Exchange Communication System and Pals: A Peer-Mediated Augmentative and Alternative Communication Intervention for Minimally Verbal Preschoolers With Autism. *Journal of Speech, Language, and Hearing Research,* No. 1. https://doi.org/10.1044/2016_JSLHR-L-15-0313

Zager, D., Cihak, D. F., Stone-MacDonald, A. (2016). *Autism spectrum disorders. Identification, Education and Treatment.* 4th edition. London: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates Publishers.

Žydžiūnaitė, V., Sabaliauskas, S. (2017). Kokybiniai tyrimai: principai ir metodai: vadovėlis socialinių mokslų studijų programų studentams. [Qualitative Research: Principles and Methods: A Textbook for Social Science Students]. Vilnius: Vaga.

Гилберг, К., Питерс, Т. (2013). Аутизм. Медицинское и педагогическое воздействие [Autism. Medical and pedagogical impact]. Москва: Владос.

https://doi.org/10.22364/atee.2022.54

Inclusive Pre-School Education in Latvia: Problems and Solutions

Agrita Tauriņa and Tija Zīriņa

University of Latvia, Latvia agrita.taurina@lu.lv; tija.zirina@lu.lv

ABSTRACT

Cabinet Regulations No. 556 of November 19, 2019 titled 'On Education Development Guidelines 2021-2027' state the importance of targeted support measures for ensuring inclusive education in Latvian educational institutions. However, the evidence in pre-schools indicates an insufficient understanding and interest in using these support measures to find solutions to the challenges of inclusive education. This empirical study investigates the problems in carrying out evaluations of children with special needs, establishing an individual plan and receiving support measures, and it also explores pedagogical solutions to these problems. Thanks to the European Social Fund (ESF) Project No. 9.2.1.3/16/I/001 'Improving the support system for children with communication difficulties, behavioural disorders and domestic violence', teachers are now able to receive qualified specialist support on how to cooperate with parents or legal guardians and how to organise the pedagogical process. The aim of this research is to assess teachers' awareness of what is stipulated in regulatory enactments for ensuring inclusive education, the challenges to inclusive education and the available solutions. Literature analysis, teachers' surveys, an analysis of student behaviour in pre-schools and pedagogical documentation are used. The research results reflect the level of awareness among teachers of the education guidelines, the content of regulatory enactments and the willingness of teachers to accept diversity, seek support measures and cooperate with parents or legal guardians to ensure an education that is appropriate to each child's abilities.

Keywords: inclusive education, individual plan, pre-school age child, special needs, support measures

Introduction

The first paragraph of Section 53 of the General Education Law in Latvia states that students with special needs may be enrolled in general education programmes. Requirements of general education institutions admitting students with special needs in their general education programmes are specified by the Cabinet of Ministers (Vispārējās izglītības likums, 1999). Paragraph 7 of Cabinet Regulations No. 556, adopted on 19 November 2019, 'Requirements for General Education Institutions to Admit Students with Special Needs in their Educational Programs' specifies that the head of the education institution must approve the procedures for determining the needs of students with special needs as well as developing and implementing the plan. They must also specify the tasks and responsibilities of each person involved in the plan and identify the pedagogue responsible for overseeing the process of implementation (Prasības vispārējās izglītības iestādēm, lai to īstenotajās izglītības programmās uzņemtu izglītojamos ar speciālām vajadzībām, 2019).

Since 1 September 2020, when these provisions came into force, each general education institution has been required to have internal regulations, which specify the activities of the institution, prepared to show compliance with the Cabinet Regulations. However, two academic years is a short period for all general education employees to gain sufficient experience in implementing inclusive education. Solidary with parents and the local community is required for inclusive education to be a success. By implementing inclusive education, general education institutions, including pre-schools, are now admitting students who previously attended special education institutions or special education classes. Some of these students have behavioural issues and support for school employees is required. To provide this support as well as offer help to the legal guardians of these children, the European Social Fund (ESF) project No. 9.2.1.3/16/I/001 'Support systems development for children with communication difficulties, behavioural disorders and domestic violence' has been launched to host various events that offer professional advice from specialists. This project is implemented by the State Inspectorate for Protection of Children's Rights and includes a support team of various specialists.

Literature Review

As Dukes and Smith (2006) have emphasised, 'society is becoming more diverse and our Pre-school settings are beginning to reflect this' (p. 1). Pre-school settings in Latvia reflect a large diversity of children with different developmental needs and it is necessary to find support measures for teachers to enable them to cope with the variety of difficulties they face in their professional life (Šūmane et al., 2019). The results of previous research indicate a need to provide as broad access as possible to pedagogical professional development programmes in special

(inclusive) education to strengthen the professional competence of pedagogues. According to Paseka and Schwab (2019), teachers in inclusive settings 'have to reflect [on] their teaching practice and the constraints they usually experience by using parents as critical friends to get an external perspective on their endeavours to meet the needs of their students' (p. 269). The parents' role is critical to the success of any educational efforts and it is one of the main considerations in the implementation of successful inclusion of young children with special needs. Parents who are involved in pre-school activities and familiar with the daily routine of the institution are a boon to inclusive education because their participation promotes belonging (Karlsudd, 2022).

According to Black-Hawkins (2017), inclusive education is creating a shift in the way teachers think about education. Her findings are important for research on the implementation of inclusive education in pre-school settings because they suggest a reversal in the usual approach that has been taken. As she writes, inclusive education implies a move 'away from a traditional, or individualised, approach to learner diversity that starts by making provision for most learners, and then offers something additional or different for some learners identified as having particular needs' (Black-Hawkins, 2017, p.13). To make this move, mutual interactions with other teachers and their assistants is required. The assistant's role is particularly important in providing support for children with special needs and emphasized by Finland's approach to inclusive education (Mäensivu et al., 2012). In Latvia, the inclusion of children with different special educational needs is a problem as pre-schools lack sufficient staff members and teachers do not always receive the necessary support they need to deal with issues that arise in the group.

Methodology

The aim of this study is to investigate the problems in implementing inclusive education in Latvia at the pre-school level and to find solutions to these problems. Ultimately, the goal is to assist teachers in carrying out an evaluation of children's special needs, establishing an individual plan and receiving support measures. The research tasks are as follows:

- 1. To explore the main difficulties of including children with special needs in a general education programme and explore mitigation possibilities.
- To survey pre-school education pedagogues regarding their experience in implementing inclusive education and support measures and to explore parents' understanding of their child's interactions and interests to gain information about the special needs of the child.
- 3. To analyse the support measures for inclusive education and the recommendations provided.

The cooperation of the preschool education institution of Riga municipality was sought to obtain research data. This institution was selected since it has a typical distribution of employee position units. Compared to other municipal institutions, the number of employees and parents of children in the selected preschool educational institution is among the largest, allowing for broad insight into the specific problems this research investigates. In this preschool educational institution, a general education curriculum is implemented. All children enrolled in the institution participate in this program, including those with special needs. To gain insight into the current situation regarding the inclusion of children with special needs in a general educational institution, teachers of the specific institution and parents whose children attend this institution were invited to participate in the survey. Educators were offered a questionnaire in paper format with openended and closed-ended questions, whereas parents were given the questionnaire in electronic format. Individual semi-structured interviews were carried out in a separate room at a previously agreed upon a meeting time. In total, 35 preschool teachers, 113 parents of children and 6 parents of children with special needs completed questionnaires and participated in individual interviews.

This study also interviewed experts on the problems and solutions of inclusive education. The cooperation of the preschool education institution with inclusive education experts was ensured under the European Social Fund (ESF) project. Experts from the project included a psychologist, family psychotherapist, social worker and special pedagogue.

Results

Understanding the feasibility of inclusive education and the developmental possibilities of children with special needs is of crucial importance in many countries. As Terzi (2010) has indicated, the question of what constitutes a fair provision for students with special needs is extremely controversial in almost all developed countries. Cabinet Regulations No. 453 'Methodology for Evaluating the Special Needs of Students in Pre-school Education Institutions' (Izglītojamo speciālo vajadzību izvērtēšanas metodika pirmsskolas izglītības iestādēs, 2021), adopted on 29 June 2021, specifies the methodology for evaluating the special needs of students in pre-school education institutions. Although this methodology came into force on 1 September 2021, 37% of the pedagogues included in this survey indicated that they were only partially informed about the evaluation of special needs and the necessity to implement inclusive education. These results indicate that the institution needs to establish a support team that would explain the purpose of inclusive education, which is to ensure an opportunity for every child to obtain a quality education. The need for this team is consistent with the data on the qualifications of teachers in the preschool educational institution.

Many teachers in this study mentioned that they have no education in this area. Only 3 out of 35 teachers had training in special education or speech therapy (either at a bachelor's or master's level), and only 1 out of 35 teachers had completed a 72-hour training course in special education. When answering the question 'how often do you receive information about your child's academic achievements', 46% of parents stated that they receive information at least once a week, 32% 1–3 times a month, 12% 1–5 times every six months and 9% once year.

The task of the head of the institution is to ensure educational activities for employees and parents regarding the implementation of inclusive education and to make joint decisions on further actions. One solution is to receive precise, professional information, which entails participation in the ESF project. For this research, it was important to understand the opinion of teachers on how they evaluate the opportunity to receive support from specialists in inclusive education. Thus, we asked teachers the following question: 'Do you agree with the statement that by participating in project work, it is possible to receive expert advice and a program of support measures? Figure 1 below shows their responses.



Figure 1. Do you Agree That Expert Advice and Support Measures are Obtainable by Participating in Project Work?

Results of the survey showed that that the vast majority teachers were in agreement or partial agreement with the statement that participating in the project brought them benefits. During the interviews, however, we found that teachers did not so much wish to receive advice or information regarding possible support measures from the project specialists as they wanted an assistant for a child with special needs. It is possible that the perceived need for an assistant was the reason that 6 teachers disagreed or expressed more disagreement than agreement with the statement.

The cooperation of the parents is vital to the implementation of inclusive education, and for this reason it is the task of institutions' employees to provide information, offer advice and observe confidentiality with respect to all information given and acquired. This study asked teachers about their interactions with the parents or legal guardians of students and their ability to communicate to them the importance of inclusive education. Figure 2 below shows their responses to the question 'Have you been successful in communicating to all the parents of the group the importance of inclusive education and the need for their children to gain relationship experience?'



Figure 2. Have You Been Successful in Communicating the Importance of Inclusive Education to Parents?

As Figure shows, 17 teachers had sufficiently good communication with parents and almost the same number of respondents (16 teachers) had some communication. Only 2 respondents acknowledged that they had insufficient interactions with parents and had not yet been able to communicate to them the importance of inclusive education.

Analysing the documentation of the specific pre-school education institution, we found that when assembling groups of students, it is preferable to include no more than one or two students with special needs to ensure an individualised approach. An important task of pedagogues is to observe children. Observations are especially important when implementing inclusive education. In their discussions with experts, teachers comment on the results of observations and aim to determine the best solutions. Typically, most difficulties in creating educational groups arise with the inclusion of newly accepted children. Although the legal guardians of all newly accepted children are asked to provide as much information as possible about their child, the information may not be adequate for educational purposes. This study carried out a survey of 113 students' parents/ legal guardians and found that the information they provided was more useful

for developing strategies to mitigate adaptation or behavioural problems than for understanding the special needs of the child, which were quite often undiagnosed.

Taking into account that the development of individual plans for a child with special needs has been implemented only since 1 September 2021, we asked teachers whether they agree with the statement that the development of these plans is the primary pedagogical challenge. The results are shown in Figure 3.



Figure 3. Do You Agree That the Development of Plans is the Primary Pedagogical Challenge?

According to the responses, the majority of teachers agreed or mostly agreed that the development of plans was the primary pedagogical challenge, and only 1 teacher completely disagreed with this statement. We conclude that knowledge obtained through courses, expert advice, or project participation may be helpful in solving this problem.

An individual plan is to be jointly evaluated by the student, student's parents/ legal guardians and pedagogues involved in the implementation of the plan not less than twice during the academic year, and written minutes are to be kept. However, it does not appear that these procedures are always followed. Results from the survey showed that in most cases, these discussions take place infrequently or not at all, and only one teacher indicated that they take place regularly (see Figure 4). Thus, slightly less than one third of pedagogues carry out discussions with parents/legal guardians regarding the development of an individual plan for their child. The COVID-19 restriction measures might possibly explain these findings. During the period of lockdown, parents were not permitted to be present on the school premises; thus discussions could only take place outside the school, which was inconvenient for both parties. The use of technologies in the provision of information may have also been a contributing factor. The 'e-klase' communication method is currently being used, but in previous years it was not used. Instead, other technological communication methods were implemented

that did not have the convenience of the e-klase method. Unfortunately, not all pedagogues have good digital skills; therefore, the development of courses in pedagogy and technical skills are currently underway for upcoming years.



Figure 4. How Often Do You Recommend Parents Practices to be Implemented?

Within the scope of the ESF project, specialists from the State Inspectorate for Protection of Children's Rights in cooperation with the pre-school stressed that the peer environment of the group has an impact on the outcomes of inclusive education; therefore, during consultations with group staff, information was provided not only about the behaviour, interests and skills of a child with special needs, but also about other children in the group. To reflect the importance of the group setting, we asked teachers about relationships between children . The question was whether the children in their classroom willingly participated and cooperated in daily activities together with children who have communication difficulties. The results are shown in Figure 5 below.



Figure 5. Do the Children in Your Classroom Willingly Participate in Daily Activities Together With Children Who Have Communication Difficulties?

Obtained results demonstrate that 13 teachers have a successful experience with children in groups, whereas 14 indicated that improvement is needed and 8 acknowledged many difficulties in this regard. In individual semi-structed interviews with teachers, we found that teachers support the implementation of inclusive education and made efforts to facilitate it.

Discussion

In most developed countries, special education has been 'extended in scope' and is now 'the concern of all schools, teachers and professionals working with children rather than the separate domain of a limited number of specialists' (Jones, 2004, p. 6). This is also the case in Latvian pre-schools, where team-work is encouraged in the implementation of inclusive education. For this reason, it is essential for pre-school teachers to have a support system in place that includes experts involved in the ESF project.

To facilitate one-on-one discussions with parents/legal guardians of the 6 students with special needs in this study, we analysed the ESF project recommendations in Regulation No. 9.2.1.3/16/I/001 'Support systems development for children with communication difficulties, behavioural disorders and domestic violence'. These recommendations have been formulated by experts who include a psychologist, family psychotherapist, social worker, and special pedagogue. They are summarised below:

- Continue to provide necessary support for children in accordance with their individual needs and the competencies of the institution's specialists.
- Expand the support team and organise support team meetings to identify current problem situations, put forward goals and tasks, determine responsible persons for individual situations, establish individual education/ behaviour support plans, plan meetings with parents and support institutions (for example, social services), and present the current difficulties and progress of the child's development.
- During work with children, implement realistic tasks that can be measured within a particular time frame. Develop these tasks together with their parents and specialists.
- Continue to perform pedagogical observations and use them to carry out evaluations of the special needs of students.
- In work with groups, use social and emotional learning to help children in the group understand their emotions as well as those of others.
- Continue educational training (and educate children's parents and colleagues) on how to solve difficulties with children, including how to correct undesirable behaviour.

- Promote self-guided learning, which is an important skill for children to develop to be able to maximise their abilities. Self-guided learning reveals areas of difficulty and interest, and at the same time helps the child learn to plan and organise their activities.
- Continue working with parents/legal guardians, encouraging and motivating them to seek additional support at the educational facility and elsewhere.

Clarifying comments by experts on these recommendations were provided for teachers the implementation of these tasks. For example, when suggesting that parents visit a specialist with their child, it is important to explain the justification and aim of the recommendation. The recommendation to make an appointment with a psychologist, for example, might be given in relation to specific observational signs of neurodevelopmental disorder or other difficulties. Equally important is being able to answer parents' questions about the nature of the particular specialist's work, for example, whether the specialist is a pedagogue, speech therapist, psychologist or other professional.

More detailed explanations by experts were also provided for teachers. Example, during a remote consultation it was stated that there are students in the group whose skills, abilities and knowledge are not commensurate with those of other children in the same age group. An earlier diagnosis and provision of targeted support might have been utilised to enhance the skill development of these students. We conclude that the pedagogue's observations and early cooperation with parents, administration and support staff specialists are vital in providing special needs children with the necessary support.

Dukes and Smith (2007) highlight the importance of communication with parents in the educational process:

The more you get to know a parent the more you are able to understand the things they may say or do and vice versa. Many misunderstandings can be avoided by taking a little time to think about and appreciate a parent's perspective'. (p. 62)

The willingness of pedagogues to understand the situation and perspective of parents can be very helpful in communicating with them for the purpose of obtaining support for children in inclusive education. Research shows that cooperation between professionals and parents is crucial for children with special needs (Roffey, 2005). However, finding the best way to obtain this cooperation can be challenging, as Baldock (2011) writes: 'As a society we remain fundamentally uncertain where to draw the boundaries and lines of connection between the family, the community and the state when it comes to the welfare of young children' (p. 133).

The implementers of ESF project, the Advisory Unit of the State Inspectorate for Protection of Children's Rights, explains that the programme is developed based on information provided by the education institution. It includes a support programme with an implementation plan and detailed recommendations for each party. The 'Implementation plan of the support programme' includes tasks that require implementation within the next 3 months. In case of any questions or uncertainties, it is recommended that persons contact the Advisory Unit specialists. 'Recommendations for the implementation of the support programme' are included in an attachment to the support programme and intended to be implemented after the programme has commenced.

The ESF project approach to pre-school education appears to be very useful in reaching the goals of inclusive education. As Beneke et al. (2018) writes, different educational projects are helpful in achieving 'the goal of engaging each and every child' because they allow teachers to choose a topic of 'high interest to their particular group of students and they facilitate an in-depth study of the topic through firsthand investigation and research' (p. 13). In order to evaluate the usefulness of the recommendations provided by the ESF project, specialists of the Advisory Unit carry out an electronic survey for support providers within 6 months after the development of the support programme to obtain information about the results of cooperation with experts and parents of children in the programme.

Conclusions

This study investigated the level of implementation and perceived effectiveness among Latvian preschool teachers of recommendations provided by the ESF Project No. 9.2.1.3/16/I/001 'Improving the support system for children with communication difficulties, behavioural disorders and domestic violence'. Empirical data based on questionnaires and interviews were obtained from 35 teachers in the preschool education institution of Riga municipality as well as 113 parents of children and 6 parents of children with special needs. The following conclusions can be drawn:

- In Latvia, a gradual transition to inclusive education whereby children with special needs are being admitted into general education programmes is being implemented in accordance with the documents of education policy and regulations of education institutions, as well as the wishes of parents of children with special needs.
- Although pre-school educators are informed about the documents of education policy and the content of institutional regulations, they lack of knowledge, support measures and accumulated work experience to implement these requirements.

- 3. The Advisory Unit of the State Inspectorate for Protection of Children's Rights provides the institution participating in the project with support measures for the implementation of inclusive education, specific recommendations and an opportunity to receive answers to problematic questions related to daily pedagogical work.
- 4. Results of an empirical study indicate that less than one third of pedagogues communicate with the parents/legal guardians of the child regarding the development of an individual plan. This situation needs to improve. Provision of support measures also needs improvement. Difficulties often arise due to insufficient understanding and support from parents of other students, making it necessary to be proactive in gaining civic support for inclusive education from individuals within the community.

REFERENCES

Baldock, P. (2011). Developing early childhood services. McGraw-Hill Education.

Beneke, S., Ostrosky, M. M., & Katz, L.G. (2018). The project approach for all learners. Brookes Publishing.

Black-Hawkins, K. (2017). Understanding inclusive pedagogy. In V. Plows & B. Whitburn, (Eds.), *Inclusive education: Making sense of everyday practice* (pp. 13–28). Sense Publishers. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-6300-866-2_2

Dukes, C. & Smith, M. (2006). A practical guide to pre-school inclusion. SAGE Publications, Limited.

Dukes, C. & Smith, M. (2007). Working with parents of children with special educational needs. SAGE Publications, Limited.

Izglītojamo speciālo vajadzību izvērtēšanas metodika pirmsskolas izglītības iestādēs [Methodology for evaluating the special needs of students in pre-school educational institutions]. (2021). https://likumi.lv/ta/id/324383-izglitojamo-specialo-vajadzibu-izvertesanas-metodika-pirmsskolas-izglitibas-iestades

Jones, C. (2004). Supporting inclusion in the early years. McGraw-Hill Education.

Karlsudd, P. (2019). Swedish parents' perspectives of belonging in early years education. *Frontiers in Education*, *7*, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.3389/feduc.2022.930909

Mäensivu, K., Uusiautti, S. & Määttä, K. (2012). Special needs assistants – The special characteristic and strength of the school system of Finland. *European Journal of Educational Research*, 1(1), 23–36.

Paseka, A. & Schwab, S. (2019). Parents' attitudes towards inclusive education and their perceptions of inclusive teaching practices and resources. *European Journal of Special Needs Education*, 35(2), 254–272. https://doi.org/10.1080/08856257.2019.1665232

Prasības vispārējās izglītības iestādēm, lai to īstenotajās izglītības programmās uzņemtu izglītojamos ar speciālām vajadzībām [Requirements for general education institutions to enrol students with special needs in educational programs]. (2019). https://likumi.lv/ta/ id/310939-prasibas-visparejas-izglītības-iestadem-lai-to-istenotajas-izglītības-programmasuznemtu-izglītojamos-ar-specialam-vajadzībam

Roffey, S. (2005). Helping with behaviour. Taylor & Francis Group.

Šūmane, I., Martinsone., B., Nīmante, D., Raščevska, M., Umbraško, S. (2019). Support team for children with special needs in Latvian schools. *Innovations, Technologies and Research in Education*, 454–463. https://doi.org//10.22364/atee.2019.itre.32

Terzi, L. (2010). Justice and equality in education: A capability perspective on disability and special educational needs. Bloomsbury Publishing Plc. ProQuest Ebook Central. http://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/lulv/detail.action?docID = 743205.

Vispārējās izglītības likums [General Education Law], c. 53, s. 1. (1999). https://likumi.lv/ta/id/20243#p53

About the authors

Agrita Tauriņa, Dr. paed., is a docent in the Department of Pre-school and Elementary School Education, Faculty of Pedagogy, Psychology and Arts at the University of Latvia. Her research interests are in early child development and language acquisition, the facilitation of dialogue speech and inclusive education. She is an active researcher in projects about children's early development and pre-school institution management.

Tija Zīriņa, Dr. psych., is a professor in the Department of Pre-school and Elementary School Education, Faculty of Pedagogy, Psychology and Arts at the University of Latvia. Much of her work has been done in training students and teachers in developmental psychology and educational psychology. She has also initiated and coordinated international scientific projects in pre-school education. She has been involved in international project activities (EEA and Norway Grants, ERASMUS) for more than 10 years and has developed skills of working in a multicultural research environment.

https://doi.org/10.22364/atee.2022.55

Multisensory Approach in Speech Therapy for Preschool Children

Sarmite Tubele

University of Latvia, Latvia sarmite.tubele@lu.lv

ABSTRACT

The paper is devoted to topical issue – multisensory approach in speech therapy. The aim of the paper is to substantiate the neccessity of multisensory approach in speech therapy sessions for pre-schoolers. The number of children with speech and language disorders is increasing every year and help is needed to alleviate the disorders. Children with developmental language disorder (DLD) have to work hard to overcome developmental difficulties. They have common features because of language problems, nevertheless they are so different in their learning styles, individual and personal characteristics, and the severity of their speech and language disorder.

Speech therapist has to be creative and find the way to each child alongside the strict methodology, and promote their development.

Multisensory approach in the essence is the use of all senses in the learning process and intervention. Speech therapists know how important it is to attach the attention and keep interest of a child to achieve the best results. Some senses are more accustomed in daily use; others are used only in special cases. The development in pre-school age is the basis for the future life, wellbeing and success. Therefore the fundamental must be strong, confident and reliable.

Used methods: literature review based on specific key words in Google Scholar, questionnaire for speech therapists and statistical analysis of the obtained results.

Main results specify frequently used senses (vision, hearing, touch) and more rarely used senses (smell and taste). Nevertheless the results of speech therapy intervention suggests more frequent use of all the senses. One of the conclusions is related to the need in the education of future speech therapists to pay more attention to the use of a multisensory approach in daily sessions for children with speech and language disorders.

Keywords: developmental language disorder, intervention, multisensory approach, preschool children, speech therapy

Introduction

The study was conducted to develop theoretical principles on the use of a multisensory approach in speech therapy sessions for preschool children with developmental language disorder. An initial empirical study was also conducted, the results of which are described in the results section.

Developmental Language Disorder (DLD) is a comparatively new term in speech therapy, created in 2017 instead of the previous term Specific Language Impairment (SLI). This was done in order to use common terminology and clearly show the essence that these are children with primary speech and language disorders in the developmental process (Bishop et al., 2017). It also makes it easier for researchers to understand the signs of the disorder, and several studies have been devoted to this very concept. Latvia has also been involved in them and contributed by comparing different approaches in Europe (Tubele & Daniela, 2019). An accurate explanation of the disorder also provides for common principles in the choice of intervention, correcting the pronunciation of sounds in preschool children, developing phonematic perception, clarifying and enriching the vocabulary, as well as improving communication skills. It envisages the use of various methods, including a multisensory approach in speech therapy.

The simultaneous stimulation of two or more of the sensory receptors is considered a multisensory approach (Neumann et al., 2012). Early childhood educators emphasize that young children learn through all their senses. This is how they get to know the world, learn the language and prepare for the learning process (Jeyabalan et al., 2017; Maxheimer, 2013; Neumann et al., 2012; Wilkinson et al., 2022). Sensory stimuli enter the child's brain and this strengthens neural pathways, which will be important for any type of learning. Research on multisensory integration and child neurodevelopment is essential here (Dionne-Dostic et al., 2015). It is believed that the child's neurodevelopment is fragile, vulnerable and at the same time has great opportunities for development. Neuropsychological and neuroimaging studies show that multisensory interactions are widespread in the cortex. In a child's everyday life, there are countless multisensory experiences deriving from a combination of information acquired through several sensory modalities (Dionne-Dostic et al., 2015). This multisensory information is processed and integrated in the child's brain, providing an appropriate and complete picture of what is perceived. Here, the idea that early intervention involving as many senses as possible is essential and necessary is emphasized once again (Dionne-Dostic et al., 2015; Kucirkova & Kamola, 2022; Mason, Goldstein & Schwade, 2019; Neumann et al., 2012). Some articles emphasize the use of a multisensory approach for preschool children and the promotion of phonemic perception skills (Jeyabalan et al., 2017). Despite the study being conducted in Malaysia, the insights and data obtained are also relevant in the context of this study.

The multisensory approach is considered in many different contexts, but there are also several common features. In teaching hard-of-hearing and deaf children, the main focus is on the fact that sign language is used in these children's families, that significantly affects language competence. The use of a multisensory approach significantly reduces delayed language skills, hard-of-hearing and deaf children bevefit from this approach (Hettiarachchi, Ranaweera & Disanayake, 2021). Saratikjan talks about shy children and children with autism spectrum disorders. In order to more accurately diagnose communication skills and ensure an effective intervention process, it is necessary to use a multisensory approach (Saratikyan, 2021). Rompas and Recard recommend creating an intervention that uses different strategies that enable language comprehension. Thus, multisensory activities stimulate the child's involvement in the process of language acquisition (Rompas & Recard, 2021). There are also studies on the effects of multisensory environments on children with autism spectrum disorders (Unwin et al., 2022). These rooms prepare children with autistic spectrum disorders for the learning process by increasing attention, reducing repetitive motor behavior, anxiety. There is a study specifically on the implementation of a multisensory approach in improving articulation and the use of various methods and their combinations. It is emphasized that besides traditional phonemic perception and articulation exercises, Tactile-kinesthetic techniques, Moto-kinesthetic speech training, Hand signal system, Cued speech, Visual phonics and others are also used (Maxheimer, 2013). The author mentioned Sound Strategies for Sound production which is a multisensory approach based on current phonological and motor training practices where auditory sequencing skills are developed. This method in multisensory approach includes also use of a written singal, that means - visual component is included. Multisensory stimulation is important because it is used to teach pronunciation of sounds. Auditory discrimination, visual recognition, cognitive understanding and kinesthetic awareness are developed (Maxheimer, 2013). If we are talking about where the vocabulary is enriched and with other areas of activity in speech therapy, then the involvement of all senses is essential.

Several authors believe that multisensory learning should be viewed much more broadly than just using the five senses. There are studies that confirm that as many as 22 senses are known (Kucirkova & Kamola, 2022). Multisensory learning can be used in the process of learning mathematics (Cuturi et al., 2021), in learning English (Hettiarachchi, Walisundara & Ranaweera, 2020). A study on the use of a multisensory approach in learning English includes audio, visual, tactile and physical movement input (Rompas & Recard, 2021). In the course of research, authors came to the conclusion that using not only vision but also other sensory modalities, the result is better and more durable. Multi-sensory interaction has given good results proving the effectiveness of the multi-sensory approach. The importance of developing multisensory experiences is to

move beyond the visual. Nevertheless it is challenging for teachers, requiring more effort and also knowledge. It is incomparably more difficult for children with pre-existing disorders to acquire language and speech, especially if the surrounding environment is noisy. If children have various sensory processing disorders, then the main principle is to think about incoming sensory inputs to make sure that they are functioning accordingly (Foxe et al., 2020). For a long time it was believed that children with sensory processing deficits should only stimulate one sense in order not to overload the system. However, recent studies (Foxe et al., 2020) show that this is not the case and that using a combined audiovisual stimulus, language acquisition is more successful. Gascoyne also talk about vulnerable children who have behavioral and emotional disorders. They are offered various materials in the form of toys to use all their senses as much as possible. Gascoyne emphasizes that sensory stimulation is the most important way children can learn about themselves and the world around them. Using multisensory tools for engaging children in learning will benefit and enrich children's ability to mastery in mainstream education (Gascoyne, 2017). It will help also in acquiring language and early literacy. In relation to literacy and language skills active learning through multisensory experience is more effective. They also emphasize that at an early age hearing and vision interact during the speech perception (Neumann et al., 2012). A multisensory approach may be used during speech therapy sessions when children explore letters, objects through multisensory activities. Multisensory methods could be used also in the home settings, then parents should be involved in the work. Interesting experience is presented about sensory food education programme "Flavour School", where there are opportunities to get to know fruits and vegetables, learn their names not only by looking, but also by smelling and tasting (Wilkinson et al., 2022). In speech therapy, it can be successfully used to enrich the vocabulary.

The process of teaching and learning of preschool children is traditionally carried out through sight and hearing. When learning a language, children should feel comfortable and happy to be part of the process when learning letters. Learning based on basic neurodevelopmental knowledge would require multisensory approach. Multisensory approach to learning is the continual use of the five senses, including the use of body movement to teach abstract concepts making them concrete and accessible for memory usage and transference (Wrighton, 2010). Using several modalities at one time to strengthen neural pathways.

Methodology

The theoretical method used was literature review. There was only one relevant article in the Scopus database that was included in this literature review. It was dated 2022, and it corresponded to the chosen keywords. The research

profile in the Web-of-Science database did not match the selected one, so other articles were analyzed using the Google Scholar website. The Google Scholar website was searched by key words: multisensory approach, preschool children, speech therapy sessions also limiting the research years (2021-2022). There were only a couple of specifically relevant articles, so the search was slightly expanded by excluding speech therapy sessions or by changing preschool age to school age.

The empirical part used a survey for speech therapists. The sample of respondents is random, nevertheless all of them are speech therapists. The questionnaire was posted on the Facebook profile of speech therapists' followers and an Idea exchange point for speech therapists. The questionnaire was anonymous and answers were recorded in a google form. There were a total of 161 responses.

Results

Theoretical findings are related to clarify the understanding of the multisensory approach and the possibilities of its use for preschool children with speech and language disorders in speech therapy sessions. By clarifying the obtained information, theoretical knowledge about several aspects was obtained.

Empirical part was carried out using survey for speech therapists. The study was conducted to find out how Latvian speech therapists understand and use the multisensory approach in daily speech therapy sessions with preschool children. There were eight questions to find out general trends in the use of multisensory approach in Latvia. The first question is related to the length of professional activity in speech therapy. Up to one year is 13% respondents; one to five years -1.1%; five to ten years -44.7%; ten to twenty years -26.7%; more than 20 years – 15.5%. This means that there are numerically fewer speech therapists who have been working for one to five years but mostly those whose work experience is between five and ten years. There are also many specialists (15.5%) who are working in the profession for more than twenty years. The second question was asked in order to roughly understand whether speech therapists know what a multisensory approach is. Just over half (51.6%) say they know what a multisensory approach is; surprisingly, 41% of respondents admit that they know only approximately and 7.4% believe that they have no knowledge, which is a multisensory approach.

The next question was about the use of all senses in speech therapy classes where there was an opportunity to choose several options (see Figure 1).

It is clear that almost all speech therapists use vision, hearing and touch nevertheless there are slight differences. 160 or 99.38% of respondents use vision; 159 or 98,76% use hearing, and 156 or 96.89% of respondents use touch. This happens because speech therapy classes include exercises and tasks that not only develop visual and auditory perception.





Figure 1. Using different senses in speech therapy classes

Fine motor skills are exercised, which contributes to the development of speech, so the involvement of touch is logical and significant. 48 or 29.81% of respondents use taste, it is almost one third of respondents. More than half of the respondents, 64 or 39.75%, use smell in their lessons. In future research, it would be interesting to find out exactly how this happens and what skills are promoted in this way.

More detailed questions were asked about the frequency of use of all senses. So, for example, about vision and hearing, the respondents answered with only two options – in every lesson or very often. Sight is involved in every lesson in 88.8% and very often in 11.2%. Hearing is involved in every lesson in 91.3% and very often in 8.7%. Basically, speech therapy lessons involve both vision and hearing, perhaps some respondents thought that they should be responsible for specially prepared tasks or exercises.

The answers about the use of touch are slightly different: in each lesson it is used in 45.3% of cases, very often exactly as many 45.3% of cases, but there are also answers that touch is used rarely - 8.1% of respondents. 1.3% of respondents believe that touch is used very rarely.

Interesting answers are about the use of taste. There are several answer options here (see Figure 2). When it comes to taste, only 0.3% of respondents admit that they use it in exercises and tasks in every lesson. There is also a comment in 0.3% of cases that it depends on the parents. This is related to various allergies, eating habits and the availability of products, including the need to use them. The number of respondents who use taste often is relatively small – 7.5%. An approximately similar number of respondents use taste rarely (28.2%); very rarely (32.3%) or never (30.5%). There are opportunities for the use of several senses in speech therapy classes.



Figure 2. Taste is used

The same options were available for answers about the use of smell (see Figure 3).





Smell is used in even fewer cases, only 0.1% use smell in every lesson, it would be interesting to hear comments about it. However, there are respondents who believe that smell is used more often (12.4% of cases) than taste (7.5%). On the other hand, respondents who admit that smell is never used (18.9%) are fewer than those who do not use taste (30.4%). More than a third of respondents express the opinion that smell is used rarely (33.5%) and very rarely (36.0%). This means that both smell and taste are senses whose use in speech therapy classes has the potential to give good results in the intervention process.

Conclusions

Based on the theoretical findings, ir can be concluded that preschool children learn using all their senses and the earlier intervention is started, the better the results.

Sensory interaction promotes neurodevelopment and is a huge opportunity for the development of the child in general.

The multisensory approach can be used for children with various disabilities and in the learning of various fields, it can be especially successfully used in speech therapy both in teaching the pronunciation of sounds and in learning vocabulary.

Since about half of the respondents know only approximately what the multisensory approach is or do not understand it at all, it is necessary to improve the education of future speech therapists by paying more attention to examples of good practice in the use of the multisensory approach.

Coming out of the empirical study the survey results showed that the abilities of using some senses (smell and taste) are not fully used the same as the use of touch could also be improved and perfected by involving more relevant tasks in speech therapy sessions.

REFERENCES

Cuturi, L. F., Cappagli, G., Yiannoutsou, N., Price, S. & Gori, M. (2021). Informing the design of a multisensory learning environment for elementary mathematics learning. *Journam of Multimodal User Interfaces*, *16*, 155–171. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12193-021-00382-y

Bishop, D., Snowling, M., Thompson, M. J., Greenhalg, T., consortium, CATALISE & O'Hare, A. (2017). Phase 2 of CATALISE: a multinational and multidisciplinary Delphi conseneus study of problems with language development: Terminology. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcpp.12721

Dionne-Dostic, E., Paquette, N., Lassonde, M. & Gallagher, A. (2015). Multisensory Integration and Child Neurodevelopment. *Brain Sciences*. https://doi.org/10.3390/brainsci5010032

Foxe, J., Del Bene, V., Ross. L., Ridgway. E., Francisco, A. & Molholm, S. (2020). Multisensory Audiovisual Processing in Children With a Sensory Processing Disorder (II): Speech Integration Under Noisy Environmental Conditions. *Frontiers in Intehrative Neuroscience*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnint.2020.00039

Gascoyne, S. (2017). Patterns and attributes in vulnerable children's messy play, *European Early Childhood Education Research Journal*, 25(2), 272–291. https://doi.org/10.1080/1350 293X.2017.1288019

Hettiarachchi, S., Ranaweera, M. & Disanayake, H. M. L. N. (2021). The effectiveness of using multi-sensory children's stories on vocabulary development in young deaf and hard-of-hearing children. *Deafness & Education International*, 23(2), 145–168. https://doi.org/10. 1080/14643154.2020.1808275

Hettiarachchi, S., Walisundara, D. & Ranaweera, M. (2020). The effectiveness of a multisensory traditional storeytelling programme on target vocabulary development in children with disabilities accessing English as a second language: A preliminary study. *Journal of Intellectual Disabilities, 28*(1). https://doi.org/10.1177/1744629520961605

Jeyabalan, P., Hutagalung, F., Nor, M. M., Rushdan, A. R. & Isa, Z. M. (2017). The impact of multisensory approach on phonemix awareness skills among the indigenous preschoolers in pulau carey, Malaysia. *Advanced Science Letters*, 23(3), 2052–2056. https://doi.org/10.1166/asl.2017.8555

Kucirkova, N. & Kamola, M. (2022). Children's stories and multisensory engagement: Insights from a cultural probes syudy. *International Journal of Educational Research*, 114, 101–995. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijer.2022.101995

Mason, G., Goldstein, M. & Schwade, J. (2019, July). The role of multisensory development in early language learning. *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology*, *183*, 48-64 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jecp.2018.12.011

Maxheimer, C. (2013). Using Multisensory Input to Supplement Articulation Intervention. http://thekeep.eiu.edu/honors_theses (Retrieved 29.08.2022)

Neumann, M., Hyde, M., Neumann, D., Hood, M. & Ford, R. (2012). Multisensory Methods for Early Literacy Learning. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/281572645 Retrieved: 29082022

Rompas, N. T. & Recard, M. (2021, July). Applying Multisensory Approach to Promote Engagemment in Primary English Home-Based Learning. *English Language Teaching and Research Journal*, 5(2), 105–119. https://doi.org/10.37147/eltr.2021.050203

Saratikyan, L. (2021). Speech Therapy Intervention as a Way for Making Differential Diagnoses of Communication Skills for Preschool Children With Shy Behaviour and Children With Autism. https://doi.org/10.24234/se.2021.4.2.277

Tubele, S., Daniela, L. (2019). Latvia (Book Chapter) In Law, J., McKean, C., Murphy, C. A., Thordardottir, E. (Eds.), *Managing Children with Developmental Language Disorder: Theory and Practice across Europe and Beyond* (pp. 302–309). London: Elsevier. ISBN 078-042984833-9.

Unwin, K. L., Powell, G. & Jones, C. R. G. (2022, August)). The use of Multi-sensory Environments with autistic children: Exploring the effect of having control of sensory changes. *Autism*, *26*(6), 1379–1394. https://doi.org/10/1177/13623613211050176

Wilkinson, N. M., Kannan, S., Ganguri, H., Hetherington, M. M. & Evans, C. E. L. (2022). Study protocol: Evaluation of the "Flavour school" sensory food education programme: a cluster-randomized controlled trial in UK primary school children, aged 4–7 years, to determine impact on confidence and curiosity in tasting vegetables and fruit. https//doi.org/10.1186/s13063-022-06612-2

Wrighton, C. A. (2010). Determining the Effectiveness of a Multisensory Approach to Teach tge Alphabet and Phonemic Awareness Mastery in Kindergarten Children. Dissertation. USA: Argosy University. https://safarilearning.com/images/research_determining_the_effectiveness_of_a_multisensory_approach_by_Charlene_Wrighton_site_10_10.pdf (Retrieved 28.08.2022).

Information about the author

Sarmite Tubele, PhD, Professor at the University of Latvia. Research interests – speech therapy, special needs education and inclusive approach. In Speech therapy most relevant topics are: the evaluation of the speech development and dyslexia; in special needs education – children with learning disabilities and autism spectrum disorders. Nevertheless most of all I like to work with students in all levels at the University of Latvia.

https://doi.org/10.22364/atee.2022.56

Changes in Social-Emotional Skills and Behaviour in Preschool Children after Participation in the Promoting Mental Health at Schools Program: The Social-Emotional Skills of Parents as a Mediator

Inga Supe¹, Baiba Martinsone¹, Carmel Cefai², Elisabetta Conte³

¹ Department of Psychology, University of Latvia, Riga, Latvia

³ Department of Human Sciences for Education "R. Massa," University of Milano-Bicocca, Milan, Italy

ABSTRACT

The social-emotional skills of preschool children develop at a rapid pace. How this development occurs is closely related to the child's environment. The social-emotional skills of the parents themselves play an important role in the development of a preschool child's social-emotional skills and have a strong influence on the development of children's prosocial behaviour and a reduction in behavioural problems (both internalised and externalised).

The aim of this study is to find out how the indicators of social-emotional competence and behaviour of preschool children change after participating in the Promoting Mental Health at Schools programme, based on teachers' assessments. What is the relationship between the social-emotional skills of parents (parents' assessment) and the social-emotional skills and behaviour of their children (teachers' assessment)? Do higher SE skills of parents (self-assessed) mediate the growth of children's social-emotional skills (as assessed by teachers)?

As part of the Erasmus+ research project "Promoting Mental Health at Schools" (PROMEHS), a quasi-experimental study was carried out with pre-test and post-test measurements in experimental and control groups. It was found that in the sample of Latvian pre-schoolers, the teachers from the experimental group noticed the decrease in children's behavioural difficulties and increase in prosocial behaviour and social-emotional skills in the experimental group were rated slightly higher in comparison with control group. Teachers rated children's social understanding and relationship skills higher when parents indicated that the relationship with their child was better. A higher level of social-emotional competence of parents correlated negatively with children's conduct problems. This study did not find that parents played

² Department of Psychology, University of Malta, Msida, Malta

I. SUPE, B. MARTINSONE, C. CEFAI, E. CONTE. Changes in Social-Emotional Skills and Behaviour in ..

a statistically significant role as mediators in the promotion of children's social-emotional competence during implementation of the programme.

Keywords: emotional and behavioural difficulties, parents' social emotional skills, PROMEHS, prosocial behaviour, preschool children, social-emotional skills

Introduction

The importance of social-emotional learning and its connection with the maintenance and preservation of mental health is increasingly being discussed and emphasised worldwide. Mental health is defined as a state of well-being in which everyone realises their potential, copes with the stress of everyday life, works productively, and is able to contribute to the development of their community. Studies emphasise that mental health is not just the absence of mental illness or symptoms, but it is an integral part of overall health, which includes the ability to interact socially and thus be more successful in providing for oneself, tolerating stress and being able to enjoy life in general. Mental health promotion requires attention from an early age. In the last decade, there has been an increase in children's mental health problems, and according to the World Health Organization, it is reported that up to 20% of school-age children already suffer from mental health difficulties and these difficulties begin to develop at an early age (WHO, 2015; 2018).

At preschool age, there is a rapid development of children's social-emotional skills. How this development takes place is closely related to the child's environment. There are several ways that social-emotional skills are defined and evaluated. In this study, social-emotional skills are evaluated based on the Collaborative for Academic, Social and Emotional learning model (CASEL). Based on this model, social-emotional competence is viewed as a set of skills: self-awareness – recognising emotions and thoughts; the ability to connect one's emotions and thoughts with one's behaviour; self-management – the ability to regulate one's thoughts, emotions and behaviour in different situations; social awareness – the ability to take the other's perspective, developing empathy, accepting diversity; relationship-building skills – the ability to create and maintain relationships with different people and groups; responsible decision-making – the ability to make decisions taking into account the well-being of others. Social-emotional learning (SEL) is defined as an integral part of the learning process that ensures that the learning process takes place to its fullest (CASEL, 2021).

Research emphasises the need to pay attention to issues of social-emotional development in children from an early age. One of the ways in which mental health difficulties manifest is through the externalising (directed at the external environment) or internalising (directed at the self) of behavioural problems (Boylan et al., 2012). Social-emotional learning is cited as one of the most

I. SUPE, B. MARTINSONE, C. CEFAI, E. CONTE. Changes in Social-Emotional Skills and Behaviour in ..

effective interventions to maintain and preserve mental health and prevent behavioural problems (Durlak et al., 2011). Self-awareness, including the ability to identify emotions, is one of the first skills that children develop at an early age and is associated with higher academic skills as children enter school (Denham et al, 2003). From the age of two, children begin to recognise emotions more and more accurately. Recognising emotions in different situations and being able to regulate them is associated with a more successful relationships with peers. In a study in which social-emotional skills were taught to 2-3-year-old children, it was found that these children show more prosocial behaviour, which was manifested as helping, sharing and comforting (Brazzelli et al., 2021). Children who demonstrate more prosocial behaviour are accepted better into the peer group (Spinrad & Eisenberg, 2017). These children are evaluated by teachers to have higher prosocial behaviour and more successful cooperation abilities in interaction with peers (Arsenio et al., 2000; Denham et al., 1990). A higher social-emotional competence in children is associated with a greater ability to avoid disruptive behaviour (Elias & Moceri, 2012). Children's emotion recognition and regulation skills are manifested in the context of social interaction (Camras & Halberstadt, 2017). The way an individual feels and expresses perceived emotions is influenced by both the innate temperament - emotional reactivity, and social and environmental factors, such as poverty, family conflicts, child abuse. These factors can impair a child's ability to regulate their emotions (Thomas, Chess, & Birch, 1970; Thompson, 2014).

The implementation of supportive measures in schools is considered to be one of the most successful approaches for both children and teachers. Interventions can develop skills to deal with emotional and behavioural problems (WHO, 2021). Intervention studies research also mentions the relationship between parents' social-emotional competence and the development of a child's social-emotional skills. Parents' own social-emotional skills play an important role in the development of a preschool child's social-emotional skills and greatly influence the development of children's prosocial behaviour and the reduction of behaviour problems (both internalised and externalised) (Mortensen & Barnett, 2019; Wu et al., 2020). Studies examining the relationship between parents' beliefs about emotions, their social-emotional competences, and school-age children's emotion management skills indicate that parental beliefs and social-emotional competences explain 37% of children's emotion recognition abilities. Associations have been found between higher parental social-emotional competence and the better ability of children to regulate their emotions (Castro et al., 2015; Rogers et al., 2015). Children's social-emotional competence is influenced by both the child's individual characteristics and how social-emotional competence is developed in parents and the child's teachers (Garner et al., 2014). Research has found a relationship between a parent criticizing or punishing a child and the child's difficulty I. SUPE, B. MARTINSONE, C. CEFAI, E. CONTE. Changes in Social-Emotional Skills and Behaviour in ..

in regulating their emotions (Rogers et al., 2015). Emotion regulation abilities at age 5 have been found to be associated with social skills at age 7 and general peer acceptance at age 10 (Blair et al., 2015). The pattern of increasing differentiation mostly explains the recognition of emotions as a learned rather than an innate skill, which indicates the significant importance assigned by culture to the way that emotions are understood and defined (Halberstadt & Lozada, 2011).

Researchers note that there are relatively few scientifically reliable tools for assessing children's social-emotional skills. SSIS (SEL Brief Scales – Preschool Form) is recognised as one of the effective assessment tools for preschool children. Importantly, this tool includes multi-informant assessments – both teacher and parent surveys, which help to assess children's skills more comprehensively (Anthony et al., 2020). The SDQ (Strength and Difficulties) survey is designed to assess children's behaviour problems and prosocial behaviour. This survey also includes a multi-informant assessment of children's behaviour (Stone et al., 2010).

Studies mention the need to include not only children but also adults in social-emotional learning interventions. Therefore, it is important that interventions include not only children, but teachers and parents are also involved in the training, and they have the opportunity to improve their socio-emotional competence (Cefai et al., 2018). It is important to think about the development of the social-emotional competence of school personnel, which is related to their further ability to teach it more effectively to children using the appropriate methods (Justo et al., 2018). There is increased thinking about the development and implementation of evidence-based social-emotional curricula and methods in the school environment. Researchers emphasise the need to create programmes that could be systematically implemented more widely. Most social-emotional learning programmes are preventive and results of studies indicate that learning them is more effective in groups of children at a younger age, when behavioural tendencies are still beginning to develop (Fisak et al., 2011). The Promoting Mental Health at Schools programme (PROMEHS) was developed within the framework of the Erasmus + project, and its aim was to develop, implement and scientifically test methodological materials for increasing of social-emotional skills and resilience and reducing risky behaviour at school and preschool. The research is carried out within the framework of this programme and answers are sought to the following questions:

- Q1 How do the measurements of social-emotional skills and behaviour of preschool children change after participating in the Promoting Mental Health at Schools programme, based on teachers' assessments?
- Q2 Will higher parents' social-emotional skills be associated with higher children's social-emotional skills and lower behaviour problems (as rated by teachers)?

Q3 Do higher parents' social-emotional skills (as assessed by parents) mediate the growth of children's social-emotional skills (as assessed by teachers)?

Methodology

Participants

As part of the Erasmus + project "Promoting Mental Health at Schools" (PROMEHS), a quasi-experimental study was conducted in October 2020 and April 2021 with pre-test and post-test data measurements for children aged 4–16 years in seven European countries: Italy, Latvia, Portugal, Croatia, Romania, Greece and Malta. Children from 7 preschools in Latvia participated in this part of the study. Participants were split into control and experimental groups. This study uses 488 teacher measurements of preschool children aged 4 to 6 years (mean age = 4.84; *SD* 0.84). Both genders were equally represented (50.3% boys and 49.7% girls). Parents evaluated their own social-emotional skills.

Measures

Teachers filled out the following surveys about the children:

- The Strength and Difficulties Questionnaire (SDQ, Goldman, 1997) teachers' form. The questionnaire includes 25 items and 5 subscales. Four of them represent difficulties: emotional problems, conduct problems, hyperactivity, peer problems. The fifth subscale represents prosocial behaviour. Each item is measured on a 3 point Likert scale rating from 0 (not true) to 2 (certainly true).
- Social Skills Improvement System Social-Emotional Learning Brief Scale (SSIS SEL, Elliott et al., 2020 a, b). The teacher K12 form evaluated children's social emotional competence. The questionnaire includes 20 items and 5 subscales: self-awareness, self-management, social awareness, relationship skills, and responsible decision-making. Each item is measured on a 4 point Likert scale rating from 0 (never) to 3 (almost always).

Parents filled out the survey about their own social-emotional skills:

- Social-Emotional Competences of Teachers (SECTRS, Tom, 2012). The survey was modified within the framework of this study by adapting it to the sample of parents. The questionnaire includes 53 items and 4 subscales: parent-children's relationships, emotion regulation, social-awareness, interpersonal relationships. Each item is measured on a 6 point Likert scale rating from 1 (completely disagree) to 6 (completely agree).
- **Demographic data are also collected**: child's age, gender, belonging to a vulnerable group.
Table 1. Internal consistency of each scale and composite scales of SDQ, SSIS SEL based on preschool children's (n = 488) teacher evaluations. Parents' evaluations (n = 488) of their own social-emotional skills (SECTRS).

	Scales	Cronbach's Alpha
		Teachers' evaluation
g	Emotional problems	0.797
S	Conduct problems	0.746
	Hyperactivity	0.871
	Peer problems	0.725
	Total difficulty*	0.895
	Prosocial behaviour	0.777
ΕĽ	Self-awareness	0.758
SIS	Self-management	0.741
S	Social awareness	0.810
	Relationship skills	0.757
	Responsible decision-making	0.846
	Social-emotional competence**	0.932
RS		Parents' evaluation
ECT	Parent-children's relationships	0.823
0)	Emotion regulation	0.747
	Social awareness	0.702
	Interpersonal relationships	0.694
	Parents social-emotional competence***	0.921

*refers to composite scale combining the SDQ difficulty subscales

**refers to composite scale combining the SSIS-SEL subscales

*** refers to composite scale combining the SECTRS subscales

Results

The internal consistency of the survey scales was determined by calculating Cronbach's alpha coefficient. A coefficient of 0.7 indicates sufficiently high coherence. The Kolmogorov-Smirnov test, which was used to determine whether the sample followed a normal distribution, indicates that non-parametric methods will be used to further calculate the data because the sample does not follow a normal distribution.

Children were matched by code to combine the pre-test and post-test score, where only children who had scores in both tests were included in the data set. Missing values were replaced by the mean test item score. Internalising difficulty, externalising difficulty and total difficulty range from 1 to 3, where the larger the mean score, the higher the difficulty. Prosocial behaviour scores range

from 1 to 3, where the larger the mean score, the higher the intention to help others. Self-awareness, self-management, social awareness, relationship skills and responsible decision-making and social-emotional learning range from 1 to 4, where the larger the mean score, the higher the level of social-emotional learning.

Regression analysis shows that for a child in the experimental group, the increase in social-emotional learning is 0.008 points more than a child in the control group, given that they both have the same score in the pre-test (see Table 2). Regression analysis shows that for a child in the experimental group, the reduction in the externalising difficulty score is 0.024 points more than a child in the control group, given that they both have the same score in the pre-test (Table 3). Regression analysis shows that for a child in the experimental group, the increase in prosocial behaviour score is 0.065 points more than a child in the control group, given that they both have the same score in the pre-test (Table 3). Although these differences are not significant for the Latvian preschool sample, they show a positive trend in the long term which means that the programme was effective.

	Group	Phase	Mean	Sd
Self-awareness	Experimental	Pre	2.78	0.50
		Post	2.95	0.55
	Control	Pre	2.93	0.63
		Post	3.00	0.60
Self-management	Experimental	Pre	2.82	0.54
		Post	2.89	0.55
	Control	Pre	2.96	0.63
		Post	3.02	0.61
Social awareness	Experimental	Pre	2.87	0.56
		Post	3.02	0.58
	Control	Pre	2.97	0.61
		Post	3.04	0.63
Relationship skills	Experimental	Pre	2.96	0.53
		Post	3.03	0.53
	Control	Pre	3.06	0.58
		Post	3.13	0.58
Responsible	Experimental	Pre	2.92	0.57
decision-making		Post	3.06	0.58
	Control	Pre	3.08	0.67
		Post	3.20	0.62

Table 2. Teachers' reports of children's Social-Emotional Competences

	Group	Phase	Mean	Sd
Internalising difficulties	Experimental	Pre	1.42	0.36
		Post	1.40	0.32
	Control	Pre	1.35	0.35
		Post	1.32	0.30
Externalising difficulties	Experimental	Pre	1.61	0.45
		Post	1.54	0.42
	Control	Pre	1.48	0.42
		Post	1.48	0.42
Total difficulty	Experimental	Pre	1.52	0.34
		Post	1.47	0.31
	Control	Pre	1.41	0.33
		Post	1.40	0.31
Prosocial behaviour	Experimental	Pre	2.32	0.45
		Post	2.40	0.41
	Control	Pre	2.37	0.42
		Post	2.39	0.45

Table 3. Teachers' reports of children's Behaviour difficulties and Prosocial behaviour

There is a statistically significant negative correlation between children's conduct problems and better parent-children's relationships (r = -0.15, p < 0.01) and a statistically significant negative correlation between children's conduct problems and better parents' interpersonal relationships (r = -0.09, p < 0.05). In general, higher parental Total social-emotional skills correlate with fewer child conduct problems (r = -0.13, p < 0.01). Better parent-child relationships correlate with overall lower teacher-rated child total difficulties (r = -0.10, p < 0.01). There is a statistically significant positive correlation between better parent-child relationships and children exhibiting more prosocial behaviour (r = -0.15, p < 0.01) (see Table 4). The higher statistic of children's social-awareness (rated by teachers) shows a significantly positive correlation with parent-children's relationships (r = 0.11, p < 0.01) and also the statistic of relationships skills shows a significantly positive correlation with parent-child relationships (r = 0.15, p < 0.01). Other correlations are not statistically significant (see Table 5).

	SECTR	S (rated by pa	rents)	
Parent- children's relationships	Emotion regulation	Social awareness	Interpersonal relationships	Total SEL parents
-0.04	-0.01	-0.03	-0.02	-0.01
-0.15**	-0.09	-0.08	-0.09*	-0.13**
-0.08	-0.04	-0.02	-0.04	-0.06
-0.07	-0.07	-0.05	-0.05	-0.07
-0.10*	-0.06	-0.05	-0.05	-0.07
0.11*	0.01	0.05	0.04	0.06
	Parent- children's relationships -0.04 -0.15** -0.08 -0.07 -0.10* 0.11*	Parent- children's relationships Emotion regulation -0.04 -0.01 -0.15** -0.09 -0.08 -0.04 -0.07 -0.07 -0.10* -0.06 0.11* 0.01	Parent- children's relationships Emotion regulation awareness -0.04 -0.01 -0.03 -0.15** -0.09 -0.08 -0.07 -0.05 -0.05 -0.10* -0.06 -0.05 0.11* 0.01 0.05	SECTRS (rated by parents) Parent- children's relationships Emotion regulation awareness Interpersonal relationships -0.04 -0.01 -0.03 -0.02 -0.15** -0.09 -0.08 -0.09* -0.07 -0.07 -0.05 -0.05 -0.10* -0.06 -0.05 -0.05 0.11* 0.01 0.05 0.04

Table 4. Correlations measuring associations between SDQ (teachers' evaluations) and SECTRS scales (parents' evaluations) in preschool children's sample (n = 488)

*p<.05, **p<.01

Table 5. Correlations measuring associations between SSIS (teachers' evaluations) and SECTRS scales (parents' evaluations) in preschool children's sample (n = 488)

	SECTRS (rated by parents)				
SSIS SEL (rated by teachers)	Parent- children's relationships	Emotion regulation	Social awareness	Interpersonal relationships	Total SEL parents
Self-awareness	0.01	-0.03	-0.04	-0.01	-0.02
Self-management	0.09	0.04	0.01	0.02	0.06
Social awareness	0.11*	0.04	0.04	0.05	0.07
Relationship skills	0.10*	0.04	0.03	0.06	0.07
Responsible decision- making	0.08	0.07	0.01	0.02	0.06
SEL total	0.07	0.03	-0.01	0.03	0.04

*p<.05,**p<.01

The mediation model was built to answer the last question of this study. The first model, which relates child social-emotional competence pre-test to child social-emotional competence post-test, yields a total effect size of c = 0.685. The Sobel test shows that it is significant. The second model, which relates parents' social-emotional competence to child social-emotional competence pre-test, yields the effect size of a = 0.064 which is not statistically significant. The third model, which relates child social-emotional competence post-test to parents' social-emotional competence, yields the size of the effect b = 1.230 which is not statistically significant (see Figure 1).



Figure 1. Direct and indirect effect in a mediation model.

Discussion

Pre-test and post-test results in the Latvian preschool sample show a positive trend which means that teachers of the experimental group noticed a decrease of children's behavioural difficulties better and increase of pro-social behaviour in comparison with the control group and also social-emotional skills in the experimental group are rated slightly higher. The results correlate with previous studies, which indicates that implementation of the social-emotional learning program increased pro-social behaviour and decreased behavioural difficulties in children (Brazzelli et al., 2021; Elias & Moceri, 2012). In an analysis of all six European countries in which the Promoting Mental Health at Schools (PROMEHS) programme was implemented, the results indicate a statistically significant effectiveness rating, meaning that the programme is rated as successful in promoting socio-emotional competence and prosocial behaviour and reducing behavioural difficulties (Cefai et al., 2022).

Teachers rate children's social understanding and relationship skills higher when parents indicate that their relationship with their child is better. Although this study does not show a statistically significant relationship between children's social-emotional competence (assessed by teachers) and parents self-assessed total social-emotional skills, it can be concluded that the quality of the parentchild relationship could be a valuable resource for a child's ability to make social contacts outside the home environment. Moreover, the results of this study confirm those of previous studies that concluded that higher parent social-emotional competence correlates with lower behavioural difficulties and higher prosocial behaviour in children (Mortensen & Barnett, 2019; Wu et al., 2020). In this study from the teachers' perspective, pro-social behaviour is demonstrated more in preschool children where a better parent-child relationship is evident. In

this study a significant relationship between the social-emotional competence of parents and children's self-management was not demonstrated, although there is a positive trend.

This study did not find that parents played a statistically significant role as mediators in the promotion of children's social-emotional competence during the implementation of the programme. Parents were encouraged to complete home activities together with their preschool children, and parents were invited to listen to three lectures on the principles of implementing the programme and instructions on how to use the handbook in the online version. However, parents' involvement in the programme was not controlled. The results indicate that social-emotional learning programmes implemented in educational institutions are particularly important and social-emotional learning can be successfully implemented in the preschool environment. These are especially important for vulnerable groups in society, including when the social-emotional competence of parents is low. Despite the fact that PROMEHS is a universal social-emotional learning programme, it has also been evaluated as effective for children from vulnerable groups (Cefai et al., 2022). Other studies also indicate that social-emotional learning is associated with children's higher achievements in academic studies, including literacy assessments, more successful relationships with peers and, in general, with the higher motivation of those involved in the learning process (Cavioni et al., 2020; Martinsone et al., 2022).

The established research results once again indicate that social-emotional learning is an integral part of the learning process. It is important to teach those skills from an early age. School plays an important role in reducing children's behavioural problems and increasing prosocial behaviour.

Conclusions

- Children who took part in the PROMEHS programme, showed a higher increase in social-emotional skills compared to children in the control group.
- Children who took part in the PROMEHS programme, showed a greater reduction in externalised behavioural difficulties and a greater increase in pro-social behaviour compared to children in the control group.
- Higher parent-reported overall social-emotional skills and higher parent-reported parent-child relationships are associated with lower teacher-reported behavioural difficulties in children.
- Better parent-child relationships are positively associated with higher children's social awareness, indicating that parent-child relationships help children to develop more successful social relationships outside the home environment.

REFERENCES

Anthony C. J., Elliott S. N., DiPerna J. C., Lei P. W. (2020). Multirater assessment of young children's social and emotional learning via the SSIS SEL brief scales – preschool forms. *Early Child. Res. Q., 53*, 625–637. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2020.07.006

Arsenio, W. F., Cooperman, S., & Lover, A. (2000). Affective predictors of preschoolers' aggression and peer acceptance: Direct and indirect effects. *Developmental Psychology*, *36*(4), 438–448. https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.36.4.438

Boylan, K., Vaillancourt, T., & Szatmari, P. (2012). Linking oppositional behaviour trajectories to the development of depressive symptoms in childhood. *Child Psychiatry & Human Development*, *43*(3), 484–497. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10578-011-0277-7

Blair, B. L., Perry, N. B., O'Brien, M., Calkins, S. D., Keane, S. P., & Shanahan, L. (2015). Identifying developmental cascades among differentiated dimensions of social competence and emotion regulation. *Developmental Psychology*, *51*(8), 1062–1073. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0039472

Brazzelli, E., Grazzani, I., & Pepe, A. (2021). Promoting prosocial behavior in toddlerhood: a conversation-based intervention at nursery. *J. Exp. Child Psychol., 204*, 105056. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jecp.2020.105056

CASEL (2020). SEL is.... CASEL.com. https://casel.org/what-is-sel/ (accessed July 2, 2021).

Camras, L. A. & Halberstadt, A. G. (2017). Emotional development through the lens of affective social competence. *Current Opinion in Psychology*, *17*, 113–117. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copsyc.2017.07.003

Castro, V. L., Halberstadt, A. G., Lozada, F. T., & Craig, A. B. (2015). Parents' emotionrelated beliefs, behaviours, and skills predict children's recognition of emotion. *Infant Child Devevelopment, 24*, 1–22. https://doi.org/10.1002/icd.1868

Cavioni, V., Grazzani, I., & Ornaghi, V. (2020). Mental health promotion in schools: a theoretical framework. *Int. J. Emot. Educ.*, *12*, 65–82. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1251771.pdf

Cefai, C., Arlove, A., Duca, M., Galea, N., Muscat, M., & Cavioni, V. (2018). RESCUR Surfing the Waves: an evaluation of a resilience programme in the early years. *Pastoral Care in Education*, *36*(3), 189–204. https://um.edu.mt/l123456789/100032

Cefai, C., Camilleri, L., Bartolo, P., Grazzani, I., Cavioni, V., ... Colomeischi, A. A. (2022). The effectiveness of a school-based, universal mental health programme in six European countries. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *8*(13), 925614. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2022.925614

Denham, S. A., McKinley, M., Couchoud, E. A., & Holt, R. (1990). Emotional and behavioral predictors of preschool peer ratings. *Child Development*, *61*, 1145–1152. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.1990.tb02848.x

Denham, S. A., Blair, K. A., DeMulder, E., Levitas, J., Sawyer, K., Auerbach-Major, S., & Queenan, P. (2003). Preschool emotional competence: Pathway to social competence? *Child Development*, *74*(1), 238–256. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8624.00533

Durlak, J. A., Weissberg, R. P., Dymnicki, A. B., Taylor, R. D., & Schellinger, K. B. (2011). The impact of enhancing students' social and emotional learning: A meta-analysis of schoolbased universal interventions. *Child Dev.*, *82*, 405–432. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2010.01564.x

Elias, M. J. & Moceri, D. C. (2012). Developing social and emotional aspects of learning: the American experience. *Research Papers in Education*, *27*(4), 423–434. https://doi.org/10.108 0/02671522.2012.690243

Elliott, S. N., DiPerna, J. C., Anthony, C. J., Lei, P. W., & Gresham, F. M. (2020b). SSIS SEL Brief Scales – Parent K-12. Scottsdale, AZ: SAIL Collaborative.

Fisak, B. J., Richard, D., & Mann, A. (2011). The prevention of child and adolescent anxiety: Ameta-analytic review. *PrevSci*, *12*(3), 255–268. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11121-011-0210-0

Garner, P.W., Mahatmya, D., Brown, E. L., & Vesely, C. K. (2014). Promoting desirable outcomes among culturally and ethnically diverse children in social emotional learning programs: a multilevel heuristic model. *Education Psychology Review*, *26*, 165–189. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10648-014-9253-7

Goodman, R. (1997). The strength and difficulties questionnaire: a research note. *J. Child Psychol & Psychiatry & A llied Discip.*, *38*, 581–586. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.1997. tb01545.x

Halberstadt, A. G. & Lozada, F. T. (2011). Emotional development in infancy through the lens of culture. *Emotion Review*, *3*, 158–168. https://doi.org/10.1177/1754073910387946

Justo, A. R., Andretta, I. & Abs, D. (2018). Dialectical behavioral therapy skills training as a social-emotional development program for teachers. *US: Educational Publishing Foundation,* (3), 168–181. https://doi.org/10.1037/pri0000071

Martinsone, B., Supe, I., Stokenberga, I., Damberga, I., Cefai, C., Camilleri, L., ...Grazzani, I. (2022). Social emotional competence, learning outcomes, emotional and behavioral difficulties of preschool children: parent and teacher evaluations. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 6403. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.760782

Mortensen, J. A. & Barnett, A. M. (2019). Intrusive parenting, teacher sensitivity, and negative emotionality on the development of emotion regulation in early head start toddlers. *Infant Behavior and Development*, *55*, 10–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.infbeh.2019.01.004

Rogers, M. L., Halberstadt, A. G., Castro, V. L., MacCormack, J. L., & Garrett-Peters, P. (2015). Maternal emotion socialization differentially predicts third-grade children's emotion regulation and lability. *Emotion*, *16*, 280–291. https://doi.org/10.1037/emo0000142

Spinrad T. L. & Eisenberg N. (2017). "Prosocial behavior and empathy-related responding: relations to children's well-being," in *The Happy Mind: Cognitive Contributions to Well-Being*, eds Robinson M., Eid M. Cham: Springer, 331–347. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-58763-9_18

Stone, L. L., Otten, R., Engels, R. C. M. E., Vermulst, A. A., Janssens, J. M. A. M. (2010). Psychometric properties of the parent and teacher versions of the strengths and difficulties questionnaire for 4- to 12-year-olds: a review. *Clin. Child Fam. Psychol. Rev.*, *13*, 254–274. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10567-010-0071-2

Thomas, A., Chess, S., & Birch, H. G. (1970). The Origin of Personality. Scientific American, pp. 102–109.

Thompson, R. (2014). Stress and child development. *Future Child*, 24, 41–59. http://www.jstor.org/stable/23723382

Tom, K. N. (2012). Measurement of teachers' social-emotional competence: development of the social-emotional competence teacher rating scale. http://hdl.handle.net/1794/12351

World Health Organization (2018). Adolescent Mental Health. https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/adolescent-mental-health (accessed July 2, 2021).

World Health Organization (WHO). (2015). First WHO report on suicide prevention. http://www.who.int/mediacentre/news/releases/2014/suicide-prevention-report/en/

Wu, Z., Hu, B. Y., Wu, H., Winsler, A., & Chen, L. (2020). Family socioeconomic status and Chinese preschoolers' social skills: Examining underlying family processes. *Journal of Family Psychology*, *34*(8), 969–979. https://doi.org/10.1037/fam0000674

https://doi.org/10.22364/atee.2022.57

The Dimensions of Social Inclusion in the Right to Education

Heliona Miço

Law Department, Epoka University, Albania

ABSTRACT

Ensuring high-quality and inclusive education contributes to the development of the talent and potential of all learners, by making the right to education available, accessible, acceptable and adaptable to ever-changing society. The right to education is a universal right widely sanctioned at the international and national level. Despite legal protection, the realization encounters obstacles due to the social conditions and economic difficulties of individuals. The right to education knows no borders and nationality. Universality of the right to education is a prerequisite which require by the state, as the bearer of obligations, the construction of different bridges in legislation and policies towards inclusion in education. The paper addresses the social inclusion in education as a means to achieve and enjoy the right to education on equal bases. The research identifies different marginalised groups and the gaps that exist between their right to education and its realization. The dimension of social inclusion will be oriented based on the analyses of the key documents, legal framework, policies and strategies implemented by Albania. The paper highlights the steps needed to be taken by the state to implement inclusion in education, with the aim of enjoying the universal and unlimited right to education. Therefore, analyses of inclusive education will serve to take further steps toward universal right to education, as an embedded right in international human right law.

Keywords: Albania, educational policies, social inclusion, state obligations, the right to education, universal human rights

Introduction

The right to education is a fundamental human right with an inclusive nature. It is legally guaranteed to all without discrimination and it is recognized internationally as a universal right since the moment of the adoption of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, 1948 (United Nations, 1948). The right

to education is known to both children and adults in every stage of life. Article 26 of the declaration, by stipulating that: *"Everyone has the right to education"*, opened the way for the education of young people and adults in addition to children (Volio, 1979). Education aims to achieve an adequate standard of living, well-being, self-development and protection of human dignity (Beiter, 2006).

Provisions on education stipulated in the Universal Declaration of Human Rights are reaffirmed, reinforced and detailed later through a number of international instruments of the United Nations and other international organizations working in the field of human rights, the right to education and child's rights. However, all the covenants, conventions, declarations and frameworks in the field of education highlight the inclusive nature of the right to education, as a right that is known to everyone, regardless of the circumstances or factors that make individuals different from others (McCowan, 2010; Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights, 1999; Coomans, 2007).

In order to implement the principles sanctioned in the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, the United Nations General Assembly adopted two international instruments, the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (United Nations International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, 1966) and the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights (ICCPR) on 1966 (United Nations International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, 1966). The elements of economic, social and cultural rights constitute entitlement to receive an education, while the elements of civil and political rights are related to freedom in the right to education. Articles 13 and 14 of the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights have delineated the right to education, highlighting the features of this right (Tomasevski, 2003).

Further guarantees and protection are given to the right to education by a number of other international instruments such as the International Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination (United Nations International Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination, 1965), the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women (United Nations Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women, 1979) and the Convention on the Rights of children of the United Nations (United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child, 1989). Moreover, special attention has been given to inclusive and equal access to education through the UNESCO Convention against Discrimination in Education (The United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization [UNESCO], Convention against Discrimination in Education, 1960). At the regional level, the right to education is guaranteed by article 2 of Protocol 1 of the European Convention for the Protection of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms (Convention for the Protection of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms (Council of Europe European Convention on Human Rights, as amended) (ECHR), Prot. 1, 1952).

Article 2 of the First Protocol of the European Convention on Human Rights: "*No person shall be denied the right to education*" categorically prohibits the denial of the right to education, making this right accessible for everyone (Pillai, 2012; Miço, 2019).

However, the right to education is not realized in the same way for all regions of the world. According to McCowan (2010), about 75 million children are out of school altogether – nearly half of these in sub-Saharan Africa – with many more having sporadic attendance and dropping out before completion. Even in Europe, despite increased policy effort and resources through the European Structural Funds to reduce the average of people who leave school early, the progress is slow. In 2007 the average EU rate of early school leaving for 18-24-year-olds was still 14.8%, 2.8 percentage points lower than in 2000 (Commission of the European Communities, 2008). While UNESCO raised the voice for unequal distribution of educational resources and opportunities given that an estimated 258 million children, adolescents and youth, or 17% of the global total, are not in school. At the same time, the number of out-of-school children in sub-Saharan Africa is growing (UNESCO, 2020).

Inclusiveness and education for all continue to remain one of the most discussed issues of education in Albania as well (Save the Children, 2012; Byrne, 2014; Byrne et al., 2021), regardless of the fact that the right to education is widely recognized and protected in the legal framework, starting from the Constitution of Albania (Constitution of Albania Law of 1998, Pub. L. No. 8417/1998). The Constitution of Albania has considered the right to education as one of the basic human rights, categorizing it in the group of economic, social and cultural rights. The right to education is guaranteed in equal basis for all citizens living in Albania, without discrimination, including in particular the persons belonging to the minority groups, foreigners and stateless persons. The legal framework in the field of pre-university education, higher education and vocational education and training guarantees this right by providing the appropriate means to make it available, accessible, acceptable and adaptable for all (On Pre-university Education System in the Republic of Albania Law of 2012, Pub. L. No. 69/2012; On Higher Education and Scientific Research in Institutions of Higher Education in the Republic of Albania Law of 2015, Pub. L. No. 80/2015; On vocational education and training in the Republic of Albania Law of 2017, Pub. L. No. 15/2017).

Regardless of legal guarantees, the cumulative dropout rate in Albanian primary education was 6.8 percent in 2016 (the most recent year for which there are international data), more than double the rate in the EU (2.5%) (Institute of Statistics, Institute of Public Health, ICF, 2018). According to the data published from the Institute of Statistics, UNESCO, the number of out-of-school children in 2020 is almost doubled in comparison to 2019, reaching 6221 children and 4823

adolescents. These data emphasize the need for inclusiveness in education translated into strategic governmental objectives. According to National Education Strategy 2021-2026, the government's overall goal remains to ensure education for all, including equity, equality and non-discriminatory access for children with disabilities and children belonging to minorities (Albanian Council of Ministers, 2021).

Background

In an increasingly diverse society, an important issue to be addressed is how human rights and freedoms are respected (Crépeau & Sheppard, 2013). Guarantees for the realization of basic human rights in a diversified society imply social inclusion of groups that carry the dynamics of culture traditions, ethnic and cultural identities, religious and other beliefs, artistic and socio-economic ideas, works and concepts (Council of Europe, 2016). Social inclusion is arisen as a consequence of social exclusion in society.

According to different studies, social inclusion is defined as the process of improving the terms of participation in society for people who are disadvantaged on the basis of age, sex, disability, race, ethnicity, origin, religion, or economic or other status, through enhanced opportunities, access to resources, voice and respect for rights (United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs, 2016). Whereas social inclusion in education is related to both society and the individual. According to Muijs et al. (2007), on the one hand social inclusion can be viewed as the meaningful participatory access of social groups and individuals into mainstream society. On the other hand, it can also mean the way how different individuals and groups are given recognition for who and what they are.

Regardless of the circumstances that limit the individual to enjoy the right to education, everyone has the right to participate meaningfully in the respective social group to realize this right. This is because the right to education has an inclusive nature. Social inclusion in education means that despite a variety of factors that bring exclusion, the right to education recognized by the state for each individual, will be enjoyed by all. Inclusion and equity in and through education require to address all forms of exclusion and marginalization, disparities and inequalities in access, participation and learning outcomes (UNESCO, 2016). This requires the will of the state to take multifaceted measures to make the right to education accessible to everyone.

According to Graham et al. (2019), a wide range of approaches ensure inclusive and equitable quality education. They may include enhancing access to quality and inclusive mainstream education and training for all learners despite their background; promoting more gender-balanced educational choices; using formal

and non-formal learning for facilitating the effective acquisition of the language of instruction and employment by migrants; promoting civic, intercultural, and social competences, mutual understanding and respect, and ownership of democratic values and fundamental rights at all levels of education and training; enhancing critical thinking, along with cyber and media literacy (Hytten & Bettez, 2011; Council of European Union & European Commission, 2015).

While in Albania, the issue of social inclusion in education occupies an important place not only in the legal framework (On Pre-university Education System in the Republic of Albania Law of 2012, Pub. L. No. 69/2012) but also in the national education strategy. According to the Albanian national education strategy, inclusion in education, as an integral part of the Sustainable Development Goals (SDG4), means the creation of conditions for all boys and girls, regardless of abilities and other characteristics, to attend classes together, taking care of their individual needs (Albanian Council of Ministers, 2021). The demand for inclusive education is connected to equal access to education, equality between educational paths, an inclusive school environment and inclusive teaching methods (Organising Bureau of European School Student Union, 2014).

Disadvantaged students are mainly inclined to remain outside the school system or to be forced to interrupt school. Studies show that a variety of factors influence social exclusion in education, such as gender, socioeconomic groups, ability or disability, mother tongues, learning styles and so on (Commission of the European Communities, 2008; UNESCO, 2015; Watson, 2009). However, regardless of the obstacles that lead to discrimination in enjoying the right to education, the role of education is indisputable in overcoming difficulties and eliminating the root causes of social isolation (Slijepčević, 2016). According to UNESCO (2015), no education target should be considered met unless met by all.

Social inclusion in education has become part of the agenda of a number of international organizations, anticipating as well the most successful policies to eliminate barriers to inclusion in education (UNESCO, 2015; European Union, 2016; United Nations [UN], 2014). In the focus of the policies, it is the support of the school to promote a more inclusive and engaging school culture towards wellbeing of the entire school community. Special attention is paid to the children with special educational needs and those from disadvantaged backgrounds and at particular risk in order to improve the access to inclusive settings and facilitate the transitions within the education system and from school to the labour market (European Union, 2017).

Developing teaching in a more personalized way through the improvement of competencies is considered one of the efficient approaches towards inclusive education. A personalized teaching process together with financial support

to schools attracting disadvantaged pupils, will reduce social differences and promote school attendance (Commission of the European Communities, 2008).

Inclusion of all learners in quality education from early childhood and throughout life is done by providing the necessary support to them according to their particular needs, including those from disadvantaged socioeconomic backgrounds, those from a migrant background, those with special needs and the most talented learners. To understand the best approach towards inclusive education, it is crucial to review and, where necessary, to improve the existing policies and practices in the field of education, training and non-formal learning in order to have efficiency (European Union, 2018).

Methodology

The dimensions of social inclusion in the right to education will be analysed in the light of international instruments, conventions and treaties approved by the United Nations, UNESCO and European organizations, the international and European policies, strategies and directives on school development and teaching, on school cooperation, social protection and social inclusion by following qualitative research method. The analysis will continue with Albanian legislation in the field of education, and strategies in the framework of social policies and inclusiveness. This article examines the function of documents as a data source in qualitative research and discusses document analysis in the context of identification of different factors that lead to social exclusion (Bowen, 2009). The document analysis will continue with the identification of problems and social groups that are excluded or limited from the opportunity to fully enjoy the right to quality education, based on the primary field studies of state organizations, international and local organizations, focusing on the reasons that led them toward social exclusion. The article will discuss the appropriate approaches dedicated to each specific group, that must be followed by the state as the duty-bearer to make education a priority right for everyone. The literature review will highlight the strengths and the weaknesses of strategic policy directions and legislative changes implemented in Albania, which have an impact on social inclusion in education. The analyses will answer to the following research question: what are the appropriate political and legislative mechanisms to follow towards an education without discrimination in a diverse society?

Results

The difference in the provision of the right to education in Albania has been recognized by different analyses of the education system. Differences are noticed between rural and urban schools, the quality of teaching staff and the availability

of resources. These differences are mainly felt by marginalized groups of children, such as Roma, Balkan Egyptians, low-income students, and students with disabilities (UNESCO, 2017; Poni, 2013; Taraj, 2018) affecting social exclusion or dropping out of school (UNESCO, 2015).

Although, various studies in Albania, supported from the respective legislation, have identified more categories of children of different social groups, who are at risk of being excluded from the right to education (Miço & Zaçellari, 2021). We can mention children isolated due to blood feud (People's Advocate, 2014; Mece, 2017) or those who have dropped out of school, children from low-income families, children who live in deep mountainous areas, girls in areas with a backward mentality and other social problems, children out of parental care, children who are victims of domestic violence accompanied or not with the loss/removal of parental responsibility, street children and those who work, children in conflict with the law, migrant children and asylum seeker children, etc. (Mico, 2019; UNICEF, 2010; People's Advocate, 2015). The exclusion of these children from obtaining the right to education comes not only as a result of economic burden, but also due to the belonging to a certain minority group, (ex. Roma children), due to the lack of appropriate measures for life security from blood feud or other human rights and freedoms that affect the enjoyment of the right to education, due to labour migration or asylum, or due to backward mentality (the case of children living in conflict zones or in deep rural areas).

For each of these risk factors that endanger social inclusion in education, appropriate measures should be taken to make the child who belongs to that group, part of the school community. The measures should be multi-planned with the aim of solving in a sustainable way the inclusion of children in education.

The summary presented in the Table 1, shows the category of children at risk for social exclusion in education, the specific needs, the legal approach and the alignment of the measures with the Education 2030 Incheon Declaration, towards inclusive education.

Priority target	lssues	Guidelines	The approach	Education 2030 Incheon Declaration (2016)
1				
Children of compulsory school age who have either dropped out of school or interrupted school attendance	School dropout; Irregular attendance.	Law no. 69/2012 "On pre- university education in the Republic of Albania"; Instruction no. 29, dated 02.08.2013, of the Ministry of Education and Science, "On the procedures for following part-time basic education".	"The second chance" is an educational program, which serves to reintegrate children till 17 years old, who have dropped out of school in the educational process. The school year for these children is expected to last less than the normal duration, offering a reduced learning process.	Second chance/re- entry program.
2				
Hidden children for the education system	The children belong to the age of compulsory basic education (up to 16 years), who have never attended educational institutions and may not be equipped with an identification number. These children are easily found on the streets when they should be in school.	Law no. 69/2012 "On pre- university education in the Republic of Albania"; Joint order "On the approval of the regulation for the implementation of the cooperation agreement dated 02.08.2013, "On the identification and registration in school of all children of compulsory school age".	Engagement of education, health, and internal affairs structures in the process of tracking and identifying registered and unregistered children in educational institutions with the aim of access to school.	Elimination of barriers.
3				
Children isolated as a result of the blood feud phenomenon	Children isolated as a result of the blood feud phenomenon do not participate in the educational process, since their lives are in danger if they leave the house.	Law no. 69/2012 "On pre- university education in the Republic of Albania" Instruction "On the procedures for the education of isolated children due to blood feud".	Method of providing the educational process outside of school, with limited time, in the homes of isolated children due to blood feud.	Special measures for education content.

Table 1. The summary of governmental approaches towards social inclusion in education

Table 1. Continued

Priority target	lssues	Guidelines	The approach	Education 2030 Incheon Declaration (2016)
4				
Children who are in detention and prison institutions	Interruption of the educational process of children who are in conflict with the law and the socialization of children.	Code of Criminal Justice for Minors" Law 69/2012 "On pre- university education in the Republic of Albania".	Education of minors in conflict with the law, through education even as a compulsory measure to be followed minors, either as an obligation imposed by the court in the form of attending compulsory education or an educational program.	Second chance/re- entry program.
5				
Roma and Egyptian children	Lack of access to education for Roma children; Segregation.	Law "On the protection of national minorities in the Republic of Albania"; Law 69/2012 "On pre- university education in the Republic of Albania"; Instruction no. 34, dated 8.12.2004, of the Ministry of Education "On the implementation of the project "Second chance" for the education of pupils who have dropped out of school and pupils stuck due to blood feud". Instruction no. 6, dated 29.03.2006, of the Ministry of Education and Science, "On school registration of Roma students who do not have a birth certificate". Decision No. 107, dated 10.2.2010, of the Council of Ministers, "On the publication, printing, distribution and sale of textbooks of the pre-university education system".	Easing the economic and administrative barriers of Roma families, in order for the children to attend school; Providing scholarships/food quotas for Roma students throughout the school year.	Second chance/re- entry program; Elimination of cost, health and administrative barriers; Provision of school meals.

Table 1. Continued

Priority target	lssues	Guidelines	The approach	Education 2030 Incheon Declaration (2016)
		Decision no. 298, dated 19.05.2021, of the Council of Ministers, "On the approval of the pilot project "On measures to promote learning, attendance and progress of the students of the 9-year school 'Naim Frashëri' Korçë, for the school year 2021- 2022".		
6				
Children with disabilities	Need for adapted education, with equal access according to the needs of children with disabilities.	Law 69/2012 "On pre- university education in the Republic of Albania"; Decision no. 837, dated 03.12.2014, of the Council of Ministers "On the recognition of sign language in the Republic of Albania, published in the Official Gazette no. 190, 2014, Instruction no. 38, dated 07.10.2014 of the Ministry of Education and Sports, "On the criteria of assistant teachers for students with disabilities in public institutions of pre-university education"; Order no. 195, dated 25.4.2016, of the Ministry of Education and Sport "On the approval of the document "Education and training of teachers for inclusiveness – Profile of the inclusive teacher" Guideline of the Agency for Quality Assurance in Pre-University Education (2020). On the realization of the subject program and the evaluation of the students	The integration of children in general public education, the presence of an assistant teacher during the teaching process with special knowledge to treat children with disabilities and the creation of a suitable environment.	Special measures for education content; Teacher training on inclusive education.

Table 1. Continued

Priority target	lssues	Guidelines	The approach	Education 2030 Incheon Declaration (2016)
7				
Refugee and asylum seeker children	The inclusion of refugee and asylum- seeking children in the educational system and the need for a more suitable education for them.	The Convention for the Protection of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms. (1950) and the First Protocol of the Convention (1952). UN Convention relating to the Status of Refugees 28 July 1951. The law no. 10/2021 "On asylum", Law 69/2012 "On pre- university education in the Republic of Albania"; Decision of the Council of Ministers, "On determining the minimum living conditions and social conditions for international protection applicants". Instruction no. 10, dated 10.05.2021 of the Ministry of Education and Sport, "On registration and Support in public pre-university educational institutions of children of persons in migration / asylum situation, refugees, unaccompanied foreign children, children returning from emigration, from areas of conflict or children, victims of trafficking, in the Republic of Albania".	The inclusion of children into the mainstream education. The right to education is provided conditionally, in accordance to the status of children. In the case of international protection, the right to education is limited only to children.	Individual educational teaching plan; assistance in learning and teaching materials; Elimination of administrative barriers.
8				
Returned migrants' children	The inclusion of returned migrants' children in the educational system and the need for a more suitable education for them.	Law 69/2012 "On pre- university education in the Republic of Albania"; Instruction No. 44, dated 21.8.2013 of the Ministry of Education and Science, "On determining the criteria and procedures for the eqivalence of the diploma in pre- university education	Drafting of a special curriculum for the Albanian language in order to help the children of the returned migrants, as well as the organization of summer schools	Individual educational teaching plan; assistance in learning and teaching materials; Elimination of administrative barriers.

Table 1.	Continued
----------	-----------

Priority target	lssues	Guidelines	The approach	Education 2030 Incheon Declaration (2016)
		of students coming from abroad". Instruction no. 10, dated 10.05.2021 of the Ministry of Education and Sport, "On registration and support in public pre-university educational institutions of children of persons in migration / asylum situation, refugees, unaccompanied foreign children, children returning from emigration, from areas of conflict or children, victims of trafficking in the Republic of Albania".	for this purpose (Zaçellari & Miço, 2019).	

Discussion

As discussed above, the groups at risk of social exclusion in Albanian education are helped by different approaches, some of which are similar to the measures provided by the Education 2030 Incheon Declaration. As part of the strategies that promote inclusion in education, other measures have been provided to ensure that no child is left out of the education system, such as the provision of school meals/nutrition and health services, inclusive school facilities and language policies to address exclusion (Education 2030 Incheon Declaration, 2016).

However, not every measure taken by the state serves to social inclusion in education. In the context of isolated children due to blood feud, the establishment of the educational mechanism where the teacher goes two or three times a week to one of the isolated families to partially explain variety of subjects held in school, is more an attempt to offer a partial educational process, than to create social inclusion in education for this group. Children remain excluded from their age group by not being part of regular teaching and learning. In this way, they neither manage to feel secure in enjoying life, nor participate in the educational process in a full and regular way, nor feel included in teaching process (Meçe, 2017). Moreover, in relation to this category of children, it is necessary to work towards increasing the educational role through redesigning

the teaching programs and educational activities with the spirit of tolerance, against self-judgment, blood feud and revenge (People's Advocate, 2015).

The provision of food (meal) for Roma children in "Naim Frasheri" elementary school located in the south eastern part of Albania, has increased the segregation of Roma children, who instead of feeling more included in the school, they feel isolated within the community. Regarding this issue, the European Court of Human Rights has found the Albanian government guilty of segregating Roma and Egyptian children at a school in Korca in the country's south (Case of X and Others v. Albanian (*Applications no 73548/17 and 45521/19*).

On the other hand, the inclusion of children with disabilities in mainstream education, without implementing the legal requirements for assistant teachers, has not helped the children to feel included in classroom or in learning process (Save the Children, 2012). Starting from 2020, the necessary legal framework began to be implemented for licensing the teachers in change of taking care of children with disabilities. This process was also accompanied with the opening of the assistant teacher positions, especially for helping children with disabilities to integrate into the learning process and class community (Albanian Ministry of Education and Sport, 2019).

Moreover, despite the fact that nine groups of citizens are legally recognized as national minorities (On the protection of national minorities in the Republic of Albania, Pub. L. No. 96/2017), only a few of them may exercise the right to learn the language of the minority. The lack of teaching, both in the language of the minority and in the Albanian language, excludes these children from belonging to the class within the context of the diversity they carry.

It is necessary to identify the children according to the specific group, by understanding the level and type of obstacle regarding their inclusion in education. For this, it is necessary to track the children in time, and to understand the follow-up of each one's problem. In order to plan the inclusion of each child in education in the framework of the diversity that the child carries, it is required to find the mechanisms that serve for inclusion in education each specific category of children. The adaptation of the right to education according to the needs of special social groups makes possible the full realization of this right in the context of the current social diversity.

Conclusions

The need to address social inclusion in education comes as a result of the increasing diversity of society both at the global and national level. The paper has identified different social groups that are most likely to be inclined towards social exclusion in education, emphasizing the conditions that lead towards the lack of enjoyment of the right to education. The analysis of marginalized groups

highlighted the specific needs of each group, the legal framework that serves as a tool to achieve social inclusion in education, as well as the comparison of specific Albanian policy approaches with those provided for in international strategic documents such as the Education 2030 Incheon Declaration.

During the analysis, it is highlighted the need for cross-sector policies and plans consistent with the overall 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development, in order to address the social, cultural and economic barriers that deprive children of education and quality learning.

Through the research and analysis of the organizations that deal with the protection of human rights in Albania, the need to have multi-dimensional plans, together with multiple approach solutions was emphasized in order for the policy discourse to focus on specific policies for equal access to quality education.

Under the light of the first principle of the European Pillar of social rights, which states that: "Everyone has the right to quality and inclusive education, training and life-long learning ...", the social inclusion in education will strengthen social cohesion and will serve the children to have positive and inclusive common sense of belonging in society.

REFERENCES

Albanian Council of Ministers. (2021, October 22). "On the approval of the National Education Strategy 2021–2026 and the action plan for its implementation". Decision no. 621, dated 22.10.2021 of the Council of Ministers. https://arsimi.gov.al/wp-content/uploads/2021/05/Draft-Strategjia-per-Arsimin-2021-2026.pdf.

Albanian Council of Ministers. (2021, December 29). "On determining the minimum living conditions and social conditions for international protection applicants", Decision no. 855, dated 29.12.2021, of the Council of Ministers. www.qbz.gov.al.

Albanian Ministry of Education and Sports, Ministry of Internal Affairs and Ministry of Health. (2015, January 05). "On the approval of the regulation for the implementation of the cooperation agreement dated 02.08.2013, "On the identification and registration in school of all children of compulsory school age", Ministry of Education and Sports, Ministry of Internal Affairs and Ministry of Health Joint Order no. 2, dated 05.01.2015. Official Gazette no. 202, dated November 25, 2015. www.qbz.gov.al.

Albanian Ministry of Education and Science (2013, August 13). "On the procedures for the education of isolated children due to blood feud". Instruction no. 36, dated 13.08.2013, of the Ministry of Education and Science. Official Gazette No. 141, dated August 23, 2013. www. qbz.gov.al.

Albanian Ministry of Education and Science. (2013, August 21). "On determining the criteria and procedures for the eqivalence of the diploma in pre-university education of students coming from abroad". Instruction No. 44, dated 21.8.2013 of the Ministry of Education and Science, as amended. Offical Gazzette No. 146, dated 05.09.2013. www.qbz.gov.al.

Albanian Ministry of Education and Sport. (2019, October 14). "On some amendments on the Instruction no. 10, dated 03.04.2015, "On the content and form of the license that the candidate obtains at the end of the state exam for exercising the regulated profession of teacher". Instruction No. 23, dated 14.10.2019 of the Ministry of Education and Sport. Offical Gazzette No. 144,

dated 25.10.2019. https://www.qbz.gov.al/eli/udhezim/2019/10/14/23/55ed5f77-2e2e-4d5f-9d0f-9077f4227565;q=udhezimi%20nr%2023%20date%2014.10.2019%20i%20 ministrise%20se%20arsimit

Albanian Quality Assurance Agency in Pre-university Education. (2020). On the realization of the subject program and the evaluation of the students during the home learning. Guideline of Albanian Quality Assurance Agency in Pre-university Education 21.03.2020. https://www.ascap.edu.al/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/Udhezues-vleresimi-ne-kushte-te-shtepise_.pdf.

Beiter, K. (2006). *The protection of the right to education by international law*. Martinus Nijhoff Publishers. https://lawcat.berkeley.edu/record/434637.

Bowen, G. (2009). Document Analysis as a Qualitative Research Method. *Qualitative Research Journal*, 9(2), 27–40. http://dx.doi.org/10.3316/QRJ0902027.

Byrne, K. (2014). Analysis of policies and reforms affecting the situation of children in Albania. Tirana, UNICEF.

Byrne, K., Kulluri E., Gedeshi I. (2021). *Situation Analysis of Children and Adolescents in Albania*. UNICEF Albania, Tirana. https://www.unicef.org/albania/media/4071/file/Situation%20Analysis%20of%20Children%20and%20Adolescents%20in%20Albania.pdf.

Case no. 73548/17 and 45521/19, *Final Judgement of 31 August 2022*: X and Others v. Albania. European Court of Human Rights. https://hudoc.echr.coe.int/fre#{%22tab-view%22:[%22document%22],%22itemid%22:[%22001-217624%22]}.

Code of Criminal Justice for Minors, Pub. L. No. 37/2017, 30.03.2017. https://www.drejtesia.gov.al/wp-content/uploads/2017/11/03_Ligj_37_2017_30.03.2017_Kodi_i_Drejtesise_Penale_per_te_Miturit.pdf.

Commission of the European Communities. (2008). Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions *Improving competences for the 21st Century: An Agenda for European Cooperation on Schools* {SEC (2008) 2177}. https://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri = COM:2008:0425:FIN:EN:PDF.

Commission of the European Communities. (2008). Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions. Improving competences for the 21st Century: An Agenda for European Cooperation on Schools. SEC (2008) 2177. Brussels, 3.7.2008. https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri = celex%3A52008DC0425.

Constitution of the Republic of Albania, adapted by the law no. 8417, dated 21.10.1998, as amended. https://www.parlament.al/Files/sKuvendi/kushtetuta.pdf.

Coomans, F. (2007). Content and Scope of the Right to Education as a Human Right and Obstacles to Its Realization. In Y. Donders & V. Volodin (eds). *Human Rights in Education, Science and Culture – Legal Development and Challenges*. Paris and Aldershot: UNESCO Publishing / Ashgate. pp 183.

Council of Europe. (1950). Convention for the Protection of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms. In *Council of Europe Treaty Series 005*. Council of Europe. https://www.echr.coe.int/documents/convention_eng.pdf.

Council of Europe. (1952). *The European convention on human rights*. Protocol 1. March, 20. 1952. https://www.echr.coe.int/documents/convention_eng.pdf.

Council of European Union. (2016). Resolution of the Council and of the Representatives of the Governments of the Member States, meeting within the Council, of 24 February 2016 on promoting socioeconomic development and inclusiveness in the EU through education: the contribution of education and training to the European Semester 2016. (2016/C 105/01) Official Journal

of the European Union C105/1 19.03.2016. https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri = CELEX%3A42016Y0319%2801%29.

Council of European Union & European Commission. (2015). On the implementation of the strategic framework for European cooperation in education and training (ET 2020). New priorities for European cooperation in education and training. 2015 Joint Report of the Council and the Commission (2015/C 417/04). Official Journal of the European Union C 417/25, 15.12.2015. Retrieved from https://op.europa.eu/en/publication-detail/-/publication/b370b902-a2fe-11e5-b528-01aa75ed71a1/language-en.

Council of European Union. (2017). *Council Conclusions on school development and excellent teaching*. (2017/C 421/03) Official Journal of the European Union C 421/2 08.12.2017. https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri = CELEX:52017XG1208(01)&rid = 4.

Council of European Union. (2018). *Council Recommendation of 22 May 2018, on promoting common values, inclusive education, and the European dimension of teaching.* (2018/C 195/01) Official Journal of the European Union C 195/1 07.06.2018. https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri = CELEX:32018H0607(01)&from = EN.

Crépeau, F., & Sheppard, C. (2013). Introduction. In F. Crépeau, & C. Sheppard, (Eds.). *Human Rights and Diverse Societies: Challenges and Possibilities*. Cambridge Scholars Publishing.

Council of Europe. (2016). Human Rights in Culturally Diverse Societies. Guidelines Adopted by the Committee of Ministers and Compilation of Council of Europe Standards. https://rm.coe.int/guidelines-hr-in-culturally-diverse-societies/168073dced.

Education 2030. Incheon Declaration and Framework for Action for the implementation of Sustainable Development Goal 4. Insure inclusive and equitable quality education and lifelong learning for all. UNESCO, UNICEF, the World Bank, UNFPA, UNDP, UN Women, & UNHCR. (2016). P. 32. https://uis.unesco.org/sites/default/files/documents/education-2030-incheon-framework-for-action-implementation-of-sdg4-2016-en_2.pdf.

Graham, B., White, C., Edwards, A., Potter, S., Street, C. (2019). *School exclusion: a literature review on the continued disproportionate exclusion of certain children*. Department of Education, UK. https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/800028/Timpson_review_of_school_exclusion_literature_review.pdf.

Hytten, K. & Bettez, S. (2011). Understanding Education for Social Inclusion. *Educational Foundations, Winter-Spring*, 5(1–2), 7–24. ISSN-1047-8248. https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ925898.

Institute of Statistics, Institute of Public Health, ICF. (2018). *Albania Demographic and Health Survey 2017–18*. Tirana. https://dhsprogram.com/pubs/pdf/FR348/FR348.pdf.

McCowan, T. (2010). Reframing the universal right to education. *Comparative Education*, 46(4), 509–525. https://www.jstor.org/stable/25800021.

Meçe, M. (2017). Living in Uncertainty: Resurgence of Blood Feud in Albanian Post-Socialist Society and Its Consequences on Children and Young Adults. *Contemporary Readings in Law and Social Justice*, *9*(2), 28–38. https://doi.org/10.22381/CRLSJ9220172

Miço, H. (2019). "An overview of the right to education in Albania. The performance of this right in accordance to European legislation." (Unpublished Doctoral Dissertation). Institute of European Studies, University of Tirana. Albania. http://www.doktoratura.unitir.edu. al/2020/01/nje-veshtrim-i-pergjithshem-mbi-te-drejten-per-arsim-ne-shqiperi-ecuria-e-kesaj-te-drejte-ne-perputhje-me-standardet-nderkombetare-dhe-legjislacionin-evropian/

Miço, H., & Zaçellari, M. (2021). Barriers to implementation of the child's rights to inclusive education: the case of Albania. *A child in history- between dignity and enslavement, Vol 1. The child as a foundation of human rights.* Publishing House of the University of Bialystok. Sc. Ed. Elwira J. Kryńska, Łukasz Kalisz, Agnieszka Suplicka. Bialystok, pp. 365–378.

Muijs, D., Ainscow, M., Dyson, A., Raffo, C., Goldrick, S., Kerr, K., Lennie, C., & Miles, S. (2007). *Every Child Matters. Leading schools to promote social inclusion: a study of practice.* National College for School Leadership. www.ncsl.org.uk/publications

Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights. (1999). Implementation of the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, General Comment No. 13 (twenty-first session of the Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, 1999), The right to education (Art. 13 of the Covenant), Document E/C.12/1999/10, 8 December 1999. https://www.refworld.org/pdfid/4538838c22.pdf

 $On \mbox{Pre-University} \mbox{Education} System in the Republic of Albania, Pub. L. No. 69/2012, 21.06.2012. https://arsimi.gov.al/wp-content/uploads/2019/02/Permbledhje-parauniversitari-8-Tetor-2020.pdf$

On Higher Education and Scientific Research in Institutions of Higher Education in the Republic of Albania, Pub. L. No. 80/2015, 21.09.2015. https://www.qbz.gov.al/eli/fz/2015/164/c13c78e5-b989-46e5-9be2-3589d6f768e0

On vocational education and training in the Republic of Albania, Pub. L. No. 15/2017, 09.03.2017. https://www.qbz.gov.al/eli/ligj/2017/02/16/15-2017/775399c6-d451-49a2-a55c-a2e4f38e577b;q=ligji%2015%2F2017

On the protection of national minorities in the Republic of Albania, Pub. L. No. 96/2017, dated 13.10.2017. https://www.kmd.al/wp-content/uploads/2018/05/1524738824-Ligji-Per-Mbrojtjen-e-Pakicave-Kombetare-ne-R.Sh-2017.pdf

On asylum in the Republic of Albania, Pub. L. No. 10/2021, dated 24.02.2021. https:// www.parlament.al/Files/Akte/20210203145606ligj%20nr%20%2010%20dt%20%201%20 2%202021.pdf

Organising Bureau of European School Student Union. (2014). *Guidelines on social inclusion in education*. Vienna, Austria. https://www.obessu.org/site/assets/files/1310/2014_-_guidelines_on_social_inclusion_in_education.pdf

People's Advocate (2014). Tracing, Analysis and Evincing Factors Affecting Increase of Asylum Applications by Albanian Nationals in Member States of Schengen Area. Retrieved from www. avokatipopullit.gov.al

People's Advocate. (2015). Mbi fenomenin e gjakmarrjes në Shqipëri. Raport i veçantë II. (On the phenomenon of blood feud in Albania. Special Report II). Tirana. https://www.avokatipopullit.gov.al/media/manager/website/reports/RAPORT%20I%20 VE%C3%87ANT%C3%8B%20%20nr.%202.%20per%20gjakmarrjen.pdf

Pillai, S. (2012). Right to Education under European Convention for the Protection of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms 1950. *Christ University Law Journal*, 1(1), 101–115. ISSN 2278-4322. https://doi.org/10.12728/culj.1.7

Poni, M. (2013). Inclusion of children with disabilities in mainstream education in Albania: lessons from three regions. *Education for the knowledge society*. https://core. ac.uk/display/152488211?utm_source = pdf&utm_medium = banner&utm_campaign = pdf-decoration-v1

Save the Children. (2012). *Child Rights Situation Analysis Albania*. Tirana. Save the Children. https://albania.savethechildren.net/sites/albania.savethechildren.net/files/library/Child%20Rights%20Situation%20Analysis%20Albania%5B1%5D.pdf.

Save the Children. (2012). Inclusive Education in Albania – Analytical Study. https://resourcecentre.savethechildren.net/pdf/inclusive_education_in_albania_-_analytic_study.pdf/

Slijepčević, D. (2016). Education as a mechanism of social inclusion – The role of education in reducing the risks of social exclusion. *Социолошки дискурс, 6*(11). https://doi.org/10.7251/SDENG1611093S

Taraj, G. (2018). Equal Opportunities for all Albanian Learners. *Journal of Educational and Social Research*, 8(1). De Gruyter. https://doi.org/10.2478/jesr-2018-0004

The number of out-of-school children in Albania is published on the official page of UNESCO, Institute of Statistics. http://uis.unesco.org/en/country/al

Tomasevski, K. (2003). *Education denied: costs and remedies*. Zed Books. https://www.amazon.com/Education-Denied-Remedies-Katarina-Tomasevski/dp/1842772511

UNESCO. (1960, December 14). Convention against Discrimination in Education. https://www.ohchr.org/en/instruments-mechanisms/instruments/convention-against-discrimination-education

UNESCO. (2020). Global Education Monitoring Report 2020: Inclusion and education: All means all. Paris. UNESCO. https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000373718

UNESCO. (2016). Incheon Declaration and Framework for Action for the implementation of Sustainable Development Goal 4. Ensure inclusive and equitable quality education and promote lifelong learning opportunities for all. http://uis.unesco.org/en/files/education-2030-incheon-framework-action-implementation-sdg4-2016-en-pdf-1

UNESCO. (2015). Education 2030: Framework for Action – Towards inclusive and equitable quality education and lifelong learning for all. http://uis.unesco.org/sites/default/files/documents/education-2030-incheon-framework-for-action-implementation-of-sdg4-2016-en_2.pdf

UNESCO. (2015). UNESCO Country Programming Document for Albania 2014-2017. Second edition – January 2015. https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000233036.

UNESCO. (2017). Albania Education Policy Review: Issues and Recommendations Extended Report. Paris, August 2017. https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000259245

UNICEF, (2010). Politikat e përfshirjes sociale për fëmijët dhe financimi i tyre në Shqipëri. Tirana https://www.unicef.org/albania/Children Social Inclusion Shqip13.pdf

United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs. (2016). Report on the World Social Situation 2016 Leaving no one Behind: The Imperative of Inclusive Development. https://doi.org/10.18356/5aa151e0-en

United Nations. (1948). Universal Declaration of Human Rights. https://www.un.org/en/about-us/universal-declaration-of-human-rights

United Nations. (1966, December 16). International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights. https://www.ohchr.org/en/instruments-mechanisms/instruments/international-covenant-economic-social-and-cultural-rights

United Nations. (1966, December 16). International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights. https://www.ohchr.org/en/instruments-mechanisms/instruments/international-covenant-civil-and-political-rights

United Nations. (1965, December 21). International Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination. https://www.ohchr.org/en/instruments-mechanisms/instruments/international-convention-elimination-all-forms-racial

United Nations. (1979, December 18). Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women. https://www.ohchr.org/en/instruments-mechanisms/instruments/convention-elimination-all-forms-discrimination-against-women

United Nations. (1989, November 20). Convention on the Rights of the Child. https://www.ohchr.org/en/instruments-mechanisms/instruments/convention-rights-child.

United Nations Human Rights. (2014). The Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities Training Guide. *Professional Training Series No. 19.* https://www.ohchr.org/sites/default/files/Documents/Publications/CRPD_TrainingGuide_PTS19_EN_Accessible.pdf.

United Nations *Convention relating to the Status of Refugees* opened for signature 28 July 1951. 189 U.N.T.S. 150, (entered into force April 22, 1954). United Nations. 1951. UN Protocol relating to the Status of Refugees. New York, 31 January 1967. https://www.ohchr.org/en/instruments-mechanisms/instruments/convention-relating-status-refugees.

Volio, F. (1979). The child's right to education: a survey. In G. Mialaret (Eds). *The child's right to education*. UNESCO (pp. 19–34). https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000032391.

Watson, L. (2009). The challenge of social inclusion for Australian Schooling. *Australian Social Policy Conference – Children, Young people and Families*, pp. 1–12. University of New South Wales. Australia. https://researchprofiles.canberra.edu.au/en/publications/the-challenge-of-social-inclusion-for-australian-schooling.

Zaçellari, M., & Miço, H. (2019). Issues Regarding Quality Education for the Returned Migrants' Children into Albania. *Shaping the future through dialogue, quality and education*. Szabo, Peter. "Kodolanyi Janos University" (2019), Budapest, Hungary. ISBN 978-615-5075-52-0.

https://doi.org/10.22364/atee.2022.58

Support for Children of Returning Migrant Families in Latvian Schools

Una Auziņa

University of Latvia, Latvia una.auzina@isriga.lv

ABSTRACT

Every year, approximately 800 families return to live in Latvia. Remigrant (returning migrant) families both include parents who were born in Latvia and spent their childhoods there, or were born abroad. The number of students from remigrating families in Latvian educational institutions is constantly increasing.

Although there is some support for children from remigrating families, it does not necessarily reflect all the needs for a supportive and inclusive learning environment in an educational institution, especially in relation to student well-being, achievement and participation. Studies in Latvia show that if problems identified by the representatives of educational institutions (principals and educators) are more related to the learning content or the knowledge of the students, then the parents emphasize the aspect of attitude more. The parents believe that teachers sometimes lack understanding and tolerance, because the focus is more on learning subjects than building a class team, promoting cooperation or preventing conflicts.

One of the resources to solve the identified problems of the integration process of students with foreign educational experience in schools is not only the collective mutual cooperation of the educational institution, support measures, cooperation with the student's family, but also targeted work with the student's classmates and the entire school community. This can contribute to the fact that every student in an educational institution can feel safe, motivated and passionate about eliminating the gaps in their knowledge and being included in the Latvian education system.

The research uses theoretical analysis methods: an analysis of scientific literature and an analysis of international experience. Based on this, criteria for evaluating support will be developed.

Keywords: Children, family, return migrants, school, support

Introduction

Migration has been a part of human history since ancient times. Families move to other countries for a variety of reasons, and the reasons for returning differ just as much. Some of these motives are the pursuit of a better quality of life, new work or educational opportunities, or the desire to provide their children with a sense of homeland that they once lost.

Returning to Latvia after a period of time spent abroad has so far been a relatively little studied topic in the study of migration processes in Latvia. There is a lack of in-depth studies based on the study of the practice of the return process, focusing on Latvian nationals who have returned to their homeland – remigrants.

Every year, approximately 800 families return to live in Latvia. Remigrating families include parents (of returning migrant children) who were born and raised in Latvia, and those where the parents were born outside of Latvia, but one or both grandparents were born in Latvia. According to definition (Ministru kabineta noteikumi, 2018) a remigrant is defined as a Latvian national (citizen, non-citizen or person born in Latvia) who has emigrated to another country for the purpose of changing permanent residence for at least one year.

There are several important issues that need to be resolved in order to make remigration more successful. Although a plan of support measures has been created and a series of actions have been taken to support returning migrants and their families, it is not always successful. Integration is hampered by many factors that are political, economic, social and other issues that are important to people.

Research shows that until 2017, personal motives contributed the most to returning to Latvia – the desire to be with family, the desire to give children an education and the opportunity to live in their/their parents' homeland, rather than economic motivation (Zača, Hazans, Bela, 2018). The number of students from remigrating families in Latvian educational institutions is increasing: in the school year 2015/2016 there were 664 students, in 2017/2018 835 students, but in 2019/2020 already 1680. Remigrated students have studied in more than 75% of Riga municipal educational institutions in the last three years (Mihailovs, 2020).

For adult expats, this is often a step back into a normal environment, but what about children? How do children feel when they return to their parents' or grandparents' homeland, and integrate into school and society in general? Gross has drawn attention to the fact that a child's well-being in the context of migration is definitely influenced by various factors – the student's age, ability to adapt to new conditions, parents' busyness or participation in school life, the attitude of teachers and the competence of the entire school community in working with newcomers both from the point of view of the learning process and the point of view of sensitivity, as well as the readiness of other children and the attitude towards children with a different level of the national language, subject knowledge, different mentality, etc. (Gross, 2022).

In 2018, 4,852 remigrants returned to Latvia. Children (aged 14 and younger) and young people (aged 25 to 34) make up the largest part of returning migrants (Centrālā statistikas pārvalde, 2019). In the study on the consolidation of a unifying national identity and cultural space of Latvia during (Mieriņa et al., 2017) it is said that 30% of returning migrants who have children encountered difficulties related to their children's education. Dissatisfaction with the school environment certainly significantly reduces the willingness of both sexes to stay in Latvia permanently and connect their life with Latvia in the long term, as well as the probability of evaluating their decision to return as correct.

What is at the root of this dissatisfaction? Are the problems related to the lack of suitable methodological and teaching materials in educational institutions, the need for further education of pedagogues on the inclusion of learners in the Latvian education system, or are there other factors? There are studies on support measures educational institutions need to improve for their work with immigrant and return migrant children, but there is a lack of in-depth research on what support measures students need to help integrate into school.

The research questions that will be answered in this study are:

- 1. What is the regulatory provision for support for the children of return migrants in Latvian schools?
- 2. What problems have been identified and what kind of support would be needed, taking into account the experience of Latvia and other countries?

Methodology

While researching what support measures are needed for children of returning migrant families to help them integrate into school, both theoretical literature and normative documents on remigration in general and related issues were searched and analyzed. Data from the Ministry of Education and Science provided information on how many remigrating students study in Latvian educational institutions (Izglītības un zinātnes ministrija, 2020). The regulations of the Cabinet of Ministers explain the procedure by which learners are admitted to general education programs. These regulations apply both to learners who have returned or moved from their home country to permanent residence in Latvia after a long absence and who have previously received education in Latvia, as well as to those who have not previously studied in Latvia (Ministru kabineta noteikumi, 2022). They also indicate what support and for how long these students are expected to receive. The guidelines for the development of education in Latvia, which is a planning document on a unified state policy and development strategy in education from 2021 to 2027, were examined. Also, policy outcomes for all population groups were analyzed. Special attention was paid to the issue of the planned inclusive learning process in order to understand whether and how the

set goals could facilitate the integration of remigrant students in Latvian educational institutions in the future. Order of the Cabinet of Ministers on National Identity, Civil Society and Integration Policy Guidelines 2012-2018 for 2018, indicates the planned and accomplished in relation to diaspora-decisions, as well as the real remigration processes, which are related to providing information to those who are thinking about returning, and specific support to those people who have returned, paying attention also to how to achieve the inclusion of the children of return migrants in the Latvian education system (Ministru kabineta noteikumi, 2017).

In this study, information from the State Service of Quality of Education (Izglītības kvalitātes valsts dienests, 2014) was used about students (children from remigrant families) who have returned from studies in another country. During this research with the aim of finding out what the integration of these students into the Latvian education system has been like, 64 educational institutions of Latvia were identified, where students who have returned from studies in another country have studied/are studying. A total of 184 questionnaires were received, incl. 31 from directors of educational institutions, 111 educators and 42 parents.

Information about remigrant children in Latvia and other countries was especially searched for, analyzing the research of various authors on this topic. The theoretical literature on remigration and its effects in general was explored using the following keywords: children, family, school, return migrants, support. In the databases Researchgate, Scopus, Sage and Springer, in general, more than ten articles were selected that researched and analyzed the experience of remigrant children in Latvia and the world, as well as the various challenges that children and young people face when moving (Vathi and Duci, 2016; Dumitru and Langa, 2016; Gross, 2022; Catalano, 2016; Parrenas, 2005). The results of quantitative and qualitative studies of return migrant children in Latvia (Hazans, 2016; Ose, 2015; Pičukāne and Mihailovs, 2017) provide theoretical material about the situation in Latvia, while Lithuanian remigration researcher (Bagdonaitė, 2020) analyzes the experience of teachers in working with return migrant children in Lithuania, citing challenges and good practices that help these children integrate into schools. Here you can see a lot of similarities and you can easily draw parallels with the difficulties faced by the children of returning migrants in Latvian schools. The most important conclusions that were obtained are that all political decisions related to the migration process affect the children of migrant families. Appropriate and thoughtful preparation of the education system for the reception of returnees provides opportunities for successful integration of returnees and their children, creating long-term added value for the country. Both external and internal factors affect the children of returned families, so it is difficult to find the right approach for the successful integration of these children in the new home country.

The analysis of the theoretical literature and regulatory documents on the support measures intended for the return migrant children helped to find answers to the questions about what kind of regulatory provision is intended to support the return migrant children in Latvian schools. It revealed both what has been introduced or is planned to be introduced in legislation to facilitate the inclusion of these children in educational institutions, as well as what problems have been identified. Based on the obtained data, it was possible to create criteria for what kind of support remigrant children in Latvia would need, taking into account the experience of Latvia and other countries.

Results

The research found out what the regulatory provision is for the return migrant children in Latvia and what measures are implemented to promote their inclusion in educational institutions.

In order to ensure all possible support for the inclusion of reemigrated children in general educational institutions of Latvia and to prepare pedagogues to work with children who return to Latvia from abroad, the Latvian Language Agency regularly organizes professional competence improvement courses for pedagogues. Informative seminars are also organized for municipal education work coordinators, school administrations and teachers who work or will work with re-emigrants, immigrants and asylum seekers. In 2021, an online guide was published for parents of returning migrants who plan to return, as well as for teachers of these children, to help understand the problems that such children may face.

When living abroad, families have wide opportunities to improve their knowledge of the Latvian language together with their children in an attractive and engaging way, as well as learn the content of other subjects at the same time. Latvian language learning programs and additional materials for Latvian language learning for diaspora children of different ages have been developed, as well as reading books, animated films and video lessons for understanding grammar questions. Latvian Language Agency constantly develops and improves Latvian language learning materials, including electronic teaching aids that are publicly available on the agency's website. The currently developed descriptions and materials of the functional levels of the Latvian language provide an opportunity to improve the teaching and assessment of the Latvian language for all groups and skill levels of Latvian language learners. This means that students have great opportunities to learn and improve the language even before they start school in Latvia.

Joining a new school is already a process full of challenges. It is even more difficult for a student from a remigrant family if there is a lack of knowledge of the Latvian language, different curricula, etc. In the study of the State Service of Quality of Education "Inclusion in the Latvian education system of students of general education institutions who have returned from studies in another country" it was found that only 4 out of 36 interviewed pedagogues indicated that the student who returned from studies in another country and continued their studies in Latvia did not need special support measures (Izglītības kvalitātes valsts dienests, 2014).

The regulations of the Cabinet of Ministers on the procedure (Ministru kabineta noteikumi, 2022) in which pupils are admitted to general education institutions and deducted from them, the mandatory requirements for transfer to the next class stipulate that a pupil who has previously studied in Latvia, returning from studies in another country, is admitted in a class appropriate to his age and needs, observing the sequence of previously learned curriculum. In order to diagnose the learner's learning needs and plan the further learning process, by inviting the learner and the parent or responsible official of a minor learner, the level of the learner's language skills and the level of the learned content are determined. Then, by the order of the director, the state-funded support measures to be implemented during one school year are determined for the acquisition of compulsory basic education - the improvement of the skills of the Latvian language and literature, history and social sciences subjects, as well as the learning of the subjects that differ from the Latvian and the student's previously learned educational program. It has been established that additional hours may be charged for support measures in schools and paid for from the state budget.

If a student from another country has not previously studied in Latvia, then state-financed support measures for obtaining compulsory basic education can be implemented within one to three school years (Ministru kabineta noteikumi, 2022).

What are the conclusions about the proposed regulatory support for remigrant children in Latvian schools? The evaluation of the student's knowledge is essential in order to find appropriate support measures, such as an individual study plan, the amount of additional consultations or the possibility of attracting the help of a psychologist, social pedagogue, speech therapist, or other specialists.

The materials available for learning and improving the Latvian language are numerous and diverse. This indicates that it is possible to improve Latvian language skills both in the family and at school, but there is probably not enough information on where and what to look for and how to use them meaningfully.

Support measures are mainly intended for subjects related to the Latvian language. It would be important to determine the level of knowledge of the learner in each subject. It is important to create a certain learning plan for each student, according to his knowledge, in which teachers and students agree on specific learning goals and the time for their implementation. Even though the support offered seems wide enough, it is not always available and sufficient for

all remigrant students to successfully integrate in an educational institution. Normative rules do not say anything about the time of adaptation in which there would be no grading. This would be an important psychological support for the return migrant children. The adaptation period would allow students to familiarize themselves with the new situation in the classroom and school in general, to strengthen or improve their Latvian language skills, to overcome differences in educational programs and gaps in knowledge, in order to safely and confidently continue the learning process.

It is important to start with the understanding that when analyzing the role of children in migration processes, the return experience of children is special, taking into account that their move to the country of origin of their parents cannot always be described as "returning home", as some were born and grew up in another country. For many children, the new "home" is a completely new world with a different language, different rules and different attitudes from other people than what they have experienced so far. For these children, the move is not really a return, but rather a migration, since they were born in a different host country.

For children, "returning" means changing the existing social environment and they have to start building new relationships in an often unfamiliar environment. It can be very difficult for them to switch between different school systems and this transition can cause confusion and insecurity for the child. Schools that accept remigrating children do not always show understanding and flexibility in adapting to the individual needs of the student, both psycho-emotionally and academically.

Schools are one of the first and perhaps now the most impactful challenges that migrant children face when they move, and these experiences have lasting effects throughout a person's life.

Although the support program for remigrating students is working, qualitative and quantitative studies (Ose, 2015; Gross, 2022) on the inclusion of students in Latvian schools show that the Latvian education system as a whole is still not welcoming to families returning to Latvia. For a long time, efforts have been made to ensure that the returning migrant children are given a one-year transitional period, where they would not be given grades in academic subjects. During this time, the child would improve his language skills and develop an understanding of the lessons, but would not yet receive an assessment. Low grades do not motivate students to learn.

These children often have a different knowledge of the Latvian language than local children, which also makes it difficult to perceive the learning material in other subjects at school. Many children of returning migrants have problems understanding the Latvian language, speaking fluently in Latvian (Mihailovs, 2020), which actually makes it difficult to learn all subjects and communicate

with both teachers and classmates. Even though schools offer supplementary lessons of the Latvian language prescribed by the state, the reality is often that teachers are not prepared to teach Latvian as a foreign language. Schools often lack the resources to provide additional support for language learning, both in terms of human resources and teaching materials.

There is also no unified system in the country, who will provide this help to students, when and how, and how the funding provided by the state will be distributed. Support measures for students who have recently returned to Latvia (additional learning of the Latvian language or other subjects not previously taught in the country of residence, orientation in Latvian culture, consultations of a psychologist or social pedagogue, which since 2012 are provided for by the Cabinet of Ministers' regulations for students who have returned to Latvia), many respondents did not receive or received only partially (Ose, 2015).

What are the research results on how the return migrant children integrate into Latvian schools? Both the students themselves, their parents, and the teachers admit that the teachers lack experience in working with re-emigrant children, and this is exactly what causes difficulties. Considering the limited experience with such students, schools and teachers lack recommendations, consultations and examples of positive practice for the successful inclusion of such children in school.

Teachers indicate that they lack both methodology and materials available at school for working with remigrants according to different age stages, as well as a lack of information about existing materials focused on teaching language to them, and the skills to combine all the needs of a remigrant in language and environment learning. Most of the pedagogues who participated in the study indicated that they did not know where to look for support in working with remigrated students (Izglītības kvalitātes valsts dienests, 2014).

The presence of a teaching assistant in the school during the initial period would help the integration of recently returned children into the education system. The law on the basic educational development standards in Latvia for 2021-2027 (Ministru kabineta noteikumi, 2021) states that there is not enough available support staff in local government basic and general secondary education institutions, especially speech therapists, educational psychologists and teaching assistants, as a shortcoming of the current system. Teaching assistants are mentioned in the state support measures, but they are provided with municipal funding, which is often insufficient. Individual student lesson plans would be another school support measure, but they are not always created and used. In a survey of Latvian school principals and teachers (Mihailovs, 2020) regarding the most significant problems encountered by remigrated students, the mismatch of educational programs, students' lack of knowledge of the Latvian language, differences in culture and values, as well as insufficient human and financial resources for the creation of individual plans and for implementation. So, the problems mentioned by the

pedagogues are related to the teaching content, the knowledge of the students and insufficient financial possibilities in terms of both support staff and teaching materials, with little attention being paid to the well-being of these students.

When surveying parents of remigrated students in the same study (Mihailovs, 2020), parents also mentioned the inconsistency of educational programs, a large number of parents also mentioned problems related to the lack of understanding and tolerance of educators, bad relations with classmates, classmates "doing wrong" and lack of initiative by educators. The qualitative research conducted by Ose on remigrant students in Latvian schools also shows that, from the point of view of parents and students, the attitude of teachers towards students who have returned to Latvia varies from a supportive attitude, an individualized approach in working with them, to neglect, ignoring the student's needs. Teachers are often overworked, disinterested and intolerant (Ose, 2015). Parents also see differences in the educational system and teaching methodology of Latvia and their previous home country, indicating that Latvian schools are more oriented towards knowledge, remembering, "implantation", rather than critical thinking and the ability to apply the acquired knowledge in real life.

In in-depth interviews, even the factors that hinder the inclusion of return migrant children in schools (Gross, 2022), the parents of remigrant children mentioned the different "atmosphere" in their previous and current school in Latvia, including children's behavior in the classroom, where children in schools in Latvia are ruder, less careful, less polite, less tolerant. Parents indicate that psychological difficulties and bad relations with classmates/schoolmates are a problem that often hinders integration more than difficulties in learning. Such concerns are not unfounded. Latvia's complex historical experience contributes to a low society's tolerance for diversity, multiculturalism and makes it difficult to integrate into Latvian society. Using Eurostat data, Zubikova (2021) revealed that Latvia has the lowest level of immigrant integration (along with Slovenia) of all 10 countries that joined the EU in 2004.

Based on the results of the study, Gross (2022) also acknowledges that the obstacles that hinder the successful integration of returning students into the Latvian school system are also related to the lack of communication/cooperation between the school and parents, which includes communication not only about the students' academic performance, but also the psychological wellness in a educational institution. Parents would like to cooperate more with the school and receive feedback from teachers more often in order to feel informed about their child's difficulties and progress both academically and psycho-emotionally.

The different atmosphere, evaluation system, teacher-student relationship often cause the student anxiety and confusion about what is expected of him, which of course does not contribute to successful integration in the educational institution.
Discussion

The world is currently changing the understanding of what role education plays in shaping our common world and common future. The world events of recent years (COVID, the war in Ukraine, various global changes, etc.) clearly show that the movement of people from one country to another is often externally created, a need that is not related to an individual's or family's desire to move.

Global problems affect many people around the world, driving migration and forcing people to adapt to the situations they are exposed to. The increasing mobility of people around the world, regardless of why they change their place of residence, has created a new pedagogical reality that brings the world's cultural and racial diversity into educational institutions. Teachers increasingly have to work in new environments with students who have different educational backgrounds, languages and cultures. All of this forces us to improve our understanding of the diversity of people and the differences of each one, calls us to be tolerant and open-minded, looking at diversity as an advantage, not a disadvantage in an educational institution.

How do others in the world deal with these issues? It is worth taking into account the experience of our closest neighbors, taking care to prepare potential remigrants and make their integration easier and faster. In Estonia, the "Program for compatriots, 2014-2020" was developed, the purpose of which was to support Estonians living abroad, helping them maintain their Estonian language skills, maintaining Estonian national culture and identity, as well as providing support to those who are considering returning to Estonia (Hartman, 2021). Cassarino (2008) has emphasized in his studies that the previous preparation of repatriates, both on an individual psychological level and from the point of view of society, is of great importance. It makes the return significantly easier. The program provides a significant amount of support for educational activities, realizing that knowledge of the language is one of the prerequisites for returning to Estonia, being included in the education system and actively participating in the Estonian cultural space. In Estonia, the same techniques are used for remigrant students as for immigrant children - each child is provided with an individual approach and an adapted learning plan that meets his individual needs.

In Lithuania, compensatory training is provided to the children of return migrant families and it is financed by the state. As an example of good practice, the model where researchers and practitioners cooperated, creating an online platform to help teachers better understand diversity, and to promote understanding of how to treat such remigrant and newcomer students should be mentioned. When working with returning students, teachers in Lithuania, as in Latvia, face new challenges that require preparation, new methods, materials, as well as external help for the school, for example with support staff and additional funding. As for the measures planned in Lithuania, it should be mentioned that, in order to facilitate the integration of returned children, students who do not speak Lithuanian at all can be provided with the opportunity to learn Lithuanian for one year in a remedial class or a remedial mobile group before starting school. Of course, not all schools in Lithuania have the opportunity to create such classes, especially if only a few children return to some schools. In this case, it is proposed to organize weekend language classes in the regions as needed. The positive thing in that case is that the child is not separated from the class of his peers and with support he can continue his studies together with everyone.

The main obstacles currently faced by Lithuanian educational institutions are Lithuanian language training and the lack of pedagogues' competencies, specifically in terms of tolerance. They were identified as particularly important challenges in a study carried out in Lithuania (Bagdonaitė, 2020). As a priority for the more successful inclusion of remigrant children in Lithuanian schools, the development of a cooperative environment (teachers, parents, children) within the school is set as one of the most successful methods for facilitating the work of pedagogues with such students

According to Targamadze and Manjgaladze (2020), the process of children's integration in school is determined by five levels (public, systemic, institutional, interpersonal, intrapersonal). The family and the child's personal characteristics are undoubtedly important, but the aim of this article was to find criteria that could improve the inclusion of remigrant students, based on the first four levels. These factors, when correlated with each other, affect how the student will feel in the new situation.

Taking into account the theoretical literature on the support of remigrant children in Latvia and other countries, as well as analyzing the research conducted from the point of view of parents, teachers, and peers of these children, support criteria were created that would be necessary to facilitate the inclusion of remigrant children in Latvian schools. Those are:

- A fixed adaptation period when students are not evaluated
- An inclusive curriculum
- Motivating learning process and individual learning plans
- Students' participation in the learning process in setting and achieving goals
- · Effective cooperation and communication between the school and parents
- Using differentiated, student-appropriate assessment of learning progress
- Improving the competence of teachers
- Student wellbeing- ensuring a safe and supportive environment at school

• Promotion of friendship, empathy and tolerance in educational institutions.

Some of these support criteria require a change in legislation, for example, in relation to the possibility of providing remigrant students with adaptation time and using a different assessment system / no grading, however most are within

the competence of the school, depending on what the overall school climate is, how the school community respects students' academic, personal and social differences, is able to create a safe, welcoming and motivating environment, or is ready and able to implement solutions that meet the educational needs of a articular student.

The following educational goals of Latvia, which are planned to be implemented by 2027, are encouraging and promising, and would probably also improve the inclusion of returning migrants and other newcomers in Latvian schools. It is indicated that in order to be able to implement individualized learning, changes in the educational organization are necessary, respecting the differentiation in the learning process and creating opportunities to follow the performance of each individual and their progress. Also, in terms of the evaluation of students' performance, the emphasis changes from "evaluation – goal" to "the need to identify the strengths and areas for improvement of each individual, to determine the main factors affecting growth and to offer the most effective solutions for further development". This Educational Development Plan states that the educational institution must provide an inclusive and emotionally safe learning environment, it must be an open and multifunctional place and environment for learning and personal development for different groups of learners, adapted to individual needs, abilities, skills and previous experience.

Conclusions

Migration is a complex phenomenon that forces students to overcome various challenges while integrating into school, so working with remigrant children requires an individual and sensitive approach that corresponds to each individual child.

Education in Latvia still does not meet the wishes and needs of all people. This indicates the shortcomings of the current education model in Latvia in order to ensure a meaningful learning process for all students.

Although the regulatory documents indicate that remigrant children have access to various types of learning support in schools, the results of the surveys show that often the students did not receive it or only partially received it.

The assessment system should gradually change, it should be a process of systematic empirical observation of students' progress and the challenges they face in learning and observing how they overcome them. Educators should clearly identify pedagogical goals that they can measure and that cannot be measured by assessment. In order to ensure a gentle transition to a new education system and not to cause psychological trauma, one of the possible solutions could be a one-year transition period for children of remigrating families, during which they do not receive an assessment at school.

It is important to create an individual learning plan and achievable goals for these students, providing the necessary support to achieve them by adapting the curriculum to each child's educational needs. Inclusion is also the use of different teaching methods so that all children are actively involved in the classroom.

A successful learning process is certainly important, but what parents indicate as difficulties in integrating into Latvian educational institutions is not so much related to the technical provision of learning, but the attitude of teachers and other students towards the remigrant-student. This means that schools need to find a way to develop friendship, empathy and mutual respect between all children, as well as between children in the classroom and the school's community as a whole.

The student's well-being is of great importance in the development of learning motivation and perception, in the formation of mutual relations with classmates, teachers and the surrounding world.

The school's connection with the parents of remigrant children can play an important role in ensuring a positive learning environment. Involvement of parents and informing them about the learning process, progress and difficulties (also related to children's well-being) would definitely promote the integration of students in Latvian schools.

It is necessary to invest in the education of teachers, because educators that are open to diversity, knowledgeable, creative and motivated with a sense of mission, are one of the prerequisites for schools to be able to successfully integrate different children.

REFERENCES

Bagdonaitė, J. (2020). Remigration in Lithuania in the 21st Century: Readiness of the Education System to Accept Students from Returning Families, *Vilnius University Open Series*.

Cassarino, J. P. (2008). Return migrants to the Maghreb countries reintegration and development challenges. *Global Report*. https://cadmus.eui.eu/bitstream/handle/1814/9050/MIREM%20_General_Report_2008.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y

Catalano, H. (2016). Study on the of Teachers' and Parents' Perception on the Remigration Phenomenon. In V. Chis, & I. Albulescu (Eds.), *Education, Reflection, Development – ERD* 2016, vol 18. European Proceedings of Social and Behavioural Sciences (pp. 79–84). Future Academy. https://doi.org/10.15405/epsbs.2016.12.11

Dumitru, F., Langa, C. (2016). Schooling adaptation of Romanian remigrants pupils to the primary education in Romania. *Social Sciences and Education Research Review*, *3*(1), 77–86.

Gross, D. (2022). The return migration of children: (Re)integration is not always plain sailing. In R. King & K. Kuschminder (Eds.), *Handbook of return migration* (pp. 241–254). Edward Elgar.

Hartman, P. (2021). Social Agreement of the New Era – Cohesive Estonia 2030. *Ministry of Culture*. https://www.kul.ee/en/news/social-agreement-new-era-cohesive-estonia-2030

Hazans, M. (2016). Atgriešanās Latvijā. Remigrantu aptaujas rezultāti [Return to Latvia. Results of the survey of remigrants]. *LU Diasporas un migrācijas pētījumu centrs*. https://www.diaspora.lu.lv/fileadmin/user_upload/lu_portal/projekti/diaspora/petijumi/Atgriesanas_Latvija_-petijuma_zinojums.pdf

Izglītības attīstības centrs sadarbībā ar Rīgas domes Izglītības, kultūras un sporta departamentu. (2014). Situācijas izpēte par jauniebraucēju un reemigrantu bērnu iekļaušanos Rīgas vispārizglītojošajās skolās [Study of the situation regarding the integration of children of newcomers and re-emigrants in schools in Rīga]. https://iac.edu.lv/assets/Publications/ Situacijas-izpete-jauniebrRīgas-sk2014GALA

Izglītības kvalitātes valsts dienests. (2014). Informācija par vispārējās izglītības iestāžu izglītojamo, kuri atgriezušies no mācībām citā valstī, iekļaušanos Latvijas izglītības sistēmā [Information on the integration of students of educational institutions who have returned from studies in another country into the Latvian education system]. Ziņojums IKVD, Nr. 1-17/6, 20.10.2014 https://static.lsm.lv/documents/6a.pdf

Izglītības un zinātnes ministrija. (2020). Ja ģimene gatavojas atgriezties Latvijā [If the family is going to return to Latvia]. https://www.izm.gov.lv/lv/ja-gimene-gatavojas-atgriezties-latvija

Mieriņa, I., Ose, L., Kaprāns, M., Lāce, A. (2017). Vienojošas nacionālās identitātes un Latvijas kultūrtelpas nostiprināšana. Priekšlikumi sabiedrības integrācijas plānam 2019.–2025. gadam. Ekspertu ziņojums [Strengthening a unifying national identity and cultural space of Latvia. Proposals for the social integration plan for 2019–2025. Expert report]. https://www.km.gov.lv/uploads/ckeditor/files/Sabiedribas_integracija/ Petijumi/Ekspertu%20zinojums%20vienojosas%20nacionalas%20identitates%20un%20 kulturtelpas%20nostiprinasanai.pdf

Mihailovs, I. J. (2020). Reemigrējošo bērnu un jauniešu integrācija Latvijas vispārējās izglītības iestādēs: iesaistīto pušu sadarbība [Integration of re-emigrating children and youth in Latvian education institutions]. cooperation between the parties involved.] *Izglītības kvalitātes valsts dienests.* https://www.ikvd.gov.lv/lv/media/91/

Ministru kabineta 2018. gada 7. augusta noteikumi Nr. 496. (2018). Remigrācijas atbalsta pasākuma īstenošanas, novērtēšanas un finansēšanas kārtība [Procedures for the implementation, evaluation and financing of the remigration support measure]. https://likumi.lv/ta/id/300955

Ministru kabineta 2022. gada 11. janvāra noteikumi Nr. 11. (2022). Kārtība, kādā izglītojamie tiek uzņemti vispārējās izglītības programmās un atskaitīti no tām, kā arī obligātās prasības izglītojamo pārcelšanai nākamajā klasē [The order in which students are enrolled in education programs and deducted from them, as well as the mandatory requirements for transferring students to the next grade]. Latvijas Vēstnesis, 8, 12.01.2022. https://likumi.lv/ta/id/329096

Ministru kabineta rīkojums. (2017). Nacionālās identitātes, pilsoniskās sabiedrības un integrācijas politikas pamatnostādņu īstenošanas uzraudzības padomes darba grupas diasporas politikas jautājumos: sanāksmes protokols [Working Group on Diaspora Policy of the Monitoring Council for the Implementation of National Identity, Civil Society and Integration Policy Guidelines: minutes of the meeting]. https://likumi.lv/ta/id/291179-par-nacionalas-identitates-pilsoniskas-sabiedribas-un-integracijas-politikas-pamatnostadnu-2012-2018-gadam-istenosanas

OECD. (2013). Coping with Emigration in Baltic and East European Countries, OECD Publishing. http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/9789264204928

Oficiālās statistikas portāls. (2019). *CSP uzsāk publicēt datus par remigrantiem. [The official statistics portal starts publishing data on remigrants]*. https://stat.gov.lv/lv/statistikas-temas/iedzivotaji/migracija/preses-relizes/1831-arejas-migracijas-panelapsekojuma

Ose, L. (2015). The teacher factor: pedagogues in dialogue with children and adolescents who have returned to Latvia. In A. Lulle and E. Kļave (eds), *Creating Opportunities for Development: Diaspora Children and Youth*, Rīga: Latvijas Universitāte, pp. 185–204.

Parrenas, R. S. (2005). Children of Global Migration. Transnational Families and Gender Woes. Stanford, CA: Stanford University Press.

Pičukāne, Ē., Mihailovs, I. J. (2017). Izglītojamo ar ārvalstu izglītības pieredzi integrācija Latvijas izglītības sistēmā: tiesiskais regulējums, problēmas, risinājumi [Integration of students with foreign education experience into the Latvian education system: legal regulation, problems, solutions]. Latviešu valodas aģentūra. https://maciunmacies.valoda.lv/wp-content/uploads/2019/10/Raksts_Mihailovs_Picukane.pdf

Radot iespējas attīstībai: diasporas bērnu un jauniešu izglītība [Creating Opportunities for Development: Education for Diaspora Children and Youth]. (2015). Zin. red. A. Lulle, E. Kļave. LU Diasporas un migrācijas pētījumu centrs. Rīga: LU Akadēmiskais apgāds.

Targamadze, V., Manjgaladze, M. (2020). A Good General Education School for the New Generation: Illusion or Reality. *International Journal of Multilingual Education*. https://www.multilingualeducation.org/storage/uploads/articles_contents/1.targamadze

UNESCO. (2009). Policy Guidelines on Inclusion in Education. http://unesdoc.unesco.org/ images/0017/001778/177849

Vathi, Z. and Duci, V. (2016). Making other dreams: the impact of migration on the psychosocial wellbeing of Albanian-origin children and young people upon their families' return to Albania. *Sage Journals.Childhood, 23*(1), 53–68.

Vides aizsardzības un reģionālās attīstības ministrija. (2020). Latvijas ilgtspējīgas attīstības stratēģija līdz 2030. gadam [Latvia's sustainable development strategy until 2030]. https://www.varam.gov.lv/lv/latvijas-ilgtspejigas-attīstības-strategiju-lidz-2030gadam-latvija2030

Vispārējās izglītības likums. (2022). https://likumi.lv/ta/id/20243-visparejas-izglitibas-likums

Zača, E., Hazans, M., Bela, B. (2018). *Atgriešanās apstākļi un nosacījumi* [Return terms and conditions]. Diasporas un migrācijas pētījumu centrs. https://www.diaspora.lu.lv/fileadmin/user_upload/LU.LV/Apaksvietnes/Fakultates/www.szf.lu.lv/Atgriesanas_apstakli_DMPC_05-04-labots_FIN-maketam_1_.pdf

Zubikova, A. (2021). A. Assessment of the Immigrants Integration Level in the New Member States of the EU in 2009–2018. *Int. Migration & Integration*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12134-020-00759-0

About the authors

Una Auziņa is the teacher with more than 25 years of experience as an educator, teaching students of all ages, from primary school to adults. She have 20 years of work experience in an International school, as well as a Bachelor's degree in psychology and a Master's degree in educational sciences. Currently does Doctoral studies in education, and her research is on the integration of remigrant children in Latvian schools.

https://doi.org/10.22364/atee.2022.59

Social-Emotional Skills, Behavioural Problems and Learning Outcomes of Elementary School Children

Evita Ozerova¹, Baiba Martinsone¹, Carmel Cefai² & Elisabetta Conte³

- ¹ University of Latvia, Latvia
- ² University of Malta, Malta
- ³ University of Milano-Bicocca, Italy

ABSTRACT

A topical question for teachers and parents is how to improve students' well-being and success at school, starting from the early stages of their education. Research shows that social-emotional competence is one of the key variables significantly impacting children's learning outcomes and that social-emotional learning contributes to higher learning outcomes and fewer behavioural problems, even in preschool. It is of great importance to obtain more evidence on the role of social-emotional skills in school adjustment, addressing this issue as early as possible to develop a deeper understanding of how to support children after their transition to elementary school. The current research aims to analyze relationships between social-emotional skills, behaviour problems and learning outcomes in a sample of elementary school students while also addressing gender differences in these relationships.

The sample consisted of 590 elementary school students aged 7–11 years (mean age 9.14, *SD* 1.38), 53.2% (314) of whom were boys and 46.8% (276) were girls. The teachers completed the Social Skills Improvement System Social-Emotional Learning brief scales, the Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire, and a three-item questionnaire on their students' learning outcomes. Higher social-emotional skills in elementary school students had significant associations with lower levels of behavioural problems and higher levels of learning outcomes. Moreover, the results indicated that teachers reported significantly higher levels of social-emotional skills and learning outcomes and fewer behavioural problems amongst girls in contrast to boys. These findings highlight the necessity to develop social-emotional skills in facilitating learning outcomes and behaviour adjustment in elementary school children. Teachers' role as facilitators of social-emotional development must also be emphasized.

Keywords: behavioural problems, elementary school students, gender educational differences, learning outcomes, social-emotional skills, teachers' evaluations

Introduction

Children need different skills to succeed in school, and for a long time, the focus has been on their intellectual or cognitive skills (Thompson, 2002). However, research in recent decades shows that social-emotional competence is another skill set that has a positive impact on students' ability to adapt and achieve better outcomes in school (Denham & Brown, 2010; Thompson, 2002) or later in life (Durlak et al., 2011). Social-emotional competence has been defined as the process where children or adults use the attitudes, knowledge and skills they have acquired to better understand the feelings and behaviours of themselves or others, to be empathic, deliberately set and achieve goals, and maintain healthy relationships with others (Collaborative for Academic, Social, and Emotional Learning [CASEL], 2012). CASEL has also outlined five interconnected core competencies: self-awareness (e.g., being able to understand the relationships between emotions, thoughts and behaviours), self-management (e.g., being able to regulate one's thoughts, emotions and, in turn, behaviour in different settings), social awareness (e.g., being able to see things from other people's perspectives and being empathic to the other), relationship skills (e.g., being able to form healthy relationships with people around you) and responsible decision-making (e.g., being able to make conscious decisions considering the interests of both one's own and other people or groups) (CASEL, 2012).

Students who struggle to adjust to academic requirements often display behavioural and emotional difficulties (Cramer et al., 2019; Sawyer et al., 2015; White et al., 2013). There are several possible explanations for the occurrence of emotional or behavioural problems, such as adverse family circumstances (Raver & Knitzer, 2002), special educational needs (Menting et al., 2014) and inadequate social-emotional skills (Cramer et al., 2019; Durlak et al., 2011; Sawyer et al., 2015; West et al., 2001). In the literature, emotional, behavioural and social difficulties of children and teenagers are often viewed as internalizing or externalizing problems (Achenbach, 2009; Achenbach et al., 2016). The main focus on mood or emotions is distinctive of internalizing problems. Anxiety, symptoms of depression, difficulties in regulating one's emotions and social withdrawal are a few possible manifestations of internalizing difficulties (Achenbach, 2009; Birch & Ladd, 1998; Kring & Sloan, 2010). Externalizing problems are those that can be assessed from "outside". Verbal and physical aggression, a tendency to violate the rules and impulsive behaviour are examples of externalizing behaviour (Achenbach, 2009; Oland & Shaw, 2005). Nevertheless, it is important to stress that internalizing and externalizing problems are often intertwined and rarely seen as separate (Oland & Shaw, 2005).

Even in elementary school, children often demonstrate difficulties in regulating their behaviour (Cramer et al., 2019), and this tendency has been linked with the development of internalizing and externalizing problems at a later age (Sawyer et al., 2015; White et al., 2013). Children who have lower levels of social-emotional skills often exhibit academic and behavioural difficulties at school (Denham, 2006). At school, learning outcomes are viewed as a result of the learning process - something that the student is expected to understand, know or do at the end of either the lesson, semester or school year (Adam, 2006). To achieve this goal, the student has to exhibit not only academic but also non-academic skills and behaviours that are considered as prompting (DiPerna et al., 2002), and this includes academic engagement and academic motivation. The former is a series of activities that facilitates the learning process (Greenwood et al., 1989; Salmela-Aro et al., 2016), and it involves emotional (a positive attitude towards school and one's part in it), cognitive (the motivation to continue to learn and regulate one's study process) and behavioural aspects (involvement in activities), and it can partially overlap with academic motivation (Eccles, 2016; Fredricks et al., 2004; Salmela-Aro et al., 2016). Academic engagement and motivation are seen as vitally important aspects of the learning process and academic performance (Af Ursin et al., 2020; Ladd & Dinella, 2009; Lei et al., 2018; Pietarinen et al., 2014; Wentzel & Miele, 2016).

The number of studies that confirms the role of social-emotional skills in enhancing students' attitudes towards school, learning outcomes and reducing mental health, emotional and/or behavioural problems continues to grow (Durlak et al., 2011; Greenberg et al., 2003; Ornaghi et al., 2014; Zins et al., 2004). Children with insufficiently developed social-emotional skills have a higher risk of displaying emotional and behavioural problems and lower levels of learning outcomes. There is evidence that children at risk of developing emotional, behavioural or academic difficulties are perceived more negatively by their teachers than by their peers (Montague & Rinaldi, 2001). Those children also exhibit greater difficulties in establishing and maintaining healthy and supportive relationships with their peers and teachers (Baker, 2006; Berry & O'Connor, 2010). As a result, their social and emotional functioning is negatively affected, and their learning outcomes worsen (Montague & Rinaldi, 2001). However, Carroll et al. (2020) observed that social-emotional skill training has the highest impact on children with emotional and behavioural difficulties, indicating that children in at-risk groups benefit the most from universal programmes (applied to everyone in the class).

Notably, gender differences have previously been found. For example, students, teachers and parents often rate social-emotional skills higher for girls than for boys (Romer et al., 2011). Emotional problems are also more common for girls (Zen et al., 2019); however, there are studies that do not report gender-related differences in internalazed behaviour (Holsen et al., 2008). Boys are also seen

more often as having higher behavioural difficulties (Lei et al., 2018; Snyder et al., 2013). Still, the research shows that gender itself may not be the prognostic factor in the development of social-emotional skills (Carroll et al., 2020).

Previous findings indicate that an improvement in social-emotional skills enhances positive behaviours and learning outcomes and decreases emotional and behavioural difficulties, starting even from pre-school (Martinsone et al., 2022; Ornaghi et al., 2015; Wong et al., 2014; Zins et al., 2004). This is the first study exploring such relationships in elementary school children in Latvia as a social-emotional learning curriculum has only recently been developed and implemented in several Latvian schools. It is important to examine whether elementary school children in Latvia present similar relationship patterns between social-emotional skills, emotional and behavioural problems and learning outcomes as have been shown in other studies in order to offer evidence-based recommendations for educational policy regarding the integration of universal social-emotional learning in the national curriculum. The aforegoing literature review indicated contradictory results about gender differences, and thus an additional research question was raised.

The aim of this study is to investigate relationships between social-emotional skills, behavioural problems and learning outcomes among Latvian elementary school children, as well as to address possible gender differences. Two hypotheses and one research question were raised:

- H1: Elementary school children with higher levels of social-emotional skills will present lower levels of emotional and behavioural problems and higher levels of learning outcomes according to their teachers.
- H2: Higher social-emotional skills among elementary school children will be related to higher learning outcomes and lower levels of emotional and learning difficulties.
- Q1: Are there gender differences in teacher-reported social-emotional skills, emotional and behavioural problems and learning outcomes of elementary school children?

Methodology

The research conducted in this paper is part of the international ERASMUS + project "Promoting mental health at schools" (PROMEHS). One of the main tasks of the project is to develop an evidence-based curriculum to promote social-emotional learning and resilience and prevent behavioural problems. Multiple schools from the Latvian region of Sigulda participated in this project. The present research uses only pre-test data for elementary school children, which were collected in October 2020. The sample comprises 590 elementary school students aged 7–11 years (Mage = 9.14; SD = 1.38), consisting of 314 (53.2%) boys and 276 (46.8%) girls. Teachers were the informants.

The Ethics Committee for Humanities and Social Sciences Research Involving Human Participants of the University of Latvia gave their approval for the research on 12 December 2019. Children's parents were informed about the research and received informed consent forms to be signed if they approved their child's participation in the study. After receiving consent from parents, teachers filled in the surveys in paper format and placed them in closed envelopes, which were later collected by the researchers. Teachers filled in three surveys assessing students' social-emotional skills, behaviour difficulties and learning outcomes: the Social Skills Improvement System Social-Emotional Learning brief scales (SSIS SEL, Elliott et al., 2020), the Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire (SDQ, Goodman, 1997), and three-item questionnaire on learning outcomes.

The SSIS SEL brief scales were used to measure children's social-emotional skills. The questionnaire consists of 20 statements that make up five subscales: self-awareness, self-management, social awareness, relationship skills, and responsible decision-making. The statements are measured using Likert scales from 0 to 3, where 0 is "never" and 3 is "almost always". The total score for each subscale can range from 0 to 12, and combining all the subscales provides a general measure of social-emotional skills ranging from 0 to 60. In the original tool, Cronbach's alpha is 0.91 (Elliot et al., 2020). The SSIS SEL brief scales were translated and adapted into Latvian by leading researchers on the Latvian PROMEHS team, and Cronbach's alpha of the validated version was 0.95 (Martinsone et al., 2022).

The SDQ was used to assess children's emotional and behavioural problems as reported by their teachers. The questionnaire consists of 25 statements comprising five subscales, where emotional symptoms, conduct problems, hyperactivity-inattention, and peer relationship problems are considered difficulties, and prosocial behaviour is considered a child's strength. In low-risk groups, the scores can be categorized into three scales, namely internalizing problems (emotional symptoms & peer relationship problems), externalizing problems (conduct problems & hyperactivity-inattention) and prosocial behaviour (Goodman et al., 2010). The questions are measured on a 3-point Likert scale, where 0 is "disagree", 1 is "somewhat agree", and 2 is "certainly agree". Each subscale rating can range from 0 to 10, and the overall difficulties assessment can range from 0 to 20, and the prosocial behaviour rating can range from 0 to 10. Cronbach's alpha of the previously validated Latvian version of SDQ is 0.74 (Līvena, 2014),

The learning outcomes of children were assessed with a three-statement questionnaire. Teachers were asked to rate students' academic engagement, academic motivation, and academic performance on a 5-point Likert scale, where 0 is "very weak" and 4 is "very good". The higher the rating, the higher the learning outcomes. Overall, the score could range from 0 to 12. Pairwise correlations of these questions surpassed 84%, and it was decided to combine the items in one scale. TO BE OR NOT TO BE A GREAT EDUCATOR, 2022

E. OZEROVA, B. MARTINSONE, C. CEFAI, E. CONTE. Social-Emotional Skills, Behavioural Problems and ...

The statistical analysis of the data was done using the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) program, and descriptive and inferential statistical methods were used.

Results

Descriptive statistics (see Table 1) show that all questionnaires' internal consistency measures are good enough for statistical analysis. One statement was excluded from the self-awareness scale to achieve an acceptable level of internal consistency. A Kolmogorov-Smirnov test showed that non-parametric tests had to be used for the analysis of data.

	М	SD	Α
Overall difficulties	9.21	6.07	0.85
Emotional symptoms	2.02	1.97	0.74
Conduct problems	1.46	1.89	0.76
Hyperactivity-inattention	3.50	2.79	0.85
Peer relationship problems	2.22	1.84	0.60
Prosocial behaviour	6.85	2.23	0.79
Internalizing problems	4.24	3.21	0.75
Externalizing problems	4.96	4.28	0.87
Social-emotional skills	39.26	9.39	0.93
Self-awareness	5.78	1.79	0.78
Self-management	7.91	2.36	0.76
Social awareness	8.16	2.30	0.80
Relationship skills	8.42	2.14	0.73
Responsible decision-making	8.89	2.48	0.85
Learning outcomes	8.61	2.62	0.92

Table 1. Descriptive Statistics for SSIS SEL Brief Scales, SDQ and Learning Outcomes (n = 590)

It was hypothesized that elementary school children with higher levels of social-emotional skills would have lower levels of behavioural and emotional difficulties and higher levels of learning outcomes. To confirm or reject the study's first hypothesis, Spearman's correlation coefficient was used to assess the data (see Table 2). The results indicate that social-emotional skills are significantly and negatively associated with behavioural and emotional difficulties and positively associated with learning outcomes.

Elementary school children's difficulties were also observed using internalizing and externalizing problem scales and the prosocial behavioural scale (see Table 3). Correlations between the variables show that internalizing and externalizing problems are negatively associated with social-emotional skills and learning outcomes. Prosocial behaviour, on the other hand, is positively correlated with all social-emotional competencies and learning outcomes.

Table 2. Spearman Correlations for Social-Emotional Skills, Learning Outcomes, and Behavioural Problems (n = 590)

Variable	Overall difficulties	Emotional symptoms	Conduct problems	Hyperactivi- ty-inattention	Peer relat. problems	Learning outcomes
Social-emotional skills	75**	23**	64**	68**	48**	.66**
Self-awareness	67**	28**	51**	58**	44**	.59**
Self-management	70**	15**	67**	77**	31**	.59**
Social awareness	50**	10*	45**	40**	38**	.41**
Relationship skills	64**	28**	47**	47**	54**	.53**
Responsible decision- making	70**	17**	65**	69**	42**	.69**
Learning outcomes	64**	25**	44**	66**	36**	_

*p<0.05; ** p<0.01

Table 3. Spearman Correlations for Social-Emotional Skills, Learning Outcomes, Internalizing and Externalizing Problems, and Prosocial Behaviour (n = 590)

Variable	Internalizing problems	Externalizing problems	Prosocial behaviour
Social-emotional skills	43**	73**	.71**
Self-awareness	44**	61**	.57**
Self-management	28**	80**	.41**
Social awareness	29**	47**	.80**
Relationship skills	49**	52**	.66**
Responsible decision-making	35**	74**	.62**
Learning outcomes	37**	65**	.41**

** p < 0.01

To address the second hypothesis, according to which higher social-emotional skills among elementary school students will be related to lower levels of emotional and behavioural problems and higher levels of learning outcomes, a one-factor regression analysis was used (see Tables 4 and 5).

Table 4. One-Factor Regression Analysis with Behavioural and Emotional Problems as the Dependent Variable (n = 590)

Parameter	В	B Std. Error	В	t
Social-emotional skills	-0.44	0.02	-0.73	-25.31***

 $R^2 = 0.53; ***p < 0.001$

Table 5. One-Factor Regression Analysis with Learning Outcomes as the Dependent Variable (n = 590)

Parameter	В	B Std. Error	β	t
Social-emotional skills	0.18	0.01	0.66	21.29***

 $R^2 = 0.44$; ***p < 0.001

Social-emotional skills significantly predicted the elementary school children's behavioural and emotional difficulties, and this model explained 53% of their variations. As the score for social and emotional skills increases by 1 point, behavioural and emotional problems will decrease by 0.44 points.

Social-emotional skills explain 44% of the results regarding the learning outcomes of elementary school children. When increasing the social-emotional skill level by 1 point, learning outcomes will increase by 0.18 points.

Gender Girls (n = 276)Boys (n = 314)М SD М SD U **Overall difficulties** 7.62 5.20 10.61 31285.5*** 6.43 Emotional symptoms 2.08 1.90 1.97 2.03 40642.00 Conduct problems 28915.00*** 0.89 1.44 1.95 2.10 27558.50*** Hyperactivity-inattention 2.57 2.43 4.32 2.83 Peer relationship problems 2.07 1.78 2.36 1.89 39473.00 Prosocial behaviour 1.93 2.25 26437.50*** 7.64 6.15 Internalizing problems 4.14 3.14 4.33 3.27 42163.00 Externalizing problems 3.47 3.47 6.28 4.50 26281.50*** Social-emotional skills 42.93 8.34 36.02 9.07 23679.50*** Self-awareness 6.31 1.67 5.32 1.77 28612.00*** Self-management 8.71 2.18 7.21 2.29 26821.50*** Social awareness 9.03 7.40 2.17 25536.50*** 2.13

Table 6. Social-Emotional Skills, Behavioural and Emotional Problems and Learning Outcomes by Gender

Relationship skills	9.09	1.96	7.82	2.12	27945.00***
Responsible decision-making	9.81	2.18	8.09	2.46	25241.50***
Learning outcomes	9.20	2.45	8.09	2.65	32522.00***
Performance	2.98	0.91	2.70	0.93	32482.50***
Motivation	3.06	0.90	2.64	0.97	32581.50***
Engagement	3.16	0.86	2.75	0.93	35807.50***

*** p < 0.001

To answer the question of whether there are gender differences relating to elementary school children's social-emotional skills, emotional and behavioural problems and learning outcomes, Mann-Whitney tests for two independent groups were used (see Table 6). The results indicate that there are statistically significant differences between the gender groups in almost all variables. Teachers reported that boys had higher levels of behavioural problems than girls and lower levels of social-emotional skills and learning outcomes. There were no gender differences for internalizing problems.

Discussion

The aim of this study was to explore relationships between the social-emotional skills, behavioural and emotional problems, and learning outcomes of elementary school children. An additional question about gender differences within the constructs was raised. The results of this research indicate that overall social-emotional competence and each skill separately are positively related to learning outcomes and negatively associated with behavioural and emotional problems. Elementary school children who have better developed social-emotional skills have higher levels of learning outcomes and fewer behavioural and emotional problems. Accordingly, those with less developed social-emotional skills will show greater internalizing and externalizing problems and lower levels of learning outcomes. These results are in line with other studies (Alzahrani et al., 2019; Durlak et al., 2011; Elias et al., 1997; Greenberg et al., 2003; Martinsone et al., 2022; Osher et al., 2016; Snyder et al., 2009; Zins et al., 2004). Additionally, social-emotional skills had positive associations with the prosocial behaviour of preschool children. This reinforces the fact that an increase in social-emotional skill levels not only decreases emotional and behavioural problems but also increases prosocial behaviour. Other studies have shown that higher levels of social-emotional skills help to lower externalizing problems by improving students' ability to regulate their own emotions (Ağırkan & Ergene, 2022; Ronen et al., 2007) and, specifically, insufficient self-management was closely related to externalizing problems. Other studies also indicate that self-management is closely related to internalizing problems. In general, the

higher the level of social-emotional skills, the lower the internalizing and externalizing behaviour difficulties (Durlak et al., 2011; Elias et al., 1997).

This study emphasizes that higher levels of behavioural and emotional problems are associated with lower levels of learning outcomes, including performance, motivation and engagement. Similar results have been reported by other researchers (Graziano et al., 2007; Hamre & Pianta, 2001; Spilt et al., 2012; Zee & Roorda, 2018), and thus it can be concluded that children with emotional and behavioural problems, even during their first years of elementary school, consequently have more difficulties with achieving better academic outcomes. Over time, their lack of knowledge and skills can lead to greater behavioural difficulties that can adversely affect their relationships with peers and teachers and therefore foster a greater drop-out risk from school (Wang et al., 2015).

It also was hypothesized that higher levels of social-emotional skills among elementary school students would be related to higher learning outcomes and lower emotional and behavioural problems. Data from this research confirm this hypothesis and complement other studies (Alzahrani et al., 2019; Durlak et al., 2011; Elias et al., 1997; Greenberg et al., 2003; Osher et al., 2017; Snyder et al., 2009; Zins et al., 2004), confirming that improvement in social-emotional skills is an effective way to decrease behavioural problems and increase both learning outcomes and prosocial behaviour.

Finally, gender differences were examined in view of the lack of consistent evidence in previous research on this aspect (Holsen et al., 2008; Lei et al., 2018; Romer et al., 2011; Ronen et al., 2007; Spilt et al., 2012). The findings indicate that there are significant differences between the gender groups in social-emotional skills, learning outcomes and behavioural problems. These results match those of other studies (Lei et al., 2018; Snyder et al., 2013), where girls are observed as having higher levels of social-emotional skills, better learning outcomes, and fewer behavioural problems. However, the present findings do not indicate that girls have greater emotional or internalizing problems than boys, as has sometimes been reported (Zen et al., 2019). It should be noted that only those scales of behavioural difficulties that indicate externalizing problems show a significant difference between genders. There are several possible explanations why boys have lower levels of social-emotional skills than girls, one of which points to the teaching methods of educators (Sanchez-Nunez et al., 2008), and another depends on the role played by society in general. We could speculate that in Latvia, schools are more supportive of girls than boys due to requesting more self-regulation and independence from boys even in the early stages of their education.

This study has shown that an increase in social-emotional skills is related to a decrease in emotional and behavioural problems and significantly increases the learning outcomes of elementary school children. Therefore, every school should consider implementing social-emotional learning as a way to foster the

social-emotional development of their students. Research shows that universal programmes (implemented for everyone in the class) targeting children at risk are effective in improving emotional and behavioural problems (Carroll et al., 2020). This may be the most effective way to support every child in elementary classes while also improving children's social-emotional skills, behavioural adjustment and learning outcomes.

Conclusions

The results of this study indicate that higher social-emotional skills are associated with better learning outcomes and lower levels of behavioural and emotional difficulties among elementary school children and vice versa – students with lower levels of social-emotional skills have greater emotional and behavioural difficulties and lower levels of learning outcomes. Thus, the first hypothesis, according to which social-emotional skills are positively associated with learning outcomes and negatively associated with emotional and behavioural problems, was supported.

The second hypothesis that higher social-emotional skills predict a decrease in behavioural and emotional problems and an increase in learning outcomes was also confirmed. A 53% improvement in social-emotional skills explains the decrease in emotional and behavioural problems, and a 44% improvement explains the increase in learning outcomes. It is expected that emotional and behavioural problems will marginally decrease by improving students' social-emotional skills. Likewise, an improvement in their social-emotional skills is associated with better results in learning outcomes.

Regarding the gender differences, it was found in all variables (with the exception of internalizing behaviour) that boys were assessed as having lower social-emotional skills and lower learning outcomes and significantly greater behavioural problems than girls.

These findings support the importance of the development of social-emotional competence as a prerequisite for improving elementary school children's learning outcomes and prosocial behaviour while also significantly decreasing emotional and behavioural problems. Gender differences indicate that boys could be in a vulnerable position even from the early days of school since their social-emotional skills and learning outcomes are assessed as being lower than those of girls. According to teachers' reports, the emotional and behavioural difficulties of boys are greater than girls of the same age. These findings should prompt a necessary discussion of teachers' role in developing relationships with and among students and providing support for all of them, including those with lower levels of social-emotional skills or those struggling with emotional or behavioural problems.

Aknowledgment

This research was conducted within the scope of the EU-funded Erasmus + KA3 research project "PROMEHS – Promoting Mental Health at Schools" (No. 606689-EPP-1-2018-2-IT-EPPKA3-PI-POLICY).

REFERENCES

Achenbach, T. M. (2009). The Achenbach system of empirically based assessment (ASEBA): Development, findings, theory, and applications. University of Vermont, Research Center for Children, Youth, and Families.

Achenbach, T. M., Ivanova, M. Y., Rescorla, L. A., Turner, L. V., & Althoff, R. R. (2016). Internalizing/externalizing problems: Review and recommendations for clinical and research applications. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 55(8), 647–656. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaac.2016.05.012

Adam, S. (2006). An introduction to learning outcomes: A consideration of the nature, function and position of learning outcomes in the creation of the European Higher Education Area. In *EUA Bologna Handbook: Making Bologna Work*, vol. B: *Introducing Bologna objectives and tools* (pp. 2–22). EUA.

Af Ursin, P., Järvinen, T., & Pihlaja, P. (2020). The role of academic buoyancy and social support in mediating associations between academic stress and school engagement in Finnish primary school children. *Scandinavian Journal of Educational Research*, 65(4), 661–675. https://doi.org/10.1080/00313831.2020.1739135

Ağırkan, M., & Ergene, T. (2022). What does the social and emotional learning interventions (SEL) tell us? A meta-analysis. *Revista de Psicodidáctica*, 27(2), 97–108. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psicoe.2022.02.002

Alzahrani, M., Alharbi, M., & Alodwani, A. (2019). The effect of social-emotional competence on children academic achievement and behavioral development. *International Education Studies*, *12*(12), 141–149. https://doi.org/10.5539/ies.v12n12p141

Baker, J. A. (2006). Contributions of teacher–child relationships to positive school adjustment during elementary school. *Journal of School Psychology*, 44, 211–229. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsp.2006.02.002

Berry, D., & O'Connor, E. (2010). Behavioral risk, teacher–child relationships, and social skill development across middle childhood: A child-by-environment analysis of change. *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, *31*(1), 1–14. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j. appdev.2009.05.001

Birch, S. H., & Ladd, G. W. (1998). Children's interpersonal behaviors and the teacher–child relationship. *Developmental Psychology*, *34*(5), 934–946. https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.34.5.934

Carroll, A., Houghton, S., Forrest, K., McCarthy, M., & Sanders-O'Connor, E. (2020). Who benefits most? Predicting the effectiveness of a social and emotional learning intervention according to children's emotional and behavioural difficulties. *School Psychology International*, *41*(3), 197–217. https://doi.org/10.1177/0143034319898741

CASEL. (2012). 2013 CASEL guide. CASEL.

Cramer, T., Morris, P., & Blair, C. (2019). Teacher reports of social-emotional development: Moving from measure to construct. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, *48*, 98–110. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2019.01.010

Denham, S. A. (2006). Social-emotional competence as support for school readiness: What is it and how do we assess it? *Early Education and Development*, *17*(1), 57–89. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15566935eed1701_4

Denham, S. A., & Brown, C. (2010). "Plays nice with others": Social-emotional learning and academic success. *Early Education & Development*, *21*(5), 652–680. https://doi.org/10.1080 /10409289.2010.497450

DiPerna, J. C., Volpe, R. J., & Elliott, S. N. (2002). A model of academic enablers and elementary reading/language arts achievement. *School Psychology Review*, *31*(3), 298–312. https://doi.org/10.1080/02796015.2002.12086157

Durlak, J. A., Weissberg, R. P., Dymnicki, A. B., Taylor, R. D. & Schellinger, K. B. (2011). The impact of enhancing students' social and emotional learning: A meta-analysis of schoolbased universal interventions. *Child Development*, *82*(1), 405–432. https://doi.org/10.1111/ j.1467-8624.2010.01564.x

Eccles, J. S. (2016). Engagement: Where to next? *Learning and Instruction*, 43, 71–75. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.learninstruc.2016.02.003

Elias, M. J., Zins, J. E., Weissberg, R. P., Frey, K. S., Greenberg, M. T., Haynes, N. M., Kessler, R., Schwab-Stone, M. E., & Shriver, T. P. (1997). *Promoting social and emotional learning: Guidelines for educators*. Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development.

Elliott, S. N., Lei, P.-W., Anthony, C. J., & DiPerna, J. C. (2021). Screening the whole socialemotional child: Expanding a brief SEL assessment to include emotional behavior concerns. *School Psychology Review*. https://doi.org/10.1080/2372966x.2020.1857659

Fredricks, J. A., Blumenfeld, P. C., & Paris, A. H. (2004). School engagement: Potential of the concept, state of the evidence. *Review of Educational Research*, 74(1), 59–109. https://doi.org/10.3102/00346543074001059

Goodman, A., Lamping, D. L., & Ploubidis, G. B. (2010). When to use broader internalising and externalising subscales instead of the hypothesised five subscales on the Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire (SDQ): Data from British parents, teachers and children. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 38(8), 1179–1191. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10802-010-9434-x

Goodman, R. (1997). The Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire: A research note. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, *38*(5), 581–586. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.1997. tb01545.x

Graziano, P. A., Reavis, R. D., Keane, S. P., & Calkins, S. D. (2007). The role of emotion regulation in children's early academic success. *Journal of School Psychology*, *45*(1), 3–19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsp.2006.09.002

Greenberg, M. T., Weissberg, R. P., O'Brien, M. U., Zins, J. E., Fredericks, L., Resnik, H., & Elias, M. J. (2003). Enhancing school-based prevention and youth development through coordinated social, emotional, and academic learning. *American Psychologist*, *58*(6–7), 466–474. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.58.6-7.466

Greenwood, C. R., Delquadri, J. C., & Hall, R. V. (1989). Longitudinal effects of classwide peer tutoring. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *81*(3), 371–383. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-0663.81.3.371

Hamre, B. K., & Pianta, R. C. (2001). Early teacher–child relationships and the trajectory of children's school outcomes through eighth grade. *Child Development*, 72(2), 625–638. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8624.00301

Holsen, I., Smith, B. H., & Frey, K. S. (2008). Outcomes of the social competence program Second Step in Norwegian elementary schools. *School Psychology International, 29*(1), 71–88. https://doi.org/10.1177/0143034307088504

Kring, A. M., & Sloan, D. M. (Eds.). (2010). Emotion regulation and psychopathology: A transdiagnostic approach to etiology and treatment. The Guilford Press.

Ladd, G. W., & Dinella, L. M. (2009). Continuity and change in early school engagement: Predictive of children's achievement trajectories from first to eighth grade? *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *101*(1), 190–206. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0013153

Lei, H., Cui, Y., & Zhou, W. (2018). Relationships between student engagement and academic achievement: A meta-analysis. *Social Behavior and Personality: An International Journal*, *46*(3), 517–528. https://doi.org/10.2224/sbp.7054

Līvena, K. (2014). Bērnu labklājība un uzvedība saistībā ar audzināšanas pieejām un stresa līmeni mātēm ar standarta vai nestandarta darba laiku. Nepublicēts maģistra darbs. LU PPMF Psiholoģijas nodaļa.

Martinsone, B., Supe, I., Stokenberga, I., Damberga, I., Cefai, C., Camilleri, L., Bartolo, P., O'Riordan, M. R., & Grazzani, I. (2022). Social Emotional Competence, Learning Outcomes, Emotional and Behavioral Difficulties of Preschool Children: Parent and Teacher Evaluations. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *12*, 760782. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.760782

Menting, B., Koot, H., & van Lier, P. (2014). Peer acceptance and the development of emotional and behavioural problems: Results from a preventive intervention study. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, *39*(6), 530–540. https://doi.org/10.1177/0165025414558853

Montague, M., & Rinaldi, C. (2001). Classroom dynamics and children at risk: A followup. *Learning Disability Quarterly*, 24(2), 75–83. https://doi.org/10.2307/1511063

Oland, A. A., & Shaw, D. S. (2005). Pure versus co-occurring externalizing and internalizing symptoms in children: the potential role of socio-developmental milestones. *Clinical Child and Family Psychology Review*, 8(4), 247–270. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10567-005-8808-z

Ornaghi, V., Brockmeier, J., & Grazzani, I. (2014). Enhancing social cognition by training children in emotion understanding: A primary school study. *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology*, *119*, 26–39. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jecp.2013.10.005

Ornaghi, V., Grazzani, I., Cherubin, E., Conte, E., & Piralli, F. (2015). 'Let's talk about emotions!'. The effect of conversational training on preschoolers' emotion comprehension and prosocial orientation. *Social Development*, *24*(1), 166–183. https://doi.org/10.1111/sode.12091

Osher, D., Kidron, Y., Brackett, M., Dymnicki, A., Jones, S., & Weissberg, R. P. (2016). Advancing the science and practice of social and emotional learning: Looking back and moving forward. *Review of Research in Education*, 40(1), 644–681. https://doi.org/10.3102/0091732X16673595

Pietarinen, J., Soini, T., & Pyhältö, K. (2014). Students' emotional and cognitive engagement as the determinants of well-being and achievement in school. *International Journal of Educational Research*, 67, 40–51. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijer.2014.05.001

Raver, C. C., & Knitzer, J. (2002). Ready to enter: What research tells policymakers about strategies to promote social and emotional school readiness among three- and four-year-old children. National Center for Children in Poverty.

Romer, N., Ravitch, N. K., Tom, K., Merrell, K. W., & Wesley, K. L. (2011). Gender differences in positive social–emotional functioning. *Psychology in the Schools*, *48*(10), 958–970. https://doi.org/10.1002/pits.20604

Ronen, T., Rahav, G., & Moldawsky, A. (2007). Aggressive behavior among Israeli elementary school students and associated emotional/behavioral problems and self-control. *School Psychology Quarterly*, 22(3), 407–431. https://doi.org/10.1037/1045-3830.22.3.407

Salmela-Aro, K., Moeller, J., Schneider, B., Spicer, J., & Lavonen, J. (2016). Integrating the light and dark sides of student engagement using person-oriented and situation-specific approaches. *Learning and Instruction*, 43, 61–70. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. learninstruc.2016.01.001

Sanchez-Nunez, M. T., Fernandez-Berrocal, P., Montañés, J. & Latorre, J. M. (2008). Does emotional intelligence depend on gender? The socialization of emotional competencies in men and women and its implications. *Electronic Journal of Research in Educational Psychology*, 6(2), 455–474.

Sawyer, A. C. P., Miller-Lewis, L., Searle, A. K., Sawyer, M. G., & Lynch, J. W. (2015). Is greater improvement in early self-regulation associated with fewer behavioural problems later in childhood? *Developmental Psychology*, *51*(12), 1740–1755. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/a0039829

Snyder, F. J., Acock, A. C., Vuchinich, S., Beets, M. W., Washburn, I. J., & Flay, B. R. (2013). Preventing negative behaviors among elementary-school students through enhancing students' social-emotional and character development. *American Journal of Health Promotion*, 28(1), 50–58. https://doi.org/10.4278/ajhp.120419-quan-207.2

Spilt, J. L., Hughes, J. N., Wu, J. Y., & Kwok, O. M. (2012). Dynamics of teacher–student relationships: Stability and change across elementary school and the influence on children's academic success. *Child Development*, *83*(4), 1180–1195. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2012.01761.x

Thompson, R. A. (2002). The roots of school readiness in social and emotional development. In Set for success: Building a strong foundation for school readiness based on the social-emotional development of young children (pp. 8–29). The Ewing Marion Kauffman Foundation.

Wang, M.-T., Chow, A., Hofkens, T., & Salmela-Aro, K. (2015). The trajectories of student emotional engagement and school burnout with academic and psychological development: Findings from Finnish adolescents. *Learning and Instruction*, *36*, 57–65. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.learninstruc.2014.11.004

Wentzel, K. R., & Miele, D. B. (2016). Handbook of motivation at school (2nd ed.). Routledge.

West, J., Denton, K., & Reaney, L. M. (2001). *The kindergarten year: Findings from the Early Childhood Longitudinal Study, Kindergarten class of 1998–1999* (Publication No. NCES2001-023). National Center for Education Statistics.

White, B., Jarrett, M., & Ollendick, T. (2013). Self-regulation deficits explain the link between reactive aggression and internalizing and externalizing behavior problems in children. *Journal of Psychopathology & Behavioral Assessment*, 35(1), 1–9. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10862-012-9310-9

Wong, A. S. K., Li-Tsang, C. W. P., & Siu, A. M. H. (2014). Effect of a social emotional learning programme for primary school students. *Hong Kong Journal of Occupational Therapy*, *24*(2), 56–63. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hkjot.2014.11.001

Zee, M., & Roorda, D. L. (2018). Student–teacher relationships in elementary school: The unique role of shyness, anxiety, and emotional problems. *Learning and Individual Differences*, 67, 156–166. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lindif.2018.08.006

Zen, Y., Chiyonobu, T., Yuge, M., Yokota, I., Morimoto, M., Teramukai, S., & Hosoi, H. (2019). Gender differences in occurrence of behavioral and emotional problems at the lower grades of elementary school: Association with developmental and behavioral characteristics at 5 years. *Brain and Development*, *41*(9), 760–768. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. braindev.2019.06.001

Zins, J. E., Weissberg, R. P., Wang, M. C., & Walberg. H. J. (Eds.). (2004). Building academic success on social and emotional learning: What does the research say? Teachers College Press.

https://doi.org/10.22364/atee.2022.60

Intervention in Speech Therapy in Reducing Phonological Insufficiency in Preschool Children

Ilze Vilka

University of Latvia, Latvia ilze.vilka@lu.lv

Abstract

This research examines the possibilities of promoting the development of phonemic perception among children of preschool age with phonemic insufficiency. Phonemic insufficiency is a complex and difficult disorder; in such cases, therefore, a specialist carries out an in-depth evaluation of a child's speech development and language acquisition, which allows them to determine a precise program of speech therapy using the necessary correction methods and techniques, including games.

The aim of the present study is first, to investigate theoretically and evaluate practically the possibilities of promoting phonological perception in children with phonological insufficiency using a collection of games created by the author; and second, to gather expert opinion to substantiate the efficiency of these games in interventions.

The research was carried out using a literature review, speech and language therapist survey, an analysis of expert opinion of the developed games, and speech therapy sessions to improve phonological perception in pre-school children with phonological insufficiency.

Results. Forty-nine children aged five and six years old with phonological insufficiency were involved in the empirical stage of the study, namely speech therapy sessions over a period of six months. An initial and a follow-up assessment of phonological perception were carried out and showed dynamic growth for all participants. The results of the speech and language therapist survey revealed that speech therapists included the presented games in interventions and viewed them as relevant and effective instruments to reduce phonological insufficiency. The comments by experts selected from among the survey respondents on the games created by the author indicate that they are relevant and effective instruments in phonological insufficiency reduction.

Keywords: game, intervention, preschool children, phonological insufficiency, phonological awareness

Introduction

Language is a cultural heritage and the means of human communication. Every individual learns the laws of language usage in communication with their peers; thus, the cultural continuity of a language is respected so it can be acquired, preserved, and transmitted to future generations (Lūse et al., 2012; Montessori, 1964; Montesori, 2019; Rūķe-Draviņa, 1992). Language is a complicated sign system and a tool for the expression of thinking, thoughts, feelings, and will in communication with others (Lūse et al., 2012). Language use takes two forms, namely code and speech, and speech is implemented in three ways: sign language, spoken language, and written language, each of which has both communicative and expressive characteristics (Aivars et al., 1999).

Speech and language cannot be separated. Speech is a form of cognition and communication implemented with the help of language. Hence, a hierarchy of language elements must be respected in the process of language learning: phonetics (sound articulation and acoustics), morphology (structure of morphemes and functions, grammatical categories, creation of grammatical forms), and syntax (combination of words, sentences, the grammatical structure of sentences, and the laws of their creation) (Bušs et al., 2007; Miltiņa & Skribanovska, 2017). Berman (2008) also states that for a child to become a proficient speaker, they must follow the sequential stages of language learning, which takes a long time.

Language skills develop gradually in children and are based on imitation and exercise in practical activities, including playing different games. Playing ensures physical health, liveliness of mind, and body part movement, leading to a child's full development (Grudulis et al., 1632/1992). For children of preschool age, games offer shelter from unknown situations and support for achievements and successes (Petrovska et al., 2013), favorably affecting comprehensive personality development.

Methodology

This study is based on a review and analysis of the theoretical literature, which reveals the problem and establishes the relevance of the study. A review of the theoretical literature substantiates the importance of thoroughly developed phonemic perception in the speech development and language acquisition of preschool children. Furthermore, a practical study of improving the development of phonemic perception in preschool children with phonological insufficiency was carried out. Criteria, indicators, and assessment levels for phonemic perception assessment were established by the research author. The study included 49 children aged five to six years old who were diagnosed with phonological insufficiency. The practical study administered a questionnaire to practicing speech and language therapists; thus, opinions were collected from experts as follows:

- the opinion of speech therapists in preschool educational institutions on the methods, techniques, and methodological materials most often included in interventions (including games);
- evaluation by experts selected from among the speech therapists of the set of games developed by the author; and 3) the effectiveness of the games in interventions in terms of reducing phonological insufficiency.

Results

The opinions expressed in the theoretical literature show that an increasing number of scientists are turning their attention to children's speech development and language acquisition legality, as well as their development and acquisition legality problems. Experts in this area explain that speech development and language learning develop most rapidly during the first three years of a child's life, when the brain is particularly open to picking up and learning a language (Ahutina & Pylajeva, 2008; Astapov, 2010; Bondar, 2012; Tomele, 2022; Volodin & Shklovskij, 2014; Weyandt, 2006).

Data from the Latvian National Statistical Office about the state of children's health (in the context of a study of speech and language disorders) suggest that the relevant numbers are not positive:

- For the 2018–2019 school year, 2455 of 4102 children in preschool educational institutions were diagnosed with speech and language development disorders (Central Statistical Bureau [CSB], 2020).
- The *Latvian Statistical Yearbook 2020*, published in 2021, presents data regarding the number of persons registered with disabilities at the end of 2019; however, this breakdown did not separate children with speech development and language learning disabilities from others (CSB, 2021).
- The edition of the *Latvian Statistical Yearbook* published in 2022 did not present data on speech development and language learning disability (CSB, 2022).
- The fact that an increasing number of children have speech and language disorders is confirmed by a Dutch study, which states that in the timeframe 2010 to 2013, approximately 43% of children aged four to seven were found to have development disorders (Wiefferink et al., 2020).

In Latvia, the competence approach is applied to learning content in all education stages and entails learning by delving into the essence of the subject and understanding the interconnections between the activities offered so students can use their newly learned knowledge in unknown situations. School 2030 [Skola 2030] documentation and the curriculum for preschool education both offer methodological suggestions for educators about learning content and approach implementation. Moreover, they clearly define achievable results in the area of

language, for which three content units have been created: communication in context, text and text creation, and language structure (Miesniece, n.d.; Namsone et al., n.d.); see Table 1.

The reflected achievable results (see Table 1) provisionally imply that the highest achievable result in the language learning area at the end of preschool is a child who pronounces all speech sounds correctly and knows how to differentiate them, is able to analyze the composition of a word, and can represent a sound with a specific graphic image in reading and writing activities.

Table 1. Formulation of learning outcomes to be achieved at pre-primary stage 3 (5–6 years of age) (School 2030)

	Expected results		
nn)	Communication in context	Text and text creation	Language structure
ER) set fc educatic	Explains why people use language to communicate.	Listens to the text, names the characters, retells the events, makes up a sequel.	Identifies and names the speech sounds.
ected Results (start of primary	Asks about the unclear and answers specific questions.	Can talk about what have seen, heard, experienced, and their emotions and actions in a clear and sequential way.	Pronounces all speech sounds correctly.
tage 3 (age 5–6) (Expe at full age 6 – by the s	Participates in the conversation without interrupting the speaker.		Denotes speech sound by the corresponding letter.
	Uses speech intonations to express emotions appropriate to the communication situation.		Reads the words and understands what is read.
Key S child			Writes written letters in an unlimited space.

Likewise, the child should have an understanding of language usage legalities in each dialog context, know how to listen in others, and be able to express their own opinion. Children with phonological insufficiency can achieve this result in primary school on condition that a speech therapy intervention is carried out.

In the process of speech development and language learning among children of preschool age, great attention must be paid to both speech sound learning and phonematic process development. Fully developed phonematic processes help a person understand, react to, and concentrate on the different noises and sounds of the outside world (both non-language and language sounds), as well as decide from which side such noises are heard and distinguish among their sources (Chu & Syu, 2018; Constantin, 2021; Kramiņš, 2005; Kramiņš, 2016; Tūbele & Lūse, 2012; Šēnveilers & Ptoks, 2001).

Speech development and/or language learning disorders are among the development disorders most often encountered in children. Speech development and language learning disorders can affect one or more language areas, namely phonetic, morphological, and/or syntactic (Adams, 1990; Adams et al., 2012; Hempenstall, 2016; Miltiņa, 2008; Markus, 2007; Tūbele & Lūse, 2012).

Phonematic process development is formed and developed at a preschool age. Children's auditory attention and perception of noise and speech sound develop gradually; hence, having an example of correct speech and language is one of the most important prerequisites to advance correct speech development and language learning (Zinovjeva, 2018; Buldur & Gokkus, 2021; Dalva et al., 2017; Ferraz et al., 2015; Miltiņa, 2005; Murphy et al., 2015; Tūbele, 2008).

In order to advance development of phonematic processes, attention is paid to recognition and differentiation of speech sounds, perceiving and repeating rhythm, and enhancing verbal memory, as these components are closely related with reading skills. For children with inferior phonematic process development, difficulties arise in tasks such as missing sound determination and repeating non-words (Melby-Lervåg et al., 2012; Rispens & Been, 2007).

Intervention in speech therapy, explained as set of measures of pedagogical, psychological, and speech therapy, can reduce and/or prevent a child's physical and psychological development and speech disorder if carried out by a speech therapist (Abry et al., 2015; Tūbele, 2019; Thomas-Stonell et al., 2013).

Speech therapists use anamnesis acquisition to better understand children's speech and language disorders. They determine speech therapy statement and plan intervention actions with the goal of reducing speech disorder displays. Planning and implementing an intervention are seen as a complex and consecutive set of actions (Barberena et al., 2014; Brosseau-Lapréa & Roepkea, 2019; Mezzomo et al., 2014; Miltiņa, 2005, 61; Snowling & Hulme, 2012; Tūbele, 2019).

Great attention should be paid when the result of the intervention is received. The results need to be fixed and analyzed to evaluate dynamic changes and to evaluate the efficiency of the methods and techniques used in the intervention carried out to reduce the disorder (Baker et al., 2022).

An intervention is structured as follows. First, the anamnesis is received, after which a child's speech development is evaluated, an intervention is carried out, the child's speech development is evaluated, and the obtained results are analyzed; secondly, the feasibility and difficulty level of corrective work are assessed considering the child's experience, abilities, and skills (Baker et al., 2022; Vilka, 2021). Children gain experience in different activities, including playing different games. A game makes children laugh, fantasize, create, think about and express their wishes, rejoice, learn, and relax (Dzintere, 2000, 30; Lundberga, 2007). A game is a form of activity which is practiced from early childhood until the last years of one's life (Elkonin, 2008; Gottfried, 1985; Leontjev, 1996; Levy, 1978; Lieberman, 2007).

Authors	Characteristics of the game
Schiller (1794)	A game is an engine of personal development.
Froebel (1887)	Playing games forms experience.
Groos (1901)	A person plays to learn the skills required in life.
Spencer (1920)	A game is a pedagogical activity which gradually prepares a person for work life.
Huizinga (1949)	A game is a targeted and meaningful activity successfully implemented for development in the cognitive, physical, and social spheres.
Piaget (1951)	Playing games ensures a child's intellectual development.
Montessori (1964)	Playing games ensures a child obtains knowledge and skills.
Vygotsky (1966)	A game is preschool child's leading activity in the development of imagination, speech and language, mental ability, and logical thinking.
Bruner (1983)	A game has a therapeutic effect and ensures children's communicative skills.
Brostrōm (1996)	While playing games, a child learns to plan their actions, overcome problem situations, and predict achievable results.
Cook (2000)	A game is an activity which is regulated by rules and has a competitive spirit.
Rubinshtein (2002)	A game motivates a child's knowledge intake on various activities, academic and practical.
Garris et al. (2002)	A game is set in a specific place and time period, with precise rules that everyone must follow.
Elkonin (2008)	A game is an uninterrupted action in a child's psychic process development.
Eden (2008)	The thematic content of a game expands the child's assumptions about the laws of the world.
Leontyev (2009)	In an action of a game, a child learns to understand the rules of life.
Klopfer et al. (2009)	The participants in a game use previous and gain new knowledge and skills, thus increasing the probability of winning.
Whitton (2010)	Following the rules of a game makes it more likely that players will achieve the goal.
Salmina & Tihanova (2011)	The interactive nature of a game promotes communication and cooperation skills.
Saracho (2012)	Playing a game promotes a child's curiosity and activates listening and speech skills.
Petrovska et al. (2013)	A game lets a child gain personal experience of what is good and bad, develop new skills and knowledge, and strengthen existing ones.

Table 2. The characteristics of a game as expressed in the theoretical framework

Table 1.	Continued
----------	-----------

Wood (2013)	A game is a speech therapist-structured learning activity.
Smith & Hart (2014)	Children need to play games to gain knowledge.
Theobald et al. (2015)	New knowledge is gained from structured play activities.
Kumari et al. (2016)	Energetic games imitating different situations promote cooperation skills.
Ke (2016)	A game is based on a set of structured actions and an achievable result.
Edwards (2017)	In a game, a child learns from their mistakes.
Karagiorgas & Niemann (2017)	A game is a gradual transition from playful activity to a learning activity.
del Moral et al. (2018)	The action of a game reduces anxiety, and the exciting content promotes communication skills.
Boghian et al. (2019)	A game possesses elasticity; multiple players can become involved with different levels of knowledge.
Kirstavridou et al. (2020)	The different levels of a game ensure a qualitative and gradual gain of knowledge.
Bay (2020)	A game teaches players to use newly learned knowledge and skills in action.

The descriptions of a game presented in the theoretical framework shown in Table 2 allow the most usual characteristics to be identified as follows:

- The game involves emotion and a desired tension, which is based on uncertainty, instability, chance, luck, or misfortune, because to achieve the goal of the game, effort must be made (attention, concentration, thinking, verbal expression, etc.).
- Every game has rules that dictate its internal power. The rules of the game are followed mandatorily; as soon as they are broken, progress in and the end result of the game become doubtful, and the hoped-for result is not achievable.
- The game is an adult-structured action, and it is created deliberately by putting up a specific goal and determining sequential tasks to achieve it.
- The game contains a problem situation and a strategy to solve it, because there is a chance to win, but also to lose. All characteristic features are focused on specific learning and/or strengthening of knowledge and skills.

When including games in an intervention, a speech therapist should anticipate possible problems which could cause the child to be unable to carry out the constant tasks the game requires. In regard to such problems, a speech therapist should create multiple variations of a game, with different difficulty levels, to increase its usage in interventions (Vilka, 2021).

The empirical part of the present study was carried out in order to:

- find out the opinion of speech therapists in preschool educational institutions on what methods, techniques, and methodological materials are most often included in interventions (including games);
- 2) obtain an expert evaluation of the set of games developed by the author;
- test the effectiveness of the games in an intervention to reduce phonological insufficiency.

The following data extraction methods were used in the study: (1) survey method – questionnaire; (2) expert opinion method – questionnaire; and (3) speech therapy evaluation of children.

Speech therapists of general educational preschool educational institutes were chosen as the target respondents. The research author created an anonymous survey which was published on the Facebook.com group created by the Latvian Speech Therapist Association. The survey included parameters such as work experience, age of the children being worked on, number of children with speech and language disorders, number and duration of lessons, and methods used in the corrective development process. Eighty-eight Latvian general education preschool speech therapists participated in this research.

The survey of speech therapists of preschool educational institutions had 12 questions, both closed and open-ended, which aimed to clarify: (1) which speech therapy methods and methodological materials are most often used in interventions; and (2) whether speech therapy lessons contain games meant to reduce phonological insufficiency and which criteria the games must meet to promote phonological development.

As part of the explanation of methods and methodological materials used by a speech therapist in an intervention (see Fig. 1), it should be noted that six work methods are most frequently used.



Figure 1. The most common speech and language therapy methods used in interventions

Seventy-four speech therapists use *the method of imitation according to the articular principle* as a primary work method. The second most often-used work method (69 speech therapists) is *the method of imitation according to the acoustical principle;* the third most often-used is indicated as *the clapping method* (60 speech therapists); the fourth and fifth most often-used are *image grouping* and *listening* (both 59 speech therapists), while the sixth – *sound fusion* – is used by 58 speech therapists.

Every single speech therapist's work method is important; however, to reduce phonological insufficiency, it is important that an intervention contains those work methods that activate a child's cognitive processes. Thus, children in speech therapy sessions are not only imitators, but also active thinkers and cooperation partners.

In Figure 2, the answers given by speech therapists indicate that the following materials are used in interventions: games (85 speech therapists), image cards (83 speech therapists), and different support materials (e.g., reminders, folding alphabets, small items and toys) (42 speech therapists). It should be noted that these kinds of methodological materials are often included in interventions as support materials, which help in the reduction of phonological insufficiency.



Figure 2. Methodological materials commonly used in the intervention



Figure 3. Including games in interventions

TO BE OR NOT TO BE A GREAT EDUCATOR, 2022

I. VILKA. Intervention in Speech Therapy in Reducing Phonological Insufficiency in Preschool Children

It can be seen from Figure 3 that 26 (40.9%) speech therapists *always* use games, meaning they do so in every speech therapy session; 46 (52.3%) speech therapists *often* include games in speech therapy sessions; and six (7%) speech therapists *sometimes* use games in speech therapy sessions. However the option *rarely* was not chosen by a single speech therapist. The given answers indicate that games are included in interventions.

Speech therapists were also asked to note and evaluate the criteria to be taken into account when choosing a game to ensure it is appropriate and effective in an intervention aimed at phonological insufficiency reduction.

As can be seen in Figure 4, speech therapists evaluated the following criteria highest (with a rating of "fully agree" and "agree"):

- Precisely formulated goal of the game and certain relevant tasks: fully agree 56 speech therapists; agree – 29 speech therapists.
- Visual formation is coordinated with intervention implementation: fully agree 53 speech therapists; agree – 32 speech therapists;
- Progress in speech experience (repeating, strengthening, acquisition of new knowledge and skills: fully agree 54 speech therapists; agree 32 speech therapists;
- Practicing the language through different skills (listening, text creation, reading, writing): fully agree – 55 speech therapists; agree – 32 speech therapists;
- *Successful intervention method along the usual methods*: fully agree 57 speech therapists; agree 28 speech therapists.



Figure 4. Eligibility of game criteria

From an analysis of the answers provided by speech therapists to the survey questions, it can be concluded that speech therapists include games in interventions and view them as a relevant and effective instrument to reduce phonological insufficiency. The answers provided by speech therapists also show that when choosing to include games in interventions they think about how likely they are to achieve the wished result; check that the games have a good visual presentation, a precisely formulated goal, and appropriate tasks to be carried out; and consider whether they can be used in diverse forms to promote linguistic ways of working in speech therapy sessions, which are organized both individually and as group/sub-group classes.

During the selection of experts, the researcher talking to the candidates personally and gave them information about the study goals, progress, data processing, and other aspects of informed consent and provided each individual expert with an encrypted code as identity.

The following parameters were considered in the selection of experts: position, pedagogical seniority, scientific degree and title, and research seniority; whether the individuals had published on the question being assessed; whether their opinion about the question being assessed was explained with reference to research in the field, speech therapy experience, or intuition; and how much the expert understood the assessed question, with the following range of options: all pedagogical and special aspects are known for the main assessment question; most of the pedagogical and special aspects are known for the assessment question; and some of the pedagogical and special aspects are known for the assessment question (Albrehta, 1999).

The expert questionnaire was implemented to evaluate the game collection created by the author and for the experts to give their own opinions about whether it can be used to reduce phonological insufficiency. The collection contains seven games: "Find the same one, name it and place it!," "Circus," "Circus – 1," "Circus – 2," "Circus – 3," "Memory game," and "Find me a name!" Support material has been created for every game.

For experts to be able to provide an objective evaluation of the games, specific criteria were set for each one. Experts were sent the game collection and a methodological explanation of it and were asked to evaluate each game's specified criteria on a 5-point scale (Albrehta, 1998): 5 - no complaints, 4 - few complaints, 3 - there are complaints, but overall it is acceptable, 2 - there are serious complaints, the task must be modified, and 1 - the task is not acceptable as it is. They were also asked to provide comments if the evaluation of any criterion was 4 points or lower so corrections and clarifications could be made to the game collection (due to restrictions on the length of the article, additional materials are not included). The maximum score for each criterion of the game was 5 points, and the minimum was 1 point; the average maximum available

assessment was 5 points, and the game collection maximum available assessment was 5 points.

For each expert involved in the study, a code was formulated as follows: initials of name and surname/years of work experience (e.g., Ilze Vilka, 20 years = IV/20).

Figure 5 presents the experts' opinion of the game collection in general. Six experts rated it with the highest possible score, of 5 points, and four gave the following scores: AR/17 - 4,9841 points, DV/25 - 4.9821 points, ZS/7 - 4,9841 points, and IS/18 - 48.21 points, from a maximum available of 5.





The comments of experts AR/17, DV/25, ZS/7, and IS/18 are seen as suggestions for the game collection's visual appearance and to improve its effectiveness in use. Suggestions and comments made by the experts about the game collection are presented below.

Suggestions:

IS/18 Make the image correspond more clearly to the pronunciation of the ZS/7 word.

Review the label usage in the game "Find my word!" The support material could be in smaller units.

DV/25 Preferably, the visual material of the game should be made up of photo-

AR/17 graphs, which are closer to reality.

Comments:

NA/10 It is good that children can choose which image to start the game with. For harder levels, children should be allowed to choose images based on serial numbers.

> A speech therapist has the option to adjust the game speed according to a child's development level.

> The images chosen for the child are both recognizable and clearly understood.

- IS/18 The addition of new elements (syllable determination) in the traditional game "Circus" increased the child's interest in the game. As the words with the syllables to be determined were analyzed before the game started, during the game it was easier to reach the goal, because no additional support or explanation was needed for many children. The skill of correctly working out the syllable count in the given images and inserting these images in the map without any help boosted a child's self-esteem and contributed to the understanding of the concept of "syllable," which was expressed in joy at the work they achieved. The traditional game "Circus" offered a non-coerced way of including a phonematic analysis learning element to create a better understanding of phonematic analysis in children by splitting a word into syllables. It also promoted understanding of short and long vowels.
- ZD/25 Implementation of different elements (counting of syllables and sounds in a word) in the traditional game "Circus" contributed to a child's interest in the game, even though the progress of the game, compared to the two previous ones, was more difficult. The speech therapist observed that if these game elements are used more often in interventions, it would contribute to children having a more sustainable understanding of the concepts of word, syllable, and sound.

The different difficulty levels and mixed tasks in the game collection build and promote a strong understanding of the concepts, namely sounds, syllables, and words. Likewise, the opinion of the experts suggests that these or similar games could be used not only in speech and language therapies, but also in group activities in educational institutions as long as the child fully understands the difficult phonematic processes. These games develop the cognitive scope as well, that is, thinking, memory, and concentration.

An intervention in phonological insufficiency reduction was implemented in successive stages: Awareness of phonematic test criteria, indicators, evaluation indicators, and assessment levels (Table 3) were determined and implemented in speech therapy for children. Based on the phonological perception assessment results, games were selected according to symptoms of the disorder, in parallel to generally accepted intervention methods, and the created games were included in the intervention. Repeated phonematic awareness research was carried out after the intervention.

A logopedic statement was set during an in-depth speech therapy session conforming to the job description of a speech therapist. Inclusion of underaged participants was determined by a specific expert, and an informed consent form was signed by the head of a preschool educational institution. Legal guardians of the underaged participants were then spoken to, who, by signing the informed agreement, agreed to the participation in the study. TO BE OR NOT TO BE A GREAT EDUCATOR, 2022

I. VILKA. Intervention in Speech Therapy in Reducing Phonological Insufficiency in Preschool Children

Parameters for underaged participants in the study included their age and logopedic statements.

The intervention was implemented in five Latvian preschool institutes among 49 children aged five and six by the speech therapist from each preschool under the supervision of the researcher from March 2021 to August 2021.

The initial and follow-up phonemic awareness test used a phonemic awareness testing protocol developed by the author (protocol not included due to restrictions on the length of the article), and the intervention used a set of games developed by the author (only one sample game is included in the article (Fig. 6)).

The correction action included in the game set was implemented for the following sounds: $[Z] \rightarrow [S]; [Z] \rightarrow [D]; [S] \rightarrow [T]; [P] \rightarrow [B]; [T] \rightarrow [D]; [R] \rightarrow [L].$

The paper presents the criteria, indicators, assessment levels, and scores (determined by the author) for the phonemic awareness verification (Table 3).

Criteria	Criteria indicators			
	1.	Define a word in a	queue of other words	
pprehension	2.	Speech sound	Define a long vowel	
		detection in a queue of other speech sounds	Diphthong detection	
			Similar in place and manner of articulation, different in vocal cord involvement	
			Similar in place of articulation, different in manner of articulation	
		Similar in manner of articulation, different in place of articulation		
			Similar in place of articulation, different in active speech organ	
cal a	3.	Repetition of	Two-syllable line	
ogi	,	Syllable rows	Infee-syllable line	
lou	4.	a certain sound		
Pho	5.	Distinguishing aco	ustically similar-sounding words	
	1.	Detecting the first	sound in a word	
tic	2	Detecting the last s	sound in a name	
is is	3.	Naming a word by	its sounds	
one alys	4.	4. Detecting the sound position in a word (beginning, middle, end)		
Phan	5.	Detecting the num	ber of sounds in a word	
	1.	1. Merging sounds into open syllables		
. <u>u</u>	2.	2. Merging sounds in closed syllables		
sis	3.	3. Merging syllable sounds with consonant clusters		
ner the:	4.	Merging syllables i	n two-syllable words	
Pho synt	5.	Merging syllables i	n three-syllable words	

Table 3. Phonemic awareness testing criteria

The author of the research identified four ratings:

- 4 points a child's task is carried out independently;
- 3 points a child's task is performed with the aid;
- 2 points a child's task is carried out with difficulty;
- 1 point a child is unable to perform the task.

For each of the phonemic awareness indicators, specific tasks were set. Although 78 tasks were included in the study protocol, due to restrictions on the length of the paper the protocol is not viewable.

The following phonemic awareness assessment indicators were also identified:

- 312–279 points (70–78 tasks) phonological perceptual disorders have not been identified;
- 278-228 points (57-69 tasks) mild level of phonological awareness;
- 227–153 points (56–39 tasks) moderate level of phonological awareness;
- Fewer than 152 points (38 tasks and fewer) low level of phonological awareness.

The maximum score for all 78 correctly completed tasks in the phonemic awareness test is 312 points, and the minimum score is 78 points.

Figure 6 shows that at the beginning of the study, seven children were diagnosed with a low degree of phonological awareness, 12 children with a moderate degree of phonological awareness, and 25 children with a mild degree of phonological awareness. For five children the examination results show that phonemic perception disorder was not identified; however, these children showed significant errors in individual phonemic perception research criteria.



Figure 6. Phonemic awareness verification results before intervention in March 2021

For a more complete insight into the intervention, a sample of a game is provided below.


Figure 7. "Circus – 4": Name (or find in images) the word based on the number of syllables or sounds

The game shown in Figure 7 has the highest difficulty level. Its rules are based on those of the traditional board game "Circus." There are two or three participants, a die, and game pieces in different colors (one for each participant). The goal is to correctly articulate, differentiate, and use the sounds [R] and [L] in conversational language.

The tasks are as follows: 1. Correctly say the name of the image; 2. Activate phonemic awareness to distinguish sounds [R] and [L] at the beginning of the word; 3. Promote phonemic analysis and synthesis; and 4. Expedite visual attention and memory.

The game can be played by one or multiple players (as decided by the game host, in this case the speech therapist). The participants in the game move up the board. If they land on an image, a child names what they see in it; if they land on an arrow, they follow its direction, either up or down. When they land on the image indicated by the arrow, the participant names the object, phenomenon, etc. they see. If they land on dashes, the participant/participants must think of (or find in the support material) the word (image) with the specified number of syllables. If they land on dots, they must think of (or find in the support material) a word (image) with the specified number of sounds.

At the end of the intervention, a follow-up phonemic awareness examination was conducted.



Figure 8. The comparison of level of phonological perception in children

As can be seen in Figure 8, at the end of the study two children were diagnosed with a severe degree of phonemic awareness disorder, six children with a moderate degree of phonemic awareness disorder, and 13 children with a mild degree of phonemic awareness disorder. For 27 children, the examination results show that no phonemic awareness disorder was identified.

Conclusions

A review of the theoretical literature confirmed the author's hypothesis that a game is an effective instrument of intervention in reducing phonological insufficiency. The principle of sequencing should be followed, which is the basis for a qualitative, result-oriented work in reducing phonetic insufficiency.

Different methods and techniques are used in interventions to reduce phonetic insufficiency, such as mimicking, repetition, rhythmizing, analyzing, and synthesizing, all of which can be implemented during a game. A game is, by its nature, interactive, requiring a child to work based on their own previous experience, knowledge, and abilities. A game, as the leading action for a preschool child, contributes to the development of imagination, speech, and language, which is necessary for the development of mind games and logical thinking.

The results of this empirical study of speech therapists show that games to correct different speech sound disorders are often utilized in speech therapy sessions, to reduce both phonetic disorders and phonetic-phonemic deficiency, because they contribute to a spontaneous use of language and activate communication. Likewise, the answers of speech therapists suggest that games can simultaneously create joy and provide knowledge and skills. Undeniably, visual representation is important to a game, as is whether it can be used by or adjusted for multiple linguistic activities, such as listening, speaking, reading, and writing.

The comments given and recommendations made by the experts about the game collection created by the author leads to the conclusion that it is a relevant and

effective instrument in phonological insufficiency reduction. Likewise, the expert comments gathered and analyzed in the paper allow us to claim that the game collection interests participants in actions to correct and develop their speech, indirectly enabling all the tasks proposed in the game and reach the set goal.

Before the process of promoting phonological perception according to the criteria developed by the author of this study began, the levels of development of children's phonological perception were identified and determined. The results of the initial phonological perception survey in March 2021 showed that seven children were assessed as having a low level of phonological awareness, 12 children were assessed with a moderate level of phonological awareness, 25 children were assessed as having a mild level of phonological awareness, and five children were assessed as having fully proficient phonological awareness but making some minor errors in some tasks. The results of the phonological perception retest in August 2021 showed that all the children in the study had improved their phonological awareness, thus confirming that the games developed by the author are an effective tool in reducing phonological insufficiency.

REFERENCES

Abry, T., Hulleman, C.S., & Rimm-Kaufman, S.E. (2015). Using indices of fidelity to intervention core components to identify program active ingredients. *American Journal of Evaluation*, *36*(3), 320–338.

Adams, M. J. (1990). Beginning to read: Thinking and learning about print. Bolt, Beranek, and Newman.

Adams, E., Lockton, E., Freed, J., Gaile, J., Earl, G., McBean, K., Nash, M., Green, J., Vail, A., & Law, J. (2012). The Social Communication Intervention Project: A randomized controlled trial of the effectiveness of speech and language therapy for school-age children who have pragmatic and social communication problems with or without autism spectrum disorder. *International Journal of Language & Communication Disorder*, *47*(3), 233–244.

Ahutina, T., & Pylajeva, N. (2008). *Preodolenie trudnostej uchenija: Nejropsihologicheskij poghod* [Overcoming learning difficulties: A neuropsychological approach]. Piter.

Aivars, L., Aršavskis, V., Breslavs, G., Eglītis, I., Igoņins, D., Paņkova, J. & Voitkāne, S. (1999). *Psiholoģijas vārdnīca* [Glossary of psychology]. Mācību grāmata.

Albrehta, Dz. (1998). *Pētīšanas metodes pedagoģijā* [Research methods in pedagogy]. Mācību grāmata.

Astapov, V. (2010). *Korrekcionnaya pedagogika c osnovamu neiro i patopssihologii* [Correctional pedagogy with basic neuro- and pathopsychology]. Voronezh.

Bay, D. (2020). Examining the plays that preschool children prefer and the characteristics shaping them using draw and tell technique. *European Journal of Educational Sciences*, 7(2), 1857–6036. https://doi.org/10.19044/ejes.v7no2a7

Baker, E., Masso, S., Huynh, K., & Sugenda, E. (2022). Optimizing outcomes for children with phonological impairment: A systematic search and review of outcome and experience

measures. Intervention Research Language, Speech, and Hearing Services in Schools, 53, 732–748. https://doi.org/10.1044/2022_LSHSS-21-00132

Barberena, L., Keske-Soares, M., Cervi, T., & Brandão, M. (2014). Treatment model in children with speech disorders and its therapeutic efficiency. *International Archives of Otorhinolaryngology*, *18*(3), 283–288. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0034-1376885. ISSN 1809-9777.

Berman, R. (2008). The psycholinguistics of developing text construction. *Journal of Child Language*, 5(4), 735–771. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0305000908008787

Boghian, I., Cojocariu, V., Popescu, C., & Mâță, L. (2019). Game-based learning. Using board games in adult education. *Journal of Educational Sciences and Psychology*, *IX*(1), 51–57.

Bondar, T. (2012). Logopedicheskaja sluzhba v Respublike Karelija: Vchera, segodnja, zavtra [Speech therapy service in the Republic of Karelia: Yesterday, today, tomorrow]. *Logoped*, *7*, 9–15.

Brosseau-Lapréa, F., & Roepkea, E. (2019). Speech errors and phonological awareness in children ages 4 and 5 years with and without speech sound disorder. *Journal of Speech, Language, and Hearing Research, 62,* 3276–3289.

Broström, S. (1996). Frame play with 6-year-old children. *European Early Childhood Education Research Journal*, 4(1), 89–102.

Bruner, J. (1983). Play, thought, and language. Peabody Journal of Education, 60(3), 60-69.

Buldur, A., & Gokkus, I. (2021). The effect of Montessori education on the development of phonological awareness and print awareness. *Turkey: Research in Pedagogy*, *11*(1), 264–277. https://doi.org/10.5937/IstrPed2101264B

Bušs, O., Joma, D., Kalnača, A., Lokmane, I., Markus, D., Pūtele, I., & Skujiņa, V. (2007). *Valodniecības pamatterminu skaidrojošā vārdnīca* [Glossary of basic linguistic terms]. LU Latviešu valodas institūts.

Centrālā statistikas pārvalde [Central Statistical Bureau]. (2020). *Bērni Latvijā. Statistisko datu krājums 2020* [Children in Latvia. Collection of statistics]. https://www.csb.gov.lv/en/statistics/statistics-by-theme/population/characteristics/search-in-theme/418-children-latvia-2020

Centrālā statistikas pārvalde [Central Statistical Bureau]. (2021). Latvijas statistikas gadagrāmata 2020 [Statistical Yearbook of Latvia 2020]. Rīga. https://admin.stat.gov. lv/system/files/publication/2021-07/Nr_01_Latvijas_statistikas_gadagramata_2020_Statistical%20 Yearbook%20of%20Latvia_%2820_00%29_LV_EN.pdf

Chu, M. & Syu, J. (2018). Acoustic analysis of monophthongs, diphthongs, and triphthongs in Mandarin for 3- to 5-year-old children with articulatory phonological disorders. *Linguistics Beyond And Within*, *4*, 7–21.

Constantin, E. (2021). On phonological processes in child Romanian. Bulletin of the Transilvania University of Braşov Series IV: Philology and Cultural Studies, 13(62), 58–68. https://doi.org/10.31926/but.pcs.2020.62.13.3.5

Cook, G. (2000.) Language play, language learning. Oxford University Press.

Dalva, M., Pinheiro, A., & Citoler, S. 2017). Initial literacy: Influence of phonemic awareness and teaching method. Sistema de avaliação: às cegas por pares (double blind review). *Universidade Presbiteriana Mackenzie*, *19*(3), 226–241. https://doi.org/10.5935/1980-6906/psicologia.v19n3p226-241

del Moral, M. E., Guzmán, A. P., & Fernández, L. C. (2018). Game-based learning: Increasing the logical-mathematical, naturalistic, and linguistic learning levels of primary school

students. Journal of New Approaches in Educational Research, 7(1), 31-39. https://doi.org/10.7821/naer.2018.1.248

Dzintere, D. (2000). *Rotaļa kā īpaša kultūras forma un kultūras apguves veicinātāja* [Play as a specific form of culture and a facilitator of cultural learning]. RaKa.

Eden, T. (2008). Play works: Helping children learn through play. AuthorHouse.

Edwards, S. (2017). Play-based learning and intentional teaching: Forever different? *Australasian Journal of Early Childhood, 42*(2), 4–11. https://doi.org/10.23965/AJEC.42.2.01

Elkonin, D. (2008). Detskaja psihologija [Child psychology]. Akademija.

Ferraz, I., Pocinho, M., Pereira, A., & Pimenta, A. (2015). Phonological awareness program: A longitudinal study from preschool to 4th grade. *SHS Web of Conferences, 16*(01002). https://doi.org/10.1051/shsconf/20151601002

Froebel, F. (1887). Education of man. D. Appleton and Company.

Garris, R., Ahlers, R., & Driskell, J. E. (2002). Games, motivation, and learning: A research and practice model. *Simulation & Gaming*, *33*(4), 441–467. doi.org/10.1177/1046878102238607

Gottfried, A. E. (1985). Academic intrinsic motivation in elementary and junior high school students. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 77(6), 631–645. doi.org/10.1037/0022-0663.77.6.631

Groos, K. (1901). The play of man. Appleton.

Hempenstall, K. (2016). Phonemic awareness. In J. Buckingham (Ed.), *Read about it: Scientific evidence for effective teaching of reading*. The Centre for Independent Studies (pp. 6–15). https://www.cis.org.au/publications/research-reports/read-about-it-scientific-evidence-for-effective-teaching-of-reading

Huizinga, J. (1949). *Homo ludens. A study of the play-element in culture*. Routledge & Kegan Paul.

Karagiorgas, D., & Niemann, S. (2017). Gamification and game-based learning. *Journal of Educational Technology Systems*, *45*(4), 499–519. https://doi.org/10.1177/0047239516665105 journals.sagepub.com/home/ets

Ke, F. (2016). Designing and integrating purposeful learning in game play: a systematic review. *Education Tech Research Development*, 64, 219–244. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11423-015-9418-1

Kirstavridou, D., Kousaris, K., Zafeiriou, C., & Tzafilkou, K. (2020). Types of game-based learning in education: A brief state of the art and the implementation in Greece. *The European Educational Researcher*, *3*(2), 87–100. https://doi.org/10.31757/euer.324

Klopfer, E., Osterweil, S., Groff, J., & Haas, J. (2009). Using the technology of today, in the classroom today: The instructional power of digital gaming and social networking and how teachers can leverage it. https://www.academia.edu/707605/Using_the_Technology_of_Today_in_the_Classroom_Today

Komenskis, J. A. (1632, 1992) *Lielā didaktika* [The Great Didactic]. V. Grudulis, E. Klavniece, J. Rudzītis (Transl.). Zvaigzne.

Kramiņš, E. (2005). Runas prasme saziņā [Speaking communication skills]. Turība.

Kramiņš, E. (2016). Retorikas rokasgrāmata. Runāsim skaidri, spilgti, iedarbīgi! [Rhetoric handbook. Let's speak clearly, vividly, powerfully!] Turība.

Kumari M, Kau S, & Kumar A. (2016). Developmental process, role of play in developmental process, developmental delay, effectiveness of parent child interaction therapy and pride skills: a systemic review. *International Journal of Health Sciences & Research*, 6(8), 369–375.

Leontjev, A. (1996). Psihologicheskie osnovy doshkolnoj igri [Psychological foundations of preschool game], 3, 19–31. In *Psihologicheskaja nauka I obrazovanie* [PsyJournals.ru]. Moskovskij gosudarstvenij psihologo-pedagogicheskij universitet. https://psyjournals.ru/psyedu/1996/n3/Leontev.shtml (in Russian)

Leontyev, N. (2009). The development of mind. Erythrós Press and Media.

Levy, J. (1978). Play behavior. John Wiley & Sons.

Lieberman, P. (2007). The evolution of human speech: Its anatomical and neural bases. *Current Anthropology*, 48(1), 39–66. https://doi.org/10.1086/509092

Lundberga, S. (2007). Soli priekšā [One step ahead]. Madris.

Lūse, J., Miltiņa, I., & *Tūbele, S. (2012). Logopēdijas terminu skaidrojošā vārdnīca* [Glossary of speech therapy terms]. RaKa.

Markus, D. (2007). Bērns runā kultūras pasaulē [A child speaks in a cultural world]. Rasa ABC.

Melby-Lervåg, M., Lyster, S.-A.H., & Hulme, C. (2012). Phonological skills and their role in learning to read: A meta-analytic review. *Psychological Bulletin*, 138(2), 322–352. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0026744

Mezzomo, C., Mota, H., Keske-Soares M., Ceron, M., & Dias R. (2014). The influence of phonological awareness abilities in therapy for phonological disorder. *Rev. CEFAC, 16*(1), 328–335. http://dx.doi.org/10.1590/S1516-18462012005000093

Miesniece, A. (proj. vad.) (n. d.). *Pirmsskolas mācību programma*: Skola 2030. [Preschool curriculum: School 2030]. https://mape.skola2030.lv/resources/10

Miltina I. (2005). Skaņu izrunas traucējumi [Sound pronunciation disorders]. Raka.

Miltiņa I. (2008). Skolotāja logopēda darba mape [Speech and language therapist work folder]. RaKa.

Miltiņa, I., & Skribanovska, Z. (2020). Saistītās runas sekmēšana [Promoting connected speech]. RaKa.

Montesori, M. (2019). Absorbējošais prāts [The absorbing mind]. SIA Jāņa Rozes apgāds.

Montessori, M. (1964). Montessori method. Schocken Books.

Murphy, C., Pagan-Neves., W., & Schochat E. (2015). Children with speech sound disorder: Comparing a non-linguistic auditory approach with a phonological intervention approach to improve phonological skills. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *6*(64), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2015.00064

Namsone, D., Oliņa, Z., & Miesniece, A. (n.d.). *Pirmsskolas mācību programma*. [Pre-school curriculum]. https://mape.skola2030.lv/resources/10

Petrovska, S., Sivevskaa, D., & Cackova, O. (2013). Role of the game in the development of preschool child. *Procedia – LUMEN, Social and Behavioral Sciences, 92,* 880–884.

Piaget, J. (1951). Play, dreams and imitation in childhood. Routledge.

Rispens, J. & Been, P. (2007). Subject-verb agreement and phonological processing in developmental dyslexia and specific language impairment (SLI): a closer look. *International*

Journal of Language & Communication Disorders, 42(3), 293–305. https://doi.org/ 10.1080/13682820600988777

Rubinshtein, S. (2002). Osnovy obshej psoholohii [Basics of general psychology]. Piter.

Rūķe-Draviņa, V. (1992). No pieciem mēnešiem līdz 5 gadiem [From 5 months to 5 years]. Zvaigzne.

Salmina, N., & Tihanova, I. (2011). Psychological and pedagogical expertise of board games. *Psychological Science and Education*, 6(2), 29–38. https://psyjournals.ru/en/journals/pse/archive/2011_n2/42009

Saracho, O. N. (2012). An integrated play-based curriculum for young children. Routledge.

Schiller, F. J. C. (1794). Letters upon the aesthetic education of man. http://www.fordham. edu/halsall/mod/schiller-education.html (Modern History Sourcebook).

Smith, P., & Hart, C. (2014). The Wiley Blackwell handbook of childhood social development (2nd edn). Wiley-Blackwell.

Snowling, M. & Hulme, C. (2012). Interventions for children's language and literacy difficulties. *International Journal of Language ir Communication Disorders*, 47(1), 27–34. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-6984.2011.00081.x

Spencer, H. (1920). Education, intellectual, moral and physical. D. Appleton and Company.

Šēnveilers, R., & Ptoks M. (2001). Foniatrija un pedagoģiskā audioloģija [Phoniatrics and educational audiology]. Rasa ABC.

Theobald, M., Danby, S., Einarsdóttir, J., Bourne, J., Jones, D., Ross, S., Knaggs, H., & Carter-Jones, C. (2015). Children's perspectives of play and learning for educational practice. *Education Sciences*, *5*, 345–362.

Thomas-Stonell, N., Oddson, B., Robertson, B. & Rosenbaum, P. (2013) Validation of the FOCUS©: FOCUS on the outcomes of communication under six: A communicative participation outcome measure. *Developmental Medicine and Child Neurology* (in press). https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/epdf/10.1111/cch.12049

Tomele, G. (2022). Bērna valodas attīstības veicināšana un valodas traucējumu korekcija Montesori pedagoģijas aspektā [Promoting children's language development and correcting language disorders in Montessori pedagogy]. Promocijas darbs. Liepāja: LiepU

Tūbele, S. (2008). Disleksija vai lasīšanas traucējumi [Dyslexia or reading disability]. RaKa.

Tūbele, S. (2019). Valodas traucējumu novērtēšana [Language impairment assessment]. Raka.

Tūbele, S., Lūse, J (2012). Ja skolēns raksta nepareizi [If the pupil writes incorrectly]. RaKa.

Vilka, I. (2021). Theoretical bases of model of intervention in speech therapy for preschool children with phonological insufficiency. *Special Education*, *2*, 109–146. https://doi.org/10.15388/se.2021.v2i43.7

Vygotsky, L. (1966). *Play and its role in the mental development of the child*. Downloaded from https://www.marxists.org/archive/vygotsky/ .../play.htm

Volodin, N., & Shklovski, V. (2014). Rahhaja diagnistika narusheni' razvitika rechi [Early diagnosis of speech development disorders]. http://www.raspm.ru/files/Diagnostika_razvitia_rechi.pdf

Weyandt, L. L. (2006). The physiological bases of cognitive and behavioral disorders. Routlege

Whitton, N. (2010). Learning with digital games: A practical guide to engaging students in higher education. Routledge.

Wiefferink, K., Beugen, Wegener Sleeswijk, B. & Gerrits, E. (2020). Children with language delay referred to Dutch speech and hearing centres: Caseload characteristics. *International Journal of Language & Communication Disorders*, *55(4)*, 573–582. https://doi.org/10.1111/1460-6984.12540

Wood, E. (2013). Play, learning and the early childhood curriculum (3rd edn). SAGE Publishing.

Zinovjeva, Ju. (2018). Formirovanie fonematicheskih processov u doshkol'nikov s legkoj stepeh'ju psevdobulbarnoj dizartrii [Formation of phonemic processes in preschool children with mild pseudobulbar dysarthria]. Ministerstvo nauki i vysshego obrazovanija. http://elar.uspu.ru/bitstream/uspu/10233/2/Zinoveva.pdf

https://doi.org/10.22364/atee.2022.61

The Power Of Storytelling in Improving Students' Emotional Well-Being

Dace Medne

Jāzeps Vītols Latvian Academy of Music, Latvia

ABSTRACT

The emotional well-being of students in the higher education space as a subject of the research forms is an important part of the research both in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic and as well as before and after the pandemic. One of the dimensions of research is students' emotional well-being in performance-oriented curricula. Performance-orientated curricula include the acquisition of interdisciplinary competencies that can reduce students' subjective indicators of emotional well-being. In turn, storytelling as a method of pedagogical support has confirmed its effectiveness. Therefore, the research focus of this study is students who are studying in one of the programs of the performance-orientated subgroup; the study context is formed by the period of the first lockdown of the COVID-19 pandemic. The aim of the research is to identify the effectiveness of storytelling as a method of pedagogical support in promoting students' emotional well-being.

This article presents the results of a case study in one higher education institution in Latvia. Qualitative approach has been selected for the research. Once a week during four-month period, 12 participants shared stories about their current issues. Session transcripts were encoded and then analysed in the qualitative data processing program NVivo 12. The results of the research were interpreted within the framework of the theory of self-determination. The transcripts of the sessions identified all the indicators formulated within the theory of self-determination: competence, relatedness, and autonomy, which were improved using storytelling. The results suggest that study courses on stress and emotional burnout management should also be included at the higher education level, which would allow to increase students' skills to manage uncertainty situations. This study is a small, but research-sensitive indicator for promoting student well-being.

Keywords: higher education, NVivo, performance-orientated learning process, storytelling, students' emotional well-being

Introduction

The COVID-19 era has unexpectedly introduced adjustments to the implementation habits of various processes, which in turn has changed the focuses of understanding of processes and phenomena, thus clearly highlighting weak points and points for discussion. The student population was considered a particularly sensitive group long before the pandemic era. In turn, due to the pandemic, the burden on students' mental health has increased for various reasons. This statement is supported by research results around the world, namely, that the COVID-19 crisis has increased the risks to students' mental health, including in performing arts pedagogy, where individual lessons and presence have been an important additional component due to the minimal use of technology in the learning process. This situation raised various risk registers and challenges in the implementation of the learning process, strongly demanding to quickly find alternative ways of learning due to the global crisis. The described problem allows us to call the situation a student well-being crisis, so resources are needed to improve the situation.

The learning experience of students in higher education is shaped by the learning environment and communication (Barden & Caleb, 2019). Students' well-being is an essential part of the learning process also at the higher education level (Bücker et al., 2018), as the absence of well-being can be the reason for poor academic performance (Geertshuis, 2019). Additionally, the lack of support for maintaining well-being can limit the student's performance and involvement, the consequences of which may be related to drop out and achievements in the future professional life (Turner et al., 2017). At a general level, higher education is about developing a 'whole and integrated person' (Keeling, 2014, 144). Educators, on the other hand, play a key role in organizing an effective learning process that promotes students' well-being, thus encouraging power to flourish as professionals and responsible citizens (Okanagan Charter, 2015; Medne & Jansone Ratinika, 2019).

The ideological focus of this study was determined by the case when students had a chaotic, disproportionate and uncertain workload during the first lockdown (2020. Marth – 2020. June) of the COVID-19. Due to the existing inconsistent organization of the learning process, they needed emotional support. For this reason, the students initiated the creation of an emotional support group. In order to deal with the situation effectively and professionally, the methods of providing psychological support in a critical situation – in a sudden and uncertain change of the learning process, in addition to being feasible in a remote format – were sought. Storytelling was identified as one of the methods for expanding students' psychological resources (Medne, 2022). According to the described situation, the purpose of the study was determined: to identify the benefits of storytelling as a pedagogical support method in promoting students' emotional well-being. The

well-being of the students was determined as the subject of the study, the choice is justified by an empirically based argument that in promoting the subjective quality of a person's life, more attention should be paid to the promotion of positive aspects than to the reduction of negative aspects (Huppert & Whittington, 2003), because exactly this focus of intervention and research has a positive effect on health literacy and life expectancy.

Storytelling as a tool, its use procedure

Storytelling is becoming an increasingly important tool for those working with vulnerable and sensitive population (Botfield et al., 2017). In order to make complex messages easier to understand, storytelling is increasingly used in various industries as a tool both to educate and promote the change of certain behaviour patterns, as well as to improve the ecology of relationships. This is because many resources are allocated to storytelling as a tool in theory (Holloway & Freshwater, 2007; Liehr & Smith, 2014): it creates a healing experience, promotes self-expression, mutual learning, lets you know your vulnerability, share your emotions and experiences, promotes feeling, promotes emotion management skills. In addition, purposeful dialogue between generations is emphasized as an essential storytelling resource, thus ensuring the ecology of relationships, increasing involvement, including in civically responsible activities (Liehr & Smith, 2014). Which is an essential resource, because in the context of Latvia, the COVID-19 pandemic also brought up an active discussion about civically responsible behaviour. The resources of storytelling as a method clearly define the place of the teacher as an emotional support person in the educational process, which provides for an expanded interpretation of the pedagogical mastery of the university lecturer, including marking the teacher as the determining human resource in the implementation of civic education (Medne et al., 2021), which is currently being used in the space of higher education, defined as cross-cutting competence.

In order to use storytelling effectively, Guber (2007) offers a storytelling model that contains four rules or truths:

- 1) be true to yourself, thus expressing your deepest and truest attitudes and values,
- 2) be true to the group, making the time spent valuable, meeting the needs of all,
- 3) being true to the moment (COVID-19 pandemic in this study), and
- 4) being true to purpose so that the story reflects the involvement and input of the storyteller, strategies for promoting well-being in this study.

These four steps, within the framework of the study, are determined as the ideological basis in the constructs of student support group stories. On the other hand, the topics and content were freely chosen by the students.

Methodology

In order to achieve the aim of the study, an action research methodology of a qualitative approach was chosen. The choice was determined by the focus of the specific design options, namely, that such research designs allow to study different types of problems and their solutions from different angles, as well as the frame of professional development of practitioners and the educational focus, because they ensure the progress towards a better understanding of the research participants in relation to the discussed topic and the spoken meanings (Koshy, 2010). Within the framework of this research, the focus of self-education and self-improvement has been identified as the most important. Within the framework of the study, students reflected on their own and other students' wellbeing, according to their feelings in the context of learning during COVID-19. In turn, qualitative research design is suitable for research within the educational framework (Lodico et al., 2010), because it allows to obtain various information about the pedagogical process provided by the perspectives of teachers and students (Thanh & Thanh, 2015). Additionally, the field of data obtained in qualitative research includes the study of the experiences, attitudes, interpretations, concepts, feelings, and opinions of the involved subjects (Lodico et al., 2010). Student well-being is subjective, in order to understand the students' experiences and their mutual relations, the qualitative approach was chosen, which ensured that it is possible to identify the individual in the collective. Within the framework of this study, the researcher and the participants of the study collaborated in order to be able to construct, as a result of this cooperation, a frame of vision for the well-being of the participants, which could identify recommendations for improving the learning process. Such a methodological focus has been established, as research in the education sector is beginning to focus attention on the issues of quality improvement (Medne, 2022).

The combination of research focuses in the study is designed according to the funnel principle – from the widest to the narrowest.

Identified focuses in the study	Focus type
Well-being	Context
Self-improvement (educational)	Interventional
Quality frame of the educational process	Methodological

Table 1. Study Exploratory Focuses

Study procedure

The study procedure was carried out within one higher education institution, in the student population during one semester. Storytelling techniques consisted of a series of steps: for four months, once a week, 12 participants shared stories that they thought were important to them. The content and form of the stories were not limited, the students chose freely. Sessions were arranged remotely using the Zoom platform. The stories of each session were recorded, then transcribed, and the transcripts were coded. Students in the transcripts were coded, each assigned a letter code (from A to L). The story set consisted of 216 transcripts. An array of data to be processed, for the analysis of transcripts, justified the choice of the qualitative data processing program QSR NVivo 12.

The data obtained were analysed in two stages:

Stage 1. Transcripts were imported into the NVivo 12 program and analysed using qualitative and quantitative contextual analysis. The choice of NVivo was determined by the recognition that its use increases the validity of the qualitative study (Siccama & Penna, 2008). Transcript processing and analysis was implemented in the following order:

- 1) preparation of transcripts in Microsoft Word;
- 2) import of transcripts into NVivo file;
- 3) deductive coding of transcripts into NVivo file;
- 4) according to the code structure created in the context analysis, interpretation of content.

The choice of deductive coding was justified by its conceptual scope, namely, that it provides, in its essence, structure and correspondence to a theoretical frame. This is a top-down approach in which the first step is the identification of a set of codes: within the framework of this research, the identification of a matrix of categories of student well-being, and the second step is the identification of codes in transcripts. The set of codes for identifying well-being in transcripts was determined in accordance with Noble and McGrath (2015), who in the educational context offer seven components for explaining the content of well-being:

- 1) Positivity optimism, a range of positive emotions, humour;
- 2) Relationship ecological relations;
- 3) Outcomes a sense of competence, individual success;
- Strengths awareness of one's strengths and the possibility to develop them;
- 5) Purpose the existence of a goal, a sense of meaning in life;
- 6) Engagement, according to the authors, this is one of the most important aspects of education;
- Resilience the ability to adapt to changes, to survive failures and disappointments.

TO BE OR NOT TO BE A GREAT EDUCATOR, 2022

I. VILKA. Intervention in Speech Therapy in Reducing Phonological Insufficiency in Preschool Children

Thus, the strategy of this study consists of moving from the general to the specific: from the theoretical to the practical, studying the set of components of well-being in a new context: in the context of COVID-19.

Stage 2. The plausibility of the change in the well-being criteria was tested in sample sets related to the Student's t-test. In order to test the dynamics of the well-being criteria, a null hypothesis (H0) was formulated: there is a connection between the increase in the well-being criteria and storytelling; and the alternative hypothesis (H1) was accepted: there is no connection between the effective-ness of storytelling and the increase in well-being.

Research ethics

The study was conducted in accordance with ethical aspects: informed consent was obtained from the study participants, the respondents were informed about the voluntary principle of participation in the storytelling group, the participants were informed about the principle of confidentiality, as well as the right to terminate their participation in the group at any time.

Respondents

The group was set up on the initiative of the participants and participation was voluntary. The group consisted of students of one semester. So, the type of study sample: the typical sample. The same number of participants (n = 12) started and ended their participation in the group, the composition of the participants remaining unchanged.

Results

The first step in data processing was quantitative contextual analysis, so deductive coding was performed to identify the criteria of well-being in transcripts and to fix the range of number of codes. Deductive coding identifies all the codes identified by Noble and McGrath (2015). The transcripts as a whole (n = 216) yielded the following range of all codes (Table 2).

Code	Total number of codes
Positivity	189
Relationships	256
Outcomes	167
Strengths	223
Purpose	134
Engagement	195
Resilience	205

Tal	ble	2.	Numl	per of	codes	in a	ll tran	script	ts
-----	-----	----	------	--------	-------	------	---------	--------	----

The largest number of codes consists of Relationships (n = 256), followed by Strengths (n = 223), followed by Resilience (n = 205), then Engagement (n = 195), then Positivity (n = 189), then Outcomes (n = 167), and the smallest number of codes is Purpose (n = 134). Thus, it can be concluded that the students' wellbeing frame consists of all the components specified in the theory.

In a further step, qualitative content-analysis was implemented, which led to the conclusion that the content load of all codes conceptually overlaps with three criteria of the theory of self-determination: Autonomy, Competence, Relatedness, thus, can identify the content units – *sense* – presence in transcripts. This makes it possible to assume that the existence of meaning is an essential background for well-being. This conclusion is consistent with other studies (Weinstein et al., 2012, Martela et al., 2018. So, it can be argued that the results of this study offer some empirical support for this theoretical approach.

As a result of qualitative content analysis, it can lead to specific conclusions that the author of the study considers to be significant for Storytelling resources:

- in their stories, the participants position themselves and their experiences in a classic story circle, without even knowing the theoretical framework about it. The story circle allows you to improve the storyteller's skills, which is an essential component of the educational focus;
- all the stories of the participants included a set of subjectively diverse interpretations of situations. This is because they were able to represent themselves, which created an opportunity for many to meet themselves for the first time with the true self. This conclusion is characterized by respondent U: *I am already 21 years old, and I really understood the causes of my actions for the first time. I feel really confused because I think I know myself and always act consciously*;
- for five participants, the reflexive experience of sharing stories of their own experiences turned out to be empowering, as described by respondent F: I feel that I was born a new person, they call it maturation I don't know, but I know that I can face new challenges, even cathartic, as described by respondent O: I have such a relief, I really look at things differently, and I feel brave, strong and free, pleased, even if hurt by saying "no";
- two respondents discovered that they spoke openly for the first time about an experience that had not been previously formulated, described by respondent D: I spontaneously spoke for the first time, I always reflected on what I will say, also at the beginning of our conversations I carefully prepared. It's so relieving that you can say what you think and nothing's gonna happen to you.

In the next step, code dynamics were captured in the first and final transcript of the program (Table 3).

Code	Total number of codes	First transcript	Final transcript
Positivity	189	71	118
Relationships	256	125	131
Outcomes	167	85	82
Strengths	223	57	166
Purpose	134	52	82
Engagement	195	51	144
Resilience	205	84	212

Table 3. Dynamics of the number of codes

Comparing the number of codes in the first and the final interview, it can be concluded that of all the well-being codes, during the storytelling intervention, these codes increased the most: Positivity (from 71 to 118), Engagement (from 51 to 144), and Resilience (from 84 to 212).

In this study, a specific phenomenon in code dynamics was identified as a result of the content-analysis, that not only the number of codes has changed during the intervention, but also the content of the codes has changed significantly, which respondents describe as follows:

Respondent X code Positivity – (first transcript) I don't know what to be happy about all the time, it doesn't sound good (final transcript) there is also a satisfaction at last for that remote singing. I think I could never like it, but if the lecturer finds the right approach, it's a pleasure to have remote learning and remote singing too.

Respondent Z Code Strengths – (first transcript) I'm ashamed, I've never been so weak, (final transcript) surprised at myself; I can handle it, I can finally talk about this inability of mine.

In order to check the reliability of the dynamics of well-being codes, in the second stage of the study, hypotheses resulting from the results of the first stage were formulated: there is a connection between the increase in the well-being criteria and storytelling the alternative hypothesis (H1): there is no connection between the effectiveness of storytelling and the increase in well-being. Since the results of the second stage of the research are obtained using an interview, the data selected for dynamic analysis were analysed using continuous comparative analysis. The reliability of the changes was checked with the Student's t-test of related sample groups, and it was found that the changes in the obtained results before and after the storytelling intervention are statistically reliable ($\alpha \leq 0.05$). Analysing the results of the second stage of the study, it was concluded that the alternative hypothesis can be rejected, and the null hypothesis accepted: this means that there is a connection between the increase in the well-being criteria and storytelling.

Discussion

Despite the fact that this study has several limitations (territorial, numerical limitation), the conclusions of the study are significant from various angles. First of all, there are relatively many studies on really effective intervention techniques that would promote students' well-being in the world, but no such studies were found in the context of pedagogy in Latvia. Research and project reports on the promotion of students' well-being in the education space of the given country were searched using open access databases: PubMed, ResearchGate, SciELO, Cohrane Library, Campbell Collaboration, EppiCentre, ScienceDirect, SpringerOpen, and Academia, as well as a database of published doctoral theses. Literature units were searched using Boolean search operators. The absence of evidence-based resources allows us to conclude that the results of this study offer an evidencebased strategy that allows improving the quality of life in general by effectively guiding the students' cognitive position on well-being. This, in turn, makes it possible to increase well-being as a state of personality. Because it is the existence of strategies to increase well-being that contribute to people's quality of life (Huppert & Whittington, 2003). So, it can be concluded that storytelling is a method that expands the repertoire of well-being management strategies of the students. Secondly, the conclusions of this study could be a step and a call for purposeful action regarding the focus of students' emotional well-being. It is emphasized that this is especially effective if a comprehensive approach to wellbeing is developed using the so-called "whole university approach" (Seldon & Martin, 2017; Baik et al., 2016). Thirdly, the results of this study have highlighted that storytelling could be a suitable method for solving typical situations, the methodology of which is not complicated, every teacher could learn it. Furthermore, this study focused on a very important subset of the population – the student population wherecommunication is an important part of the development. Thus, the costs of its acquisition and implementation could save financial resources in the future, already at a later stage as mental health treatment. Therefore, fourthly, it is justified to conclude that the connection between students and teachers at the level of higher education is insufficiently studied (Hagenauer & Volet, 2014). The results of this study show that ecological relations between students and teaching staff contribute to the well-being of students in the higher education environment, even in a difficult situation for all parties involved. The results of this study are consistent with those of other studies, such as

- 1) when higher education also enables supportive and active student-centered learning and assessment experiences that treat students as a "whole person" rather than an indistinguishable part of the student body (Morgan & Houghton, 2011).
- 2) Also, that the pedagogic mastery of the teacher is the dimension that determines both the students' well-being and professional growth (Medne, 2022).

Perhaps the next research focus could be the study of the emotional state of university teaching staff, because, as concluded, they are an important resource in promoting the well-being of students. Fifth, the use of storytelling can be equally important for both practice and research. If it is important for practice that the effectiveness of the used techniques has been tested in research, then empirical studies benefit from a well-grounded way in which the method enables empirical materials in research. Research designs in the educational sciences that do not take into account the experience, understanding, and freedom of action of those who will be the subject of the study are likely to be less effective than studies that do.

Conclusions

This article examines the storytelling as a pedagogical support tool in practice, its resources for improving the quality of educational practice, and outlines ideas for further research. The beginning of the COVID-19 era significantly affected the well-being of various population groups, including the particularly sensitive student groups. According to the actualization of the problem, this article proposes and empirically tests the assumption that the seven components of wellbeing - Positivity, Relationships, Outcomes, Strengths, Purpose, Engagement, Resilience - will change using storytelling as a pedagogical support tool. The obtained results confirm the assumption. The results also allow us to conclude that the content of well-being is related to the basic idea of the theory of self-determination, namely that self-expression, through autonomy and competence, as well as ecological relations with other people, gives meaning to life, thus making life worth living. Which is a valuable insight, especially in expanding the coping resources of vulnerable groups, thus increasing the likelihood of increasing their personal, professional and civic effectiveness. Looking into the future, the beginning of the COVID-19 could be an opportunity to systematize empirically proven strategies to promote economic and sustainable investment of financial resources to promote and maintain people's mental health.

Aknowledgment

Dace Medne is a professor and researcher at the Jāzepa Vītola Latvian Academy of Music in the Art Education department.

REFERENCES

Baik, C., Larcombe, W., Brooker, A., Wyn, J., Allen, L., Brett, M., Field, R., & James, R. (2016). A Frameworkfor Promoting Student Mental Wellbeing in Universities. https://melbournecshe.unimelb.edu.au/_data/assets/pdf_file/0016/2302603/MCSHE-Student-Wellbeing-Framework_FINAL.pdf

Barden, N., & Caleb, R. (2019). Student Mental Health and Wellbeing in Higher Education: a practical guide. SAGE Publications Ltd.

Botfield, J. R., Newman, C. E., Lenette, C., Albury, K., & Zwi, A. B. (2017). Using digital storytelling to promote the sexual health and well-being of migrant and refugee young people: A scoping review. *Health Education Journal*, *77*(7). https://doi.org/10.1177/0017896917745568

Bücker, S., Nuraydin, S., Simonsmeier, B. A., Schneider, M., & Luhmann, M. (2018) Subjective wellbeing and academic achievement: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 74, 83–94. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrp.2018.02.007

Geertshuis, S. A. (2019). Slaves to our emotions: Examining the predictive relationship between emotional. *Active Learning in Higher Education* 20(2). https://doi.org/10.1177/14697874188089

Guber, P. (2007). The four truths of the storyteller. Harvard Business Review, 85(12), 52-59.

Hagenauer, G., & Volet, S. E. (2014) Teacher-student relationship at university: an important yetunder-researched field. *Oxford Review of Education*, 40(3), 370–388. https://doi.org/10.1080/03054985.2014.92161

Holloway, I., & Freshwater D. (2007). Vulnerable story telling: narrative research in nursing. *Journal of Research in Nursing*, *12*(6), 703–711.

Huppert, F.A., & Whittington, J. E. (2003). Evidence for the independence of positive and negative well-being: Implications for quality of life assessment. *British Journal of Health Psychology*, *8*, 107–122.

Keeling, R. P. (2014). An ethic of care in higher education: Wellbeing and learning. *Journal* of *College and Character*, *15*(3), 141–148. https://doi.org/10.1515/jcc-2014-0018

Koshy, V. (2010). Action Research for Improving Educational Practice. A Step-by-step guide. Sage, London. Second Edition.

Liehr, P. & Smith, M. (2014). Concept Building for Research. Ed. P. Liehr, & M. Smith. *Story Theory. Middle Range Theory for Nursing*, 349-360. Springer Publishing Company. http://stikespanritahusada.ac.id/wp-content/uploads/2017/04/Mary-Jane-Smith-PhD-RN-Patricia-R.-Liehr-PhD-RN-Middle-Range-Theory-for-Nursing_-Third-Edition-Springer-Publishing-Company-2013.pdf

Lodico, M., Spaulding, D. & Voegtle, K. (2010). Methods in Educational Research: From Theory to Practice. John Wiley & Sons, San Francisco.

Martela, F., Ryan, R. M., & Steger, M. F. (2018). Meaningfulness as satisfaction of autonomy, competence, relatedness, and beneficence: Comparing the four satisfactions and positive affect as predictors of meaning in life. *Journal of Happiness Studies: An Interdisciplinary Forum on Subjective Well-Being*, 19(5), 1261–1282. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10902-017-9869-7

Medne, Dace (2022). Digital Storytelling as a Resource for Reducing Students' Emotional Burnout. In *Human, Technologies and Quality of Education, 2022. Proceedings of Scientific Papers* = *Cilvēks, tehnoloģijas un izglītības kvalitāte.* Riga, University of Latvia. 1135 p. https://doi.org/10.22364/htqe.2022.07

Medne, D., & Jansone Ratinika N. (2019). Professional Mastery of Academics in Higher Education: The Case of Latvia. In *Innovations, Technologies and Research in Education*. Riga: University of Latvia Press. 718. 591–600. https://www.apgads.lu.lv/fileadmin/user_upload/lu_portal/apgads/PDF/ATEE-2019-ITRE/Book_itre-2019.pdf

Medne, D. (2022). Situation Simulation as a Pedagogical Method in Teacher Education. Rural Environment. Education. Personality. (REEP) Proceedings of the 15th International

Scientific Conference No. 15. Latvia University of Life Sciences and Technologies Jelgava, Latvia. https://doi.org/10.22616/REEP.2022.15.012

Medne, D., Rubene, Z., Bernande, M., & Illiško, Dz. (2021). Conceptualisation of University Students' Civic Transversal Competence. *Human, Technologies and Quality of Education*, 1148. Ed. L. Daniela Riga, University of Latvia. https://doi.org/10.22364/htqe.2021.59

Morgan, H., & Houghton, A. (2011). Inclusive curriculum design in higher education. Considerations for effective practice across and within subject areas. York, UK: Higher Education Academy.

Noble, T., & McGrath, H. (2015). PROSPER: A New Framework for Positive Education. *Psychology of Well-Being*, 5(2). https://psywb.springeropen.com/articles/10.1186/s13 612-015-0030-2

Okanagan Charter: An International Charter for Health Promoting Universities and Colleges. (2015). https://www.acha.org/documents/general/Okanagan_Charter_Oct_6_2015.pdf

Seldon, A., & Martin, A. (2017). *The Positive and Mindful University* (HEPI Occasional Paper 18). Higher Education Policy Institute.

Siccama, C. J., & Penna, S. (2008). Enhancing Validity of a Qualitative Dissertation Research Study by Using NVIVO. *Qualitative Research Journal*, 8(2), 91–103. https://doi.org/10.3316/QRJ0802091

Thanh, N.C., & Thanh, T.T. (2015). The Interconnection Between Interpretivist Paradigm and Qualitative Methods in Education. American Journal of Educational Science, 1(2), 24-27. https://www.academia.edu/16991790/The_Interconnection_Between_Interpretivist_ Paradigm_and_Qualitative_Methods_in_Education

Turner, M., Holdsworth, S., & Scott-Young, C. M. (2017). Resilience at university: The development and testing of a new measure. *Higher education research & development, 36*(2), 386–400. https://doi.org/10.1080/07294360.2016.1185398

Weinstein, N., Ryan, R. M., & Deci, E. L. (2012). Motivation, meaning, and wellness: a selfdetermination perspective on the creation and internalization of personal meanings and life goals. *The Human Quest for Meaning: Theories, Research, and Applications*, 2nd Edn. Ed. P. T. P. Wong. New York, NY: Routledge, 81–106. https://doi.org/10.22364/atee.2022.62

Future Preschool Teachers' Experiences of Mutual Learning in the Work Environment

Ilze Šūmane, Līga Āboltiņa

University of Latvia, Latvia

ABSTRACT

One of the main tasks of teachers is to improve their professional competence, which begins with their education prior to teaching. During the education process, when the identity of a future teacher is formed, their attitude should include a commitment to continuous professional development. Therefore, teacher training programmes aim to increase young teachers' readiness to engage in the development of their professional competences throughout their working lives. One of the best approaches to professional development is learning in the workplace as part of a team (i.e. mutual learning between employees). Pre-primary learning is important because a common understanding of the existing educational institution and a desire to learn from one another promote change in teachers' personal approaches and in educational institutions at the organisational level.

The theoretical framework of this research consists of theories on social learning, mutual learning, characterisation of preschool teachers' professional competence in knowledge, skills, values and social behaviour and unity. Notably, it has been found that preschool teachers learn best and gain experience by learning from one another in their communities, which is reflected in their practices.

This research aimed at examining the experience and opinions gained during the pedagogical practice of future teachers regarding the opportunities, advantages and disadvantages of mutual learning. The research methods included a literature review, and content analysis. The sample included 280 students from a preschool teacher study programme. This study uses a qualitative research method and the qualitative data processing programme NVivo. The results show that prospective teachers have developed different experiences of mutual learning during the implementation of study practice tasks. In general, students describe mutual learning in relation to the theoretical principles acquired in the study process.

Keywords: mutual learning, pedagogical practice, professional competence of preschool teachers, professional development of teachers, professional learning communities, teacher training

Introduction

One of the essential basic tasks in a teacher's professional activities is improving his or her professional competence. A teacher's professional development begins before they start real work at a school; that is to say, during the study process, when the future teacher's identity and attitude towards continuous professional development are formed. One of the tasks of teacher education programmes is to promote the readiness of young teachers to engage in improving their professional competence throughout their entire working life.

The purpose of the study is to investigate the experiences and opinions of future teachers during their pedagogical practice in terms of the opportunities, advantages and disadvantages of mutual learning. Evaluating future teachers' understanding and practical experience of learning at the workplace is important for improving teacher study programmes, goal orientation when organising student internships, cooperation among universities and student pedagogical internships. During the study process, it is necessary for new teachers to achieve readiness for further professional development.

Among the most effective ways of professional development today are learning in the workplace and learning in a team; that is, mutual learning among colleagues (Brücknerová & Novotný, 2019; Imants & Van Veen, 2010; Kokare, 2012; Meirink et al., 2010; Virkkula & Säde-Pirkko Nissilä, 2014). In a preschool educational institution, mutual learning is important, as it instils a common understanding of the institution and a desire to learn from each other. It promotes changes both at the personal level (i.e. the teacher) and at the organisational level (i.e. the educational institution). In the preparation of preschool teachers, it is important to promote students' readiness to improve their own and colleagues' pedagogical practice according to the needs of the educational environment (Kennedy & Lees, 2015; McDonald et al., 2011).

Mutual learning among teachers is part of a school's learning culture (Bredeson, 2000; Cheng, 2017; Haiyan et al., 2017; Kaulens, 2019; Kokare, 2013; Leithwood, 2006). Schools can create a learning-orientated school culture in which school leaders play an important role as creators of a positive culture of mutual learning among teachers.

Mutual learning is a process and activity designed to improve teachers' professional knowledge, skills and attitudes at an individual level so that they, in turn, can improve student learning. Research has shown that teachers' learning in practice and the formation of professional learning communities contribute to teachers' individual and collective ability to teach as well as students' success at school (Guskey, 2002; Imants & Van der Wal, 2010; Zhang et al., 2018). Professional learning communities are created in schools where teachers work together and engage in constant dialogue, analyse their practice and students' performance, search for the most effective teaching methods, solve specific problem situations and promote teachers' emotional well-being (Cumming et al., 2021; Jones et al., 2013; Thompson et al., 2004).

Regardless of the content that teachers provide to each other during mutual learning, the network of learning relationships at schools can have various structures. Teacher learning is in diverging contexts within the school, the following three interrelated levels of learning were set out by Imants and Van Veen (2010):

- 1. Individual or personal learning by teachers or school leaders within the context of the school;
- 2. Social learning in small groups or teams of teachers.
- 3. Learning that occurs across the school organisation as a whole.

To ensure that mutual learning among teachers takes place, the leader of an educational institution has an important role in how it is organised. Work based learning opportunities should be provided and well organised. There should be suitable timing and conditions, and the necessary resources should be provided. Mutual learning in the work environment requires an inspiring learning vision, organisation, feedback for teachers and participation to be encouraged for the benefit of teachers' professional development. Jones et al. (2013) outlined the following research categories that can be used in the characterisation of professional learning communities:

- 1. Supportive and shared leadership;
- 2. Shared values and vision;
- 3. Collective learning and application;
- 4. Shared personal practice;
- 5. Supportive conditions.

Different forms of cooperation are used in the process of mutual learning among teachers, namely, meetings in small groups, joint analysis of theoretical literature, analysis of student achievements, observation of lessons and joint planning (Linder et al., 2012; Pirtle & Tobia, 2014; Stewart, 2014; Wan, 2020).

In terms of professional competence, the activities of preschool teachers at the basic level of education emphasise knowledge of specific situations that is formed using the variables of knowledge, skills, attitude and motivation. It is the process by which teachers prove their multidimensional and complex professional competence and usually reflects the interaction of their knowledge, skills, personality, attitude and motivation (Damjanovic & Blank, 2018; Keung et al., 2020).

Improving the professional competence of preschool teachers is an important and effective part of the learning process. Research on early childhood education and care, and preschool education and quality of care—more specifically, on the competence of preschool teachers—has analysed the development perspective, finding that attention is paid more to the integral role of professional development in terms of improving the quality of preschool education and care (Thornton & Wansbrough, 2012).

To improve the professional competence of teachers, professional qualities that have been shown to be essential for effective teaching are needed. These qualities ensure that teachers are prepared for the challenges, demands and responsibilities of teaching. The professional competence of a preschool teacher consists of cooperation, interest, motivation, communication, openness to new things, ethics and positivism (Imants, J. & Van der Wal, 2019).

An analysis of the theoretical literature shows that the growth of students is promoted by mutual learning among teachers improving their professional competence. To implement mutual learning, it is necessary for future teachers (including preschool teachers) to be ready to share their experience and practical challenges and to seek joint solutions to the needs in the specific work environment. The rest of this study analyses the experiences of future preschool teachers in Latvian preschools in terms of mutual learning among teachers in their work environment.

Methodology

The research describes and interprets the experience of future preschool teachers on mutual learning between teachers using empirical data.

The purpose of the study is to investigate the experiences and opinions of future teachers during their pedagogical practice regarding the possibilities, advantages and disadvantages of mutual learning.

The research draws from the pedagogical practice report materials of 280 second-year future preschool teachers on opportunities for mutual learning and teamwork in an educational institution. The internship period for the surveyed students was six weeks.

This study uses a qualitative research method and the qualitative data processing programme NVivo. Inductive coding was used to analyse information.

Fragments of practice materials of all 280 students included in the sample about the preschool educational institution as a learning organization were used in the qualitative data analysis (13 464 words). First, the frequency of words used was analysed. These are mentioned in the constructed word cloud in their basic form. The most frequently mentioned words were: opportunities, learning, team, educators, institution, education, learning, share, group, experience, preschool, happen, mutual, work, colleagues, exchange, manager, lesson, regularly and jointly. The article will cite fragments of student works marked with the letter R (respondent) and a number that indicates the order of examination of practice materials, such as R:15.

Based on the analysis of the scientific literature, the data obtained in the study are grouped according to four components of the learning organization:

1. Culture of the preschool institution (goals and tasks)

- 2. Teaching content and methods
- 3. Forms of cooperation
- 4. Emotional wellbeing

Each code group contained several subgroups. The study analysed the examples in the subgroups for their highest usage coverage in terms of frequency.

Results

When describing mutual learning in an educational institution, the future preschool teachers mentioned forms of cooperation most often (N = 189). The respondents mentioned meetings (N = 34), observations of lessons (N = 32) and experience exchange seminars (N = 20) the most frequently as forms of cooperation.

At meetings, colleagues shared their insights, ideas and plans on how to make learning more effective. These meetings also let employees discuss what additional help they need. (R:47)

Preschool teachers organised meetings among themselves, where they discussed their experiences, shared their problems and collaborated on how to solve them. (R:12)

Teachers' meetings were held once a month. Any achieved goals were analysed together, and tasks were set for the next period. (R:203)

Work in the institution was organised so that once a week, the teachers of each group could meet to discuss their students' achievements and plan future work. (R:65)

The mentioned italicized examples of respondents indicate that information was exchanged in meetings and sessions with the aim of sharing experiences, supporting colleagues, solving problems, and analysing and planning learning content. Meetings are planned and held according to the needs and initiative of the educators of the educational institution. Based on the answers of the respondents, it can be concluded that the meetings are open, in them the teachers discuss current issues and problem situations in the pedagogical work and jointly search for possible solutions to promote the educational achievements of the students. This shows the shared values and vision of educators, which is the basis of a culture of mutual learning (Jones, et al., 2013).

Mutual learning took place through observing lessons:

We promoted the mutual exchange of experiences by having teachers go to observe and analyse the open lessons of other colleagues. (R:59)

Educators were given the opportunity to observe their colleagues in action and then provide feedback. (R:214)

Regular observations of classes and methodical discussions on work improvement took place. (R:11)

Lesson observations served to let teachers observe and analyse the learning process together. This is how pedagogical experience is learned. It is especially valuable for novice preschool teachers, for whom it is an opportunity to improve their pedagogical experience.

Experience exchange seminars (training sessions) were organised using internal resources and in cooperation with other educational institutions:

At seminars for experience exchanges, teachers presented their best practice examples. Example topics included "Hand preparation for writing", "Self-service skills" and "Descriptions of didactic games". (R:74)

Educators strengthened their teamwork skills at these experience seminars by sharing their experiences in various fields of knowledge and by creating and attending master classes. (R:138)

Excursions to facilitate the exchange of experiences were organised, as well as educational international cooperation with a preschool education institution "X" in Lithuania. (R:43)

Workshops (N = 11) were also mentioned as spaces to discuss issues or work in groups on a project:

From the beginning, the teachers were given reading material and questions. Once everyone was familiar with the material, management would call the teachers together. Each participant expressed their opinion on the specific issue. The future teachers shared their opinions, looked for common values and agreed on work priorities. (R:2)

Experience exchanges and workshops emphasised teamwork and cooperation, which are the bases of mutual learning. The openness of the management team of the educational institution in cooperation with preschool teachers is commendable. Discussions in the identification of common values result in priorities that derive from the values of preschool teachers. What teachers can learn from each other and how this is implemented depends on the leadership team of the educational institution, which is consistent with international research on learning culture in educational institutions (Leithwood, 2006; Walker, 2010).

Conversations and discussions were mentioned less often (N = 13), suggesting a limitation of time resources:

The staff discussed together how to make learning more effective. Colleagues were described as able to turn to each other for advice and consultation. (R:192)

Individual conversations among the teachers and with groups applied positive criticism, praise, group analysis and solution brainstorming. (R:257)

These conversations and discussions were described as effective for mutual learning if they involved the exchange of ideas, analyses of the pedagogical process and were organised in groups.

The second most frequently mentioned component of mutual learning was the culture of the preschool institution, specifically its goals and tasks (N = 143). The respondents most frequently described the institution's work planning (N = 20), learning of new ideas (N = 19), transition to a new approach in education or a competence approach (N = 15) and the evaluation of the institution's experience and determination of development needs (N = 12).

Institutional work planning took place at different levels, starting from joint planning by teachers groups:

Group educators planned lesson plans together, then discussed their successes and failures. (R:138)

An annual plan was developed jointly with management for all the educators. (R:46)

The colleagues discussed how to make learning more effective and created work plans together. (R:214)

The colleagues were happy to share their knowledge and work as a team when creating work plans. (R:13)

Institutional work planning was organised by the management team and through cooperation with the educators. The evaluation of the pedagogical process informed the institution's work planning.

Learning new ideas took place through constant collaboration:

The whole team constantly learned and improved together (for example, robotics). (R:16)

Opportunities to create a culture of constant knowledge and innovation. (R:123)

The sharing of exciting ideas and various pedagogically successful events was encouraged. (R:155)

Employees were given the opportunity to share their ideas and their work successes and failures. (R: 38)

In the process of learning new ideas, mutual learning was described as an important constant promotion of knowledge. This depends on the support and trust of the management team by systematically analysing and evaluating how to promote the culture of innovation in the educational institution.

The institution's transition to a new approach in education, also referred to as the competency approach, was described as teamwork:

The transition to a new branch of education involved a competency-based approach that required teamwork, so the work of a teacher in a team is appreciated and popularised. (R:22)

In addition to terminology, active games, creative activities, singing and folklore all form the basis of the current "School 2030" planning approach that the institution is based on. (R:84)

The institution created a unified system of mutual learning for the implementation of the new curriculum. (R:139)

The school management supported various manifestations of independent and creative activities of teachers. The institution promoted the qualitative implementation of the principles of competence education. (R:57)

Mutual learning took place through the implementation of the competence approach in practice. This was based on the creation, implementation and evaluation of a unified mutual learning system. The appreciative evaluation of the work invested by each teacher was described as important.

The evaluation of the institution's experience and the determination of development needs were characterised by various aspects:

In the preschool educational institution, regular planning of the institution's work, evaluation and determination of development needs took place. (R:182)

In this evaluation process, employee groups identified the strengths of their work and realised what improvements were needed when planning future teaching and training work. (R:229)

While observing lessons, the mutual cooperation of the adults in the group was also evaluated and solutions for successful cooperation sought. (R:158)

During the mutual learning process, regularity was emphasised when evaluating the institution's experience, determining development needs, and identifying strengths and weaknesses. This resulted in the joint planning of future activities.

Emotional or subjective wellbeing was the third most frequently mentioned component of mutual learning (N = 127). It has been described as one of the

dimensions of wellbeing and includes wellbeing constructs (Seligman, 2012), which formed the subgroups of this component in the study.

Among the respondents' answers, support from colleagues (N = 32), a positive microclimate (N = 19), team spirit (N = 18) and trust and mutual respect between colleagues (N = 11) were mentioned the most often.

In the process of mutual learning, peer support was mainly described as help by giving advice and consultation:

Staff discussed together how to make learning more effective, and colleagues could turn to each other for advice and consultation. (R:47)

Employees of the preschool institution were like a team that helped and supported one another in any situation. (R:49)

The team included colleagues who wanted to be proactive, were able to listen to others, shared their experiences and strengthened their common goals. (R:85)

Close communication between the institution's management and teachers gave them the opportunity to improve their teaching content and receive help or support. (R:162)

In the context of mutual learning, peer support was described as related to the skill of listening and communicating, aimed at purposeful learning:

A positive microclimate in the process of mutual learning was characterised from the position of the collective. (R:24)

The team was described as friendly and that no one was left behind. (R:78)

Educators had a positive attitude towards cooperation and team learning. (R:151)

In general, there was good cooperation in the team. The teachers learned, shared their experiences and supported each other. (R:233)

There was openness and positive cooperation in the collective. (R:247)

A positive microclimate in a mutual learning work environment was described as having a positive attitude towards each other and cooperation and by fostering team friendliness and openness, which included the support of colleagues.

Team spirit related to activity planning for the educational institution and events preparation, which involved both management and educators:

The work of the kindergarten team was described as clearly manifested in those moments when they had to prepare an event for the entire kindergarten. Everyone got involved, including management, teachers, technical staff and sometimes also the children's parents. (R:53)

The teachers planned the institution's annual tasks, monthly themes and holiday ideas together. (R:69)

To strengthen team spirit, excursions were organised twice a year, such as themed afternoons and creative workshops. (R:212)

In the context of mutual learning, the respondents described thinking about how to promote team spirit by offering different forms of cooperation.

Trust and mutual respect between colleagues were also described as aspects of mutual learning in the following statements:

Trust and mutual respect are core values. (R:28)

Trust, mutual respect for each other, support and help for new teachers from existing employees of the institution. (R:74)

Colleagues feel comfortable turning to other colleagues for advice, ideas and consultation. (R:223)

Working in a team builds mutual trust in the team. We learn from each other and gain experience every day. (R:248)

In the process of mutual learning, trust and mutual respect between colleagues were described as the basic values of emotional wellbeing, facilitated by teamwork.

The new learning content and methodology were analysed to help describe the last components of mutual learning included in the study (N = 44). Among the responses, the learning of new skills (N = 12), use of modern technologies in the learning process (N = 11) and changes of experience in curriculum planning (N = 10) were mentioned most often. The frequency of the responses was fairly equal, indicating that all the mentioned characteristics of mutual learning were valued equally.

Learning new skills was described as related to the openness of the institution's staff, as shown through the following statements:

Employees learn to cooperate together and tend to exchange new ideas. (R:71)

The institution's staff is open to innovation. (R:105)

Every day, colleagues share their insights, ideas and plans on how to make learning more effective. (R:186)

The respondents described the implementation of modern technologies in the learning process to promote the effectiveness of mutual learning, as shown through the following statements:

Currently, the technologies more actively used are computers and projectors. (R:64)

Interactive technologies and tools are used. (R:80)

The staff of the institution are more than happy to use the digital board for their teaching work. (R:138)

Experience is exchanged by sharing video materials, filming the lessons and sending [the recording] to other colleagues in the e-class, where the video material is easily available. (R:171)

To ensure mutual learning and teamwork, the Board of Education created a link on its website where preschool institutions can post work materials. (R:247)

The responses indicate that the surveyed educators have acquired IT skills and use the latest technologies per their own initiative.

The change of experience in curriculum planning was characterised by the institution's management team cooperating with educators to promote the targeted involvement of children in the learning process. This is demonstrated through the following statements:

Every day, teachers regularly plan child-centred and integrated learning content within the learning areas, integrating the development of cross-cutting skills, so that this process is full of joy and surprises for the children. (R:7)

To ensure the children's meaningful involvement in learning, the institution's educators, in cooperation with management, create monthly plans that specifically indicate the results to be achieved, according to the learning areas and the children's age. (R:83)

These responses indicate that the change of experience when planning the curriculum took place in accordance integrated curriculum planning and with the age and needs of the children.

Conclusions

- 1. Future preschool teachers generally have a positive experience of mutual learning in their work environment.
- 2. For future educators, mutual learning is mainly connected to the form of cooperation chosen (N = 189).
- 3. From the point of view of future preschool teachers, the culture of the preschool institution (N = 143) and emotional well-being (N = 127) are equally important in the process of mutual learning.

- 4. Future preschool teachers analyse mutual learning less in relation to teaching content and methodology. Although educators indicate that they learn new methods of implementing the curriculum in the process of mutual learning, this does not happen regularly.
- 5. Future preschool teachers understand the essence of mutual learning and can name its advantages, namely goal orientation and teamwork and cooperation in the planning, implementation and evaluation of the learning process.
- 6. Based on the results of the research, positive mutual learning is based on the common goals of the educators of the preschool educational institution in terms of what the institution wants to achieve as well as the awareness and implementation of self-improvement in practice. Fostering a collaborative, open, trusting relationship that enhances collegial support and cohesion among preschool educators is the essence of peer learning among preschool educators.
- 7. The results of the study show that mutual learning among preschool teachers results from cooperation with the management team. To promote a mutual learning culture for preschool teachers in the work environment, it would be important to know the management team strategies of educational institutions that promote mutual learning among teachers.

REFERENCES

Bredeson, P. V. (2000). The school principal's role in teacher professional development. *Journal of In-Service Education*, 26(2), 385–401. https://doi.org/10.1080/13674580000200114

Brücknerová, K., & Novotný, P. (2019). Trust within teaching staff and mutual learning among teachers. *Studia Paedagogica*, 22(2), 67–95. https://doi.org/10.5817/SP2017-2-5

Cheng, C. K. E. (2017). Managing school-based professional development activities. *International Journal of Educational Management*, 31(4), 445–454.

Cumming, T., Wong, S., & Logan, H. (2021). Early childhood educators' well-being, work environments and 'quality': Possibilities for changing policy and practice. *Australasian Journal of Early Childhood*, *46*(1), 50–65. https://doi.org/10.1177/1836939120979064

Damjanovic, V., & Blank, J. (2018). Building a professional learning community: Teachers' documentation of and reflections on preschoolers' work. *Early Childhood Education Journal*, 46(5), 567–575.

Guskey, T. R. (2002). Professional development and teacher change. *Teachers and Teaching: Theory and Practice*, *8*, 381–391. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/135406002100000512

Haiyan, Q., Walker, A., & Xiaowei, Y. (2017). Building and leading a learning culture among teachers: A case study of a Shanghai primary school. *Educational Management Administration* & *Leadership*, *45*(1), 101–122.

Imants, J. & Van der Wal, (2019). A model of teacher agency in professional development and school reform. *Journal of Curriculum Studies*, 52(1).

Imants, J., & Van Veen, K. (2010). Teacher learning as workplace learning. In P. Peterson, E. Baker, & B. McGaw (Eds.), *International Encyclopedia of Education* (3rd ed.). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-08-044894-7.00657-6

Jones, L., Stall, G., & Yarbrough, D. (2013). The importance of professional learning communities for school improvement. *Creative Education*, *4*(5), 357–361.

Kaulens, O. (2019). Informal learning for teachers' professional development at school: Opportunities and challenges. *Innovations, Technologies and Research in Education*, 553–569. https://doi.org/10.22364/atee.2019.itre.40

Kennedy, A. S., & Lees, A. (2015). Outcomes of community-based infant/toddler teacher preparation: Tiered supports for pre-service early childhood education teachers in early head start. *American Journal of Educational Research*, *3*(6), 770–782.

Keung, C. P. C., Yin, H., Tam, W. W. Y., Chai, C. S., & Ng, C. K. K. (2020). Kindergarten teachers' perceptions of whole-child development: The roles of leadership practices and professional learning communities. *Educational Management Administration & Leadership*, 48(5), 875–892.

Kokare, M. (2012). Teachers' professional development at school: Externally organized, self-organized and mutual learning. *Teachers' Life-cycle from Initial Teacher Education to Experienced Professional*, 144–156.

Kokare, M. (2013). Organizational learning for reframing schooling: Advancing innovative potential of a school. In Z. Rubene (Ed.), *The perspectives of the pedagogy: Innovative solutions* [*Innovative Lösungen durch neue Perspektiven in der Erziehungswissenschaft*] (pp. 87–98).

Leithwood, K. (2006). *Teacher working conditions that matter: Evidence for change. Ontario: Elementary.* Teachers' Federation of Ontario.

Linder, R. A., Post, G., & Calabrese, K. (2012). Professional learning communities: Practices for successful implementation. *Delta Kappa Gamma Bulletin*, 78(3), 13.

McDonald, M., Tyson, K., Brayko, K., Bowman, M., Delport, J., & Shimomura, F. (2011). Innovation and impact in teacher education: Community-based organizations as field placements for preservice teachers. *Teachers College Record*, *113*(8), 1668–1700.

Meirink, J., Imants, J., Meijer, P., & Verloop, N. (2010). Teacher learning and collaboration in innovative teams. *Cambridge Journal of Education*, 40(2), 161–181.

Pirtle, S. & Tobia, E. (2014). Implementing effective professional learning communities. *SEDL Insights*, 2(3).

Seligman, M. E. (2012). Flourish: A visionary new understanding of happiness and well-being. Atria Paperback.

Stewart, C. (2014). Transforming professional development to professional learning. *Journal of Adult Education*, *43*(1), 28–33.

Thompson, S. C., Gregg, L., & Niska, J. M. (2004). Professional learning communities, leadership, and student learning. *Research in Middle Level Education Online*, 28(1), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1080/19404476.2004.11658173

Thornton, K., & Wansbrough, D. (2012). Professional learning communities in early childhood education. *Journal of Educational Leadership, Policy and Practice*, *27*(2), 51–64. https://search.informit.org/doi/10.3316/informit.937842951107071

Virkkula, E., & Nissilä, S.-P. (2014). In-service teachers' learning through integrating theory and practice. *SAGE Open*, 4(4). https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244014553399

Walker, A. (2010). Building and leading learning cultures. In T. Bush, L. Bell, and D. Middlewood (Eds.), *The principles of educational leadership & management* (2nd ed., pp. 176–198). Sage.

Wan, S. W. Y. (2020). Unpacking the relationship between teachers' perceptions of professional learning communities and differentiated instruction practice. *ECNU Review of Education*, *3*(4), 694–714.

Zhang, Y. T. Xiang, T., Hospedales, T. M., & Lu, H. (2018). Deep mutual learning. 2018 IEEE/CVF Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition (pp. 4320–4328). https://doi.org/10.1109/CVPR.2018.00454

https://doi.org/10.22364/atee.2022.63

Indicators of Social Emotional Health (Sehs-T) and Resilience in the Latvian Teachers' Sample

Guna Svence, Ilze Briška, Vineta Apse

University of Latvia, Latvia

ABSTRACT

In crisis situations, on the one hand, teachers must be resilient, know not only how the didactic of the subject works, but also technologies, the psychology of pupils, classroom management, self- regulation, time management, self-compassion etc. Research on teachers' social emotional health and resilience is important for quality learning and well-being at school, especially during the challenges of the COVID-19 pandemic. The following paper provides a description of the study that was carried out in Latvia on the problems of teachers' social and emotional health distance learning during the COVID-19 pandemic, and in the context of an international study in the Erasmus + project research "Teacher resilience: problems and solutions. Supporting teachers to face the challenge of distance teaching". Therefore, the samples are denoted by N1 = 23, N2 = 635, N3 = 380, N4 = 245. The main question of the paper is: Which of the variables (burnout, work engagement strategies) most significantly predict teachers' social-emotional health indicators?

The results showed that there were statistically significant positive correlations between teachers' SEHS-T, teacher engagement, and emotional burnout rates. The other results show low scores from SEHS-T which could indicate that teachers' self-confidence could be problematic, which could be explained by their uncertainty about their work during distance learning in a stressful COVID-19 crisis and that they need support for developing their strengths. The other results show that Resilience are moderate medium, but about 18% of the sample demonstrates the lowest Resilience scores. Results from SEHS-T: the subscale of teacher work engagement Cognitive engagement (p< 0.001) is significant in predicting SEH-T indicators.

Introduction

Scientists have concluded in their research that the teacher's profession is one of the most stressful professions (Clipa, 2017; Kim & Buric, 2020). The teachers' daily life is always full of duties, challenges as well as contact with people from

various groups (Sandoval-Hernández, Knoll, & Gonzalez, 2012), but starting with March 2020, COVID-19 pandemic introduced large changes in the education system in the entire world, which has caused more challenges than ever before (Carrillo & Flores, 2020; Cardullo, Wang, et al., Burton & Dong, 2021). According to US researchers Gail Wagnild and Heather M. Young's developed concept of resilience, when facing depressing vices of life, individuals with high resilience can adapt, re-establish the balance and avoid the impact of potentially harmful stress (Wagnild & Young, 1993; Wagnild, 2004, as mentioned in Svence, 2016). Susan Beltmen et al. have indicated that teachers' resilience is a research field that provides the opportunity to understand what allows teachers to endure when faced with challenges and offers an additional perspective for the research of stress, burnout, and its component exhaustion (Beltman, et al., Mansfield, & Price, 2011). Like in other countries of the world, in Latvia due to the COVID-19 pandemic emergency, the work of schools was restricted from March 13, 2020; thus, teachers were forced to meet previously unexperienced teaching conditions, adjusting to online teaching. Such an unexpected and fast moving from face-to-face to distance teaching is referred to as "emergency remote teaching" in scientific literature (Carrillo & Flores, 2020; Hodges, et al., Moore, Lockee, Trust & Bond, 2020). Emergency remote teaching differs from correspondence education with its related difficulties because face-to-face educational institutions are mostly not ready to provide suitable infrastructure for online teaching, and teachers lack information and experience to teach by distance (Zhang, 2020, as mentioned in Carrillo & Flores, 2020). Results of an end of the school year survey conducted by the Ministry of Education and Science in cooperation with Edurio online platform from May 26 till June 12, 2020, indicate to a potential lack of the teaching infrastructure and experience to provide distance teaching for the teachers of Latvia. Surveying 4662 teachers in comprehensive secondary and vocational secondary educational institutions in Latvia, it was concluded that "when teaching by distance, 76% of the teachers spent more time than teaching face-to-face" while "74% of the teachers often or very often felt overworked during distance teaching" (IZM and Edurio survey, 2020).

In case of emergency remote teaching not only technological but also pedagogic challenges should be considered. Online teaching creates the need to reconsider the teaching approaches used in face-to-face classes. In the virtual classroom the teacher is more like a moderator and consultant, and researchers consider that lessons cannot be organised the same way they are in the physical classroom. Therefore, learning, especially management and feedback, is to be differently organised. Innovations in teaching methods to engage students need to be introduced, thus stimulating students' learning. Especially, new approaches are required to keep the students' attention while they are looking in the screen. First, to plan a suitable pedagogical course for distance teaching, it is necessary
to increase the technological skills of the involved participants (Mukhtar et al., 2020; Verawardina et al., 2020; Thomas & Rogers, 2020; Eyles, et al. Gibbons & Montebruno, 2020 as mentioned in Ferri, et al.Grifoni & Guzzo, 2020).

Scientists consider that although teachers may understand at the cognitive level that remote education is necessary, at the emotional level they may not accept changes and, thus, suffer from burnout (Kin & Kareem, 2018 as mentioned in Sokal, et al., Eblie Trudel, & Babb, 2020). There is a risk that teachers who are used to teach only face-to-face will feel that, when teaching remotely, they are less effective as teachers, therefore their results, and thus also their students' learning outcomes, will get worse (Eblie Trudel, & Babb, 2020; Cardullo, et al., Wang, Burton & Dong, 2021).

A study in Latvia on the relationship between teachers' autonomy and burnout and self-efficacy indicators during remote teaching (Kalniņa, 2021) reveals that most teachers feel exhausted, experience difficulties to deal with challenges and cooperate with the children's parents. However, findings of the qualitative research do not indicate to the teachers' inability to meet challenges. That leads to a thought that the teacher's profession includes resilience as one of the features of the profession.

Scientists predict that although teachers' work efficiency may reduce initially, taking into consideration the new requirements, their self-efficacy may renew over time, now when they learn to adapt to the new distance education situation (Sokal, et al.Eblie Trudel, & Babb, 2020).

Social Emotional Health

The research employs the notions social emotional health (Furlongs, 2014, Gajdasova, 2018, as mentioned Svence et al., 2022)1) and resilience (Wagnild, 2016). The notion of social emotional health has developed from the notion of mental health, which is also now used by some researchers. Mental health is defined as such a situation of well-being in which the individuals may realize their potential, may cope with the stress of everyday life, are able to work productively as well as may contribute to society. Researchers have suggested defining mental health as a total of positive feelings and life (Furlong et al., 2014). In 2014 Michael Furlong together with his group of researchers designed Social Emotional Health Survey (SEHS). This survey allows measuring four constructs forming social emotional health (SEH) and the total SEH factor (Boman et al., 2020). The main principle of SEHS is related to the assumption that the individual's feeling of psychological flourishing is partly based on the living conditions, which contributes to the disposition of internal cognition, i.e. creates individual schemes. These schemes are related to the individual's confidence about oneself, others, about emotional competence and resilience (Furlong et al., 2014).

He refers to the total SEH factor as Covitality, which in its meaning is the same as well-being or psychological well-being (Timofejeva, et al., 2016).

In another study in 2014 social emotional health is defined as the ability to regulate emotions, for example, the ability to regulate and control emotions, and emotional intelligence that is expressed as the ability to recognise emotions and use them constructively.

Studying scientific literature on teachers' social emotional health, teachers' well-being and mental health are mentioned most frequently (Aelterman et al., 2007) define it as a positive emotional condition which is a result of harmony between the sum of environmental factors, on the one hand, and teachers' personal needs and hopes, on the other hand. Other researchers have also used this definition, for example. Brichero et al. (2009). Acton et al. (2015) define teachers' well-being as "individual personal professional fulfilment, feeling of satisfaction and happiness that develop when collaborating with colleagues and students".

Resilience

In research literature the notion of resilience is defined in several ways. Mostly, it is the individual's ability, as a personality feature or a dynamic process. If resilience is an individual's ability, then it is the ability to overcome adverse life experiences, to adjust, to renew and continue successful functioning after hard and difficult life events (Svence, 2015). Resilience also includes the individual's ability to increase the competence while overcoming adverse conditions (Bobek, 2010). This quality allows teachers to continue their pedagogical practice (Brunetti, 2006, as mentioned in Beltman et al., 2011). Researchers have discovered that teachers' resilience is the ability and skill to adapt and recover after difficult situations that is reinforced by individual factors, for example, high self-efficacy, high motivation, ethical goals, flexibility and sense of humour (Price, et al. Mansfield & McConney, 2012), as well as some social factors related to teacher's work, for example, the ability to work effectively according to the administrative team management (Price et al., 2012), mentor's support. It is also affected by a favourable psychological climate at school (Gibbs & Miller, 2014), good relationships with colleagues (White, Peters, 2011), positive evaluation of the teacher's professional performance, material security and professional development opportunities (Crosswell & Beutel, 2013).

Burnout

When studying the phenomenon of emotional burnout, Maslach has concluded that emotional burnout is related to sustained response to chronic emotional and interpersonal stress factors at work (Maslach et al., 1996; Maslach & Leiter, 2016). Emotional burnout comprises three main factors:

- 1. Emotional exhaustion, which is explained as a feeling of huge emotional drain and work overload, which may also interact between themselves; careless attitude to the people around and a feeling that everything a person is doing is useless. Emotional exhaustion derives from extensive intensity of feelings and a feeling of disappointment; the employees develop a feeling that they will not be able to work the way they did up to now. Emotional exhaustion is also mentioned as the main component of the burnout syndrome. In especially tough cases, a person may experience a nervous breakdown. Emotional tiredness and lack of emotions are mentioned as the most characteristic feelings when experiencing emotional exhaustion. (Schwarzer et al., 2000).
- 2. Depersonalization. This term involves a cynical, callous attitude to other people. The employee becomes impersonal and formal when contacting other people, clients, colleagues, and the management. The employee develops a desire to distance from executing the work duties and creates a negative and exaggerated idea about the execution of work duties (Maslach et al., 1996). The employee feels negative emotions against other people, especially the ones that they must contact on daily basis, like students, students' parents, or clients (Kahn, 1992).
- 3. The lack of personal achievements can be characterised as a general dissatisfaction with what has been accomplished or achieved. Disappointment in oneself, feeling oneself as worthless and perceiving oneself negatively from the professional point of view may also be expressed. The feeling of the lack of personal achievements is developed when there exists a feeling of hopelessness from the fact that teachers feel that they cannot teach anything to the students anymore (Maslach & Leiter, 2016). Research approves that these three dimensions of burnout are different and reflect the multidimensional essence of the construct of emotional burnout. (Byrne, 1994; Lee & Ashforth, 1996).

Emotional burnout is studied in the context of work-related stress. K. Maslach with her colleagues W. Schaufeli and M. Leiter define emotional burnout as a sustained response to chronical emotional and interpersonal stress factors at work and indicate that its expressions include the dimensions of exhaustion, cynicism, and professional inefficiency (Maslach et al., 1996;2001; Maslach & Leiter, 2016).

Teacher Work Engagement

The teacher work engagement model was developed by Klassen and his colleagues (Klassen et al., 2013). To research better teacher engagement, 4 components were included: cognitive engagement, which characterises teachers' attention span and level of effort while performing the duties; emotional engagement, which characterises the teacher's positive emotional reactions at the workplace; social engagement: students, which characterises mutual relationships between

the students and the teacher; social engagement: colleagues, which characterises teachers' engagement in relationship with their colleagues (Klassen et al., 2013).

Work engagement comprises personal interest in one's work and pleasant feelings about the work process itself (Van Beek et al., Hu, Schaufeli, Taris & Schreurs, 2012). Researchers characterise work engagement as a positive and persistent emotionally cognitive and motivational condition that affects various psychic processes of the personality and determines the person's attitude to work and participation in this process (Schaufeli & Bakker, 2004). Researchers define teacher work engagement as "a motivational conception that has to be attributed to the voluntary distribution of the individual's personal resources when performing the duties determined by the teacher's professional role" (Klassen et al., 2013, p. 34, referring to Christian, Garza & Slaughter, 2011). When analysing results of the research in the field of education, there have been named three main reasons that justify the researchers' interest in teacher work engagement:

- promote students' academic achievements and involvement in the learning process;
- 2) better cope with work-related stress and emotional burnout;
- 3) more frequently take active roles in the workplace and contribute to school life (for example, support the colleagues). (Klassen et al., 2013).

Methodology

Research questions

The research questions put forth in this study:

- 1. What content units indicate to teachers' emotional health indicators emotions and feelings, when working by distance?
- 2. Which of the variables (burnout, work engagement strategies) most significantly predict teachers' social emotional health indicators?

Samples

The paper summarises results of four studies of teachers, conducted in Latvia from 2019 till 2021 under the guidance of the author of the paper, University of Latvia professor Guna Svence within the context of both COVID-19 pandemic during the remote teaching and the international research Erasmus + project "Teacher resilience: problems and solutions. Supporting teachers to face the challenge of distance teaching" No. 2020-1-LV01-KA226-SCH-094599. Therefore, the samples are denoted by N1 = 23 (Kalniņa, 2021), N2 = 635 (Erasmus + project "Teacher resilience: problems and solutions. Supporting teachers to face the challenge of distance teaching" No. 2020-1-LV01-KA226-SCH-094599. Therefore, the samples are denoted by N1 = 23 (Kalniņa, 2021), N2 = 635 (Erasmus + project "Teacher resilience: problems and solutions. Supporting teachers to face the challenge of distance teaching" No. 2020-1-LV01-KA226-SCH-094599Pakse & Svence, data 2021), N3 = 380 (Birkāne & Svence, 2019), N4 = 245 (Lagzdiņa, 2021).

Methods

Several methods were applied in both parts of the research. The present paper looks at part of the gathered data. It analyses the data obtained in the studies that applied the following methods: Social Emotional Health Survey for teachers (Social-emotional Health Survey – Teachers, Furlong & Gajdosova, 2018, as mentioned in Svence et al.,2021), K. Maslach's Burnout Inventory – General Survey (Maslach Burnout Inventory – General Survey, MBI – GS, Maslach, Jackson & Leiter, 1996), Engaged Teacher Scale (Engaged Teacher Scale, ETS, Klassen et al., Yerdelen & Durksen, 2013), RS (Resilience Scale, Wagnild & Young, 1993, adapted during Erasmus + project "Teacher resilience: problems and solutions. Supporting teachers to face the challenge of distance teaching" No. 2020-1-LV01-KA226-SCH-094599, data 2021).

Social Emotional Health Survey – Teachers (SEHS-T)

SEHS-T (Social Emotional Health Survey - Teachers) was employed to study the social emotional health of the teachers of Latvia. SEHS-T has not been previously adapted in the EU. The survey was selected because it corresponds to the school sector and the aim of this project - it studies teachers' social emotional health. The survey comprises several subscales which characterise teachers' social emotional health. SEHS-T consists of 48 statements, where each of them has to be evaluated on Likert scale from 1-6. The survey questions form 12 subscales, each containing 3 questions, and 4 scales – each containing 12 questions. The minimum number of points a respondent may receive on each scale is 12, but the maximum – 72, whereas on every subscale the minimum number of points is 4, the maximum – 24. As the survey is not standardised, the data obtained in it can be compared only with the potential arithmetic averages, which are 41 points on each scale and 14 points on each subscale accordingly. The initial measurement with the focus group (N = 635) indicated that in the sample of Latvia the SEHS-T scores are moderately high. The averages in the entire sample do not show the individual low scores of some teachers. Overall, it can be assumed that in the given sample teachers' SEHS-T scores are moderately high or even high.

At the same time, it can be observed that the proportionally lowest scores are on the scale Self-belief and its subscale Persistence.

The first research question about SEHS-T data that approve difficulties in the sample of the teachers of Latvia has not been verified. The teachers of Latvia do not exhibit reported difficulties in this survey.

Resilience Scale

Resilience Scale (RS) scores range from 25 to 175. Scores greater than 145 indicate moderately high and high resilience, scores from 116 to 144 indicate moderately low to moderate levels of resilience, and scores from 115 and below

indicates low resilience (Wagnild, 2016, p. 82). Resilience Scale (RS) was used separately in Latvian sample and in Slovak sample.

Resilience short version Scale RS-25 scores from 14 to 98. Scores above 82 indicate moderately high and high level of resilience, scores from 65 to 81 indicate moderately low to moderate resilience, and scores from 64 and below indicates low resilience. Short version RS-25 was used in the whole sample. Cronbach alpha is 0.889.

Resilience – categories						
		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent	
Valid	Very Low	11	2.8	2.8	2.8	
	Low	58	14.5	14.5	17.3	
	On the Low End	124	31.0	31.0	48.3	
	Moderate	144	36.0	36.0	84.3	
	Moderately High	56	14.0	14.0	98.3	
	High	7	1.8	1.8	100.0	
	Total	400	100.0	100.0		

Table 1. Results from Resilience scale of the sample of Latvia (N = 400)

Most scores of the sample of Latvia are located at the level of moderate resilience scores. Low and very low resilience scores are shown by almost 18% of the sample. More than 15% demonstrated high resilience scores.

Burnout scale

To operationalise the emotional burnout construct, in 1981 Christina Maslach and her colleague Susan E. Jackson developed an instrument – methodology "Maslach Burnout Inventory, MBI" which comprises all three burnout dimensions. Currently, five MBI modifications are used in research. They have been developed over the years and are meant for representatives of several professions: social professions, medical staff, teachers, the General Survey and the General Survey for Students.

The General Survey (Maslach Burnout Inventory – General Survey, GS; Maslach, Jackson & Leiter, 1996) comprises fewer questions (16 questions) in difference from the initial version (22 questions); the questions are more general and are not aimed at a particular professional context. The second subscale MBI-GS is defined as cynicism (the component is characterised by cynicism and alienation from work; Maslach & Leiter, 2016), but the third subscale – as professional efficiency (burnout is characterised by the feeling of inefficiency and reduction of professional achievements; Maslach & Leiter, 2016). According to K. Maslach's model, low scores on the third subscale indicate to high burnout and inefficiency, but high scores – to professional efficiency and work engagement.

The present study employed K. Maslach's 16 question Burnout Inventory – General Survey (Maslach Burnout Inventory – General Survey, MBI – GS, Maslach, Jackson & Leiter, 1996; adapt. D. Caune, 2004, as mentioned Birkāne & Svence, 2019). The survey measures three dimensions (components) of emotional burnout: exhaustion, cynicism, and professional efficiency. Within the framework of the study, Cronbach alpha for Burnout Inventory exhaustion scale is 0.89, for cynicism scale it is 0.82, and for the professional efficiency scale it is 0.83, which indicates to good reliability for scales.

Teacher Work Engagement Scale

Analysing the structure of the factors of teacher work engagement, a scale to measure teacher work engagement was developed as a result. The scale comprises four components – teacher work engagement factors, and it consists of 16 statements – 4 statements for each factor. The structure of ETS:

- 1) Cognitive Engagement characterises the level of the teacher's attention and efforts while performing the professional duties.
- 2) Emotional Engagement characterises the teacher's positive emotional reactions at work.
- 3) Social Engagement: Students focuses on the aspects of the mutual relations between the teacher and the learner – pupil or student.
- 4) Social Engagement: Colleagues characterises teachers' involvement in relationship with colleagues (Klassen et al., 2013).

Within the framework of this study, Cronbach alpha is 0.83 for teachers' Cognitive Engagement, 0.88 for Emotional Engagement, 0.75 for Social Engagement: Students and 0.75 for Social Engagement: Colleagues, which means that combining the survey questions in scales is reliable. Cronbach alpha for work engagement for all questions is 0.91, which indicates that all questions measure teacher work engagement.

Results

A summary of teachers' well-being during distance learning is shown in Table 2. Results from the research denoted with N1 = 23 (Kalniņa, 2021, as mentioned in Svence et al., 2021) indicate that the most frequently mentioned category in a positive context is the category of teachers' self-efficacy to cope with changes and challenges, as it was mentioned by 11% (or 10 respondents) of the focus group teachers in the content units. Table 2. Summary of teachers' sense of self during teaching by distance (as mentioned in Svence et al., 2021).

Table 2. Summary of teachers' sense of self during teaching by distance (as mentioned in Svence et al., 2021)

	Categories	%	Examples of content units
ltonomy	Curriculum determination autonomy	8	"It is more difficult to offer a teaching process based on my ideas, to show visuals."
Teacher au	General teaching autonomy	12	"I cannot control what the child is doing behind the screen, I have many children in the classroom, and their cameras are often switched off because they are home alone."
	Instruction	3	"There is an opportunity to teach more by distance."
	Adapting education to the students' individual needs	3	"Weaker individual connection with the student, which reduces the child's responsibility during the learning process."
	Student motivation	13	"Part of students perceive distance learning very frivolously, I can very little impact on students' motivation."
ficacy	Maintaining discipline	10	"Positive experience is the students' politeness online and in writing. In distance learning even the naughtiest students have become especially polite, even humble, especially in correspondence."
ers' self-effi	Cooperation with colleagues and parents	13	"Intolerance, dissatisfaction from parents, lack of support, parents who, when writing letters or complaints, do not think about teachers as persons having children who are also learning by distance."
Teach	Cope with changes and challenges	11	"Taking into consideration the current circumstances and restrictions, I think I feel comparatively very well."
It	Exhaustion	16	"Work has occupied the entire day and even weekends; thus, I feel that exhaustion is approaching."
ournou	Cynicism/ Depersonalization	5	"Depressive mood appears, do not fulfil the tasks. Radical. Sometimes the teacher can also feel unreal."
Emotional bu	Professional effectiveness	6	"I feel I am more vulnerable than previously, sometimes I also feel powerless and that is what I dislike most. I am used to solving cases fast and efficiently, as well as conflicts, to providing support and assistance to my students."

In this category, the content units in which the teachers answered that they were able to adapt to the changes and overcome the challenges of the distance learning process were analysed (example from the content units: "Overall, I feel pretty good because I'm used to this situation. I've learned a lot in the field of technology and I'm still doing it.").

The second most frequently mentioned category in a positive context is maintaining the discipline of teachers' self-efficacy, which was mentioned by 7%(or 6 respondents) of the total sample. As the third, in a positive context, the teachers' autonomy category of curriculum determination autonomy is most often mentioned – by 5% (or 5 respondents) of the total ample. Teachers' self-efficacy

category Cooperation with colleagues and parents was mentioned in a positive context by 4% (or 4 respondents). 3% (or 3 respondents) mentioned in a positive context the content units that correspond to the general teaching autonomy of teachers. 2% (or 2 respondents) mentioned content units that correspond to the category of teacher self-efficacy of student motivation in a positive context. The least frequently mentioned categories in a positive context, each only 1% (or 1 respondent), are the categories of teachers' self-efficacy – instruction and adapting education to students' individual needs, as well as the emotional burnout category of exhaustion. Content units corresponding to the categories of emotional burnout, cynicism/depersonalization, and professional effectiveness, were not mentioned in a positive context in the narratives of the focus group of teachers.

The next example of the research is N4 = 245 (Lagzdiņa & Svence, 2021), which indicates that the scale of teacher work engagement Cognitive Engagement (p < 0.001) is significant in predicting SEH-T scores. This means that this scale, or its characterizing feature, statistically reliably affects the Teachers' SEH-T scale "Trust in others".

The results reveal the significance of Cognitive Engagement when predicting the SEH score. The more intensively, with mental effort, the teacher concentrates on performing the duties cognitively, the worse the teacher can further regulate and control the emotions and their expressions. The changing circumstances and the challenges teachers face during teaching by distance even more create anxiety and tiredness in the teacher's profession (Ferdig et al., 2020).

		Self-belief	Trust in others	Emotional competence	Passionate way of life
<i>R</i> ²		0.00	0.16	0.05	0.09
Scales*	Cognitive engagement	_	+	_	_
	Emotional engagement				
	Social engagement: students	-			-
	Social engagement: colleagues				
R ²		0.01	0.05	0.19	0.40
Scales*	Exhaustion				
	Cynicism	-	-	-	-
	Professional efficiency	_		_	_

Table 3. Summary of the results of linear regression models (Lagzdiņa, 2021, as mentioned in Svence et al., 2021)

* "+" marks the scales that are statistically reliable to impact or predict the quantity.

TO BE OR NOT TO BE A GREAT EDUCATOR, 2022

G. SVENCE, I. BRIŠKA, V. APSE. Indicators of Social Emotional Health (Sehs-T) and Resilience ..

The results demonstrate that in the teacher work engagement scale Cognitive Engagement is significant because it is the only one that statistically somewhat significantly predicted SEHS-T, namely the indicator "Trust in others". Daily work in a distance regime has increased the distance between teachers and their relationship with colleagues; therefore, irritation and difficulties to control one's emotional expressions have arisen.

The next example (Birkāne & Svence, 2019) statistically reliably shows total burnout – it affects teacher work engagement by 29.45%. It is observed that Cynicism and Professional efficiency indicators are statistically significant in the model. The Table also demonstrates that resilience indicators Self-organisation and Life acceptance predict teacher work engagement by 28.72%.

Impact factor	R ²	F	В	β
Resilience indicators				
Constancy	0.29	50.49 ***	28.00	
Self-organisation			0.56	0.34 ***
Self-reliance			0.05	0.03
Life acceptance			0.42	0.22 **
Burnout indicators				
Constancy	0.29	52.31 ***	69.36	
Exhaustion			-0.25	-0.05
Cynicism			-2.60	-0.36 ***
Professional efficiency			3.17	0.32 ***

Table 4. Results of the linear regression model, affecting the data of teacher work engagement (Birkāne & Svence, 2019)

Thus, the burnout indicators, such as cynicism, negatively affect teacher work engagement: the higher cynicism, the lower work engagement, and the higher professional efficiency, the higher work engagement. Whereas resilience indicators demonstrate: the higher teachers' self-reliance and self-organisation, the higher work engagement.

All other calculations also conclude that exactly these resilience indicators predict teacher work engagement and are related with other work engagement indicators. Similarly, the mentioned burnout indicators – cynicism and professional efficiency are inversely proportional to predict work engagement.

Further on the paper deals with the result which from the work engagement measurement scale *Social Engagement: Colleagues* matches SEHS-T scale "*Trust*" and "*Colleagues' support*".

As the results of the below provided regression analysis table demonstrate, resilience indicators *Self-organisation* and *Life acceptance* are most closely related to social engagement with colleagues, while cooperation with colleagues is

affected with a minus sign by the *Burnout* indicators *Exhaustion* and *Cynicism*. At the same time, *Professional efficiency* predicts positively engagement with colleagues.

<i>Table 5</i> . Linear regression model for the significance of the subscale Social Engagement:
Colleagues impacting work engagement (Birkāne & Svence, 2019)

Impact factor	<i>R</i> ²	F	В	β
Resilience test				
Constancy	0.19	29.18 ***	7.08	
Self-organisation			0.14	0.29 ***
Self-reliance			-0.04	-0.07
Life acceptance			0.14	0.24 **
Maslach's Burnout Inventory				
Constancy	0.14	29.18 ***	17.78	
Exhaustion			-0.31	-0.15 *
Cynicism			-0.36	-0.17 **
Professional efficiency			0.59	0.20 ***

Discussion

In the pandemic period the mental health of population starts to be of significant focus of European, state and government authorities. Mental health with an emphasis on the social emotional health of students and teachers at schools becomes of particular interest. Only teachers with good mental health can support and improve mental health of their students in every type of school.

Many studies have been conducted to find out the students' social emotional health (Halle & Darling-Churchill, 2016), but so far, less research is performed to study the teachers' social emotional health (SEH) (Snowden et al., 2015), as well as there is a lack of scientifically justified research methods and national support programmes for teachers on social emotional health of education professionals.

Communicating and receiving support at the workplace from at least one colleague, teachers can better focus on the work and perform their professional duties more qualitatively, which also corresponds with previous research that work engagement correlates positively with such organisational resources as colleagues' support, receiving feedback about the work outcomes (Bakker et al., 2008).

When teachers identify with their workplace – feeling themselves as a part of the whole, the feeling of belongingness is created, and teachers apply more effort and try to execute better their professional duties at the workplace, which corresponds to research – if the feeling of belongingness to the workplace is raised, engagement in executing work duties increases (Urdan & Schoenfelder, 2006), and the feeling of belongingness to the team correlates positively with work satisfaction and self-efficacy (Skaalvik & and Skaalvik, 20161). The more intensively, with mental effort, the teacher concentrates on executing the work duties cognitively, the worse the ability to further regulate and control one's emotions and their expressions. The changing circumstances and challenges that teachers face during distance teaching even more create anxiety and tiredness in the teacher's profession (Ferdig et al., 2020).

Working daily in a remote teaching regime, the distance between the teachers and their relationship with colleagues has increased, thus also irritation and difficulties to control their emotional expressions arise. Other research also mentions that the teacher feels unhappy and emotionally unstable if colleagues' support or feedback about the work outcomes is not received (Bakker et al., Schaufeli, Leiter & Taris, 2008). There is negative correlation between teachers' empathy and exhaustion and cynicism. Other research also indicates that in the case of emotional and physical exhaustion, a person will most likely not be able to provide emotional support and will not be empathic to others (Nyatanga, 2014). The changing circumstances and challenges that teachers are currently facing even more create anxiety and tiredness in the teacher's profession (Ferdig et al., 2020).

If teachers feel emotionally tired, exhausted, and cynical, accordingly, they cannot be emphatic to the people around them. Teachers must try to be emphatic (the work takes place at cameras which frequently are not switched on), and teachers may not be judgmental of students although they sometimes feel like that. In difference from face- to-face teaching, the feedback about the work is not received immediately if students frequently do not switch on their cameras.

When doubts about the professional abilities increase, failing to succeed and receive feedback and trying too hard, teachers feel how their ability to regulate their emotional expressions reduce or that it is more difficult to control their emotions. Previous research mentions that a burnt-out teacher feels negative emotions toward other people, especially to those who need to be contacted on daily basis: students, students' parents (Kahn, 19922006).

Teacher work engagement is predicted negatively by cynicism, the emotional burnout indicator: cynicism explains 29.45% (p < 0.001) of the total teacher work engagement rate, 20.12% (p < 0.001) of the cognitive work engagement rate, 27.96% (p < 0.001) of the emotional work engagement rate, 20.34% (p < 0.05) of the social engagement with students and 14.46% (p < 0.01) of the social engagement with colleague's rate. Exhaustion may predict 14.46% (p < 0.05) of the social engagement with colleague's rate. Demographic indicators statistically reliably (PR > 0.05) do not predict higher teacher work engagement rates.

REFERENCES

Alterman, A. & Engels, N., Van Petegem, K. & Jean Pierre Verhaeghe, J. P. (2007). The well-being of teachers in Flanders: The importance of a supportive school culture. https://doi.org/10.1080/03055690701423085

Bakker, A. B., Schaufeli, W. B., Leiter, M. P., & Taris, T. W. (2008). Work engagement: An emerging concept in occupational health psychology. *Work & Stress*, 22(3), 187–200.

Bakker, A., & Schaufeli, W. (2008). Positive organizational behavior: engaged employees in flourishing organizations. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, *29*(2), 147–154.

Baumruk, R. (2004). The missing link: the role of employee engagement in business success. *Workspan, 47,* 48–52.

Beltman, S., Mansfield, C. & Price, A. (2011). Thriving not just surviving: A review of research on teacher resilience. *Educational Research Review*, 6(3), 185–207. (https://researchrepository.murdoch.edu.au/id/eprint/5982/1/Beltman_et_al_paper_final_resubmission.pd https://doi.org/10.1016/j.edurev.2011.09.001

Birkāne, U.& Svence, G. (2019). Skolotāju iesaistes darbā, emocionālās izdegšanas un dzīvesspēka rādītāju sakarības. *Baltic Journal of Psychology*. Rīga, Latvijas Universitāte. https://www.apgads.lu.lv/fileadmin/user_upload/lu_portal/apgads/PDF/Baltic_Journal_of_Psychology/Balt-Psy-Journal_2019-20.1-2.pdf

Bobek, B. (2010). Teacher Resiliency: A Key to Career Longevity. https://www.tandfonline. com/author/Bobek%2C+Becky+L

Boman, T., Kjellberg, A., Danermark, B. and Boman, E. (2020). The Need for Support and Adaptation in the Workplace among Persons with Different Types of Disabilities and Reduced Work Ability. *Scandinavian Journal of Disability Research*, 22(1), 253–264. http://doi.org/10.16993/sjdr.672

Brunetti, G. J. (2006). Resilience under Fire: Perspectives on the Work of Experienced, Inner City High School Teachers in the United States. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 22, 812–825.

Cardullo, V., Wang, C., Burton, M. & Dong, J. (2021). K-12 teachers' remote teaching self-efficacy during the pandemic. *Journal of Research in Innovative Teaching & Learning*, 14(1), 32–45.

Carrillo, C. & Assunção Flores, M. (2020). COVID-19 and teacher education: a literature review of online teaching and learning practices. *European Journal of Teacher Education*, 43(4), 466–487.

Christian, M. S., Garza, A. S., & Slaughter, J. E. (2011). Work engagement: A quantitative review and test of its relations with task and contextual performance. *Personnel Psychology*, 64, 89–136.

Clipa, O. (2017). Teacher Stress and Coping Strategies. In O. Clipa (ed.), Studies and Current Trends in Science of Education (pp. 120–128). Suceava, Romania: LUMEN Proceedings.

Crosswell, L., & Beutel, D. (2013). A bridge over troubling waters: a snapshot of teacher graduates' perceptions of their ongoing professional learning needs. *Asia-Pacific Journal of Teacher Education*, 41(2), 144–158.

Edurio (2020). Pētījums: Mācību gada noslēguma aptaujas, IZM un Edurio aptauju rezultāti, [Research: results of the end of school year survey, Ministry of Education and Culture and Edurio surveys]. https://home.edurio.com/izm-gada-nosleguma-aptaujas

Erasmus + project "Teacher resilience: problems and solutions. Supporting teachers to face the challenge of distance teaching" No. 2020-1-LV01-KA226-SCH-094599 data

Eyles, A., Gibbons, S. & Montebruno, P. (2020). COVID-19 school shutdowns: What will they do to our children's education? A CEP COVID-19 analysis Paper No.001. Centre for Economic Performance London School of Economics and Political Science Houghton Street, London WC2A 2AE, UK. http://eprints.lse.ac.uk/104675/3/Eyles_covid_19_school_shutdowns_published.pdf

Ferdig, R. E., Baumgartner, E., Hartshorne, R., Kaplan-Rakowski, R. & Mouza, C. (Eds). (2020). Teaching, Technology, and Teacher Education During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Stories from the Field. Association for the Advancement of Computing in Education (AACE). https://www.learntechlib.org/p/216903/

Ferri, F., Grifoni, P. & Guzzo, T. (2020). Online Learning and Emergency Remote Teaching: Opportunities and Challenges in Emergency Situations. MDP. https://www.mdpi.com/2075-4698/10/4/86

Furlong, M. J., You, S., Renshaw, T. L., Smith, D. C., & O'Malley, M. (2014). Preliminary development and validation of the Social and Emotional Health Survey for secondary students. *Social Indicators Research*, *117*(3), 1011–1032.

Gibbs, S., & Miller, A. (2014). Teachers' resilience and well-being: A role for educational psychology. *Teachers and Teaching: Theory and Practice*, 20(5), 609–621. https://doi.org/10.1080/13540602.2013.844408

Halle, T. G., & Darling-Churchill, K. E. (2016). Review of measures of social and emotional development. *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, *45*, 8–18. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appdev.2016.02.003

Hodges, C., Moore, S., Lockee, B., Trust, T. & Bond, A. (2020). The Difference Between Emergency Remote Teaching and Online Learning. https://er.educause.edu/articles/2020/3/the-difference-between-emergency-remote-teaching-and-online-learning

IZM. (2013). Izglītības attīstības pamatnostādnes 2014.–2020. gadam [Ministry of Education and Science (2013). Educational development guidelines for 2014–2020]. http://www.lsa.lv/wp-content/uploads/2013/03/Izglitibasattistibaspamatnostadnes.pdf

Yerdelen, S., Durksen, T., & Klassen, R. M. (2018). An international validation of the engaged teacher scale. *Teachers and Teaching*, 24(6), 673–689.

Kahn, W. A. (1992). To be fully there: psychological presence at work. *Human Relations*, 45, 321–50.

Kalniņa, L. (2021). Skolotāju autonomijas izjūtas, pašefektivitātes un emocionālās izdegšanas saistība attālināto mācību situācijā [The relationship between teachers' sense of autonomy, self-efficacy and emotional burnout in a distance learning situation]. LU, maģistra darbs [master theses in University of Latvia].

Kim, L. E. & Buric, I. (2020). Teacher Self-Efficacy and Burnout: Determining the Directions of Prediction Through an Autoregressive Cross-Lagged Panel Model. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *112*(8), 1661–1676.

Kin, T. M. & Kareem, O. A. (2017). Measuring teacher attitudes towards change: an empirical validation. https://doi.org/10.1504/IJMIE.2017.086909

Klassen, R. M., Yerdelen, S., & Durksen, T. L. (2013). Measuring teacher engagement: Development of the Engaged Teachers Scale (ETS). Frontline Learning Research, 1(2), 33–52.

Lagzdiņa, L. (2021). Skolotāju sociāli emocionālās veselības, emocionālās izdegšanas un iesaistes darbā rādītāju sakarības. LU, maģistra darbs [Relationships between indicators of teachers' socio-emotional health, emotional burnout and engagement in work. LU, master's thesis]

Mansfield, C. F., Beltman, S., Price, A., & McConney, A. (2012). "Don't sweat the small stuff:" Understanding teacher resilience at the chalkface. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 28(3), 357–367. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2011.11.001

Maslach, C., & Leiter, M. P. (2016). Understanding the burnout experience: recent research and its implications for psychiatry. *World Psychiatry*, *15*(2), 103–111.

Maslach, C., Jackson, S. E., & Leiter, M. P. (1996). Maslach Burnout Inventory manual (3rd edn.). Palo Alto, CA: Consulting Psychologists Press.

Michael, S. C. T &, Rogers, C. (2020). Education, the science of learning, and the COVID-19 crisis. Springer Link. https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s11125-020-09468-z

Mukhtar, K., Javed, K., Arooj, M., Sethi, A. (2020). Advantages, Limitations and Recommendations for online learning during COVID-19 pandemic era. PubMed.gov. Free PMC article. https://doi.org/10.12669/pjms.36.COVID19-S4.2785

Renae, A. R. & Glasgow, P. (2015). Teacher wellbeing in neoliberal contexts: A review of the literature. Australian Journal of Teacher Education (Online). https://search.informit. org/doi/abs/10.3316/ielapa.441680081120104

Sandoval-Hernandez, A., Aghakasiri, P., Wild, J. & Rutkowski, D. (2012). Does Increasing Hours of Schooling Lead to Improvements in Student Learning? Policy Brief No. 1. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED561884.pdf

Skaalvik, E. M. & Skaalvik, S. (2016). Teacher Stress and Teacher Self-Efficacy as Predictors of Engagement, Emotional Exhaustion, and Motivation to Leave the Teaching Profession. *Creative Education*, *7*, 1785–1799.

Snowden, A., Stenhouse, R., Young, J., Carver, H., Carver, F., Brown, N. (2015). The relationship between emotional intelligence, previous caring experience and mindfulness in student nurses and midwives: a cross sectional analysis. http://doi.org.10.1016/j.nedt.2014.09.004

Sokal, L., Trudel, L. E. & Babb, J. (2020). Canadian teachers' attitudes toward change, efficacy, and burnout during the covid-19 pandemic. *International Journal of Educational research Open*, *1*, 2666–3740.

Svence, G. (2016). Dzīvesspēka kategorija Pozitīvās psiholoģijas skatījumā: attīstības iespējas [Concept of resilience in positive psychology: developmental aspects]). Rīga: Zinātne.

Svence, G., Gajdasova, E., Petrulyte, A., Kalnina, L., Lagzdina, L., Pakse, L. (2021). Teachers' social-emotional health indicators in the distance learning situation during the COVID-19 pandemic. Problems of Psychology in the 21st Century, 15(1). https://doi.org/10.33225/ppc/21.15.26

Timofejeva, T., Svence, G. & Petrulytė, A. (2016). Theoretical aAnd Practical Study Of The Concept Of Social And Emotional Health By Michael J. Furlong Applied To The Selection Of Teenagers And Youth. Problems Of Psychology In The 21st Century, 10(2). http://www.scientiasocialis.lt/ppc/node/124

Urdan, T. & Schoenfelder, E. (2006, October). Classroom effects on student motivation: Goal structures, social relationships, and competence beliefs. *Journal of School Psychology*, 44(5), 331–349. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsp.2006.04.003

Van Beek, I., Hu, Q., Schaufeli, W. B., Taris, T. W., & Schreurs, B. H. J. (2012). For fun, love, or money: What drives workaholic, engaged, and burned-out employees at work? *Applied Psychology: An International Review, 61*, 30–55.

Verawardina, U., Asnur, L., Lubis, A. L., Hendriyani, Y., Ramadhani, D., Dewi, I. P., Darni, R., Betri, T. J., Susanti, W., & Sriwahyuni, T. (2020). Reviewing Online Learning

Facing the COVID-19 Outbreak. *Journal of Talent Development and Excellence, 12,* 385–392. https://www.scirp.org/(S(351jmbntvnsjt1aadkozje))/reference/referencespapers.aspx? referenceid = 3027002

Wagnild, G. (2009). A review of the Resilience Scale. *Journal of Nursing Measurement*, 17(2), 105–113. https://doi.org/10.1891/1061-3749.17.2.105

Wagnild, G. M. (2016). The Resilience Scale User's Guide. Resilience Center. Worden, Montana.

Wagnild, G. M., Young, H. M. (1993). Development and Psychometric Evaluation of the Resilience Scale. *Journal of Nursing Measurement*, 1, 165–178.

White, J. (2011). R S Peters 1919–2011. In *The Routledge Encyclopaedia of Educational Thinkers*. Routledge. J. Palmer Cooper (Ed.). https://www.researchgate.net/publication/305170796_R_S_Peters_1919-2011

https://doi.org/10.22364/atee.2022.64

Barriers to Employment for Young Adults with High-Functioning Autism (HFA)

Dita Nīmante, Egija Laganovska

University of Latvia, Latvia

ABSTRACT

The workplace participation of individuals with high-functioning autism (HFA) continues to be a challenge. The purpose of this article is to explore the experiences of young people with HFA in finding and keeping a job, with a particular focus on existing barriers to employment. Research seeks to answer two research questions. First, what barriers to employment and to keeping a job are identified by some young adults with HFA and their mothers during the job-seeking process? Second, what are the ways to overcome those barriers? In this this small-scale qualitative research three individuals with HFA with employment experience and their mothers participated in semi-structured interviews to reflect upon their job-seeking and job-finding experiences. The results show that the identified barriers that young people with HFA faced both when looking for a job and when in the working environment were successfully overcome, and they cannot really be considered as barriers or limitations for particular individual. However, we found several obstacles that were common to people with HFA. Obstacles both in finding and keeping a job that were directly related to the disorder were identified, for example, in the occurrence of sudden changes at work, unpredictability, uncertainty, and multitasking. There were identified effective ways to overcome difficulties and specific characteristics which are common for people with ASDs which can even be an advantage in employment are discussed.

Keywords: high-functioning autism, autism spectrum disorder, young adults, barriers to employment, overcoming barriers

Introduction

The Universal Declaration of Human Rights (1948) proclaims that everyone has the right to work and the right to protection against unemployment. The Charter of Fundamental Rights of the European Union also guarantees the right for everyone to engage in work (European Union, 2000, Article 15). Thus, European

countries are continuing the shift in focus toward a social and anti-discrimination approach to the employment of people with disabilities. Unfortunately, neither of the policies has assured the complete inclusion of people with autism spectrum disorders (ASDs) in the European labor market (Bunt et al., 2020). Internationally, high rates of unemployment among young adults with ASDs have been repeatedly highlighted (Roux et al., 2013; Scott et al., 2019). Adults with ASDs have more difficulties and disadvantages when searching for jobs and experience problems even when they are employed. Even young adults with high-functioning autism (HFA) who are considered as persons who have higher personal capabilities compared to other forms of autism and have a good education have problems with getting a job, and they do not reach high employment rates (Hendricks, 2010; Vogeley et al., 2013; Baldwin et al., 2014).

HFA is used to describe individuals with higher functional capabilities compared to those with other forms of autism. Individuals with HFA have average or above average intellectual capacity. At the same time, they can experience challenges with social interaction and communication, and they may have restricted and stereotyped patterns of behavior, interests, and activities (American Psychiatric Association, 2013). According to Richards (2015), Asperger syndrome is widely viewed as being at the "high-functioning" end of a wider spectrum of autistic conditions.

Young people with HFA have a deficit in their social cognition, which can have a significant impact on their interactions with other people and can affect their integration into the workforce. The unemployment and underemployment of persons with HFA poses social, health, and economic issues both at an individual level and for the community (Hayward et al., 2018), it can have a negative impacts on economics (Nicholas et al., 2019). Indeed, employability is one of the predictors of quality of life for autistic adults (Mason et al., 2018). In contrast, employing them can promote economic benefits for the community and businesses (Knapp et al., 2009). Young people with ASDs can face significant transition barriers when entering the world of work and have specific transition needs (Griffiths et al., 2016). Nevertheless, there are cases where persons with ASDs can be successful in competitive, entry-level employment (Hillier et al., 2007). There are many personal advantages for young adults with HFA who are employed, such as improved physical abilities, cognitive abilities, and social skills (Stephens et al., 2005). Young adults with HFA can also be quite useful in the workplace due to the skills, abilities, and personal characteristics they have; furthermore, they can offer a specific autistic perspective to their employer (Cope & Remington, 2022).

The purpose of this study is to explore the experiences of young people with HFA in finding and keeping a job, with a particular focus on existing barriers to employment. As there is a growing population of young people with HFA completing general education in Latvia, more and more adolescents and young

adults will be entering working life either in the summer for short-term employment or after completing their secondary education or higher education studies. Therefore, further knowledge would be helpful to better understand employer perspectives and guide employers' capacity for engaging and supporting individuals with HFA in the workplace (Nicholas et al., 2019). Furthermore, this is the first such research that has been carried out in Latvia, and therefore it is important for the Latvian context and can also bring some new aspects to the international debate about people with HFA finding and keeping a job.

There are two research questions we would like to explore. First, what barriers to employment and to keeping a job are identified by some young adults with HFA and their mothers during the job-seeking process? Second, what are the ways to overcome those barriers and integrate them in the workplace?

Theoretical background

Shahin and colleagues (2020) conducted a scoping review to investigate environmental facilitators and barriers relevant to workplace participation for young adults aged 18–35 with brain-based disabilities. The majority of the studies (77%) highlighted factors in the services, systems, and policies domain, such as inclusive and flexible systems and well-defined policies at the organizational level. Social support, mainly from family, friends, employers, and colleagues, was reported as a facilitator (68%), followed by physical accessibility and, finally, the availability of assistive technology (55%). The attitudes of colleagues and employers were mostly seen as a barrier to workplace participation (48%).

Personal factors and symptoms associated with ASDs have been found to adversely impact employment (Holwerda et al., 2012). Harmuth and colleagues (2018) distinguished three main barriers that hinder young adults with ASDs in workplace employment success:

- Person-related barriers, such as obsessive adherence to routine and resistance to change;
- Environment-related barriers, such as a lack of long-term workplace support programs or a lack of access to such programs and the negative attitude of employers, managers, and coworkers, which can heighten existing social anxiety;
- Work-related barriers, which relate to the job itself and the required tasks, such as low wages, poor conditions, shortened hours, and/or no opportunities for growth.

Bury and colleagues (2021) explain that work task barriers are those that an individual with ASDs can experience while completing work tasks and completing social tasks that are related to their work. People with autism experience

difficulties with interpreting work protocols and the behavior of others and have problems with personal executive functions.

Autistic employees have mentioned several barriers to success: a difficulty with focusing, being fatigued by high levels of social interaction, and needing notice about events in advance (Flower et al., 2019; Bury et al., 2021). Bury and colleagues (2021) revealed that types of social challenges for ASD employers were individually oriented or associated with the work environment. Individuals also faced barriers when learning how to engage in social situations in the work-place or in work relationships.

Researchers have reported that social, emotional, and communication difficulties in human interaction are barriers that are frequently experienced by autistic employees (Lorenz et al., 2016; McKnight-Lizotte, 2018; Soaker, 2020). Bross and colleagues (2021) found that there are several barriers to employment for individuals with ASDs: pre-employment challenges, logistics, little on-the-job support, and a disconnect between interests and job tasks. These barriers can also include mental health issues, a significant decrease in services following high school completion, and a lack of communication and collaboration across stakeholders and settings (Griffiths et al., 2016).

Young adults with HFA can have both certain strengths and limitations due to their developmental difference. Specifically, problems can arise because of impaired communication and social skills that are vital for the workplace. Hayward, McVilly, and Stokes (2018) reported that the principal challenges for individuals with HFA at work were communication, social interaction, and stress, together with poor mental and physical health.

According to Richards (2015), most barriers and subsequent discrimination appear because employers have difficulties in reflecting the needs and interests of people with HFA. Young adults with HFA in work-related situations may struggle with several important issues:

- the idea of others having thoughts and feelings different from their own;
- executive functioning;
- information processing;
- overload from light, texture, tastes, and/or smells, which can lead to a temporary breakdown in the nervous system (Richards, 2015).

Finally, Mai's study (2019) found that employers' beliefs were the primary barrier to their selection of qualified autistic candidates to fill open positions.

Thus, young adults with HFA can face several barriers throughout the employment process – at the recruitment phase, during the selection stage, and during their employment. The barriers can be related to the person with HFA or to the employers/hiring agents.

Methodology

Participants

To be included in this study, young adult candidates had to have participated in the labor market during the study or before they had employment experience. Those who have already completed their university studies, those who are still studying, those who have both long-term jobseeker and work experience (at least 3 years), and those who work short-term jobs (for example, in the summer) were all eligible for inclusion. An important element for inclusion in the study was that the participants identified themselves as a person with HFA. The recruitment process involved contacting the Autism Society of Latvia, and the researchers spread information and invitations for participation through the society's Facebook page. Therefore, the candidates were found through parents (specifically mothers) who are members of the Latvian Autism Society and have access to the Facebook group (followed by over 3,000 people at the time). Mothers forwarded the request for participation to their children. Unfortunately, we only managed to receive three positive responses; all of whom fulfilled the inclusion criteria (see Tables 1 and 2).

Name	Age	Sex	Education	Professional experience	Length of professional experience	Living condi- tion	Age at which condition was identified/ diagnosed
Jānis	26	Male	Master's degree	Tour guide	4.5 years (two workplaces)	With mother	13
Roberts	18	Male	Vocational secondary education	Project work/IT	4 years (part-time)	With mother	4
Ernests	18	Male	Vocational secondary education	Assistant, to so- cial pedagogue, social services	Three months (summer period)	With mother	10

Table	1. List of	participants	(persons with AST	(HFA/Asperger's)
10010	1. 5. 01	participanto	(persons mich / is r	

Table 2. List of participants (parents of persons with AST/HFA/Asperger's)

Name	Age	Role	Education
Evita	53	Mother of Jānis	Higher
Dace	43	Mother of Roberts	Higher
Laura	(did not want to provide the data)	Mother of Ernests	_

Ethical issues

Participants gave their informed consent to the study. All names have been changed to ensure the participants' anonymity. Ethical approval was granted through UL Humanities and Social Sciences Research Ethics Committee.

Data collection

After semi-structured interviews were prepared by the first researcher, the second researcher, who has experience working with HFA people and has a professional background in special education, examined the questions. Open-ended questions were added to make the interviews more flexible. The semi-structured questions were structured around the following topics: job-finding experience, working experience, keeping a job, difficulties related to ASD/HFA/Asperger's in finding and keeping a job, and ways to overcome the difficulties.

The questions were almost identical for the young adults and their mothers. For example, if we asked the son about his experience in finding a job, we asked his mother the same question as she could tell us about her son's experience in finding a job. The interviews lasted between 18 and 29 minutes. The second researcher and the respondents chose the location for the interviews. Two interviews (with mothers) were organized online using Zoom and Microsoft Teams, while the others were face-to-face interviews. The interviews opened with the researcher reading an informed consent document to the interviewees that included participation eligibility criteria and the purpose of the study. It was read to the interviewees. Participants were informed that their responses would be anonymous. All interviews were audio recorded and transcribed. The completed transcriptions were reviewed and checked for errors, and then the interviews were anonymized by the second researcher, who excluded words that could allow the interviewed persons to be identified (for example, the workplace name). After that, the transcriptions were analyzed by the first researcher.

Data analyses

Qualitative research is especially suited to exploring new topics where there is not enough existing knowledge (Creswell, 2013). We, as researchers, wanted to emphasize the unique subjective experience of young people with HFA and their mothers by exploring their views of barriers to employment, thus using a phenomenological method without pre-established theories. The data were analyzed using content analyses. We chose an inductive (data-driven) and idiographic (individual-focused) approach, as there is not enough knowledge about the research topic to do otherwise, especially in the Latvian context. As suggested by Elo and Kyngäs (2008), units of analysis were selected in the inductive content analyses during the preparatory phase. Three interviews with young adults with

HFA and three interviews with their mothers were analyzed. The preparation phase was followed by the organization phase, where the open coding of relevant quotes to support codes was carried out, followed by creating categories and abstraction (see an example in Table 3).

Table 3. Example of analyses

"The obstacle has been the lack of that work Insufficient Barrier Barr	o a job

While reading the transcriptions, the researcher took notes and wrote down headings. The text was read several times. After that, the categories emerged from the headings. Finally, some abstraction was carried out to answer the research questions and a mind map was created. This process did not involve the use of any specific software. At the end, a dialogue between the two researchers was set up to agree on the way in which the data should be analyzed and the results organized. The researchers met several times to discuss and review the results. This resulted in several themes for answers to each research question.

A thematic analysis was conducted to explore the research question, following the steps specified by Braun and Clarke (2006) as a guideline. This required a thorough familiarization with all interviews, the creation of initial codes and candidate themes, and refining and renaming them to identify the final themes to report.

As there were not many respondents, all the results are presented in the following section.

Results

Barriers identified by employees with HFA While looking for a job

As Jānis' mother, Evita, pointed out, when looking for a job, it was important for her son to learn the skills to write a motivation letter and CV and fill out applications. Initially, until these skills were mastered, when applying for a job, her son received rejections from several places of employment. Realizing that such skills were missing, her son, with his family's support, purposefully developed those skills. Jānis himself said that his mother and grandmother helped him a lot as they corrected his applications and taught him how to write a CV, and by practicing, he learned how to write a good application himself. After that, Jānis not only managed to get a job but also applied for various scholarships.

Jānis stated that the main obstacle was his lack of previous experience. Job advertisements often ask for previous experience and knowledge in a specific field, for example, knowledge of a specific language:

The obstacle has been the lack of that work experience. Because, for example, there are jobs where it is required to have some years of work experience there. (Jānis, 26)

On the other hand, Ernests' mother said that the biggest difficulties were related to insufficient experience in the job search process itself. Her son initially sent his application to the employer but then did not check whether his application had been received at all, did not call the employer, and did not ask if he was hired. As Ernests' mother explained, it seems that he has good skills in searching for information, including on the Internet, but lacks specific skills in searching for a job, such as finding job offers on relevant websites and communicating in writing or by phone with the employer.

At work

The main difficulty in the workplace, as claimed by one of the young people interviewed, was the fact that several jobs had to be done at the same time, so-called multitasking:

Performing multiple tasks at the same time. If I start to do one task, then I do one and then the next one. That was the hardest thing. (Ernests, 18)

Ernests' mother explained that the difficulties were caused by uncertainty due to a sudden change in the work environment:

Yes, it could be because of a drastic change of plan, change of workplace, change of working hours, non-observance of rules, non-observance of laws by others at the workplace. This could create a stressful situation for him. (Laura, Ernests' mother)

Roberts' mother agrees with this statement, adding to the list of stressors by stating that difficulties are directly caused by unclear instructions and indirect communication (people with ASDs need to be told everything precisely and clearly), for example, about the results to be achieved:

Unclear instructions, lack of structure, uncertainty about what the results will be and how those results will be achieved. (Dace, Roberts' mother)

Citing a well-known limitation for people with ASDs, Roberts' mother also underlines the fact that a young person with an ASD might be reluctant to change

jobs or to look for something new, thus limiting their potential professional and personal growth:

He has difficulty modeling the future and imagining that it might be better elsewhere, that he should change jobs. (Dace, Roberts' mother)

How to overcome employment barriers

While looking for a job

Jānis' mother explained in her interview that the most important thing when looking for a job was her son's positive mood. Her son was not afraid to try.

He is an optimistic person in any case; he knows that he is very good, very good ... He is a very good worker. Very accurate worker. And he wasn't afraid that he wouldn't get a job. I was more afraid. (Evita, Jānis' mother)

Jānis agreed with that and said that you have to be brave and not be afraid of failure. Jānis added that, hypothetically, a person should be able to communicate their special ASD problem to an employer so that "the employer understands and takes it into account in the future."

However, out of the three interviewed, two – Jānis and Roberts – indicated that they had not disclosed their problem to their employers and would not say anything in the future if they were not asked specifically. Ernests has not disclosed his diagnosis either, but he felt that he could reveal his disorder to his employers in the future.

Nevertheless, Jānis said in the interview that employers should be prepared to hire and work with professionals who have Asperger's syndrome. Jānis' mother explained that her son was hired for his first job by an employer from the USA. As Evita pointed out, in the USA, employers are used to working with people with ASDs and have both knowledge and experience of how to communicate with autistic people. Therefore, the employer understands and does not get angry about what the young person with ASD does not do or does differently. They understand that it is not because the individual is bad, lazy, or negligent, but simply that is characteristic of the disorder.

Jānis thinks that, in the future, employers should be specifically educated about ASDs and Asperger syndrome:

I would say that an external resource could be for psychologists to hold educational seminars for employers about this issue of Asperger's. (Jānis, 26)

In such workshops, it would be best to involve people who have ASDs or Asperger syndrome themselves so that they can share their personal experiences. Workshops should be based on practical examples and not on general theoretical

statements. Such seminars should also be held for young people with Asperger syndrome, who could thus learn from positive examples.

Family also played an important role in job searches. First, the three mothers shared information with their sons and forwarded job advertisements and other useful information to them (Jānis and Evita). Secondly, they provided support for the preparation of motivation letters, CVs, and applications. Thirdly, one mother found a job for her son in her workplace (Roberts and Dace).

At work

The first factor that was mentioned by young adults that helped them successfully integrate into the workplace was the fact that, during childhood and while at school, they were taught by specialists and teachers about how to overcome various difficulties related to the specific characteristics that they had due to their ASD:

Already in my childhood, when I was diagnosed with all this, I was immediately taught all the most important things that must be taken into account, for example, when you communicate with people or when you come across such a social environment where people, for example, can misunderstand you. (Jānis, 26)

Another important aspect for Jānis was that, even as a child, he learned to learn from every life situation, for example, to cooperate, to listen carefully to suggestions, and to follow them literally. In addition, he continues to learn and improve his competencies even now, participating in various personal development courses. Jānis explained that he has also learned to use help and ask for it if needed. The other two young adults identified this skill as important too. Therefore, teamwork can be very useful.

Working in a team can make you feel much safer because at least you have additional forces – experienced colleagues as mentors who can explain and help you in every way. (Jānis, 26)

Although none of the young people had experienced having a specific mentor in the workplace, it could be useful, according to them. They also suggested asking for advice from more experienced colleagues:

I would advise those young people who have Asperger syndrome (be it in a strong or weak form) – don't be afraid, you have to try if you are hired, and if you have an experienced colleague there, don't be afraid. You can ask that colleague for advice, he will help you and explain. (Jānis, 26)

Another important aspect that was identified was that there should be stability in the organization where the young person with HFA works. It helps if the boss is constructive in the workplace, communicates in a very straightforward way, specifically and accurately, and explains how to act at work, how not to act, and what the desired behavior is. It is important that the boss explains "what we do and what we do not do under any circumstances" (Jānis). It is important to have clear instructions and clarity in requirements not only so that the employee does not make a mistake but also so that he knows what he did wrong if he does. As Evita pointed out, "frames" are important for Jānis. The precision that is learned then helps her son to clearly meet the employer's requirements. What a young person can do themselves is to improve their professional knowledge. For example, they can learn independently before starting a working relationship.

Summary

As a result of the analysis, we identified an important theme: the inherent characteristics of ASDs that can help in the work environment. Both the young men and their mothers mentioned characteristics that are directly linked to ASDs but which can be very useful in the work environment. For example, Evita mentioned that her son likes to work in the same job and does not like to change. She explained that while her son has been working in one workplace for four years, several employees have already changed. The fact that he remains at this workplace is highly valued by the employer, who says that Jānis is very faithful and loyal to the workplace.

Roberts' mother, Dace, explained another characteristic. While young people with ASD have difficulties with multitasking, they can focus on one thing without taking into account the surrounding social stimuli instead. That could be important in a particularly stressful situation when others can become very emotional but the work nonetheless has to be done on time.

In summary, employees with HFA reported four specific employment barriers, but their mothers reported an additional six. Young adults with HFA mostly reported barriers during the job-seeking process, while mothers reported barriers during employment. Every young adult or adolescent who enters working life could experience some of these barriers, but some are specifically related to ASDs (see Figure 1).

Many positive solutions for overcoming the barriers mentioned in Figure 1 were found (see Figure 2). One relates to every young adult who is searching for a job, but the others are specifically ASD-related.





Figure 1. Barriers to employment



Figure 2. Overcoming barriers to employment

Discussion

The study contributes to our knowledge of the existing barriers to employment for three young people with HFA and the possibilities of overcoming them in the Latvian context. The results confirm that in all three cases, each young person who had been identified and in Latvias contect diagnosed with HFA in childhood was able to overcome the existing barriers, find a job, and keep it, either in the short term, for example, in the summer period or in project work, or in the long term after the completion of their studies. The results correspond with previous research that found that people with ASDs were more likely to find paid employment if they were

- 1) older,
- 2) from a higher-income household, and
- 3) had higher functional skills (Roux et al., 2013).

Every young adult who enters work life could experience some of the same difficulties, but those with HFA can experience even more. Each person is unique, and each individual with HFA can demonstrate a variety of required characteristics across the diagnostic criteria when searching for a job. At the same time, there can be difficulties related to their neurodiversity.

Our results agree with previous research that people with HFA face some very common difficulties. For example, prefer single-tasking and avoid multitasking (Annabi et al., 2017). As our research revealed, this can both be a barrier during employment but can also become a characteristic that can be very useful to the employer in certain situations. It refers to previously made concuisions by other researchers how important is to find synergies between the skills and strengths of individuals with ASD (Annabi et al., 2017).

People with ASDs prefer straightforward communication, being given clear instructions on what is expected of them. Any unplanned, unexpected changes create anxiety, anxiety can become a real workrelated problem (Parr et al., 2013). Our research agrees that unpredictable situations, uncertainty, and chaos in an organization can cause stress to young adults with HFA. To overcome such barriers, it is important for employers to know about specific HFA-related characteristics and use this knowledge in the best way possible. As was described by Jānis' mother, the employer from the USA who had knowledge and experience working with autistic people communicated in a very straightforward way, which was helpful for Jānis to keep his job. The importance of educating both employers and employees would therefore be a good solution to assist the successful integration of young people with HFA into the workplace.

Based on previous research, we know that parents of autistic children are the most important factor in autistic people finding a job. Holwerda and colleagues (2012) found two factors that facilitated the employment of autistic people: (1) education and (2) family support. Parents are those who provide protection,

acceptance, and occupational security and prepare their children for collaborating in groups (Krieger et al., 2012). We found in our research, specifically, that mothers were assisting their sons.

We did not find that specific helpful workplace accommodations (Baldwin et al., 2014) were provided for those with HFA in Latvia. But another very important factor was mentioned, which was that young people were taught as children at school and in other services to understand their diagnoses and overcome the various difficulties associated with their ASD.

Conclusions

The task of this small-scale qualitative research was to find out as much as possible about the participants' views of the existing barriers to employment for young people with HFA in the Latvian context. The identified barriers that young people with HFA faced both when looking for a job and when in the working environment were successfully overcome, and they cannot really be considered as barriers or limitations for particular individuals. Every young person entering the labor market faces some of the identified barriers (for example, a lack of experience, a lack of knowledge in the specific field, or a lack of job search skills); however, we found several obstacles that were common to people with HFA. Obstacles both in finding a job and keeping a job that were directly related to the disorder were identified, for example, in the occurrence of sudden changes at work, unpredictability, uncertainty, and multitasking. All three young people, however, confirmed that they were able to adapt and even use these obstacles as advantages and demonstrated their determination and willingness to learn and acquire the lacking skills. The skills acquired in childhood, both in school and outside of school, and their understanding of their disorder have been of great importance to young people with HFA. These have helped them not only to acquire the lacking skills but also to become good learners and continue their professional development. The young people interviewed named many effective ways to overcome difficulties and obstacles both when looking for a job and when they are in the work environment. It is helpful if the organization in which the young person with HFA plans to work has stability, if the boss uses a constructive communication style, and if teamwork is present. Specific characteristics which are common for people with ASDs can even be an advantage in employment; for example, a reluctance to change can promote loyalty. The role of the family and especially mothers' support for young people with HFA during their job search was identified as an important aspect. We found that mothers helped their sons in three ways: (1) by sharing information and forwarding job advertisements and other useful information to them, (2) by providing support in the preparation of motivation letters, CVs, and applications, and (3) by finding them a job in their own workplace.

REFERENCES

American Psychiatric Association. (2013). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders* (5th ed). American Psychiatric Association.

Annabi, H., Sundaresan, K., & Zolyomi, A. (2017). It's not just about attention to details: Redefining the talents autistic software developers bring to software development. *Proceedings of the 50th Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences.* https://aisel. aisnet.org/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1700&context=hicss-50

Baldwin S., Costley D., & Warren A. (2014). Employment activities and experiences of adults with high-functioning autism and Asperger's Disorder. *Journal of Autism and Development Disorder*, 44(10), 2440–2449. http://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-014-2112-z

Braun, V. & Clarke, V. (2006) Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 3(2), 77–101. https://doi.org/10.1191/1478088706qp063oa

Bross, L. A., Patry, M. B., Leko, M. & Travers, J. C. (2021). Barriers to competitive integrated employment of young adults with autism spectrum disorder. *Education and Training in Autism and Developmental Disabilities*, 56(4), 394–408. https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ1315779

Bunt, D., van Kessel, R., Hoekstra, R. A., Czabanowska, K., Brayne, C., Baron-Cohen, S. & Roman-Urrestarazu, A. (2020). Quotas, and anti-discrimination policies relating to autism in the EU: scoping review and policy mapping in Germany, France, Netherlands, United Kingdom, Slovakia, Poland, and Romania. *Autism Research*, *13*(8), 1397–1417. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC7496597/

Bury, S. M., Flower, R. L., Zulla, R., Nicholas, D. B., & Hedley, D. (2021). Workplace social challenges experienced by employees on the autism spectrum: an international exploratory study examining employee and supervisor perspectives. *Journal of Autism and Development Disorder*, *51*, 1614–1627. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-020-04662-6

Cope, R., & Remington, A. (2022). The strengths and abilities of autistic people in the workplace. *Autism in Adulthood*, 4(1), 22–31. http://doi.org/10.1089/aut.2021.0037

Creswell, J. W. (2013). Qualitative inquiry and research design (3rd ed.). Sage.

Elo, S., & Kyngäs, H. (2008). The qualitative content analysis process. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 62, 107–115. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2648.2007.04569.x

European Union. (2000). *Charter of Fundamental Rights of the European Union*. https://www.europarl.europa.eu/charter/pdf/text_en.pdf

Flower, R. L., Hedley, D., Spoor, J. R., & Dissanayake, C. (2019). An alternative pathway to employment for autistic job-seekers: a case study of a training and assessment program targeted to autistic job candidates. *Journal of Vocational Education & Training*, *71*(3), 407–428. http://doi.org/10.1080/13636820.2019.1636846

Griffiths, A. J., Giannantonio, C. M., Hurley-Hanson, A. E., & Cardinal, D. (2016). Autism in the workplace: assessing the transition needs of young adults with Autism Spectrum Disorder. *Journal of Business and Management*, 22(1), 5–22.

Harmuth, E., Silletta, E., Bailey, A., Adams, T., Beck, C., & Barbic, P. (2018). Barriers and facilitators to employment for adults with autism: a scoping review. *Occupational Therapy*, *1*(1), 31–40. http://doi.org/10.3928/24761222-20180212-01

Hayward, S. M., McVilly, K. R., & Stokes, M. A. (2018). Challenges for females with high functioning autism in the workplace: a systematic review. *Disability and Rehabilitation*, 40(3), 249–258. https://doi.org/10.1080/09638288.2016.1254284

Hendricks, D. (2010). Employment and adults with Autism Spectrum Disorders: challenges and strategies for success. *Journal of Vocational Rehabilitation*, *32*(2), 125–134. http://doi.org/10.3233/JVR-2010-0502.

Hillier, A., Campbell, H., Mastriani, K., Izzo, M. V., Kool-Tucker, A. K., Cherry, L., & Beversdorf, D. Q. (2007). Two-year evaluation of a vocational support program for adults on the autism spectrum. *Career Development for Exceptional Individuals*, *30*(1), 35–47. http://doi.org/10.1177/08857288070300010501

Holwerda, A., van der Klink, J. J., Groothoff, J. W., & Brouwer, S. (2012). Predictors for work participation in individuals with an autism spectrum disorder: a systematic review. *Journal of Occupational Rehabilitation*, 22(3), 333–352. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10926-011-9347-8

Knapp, M., Romeo, R., & Beecham J. (2009). Economic cost of autism in the UK. *Autism*, *13*(3), 317–336. https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361309104246

Krieger, B., Kinebanian, A., Prodinger, B., & Heigl, F. (2012). Becoming a member of the work force: perceptions of adults with Asperger syndrome. *Work*, *43*(2), 141–157. http://doi.org/10.3233/WOR-2012-1392

Lorenz, T., Frischling, C., Cuadros, R., & Heinitz, K. (2016). Autism and overcoming job barriers: comparing job-related barriers and possible solutions in and outside of autism-specific employment. *PLoS ONE*, *11*(1), e0147040. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0147040

Mai, A. M. (2019). Hiring agents' beliefs: A barrier to employment of autistics. *SAGE Open*, *9*(3), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244019862725

Mason, D., McConachie, H., Garland, D., Petrou, A., Rodgers, J., & Parr, J. R. (2018). Predictors of quality of life for autistic adults. *Autism Research*, *11*(8), 1138–1147. https://doi.org/10.1002%2Faur.1965

McKnight-Lizotte, M. (2018). Work-related communication barriers for individuals with autism: a pilot qualitative study. *The Australian Journal of Rehabilitation Counselling*, 24(1), 12–26. http://doi.org/10.1017/jrc.2018.4

Nicholas, D. B., Hedley, D., Randolph, J. K., Raymaker, D. M., Robertson, S. M., & Vincent, J. (2019). An expert discussion on employment in autism. *Autism in Adulthood*, *1*, 162–169. https://doi.org/10.1089/aut.2019.29003.djn

Parr, A. D., Hunter, S. T., Ligon, G. S. (2013). Questioning universal applicability of transformational leadership: Examining employees with autism spectrum disorder. *The Leadership Quarterly*, *24*(4), 608–622. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2013.04.003

Richards, J. (2015). Improving inclusion in employment for people impaired by Asperger syndrome: towards practices informed by theories of contemporary employment. *Interdisciplinary Perspectives on Equality and Diversity*, *1*(1), 1–17. http://journals.hw.ac.uk/index.php/IPED/article/view/5/11

Roux, A. M., Shattuck, P. T., Cooper, B. P., Anderson, K. A., Wagner, M., & Narendorf, S. C. (2013). Postsecondary employment experiences among young adults with an autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 52(9), 931–939. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaac.2013.05.019

Scott, M., Milbourn, B., Falkmer, M., Black, M., Bölte, S., Halladay, A., Larner, M., Toylor, J. L., & Girdler, S. (2019). Factors impacting employment for people with autism spectrum disorder: A scoping review. *Autism*, *23*(4), 869–901.

Shahin, S., Reitzel, M., Di Rezze, B., Ahmed, S., & Anaby, D. (2020). Environmental factors that impact the workplace participation of transition-aged young adults with

brain-based disabilities: a scoping review. Public Health, 17(7), 2378. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17072378

Soeker, M. S. (2020). A descriptive, qualitative study of the challenges that individuals with Autism Spectrum Disorder experience when transitioning from skills training programs into the open labor market in Cape Town, South Africa. *Work*, *65*(4), 733–747. https://doi.org/10.3233/WOR-203127

Stephens, D. L., Collins, M. D., & Dodder, R. A. (2005). A longitudinal study of employment and skill acquisition among individuals with developmental disabilities. *Research in Developmental Disabilities*, 26(5), 469–486. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ridd.2003.12.003

United Nations (1948). Universal Declaration of Human Rights. https://www.un.org/en/about-us/universal-declaration-of-human-rights

Vogeley, K., Kirchner, J. C., Gawronski, A., Tebartz van Elst, L., & Dziobek, I. (2013). Toward the development of a supported employment program for individuals with high-functioning autism in Germany. *European Archives of Psychiatry and Clinical Neuroscience*, *2*, S197–S203. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00406-013-0455-7

https://doi.org/10.22364/atee.2022.65

Parents' Expectations about Children's Education Targets in the Future Perspective in Latvia

Inese Barone, Baiba Kaļķe

University of Latvia, Latvia

ABSTRACT

Parents are important educational partners in schools as they are the first educators of their children and play an important role in their children's education, educational targets, and future professions for their children. Parents have their expectations about their children's educational targets but are these expectations connected with targets defined in education documents, and more important – are these expectations aimed at the future perspective of education?

The purpose of the study was to compare the educational targets of parents with educational targets defined in education documents – Latvia education system change project "School 2030" (Skola 2030), Sustainable Development Strategy of Latvia until 2030, and UNESCO new social contract for education for 2050.

The methodology used in this study was an express – survey for parents, in May 2022, with the open question "What do you expect for your child's educational targets?"; literature and source analysis with mapping review strategy, documents detecting the perspective of the education; finding educational target keywords, analysing data, and synthesising categories with data collected in express – survey; data analysis was done using data identifying method by selected keywords. Analysing three educational documents with the future perspective, 7 educational targets as keywords were found and analysed – curricula and skills, cooperation and collaboration, digitalization, inclusion, sustainability, research and innovations, and globalisation. 240 respondents participated in the express survey, detecting the problem of the research, that parents' expectations only partly overlap educational targets defined in education documents.

Analysing survey data, family and parents cannot be considered as educational partners in the educational process as is shown in literature and document analysis. There are two main survey answer tendencies – child-centred education and education based on knowledge and achievements. Parents' behaviour is customer – centred, what is that school can provide for a child's education.

Keywords: collaboration, cooperation, educational partners, educational targets, expectations, parent, parents' expectations

I. BARONE, B. KAĻĶE. Parents' Expectations about Children's Education Targets in the Future . . .

Introduction

Parents are important educational partners in school systems in Latvia and worldwide. They are the first educators for their children and often play an important role in their children's education. But what about their expectations for their children's educational targets from the perspective of future education? Are these educational targets aimed at the targets of Latvia education system change project "School 2030" (Skola 2030), the Sustainable Development Strategy of Latvia until 2030, and UNESCO new social contract for education for 2050? One simple question in the survey of this research was asked to parents – "What do you expect for your child's educational targets?" and mostly received answers were not about educational targets but the way or process to achieve them. More advanced, happy, and smiling teachers, less work for students, and no cooperation or collaboration for all these educational partners – teachers, students, and parents.

Just 100 years ago, when the national education system in Latvia was developed, attention was paid to democratisation. One of the signs of a democratic school was the teacher or school and the parent or family cooperation. If only the educational targets of school and family training and parenting coincide or are similar, only then children can develop effectively. There can not be a situation where education at home and in school differs and children then should live in separate, even hostile worlds (Jansons, 1924). The development of the new education system and its functioning should be involved by teachers and parents, including family and society. Also, understanding, cooperation, and collaboration in Latvia education system were important from the last centuries till now – school and family should speak in one language and completely understand each other, otherwise, the matter of parenting and teaching at school will be abnormal (Bebru Juris, 1939).

The Universal Declaration on Human Rights (1948) states all three partners in education – teachers, students, and parents or the family, and the educational objectives of this declaration are shared with each partner in education: students have the right to education, parents have the opportunity to choose the type and form of education to be able to fully develop their personality in cooperation with teachers (The Universal Declaration on Human Rights, 1948).

Latvian Children's rights protection law (1998) and Education law (1998) clearly define rights and obligations for children and parents or families. Children's needs include physical, emotional, and social communication, healthcare, education, and development as a state, society, and parents or family responsibility. Children have the right to get an education and they are obliged to study by their physical and mental development (Bērnu tiesību aizsardzības likums [Children rights protection law], 1998). Parents are responsible for obtaining compulsory education for the child, ensuring the necessary conditions for the education, cooperating with an educational institution, with educators and other persons

I. BARONE, B. KAĻĶE. Parents' Expectations about Children's Education Targets in the Future . . .

involved in the education process, to respect the legal rights and interests of the child (Izglītības likums [Education law], 1998). Teachers should creatively and responsibly participate in the implementation of the relevant educational programs, raise decent, honest, responsible people, develop a responsible attitude of the student towards himself, others, work, culture, and nature, to respect the right of the student and to cooperate with the family of the student in matters of education (Izglītības likums [Education law], 1998).

The target of this research is to compare the educational targets of parents to educational targets defined in education documents, answering the study question- to compare parents' expectations with educational targets defined in education documents. This comparison will show if the educational targets of Latvia student parents are aimed not only at educational standards but mostly – at the future perspective for future educational targets, and an express survey was done for parents asking about educational targets for their children. Data were collected, sorted, and analysed by discovered educational targets, as they are now (the year 2022), whether they are connected to the education documents and related to the educational targets of the future perspective.

The educational targets from a future perspective

Three documents were analysed to reveal a future perspective on the educational targets in Latvia and worldwide.

From the year 2019 in every school in Latvia, the change in educational approach has started. The basic idea of this change is to enhance the curriculum and educational approach based on 21st-century skills, knowledge, and attitudes. Project "School 2030" (Skola 2030) objective is competency, that is an improved curriculum and skilled students who want and can study all their life, create innovations and develop a personality. What is more important - every student should possess the ability to use knowledge, skills, and attitudes in a complex way, addressing problems in changing situations of real life. Teachers must provide students with clear and meaningful results to be achieved, adequate support, and regular feedback during the educational process and encourage students to reflect on their learning and thinking processes. In project materials, it is emphasised that these changes in education are possible if only three educational partners students, teachers, and parents collaborate. Also, parents' perspective in this educational change process is clear - parents should make a positive attitude toward learning, and engaging every day in their family home life. Parents need to help their children to become more independent and how to overcome trouble and failings. Parents must build constructive relationships with the school and teachers, as it is the best way to support students (Skola 2030, 2019). (Skola 2030, 2019).
The main idea of the Sustainable Development Strategy of Latvia until **2030** is to value the necessities of the current generation for the future evolution in economics, the well-being of society, and preserving the environment. (Sustainable Development Strategy of Latvia until 2030, 2010). This strategy was developed by analysing global processes such as demographic changes, innovations and globalisation of economic processes, skills and competences requested from the labour market, urbanisation and the climate changes. This strategy indicates a changing education paradigm in assessing qualitative and long-life education. The educational objective of this strategy is to create one of the best education systems in Europe. One of the priorities is long-term action directions to change the organisation of educational processes and the way of access to education. E-school, and the use of information technologies provide the best solutions to every priority. Regarding educational partners' and parents' expectations about children's educational targets, it is mentioned that parents should be involved in the study process, and teachers and schools should form a close and constant collaboration with parents, using different methods (Sustainable Development Strategy of Latvia until 2030, 2010).

UNESCO document **Reimagining our futures together: a new social contract for education**, the report from the international commission on the futures of education. This contract reveals the future of education worldwide, showing the main criteria for future education up to the year 2050. The main topics discussed in this contract are moving towards more equitable educational futures, disruptions and emerging transformations, pedagogies of cooperation and solidarity, curricula, transformative work of the teachers, transforming schools, research and innovations, global solidarity, and international cooperation. This contract leaves the main question open – building futures of education together with proposals of building a new social contract, calls to action, dialogue and participation, and an invitation to continue.

This contract specifies that education is the key pathway and there is a necessity to transform education. "Education must build skills needed in 21st-century workplaces, taking into account the changing nature of work and the different ways that economic security can be provisioned (UNESCO Reimagining our futures together: a new social contract for education, 2022). Contract reveals educational targets for every educational partner all over the world, it demonstrates not only the curricula of the future education but more – it demonstrates the main keywords.

Analysing three education documents with the future perspective, 7 educational targets as keywords were found (see Figure 1) and analysed as it is described in the materials of documents. These educational targets are curricula and skills, cooperation and collaboration, digitalization, inclusion, sustainability, research and innovations, and globalisation. Some explanations are similar, some

of them need more explanation or they are described from different perspectives. Three educational partners are described in every document, outlining the importance of collaboration for a successful educational process.



Figure 1. Defined educational targets

Table 1. Educational targets an	their explanations in the future	perspective of education
---------------------------------	----------------------------------	--------------------------

Educational target	UNESCO Reimagining our futures together: a new social contract for education	Latvian educational project "School 2030" (Skola 2030)	Sustainable Development Strategy of Latvia until 2030
Curricula and skills	The acquisition of knowledge; creation of new knowledge, and education across time and space	New approach and curricula of education, based on 21st-century skills, knowledge and attitude	Quality and accessibility of education, creative thinking in the learning process
Cooperation and collaboration	Together, teachers, students, and parents need to form a community of knowledge – seekers and builders, problem- oriented collaborative learning	Cooperation and collaboration of schools and families to encourage and stabilise learning experiences for students to become more competent	Close cooperation and collaboration from teachers and schools to parents to promote educational process
Digitalization	Digitalization of education and the possible emergence of new hybrid or virtual-only models of schooling	Digital skills help students to use digital technologies efficiently, intelligently, and responsibly	Digitalization of schools and libraries to ensure access to a modern study process and information

Educational target	UNESCO Reimagining our futures together: a new social contract for education	Latvian educational project "School 2030" (Skola 2030)	Sustainable Development Strategy of Latvia until 2030
Inclusion	The right to inclusion is based on each person's diverse	Inclusive education – recognition and evaluation of different learning needs of students	Integration of people in the society via the educational system as the result of systematically implemented state policy
Sustainability	Education and care across the lifespan	The sustainability of society and the environment are linked to the daily behaviour of the individual, locally and globally	_
Research and innovations	Research and innovation must strengthen capacities for foresight and future literacy, research from within education, mobilising the learning sciences	Creativity is the process of creating new ideas that are useful for a person or group of people	Innovation economics continuously demands new skills and competences
Globalisation	Deterritorialization from social, political, and economical relationship	The understanding about changes in Latvia and the world necessary for the future development for the skills and knowledge	The globalisation of the economy and promotion of creative activity

Table 1. Continued

After analysing data summarised in Table 1, educational targets definitions as it is understood in this research are summarised in Table 2 as some definitions are slightly different and do not reveal the definition by its meaning.

Educational target	Explanation
Curricula and skills	An adapted course for academic studies acquired with training to be able to produce solutions for problems. The combination of instructional practices, learning experiences, and student performance assessment is designed to bring out and evaluate the target learning outcomes of a particular course (Wilson, et al., 2021; William, et al., 2020). The subject matter that is to be learned (Kirchhoff, Keller, 2021).

Table 2. Research definitions of educational targets

<i>Table 2</i> . Continued	2. Continued	е 2.	Tabl
----------------------------	--------------	------	------

Educational target	Explanation
Cooperation and collaboration	The practice of cooperating, where all three educational partners cooperate and collaborate, joint operation or action, the act of working jointly. Individuals working together to accomplish goals (Goulet, et al., 2003; Fadel et al., 2015; Spencer, 2020 A; Spencer 2020 B).
Digitalization	The use of digital technologies to change an educational model and provide new revenue and value-producing opportunities (Schmidt, Tang, 2020).
Inclusion	A mode of teaching that intentionally designs course content and curricula to engage with students of diverse backgrounds, abilities, and lived experiences, the practice of educating children in the general education classroom, including children with physical, mental, and developmental disabilities (Dale McManis, 2016; UNESCO, 2016).
Sustainability	The property of being sustainable, the use of methods that do not cause long-term harm to the environment or deplete natural resources, in education – the content, learning methods, and outcomes that help students develop a knowledge base about the environment, the economy, and society (UNESCO, 2022)
Research and innovations	The quest for new knowledge and studies to determine the problem or the fact, finding new solutions and development of education. The result of experiments and research is the creation of something in the mind (OECD, 2019).
Globalisation	Growth, inside and awareness on a global or worldwide scale, Worldwide flow and integration of culture, media, and technology due to advances in communication systems and economic interests (Bakhtiari, 2011).

Some definitions of educational targets in Latvia education documents must be assessed and evaluated for 21st-century skills and economical and political development in the educational system. Definitions of curriculum and skills, cooperation, and collaboration cover several more definitions as it is described in the result section of this research.

Parents' partnership in education

As it was analysed in education documents – the future perspective demonstrates the importance of parents or family engagement for a successful educational process. Over the last two decades, the emphasis has shifted to the establishment of meaningful collaborative relationships that engage families, schools, and communities (Christenson, Reschly, 2012).

Education includes different partnerships, the most fundamental and most widely researched of them is the teacher-student partnership, but also other partnerships are important at different levels of the education system.

There is a discussion about the term used in the latest research – parent, parents, or family – who is the person or people responsible for a child's successful

educational process. The term "family" is often chosen over "parent" as the first term refers to caretakers who are important contributors to a child's life. "The term "family" is used here as inclusive of members who may or may not live together but who share a common history, a significant bond, and who play an important role in a child's development and uprising" (Mitchell et al., 2021). The terms family/ies and parent/s are used to represent any adult caretakers who have responsibility for the well-being of a child or children, for example, biological parents, foster care providers, grandparents, aunts and uncles, siblings (Mapp, Kuttner, 2013).

There are several theories describing parent's partnership for the educational process – Bronfenbrenner's Ecological Systems Theory (1975, 1977, 1979, 1986, 1994, 2001, 2006), Epstein Model for Parental Involvement (1995, 2001, 2002, 2010, 2011), Hoover-Dempsey and Sandler Model for Parental Involvement (1995, 2001, 2002, 2005), Christenson and Sheridan Families and Schools Partnership (2001, 2004, 2010), Garbacz et al Parent Education Involvement (2017). All these theories describe the importance of parent involvement in a child's successful, normal, and enforceable educational process, showing interwoven spheres of influence (Reynolds, Miller, 2013). Theories joined together to create the new term "Family-School-Community Parenting (FSCP) as a multi-dimensional process in which schools, families, and communities work together to ensure a child's social, emotional, and academic success" (Miller et al., 2022).

As parents are important not only for children and their well-being but as significant participants in educational partnerships, strong relationships, welcoming environments, multidirectional communication, and mutual understanding are the key to educational partnership, depending on every educational partner and their educational objectives. Multidirectional communication – deep listening, facilitative approaches during meetings, handling conflicts, and positive, predictable, and proactive communication leads to meaningful collaboration (Lerner, 2005). Mutual understanding for each educational partner by developing targeted skills as a shared responsibility to promote student development, shared or joint work involved by all parties, the importance of interactions is collaborative and intervention efforts are targeted across home and school and communication allows for a multidirectional flow of information from either party (Miller, et al., 2022). Productive parents' relationship with teachers or school is powerful with collaboration, trust (benevolence, honesty, openness, reliability, competence), problem-solving process, and resolving leadership problems through productive dialogue (Cardno, 2012).

As there are several educational partners, there are different ways for the partnership. Schools or teachers as leaders in this partnership must make connections with families, communicate intentionally to build relationships, and collaborate with families (Chavkin, 2017). Collaboration is one of the cornerstones in this

relationship that is family-centred practice when school, teachers, parents, and families work as equal partners to support the learning and development process of the child (Gonzalez-Mena, 2011).

Parents are important educational partners and their expectations about their children's educational targets are meaningful. Effective and qualitative cooperation and collaboration of all educational partners leads not only to the achievement of educational targets but also academic accomplishments and ensures children's well-being starting from childhood and lifelong.

Methodology

This case study discovers the educational targets in the future perspective as a partnership tool for educational partners – teachers, parents, and students' application of a theory to real education situations in the Latvia education system. As it is described in the result section of this research, characteristic behaviour of parents' expectations about their children's education targets was discovered. Also, cross – case research was done to discover multiple sources.

Mathad	Deteile	Deculto
method	Details	Kesulls
Express -survey for parents (McDonald, Rosier, 2011) as data acquisition method	Latvia, May 2022, online survey distributed on social networks; 1 opened question "What do you expect for your child's educational targets?"; Selection questions – gender of the child and parent	240 respondents, a wide spectrum of answers that are ranged in Table 5 with educational targets defined in Table 1 and Table 2
Literature and source analysis with mapping review strategy (Petticrew, Roberts, 2006) as data analysis methods	3 different documents demonstrate the future perspective of the education, theoretical literature, and source; Data analysis and synthesis performed by narrative type of synthesis	 54 units of documents, literature, and sources were analysed for this research, shown in the reference section of this article Three consecutive steps were analysed: 1. finding categories as keywords 2. analysing data from defined categories 3. synthesised categories with data collected from express – survey
Express – survey data analysis as data processing method using data identifying method by selected keywords (Tran et al., 2017)	Data analysis was done by 7 identified keywords defined by mapping review strategy; univariate analysis method was used to analyse single variable	Analysed data is summarised in Table 5; the coding of this analysed data was done by dividing data by defined keywords, adding one new keyword that could not be identified as defined categories

Table 3. Methods used for the research

TO BE OR NOT TO BE A GREAT EDUCATOR, 2022

I. BARONE, B. KAĻĶE. Parents' Expectations about Children's Education Targets in the Future ...

In this study there have been observed all ethical norms. Informed consent was received from the survey participants, the respondents were informed about the nature, purpose and progress of the study, the anonymity of the respondents is guaranteed. The results of the survey were analyzed and will be used in an aggregated way and published.

Several methods were used to achieve the results of this research (see Table 3).

Results

Document, literature, and source analysis reveal the roles, partnerships, and importance of every educational partner now and in the future perspective. An open question for parents "What do you expect for your child's educational targets?" uncovered different problems in Latvia's educational system during the time of the COVID-19 pandemic starting from 2019. The school year 2021/2022 was the year when schools were mostly open and after a year and a half of children could go to school and not study at home. Parents' answers also show that they are tired of the educational process as the school year is almost over. They are tired of teaching children by "themselves" at home when the educational process was managed remotely.

240 respondents participated in the express survey, 87% of respondents were women, 13% were men, and the gender of the children was 45% girls, and 55% boys. Educational levels – primary school (class 1–3) 46%, elementary school – 51% and secondary school – 3% (see Table 4).

	Primary school	Elementary school	Secondary school	Total
Respondents	107	122	11	240
Parent – woman	92	107	10	209
Parent – man	13	17	1	31

After analysis of defined educational targets, parents' expectations about their children's educational targets reveal the education system in Latvia in 2022 – 54% of parent's expectations relate to educational target curricula and skills, and there is no significant difference between the gender of the children about this educational target (see Table 5).

Educational target	Primary school		Elementary school		Secondary school		Total	
	Girl	Boy	Girl	Воу	Girl	Воу	Girl	Воу
Curricula and skills	22	32	32	32	5	3	62	67
Cooperation and collaboration	3	5	2	1	1	-	6	6
Digitalization	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Inclusion	1	4	-	_	-	_	1	4
Sustainability	2	_	1	_	-	-	3	-
Research and innovations	-	1	2	-	-	1	2	2
Globalisation	3	2	2	2	-	-	5	4
Others	12	20	18	27	2	_	31	47

Table 5. Survey analysis by defined educational targets

The next biggest group is not connected with educational targets defined in this study, named – others. These educational target expectations are not related to defined educational targets and mostly relate to the teacher's profession and teaching skills. As it is defined in education documents, it can be defined as the transformative work of teachers – recasting teaching as a collaborative profession, envisioning and enchanting curriculum and pedagogy, educational research, teacher education, and professional development (UNESCO Reimagining our futures together: a new social contract for education, 2022), teacher professional self – sufficiency – aware of decisions on their practices, observations and in reflexie, the possibility of planning training in cooperation with colleagues, (Project "School 2030), 2019) teachers as leaders not only to teach and help students, but to inspire, help, organise, cooperate and collaborate (Sustainable Development Strategy of Latvia until 2030, 2010). This group cannot be imposed as one of the educational targets for children, this is more parents' expectations outside the provisions of effective educational partners' cooperation and collaboration.

Other educational targets such as cooperation and collaboration, inclusion, sustainability, research and innovations, and globalisation make a small number of parents' expectations. This situation can be explained by the idea that school is education, combined with knowledge and skills and all other educational targets concede in front of the most important expectations about educational targets. Also, society in general is not well educated about these processes as express survey analysis reveals this significant difference between educational target expectations (see Figure 2).



Figure 2. Parents' expectations and defined educational targets

Digitalization is an educational target from defined keywords that is not mentioned as parents' expectations. This is an interesting discovery because of the importance of digitalization in the educational process and society. There is a problem of term insight in Latvia society – digitalization and children using devices. One of the explanations is that more than 70% of children spend more than 3 hours on devices every day and 96% of parents need to set limits on their child's digital habits (Kaspersky, 2021) and there is a discussion about useful techniques used in the educational process, not free time spent by children. Also, COVID-19 pandemics remote or partly – remote educational process for almost 2 years influenced the use of technologies and parents are not satisfied with the long hours children are spending in front of the screen (OECD, 2021).

The answer to the study question – what are parents' expectations about educational targets that are defined in education documents is that parents expect their children to have knowledge and skills for the 21st century and parents know how to transfer teachers' work to achieve this goal. Significant indications about other educational targets, especially digitalization, reveal that parents as educational partners are focused on the result of the educational process and academic results more than society, economic and political development in Latvia and worldwide and their children's ability to live in this future world, to study, get a profession and work.

Conclusions

Analysing survey data, family and parents cannot be considered as educational partners in the educational process as is shown in literature and document analysis. Parents see their role in the educational process as counsellors, and

examiners, not educational partners, but still – their expectations are important as the theories of the effective educational process reveal partnership importance.

There is no significant difference between educational targets divided by the gender of the child, so parents' expectations are similar whether the child is a boy or a girl.

Parents' answers about their expectations about their child's educational objectives are more about the educational process – how to manage it and less about what is the educational objective.

There are two main survey answer tendencies – child-centred education and education based on knowledge and achievements. Both these tendencies are without child engagement.

Parents' behaviour is customer-centred, discovering the problem – that is what can school provide for a child's education?

As one of the skills for qualitative future education is self-guided education, parents' opinions are against it – their child must not learn by himself, but the school must provide knowledge. Flipped learning and flipped classroom technique as a methodology are criticised by parents, especially for secondary school students.

Only 13% of respondents were men. This situation shows the problem of parents' partnership, where one parent is responsible for communication and collaboration with the school, and expectations for educational targets are mostly personal, in this case, the study – women are the parents managing educational partnership in the school.

As the biggest part of respondents were for children in primary and elementary schools (class 1–9), the older a child gets, the fewer parents are involved in the child's education process. The most criticised educational process, especially teachers' work revealed by primary school parents, is explained by the fact that after 9th class children can continue studies in other schools and the competition for best gymnasium and schools is significant. Numerous respondents expect their children to study in the top-rated gymnasium in Latvia.

The next development of this study is how parents range the defined educational targets if they must choose one of the defined targets.

REFERENCES

Bakhtiari, S. (2011). Globalisation and Education: Challenges and Opportunities. *International Business & Economics Research Journal (IBER) 5(2)*.

Bebru Juris. (1939). Kādu sadarbību no skolas un ģimenes prasa jaunie laiki [What kind of collaboration the new times require from school and family]. Latvijas Skola, Nr. 1.

Bērnu tiesību aizsardzības likums [Children rights protection law]. (1989). Retrieved 15.08.2022. from Bērnu tiesību aizsardzības likums (likumi.lv)

Bronfenbrenner, U. (1975). The Ecological Systems Theory, Proceedings of the American Philosophical Society.

Brofenbrenner, U. (1977). Toward an experimental ecology of human development. *American Psychologist, 32*(7).

Brofenbrenner, U. (1979). The ecology of human development. Harvard University Press.

Brofenbrenner, U. (1986). Ecology of the family as a context for human development: Research perspectives. *Development Psychology*, 22.

Brofenbrenner, U. (1994). Ecological models of human development. *International encyclopaedia of education* (Vol. 3, 2nd ed.). Elsevier Sciences.

Brofenbrenner, U. (2001). The bioecological theory of human development. N. J. Smelser & P. B. Baltes (Eds.), *International encyclopaedia of the social and behavioural sciences*. Elsevier Sciences.

Brofenbrenner, U., & Morris, P. A. (2006). The bioecological model of human development. In R. M. Lerner & W. Damon (eds.) *Handbook of child psychology: Theoretical models of human development* (6th ed). John Wiley&Sons Inc.

Cardno, C. (2012). Managing Effective Relations in Education. SAGE.

Chavkin, N. F. (2017). Family Engagement with Schools. Nancy Feyl Chavkin. Oxford.

Christenson, S. L., & Sheridan, S. M. (2001). Schools and families: Building connections within diverse communities. Sage

Christenson, S. L. (2004). The family-school partnership: An opportunity to promote the learning competence of all students. *School Psychology Review, 33* I(1).

Christenson, S. L., & Reschly, A. L. (Eds.). (2012). Handbook of school – family – partnership. Routledge.

Dale McManis, L. (2016). Inclusive Education: What it Means, Proven Strategies, and a Case Study.

Epstein, J. L. (1995). School/family/community partnerships: Caring for the children we share. Phi Delta Kappan.

Epstein, J. L. (2001). School, family, and community partnerships: Preparing educators and improving schools. Boulder, CO: Westview Press.

Epstein, J. L. (2002). *Six types of involvement: keys to successful partnerships*. National Network of Partnership Schools, John Hopkins University, Baltimore.

Epstein, J. L. (2005). School-initiated family and community partnerships. In T. Erb (Ed.) *This we believe in action: Implementing successful middle level schools.* Westerville, OH: National Middle School Association.

Epstein, J. L. (2010). School/Family/Community Partner-ships: Caring for the Children We Share. Phi Delta Kappan.

Epstein, J. L., Galindo, C. L. & Sheldon, S. B. (2011). Levels of leadership: Effects of district and school leaders on the quality of school programs of the family.

Epstein, J. L., Sanders, M. G., Simon, B. S., Salinas, K. C., Jansorn, N. R., & Van Voorhis, F. L. (2002). *School, community, and community partnerships: Your handbook for action* (2nd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin Press.

Epstein, J. L. (2005). Attainable goals? The spirit and letter of the no child left behind act on parental involvement. *Sociology of Education,* 78(2).

Fadel, C., Bialik, M., & Trilling, B. (2015). Four – Dimensional Education: The Competencies Learners need to succeed. South Carolina: CreateSpace Independent Publishing Platform.

Garbacz, S. A., Herman, K. C., Thompson, A. M., & Reinke, W. M. (2017). Engagement in education and intervention: Implementation and evaluation to maximise family, school, and student outcomes. *Journal of School Psychology*.

Gonzalez-Mena, J., (2011). Foundations of Early Childhood Education in a Diverse Society. McGraw-Hill Humanities/Social Sciences/Languages; 3rd edition.

Goulet, L., Krentz, C., & Christiansen, H. (2003). Collaboration in Education: The Phenomenon and Process of Working Together. *Alberta Journal of Educational Research*, 49(4). https://doi.org/10.11575/ajer.v49i4.55027

Hoover-Dempsey, K. V., Walker, J., Jones, K. P., & Reed, R. P. (2002). Teachers involving parents (TIP): Results of an in-service teacher education program for enhancing parental involvement. *Teaching and Teacher Education*.

Hoover-Dempsey, K. V., & Sandler, H. (1995). Parental involvement in children's education: Why does it make a difference? *Teachers College Record*.

Hoover-Dempsey, K.V., & Sandler, H. (2005). The social context of parental involvement: A path to enhanced achievement.

Hoover-Dempsey, K. V., Battiato, A. C., Walker, J. M. T., Reed, R. P., DeJong, J. M., & Jones, K. P. (2001). Parental involvement in homework. *Educational Psychologist*, *36*(*3*).

Hoover-Dempsey, K. V., & Sandler, H. (2005). *The social context of parental involvement: A path to enhanced achievement*. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Education, Institute of Education Sciences.

Hoover-Dempsey, K. V., Walker, J. M. T., Sandler, H. M., Whetsel, D., Green, C. L., Wilkins, A. S., & Closson, K. E. (2005). Why do parents become involved? Research findings and implications. *Elementary School Journal*, *106*.

Izglītības likums [Education law]. (1989). Retrieved 15.08.2022. from Izglītības likums (likumi.lv)

Jansons, F. (1924). Vecāki un skola [Parents and the school]. Nākotnes Spēks, Nr. 7.

Kaspersky (2021). Raising the smartphone generation. Youth and parenting in a digital world. from Raising the smartphone generation: New research into how parents and children manage their digital habits | Kaspersky official blog.

Kirchhoff, E., & Keller, R. (2021). Age-Specific Life Skills Education in School: A Systematic Review. *Frontiers in Education*.

Lerner, R. M. (2005). Foreword: Uri Bronfenbrenner: Career contributions of the consummate developmental scientist. In *Making human beings human: Bioecological perspectives on human development*. Edited by U. Bronfenbrenner. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE.

Mapp, K. L., & Kuttner, P. (2013). Partners in Education: A Dual Capacity-Building Framework for Family-School Partnerships. *SEDL*.

McDonald, M., & Rosier, K. (2011). Collecting data from parents and children for the purpose of evaluation Issues for child and family services in disadvantaged communities. Australian Institute of Family Studies.

Miller, G.E., Arthur-Stanley, A., & Banerjee R. (2022). Advances in Family-School-Community Partnering. Routledge, New York.

Mitchell, B. (2021). A Research Agenda for Graduate Education. University of Toronto Press.

OECD. (2021). Digitalization in Latvia [Digitalizācija Latvijā]. OECD Publishing, Paris.

Petticrew, M., & Roberts, H. (2006). Systematic reviews in the social sciences. A practical guide. London: Blackwell Publishing.

Project "School 2030" [Skola 2030]. (2019). Retrieved on 07.08.2022. from Mērķis: lietpratība (skola2030.lv)

Project "School 2030" [Skola 2030] information for parents. (2019). https://skola2030.lv/vecakiem-un-skoleniem/kas-jazina-vecakiem (Retrieved 07.08.2022)

Reynolds, W. M., Miller, G. E. (2013). Selfregulation and learning. *Handbook of psychology*, Vol. 7.

Schmidt, J., & Tang, M. (2020). Digitalization in Education: Challenges, Trends and Transformative Potential. Springer Gabler.

Spencer, J. (2020 A). The Difference Between Cooperation and Collaboration. https://spencerauthor.com/can-you-force-collaboration (Retrieved 03.01.2021)

Spencer, J. (2020 B). Taking Collaboration to the Next Level. https://spencerauthor.com/ collaboration-next-level/ (Retrieved 03.01.2021)

Sustainable Development Strategy of Latvia until 2030. (2010). lias_2030_en.pdf (Retrieved 07.08.2022)

The Universal Declaration on Human rights. (1948). Article 26. Retrieved on 07.08.2022. from OHCHR | Universal Declaration of Human Rights – English.

Tran, D., Pham, P., & Van Khuc, Q. (2021) Questionnaire design, 7–13. https://doi.org/10.31219/osf.io/q3um6

UNESCO Reimagining our futures together: a new social contract for education. (2022). retrieved on 01.08.2022. from Reimagining our futures together: a new social contract for education – UNESCO Digital Library.

UNESCO. (2016). Incheon Declaration and Framework for Action for the implementation of Sustainable Development. https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000245656_eng (Retrieved 02.08.2022)

UNESCO. (2019). Education for Sustainable Development. A roadmap. https://unesdoc. unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000374802.locale = en (Retrieved 02.08.2022)

William, J., Peirce, E. J., Al-Sarawi, S., & Donnely, F. (2020). Handbook for research skill development and assessment in the curriculum. The University of Adelaide.

Wilson, R., Joiner, K., & Abbasi, A. (2021). Improving students' performance with time management skills. *Journal of University Teaching & Learning Practice*, 18(4). https://doi.org/10.53761/1.18.4.16